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PEE FACE.

No apology is deemed necessary for bringing this History of the Scottish Highlands before

the public. A work under a similar title was brought out by the present publishers

upwards of thirty years ago, under the care of Dr James Browne, and met with a sale so

extensive and sustained as to prove that it supplied a real want.

Since the pubUcatiou of Browne's History, which it is only the simple truth to say had no

rival, research has brought to light so much that is new connected both with the general

history of the Highlands and the history of the various clans, and so many new laurels have

been added to those already won by the Highland regiments during the past century, and

the early part of the present, that the publishers believed the time had come for the preparation

and issue of a new work.

In preparing it, the editor has done aU in Ids power to make it complete and accurate.

The object of Dr Browne's work was to present in one book all that is interesting and valuable

concerning the Highlands and Highlanders, a great deal of information on this subject having

lain scattered in various quarters inaccessible to the general public. In the preparation of

the present work this object has been kept steadily in view; and it may be said of it, with

even more force than of Browne's, that it is a ciMectanea of information concerning the Scottish

Highlands of an extent and kind to be met with in no other single publication.

The general plan of Dr Browne's work has been adhered to. In the First Part, that dealing

with the General History of the Highlands, which, from the nature of the case, is more a

chronicle of clan battles than a homogeneous history, it has been found possible, as might

have been expected, to retain much of Browne's text. This, however, has been subjected to

a careful revision and comparison with the original authorities, as well as with the many
new ones that have been brought to light during the past thirty years. Moreover, many
portions throughout this section have been rewritten, and considerable additions made. One
of the largest and most important of these is the continuation of the General History from

1745 down to the present day. The editor felt that, so far as the social history of the Highlands

is concerned, the period embraced in the past hundred years was of even mora importance

than any previous time ; he has therefore attempted to do what, so far as he knows, has not

been done before, to present a sketch of the progress of the Highlands during that period.

Eor this purpose he has had to consult a multitude of sources, and weigh many conflicting

statements, his aim being simply to discover and tell the truth. Such matters have been gone

into as Depopulation, Emigration, Agriculture, Large and Small Farms, Sheep and Deer,

Fishing, Manufactures, Education, &c. It is hoped, therefore, that the First Part of the work

win be found to contain a complete account of the Highlands, historical, antiquarian, and social.

An original and important feature of this part of the work is a history of the Gaelic Language

and Literature, by the well known Celtic scholar, the Rev. T. Maclauchlan, LL.D., F.S.A. Scot.

In the Second Part, relating to the History of the Highland Clans, it will be found that, in

the case of every clan, modifications and additions have been made. In some instances the

histories have been entirely rewritten, and several border clans have been included that were

not noticed in Browne's work The history of each clan, has, as far as possible, been traced

from its founder through all the branches and offshoots down to the present day; the part it

took in the various clan strifes, in the disputes between the Highlands and Lowlands, and in

the general wars of Scotland, being set fortk In the case of most of the clans, gentlemen who
have made a special study of particular clan histories have kindly revised the proofs.



PREFACE.

The Third Part, the History of the Higlilaad Regiments, occupies a prominent place in the

present work. Of these regiments one-half have had their complete history published now for

the first time, and in the case of the others so many changes and additions have been made,

that tlus part of the work may be considered as entirely new. The history of each of the

nine regiments which now rank as Highland has been gone into from its embodiment, and the

trustworthiness of this unique body of military history may be inferred from the fact, that, in

the case of every regiment, it is founded upon the original Regimental Record, supplemented

in many instances by the diaries and recollections of officers; and in two cases, at least, as wUl

be seen, by materials collected by officers who have made a special study of their regimental

histories. The general reader wUl find this part of the work of very great interest.

With regard to the Illustrations, the publishers feel justified in alluding to them with

considerable pride. No attempt has been made to make the present work a mere picture-

book ; it will be invariably found that the numerous plates, woodcuts, and clan-tartans

either add interest to the text, or throw light upon it. Every eflort has been made to secure

authentic portraits and original views, and to have every illustration executed in a thoroughly

artistic style ; and it is hoped that, in these respects, the exertions of the editor and publishers

have been crowned with success. The specimens of olan-tartaus represent in every case those

recognised by the heads of the various clans. The illustrations, therefore, will be found both

historically and artistically valuable.

Tliroughout this work the editor has endeavoured to acknowledge the authorities which

he has in any way made use of. Were he to mention the names of the numerous individuals

to whom he has been indebted for assistance during its preparation, it would add very

considerably to the length of this preface ; in his own name and that of the publishers, he

expresses sincere gratitude to all who have in any way lent a helping hand. Special thanks,

however, are due to the Duke of Athole for assistance in various ways, and particularly for

permission to engiave the portrait of Lord George Murray ; to Lady Elizabeth Pringle for

the portrait of the first Earl of Breadalbane, and to Mrs Campbell of Monzie for that of the

" Gentle Lochiel,"—all published in this work for the first time. As mentioned in the

text, the beautiful miniature of " Prince Charlie " is copied from the original in possession of

Donald Cameron, Esq. of Lochiel, who has also lent assistance in other ways. The originals

of other valuable illustrations, as wiU be seen, have been kindly placed at the publishers'

service by the Duke of Sutherland, the Duke of Richmond, the Earl of Stiathmore, the Earl

of Crawford and Balcarres, The Mackintosh, The Chisholm, Duncan Forbes, Esq. of Culloden,

David Laing, Esq., LL.D., James Drummond, Esq., R.S.A., and many others.

The editor has in the proper place in the text referred to the assistance given him in

connection with the important history of " Clan Chattan " by Alexander Mackintosh Shaw,

Esq., whose own history of the clan is nearly completed ; the narrative in the present work

owes its value almost entirely to his kindness. For assistance in the history of this clan the

editor was also indebted to the late Rev. W. G. Shaw of Forfar.

To the Colonels-commanding of all the Highland regiments special thanks are due for

hearty co-operation in procuring material for tl;ie Third Part of the work. Many other

officers have, with the greatest readiness, either volunteered assistance or given it when asked.

In this connection special mention must be made of Lieutenant-Colonels Wheatley, Clephane,

and Sprot, Captain Colin Mackenzie, and Captain Thackeray.

The large and increasing demand for this work during its publication, and the extremely

favourable notices of the press, aflbrd good grounds for believing that it will be found to fulfil

the purpose for which it has been compiled. May it ever meet with a kindly welcome from

all who are in any way interested in the romantic Highlands of Scotland.

JOHN S. KELTIE.

London, Febeuaet 1875.
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REMARKS

SCENERY OF THE HIGULANBS.

PROFESSOR WILSON.

Ei no oilier country does Nature exliibit her-

aslf in more various forms of beauty and sub-

limity than in the north of England and the

Highlands of Scotland. This is acknowledged

by all who, having studied their character, and

become familiar with the feelings it inspires,

hsvo compared the effects produced on their

mintls by our own mountainous regions, with

what they have experienced among the scenery

of the Alps. There, indeed, all objects are on

so vast a scale, that we are for a while asto-

nished as we gaze on the gigantic ; and all

otlier emotions are sunk in an overwhelming

sense of awe that prostrates the imagination.

But on recovering from its subjection to the

prodigious, that faculty everywhere recognises

in those mighty moimtains of dark forests,

glittering glaciers, and regions of eternal snow

—infinite all—the power and dominion of the

sublime. True that all these are but materials

for the mmd to work on, and that to its creative

energy Nature owes much of that grandeur

which seems to be inherent in her own forms
;

yet surely she in herself is great, and there is

a regality belonging of divine right to such a

monarch as Mont Blanc.

Those are the very regions of sublimity, and

if brought into immediate comparison with

them in their immense magnitude, the most

magnificent scenery of our own country would

no doubt seem to lose its character of great-

ness. But such is not the process of the ima-

gination in her intercourse with Nature. To

her, sufficient for the day is the good thereof

;

and on each new glorious sight being shown

to her eyes, she employs her God-given power

to magnify or irradiate what she beholds, with-

out diminishing or obscuring what slie remem-

bers. Thus, to her all things in nature hold

their own due place, and retain for ever their

own due impressions, aggrandized and beauti-

fied by mutual reaction in those visionary

worlds, which by a thought she can create,

and wliich, as they arise, are all shadowy re-

presentations of realities—new compositions

in which the image of the earth we tread is

reflected fairer or greater than any realities,

but not therefore less, but more true to the

spirit of nature. It is thus that poets and

painters at once obey and control their own
inspirations. They visit all the regions of the

earth, but to love, admire, and adore ; and the

greatest of them all, native to our soU, from

their travel or sojourn in foreign lands, have

always brought home a clearer insight into

the character of the scenery of their own, a

profound er affection for it all, and a higher

power of imaging its attributes in colours or in

words. In our poetry, more than in any other.

Nature sees herseK reflected in a magic mirror;

and though many a various show passes pro-

cessionally along its lustre, displaying the

scenery of " lands and seas, whatever clime

the sun's bright circle warms," among them

aU there are none more delightful or elevating

to behold than those which genius, inspired

by love, has framed of the imagery, which, in

all her pomp and prodigality. Heaven has been

pleased to shower, through all seasons, on our

own beautifid island. It is not for us to

say whether our native painters, or the " old

masters," have shown the greatest genius in

landscape ; but if the palm must be yielded

to them whose works have been consecrated

I
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by a reverence, as often, perhaps, superstitious

as religious, we do not fear to say, that their

superiority is not to be attributed in any de-

gree to the scenery on which they exercised

the art its beauty had inspired. Whatever

may be the associations connected with the

subjects of their landscapes—and we know

not why they should be higher or holier than

those belonging to innumerable places in our

own land—assui'edly in themselves they are

not more interesting or impressive; nay,

though none who have shared with us the

spirit of the few imperfect sentences we have

now written, will for a moment suppose us

capable of instituting an invidious comparison

between our o^vn scenery and that of any

other country, why should we hesitate to

assert that our own storm-loving Northern Isle

is equally rich in all kinds of beauty as the

Sunny South, and richer far in all kinds of

grandeur, whether we regard the forms or

colouring of natui'e—earth, sea, or air

—

" Or all llie dread magnificence of heaven."

What other region in all the world like that

of the Lakes in the north of England ! And
yet how tlio true lover of nature, while he

carries along with him its delightful character

in his heart, and can so revive any spot of

especial beauty in his imagination, as that it

.shall seem in an instant to be again before his

very eyes, can deliver himself up, after the

lapse of a day, to the genius of some savage

scene in the Highlands of Scotland, rent and

riven by the fury of some wild sea-loch ! Not

that the regions do not resemble one another,

but surely the prevailing spirit of the one

—

not so of the other—is a spirit of joy and of

peace. Her mountains, invested, though they

often be, in gloom—and we have been more

than once benighted durmg day, as a thunder-

cloud thickened the shadows that for ever

sleep in the deepest dungeons of Helvellyn

—

are yet—so it seems to us—such mountains as

in nature ought tc belong to " merey England."

They boldly meet the storms, and seen in

storms you might think they loved the trouble;

but pitch your tent among them, and you vnR

feel that theirs is a grandeur that is congenial

with the sunshine, and that their spirit fully

rejoices in the brightness of light. In clear

weather, verdant from base to summit, how
majestic their repose ! And as mists slowly

withdraw themselves in thickening folds up

along their sides, the revelation made is still

of more and more of the beautiful—arable

fields below, then coppice woods studded with

standard trees—enclosed pastui'es above and

among the woods—broad breasts of close-

nibbled herbage here and there adorned by
rich dyed rocks, that do not break the excanse

—till the whole veil has disappeared ; and, lo !

the long lofty range, Avith its wavy line, rising

and sinking so softly in the blue serenity, per-

haps, of an almost cloudless sky. Yet though

we have thus characterised the mountains by

what we have always felt to be the pervading

spirit of the region, cliasms and ravines, and

cliifs and precipices, are tliere ; in some places

you see such assemblages as inspire the fear

that quakes at the heart, when suddenly struck

in the solitude with a sense of the sublime

;

and though we have called the mountains

green—and during Spring and Slimmer, in

spite of frost or drought, they are green as eme-

rald—yet in Autumn they are many-coloOTed,

and are girdled with a glow of variegated light,

that at sunset sometimes seems like fire kindled

in the woods.

The larger Vales are all serene and cheerful

:

and among the sylvan knolls with which their

wide levels, liighly cidtivated, are interspereed,

cottages, single or in groups, are frequent of

an architecture always admirably suited to tlie

scenery, because in a style suggested not by

taste or fancy, which so often disfigure nature

to produce the pictm-esque, but resorted to for

sake of the uses and conveniences of in-door

life, to weather-fend it in storms, and in calm

to give it the enjoyment of smishine. Many
of these dwellings are not what are properly

called cottages, but statesmen's houses, of

ample front, with their many roofs, over-

shadowed by a stately grove, and inhabited

by the same race for many generations. All

alike have their suitable gardens, and the

porches of the poorest are often clustered with

roses ; for everywhere among those lulls, even

in minds the most rude and uncultivated, there

is a natural love of flowers. The villages,

though somewhat too much modernised in

those days of improvement—and indeed not a
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few of them with hardly any remains now of

tlioir original architecture—nothing old about

them but the church tower, perhaps the par-

sonage—are nevertheless generally of a pleasing

character, and accordant, if not with the great

features of natiire, which are unchanged and

unchangeable, with the increased cultivation

of the country, and the many villas and orna-

mented cottages that have risen and are rising

by every lake and river side. Elvers indeed,

properly so called, there are none among these

mountains ; but every vale, great and small,

has at all times its pure and undefiled stream

or ri\idet; every hill has its hundreds of

evanescent riUs, almost every one its own

perennial torrent flowing from spring, marsh,

or tarn ; and the whole region is often ahve

with waterfalls, of many of which, in its ex-

quisite loveliness, the scenery is fit for fairy

festivals—and of many, in its horrid gloom, for

gatherings of gnomes revisiting " the glimpses

of the moon" from their subterraneous prisons.

One lake there is, which has been called

"wooded Winandermere, the river lake;" and

there is another—Ulswater—which you might

imagine to be a river too, and to have come

flowing from afar ; the one excelling in isles,

and bays, and promontories, serene and gentle

all, and perfectly beautiful ; the other, match-

less in its majesty of chfif and mountain, and

in its old forests, among whose hoary gloom is

for ever breakuig out the green light of young

generations, and perpetual renovation triumph-

ing over perpetual decay. Of the other lakes

—^not river-like—the character may be ima-

gined even from that we have faintly described

of the mountains ; almost every vale has its

lake, or a series of lakes ; and though some of

them have at times a stern aspect, and have

scenes to show almost of desolation, descend-

ing sheer to the water's edge, or overhanging

the depth that looks profounder in the gloom,

yet even these, to ayes and hearts familiar with

their spirit, wear a sweet smile which seldom

passes away. Witness Wastwater, with its

huge single mountains, and hugest of all the

mountains of England, Scawfell, with its

terrific precipices—which, in the accidents of

storm, gloom, or mist, has seemed, to the

lonely passer-by, savage in the extreme—

a

howling or dreary wilderness—but in its en-

during character, is surroiuided with all quiet

pastoral imagery, the deep glen in which it ia

embedded being, in good truth, the abode of

Sabbath peace. That hugest mountain is in-

deed the centre from which all the vales irre-

gularly diverge ; the whole circumjacent region

may be traversed in a week ; and though no

other district of equal extent contains such

variety of the sublime and beautiful, yet the

beautiful is so prevalent that we feel its pre-

sence, even in places where it is overpowered
;

and on leaving " The Lakes," our imagination

is haunted and possessed with images, not of

dread, but of dehght.

We have sometimes been asked, whether

the north of England or the Higlilands of

Scotland should be visited first ; but, simple as

the question seems, it is really one which it is

impossible to answer, though we suspect it

woidd equally puzzle Scotchman or Englishman

to give a sufficient reason for his wishing to see

any part of any other country, before ho had

seen what was best worth seeing in his own.

His own country ought to be, and generally is,

dearest to every man. There, if nothing for-

bid, he should not only begin his study of

nature, but continue his education in her

school, wherever it may happen to be situated,

tin he has taken his first degree. We believe

that the love of nature is strong in the hearts

of the inhabitants of our island. And how
wide and profound may tliat knowledge of

nature be, which the loving heart has acquired,

without having studied her anywhere but

within the Four Seas ! The impulses that

make us desire to widen the circle of our ob-

servation, are all impulses of delight and love
;

and it would be strange indeed, did they not

move us, first of all, towards whatever is most

beautiful belonging to our own land. Were
it otherwise, it would seem as if the heart were

faithless to the home afi'ections, out of which,

in their strength, spring all others that are

good ; and it is essential, we do not doubt,

to the full growth of the love of country, that

we should all have oui earliest imaginative

delights associated with our native soil. Such

associations will for ever keep it loveliest to

our eyes ; nor is it possible that we can evir

as perfectly understand the character of any

other ; but we can afterwards transfer and
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transfuse oui feelings in imagination kindled

by our own -will ; and the beauty, born before

GUI eyes, among tlie banks and braes of our

childhood, and then believed to be but there,

and nothing like it anysvhere else in all the

world, becomes a golden light, " whose home

is everywhere," which if we do not darken it,

wUl shine unshadowed in the dreariest places,

till " the desert blossom like the rose."

For our own parts, before we beheld one of

"the beautiful fields of England," we had

walked all Scotland thorough, and had seen

many a secret place, which now, in the confu-

sion of our crowded memory, seem often to

shift their uncertain ground ; but still, wher-

ever they gUmmeringly re-appear, invested

with the same heavenly Hght in which long

ago they took possession of our soul. And

now that we are almost as familiar with the

fair sister-land, and love her almost as well as

Scotland's self, not all the charms in which

she is arrayed—and they are at once graceful

and glorious—have ever for a day withdrawn

our deeper dreams from the regions where,

" In life's morning march when our spirit was young,

"

unaccompanied but by our own shadow in tliB

wilderness, we first heard the belling of the

rod deer and the eagle's cry.

In those days there was some difficulty, if

not a little danger, in getting in among some

of the noblest regions of our Alps. They

could not be traversed without strong personal

exertion ; and a sohtary pedestrian excursion

through the Grampians was seldom achieved

without a few incidents that might almost

have been called adventures. It is very

different now; yet the Genius Loci, though

tamed, is not subdued ; and they who would

become acquainted with the heart of the

Highlands, will have need of some endurance

still, and must care nothing about the condi-

tion of earth or sky. Formerly, it was not

possible to survey more than a district or

division in a single season, except to those

unenviable persons who had no other pursuit

but that of amusement, and waged a weary

war with time. The industrious dwellers in

cities, who sought these solitudes for a while

to relieve their hearts from worldly anxieties,

and gratify that love of nature which is inex-

tinguishable in every bosom that in youth has

beat with its noble inspirations, were con-

tented ivith a week or two of such intercom-

munion with the spirit of the mountains, and

thus continued to extend their acquaintance

with the glorious wildernesses, visit after visit,

for years. Now the whole Highlands, western

and northern, may be commanded in a month.

Not that any one who knows what they aro

win imagine that they can be exliausted in a

lifetime. The man does not live who knows

all worth knowing there ; and were they who

made the trigonometrical survey to be ques

tioned on their experiences, they would be

found ignorant of thousands of sights, any one

of which would be worth a journey for its own

sake. But now steam has bridged the Great

Glen, and connected the two seas. Salt water

lochs the most remote and inaccessible, it has

brought within reach of a summer day's voyage.

In a week a joyous company can gather all the

mainland shores, leaving not one magnificent

bay uncircled ; and, having rounded St KUda
and

" the Hehride Isles,

Placed far amid the melancholy main,"

and heard the pealing anthem of waves in the

cave-cathedral of Staflfa, may bless the bells of

St Mungo's tolling on the first Sabbath.

Thousands and tens of thousands, who but for

those smoking sea-horses, had never been

beyond view of the city spires, have seen

sights which, though passing by almost like

dreams, are not like dreams forgotten, but

revive of themselves in memory and imagina-

tion ; and, when the heart is weary with the

work of the hand, quicken its pulses with a

sudden pleasure that is felt like a renovation

of youth.

AH through the interior, too, how many

hundreds of miles of roads now intersect

regions not long ago deemed impracticable !

—

firm on the fen, in safety flung across the

chasm—and winding smootlily amidst shatter-

in"s of rocks, round the huge mountain bases,

and down the glens once felt as if interminable,

now travelled almost with the speed of the

raven's wing

!

In the Highlands now, there is no terra in-

cognita But there are many places yet weD

worth seeing, which it is not easy for aU men
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to find, and to which every man must be his

own guide. It is somewhat of a selfish feeling,

indeedj but the pride is not a mean one, with

which the solitary pedestrian sits down to

tontemplate some strange, or wild, or savage

scene, or some view of surpassing sweetness

and serenity, so far removed from the track of

men, that he can well believe for a time that

his eyes have been the first to behold it, and

that for them alone it has now become a visible

revelation. The memory of such places is

sometimes kept as a secret which we would

not communicate but to a congenial friend.

They are hallowed by those mysterious

" thoughts that, like phantoms, trackless come

and go ; " no words can tell another how to

find his way thither ; and were we ourselves

to seek to return, we should have to trust to

some consciousness mysterious as the instinct

of a bu'd that carries it through the blind

night to the place of its desire.

It ia well to have in our mind the concep-

tion of a route ; but without being utterly

departed from—nay, without ceasing to control

us within certain bounds—it admits of almost

any degrees of deviation. We have known

persons apparently travelling for pleasure who

were afraid to tui'u a few mUes to the right or

the left, for fear of subjecting themselves to

tiio reproach of their own conscience for infir-

mity of purpose. They had " chalked out a

route," and acted as if they had sworn a

solemn oath to follow it. This is to be a

slave among the boundless dominions of nature,

where aJl are free. As the wind bloweth

wherever it listeth, so move the moods of

men's minds, when there is nought to shackle

them, and when the burden of their cares has

been dropt, that for a while they may walk on

air, and feel that they too have wings.

" A voice calls on me from the mountain depths,

And it must be obeyed.

"

The voice was our own—and yet though but

a whisper from the heart, it seemed to come

fi'om the front of yon distant precipice—sweet

and wild as an echo.

On rising at dawn in the shieling, why
think, much less determine, where at night we
are to lay down our head 'i Let this be our

thought

:

" Among the hills a hundred homes have I :

My table in the wilderness is spread :

In these lone spots one honest smile can buy
Plain fare, warm welcome, and a rushy bed."

If we obey any powers external to our own

minds, let them be the powers of Nature—the

rains, the winds, the atmosphere, sun, moon

and stars. We must keep a look out

—

" To see the deep, fermenting tempest brewed,
In the grim evening sky ;

"

that next day we may cross the red rivers by

bridges, not by fords ; and if they roll along

unbridged, that we may set our face to the

mountain, and wind our way round his shoulder

by sheep-tracks, imwet with the heather, till

we behold some great strath, wliich we had

not visited but for that storm, with its dark

blue river streaked with golden light,—for its

source is in a loch among the Eastern Eange
;

and there, during the silent hours, heather,

bracken, and greensward rejoiced in the trem-

bling dews.

There is no such climate for all kinds of

beauty and grandeur as the climate of the

Highlands. Here and there you meet with an

old shepherd or herdsman, who has beguiled

himself into a belief, in spite of many a night's

unforeseen imprisonment in the mists, that he

can presage its changes from fair to foul, and

can tell the hour when the long-tlueatening

thunder will begin to mutter. The weather-

wise have often perished in their plaids. Yet

among a thousand uncertain symptoms, there

are a few certain, which the ranger will do

well to study, and he will often exult on the

mountain to feel that " knowledge is power."

Many a glorious hour has been won from the

tempest by him before whose instructed eye

—

beyond the gloom that wide around blackened

aU the purple heather—" far off its coming

shone." Leagues of continuous magnificence

have gradually unveUed themselves on either

side to him, as he has slowly paced, midwaj'

between, along the banks of the Eiver of

Waterfalls ; ha^'ing been assured by tlie light

struggling through the mist, that it would not

be long till there was a break-up of all that

ghastly dreariment, and that the sun would

call on him to come forth from his cave of

shelter, and behold in all its pride the Glen

ififronting the Sea.
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Some Tourists—as they call themselves— are

provided with map and compass ; and we

hope they find them of avail in extremities,

though we fear few such understand their use.

No map can tell—except very vaguely—how

the aspect of the localities, looked at on its

lines, is likely to be affected by sunrise,

meridian, or sunset. Yet, true it is, that every

region has its own happy hours, which the

fortunate often find unawares, and know them

at once to be so the moment they lift up their

eyes. At such times, while " our hearts

rejoice in Nature's joy," we feel the presence of

a sph'it that brings out the essential character

of the place, be it of beauty or of grandeur.

Harmonious as music is then the composition

of colours and of forms. It becomes a perfect

picture in memory, more and more idealised

by imagination, every moment the veil is with-

drawn before it ; its aerial lineaments never

fade
;
yet they too, though their being be but

in the soul, are mellowed by the touch of time

—and every glimpse of such a vision, the

longer we live, and the more we suffer, seems

suffused with a mournful light, as if seen

through tears.

It would serve no good purpose, supposing

we had the power, to analyse the composition

of that scenery, which in the aggregate so

moves even the most sluggish faculties, as to

make " the dullest wight a poet." It rises

before the mind in imagination, as it does

before the eyes in nature ; and we can no more

speak of it than look at it, but as a whole.

We can indeed fix our mental or our visual

gaze on scene after scene to the exclusion of

all beside, and picture it even in words that

shall be more than shadows. But how shall

any succession of such pictures, however clear

and complete, give an idea of that picture

which comprehends them all, and infinite as

ai'e its manifestations, nevertheless is imbued

with one spirit?

Try to forget that in the Highlands there

are any Lochs. Then the sole power is that of

the Mountains. We speak of a sea of moun-
tains ; but that image has never more than

momentary possession of us, because, but for a

moment, in nature it has no tnith. Tumul-

tuary movements envelope them ; but they

themselves are for ever steadfast and for ever

still. Their power is that of an enduring

calm no storms can disturb—and is often felt

to be more majestical, the more furious are the

storms. As the tempest-driven clouds are

franticly hurrying to and fro, how serene the

summits in the sky ! Or if they be hidden,

how peaceful the glimpses of some great

mountain's breast ! They disregard the hurri*

cane that goes crashing through their old

woods ; the cloud-thunder disturbs not them

any more than that of their own cataracts, and

the lightnings play for their pastime. All

minds under any excitation more or less per-

sonify mountains. When much moved, that

natural process affects all our feelings, as the

language of passion awakened by such objects

vividly declares ; and then we do assuredly

conceive of mountains as indued with life

—

however dim and vague the conception may

be—and feel their character in their very

names. Utterly strip our ideas of them of all

that is attached to them as impersonations, and

their power is gone. But whQe we are crea-

tures of imagination as well as of reason, will

those monarchs remain invested with the

purple and seated on thrones.

In such imaginative moods as these must

every one be, far more frequently than he is

conscious of, and in far higher degi-ees, who,

with a cultivated mind and a heart open to the

influences of nature, finds himself, it matters

not whether for the iirst or the hundredth

time, in the Highlands. We fancy the Neo-

phyte wandering, all by himself, on the

"longest day;" rejoicing to think that the

light will not fail him, when at last the sun

must go down, for that a starry gloaming wiD

continue its gentle reign tUl morn. He thinks

but of what he sees, and that is—the moun-

tains. All memories of any other world but

that which encloses him with its stLU subli-

mities, are not excluded merely, but obliterated:

his whole being is there ! And now he stands

on table-land, and with his eyes sweeps the

horizon, bewildered for a while, for it seems

chaos all. But soon the mighty masses begin

an-anging themselves into order ; the confusion

insensibly subsides as he comprehends more

and more of their magnificent combinations

;

he discovers centres round which are associated

altitudes towering afar off; and finally, he
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feels, and blesses himself on liis felicity, that

his good genius has placed him on the very

centre of those •wondrous assemblages alto-

gether, from which alone he could command

an empire of realities, more glorious far than

was ever empire of dreams.

It is a cloudy, but not a stormy day ; the

clouds occupy but portions of the sky,—and

are they all in slow motion together, or are

they all at rest ? Huge shadows stalking

along the earth, tell that there are changes

going on in heaven ; but to the upward gaze,

all seems hanging there in the same repose

;

and ivith the same soft illumination the sun

to continue shining, a concentration rather

than an orb of light. All above is beautiful,

and the clouds themselves are like celestial

mountains ; but the eye forsakes them, though

it sees them still, and more quietly now it

moves along the pageantry below that endures

for ever—tiU chained on a sudden by that

range of cliffs. 'Tis along them that the giant

shadows are stalking—but now they have

passed by—and the long line of precipice

seems to come forward in the light. To look

down from the brink might be terrible—to

look up from the base would be sublime—but

fronting the eye thus, horrid though it be, the

sight is most beautiful ;—for weather-stains,

and mosses, and lichens, and ftoweriug-plants

—conspicuous most the broom and the heather

—and shrubs tliat, among their leaves of light,

have no need of flowers—and hollies, and birks,

and hazels, and many a slender tree besides

with pensile tresses, besprinkle aU the cliffs, that

in no gloom could ever lose their lustre ; but

now the day though not bright is fair, and

brings out the whole beauty of the precipice

—

call it the hanging garden of the wilderness.

The Highlands have been said to be a

gloomy region, and worse gloom than theirs

might well be borne, if not imfrequently

Ulumined ynth such sights as these ; but that is

not the character of the mountains, though the

purple light in which, for usual, they are so

richly steeped, is often for a season tamed, or

for a short while extinguished, while a strange

night-like day lets fall over them all a some-

thing like a shroud. Such days we have seen

—but now in fancy we are ivith the pilgrim,

and see preparation making for a sunset. It

is drawing towards evening, and the clouds

that have aU this time been moving, though

we knew it not, have assuredly settled now,

and taken up their rest. The sun has gone

down, and all that unspeakable glory has left

the sky. Evening has come and gone without

our knowing that she had been here ; but

there is no gloom on any place in the whole of

tliis vast wilderness, and the mountains, as

they wax dimmer and dimmer, look as if they

were surrendering themselves to a repose like

sleep. Day had no voice here audible to himian

ear— but night is murmuring— and gentle

though the murmur be, it filleth the great

void, and we imagine that ever and anon it

awakens echoes. And now it is darker than

we thought, for lo ! one soft-burning star !

And we see that there are many stars ; but

not theirs the light that begins again to reveal

object after object as gradually as they had

disappeared ; the moon is about to rise—is

rising—has arisen—has taken her place high in

heaven ; and as the glorious world again

expands around us, faintly tinged, clearly

Ulumined, softly shadowed, and deeply be-

gloomed, we say within our hearts,

" How beautiful is night 1

"

There are many such table-lands as the one

we have now been imagining, and it requires

but a slight acquaintance with the country to

conjecture rightly where they lie. Indepen-

dently of the panoramas they display, they are

in themselves always impressive
;

perhaps a

bare level that shows but bleached bent,

and scatterings of stones, with here and there

an unaccountable rock ; or hundreds of fairy

greensward knoUs, fringed with tiny forests of

fern that have almost displaced the heather
;

or a wild withered moor or moss intersected

with pits dug not by men's hands ; and,

strange to see ! a huge log lying half exposed,

and as if blackened by fire. High as such

places are, on one of them a young gorcock

was stricken down by a hawk close to our

feet. Indeed, hawks seems to haunt such

places, and we have rarely crossed one of them,

without either seeing the creature's stealthy

flight, or hearing, whether he be alarmed or

preying, his ever-angry cry.

From a few such stations, you get an insight
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into the configuration of the whole Western

Highlands. By the dip of the mountains, you

discover at a glance all the openings in the

panorama around you into other regions.

Follow your fancies fearlessly wherever they

may lead ; and if the blue aerial haze that

hangs over a pass winding eastward, tempt

you from your line of march due north, forth-

with descend in that direction, and haply an

omen will confirm you—an eagle rising on the

left, and sailing away before you into that very

spot of sky.

No man, however well read, should travel

by book. In books you find descriptions, and

often good ones, of the most celebrated scenes,

but seldom a word about the vast tracts

between ; and it would seem as if many

Tourists had used their eyes only in those

places where they had been told by common

fame there was something greatly to admire.

Travel in the faith, that go where you will,

the cravings of your heart will be satisfied,

and you will find it so, if you be a true lover

of nature. You hope to be inspired by her

spirit, that you may read aright her works.

But such inspiration comes not from one

object or another, however great or fair, but

from the whole " mighty world of eye and

ear," and it must be supported continuously,

or it perishes. You may see a thousand sights

never before seen by human eye, at every step

you take, wherever be your path ; for no steps

but yours have ever walked along that same

level ; and moreover, never on the same spot

twice rested the same lights or shadows.

Then there may be sometliing in the air, and

more in your own heart, that invests every

ordinary object with extraordinary beauty ;

old images atJ'ect you with a new delight ; a

grandeur grows upon your eyes in the undula-

tions of the simplest hiUs ; and you feel there

is sublimity in the common skies. It is thus

that all the stores of imagery are insensibly

gathered, with wliich the minds of men are

filled, who from youth have communed vnth

Nature. And it is thus that all those feelings

have flowed into their hearts by which that

imagery is sanctified ; and these are the poets.

It is in this way that we all become

familiar with the Mountains. Far more than

we were aware of have we trusted to the strong

spirit of delight witliin us, to prompt and to

guide. And in such a country as the High-

lands, thus led, we cannot err. Therefore, if

your desire be for the summits, set your face

thitherwards, and wind a way of your own,

stiU ascending and ascending, along some vast

brow, that seems almost a whole day's journey,

and where it is lost from your sight, not to

end, but to go sweeping round, with un-

diminished grandeur, into another region.

You are not yet half-way up the mountain,

but you care not for the summit now ; for you

find yourself among a number of green knolls

—all of them sprinkled, and some of them

cro^vned, with trees—as large almost as our

lowland hiUs—surrounded close to the brink

with the purple heather—and without impair-

ing the majesty of the immense expanse,

embuing it with pastoral and sylvan beautj'

;

—and there, lying in a small forest glade of

the lady-fern, ambitious no longer of a throne

on Benlomond or Bennevis, you dream away

the stdl hours tUI sunset, yet then have no

reason to weep that you have lost a day.

But the best way to view the mountains is

to trace the Glens. To find out the glens you

must often scale the shoulders of mountains

;

and in such journeys of discover)', you have

for ever going on before your eyes glorious

transfigurations. Sometimes for a whole day

one mighty mass lowers before you unchanged;

look at it after the interval of hours, and stiU.

the giant is one and the same. It rules the

region, subjecting all other altitudes to its

sway, though many of them range away to a

great distance ; and at simset retains its supre-

macy, blazing almost like a volcano with fiery

clouds. Your line of journey lies, perhaps,

some two thousand feet above the level of the

sea, and seldom dips down to one thousand
j

and these are the heights from which all above

and all below you look most magnificent, for

both regions have their full power over you

—

the unscaleable clilfs, the unfathomable abysses

•—and you know not which is the more sub-

lime. The sublimity indeed is one. It is

then that you may do well to ascend to the

very mountain top. For it may happen to be

one of those he;avenly days indeed, when the

whole Higlilands seem to be reposing in the

cloudless skv.
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But we were about to speak of the Glens.

And some of them are best entered by such

descents as these—perhaps at their very head

—where all at once you are in another world,

how still, how gloomy, how profound ! An
hour ago and the eye of the eagle had not

wider command of earth, sea, and sky than

yours— almost blinded now by the super-

incumbent precipices that imprison you, and

seem to shut you out from life.

" Such the grim desolation, where Ben-Hun
And Craig-na-Torr, by earthquake shatterings

Disjoined with horrid chasms prerupt, enclose

What superstition calls the Glen of Ghosts.''

Or you may enter gome great glen from the

foot, where it widens into vale, or strath—and

there are many such—and some into which

3'ou can sail up an arm of the sea. For a

while it partakes of the cultivated beauty of

tlie lowlands, and glen and vale seem almost

one and the same ; but gradually it undergoes

a strange wild change of character, and in a

few miles that similitude is lost. There is

little or no arable ground here ; but the

pasture is rich on the unenclosed plain—and

here and there are enclosures near the few

houses or huts standing, some of them in the

middle of the glen, quite exposed, on eminences

above reach of the floods—some more happUy

placed on the edge of the coppices, that

sprinkle the steep sides of the hills, yet barely

mountahis. But mountains they soon become
;

and leaving behind you those few barren

habitations, you see before you a wide black

moor. Beautiful hitherto had been the river,

for a river you liad Luclined to think it, long

after it liad narrowed into a stream, with many
a waterfall, and in one chasm a cataract. But

the torrent now has a wild mountain-cry, and

though there is stiU beauty on its banks, they

are bare of all trees, now swelling into multi-

tudes of low green knolls among the heather,

now composed but of heather and rocks.

Through the very middle of the black moor it

flows, yet are its waters clear, for all is not

moss, and it seems to wind its way wliere

there is nothing to pollute its purity, or tame

its lustre. 'Tis a soKtary scene, but still

sweet ; the mountains are of gi-eat magnitude,

but they are not precipitous; vast herds of

cattle are browsing there, on heights from

which fire has cleared the iieather, and wide

ranges of gi-eensward upon the lofty gioom

seem to lie in perpetual light.

The moor is crossed, and you prepare to

scale the mountain in front, for you imagine

the torrent by your side flows from a tarn in

yonder cove, and forms that series of water-

falls. You have been all along well pleased

with the glen, and here at the head, though

tliere is a want of cliffs of the highest class,

you feel nevertlieless that it has a character of

grandeur. Looking westward, you are astounded

to see them ranging away on either side of

another reach of the glen, terrific in their

height, but in their formation beautiful, for

like the walls of some vast temple they stand,

roofed with sky. Yet are they but as a

portal or gateway of the glen. For entering

in with awe, that deepens as you advaaico

almost into dread, you behold beyond moun-
tains that carry their cliffs up into the clouds,

seamed with chasms, and hollowed out into

coves, where night dwells visibly by the side of

day ; and still the glen seems winding on be-

neath a purple hght, that almost looks like

gloom ; such vast forms and such prodigious

colours, and such utter stillness, become op-

pressive to your very life, and you wish that

some human being were by, to relieve by his

mere presence the insupportable weight of such
a solitude.

But we should never have done were we to

attempt to sketch, however slightly, the

character of all the diflferent kinds of glens.

Some are sublime in their prodigious depth
and vast extent, and would be felt to be so,

even were the mountains that enclose them of

no great majesty ; but thes^ are all of the

liighest order, and sometimes are seen from
below to the very cairns on thoir summits.

Now we walk along a reach, between astonish-

ing ranges of cliffs, among large heaps of rocks

—not a tree—scarcely a shrub—no herbage

—

the very heather blasted—all lifelessness and
desolation. The glen gradually grows less and
less horrid, and though its sides are seamed
with clefts and chasms, in the gloom there are

places for the sunshine, and there is felt to be

even beauty in the repose. Descends suddenly

on either side a steep slope of hanging wood,

ami we find ourselves f.mong verdant moiuids,
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and knolls, and waterfalls. We come then

into what seems of old to have been a forest.

Here and there a stately pine survives, but the

rest are all skeletons ; and now the glen widens,

and widens, yet ceases not to be profound, for

several high mountains enclose a plain on

which armies might encamp, and castellated

clouds hang round the heights of the glorious

amphitheatre, while the sky-roof is clear, and, as

if in its centre, the refulgent sun. 'Tis the plain

called " The ]\Ieeting of the Glens." From

the east and the west, the north and the south,

they come like rivers into the sea.

Other glens there are as long, but not so

profound, nor so grandly composed
;
yet they

too conduct us nobly in among the mountains,

and up their sides, and on even to their very

summits. Such are the glens of Athole, in tlie

neighbourhood of Ben-y-gloe. From them the

heather is not wholly banished, and the fire

has left a green light without quenching the

pui'ple colour native to the hills. We think

that we almost remember the time when those

glens were in many places sprinkled with

huts, and all aniniated with human life. Now
they are solitary ; and you may walk from

sunrise till sunset without seeing a single sold.

For a hundred thousand acres have there been

changed into a forest, for sake of the pastime,

indeed, which was dear of old to chieftains and

kings. Vast herds of red deer are there, for

they herd in thousands
;
yet may you wander

for days over the boundless waste, nor once be

startled by one stag hounding by. Yet may a

herd, a thousand strong, be drawn up, as in

battle array, on the cHifs above your head.

For they wdl long stand motionless, at gaze,

when danger is in the wind ; and then their

antlers to unpractised eyes seem but boughs

grotesque, or are invisible ; and when all at

once, with one accord, at signal from the stag,

whom they obey, they wheel off towards the

corries, you think it but thunder, and look up

to the clouds. Fortunate if you see such a

sight once in your life. Once only have we
seen it ; and it was, of a sudden, all by
ourselves,

" Ere yet the hunter's startling horn was heard
Upon the golden hills.

'

Almost within rifle-shot, the herd occupied a

position, higli up indeed, but below several

ridges of rocks, running parallel for a long

distance, with slopes between of sward and

heather. Standing still, they seemed to extend

about a quarter of a mile ; and, as with a loud

clattering of hoofs and antlers they took more

open order, the line at least doubled its length,

and the whole mountain side seemed alive.

They might not be going at full speed, but the

pace was equal to that of any charge of

cavalry ; and once and again the flight passed

before us, tdl it overcame the ridges, and then

deploying round the shoulder of the mountain,

disappeared, without dust or noise, into tlie

blue light of another glen.

We question if there be in the Highlands

any one glen comparable with Borrowdale in

Cumberland. But there are several that

approach it, in that combination of beauty and

grandeur, which perhaps no other scene equals

in all the world. The " Gorge " of that Dale

exhibits the finest imaginable assemblage of

rocks and rocky hdls, all wildly wooded

;

beyond them, yet before we have entered into

the Dale, the Pass widens, with noble cliffs on

one side, and on the other a sylvan stream,

not without its abysses ; and we see before us

some lovely hills, on which

—

" The smiling power of cultivation lies,"

yet leaves, with lines defined by the steeps

that defy the ploughshare, copses and groves

;

and thus we are brought into the Dale itself,

and soon have a vision of the whole—green

and golden fields—for though most are in

pasture, almost aU seem arable—sprinkled with

fine single trees, and lying in flats and levels,

or swelling into mounds and knolls, and all

diversified with every kind of woods ; single

cottages, with thfiir out-buildings, standing

everywhere they should stand, and coloured

like the rocks from which in some hghts they

are hardly to be distinguished—strong-roofed

and undilapidated, though many of them very

old ; villages, apart from one another a mile

—

and there are three—yet on their sites, distant

and different in much though they be, all

associated together by the same spirit of beauty

that pervades all the Dale. Half way up, and

in some places more, the enclosing hUls and

even mountains are sylvan indeed, and though
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there be a few inoffensive aliens, they are all

adorned with their native trees. The momi-

tains are not so high as in our Higlilands, but

they are very majestic ; and the passes over

into Langdale, and Wastdalehead, and Butter-

mere, are magnificent, and show precipices in

which the Golden Eagle himself might rejoice.

No—there is no glen in aU the Higlilands

comparable with Borrowdale. Yet we know

of some that are felt to be kindred places, and

their beauty, though less, almost as mucli

affects us, because though contending, as it

were, with the darker spirit of the mountain,

it is not overcome, but prevails ; and their

beauty will increase with years. For while

the rocks continue to frown aloft for ever, and

the cliffs to range along the corries, unbroken

by trees, which there the tempests will not

suffer to rise, the woods and groves below,

preserved from the axe, for sake of their need-

ful shelter, shall become statelier tiU the birch

equal the pine ; reclaimed from the waste,

shall many a fresh field recline among the

heather, tempering the gloom ; and houses

arise where now there are but huts, and every

house have its garden :—such changes are now

going on, and we have been glad to observe

tlieir progress, even though sometimes they

had removed, or were removing, objects dear

from old associations, and which, had it been

possible, but it was not, we should have loved

to see preserved.

And one word on those sweet pastoral seclu-

sions into which one often drops unexpectedly,

it may be at the close of day, and finds a

night's lodging in the lonely hut. Yet they

lie, sometimes, embosomed, in their own green

hiUs, among the most rugged mountains, and

even among tlie wildest moors. They have

no features by which you can describe them :

it is their serenity that charms you, and their

cheerfid peace ;
perhaps it is wrong to call

them glens, and they are but dells. Yet one

thinks of a dell as deep, however small it may

be ; but these are not deep, for the hills slope

down gently upon them, and leave room

perhaps between for a little shallow loch.

Often they have not any visible water at all,

only a few springs and rivulets, and you

wonder to see them so very green ; there is no

herbage like theirs ; and to such spots of old.

and sometimes yet, thekine are led in summer,

and there the lonely family live in their shiel-

ing till the harvest moon.

We have all along used the same word, and

called the places we have spoken of—glens.

A fine observer—the editor of Gilpin's Forest

Scenery— has said :
" The gradation from

extreme width downwards should be thus

arranged — strath, vale, dale, valley, glen,

dell, ravine, chasm. In the strath, vale, and

dale, we may expect to find the large,

majestic, gently flowing river, or even the

deeper or smaller lake. In the glen, if the

river be large, it flows more rapidly, and with

greater variety. In the dell, the stream is

smaller. In the ravine, we find the mountain

torrent and the waterfall. In the chasm, we

find the roaring cataract, or the rill, bursting

from its haunted fountain. The chasm dis-

charges its small tribute into the ravine, while

the ravine is tributary to the dell, and thence

to the glen ; and the glen to the dale."

These distinctions are admirably expressed,

and perfectly true to nature
;
yet we doubt if

it woidd be possible to preserve them in

describing a country, and assuredly they are

very often indeed confused by common use in

the naming of places. We have said nothing

about straths—nor shall we try to describe one

—but suggest to your own imagination as

specimens, Strath-Spey, Strath-Tay, Strath-

Earn. The dominion claimed by each of those

rivers, within the mountain ranges that environ

their courses, is a strath ; and three noble

straths they are, from source to sea.

And now we are brought to speak of the

Highland rivers, streams, and torrents ; but

we shall let them rush or flow, murmur or

thunder, in your own ears, for you cannot fail

to imagine what the waters must be in a land

of such glens, and such mountains. The chief

rivers possess all the attributes essential to

greatness—width—depth—clearness—rapidity

—in one word, power. And some of them

have long courses—rising in the central heights,

and winding round many a huge projection,

against which in flood we have seen them

dashing like the sea. Highland droughts are

not of long duration ; the supplies are seldom

withheld at once by all the tributaries; and

one wild night among the mountains converts
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a calm into a commotion—the manj'-murmuring

voice into one roar. In flood they are terrible

to look at ; and every whirlpool seems a place

of torment. "Winds can make a mighty noise

in swinging woods, hut there is sometliing to

OUT ears more appalling in that of the fall of

waters. Let them be imited— and add

thunder from the clouds—^and we have heard

in the HigUands all three in one— and the

auditor need not care that he has never stood

by Niagara. But when " though not o'er-

flowing full," a Highland river is in perfec-

tion ; far better do we lov« to see and hear

bim rejoicing than raging ; his attributes

appear more his own in calm and majestic

manifestations, and as he glides or rolls on,

without any disturbance, we behold in liim an

image at once of power and peace.

Of rivers—comparatively spealdng, of the

second and third order—the Highlands are fuU

.—and on some of them the sylvan scenery is

beyond compare. No need there to go hunt-

ing the waterfalls. Hundreds of them—some

tiny indeed, but others tall— are for ever

dinning in the woods
;

yet, at a distance from

the cataract, how sweet and quiet is the

sound ! It lunders you not from listening to

the cushat's voice ; clear amidst the mellow

murmur comes the bleating from the moun-

tain ; and all other sound ceases, as you

hearken in the sky to the bark of the eagle

—

rare indeed anywhere, but sometimes to be

heard as you thread the " glimmer or the

gloom " of the umbrage overhanging the Garry

or the Tummel—for he used to build in the

cliffs of Ben-Brackie, and if he has sliifted his

eyrie, a few minutes' waftage wiU bear him to

Cairn-Gower.

In speaking of the glens, we but alluded to

the rivers or streams, and some of them,

indeed, even the great ones, have but rivTilets

;

while in the greatest, the waters often flow on

without a single tree, shadowed but by rocks

and clouds. Wade them, and you find they

are larger than they seem to be ; for looked at

along the bottom of those profound hoUows,

they are but mere slips of sinuous light in the

sunshine, and in the gloom you see them not

at all. We do not remember any very im-

pressive glen, without a stream, that would

not suffer some diminution of its power by our

fancying it to have one ; we may not be aware,

at the time, that the conformation of tho gliu

prevents its having any waterflow, if but we feel

its character aright, that want is among tho

causes of oiir feeling
;
just as there are some

scenes of which the beauty would not be so

touching were there a single tree.

Thousands and tens of thousands there aro

of nameless perennial torrents, and " in number

without number numberless" those that seldom

live a week—perhaps not a day. Up among

the loftiest regions you hear nothing, even

when they are all aflow
;

yet, there is music

in the sight, and the thought of the " general

dance and minstrelsy" enlivens the air, where

no insect hums. As on your descent you come

within hearing of the "liquid lapses," your

heart leaps within you, so men-ily do they sing;

the first torrent-rill you meet with you take

for your guide, and it leads you perhaps into

some fairy dell, where it wantons awhile in

waterfalls, and then, gliding along a little dale

of its own with " banks of green bracken,"

finishes its short course in a stream—one of

many tliat meet and mingle before the current

takes the name of river, which in a mile or

less becomes a small woodland lake. There

are many such of rememberable beauty ; living

lakes indeed, for they are but pausings of ex-

panded rivers, which again soon pursue their

way, and the water-lihes have ever a gentle

motion there as if touched by a tide.

It used, not very long ago, to be pretty

generally believed by our southern brethren,

that there were few trees in the Lowlands of

Scotland, and none at all in the Higlilands.

They had an obscure notion that trees either

could not or would not grow in such a soU

and climate—cold and bleak enough at times

and places, heaven knows—yet not altogether

unproductive of diverse stately plants. They

know better now; nor were we ever angry

vidth their ignorance, which was nothing more

than what was to be expected in persons living

perpetoially at home so far remote. They

rejoice now to visit, and sojourn, and travel

here among us, foreigners and a foreign laud

no more ; and we rejoice to see and receive

them not as strangers, but friends, and are

proud to know they are well pleased to behold

our habitation. They do us and our country
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justice now, and we have sometimes thought

even more than justice ; for they are lost in

admiration of our cities—above all, of Edin-

burgh—and speak with such raptures of our

scenery, that they would appear to prefer it

even to their own. They are charmed with

our bare green hills, with our shaggy bro-vvn

mountains they are astonished, our lochs are

their delight, our woods their wonder, and

they hold up their hands and clap them at our

cliffs. This is generous, for we are not blind

to the fact of England being the most beautiful

land on all the earth. What are our woods

to hers ! To hers, what are our single trees !

We have no such glorious standards to show

as her indomitable and everlasting oaks. She

is all over sylvan— Scotland but here and

there; look on England from any point in

any place, and you see she is rich, from almost

any point in any place in Scotland, and you

feel that comparatively she is poor. Yet our

Lowlands have long been beautifying them-

selves into a resemblance of hers ; as for our

Highlands, though many changes have been

going on there too, and most we believe for

good, they are in their great features, and in

their spirit unalterable by art, stamped and

inspired by enduring Natura

We have spoken, slightly, of the sylvan

scenery of the Highlands. In Perthshire, espe-

cially, it is of rare and extraordinary beauty,

and we are always glad to hear of Englishmen

travelling up the Tay and the Earn. We desire

that eyes familiar with aU that is umbrageous

should receive their first impressions of our

Scottish trees at Duneira and Dunkeld. Nor

win those impressions be weakened as they

proceed towards Blair Athole. In that famous

Pass they wiU feel the power possessed by the

sweet wild monotony of the universal birch

woods—broken but by grey crags in every

shape—grotesque, fantastical, majestic, magni-

ficent, and sublime— on the many-ridged

mountains, that are loth to lose the green

light of their beloved forests, retain it as long

as they can, and on the masses of living lustre

seem to look down with pride from their

skies.

An English forest, meaning thereby any

one wide continuous scene of aU kinds of old

English trees, with glades of pasture, and it

may be of heath between, with dells dipping

down into the gloom, and hillocks imdulating

in the light—ravines and chasms too, riUs,

and rivulets, and a haunted stream, and not

without some melancholy old ruins, and here

and there a cheerful cottage that feels not the

touch of time—such a forest there is not, and

hardly can be imagined to be in Scotland.

But in the Higlilands, there onee were, and

are still, other forests of quite a different

character, and of equal grandeiu'. In his

Forest Scenery, Gilpin shows that he under-

stood it well ; all the knowledge, which as a

stranger, almost of necessity he wanted, Lauder

has supplied in his annotations ; and the book

should now be in the hands of every one who
cares about the woods. " The English forest,"

says Gilpin, " is commonly composed of wood-

land views, interspersed with extensive heaths

and lawns. Its trees are oak and beech,

whose lively green corresponds better than the

gloomy pine with the nature of the scene,

which seldom assumes the dignity of a moun-

tain one, but generally exhibits a cheerful

landscape. It aspires, indeed, to grandeur

;

but its grandeur does not depend, like that of

the Scottish forest, on the sublimity of the

objects, but on the vastness of the whole

—

the extent of its woods and the wildness of its

plains. In its inhabitants also the English

forest differs from the Scottish ; instead of the

stag and the roebuck, it is frequented by

cattle and fallow-deer, and exchanges the

scream of the eagle and the falcon for the

crowing of pheasants and the melody of

the nightingale. The Scottish forest, no

doubt, is the subluner scene, and speaks to

the imagination in a loftier language than the

English forest can reach. The latter, indeed,

often rouses the imagination, but seldom in so

great a degree, being generally content with

captivating the eye. The scenery, too, of the

Scottish forest is better calcidated to last through

ages than that of the English. The woods

of both are almost destroyed. But while the

English forest hath lost aU. its beauty with its

oaks, and becomes only a desolate waste, the

rocks and the mountains, the lakes and the

torrents, of the Scottish forest make it still an

interesting scene."

The tree of the Higlilands is the pine

d
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There are Scotch firs, indeed, well worth

looking at, in the Lowlands, and in England

;

but to learn their true character you must see

them in the glen, among rocks, by the river

side, and on the mountain. " We, for our

parts," says Lauder, very finely, " confess that

when wo have seen it towering in full majesty

in the midst of some appropriate Higliland

scene, and sending its limbs abroad with all

unrestrained freedom of a hardy mountaineer,

as if it claimed dominion over the savage

region round it, we have looked upon it as a

very sublime object. People who have not

seen it in native climate and soU, and who

judge of it from the wretched abortions which

are swaddled and suifocated in English plan-

tations, among dark, heavy, and eternally wet

clays, may well be called a wretched tree

;

but when its foot is among its own Highland

heather, and when it stands freely in its native

knoll of dry gravel, or tliinly-covered rock,

over which its roots wander afar in the wildest

reticulation, whilst its tall, furrowed, and

often gracefully-sweeping red and grey trunk,

of enormous circumference, rears aloft its liigh

umbrageous canopy, then would the greatest

sceptic on this point be compelled to prostrate

his mind before it with a veneration which

perhaps was never before excited in him by

any other tree." The colour of the pine has

been objected to as murky, and murky it often

is, or seems to be ; and so then is the colour

of the heather, and of the river, and of the

loch, and of the sky itseK thimder-laden, and

murkiest of all are the clouds. But a stream

of sunshine is let loose, and the gloom is con^

founded with glory ; over all that night-like

reign the jocund day goes dancing, and the

forest revels in green or in golden light. Thou-

sands and tens of thousands of trees are there;

and as you gaze upon the whole mighty array,

you fear lest it might break the spell, to lix

your gaze on any one single tree. But there

are trees there that wUl force you to look on

themselves alone, and they grow before your

eyes into the kings of the forest. Straight

stand their stems in the sunshine, and you

feel that as straight have they stood in the

storm. As yet you look not up, for your heart

is awed, and you see but the stately columns

reddening away into the gloom. But all the

while you feel the power of the umbrage aloft,

and when thitherwards you Hft your eyes,

what a roof to such a cathedral ! A cone

drops at your feet—nor other sound nor other

stir—but afar off you think you hear a cataract.

Inaudible your footsteps on the soft yellow

floor, composed of the autumnal sheddings of

countless years. Then it is true that you

can indeed hear the beating of your own

heart
;
you fear, but know not what you fear

;

and being the only living creature there, you

are impressed with a thought of death. But

soon to that severe silence you are more than

reconciled ; the solitude, without ceasing to be

sublime, is felt to be solemn and not awful,

and ere long, utter as it is, serene. Seen from

afar, the forest was one black mass ; but a?

you advance, it opens up into spacious glades,

beautiful as gardens, with appropriate trees of

gentler tribes, and ground-flowering in the

sun. But there is no murmur of bee—no

song of bh-d. In the air a thin whisper of

insects—intermittent—and wafted quite away

by a breath. For we are now in the very

centre of the forest, and even the cushat

haunts not here. Hither the red deer may

come—but not now—for at this season they

love the hiU. To such places the stricken

stag might steal to lie down and die.

And thus for hours may you be lost in the

forest, nor all the while have wasted one

thought on the outer world, till with no other

warning but an uncertain glimmer and a

strange noise, you all at once issue forth into

the open day, and are standing on the brink

of a precipice above a flood. It comes turn

bling down with a succession of falls, in a

mile-long course, right opposite your stance

—

rocks, clifi's, and trees, all the way up on

either side, majestically retiring back to afford

ample channel, and showing an unobstructed

vista, closed up by the purple mountain, that

seems to send forth the river from a cavern in

its breast. 'Tis the Glen of Pines. Nor ash

nor oak is suff'ered to intrude on their do-

minion. Since the earthquake first shattered

it out, this great chasm, with all its chasms,

has been held by one race of trees. No other

seed could there spring to life ; for from the

rocks has all soU, ages ago, been washed and

swept by the tempests. But there they stand
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with glossy boles, spreading arms, and glitter-

ing crest ; and those two by themselves on the

summit, known all over Badenoch as " the

Giants"—" their statures reach the sky."

We have been indulging in a dream of old.

Before our day the immemorial gloom of

Glenmore had perished, and it ceased to be a

forest. But there bordered on it another

region of night or twilight, and ii. its vast

depths we iirst felt the subhmity of lonesome

fear. Eothiemurchus ! The very word blackens

before our eyes with necromantic characters

—

again we plunge into its gulphs desirous of

what we drea^—again " in pleasure high and

turbulent," we climb the cliffs of Cairngorm.

Would you wish to know what is now the

look of Glenmore? One now dead and gone

—a man of wayward temper, but of genius

—

shall tell you—and think not the picture

exaggerated—for you would not, if you were

there. " It is the ^vTeck of the ancient forest

which arrests all the attention, and which

renders Glenmore a melancholy—more than a

melancholy—a terrific spectacle. Trees of

enormous height, which have escaped alike the

axe and the tempest, are still standing, stripped

by the winds even of the bark, and like

gigantic skeletons, throwing far and wide their

white and bleached bones to the storms and

rains of heaven ; wliUe others, broken by the

violence of the gales, lift up their split and

fractured trunks in a thousand shapes of re-

sistance and of destruction, or stiU display

some knotted and tortuous branches, stretched

out, in sturdy and fantastic forms of defiance,

to the whirhvind and the winter. Noble

trunks also, wldch had long resisted, but

resisted in vain, strew the ground ; some lying

on the declivity where they have fallen, others

still adhering to the precipice where they were

rooted, many upturned, with their twisted

and entangled roots high in air ; while not a

few astonish us by the space which they

cover, and by dimensions which we could not

otherwise have estimated. It is one wide

image of death, as if the angel of " destruction

had passed over the valley. The sight, even

of a felled tree, is painful : still more is that

of the fallen forest, with all its green branches

on the ground, mthering, silent, and at rest,

where once they glittered in the dew and the

sun, and trembled in the breeze. Yet this is

but an image of vegetable death. It is

familiar, and the impression passes away. It

is the naked skeleton bleaching in the winds,

the gigantic bones of the forest still erect,

the speaking records of former life and of

strength stiU unsubdued, vigorous even in

death, which renders Glenmore one enormous

charnel house."

"Wliat happened of old to the aboriginal

forests of Scotland, that long before these later

destructions they had almost all perished,

leaving to bear witness what they were, such

survivors ? They were chiefly destroyed by
fire. What power could extinguish chance-

kindled conflagrations when sailing before the

wind ? And no doubt fire was set to clear the

country at once of Scotch firs, wolves, wild

boars, and outlaws. Tradition yet tells of such

burnings ; and, if we mistake not, the pines

found in the Scottish mosses, the logs and the

stocks, all show that they were destroj'ed by
Vulcan, though Neptune ' buried them in the

quagmires. Storms no doubt often levelled

them by thousands ; but had millions so fallen

they had never been missed, and one element

only—which has been often fearfully commis-

sioned—cordd achieve the work. In our own
day the axe has indeed done wonders—and
sixteen square miles of the forest of Eothie-

murchus " went to the ground." John of

Ghent, Gilpin teUs us, to avenge an inroad, set

twenty-four thousand axes at work in the

Caledonian Forest.

Yet Scotland has perhaps suificient forest at

this day. For more has been planted than cut

down ; Glenmore wiU soon be populous as ever

with self-sown pines, and Eothiemurchus may
revive ; the shades are yet deeper of Loch
Arkaig, Glengarry, Glenmoriston, Strathglass,

Glen Strathfarrar, and Loch-Shiel ; deeper still

on the Findhorn—and deepest of aU on the

Dee rejoicing in the magnificent pine woods of

Invercauld and Braemar.

We feel that we have spoken feebly of our

Highland forests. Some perhaps, who have
never been off' the high roads, may accuse

us of exaggeration too ; but they contain

wondrous beauties of which we have said

not a word ; and no imagination can con-

ceive what they may be in another hundre''
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years. iJut, apparently far apart from the

forests, though still belonging to them—for

they hold in fancy by the tenure of the olden

time—how many woods, and groves, and

sprinklings of fair trees, rise up during a day's

journey, in abnost every region of the North !

And among them all, it may be, scarcely a

pine. For the oak, and the ash, and the elm,

are also all native trees ; nowhere else does the

rowan flush with more dazzling lustre ; in spring,

the alder with its vivid green stands well beside

the birk—the yew was not neglected of yore,

though the bow of the Celt was weak to that

of the Saxon ; and the holly, in winter emu-

lating the brightness of the pine, flourished,

and stiU flourishes on many a mountain side.

There is sufficient sylvan scenery for beauty in

a land of mountains. More may be needed

for shelter—but let the young plants and

seedlings have time to grow—and as for the

old trees, may they live for ever. Too many
millions of larches are perhaps growing now
behind the Tay and the TUt

;
yet why should

the hills of Perthsliire be thought to be dis-

figured by what ennobles the Alps and the

Apennines ?

Hitherto we have hardly said a word about

Lochs, and have been doing our best to forget

them, while imagining scenes that were chiefly

characterised by other great features of High-

land Landscape. A country thus constituted,

and with such an aspect, even if we could

suppose it without lochs, would stdl be a

glorious region ; but its lochs are indeed its

greatest glory ; by them its glens, its moun-
tains and its woods are aU illimiined, and its

rivers made to sing aloud for joy. In the pure

element, overflowing so many spacious vales

and glens profound, the great and stern objects

of nature look even more sublime or more
beautiful, in their reflected shadows, which
appear ia that stillness to belong rather to

heaven than earth. Or the evanescence of all

that imagery at a breath may touch us with

the thought that all it represents, steadfast as

seems its endurance, wUl as utterly pass away.

Such visions, when gazed on in that wondrous
depth and purity they are sometimes seen to

assume, on a stUl summer day, always inspire

some such faint feeling as this ; and we
»igh to think how transitory must be aU

tilings, when the setting sun is seen to sink

beneath the mountain, and all its golden

pomp at the same instant to evanish from the

lake.

The first that takes possession of the imagi-

nation, dreaming of the Highlands as the

region of lochs, is the Queen of them all. Loch

Lomond. "Wordsworth has said, that " in

Scotland, the proportion of difi'used water is

often too great, as at the Lake of Geneva, for

instance, and in most of the Scottish lakes.

No doubt it sounds magnificent, and flatters

the imagination, to hear at a distance of masses

of water so many leagues in length and miles

in -ividth ; and such ample room may be

delightful to the fresh-water sailor, scudding

with a lively breeze amid the rapidly shifting

scenery. But who ever travelled along the

banks of Loch Lomond, variegated as the

lower part is by islands, without feeling that

a speedier termination of the long vista of

blank water would be acceptable, and without

wishing for an interposition of green meadows,

trees, and cottages, and a sparkling stream to

run by his side. In fact, a notion of grandeur

as connected with magnitude has seduced

persons of taste into a general mistake upon

this subject. It is much more desirable for

the purposes of pleasure, that lakes should bo

numerous and small or middle-sized than

large, not only for communication by walks

and rides, but for variety and for recurrence ot

similar appearances. To Ulustrate this by one

iastance : how pleasing is it to have a ready

and frequent opportunity of watching, at the

outlet of a lake, the stream, pushing its way
among the rocks, in lively contrast with the

stillness from which it has escaped ; and how
amusing to compare its noisy and turbulent

motions with the gentle playfulness of the

breezes that may be starting up, or wandering

here and there over the faintly-rippled surface

of the broad water ! I may add, as a general

remark, that in lakes of great width, the

shores cannot be distinctly seen at the same

time ; and therefore contribute Kttle to mutual

illustration and ornament ; and if the opposite

shores are out of sight of each other, like those

of the American and Asiatic lakes, then unfor-

tunately the traveller is reminded of a nobler

object ; he has the blankness of a sea prospect
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without the grandeur and aocoinpauying sense

of power."

We shall not be suspected of an inclination

to dissent, on light grounds, from any senti-

ments of Wordsworth. But finely felt and

expressed as all this is, we do not hesitate to

say that it is not appHcahle to Loch Lomond.

Far be it from us to criticise this passage sen-

tence by sentence ; for we have quoted it not

in a captious, but in a reverent spirit, as we

have ever done with the works of this illus-

trious man. Ho has studied nature more

widely and profoundly than we have ; but it

is out of our power to look on Loch Lomond

without a feeling of perfection. The " diffu-

sion of water " is indeed great ; but in what a

world it floats ! At first sight of it, how our

soul expands ! The sudden revelation of such

majestic beauty, wide as it is and extending

afar, inspires us with a power of comprehend-

ing it aU. Sea-like, indeed, it is—a Medi-

terranean Sea—enclosed with lofty hiUs and

as lofty mountains—and these, indeed, are

the Fortunate Isles ! We shall not dwell on

the feeling which all must have experienced

on the fijst sight of such a vision—the feeling

of a lovely and a mighty calm ; it is manifest

that the spacious " diffusion of water" more

than conspires with the other components of

such a scene to produce the feeling ; that to it

belongs the speU that makes our spirit serene,

stiU, and bright as its own. Nor when such

feeling ceases so entirely to possess, and so

deeply to affect us, does the softened and sub-

dued charm of the scene before us depend less

on the expanse of the "difi'usion of water."

The islands, that before had lain we knew not

liow—or we had only felt that they were all

most lovely—begin to show themselves in the

order of their relation to one another and to the

shores. The eye rests on the largest, and with

them the lesser combine ; or we look at one

or two of the least, away by themselves, or

remote from all a tufted rock ; and many as

they are, they break not the breadth of the

liquid plain, for it is ample as the sky. They

dhow its amplitude ; as masses and sprinklings

of clouds, and single clouds, show the ampli-

tude of the cerulean vault. And then the

long promontories—stretcliing out from oppo-

site mainlands, and enclosing bays that in

themselves are lakes—they too magnify the

empire of water ; for long as they are, they

seem so only as our eye attends them with

their cUJfs and woods from the retiring shores,

and far distant are their shadows from the

central light. Then what shores ! On one

side, where the lake is widest, low-lying they

seem and therefore lovelier—undulating with

fields and groves, where many a pleasant

dwelling is embowered, into lines of hills that

gradually soften away into another land. On
the other side, sloping back, or overhanging,

mounts beautiful in their barrenness, for they

are green as emerald ; others, scarcely more

beautifid, studded with fair trees—some alto-

gether woods. They soon form into moun-

tains—and the mountains become more and

more majestical, yet beauty never deserts

them, and her spirit continues to tame that of

the frowning cliffs. Far off as they are, Ben-

lomond and Benvoirlich are seen to be giants

;

magnificent is their retinue, but the two are

supreme, each in his own dominion ; and clear

as the day is liere, they are diademed -with

clouds.

It cannot be that the " proportion of diffused

water is here too great ;" and is it then true that

no one " ever travelled along the banks of

Loch Lomond, variegated as the lower part is

by islands, without feeling that a speedier

termination to the long vista of blank water

would be acceptable, and without wishing for

an interposition of green meadows, trees and

cottages, and a sparkling stream to run by his

side?" We have travelled along them in all

weathers, and never felt such a vrish. For

there they all are—all but the " sparkling

stream to run by onr side," and we see not

how tliat well could be in nature. " Streams

that sparkle as they run," cross our path on

their own ; and brighter never issued from

the woods. Along the margin of the water,

as far as Luss— ay, and much farther—the

variations of the foreground are incessant

;

" had it no other beauties," it has been truly

said, " but those of its shores, it would stiU be

an object of prime attraction ; whether from

the bright green meadows sprinkled with

luxuriant ash-trees, that sometimes skirt its

margin, or its white pebbled shores on wliicli

its gentle billows murmur, like a miniature
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ocean, or its bold rocky promontories rising

from the dark water rich in wdd-liowers and

ferns, and tangled with wild roses and honey-

suckles, or its retired bays where the waves

dash, reflecting, like a mirror, the trees which

hang over them, an inverted lanscape." The

islands are for ever arranging themselves into

new forms, every one more and more beautiful;

at least so they seem to be, perpetually occur-

ring, yet always unexpected, and there is a

pleasure even in such a series of slight sur-

prises that enhances the delight of admu'ation.

And alongside, or behind us, all the while, are

the sylvan mountains, " laden with beauty
;"

and ever and anon open glens widen down

upon us from chasms ; or forest glades lead

our hearts away into the inner gloom—per-

haps our feet ; and there, in a field that looks

not as if it had been cleared by his own

hands, but left clear by nature, a woodsman's

hut.

Half-way between Luss and Tarbet the

water narrows, but it is stUI wide ; the new

road, we beheve, winds round the point of

Firkin, the old road boldly scaled the height,

as all old roads loved to do ; ascend it, and

bid the many-isled vision, in all its greatest

glory, farewell. Thence upwards prevails the

spirit of the mountains. The lake is felt to

belong to them—to be subjected to their will

—and that is capricious ; for sometimes they

suddenly blacken it when at its brightest, and

sometimes when its gloom is like that of the

grave, as if at their bidding, all is light. "VVe

cannot help attributing the " skiey mfluences"

which occasion such wonderful efl'ects on the

water, to prodigious mountains ; for we cannot

look on them without feeling that they reign

over the solitude they compose; the lights

and shadows flung by the sun and the clouds

imagination assuredly regards as put forth by

the vast objects which they colour; and we
are inclined to think some such belief is

essential in the profound awe, often amounting

to dread, with which we are inspired by the

presences of mere material forms. Eut be this

as it may, the upper portion of Loch Lomond
is felt by aU to be most sublime. Near the

head, all the manifold impressions of the

beautiful whifh for hours our mind had been

receiving, begin to fade ; if some gloomy

change has taken place in the air, there is a

total obliteration, and the mighty scene before

us i« felt to possess not the hour merely, but

the day. Yet should sunshine come, and

abide a while, beauty wiU glimpse upon us

even here, for green pastures will smile

vividly, high up among the rocks ; the sylvan

spirit is serene the moment it is touched with

light, and here there is not only many a fair

tree by the water-side, but yon old oak wood

will look joyful on the mountain, and the

gloom become ghmmer in the profound abyss.

Wordsworth says, that " it must be more

desu'able, for the purposes of pleasure, that

lakes should be numerous, and small or middle-

sized, tlian large, not only for communication

by walks and rides, but for variety, and for

recurrence of similar appearances." The High-

lands have them of all sizes—and that surely

is best. But here is one which, it has been

truly said, is not only "incomparable in its

beauty as in its dimensions, exceeding all

others ia variety as it does in extent and

splendour, but unites in itself every style of

scenery which is found in the other lakes of

the Highlands." He who has studied, and

understood, and felt all Loch Lomond, wiU be

prepared at once to enjoy any other fine lake

he looks on ; nor will he admire nor love it

the less, though its chief character should

consist in what forms but one part of that of

the Wonder in which all kinds of beauty and

sublimity are combined.

We feel that it would be idle, and worse

than idle, to describe any number of the

Highland lochs, for so many of the finest have

been seen by so many eyes, that few persons

probably wiU ever read these pages to whom
such descriptions would be, at the best, more
than shadowings of scenery that their own
imaginations can more vividly recreate.

We may be allowed, however, to say, that

there cannot be a greater mistake than to

think, as many we believe do who have only

heard of the Highland lochs, that, with the

exception of those famous for their beauty as

well as their grandeur, beauty is not only not

the quahty by which they are distinguished, but
that it is rarely found in them at all. There
are few, possessing any very marked character,

in which beauty is not either an ingredient or
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an accompaniment ; and there are many
" beautiful exceedingly " which, lying out of

the way even of somewhat adventurous travel-

lers, or very remote, are known, if even by

that, only by name. It does not, indeed,

require much, in some situations, to give a

very touching beauty to water. A few trees,

a few knolls, a few tufted rocks, wiU do it,

where all around and above is stern or sterile

;

and how strong may be the gentle charm, if

the torrent that feeds the little loch chance to

flow into it from a lucid pool formed by a

waterfall, and to flow out of it in a rivulet

that enlivens the dai'k heather with a vale of

verdure over which a stag might bound—and

more especially if there be two or three huts

in which it is perceived there is human life !

We believe we slightly touched before on

Buch scenes ; but any little repetition wiU be

excused for the sake of a very jjicturesque

passage, which we have much pleasure in

Fjuoting from the very valuable Guide to the

llighlands and Islands of Scotland, by the

brothers Anderson. "We well remember walk-

ing into the scene here so well painted, many

long years ago, and have indeed, somewhere

or other, described it. The Fall of Foyers is

the most magnificent cataract; out of all sight

and hearing, in Britain. The din is quite

loud enough in ordinary weather—and it is

only in ordinary weather that you can approach

the place, from which you have a fuU view of

all its grandeur. When the Fall is in flood

—

to say nothing of being drenched to the skin

—you are so blinded by the sharp spray

smoke, and so deafened by the dashing and

clashing, and tumbling and rumbling thunder,

that your condition is far from enviable, as

you cling, " lonely lover of nature," to a shelf

by no means eminent for safety, above the

horrid gulf. Nor in former times was there

any likehhood of your being comforted by the

accommodations of the General's Hut. In

.
ordinary Highland weather—meaning thereby

weather neither very wet nor very dry—it is

worth walking a thousand mUes for one hour

to behold the Fall of Foyers. The spacious

cavity is enclosed by "complicated cliffs and

perpendicular precipices " of immense height

;

»nd though for a while it wears to the eye a

*.ivage aspect, yet beauty fears not to dwell

even there, and the horror is softened by what

appears to be masses of tall slirubs, or single

shrubs almost like trees. And they are trees,

which on the level plain would look even

stately ; but as they ascend ledge above ledge

the walls of that awful chasm, it takes the eye

time to see them as they really are, while on

our first discernment of their character, serenely

standing among the tumult, they are felt on

such sites to be sublime.

" Between the Falls and the Strath of

Stratherrik," says the book we were about to

quote, " a space of three or four miles, the

river Foyers flows through a series of low

rocky liills clothed with birch. They present

various quiet glades and open spaces, where

little patches of cidtivated ground are encircled

by wooded hillocks, whose surface is pleasingly

diversified by nodding trees, bare rocks, em-

purpled heath, and bracken bearing herbage."

It was the excessive loveliness of some of the

scenery there that suggested to us the thought

of going to look what kind of a stream the

Foyers was above the Fall. We went, and in

the quiet of a summer evening, found it

" Was eveu the gentlest of all gentle things."

But here is the promised description of it :

—

" Before pursuing our way westward, we would

wish to direct the traveller's attention to a

sequestered spot of peculiar beauty on the

river Foyers. This is a secluded vale, called

Killean, which, besides its natural attractions,

and these are many, is distinguished as one of

the few places where the old practice of

resorting to the ' shieling ' for simimer grazing

of cattle is still observed. It is encompassed

on all sides by steep mountains ; but at the

north end there is a smaU lake, about a mile

and a half in length, and from one-third to

half a mile in breadth. The remainder of the

bottom of the glen is a perfectly level tract, of

the same -width with the lake, and about two

mUes and a half in length, covered with the

richest herbage, and traversed by a small

meandering river flowing through it into the

lake. The surface of this flat is bedecked

with the little huts or bothies, which afford

temporary accommodation to the herdsmen

and others in charge of the cattle. This por-

tion of the glen is bordered on the west by
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continuous kills rising abruptly in a uniformly

steep acclivity, and passing above into a per-

pendicular range of precipices, the whole

covered with a scanty verdure sprouted with

heath. At the bend of the lake near its

middle, where it inclines from a northernly

course to-wards the west, a magnificent rounded

precipice, which, like the continuous ranges,

may be about 1200 feet in height, rises imme-

diately out of the water ; and a few narrow

and inclined verdant stripes alone preserve it

from exhibiting a perfectly mural character.

To this noble rock succeeds, along the rest of

the lake, a beautiful, lofty, and nearly vertical

hill-side, clothed with birch, intermingled

with hanging mossy banks, shaded over with

the deeper tinted bracken. The eastern side

of the plain, and the adjoining portion of the

lake, are lined by mountains corresponding in

height with those opposed to them ; but their

lower extremities are, to a considerable extent,

strewed with broken fragments of rock, to

which succeeds an uninterrupted zone of birch

and alder, which is again overtopped in its

tui'Q by naked cliffs. An elevated terrace

occupies the remainder of this side of the

lake ; above the wooded face of which is seen

a sloping expanse of mingled heath and herb-

age. About half a mile from the south end,

Mr Eraser of Lovat, the proprietor, has erected

a shooting lodge ; viewed from which, or from

either end, or from the top of the platform on

the north-east side of the lake, fancy could

scarcely picture a more attractive and fairy

landscape than is unfolded by this sequestered

vale, to which Dr Johnson's description of

the 'Happy Valley' not inaptly appHes. The

mOch cows, to the number of several hun-

dreds, are generally kept here from the begin-

ning of June to the middle of August, when

they are replaced by the yeld cattle. The

river sweeps to the northward from Loch

Killean through richly birch-clad hUls, which

rise in swelling slopes from its banks. A
large tarn which immediately joins it from the

east is crossed at its mouth by a rustic bridge,

from which a single footpath conducts across

the brow of the liill to Whitebridge, a small

public-house or inn, four miles distant."

There is a loch of a very different character

from Killean, almost as little known (a view

of it is given at page 708), equal to anything

in the Highlands, only two miles distant from

Loch Lochy, in the great glen—Loch Arkaig.

We first visited it many years since, having

been induced to do so by a passage in John

Stoddard's Remarks on the Local Scenery

and Manners of Scotland ; and it was then a

very noble oak and pine forest loch. The axe

went to work and kept steadily at it ; and a

great change was wrought ; but it is stiU a

grand scene, with a larger infusion of beauty

than it possessed of old. The scenery of the

valley separating it from Loch Lochy is very

similar to that of the Trossachs ; through it

there are two approaches to the loch, and the

Mile-DuM, or the dark mUe, according to our

feeling, is more impressive than any part of

the approach to Loeh Katrine. The woods

and rocks are very solemn, and yet very sweet;

for though many old pines, and oaks and ashes

are there, and the wall of rocks is immense,

yo;mg trees prevail now on many places, as^

well along the heights as among the knolls

and hUlooks below, where alders and haw-

thorns are thick ; almost everywhere the

young are intermingled with the old, and look

cheerful under their protection, without dangel

of being chilled by their shade. The loch,

more or leas sylvan from end to end, shows on

its nearer shores some magnificent remains of

the ancient forest, and makes a noble sweep

hke some great ri^er. There may be more,

but we remember but one island—not large,

but wooded as it should be—the burying-

place of the family of Lochiel. What rest

!

It is a long journey from Loch Lochy to

Kinloch Ai'kaig—and by the silent waters we

walked or sat all a summer's day. There was

nothing like a road that we observed, but the

shores are easily travelled, and there it is you

may be almost sure of seeing some red deer.

They are no better worth looking at from a

window than Fallow—no offence to Fallow,

who are fine creatures ; indeed, we had rather

not see them so at all ; but on the shores or

steeps of Loch Arkaig, with hardly a human

habitation vrithin many, many mUes, and these

few rather known than seen to be there, the

huts of Highlanders contented to cultivate

here and there some spot that seems cultivat-

able, but probably is found not to be so after
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some laborious years^there they are at home

;

and you, if young, looking on them feel at

home too, and go hounding, like one of them-

selves, over what, did you choose, were an

evitable steep. Eoe, too, frequent the copses,

but to be seen they must be started ;
grouse

spring up before you oftener than you might

expect in a deer forest ; but, to be sure, it is a

rough and shaggy one, though lovelier lines of

verdure never lay in the sunshine than we

think we see now lying for mUes along the

margin of that loch. The numerous moun-

tains towards the head of the loch are very

lofty, and glens diverge in grand style into

opposite and distant regions. Glen Dessary,

with its beautiful pastures, opens on the Loch,

and leads to Loch Nevish on the coast of

Knoidart— Glen Psean to Oban-a-Cave on

Loch Morer, Glen Canagorie into Glenfinnan

and Loch Shiel ; and Glen Kingie to Glen-

garry and Loch Quoieh. There is a choice !

We chose Glen Kingie, and after a long climb

found a torrent that took us down to Glen-

garry before sunset. It is a loch little known,

and in grandeur not equal to Loch Arkaig

;

but at the close of such a day's journey, the

mind, elevated by the long contemplation of

the great objects of nature, cannot fail to feel

aright, whatever it may be, the spiiit of th-e

scene, that seems to usher in the grateful hour

of rest. It is surpassing fair—and having

lain all night long on its gentle banks, sleep-

ing or waking we know not, we have never

remembered it since but as the Land of

Dreams.

Which is the dreariest, most desolate and

dismal of the Highland lochs? We should say

Loch Erioht. It lies in a prodigious wilder-

ness vnih which perhaps no man alive is con-

versant, and in which you may travel for days

without seeing even any symptoms of human
life. We speak of the regions comprehended

between the Forest of Athole, and Bennevis,

the Moor of Eannoch, and Glen Spean. There

are many Lochs—and Loch Ericht is their

grisly Queen. Herdsmen, sheplierds, hunters,

fowlers, anglers, traverse its borders, but few

have been far in the interior, and we never

knew anybody who had crossed it from south

to north, fi-om east to west. We have our-

selves seen more of it, perhaps than any other

Lowlander ; and had traversed many of its vast

glens and moors before we found our way to

the southern solitude of Loch Ericht. We
came into the western gloom of Ben Alder from

Loch Ouchan, and up and down for hours

dismal but not dangerous precipices that opened

out into what might ahnost be called passes

—

but we have frequently to go back for they

were blind—contrived to clamber to the edge

of one af the mountains that rose from the

water a few miles down the Locli. All was

vast, shapeless, savage, black, and wrathfuUy

grim ; for it was one of those days that keep

frowning and lowering, yet will not thunder
;

such as one conceives of on the eve of an

earthquake. At first the sight was dreadful,

but there was no reason for dread ; imagination

remains not longer than she chooses the slave

of her own eyes, and we soon began to enjoy

the gloom, and to feel how congenial it was in

nature with the character of all those lifeless

cliffs. Silence and darkness suit well together

in solitude at noonday ; and settled on huge

objects make them subKme. And they were

huge ; aU ranged together, and stretching away

to a great distance, vrith the pitchy water, still

as if frozen, covering their feet.

Loch Ei'icht is many miles long—nearly

twenty ; but there is a loch among the Gram-

pians not more than two miles round—if so

much, which is sublimer far—Loch Aven.

You come upon the siglit of it at once, a short

way down from the summit of Cairngorm, and

then it is some two thousand feet below yon,

itself being as many above the level of the sea.

But to come upon it so as to feel best its tran-

scendent grandeur, you should approach it up

Glenaven—and from as far do\vn as Inch-

Eouran, which is about half-way between

Loch Aven and Tomantoul. Between Inch-

Eouran and Tomantoul the glen is wild, but it

is inhabited ; above that house there is but

one other—and for about a dozen miles—wa

have heard it called far more—there is uttersoli-

tude. But never was there a solitude at once

so wild—so solemn—so serene—so sweet

!

The glen is narrow ; but on one side there are

openings into several wider glens, that show

you mighty coves as you pass on ; on the

other side the momitains are without a break,

and the only variation with them is from
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smooth, to shaggy, from dark to bright ; but

their prevailing character is that of pastoral or

of forest peace. The momitauis that show the

coves belong to the bases of Ben-Aven and

Ben-y-buird. The heads of those giants are

not seen—but it sublimes the long glen to

know that it belongs to their dominion, and

that it is leading us on to an elevation that

erelong will be on a level with the roots of

their topmost cliffs. The Aven is so clear

—

on account of the nature of its channel—that

you see the fishes hanging in every pool ; and

'tis not possible to imagine how beautiful in

such transparencies are the reflections of its

green ferny banks. For mUes they are com-

posed of knolls, seldom interspersed with

rocks, and there cease to be any trees. But

ever and anon, we walk for a whUe on a level

floor, and the voice of the stream is mute.

Hitherto sheep have been noticed on the hill,

but not many, and red and black cattle grazing

on the lower pastures ; but they disappear, and

we find ourselves all at once in a desert. So

it is felt to be, coming so suddenly with its

black heather on that greenest grass ; but 'tis

such a desert as the red-deer love. We are

now high up on the breast of the mountain,

which appears to be Cairngorm ; but such

heights are deceptive, and it is not tUl we again

see the bed of the Aven that we are assured

we are still in the glen. Prodigious precipices,

belonging to several difterent mountains, for

between mass and mass there is blue sky,

suddenly arise, forming themselves more and

more regularly into circular order, as we near

;

and now we have sight of the whole magnifi-

cence ;
yet vast as it is, we know not yet how

vast ; it grows as we gaze, till in a while we feel

that sublimer it may not be ; and then so

quiet in all its terrific grandeur we feel too that

it is beautiful, and think of the Maker.

This is Loch Aven. How different the

whole regions round from that enclosing Loch

Ericht ! There, vast wildernesses of more than

melancholy moors—huge hollows hating their

own gloom that keep them herbless—disconso-

late glens left far away by themselves, without

any sign of life—cliffs that frown back the

sunshine—and mountains, as if they were all

dead, insensible to the heavens. Is this all

mere imagination—or the truth t We deceive

ourselves in what we call a desert. For we

have so associated our own being with the

appearances of outward things, that we at-

tribute to them, yrith an uninquiring faith, the

very feelings and the very thoughts, of which

we have chosen to make them emblems. But

here the sources of the Dee seem to lie in

a region as happy as it is high ; for the bases

of the mountains are all such as the soul has

chosen to make sublime—the colouring of the

moimtains all such as the soul has chosen to

make beautiful ; and the whole region, th^is

imbued with a power to inspire elevation and

delight, is felt to be indeed one of tho very

noblest in nature.

We have now nearly reached the limits

assigned to our Remarks on the Character cf

the Scenery of the Highlands ; and we feel

that the sketches we have drawn of its compo-

nent qualities—occasionally filled up with

some details—must be very imperfect indeed,

mthout comprehending some parts of the

coast, and some of the sea-arms that stretch

into the interior. But even had our limits

allowed, we do not think we could have

ventured on such an attempt ; for though we

have sailed along most of the western shores,

and through some of its sounds, and into many

of its bays, and up not a few of its reaches,

yet they contain such an endless variety of all

the fairest and greatest objects of nature, that

we feel it would be far beyond our powers to

give anything like an adequate idea of the

beauty and the grandeur that for ever kept

unfolding themselves around our summer

voyagings in calm or storm. Who can say

that he knows a thousandth part of the

wonders of " the marine " between the Mull of

Cantire and Cape Wrath? He may have

gathered many an extensive shore—threaded

many a mazy multitude of isles—sailed up

many a spacious bay—and cast anchor at the

head of many a haven land-locked so as no

more to seem to belong to the sea—yet other

voyagers shall speak to him of innumerable

sights which he has never witnessed ; and

they who are most conversant with those

coasts, best know how much they have left

and must leave for ever unexplored.

Look now only at the Linnhe Loch—how

it gladdens Argyle ! Without it and the
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sound of Mull how sad would be the shadows

of Morven ! Eclipsed the splendours of

Lorn ! Ascend one of the heights of Appin,

and as the waves roU in light, you will feel

hoTV the mountains are beautified by the sea.

There is a majestic rolling onwards there that

belongs to no land-loch—only to the world of

waves. There is no nobler image of ordered

power than the tide, whetlier in flow or in

obb ; and on all now it is felt to be beneficent,

coming and going daily, to enrich and adorn.

Or in fancy will you embark, and let the

"Amethyst" bound away "at her O'vvn sweet

will," accordant with yours, tdl she reach the

distant and long-desired loch.

' Loch-Sunart ! who, when tides and tempests roar.

Comes in among these mountains from the main,
'Twixt wooded Ardnanmrchan's rocky cape
And Ardmore's shingly beach of hissing spray

;

And, while his thunders bid the sound of Mull
Be dumb, sweeps onwards past a hundred bays
HUl-sheltered from the wrath that foams along
The mad mid-channel,—All as quiet they
As little separate worlds of summer dreams,

—

And by storm-loving birds attended up
The mountain-hollow, white in their career

As are the breaking billows, spurns the Isles

Of craggy Carnich, and Green Oronsay
Drench'd in that sea-born shower o'er tree-tops

driven

And ivied stones of what was once a tower
Xow hardly known from rocks—and gathering

might
In the long reach between Dungallau caves
And point of Arderinis ever fair

With her Elysian groves, bursts through that strait

Into another ampler inland sea
;

Till lo ! subdued by some sweet influence,—
And potent is she though so meek the Eve,

—

Down sinketh wearied the old Ocean
Insensibly into a solemn calm,

—

Aud all along that ancient burial-ground,
(Its kii'k is gone,) that seemeth now to lend
It« own eternal quiet to the waves.
Restless no more, into a perfect peace
Lulling and lull'd at last, while drop the airs

Away as they were dead, the first risen star

Beholds that lovely Archipelago,
All shadow'd there as in a spiritual world.

Where time's mutations shall come never more !

"

These lines describe but one of innumerable

lochs that owe their greatest charm to the sea.

It is indeed one of those on which nature has

lavished all her infinite varieties of loveliness
;

but Loch Leven is scarcely less fan-, and per-

haps grander ; and there is matchless magni-

ficence about Loch Etive. All round about

BaUachulish and Livercoe the scenery of Loch
Leven is the sweetest ever seen overshadowed
by such mountains ; the deeper their gloom,

the brighter its lustre ; in all weathers it wears

a cheerful smUe ; and often while up among

the rocks the taU trees are tossing in the

storm, the heart of the woods beneath is

calm, and the vivid fields they shelter look

as if they still enjoyed the sun. Nor closes

the beauty there, but even animates the

entrance into that dreadful glen—Glencoe.

All the way up its river. Loch Leven would be

fair, were it only for her hanging woods.

But though the glen narrows, it still continues

broad, and there are green plains between her

waters and the mountains, on which stately

trees stand single, and there is ample room for

groves. The returning tide tells us, should we

forget it, that this is no inland loch, for it

hurries away back to the sea, not tiu'biilent,

but fast as a river in flood. The river Leven

is one of the finest in the Highlands, and

there is no other such series of waterfalls, all

seen at once, one above the other, along an

immense vista ; and aU the way up to the

farthest there are noble assemblages of rocks

—

nowhere any want of wood—and in places, trees

that seem to have belonged to some old forest.

Beyond, the opening in the sky seems to load

into another region, and it does so ; for we
have gone that way, past some small lochs,

across a wide wilderness, with mountains on

all sides, and descended on Loch Treag,

" A loch whom there are none to praise

And very few to love,

but overflowing in our memory with all

pleasantest images of pastoral contentment and

peace.

Loch Etive, between the ferries of Connel

and Bunawe, has been seen by almost all who
have visited the Highlands but very imper-

fectly ; to know what it is you must row or

sail up it, for the banks on both aides are often

richly wooded, assume many fine forms, and

are frequently well embayed, while the ex-

panse of water is sufficiently wide to allow you

from its centre to command a view of many of

the distant heights. But above Bunawe it is

not like the same loch. For a couple of miles

it is not wide, and it is so darkened by enor-

mous shadows that it looks even less like a

strait than a gulf—huge overhanging rocks on

both sides ascending high, and yet felt to

belong but to the bases of mountains that
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sloping far back have their summits among

clouds of their own in another region of

the sky. Yet are they not aU horrid ; for

nowhere else is there such lofty heather—it

seems a wild sort of brushwood ; tall trees

flourish, single or in groves, chiefly birches,

with now and then an oak—and they are in

their youth or their prime—and even the pro-

digious trunks, some of wliich liave been dead

for centuries, ar not all dead, but shoot from

their knotted rhind symptoms of life inex-

tinguishable by time and tempest. Out of this

gulf we emerge into the Upper Loch, and its

amplitude sustains the majesty of the moun-

tains, all of the highest order, and seen from

•heir feet to their crests. Cruachan wears the

crown, and reigns over them all—king at once

>f Loch Etive and of Loch Awe. But

Buachaille Etive, though afar off, is still a

giant, and in some lights comes forwards,

bringing with him the Black Mount and its de-

pendents, so that they all seem to belong to this

most magnificent of all Highland lochs. " I

know not," says Macculloch, " that Loch Etive

could bear an ornament without an infringe-

ment on that aspect of soHtary vastness which

it presents throughout. Nor is there one.

Tlie rocks and bays on the shore, which might

elsewhere attract attention, are here swallowed

up in the enormous dimensions of the sur-

rounding mountains, and the wide and ample

expanse of the lake. A solitary house, here

fearfully solitary, situated far up in Glen Etive,

is only visible when at the upper extremity

;

and if there be a tree, as there are in a few

places on the shore, it is unseen ; extinguished

as if it were a humble mountain flower, by the

universal magnitude around." This is finely felt

and expressed ; but even on the shores of Loch

Etive there is much of the beautiful ; Ardmatty

smiles with its meadows, and woods, and

bay, and sylvan stream ; other sunny nooks

repose among the grey granite masses; the

colouring of the banks and braes is often

bright ; several houses or huts become visible

no long way up the glen ; and though that

long hollow—half a day's journey—till you

reach the wild road between Invemran and

King's House—lies in gloom, yet the hillsides

are cheerful, and you delight in the greensward,

wide and rock-broken, shoxild you ascend the

passes that lead into Glencreran or Glencoe.

But to feel the full power of Glen Etive you

must walk up it tUl it ceases to be a glen.

When in the middle of the moor, you see far

ofi' a solitary dwelling indeed—perhaps the

loneliest house in aU the Highlands—and the

solitude is made profounder, as you pass by,

by the voice of a cataract, hidden in an awful

chasm, bridged by two or three stems of trees,

along which the red-deer might fear to venture

—but we have seen them and the deer-hounds

ghde over it, followed by other fearless feet,

when far and wide the Forest of Dalness was

echoing to the hunter's horn.

We have now brought our Eem-arks on the

Scenery of the Highlands to a close, and would

fain have said a few words on the character

and life of the people ; but are precluded from

even touching on that most interesting subject.

It is impossible that the minds of travellers

through those wonderful regions can be so

occupied with the contemplation of mere inani-

mate nature, as not to give many a thought to

their inhabitants, now and in the olden time.

Indeed, without such thoughts, they would

often seem to be but blank and barren wilder-

nesses in which the heart would languish, and

imagination itseH recoil ; but they cannot long

be so looked at, for houseless as are many

extensive tracts, and at times felt to be too

dreary even for moods that for a while enjoyed

the absence of all that might tell of human

life, yet symptoms and traces of human life are

noticeable to the instructed ej'e almost every

where, and in them often lies the spell that

charms us, even while we think that we are

wholly delivered up to the influence of "dead

insensate things." None will visit the High-

lands without having some knowledge of their

history ; and the changes that have long been

taking place in the condition of the people wiU

be aflectingly recognised wherever they go, in

spite even of what might have appeared the

insuperable barriere of nature.
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As it is generally acknowledged that the physi-

cal character of a country influences in a great

degree the moral and physical character of its

inhabitants, and thus to a certain extent deter-

mines their history, it may not he deemed out

of place to define here the application of the

term Highlands, so far as Scotland is con-

cerned, and briefly to describe the general

physical aspect of tliat part of our native land.

If it hold good at all that there subsists a re-

lation between a people and the cotmtry which

they have inhabited for centuries, the follow-

ing history will show that this is peculiarly

the case with the Scottish Higlilanders.

Most of those wlio have thought of the

matter at aU, have doubtless formed to tliem-

selves a general notion of the northern half of

Scotland as a

"Land of brown heath and shaggy wood,

Land of the mountain and the flood,"

and of its inliabitants as a brawny, rugged, in-

domitable, impulsive race, steadfast in their

friendship and loyalty, but relentless and

fierce in their enmity. Although the popular

and poetic notion of the country is on the whole

correct, and although the above epithets may

express the main features of the character of

the people, still it requires a close acquaint-

ance with this interesting race, both histori-

cally and by personal intercourse, to form an

adequate notion of their character in all its

To speak roughly, nearly the whole of the

coimtiy north of a line connecting the heads of

the estuaries of the Clyde, Forth, and Tay,

may be included under the designation of the

Highlands, and, in fact, popularly is so. In-

deed, at the time at wliich the northern half

of Scotland—the ancient and proper Caledonia

—emerges from its pristine gloom, and for the

first time glimmers in the light of history, the

line indicated by the forts of Agricola, and

afterwards by the wall of Antonine, marked

the southern boundary of the region which was

then, and for centuries afterwards, regarded by

the Eomans, and also, probably, by the south-

ern Britons, as occupying the same position in

relation to the rest of the country as the Higli-

lands proper did at a subsequent period. In

course of time the events which fall to be re-

corded in the following pages gradually altered

this easily perceived boundary, so that for cen-

turies before the present day, a much more in

tricate but still distinct line has marked the

limits of what is now strictly and correctly re-

garded as the Highlands of Scotland.

The definition of this territory which best

suits the purposes of liistory, and in all re-

spects most nearly accords with those of poli-

tical and social geography, is one which makes

it commensurate with the country or locations

of the ancient Highland clans. Tliis definition

iiasigns to the Higlilands all the continental
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territory north of the !Moray frith, and all the

territory, both insular and continental, west-

ward of an easily traceable lino from that frith

to the frith of Clyde. The line commences at

the mouth of the river Nairn : thence, with

the exception of a slight north-eastward or out-

ward curve, the central point of which is on the

river Spey, it runs due south-east till it strikes

the river Dee at Tullach, nearly on the third

degree of longitude west of Greenwich ; it then

runs generally south till it falls upon West-

water, or the southern largo head-water of the

North Esk ; thence, over a long stretch, it runs

almost due soutli-west, and with scarcely a de-

viation, tUl it falls upon the Clyde at Ardmore

in the parish of Cardross ; and now onward to

the Atlantic ocean, it moves along the frith of

Clyde, keeping near to the continent, and ex-

cluding none of the Clyde islands except the

comparatively unimportant Cumbraes. All

the Scottish temtory west and north-west of

tins line is properly the Highlands. Yet both

for the convenience of topographical descrip-

tion, and because, altogether down to the middle

of the 13th century, and partially down to the

middle of the 16th, the Highlands and the

Western Islands were politically and histori-

cally distinct regions, the latter are usually

viewed apart imder the name of the Hebrides.

The mahiland Highlands, or the Highlands

after the Hebrides are deducted, extend in ex-

treme length from Duncansby Head, or John

o' Groat's on the north, to the Mull of Kintyre

on the south, about 250 miles ; but over a dis-

tance of 90 miles at the northern end, they have

an average breadth of only about 45 miles,

—

over a distance of 50 or 55 miles at the southern

end, they consist mainly of the Clyde islands,

and the very narrow peninsula of Kintyre,

—

and even at their broadest part, from the

eastern base of the Grampians to Ardna-

muichan Point on the west, they do not ex-

tend to more than 120 miles. The district

comprehends the whole of the counties of

Caitlmess, Sutherland, Ross, Cromarty, Inver-

ness, and Argyle, large parts of Nairn, Perth,

Dumbarton, and Bute, and considerable por-

tions of Elgin, Banff, Aberdeen, Forfar, and

Stirling. Considerable parts of this district,

however, such as Caithness-shixe, the island

if Bute, and some large tracts of moor or vaUev

or flanking plain, do not exhibit the physical

features which are strictly Highland.

A district so extensive can be but faintly

pictured in a general and rapid description.

Mountains, cliiefly covered with heath or ling,

but occasionally, on the one hand, displaying

sides and summits of naked rock, and on the

other, exhibiting a dress of verdure, everywhere

rise, at short intervals, in chains, ridges, groups,

and even solitary heights. Their forms are of

every variety, from the precipitous and pinna-

cled acclivity, to the broad-based and round-

backed ascent ; but, in general, are sharp in

outline, and wild or savagely grand in feature.

Both elongated ridges, and chains or series of

short parallel ridges, have a prevailing direc-

tion from north-east to south-west, and send

up summits from 1,000 to upwards of 4,000

feet above the level of the sea. Glens, valleys,

and expanses of lowland stretch in all direc-

tions among the mountains, and abound in

voluminous streams, and large elongated lakes

of picturesque appearance,—nearly all the in-

land lakes extending in stripes either north-

eastward and south-westward, or eastward and

westward. Along the whole west coast, at re-

markably brief intervals, arms of the sea, long,

narrow, and sometimes exceedingly rugged iu

outline, run north-eastward or south-eastward

into the interior, and assist the inland fresh

water lakes in cleaving it into sections. The

rivers of the region are chiefly impetuous tor-

rents, careering for a while along mountain-

gorges, and afterwards either expanding them-

selves into beautiful lakes and flowing athwart

delightful meadows, or plougliing long narrow

valleys, green and ornate with grasses, trefoils,

daisies, ranunculi, and a profuse variety of

other herbage and flowers. Native woods,

principally of pine and birch, and occasionally

clumps and expanses of plantation, climb the

acchvities of the gentler heights, or crowd down

upon the valley, and embosom the inland lakes.

On the east side, along the coast to the Moray

frith, and towards the frontier in the counties

of Nairn, Elgin, and Perth, gentle slopes and

broad belts of lowland, fertile in soil and fa-

vourable in position, are carpeted svith agricul-

tiu-al luxuriance, and thickly dotted with human
dweUings, and successfully vie with the south

of Scotland in towns and popiUation, and in
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the pursuit and display of wealtL But almost

everywliere else, except in the fairyland of

Loch FjTie, and the southern shore of Loch

Etive, the Highlands are sequestered,—sinless

of a to'wn,—a semi-wilderness, where a square

mile is a more convenient unit of measurement

than an acre.

A district characterized by such features as

wo have named necessarily exhibits, witliin

very circumscribed limits, varieties of scenery

of the most opposite descriptions ; enabling the

admirer of nature to pass abruptly from dwell-

ing on tlie loveliness of an extensive marine

or champaign landscape into tlie deep solitude

of an ancient forest, or the dark craggy fiist-

nesses of an alpine ravine ; or from lingering

amid the quiet grassy meadows of a pastoral

strath or valley, watered by its softly-flowing

stream, to the open heathy mountain-side,

whence ' alps o'er alps arise,' whose summits

are often shrouded with mists and almost per-

ennial snows, and their overhanging precipices

furrowed by foaming cataracts. Lakes and

long arms of the sea, either fringed with woods

or surrounded with rocky barren shores, now

studded mth islands, and anon extending their

silvery arms into distant receding mountains,

are met in every district ; while the extreme

steepness, ruggedness, and sterility of many of

the mountain-chains impart to them as impos-

ing and magnificent characters as are to be seen

in the much higher and more inaccessible ele-

vations of Switzerland. No wonder, then, that

tliis 'land of mountain and of flood' shoidd

have given birth to the song of the bard, and

afforded material for the theme of the sage, in

all ages ; and that its inhabitants should be

tinctured with deep romantic feelings, at once

tender, melancholy, and vrild ; and that the

recollection of their own picturesque native

dweUings should haunt them to their latest

hours. Neither, amid such profusion and di-

versity of all that is beautiful and sublime in

nature, can the unqualified admiration of

strangers, from every part of Europe, of the

scenery of the Higlilands faQ of being easil}'

accounted for ; nor can any hesitate in re-

commending them to visit the more remote

or unknown solitudes.'

' We are indebted for fcreat part of this description
to Fullarton's Gazetteer of Scotland.

Such are the main features of the Highlands

of Scotland at the present day, and, to a con-

siderable extent, the description might have ap-

plied to the country at the time of the Eoman
invasion. Still, in the grapliic words of Stuart,^

" To form an idea of the general aspect of Scot-

land, as it was some eighteen hundred years

ago, we must, in imagination, restore to its now
varied surface the almost unbroken gloom of

the primeval forest; her waving mantle of som-

bre hue, within which the genius loci may be

supposed to have brooded over the seclusion and

the poverty of ' ancient Caledon.' In a bird's-

eye view, if such a thought may be indulged,

the greatest part of the country presented, in

all probability, the appearance of one continu-

ous wood ; a mass of cheerless verdure resting

on hill and dale—the sameness of its dark ex-

tent broken only where some lake or green-

clad morass met the view, or where the higher

mountains lifted their siunmits above the line

of vegetation. In some districts, considerable

tracks of open moorland might, doubtless, be

seen clad in the indigenous heather of the

North ; while, in others, occasional spots of pas-

ture-land would here and there appear ;—but,

on the whole, these must have formed a strik-

ing contrast to the wide expanse of the pre-

vailing forest."

As the present work is concerned only vnth.

the Highlands of Scotland, it would of course

be out of place to give any minute account of

the transactions of the Eomans in the other

parts of the island. Suffice it to say that from

the time, B.C. 55, when Julius Caesar first land-

ed on the coast of South Britain, vmtil a.d. 78,

when, under the Emperor Vespasian, CuEeus

Julius Agricola assumed the command in Great

Britain, the greater part of midland and

south England had been brought under the

sway of the Romans. Tliis able commander

set liimself with vigour and earnestness to con-

firm the conquests wliich had been already

tnade, to reduce the rest of the coimtry to sub-

jection, to conciliate the Britons by mild mea-

sures, and to attach them to the Eoman power

by introducing among them Eoman maimers,

literature, Itixuries, and dress.

Agricola was appointed to the command in

Britain in tlie year 78 a.d., but appears not

- Caledonia Rornnna, p. 11.
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to have entered Scotland tOl his third cam-

paign in the year 80. Ho employed himself

in the years 80, 81, and 82, in subduing tlio

comitry south of the friths of Forth and Clyde,

—the Bodofria and Glofta of Tacitus,—erect-

ing, in 81, a series of forts between these two

estuaries. Having accomplished this, Agi-icola

made preparations for his next campaignj-svliich

he was t.^ open beyond the friths in the sum-

mer of 83, he in the meantime ha^ang heard

that the Caledonians—as Tacitus calls the

people north of the Forth—had formed a con-

federacy to lesist the invader.

These Caledonians appear to have been

divided into a number of tribes or clans,

liaving little or no political connection, and

almost constantly at war among themselves.

It was only when a foreign foe threatened their

much-prized freedom that a sense of danger

forced tliem to \niite for a time under the com-

mand of a military leader. Some writers, on

the authority of Ptolemy of Alexandria, but

chieHy on that of the pseudo-Richard of Ciren-

cester,' give a list of the various tribes which,

during the Roman period, inhabited North

Britain, and define the locality which each

occupied vnih as much exactness as they miglit

do a modern English county. " There was

one thing," says Tacitus, " which gave us an

advantage over these powerful nations, that

they never considted together for the advantage

of the whole. It was rare that even two or

three of them united against the common

enemy." Their whole means of subsistence

consisted in the milk and flesh of their flocks

and the produce of the chase. They lived in

a state almost approaching to nudity; but

whether from necessity or from choice cannot

be satisfactorily deternuned. Dio represents

the Caledonians as being naked, but Herodinn

Fig. 1. SeiilptuieJ Stone iu the Cliuieb of \teigle.

speaks of them as wearing a partial covering.

They appear, at all events, if the stone dug up

at Blackness iu the year 1868 (see p. 11), be

taken as an authority, to have gone naked into

battle. Their toAvns, which were few, consisted

of huts covered with turf or skins, and for

better security they were erected in the centre

of some wood or morass. " What the Britons

call a town, says Csesar, " is a tract of

woody country, surrounded by a valliun and

ditch, for the security of themselves and cattle

against the incursions of an enemy; for, when

Fig. 2. From a Sculptured Stone found at St. Andrews.

they have enclosed a very large circuit with

felled trees, they build wthin it houses for

^ The De Situ Britannia "profe.ssed to be a manu-
script of the fourteenth century, written by a monk
named Richard of Cirencester, made up by him from
certain fragments left by a Roman General. The per-

son who stepped forth as the lucky discoverer of so

precious a relic was Charles Julius Bertram, English
Professor in the Royal Marine Academy at Copen-
hagen. His revelation was accepted without hesi-

tation, and revolutionized the existing notions about
the geography of Roman Britain. After all, the hoax
was not absolutely useless; it stimulated inquiry, and,
in itself, what it professed to hiy down on authority,

were the guesses and theories of a learned and acute
man."—Burton's History of Scotland, vol. i. p. 13.
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themselves, and hovels for their cattle."'' Not^

withstanding, perhaps owing to the scantiness

of their covering, which left their bodies ex-

posed to the rigour of a cold and variable cli-

mate, the Caledonians were a remarkably hardy

race, capable of enduring fatigue, cold, and

hunger to an extent wliich their descendants

of the present day could not encounter without

risk of life. They were decidedly a warlike

people, and are said, like the heroes of more

ancient times, to have been addicted to rob-

bery. The weapons of their warfare consisted

of small spears, long broadswords, and hand

daggers ; and they defended their bodies in

combat by a small target or shield,—aU much

of the same form and construction as those

afterwards iised by their posterity in more mo-

dern times. It woidd appear from the stone

above referred to that the shields of the

Caledonians were oblong, with a boss in the

centre, and their swords short and pointed,

—

not long and blunt, as represented by Ta-

citus. The use of cavahy appears not to

have been so well understood among the Cale-

donians as among the more southern tribes

;

but in battle they often made use of cars, or

chariots, which were drawn by small, swift,

and spirited horses ; and it is conjectured

that, like those used by the southern Brit-

ons, they had iron scythes projecting from

the axle. It is impossible to say what form

of government obtained among these warlike

tribes. When history is silent, historians

should either maintain a cautious reserve or

be sparing in their conjectures ; but analogy

may supply materials for weU-gi'ounded specu-

lations, and it may therefore be asserted, with-

out any great stretch of imagination, that, like

most of the other uncivilized tribes we read of

in history, the Northern Britons or Caledonians

were under the government of a leader or cliief

to whom they yielded a certain degree of obedi-

ence. Dio, indeed, insinuates that the govern-

ments of these tribes were democratic ; but he

should have been aware that it is only when
bodies of men assume, in an advanced state of

civilization, a compact and united fonn that de-

mocracy can prevail ; and the state of barbar-

ism in which he says the inhabitants of North

* De Bello Galileo, ii. 17.

Britain existed at the period in ques;tiou seems

to exclude such a supposition. We have no

certaiu information from any contemporary,

and conjecture is therefore groundless. Later

fable-loving historians and chroniclers, indeed,

give lists of Kings of Scotland—or, rather, of

Pictland—extending back for centuries before

the Christian era, but these by general consent

are now banished to the realm of myths. It

is probable, as we have already said, that the

Caledonians were divided iuto a number of

independent tribes, and that each tribe was

presided over by a chief, but how he obtained

liis supremacy it is impossible to say. We have

one instance, at least, of a number of tribes

uniting under one leader, viz., at the battle oi

Mo7is Grampius, when the Caledonians were

commanded by a chief or leader called by Ta-

citus, Galgacus, " inter plm-es duces virtute et

genere prfestans."^ "The earliest bond of

union may probably be traced to the time

when they united under one common leader to

resist or assail the Eoman legionaries ; and out

of the Dux or Toshach elected for the occasion,

like Galgacus, and exercising a paramount

though temporary authority, arose the Ardrigh

or supreme king, after some popular or ambi-

tious cliieftain had prolonged his power by suc-

cessful wars, or procured his election to this

prominent station for life."*^

Whatever may have been the relation of the

members of the different tribes, and the relation

of the tribes to each other, it is certain, from the

general tone of the works of Tacitus and other

Roman historians in whicli those early inhabit-

ants of the Scottish Highlands are mentioned,

that they offered a far more formidable resist-

ance to the Eoman arms than had hitherto been

done by any other of the British tribes.

In personal stature, the natives of Caledonia,

like those of other parts of Britain, appear to

have excelled their Eoman invaders, and from

Tacitus we learn that those with whom his

father-in-law came into contact were distin-

guished by ruddy locks and lusty Hmbs. It

is also certain that for the sake of ornament,

or for the purpose of making their appearance

more terrible in war, they resorted to the bar-

^ Tacitus, Agricola, xxix.
* E. AV. Robertson's Scotland undtr her Earh

Kitigs, vol. i p. 31.
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barous practice of tattooLng their bodies. In-

deed it may be talcen as a proof of tlieir never

having to any great extent come imder the

power and iuiiuence of Rome and Roman cus-

toms, that they retained this practice for long

after the other Britons had abandoned it, and

on tliis account, in all probability, afterwards

acquired the name of Pkfs.

The people whom Agricola encountered in

Scotland cannot have been otherwise than

tolerable proficients in the common branches

of art; how else can we suppose them to have

been supijlied with aU that materiel of war

with which they are said to have appeared he-

fore him ? Indolent and uninformed as were

the bullc of the people, they must have had

among them artificers both in wood and in

iron, not imskilled in their respective trades

—

able to construct the body of a car—to pro\'ide

British War-Chariot.

for it axles of great strength—above all, able

to construct the wheels and arm them with

those sharp-edged instruments that were des-

tined to cut down whatever opposed their

course. '^

Agricola, in the summer of 83, after Iiaving

obtained information as to the nature of the

counti'y and the aspect of its inhabitants from

explormg parties and prisoners, transported his

army across the Frith of Forth to the shores

of Fife by means of his fleet, and marched

along the coast eastwards, keeping the fleet in

sight. It cannot with certainty be ascertained

at what part of the Forth tliis transportation

of the forces took place, although some bold

' Stnart's Caledonia Romana, pp. 35, 36.

antiquarians assert that it must have been not

far from Queensferry. The fleet, Tacitus tells

us,^ now acting, for the first time, in concert

with the land-forces, proceeded in sight of tlie

army, forming a magnificent spectacle, and

adding terror to the war. It frequently hap-

pened that in the same camp were seen the

infantry and cavalry intermixed Avith the

marines, all indulging their joy, full of their

adventures, and magnifying the liistory of their

exploits; the soldier describing, in the usual

style of military ostentation, the forests which

lie had passed, the mountains which he climbed,

and the barbarians whom he put to the rout;

while the saUor had his storms and tempests,

the wonders of the deep, and the spirit with

which he conquered winds and waves.

The ofi'ensive operations of the sixtli cam-

paign were commenced by the Caledonian

Britons, who, from the higher countrj', made

a furious attack upon the trans-Forthan forti-

fications, wliich so alarmed some of Agri-

cola's officers, who were afraid of being cut ofi

from a retreat, that they advised their general

to recross the Forth without delay; but Agri-

cola resisted this advice, and made preparations

for the attack wliich he expected would soon

be made upon his army. As Agi'icola had

received iuformation that the enemy intended

to fall upon him from various quarters, he

divided liis army into three bodies and con-

tuiued his march. Some antiquarians have

attempted to trace the route taken by each

division, founding their elaborate theories on

the very slender remains of what they sup-

pose to have been Roman fortifications and

encampments. As it would serve no good

purpose to encumber our pages with these an-

tiquarian conjectures, detailed accounts of

which -will be found in Chalmers, Stuart, Roy,

and others, we shall only say that, with con-

siderable plausibility, it is supposed that the

Ninth Legion encamped on the north side of

Loch Ore, about two miles south of Loch Leven

in Kinross-shire. Another legion, it is said,

encamped near Dunearn Hill, about a mile

distant from Burntisland, near which hiU are

stUl to be seen remains of a strength called

Agrieolds camp. At all events the divisions

' Agricola xsr.
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do not seem to have been very far apart, as

n-ill be seen from the following episode.

The enemy having watched the proceedings

of the Eoman army made the necessary pre-

parations for attack, and during the night

made a furious assault on the Ninth Legion

at Loch Ore. They had acted with such

caution that they were actually at the very

camp before Agricola was aware of their move-

ments; but with great presence of mind he

despatched a body of his lightest troops to

turn their flank and attack the assailants in the

rear. After an obstinate engagement, main-

tained with varied success in the very gates of

the camp, the Britons were at length repiilsed

by the superior skill of the Eoman veterans.

This battle was so far decisive, that Agricola

did not find much difficulty afterwards in sub-

duing the surrounding country, and, having

finished his campaign, he passed the '(vinter of

83 in Fife; being supplied with provisions

from his fleet in the Forth, and keepmg up a

constant correspondence with his garrisons on

the southern side.

By this victory, according to Tacitus, so

complete and glorious, the Eoman army was

inspired with confidence to such a degree, that

they now pronounced themselves invincible,

and desired to penetrate to the extremity of

the island.

The Caledonians now began to perceive

the danger of their situation from the prox-

imity of such a powerful enemy, and a

sense of this danger impelled them to lay

aside the feuds and jealousies which had

divided and distracted their tribes, to consult

together for their mutual safety and protection,

and to combine their scattered strength into a

united and energetic mass. The proud spirit

of independence which had liitherto kept the

Caledonian tribes apart, now made them co-

alesce in support of their liberties, wliich were

threatened with utter anniliilation. In tliis

eventful crisis, they looked around them for a

leader or chief mider whom they might fight

the battle of freedom, and save their countr}'

from the dangers which threatened it. A chief,

named Galgacus by Tacitus, was pitched upon

to act as generalissimo of the Caledonian army;

and, from the praises bestowed upon him by

that historian, this warrior appears to have

well merited the distinction thus bestowed.

Preparatory to the struggle they were about to

engage in, they sent their wives and children

into places of safety, and, in solemn assemblies

in wliich public sacrifices were offered up, rati-

fied the confederacy into wloich they had en-

tered against their common enemy.

Having strengthened his army Avith some

British auxiliaries from the south, Agricola

marched tlirough Fife in the summer of 84,

making for a spot called by Tacitus Mons
Grampiits; sending at the same time his fleet

round the eastern coast, to support him in his

operations, and to distract the attention of the

Caledonians. Various conjectures have been

broached as to the exact line of Agricola's

march and the exact position of the Mons
Grampius. The most plausible of these is

that of General Eoy,' who supposes that

the march of Agricola was regulated by the

course of the Devon; that he turned to the

right from Glendevon through the opening of

the OchU hills, along the course of the rivulet

which runs along Gleneagles ; leaving the braes

of Ogilvie on his left, and passing between

Blackford and Auchterarder towards the Gram-

pian hills, which he saw at a distance before

him as he debouched from the Ocliils. By an

easy march he reached the moor of Ardoch,

from which he descried the Caledonian army,

to the number of 30,000 men, encamped

on the declivity of the bill which begins

to rise from the north-western border of the

moor of Ardoch. Agricola took his station

at the great camp which adjoins the fort

of Ardoch on the northward. If the Eoman
camp at Ardoch does mark the spot where the

disastrous engagement about to be noticed took

place between these brave and determined

Caledonians and the invincible Eoman legions,

it is liighly probable that Agricola drew out

his army on the neighbouring moor, having a

large ditch or trench of considerable length in

front, the Caledonian host imder Galgacus

being already disposed in battle array on the

heights beyond. The Eoman army is sup-

posed to have numbered about 20,000 or

30,000, the auxiliary infantry, in number

about 8,000,1 occupying the centre, the wings

" MiliUiry Antiquities. Tac. igricola xxxv
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consisting of 3,000 horse. The legions were

stationed in the rear, at the head of the en-

trenchments, as a hody of reserve to support

the ranks, if necessary, hut othermse to remain

inactive, that a victory, ohtained ^vithout the

effusion of Koman blood, might be of higher

value. Previous to the commencement of this

interesting fight, according to " the fashion of

historical literature at that time," a speech is

put into the mouth of each general by the his-

torian Tacitus. " How much more valuable

would it have been to us had Tacitus deigned

to tell us something about the tongue in which

the leader of the barbarians spoke, or even his

name, and the name of the place where he

fought, as the natives uttered it ! Yet, for the

great interests of its day, the speech of Gal-

gacus was far removed from a mere feat of idle

pedantry. It was a noble rebuke on the em-

pire and the Roman people, who, false to the

high destiny assigned to them by Virgil, of

protecting the oppressed and striking down the

oppressors, had become the common scourge

of all mankind. The profligate ambition, the

perfidy, the al>sorbing pride, the egotism, and

the cruelty of the dominant people—how

could aU be so aptly set forth as in the words

of a barbarian chief, ruling over the free people

who were to be the next victims."

-

The narrative of the battle we give mainly

in the words of the Roman commander's son-in-

law, Tacitus, who no doubt had the story from

Agricola's own mouth.' The battle began,

and at first was maintained at a distance.

The Britons wanted neither skill nor resolu-

tion. "With their long swords, and targets of

small dunension, they had the address to elude

the missive weapons of the Romans, and at

the same time to discharge a thick volley of

their own. To bring the conflict to a speedy

decision, Agricola ordered three Batavian and

two Timgrian cohorts to charge the enemy

sword in hand. To this mode of attack those

troops had been long accustomed, but to the

Britons it was every way disadvantageous.

Their small targets afforded no protection, and

their unwieldy swords, not sharpened to a

point, could do but little execution in a close

- Burton's Hist, of Scotland, vol. i. p. 9.

' Tac. Agricola xxxvi, &c. AVe adopt Murphy's
trau.slatioD in the main, here and elsewhere.

engagement. The Batavians rushed to the

attack with impetuous fury; they redoubled

their blows, and with the bosses of their

sliields bruised the enemy in the face, and,

having overpowered all resistance on tlie plain,

began to force their way up the ascent of the

hill in regular order of battle. Incited by

theii' example, the other cohorts advanced with

a spiiit of emulation, and cut theu' way with

terrible slaughter. Eager in pursuit of victory,

they pressed forward with determined fury,

leaving behind them numbers wounded, but

not slain, and others not so much as hurt.

The Roman cavalry, in the mean time,

was forced to give gi-oimd. The Caledonians,

in their aimed chariots, rushed at full speed

into the thick of the battle, where the infantry

were engaged. Their first impression struck

a general terror, but their career was soon

checked by the inequalities of the ground, and

the close embodied ranks of the Roman.?.

Nothing could less resemble an engagement of

the cavalry. Pent up in narrow places, the

barbarians crowded upon each other, and were

driven or dragged along by their O'lvn horses.

A scene of confusion followed. Chariots with-

out a guide, and horses ivithout a rider, broke

from the ranks in wild disorder, and flying

every way, as fear and consternation urged,

they overwhelmed their o^vn files, and trampled

do'wn all who came in their way.

Meanwhile the Britons, who had hitherto

kept their post on the hills, looking down with

contempt on the scanty numbers of the Roman
army, began to quit their station. Descending

slowly, they hoped, by wheeling round tha

field of battle, to attack the victors in the rear.

To counteract their design, Agricola ordered

four squadrons of horse, wliich he had kept as

a body of reserve, to advance to the charge.

The Britons poured Aovm with impetuosity,

and retired 'with equal precipitation. At tlie

same time, the cavalry, by the directions of the

general, wheeled round from the wings, and

fell with great slaughter on the rear of the

enemy, who now perceived that their own

stratagem was turned against themselves.

The field presented a dreadfid spectacle of

carnage and destruction. The Britons fled;

the Romans pursued; they wounded, gashed,

and mangled the runaways; they seized their
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prisoners, and, to be ready for otlicrs, butcliered

them on tlie spot. Despair and lioiTor ap-

peared in various shapes; in one part of the

field the Caledonians, sword in hand, fied in

crowds from a handful of Romans; in other

places, without a weapon left, they faced every

danger, and rushed on certain death. Swords

and bucklers, mangled Knibs and dead bodies,

covered the plain. The field was red with

blood. The vanquished Britons had their

moments of returning courage, and gave proofs

of virtue and of brave despair. They fled to

the woods, and, rallpng their scattered num-

bers, surroimded such of the Eomans as pur-

sued with too much eagerness.

Night coming on, the Eomans, weary of

slaughter, desisted from the pursuit. Ten

thousand of the Caledonians fell in this en-

gagement: ou the part of the Eomans, the

number of slain did not exceed tliree hundred

and forty.

The Eoman army, elate with success, and

enriched with plunder, passed the niglit in

exultation. The Britons, on the other hand,

wandered about, uncertain which way to turn,

helpless and disconsolate. The mingled cries

of men and women filled the air with lamen-

tations. Some assisted to carry off the

wounded; others called for the assistance of

such as escaped unhurt; numbers abandoned

their habitations, or, in their frenzy, set

them on fire. They fled to obscure retreats,

and, in the moment of choice, deserted them

;

they held consultations, and, having inflamed

their hopes, changed their minds in despair;

they beheld the pledges of tender affection,

and burst into tears ; they viewed them agam,

and grew fierce with resentment. It is a fact

well authenticated, that some laid violent

hands upon their wives and children, deter-

mined with savage compassion to end their

misery.

After obtaining hostages from the Horestians,

who in all probability inhabited what is now
the county of Fife, Agricola garrisoned the

stations on the isthmus and elsewhere, re-

crossed the Forth, and took up his n'inter-

quarters in the north of England, about the

Tyne and Solway. In the meantime he gave

orders to the fleet, then lying probably in the

Frith of Forth or Tay, to proceed on a voyage

of discovery to the northward. The enterprise

appears to have been successfully accomplished

by the Eoman navy, which proceeded coast-

wise as far as the Orkneys, wlience it sailed

by the Western Islands and the British Chan-

nel ad Porttmi Tmtulensem, Eichborough in

Kent, returning to the point from which it

started. This is the first voyage on record

that determined Britain to be an island.

The Emperor Domitian now resolved to

supersede Agricola in his command in North

Britain; and he was accordingly recalled in

the year 85, under the pretence of promoting

liim to the government of Syria, but in reality

out of envy on accovmt of the glory which he

had obtained by the success of his arms. He

died ou the 23d of August, 93, some say, from

poison, while others attribute his death to the

eftects of chagrin at the imfeeHng ti'eatment

of Domitian. His countrymen lamented his

death, and Tacitus, his son-in-law, preserved

the memory of his actions and his worth in

the history of his life.

During the remainder of Domitian's reign,

and that of Hadiian his successor. North Britain

appears to have enjoyed tranquillity; an infer-

ence which may be fairly drawn from the

silence of the Eoman historians. Yet as

Hadrian in the year 121 built a wall between

the Solway and the Tyne, some writers have

supposed that the Eomans had been driven

by the Caledonians out of North Britain, in

the reign of that Emperor. But if such was

the case, how did Lollius Urbicus, the Eoman

general, about nineteen years after Hadrian's

wall was erected, penetrate mthout opposition

to Agricola's forts between the Clyde and the

Forth? May we not rather suppose that the

wall of Hadrian was built for the purpose of

preventing incursions into the south by the

tribes which inhabited the country between

that wall and the Friths? But, bo this as it

may, little is known of the history of North

Britain from the time of Agricola's recall till

the year 138, when Antoninus Pius assumed

the imperial purple. That good and sagacious

emperor was distinguished by the care which

he took in selecting the fittest ofiacers for the

government of the Eoman provinces; and his

choice, for that of Britain, fell on Lolliufl

Urbiciis.
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The positive information concerning the

transactions of this general in North Britain

is as meagi'e as could possibly he, the only

clearly ascertained fact in connection with his

command being that he built a wall between

the Forth and Clyde, very nearly on a line

with the forts established by Agricola. " The

meagi-eness of all ancient record," says Burton,^

" of the achievements of LoUius Urbicus is

worthy of emphatic mention and recollection,

because his name has got into the ordinary

abridged liistories which speak of it, and of ' his

campaign in the north' as weU-kno^vn events,

of which people naturally expect fuller informa-

tion elsewhere. The usual sources for reference

regarding him will however be found utterly

dumb." The story commonly given is that he

proceeded north as far as the Moray Frith,

throwing the extensive country between Forth

and Clyde and the Moray Frith into the form

of a regular Roman province, which, on the

wortliless authority of the pseudo-Richard, was

named Vespasiana. All tliis may have been

the case, and the remains^ of Roman stations

foimd throughout the wide tract just men-

tioned give some plausibility to the conjecture;

but there is only the most slender groimds for

connecting them with any northern expedition

of LoUius Urbicus. At all events we may
very safely conclude, from the general tone of

the records which remain of his and of subse

quent expeditions, as well as from the fact that

they found it necessary to divide the Lowlands

from the Highlands by a fortified wall, that

the Romans considered the Caledonians of

their time very troublesome, and found it ex

ceedingly difficult if not impossible to bring

them under their otherwise universal yoke.

It may not be out of place to give here

some account of the wall of Antonine. The

Map and Profile of Antonine's Wall.

wall or rampart extended from Carriden on

the Forth, two miles west from Blackness, and

about the same distance east from Bo'ness, to

West Kilpatrick on the Clyde. The date,

which may be depended on, assigned to the

building of the wall is between 138 and 140

A. D. Taking the length of tliis wall from

Kilpatrick on the Clyde to Caeridden or

Carriden on the Forth, its extent would be

39,726 Roman paces, which exactly agrees

with the modern measirrement of 36 English

miles and 620 yards. This rampart, which

was of earth, and rested on a stone foundation,

was upwards of twenty feet high and four and

* Scotland, vol. i. p. 29.

twenty feet tliick. Along the whole extent of

the wall there was a vast ditch or jirwlentttra

on the outward or north side, wliich was gene-

rally twenty feet deep and forty feet ^v^de, and

which, there is reason to believe, might be

filled with water when occasion required.^

' Wilson says that beyond the Forth and Clyde

nearly the sole traces of "the presence of the Romans
are a few earthworks, with one or two exceptions, of

douhtful import, and some chance discoveries of pot-

tery and coins, mostly ascribable, it may be presumed,

to the fruitless northern expedition of Agricola, after

the victory of Mons Grampius, or to the still more
ineffectual one of his successor, SevsTns.^Prehistori-c

Annals, p. 355.
« On the estate of Callender, to the east of Falkirk,

distinct remains of this trench are still to be seen, in

good preservation, measuring a few hundred yards in

length and about 12 feet in depth.



ANTONINE'S WALL. 11

This ditch aiid rampart were strengthened at

both ends, and throughout its whole extent, hy

about twenty forts, tlu-ee being at each extrem-

ity, and the remainder placed between at the

distance of about two English miles from one

another; and it is highly probable that these

stations were designedly placed on the previous

fortifications of Agricola. The following, going

from east to west, are the names and sites of

some of the stations wliich have been iden-

tified:—Eough Castle, Castlecary, "Westerwood,

BunldU, Aucliindinny, Kirkintilloch, Bemulie,

East Kilpatriok, Castlehill, Duntoolier, "West

KUpatrick. It will be seen that to a certain ex-

tent they are on the line of the Edinbui-gli and

Glasgow railway, and throughout nearly its

whole length that of the Forth and Clyde canal.

Its necessary appendage, a military road, ran be-

hind the rampart from end to end, for the use

of the troops and for keeping up the usual

communication between the stations or forts.

From inscriptions on some of the foundation

stones, which have been dug up, it appears that

the Second legion, Avith detaclrments from the

sixth and twentieth legions and some auxUi

aries, executed tliese vast military worlcs,

equally creditable to their skill and persever-

ance. Dunglas near the western extremity,

and Blackness near the eastern extremity of

the rampart, afforded the Romans commodious

harbom-s for their shipping, as also did Cram-

ond, about five miles west from Edinburgh.

Tliis wall is called in the popular language of

the country Grime's or Graham's Dyke.'' In

1868 a large oblong slab, in first-rate preserva-

tion, was dug up at Bo'ness, in the parish of

KinneLL (Bede's Peanfahel, " the head of the

wall"), containing an inscription as distinct as

it was on the day when it came from a Roman

chisel. We give here a cut of this remarkable

stone, wliich is now in the Scottish Antiqua-

rian Muscuni.

Stone from Antonine's Wall. (Copied and engraved specially for the present work.)

We have no distinct mention of the Caledo-

nians again until the reign of Commodus,

when, about the year 183, these troublesome

barbarians appear to have broken through tlie

northern wall, slain the general in command

of the Roman forces, and pUlaged the lowland

country beyond. Tliey were, however, driven

back by Ulpius MarceUus, who succeeded by

prudent management in maintaLniug peace for

a number of years. In the beginning of the

reign of Severus, however, the Caledonians

again broke out, but were kept in check by

Virius Lupus, who appears to have bribed

rather than beaten the barbarians into con-

formity.

The ireepressible Highlanders again broke

out about the year 207, and this time the

Emperor Severus himself, not\vithstanding liis

bad health and old age, came from Rome to

Britain, determined apparently to " stamp out"

the rebellion. On hearing of his arrival the

tribes sent deputies to liim to negotiate for

peace, but the emperor, who was of a warlike

disposition, and fond of military glory, declined

to entertam any proposals.

After making the necessary preparations,

' There are several other eartliworks in England,

according to Chalmers {Caledonia) and Taylor (Words

and Places), which go imder the appellation of Grime's

Dyke or Grime's Ditch. Grime in Cornish is said to

signify strong; in Gaelic, war, battle.
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Severus began his march to the north in the

year 208. He traversed the whole of North

BritaiB, from the wall of Antoninus to the very

extremity of the island, with an immense army.

The Caledonians avoided coming to a general

engagement with liiin, hut kept up an inces-

sant and harassing warfare on all sides. He,

however, brought them to sue for peace ; but

the honours of this campaign were dearly

earned, for fifty thousand of the Eomans fell a

prey to the attacks of the Caledonians, to

fatigue, and to the severity of the climate.

The Caledonians soon disregarded the treat}'

which they liad entered into with Severus,

which conduct so irritated him that he gave

orders to renew the war, and to spare neither

age nor sex; but his son, CaracaUa, to whom
the execution of these orders was intrusted,

was more intent in plotting against liis father

and brother than in executing the revengeful

mandate of the dying emperor, whose demise

took place at York on the 4th February, 211,

in the sixtj'-sixth year of his age, and in the

third year of his administration in Britain.

It is in connection with this invasion that

we first hear of the Meats or MieaXx, who are

mentioned by Dion Cassius, or rather his epi-

tomiser Xipliiline, and who are supposed by

some to have inhabited the country between

the two walls, while others think it more

likely that they were a part of the Caledonians,

and inhabited the district between the Gram-

pians and the waU of Antonine. We shall

not, however, enter into this question here, but

endeavour, as briefly as possible, to record aU

that is known of the remaining transactions of

the Eomans in the north of Scotland, reserving

other matters for the next chapter.

It was not consistent with the policy by
wliich Caracalla was actuated, to continue a

war with the Caledonians ; for the scene of his

ambition lay in Eome, to which he made hasty

preparations to depart on the d&ith of his father.

He therefore ent-ered into a treaty with the Cale-

donians by which he gave up the territories sur-

rendered by them to his father, and abandoned

the forts erected by him in their fastnesses.

The whole country north of the wall of Anto-

nine appears in fact to have been given up to

the undisputed possession of tlie Caledonians,

and we hear of no more inciirsions by them

till the reign of the emperor Constantius

Chlorus, who came to Britain in the year 306,

to repel the Caledonians and other Picte.^

Their incursions were repelled by the Eoman

legions under Constantius, and they remained

quiet till about the year 34.5, when they again

entered the territories of the provincial Brit-

ons ; but they were compelled, it is said, again

to retreat by Constans, son of Constantine the

Great.

Although these successive inroads had been

always repelled by the superior power and dis-

ciphne of the Eomans, the Caledonians of the

fourth century no longer regarded them in the

formidable light in which they had been

viewed by their ancestors, and their genius for

war improving every time they came in hostile

contact with their enemies, they meditated

the design of expeUing the intruders altogether

from the soU of North Britain. The wars

which the Eomans had to sustain against the

Persians in the East, and against the Germans

on the frontiers of Gaid, favoured the plan of

the Caledonians ; and having formed a treaty

with the Scots, whose name is mentioned for

the first time in liistory in this connection by

Ammianus Marcelliuus, they, in conjunction

with their new alhes, about the year 360 in-

vaded the Eoman territories and committed

many depredations. Julian, who commanded

the Eoman army on the Ehine, despatched

Lupicinus, an able military commander, to do-

fend the province against the Scots and Picte,

but he was recalled before he had done much

to repel them.

The Picts—who on this occasion are men-

tioned by Ammianus Marcellinus' as being di-

vided into two nations, the Dicaledones and

Vecturiones—and Scots, being joined by the

Attacots, " a warlike race of men," and the

Saxons, niimbers of whom appear at this early

period to have settled in Britain, made another

attack on the Eoman provinces in the year

^ The first writer who mentions the Picts is Eumen-
ius, the orator, who was a Professor at Autun, and who,

in a panegyric pronounced by him in tlie year 297,

mentions the Picts along with the Irish, and again, in

308, in a panegyric pronounced by him on Constans,

speaks of the Caledonians and other Picts. This is

one of the passages mainly relied on by those who
consider the Caledonians and Picts to have been the

same people.
' Am. Mar., xxvii., 8.
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364, on the accession of Valentinian. These

appear to have made their way as far south as

London, and it required all the valour and

skill of Theodosius the Elder, father of the em-

peror of that name, who was sent to Britain in

the year 367, to repel this aggression, and to

repair the great ravages committed by the bar-

barians. The next outbreak occurred about

the year 398, when the Picts and Scots again

broke loose and ravaged the provinces, being

repelled by a legion sent over by the great

Stilicho, in answer to the petition of the help-

less provincials for assistance.

In the beginning of the fifth century the

enervated Romanized Britons again appear to

have been subjected to the tender mercies of

their mcked northern neighbours ; and in re-

ply to their cry for help, Honorius, in 416, sent

over to their relief a single legion, which drove

back the intruders. The Romans, as is weU
loiown, engrossed by overwhelming troubles

nearer home, finally abandoned Britain about

the year 446, advising the inhabitants, who
were suffering from the ravages of the Picts

and Scotc, to protect themselves by retiring

behind and keeping in repair the waU of Se-

verus.

Such is a brief account of the transactions of

the Romans in Britain so far as these were con-

nected ^nth the Highlands of Scotland. That

energetic and insatiable people doubtless left

their mark on the country and its inhabitants

south of the Forth and Clyde, as the many
Roman remains which exist there at the pres.

ent day testify. The British provincials, in-

deed, appear in the end to have been utterly

enervated, and, in the worst sense, Roman-

ized, so that they became an easy prey to their

Saxon helpers. It is quite evident, however,

that the inhabitants of Caledonia proper, the

district beyond the wall of Antonine, were to

a very slight extent, if at all, influenced by the

Roman invasion. Whether it was from the

nature of the people, or from the nature of the

country which they inhabited, or from both

combined, they appear to have been equally

impervious to Roman force and Roman cul-

ture. The best services that their enemies

I'endered to the Caledonians or Picts were that

they forced them to unite against the common
foe thus contributing towards the foundation

of a future kingdom ; and that they gave them

a training in arms such as the Caledonians

could never have obtained, had they not been

brought into colhsion with the best-trained

soldiers of the world in their time.

We have in what jirecedes mainly followed

only one thread in the very intricate web
formed by the early liistory of the Highlands,

which, to a certain extent at tliis period, is the

history of Scotland ; but, as \vill have been

seen, there are various other threads which

join in from time to time, and which, after

giving a short account of the traces of the Ro-

man invasion stdl existing in the Highlands,

we shall endeavour to catch up and foUow out

as far as possible.

It is not necessary in a history of the High-

lands of Scotland, as we have defined that term,

that much space should be given to an ac-

count of Roman remains ; for, as we have al-

ready said, these Italian invaders appear never

to have obtained anytliing like a firm footing

in that rugged district, or made any definite or

characteristic impression on its inhabitants.

" The vestiges whence it is inferred that the

Empire for a time had so far established itseK

in Scotland as to bring the natives over to the

habits of peaceful citizens, belong almost ex-

clusively to the country south of Antonine's

wall, between the Forth and Clyde. Coins

and weapons have been found farther north,

but scarcely any vestige of regidar settlement.

None of the pieces of Roman sculpture found

in Scotland belong to the districts north of the

wall. It is almost more significant stiU, that

of the very considerable number of Scottish

Roman inscriptions in the various collections,

only one was found north of the wall, and that

in the strongly-fortified station of Ardoch,

where it commemorated that it was dedicated

to the memory of a certain Ammonius Damio-

nis.i On the other hand, it is in that unsub-

dued district that the memorials of Roman con-

quest chiefly abound."

-

The whole of Britain was intersected by Ro-

man ways, and as, wherever a Roman army

went, it was preceded by pioneers who cleared

and made a durable road to facUitato its march,

there can be no doubt that the north of Scot-

' Wilson's Prehisl. Annals.
' Burton's Scotland, vol. i. p. 74.
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land was to a considerable extent intersected

by highways during the invasion of Agricola,

lioUius Urbicus, and Severus. One road at

least can be traced as far north as Aberdeen-

shire, and is popidarly known in some districts

as the Lang Causeway. This road appears to

have issued from the waU of Antonine, passed

through Camelon, the Eoman port on the Car-

ron, and pushing straight forward, according to

the Eoman custom, across the Carron, it pur-

sued its course in a general north-east direction

through Stirling, Perth, by Ardoch, through

Forfar and Kincardine, to about Stonehaven.

It would appear that there are traces of Eo-

man roads even farther north. Between the

rivers Don and Urie in Aberdeenshire, on the

eastern side of Bennaohee, there exists an an-

cient road known in the country by the name

of the Maiden Causeway, a name by which

some of the Roman roads in the north of Eng-

land are distinguished. This proceeds from

Bennachee whereon there is said to have been

a hill-fort, more than the distance of a mUe
into the woods of Pitodrie, when it disappears

:

it is paved vdtlx stones, and is about fourteen

feet ^vide. Still farther north, from Forres to

the ford of Cromdale on the Spey, there has

been long kno^vn a road of very ancient con-

struction, pointing to Cromdale, where the

Eomans may have forded the Spej'. Various

traces of very ancient roads are stUl to be seen

by Corgarf and through Lraemar : the tradition

of the people in Strathdee and Braemar, sup-

ports the idea that there are remains of Roman
roads which traverse the country between the

Don and the Dee. Certain it is, that there are

obvious traces of ancient roads which cross the

wild districts between Strathdon and Strath-

dee, though it is impossible to ascertain when
or by whom these ancient roads were con-

structed, in such directions, thi-oughout such a

country.

Along these roads there were mthout doubt

many camps and stations, as it is well kno'STn

that the Eomans never halted even for a single

night, without entrencliing themselves behind

secure fortifications. There are many remains

of what are supposed to have been Eoman
camps stiU pointed out in various places nortli

of the line occupied by Antonine's wall. These

are well known even to the peasantry, and are

generally treated with respect. The line of

these camps reaches as far as the counties of

Aberdeen and Inverness, the most important

of them, however, being found in StrathaUan,

Stratheaxn, and Strathmore. Besides the most

important of these camps, that at Ardoch,

traces of many others have been found. There

was one on the river Earn, about six miles east

of Ardoch, which would command the middle

part of Strathearn lying between the Ochil

liills on the south and the river Almond on

the north. Another important station is sup-

posed to have been established near Callander,

where, on a tongue of land formed by the junc-

tion of the rivers Strathgartney and StrathjTo,

the two soiirces of the Teith, are seen the em-

bankments referred to by Scott' as

. . . " The moulderiDg lines

Where Rome, the empress of the world,

Of yore her eagle wings unfurled. " *

Another camp is placed at Dalgenross, near

the confluence of the Euchel and the Earn,

wliich, with Bochastle, would command the

western district of Strathearn. Another im-

portant station was the East Findoch, at the

south side of the Almond ; it guarded the only

practicable passage through the mountains

northward, to an extent of thirty miles from

east to west. The Eoman camp here was placed

on a high gi'Oimd, defended by water on two

sides, and by a morass with a steep bank on

the other two sides. It was about one hundred

and eighty paces long, and eighty broad, and

was surromided by a strong earthen wall nearly

twelve feet thick, part of which still remains.

The ti-enches are still entire, and in some places

six feet deep.

On the eastern side of Strathearn, and be-

tween it and the Forth, are the remains of Eo-

man posts ; and at Aidargie a Eoman camp

was established with the design, it is supposed,

of guarding the passage through the OchQ liills,

by the valley of May water. Another camj)

at Gleneagles seciu-ed the passage of the same

lulls through Glendevon. With the design of

guarding the narrow, but usefid passage from

^ Lady of the Lake.
* According to Burton, however, these are by some

geologists set down as a geological phenomenon.

—

HUt.ofScot. i. 75.
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tlie middle HigUands, -westward througli Glen-

lyon to Argyle, the Komans fixed a post at

rortingal, about sixteen miles north-'west from

the station at East-Pindooh.

A different line of posts became necessary

to secure Angus and the Meams. At Coupar

Angus, on the east side of the Isla, about seven

miles east from Inchtuthel, stood a Roman

camp, of a square form, of twenty acres mthin

the ramparts. This camja commanded the pas-

sage down Strathmore, between the SiecUaw

bills on the south-east, and the Isla on the

north-west. On Campmoor, little more than

a mile south from Coupar Angus, appear the re-

mains of anotlier Eoman fort. The great camp

of Battledyke stood about eighteen mUes north-

east from Coupar Angus, being obviously placed

there to guard the passage from the Higlilands

through Glen Esk and Glen Prosen. About

eleven and a-half mUes north-east of the camp

at Battledykes was another Eoman camp, the

remains of which may still be traced near the

mansion-house of Keithock. Tliis camp is

known by tlie name of "Wardikes. The coim-

try below the Siedlaw hills, on the north side

of the estuary of Tay, was guarded by a Eoman
camp near Invergo^vrie, which had a commimi-

eation on the north-east with the camp at

Harefaulds. This camp, which was about two

hundred yards square, and fortified -with a high

rampart and a spacious ditch, stood about two

miles west from Dimdee.

Traces of a nimiber of others have been

found, but we need not go fartlier into detail.

This account of the Eoman transactions in

Scotland would, however, be incomplete witli-

Roman Camp at Ardoch as it appeared iu 1755.
[Stuart's Caledonia Somana.]

out a more particular notice of tlie well-known

camp at Ardoch. Ardoch village, in Perth-

shire, lies on the east side of linaigwater, ten

miles north from Stirling, and is about two

miles from the Greenloaning station of the

Caledonian railway, the site of the camp be-

ing a little distance to the north-west of the

village. As this station guarded the principal

inlet into the interior of Caledonia, the Eomans
were particularly anxious to fortify so advan-

tageous a position. " The situation of it," says

the -writer of the Old Statistical Account of

Mutliill, " gave it many advantages ; being on

the north-west side of a deep moss tiiat runs

a long way eastward. On the west side, it is

partly defended by the steep bank of the water

of Knaik ; which bank rises perpendicularly

between forty and fifty feet. The north and

east sides were most exposed; and there we
find very particular care was taken to secure

them. The ground on the east is pretty regu-

lar, and descends by a gentle slope from the

lines of fortification, which, on that side, con-

sists of five rows of ditches, perfectly entire,

and running parallel to one another. These

altogether are about fiftj^-five yards in breadth.

On the north side, there is an equal number of

hues and ditches, but twenty yards broader

than the former. On the west, besides the

steep precipices above mentioned, it was de-

fended by at least two ditches. One is stiU

-visible ; the others have probably been fiUed

up, in making the great military road from

StirUng to the north. The side of the camp,

Ijang to the southward, exhibits to the anti-

quary a less pleasing prospect. Here the pea-

sant's rugged hand has laid Ln ruins a great

part of the lines ; so that it may be with pro-

priety said, in the words of a Latin poet, ' Jam
seges est, ubi Troja fuit.' The area of the

camp is an oblong of 140 yards, by 125 -nithin

the lines. Tlie general's quarter rises above

the level of the camp, but is not in the centi'e.

It is a regular square, each side being exactly

twenty yards. At present it exhibits e-vident

marks of ha-ving been enclosed with a stone

wall, and contains the foundation of a house, ten

yards by seven." There are two other encamp-

ments adjoining, ha-ving a communication

with one another, and containing about 130

acres of ground. A subterranean passage is
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said to have extended from tlie prietorium

under the hed of the Knaik. Not far north of

this station, on tlie way to Crieff, may be traced

t)iree temporary' Roman camps of different sizes.

Portions of the ramparts of these camps still

exist. A mile west of Ardoch, an immense

cairn lately existed, 182 feet long, 45 broad at

tlie base, and 30 feet in sloping height. A
human skeleton, 7 feet long, in a stone coffin,

was found in it.
^

CHAPTER II.

Early Inhabitants—Roman Writers—Aristotle—Taci-

tus—Dion Cassius—Caledonians and Maeatse—Eu-
raenins—Picts—Dicaledones andVecturiones—Clau-

dian—Inferences—Ecclesiastical Chroniclers—Their

value—Gildas—Adamnan—Northern and Southern

Picts—Columha's "Interpreter"—Bede's Account

of Picts—Pictish Language—Peanfahel—Northern

and Southern Picts—Welsh Triads—Irish Annals

—

Evidence from Language—Cymric and Gaelic Theo-

ries

—

Inver and A bei—Innes's Theory—Conelusion.

The preceding chapter has been occupied almost

entirely with an account of the transactions of

the Romans in the north of Scotland, and it is

now our duty to go back and narrate what is

known of the internal history of tlie Highlands

diu'ing the time of the Romans. In doing so we

are brought face to face with certain much agi-

tated questionswhich have for centuries engaged

the attention of antiquaries, and in the discus-

sion of which many bulky tomes have been

written and incredible acrunony displayed.

To enter with anything lilce minuteness into

this discussion woidd occupy more space tlian

can be devoted to the entire history, and, more-

over, would be out of place in a popular \vork

like the present, and distastefid to most of its

readers. The following are some of the much-

discussed questions referred to :—Who were

the original inhabitants of Caledonia 1 To what

race did they belong—were they Gotliic or

Celtic? and if Celtic, were they Cymric or Gae-

lic ] When did they enter Scotland, and whence

did they come—from the opposite continent, or

' For more minute descriptions of this camp, as well

as for further details concerning the Roman transac-

tions in Scotland, consult Roy's Military A ntiquities,

Gough's Camden (under Stratheam), Stuart's Cale-

donia Rtunana, Burton's History of Scotland.

from the south of Britain ? Was the whole of

Scotland, in the time of Agricola, occupied by

one people, or by a mixed race, or by various

races? Were the Picts and Caledonians the

same people ? What is the meaning and origin

of Pict, and was Caledonia a native appellation?

Wliat wore the localities of the Northern and

Southern Picts ? Who were the Scots 1 "RTiat

was the natiu'e of tlie union of the Scots and

Picts under Kenneth MacAlpin?

The notices of the early inliabitants of the

Highlands in the contemporary Roman his-

torians are so few, the information given so

meagre and indefinite, and the ecclesiastical

liistorians of a later time are so full of miracle,

myth, and hearsay, and so little to be depended

on, that it appears to us almost impossible, ^nt\\

tlie materials at present witliin the liistorian's

reach, to arrive at anytliing lUce a satisfactory

answer to the above questions. The impression

left after reading much that has been '\mtten

on various sides, is one of dissatisfaction and

be'wilderment,—dissatisfaction with the far-

fetched and uTelevant arguments frequently

adduced, and the unreliable authorities quoted,

and be'wUderment amid the dust-cloud of words

with which any one who enters this debatable

land is sure to be enveloped. " It is scarcely

necessary to observe, that there are few point?

of ethnology on Avhich historians and antiqua-

ries have been more at variance with each

other, than respecting the real race of those

inhabitants of a portion of Caledonia popidarly

kno^vn by the designation of Picts. The diffi-

culty arising from this discrepancy of opinion

is increased by the scanty and unsatisfactory

nature of the materials now available to those

who wish to form an independent judgment.

No connected specimen of the Pictisli language

has been preser\'ed ; nor has any ancient au-

thor who knlJ^v them from personal observa-

tion, stated in direct terms that they approxi-

mated to one adjoining tribe more than another.

They are indeed associated with the Scots or

Irish as joint plimderers of the colonial Bri-

tons ; and the expression of Gildas tliat they

differed in some degree from the Scots in their

customs, might seem to imply tliat tliey did

bear an analogy to that nation in certain re-

spects. Of course, where there is such a lack

of direct evidence, there is more scope for con-
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jecture; and the Picts are pronounced by dif-

ferent investigators of their history to have

been Germans, Scandinavians, Welsh, Gael, or

Bomething distinct from all the four. The ad-

vocates of the German hj-pothesis rest chiefly

on Tacitus's description of their pliysical con-

formation. Dr. Jamieson, assuming that tlie

present Lowland Scotch dialect was derived

from them, sets them down as Scandinavians;

Bishop Lloyd and Camden conceive them to

have been of Celtic race, probably related to

the Britons; Chalmers, the author of ' Caledo-

nia,' regards them as nothing more than a

tribe of Cambrians or Welsh; while Skene,

one of the latest authors on the subject, thinks

he has proved that they were the ancestors of

tlie present race of Scottish Higlilanders.""

The earliest known name applied to Britain

is found in a treatije on the World ascribed to

Aristotle, in which the larger island is called

Albinn, and Ireland referred to as lerne; and

it is worthy of notice that at the present day

the former is the name applied to Scotland by

the Highlanders, who call themselves the Gael

Albinnich. The first author, however, who

gives us any information about the early in-

liabitants of the north part of Scotland is

Tacitus, who, in his Life of Agricola, devotes

a few lines, in a parenthetical way, to charac-

terising each of the great divisions of the

people who, in the time of that general, in-

liabited Britain. Tacitus tells us that in liis

time the inhabitants of Britain differed in the

habit and make of their bodies, and from the

ruddy locks and large limbs of the Caledonians

he inferred that they were of German origin.'^

This glimpse is clear enough, but tantalizing

in its meagreness and generality. What does

Tacitus mean by German—does he use it in

the same sense as we do at the present day?

Does he mean by Caledonia the whole of tlie

country north of the Forth and Clyde, or does

it apply only to that district—Fife, Forfar, the

east of Perth, &c.—^vith the inhabitants of

wliich his father-in-law came in contact? We
find Ptolemy the geographer, who flourished

about the middle of the 2d century a. d., men-

tioning the Caledonians as one of the many
tribes which in his time inhabited the north of

* Gamett's Philological Essays, p. 196.
' Agricola xi.

Scotland. The term Caledonians is supposed

by some authorities to have been derived from

a native word signifjdng " men of the woods,"

or the inhabitants of the woody country; this,

however, is mere conjecture.

The next writer who gives any definite in-

formation as to the inliabitants of Caledonia is

Dion Cassius, who flourished in the early part

of the 3d centrny, and who WTote a history of

Rome which has come down to us in a very

imperfect state. Of the latter part, containing

an account of Britain, we possess only an epi-

tome made by XiphiUnus, an ecclesiastic of

the 11th century, and which of course is very

meagre in its details. The following are the

particulars given by this -writer concerning the

early inhabitants of north Britain. " Of the

Britons the two most ample nations are the

Caledonians and the Mfeatae; for the names of

the rest refer for the most part to these. The

Maiatae iiihabit very near the waU^ wliich

divides the island into two parts ; the Caledo-

nians are after these. Each of them inhabit

mountains, very rugged and wanting water,

and also desert fields, full of marshes: they

have neither castles nor cities, nor dwell in

any : they live on milk and by hunting, and

maintain themselves by the fruits of the trees

:

for fishes, of which there is a very great and

numberless quantity, they never taste: they

dwell naked in tents and -tt-ithout shoes : they

use wives in common, and whatever is born to

them they bring up. In the popular state

they are governed, as for the most part : they

rob on the liighwaj^ most willingly : they war

in chariots: horses they have, small and fleet;

their infantry, also, are as well most s^vift at

running, as most brave in pitched battle.

Their arms are a shield and a short spear, in

the upper part whereof is an apple of brass,

that, wliile it is shaken, it may terrify the

enemies with the sound: they have likeivise

daggers. They are able to bear hunger, cold,

and all afflictions; for they merge themselves

in mar.shes, and there remain many days, hav-

ing only their head out of water : and in woods

are nourished by the bark and roots of trees.

But a certain kind of food they prepare for all

occasions, of which if they take as much as ' Ibe

* Tha waJI of :\ntonine.
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size' of a single bean, they are in nowise ever

wont to hunger or thirst."*

From this -we learn that in tlie 3d century

there were two divisions of the inhabitants of

the Higlilands, kno-\vn to the Eomans as the

Caledonians and Maats or Maiatae, the latter

very probably inhabiting the southern part of

that territory, next to the wall of Antonine,

and the former the district to the north of this.

As to whether these were Latinized fonns of

native names, or names imposed by the Ro-

mans themselves, we have no means of judg-

ing. The best writers on this subject think

that the Caledonians and Maiats were two

divisions of the same people, both hving to the

north of the Forth and Clyde, although Lines,i

and one or two minor WT-iters, are of opinion

that the M.-oats were provincial Britons who

inhabited the country between the wall of

Hadrian and that of Antonine, kno\vn as the

province of Valentia. However, with Skene,^

Mr. Joseph Robertson, and other able authori-

ties, we are inclined to tliink that the evidence

is in ftivour of their being the inhabitants of

the southern portion of Caledonia proper.

Herodian,^ who wrote about a. d. 240,

tells us that the Caledonians were in the habit

of marking or painting their bodies with figures

of animals, and that they wore no clothes in

order that these figures might be preserved and

exhibited.

The next reference made by a Roman uniter

to the inhabitants of Caledonia we find in a

panegjTic pronounced in his presence on the

Emperor Constantius Chlorus, by Eumenius, a

professor of rhetoric at Augustodunmn (Autun)

in Gaul, in the year 296 or 297, who speaks of

the Britons, in the time of Csesar, having been

attacked by the half-naked Picts and Irish.

To what people the orator meant to apply the

term Picts, around which there has clustered

so much acrimonious disputation, we learn from

another oration pronounced by him on the same

emperor, before his son Constantine, in the

year 309, in wliich, recording the actions of

Constantius, he speaks of the woods and

marshes of the Caledonians and other Picts.

' Dio L. 76, c. 12, as quoted in Ritsou's Annals,

p. n.
' Critical Essay, cli. ii.

' Highlanders.
' Book iii.

After this no further mention is made of the

Caledonians by any Roman writer, but towards

the end of the 4th century Ammianus Marcel-

linus, in liis account of the Roman transactions

in Britain, speaks of the Picts in conjunction

with the Saxons, Scots, and Attacots harassing

the provincial Britons about the year 364.

Fiu'ther on he informs us that at this time the

Picts were divided into two tribes or nations,

the Dicaledones and Vecturiones, remarking,

at the same time, that " the Attacots were a

warhke race of men, and the Scots a people

much given to wandering, and in the habit of

ravaging or laying waste the districts into

which they came."*

Claudian the poet, ^vriting, about 397, in

praise of Honorius, mentions, among other ac-

tions of Theodosius, the grandfather of that

emperor, his having subdued the Picts, who

were fitly so named,^ and makes various other

references to this people and the Scots, which

show that these two in combination were

troubling the Roman provincials not a little.^

Such are most of the scanty details given by

the oidy contemporary historians who take any

notice of the inhabitants of North Britain ; and

the unprejudiced reader will see that the foun-

dation thus afforded upon which to construct

any elaborate theory is so narrow that every

such theory must resemble a pyramid standing

on its apex, liable at the slightest touch to

topple over and be shattered to pieces. It a])-

pears to us that all the conclusions which it is

safe to draw from the few facts stated by the

contemporary Roman liistorians are, that at the

commencement of the Cluistian era Caledonia

proper, or the Higlilands, was inhabited by a

people or peoples apparently considerable in

number, and who in all probabQity had been

settled there for a considerable time, part of

whom at least were known to the Romans by

the name of Caledonians. That these Cale-

* " Scotti per diversa vagantes, niidta poimla-

bantur." Am. Mar. xxvii. 8.

s <' -Nee false nomine Pictoa

Edomuit."

' " Venit et extremis legio prfetenta Britannis

QuEe Scoto dat frsena tnici, ferroque notatas

Perlcgit exangues Scoto moriente figuras."

—

De bello Oetico, v. 416.

Tims rendered by Rltson :

—

The legion came, o'er distant Britains placed,

Wliich bridles the fierce Scot, and bloodless figures

With iron marked, views in the dying Pict.
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Joniuns, those of them at any rate with whom
Agricola came in contact in the first century,

were red or fair haired and large limbod, from

which Tacitus inferred that they were of Ger-

man extraction. In the begiiming of the third

century there were at least two divisions of the

inhabitants of Caledonia,—the Caledonians and

!Maiats,—the former inhabiting the country to

the north of the Grampians, and the latter, in

all probability, that to the south and south-

east of these mountains. They appear to have

been in many respects in a condition little re-

moved from that of savages, although they

must have made wonderful attainments in the

manufacture of implements of war.

In the latter part of the third century we

found the Highlanders spoken of imder a new

name, Picti, which the Koman historians at

least, undoubtedly understood to be the Latin

word meaning ' painted,' ' and which all the

best modern writers believe to have been im-

posed by the Eomans themselves, from the fact

that the indomitable Caledonians had retained

the custom of self-painting after all the Roman-

ized Britons had given it up. There is the

strongest probability that the Caledonians

spoken of as Picts by Eumenius were the same

as the Caledonians of Tacitus, or that the

Caledonians and Picts were the same people

under different names. The immediate cause

for this change of name we have no means of

ascertaining. It is in every way improbable

that the Picts were a new people, who had

come in upon the Caledonians, and supplanted

them some time after Agricola's invasion. The

Eomans were constantly coming into contact

with the Caledonians from the time of Agri-

cola till they abandoned Britain entirely, and

had such a supplantation taken place, it cer-

tainly could not have been done quietly, and

without the cognizance of the Romans. But

we find no mention in any contemporary his-

torian of any such commotion, and we know
that the inhabitants of the Highlands never

ceased to harass the British provincials, show-

ing that they were not much taken up with

any internal clistui-bance. Indeed, writers who
adopt the most diverse opinions on other

points in connection with the Pictish question

' The name given Ijy the Irish Ann,alists to the Picts
Lb Cruithne, said by some to mean "variegated."

are all agreed as to this, that llie Caledonians

and Picts were tlie same people.^

We learn further from oiu' authorities, tltat

towards the end of the fourth century the in-

habitants of Caledonia were known to the

Romans mider tlie names of Dicaledones and

Vecturiones, it being conjectm-ed that these

correspond to the Caledonians and Mseats of

Dio, and the Northern and Southern Picts of a

later period. The connection of the latter

part of the word Di-caledones with Caledonii is

evident, although the significance of the first

syllable is doubtful,—some authorities conjec-

turing that it is the Gaelic word dii, meaning
" geniune." It appears at all events to be es-

tablished that during the early history of the

Higldands, whatever other divisions may have

existed among the inhabitants, those dwelling

to the north and those dwelling to the south

of the Grampians were two separate confeder-

acies, and were known by distinct names.

Another not unimportant fact to be learned

from the Roman liistorians in relation to the

Picts or Caledonians is, that about the middle

of the 4th century they were assisted by the

Attacots, Saxons, and Scots. As to who the

Attacots were it is now impossible to conjec-

tm'e with anything like certainty, there being no

sufficient reason for believing that they were

aUied to the Irish Scots. It is well enough

known who the Saxons were, but how they

came at this early period to be acting in concert

with the Picts it is difficult to say. It is pos-

sible that numbers of them may have effected

a settlement, even at this early period, in North

Britain, although it is more likely that they

were ro\'ing adventm-ers, who had left their

homes, from choice or on compulsion, to try

their fortune in Britain. They were probably

the first droppings of the abundant shower

that overwhelmed South Britain a century

later. The Romans at this period had an offi-

cer wth the title of "Comes litoris Saxonici

per Britanniam ;" and Claudian, in his praises

of StUicho, introduces Britain, saying

—

" lUius effectum curis, ne bella timerem

Scotica, ne Pictum tremerem, ne littore toto

Prospicerem dubiis venturum Saxona veutis.

"

" The only important exception is Ritson, whose
arguments, Uke those of his opponent Pinkcrton, con-

sist mostly of virulent language and vehement assertion.
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It is interesting to notice that this' is the

first mention made of the rfcots in connection

with what is now Scotland ; but whether there

were settlements of them at this time among

the Picts, or whether they had come over from

Ireland for the purpose of assisting the latter

to harass the Romans, it is difficult to say.

Probably, as was the case with the Saxons,

these were the harbingers of the great migra-

tion that reached its culmination about a cen-

tury and a half later. They appear, from what

Ammianus says, to have been at this time a

set of destructive vagabonds. We shall have

more to say about them further on.

From the general tone of these contemporary

Roman historians we learn that, whether Celtic

or Gotliic, these Picts or Caledonians were a

hardy, indomitable, determined race, with a

strong love of liberty and of the country in

wliioh they dwelt, and a resolution never to be

subject to the greedy Roman. Comparatively

few and barbarous as they were, they caused

the Romans far more trouble than aU the rest

of Britain together ; to conquer the latter and

Romanize it appears to have been compara-

tively smooth work, but the Italians acknow-

ledged the Higlilanders invincible by building

walls and other fortifications, and maintaining

extra garrisons to protect the provincials from

their fierce and wasting inroads. Whether the

present Higlilanders are the descendants of

these or not, they certainly possess many
of their cjualities.

It win have been seen that the Roman liis-

torians give us almost no clue to what we now
deem of most interest and importance, the

place of the early inhabitants among the fami-

lies of men, the time and maimer of their

arrival, the language they spoke, and their

internal liistory generally. Of course the re-

cords of contemporaries stand in the first place

of importance as evidences, and although we
have other sources, historical, linguistic, and

antiquarian, which shed a little light upon the

subject, these, for various reasons, must be used

with great caution. The only statement ap-

proaching to anj-thing like a hint as to the

origin of the Caledonians is that of Tacitus,

referring to their ruddy locks and large limbs

' In Amm. Mar.

as an evidence of their German origin. There

is no reason to doubt that those with whom
Agricola came in contact were of tliis make and

complexion, which, at the present day, aie

generally held to be indicative of a Teutonic

origin ; whereas the true Celt is popidarly be-

lieved to be of a small make and dark com-

plexion. 1 It may have been, that in Agricola's

time the part of the country into wliich he

penetrated was occupied by considerable num-

bers of Teutons, who had effected a settlement

either by force, or by favour of the prior in-

habitants. The statement of Tacitus, however,

those who uphold the Celtic theory endeavour

to explain away.

We may safely saj' then, that wth regard to

all the most important points that have ex-

cited the curiosity of modern enquirers, the

only contemporary liistorians to whom we can

appeal, leave us almost entirely in the dark.

The (TOters, next in order of importance to

whom an appeal is made as ivitnesses in this

perplexing case, are the ecclesiastical chroni-

clers, the chief of whom are Gildas, Adanman,

Bede, Nennius. "Much of the error into

which former writers have been led, has arisen

from an improper use of these authors ; they

should be consulted exclusively as contempor-

ary liistorians—whatever they assert as exist-

ing or occurring in their o^^ti time, or shortly

before it, we may receive as true ; but when

we consider the perverted learning of that

period, and the little information which they

appear to have possessed of the traditions of

the people around them, we ought to reject

their fables or fanciful origins as altogether un-

deserving of credit."^ Though this dictimi

may perhaps be too sweeping, still any one who

examines the authors referred to for himself,

must admit that it is in the main just. It is

well known that these writers exercise little or

no discrimination in the composition of their

narratives, that tradition, miracle, and observed

fact are placed side by side, as all equallyworthy

of belief Even Bede, the most reliable and

1 It is a curious fact that these latter are, among the

peasantry of Scotland, the distinctive characteristics of

the Picts or Pechts, wlio, however, it is not unlikely,

may be popularly confounded with the Brownies,

especially as, in Perthshire at any rate, they are said

always to have done their work while others wore

asleep.
- Skene's Highlanders, vol. i. p. 2.
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cautious of these early chroniclers, lived as long

after some of the events of which he professes

to give an account, as we of the present day do

after the time of the Crusades ; almost Ids sole

authority being tradition or hearsay. More-

over, the knowledge which these \vTiters had

of tlie distinction between tlie various races of

mankind was so very hazy, the terms they use

are to us so comparatively uniuteUigible, and

tlie information they do contain on the poiuts

in dispute so brief, vague, and parenthetical,

that their value as authorities is reduced abnost

to a minimum.

Whoever was the author of the work De

Excidio Britannice, one of the latest and most

acute writers' on ethnology has shown that he

is almost totally unworthy of credit, the sources

of his information being exceedingly suspicious,

and his statements proved to be false by com-

parison with trustworthy contemporary Roman

historians. There is every reason to believe

that the so-called Gildas—for by Mr. Wright*

he has been reduced to a nominis umbra—
lived and wrote about the middle of the 6th cen-

tury A.D., so that, had he used ordinary dili-

gence and discrimination, he miglit liave been of

considerable assistance in enabling us to solve

the perplexing mystery of the Pictish question.

But indeed we have no right to look for much

liistory in the work of Gildas, as it professes

to be merely a complaint " on the general de-

struction of every thing that is good, and the

general gro\vth of evil throughout the land;"

it is his purpose, he says, " to relate the deeds

of an indolent and slothful race, rather than

the exploits of those who have been valiant in

the field." * So far as the origin and early

history of the Picts is concerned, GLldas is of

almost no value whatever, the only time he

mentions the Picts being incidentally to notice

an invasion they had made into tlie Roman

provinces.^ K we can trust huu, the Plots

and their allies, the Scots, must have been

very fierce enemies to deal with. They went

about, he tells us, almost entirely destitute of

clothes, having their faces covered with bushy

hair, and were in the habit of dragging the

poor enervated Britons from the top of their

' L. 0. Pike, The English and their Origin, ch. i.

* BiograpMa Britannica Literaria, vol. i.

•Gili'las, 1. « Id., 19.

protecting wall with hooked weapons, slaughter-

ing them without mercy. Some writers infer

from this narrative that, during the Roman oc-

cupation, no permanent settlement of Scots had

been eflected in present Scotland, but that the

Scots who assisted the Picts came over from

their native Scotland (Ireland) for that pur-

pose ; he tells us that the Soots came from the

north-west, and the Picts from the nortL''

" North-west " here, however, woidd apply

quite as well to Argyle as to Ireland.

The writer next in clu'onological order from

whom we derive any information of conse-

quence concerning the Picts is Adamnan, a

member of the early Irish Church, who was

born in the county of Donegal about the

year 625, elected abbot of lona in 679, and

who died in the year 70i. Adamnan \vrote

a life of his great predecessor St. Colimiba,

in which is contained much information con-

cerning that great missionary's laboiu's among

the Northern Picts ; and although he narrates

many stories which are palpably incredible,

stiU the book contains much wliich may

with confidence be accepted as fact. In con-

nection with the questions under consideration,

we learn that, in the time of Columba and

Adamnan, there were—as formerly, in the time

of the Roman writers—two divisions of the

Picts, known in the 7th century and afterwards

as the Northern and Southern Picts. Adam-

nan informs us that Columba's mission was to

the Northern Picts alone,—the southern divi-

sion having been converted by St. Ninian in

the 5th century. There has been much dispu-

tation as to the precise district inhabited by

each of these two divisions of the Picts,—some

maintaining that the southern division occupied

the coimtry to the south of the Forth and Clyde,

wliile the Northern Picts occupied the whole

district to the north of these estuaries. The

best authorities, however, are of opinion that

both divisions dwelt to the north of Antonine's

wall, and were divided from each other by the

Grampians.

What more immediately coincerns our pres-

ent purpose is a passage in Adamnan's work in

which he speaks of Columba preaching to the

Picts through an interpreter. Now Columba

' GUdas, 14.
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was an Irisli Scot, whose native tongue was

Gaelic, and it is from tliis argued that the Picts

to whom he preached must have spoken a diii'er-

ent language, or at least dialect, and belonged

to a different race or tribe from the saint him-

self. Mr. Skene,' who ably advocates the

Gaelic origin of the Picts, perceiving this diffi-

culty, endeavours to explain away the force of

the passage by making it mean that Columba
" interpreted or explained the word of God,

that is, the P>ible, which, being written in

Latin, would doubtless require to be interpreted

to them." The passage as quoted by Skene is,

" Verbo Dei per interpretorem recepto." Gar-

nett, however, one of the most competent and

candid writers on this question in its philologi-

cal aspect, and who maintains, with the great-

est clearness and ability, the Cymric origin of

the Picts, looks at the passage in a different

light. The entire passage, he says,® as it

stands in Colganus, is a-s follows:—"Alio in

tempore quo sanctus Columba in Pictorum

provincia per aliquot demorabatur dies, quidam

cum tota plebeius familia, verbum vitw per in-

terpretorem, Sancfo 2}''ce<iicante viro, audiens

credidit, credensque baptizatus est."^ "Here

it wlU be observed," continues Garnett, "Adam-

nan does not say, ' verbum Dei,' which might

have been construed to mean the Scripture,

but 'verbum mtai, Sancto prmdicante viro,'

which can hardly mean anything but ' the

word of life, as it was preached by the Saint.'"

Certainly, we think, the unprejudiced reader

must admit that, so far as this point is con-

cerned, Mr. Garnett has the best of it. Al-

though at that time the Gaelic and Cymric

dialects may have had much more in common

than they have at the present day, nevertheless

it appears to be beyond a doubt that the differ-

ence between the two was so great that a Gael

would be unintelligible to a speaker of Cymric.

-

' Highlanders, vol. i. p. 72.

' Garnett's Philological Essays, p. ]99.

1 Adam. ap. Colganum, 1. ii. c. 32.

' On tlie subject in question the recently puWished
Book of Deer cannot be said to aiford ns any informa-

tion. It gives a short account of the landing of

Columba and a companion at Aherdour in the north

of Aberdeenshire, and the founding of a monastery at

Deer. But although the entries are in Gaelic, they do

not tell ns what language Columba spoke, nor whether
' Bede the Pict,' the momiaer of Buchan, understood

him without an interpreter. The name of the saint

—Drostan—whom Columba left beliind him to jTose-

The next and most important authority of

this class on this qucestio vexafa is the Vener-

able Bede, who, considering the age in which he

lived, exercised so much caution and discrimina-

tion, that he deserves to be listened to with re-

spect. Bede was born about 673. He was

educated in the Monastery of Wearmouth,

whence he removed to Jarrow, where he was

ordained deacon in his nineteenth year, and

priest in his thirtieth, and where he spent the

rest of his daj's, dying in 735. He wrote many
works, but the most important is the Historia

Ecclesiastica Genfis Anylorum, the materials

for which he obtained chiefly from native

chronicles and biographies, records and public

documents, and oral and ivritten communica-

tions from contemporaries.

We shall transcribe most of the passage in

which Bede speaks of the ancient inhabitants

of Britain; so that our readers may be able to

judge for themselves of the nature and value

of the testimony borne by this venerable au-

thor. It must, however, be kept in mind that

Bede does not pretend to give any but the ec-

clesiastical history of the English nation, every-

thing else being subsidiary to this.

" This island at present, following the num-

ber of the books in which the Divine law was

written, contains five nations, the English,

Britons, Scots, Picts, and Latins, each in its

ovn\ peculiar dialect cultivating the sublime

study of Divine truth. The Latin tongue is,

by the study of the Scriptures, become common
to all the rest. At first this islanil had no

other inhabitants but the Britons, from whom
it derived its name, and who coming over into

Britain, as is reported, from Armorica, pos-

sessed themselves of the southern parts thereof.

When they, beginning at the south, had made

themselves master of the greatest part of the

island, it happened, that the nation of the

cute the work, is Tictish, at any rate not Irish, so

that nothing can be inferred from this. Since much
of the first part of this book was written, Mr. Skene

has advanced the theory, founded partly on four

new Pictish words he has managed to discover, that

the language of the Picts was neither pure Gaelic

nor Cymric, 'but a sort of low Gaelic dialect par-

taking largely of Welsh forms.' This theory is not

new, but was distinctly put forth by Dr. Maclauchlan

some years ago in his able and learned work, The
Early Scottish Church, p. 29 : if true, it would cer-

tainly satisfy a great many of the demands which any
hypothesis on the subject must do.
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Picts commg into the ocean from Scythia, as

is reported, in a few tall skips, were driven

by tlie winds beyond the shores of Britain

and arrived oil' Ireland, on the northern

coasts, where, finding the nation of the Scots,

they requested to be allowed to settle among

them, but could not succeed in obtaining

their request. The Scots answered, that

the island could not contain them both

;

but ' we can give you good advice,' said they,

' what to do ; we know there is another island,

not far from ours, to the eastward, which we

often see at a distance, when the days are clear.

If you win repair thither, you may be able to

obtain settlements ; or if they should oppose

you, you may make use of us as auxiliaries.'

The Picts accordingly sailing over into Britain,

began to inhabit the northern parts thereof, for

the Britons were possessed of the southern.

Now the Picts having no wives, and asking

them of the Scots, they would not consent to

grant them upon any other terms, than that

when any difficulty should arise, they should

rather choose themselves a king from the fe-

nude royal race than from the male ; which

custom, as is well kno^vll, has been observed

among the Picts to this day. In process of

time, Britain, besides the Britons and the Picts,

received a third nation, the Scots, who, de-

parting out of Ireland under their leader Reuda,

either by fair means, or by force of arms, se-

cured to themselves those settlements among

the Picts which they still possess. From the

name of their commander, they are to this day

called Dalreudins ; for in their language Dal

signifies a part It is properly the

country of the Scots, who, migrating from

thence, as has been said, added a tliird nation

in Britain to the Britons and the Picts. There

is a very large gulf of the sea, which formerly

divided the nation of the Picts from the Bri-

tons ; which gulf runs from the west very far

into the land, where, to this day, stands the

strong city of the Britons, called Alcluith.

The Scots arriving on the north side of this

bay, settled themselves there." ^

Here then Bede informs us that in his time

the common report was that the Picts came

into Scotland from Scj^thia, which, like the

« Diile's Ectles. Uist, Book I. c. i.

Germania of Tacitus, may be taken to mean

the northern countries of Europe generally.

Tliis is substantially the same statement as that

of the author of the Historia Brifonum, com-

monly called Nennius, who lived in the 9th

centiu-y, and who informs us that the Picts

coming to Scotland about 300 B.C., occupied

the Orkney Islands, whence issuing, they

laid waste many regions, and seized those

on the left-hand side, i. e. the north of

Britain, where they stdl remained in the writer's

time, keeping possession of a third part of

Britain. ^

Supposing that Bede's report was quite in

accordance with truth, still it gives us but

small help in coming to a conclusion as to the

place of these Picts among the families of men.

It is certain that by far the greater part of

Europe had at one time a Celtic population who

preceded, but ultimately gave way to another

wave of emigrants from the east. Now, if we

knew the date at wliich this so-called migra-

tion of the Picts took place it might be of con-

siderable assistance to us ; but as we cannot

now find out whether these emigrants pro-

ceeded from a Celtic or a Teutonic stock, the

statement of Bede, even if reliable, helps us

not at all towards a solution of the question

as to the race of the Picts. Innes* remarks

very justly on this point—" Now, supposing

that there were any good ground for the opin-

ion of these two vsriters, which they themselves

give only as a conjecture or hearsay, and that

we had any certainty of the Caledonians, or

Picts, having had their origin from the more

northern parts of the European continent, it

were an useless, as well as an endless discus-

sion, to examine in particular from which of

all the northern nations of the continent the

first colony came to Caledonia ; because that

these nations of the north were almost in per-

petual motion, and changing habitations, as

Strabo remarks ; and he assigns for it two rea-

sons : the one, because of the barrenness of the

soil, they tilled not the ground, and built habi-

tations only for a day ; the other, because be-

ing often overpowered by their neighbours,

tliey were forced to remove. Another reason

why it is impossible to know from which of

' Nennius 12, Vatican MS.
* Critical Essay on Scotland, vol. i. p. P8.
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tliose nations the northern parts of Britain,

(sujaposing they came from thence) were at

first peopled, is because we have but very lame

accounts of these northern nations from the

Greek or Eoman writers, (from whom alone we

can look for any thing certain in those early

times) especially of those of Soanclia, to the

north of the Baltic sea, as the same Strabo ob-

serves. Besides, it appears that Caledonia was

peopled long before the inhabitants of these

northern parts of the continent were men-

tioned, or even known by the most ancient

writers wo have ; and perhaps before the first

nations mentioned by them were settled in

those parts."

There is, however, another statement made

by Bede in the passage quoted, upon which,

as it refers to his own time, much more reli-

ance can be placed; it is, that in his time

Britain contained five nations, each having its

own peculiar dialect, viz., the English, Britons,

Scots, Picts, and Latins. We know that the

English spoke in the main Saxon ; the Britons,

i. e., the inliabitants of Wales, Cumbria, &c.,

Welsh ; the Scots, Gaelic ; the Latins, we sup-

pose, being the Eomanized Britons and eccle-

siastics. What language then did the Picts

speak 1 As we know that Bede never travelled,

he must have got his information from an in-

formant or by hearsay, which circumstance

rather detracts from its value. But supposing

we take the passage literally as it stands, we

learn that in Bede's time there were five dis-

tinct peoples or nations, whose names he gives,

sharing among them the island. He does not

say there were five distinct tongues, which

would have been quite a different statement

;

he speaks of them not so much in respect of

their language as in respect of their being the

separate items which composed the inhabitants

of Britain. In his time they were all quite

distinct, in a measure independent of and at

enmity with each other. He does not classify

them in respect of the race to which they be-

longed, but -with reference to the particular

districts which they inhabited, and perhaps

with regard to the time and means of their

conversion to Christianity, each having been

converted at a different time and by a diOFerent

saint. The substance then of what he says

appears to be, that there were in his tune

five distinct tribes or congregations of people

in Britain, each converted to Christianity, and

each having the gospel preached in its own
tongue. Supposing that the Picts and Scots,

or Picts and Britons, or Picts and English did

speak exactly the same tongue, it is not at all

likely that Bede, in the present case, woidd

have classed them together as both being one

nation. Moreover, suppose we allow that Bede

did mean that each of these nations spoke a

language quite distinct from all the others, then

his statement cuts equally at the Gotliic and

Celtic theory. The conclusion we are forced

to is, that from this passage notliing can be

gained to help us out of our difficidty.

There is a statement at the end of the

passage quoted to which we would draw the

reader's attention, as being Bede's way, and no

doubt the universal way in his time, of ac-

counting for a peoidiar law which appears to

have regulated the succession to the Pictish

throne, and which ultimately, according to

some, was the means of placing on that throne

a Scottish monarch ; thus accoimting to some

extent for the sudden disappearance and ap-

parent destruction of the Pictish people and

language.

We shall here refer to one other passage

in the same historian, which has perhaps

given rise to gi-eater and more acrimonious

contention than any other point in connec-

tion with tills wordy discussion. The only

word that has come down to us, which, Tvith

the exception of the names of the Pictish

kings, we can be sure is a remnant of the Pic-

tish language, is the name said by Bede to

have been given to the eastern termination of

the waU of Antonine. Bede, * in speaking of

the turf wall built by the Britons of Valentia

in the beginning of the 5th century, says, " it

begins at about two miles distance from the

monastery of Abercorn on the west, at a place

called in the Pictish language Peanfahel, but

in the English tongue Penneltum." This state-

ment of Bede's is straightforward and clear

enough, and has never been disputed by any

writer on any one of the three sides of the

question. Nevertheless it has been used by the

advocates respectively of the Gothic, Gaelic, and

' Book i., c. 12.
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CjTiiric origin of the Picts, as an undoubted

proof of the correctness of each of these theo-

ries. Piakerton, whose dishonesty and acri-

moniousness are well known, and must detract

considerably from the force of his arguments,

claims it as being entirely Gothic or Teutonic.

"The Pictish word," he says," "is broad Go-

thic; Paena 'to extend,' Hire; and Vahel, a

broad sound of veal, the Gothic for ' wall,' or

of the Latin vallum, contracted val ; hence it

means ' the extent or end of the wall' " This

statement of Pinkerton's may be dismissed as

too far-fetched and awkward to merit much

consideration, and we may safely regard the

word as capable of satisfactory explanation only

in Celtic. Innes, who upholds the British,

i. e. the Cymric, origiu of the Picts, says,^

" we nowhere find a clearer proof of the Pictish

language being the same as the British [Welsh],

than in Bede, where he teUs us that Penuahel

ia Pictish signifies the head of the wall, which

is just the signification that the same two

words Pen and Ualiel have in the British."

In this opinion Chalmers and other advocates

of the Cymric theory coincide. Mr. Gar-

nett, who essentially agrees with Innes and

Chalmers as to the Cymric origin of the Picts,

lays little stress upon this word as furnishing

an argiuuent in support of his theory. " Al-

most the only Pictish word given us by an an-

cient ^^Titer is the well-known Pen val (or as

it appears in the oldest MSS. of Bede (Peann

fall el), the name given by the Picts to the

Wall's End, or eastern termination of the

Vallum of Antoninus. It is scarcely necessary

to say the first part of the word is decidedly

Cymric
;
pen, head, being contrary to aU GaeHc

analogy. The latter half might be plausibly

claimed as the Gaelic fal ; gwall being the

more common termination in Welsh for a

wall or rampart. Fal, however, does occur in

Welsh in the sense of inclosure, a signification

not very remote."*

The two most recent and able supporters^

of the Gaelic theory are of much the same

» Inquiry into the Hist, of Scot., vol. i. p. 357, ed.
1814.

' Crit. Essay, vol. i. p. 75.
' Garnett's Phil. Essays, p. 198.
' Robertson's Scotland under her Early Kings, vol.

ii. p. 380. Forbes- Leslie's Early Races of Scotland,
vol. 1. p. 35.

I.

mind as Garnett, and appear to regard this

tantalizing word as affording no support to

either side. Burton^ cannot admit that any-

thing has been made out of this leading to a

historical conclusion.

We may safely conclude, then, that this so-

called Pictish word, or, indeed, any informa-

tion which we find in Bede, affords us no key to

the perplexing question of the origin and rare

of the Picts.

We learn, however, one fact from Bede^

which is so far satisfactory, viz., that in his

time there were two divisions of the Picts,

known as the Northern and Southern Picts,

which were separated from each other by steep

and rugged mountains. On reading the pas-

sage in Bede, one very naturally supposes that

the steep and rugged mountains must be the

Grampians, to which the expression applies

more aptly than to any other mountain-chain

in Scotland. Even this, however, has been

made matter of dispute, it being contended by

some that the locality of the Southern Picts

was in the south-west and south of Scotland,

where some writers set up a powerful Pictish

kingdom. Mr. Grub,* however, has clearly

shown that the locaKty of the Southern Picts

was to the north of the Forth and Clyde, and

to the south of the Grampians. " The mistake

formerly so common in regard to the country

of the Southern Picts converted by St. Ninian,

was in part owing to the situation of Candida

Casa. It was supposed that his see must have

been in the country of those whom he con-

verted." He clearly proves that it was not so

in reality, and that there was nothing so un-

usual in the situation as to justify the conclu-

sion which was drawn from it. " It was, no

doubt, the case that the teachers by whom the

chief Celtic and Teutonic nations were con-

verted generally fixed their seat among those

whom they instructed in the faith. But there

was no necessity for this, especially when the

residence of the teacher was in the neighbour-

hood of his converts. St. Columba was pri-

mate of all the churches of the Northern Picts,

but he did not permanently reside among that

nation. St. Ninian had ready access to his

1 Hist, of Scot, vol. i. p. 187.
^ Book iii. ch. 4.

' Eccl. Hist, of Soot., vol. i. p. 15, io.
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Pictish converts, and could govern them as

easily from liis White Church on the Solway,

as Columba could instruct and rule the North-

ern Picts from his monastery in lona."*

Other authorities appealed to by the uphold-

ers of each of the Celtic theories are the Welsh

traditions, the Irish Annals, the Chronicles

of the Picts and Scots, and various legend-

ary documents of more or less value and

authenticity. As these are of no greater au-

thority than the ^vriters with whom we have

been dealing, and as the partisans of each

theory claim the various passages as either

confirming, or, at any rate, not contradicting

their views, we shall not further trouble the

reader mth specimens of the manner in

wliich they are dealt mth. There is one

passage, however, in the Welsh Triads, which

the advocates of the GaeHc hypothesis claim

as strongly confimiatory of their theory. After

referring to the coming in of the CjTnry, the

Britons, etc., the Triads' go on to say, " Three

tribes came, under protection, into the Island

of Britain, and by the consent and pemussion

of the nation of the Cjanry, without weapon,

n-ithout assault. The first was the tribe of the

Caledonians in the north. The second was

the G^vJ^ddelian Eace, which are now in Alban

(Scotland). The third were the men of Gale-

din, who came into the Isle of Wight. Three

usurping tribes came into the Island of Britain

and never departed out of it. The first were

the Coranied, who came from the land of Pwj'L

The second were the Gwj'ddelian Ffichti, who
came into Alban over the sea of Llychlyn (Den-

mark). Tlie third were the Saxons." " The

Triads," says Skene ^ in connection with this,

" appear distinctly to have been written pre-

vious to the Scottish conquest in the ninth cen-

tury, and they mention among the three usurp-

ing tribes of Britain the ' Choyddyl Ffichti,'

and add immediately afterwards, ' and these

G^^')'ddyl Ffichti are in Alban, along the shore

of the sea of Llychlyn.' In another place,

among the treacherous tribes of Britain, the

same Triads mention the ' Gwj'ddyl coch o'r

Werddon a ddaethant iii Alban,' that is ' the

Red Gwyddyl from Ireland, who came into

•• Eccl Hist, of Scot, vol. i. p. 17.

' Davics' Celtic Rcsecwclus, p. 155.
' Highlanders of Scotland, vol. i. p. 69.

Alban,' plainly alluding to the Dabiads, who
were an Irish colony, and who have been ac-

knowledged by all to have been a Gaelic race.

It will be observed from these passages that

the Welsh Triads, certainly the oldest and

most unexceptionable authority on the subject,

apply the same term of Gwj'ddyl to the Picts

and to the Dalriads, and consequently they

must have been of the same race, and ths

Picts a Gaelic people. Farther, the Welsh

word ' Gwyddyl,' by which they distinguish

that race, has been declared by all the best au-

thorities to be exactly synonymous with the

word Gael, the name by which the Highlanders

have at all times been distinguished, and the

Welsh words ' Gwj-ddyl Ffichti ' cannot bo

interpreted to mean any thing else than ' The

Gaelic Picts,' or ' Pictish Gael.'
"

The following is the substance of the infor-

mation given by the Irish 'ivriters as to the

origin, race, and early history of the Picts.

The greater part of it is, of course, mere tradi-

tion, accumulating as it grew older, and height-

ened by the imagination of the writers them-

selves.'' The Picts were called by the Irish

writers Ci-uithnidh,yvhich. O'Brien considers to

be the same as Britneigh, or Britons ; but ac-

cording to others the name was derived from

Cruthen, who founded the kingdom of the Picts

in North Britain, in the first century ; others

derive the name from C'ruif, a harp, hence Cruit-

neach, the Irish for Pict, also signifies a harper,

as they are said to have been celebrated harp-

ers. The ancient Britons are mentioned by

C«sar, and other Roman writers, to have

painted their bodies of a blue colour, with the

juice of a plant called woad, hence the painted

Britons were called by the Romans Picti. The

Pict8 or Cruthneans, according to the Psalter

of Cashel, and other ancient annals, came from

Thrace, in the reign of the Milesian monarch

Heremon, nearly a thousand yeare before the

Christian era, and landed at Inver Slainge,

now the Bay of Wexford, under two chief

commanders named Gud and Cathluan, but

not being permitted to settle in Ireland, they

saOed to Albain, or that part of North Britain,

now Scotland, their chiefs ha\'ing been kindly

' We are indebted for most of the following acccont
to Connellan's Annals of tlie Pour Masters, p. Zil
(note).
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Bup])lieJ with wives of Irish birtli. The

Cruthneans became possessed of North Brit-

ain, and foiuided there the kingdom of the

Picts. A colony of the Cruthneans, or

Picts, from North Britain, settled in Ulster

in early times, and are often mentioned from

the first to the ninth century; they resided

chiefly in Dalaradia and Tir Eogain, or parts

of Down, Antrim, and Derry, and became

mixed by intermarriages with the old Irish of

the Irian race, and were ruled over by their

own priaces and chiefs; and some of those

Picts, also settled in Comiaught, in the county

of Eoscommon. According to the Irish writ-

ers, the Picts, in their first progress to Ireland

from Thrace, settled a colony in Gaid, and the

tribes called Pictones and Pictavi, in that

country, were descended from them, and they

gave name to Pictavia, or the city of Poictiers,

and the province of Poitou; and from these

Picts were descended the Vendeans of France.

The Caledonians, or first inhabitants of Scot-

land, are considered to have been the same as

the Picts, and mixed ^vith Cimbrians or Britons,

and some of the Milesian Scots from Ireland.

The advocates of the various theories, appa-

rently aware of how little can be made of the

meagre and suspicious information aft'orded by

these early histories and chronicles, have lat-

terly made language the principal battle-groimd

on which to fight out this endless and profit-

less strife. Most of them take for granted

that if the language spoken by any people can

be found out, a sure indication is afforded of

the race to which that people belonged; and

that the topography of a country must neces-

sarily have been imposed by the earliest inha-

bitants of whom we have record; and that, if

so, the limits of their territory must have been

co-extensive with the limits of such topography.

This, however, is going too far. All the length

to which we are permitted in fairness to go,

when we find in any district or country an

abundance of names of natural objects, as

rivers and mountains, which can with certainty

be traced to any particular language, is, that

at one time or other, a race of people speaking

this language must have passed over and dwelt

for some time in that particular district or

country. We find Celtic names of rivers and

mountains scattered all over Europe, in the

midst of peoples who are admitted on aU hands

to have little or none of the Celtic element in

them.' So that an unprejudiced judge must

admit that the fact of CjTnric and Gaelic words

being found in certain districts of the north of

Scotland argues only that at one time people

speaking these dialects must have dwelt in

these districts. It aft'ords no proof by itself

that the people whom we first meet mth iu

these districts are the people who spoke these

dialects, and who imposed these names ; nor in-

deed, if we coidd be sure that the people whom
we fiist meet with as inhabitants also spoke the

dialect to wliicli such names belong, does it

prove that they were the imposers of these

names, that the dialect was their native and ori-

ginal tongue, and that they had not acquired it

either as conquerors or conquered. Nor can it

be adduced as a proof of sameness of race, that

the present inhabitants of any particular dis-

trict speak the same language as those who in-

habited that district 1800 years ago or less.

" He who trusts to language, and especially to

written language, alone, as an index to race,

must be prepared to maintain that the Gallic

nation emigrated from the seven hills of Eome,

and that the Franks came with them ; that the

Romans extirpated the Celts and Iberians of

Spain, and that the Goths and Moors spoko

nearly the same language as the Romans ; that

the Negroes of the United States and Jamaica

were exported from England when in their in-

fancy. So would Philology, if left to herself,

interpret phenomena, of which we know, from

other sources of information, that the causes

are totally different."' "The clearest proof

that a mountain or river has a Celtic name,

only shows that at some time or other Celts

had been there; it does not tell us when they

were there. Names, as the experience of the

world amply shows, live after the people who
bestowed them have long disappeared, and that

through successive races of occupants. "^

The materials which have been wrought up

into a linguistic argument by the upholders of

each of the three Pictish theories, Gothic,

Gaelic, and Cjonric, are chiefly a list of Pictish

' See Taylor's Words and Places, eh. ix.

' Pike's English and their Origin, cli. ii., wliicIi

contains sonie shrewd ami valuable remarks on tha

subject of langiiaf^e.

• Burton, vol. i. p. 192.
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kings wliich, we believe, may be depended on

as authentic, and the topography of the country

to the east and south-east of the Grampians,

together with the single so-caUed Pictish word

Peanfahel, which we have already considered.

The theorists differ as much in their interpre-

tation of the significance of what remains of

the Pictish language, as we have seen they do

in their interpretation of any references to the

subject in dispute in ancient chi-onicles. The

names of the kings, and the names of places

have been traced by the disputants to Gothic,

Gaelic and Cymric roots. As an amusing

specimen of the ingenuity displayed in this

hunt after roots, we give below a small table

from Burton, comparing the different etymo-

logies of names of kings given by Piukerton,

Chalmers, and Jamieson. ^

It is, however, generally admitted at the

present day, that so far as language is con-

cerned, the Gothic theory has not the remotest

chance; that names of places and of kings are

most satisfactorily and straightforwardly ex-

plained by Cymric roots. As the Gothic

or Teutonic theory cannot stand the test

of modern criticism, we shall content our-

selves with giving specimens of the mamier

in wliich the linguistic, or, more strictly,

topogi-aphical argument is used by the advo-

cates of the Cymric and GaeKc hypotheses

respectively.

The Cymric argument is clearly, ably, and

succinctly stated by Mr. Garnett in his essay

on "The Eelation of the Pict and Gael;" he,

however, it must be remembered, looked at

the whole question maiuly in its philological

aspect. In stating the argument we shall use

chiefly his o^vn words.' " That the Picts

were actually Colts, and not of Teutonic race,

is proved to a demonstration by the names ol

their kings; of whom a list, undoubtedly gen-

uine from the fifth century downwards, was

published by Innes, from a manuscript in the

Colbertine Hbrary. Some of those appellations

are, as far as we know at present, confined to

the Pictish sovereigns ; but others are well-

known "Welsh and Gaelic names. They differ,

however, shghtly in their forms, from their

Cyimic equivalents ; and more decidedly so

from the Gaelic ones ; and, as far as they go,

lead to the supposition that those who bore

them spoke a language bearing a remote ana-

logy to the Irish with its cognates, but a pretty

close one to the Welsh.

" In the Ust furnished by Innes the names

Maeleon, Elpiii, Taran (Le. thunder), Uven

(Owen), Bargnit, are those of personages well

kno^vn in British history or tradition. Wrgust,

whicli appears as Fergus in the Irish annals, is

the Welsh Givrgust. Talorg, Tulorgan, evi-

dently contain the British word Tal, forehead,

a common element in proper names ; ex. gr.

Talhaiarn, Iron Forehead ; Talie,nn, splendid

forehead, &c. Taleiirgain would signify in

Welsh golden or splendid front. Three kings

are represented as sons of Wid, in. the Irish

annals of Foit or Faith. In Welsh ortho-

graphy it wovdd be Gioydd, ivild ; a common

name in Brittany at the present day, under the

form of Gwez. The names Drust, Drostan,

Wrad, Nedon (in Bede Naitaii), closely re-

semble the Welsh Trwst, Tnostan, Gtoriad,

Niuijthon. It will be sufficient to compare the

entire list with the Irish or Highland gene-

alogies, to be convinced that there must have

been a material distinction between the two

BruJi or

Bridei

Chalmers for Celtic,

Probably the British

name Trwst, which
signifies din.

Brudw, which is pro-

nounced Bridw or

Bradw, is in the

British treacherous.

Piukerton for Gothic,

Drust, a common Pikisb name, is

also Persian, and signifies sin-

cerus. . . The Persians were
the old Sythse or Goths, from
whom the rest sprung.

Brudi is the real Gothic name;
Bout is the wounded (Bott

ictus Wachter).

Jamieson, "Teutonic Etymons."

Su. Goth, troest, drislig. Germ.,

dreist. Alem. gidrost, daring.

Island., Briddi emiTiebat. verel:

breida, to extend; and Sueo-
Goth, e, law; 2. one who ex-

tends the law, who publishes it.

For other instances see Burton's Scotland, i. p. 196.

' Gamett's Phil. Essays, pp. 197, 198.
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branches. Most of the Pictish names are

totally unknown in Irish or Highland history,

and the few that are equivalent, such as Angus

and Fergus, generally differ in form. The Irish

annalists have rather obscured the matter, by

transfomiing those names according to their

national system of orthography ; but it is re-

markable that a list in the 'Book of BaUy-

mote,' partly given by Lynch in liis ' Cam-

brensis Eversus,' agrees closely 'svith Innes,

even preserving the initial w or u where the

GaeUc would require / The philological in-

ferences to be deduced from this document may

be thus briefly summed up :—L The names of

the Pictish kings are not Gaelic, the majority

of them being totally unkno%vii both in the

Irish and Highland dialects, while the few

which have Gaelic equivalents decidedly differ

from them in form. Cineod (Kenneth) and

DomlmaU or Donnel, appear to be the only ex-

ceptions. 2. Some of them cannot be identi-

fied as Welsh ; but the greater number are

either identical with or resemble known Cym-

ric names ; or approach more nearly to Welsh

in structure and orthography than to any other

known language. 3. There appears neverthe-

less to have been a distinction, amounting, at

all events, to a difference in dialect. The Pict-

ish names beginning with w would in Welsh

have gw, as G-wrgust for Wrgust, and so of the

rest. There may have been other differences

sufficient to justify Bede's statement that the

Pictish language was distinct from the British,

which it might very well be ivithout any im-

peachment of its claim to be reckoned as closely

cognate."

We have already referred to the use made of

the Pictish word Peannfahd, preserved hy

Bede, and to the phrase in Adamnan concerning

Colvunba's preaching by means of an interpreter.

It is contended by the upholders of the Cjonric

theory that the ancient topographical appella-

tions of the Pictish territory can in general

only be explained by the Cymric dialects, one

strong point being the number of local names

beginning with the Welsh prefix aher, which,

according to Chalmers, was in several instances

subseqiiently changed by the Gael into inver.

Skene,* who felt the force of this argument,

' TligManders.

tried to get rid of it by contending that aher is

essentially a GaeKo word, being compounded

of ath, ford, and hior, water. Garnett thinks

this explanation utterly gratuitous, and observes

that the term may be much more satisfactorily

accounted for by a different process. " There

are," he observes,^ " three words in Welsh de-

noting a meeting of waters

—

aber, cynver, and

ijHver,—-respectively compounded of the par-

ticles a, denoting juxtaposition, cyn (Lat. con),

and yn, with the root her, flowing, preserved

in the Breton verb heri, to flow, and all virtu-

ally equivalent to our word confluence. Inver

is the only term known in any Gaelic dialect,

either as an appellative or in proper names

;

and not a single local appellation with the pre-

fix aber occurs either in Ireland or the He
brides, or on the west coast of Scotland. In-

deed, the fact that inver was substituted for it

after the GaeHc occupation of the Pictish terri-

tories, is decisive evidence on the point; for,

if aber was a term familiar to the Gael, why
shoidd they change it ?

"

" In Scotland," says Isaac Taylor,^ who up-

holds the Cymric hypothesis, " the invers and

aheis are distributed in a curious and instruc-

tive manner. If we draw a line across the map
from a poiat a little south of Inverary, to one

a little north of Aberdeen, we shall find that

(with very few exceptions) the invers lie to the

north west of the line, and the ahers to the

south-east of it. This line nearly coinci des with

the present southern limit of the Gaelic tongue,

and probably also ivith the ancient division be-

tween the Picts and Scots. Hence we may con-

clude that the Picts, a people belonging to the

Cymric branch of the Celtic stock, and whose

language has now ceased to be anywhere verna-

cular, occupied the central and eastern districts

of Scotland, as far as the Grampians ; wliilo

the Gadlielio Scots have retained their language,

and have given their name to the whole coun-

try. The local names prove, moreover, tliat in

Scotland the CjTury did not encroach on the

Gael, but the Gael on the CjTnry. Tlie in-

trusive names are invers, wliich invaded the

land of the ahers. Thus on the shore of etli

Frith of Forth we find a few invers among the

alyers. The Welsh word ucJiel, high, may also

' Phil. Essays, p. 200.
* Words and Places, p. 246.
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be adduced to prove the Cymric affinities of

the Piots. This word does not exist in either

the Erse or the Gaelic languages, and yet it ap-

pears in the name of the Ochil Hills, in Perth-

shire. Again, the Erse bally, a town, occurs

in 2,000 names in Ireland ; and, on the other

hand, is entirely absent in Wales and Brittany.

In Scotland this most characteristic test-word is

fomid frequently in the inver district, while it

never appears among the ahers. The evidence

of these names makes it impossible to deny

that the Celts of tlie Scottish Lowlands must

have belonged to the Cymric branch of the

Celtic stock."

We infer from what Mr. Taylor says, that

he is of opinion that at one time the language

of the whole of the north of Scotland was

Cymric, but that the district in which the

Scots obtained a settlement afterwards imder-

went a change of topography. But it is ad-

mitted on all hands that the Scottish Dalriada

comprehended no more than the modern Ar-

gyleshire, extending no farther north than

Loch Leven and Loch Linnlie ; and that the

Irish Scots had little influence on the people or

their language to the north-west of the Gram-

pians. Indeed, Skene ^ maintams that tliis dis-

trict, in which he places the Northern Picts,

was never subjected to the Scots, and that it

was only the Southern Picts who latterly came

under their sway. Yet we find that the ahers

here are few and far between, or, indeed, any

indications of Cymric possession such as we

find in the southern district. Is it possible

that the Northern and Southern Picts were re-

presentatives of the two great divisions of the

Celts,—the former claiming a GaeKc origin,

and the latter a Cymric? Perhaps after aU

the Welsh Triads may in course of time be of

some help in the solution of this dark prob-

lem, as, according to them, there was more

than one Celtic settlement in Scotland before

the migration of the Scots. The passages

above quoted are, to all appearance, much

more favourable to the Gaelic than to the

Cymric hypothesis, and have been made much

of by Skene and other supporters of that side

of the question.

The Cymric origm of the Picts, besides

' Iliglilandera.

Garnett and Taylor, is supported by such

names as Inues, Chalmers, Eitson, ^\1iittaker.

Grub, and others.

Pinkerton, it is well known, is the great and

unscrupulous upholder of the Gothic origin of

the Picts ; wliile the Gaelic theory has for its

supporters such writers, of undoubted ability

and acuteness, as Skene, E. W. Robertson,

Forbes-Leslie, &o. Burton ^ is of opinion that

the Highlanders of the present day are the

true representatives of the Dahiadic Scots of

the AVest.

We shall, as we have done in the case of the

other side, allow the upholders of the Gaelic

hypothesis to state for themselves the Gaelic

topograpliical argument. We shall use the

words of Colonel Forbes-Leslie, who, in his

invaluable work on the " Early Eaces of Scot>-

land,"^ says, " The Celtic words Inver and

Aber have nearly the same meaning ; and the

relative position in which they occur in names

of places has been emploj^ed as if it were a suf-

ficient argument for defining the presence or

preponderance of the British or Gaelic Celts in

certain districts. In this way Aber, prefixed

to names of places, has been urged as adequate

proof that the Picts of Caledonia were Celts of

the British branch. The value of these and

some other words requires examination. In-

ver is to be found in names of places in Wales.

It may possibly be a British word. It cer-

tainly is a Gaelic one. Aber, although im-

doubtedly British, is also Gaelic—compounded

of the two words Ath and Bior—and signifying

the same as Inver, viz., the confluence of two

streams, or the entrance to a river. If the

word Aber had been unknown to the Gaehc

scholars of modern days, its former existence in

that language might have been presumed from

the ancient names of places in tlie districts of

Caledonia, where it occurs most frequently,

being generally Gaelic and not British.

" Beyond the limits of Caledonia on the south

of the Fortli and Clyde, but within the boun-

dary of modern Scotland, the word Inver,

generally pronounced Inner, is of common oc-

currence, and bears witness to a Gaelic nomen-

clature. Tlius, Inner or Inverkip, in the county

of Eenfrew ; Innerwell, in tlie county of Wig-

' Scotland, vol. i. p. 207.
s Vol. i. p. 26.
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ton ; Imierwiok, in the county of Haddington

;

Innerleithen, in the county of Peebles ; Inver-

leith and Inveresk, in the county of Edin-

burgh, derive their names from their situation

in regard to the rivers Kip, Leithen, Esk, &c.

&c.

" From the ]\Ioi-ay Frith to the Forth, in the

eastern counties of Caledonia, the prefix Inver

or Aber is used uidiscrlminately in contiguous

places. At the confluence of lesser streams

with the river Dee, Lq Aberdeenshire, we

find Inverey, Abergeldie, Invercauld, Inver-

canny, Aberdeen. Yet ia those counties

—

viz., Aberdeen, Kincardine, Forfar, Pertli, and

Fife, in which were situated the capitals,

and which were the richest provinces of the

southern Picts—the number of names of

places beginning ivith Inver is three times as

numerous as those commencmg with Aber

;

there beiag, in a list taken from land-regis-

ters, wliich do not go farther back than the

middle of the sixteenth century, seventy-eight

with Inver to twenty-four with Aber. It

may, however, be admitted that, although

Aber is Gaelic, its use is far more general by

Celts of the British tribes ; and that the pre-

dominance of Inver in. the districts north of

the Spey, and the intermixture of places the

names of which commence with Inver or Aber,

not unfrequently used in records of nearly the

same date for the same place in the country ly-

ing between the Moray and the Solway Friths,

is, to a certain extent, evidence of a British

element of population extending into Caledonia.

The Britons, in earlier times, may have been

pressing on to the north by gradual intrusion,

and were probably afterwards increased by

bodies of exiles escaping from the severity of

Roman bondage and the punishment of unsuc-

cessful revolt.

" That names of places containing the words

Ilal, from Bad, a place or residence, and Ard,

a height or rising ground, are so common in

Ireland, and comparatively rare, so it is alleged,

in Caledonia, has also been used as an argu-

ment to prove that the language of the Picts

and other Caledonians of the southern and

eastern districts was British, not Gaelic. But

the foundation of the argument has been as-

sumed, and is easily disproved. It is true that

of large towns and places that appear in gazet^

teers, names commencing with Bal and Ard are

not numerous. But in fact such names are

extremely common. In the lowlands of Aber-

deensliire—that is, in the portion of one county,

and in the pai-t of Caledonia farthest removed

from the settlements of the intrusive Gaels, viz.

,

the Scots from Ireland—registers of land show

upwards of fifty places the names of which com

mence with Bal, and forty whicli commence

with Ard. In the Pictish territory, from the

Moray Frith to the Forth, I soon collected up-

wards of four huncbed names of places begin-

ning yntii Bal, and upwards of one hundred

vnth Ard; and the number might easily be

doubled-"

Mr. E. W. Robertson, one of the latest and

ablest upholders of this theory, thinks ^ there

is scarcely sufficient evidence to justify any

very decided conclusion as to the pre-existence

of a CjTuric population; and that, whilst it

would be unquestionably erroneous to ascribe

a Cymric origin to the Picts, the existence of

a Celtic element akin to the Cymri, amongst

the population of Alban before the arrival of

the Gioyddel Fficliti, must remain to a certain

extent an open question.

Of aU a priori theories that have hitherto

been advanced as to how Scotland was likely

to have been at first peopled, that of Father

Innes, the first writer who investigated the

subject thoroughly and critically, appears to

us to be the most plausible and natural, al-

though even it is beset -vdi'h many difficulties.

It appears to him more natiu'al and probable

that the Caledonian Britons, or Picts, were of

the same origin as the Britons of the south;

that as these came in originally from the near-

est coast of Gaul, as they multiphed in the

island, they advanced to the north and settled

there, carrying with them the customs and

language of the South Britons.'^

"We have thus endeavoured to lay before

the reader, as fully as space permits, and as

clearly and unprejudicedly as possible, the

materials at present existing by means of

which to form an opinion on the Pictish ques-

tion, and the arguments pro and con, mainlj^

in their o^^vn words, urged by the partisans of

the different theories. It appears to us that

' Vol. ii. p. 377. ' Essay on Scotland, vol. i. p. 70
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the data witliin reach are far too scanty to

justify any one in coming to a settled conchu

sion, and that we must wait for more Ught

before we can be justified in finally making up

our minds on this perplexing subject.

'

At the present day we find that nearly the

whole of the territory said to have been ori-

ginally occupied by the Picts, is inhabited,

and has been for centuries, by a population

which in appearance is far more Teutonic than

Celtic, and which undoubtedly speaks a broad

Teutonic dialect. ^ And even in the district

where the Gaelic language has been triumphant

for ages, it is acknowledged even by the most

devoted partisans of the Gaelic theory, that

among the population there is a very consider-

able intermi.^ture of the Teutonic element.

Burton thinks, from a general view of the

whole question, that the proportion of the Teu-

tonic race that came into the use of the Gaelic,

was much greater than the proportion of the

Gaehc that came into the use of the Teutonic

or Saxon, and that this may account for the

contrasts of physical appearance to be seen in

tlie Highlands.

We certainlyhave notexhausted the statement

of the question, have not stated fully and com-

pletely all the points in dispute ; nordowe pretend

to have given with fulness all the arguments _?jro

and eon on the various sides. We have, how-

ever, given as much as will enable any ordinary

1 We have already (p. 22) referred to the Gaelo-

Cymric theory broached by Dr. Maclauchlan in his

Early Scottish Church, and recently adopted by Dr.

Skene. Speaking of the distribution of the topo-

graphical nomenclature in the Highlands, Dr. Mac-

lauchlan says it indicates one of two things ;
" either

that the one race overpowered the other in the east,

and superinduced a new nomenclature over the old

throughout the country,—that we have in fact two

successive strata of Celtic names, the Gaelic under-

lying the British, which is by no means impossible;

01', what is more likely, that the Pictish people were

a people lying midway between the Gael and the

Cymri—more Gaelic than the Cymri, and more Cymric

than the Gael. This is precisely the character of the

old Pictish topography ; it is a mixture of Gaelic and

Cymric ; and if the language of the people was like

their topography, it too was a language neither Gaelic

nor Cymric, but occupying a middle space between

them, indicating the identity of the races at some dis-

tant period, although they afterwards became rivals

fur the possession of the land. " This we think on the

whole the most satisfactory theory yet propounded.
= We would infer from the recently published Book of

Deer, that down at least to the time of David II., the

inliabitants were still a Gaelic speaking population ; all

the entries in that book as to land are in that language.

reader to form for himseK a fair idea of tlie

present state of the Pictish question, and indi-

cated the sources whence more information

may be derived, should any one wish to pur-

sue the subject farther. In the words of the

latest and greatest Scottish historian " this

brief survey of the great Pictish controversy

leaves nothing but a melancholy record of

wasted labour and defeated ambition. It has

been more fruitless than a polemical or a politi-

cal dispute, for these leave behind them, either

for good or evil, their marks upon the conduct

and character of the populations among whom
they have raged; while here a vast outlay of

learning, ingenuity, enthusiasm, and, it must

be added, temper, have left no visible monu-

ment but a pile of forbidding volumes, in

which should any one wlio has not studied the

matter fundamentally expect to find instructive

Information, he will assuredly be led into a

tangled maze of unintelligible pedantry, from

which he will come forth with no impression

but a nightmare feeling of hopeless struggle

with difficulties."^

CHAPTEE III.

/.. D. 446—843.

Early History—Scottish Settlement—Origin of Scots

—D.alriada—Conversion of Picts—Druidism—t?t.

Columba— lona— Spread of Christianity—Bmde
and his Successors—Dun-Nechtan—Pictish Wars

—

Ungus—Contests -Norsemen—Union of Picts and
Scots— Scoto - Irish or Dalriads— Lorn, Fergus,

Angus and their Successors— Aidan—Contest at

Degsastau— Donal Breac—Wars with Irish and
Picts—Conal II. and Successors—Ferchar Fada

—

Selvach and Duncha Beg—Eocha III. unites Dal-

riada—Muredach—Contests with Picts—Aodh-fin

—Eocha IV. or A chains—Alpin—Kenneth—Union
of Picts and Scots—Dalriadic Government—^Tanist

—Brehon—Laws—Fosterage— Lists of Kings.

As we have already said, the materials for the

internal history of the Highlands during the

Eoman occupation are of the scantiest, nearly

all that can be recorded being the struggles of

the northern tribes with the Eoman invaders,

and the incursions of the former and their

allies into the territories of the Eomauized

Britons. Doubtless many events as worthy of

record as these, an account of which has been

3 Burton, vol. i p, 200.
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preservBcl, were during this period being

transacted in the northern part of Scotland,

and we have seen that many additions, from

various quarters, must have been made to the

population. However, there are no records

extant which enable us to form any distinct

notion of the nature of these events, and his-

tory cannot be manufoctured.

After the departiu-e of the Romans, the pro-

vincial Britons of the south of Scotland were

completely at the mercy of the Picts as well

as the Saxons, who had been invited over by

the South Britons to assist them against the

northern barbarians. These Saxons, we know,

very soon entered into alliance with those

whom they came to repel, and between them

the Britons south of the friths were eventually

driven into tlie West, where for centuries they

appear to have maintained an independent

kingdom under the name of Strathclyde, imtil

idtimately they were incorporated wth the

Scots.*

Although both the external and internal

history of the Highlands during this period is

much better known than in the case of the

Roman period, still the materials are exceed-

ingly scanty. Scottish historians, from Fordun

and Boece down^pards, made it their business

to fill up from their ovra imaginations what is

wanting, so that, luitil the simple-minded but

acute Innes put it in its tnie light, the early

history of Scotland was a mass of fable.

Undoubtedly the two most momentous

events of tliis period are the firm settlement in

Argyle of a colony of Scots from Ireland and

some of the neighbouring isles in 503,^ and

the conversion of the Northern Picts to Chris-

tianity by Colimiba aboit 563.

At the time of the Ra man abandonment of

Britain the Picts were mder the sway of a

king or chieftain named Drust, son of Erp,

concerning whom the only record remaining is,

that he lived a hundred years and fought a

hundred battles. In fact, little is known with

certainty of the Pictish history for upwards of

one hundred years after the departure of the

Romans, although some anci«nt chronicles af-

* See Innes's Essay, vol. i.

°Tliis is the date commonly given, althoiip;h Mr.
E. W. Robertson makes it 502 on the authority of

Tighernach, while O'Donovan (Annals of the Four
Masters, vol. i. p. 160) makes it 506.

ford us lists of Pictish kings or princes, a

chronological table of whom, from Drust down-

wards, will be found at the end of this chap-

ter. The Pictish chronicle contains the names

of thirty-six others who are said to have

reigned before Drust, but these are generally

regarded as almost entirely spurious.

Before proceetling farther with the Pictish

history, it may be proper to give a brief ac-

coimt of the settlement of the Irish Scots or

Dalriads, as they are frequently called, in the

Pictish territory.

The time of the settlement of the Scots in

present Scotland was for long a subject of dis

putation, the early Scottish historians, from a

false and imscnipulous patriotism, having

pushed it back for many centuries before its

actual occurrence. This dispute is now, how-

ever, fairly set at rest, there being no founda-

tion for believing that the Scots foimd their

way from Ireland to Scotland earlier than a cen-

tury or two before the birth of Christ. As we

have already seen, we find the first mention of

the Scots in Animianus Marcel 1 in us about the

year 360 a.d. ; and their name occurs in the

same connection frequently afterwards, during

the Roman occupation of Scotland. Burton"

is of opinion that the migration did not take

place at any particular time or under any par-

ticular leader, but that it was gradual, that the

Scots " oozed " out of Ireland upon the western

coast of Scotland.

It belongs to the history of Ireland to trace

the origin and fix the race of the Scots, to

settle the time of their coming into Ireland,

and discover whence they came. Some sup-

pose that they migrated originally from Britain

to Ireland, while Innes and otliers bring them

either from Scandinavia or Spam, and connect

them with the Scyths, asserting that Scot is a

mere corruption of Scytli, and dating the settle-

ment at about the commencement of the Chris-

tian era. The Irish traditions connect them

with a certain Scota, daughter of Pharaoh, and

date their coming to Ireland upwards of 1,000

years B.C. E. W. Robertson'' and others con-

sider them to have been Irish Picts or Cruitlme.

Wherever the Scots came from and to what-

ever race they belong, whether Teutonic or

« Vol. i. p. 212.
' Early Kings, vol. i. p. 5.
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Celtic, they certainly appear not to have been

the first settlers in Ireland, and at the time at

which they first appear ui authentic history

occupied a district in Ireland corresponding to

Comiaught, Leinster, and part of Munster.

They were also one of the most powerful of the

Irish tribes, seeing that for many centuries

Ireland was, after them, called Scotia or Scot-

land. It is usually said that a particidar corner

in the north-east of Ireland, about 30 miles in

extent, corresponding to the modern comity of

Antrim, was the kingdom of the particular band

of Scots who migrated to Scotland ; and that

it received its name, Dal-Eiada ('the portion of

Eiada'), from Carbre-Eiada, a leader of the

Scots who conquered tliis particular part, pre-

viously inhabited by Cruitline or Irish Plots.

Eobertson,* however, considers all tliis fable

and the kingdom of Dalriada as mythical,

Tighernach and the early Irish annalists never

applying the name to any other locality than

Britisli Dalriada. At all events, this particu-

lar district was spoken of by the later chroni-

clers under the name of Dalriada, there being

thus a Dabiada both in Scotland and Ireland. ^

At the time of the migration of the Scots from

Ireland to Scotland, they were to all intents

and purposes a Celtic race, speaking Irish Gae-

lic, and had aheady been converted to Chris-

tianity.

The account of the Scottish migration usu-

ally given is, that in the year 503 a.d.,^ a new
colony of Dalriads or DalriatUc Scots, under

the leadership of Fergus son of Ere, a descend-

ant of Carbre-Eiada, along with his brothers

Lorn and Angus, left Ireland and settled on

the western coast of Axgyle and the adjacent

islands. "The territories which constituted

the petty kingdoms of Dalriada can be pretty

well defined. They were bounded on the

south by the Frith of Clyde, and they were

separated on the east from the Pictish king-

dom by the ridge of the great mountain chain

' Early Kings, vol. ii. p. 305.

* At this time, and up at least to the 1 1th century,

present Scotland was known as Albania, Alban, or

Alba, the term Scotland or Scotia being generally
applied to Ireland, unless where there is some quali-

fying term, as Nora. Burton thinks it not safe to

consider that the word Scot must mean a native of

present Scotland, when the period dealt with is ear-

lier than the middle of the 1 2th centuiy.
' Skene in his Chronicles of the Picts mui Scots,

p. ex., makes the date to be about 495 or 498.

called Dnmialban. They consisted of foui

tribes,— the genus or Cinel Lorn, descended

from Lorn, the elder of the three brothers

;

the Cinel Gabran and Cinel ComgaU, de-

scended from two sons of Domangart, son of

Fergus, the second of the brothers ; and the

Cinel Angus, descended from the third brother,

Angus. The Cinel ComgaU Lnliabited the dis-

trict formerly called ComgaU, now corrupted

into CowaU. The Cinel Gabran inhabited what

was caUed the AirgiaUas, or the district of Ar-

gyle proper, and KintjTe. The Cinel Angus

inhabited the islands of Islay and Jura, and

the Cinel Lorn, the district of Lorn. Beyond

this, on the north, the districts between Lorn

and the promontory of Ai-dnamm-chan, i.e.,

the island of Mull, the district of Morven,

Ardgower, and probably part of Lochaber,

seem to have formed a sort of debatable ground

the population of wliich was Pictish, whUe the

Scots had settlements among them. In the

centre of the possessions of the Cinel Gabran,

at the head of the well-sheltered loch of Crinan,

lies the great Moss of Crman, "with the river

Add flo\ving through it. In the centre of tlie

moss, and on the side of the river, rises an

isolated rooky hill caUed Dunadd, the top of

which is strongly fortified. This was tlie

capital of Dalriada, and many a stone obelisk

in the moss around it bears sUent testimony to

the contests of which it was the centre. The

picturesque position of DunoUy Castle, on a

rock at the entrance of the equaUy sheltered

bay of Oban, afforded another fortified sum-

mit, which was the chief stronghold of the

tribe of Lorn. Of Dimstafi'nage, as a royal

seat, history knows nothing." ^

It would appear that Lorn and Fergus at

first reigned jointly, the latter becoming sole

monarch on the decease of the former. Tlie

succession appears not to liave been confined

to any particiUar line, and a disputed succes-

sion not unfrequently involved the Scots in

civil war.

There is no portion of history so obscure or

so perplexing as that of the Scoto-Irish kings,

and their tribes, from their first settlement, in

the year 503, to their accession to the Pictish

throne in 843. Unfortunately no contem-

- Skene's Chronicles of the Picts and Scots, p. cxiiL
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jjoraneous written records ai)pear ever to have

existed of that dark period of our annals, and

the eflbrts which the Scotch and Irish anti-

quaries have made to extricate the truth from

the mass of contradictious in wliich it liea

buried, have rather been displays of national

prejudice than calm researches by reasonable

inquirers. The annals, however, of Tigernach,

and of Ulster, along with the brief chronicles

and historical docimients first brought to light

by the industrious Innes, in Ms Critical Essay,

have thrown some glimpses of light on a sub-

ject wliich had long remained in almost total

darkness. ^

The next authentic event of importance that

falls to be recorded in connection with the

liistory of the Highlands, is the conversion of

the Northern Picts to Clmstianity, about the

year 563. The Southern Picts, i. e. those

living to the south and east of the Grampians,

were converted by St. NLnian (360—432) about

tlie beginning of the 5th century; but the

Northern Picts, until the date above-men-

tioned, continued Pagans. That there were

no Christians among them till that time ap-

pears very improbable, considering their close

neighboiu'liood and constant intercourse with

the Southern Picts and the Scots of Dalriada

;

but there can be no doubt that tlie court and

the great bulk of the people adhered to their

ancient superstitions.

The religion of the Picts before their con-

version is supposed by the majority of writers

on this subject to have been that which pre-

vailed in the rest of Britain and in Celtic Gaul,

Druidism. The incredulous Burton, however,

if we may judge from his History of Scotland,*

as well as from an article of his in the Edin-

burgh Review, seems to believe that the whole

system of Druidism has been elaborated by the

imaginations of modern historians. That the

Picts previous to then conversion had a religion,

and a religion with what may be called priests

and religious services, cannot be doubted, if we

may trust Tacitus and Adamnan, the biographer

of Columba; the former of whom teUs us that,

previous to the battle of the Grampians, the

' More recently the invaluable labours of E. W.
Robertson, Burton, Forbes-Leslie, Joseph Robertson,

Grub, Skene, anil Maclanchlan, have been the means of

putting the history of this period on its proper footing.
* Vol. i. ch. vi.

union of tlie various tribes was ratified by

solemn rites and sacrifices, and the latter, that

Columba's efforts at conversion were strenuously

opposed by the diabohcal arts and incantations

of tlie Magi. It appears from Adamnan that

fountains were particidarly objects of venera-

tion ; the superstitious awe with which many
fountains and wells are regarded at the present

day, being doubtless a remnant of the ancient

Pictish religion. Trees, rivers, and lakes, as

weU as the heavenly bodies, appear also to have

been objects of religious regard, and not a few

of the customs which exist in Scotland at the

present day have been inherited from our Pict-

ish ancestors. Such are many of the rites

performed on Hallowe'en, Beltane, Midsummer,

&c., and many every-day superstitions still

prevalent in the country districts of Scotland.

" Driddism is said to have acknowledged a

Supreme Being, wliose name was synonymous

with the Eastern Baal, and if so, was visibly

represented by the sun; and such remnants of

the ancient worship as are stUl traceable in the

language of the people, would indicate its having

been a species of sun-worship. To this day

the four leading points of the compass bear, in

the terms which designate them among tlie

Gael, marks of this. The east is ear, like the

Latin oriens, from the Gaelic eiridli, 'to rise;'

the west is iar, 'after,' used also as a preposi-

tion; the south is deas, and the north tuath;

and it is in the use of these terms that

the reverence for the solar lilminary chiefly

appears. Deas, 'the south,' is in all circum-

stances right ; it is the right hand, which is

easily intelligible, from the relation of that

hand to the south when the face looks east-

ward; and it is expressive of whatever is other-

vns% right. Deas also means complete, trim,

ready ; whatever is deas, or southerly, is just

as it should be. Tuath, ' north,' is the very

opposite. Tuathaisd is a 'stupid fellow;'

Tuathail is ' wrong' in every sense: south and

north, then, as expressed in the words deiseal

and tuathail, are, in the Gaelic language, the

representatives of right and wrong. Thus

everything that is to move prosperously among

many of the Celts, must move sunwise: a boat

going to sea must turn simwise ; a man or woman

immediately after marriage, must make a turn

sunwise. There are relics of fire-worship too;
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certain days are named from fire -lighting;

Be.alUeive, or ' the first day of summer,' and

s:ti'mhtheine, 'the first day of winter,'—the

termor supposed to mean tlie fire of Baal or

Bel, the latter closing the saimhre, or summer

period of the year, and bringing in the geamlire,

or winter period, are sufficient evidence of tliis.

There are places in Scotland where within the

memory of living men the /eine eigin, or ' forced

lire,' was liglited once every year by tlie rubbing

of two pieces of wood tngetlier, while every

I fire in the neighbourhood was extinguished in

I

order that they might be lighted anew from

I

this sacred source."

"

I Many of the antiquities which are scattered

over the north of Scotland, such as stone circles,

monoliths, sculptured stones, rocking stones,

&c., are very generally supposed to have been

connected with religion. From the resem-

blance of the circles especially, to those which

exist in Soirth Britain and in France, it has

been supposed that one religion prevailed over

*^iH'

StoDehenge.—Copied by permission from Col. Forbes-Leslie's Early Races of Scotland.

these countries. As Druidism is so commonly

believed to have prevailed among the Picts as

well as among the other inhabitants of Britain,

ve shall here give a very brief account of that

system, chiefly as we find it given in Caesar.*

The following is the account given by Ca;sar of

the character and functions of the Druids:

—

" They attend to divine worship, perform pub-

lic and private sacrifices, and expound matters

of religion. A great number of youths are

gathered round them for the sake of education,

and they enjoy the highest honour in that

nation; for nearly all public and private

quarrels come under their jurisdiction; and

when any crime has been committed, when a

murder has been perpeti'ated, when a contro-

versy arises about a legacy, or about land-

marks, they are the judges too. They fix re-

wards and punishments; and should any one,

" Dr. Ka.Q\!m.c\\\a.ns Early ScotlishChunh, pp. 32, 33.

* Druid is siaid to be derived from a word meaning
cjiV,' cnmmim to many of tlie Indo-European tongue.^.

whether a private individual or a public man,

disobey their decrees, then they exclude liim

from the sacrifices. All these Druids have

one cliief, who enjoys the highest authority

amongst them. When he dies, he is succeeded

by the member of the order who is most pro-

minent amongst the others, if there be any

such single individual; if, however, there are

several men equally distingrushed, the successor

is elected by the Druids. Sometimes they

even go to war about this supremacy.

" The Druids take no part in warfare ; nor

do they pay taxes like the rest of the people

;

they are exempt from military service, and

from all public burdens. Attracted by such

rewards, many come to be instructed by their

own choice, while others are sent by their

parents. They are reported to learn ia the

school a great number of verses, so that some

remain there twenty years. They thiuk it an

unhallowed tiling to commit their lore to writ-

ing, though in the other public and private
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affairs of life they frequently make use of the

Greek alphahet. . . . Beyond all things,

they are desirous to inspire a belief that men's

souls do not perish, but transmigrate after

death from one individual to another; and

besides, they liold discourses about the stars,

about the size of the world and of various

counti'ies, about the nature of things, and about

the power and might of the immortal gods."

Among tlie objects of druidioal veneration

the oak is said to have been particularly dis-

tinguished ; for the Druids imagined that there

was a supernatural wtue in the wood, in tlie

leaves, in the fruit, and above all in the niMe-

ioe. Hence the oak woods were the first places

of their devotion; and the offices of their reli-

gion were tliere performed without any covering

but the broad canopy of heaven. The part

appropriated for worship was inclosed in a

circle, vWtliin wliich was placed a piUar of

stone set up under an oak, and sacrifices were

oflered thereon. The pillars wliich mark the

sites of these places of wor.ship are stiU to be

seen; and so great is the superstitious venera-

tion paid by the country people to those sacred

stones, as they are considered, that few persons

have ventured to remove them.

Besides the immunities before-mentioned en-

_£- "il i-:'" ^'..i- ju C: f^|H5
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joyed by the Druids, they also possessed both

civil and criminal jurisdiction, they decided aU

controversies among states as well as among

private persons ; and whoever refused to sub-

mit to their awards was exposed to the most

severe penalties. The sentence of excommuni-

cation was pronounced against him ; he was de-

barred aU intercourse with his fellow-citizens
;

his company was universal!}' shunned as pro-

fane and dangerous ; he was refused the pro-

tection of law ; and death itself became an

acceptable relief from the misery and infamy

to which he was exposed.

St. Columba was born in the coimty of

Donegal, in Ireland, in the year 521, and was

connected both on his father's and mother's

side "with the Irish royal family. He was care-

fidly educated for the priesthood, and, after hav-

ing finished his ecclesiastical studies, foimded

monasteries in various parts of Ireland. The

year of his departure from Ireland is, on good

authority, ascertained to have been 563, and it

is generally said that he fled to save his life,

which was in jeopardy on account of a feud

in which his relations were involved. ]\Ir.

Grub' believes that " the love of God and of

his brethren was to him a sufficient motive for

entering on the great work to wliich he was
caUed. His immediate objects were the in-

struction of the subjects of Conal, king of the

British Scots, and the conversion of their

neighbours the heathen Piots of the North."

In the year 563, when Columba was 42 years

of age, lie arrived among his kindred on the

shores of Argyle, and immediately set himself

to fix on a suitable site for a monastery which

he meant to erect, from which were to issue

forth the apostolic missionaries destined to

assist him in the work of conversion, and in

which also the youth set apart for the office of

the holy ministry were to be educated. St.

Columba espied a solitary isle lying apart from

the rest of the Hebridean group, near the

south-west angle of MuU, then known by the

simple name I, whose etymology is doubtful,

afterwards changed by Bede into Hj', latin-

ized by the monks into lova or lona, and

again honom-ed with the name of I-colunib-cii,

' Eccles. Hist., vol. i. p. 49.
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tlie island of St. Columba of the church. This

island, Conal, who was then king of the

Christian Scots of Argjde, presented to Co-

lumba, in order that he might erect thereon a

monastery for the residence of himself and Ms

disciples. No better station could have been

selected than this islet during such barbarous

times.

In pursuance of his plan, St. Columba

settled with twelve disciples in Hy " They

now," says Bede, " neither sought, nor loved,

anything of this world,"—true traits in the

missionary character. For two years did they

labour n'ith their own hands erecting huts and

building a church of logs and reeds. " The

monastery of lona, hke those previously founded

by Coliunba in Ireland, was not a retreat for

sohtaries whose chief object was to work out

their own salvation ; it was a great school of

Christian education, and was specially designed

Kiuna on lona.

to prepare and send forth a body of clergy

trained to the task of preaching the Gospel

among the heathen.'' ^ Having established his

missionary institution, and having occupied

himself for some time in the instruction of his

countrymen the Scots of Argyle, the pious

Columba set out on his apostolic tour among

the Picts, probably in the year 565. At this

time Bridei or Brude, whose reign extended

from 536 to 586, the son of MaQcon, a power-

ful and influential prince, reigned over the

Northern Picts, and appears also to have had

dominion over those of the soiith. Judging

well that if he coidd succeed in converting

Erude, who, when Columba visited him was

staying at one of his residences on the banks

of the Ness, the arduous task he had undertaken

• Grub's Ece. Hist., vol. i. p. .'il

of bringing over the whole nation to the wor-

ship of the true God would be more easily

accomplished, he first began with the king,

and by great patience and perseverance suc-

ceeded in converting him.

The first Gaelic entry in the Book of Dcrr

lets us see the great missionary on one of his

tours, and describes the founding of an im-

portant mission-station which became the centre

of instruction for all the surrounding country.

The following is the translation given of the

Gaelic original :
—" Columcille, and Drostan

son of Cosgrach, his pupil, came from Hf, as God

had shown to them, unto Abbordoboir, and

Bede the Pict was mormaer of Buchan before

them, and it was he that gave them that town

in freedom for ever from mormaer and toisech.

They came after that to the other town, and

it was pleasing to Columcille because it was
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fall of God's grace, and he asked of the mor-

maer, to wit Bede, that he should give it to

him ; and he did not give it, and a son of his

took an illness after [or in consequence of]

refusing the clerics, and he was nearly dead

[lit. he was dead but if it were a little]. After

this the mormaer went to entreat the clerics

that they should make prayer for the son,

that health should come to him ; and he gave

in offering to them from Cloch in tiprat to

Cloch pette meic Garnait. They made the

prayer, and health came to him. After that

ColumciUe gave to Drostan that town, and

blessed it, and left as (his) word, ' Whosoever

should come against it, let him not be many-

yeared [or] victorious.' Drostan's tears came

on parting from Columcille. Said ColumciUe,

' Let Dear be its name henceforward.' "

The Abhordohoir here spoken of is Aberdour

on the north coast of Aberdeensliire, and Dear

probably occupied the site of what is now Old

Deer, about twelve miles inland from Aber-

dour. There is every reason for believing in

the substantial truth of the narrative. The

two saints, probably from tlie banks of the

Ness, came to Aberdour and "tarried there for

a time and founded a monastery on the land

which liad been granted them. In later times

the parish church of Aberdour was dedicated

to St. Drostan." One would almost be inclined

to suppose, from the manner in which the

missionaries were apparently received, that

Christianity had been heard of there before
;

possibly Bede the Pictish mormaer had been

converted at the court of King Brude, and had

invited Coluraba to pay him a visit in Buchan

and plant the gospel among the inhabitants.

Possibly St. Ninian, tlie apostle of the southern

Picts, may, during his mission among them,

have penetrated as far north as Buchan.

On the side of the choir of the old parish

church of Turriff, a few miles west of Deer,

was found painted the figure of St. Ninian,

which was probably as old as the 16th cen-

tury. At all events, Columba and his com-

panion appear to have been made most welcome

in Buchan, and were afforded every facility for

prosecuting their sacred work. The above

record doubtless gives us a fair notion of

Columba's mode of procedure in prosecuting

his self-imposed task of converting the in-

habitants of Alba. As was the case in Buchan,

he appears to have gone from district to dis-

trict along with his missionary companions,

seen the work of conversion fairly begun,

planted a monastery in a suitable place, and

left one or more of Ms disciples as resident

missionaries to pursue the work of conversion

and keep Christianity alive in the district. ^

Columba soon had the happiness of seeing

the blessings of Christianity diffusing them-

selves among a people who had hitherto sat

in the darkness of paganism. Attended by his

disciples he traversed the whole of the Pictish

territories, spreading everywhere the light of

faith by instructing the people in the truths of

the Gospel. To keep up a succession of the

teachers of religion, he established, as we have

seen, monasteries in every district, and from

these issued, for many ages, men of apostolic

earnestness, who watered and tended the good

seed planted by Columba, and carried it to the

remotest parts of the north of Scotland and its

islands, so that, in a generation or two after

Columba, Cliristianity became the universal

religion. These monasteries or cells were long

subject to the Abbey of lona, and the system

of church government which proceeded from

that centre was in many respects peculiar, and

has given rise to much controversy between

presbyterians and episcopalians.

St. Columba died on the 9th of June, 597,

after a glorious and well-spent life, thirty-four

years of which he had devoted to the instruc-

tion of the nation he had converted. His in-

fluence was very great mth the neighbouring

princes, and they often appKed to him for ad-

vice, and submitted to him their differences,

which he frequently settled by his authority.

His memory was long held in reverence by the

Soots and Caledonians.

Conal, the fifth king of the Scots in Argyle,

the kinsman of St. Columba, and under whose

auspices he entered on the work of conver-

sion, and to whom it is said he was indebted

for Hy, died in 571. His successor Aidan

went over to lona in 574, and was there

ordained and inaugurated by the Abbot ac-

cording to the ceremonial of the liber vitreus,

' Book of Deer, Preface. Further details concern-

ing the early Scottish church will be given at the end
of this volume.
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the cover of which is supposed to have been

encrusted with crystal.

To return to the history of the Picts, we

have ah-eady observed that little is known of

Piotish history for more than a hundred years

after the Roman abdication; and even up to

the union of the Picts and Scots, the materials

for the history of both are about as scarce as

they could possibly be, consisting mostly of

meagre chronicles containing the names of

kings, the dates of their accession and death,

and occasionally the names of battles and of

the contending nations. Scotland during this

period appears to have been the scene of un-

ceasing war between the Scots, Picts, Britons

of Strathclyde, Enghsh, and Danes, the two

first being continually at strife not only with

each other but among themselves. We shall

endeavour to give, as clearly and as faithfully

as possible, the main reliable facts in the his-

tory of the Scots and Picts until the union of

these two nations.

The reign of Brude was distinguished by

many warlike exploits, but above all, as we
have seen, by his conversion and that of liis

people to Christianity, wluch indeed formed

his greatest glory. His cliief contests were

with the Scoto-Irish or Dalriads, whom he de-

feated in 557, and slew Gauran their king.

Brude died in 586, and for several ages his suc-

cessors carried on a petty system of warfare,

partly foreign and partly domestic. Passing

over a domestic conflict, at Lindores in 02 1,

under Kenneth, son of Lutlirin, we must notice

the important battle of Dun-Nechtan, fouglit

in 685, between the Picts under Brude, the son

of Bili,^ and the Saxons, under the Northum-

brian Egfrid. The Saxon king, it is said, greedy

of conquest, attacked the Picts without provoca-

tion, and against the advice of his court. Cross-

ing the Forthfrom Lothian, he entered Strathearn

and penetrated through the defiles of the Pictish

kingdom, leaving fire and desolation in his train.

His career was stopt at Dun-Nechtan, tlie hill

of Nechtan, a hill in the parish of Dunnichen,

about the centre of Forfarshire ; and by a

neighbouring lake, long known by the name of

Nechtan's mere, a short distance east from the

' There is some confusion here ; Dr. Maclauclilan

places this conflict in the reign of Brude son of Derile,

who, according to our list, did not succeed till 699.

to^vn of Forfar, did Egfrid and his Saxons fall

before Brude and his exasperated Picts. Tliis

was a sad blow to the Northumbrian power;

yet the Northumbrians, in 699, under Berht,

an able leader, again ventured to try their

strength with the Picts, when they were once

more defeated by Brude, the son of Dereli,

who had recently moimted the Pictish throne.

The wars between the Picts and Northum-

brians were succeeded by various contests for

power among the Pictish princes, which gave

rise to a civil war. Ungus, honoured by tlie

Irish Annalists -with the title of gi'eat, and

Elpin, at the head of their respective partisans,

tried their strength at Monacrib, supposed by

gome to be Moncrieff in Strathearn, in the

year 727, when the latter was defeated; and

tlie conflict was renewed at Dimcrei (Crietf),

when \'ictory declared a second time agauist

Elpin, who was obliged to flee from the hostil-

ity of Ungus. Nechtan next tried liis strength

vnth LTngus, in 728, at a place called Mona-

curna by the Annalists—possibly Moncur in

the Carse of Go\\Tie—but he was defeated, and

many of his followers perished. Talorgan, the

son of Congus, was defeated by Brude, the son

of Ungus, in 730, and in the same year the

Picts appear to have entered into a treaty of

peace with the English nation.

The victorious Ungus commenced hostilities

against the Dab-iads, or Scoto-Irish, in the

year 736, and appears to have got the better

of the latter. The Scots were again worsted

in another battle in 740 by Ungus, who in the

same year repulsed an attack of the Northum-

brians under Eadbert. In the year 750 he

defeated the Britons of the Cmnbrian kingdom

in the battle of Cato or Cath-0, in which his

brother Talorgan was killed. Ungus, who ap-

pears to have been a powerful and able mon-

arch, but whom Bede^ characterizes as having

conducted himself " with bloody wickedness,

a tyrant and an executioner," died about 760.

A doubtful victory was gained by Ciniod, or

Kenneth, the Piotish king, over Aodh-fin, the

Scottish king, in 767. Constantino, having

overcome Conal, the son of Tarla, in 789,

succeeded hun in the throne.^

" Book V. c. 24.
' See the Ulster Annals, where an account is given

of all tliese conflicts.
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Up to tliis period the Norsemen from Scan-

dinavia, or the Vikingr, i. e. men of the voes

or bays, as they were termed, had confined

their ravages to the Baltic; hut, in the year

787 they for the first time appeared on the

oast coast of England. Some years afterwards

they found their way to the Caledonian shores,

and in 795 made tlieir first attack on lona,

which frequently afterwards, along with the

rest of the Hebrides, suffered gi-ievously from

tlieir ravages. In 839 the Vikhir/r entered

the Pictish territories. A murderous conflict

ensued between them and the Picts under Uen

their king, in wliich both he and his only

brother Bran, as well as many of the Pictish

chiefs, fell. This event, no doubt, hastened

the downfall of the Pictish monarchy; and as

the Picts were unable to resist the arms of

Kenneth, the Scottish king, he carried into

execution, in the year 843, a project he had

long entertained, of uniting the Scots and

Picts, and placing both crowns on his head.

That anything like a total extermination of the

Picts took place is now generally discredited,

although doubtless there was great slaughter

both of princes and people. Skene* asserts

indeed that it was only the Southern Picts

who became subject to Kenneth, the Northern

Picts remaining for long afterwards indepen-

dent of, but sometimes in alliance \\'ith, the

Scots. This is substantially the opinion of

Mr. E. W. Robertson,^ who says, " the modern

shires of Perth, Fife, Stirling, and Dumbarton,

with the greater part of the county of Argyle,

may be said to have formed the actual Scottish

kingdom to which Kenneth succeeded." The

Picts were recognised as a distinct people even

in the tenth century, but before the twelfth

they lost their characteristic nominal distinc-

tion by being amalgamated with the Scots,

their conquerors.

The Scoto-Irish after their arrival in Argyle

did not long continue under the separate autho-

rity of the three brothers, Lorn, Fergus, and

Angus. They were said to have been very far

advanced in life before leaving Ireland, and

the Irish chroniclers assert that St. Patrick

gave them his benediction before his death, in

the year 493. The statement as to then- ad-

* Highlanders^ vol. i p. 65.
' Early Kings, vol. L p. 39.

vanced age derives some support from their

speedy demise after they had laid the founda-

tions of their settlements, and of a new djmasty

of kings destined to rule over the kingdom of

Scotland. Angus was the first who died,

leaving a son, Muredach, who succeeded him

in the small government of Ha. After the

death of Lorn the eldest brother, Fergus, tlu

last survivor, became sole monarch of tlie

Scoto-Irish; but he did not long enjoy the

sovereignty, for he died in 506.

Fergus was succeeded by his son Domangart,

or Dongardus, who died in 511, after a short

but troubled reign of about five years. His

two sons Comgal and Gabhran or Gauran, suc-

cessively enjoyed his authority. Comgal had

a peacefid reign of four and twenty years, dur-

ing wliich he extended his settlements. He
left a son named Conal, but Gauran liis brother,

notwthstanding, ascended the tlii'one in the

year 535 without opposition. Gauran reigned

two and twenty years, and, as we have already

observed, was slain in a battle with the Picts

under Bridei 1 neir king.

Conal, the son of Comgal, then succeeded

in 557, and closed a reign of foui'teen years in

571. It was during liis reign that Columba's

mission to the Picts took place. A civil war

ensued between Aodhan or Aidan, the sou of

Gauran, and Duncha or Duncan, the son of

Conal, for the vacant crown, the claim to which

was decided on the bloody field of Loro or Loco

in Kiiityre in 575, where Duncha was slain.

Aidan, the son of Gauran, had been formally

inaugurated by St. Columba in lona, in 574.

In the time of Aidan there were frequent wars

between the Dalriads and the English Saxons.

Many battles were fought in which the Scots

were generally defeated, the principal being

that of Degsastan or Dalston near Carlisle, in

603, in which nearly the whole of the Scottish

army was defeated. The wars with the Saxons

weakened the power of the Dalriads very con-

siderabl}', and it was not till after a long period

of time that they again ventured to meet the

Saxons in the field.

During a short season of repose, Aidan, at-

tended by St. Columba, went to the celebrated

council of Drum-keat ia Ulster, in the year

590. In this council he claimed the priiici-

palit}' of Dalriada, the land of his fathers, and
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obtained an exemption from doing homage to

the kings of Ireland, which his ancestors, it

would appear, had been accustomed to pay.

Aidan died in 605 or 608, at the advanced age

of eighty, and was buried in the church of

KU-keran, the ruins of which are still to be

seen in the midst of Campbelton.

Aidan was succeeded in the throne by his

son Eocha-bui, or the "yellow," who reigned six-

teen years. He carried on war with the Cruitlme

of Ulster. After him came liis brother Kenneth-

Cear, or the " left-handed," who was followed

by Fercliar, son of Eogan, of the race of Lorn.

Donal, surnamed breae or freckled, the son

of Eocha'-bui, of the race of Gauran, succeeded

Ferchar about 637. He was a warlike prince

and had chstinguished himself in the wars

against the Cruithne of Ireland. Congal-Claon,

the son of Scanlan, tlie king of the Cruitlme

in Ulster, having slain Siubne-Mean, a power-

ful king of Ireland, was attacked by Domnal
II., supreme king of Ireland, who succeeded

Suibne, and was defeated in the battle of

Duncetheren, in 629. Congal sought refuge

in Cantyre, and having persuaded Donal-breac,

the kinsman of Domnal, to join him in a war

against the latter, they invaded Ireland with a

heterogeneous mass of Scoto-Irish, Picts, Brit-

ons, and Saxons, commanded by Donal and

liis brothers. Cealach, the son of Maelcomh,

the nephew of the reigning king, and as tanist

or heir-apparent, the leader of his army, at-

tacked Donal-breac in the plain of Magh Eath

or Moyra in Down, in 637, and completely de-

feated hun after an obstinate and bloody en-

gagement. Congal, the murderer of his sov-

ereign, met his merited fate, and Donal-breac

was obliged to secure his own and liis army's

safety by a speedy return to Cantyre. St. Co-

lumba had always endeavoured to preserve an

amicable xmderstanding between the Cruithne

of Ulster and the Scoto-Irish, and his injunc-

tions were, that they shoidd live in constant

peace; but Donal disregarded the wise advice

of the saint, and paid dearly for so doing. He
was not more successfid in an enterprise against

the Picts, having been defeated by them in the

battle of Glinne Mau-ison, Glenmairison, or

Glenmoreson, probably in West Lothian,"

* Skene's Chron. of Picts and Scots, p. cxv.

during the year 638. He ended his days at

Straith-cairmaic or Strathcarron, possibly in the

neighboui'hood of Falkirk, by the sword of

Hoan or Owen, one of the reguli of Strathcluyd,

in the year 642. His son Cathasuidh fell by

the same hand in 649.

Conal II., the grandson of Conal L, who
was also of the Fergusian race of Congal, next

ruled over the tribes of Cantyre and Argjde;

but Dungal, of the race of Lorn, having ob-

tained the government of the tribe of Lorn,

questioned the right of Conal. He did not,

however, carry his pretensions far, for Conal

died, in undisturbed possession of his domin-

ions, in 652, after a reign of ten years. To
Donal-duin, or the brown, son of Conal, who
reigned thirteen years, succeeded Maolduin, his

brother, in 665. The family feuds wliioh had

long existed between the Fergusian races ol

Comgal and Tauran, existed in their bitterest

state dining the reign of Maoldiun. Doman-
gart, the son of Donal-breac, was murdered in

672, and Conal, the son of Maolduin, was as-

sassinated in 675.

Ferohar-fada, or the tall, apparently of the

race of Lorn, and either the son or grandson of

Ferchar, who died in 637, seized the reins of

government upon the death of i\Iaolduin. On
the death of Feichar, in 702, the sceptre passed

again to the Fergusian race in the person of

Eocha'-rineval, remarkable for his Eoman nose,

the son of Domangart. The reign of tliis

prince was short and unfortunate. His scep-

tre was seized by Ainbhcealach, the son of

Ferchar-fada, who succeeded Eocha' in 705.

He was of an excellent disposition, but after

reigning one year, was detlironed by his

brother, Selvach, and obliged, in 706, to take

refuge in Ireland. Selvach attacked the

Britons of Strathcluyd, and gained two succes-

sive victories over them, the one at Longecoleth

in 710, and the other at the rock of llionuirc

in 7 1 6. At the end of twelve years, Ainbhceal-

ach returned from Ireland, to regain a sceptre

which his brother had by his cruelties shown
himself unworthy to vrield, but he perished in

the battle of Finglein, perhaps Glen Fyne at

the head of Loch Fyne, in 719. Selvach met a

more formidable rival in Duncha-beg, who was
descended from Fergus, by the line of Congal

;

he assumed the government of Cantyre and
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Argail, and coiilmed Selvacli to liis family

settlement of Lorn. These fn-o princes ap-

pear to have been fairly matched in disposi-

tion and valour, and both exerted themselves

for the destruction of one another, thus bring-

ing many miseries upon their tribes. In an

attempt which they made to invade the ter-

ritories of each other in 719 by means of cur-

rachs, a naval combat ensued off Airdeanesbi,

(probably Ardaness on the coast of Argyle,) in

which Selvach was overcome by Dmicha ; but

Selvacli was not subdued. The death of

Dimcha in 721 put an end to his designs; but

Eocha' III., the son of Eocha'-rineval, the suc-

cessor of Duncha, being as bent on the over-

throw of Selvach as his predecessor, continued

the war. The rival chiefs met at Irroisfoichne

in 727, where a battle was fought, which pro-

duced nothing but irritation and distress.

This lamentable state of tilings was put an end

to by the death of Selvach in 729. This

event enabled Eocha to assume the govern-

ment of Lorn, and thus the Dalriadan kingdom

wliicli had been alternately nded by chiefs of

the houses of Fergus and Lorn became again

united under Eocha. He died in 733, after a

reign of thirteen years, during nine of which

ho ruled over Cantyre and Argyle, and four

over all the Dalriadic tribes.

Eocha was succeeded in the kingdom by

Muredach, the son of Ainbhceallach, of the

race of Lorn. His reign was short and unfor-

tunate. In revenge for an act of perfidy com-

mitted by Dungal, the son of Selvach, who

had carried off Forai or Torai, the daughter of

Brude, and the niece of Ungus, the great Pictish

king, the latter, in the year 736, led his army

from Strathearn, tlirough the passes of the

mountains into Lorn, wliich he wasted with

lire and sword. He seized Dunad, in Mid-Lorn,

and burned Creic, another fortress in the Eoss

of Mull, takuig Dungal and Feradach, the two

sons of Selvach, prisoners. Muredach went in

pursuit of his enemy, and having overtaken

him at Knock Cairpre, at Calatros, on the shores

of the Linne,^ a battle ensued, in which the

Scots were repulsed with great slaughter.

Talorgan, the brother of Ungus, commanded

' Dr. Rasves supposes this to be Culross in Perth-

shire.—Maclauchlan.

the Picts on this occasion, and pursued the

flj-ing Scots. In tlus pursuit Muredach is

supposed to have perished, after a reign of

three years.

Eogban or Ewan, the son of ]\Iuredach, took

up the fallen succession in 736, and died in

739, in wliich year the Dalriadic sceptre was

assumed by Aodli-fin, the son of Eoclia' III.,

and grandson of Eocha'-rineval, descended

from the Fergusian race of Gauran. In 740

he measured Ms strength with the celebrated

Ungus; but victory declared for neither, and

during the remainder of Ungus' reign, he did

not attempt to renew hostilities. After the

death of Ungus, in 761, Aodh-fin declared war

against the Picts, whose territories he entered

from Upper Lorn, penetrating through the

passes of Glenorchy and Breadalbaiie. In 767

he reached Forteviot, the Pictish capital in

Strathearn, where he fought a doubtful battle

with Ciniod the Pictish king. Aodli-fin died

in 769, after a splendid reign of tlurty years.'

Feroiis II., son of Aodli-fin, succeeded to

the sceptre on the demise of his father, and

died after an imimportant reign of three years

Selvach II., the son of Eogan, assumed tlis

government in 772. His reign, which lasted

twenty-four years, presents nothing very re-

markable in history.

A new sovereign of a different lineage, now

mounted the throne of the Scots in 796, in the

person of Eocha or Auchy, the son of AocUi-fiu

' Dr. Skene, in his preface to the Chronicles of the

Picts and Scots, endeavours to prove, by very plausi-

ble reasoning, and by comparison of various lists of

kings, that for a century previous to the accession of

Kenneth to the Pictish throne, Dalriada was under

subjection to the Anglian monarchy, and was ruled

by Pictish sovereigns. In an able paper, however,

read recently by Dr. Archibald Smith before the Anti-

quarian Society of Scotland, he shows that Argyleshire

was invaded but not subdued by Ungus, king of the

Picts, in 736 and 741. Dr. Smith supported his con-

clusion by reference to passages in the annals of Tiger-

nach, of Ulster, and the Albanic Duan, which seemed

to him to give an intelligible and continuous account

of regal succession in Dalriada, but aflbrded no coun-

tenance to the theory of Piukerton of the entire con-

quest of the Scots in Britain by Ungus, nor to the

conclusion Dr. Skene has come to, viz., the complete

supremacy of the Picts in the Scottish Dalriada, and

the extinction of Dalriada as a Scottish nation from

the year 741 to the era of a new Scottish kingdom

founded by Kenneth Macalpin in the year 84.3. On

the contrary, he was convinced that Aodh-tionn was

the restorer of its full liberty to the crushed section of

Lorn, and that he was, at the close of his career, the

indenendent ruler of Dalriada as a Scottish nation.
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of the Gaurau race. Eoeha' IV. is known also

by the latinized appellation of Aehaius. The

story of the alliance between Aehaius and

Charlemagne has been sho-n-n to be a fable;

although it is by no means improbable that he

entered into an important treaty with the

Picts, by marrying Urgusia, the daugliter of

Urguis, an alliance which, it is said, enabled

his grandson Kenneth afterwards to claim and

acquire the Piotish sceptre, in right of Urgusia

his grandmother. Eocha died Lu 826, after a

happy and prosperous reign of thirty years.

He was succeeded by Dungal, the son of Sel-

vach II., of the race of Lorn, being the last of

that powerful family who swayed the Dabi-

adic sceptre. After a feeble but stormy reign

of seven years, he died in 833.

Alpin, the last of the Scoto-Irish kings, and

the son of Eocha IV. and of Urgusia, now

mounted the throne. He was killed hi 836,

near the site of Laicht castle, on the ridge

which separates Kyle from Galloway. The

fiction that Alpin fell in a battle with the

Picts, when asserting his right to the Pictish

tlirone, has long been exploded.

In 836 Kenneth, the son of Alpin, succeeded

his father. He was a prince of a warlike dis-

position, and of great ^agour of mind and body.

He avenged the death of his father by frequent

inroads among the people dwelling to the

south of the Clyde; but the gi-eat glory of his

reign consists in his achievements against the

Picts, wliich seemed for him and his posterity

the Pictish sceptre. The Pictish power had,

previous to the period of Kenneth's accession,

been gi-eatly enfeebled by the inroads of the

l^auish Vikingr; but it was not till after the

death of Uven, the Pictish king, in 839, after

a distracted reign of three years, that Kenneth

made any serious attempt to seize the Pictish

diadem. On the accession of Wred, Kenneth,

in accordance with the principle of succession

said by Bede to have prevailed among the

Picts, claimed the Pictish throne in right of

Urgusia, his grandmother; Wred died m 842,

and after an arduous struggle, Kenneth wrested

the sceptre from Bred, his successor, in 843, after

he had reigned over the Scots seven years.

Burton^ thinks there can be no doubt that

' Scotland, foI. i. p. 329.

the two countries were prepared for a fusion

whenever a proper opportunity offered, but

that this was on accoimt of a matrimonial aUi-

anoe between the two royal houses cannot with

certainty be ascertained.' As we have said

already, it is extremely improbable that Ken-

neth gained his supremacy by extermination.

The Picts certainly appear to have suffered

severe defeat, but the likelihood is that aftei

Kenneth succeeded to the tlirone, a gradual

fusion of the two people took place, so that in

course of time they became essentially one

speaking one language, obeying the same laws,

and foUo'\\'ing the same manners and customs.

If we knew for certain to what race the Pictp

belonged, and what language they spoke, it

might help us not a little to understand the

nature and extent of the amalgamation; but as

we know so little about these, and as the

chroniclers, in speaking of this event, are so

enigmatical and meagre, we are left almost en-

tirely to conjecture. We are certain, at any

rate, that from some cause or other, the kings

of the Dalriadic Scots, about the middle of the

9th century, obtained supremacy over at least

the Southern Picts, who from that time forward

ceased to be a separate nation. ^

' See Skene's preface to Chronicle of Picts and Scots,

p. xcviii. et seq. , for some curious and ingenious spe-

culation on this point.
' We shall take the liberty of quoting here an ex-

tract from an able and ingenious paper read by Dr.

Skene before the Soc. of Ant., in June 1861, and
quoted in Dr. Gordon's Scotichrmiicon, p. 83. It

will help, we think, to throw a little light on this

dark subject, and assist the reader somewhat to under-

stand the nature and extent of the so-called Scottish

conquest. "T'he next legend which bears npon the

history of St. Andrews is that of St. Adrian, at 4th
March. The best edition of this legend is in the Aber-

deen Breviary, and it is as follows:—Adrian was a na-

tive of HuDgar}% and after preaching there for some
time, was seized with a desire to preach to other peo-

]ile; and having gathered together a company, he set

out * ad orientales Scotise partes que tunc a Pictis oc-

cupabantur,' i.e., 'to the eastern parts of Scotland,

which were then occupied by the Picts, '—and landed
there with 6,606 confessors, clergy, and people, among
whom were Glodianus, Gayus, Minanus, Scobrandus,

and others, chief priests. These men, with their bish-

op, Adrian, 'deleto regno Pictorum, i.e., ' the Pictish

kingdom being destroyed, '—did many signs, but after-

wards desired to have a residence on the Isle of May.
The Danes, who then devastated the whole of Britain,

came to the Island, and there slew them. Their mar-
tyi'dom is said to have taken place in the year 875.

It will be observed that they are here said to have
settled in the east part of Scotland, opposite the Isle

of May, that is in Fife, while the Picts still occupied
it; that the Pictish kingdom is then said to have been
destroyed; and that their martyrdom took place in 876,
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ITio history of the Scoto-Irish kings aftbrds

few materials either amusing or instructive;

but it was impossible, from the connexion be-

tween that history and the events that will

follow in detail, to pass it over in silence.

The Scoto-Irish tribes appear to have adopted

much the same form of government as existed

in Ireland at the time of their departure from

that kingdom ; the sovereignty of wliioh, though

nominally under one head, was in reality a

pentarchij, which allowed four provincial kings

to dispute the monarchy of the fifth. Tliis

system was the prolific source of anarchy,

assassinations, and civil wars. The Dalriads

were constantly kept in a state of intestme

commotion and mutual hostility by the preten-

sions of their rival chiefs, or princes of the

three races, who contended with the common

sovereign for pre-eminence or exemption. The

dlighe-tanaiste, or law of tanistry, which ap-

pears to have been generally followed as in

Ireland, as well in the succession of kings as

in that of cliieftains, rather increased than

thirty years after the Scottish conquest under Kenneth
M'Alpin. Their arrival was therefore almost coinci-

dent with the Scottish conquest; and the large num-
her saiil to have come, not the modest twenty-one who
arrired with Regulns, bnt 6,606 confessors, clergy, and
people, shows that the traditionary history was really

one of an invasion, and leads to the suspicion at once
that it was in reality a part of the Scottish occupation

of the Pictish kingdom. This suspicion is much
strengthened by two corroborative circumstances: 1st,

the year 875, when they are said to have been slain by
the Danes, falls in the reign of Constantine, the son of

Kenneth Macalpin, in his fourteenth year, and in this

year the Pictish chronicle records a battle between the

Danes and the Scots, and adds, that after it, * occasi

sunt Scotti in Coachcochlum,' which seems to refer to

this very slaughter. 2d. Hector Boece preserves a

different tradition regarding their origin. He says

—

' Non desunt qui scribant sanctissimos Christi mar-
tyros Hungaros fnisse. Alii ex Seotis Anglisque grc-

garic coUectos,'— i.e., 'Some write that the most holy
niartjTs of Christ were Hungarians. Others (say)

that they were collected from the Scots and English.'

There was therefore a tradition that the clergy slain

were not Hungarians, but a body composed of Scotti

and Angli. But Hadrian was a bishop; he landed in

the east of Fife, within the parochia of S. Kegulus, and
he is placed at the head of some of the lists of bish-

ops of St. Andrews as first bishop. It was there-

fore the Church of St. Andrews that then consisted of

clergy collected from among the Scotti and the Angli.

The Angli probably represented the Church of Acca,

and the Scotti those brought in by Adrian. The real

signification of this occupation of St. Andrews by
Scottish clergy will be apparent when we recollect

that the Columban clergy, who had formerly pos-

sessed the chief ecclesiastical seats among the Picts,

had been expelled in 717, and Anglic clergy intro-

duced—the cause of quarrel being the difference of

their usages. Now, the Pictish chronicle states as the

mitigated these disorders; for the claim to rule

not being regidated by any fixed law of hered-

itary succession, but depending upon the

capricious will of the tribe, rivals were not

foimd wanthig to dispute the rights so con-

ferred. There was always, both in Ireland and

in Argyle, an heir presimiptive to the Crown

chosen, under the name of tanist, who com-

manded the army during the life of the reign-

ing sovereign, and who succeeded to him after

his demise. Budgets, and committees of sup-

ply, and taxes, were whoUy imknown in those

times among the Scots, and the monarch was

obliged to support his dignity by voluntary

contributions of clothes, cattle, furniture, and

other necessaries.

There is reason to believe that tradition sup-

plied the place of written records for many
ages after the extinction of the Druidical super-

stition. Hence among the Scots, traditionary

usages and local customs long supplied the

place of positive or ^vl•itten laws. It is a mis-

take to suppose, as some writers have done,

main cause of the overthrow of the Pictish kingdom,
a century and a half later, this very cause, ft says

—

' Dens enim eos pro merito suae malitiae alienos ac

otiosos haereditate dignatus est facere, quia illi non
solum Deum, mi.ssam, ac praceptum spreverunt sed et

in jure sequalitatis alii.s aequi pariter noluerunt.' I.e.,

' For God, on account of their wickedness, deemed
them worthy to be made hereditary strangers and
idlers; because they contemned not only God, the mass,

and the precept (of the Church), but besides refused

to be regarded as on the same equality with others
'

They were overthrown, not only because they despised
' Deum missam et pr<eceptum,' but because they would
not tolerate the other party. And this great griev-

vance was removed, when St. Andrews appears at the

head of the Scottish Church in a solemn Concordat

with the king Constantine, when, as the Pictish

Chronicle tells us, ' Constantinus Rex et Cellachus

Episcopus leges disciplinasque fidei atque jura ecclesi-

arum evangeliorum que pariter cum Scoltis devoverunt
custodiri.' I.e., ' King Constantine and Bishop Kel-

lach vowed to preserve the laws and discipline of the

faith and the rights of the churches and gospels,

equally with the Scots.' Observe the parallel language

of the two passages. In the one, the ' Picti in jure

a:qualitatis aliis, ' that is, the Scottish clergy, ' aequi

pariter noluerunt,' and in the other the King and the

Bishop of St. Andrews ' vowed to preserve the laws

and discipline of the faith' 'pariter cimi Scott is,' the

thing the Picts would not do. It seems plain, there-

fore, that the ecclesiastical element entered largely into

the Scottish conquest; and a main cause and feature

of it was a determination on the part of the Scottish

clergy to recover the benefices they had been deprived

of. The exact coincidence of this great clerical inva-

sion of the parochia of St. Andrews by ecclesiastics,

said by one tradition to have been Scots, and the sub-

sequent position of St. Andrews as the head of the

Scottish Church, points strongly to this as the true

historic basis of the legend of S. Adrian."
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that the law consisted in the mere will of the

Brehon or judge. The office of Breitheamhuin

or Brehon was hereditary, and it is quite

natural to infer, that under such a system of

jurisprudence, the dictum of the judge might

not always comport with what was understood

to he the common law or practice; hut from

thence, to argue that the will of the judge was

to be regarded as the law itself, is absurd, and

contrary to every idea of justice. As the prin-

ciple of the rude jurisprudence of the Celtic

tribes had for its object the reparation, rather

than the jjrevention of crimes, almost every crime,

even of the blackest kind, was commuted by

a mulct or pajnnent. Tacitus observes in allu-

sion to this practice, that it was " a temper

wholesome to the commonwealth, that homi-

cide and lighter transgressions were settled by

the payment of horses or cattle, part to the

Iving or community, part to him or his fiiends

who had been \vronged." The law of Scotland

long recognised this system of compensation.

The fine was termed, under the Brehon law,

e>-ie, which not only signifies a reparation, but

also a fine, a ransom, a forfeit. Among the

Albanian Scots it was called cro, a term pre-

served in the Regiam Majestafem, which has

a whole chapter showing " the cro of ilk man,

now mikil it is."^ This law of reparation,

according to O'Connor, was first promulgated

in Ireland, in the year 164.' According to

the Reg/am, Majestatem, the cro of a villain

was sixteen cows ; of an earl's son or thane, one

hundred; of an earl, one hundred and forty;

and that of the king of Scots, one thousand

cows, or three thousand oras, that is to say,

three oras for every cow.

Besides a share of the fines imposed, the

Brehon or judge obtained a piece of arable

land for his support. When he administered

justice, he used to sit sometimes on the top of

a hillock or heap of stones, sometimes on tm-f,

and sometimes even on the middle of a bridge,

surroimded by the suitors, who, of coirrse,

pleaded their own cause. We have already

seen that, imder the system of the Druids, the

offices of religion, the instruction of youth, and

the administration of the laws, were conducted

in the open air; and hence the prevalence of

' Lib. iv c. .xxiv. ^ O'Connor's Dissert.

the practice alluded to. But this practice was

not peculiar to the Druids; for all nations, in

the early stages of society, have followed a

similar custom. The Tings of the Scandina-

vians, which consisted of circular enclosures ol

stone, without any covering, and within which

both the judicial and legislative powers were

exercised, afford a striking instance of this.

Acoordiug to Pliny,* even the Eoman Senate

first met in the open air, and the sittings of

the Court of the Areopagus, at Athens, were so

held. The present custom of holding courts of

justice in halls is not of very remote antiquity

in Scotland, and among the Scoto-Irish, the

baron bailie long continued to dispense justice

to the baron's vassals from a moothUl or emi-

nence, which was generally on the bank of a

river, and near to a religious edifice.

Of the various customs and peculiarities

which distinguished the ancient Irish, as well

as the Scoto-Irish, none has given rise to

greater speculation than that of fosterage;

wliich consisted in the mutual exchange, by

different families, of their children for the pur-

pose of being nursed and bred. Even the son

of the chief was so entrusted diu-ing pupUarity

\vith an inferior member of the clan. An ade-

quate reward was either given or accepted in

every case, and the lower orders, to whom the

trust was committed, regarded it as an honour

rather than a service. " Five hundred kyne

and better," says Campion, " were sometimes

given by the Irish to procure the nursing of a

great man's child." A firm and indissoluble

attachment always took place among foster-

brothers, and it continues in consequence to be

a saying among Highlanders, that " affectionate

to a man is a friend, but a foster-brother is as

the life-blood of his heart." Camden observes,

that no love in the world is comparable by

many degrees to that of foster-brethren in Ire-

land.* The close connexion which the practice

of fosterage created between families, while it

frequently prevented civil feuds, often led to

them. But the strong attachment thus created

was not confined to foster-brothers, it also

extended to their parents. Spenser relates of

the foster-mother to Murrough O'Brien, that,

at his execution, she sucked the blood from liia

* Lib. viii. c. 45.

' Holland's Camden, Ireland, p. 116.
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head, and bathed her face and breast wth it,

Baj-ing that it was too precious to fall to the

earth.

It is imnecessary, at this stage of out labours,

to enter upon the subject of clanship ; we

mean to reserve our observations thereon tUl

we come to the history of the clans, when we

shall also notice some peculiarities or traits of

the Highlanders not liitlierto mentioneiL ^Ve

shall conclude this chapter by giving lists of

the Pictish and Scoto-Irish Kings, wlucli are

generally regarded as authentic. A great many

other names are given by the ancient clironiclers

previous to the points at which the foUowiug

lists commence, but as these are considered aa

totally untrustworthy, we shall omit them.

A CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE OF THE PICTISH KINGS, CHIEFLY ACCORDING
TO THE PICTISH CHRONICLE.
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9tli century, became so powerful as to be able

to establish a separate and independent king-

dom in Orkney and the "Western Islands, which

proved formidable not only to the king of

Scotland, but also to the powerful king of

Norway. " It is difficult to give them dis-

tinctness without risk of error, and it is even

hard to decide how far the mark left by these

visitors is, on the one hand, the brand of the

devastating conqueror; or, on tlie other hand,

the planting among the people then inliabiting

Scotland of a liigh-conditioned race—a race

unitmg freedom and honesty in spirit with a

strong and healthy physical organization. It

was in the north that the inroad preserved its

most distinctive character, probably from its

weight, as most completely overwhelming the

original population, whatever they might be

;

and though, in the histories, the king of Scots

appears to rule the northern end of Britain, the

territory beyond Inverness and Fort-WiUiam

had aggregated in some way round a local

magnate, who afterwards appears as a Maormor.

He was not a viceroy of the king of Norway:

and if he was in any way at the order of the

King of Scotland, he was not an obedient subor-

dinate."'

Up to the time of Macbeda or Macbeth, the

principle of hereditary succession to the throne,

from father to son, appears not to have been

recognised; the only principle, except force,

which seems to have been acted upon being

that of collateral succession, brother succeeding

to brother, and nephew to uncle. After the

time of Macbeth, however, the hereditary

principle appears to have come into full force,

to have been recognised as that by which alone

succession to the throne was to be regulated.

The consoKdation of the Scottish and Pict-

ish power under one supreme chief, enabled

these nations not only to repel foreign aggres-

sion, but afterwards to enlarge their territories

beyond the Forth, which had hitherto formed,

for many ages, the Pictish boundary on the

south.

Although the power of the tribes to the

north of the Forth was greatly augmented by

the union which had taken place, yet all the

genius and warlike energy of Kenneth were

" Burton's Scotland, vol. i. p. 354.

necessary to protect him and his people from

insidt. Ragnor Lodbrog (/. e., Eagnor of the

Shaggy Bones,) with his fierce Danes infested

the country round the Tay on the one side, and

the Strathclyde Britons on the other, wasted

the adjoining territories, and burnt Dunblane.

Yet Kenneth overcame these embarrassments,

and made frequent incursions into the Saxon

territories in Lothian, and caused his foes to

tremble. After a brilliant and successful reign,

Kenneth died at Forteviot, the Pictish capital,

7 miles S.W. of Perth, on the 6th of February,

859, after a reign of twenty-three years. Ken-

neth, it is said, removed the famous stone

which now sustains the coronation chair at

Westminster Abbey, from the ancient seat of

tlie Scottish monarchy in Argyle, to Scone.

Kenneth (but according to some Constantine,

the Pictish king, in 820), built a church at

Dimkeld, to which, in 850, he removed the

relics of St. Columba from lona, which at this

time was frequently subjected to the ravages

of the Norsemen. He is celebrated also as a

legislator, but no authentic traces of his laws

now appear, the Macalpine laws attributed

to the son of Alpin being clearly apocryphal

The sceptre was assumed by Donald III.,

son of Alpin. He died in the year 863, after

a short reign of four years. It is said he re-

stored the laws of Aodh-fin, the son of Eocha

III, They were probably similar to the an-

cient Brehon laws of Ireland.

Constantine, the son of Kenneth, succeeded

his xmcle Donald, and soon found himself in-

volved in a dreadful conflict R'itli the Danish

pirates. Having, after a contest wliich lasted

half a century, established themselves in Ire-

land, and obtained secure possession of Dublin,

the VikingT directed their views towards the

western coasts of Scotland, which they laid

waste. These ravages were afterwards ex-

tended to the whole of the eastern coast, and

particularly to the shores of the Frith of Forth

;

but although the invaders were often repulsed,

they never ceased to renew their attacks. In

the year 881, Constantine, in repelling an at-

tack of the pirates, was slain at a place called

Merdo-fatha, or Werdo, probably the present

Perth, according to Maclauchlan.

Aodh or Hugh, the fair-liaired, succeeded

his brother Constantine. His reign was un-
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fortunate, Btort, and troublesome. Grig, who

was Maormor, or chief, of the country between

the Dee and the Spey, having become a com-

petitor for the crown, Aodh endeavoured to

putliim down, but did not succeed; and having

been wounded in a battle fought at Strath-

allan, (or possibly Strathdon,) he was carried

to Inverm-ie, where he died, after lingering two

months, having held the sceptre only one year.

Grig now assumed the crown, and, either to

secure his possession, or from some other

motive, ho associated with him in the govern-

ment Eocha, son of Ku, the British king of

Strathelyde, and the grandson, by a daughter,

of Kenneth Macalpin. After a reign of eleven

years, both Eocha and Grig were forced to ab-

dicate, and gave way to

Donald IV., who succeeded them in 893.

During Ids reign the kingdom was infested by

the piratical incursions of the Danes. Al-

though they were defeated by Donald in a

bloody action at Collin, said to be on the Tay,

near Scone, they returned under Ivar O'lvar,

from Ireland, in the year 90t, but were gallantly

repulsed, and their leader killed in a threat-

ened attack on Eorteviot, by Donald, who un-

fortunately also perished, after a reign of eleven

years. In liis reign the kings of present Scot-

land are no longer called reges Pidorum by the

Irish AnnaKsts, but Ri Allan, or kings of

Alban ; and in the Pictish Chronicle Pidavia

gives place to Albania.

Constantine III., the son of Aodh, a prince

of a warlike and enterprising character, next

followed. He had to sustain, during an un-

usually long reign, the repeated attacks of the

Danes. In one invasion they plimdered Dun-

keld, and in 908, they attempted to obtain the

grand object of their designs, the possession of

Eorteviot in Strathearn, the Pictish capital

;

but in this design they were again defeated,

and forced to abandon the country. The Danes

remained quiet for a few years, but in 918 their

fleet entered the Clyde, from Ireland, under

the command of Reginald, where they were

attacked by the Scots in conjunction with the

Northern Saxons, whom the ties of common
safety had now united for mutual defence.

Reginald is said to have dra^vn up his Danes

in four divisions ; the first headed by Gorlfrey

O'lvar ; the second by Earis ; the third by

Chieftains ; and the fourth by Reginald himself,

as a reserve. The Scots, with Constantine at

their head, made a furious attack on the first

three divisions, which they forced to retire.

Reginald's reserve not being available to tiurn

the scale of victory against the Scots, the Danes

retreated dui-ing the night, and embarked on

board their fleet.

After this defeat of the Danes, Constantine

enjoyed many years' repose. A long grudge

had existed between liim and .lEthelstane, son

of Edward, the elder, which at last came to an

open rupture. Having formed an alliance \vith

several princes, and particularly \vith Anlaf,

king of Dublin as well as of Northumberland,

and son-in-law of Constantine, tlie latter col-

lected a large fleet in the year 937, ^^ath which

he entered the Hiunber. The hope of plimdei

had attracted many of the Vikingr to Constan-

tino's standard, and the sceptre of iEthelstane

seemed now to tremble in his hand. But that

monarch was fully prepared for the dangers

with which he was thi-eatened, and resolved to

meet his enemies in battle. After a long,

bloody, and obstinate contest at Brunanburg,

near the southern shore of the Humber, victory

declared for iEthelstane. Prodigies of valour

were displayed on both sides, especially by

Turketel, the Chancellor of England ; by Anlaf,

and by the son of Constantine, who lost his

life. The confederates, after sustaining a heavy

loss, sought for safety in their ships. This,

and after misfortunes, possibly disgusted Con-

stantine with the vanities of this world, for,

in the fortieth year of his reign, he put into

practice a resolution which he had formed of

resigning liis cro^vn and embracing a monastic

life. He became Abbot of the Monastery of

St. Andrews in 943, and thus ended a long

and chequered, but vigorous, and, on the whole,

successful reign in a cloister, like Charles V.

Towards the end of this reign the term Scot-

land was applied to this kingdom by the

Saxons, a term which before had been given

by them to Ireland. Constantine died in 952.

Malcolm I., the son of Donald IV., obtained

the abdicated throne. He was a prince of

great abUities and prudence, and Edmund of

England courted his alliance by ceding Cum-

bria, then consisting of C;imberland and part

of Westmoreland, to him, in the year 945, on
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condition that he would defend that northern

county, and become the ally of Edmund. Ed-

red, the brother and successor of Edmund, ac-

cordingly applied for, and obtained the aid of

Malcolm against Aalaf, king of Northumber-

land, whose country, according to the barbaroiis

practice of the times, he wasted, and carried

off the people with their cattle. Malcolm,

after putting down an insurrection of the

Moray-men under CeUach, their Maormor, or

cliiof, whom he slew, was sometime thereafter

slain, as is supposed, at Ulurn or Auldearn in

Moray, by one of these men, in revenge for

the death of his chief

ludulph, the son of Constantine III., suc-

ceeded the murdered monarch in the year 953.

He sustained many severe conflicts with the

Danes, and ultimately lost his life in 961, after

a reign of eight years, in a successful action

with these pirates, on the moor which lies to

the westward of Cullen.

Duff, the son of Malcolm I., now mounted

the throne ; but Culen, the son of Indulpli, laid

claim to the sceptre which his father had

wielded. The parties met at Drum Crup (pro-

bably Crieff), and, after a doubtful struggle,

m wliioh Donoha, the Abbot of Dunkeld, and

Dubdou, the Maormor of Athole, the partisans

of Culen, lost their Hves, victory declared for

Duff. But tliis triumph was of short duration,

for Duff was afterwards obliged to retreat from

Forteviot into the north, and was assassinated

it Forres in the year 965, after a brief and un-

bappy reign of four years and a half.

Culen, the son of Indulph, succeeded, as a

matter of course, to the crown of Duff, which

he stained by liis vices. He and his brother

Eocha were slain in Lothian, in an action with

the Britons of Strathclyde in 970, after an in-

glorious reign of four years and a half. Dur-

ing his reign Edinburgh was captured from

the English, tliis being the first known step

in the progress of the gradual extension of the

Scottish kingdom between the Forth and tlie

Tweed. ''

Kenneth III., son of Malcolm I., and brother

of Duff, succeeded Ciilen the same year. He
waged a successful war against the Britons of

Strathclyde, and annexed their territories to

' Robertson's Early Kings, vol. L p. 7ft

his kingdom. During liis reign the Danes

meditated an attack upon Forteviot, cr Dun-

keld, for the purposes of plunder, and, with

this view, they sailed up the Tay wth a nu-

merous fleet. Kenneth does not appear to

have been fidly prepared, being probably not

aware of the intentions of the enemy ; but col-

lecting as many of his chiefs and their foUowera

as the spur of the occasion woidd allow, he

met the Danes at Limcarty, in the vicinity of

Perth. Malcolm, the Tanist, prmce of Cum-
berland, it is said, commanded the right wing

of the Scottish army; Duncan, the Maormor

of Athole, had the charge of the left: and

Kenneth, tlie king, commanded the centre.

The Danes with their battle-axes made dread-

fid havoc, and compelled the Scottish army

to give way; but the latter was rallied by

the famous Hay, the traditional ancestor of

the Kinnoul family, and finally repulsed the

Danes, who, as usual, fled to their ships. Bur-

ton thinks the battle of Luncarty " a recent

invention."

The defeat of the Danes enabled Kenneth

to turn his attention to the domestic concerns

of his kingdom. He appears to have directed

his thoughts to bring about a complete change

in the mode of succession to the crown, in ot-

der to perpetuate in and confine the crown to

his own descendants. This alteration could

not be well accompKshed as long as Malcolm,

the sou of Duff, the Tanist of the kingdom,

and prince of Cumberland, stood in the way

;

and, accordingly, it has been said that Kenneth

was the cause of the untimely death of prince

Malcolm, who is stated to have been poisoned.

It is said that Kenneth got an act passed,

that in future the son, or nearest male heir, of

the king, should always succeed to the throne

;

and that in case that son or heir were not of

age at the time of the king's demise, that a

person of rank should be chosen Kegent of the

kingdom, until the minor attained his four-

teenth year, when he should assume the reins

of government; but whether such a law was

really passed on the moot-hiU of Scone or not,

of which we have no evidence, certain it is

that two other princes succeeded to the crown

before Malcolm the son of Kenneth. Ken-

neth, after a reign of twenty-four years, was, it

is said, in 994 assassinated at Fettercaim by
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Finella,^ tlie wife of the Maormor of the

Mearns, and the daughter of Gimechat, the

Maormor of Angus, in revenge for having put

her only son to deatL It lias been thought

that till this time the Maormorship of Angus

was in some measure independent of the Scot-

tisli crown, never having thoroughly jaelded

to its supremacy, that the death of the young

chief took place in course of an effort on the

part of Kenneth for its reduction, and that

Kenneth himself was on a visit to the quarter

at the time of his death, for exacting the usual

royal privileges of cain and cuairt, or a certain

tax and certain provision for the king and his

followers when on a journey, due by the chiefs

or landholders of the kingdom.'

Constantino IV., son of Culen, succeeded;

but his right was disputed by Kenneth, the

Grim, i. e. strong, son of Duff. The dis-

pute was decided at Rathveramon, i. e. the

castle at the mouth of the Almond, near

Perth, where Constanttne lost his life in the

year 995.

Kenneth IV., the son of Duff, now obtained

the sceptre which he had coveted ; but he was

disturbed in the possession thereof by Malcolm,

the son of Kenneth III., heir presumptive to

the crown. Malcolm took tlie field in 1003,

and decided his claim to the crown in a bloody

battle at Monivaird, in Strathearn, in which

Kenneth, after a noble resistance, received a

mortal wound.

Malcolm II. now ascended the vacant throne,

but was not destined to enjoy repose. At the

very beginning of his reign he was defeated at

Durham by the army of the Earl of Northum-

berland, under his son Uchtred, who ordered

a selection of good-looking Scotch heads to be

stuck on the walls of Durham.

Tlie Danes, who had now obtained a firm

footing in England, directed their attention in

an especial manner to Scotland, which they were

in hopes of subduing. Sigurd, the Earl of

Orkney, carried on a harassing and predatory

warfare on the shores of the Moray Frith,

which he continued even after a matrimonial

alliance he formed with Malcolm, by marrying

8 According to Skene, Pinella is a comiption of

Pinuele or Pinole Ctmchar, Earl of Angus.—Skene's
Annals of the Picts and Scots, p. cxliv.

s Maclauclilan's Early Scottish Church, p. 306.

Robertson's Scot, under her Early Kings, vol. i. p. 88.

his daughter ; but this was no singular trait in

the character of a Vikingr, who plundered

friends and foes with equal pleasure. The

scene of Sigurd's operations was chosen by

his brother northmen for making a descent,

which they effected near Speymouth. They

carried fire and sword through Moray, and

laid siege to the fortress of Nairn, one of

the strongest in the north. The Danes were

forced to raise the siege for a time, by Mal-

colm, who encamped his army in a plain near

Kdilos or Kinloss. In this position he was

attacked by the invaders, and, after a severe

action, was forced to retreat, after being seri-

ously woimded.

Malcolm, in 1010, marched north with his

army, and encamped at Mortlach. The Danes

advanced to meet the Scots, and a dreadful

and fierce conflict ensued, the result of which

was long dubious. At length the northmen

gave way and victory declared for Malcolm.

Had the Danes succeeded they would in all

probability have obtained as permanent a foot-

ing in North Britain as they did in England

;

but the Scottish kings were determined, at all

hazards, never to suffer them to pollute the soil

of Scotland by allowing them even the smallest

settlement in their dominions. In gratitude

to God for his victory, Malcolm endowed a

religious house at Mortlach, with its church

erected near the scene of action. Maclauchlan,

however, maintains that this church was

planted by Malcolm Ceanmore.

Many other conflicts are narrated with mi-

nute detad by the later chroniclers as having

taken place between Malcolm and the Danes,

but it is very doubtful how far these are wor-

thy of credit. That Malcolm had enough to

do to prevent the Danes from overrunning

Scotland and subduing the inhabitants can

readily be believed ; but as we have few au-

thentic particulars concerning the conflicts

which took place, it would serve no purpose

to give the imaginary details invented by com-

paratively recent historians.

Some time after this ]\Ialcolm was engaged

in a war with the Northumbrians, and, having

led his army, in 1018, to Carham, near "Werk,

on the southern bank of the Tweed, where he

was met by Uchtred, the Earl of Northumber-

land, a desperate battle took place, which was
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contested with great valoui on both sides.^

The success was doubtfid on cither side, though

UchtreJ claimed a victory ; but he did not

long enjoy the fruits of it, as he was soon

thereafter assassinated when on his road to

pay obeisance to the great Canute. Endulf,

the brother and successor of Uchtred, justly

dreading the power of the Scots, was induced

to cede Lothian to Malcobn for ever, -who, on

this occasion, gave oblations to the churches

and gifts to the clergy, and they in return

transmitted his name to posterity. He was

designed, par excellence, by the Latin chroni-

clers, rex vidoriosissimus , by St. Berchau, the

Forranach or destroyer.

Tlie last struggle with which Malcolm was

threatened, was with the celebrated Canute,

who, for some cause or other not properly ex-

plained, entered Scotland in the year 1031
;

but these powerful parties appear not to have

come to action. Caimte's expedition appears,

from what followed, to have been fitted out to

compel Malcolm to do homage for Cumber-

land, for it is certain that Malcolm engaged to

fulfil the conditions on wliich liis predecessors

had held that country, and that Canute there-

after returned to England.

But the reign of Malcolm was not only dis-

tinguished by foreign wars, but by civil con-

tests between rival chiefs. Finlegh, the Maor-

mor of Ross, and the father of Macbeth, was

assassinated in 1020, and about twelve years

thereafter, Maolbride, the Maormor of Moray,

grandfather of Lulach, was, in revenge for

Finlegh's murder, burnt within his castle, with

fifty of his men.

At length, after a splendid reign of thirty

years, Malcolm slept with his fathers, and his

body was transferred to lona, and interred

with due solemnity among the remains of his

predecessors. By some authorities he is said

to have been assassinated at Glammis.

Malcolm was undoubtedly a prince of great

acquirements. He made many changes and

some improvements in the internal policy of liis

kingdom, and in him religion always found a

guardian and protector. But although Mal-

' The last we hear of any king or ruler of Stratli-

elyde was one that fought on Malcolm's side in this

battle ; and presently afterwards the attenuated state

is found, witnout any conflict, absorbed in the Scots
king's dominions.—Burton, vol. i. p. 367.

colm is justly entitled to this praise, he by no

means came up to the standard of perfection

assigned him by fiction. In his reign Scot-

land appears to have reached its present bound-

ary on the south, the Tweed, and Strathclyde

was incorporated with the rest of the kingdom.

Malcolm was the first who was called Rex

Scoiice, and might justly claim to be so desig-

nated, seeing that he was the first to hold

sway over nearly the whole of present Scot-

land,—the only portions where liis authority

appears to have been seriously disputed being

those in which the Danes had established

themselves.

Daucan, son of Bethoc or Beatrice, daughter

of Malcolm II., succeeded his grandfather in

the year 1033. " In the extreme north, do-

minions more extensive than any Jarl of the

Orkneys had hitherto acquired, were united

under the rule of Thorfinn, Sigurd's son, whose

character and appearance have been thus de-

scribed :
—

' He was stout and strong, but very

ugly, severe and cruel, but a very clever man.'

The extensive districts then dependant upon

the Moray Maormors were in the possession of

the celebrated Macbeth." ^ Duncan, in 1033,

desiring to extend his dominions southwards,

attacked Durham, but was forced to retu-e

vnth considerable loss. His principal strug-

gles, however, were with his powerful kins-

man, Thorfinn, whose success was so great that

he extended his conquests as far as the Tay.

" His men spread over the whole conquered

country," says the Orhieijinga Saga,^ " and

burnt every hamlet and farm, so that not a cot

remained. Every man that they found they

slew ; but the old men and women fled to the

deserts and woods, and filled the country with

lamentation. Some were driven before the

Norwegians and made slaves. After this Earl

Thorfinn returned to his ships, subjugating the

country everywhere in his progress." Duncan's

last battle, in which he was defeated, was in

the neighbourhood of Burghead, near the

Moray Frith; and shortly after this, on the

14th August, 1040, he was assassinated in

Bothgowanan,—which, in Gaelic, is said to

mean " the smith's hut,"—by his kinsman the

' Robertson's Early Kings, vol. i. p. 113.

' As quoted by Skene, HighUmders, vol. i. p. 112.
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Maormor Maobeda or Macbeth. Duncan had

reigned only five years when he was assassi-

nated by Macbeth, leaving two infant sons,

Malcolm and Donal, by a sister of Siward, the

Earl of Northmnberland. The former fled to

Cumberland, and the latter took refuge in the

Hebrides, on the death of their father.

Macbeth, " snortmg vnth the indigested

fimies of the blood of liis sovereign," imme-

diately seized the gory sceptre. As several

fictions have been propagated concerning the

history and genealogy of Macbeth, we may

mention that, according to the most authentic

authorities, he was by birth Thane of Ross, and

by his marriage \vith the Lady Gruoch,—who

had a claim to the tlirone, as granddaughter of

Kemieth,—became also Thane of Moray, dur-

ing the minority of Lulach, the infant son of

that lady, by her former marriage wth Gilcom-

gain, the Maormor or Thane of Moray. Lady

Gruoch was the daughter of Boedhe, son of

Kenneth IV. ; and thus Macbeth united in his

o^vn person many powerful interests wliich en-

abled liim to take quiet possession of the

throne of the murdered sovereign. He, of

course, found no difficulty in getting liimself

inaugurated at Scone, under the protection of

the clans of Moray and Ross, and the aid of

tliose who favovu'ed the pretensions of the de-

scendants of Kenneth IV.

Various attempts were made on the part of

the partisans of Malcobn, son of Duncan, to

dispossess Macbeth of the throne. The most

formidable was that of Siward, the powerful

Earl of Northumberland, and the relation of

Malcobn, who, at the instigation or command
of Edward the Confessor, led a numerous army

into Scotland in the year 1054. They marched

as far north as Dunsinnan, where they were met

by Macbeth, who commanded his troops in

person. A fiuious battle ensued, but Macbeth

fled from the field after many displays of cour-

age. The Scots lost 3,000 men, and the Sax-

ons 1,500, including Osbert, the son of Siward.

Macbeth retired to his fastnesses in the north,

and Siward returned to Northumberland ; but

Malcolm continued the war till the death of

Macbeth, who was slain by Macdtiff, Thane of

Fife, in revenge for the cruelties he had in-

flicted on his family, at Lumphanau, in Aber-

deenahire, in the year 1056, although, accord-

ing to Skene (Chronicles), it was in August,

1057.

Macbeth was unquestionably a man of

great vigoirr, and well fitted to govern in the

age in wliich he lived ; and had it not been

for the indelible character bestowed upon him

by Shakespere (who probably followed the

chronicle of Holinshed), his character might

have stood well with posterity. " Tlie deeds

which raised Macbeth and his -wife to power

were not in appearance much worse than others

of their day done for similar ends. However

he may have gained his power, he exercised it

with good repute, according to the reports

nearest to his time." * Macbeth, " in a manner

sacred to splendid infamy," is the first king of

Scotland whose name appears in the ecclesias-

tical records as a benefactor of the church, and,

it would appear, the first who offered his ser-

vices to the Bishop of Rome. According to

the records of St. Andi-ews, he made a gift of

certain lands to the monastery of Loclileven,

and certainly sent money to the poor of Rome,

if, indeed, he did not himself make a pilgrim-

age to the holy city.

After the reign of ]\Iacbeth, the former irre-

gular and confusing mode of succession ceased,

and the hereditary principle was adopted and

acted upon.

Lulach, the great-grandson of Kenneth IV.,

being supported by the powerful influence of

his own family, and that of the deceased

monarch, ascended the throne at the age of

twenty-five or twenty-six ; but his reign lasted

only a few months, he having fallen in battle

at Essie, in Strathbogie, in defending his cro^vn

against Malcolm. The body of Lulach was in-

terred along «'ith that of Macbeth, in lona, the

common sepulclire, for many centimes, of the

Scottish kings.

Malcolm III., better known in history by

the name of Malcolm Ceanmore, or (jreat head,

vindicated liis claim to the vacant tlirone, and

was crowned at Scone, 25tli April, 1057. His

first care was to recompense those who had

assisted him in obtaining the sovereignty,

and it is said that he created new titles of

honoui', by substituting earls for thanes ; but

this has been disputed, and there are really no

' Burton's Scotlaiid, vol. i. p. 372.
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data from wMcli a certain conclusion can be

drawn.

la the year 1059 Malcolm paid a visit to

Edward the Confessor, during whose reign he

lived on amicable terms with the EngUsh ; but

after tlie deatli of that monarch he made a

hostile incursion into Northumberland, and

wasted the country. He even violated the

peace of St. Cuthbert in Holy Island.

William, Duke of Normandy, having over-

come Harold in the battle of Hastinga, on the

14th October, 1066, Edgar ^Etheling saw no

hopes of obtaining the crown, and left Eng-

land along mth his mother and sisters, and

Bought refuge in Scotland. Malcolm, on hear-

ing of the distress of the illustrious strangers,

left his royal palace at Dunfermline to meet

them, and invited them to Dunfermline, where

they were hospitably entertained. Margaret,

one of Edgar's sisters, was a princess of great

virtues and accomplisliments ; and she at once

won the heart of Malcolm.

The offer of his hand was accepted, and their

nuptials were celebrated with great solemnity

and splendour. This queen was a blessing to

the Mng and to the nation, and appears to

have well merited the appellation of Saint.

There are few females in history who can be

compared mth Queen Margaret.

It is quite unnecessary, and apart from the

object of the present work, to enter into any

details of the wars between Malcolm and Wil-

liam the Conqueror, and William Eufus. Suf-

fice it to say that both Malcolm and his eldest

son Edward were slain in a battle on the Alne,

on the 13th November, 1093, after a reign of

thirty-sLs years. Queen Margaret, who was on

her death-bed when this catastrophe occurred,

died shortly after she received the intelligence

\nX\\ great composure and resignation to the

^\all of God. Malcolm had six sons, viz., Ed-

ward, who was kUled along vnih. his father,

Edmund, Edgar, EtheLred, Alexander, and Da-

vid, and two daughters, Maud, who was mar-

ried to Henry I. of England, and Mary, who
married Eustache, Count of Boulogne. Of the

sons, Edgar, Alexander, and David, successively

came to the crown.

Thorfinn, Earl of Orkney, died in 1064, and

his extensive possessions in Scotland did not

revert to his descendants, but to the native

chiefs, who had had the original right to pos-

sess them. These chiefs appear to have been

independent of the Scottish sovereign, and to

have caused him no small amount of trouble-

A considerable part of Malcolm's reign was

spent in endeavouring to bring them into srvb-

jection, and before liis death he had the satis-

faction of seeing the whole of Scotland, with

perhaps the exception of Orkney, acknowledg-

ing him as sole monarch. The Norwegian

conquest appears to have effected a most im-

portant change in the character of the popu-

lation and language of the eastern lowlands of

the north of Scotland. The original po

pulation must in some way have given way

to a Norwegian one, and, whatever may
have been the original language, we find

after this one of a decidedly Teutonic char-

acter prevailing in this district, probably in-

troduced along with the Norse population.

" In the more mountainous and Highland dis-

tricts, however, we are waixanted in conclud-

ing that the effect must have been very differ-

ent, and that the possession of the country by

the Norwegians for thirty years could have ex-

ercised as little permanent influence on the

population itself, as we are assured by the Saga

it did upon the race of their chiefs.

" Previously to this conquest the northern

Gaelic race possessed the whole of the north of

Scotland, from the western to the eastern sea,

and the general change produced by the con-

quest must have been, that the Gael were for

the first time confined within those limits which

they have never since exceeded, and that the

eastern districts became inhabited by that

Gothic race, who have also ever since possessed

them." 5

On the demise of Malcolm, Donal-bane liis

brother assumed the government ; but Duncan,

the son of Malcolm, who had lived many years

in England, and held a high military rank un-

der WiUiam Eufus, invaded Scotland with a

large army of English and Normans, and forced

Donal to retire for safety to the Hebrides.

Duncan, whom some writers suppose to have

been a bastard, and others a legitimate son of

Malcolm by a former wdfe, enjoyed the crown

only six months, having been assassinated by

'' Skene's Highlanders, vol. i. p. 123.
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Maolpeder, the Maormor of the Mearns, at

Menteith, at the instigation, it is believed,

of DonaL Duncan left, by his wife Ethreda,

daughter of Gospatrick, a son, WiUiam, some-

times sm-named Fitz-Dimcan.

Donal-bane again seized the sceptre, but

he survived Duncan only two years. Edgar

^theling having assembled an army in Eng-

land, entered Scotland, and made Donal pri-

soner in an action which took place in Septem-

ber 1097. He was imprisoned by orders of

Edgar, and died at Koscobie in Forfarshire,

after having been deprived of liis eyesight, ac-

cording to the usual practice of the age. The

series of the pure Scoto-Irish kings may be said

to have ended with Donal-bane.

The reign of Edgar, who appears to have

been of a gentle and peacefid disposition, is

almost devoid of incident, the principal events

being the marriage of his sister Matilda to the

English Henry, and the wasting and conquest

of the Western Islands by Magnus Olaveson

and liis Norwegians. This last event had but

little effect on Scotland proper, as these Islands

at that time can hardly be said to have belonged

to it. These Norsemen appear to have settled

among and mixed with the native inhabitants,

and thus to have formed a population, spoken I

of by the Irish Annalists under the name of

GaUgael, " a horde of pirates, plundering on

their own account, and under their own leaders,

when they were not following the banner of

any of the greater sea-kings, whose fleets were

powerful enough to sweep the western seas, and

exact tribute from the lesser island chieftains." ^

Edgar died in 1107, and was succeeded by liis

brother Alexander, whom he enjoined to be-

stow upon his younger brother David the dis-

trict of Cumbria.

We have now arrived at an era in our liis-

tory, when the line of demarcation between the

inliabitants of the Lowlands and Highlands of

Scotland begins to appear, and when, by the

influx of a Gotliic race into the former, the

language of that part of North Britain is com-

pletely revolutionized, when a new dynasty or

race of sovereigns ascends the tluone, and when

a great change takes places in the laws and

constitution of the kingdom.

Although the Anglo-Saxon colonization of

the Lowlands of Scotland does not come exactly

mthin the design of the present work; yet, as

forming an important feature in the history of

the Lowlands of Scotland, as contradistin-

guished from the Highlands, a slight notice of

it may not be uninteresting.

Shortly after the Roman abdication of North

Britain in the year 446, which was soon suc-

ceeded by the final departure of the Romans
from the British sliores, the Saxons, a people

of Gothic origin, established themselves upon

the Tweed, and afterwards extended their set-

tlements to the Frith of Forth, and to the

banks of the Solway and the Clyde. About

the beginning of the sixth century the Dalriads,

as we have seen, landed in KiutjTe and Ar-

gyle from the opposite coast of Ireland,

and colonized these districts, whence, in the

com-se of little more than two centuries, they

overspread the Highlands and western islands,

wliich their descendants have ever since con-

tinued to possess. Towards the end of the

eighth century, a fresh colony of Scots from

Ireland settled in GaUoway among the Britons

and Saxons, and having overspread the whole

of that country, were afterwards joined by de-

tacliments of the Scots of Kintj-xe and Argyle,

in connection with whom they peopled that

' Early Kings, vol. i. p. 160.



CHANGES IN POPULATION AND LANGUAGE. 57

peninsula. Besides these three races, who

made permanent settlements in Scotland, the

Scandinavians colonized the Orkney and Shet-

land islands, and also estabhshed themselves

on the coasts of Caithness and Sutherland, and

in the eastern part of the country north of the

Eirth of Tay.

But notwithstanding these early settlements

of the Gothic race, the era of the Saxon colon-

ization of the Lowlands of Scotland is, with

more propriety, placed in the reign of Malcolm

Ceanmore, who, by liis marriage with a Saxon

princess, and the protection he gave to the

Anglo-Saxon fugitives who sought an asy-

limi in his dominions from the persecutions of

WiUiam the Conqueror and his Normans, laid

the foundations of those great changes wliich

took place in the reigns of his successors.

!Malcolm, in his warlike incursions into North-

umberland and Durham, carried off immense

nimibers of young men and women, who were

to be seen in the reign of David I. in almost

every village and house in Scotland. The

Gaelic population were quite averse to the set-

tlement of these strangers among them, and it

is said that the extravagant mode of living in-

troduced by the Saxon followers of Queen

Jlargaret, was one of the reasons which led to

their expulsion fi-om Scotland, in the reign of

Donal-bane, who rendered himself popular with

his people by this unfriendly act.

This expulsion was, however, soon rendered

nugatory, for on the accession of Edgar, the

first sovereign of the Scoto-Saxon dynasty,

many distinguished Saxon families with their

followers settled in Scotland, to the heads of

which families the king made grants of land of

considerable extent. Few of these foreigners

appear to have come into Scotland during the

reign of Alexander I., the brother and suc-

cessor of Edgar ; but vast numbers of Anglo-

Saxons, Anglo-Normans, and Flemings, estab-

lished themselves in Scotland in the reign of

David I. That prince had received his educa-

tion at the court of Henry I., and had married

Maud or Matilda, the only child of "Waltheof,

Earl of Northumberland and Huntingdon, by

Judith, niece to WiUiam the Conqueror on the

mother's side. This lady had many vassals,

and when David came to the throne, in the

year 1124, he was followed by a thousand

Anglo-Normans, to whom he distributed lands,

on wliich they and their followers settled.

Many of the illustrious families in Scotland

originated from this soirrce.

Malcolm Ceanmore had, before liis accession

to the throne, resided for some time in Eng-

land as a fugitive, under the protection of Ed-

ward the Confessor, where he acquired a know-

ledge of the Saxon language ; which language,

after his marriage with the princess ]\Iargaret,

became that of the Scottish court. This cir-

cumstance made that language fashionable

among the Scottish nobility, in consequence of

which and of the Anglo-Saxon colonization un-

der David I., the Gaelic language was altogether

superseded in the Lowlands of Scotland in

little more than two centuries after the death

of Malcohn. A topographical line of demar-

cation was then fixed as the boundary between

the two languages, which has ever since been

kept up, and presents one of the most singular

phenomena ever observed in the liistory of

philology.

The change of the seat of government by

Kenneth, on ascending the Pictish throne, to

Abernethy, also followed by the removal of

the marble cliair, the emblem of sovereignty,

from Dunstaffnage to Scone, appears to have

occasioned no detriment to the Gaelic popula-

tion of the Highlands ; but when Malcolm

Ceanmore transferred liis court, about the year

1066, to Dunfermline,—which also became, in

place of lona, the sepulchre of the Scottish

kings,—the rays of royal bounty, which had

hitherto diffused their protecting and benign in-

fluence over the inhabitants of the Highlands,

were withdrawn, and left them a prey to an-

archy and poverty. " The people," says Gen-

eral David Stewart, " now beyond the reach of

the laws, became turbulent and fierce, revenging

in person those wrongs for which the adminis-

trators of the laws were too distant and too

feeble to afford redress. Thence arose the

institution of chiefs, who naturally became the

judges and arbiters in the quarrels of their

clansmen and followers, and who were sur-

rounded by men devoted to the defence of

their lights, their property, and their power

;

and accordingly the chiefs established within

their own territories a jurisdiction almost

whoUy independent of their liege lord."
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The connection wliicli Malcolm and Ms suc-

cessors maintained with. England, estranged

stiU farther the Highlanders from the dominion

of the sovereign and the laws ; and their his-

tory, after the population of the Lowlands had

merged into and adopted the language of the

Anglo-Saxons, presents, with the exception of

the wars between rival clans which will be no-

ticed afterwards, nothing remarkable tUl their

first appearance on the military theatre of our

national history in the campaigns of Montrose,

Dundee, and others.

On the accession of Alexander L, then,

Scotland was divided between the Celt and

the Saxon, or more strictly speaking. Teuton,

pretty much as it is at the present day, the

Gaelic population having become gradually

confined very nearly to the limits indicated in

the first chapter. They never appear, at least

until quite recently, to have taken kindly to

Teutonic customs and the Teutonic tongue, and

resented much the defection of their king in

court, in submitting to Saxon innovations.

Previous to this the history of the Highlands

has been, to a very great extent, the history ol

Scotland, and even for a considerable time after

this, Scotia was applied strictly to the country

north of the Forth and Clyde, the district south

of that being kno'^vn by various other names.

During and after Edgar's time, the whole of

the country north of the Tweed became more

and more a counterpart of England, with its

thanes, its earls, and its slieriffs ; and even the

Highland maormors assumed the title of earl,

in deference to the new customs. The High-

landers, however, it is well kno'svn, for cen-

turies warred against these Saxon innovations,

becoming more and more a peculiar people,

being, up till the end of the last century, a

perpetual thorn in the flesh of their Saxon

rulers and their Saxon fellow-subjects. They

have a history of their o^vn, which we deem

worthy of narration.'

CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE OF THE SCOTTISH KINGS, FROM 843

TO 1097, ADJUSTED FROM THE BEST AUTHORITIES.
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CHAPTER V.

A.D. 1107-1411.

KIN03 OF SCOTLAND DURING THE PERIOD :-

Alexander I., 1107—1124.
David I., 1124—1163.
Malcolm rV., 1163—1105.
WUliam tha Lion, 1165—1214.
Alexander II., 1214—1249.
Alexander lU., 1249—1285.
Regency. 1286—1290.
Interregnum, 1290—1292.
John Baliol. 1292—1306.

Robert Bruce, 1306-1329.
David 11., 1329—1332.
Edward BaUol, 1332—1341.
David II. restored, 1341-1370.
Robert II. (Stewart), 1370—

1390.

Robert III., 1390—1406.
James I., 1406—1436.

Alexander I.—David I.— Insurrections in Highlands—
Somerled—Moraymen and Malcolm IV.—WUliara
The Lion—Disturbances in the Highlands—Ross-

shire—Orkney—Ale.xauder II.—Argyle—Caithness

—Alexander III.—Disturbances in Boss—Expedi-
tion of Haco—Battle of Largs—Robert Bruce—Ex-
pedition into Lorn—Subdues Western Isles—Isles

revolt under David II. and again submit—Contest
between the Monroes and Clan Chattan—The Clan
Chattan and the Camerons—Battle on North Inch

—

Wolf of Badenoch—His son Alexander Stewart

—

Disturbances in Sutherland—Lord of the Isles in-

vades Scotland^Battle of Harlaw.

The reign of Alexander I. was disturbed, about

the year 1116, by an attempt made by the

men of Moray and Merne to surprise the king

while enjoying himself at his favourite resi-

dence at Invergowrie, on the north bank of

the Tay, not far from its mouth. The king,

however, showed liimself more than a match

for liis enemies, as ho not only defeated their

immediate purpose, but, pursuing them with his

army across the Moray Frith, chastised them

so effectually as to keep them quiet for the re-

mainder of his reign, wliich ended by his

death, in April, 1124. In 1130, six years

after the accession of King David I. to the

Scottish tlirone, while he was in England, the

Moraymen again rose against the semi-Saxon

king, but were defeated at Strickathrow, in

Forfarsliiie, by Edward the Constable, son of

Siward Beorn, Angus the Earl of Moray being

left among the dead, Malcolm lus brother es-

caping to carry on the conflict. In 1134

David himself took the field against these

Highlanders, and, with the assistance of the

barons of Northumberland, headed by Walter

L'Espec, completely subdued the Moraymen,

confiscated the whole district, and bestowed it

upon knights in whose fidelity he could place

confidence, some of these being Normans.

This was manifestly, according to Dr. Mac-

lauchlan, the period of the dispersion of the

ancient Moravienses. Never till then was

the power of the Moray chiefs thorouglily

broken, and only then were the inhabitants

proscribed, and many of them expelled. The

Murrays, afterwards so powerful, found their

way to the south, carrjdng with them the name

of their ancient country, and some of the present

tribes of Sutherland, as well as of Inverness-

shire, who, there is reason to believe, belonged to

the Scoto-Pictish inhabitants of Moray, removed

their dwellings to those portions of the country

which they have occupied ever since. The

race of Mac Heth may appear among the Mac
Heths or Mac Aoidhs, the Macltays of Suther-

land, nor is tliis rendered less probable by the

Morganaich or sons of Morgan, the ancient

name of the Mackays, appearing in the Book

of Deer as o-wning possessions and power in

Buchan in the 10th or llth century. ^

Tlie next enterprise of any note was imder-

taken by Somerled, thane of Argyle and the

Isles, against the authority of Malcolm TV.,

who, after various conflicts, was repulsed,

though not subdued, by Gilchrist, Earl of An-

gus. A peace, concluded with tliis powerful

chieftain in 1153, was considered of such im-

portance as to form an epoch in the dating of

Scottish charters. A still more formidable in-

surrection broke out among the MorajTuen,

under GUdominick, on account of an attempt,

on the part of the Government, to intrude the

Anglo-Norman jurisdiction, introduced into the

Lowlands, upon their Celtic customs, and the

settling of Anglo-Belgic colonists among them.

These insurgents laid waste the neighbouring

counties ; and so regardless were they of the

royal authority, that they actually hanged the

heralds who were sent to summon them to lay

do'wn their arms. Malcolm despatched the

gallant Earl Gilchrist with an army to subdue

them, but he was defeated, and forced to re-

cross the Grampians.

This defeat aroused Malcolm, who was natu-

rally of an indolent disposition. About the

year 1160 he marched north with a powerful

army, and found the enemy on the moor of

Urquhart, near the Spey, ready to give him

battle. After passing the Spey, the noblemen

in the lung's army reconnoitred the enemy;

- Maclauchlan's Early Scottish Church, pp. S46-7.
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btit thoy found them so -well prepared for ac-

tion, and so flushed with their late success,

that they considered the issue of a battle

rather doubtful. On this account, the com-

manders advised the king to enter into a nego-

tiation with the rebels, and to promise, that in

the event of a submission their lives would be

spared. The offer was accepted, and the king

kept liis word. According to Fordun,^ the king,

by the advice of his nobles, ordained that every

famUy in Moray which had been engaged in

the rebellion should, within a limited time, re-

move out of Moray to other parts of the king-

dom, where lands would be assigned to them,

and that their places should be supplied with

people from other parts of the kingdom. For

tlie performance of this order, they gave hos-

tages, it is said,* and at the time appointed

transplanted themselves, some into the north-

ern, but the greater number into the southern

counties. Chalmers considers this removal of

the Moraymen as " an egregious improba-

bility," because " the dispossessing of a whole

people is so difficult an operation, that the re-

cital of it cannot be believed without strong

evidence;"^ it is very probable that only the

ringleaders and their families were trans-

ported. The older historians say that the

Moraymen were almost totally cut off in an

obstinate battle, and strangers brought into

their place. ^

About this time Somerled, the ambitious and

powerful lord of the Isles, made another and a

' Book viii. ch, 6.

' Shaw's Bisl. of Moray, new ed., pp. 259-60.
' Caledonia, vol. i. p. 627.
' " WTiilst the lowlands and the coast of Moray,

which had already been partitioned out among the
followers of David, would have presented compara-
tively few obstacles to such a project, it is hardly pos-

sible to conceive how it could ever have been success-

fullyput into execution amidst the wild and inaccessible

mountains of the interior. It appears, therefore, most
reasonable to conclude, that Malcolm only carried out
the policy pursued by his grandfather ever since the
first forfeiture of the earldom ; and that any changes
that may have been brought about in the population
of this part of Scotland—and which scarcely extended
below the class of the lesser Diichasack, or small pro-

prietors—are not to be attributed to one sweeping and
compulsatory measure, but to the grants of David and
his successors ; which must have had the effect of either

reducing the earlier proprietary to a dependant posi-

tion, or of driving into the remoter Highlands all who
were inclined to contest the authority of the sovereign,

or to dispute the validity of the royal ordinances which
reduced them to the condition of subordinates."

—

Robertson's Early Kings, vol. i. p. 361.

last attempt upon the king's authority, Hav-

ing collected a large force, chiefly in Ireland,

ho landed, in 1164, near Eenfrew ; but he was

defeated by the brave inhabitants and the

king's troops in a decisive battle, in which he

and his son Gillecolum were slain.

The reign of "William the Lion, who suc-

ceeded his brother in 1165, was marked by

many disturbances in the Highlands. The

Gaelic population could not endure the new
settlers whom the Saxon colonization had intro-

duced among them, and every opportunity was

taken to vex and annoy them. An open insur-

rection broke out in Eoss-shire, headed by Don-

ald Bane, known also as MacWiUiam, which

obliged WOIiam, in the year 1181, to march

into the north, where he built the two castles

of Eddirton and Dunscatli to keep the people in

check. He restored quiet for a few years ; but.

in 1187, Donald Bane again renewed his pre-

tensions to the crown, and raised the standard

of revolt in the north. He took possession of

Eoss, and wasted Moray. William lost no

tune in leading an army against him. AVliilo

the king lay at Inverness with his army, a

party of 3,000 faithful men, under the com-

mand of Eoland, the brave lord of Galloway,

and future Constable of Scotland, fell in ivith

Donald Bane and his army upon the Mam-
garvy moor, on the borders of Moray. A con-

flict ensued in which Donald and five hundred

of his followers were killed. Eoland carried

the head of Donald to WiUiam, " as a savage

sign of returning quiet." After this compara-

tive quietness prevailed in the north till the

year 1196, when Harold, the powerful Earl of

Orkney and Caithness, disturbed its peace.

William dispersed the insurgents at once ; but

they again appeared the following year near

Inverness, under the command of Torphin, the

son of Harold. The rebels were again over-

powered. The king seiied Harold, and obliged

him to dehver up his son, Torphin, as an hos-

tage. Harold was allowed to retain the north-

ern part of Caithness, but the king gave the

southern part of it, called Sutherland, to Hugh
Freskin, the progenitor of the Earls of Suther-

land. Harold died in 1206; but as he had

often rebelled, his son suffered a cruel and

Ungeruig death in the castle of Eoxburgh,

where he had been confined.
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During the year 1211 a new insurrection

broke out in Ross, headed by Guthred or God-

frey, the son of Donald Bane or MacWilliam,

as he was called. Great depredations were

committed by the insurgents, who were chiefiy

freebooters fi-om Ireland, the Hebrides, and

Lochaber. For a long time they balHed the

king's troops ; and although the king built two

forts to keep them in check, and took many
prisoners, they maintained for a considerable

period a desultory and predatory warfare. Guth-

red even forced one of the garrisons to capitu-

late, and burnt the castle ; but being betrayed

by his followers into the hands of William

Comyn, Earl of Buclian, the Justiciary of Scot-

land, he was executed in the year 1212.

Shortly after the accession of Alexander II.

in 1214, the peace of the north was attempted

to be disturbed by Donald MacWiLLiam, who

made an inroad from Ireland into Moray ; but

he was repulsed by the tribes of that country,

ed by M' Litagart, the Earl of Ross. In 1 2 2 2

,

notwithstanding the formidable obstacles which

presented themselves from the nature of the

country, Alexander carried an army into Ar-

gyle, for the purpose of enforcing the homage

of the western cliiefs. His presence so alarmed

the men of Argyle, that they immediately made

their submission. Several of the chiefs fled

for safety, and to punish them, the king distri-

buted their lands among his officers and then-

followers. After this invasion Argyle was

brought under the direct jurisdiction of the

Scottish king, although the descendants of the

race of Somerled, Lord of the Isles, still con-

tinued to be the chief magnates.

During the same year a tumult took place in

Caithness, on account of the severity vnth

which the tithes were exacted by Adam, the

bishop, who, with his adviser, Serlo, was mur-

dered by the bonders. Tlie king, who was at

the time at Jedburgh, hearing of this murder,

immediately hastened to the north \vith a mili-

tary force, and inflicted the punishment of death

upon the principal actors in this tragedy, who
amounted, it is said, to four hundred persons

;

and that their race might become extinct, their

children were emasculated, a practice very com-

mon in these barbarous times. The Earl of

Caithness, who was supposed to have been privy

to the murder, was deprived of half of his

estate, wliich was afterwards restored to him on
payment of a heavy fine. The Earl is said to

have been murdered by his o^Yn servants in the

year 1231, and in order to prevent discovery,

they laid liis body into his bed and set fire to

the house.

In 1228 the country of Moray became the

theatre of a new insurrection, headed by a Ross-

shire freebooter, named GiUespoc IM'Scolane.

He committed great devastations by burning

some wooden castles in Moray, and spoiling

the crown lands. He even attacked and set

fire to Inverness. A large army of horse and
foot, under the command of John Com3m, Earl

of Buchan, Justiciary of Scotland, was, in 1229,

sent against this daring rebel, who was cap-

tured, with his two sons, and their heads sent

to the king.

The lords of Argyle usually paid homage to

the king of Norway for some of the Hebrides

which belonged to that monarch, but Ewen,
on succeeding liis father Duncan of Argyle in

1248, refused his homage to the Scottish king,

who \vished to possess the whole of the Western

Isles. Though Ewen was perfectly loyal, and

indeed was one of the most honourable men of

liis time, Alexander marched an army against

liim to enforce obedience, but liis Majesty died

on his journey in Kerrera, a small island near

the coast of Argyle opposite Oban, on July 8,

1249, in the fifty-first year of his age, and the

thirty-fifth of his reign.

According to the custom of the times, his

son, Alexander III., then a boy only in his

eighth year, was seated on the royal chair, or

sacred stone of Scone, wliich was placed before

the cross that stood witliin the burying-ground.

Immediately before his inauguration, the bishop

of St. Andrews girded liim with the sword of

state, and explained to liim, first in Latin and

aiterwards in Norman French, the nature of

the compact he and his subjects were about to

enter into. The crown, after the king had

been seated, was placed on his head, and the

sceptre put into his hand. He was then covered

with the royal mantle, and received the homage

of the nobles on their knees, who, in token of

submission, threw their robes beneath his feet

On this occasion, agreeably to ancient practice,

a Gaelic sennachy, or bard, clothed in a red

mantle, and venerable for his great age and
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Alexander III. —From Pinkerton's Scottish Gallery.

hoary locks, approached the king, and in a

bonded and reverential attitude, recited, from

memory, in his native language, the genealogy

of aU the Scottish kings, deducing the descent

of the youthful monarch from Gathetus, the

fabulous founder of the nation. ^ The reign of

this prince was distinguished by the entire sub-

jugation of the western islands to the power

of the Scottish crown. The Scandinavian set-

tlers were allowed to leave the islands, if in-

clined, and such of them as remained were

bound to observe the Scottish laws.

Shortly after the accession of Alexander III.,

an insurrection broke out against the Earl of

Ross, of some of the people of that province.

The Earl apprehended their leader or captain,

whom he imprisoned at Dingwall. In revenge,

the Highlanders seized upon the Earl's second

2 Almost the same ceremonial of inauguration was
observed at the coronation of Macdonald, king of the
Isles. Martin says, that "there was a big stone of

seven feet square, in which there was a deep impres-
sion made to receive the feet of Mack-Donald, for he
was crowned king of the Isles standing in this stone

;

and swore that he would continue his vassals in the

Eossession of their lands, and do exact justice to all

is subjects ; and then his father's sword was put iuto

his hands. The bishop of Argyle and seven priests

anointed him king, in presence of all the heads of the

tribes in the isles and continent, and were his vassals

;

at which time the orator rehearsed a catalogue of his

ancestors."

—

Western Islands, p. 241.

son at Balnagown, took hi-m prisoner, and

detained him as a hostage tUl their captain

should be released. The Monroes and the

Ding^vaUs immediately took up arms, and hav-

ing pursued the insurgents, overtook them at a

place called BeaUigh-ne-Broig, between Eerran-

donald and Loch Broom, where a bloody con-

flict ensued. "The Clan Iver, Clan-Talvich,

and Clan-Laiwe," says Sir Eobert Gordon,

" wer almost uterlie extinguished and slain.''

The Monroes and DingwaUs lost a great many

men. Ding^vall of Kildun, and seven score of

the surname of Dingwall, were killed. No
less than eleven Monroes of the house of Foulis,

who were to succeed one after another, fell, so

that the succession of Foulis opened to an in-

fant then lying in his cradle. The Earl's son

was rescued, and to requite the service per-

formed, he made various grants of lands to the

Monroes and Dingwalls.^

In 1263, Haco, the aged king of Norway,

sailed with a large and powerful fleet, deter-

mined to enforce acknowledgm ant of his

claims as superior of the Western Islands on

their chiefs, as well as upon the king of Scot-

land. Sailing southwards among the islands,

one chief after another acknowledged his su-

premacy, and helped to swell his force, the

only honoiu-able exception being the stanch

Ewen of Argyle. Meantime Haco brought

his iieet to anchor La the Frith of Clyde, be-

tween Arran and the Ayrsliire coast, his men
committing ravages on the neighboui'ing coun-

try, as, indeed, they appear to have done dur-

ing the whole of his progress. Negotiations

entered into between Haco and Alexander III.

came to nothing, and as winter was approach-

ing, and his fleet had suffered much from

several severe storms which caught it, the for-

mer was fain to make his way homewards. A
nmnber of his men, however, contrived to ef-

fect a landing near Largs, where they were met

by a miscellaneous Scottish host, consisting of

cavalry and country people, and finally com-

pletely routed. The date of this skirmish,

which is known as the battle of Largs, is Oc-

tober 2d, 1263. Haco died in the end of the

same year in Orkney, and in 1266 Magnus
IV., his successor, ceded the whole of the

' Sir R. Gordon's Bistary of the Earldom of Suther
land, p. 36.



BRUCE'S EXPEDITIONS INTO LORN AND THE ISLES. 63

Scottish Islands held by Norway, except Ork-

ney and Shetland, the Scottish king paying a

smaU. annual rent. Those of the islesmen who

had proved unfaithful to the Scottish king

were most severely and cruelly punished.

No event of any importance appears to have

occurred in the Highlands till the time of King

Robert Bruce, who was attacked, after liis defeat

at Methven, by MacdougaU of Lorn, and de-

feated in Strathfillan. But Bruce was deter-

mined tliat MacdougaU should not long enjoy

liis petty triumpL Having been joined by his

able partisan, Sir James Douglas, he entered the

territory of Lorn. On arriving at the narrow

pass of Ben Cruachan, beween Loch Awe and

Loch Etive, Bruce was informed that Mac-

dougaU had laid an ambuscade for him. Bruce

divided his army into two parts. One of these

divisions, consisting entirely of archers who
were lightly armed, was placed under the com-

mand of Douglas, who was directed to make a

circuit round the mountain, and to attack the

Highlanders in the rear. As soon as Douglas

Iiad gained possession of the ground above the

Higlilanders, Bruce entered the pass, and, as

soon as he had advanced into its narrow gorge,

lie was attacked by the men of Lorn, who, from

the surrounding heights, hurled down stones

upon him accompanied with loud shouts.

They then commenced a closer attack, but,

being instantly assailed in the rear by Douglas's

division, and assaulted by the king with great

fury in front, they were thrown into complete

disorder, and defeated with great slaughter.

MacdougaU, who was, during the action, on

board a smaU vessel in Loch Etive, waiting the

result, took refuge in his castle of Dunstatfnage.

After ravaging the territory of Lorn, and giving

it up to indiscriminate plxmder, Bruce laid siege

to the castle, which, after a sUght resistance,

was surrendered by the lord of Lorn, who
Bwore homage to the king ; but John, the son

of the chief, refused to submit, and took refuge

in England.

During the civil wars among the competi-

tors for the Scottish crown, and those under

"WaUace and Bruce for the independence of

Scotland, the Highlanders scarcely ever appear

as participators in those stirring scenes which
developed the resources, and caUed forth the

shivaJry of Scotland ; but we are not to infer

from the silence of history that they were less

alive than their southern countrymen to the

honour and glory of their coimtry, or that

they did not contribute to secure its indepen-

dence. General Stewart says that eightecL.

Highland chiefs* fought under Robert Bruce at

Bannockbum; and as these chiefs would be ac-

companied by their vassals, it is fair to suppose

that Highland prowess lent its powerful aid to

obtain that memorable victory which secured

Scotland from the dominion of a foreign

yoke.

After Robert Bruce had asserted the inde-

pendence of his country by the decisive battle

of Bannockburn, the whole kingdom, with the

exception of some of the western islands, under

John of Argyle, the aUy of England, submitted

to his authority. He, therefore, undertook an

expedition against those isles, in which he was

accompanied by Walter, the hereditary liigh-

steward of Scotland, his son-in-law, who, by

liis marriage with Marjory, King Robert's

daughter, laid the foimdation of the Stewart

djniasty. To avoid the necessity of doubUng

the MuU of Kin tyre, wliich was a dangerous

attempt for the smaU vessels then in use,

Robert saUed up Loch-Fyne to Tarbert with his

fleet, which he dragged across the narrow isth-

mus between the lochs of East and West Tar-

bert, by means of a sUde of smooth planks of

trees laid paraUel to each other. It had long

been a superstitious beUef amongst the inha-

bitants of the Western Islands, that they

should never be subdued tUl their invaders

saUed across this neck of land, and it is

said that Robert was thereby partly induced

to foUow the course he did to impress upon the

minds of the islanders a conviction that the

time of their subjugation had arrived. The

islanders were quickly subdued, and Jolm of

Lorn, who, for his services to Edward of Eng-

land, had been invested with the title of Ad-

miral of the Western fleet of Engknd, was

captured and imprisoned first in Dumbarton

* The chiefs at Bannockburn were Mackay, Mackin-
tosh, Macpherson, Cameron, Sinclair, Campbell,
Menzies, Maclean, Sutherland, Robertson, Grant,

Fraser, Macfarlane, Ross, Macgregor, Munro, Mac-
kenzie, and Macquarrie. After the lapse of five

hundred years since the battle of Bannockbum was
fought, it is truly astonishing to find such a number
of direct descendants who are now in existence, and
still possessed of their paternal estates.
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castle, and afterwards in the castle of Locli

Leven, where he died.

The feehle and effeminate reign of David II.

was disturbed by another revolt by the Lord

of the Isles, who was backed in his attempt to

throw off his dependence by a great munber of

the Highland chiefs. David, \vith " an un-

wonted energy of character, commanded the

attendance of the steward, with the prelates

and barons of the realm, and surrounded by

this formidable body of vassals and retainers,

proceeded against the rebels in person. Tlie

expedition was completely sucoessfid. The

rebel prince, John of the Isles, with a nximer-

ous train of those wild Highland chieftains

who followed his banner, and had supported

him in his attempt to throw off his dependence,

met the king at Inverness, and submitted to

liis authority. He engaged in the most solemn

manner, for himself and his vassals, that they

should yield themselves faithfid and obedient

subjects to David, their liege lord ; and not

only give due and prompt obedience to the

ministers and officers of the king in suit and

gervice, as well as in the payment of taxes and

public burdens, but that they would coerce and

put do\vn aU others, of whatever rank or de-

gree, who daied to raise themselves in opposi-

tion to the royal authority, and woidd compel

them either to submit, or would pursue and

banish them from their territories : for the ful-

filment of which obligation the Lord of the

Isles not only gave his own oath, under the

penalty of forfeiting his whole principality if

it was broken, but offered the high-steward, liis

father-in-law, as liis seciuity, and delivered his

lawful son, Donald, his grandson, Angus, and

his natural son, also named Donald, as hostages

for the strict performance of the articles of the

treaty."^ The deed by which John of the

Isles bound himseK to the performance of these

stipulations is dated 15th November, 1309.^

To enable him the better to succeed in re-

ducing the inhabitants of the Highlands and

islands to the obedience of the laws, it is stated

by an old historian, ^ that David used artifice

by dividing the chiefs, and promising high re-

' Tytler's Hist, ofScotland, vol. ii. p. 185. Robert-

«on's Parliamentary Records, p. 115.

* Vide the Deed printed in the Appendix to Tytler's

History, vol. ii.

' Fordun a G jodal, vol. ii. p. 380.

wards to those who should slay or capture their

brother chiefs. The writer says that this dia

bolical plan, by implanting the seeds of dis-

union and war amongst the chiefs, succeeded
;

and that they gradually destroyed one another,

a statement, to say the least of it, highly im-

probable. Certain it is, however, that it was

in this reign that the practice of paying manreni

began, when the powerful wished for followers,

and the weak wanted protection, a circumstance

which shows that the government was too

weak to afford protection to the oppressed, or

to quell the disputes of rival clans.

In the year 1333,* John Monroe, the tutor

of Foulis, in travelling homeward, on his jour-

ney from Edinburgh to Ross, stopped on a

meadow in Stratherdale that he and his ser-

vants might get some repose. While they

were asleep, the owner of the meadow cut off

the tails of their horses. Being resolved to

wipe off this insult, he immediately, on his

return home to Ross, summoned his whole

kinsmen and followers, and, after inform-

ing them how he had been used, craved their

aid to revenge the injury. The clan, of

couise, complied ; and, having selected 350

of the best and ablest men among them,

he returned to Stratherdale, which he wasted

and spoiled ; kUled some of the inhabitants,

and carried off their cattle. In passing by the

isle of Moy, on his return home, Macintosh,

the chief of the clan Chattan, being urged by

some person who bore Monroe a grudge, sent

a message to him demanding a share of the

spoil This was customary among the High-

landers when a party drove cattle which had

been so taken through a gentleman's land, and

the part so exacted was called a Staoig Rathaid,

or Staoig Creich, that is, a Road CoUop. Mon-

roe, not being disposed to quarrel, offered Mac-

intosh a reasonable share, but this he was

advised not to accept, and demanded the half

of the booty. Monroe refused to comply with

such an unreasonable demand, and proceeded

on his journey. Macintosh, determined to en-

force compliance, immediately collected his

clansmen, and went in pursuit of Monroe,

whom he overtook at Clach-na-Haire, near In-

8 This is the date assigned by Sir Robert Gordon,

but Shaw makes it more than a century later, viz., in

U5i.



FEUD BETWEEN THE CLAX CHATT.\J^ AND THE CA^IERONS. 65

verness. As soon as Monroe saw Macintosh

approacliing, he sent home five of his men to

Ferrindonald 'with the cattle, and prepared for

action. But Macintosh paid dearly for his ra-

pacity and rashness, for he and the greater part

of Ms men were killed in the conflict. Several

of the Mom'oes also were slain, and John Mon-

roe himself was left for dead in the field of

battle, and might have died if the predecessor

of Lord Lovat had not carried him to his house

in the neighbom-hood, where he was oiu'ed of

his wounds. One of his hands was so muti-

lated, that he lost the use of it the remainder

of his life, on wliich account he was afterwards

called Jolm Bac-laimh, or Ciotach.'

Besides the feuds of the clans in the reign of

David II., the Highlands appear to have been

disturbed by a formidable insurrection against

the government, for, in a parliament wliich

was held at Scone, in the year 1366, a resolu-

tion was entered into to seize the rebels in Ar-

gyle, Athole, Badenoch, Lochaber, and Eoss,

and all others who had risen up against tlie

royal autliority, aud to compel them to submit

to the laws. The chief leaders in this commo-

tion (of which the bare mention in the parlia-

mentary record is the only aocoimt wliioli has

reached us,) were the Earl of Eoss, Hugh de

Ross, John of the Isles, John of Lorn, and

John de Haye, who were all summoned to at-

tend the parliament and give in their submis-

sion, but they all refused to do so in the most

decided manner; and as the government was

too weak to compel them, they were suffered

to remain independent.

In the year 1386, a feud having taken place

between the clan Chattan and the Camerons, a

battle took place in wliich a great niunber of

the clan Chattan were kOled, and the Camerons

were nearly cut off to a man. The occasion of

the quarrel was as follows. The lands of Macin-

tosh ^ in Lochaber, were possessed by the Ca-

» Sir R. GorJon, p. 47.—Shaw, p. 264.
' According to that eminent antiquary, the Rev.

Donald Macintosh, non-juring episcopal clergyinau,

in his historical illustrations of his Collections of Gaelic

Proverbs, published in 1785, the ancestor of Macin-
tosh became head of the clan Chattan in this way.
During these contests for the Scottish crown, whicli

succeeded the death of King Alexander III., ami fa-

voured the pretensions of the King of the Isles, the
latter styling himself " King," had, in 1291, sent his

nephew Angus Macintosh of Macintosh to Dougall
Dall (Blind) MacGillichattan, chief of the clan Chat-

merous, who were so tardy in the payment of

their rents that Macintosh was frequently

obliged to levy them by force by carrying off

his tenants' cattle. The Camerons were so

irritated at having their cattle poinded and

taken away, that they resolved to make repri-

sals, preparatory to wluch they marched into

Badenoch to the nmnber of about 400 men,

under the command of Charles Macgilony.

As soon as Macintosh became acquainted

with this movement he called his clan and
friends, the Macphersons and Davidsons, to-

gether. His force was superior to that of the

Camerons, but a dispute arose among the cliiefs

which almost proved fatal to them. To Mac-

intosh, as captain of the clan Chattan, the

command of the centre of the army was as-

signed with the consent of all parties; but a

difference took place between Cluny and In-

vernahavon, each claiming the command of the

right Aving. Clmiy demanded it as the chief

of the ancient clan Chattan, of which the Da-

vidsons of Invernahavon were only a branch
;

but Invernahavon contended tliat to him, as

tlie oldest branch, the command of the right

wing belonged, according to the custom of the

clans. The Camerons came up diuing this

quarrel about precedency, on which Macui-

tosh, as ronpire, decided against the claim of

Clmiy. This was a most imprudent award, as

the Macphersons exceeded both the Macin-

toshes and Davidsons in numbers, and they

were, besides, in the country of the Macpher-

sons. These last were so offended at the deci-

sion of Macintosh that they withdrew from

the field, and became, for a time, spectators of

the action. The battle soon commenced, and

was fought with great obstinacy. Many of the

Macintoshes, and almost all the Davidsons,

were cut off by the superior number of the Car

tan, or Macphersons, to acquaint him that " tJie Icimj
"

was to pay him a visit. Macpherson, or MacGillichat-

tan, as he was named, in honour of tlie founder of the
family Gillichattan* Mor, having an only child, a

daughter, who, he dreaded, might attract an incon-

venient degree of royal notice, offered her in marriage
to Macintosh along with his lands, and the station of

the chief of the clan Chattan. Macintosh accepted

the offer, and was received as chief of the lady's clan.
* " A votary or servant of St. Kattan," a most poi)ular

Scottish saint, we have thus Oiflicltcdlitni, meaning a " vo-

tary of Columha," and of which another form is Malcolm
or Molcalm, the prefix Mol being corrupted into Mai,
signifying the same as Gilly. Thus Gittii-Dhia is the

etymon of Culdee, signifying '* servant of God,"

—

Qilli-

Christ means '* servant of Christ."
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merons. The Maophersons seeing their friends

and neighhours almost overpowered, could no

longer restrain themselves, and friendship got

the better of their wounded pride. They,

therefore, at this perilous crisis, rushed in

upon the Camerons, who, from exha\istion and

the loss they had sustained, were easily de-

feated. The few that escaped, with their

leader, were pursued from luvernahavou, the

place of hattle, three miles above Euthven, to

Badenoch. Charles Macgilony was killed on a

hUl in Glenbenchir, which was long called

Torr-Thearlaich, i. e., Charles'-hill.^

In the opinion of Shaw tliis quarrel about

precedency was the origin of the celebrated ju-

1

dicial conflict, which took place on the North

Inch of Perth, before Eobert III., his queen,

Annabella Drunimond, and the Scottish no-

bility, and some foreigners of distinction, in

the year 1396, and of which a variety of ac-

counts have been given by our ancient histor-

ians. The parties to this combat were the

Macphersons, properly the clan Chattan, and

the Davidsons of Invernahavon, called in the

Gaelic Clann-Dhaiblddli. The Davidsons were

not, as some writers have supposed, a separate

clan, but a branch of the clan Chattan. These

rival tribes had for a long period kept up a

deadly enmity ^vith one another, which was

difficult to be restrained ; but after the award

by Macintosh against the Macphersons, that

enmity broke out into open strife, and for ten

years the Macphersons and the Davidsons car-

ried on a war of extermination, and kept the

country in an uproar.

To put an end to these disorders, it is said

that Eobert III. sent Dunbar, Earl of Moray,

and Lindsay of Glenesk, afterwards Earl of

Crawford, two of the leading men of the king-

dom, to endeavour to effect an amicable ar-

rangement between the contending parties

;

but having failed in their attempt, they pro-

posed that the differences should be decided in

open combat before the king. Tytler' is of

opinion that, the notions of the Norman knights

having by this time become famihar to the

fierce mountaineers, they adopted the singular

idea of deciding their quarrel by a combat of

30 against 30. Burton, however, with his

' Shaw's History of Moray, pp. 260, 261.
' Vol. iii. pp. 76, 77.

usual sagacity, remai'ks that, " for a whole

race to submit to the ordeal of battle would im-

ply the very highest devotion to those rules of

chivalry which were an extravagant fasliion in

all the countries under the Norman influence,

but were utterly unknown to the Highlanders,

who submitted when they must submit, and

retaUated when they could. That such an ad-

justment could be effected among them is about

as incredible as a story about a parliamentary

debate in Persia, or a jury trial in Timbuctoo."''

The beautiful and perfectly level meadow on

the banks of the Tay at Perth, known as the

North Inch, was fixed on, and the Monday

before Michaelmas was the day appomted for

the combat. According to Sir Eobert Gordon,

who is followed by Sir Eobert Douglas and

Mr. Macldntosh, it was agreed that no weapon

but the broad sword was to be employed, but

Wyntoiui, wlio lived about the time, add.s

bows, battle-axes, and daggers.

"All thai entrit in Barrens,

With Bow and Axe, Knyf and Swerd,

To deal amang them thair last Werd.''

The numbers on each side have been variously

reported. By mistaking the word triceni, used

by Boece and Buchanan, for treceni, some

writers have mtiltiplied them to 300. Bower,

the continuator of Fordun and "Wyntoun, how-

ever, mentions expressly 60 in all, or 30 on

either side.

On the appointed day the combatants made

their appearance on the North Inch of Perth,

to decide, in presence of the king, his queen,

and a large concourse of the nobility, their re-

spective clauns to superiority. Barriers had

been erected on the ground to prevent the

spectators from encroaching, and the king and

his party took their stations upon a platform

from which they could easily view the combat.

At length the warriors, armed with sword and

target, bows and arrows, short knives and

battle-axes, advanced within the barriers, and

eyed one another -ivith looks of deadly revenge.

Wlien about to engage, a circumstance occurred

which postponed the battle, and had weU-nigh

prevented it altogether. According to some

accounts, one of the Macphersons fell sick;

but Bower says, that when the troops had been

* VoL iii p. 72.
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marslialled, one of the Macphersons, panic-

struck, slipped tlirougli the crowd, plunged

into the Tay and swam across, and, though

piirsued by thousands, effected his escape.

Sir Eobert Gordon merely observes, that, " at

their entrie into the feild, the clan Chattan

lacked one of their number, who wes privilie

stolne away, not willing to be pertaker of so

deir a bargane." A man being now wanting

on one side, a pause ensued, and a proposal

was made that one of the Davidsons should

retu'o, that the number on both sides might be

equal, but thoy refused. As the combat could

not proceed from this inequality of numbers,

the king was about to break up the assembly,

when a dimiimtive and crooked, but fierce

man, named Henry Wynd, a burgher of Perth,

better known to readers of Scott as Hal o' the

Wynd, and an armom'er by trade, sprung with-

in the barriers, and, as related by Bower, thus

addressed the assembly: "Here am I. WiU
any one fee me to engage with these hirelings

in this stage play? For haK a mark wiU I try

the game, provided, if I escape alive, I have

my board of one of you so long as I live.

Greater love, as it is said, hath no man than

this, that a man lay down liis life for his

friends. What, then, shall be my reward,

who stake my life for the foes of the common-

wealth and realm?" Tliis demand of Gow

Crom, " Crooked Smith," as Henry was fami-

liarly styled, adds Bower, was granted by the

king and nobles. A murderous conflict now

began. The armourer, bending his bow, and

sending the fijst arrow among the opposite

party, killed one of them. After showers of

arrows had been discharged on both sides, the

combatants, with fury in their looks, and re-

venge in their hearts, rushed upon one another,

and a terrific scene ensued, which appalled the

heart of many a valorous knight who witnessed

the bloody tragedy. The violent thrusts of

the daggers, and the tremendous gashes in-

flicted by the two-handed swords and battle-

axes, hastened the work of butchery and deatL

" Heads were cloven asunder, limbs were

lopped from the trunk. The meadow was

ioon flooded with blood, and covered with

dead and wounded men."^

' Tales of a Orand/ather, toI. ii.

After the crooked armourer had killed liis

man, as already related from Bower, it is said

that he either sat down or drew aside, which

being observed by the leader of Cluny's band,

he asked his reason for thus stopping; on

which Wynd said, " Because I have fvdfilled

my bargain, and earned my wages."—"The
man," exclaimed the other, " who keeps no

reckoning of liis good deeds, without reckoning

shall be repaid," an observation which tempted

the armourer to earn, in the multiplied deaths

of his opponents, a sum exceeding by as many
times the original stipulation. This speech of

the leader has been formed into the Gaelic

adage,

*' Am /car Jiach euiintaclh riwia

Cha chuinntainn ris,"

which Macintosh thus renders,

"The man that reckons not with me
I will not reckon with him."

Victory at last declared for the Macphersons,

but not imtU 29 of the Davidsons had fallen

prostrate in the arms of death. Nineteen of

Cluny's men also bit the dust, and the remain-

ing 11, with the exception of Henry Wynd,

who by his excellence as a swordsman had

mainly contributed to gain the day, were all

grievously wounded. The survivor of the

clan Davidson escaped unhui't. Mackintosh

following Buchanan, relates that this man,

after all his companions had fallen, threw him-

self into the Tay, and making the opposite

bank, escaped ; but this is most likely a new ver-

sion of Bower's accoimt of the affrighted cham-

pion before the commencement of the action.

The leader of the clan Kay or Davidsons is

called by Bower Schea-beg, and by Wyntoun,

ScJia-Ferquharis son. Boece calls him Strat-

berge. Who Cliristi-Mao-Iain, or Christi-Joii-

son was genealogically, we are not informed

;

but one thing is pretty clear, that he, not

Schea-beg, or Shaw Oig,—for these are obvi-

ously one and the same,—commanded the clan

Chattan, or " Clann-a-Chait."^ Both the prin-

cipals seem to have been absent, or spectators

merely of the battle ; and as few of the lead-

ing men of the clan, it is believed, were parties

• For a more thorough discussion of this fight, aea

the account of the Clan Mackintosh in Vol. II.
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in the combat, tlie savage policy of the govcru-

ment, which, it is said, had taken tliis method

to rid itself of the chief men of the clan, by

making them destroy one another, was com-

pletely defeated. This affair seems to have

produced a good effect, as the Highlanders re-

mained quiet for a considerable time thereafter.

The disorders in the Highlands occasioned

by the feuds of the clans were, about the period

in question, gi'eatly augmented by Alexander

of Badenoch, fourth son of Robert II., whom

he had constituted Lieutenant or governor fi-om

the limits of ]\Ioray to the Pentland Frith.

This person, from the ferocity of his disposi-

tion, obtained the appropriate appellation of

" the "Wolf of Badenoch." Avaricious as well

Dunkeld Cathetlml.Effigy of " the Wolf of BLiJei

as cruel, the W'olf seized upon tlie lauds of

Alexander Barr, bisliop of Moray, and as he

persisted in keeping violent possession of them,

he was excommunicated. The sentence of e.x-

communication not only proved unavailing, but

tended to exasperate the Lord of Badenoch to

such a degree of fury that, in the month of

May, 1390, he descended from his heights and

burnt the to'\\Ti of Forres, with the choir of the

chiwch and tlie manse of the archdeacon. And
in June following, he burnt the town of Elgin,

the chui'ch of Saint Giles, the hospital of Mai-

son-Dieu, and the cathedral, with eighteen

houses of the canons and chaplains in the

college of Elgin. He also plundered these

churches of their sacred utensils and vestments,

which he carried off. For this horrible sacri-

lege the Lord of Badenoch was prosecuted, and

obliged to make due reparation. Upon making

his submission he was absolved by Walter Trail,

bishop of St. Andrews, in the chm-ch of the

Black Friars, in Perth. He was first received

at the door, and afterwards before the high

altar, in presence of the king (Robert III. liis

brother,) and many of the nobility, on condi-

tion that he should make full satisfaction to

the bishop of Moray, and obtain absolution

from the pope. ^

The Lord of Badenoch had a natural son,

named Alexander Stewart, afterwards Earl of

Mar, who uiherited the vices of Ids father.

Bent upon spoliation and bloodshed, and re-

solved to imitate liis father's barbarous exploits,

he collected, in 1392, a vast number of oaterans,

armed only with the sword and target, and

with these he descended from the range of hUls

which divides the county of Aberdeen and

Forfar, devastated the country, and murdered

the inhabitants indiscriminately. A force was

instantly collected by Sir Walter OgUvy, sheriff

of Angus, Sir Patrick Gray, and Sir David Lind-

say of Glenesk, to oppose him, and although

inferior in numbers, they attacked Stewart and

his party of freebooters at Gasldune, near the

water of Ha. A desperate conflict took place,

which was of short duration. The caterans

fought with determined bravery, and soon over-

powered their assailants. The sheriff, his bro-

ther, Wat of Lichtoune, Young of Ouchterlony,

the lairds of CaiiTicross, Forfar, and Guthry,

and 60 of their followers, were slain. Sir

Patrick Gray and Sir David Lindsay were

severely woiuided, and escaped with difficult}'.

Winton has preserved an anecdote illustrative

of the fierceness of the Higlilanders. Lindsay

had run one of them, a strong and bra\vny

man, through the body with a spear, and

brought him to the earth ; but although in the

agonies of death, he writhed himself up, and

with the spear sticking in his body, straek

Lindsay a desperate blow with his sword, which

cut him through the stirrup and boot into the

bone, on which he instantly fell and expned.

'

Nicolas, Earl of Sutherland, liad a feud with

Y-]\Iackay of Far, in Stratlmaver, chief of the

Glanwig-worgm, and his son Donald Mackay.

in which many lives were lost, and gi'eat de-

predations committed on both sides. Li crJei

' Shaw's Moray, pp. 314-1.5.—Wintoa, vol,

363.—Keith's Cntalogue, p. 83.

' Winton, vol. ii. p. 369.
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to put an end to tliis difference, the Enii pro-

posed a meeting of tlie parties at Dingwall, to

bo held in presence of the Lord of the Isles,

his father-in-law, and some of the EeigliLouring

gentry, the friends of the two faraiUes. The

meeting ha^^ng been agreed to, the parties met

at the appointed time, in tbe year 1395, and

took up their residence in the castle of Ding-

wall in apartments allotted for them. A dis-

cussion then took place between the Eail and

Mackay, regarding the points in controversy,

in which high and reproachful words were ex-

changed, which so incensed the Earl, that he

killed Mackay and his son witli his own hands.

Having with some difficulty effected Itis escape

from the followers and servants of the Mac-

kays, he immediately returned home and pre-

pared for defence, but the Mackays were too

weak to take revenge. The matter was in

some degree reconciled between Robert, the

successor of Nicolas, and Angus Mackay, tlic

eldest son of Donald. ^

Some years after this event a serious conflict

took place between the inhabitants of Suther-

land and Stratlmaver, and Malcolm Macleod

of the Lewis, which arose out of the following

circumstances. Angus Mackay above men-

tioned, had married a sister of Malcolm Mao-

lood, by whom he had two sons, Angus

Dow, and Roriegald. On the death of Angus,

Houcheon Dow ^Mackay, a younger brotlier, be-

came tutor to his nephews, and entered upon

the management of their lands. Malcolm Mac-

leod, understanding that his sister, the widow
of Angus, was ill treated by HoTicheon Dow,
went on a visit to her, accompanied by a num-

ber of the choicest men of his country, ^vith the

determmation of vindicating her cause either

by entreaty or by force. He appears not to

have succeeded in his object, for he returned

homeward greatly discontented, and in revenge

laid waste Strathnaver and a great part of the

Breachat in Sutherland, and carried off booty

along with him. As soon as Houcheon Dow
and his brother NeQl Mackay learnt this in-

telligence, they acquainted Robert, Earl of

Sutherland, between whom and Angus Mackay
a reconciliation had been effected, who imme-

diately dospatehed Alexander Ne-Shrem-GoTmo

(Alexander Mm-ray of Cubin,) with a number

of stout and resolute men, to assist the Mac-

kays. They followed Macleod with great haste,

and overtook him at Tittum-Tumigh, upon the

marches between Ross and Sutherland. The

puT.=iuing party at first attempted to recover the

goods and cattle which had been carried off,

but this being opposed by Macleod and his

men, a desperate coniliot ensued, in which

great valoiu' was displayed on both sides. It

" was long, furious, cruel, and doubtful," says

Sit Robert Gordon, and was " rather desperate

than resolute." At last the Lewismen, with

their commander, Malcolm Macleod, nick-

named Gileahn Beg M'Bowen, were slain, and

the goods and cattle were recovered. One

man alone of Macleod's party, who was sorely

wounded, escaped to bring home the sorrowful

news to the Lewis, which he had scarcely de-

livered when he expired. ^

These feuds were followed by a formidable in-

surrection, or more correctly, invasion, in 1411,

by Donald, Lord of the Isles, of such a serious

nature as to threaten a dismemberment of the

Idngdom of Scotland. The male succession to

the earldom of Ross having become extinct,

the honours of the peerage devolved upon a

female, Euphemia Ross, vn!e of Sir "Walter

Lesley. Of this marriage there were two cliU-

dren, Alexander, afterwards Earl of Ross, and

Margaret, afterwards married to the Lord of the

Isles. ICarl Alexander married a daughter of

the Duke of jUbany. Euphemia, Countess of

Ross, was the only issue of this marriage, but

becoming a nun she resigned the earldom of

Ross in favour of her uncle John Stewart, Ear]

of Buchan. The Lord of the Isles conceiving

that the countess, by renouncing the world,

had forfeited her title and estate, and, more-

over, that she had no right to dispose thereof,

I'laimed both in right of Margaret his wife.

The Duke of Albany, governor of Scotland, at

whose instigation the countess had made the

renunciation, of course refused to sustain the

claim of the prince of the islands. The Lord

of the Isles having formed an alhance with

England, wncnce he was to be supplied

with a fleet far superior to the Scottish, at

the head of an army of 10,000 men, fully

Sir Robeit Gordon's Uixtory, p. 60. tfir Robert Gordon, pp. 61, G2.
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equippid and armed after the fashion of the

islands with ho-ivs and arrows, pole-axes, knives,

and swords, in 1411 burst lilte a torrent upon

the earldom, and carried everj^tliing before him.

He, however, received a temporary check at

Dingwall, where he was attacked with great

impetuosity by Angus Dubh Mackay of EaiT,

or Black Angus, as he was called ; but Angus

was taken prisoner, and his brother Eoderic

Gald and many of his men were killed.

Flushed with the progress he had made,

Donald now resolved to carry into execution

a threat he had often made to burn the town

of Aberdeen. For this purpose he ordered his

army to assemble at Inverness, and summoned

all the men capable of bearing arms in the

Boyne and the Enzie, to join his standard on

his way south. This order being complied

with, the Lord of the Isles marched through

Moray without opposition. He committed

great excesses in Strathbogie and in the dis-

trict of Garioch, which belonged to the Earl of

Mar. The inhabitants of Aberdeen were in

dreadful alarm at the near approach of this

marauder and his fierce hordes ; but their fears

were allayed by the speedy appearance of a

well-equipped army, commanded by the Earl

of Mar, who bore a high military character,

assisted by many brave knights and gentlemen

in Angus and the Meams. Among these were

Sir Alexander Ogilvy, sheriff of Angus, Sir

James Scrymgeour, constable of Dundee and

hereditary standard-bearer of Scotland, Sir

"William de Abernethy of Salton, nephew to

the Duke of Albany, Sir Robert IMaule of Pan-

mure, Sir Alexander Irving of Dnmi, and Sir

Robert Melville. The Earl was also joined by

Sir Robert Davidson, the Provost of Aberdeen,

and a party of the burgesses.

Advancing from Aberdeen, Mar marched by
Tnverury, and descried the Highlanders sta-

tioned at the village of Harlaw, on the water of

XTry,near its junction with the Don. Mar soon

saw that he had to contend ^vith tremendous

odds; but although his forces were, it is said,

only a tenth of those opposed to him, ho

resolved, from the confidence he had in his

steel-clad knights, to risk a battle. Having

placed a small but select body of knights and

men-atrarms in front, under the command of

the constable of Dundee and the sheriff of

Augus, the Earl drew up the main strength of

his army in the rear, including the Murrays,

the Straitens, the !Maules, the Irvings, the

Lesleys, the Levels, the Stirlings, headed by

their respective chiefs. The Earl then placed

himself at the head of this body. At tlie head

of the Islesmen and Highlanders v.'as the Lord

of the Isles, subordinate to whom were Mac-

intosh and Maclean and other Higldand chiefs,

aU bearing the most deadly hatred to their

Saxon foes, and panting for revenge.

On a signal being given, the Highlanders

and Islesmen, setting up those terrific shouts

and yells which they were accustomed to raise

on entering into battle, rushed forward upon

their opponents ; but they were received with

great firmness and bravery by the knights,

who, with their spears levelled, and battle-axes

raised, cut do^^^l many of their impetuous but

badly armed adversaries. After the Low-

landers had recovered themselves from the

shock which the furious onset of the High-

landers had produced, Sir James Scrymgeour,

at the head of the Imights and bannerets who
fought \mder him, cut his way through the

thick columns of the Islesmen, carrying death

everywhere around him; but the slaughter of

hundreds by this brave party did not intimi-

date the Highlanders, who kept pouring in by

thousands to supply the place of those who

had fallen. Surrounded on all sides, no alterna-

tive remained for Sir James and his valorous

companions but victory or death, and the latter

was their lot. The constable of Dundee was

amongst the first who suffered, and his fall so en-

couraged the Highlanders, that seizing and stab-

bing the horses, they thus imliorsed their riders,

whom they despatched with their daggers. In

the meantime the Earl of Mar, who had pene-

trated with his main army into the very heart

of the enemy, kept up the unequal contest

with great bravery, and, although he lost dur-

ing the action almost the whole of his army,

he continued the fatal struggle with a handful

of men till nightfall. The disastrous result

of this battle was one of the greatest mis-

fortunes which had ever happened to the

numerous respectable families in Angus and

the Meams. Many of these families lost

not only their head, but every male in the

house. Lesley of Balquhain is said to have
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fallen with six of his sons. Besides Sir James

ScrjTngeour, Sir Alexander Ogilvy the sheriff

of Angus, with his eldest son George Ogilvy,

Sir Thomas Mm-ray, Sir Kobert Maule of Pan-

mure, Sir Alexander Irving of Drum, Sir Wil-

liam Abernetliy of Salton, Sir Alexander Strai-

ten of Lauriston, James Lovel, and Alexander

Stirling, and Sir Robert Davidson, Provost of

Aberdeen, with 500 men-atrarms, including

the principal gentry of Buchan, and the gi'eator

part of the burgesses of Aberdeen who fol-

lowed their Provost, were among the slain.

The Highlanders left 900 men dead on the

field of battle, including the chiefs Maclean

and Mackintosh. This memorable battle was

fought on the eve of the feast of St. James the

Apostle, Jidy 25th, 1411. It was the final

contest for supremacy between the Celt and

the Teuton, and appears to have made at the

time an inconceivably deep impression on the

national mind. For more than a hundred

years, it is said, the battle of Harlaw continued

to be fought over again by schoolboys in their

play. " It fixed itself in the music and the

poetry of Scotland; a march, called the ' Battle

of Harlaw,' continued to be a popular air down

to the time of Drummond of Hawtliornden,

and a spirited ballad, on the same event, is

still repeated in our age, describing the meeting

of the armies, and the deaths of the chiefs, in

no ignoble strain." ^

Mar and the few brave companions in arms

who survived the battle, passed the night on

the field; when morning da^^^led, they found

that the Lord of tlio Isles had retreated during

the night, by Invcrury and the hill of Bcnochy.

To pursue him was impossible, and ho was

' Tj-tler, vol. iii. p. 17

ioncludcs thus :—
The ballad of the Battle

There was not, sin' King Kenneth's daj'S,

Sic strange intestine cruel strife

In Scotlande seen, as ilk man says.

Where monie likelie lost their life

;

Whilk made divorce tween man and wife.

And monie children fatherless,

Whilk in this realm has been full rife

;

Lord help these lands ! our wrangs redres.s I

In .July, on Saint James his evin,

That four-and-twenty dismal day.
Twelve hundred, ten score, and eleven
Of years sin' Christ, the soothe to say

;

Men will remember, a.s they may.
When thus the veritie they knaw

;

And monie a ane will mourne for aye
The brim battle of the Harlaw.

therefore allowed to retire without molestation,

and to recrmt his exhausted strength.

-

As soon as the news of the disaster at Hai-

law reached the ears of the Duke of Albany,

then regent of Scotland, he set about collecting

an army, TV'ith which he marched in per.ion to

the north in autumn, with a determination to

bring the Lord of the Isles to obedience. Hav-

ing taken possession of the castle of Dingwall,

he appointed a governor, and from thence pro-

ceeded to recover the wliole of Eoss. Donald

retreated before him, and took up his whiter-

quarters in the islands. Hostilities were re-

newed next summer, but the contest was not

long or doubtful—notwithstanding some little

advantages obtamed by the King of the Isles

—

for he was compelled to give up his claim to

the earldom of Koss, to become a vassal to the

Scottish crown, and to deliver hostages to se-

cure his future good behaviour. A treaty to

this effect was entered into at PUgilbe or Pol-

gUlip, the modern Loch-GUp, in Argyle.

CHAPTER VI.

A. D. 1424-1512.

KINGS OF SCOTLAND :-

James I.—State of Country—Policy of the King to the

Highland Chiefs—Lord of the Isles—Disturbances in

Sutherland—Barbarity of a Robber—James's High-
land Exjieditioa—Disturbances in Caithness—In-

surrection in the West under Donald Balloch—Lord
of the Isles invades Sutherland—Allan of Lorn

—

Machinations of Edward IV. with Island Chiefs

—

Rebellion of Earl of Eoss—Lord of the Isles sub-

raits—Disturbances in Koss and Sutherland—W^ise

Policy of James IV.—Visits Highlands—Feuds in

Sutherland—Highlanders at Flodden.

On the return of James I., in 1424, from his

captivity in England, he found Scotland, and

' "So ended one of Scotland's most memorable bat-

tles. The contest between the Lowlanders and Don-
ald's host was a contest between foes, of whom their

contemporaries would have said that their ever being

in harmony with each other, or having a feeling ol

common interests and common nationality, was not

within the range of rational expectations

It will be difficult to nia-ke those not familiar with the

tone of feeling in Lowland Scotland at that time be-

lieve that the defeat of Donald of the Isles was felt as

a more memorable deliverance even than that of Ban-

nockburn."—Burton, vol. iii. pp. 101, 102.
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particularly the HiglJands, in a state of the

most fearful insuhordination. Rapine, rob-

bery, and an utter contempt of the laws pre-

vailed to an alanning extent, which required

all the energy of a wise and prudent priuce,

like James, to repress. Wlien these excesses

were first reported to James, by one of liis

nobles, on entering the Idngdom, he thus ex-

pressed himself :
—" Let God but grant me life,

and there shall not be a spot in my dominions

where the key shall not keep the castle, and

the furze-bush the cow, though I myself should

lead the hfe of a dog to accompKsh it."' "At

this period, the condition of the Highlands, so

far as is discoverable from the few authentic

documents wliich have reached our times, ap-

pears to have been in the highest degree rude

and uncivilized. There existed a singular com-

bination of Celtic and of feudal manners.

Powerful chiefs, of Norman name and Norman

blood, had penetrated into the remotest dis-

tricts, and rided over multitudes of vassals and

serfs, whose strange and rmcouth appellatives

proclaim their difference of race in the most

convincing manner. * The tenure of lands by

charter and seisin, the feudal services due by

the vassal to his lord, the bands of friendship

or of manrent which indissolubly imited certain

cliiefs and nobles to each other, the baronial

courts, and the complicated official pomp of

feudal hfe, were all to be found in full strength

and operation in the northern coimties ; but

the dependence of tlie barons, who liad taken

up their residence in these wild districts, upon

the king, and their allegiance and subordina-

tion to the laws, were less intimate and influ-

ential than in the Lowland divisions of the

'.ountiy ; and as they experienced less protec-

tion, we have ah-eady seen, that in great pubhc

emergencies, when the captivity of the sover-

eign, or the pa}nnent of his ransom, called for

the imposition of a tax upon projierty tlu'ough-

out tlio kingdom, these great northern chiefs

thought themselves at liberty to resist the col-

lection within their mountainous principalities.

"Besides such Scoto-Norman barons, how-

ever, there were to be found in the Highlands

and Isles, those fierce aboriginal chiefs, who

' Fordun a Goodal, voL ii. p. 511.
' M.S. Adv. Lib. Coll. Diplom. a M.ncfarlane, vol.

i.
i>. 245.—MS. Cart. Moray, 253.

hated the Saxon and the Norman race, and

offered a mortal opposition to the settlement of

all intruders within a country wliich they con-

sidered their own. They exercised the same

authority over the various clans or septs of

which they were the chosen heads or leaders,

which the baron possessed over his vassals

and military followers ; and the dreadful dis-

putes and coUisions which perpetually occurred

between these distinct ranks of potentates,

were accompanied by spoliations, ravages, im-

prisonments, and murders, which had at last

become so frequent and so far extended, that

the whole country beyond the Grampian range

was likely to be cut off, by these abuses, from

all regular communication with the more pacific

parts of the kingdom."'

Having, by a firm and salutary, but perhaps

severe, course of policy, restored the empire of

the laws in the Lowlands, and obtained the

enactment of new statutes for the future wel-

fare and prosperity of the kingdom, Jaraos

next turned his attention to his Highland do-

minions, wliich, as we have seen, were in a do-

plorable state of insubordination, that made

both property and hfe insecure. The king

determined to visit in person the disturbed

districts, and by punishing the refractory chiefs,

put an end to those tmnults and enomiitiea

wliich had, during his minority, triumphed

over the laws. James, in the 3'ear 1427, ar-

rived at Inverness, attended by his parhamciit,

and immediately summoned the principal cliiefa

there to appear before him. From wliatever

motives—whether from hopes of efi'ectuig a

reconciliation by a ready compliance with the

mandate of the king, or from a dread, in case

of refusal, of the fate of tlic powerful barons

of the south who had fallen victims to James's

severity—the order of the king was obeyed, arid

the chiefs repaired to Inverness. No sooner,

however, liad they entered the hall where tlie

parliament was sitting, than they were by

order of the Icing arrested, ironed, and im-

prisoned in different apartments, and debarred

all communication with each otlier, or ivitli

their followers. It has been supposed that

these chiefs may have been entrapped by some

fair promises on the part of James, and the joy

= Tytler, vol. iii. pp. 250, 251.
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James X.

whicli, according to Forduii, ho manifested at

i?eeing tliose turbulent and haughty spirits

'.•F.ugit in the toils which he had prepared for

them, favours tliis conjecture. The numher of

chiefs seized on this occasion is stated to have

amounted to about forty; but the names of

the principal ones only have been preserved.

These were Alaster or Alexander Macdonald,

Lord of the Isles ; Angus Dubh Mackay, ^viih

his four sons, who could bring into the field

4,00C fighting men ; Kenneth More and his

sor-in-law, Angus of IMoray, and Macmathan,

V'ho -^ould muster 2,000 men ; Alexander Mac-

reiny of Garmoran and John Macarthur, each of

v^hom could bring into the field 1 ,000 followers.

Besides these were Jolm Eoss, James Campbell,

and William Lesley. The Countess of Eoss,

the mother of Alexander, the Lord of the Isles,

and heiress of Sir Walter Lesley, was also

apprehended and imprisoned at the same time. ^

The king now determined to inflict summary

vengeance upon his captives. Those who were

most conspicuous for their crimes were imme-

diately executed ; among whom were James

Campbell, who was tried, convicted, and hanged

' Forduu a Heame, vol. iv. pp. 12S3—4.

for the murder of John of the Isles ; and AIjx-

under Macreiny and John Macarthur, who wore

lieheaded. Alexander of the Isles and Angus

Dubh, after a short confinement, were both

pardoned ; but the latter was obliged to deKver

up, as a hostage for his good behaviour, his

son Neill, who was confined on the Bass rock,

and, from that circumstance, was afterward.^

named Neill-Wasse-Mackay. ^ Besides these,

many others who were kept in prison in differ-

ent parts of the kingdom, were afterwards con-

demned and executed.

The royal clemency, wliich had been extended

80 graciously to the Lord of the Isles, met with

an ungrateful return ; for shortly after the king

had returned to his lowland dominions, Alex-

ander collected a force of ten thousand men in

Eoss and the Isles, and with this formidable

body laid waste the country
;
plundered and

devastated the crown lands, against which his

vengeance was chiefly directed, and razed the

royal burgh of Inverness to the ground. On

hearing of these distressing events, James, vrith

a rapitlity rarely equalled, collected a force, the

extent of which has not been ascertained, and

marched with great speed into Lochaber, where

he found the enemy, who, from the celerity of

liis movements, was taken almost by surpri.se.

Alexander prepared for battle ; but, before its

commencement, he had the misfortune to vdt-

ness the desertion of the clan Chattan, and

the clan Cameron, who, to a man, went over

to the royal standard. The king, thereupon,

attacked Alexander's anny, which he com-

pletely routed, and the latter sought safety in

flight.

Eeduced to the utmost distress, and seeing

the impossibility of evading the active vigi-

lance of his pursuers, who hunted him from

place to place, this haughty lord, who con-

sidered himself on a par with kings, resolved

to throw himself entirely on the mercy of the

king, by an act of the most abject submission.

Having arrived in Edinburgh, to which he liad

travelled in the most private manner, the hum-

bled chief suddenly presented himself before

the king, on Easter-Sunday, in the church of

Holyrood, when he and his queen, surro'inded

by the nobles of the court, were employed in

' Sir K. Gordon, p. 64.
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tlieir devotions before the high altar. The

extraordinary appearance of the fallen prince

denoted the inward workings of his troubled

mind. Without bonnet, arms, or ornament

of any kind, his legs and arms quite bare, his

body covered with only a plaid, and holding

a naked sword in his hand by the point, he fell

down on his knees before the king, imploring

mercy and forgiveness, and, in token of his un-

reserved submission, offered the hilt of his

sword to liis majesty. At the sohcitation of

the queen and nobles, James spared his life,

but committed him immediately to TantaUan

castle, under the charge of William Earl of

Angus, his nephew. This took place in the

year 1429. The Countess of Ross was kept in

close confinement in the ancient monastery of

Inchcolm, on the small island of that name, in

the Frith of Forth. ^ The king, however, re-

lented, and released the Lord of the Isles and

his mother, after about a year's imprisonment.

About this period happened another of those

bloody frays, which destroyed the internal

peace of the Highlands, and brought ruin and

desolation upon many families. Thomas Mac-

neill, son of NeiU Mackay, who was engaged

in the battle of Tuttum-Turwigh, possessed the

lands of Creigh, Spaniziedaill, ajid Palrossie, in

Sutherland. Having conceived some displea-

sure at Mowat, the laird of Freshwick, the

latter, vfith. liis party, in orde.: to avoid his ven-

geance, took refuge in the chapel of St. Duffus,

near the town of Tain, as a sanctuary. Thither

they were followed by Tliomas, who not only

slew Mowat and his people, but also burnt the

chapel to the gromid. This outrage upon re-

ligion and humanity exasperated the Icing,

who immediately ordered a proclamation to be

issued, denouncing Thomas ISIacneOl as a rebel,

and promising his lands and possessions as a

reward to any one that would lull or appre-

hend him. Angus Murray, son of Alexander

Murray of Cubm, immediately set about the

apprehension of Thomas MacneUl. To accom-

plish his purpose, he held a secret conference

with Morgan and Nedl MacneUl, the brothers

of Thomas, at which he offered, provided

they would assist him in apprehending their

brother, his two daughters in marriage, and

» Fordun, vol. iT. p. 1286.

promised to aid them in getting peaceable pos-

session of such lands in Strathnaver as thej

claimed. This, he showed them, might be

easUy accomplished, with little or no resistance

as NeiU Mackay, son of Angus Dubh, from

whom the chief opposition might have been

expected, was then a prisoner in the Bass, and

Angus Dubh, the father, was imable, from

age and infirmity, to defend his pretensions.

Angus Murray also promised to request the

assistance of the Earl of Sutherland. As these

two brothers pretended a right to the posses-

sions of Angus Dubh in Strathnaver, they were

easily allured by these promises ; they imme-

diately apprehended their brother Thomas at

Spaniziedaill in Sutherland, and delivered him

up to Murray, by whom he was presented tr

the king. MacneUl was immediately executed

at Inverness, and Angus Murray obtained, in

terms of the royal proclamation, a grant of the

lands of Palrossie and SpaniziedaiU from the

king. The lands of Creigh fell into the hands

of the Lord of the Isles, as superior, by the

death and felony of MacneUl.^

In pursuance of liis promise, Murray gave liia

daughters in marriage respectively to NeUl and

Morgan MacneUl, and ^vith the consent and

approbation of Robert Earl of Sutherland, he

invaded Stratlinaver with, a party of Suther-

land men, to take possession of the lands of

Angus Dubh Mackay. Angus immediately

collected his men, and gave the command of

them to John Aberigh, liis natural son, as he

was unable to lead them in person. Both par-

tics met about two mUes from Toung, at a place

called Drum-ne-Coub ; but, before they came

to blows, Angus Dubh Mackay sent a message

to NeUl and Morgan, his cousins-german, offer-

ing to surrender them aU Hs lands and posses-

sions in Strathnaver, if they would allow him

to retain Keantayle. Tliis fair offer was, how-

ever, rejected, and an appeal was therefore

immediately made to arms. A desperate con-

flict then took place, in which many were

killed on both sides ; among whom were

Angus MuiTay and his two sons-in-law, Neill

and Morgan MacneUl. John Aberigh, though

he gained the victory, was severely wounded,

and lost one of his arms. After the battle

' Sir Robert Gordon, pp. 64, 66.
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Angus Dubh Mackay was carried, at liis own

request, to the field, to scarcli for the bodies

of his slain cousins, but ho was kOled hj an

arrow from a Sutherland man who lay con-

cealed in a bush bard by.

James I. made many salutary regulations for

putting an end to the disorders consequent

upon the lawless state of the Highlands, and

the oppressed looked up to him for protection.

The foUowing remarkable case will give some

idea of the extraordinary barbarity in which

the spoliators indulged :—A notorious thief,

named Donald Ross, who had made himself

rich with plunder, carried off two cows from a

poor woman. This woman having expressed a

determination not to wear shoes again tUl she

had made a complaint to the king in person,

the robber exclaimed, " It is false ; I'U have

you shod before you reach the court;" and

thereupon, with a brutality scarcely paralleled,

the cruel monster took two horse shoes, and

fixed them on her feet with nails driven into

the flesh. The victim of this savage act, as

soon as she was able to travel, went to the

king and related to him the whole circum-

stances of her case, which so exasperated him,

that he immediately sent a warrant to the

sheriff of the county, where Ross resided, for his

immediate apprehension ; wliicli being effected,

he and a number of his associates were sent

under an escort to Perth, where the covii was

then held. Ross was tried and condemned, ho

and his friends being treated in the same man-

ner as he had treated the poor woman ; and

before Ms execution a linen shirt, on which

was painted a representation of his crime, was

thro'svn over him, in which dress he was paraded

through the streets of the town, afterwards

dragged at a horse's tail, and hanged on a gal-

lows. ^

Tlie commotions in Strathnaver, and other

parts of the Highlands, induced the king to

make another expedition into that part of his

dominions
;
previous to which ho siunmoned a

Parliament at Perth, which was held on the

15th of October, 1431, in which a land-tax, or

" zelde," was laid upon the whole lands of the

kingdom, to defray the expenses of the under-

taking. No contemporary record of this expe-

' Fordun a Goodal, vol. ii. p. 510.

dition exists ; but it is said that the Idng pro-

ceeded to Dunstailnago castle, to punish those

chiefs who had joined in Donald UaUoch's in-

surrection ; that, on Ids arrival there, numbers

of these came to him and made their submis-

sion, tlirowing the whole odium of the rebel-

lion upon the leader, whose authority, they

alleged, they were afraid to resist ; and that,

by their means, three hundred thieves wore ap-

prehended and put to death.

For several years after this expedition the

Higldands appear to have been tranquil ; but,

on the liberation of NeUl Mackay from his

confinement on the Bass, in the year 1437,

fresh disturbances began. This restless chief

had scarcely been released, when he entered

Caitliness, and spoiled the country. Ho was

met at a place called Sandsett ; but the people

who came to oppose his progress were defeated,

and many of them were slain. This conflict was

called Ruaig Hansct ; that is, the flight, or

chase at Sandsett.

About the same time a quarrel took place be-

tween the Keiths and some others of the inhab-

itants of Caithness. As the Keiths could not

depend v.pon their own forces, they sought the

aid of Angus Mackaj', son of NeiU last men-

tioned, who had recently died. Angus agreed

to join the Keiths; and accordingly, accom-

panied by his brother, Jolm Roy, and a chief-

tain named laiu-Mor-Mac-Iain-Eiabhaich, witli

a company of men, he went into Caitliness,

and, joining the Keiths, invaded that part of

Caithness hostile to the Keiths. The people

of Caithness lost not a moment in assembling

together, and met the Strathnaver men and the

Keiths at a place called Blare-Tannio. Here a

sanguinary contest took place; but victory de-

clared for the Keiths, whose success, it is said,

was chiefly owing to the prowess of lain-Mor-

Mac-Iain-Riabhaich, whose name was, in con-

sequence, long famous in that and the adjoin-

ing country.-

After the defeat of James, Earl of Douglas,

who had renounced his allegiance to James II.,

at Arkinholme, in 1454, he retired into Ar-

gyleshire, where he was received by the Earl

of Ross, with whom, and the Lord of the Isles,

he entered into an alliance. The ocean prince,

^ Sir R. Gordon, p. 69.
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having a powerful fleet of 500 galleys at

liis command, immediately assembled his

vassals, to tlie amoimt of 5,000 figliting men,

and, having embarked tliem in Ms navy,

gave the command of the -whole to Donald

Balloch, Lord of Isla, his near kinsman, a chief

who, besides his possessions in Scotland, liad

great power in tlie north of Ireland. Tliis

potent cliief, whose hereditary antipathy to

the Scottish throne was as keen as that of liis

relation, entered cheerfully into the views of

Douglas. With the force under his command

he desolated the western coast of Scotland

from Innerkip to Bute, the Cumbraes and the

Island of Arran ; yet formidable as he was both

in men and ships, the loss was not so consider-

able as might have been expected, from the

prudent precautions taken by the king to re-

pel the invaders. Tlie summary of the damage

sustained is thus related in a contemporarj-

chionicle:—" There was slain of good men fif-

teen; of women, two or three; of children,

three or four. The plunder included five or

six Imndred horse, ten thousand oxen and kine,

and more than a thousand sheep and goats.

At the same time, they burnt down several

mansions in Innerkip around the church; har-

ried all Arran ; stormed and levelled with the

ground the castle of Brodick ; and wasted, with

firo and sword, the islands of the Cumbraes.

They akso levied tribute upon Bute ; carrying

away a hundred bolls of malt, a hundred mart«,

and a hundred marks of silver." ^

While Donald Balloch was engaged in this

oxpc'lition, the Lord of the Isles, with liis

Idnsmen and followers to the number of five or

six hundred, made an incursion into Suther-

land, and encamped before the castle of Skibo.

AVhat liis object was has not been ascertained;

but, as a measure of precaution, the Earl of

Sutherland sent NeUl Murray, son of j\jigus

Murray, who was slain at Dnrm-na-Coub, to

watch his motions. The Lord of the Isles im-

mediately began to commit depredations, where-

upon he was attacked by Murray, and com-

pelled to retreat into Ross with the loss of one

of his captains, named Donald Duhh-na-Soirn,

and fifty of his men. Exasperated at this de-

feat, Macdonald sent another party of his

• Auchinlcck Chronicle, p. 55.

islanders, along with a companj' of men from

Ross, to Strathfleet in Sutherland to lay waste

the countrj', and thus wipe oft' the disgrace of

his late defeat. On hearing of tliis fresh in-

vasion, the Earl of Sutherland despatched his

brother Robert with a sufficient force to attack

the Clandonald. They met on the sands of

Strathfleet, and, after a fierce and bloody strug-

gle, the islanders and their allies were over-

thrown with great slaughter. Many perished

in the course of their flight. This was the last

hostile irruption of the Clandonald into Suther-

land, as all the disputes between the Lord of

the Isles and the Sutherland family were after-

wards accommodated by a matrimonial alliance.

The vigorous administration of James II..

which checked and controlled the haughty

and turbulent spirit of his nobles, was also

felt in the Higlilands, where liis power,

if not always acknowledged, was neverthe-

less dreaded ; but upon the death of that

wise prince in 1460, and the accession of liis

infant son to the cro^vn, the princes of the

north again abandoned themselves to tlieii

lawless courses. The first who showed the

example was Allan of Lorn of the Wood, as

he was called, a nephew of Donald Balloch by

his sister. Coveting the estate of his eldei

brother, Ker of Lorn, AUan imprisoned him

in a dungeon in tlie island of Kerrera, nith the

view of starving liim to death that he might

the nioi« easily acquire the unjust possession

he desired ; but Ker was liberated, and his pro-

perty restored to him by the Earl of Argyle, to

whom he was nearly related, and who suddenly

attacked Allan with a fleet of galleys, defeated

him, burnt his fleet, and slew the greater part

of his men. This act, so justifiable in itself,

roused the revengeful passions of the island

chiefs, who issued from their ocean retreats and

committed the most dreadful excesses.*

After the decisive battle of Touton, Henry

VT. and his Queen retired to Scotland to watch

the first favourable opportunity of seizing the

sceptre from the house of York. Edward IV.,

anticipating the danger that might arise to his

crown by an alliance between his rival, the

exiled monarch, and the king of Scotland, de-

termined to counteract the effects of such a

' Auchinlcck Chrmiiclc, ]pji. 58, 59.
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connection by a stroke of policy. Aware of

tlio disalfectcd disposition of some of the Scot-

tish nobles, and northern and island chiefs, he

immediately entered into a negotiation with

Jolm, Earl of Eoss, and Donald Balloch, to

detach them from then- allegiance. On the 19th

of October, 1461, the Earl of Eoss, Donald

Balloch, and liis son John de Isle, held a coun-

cil of their vassals and dependants at Astornish,

at wliich it was agreed to send ambassadors to

England to treat with Edward. On the arrival

of these ambassadors a negotiation was entered

into between them and tlie Earl of Douglas,

and John Douglas of Balveny, his brother, both

of whom had been obliged to leave Scotland

for their treasons in the previous reign. These

two brothers, who were animated by a spirit of

hatred and revenge against the family of then-

late sovereign James II., warmly entered into

the views of Edward, whose subjects they had

become ; and they concluded a treaty Avitli the

northern ambassadors wliich assumed as its

basis nothing less than the entu-e conquest of

Scotland. Among other conditions, it was sti-

pidated that, upon payment of a specified

sum of money to Idmself, his son, aud ally, the

Lord of the Isles should become for ever the

vassal of England, and should assist Edward

and his successors in the wars in Ireland and

elsewhere. And, in the event of the entire

subjugation of Scotland by the Earls of Eoss

and Douglas, the whole of the kingdom on the

north of the Frith of Forth was to be divided

equally between these Earls and Donald Bal-

loch, and the estates which formerly belonged

to Douglas between the Frith of Forth and the

borders were to be restored to liim. This sin-

gular treaty is dated London, 18th February,

1462.5

Pending tliis negotiation, the Earl of Angus,

at that time one of the most powerful of the

Scottish nobles, having, by the promise of an

Enghsh dukedom from the exiled Henry, en-

gaged to assist in restoring him to his crown

and dominions, the Earl of Eoss, before the

plan had been organized, in order to counteract

the attempt, broke out into open rebellion,

which was characterized by all those circum-

stances of barbarous cruelty which distin-

• tiotuli Scolicc, vol. ii. p. 407.

guished the inroads of the princes of the

islands. He first seized the castle of Inver-

ness at the head of a small party, being ad-

mitted unawares by the governor, who did not

siispect liis hostile intentions. He then col-

lected a considerable army, and proclaimed

himself king of the Hebrides. With his army

he entered the country of Athole, denounced

the authority of the king, and commanded all

taxes to be paid to him ; and, after committing

the most dreadfid excesses, he stormed the

castle of Blair, dragged the Earl and Countcjss

of Athole from the chapel of St. Bridget, and

carried them off' to Isla as prisoners. It is re-

lated that the Earl of Eoss thrice attempted to

set fire to the holy pile, but in vain. He lost

many of his war-galleys, in a stonn of thunder

and lightning, in which the rich booty he had

taken was consigned to the deep. Prepara-

tions were immediately made by the regents

of the kingdom for punishing this rebellious

chief; but these became unnecessai-y, for,

touched with remorse, he collected the remains

of his plunder, and stripped to his shut and

drawers, and barefooted, he, along with his

principal followers, in tlie same forlorn and de-

jected condition, went to the cliapel of St.

Bridget Avhicli they had lately desecrated, and

there performed a penance before the altai'.

The Earl and Countess of Athole were there-

upon voluntarily released from confinement,

and the Earl of Eoss was afterwards assassi-

nated in the castle of Inverness, by an Irish

harper who bore him a grudge.*

Although at this period an account of Oik-

ney and Shetland does not properly belong to

a history of the Higlilands, as these islands had

long been the property of the king of Nor-

way, and had a population almost purely Teu-

tonic, with a language, manners, and customs

widely differing from those of the Higldandera

proper ; still it wUl not be out of place to men-

tion here, that these islands were finally made

over to Scotland in 1469, as security for the

dowry of Margaret of Norway, the wife of

James III.

The successor of the Lord of the Isles—who

was generally more like an independent sov-

^ FeiTeriu.5, p. 383. — Lesley rfe Rebus Qestis

mm, p. 300.

Scoto-
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ereign than a subject of the Scottish king—not

being disposed to tender the allegiance which

liis father had violated, the king, in the month

of May, 1476, assembled a large army on the

north of the Forth, and a fleet on the west

coast, for the purpose of making a simultaneous

attack upon liim by sea and land. Seeing no

hopes of making effectual resistance against

such a powerful force as that sent against liim,

ho tendered his submission to the king on cer-

tain conditions, and resigned the earldom of

Eoss, and the lands of Kintja-e and Knapdale,

into his majesty's hands. By this act he was

restored to the king's favoui', who forgave him

all his offences, and " infeft him of new " in the

lordship of the Isles and the other lands which

he did not renounce. The Earl of Athole, who

commanded the royal army, was rewarded for

this service by a grant of the lands and forest

of Cluny.^

After the Lord of the Isles had thus resigned

the earldom of Eoss into the king's hands, that

province was perpetually molested by iucm--

sions from the islanders, who now considered

it a fit theatre for the exercise of their preda-

tory exploits. Gillespie, cousin of the Lord

of the Isles, at the head of a large body of the

islanders, invaded the higher part of Eoss and

committed great devastation. The inliabitants,

or as many as the shortness of the time would

permit, amongst whom the Clankenzie were

chiefly distinguished, speedily assembled, and

met the islanders on the banks of the Connan,

where a sharp conflict took place. The Clan-

kenzie fought ^\^th great valour, and pressed

the enemy so hard that Gillespie Macdonald

was overthrown, and the greater part of his

men were slain or drowned in the river, about

two miles from Braile, thence called Blar-ua-

Pairc. The predecessor of the Laird of Brodie,

who happened to be wth the chief of the Mac-

kenzies at the time, fought with great courage.

For a considerable time the district of Suther-

land had remained tranquil, but on the 11th

of July, 1487, it again became the scene of a

bloody encounter between the Mackays and the

Rosses. To revenge the death of a relation, or

to wipe away the stigma of a defeat, were con-

sidered sacred and paramount duties by the

' Lesley's Hist, p. 41.—Sir R. Gordon, p. 77.

Highlanders ; and if, from the weakness of the

clan, the minority of the chief, or any other

cause, the day of deadly reckoning was de-

layed, the feeling which prompted revenge was

never dormant, and the earliest opportunity

was embraced of vindicating the honour of the

clan. Angus Mackay, son of the famous Neill

of the Bass, having been killed at Tarbert by

a Eoss, his sou, John Eiabhaich Mackay, ap-

plied to John Earl of Sutherland, on whom he

depended, to assist him in revenging his father's

death. The Earl promised his aid, and accord

ingly sent his uncle, Eohert Sutherland, with

a company of chosen men, to assist John Jlac-

kay. With this force, and such men as John

Mackay and his relation UOleam-Dubh-Mac-

lain-Abaraich, son of Jolm Aberigh who fought

at Drum-na-Coub, could collect, they invaded

Strath-oy-kell, cari-jing fire and sword in their

course, and lajdng waste many lands belonging

to the Eosses. As soon as the Laird of Balna-

gown, the cluef of the Eosses, heard of tins

attack, lie collected all his forces, and attacked

Eobert Sutherland and John Eiabhaich Mac-

kay, at a place called Aldy-charrish. A long

and obstinate battle took place ; but the deatli

of Balnagown and seventeen of the principal

landed gentlemen of Eoss decided the combat

,

for the people of Eoss, being deprived of their

leader, were thrown into confusion, and utterly

put to flight, with great slaughter.

The fruit of this victory was a large quantity

of booty, wliich the victors divided the same

day ; but the avarice of the men of Assynt, in-

duced them to instigate John Mackay to resolve

to commit one of the most perfidious and dia-

bolical acts ever perpetrated by men who had

fought on the same .side. The design of the

Assynt men was, to cut off Eobert Sutherland

and his whole party, and possess themselves of

their share of the spoU, before the Earl of

Sutherland could learn the result of the battle,

that he might be led to suppose that liis uncle

and his men had all fallen in the action with

the Eosses. "WTien this plan was divulged to

Uilleam-Dubh-Mac-Iain-Abaraich, he was hor-

rified at it, and immediately sent notice to

Eobert Sutherland of it, that he might be upon

his guard. Eobert assembled his men upon

receipt of this extraordinary intelligence, told

them of the base intentions of John ^lackay,
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*nd put them in order, to be prepared for the

tlircatened attack; but on John Eiabhaich

Mackay perceiving that Eobert and his party

were prepared to meet him, he slunk off,

and went home to Strathnaver.^

The lawless state of society in the Highlands,

which followed as a consequence from the re-

moval of the seat of government to the Low-

lauds, though it often engaged the attention of

the Scottish sovereigns, never had proper re-

medies applied to mend it. At one time the

aid of force was called in, and when that was

found ineffectual, the vicious principle of di-

viding the chiefs, that they miglit the more

effectually weaken and destroy one another,

was adopted. Both plans, as might be sup-

posed, proved abortive. If the government

had, by conciliatory measures, and by a profu-

sion of favours, suitable to the spirit of the

times, secured the attachment of the heads of

the clans, the supremacy of the laws miglit

have been vindicated, and the sovereign might

have calculated upon the support of powerful

and trustworthy auxiliaries in his domestic

struggles against the encroachments of the

nobles. Such ideas appear never to have once

entered the minds of the kings, but it was re-

served for James IV., who succeeded to the

throne in 1488, to make the experiment. " To

attach to his interest the principal chiefs of

these provinces, to overawe and subdue the

petty princes who affected independence, to

carry into their territories, hitherto too exclu-

sively governed bj' their own capricious or

tjTannical institutions, the same system of a

severe, but regular and rapid, administration of

civil and criminal justice, which had been

established ui liis Lowland dominions, was the

laudable object of the king; and for this pur-

pose he succeeded, wth that energy and activ-

ity which remarkably distinguished him, in

opening up an intercourse with many of the

leading men in the northern counties. With

••he captain of the Clanchattan, Duncan Mack-

intosh ; with Ewan, the son of Alan, captain

of the Claucameron ; with Campbell of Glen-

urqhay ; the MacgiUcouns of Duart and Loch-

buy; Mackane of Ardnamurchan ; the lairds of

Mackenzie and Grant ; and the Earl of Huntley,

» Sir K. Gordon, pp. 78, 79.

a baron of the most extensive power in those

northern districts—he appears to have been in

habits of constant and regular communication

—rewarding them by presents, in the shape

either of money or of grants of land, and se-

curing their services in reducing to obedience

such of their fellow chieftains as proved contu-

macious, or actually rose in rebellion." ^

But James canied liis views further. Eightly

judging how much the personal presence of

the sovereign would be valued by his distant

subjects, and the good effects which would re-

sult therefrom, he resolved to visit different

parts of his northern dominions. Accordingly,

in the year 1490, accompanied by his court, he

rode twice from Perth across the chain of

moimtains which extends across the country

from the border of the Mearns to the head of

Loch Eannoch, which chain is known by the

name of the " Mount." Again, in 1493, he

twice visited the Highlands, and went as far

as Duiistaffnago and Mengarry, in ArJnamm--

chan. In the foUo^ving year he visited the

isles no less than three times. His fu-st voy-

age to the islands, wliich took place in April

and May, was conducted with gTeat state. He
was attended by a vast suite, many of whom
fitted out vessels at their o\vn expense. The

grandem- which surrounded the king impressed

the islanders with a high idea of his wealth

and power ; and his condescension and famili-

arity with all classes of his subjects, acquired

for him a popularity which added strength to

his throne. Dm-ing these marine excm'sions

the youthful monarch indulged his passion for

sailing and hunting, and thereby relieved the

tediousness of business by the recreation of

agreeable and innocent pleasures.

The only opposition which James met with

during these excursions was from the restless

Lord of the Isles, who had the temerity to put

the king at defiance, notwithstanding the re

peated and signal marks of the royal favour

he had experienced. But James was not to be

trifled with, for he siunmoned the island prince

to stand his trial for " treason in Kintyre;"

and in a parliament held in Edinburgh shortly

after the king's return from the north, " Sb
Jolin of the Isles," as he is named in the tre*

» Tytler, vol. iv. pp. 367, 368.
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surfer's accounts, was stripped of his power, and

his possessions were forfeited to the crown.

One of those personal petty feuds which were

so prevalent in the Highlands, occurred about

this time. Alexander Sutherland of Dilred,

being unable or unwilling to repay a sum of

money he had borrowed from Sir James Diui-

bar of Cumnock, the latter took legal measures

to secure his debt by appraising part of Dilred's

lands. This proceeding vexed the laird of

Dilred exceedingly, and he took an umbrage at

the Duubars, who had recently settled in

Sutlierland, " grudgeing, as it were," says Sir-

E. Gordon, " that a stranger should brawe

(brave) him at his owne doors." Happening

to meet Alexander Dunbar, brother of Sir

•James, who had lately married Lady Margaret

Baillie, Countess Dowager of Sutherland, high

wortls passed between them, a combat ensued,

and, after a long contest, Alexander Duubar was

killed. Sir James Dunbar thereupon went to

Edinburgh, and laid the matter before Kiaig

James IV., who was so exasperated at the

conduct of Alexander Sutherland, that he

immediately proclaimed him a rebel, sent mes-

sengers everywhere in search of him, and pro-

mised his lands to any person that woidd

apprehend him. After some search lie was

apprehended with ten of his followers by his

uncle, Y-Eoy-Mackay, brother of John Eeawigh

^Lickay already mentioned, who sent him to

the king. Dilred was tried, condemned, and

executed, and liis lands declared forfeited.

For this service, Y-Eoy-Mackay obtained from

tlie king a grant of the lands of Armdall, Far,

Golspietour, Kinnald, KUcolmldll, and DUred,

which formerly belonged to Alexander Sutlier-

land, as was noted in Mackay's infeftment,

dated in 1449.1 « Avarice," says Sir E. Gor-

don, " is a strange vyce, wliioh respects neither

blood nor freiudship. Tliis is the first infeft-

ment that any of the famihe of Macky had

from the king, so far as I can perceave by tlie

records of tliis kiugdom ; and they wer untill

tliis tyme possessors onlie of ther lands in

Strathnaver, not careing much for any charters

or infeftments, as most pairts of the Higli-

landers have alwise done."

The grant of the king as to the lands over

' .Sir R. Gordon, p. 80

which Sir James Dunbar's security extended,

was called in question by Sir James, who ol>

tained a decree before the lords of council and

session, in February, 1.512, setting aside the

right of Y-Eoy-Mackay, and ordaining the Earl

of Sutherland, as superior of the lands, to re-

ceive Sir James Dunbar as his vassal.

A lamentable instance of the ferocity of

these times is afforded in the case of one of

the Earls of Sutherland, who upon some pro-

vocation slew two of his nephews. This earl,

who was named John, had a natural brother,

Thomas Moir, who had two sons, Eobert

Sutherland and the Keith, so called on accoimt

of his being brought up by a person of that

name. The young men had often annoyed the

Earl, and on one occasion they entered liis

castle of Dimrobiu to brave liim to his face, an

act which so provoked the Earl, that he in-

stantly killed Eobert in the house. The Keith,

after receiving several wounds, made his es-

cape, but he was overtaken and slaiu at the

Clayside, near Dunrobin, wliich from that cir-

cumstance was afterwards called Aileiu-Cheith,

or the bush of the Keith.

In 1513 a troop of Highlanders helped to

swell the Scotch army on the ever-memorable

and disastrous field of Flodden, but from their

peculiar mode of fighting, so different from

that of the Lowlanders, appear to have been

more a hindrance than a help.

CHAPTEE VII.

KINGS OF SCOTLAND ;

—

Doings in Sutherl.inJ—Battle of Torran-Dubh—Feud
bebveen the Keiths and the clan Gun—John Mac-
kay and Murray of Aberscors—Ale-ijandfr Suther-
land, the bastard, claims the Earldom—Contests
between John Mackay and the Master of Sutherland
—Earls of Caithness and Sutherland—Dissensions
among the clan Chattan—Hector Macintosh elected

Captain—His doings—Disturbances in Sutherland
—Feuds between the Clanranald and Lord Lovat

—

The ' Field of Shirts'—Earl of Huntly's Expedition
—Commotions in Sutherland—Earl of Huntly and
the Clanranald—The Queen Regent visits the High-
lands—Commotions in Sutherland—Queen Mary's
Expedition against Huntly—Earl and Countess of

Sutherland poisoned— Earl of Caithness' treatment
of the young Earl of Sutherland- -Quarrel between
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the Monroes and clan Kenzie—Doings of the Earl

of Caithness—Unruly state of the North—The clan

Chattan—Kcconciliatiou of the Earls of Sutherland

and Caithness—The Earl of Sutherland and the clan

Gun—Disastrous Feud between tlie Macdonakls and
Jlacleans—Disputes between the Earls of Sutherland

and Caithness—Reconciliation between Mackay and
the Earl of Sutherland.

Ix the year 1516, Adam Earl of Sutherland,

in anticipation of threatened dangers in the

north, entered into bonds of friendsliip and

alliance with tlie Earl of Caitlmess for mutual

protection and support. The better to secure

the goodwill and assistance of the Earl of

Caithness, Earl Adam made a grant of some

lands upon the east side of the water of UUy

;

but the Earl of Caitluiess, although he kept

possession of the lands, joined the foes of liis

ally and friend. The Earl of Sutherland, how-

ever, would have found a more trustworthy

supporter in the person of Y-Eoy-Mackay, who
liad come under a ^ratten obligation to servo

liim the same year ; but Mackay died, and a

contest immediately ensued in Strathnaver, be-

tween John and Donald Mackay his bastard

sons, and Neill-Naverigh Mackay, brother of

Y-Eoy, to obtain possession of his lands. Jolm

took possession of aU the lands belonging to

Ins father in Strathnaver ; but his uncle Noill

laid claim to them, and applied to the Earl of

Caithness for assistance to recover them. Tlie

Earl, after many entreaties, put a force imder

the command of Neill and his two sons, with

wliich they entered Strathnaver, and obtaining

an accession of strength in that country, they

dispossessed Jolm Mackay, who immediately

went to the clan Chattan and clan Kenzie, to

crave their aid and support, leaving his brotlier

Donald Mackay to defend himself in Strath-

naver as he best could. Donald not having a

sufficient force to meet his uncle and cousins in

open combat, had recourse to a stratagem which

succeeded entirely to his mind. With his

little band he, under cloud of night, siuprised

his opponents at Deh-eavigh in Strathnaver,

and slew both his cousins and the greater

part of their men, and thus utterly destroyed

the issue of NeiU. John Mackay, on hearing

of this, immediately joined his brother, and

drove out of Strathnaver all persons who liad

fiwoured the pretensions of his uncle Neill-

-Vaverigh. This mifortunate old man, after be-

ijig abandoned by the Earl of Caitluiess, threw

himself upon the generosity of his nephews,

requesting that they would merely allow him a

small maintenance to keep him from poverty

during the remainder of his life ; but these un-

natiu'al relatives, regardless of mercy and the

ties of blood, ordered Neill to be beheaded in

theu' presence by the hands of Claff-na-Gep,

his o^vn foster brother. ^

In the year 1517, advantage was taken by

John Mackay of the absence of the Earl of

Sutherland, who had gone to Edinburgh to

transact some business connected with his

estates, to invade the province of Sutherland,

and to bm-n and spoil every thing wliich came

in liis way. He was assisted in this lawless

enterprise by two races of people dwelling in

Sutherland, called the Siol-Phaill, and tlie Siol-

Thomais, and by Neil-Mac-Iain-Mac-Angus of

Assynt, and his brother John Mor-Mac-Iain,

mtli some of tlieir countrymen. As soon as

the Countess of Sutherland, who had remained

at home, heard of this invasion, she prevailed

upon Alexander Sutherland, her bastard bro-

ther, to oppose Mackay. Assisted chiefly by

John Murray of Aberscors, and Uilleam Mac-

Sheumais-Mhic-Chruner, chief of the clan Gun
m Sutherland, Alexander convened hastily the

inhabitants of the country and went in search

of the enemy. He mot John Mackay and his

brother Donald, at a place called Torran-Dubh

or Cnocan-Diibh, near Eogart in StrathJleet.

Mackay's force was prodigious, for he had as-

sembled not only the whole strength of Strath-

naver, Durines, Edderachillis, and Assynt, with

the Siol-Phaill and SoU-Tliomais ; but also all

the disorderly and idle men of the whole dio-

cese of Caithness, with all such as he could

entice to join him from the west and north-

west isles, to accompany him in his expedition,

buoyed up with the hopes of plunder. But

the people of Sutherland were nowise dismayed

at the appearance of this formidable host, and

made preparations for an attack. A desperate

struggle commenced, and after a long contest,

Mackay's vanguard was driven back upon the

position occupied by himself. Mackay having

rallied the retreating party, selected a number

of the best and ablest men he could find, and

having placed the remainder of his army under

' Sir Robert Gordon, p. 90.
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the command of his brother Donald, to act as

a reserve in case of necessity, he made a furious

attack upon the Sutherland men, who received

the enemy with great coolness and intrepidity.

The cliiefs on both sides encouraged their men

to fight for the honour of their clans, and in

consequence the fight was severe and bloody
;

but in the end the Sutherland men, after great

slaughter, and after prodigies of valoiu had been

displayed by both parties, obtained the victory.

Mackay's party was almost entirely cut off,

and Mackay himself escaped with difficulty.

The victors next tui'ned their attention to the

reserve imder the command of Donald Mackay

;

but Donald dreading the fate of his brother,

Hed along ^vith his party, which immediately

dispersed. They were, however, closely pur-

sued by John jMui-ray and Uilleam Mac-Sheu-

raais, till the darkness of the night prevented

the pursuit. In tliis battle, two himdrod of

the Strathnaver men, thirty-two of the Siol-

Phadl, and fifteen of the Siol-Thomais, besides

many of the Assynt men, and their commander,

Niall-Mac-Iain-Mac-Aonghais, a vahant chief-

tain, were slain. Jolm Mor-Mac-Iain, the

brother of this chief, escaped with his life after

receiving many wounds. Of the Sutherland

men, thirty-eight only were slain. Sir Eohert

Gordon says that this "was the greatest conflict

that hitherto lies been foughtin between the

inhabitants of these cuntreyes, or within the

diocy of CattejTies, to our knowlege."^

Shortly after the battle of Torran-Dubh,

Uilleam Mac-Sheumais, called Cattigh, cliief of

the clan Gun, killed George Keith of AifaegeU

with his son and twelve of their followers, at

Drummoy, in Sutherland, as they were travel-

ling from Invemgie to Caithness. This act

was committed by Mac-Sheumais to revenge

the slaughter of his grandfather (the Cruner,)

who had been slain by the Keiths, under the

follo^v•ing circumstances. A long feud had ex-

isted between the Keiths and the clan Gim, to

reconcile which, a meeting was appointed at

the chapel of St. TajT in Gaitlmess, near

Girnigoe, of twelve horsemen on each side.

The Cruner, then chief of the clan Gun, ivith

some of his sons and his principal kinsmen,

to the number of twelve in all, came to the

» Sir R. Gordon, p. 92.

chapel at the appointed time. As soon as they

arrived, they entered the chapel and prostrated

themselves in prayer before the altar. While

employed in this devotional act, the laird of

Inverugie and Aiki-egell arrived ^vitll twelve

horses, and two men on each horse. After

dismounting, the whole of this party rushed

into the chapel armed, and attacked the Crunei

and Ids party unawares. The Clan Gun, how

ever, defended themselves with great intrepid-

ity, and although the whole twelve were slain,

many of the Keiths were also killed. For

nearly two centuries the blood of the slain was

to be seen on the walls of the chapel, which it

had stained. James Gim, one of the sons of the

Cruner, being absent, unmediately on hearing

of his father's death, reth-ed with his family

into Sutherland, where he settled, and where

his son William Mac-Sheiunais, or Mac-James

otherwise William Cattigh, was bom.

As John Mackay imputed liis defeat at

Torran-Dubh mainly to John Mm'ray of Aber-

scors, he resolved to take the first convenient

opportunity of revenging himself,- and wipmg
off the disgrace of liis discomfiture. He, there-

fore, not being in a condition himself to under-

take an expedition, employed two brothers,

William and Donald, his kinsmen, cliieftains

of the Sliochd-Iain-Abaraich, with a company

of men, to attack Murray. The latter having

mustered his forces, the parties met at a place

called Loch-Salchie, not far from the Torran-

Dubh, where a sharp sku'mish took place, in

which Murray proved victorious. The two

Strathnaver chieftains and the greater part

of their men were slain, and the remainder

were put to flight. The principal person who
fell on Murray's side was his brother John-

Eoy, whose loss he deeply deplored.

Exasperated at this second disaster, Jolm

Mackay sent John Croy and Donald, two of

his nephews, sons of Angus Mackay, who was

killed at Morinsh in Eoss, at the head of a

number of chosen men, to plunder and bum
the town of Pitfour, in Strathfloct, which be-

longed to John Murray ; but they were equally

unsuccessful, for John Croy Mackay and some

of his men were slain by the Murrays, and

Donald was taken prisoner. In consequence

of these repeated reverses, John Mackay sub-

mitted himself to the Earl of Sutherland on
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hii return from Edinburgli, and granted liim

hiii bond of service, in the year 1518. But,

notwithstanding this submission, Maekay after-

wards tampered with Alexander Sutherland,

tlie bastard, and hawng gained his favoiu' by

giving his sister to Sutherland in marriage, he

prevailed upon him to rise agauist tlie Earl of

Sutherland. All these commotions in the

north happened during the minority of King

James V., when, as Sir E. Gordon says, " everie

man thouglit to escape mipunished, and cheifiie

these who were remotest from the seat of jus-

tice."*

This Alexander Sutliorland was sop of John

,

the third of that name. Earl of Sutherland,

and as he pretended that the Earl and his

mother had entered into a contract of marriage,

he laid claim, on the death of the Earl, to the

title and estates, as a legitimate descendant of

Earl Jolm, his father. By the entreaties of

Adam Gordon, Lord of Aboyne, who had mar-

ried Lady Elizabeth, the sister and sole heiress

of Earl Julm, Alexander Sutherland judicially

renomiced his claun in presence of the sherifl

of Inverness, on the 2.5th of Jidy, 1509. He
now repented of what he had done, and, being

instigated by the Earl of Caithness and John

Maokav. n:ort,al foes to the house of Suther-

01(1 Diinrol

land, he renewed his pretensions. Earl Adam,
|

perceiving that he might incur some danger

in making an appeal to arms, particularly as

the clans and tribes of the coimtrj^, with many
of whom Alexander had become very popular,

were broken into factions and much divided

on the question betwixt the two, endeavoured

to ^vin him over by offering bun many favour-

able conditions, again to renounce his claims,

but in vain. He maintained the legitimacy

of his descent, and alleged that the renuncia-

tion he had granted at Inverness had been

obtained from liini contrary to his inclination,

and against the advice of his best frientls.

Having collected a considerable force, he, in

* Sir R. Gordon, p. 93.

in Castle.

absence of the earl, who was in Strathbogio,

attacked Dunrobin castle, the chief strength of

the earl, wliich he took. In this siege he was

cliiefly supported by Alexander Terrell of the

DoUl, who, in consequence of taldng arms

against the earl, his superior, lost all his lands,

and was afterwards apprehended and executed.

As soon as the earl heard of the insurrection,

he despatched Alexander Lesley of Kinninuvy,

with a body of men, into Sutherland to assist

Jolui Murray of Aberscors, who was already at

the head of a force to support the earl. They

immediately besieged Dunrobin, which sur-

rendered. Alexander had retu-ed to Strath-

naver, but he again returned into Suiherland

with a fresh body of men, and laid waste the

country. After putting to death several of his



84 GENEllAJ, HISTOEY OF TlIE IIIGHLAJ^DS.

own kinsmen who had joined the earl, he de-

scended farther into the country, towards the

parishes of Loth and Clyne. Meeting with

little or no opposition, the bastard grew care-

less, and being observed wandering along the

Sutherland coast, flushed with success and re-

gardless of danger, the earl formed the design

of cutting him entirely off. With this view,

he directed Alexander Lesley of Kiiminuvy,

John Murray, and Jolin Scorrigh-Mac-Finlay,

one of the Siol-Tliomais, to hover on Suther-

land's outskirts, and to keep skirmisliiiig with

him till he, the earl, should collect a sufficient

force \nth. which to attack liim. Having col-

lected a considerable body of resolute men, the

earl attacked the bastard at a place caUed Ald-

QuhiUin, by East Clentredaill, near the sea

side. A warm contest ensued, in which Alex-

ander Sutherland was taken prisoner, and the

most of his men were slain, including Jolm

Bane, one of liis principal supporters, who fell

I)y the hands of John Scorrigh-Mac-Finlay.

After the battle Sutlierland was immechately

beheaded by Alexander Lesley on the spot, and

his head sent to Dunrobin on a spear, wliich

was placed upon the top of the great tower,

" which shews us" (as Sir Eobert Gordon, fol-

lowing the superstition of his times, curiously

observes), " that whatsoever by fate is allotted,

though sometymes forshewed, can never be

avoyded. For the witches had told Alexander

the bastard that his head should be the liighest

that ever wes of the Southerlands ; which he

did foolishlye interpret that some day he should

be Earl of Southerland, and in honor above

aU his predicessors. Thus the diveU and his

ministers, the witches, deceaving stiU such as

trust in them, will either find or frame predic-

tions for everio action or event, which doeth

over fall out contrarie to ther expectations ; a

kynd of people to all men unfaithfidl, to hopei-s

deceatful, and in all cuntries allwise forbidden,

allwise retoaned and mantoaned."*

The Earl of Sutherland being now far ad-

vanced in life, retired for the most part to

Strathbogieand Aboyne, to spend the remainder

of his days amongst liis friends, and intrusted

the charge of the country to Alexander Gordon,

Lis eldest son, a young man of great intrepidity

» Sii R. Gordon, pp. 96, 97.

and talent. The restless chief John Mackay,

still smarting under his misfortunes, and thirst-

ing for revenge, thought the present a favour-

able opportunity for retrieving his losses.

With a considerable force, therefore, he in-

vaded Sutherland, and entered the parish of

Creigh, which he intended to ravage, but the

Master of Sutherland hastened thither, attacked

Mackay, and forced him to retreat into Strath-

naver with some loss. Mackay then assembled

a large body of liis countrymen and invaded

the Breachat. He was again defeated by

Alexander Gordon at the Grinds after a keen

skirmish. Hitherto Mackay had been allowed

to hold the lands of Grinds, and some other

possessions in the west part of Sutherland, but

the Master of Sutherland now dispossessed him
of all these as a punishment for Ms recent con-

duct. Still ch-eading a renewal of Mackay's

visits, the Master ul Sutherland resolved to re-

taliate, by invading Strathnaver in return, and

thereby showing Mackay what he might in

future expect if he persevered in.continuing his

visits to Sutherland. Accordingly, he collected

a body of stout and resolute men, and entered

Strathnaver, which he pUlaged and burnt, and,

having collected a large quantity of booty, re-

turned into Sutherland. In entering Strath-

naver, the Master of Sutherland had taken the

road to StrathuUy, passing through Mackay's

bounds in the hope of falling in wth and ap-

prehending him, but Mackay was absent on a

creach excursion into Sutherland. In return-

ing, however, through the Du-ic Moor and the

Breachat, Alexander Gordon received intelli-

gence that Mackay with a company of men
was in the town of Lairg, with a quantity of

cattle he had collected in Sutherland, on his

way home to Strathnaver. He lost no time in

attacking Mackay, and such was the celerity of

his motions, that his attack was as sudden as

unexpected. Mackay made the best resistance

he could, but was put to the rout, and many
of his men were kiUed. He himself made his

escape vnih great difficulty, and saved his life

by s'wimmmg to the island of Eilean-Minric,

near Lairg, where he lay concealed during the

rest of the day. AU the cattle which Mackay
had carried away were rescued and carried back

into Sutherland. The following day Mackay

left the island, retm-ned home to liis country,
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(vnd again submitted himself to the Master and

his father, the Earl, to whom he a second time

gave his bond of service and manrent in the

year 1522.6

As tliG Earl of Caitlmess had always taken

a side against the Sutlierland famUy in these

different quarrels, the Earl of Sutherland

brought an action before tlie Lords of Council

and Session against the Earl of Caitlmess, to

recover back from him the lands of Strathully,

on the ground, that the Earl of Caithness had

not fulfilled the condition on which the lands

were granted to him, viz., to assist the Earl of

Sutherland against his enemies. There were

other minor points of dispute between the earls,

to get all which determined they both repaired

to Edinburgh. Instead, however, of abiding

the issue of a trial at law before the judges,

both parties, by the advice of mutual friends,

referred the decision of all the points in dis-

pute on either side to Gavin Dunbar,^ bishop

of Aberdeen, who pronounced his award at

Edinburgh, on the 11th March, 1524, liis

judgment appearing to have satisfied both

parties, as the earls lived in peace with one

another ever after.

The year 1526 was signalized by a great

dissension among the clan Chattan. The

chief and head of that clan was Lauchlan

Macintosh of Dunnachtan, " a verrie honest

and wyse gentleman," says Bishop Lesley, " an

barroim of gude rent, quha keipit hes hole ken,

friendes and tennentis in honest and guid

rewU;"^ and according to Sir Eobert Gordon,

" a man of great possessions, and of such ex-

eellenoies of witt and judgement, that with

great conmiendation he did conte3Ti all liis

followers 'vvithin the limits of ther dueties." '

The strictness with which this worthy chief

curbed the lawless and turbulent dispositions of

his clan raised up many enemies, who, as

Bishop Lesley says, were " impaoient of vertu-

ous living." At the head of this restless party

was James Malcolmeson, a near kinsman of

the chief, who, instigated by his worthless

<^ Sir R. Gordon, p. 97.

' It was this excellent Bishop who built, at his ovra

expense, the beautiful bridge of seven arches on the
Dee, near Aberdeen. The Episcopal arms cut on
Bome of the stones arc almost as entire as when
chiselled by the hands of the sculptor.

* Hist, of Scotland, p. 137 ' P. 99.

companions, and the temptation of ruling the

clan, murdered the good cliief Afraid to face

the well-disposed part of the clan, to whom tlie

chief was beloved, Malcohneson, along with

his followers, took refuge in the island in the

loch of EothiemuTchus ; but the eniaged clan

followed them to their hiding places and de-

spatched them.

As the son of the deceased cliief was of ten-

dor age, and unable to govern the clan, with

common consent they made choice of Hector

Macintosh, a bastard brother of the late chief,

to act as captain till his nephew should arrive

at manliood. In the meantime the Earl of

Moray, who was uncle to young Macintosh,

the former cliief having been married to the

carl's sister, took away his nephew and placed

him imder the care of his friends for the bene-

fit of liis education, and to bring him up vir-

tuously. Hector Jlacintosh was greatly in-

censed at the removal of the child, and used

every effort to get possession of lum ; but meet-

ing with a refusal he became outrageous, and

laid so many plans for accomplishing his ob-

ject, that liis intentions became suspected, as

it was thought he could not wish so ardently

for the custody of the child without some bad

design. Baffled in every attempt, Hector, as-

sisted by liis brother William, collected a body

of followers, and invaded the Earl of Moray's

lands. They overthrew the fort of Dykes, and

besieged the castle of Tarnoway, the coimtry

surrounding which they plundered, burnt the

houses of the inhabitants, and slew a number

of men, women, and children. Eaising the

siege of Tarnoway, Hector and his men then

entered the country of the Ogilvies and laid

siege to the castle of Pettens, which belonged

to the Laird of Durnens, one of the families

of the Ogilvies, and which, after some resists

ance, surrendered. No less than twenty-four

gentlemen of tlie name of Ogilvie were mas-

sacred on this occasion. After this event the

Macintoshes and the party of banditti they had

collected, roamed over the whole of the adjoin-

ing country, carrying terror and dismay into

every bosom, and plundering, burning, and

destroying everytliing within their reach. To

repress disorders which called so loudly for

redress. King James V., by tlie advice of his

council, granted a commission to the Earl of
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Moray to take measures accordingly. Having

a consideralile force put tmdcr his command,

the earl went in pursuit of Macintosh and his

party, and having surprised them, he took

upwards of 300 of themi and hanged them,

along with William Macintosh, the brother

of Hector. A singular instance of the fidehty

of the HigUanders to their chiefs is afforded

in the present case, where, out of such a

vast nimiher as suffered, not one would

reveal the secret of Hector Macintosh's retreat,

although promised their lives for tlie discovery.

" Ther faith wes so true to ther captane, that

they culd not he persuaded, either by fair

meanes, or by any terror of death, to break the

same or to betray their master." ^

Seeing no hopes of escaping the royal ven-

geance but by a ready siibmission. Hector Mac-

mtosh, by ad^-ice of Alexander Dimbar, Dean

of Moray, tendered his obedience to the king,

wliich was accepted, and he was received into

the royal favour. He did not, however, long

survive, for he was assassinated in St. Andrews

by one James Spence, who was in consequence

beheaded. After the death of Hector, the

clan Chattan remained tranquil dm-ing the re-

maining years of the minority of the young

chief, who, according to Bishop Lesley, " wes

sua well brocht up by the meenes of the Erie of

MuiTay and the Laird of Phindlater in vertue,

honestie, and civile policye, that after he had

received the governement of his cuntrey, he

was a mirrour of vertue to all the hieland cap-

tanis in Scotland."^ But the young cliieftain's

" honestie and civile policye " not suiting the

ideas of those who had concurred in the mur-

der of liis father, a conspiracy was formed

against him by some of his nearest Idnsmcn to

deprive him. of his Hfe, which unfortimately

took effect.

The Highlands now enjoyed repose for some

years. John Mackay died in 1529, and was

succeeded by his brother Donald, who remained

quiet during the life of Adam Earl of Suther-

land, to iThom his brother had twice gi'anted

his bond of service. But, upon the death of

• This is the number given by Bishop Lesley, whose
account mast be preferred to that of Sir R. Gordon,
who states it at upwards of 200, as the Bishop lived
about a century before Sir Eobert.

' Sir t!. Gordon, p. 100
» Uist., p. 138.

that nobleman, he began to molest the inhabi-

tants of Sutherland. In 1542 he attacked the

village of Knockartol, which he burnt ; and

at tlie same time he plundered Strathbroray.

To oppose his farther progress. Sir Hugh Ken-

nedy collected as many of the inhabitants of

Sutherland as the shortness of the time woidd

permit, and, being accompanied by Gilbert

Gordon of Gartay, John Murray of Aberscors,

liis son Hutchcou Murray, and Mac-Mliic-

Sheumais of KUliernan, he attacked Mackay

quite unawares near Alt^Na-Beth. Notwith-

standing this imexpected attack, Mackay's men

met their assailants with great finnness, but

the Strathnaver men were ultimately obliged

to retreat with the loss of their booty and a

great number of slain, amongst whom was

John JLackean-Mac-Angus, cliief of Shochd-

Mliic-Iain-Mhic-Hutcheon, in Edderaclullis.

Though closely pressed by Gilbert Gordon and

Hutcheon Murray, Donald ^Mackay made good

liis retreat into Strathnaver.

By no means disheartened at his defeat, and

anxious to blot out the stain which it had

thrown upon him, he soon returned into Suth-

erland with a fresh force, and encamped near

Sldbo. Houcheon Murray collected some Suth-

erland men, and with them he attacked RLac-

kay, and kept him in check tiU an additional

force which he expected should arrive. As

soon as Mackay saw this new body of men ap-

proaching, with which he was quite imable tc

contend, he retreated suddenly into his own

country, leaving several of liis men dead on the

field. This affair was called the skirmish of

Loch-Buy. This mode of annoyance, which

continued for some time, was put an end to by

the apprehension of Donald Mackay, who,

being brought before the Earls of Huntly and

Sutherland, was, by their command, committed

a close prisoner to the castle of Foidis, where

he remained a considerable time in captivity.

At last, by means of Donald Mac-Iain-Mlioir,

a Strathnaver man, he effected his escape, and,

returning home, reconciled himself with the

Earl of Sutherland, to whom he gave his bond

of ser%'ice and manrent, on the 8th of April,

1549.

During the reign of James V. some respect

was paid in the Highlands to the laws ; but

tho divisions wliich fell out amongst the no-
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bilit}', tlie imquiet state of the nation during

the minority of the infant queen, and the wars

with England, relaxed the springs of govern-

ment, and the consequence was that the usual

scenes of turbulence and oppression soon dis-

played themselves in the HigUands, accom-

panied with all those circumstances of ferocity

which rendered them so revolting to humanity.

ITie Clanranald was particularly active in these

lawless proceedings. This clan bore great en-

mity to Hugh, Lord Lovat ; and because Ran-

ald, son of Allan Macruari of Moidart, was sis-

ter's son of Lovat, they conceived a prejudice

against him, dispossessed liim of his lands, and

put John Macranald, his cousin, in possession

of the estate. Lovat took up the cause of his

nephew, and restored liim to the possession of

his property ; but the restless clan dispossessed

Ranald again, and laid waste part of Lovat's

lands in Glenelg. These disorders did not

escape the notice of the Earl of Arran, the

governor of the Icingdom, who, by advice of

his council, granted a special commission to

the Earl of Himtly, making him lieutenant-

general of all the Higlilands, and of Orkney

and Zetland. He also appointed the Earl of

Argyle lieutenant of Argyle and the Isles.

Tlie Earl of Himtly lost no time in raising a

large army in the north, with wliich he marched,

in May, 1544, attended by the Macintoshes,

Grants, and Frasers, against the clan Cameron

and the clan Ranald, and the people of Moy-

dart and Knoydart, whose principal captains

were Ewen AUenson, Ronald M'Coneilglas, and

John Mnydart. These had wasted and plun-

dered the whole coimtry of Urquhart and Glen-

morriston, belonging to the Laird of Grant, and

the country of Abertarf, Strathglass, and others,

the property of Lord Lovat. They had also

taken absolute possession of these different

territories as their own properties, which they

intended to possess and enjoy in all time com-

ing. But, by the mediation of the Earl of Ai'-

gyle, they immediately dislodged themselves

upon the Earl of Huntly's appearance, and re-

tired to their o^vn territories in the west.

In returning to his o'wn coimtry, Lovat was

accompanied by the Grants and TNIacintoshes

as far as Gloy, afterwards called the Nine-JIUo-

Water, and they even offered to escort him
borne in case of danger ; but, having no appre-

hensions, he declined, and tliey returned home

by Badenoch. This was a fatal error on the

part of Lovat, for, as soon as he arrived at

Letterfinlay, lie was informed that the Clan-

ranald were at hand, in full march, to intercept

him. To secure an important pass, he de-

spatched lain-Cleireach, one of his principal

officers, ^vith 50 men ; but, from some cause

or other, lain-Cleireach did not accomplish his

object; and, as soon as Lovat came to the north

end of Loch Locliy, he perceived the Clanran-

ald descending the hUl from the west, to the

number of about 500, divided into seven com-

panies. Lovat was thus placed in a position

in which he could neither refuse nor avoid

battle. The day (3d July) being extremely

hot, Lovat's men, who amounted to about 300,

stript to the shirts, from which circumstance

the battle was called Blar-Nan-Leinc, i.e., the

Field of Shirts. A sort of sldrmish at first

took place, first with bows and arrows, wliich

lasted a considerable time, until both sides had

expended their shafts. The combatants then

drew their swords, and rushed in true High-

land fasliion on each other, with fierce and

deadly intent. The slaughter was tremendous,

and few escaped on either side. Lord Lovat,

with 300 of the surname of Eraser, and other

followers, were left dead on the field. Lovat's

eldest son, a youth of great accomplishments,

who had received his education in France,

whence he had lately arrived, was mortally

woimded, and taken prisoner. He died within

three days. Great as was the loss on the side of

the Frasers, that on the opposite side was com-

paratively still greater. According to a tradi-

tion handed down, only four of the Frasers and

ten of the Clanranald remained alive. The

darkness of the night alone put an end to the

combat. This was an unfortunate blow to the

clan Eraser, wliich, tradition says, would have

been almost entirely anniliUated but for the

happy circumstance that the \vives of eighty

of the Frasers who were slain were pregnant at

the time, and were each of them afterwards

delivered of a male child.'*

As soon as intelligence of tliis disaster was

brought to the Earl of Huntly, he again re-

^ Lesley, p. 184.—Sir R. Gordon, pp. 109, 110.—
Shaw's Moray, pp. 265, 266.
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turned witli an army, entered Lochaber, which

he laid waste, and apprehended many of the

leading men of the hostile tribes, whom he put

to death.

The great power conferred on the Earl of

Himtly, as lieutenant-general in the north of

Scotland, and the promptitude and severity

with which he put down the uisurrections of

some of the chiefs alluded to, raised up many

enemies against him. As he in company with

the Earl of Sutherland was about to proceed

to France for the purpose of conveying the

queen regent to that comitry, in the year 1550,

a conspiracy was formed against him, at the

head of wliich was Macintosh, chief of the

clan Chattan. This conspiracy being discov-

ered to the earl, he ordered Macintosh to

be immediately apprehended and brought to

Strathbogie, where he was beheaded in the

month of August of that year. His lands

were also forfeited at the same time. Tliis

summary proceeding excited the sympathy and

roused the indignation of the friends of the

deceased cliief, particidarly of the Earl of Cas-

silis. A commotion was about to ensue, but

matters were adjusted for a time, by the pru-

dence of the queen regent, who recalled the

act of forfeiture and restored Macintosh's heir

to all liis father's lands. But the clan Chattan

were determined to avail themselves of the

first favourable opportunity of being revenged

upon the earl, wliich they, therefore, anxiously

looked for. As Lauclilan Macintosh, a near

Idnsman of the cluef, was suspected of having

betrayed his chief to the earl, the clan entered

Ids castle of Pettie by stealth, slew him, and

banished all his dependants from the country

of the clan.

About the same time the province of Suther-

land again became the scene of some commo-

tions. The earl having occasion to leave home,

intrusted the government of the country to

Alexander Gordon, his brother, who ruled it

with great justice and severity; but the people,

disliking the restraints put upon them by

Alexander, created a tiunult, and placed Jolin

Sutherland, son of Alexander Sutherland, the

bastard, at their head. Seizing the favourable

opportunity, as it appeared to them, when
Alexander Gordon was attending divine service

in the church at Golspikirktoun, they proceeded

to attack him, but receiving notice of tlieii

intentions, he collected the little company he

had about liim, and went out of church reso-

lutely to meet them. Alarmed at seeing liim

and his party approach, the people immediately

dispersed and returned every man to his own

house. But William Murray, son of Caen

MiuTay, one of the family of Pubossie, indig-

nant at the affront offered to Alexander Gor-

don, shortly afterwards killed Jolin Suther-

land upon the Nether Green of Dmirobin, in

revenge for which murder William Muri-ay

was liimseH thereafter slain by the Laird of

Clyne.

The Mackays also took advantage of the

Earl of Sutherland's absence, to plunder and

lay waste the country. Y-Mackay, son of

Donald, assembled the Stratlmaver men and

entered Sutherland, but Alexander Gordon

forced him- back into Stratlmaver, and not

content with acting on the defensive, he en-

tered Mackay's country, which he wasted, and

carried off a large booty in goods and cattle,

in the year 1551. Mackay, in his turn, re-

taliated, and this system of mutual aggression

and spoliation continued for several years.^

During the absence of the Earl of Huntly in

France, John of Moydart, chief of the Clan-

ranald, returned from the isles and recom-

menced his usual course of rapine. The queen

regent, on her retiu-n from France, being in-

vested with full authority, sent the Earl of

Himtly on an expedition to the north, for the

purpose of apprehending Clani'anald and put-

ting an end to liis outrages. The earl having

mustered a considerable force, chiefly High-

landers of the clan Chattan, passed into Moy-

dart and Knoydart, but his operations were

paralyzed bj' disputes in his camp. The chief

and his men having abandoned their o'\vn

country, the earl proposed to piu'sue them in

their retreats among the fastnesses of the

Higlilands; but lus principal officers, who
were chiefly from the Lowlands, unaccustomed

to such a mode of warfare in such a country,

demurred; and as the earl was afraid to en-

trust himself with the clan Chattan, who
owed him a deep grudge on account of tlin

execution of their last chief, he abandoned tlie

' Sir R. Gordon, p. 133.
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enterprise aiiil returned to the low country.

f>ir Eobert Gordon says that the failure of the

e.xpedition was owing to a tumult raised in

the earl's camp hy tlie clan Chattan, who

rctm-ned home; hut we are rather disposed to

consider Bisliop Lesley's account, wliicli we

Iiavo followed, as the more correct.''

The failure of this expedition gave great

odence to the queen, who, instigated it is sup-

[losod hy Huntly's enemies, attributed it to

iiegh'gonce on his part. The consequence was,

I

that the earl was committed a prisoner to tlic

castle of Edinhiu'gh in the month of October,

where he remained till the month of March

foUoiving. He was compelled to renounce the

earldom of Moray and the lordship of Aber-

netliy, with his tacks and possessions in Orkney

and Zetland, and the tacks of the lands of the

earldom of Mar and of the lordship of Strath-

die, of which he was bailie and steward, and

he was moreover condemned to a banisliment

of five years in France. But as he was about

to leave the kingdom, the queen, taldng a

more favourable view of liis conduct, recalled

the sentence of banisliment, and restored him

to the office of chancellor, of which he had

been deprived ; and to make tliis act of leniency

somewhat palatable to the earl's enemies, the

queen exacted a heavy pecuniary fine from the

earl.

The great disorders which prevailed in tlie

Highlands at this time, induced the queen-

regent to undertake a journey thither in order

to punish these breaches of the law, and to

repress existing tumults. She accordingly

arrived at Inverness in the month of July,

1555, where she was met by John, Earl of

Sutherland, and George, Earl of Caithness.

Although the latter nobleman was requested

to bring his countrymen along with him to the

court, ho neglected or declined to do so, and

he was therefore committed to prison at Inver-

ness, Aberdeen, and Edinburgh, successively,

and he was not restored to liberty till ho paid

a considerable simi of money. Y-Mackay of

Far was also summoned to appear before the

queen at Inverness, to answer for his spoha-

tions committed in the country of Sutherland

during the absence of Earl John in France;

' Le.slc7, r- 251.

but he refused to appear. AVhereupon the

queen granted a commission to the Earl of

Sutherland, to bring Mackay to justice. Tlie

earl accordingly entered Stratlmaver with a

great force, sacking and spoiling every thing

in his way, and possessing liimself of all the

principal positions to prevent Mackay's escape.

Mackay, however, avoided tlie earl, and as ha

declined to fight, the earl laid siege to the

castle of Borwe, the principal strengtli in

Stratlmaver, scarcely two miles distant from

Far, which he took after a short siege, and

hanged Euaridh-Mac- Iain -Mhoir, the com-

mander. This fort the earl completely demo-

lished.

While the Earl of Sutherland was engaged

in the siege, Mackay entered Sutherland se-

cretly, and bm-nt the church of Loth. He

thereafter went to the village of Ivnockartol,

where he met Mackenzie and Ins countrymen

in Strathbroray. A slight skirmish took place

between them; but Mackay and his men fied

after he had lost Angus-Mackcanvoir, one of

his commanders, and several of his followers.

Mackenzie was thereupon appointed by the earl

to protect Sutherland from the incursions of

Mackay during Ids stay in Stratlmaver. Hav-

ing been defeated again by Mackenzie, and

seeing no chance of escape, IMackay surren-

dered Imnself, and was carried south, and com-

mitted a prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh,

in which he remained a considerable time.

During the queen's stay in the north many

notorious delinquents were brought to trial,

condemned and executed.

During Mackay's detention in Edinburgh,

John Mor-Mackay, who took charge of his

kinsman's estate, seizing the opportunity of the

Earl of Sutherland's absence in the south of

Scotland, entered Sutherland at the head of a

determined body of Stratlmaver men, and

spoiled and wasted the east corner of that pro-

vince, and burnt the chapel of St. Ninian.

Mao-Mhic-Sheumais, cluef of the Clan-Gun,

the Laird of Clyne, the Terrell of the Dodl,

and James Mac-WiUiam, having collected a

body of Sutherland men, pursued the Strath-

naver men, whom they overtook at the foot of

the hUl called Ben-Moir, in Berridell. Here

they laid an ambush for them, and having, by

favour of a fog, passed their sentinels, thoy
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uri'sxpectedly surprised Mackay's men, and

attacked them with great fiiry. The Strath-

nayer men made an obstinate resistance, hut

were at length overpowered. Many of them

were Idlled, and others drowned in the water

of Garwary. Mackay himseK escaped with

!7cat difficulty. This was one of the severest

.'sfuats the Strathnaver men ever experienced,

ny.cept at the battle of Knoken-dow-Rojrwird.

On the release of Mackay from his confine-

ment in the castle of Edinburgh, he was em-

ployed in the wars upon the borders, against

the English, in which he acquitted himself

courageously ; and on lus return to Strathnaver

he submitted himself to the Earl of Suther-

land, with whom he lived in peace during the

remainder of the earl's life. But Mackay in-

curred the just displeasure of the tribe of

Slaight-ean-Voir by the committal of two crimes

of the deepest dye. Having imbibed a violent

affection for the wife of Tormaid-Mac-Iain-

Mhoir, the chieftain of that tribe, he, in order

to accomplish his object, slew the chief, after

which he violated his wife, by whom he had a

sou called Donald BaUoch Mackay. The in-

sulted clan flew to arms ; but they were de-

feated at Durines, by the murderer and adul-

terer, after a sharp skirmish. Three of the

principal men of the tribe who had given

themselves up, trusting to Mackay's clemency,

were beheaded.''

In the early part of the reign of the unfor-

tunate Queen Mary, during the period of the

Reformation in Scotland, the house of Huntly

had acquired such an influence in the north

and north-east of Scotland, the old Maormorate

of Moray, as to be looked upon with suspicion

by the government of the day. Moreover the

Lords of the Congregation regarded the earl

with no friendly feeling as the great leader of

the Roman Catholic party in the country, and

it was therefore resolved that Mary should

make a royal progress northwards, apparently

for the purpose of seeing what was the real

state of matters, and, if possible, try to overawe

the earl, and remind him that he was only a

.subject. The queen, who, although Huntly

wa,s the Catholic leader, appears to have entered

into the expedition heartily; and her bastard

' Sir R. Gordon, p. 136.

brother, the Earl of Murray, proceeded, in 1562,

northwards, backed by a small army, and on

finding the carl fractious, laid siege to the castle

of Inverness, which was taken, and the governoi'

hanged. The queen's army and the followers

of Huntly met at the hill of Corrichic, about

sixteen miles west of Aberdeen, when the lat-

ter were defeated, the earl himself being found

among the slain. It was on this occasion that

Mary is said to have wished herself a man to

be able to ride forth " in jack and knap-

skulL" This expedition was the means of

cff'ectually breaking the influence of this power-

ful northern family.

George, Earl of Caithness, who had long

borne a mortal hatred to John, Earl of Suther-

land, now projected a scheme for cutting him

off, as well as his countess, who was big with

child, and their only son, Alexander Gordon
;

the earl and countess were accordingly both

poisoned at Helmsdale, while at supper, by

Isobel Sinclair, wife of Gilbert Gordon of Gar-

tay, and sister of William Sinclair of Dum-

baith, instigated, it is said, by the earl ; but

their son, Alexander, made a very narrow

escape, not having returned in time from a

hunting excursion to join his father and mother

at supper. On Alexander's return the earl had

become fully aware of the danger of his situ-

ation, and he was thus prevented by his father

from participating in any part of the supper

which remained, and after taking an affection-

ate and parting farewell, and recommending

him to the protection of God and of liis dearest

friends, he sent him to Dunrobin the same

night ^^'ithout his supper. The earl and his

lady were carried next morning to Dunrobin.

where they died within five days thereafter, in

the month of July, 1567, and were buried in

the cathedral church at Dornoch. Pretending

to cover himself from the imputation of being

concerned in this murder, the Earl of Caith-

ness punished some of the earl's most faithful

servants under the coloirr of avenging his death;

but the deceased earl's friends being determined

to obtain justice, apprehended Isobel Sinclair,

and sent her to Edinbivrgh to stand her trial,

where, after being tried and condemned, she

died on the day appointed for her execution.

During all the time of her Ulness sne vented

the most dreadful imprecations upon her cousin,
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the earl, wlio Iiad induced lier to commit tlic

horrid act. Had this woman succeeded in

cutting off the earl's son, her own eldest son,

John Gordon, but for the extraordinary circum-

stances of his death, to he noticed, would have

succeeded to the earldom, as he was the next

male heir. This youth happening to he in the

hoiTse when his mother had prepared the poison,

became extremely thirsty, and called for a

di'ink. One of liis mother's servants, not aware

of the preparation, presented to the youtli a

portion of the liquid into which the poison

had been infused, which he drank. This oc-

casioned his death within two days, a circum-

stance which, together with the appearances of

the body after death, gave a clue to the dis-

covery of his mother's guilt.'

Taking advantage of the calamity which had

befallen the house of Sutherland, and the

minority of the young earl, now only fifteen

years of age, Y-Maokay of Far, who had

formed an alliance with the Earl of Caithness,

in 1567 invaded the country of Sutherland,

wasted the barony of Skibo, entered the town

of Dornoch, and, upon the pretence of a quar-

rel vnth- the Murrays, by whom it was chiefly

inhabited, set fire to it, in which outrage he was

assisted by the Laird of Duflfus. These mea-

sures were only preliminary to a design which

the Earl of Caithness had formed to get the Earl

of Sutherland into his hanrLs, but he had the cun-

ning to conceal his intentions in the meantime,

and to instigate Mackay to act as he wished,

without appearing to bo in any way concerned.

In pursuance of his design upon Alexander,

the young Earl of Sutherland, the Earl of Caith-

ness prevailed upon Eobert Stuart, bishop of

Caithness, to -write a letter to the governor of

the castle of Skibo, in wliich the Earl of

Sutherland resided, to deliver up the castle to

him ; a request with which the governor com-

plied. Having taken possession of the castle,

the earl carried off the young man into Caith-

ness, and although only fifteen years of age, he

got him married to Lady Barbara Sinclair, his

daughter, then aged thirty-two years. Y-Mac-

kay was the paramour of this lady, and for

continuing the connexion with him she was

afterwards divorced by her husband.

• Sir R. Gordon, p. 147.

The Earl of Caithness having succeeded in

his wishes in obtaining possession of the Earl

of Sutherland, entered the earl's country, and

took possession of Dunrobin castle, in which

he fixed his residence. He also brought the

Earl of Sutherland along with liim, but he

treated liim meanly, and he burnt all the papers

belonging to the house of Sutherland he could

lay his hands on. Cruel and avaricious, he,

under the pretence of vindicating the law, for

imaginary crimes expelled many of the ancient

families in Sutherland from the country, put

many of the inliabitants to death, disabled

tliose he banished, in their persons, by new

and rudieard-of modes of torture, and stripped

them of all their wealth. To be suspected of

favouring the house of Sutherland, and to be

wealthy, were deemed capital crimes by this

oppressor.

As the Earl of Sutherland did not live on

friendly terms with his wife on account of her

licentious connexion with Mackay, and as there

appeared no chance of any issue, the Earl of

Caithness fonnod the base design of cutting off

the Earl of Sutherland, and marrying William

Sinclair, liis second son, to Lady Margaret

Gordon, the eldest sister of the Earl of Suther-

land, whom he had also gotten into his hands,

with the view of maldng William earl of

Sutherland. Tlie better to conceal his inten-

tions the Earl of Caithness made a journey

south to Edinburgh, and gave the necessary

instructions to those in his confidence to

despatch the Earl of Sutherland ; but some of

his trusty friends having received private intel-

ligence of the designs of the Earl of Caithness

from some persons who were privy thereto,

they instantly set about measures for defeating

them by getting possession of the Earl of

Sutherland's person. Accordingly, imder cloud

of night, they came quietly to the burn of

Golspie, in the vicinity of Dunrobin, where,

concealing themselves to prevent discovery,

they sent Alexander Gordon of Sidderay to the

castle, disguised as a pedlar, for the purpose of

warning the Earl of Sutherland of the danger

of his situation, and devising means of escape.

Being made acquainted with the design upon

his life, and the plans of his friends for rescu-

ing him, the earl, early the following morning,

proposed to the residents in the castle, under
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whose charge ho was, to accompany liim on a

small excursion in the neighbouihood. Tliis

proposal seemed so reasonable in itself, that,

although he was perpetually watched by the

Earl of Caitliness' servants, and his liberty

greatly resti'ained, they at once agreed ; and,

going out, the earl being aware of the ambush

laid by his friends, led liis keepers directly into

the snare before they were aware of danger.

The earl's friends thereupon rushed from their

hiding-place, and seizing him, conveyed him

safely out of the country of Sutherland to

Strathbogie. This took place in 15G9. As

soon as the Earl of Caithness's retainers heard

of the escape of Earl Alexander, they collected

a party of men favourable to their interests,

and went in hot pursuit of him as far as Port-

no-Coulter ; but they found that the earl and

liis friends had just crossed the ferry.'

Shortly after this affair a quarrel ensued

between the Monroes and the clan Kenzie, two

very powerful Eoss-shire clans. Lesley, the

celebrated bishop of Eoss, had made over to

his cousin, the Laird of Balquhain, the right

and title of the castle of the Canonry of Eoss,

together with the castle lands. Notwithstand-

ing this grant, the Eegcnt Murray had given

the custody of this castle to Andrew Monroe

of Mdutown ; and to make Lesley bear with

the loss, the Eegent promised him some of the

lands of the Barony of Fintry in Buchan, but

on condition that he should cede to Monroe the

castle and castle lands of the Canonry ; but the

untimely and unexpected death of the Eegent

interrupted this arrangement, and Andrew

Monroe did not, of course, obtain the title to

the castle and castle lands as he expected.

Yet Monroe had the address to obtain permis-

sion from the Earl of Lennox during his

regency, and afterwards from the Earl of Mar,

his successor in that office, to get possession of

the castle. The clan Kenzie grudging to see

Monroe in possession, and beuig desirous to

get hold of the castle themselves, purchased

Lesley's right, and, by virtue thereof, demanded

deKvery of the castle. Monroe refused to

accede to this demand, on which the clan laid

siege to the castle ; but Monroe defended it for

three years at the expense of many lives on

• Sir R. Gordon, p. 154.

both sides. It was then delivered up to tha

clan Kenzie under the act of pacification.

'

No attempt was made by the Earl of Suther-

land, during his minority, to recover his pos-

sessions from the Earl of Caitliness. In the

mcantune the latter, di.sappointed and enraged

at the escape of his destined prey, vexed and

annoyed stLU farther the partisans of the

Sutherland family. In particular, he directed

his vengeance against the Murrays, and made

William Sutherland of Evelick, brother to the

Laird of Duffus, apprehend John Croy-Murray,

under the pretence of bringing him to justice.

This proceeding roused the indignation of

Hugh Murray of Aberscors, who assembled his

friends, and made several incursions upon the

lands of Evelick, Pronsios, and Eicrcher. They

also laid waste several villages belonging to the

Laird of Duffus, from which they carried off

some booty, and apprehending a gentleman

of the Sutherlands, they detained liim as an

hostage for the safety of Jolm Croy-Murray.

Upon tliis the Laird of Duffus collected all his

kinsmen and friends, together with the Siol-

Phaill at Slcibo, and proceeded to the town of

Dornoch, ^vith the intention of burning it.

But the inhabitants, aided by the Murrays,

went out to meet the enemy, whom they

courageously attacked and ovcrtlirew, and pur-

sued to the gates of Skibo. Besides IdlUng

several of Duffus' men they made some prison

ers, whom they exchanged for Jolui Croy-

Murray. Tliis affair was called the skirmish

of Torran-Eoy.

The Laird of Duffus, who was father-in-law

to the Earl of Caithness, and supported him

in all liis plans, immediately sent notice of this

disaster to the earl, who without delay sent

his eldest son, John, Master of Caitlmess, with

a large party of countrymen and friends, in-

cluding Y-]\Iackay and his countrymen, to

attack the Murrays in Dornoch. They be-

sieged the town and castle, which were both

manfully defended by the Murrays and their

friends ; but the Master of Caithness, favoured

by the darkness of the night, set fire to the

cathedral, the steeple of which, however, was

preserved. After the town had been reduced,

the Master of Caithness attacked the castle

' Sir K. Gordon, p. 155.
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and the steeple of tlie clim-ch, into which a

body of men had tlu'owu themselves, both of

which held out for the space of a week, and

would probably have resisted much longer, but

for the interference of mutual friends of the

parties, by whose mediation the Murrays sur-

rendered the castle and the steeple of the

church ; and, as hostages for tlie duo perform-

ance of other conchtions, they delivered up

Thomas MiUTay, son of Houcheon Muiray of

Aberscors, Houcheon Murray, son of Alex-

ander Mac-Sir-Angus, and Jolm Murray, son

of Thomas Murray, the brother of John Mur-

ray of Aberscors. But the Earl of Caithness

refused to ratify the treaty which his son had

entered into with the Murrays, and afterwards

basely beheaded the tlireo hostages. These

occurrences took place in the year 1570."

The MmTays and the other friends of the

Sutherland family, no longer ahle to protect

themselves from the vengeance of the Earl of

Caithness, dispersed tlicmselves into different

countries, there to wait for more favourable

limes, when they might return to their native

sod witliout danger. The Murrays went to

Strathbogie, where Earl Alexander then re-

sided. Hugh Gordon of Dninunoy retired to

Orkney, where he mamed a lady named Ursula

Tulloch ; but he frequently visited his friends

in Sutherland, in spite of many snares laid

for him by the Eai-1 of Caithness, wliile secretly

going and returning tlu-ough Caitlmess. Hugh
Gordon's brothers took refuge with the Mur-

rays at Strathbogie. John Gray of Skibo and

his son Gilbert retired to St. Ajidrews, where

their friend Eobert, bishop of Caithness, then

resided, and Mac-Mhic-Sheumais of Strathiilly

went to Glengarry.

As the aUianoe of such a powerful and war-

Hke chief as Mackay would have heen of great

importance to the Sutherland interest, an

attempt was made to detach him from the

Earl of Caithness. The plan appears to have

originated with Hugh Murray of Aberscors,

who made repeated visits to Strathbogie, to

consult with the Earl of Sutherland and his

fiiends on this subject, and afterwards went

into Strathnaver and held a conference with

Mackay, whom he prevaQed upon to accom-

' Sir R. Gonlnn, p. 156.

.

pany Mm to Strathbogie. Mackay then en-

tered into an engagement with the Earl ol

Huntly and the Earl of Sutherland, to assist

the latter against the Earl of Caithness, in con-

sideration of which, and on payment of £300
Scots, he obtained from the Earl of Huntly the

heritable right and title of the lands of Strath-

naver ; but Mackay, influenced by Barbara

Sinclair, the wife of the Earl of Sutherland,

with whom he now pubhcly cohabited, broke

his engagement, and continued to oppress the

earl's followers and dependents.

From some circumstances wliich have not

transpired, the Earl of Caithness became sus-

picious of his son John, the Master of Caith-

ness, as having, in connection with Mackay, a

design upon his life. To put an end to the

earl's suspicion, Mackay advised Jolm to go to

Ghiiigo (Castle Sinclair), and to suhmit him-

self to his father's pleasure, a request with

which the Master complied ; but, after arri^ving

at Gu'nigo, he was, wliile conversing with liis

fatlicr, arrested by a party of armed men, vi'ho,

upon a secret signal being given by the earl,

had rushed in at the chamher door. He was

instantly fettered and thrust into prison ^vithin

the castle, where, after a miserable captivity

of seven years, he died, a prey to famine and

veniiin.

Mackay, who had accompanied the Master to

Girnigo, and who in all probahiUty would have

shared the same fate, escajied and returned

home to Strathnaver, where he died, witliiu

four montlis thereafter, of grief and remorse

for the many bad actions of his life. Diu-ing

the minority of his son Houcheon, Jolm Mor-

Mackay, the cousin, and John Beg-Mackay,

the bastard son of Y-Mackay, took charge of

the estate ; but John Mor-Mackay was speedily

removed from his charge by the Earl of Caith-

ness, who, considering him as a favourer of the

Earl of Sutherland, caused him to be appre-

hended and carried into Caithness, where he

was detamed in prison tUl his death. During

this time John Eobson, the chief of the clan

Gun in Caitlmess and Strathnaver, became a

dependent on the Earl of Sutherland, and acted

as his factor in collectmg the rents and duties

of the bishop's lands witliin Caitlmess wliich

belonged to the earl. This connexion was

exceedingly disagreeable to the Earl of Caith-
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ness, who in consequence took a grudge at

Jolui Robson, and, to gratify Ids spleen, lie

instigated Houcheon Mackay to lay waste the

lands of the clan Gim, in the Brea-Moir, in

Caithness, wthout the knowledge of John

Beg-Mackay, liis brother. As the clan Gun

had always been friendly to the family of

Mackay, John Beg-Mackay was greatly exas-

perated at the conduct of the earl in enticing

the young chief to commit such an outrage
;

but he had it not in his power to make any

reparation to the injured clan. John Robson,

the chief, however, assisted by Alexander Earl

of Sutherland, invaded Strathnaver and made

ample retaliation. Meeting the Strathnaver

men at a place called Creach-Drumi-Doiui, he

attacked and defeated them, kUliug several of

them, and chiefly those who had accompanied

Houcheon Mackay in his expedition to the

Brea-Moir. He then carried oif a large quan-

tity of booty, wliich he divided among the clan

Gun of Strathully, who had suffered by Hou-

cheon Mackay's invasion.'

The Earl of Caithness, having resolved to

avenge himself on John Beg-Mackay for the

displeasure shown by him at the conduct of

Houcheon Mackay, and also on the clan Gun,

prevailed upon Xeil-lVIac-Iam-Mac-William,

chief of the Sliochd-Iain-Abaraich, and James

Mac-Rory, cliief of the Sliochd-Iain-lDioir, to

attack them. Accordingly, in the month of

September, 1579, these two chiefs, with their

followers, entered Balnekill in Durines during

the night-time, and slew John Beg-Mackay

and William Mac-Iain-Mac-Rob, the brother

of John Robson, and some of their people.

The friends of the deceased were not in a con-

dition to retaliate, but they kept up the spii-it

of revenge so customary in those times, and

only waited a favom-able opportunity to gratify

it. This did not occur tUl several years there-

after. In the year 1587, James Mac-Rory,

" a fyne gentleman and a good commander,"

.according to Sir Robert Gordon, was assassi-

nated by Donald BaUoch-Mackay, the brother

of John Beg-Mackay; and two years there-

after Jolm Mackay, the son of Jolm Beg,

attacked Neil Mac-Iain-Mac-WOliam, whom
he wounded severely, and cut off some of liis

^ Sir R. Gordon, p. 173.

followers. " This Neil," says Sir E. Gordon,

" heir mentioned, wes a good captain, bold,

craftie, of a verie good witt, and quick resolu-

tion."

After the death of Jolm Beg-Mackay, and

AVUliam Mac-Iain-Mac-Rob, a most deadly and

inveterate feud followed, between the clan Gun
and the Sliochd-Iain-Abaraich, but no recital

of the details has been handed down to us.

" The long, the many, the horrible encounters,"

observes Sir R. Gordon " which happened be-

tween these two trybes, with the bloodshed,

and infinit spoiUs committed in every pairt of

the diocy of Catteynes by them and their asso-

ciats, are of so disordered and troublesome

memorie, that, what with theii- asperous names,

together mth the cotrfusion of place, tymes,

and persons, would yet be (no doubt) a wan'

to the reader to overlook them; and therefor,

to favor myne oune paines, and Ids who should

get little profite or delight thereby, I doe pass

them over."^

The clan Chattan, fifty years earlier, must

have been harassing the surrounding districts

to a terrible extent, and causing the govern-

ment considerable trouble, as in 1528 we find

a mandate addressed by King James " to oui'

.shii'reffs of Kincardin, Abirdene, Banf, Elgen,

Fores, Name, and Invernyss; and to oui

den-est bruthir, James, Erie of Mm-ray, oiu

lieutenant generale in the north partis of oui

realme, and to our loiuttis consingis
[ ] Erie

of Suthirland; John Erie of Cathnes," &c.,

&c., commanding them that inasmuch as Jolui

M'Kinlay, Thomas Mackinlay, Donald Glass,

&c., " thi'ocht assistance and fortifying of all

the kin of Clanquhattane dueUand within

Baienach, Petty, Brauchly, Strathnarne, and

other parts thereabout, committs daily iire-

raising, slaughter, mirrder, heirscldppis, and

wasting of the cuntre," to the harm of the true

lieges, these sheriffs and others shall fall upon

the " said Clanqvdiattane, and invade them to

their utter destniction by slaughter, burning,

drowning, and other waj's; and leave na crea-

ture living of that clan, except priests, women,

and bairns." The "women and bairns" they

were ordered to take to " some parts of the sea

nearest land, quhair ships salbe forsene on oui

' History, p. 174.
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expenses, to sail with tliem furth of our realme,

anil land with them in Jesland, Zesland, or

Norway; because it were Lnhiimauity to put

hands in the blood of women and baiins."

Had tliis mandate for " stamping out" this

troublesome clan been carried out it would

certauily have been an effectual cure for many

of the disturbances in the Highlands; but we

camiot find any record as to what practical

result followed the issue of this cruel decree."

In tlie year 1585 a quarrel took place be-

tween Neil Houoheonson, and Donald Neilson,

the Laii'd of Assynt,who had married Houcheon

Mackay's sister. The cause of Donald Neilson

was espoused by Houcheon Mackay, and the

clan Gun, who came with an army out of

Caithness and Strathnaver, to besiege Neil

Houcheonson in the isle of Assynt. Neil,

who was commander of Assynt, and a follower

of the Earl of Sutherland, sent immediate

notice to the earl of Mackay's movements, on

receiving which the earl, assembling a body of

men, despatched them to AssjTit to raise the

siege; but Mackay did not wait for their

coming, and retreated into Strathnaver. As

the Earl of Caithness had sent some of Ins

people to assist Mackay, who was the Earl of

Sutherland's vassal, the latter resolved to

punish both, and accordingly made preparations

for entering Strathnaver and Caithness \vith

an army. But some mutual friends of the

parties interfered to prevent the efl'usion of

blood, by prevaUing on the two earls to meet

at Elgin, in the presence of the Earl of Huntly

and other friends, and get their dili'erences

adjusted. A meeting was accordingly held, at

which the earls were reconciled. The whole

blame of the troubles and commotions which

had recently disturbed the peace of Sutherland

and Caithness, was thrown upon the clan Gun,

who were alleged to have been the chief insti-

gators, and as their restless disposition miglit

give rise to new disorders, it was agreed, at

said meeting, to cut them off, and particularly

that part of the tribe which dwelt in Caith-

ness, which was cliiefly dreaded, for which

purpose the Earl of Caithness bound himself

to deliver up to the Earl of Sutherland, certain

individuals of the clan living in Caithness.

" See Siialiliug Cliib Miscellany, vol. ii. p. 83.

To enable him to implement his engagement a

resolution was entered into to send two com-

panies of men against those of the clan Gun
who dwelt in Caithness and Strathnaver, and

to surround them in such a way as to prevent

escape. The Earl of Caithness, notwithstand-

ing, sent private notice to the clan of the

preparations making against them by Angus

Sutherland of MeUary, in Berriedale; but the

clan were distrustful of the earl, as they had

abeady received secret intelligence tliat he had

assembled his people together for the purpose

of attacking them.

As soon as the Earl of Sutherland coidd get

his men collected he proceeded to march to the

territories of the clan Gun; but meeting by

chance, on his waj-, with a party of Strath-

naver men, imder the command of William

Mackay, brother of Houcheon Mackay, carrying

off the cattle of James Mac-Eory, a vassal of

his own, from Coireceann Loch in the Dii-i-

Meanigh, he rescued and brought back his

vassal's cattle. After this the earl's party pur-

sued William Mackay and the Strathnaver

men during the whole day, and killed one of

the principal men of the clan Gun in Strath-

naver, called Angus-Eoy, with several others

of Mackay's company. This affair was called

Latha-Tom-Eraoich, that is, the day of the

heather bush. At the end of the pursuit, and

towards evening, the pirrsued party found

themselves on the borders of Caithness, where

they found the clan Gun assembled in conse-

quence of the rising of the Caithness people

who had taken away their cattle.

This accidental meeting of the Strathnaver

men and the clan Gun was the means, probably,

of savmg both from destruction. They imme-

diately entered into an alliance to stand by

one another, and to live or che together. Next

morning they found themselves placed between

two powerful bodies of their enemies. On the

one side was the Earl of Sutherland's party at

no great distance, reposing themselves from

the fatigues of the preceding day, and on the

other were seen advancing the Caitlmess men,

conducted by Henry Sinclaii', brother to the

laird of Dun, and cousin to the Earl of Caith-

ness. A council of war was immediately held

to consult how to act in this emergency, when

it was resolved to attack the Caitlmess men
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first, as tliey were far iiiferior iii numbers,

wiiicli was done by the clan Gun and their

allies, who had the advantage of the hijl, with

great resolution. The former foolishly expended

their arrows while at a distance fi-om their

opponents; but the clan Gun having hus-

banded tlieir shot till they came iu close con-

tact with the enemy, did great execution.

The Caithness men were completely over-

tlirown, after leaving 140 of their party, with

their captain, Hemy Sinclair, dead on the field

of battle. Had not the darkness of the night

favoured their flight, they would have all been

destroyed. Henry Sinclair was Mackay's

uncle, and not being aware that he had been

in the engagement till he recognised his body

among the slain, Mackay felt extremely grieved

at the unexpected death of his relative. This

skirmish took place at Aldgowii, in the year

1586. The Sutherland men having lost sight

of Mackay and liis party among the liills,

unniediately before the conflict, retm-ned into

tlieir o^vIl country with the booty they had

recovered, and were not aware of the defeat of

the Caithness men tUl some time after that

event.

The Earl of Caithness afterwards confessed

that he had no intention of attacking the clan

Gun at the time in question ; but that his

policy was to have allowed them to be closely

pressed and pxirsued by the Sutherland men,

and then to have relieved them from the im-

minent danger they woidd thereby be placed

in, so that they might consider that it wa i to

him they owed their safety, and thus lay th^m

under fresh obligations to him. But the

deceitful part he acted proved very disastrous

to liis people, and the result so exasperated

liim against the clan Gun, that he hanged

John Mao-Iain-Mac-Rob, chieftain of the clan

Gun, in Caithness, whom he had kept captive

for some time.

The residt of all these proceedings was another

meeting between the Earls of Sutherland and

Caitliness at the hill of Bingrime in Suther-

land, which was brought about by the media-

tion of Sir Patrick Gordon of Auchindun,

who was sent into the north by liis nephew,

the Earl of Huntly, for that purpose. Here

again a new confederacy was formed against

the clan Gun in Caithness, who were now

maintained and harboured by Mackay. The

Earl of Sutherland, on account of the recent

defeat of the Caithness men, undertook to

attack the clan first. He accordingly directed

two bodies to march with all haste against the

clan, one of which was commanded by James

Mac-Eory and Ned. Mac-Iain-!Mac-William,

chief of the Sliochd-Iain-Abaraich, who were

now under the protection of the Earl of Suther-

huid; and the other by William Sutherland

Johnson, George Gordon in Marie, and Wil-

liam Murray in Kinnald, brother of Hugh
^Murray of Aberscors. Houcheon Mackay,

seeing no hopes of maintaining the clan Gun
any longer without danger to himself, dis-

cliarged them from his comitry, whereupon

they made preparations for seeking an asylum

in the western isles. But, on their journey

thither, they were met near Loch Broom, at a

place called Lecknielme, by James Mac-Eory

and Ned. Mac-Iain-Mae-William, where, after a

sharp skirmish, they were overtlirown, and

the gi-eater part of them killed. Their com-

mander, George Mac-Iain-Mac-Eob, brother oi

John Mac-Iain-Mac-Eob, who was hanged by

the Earl of Caithness, was severely wounded,

and was taken prisoner after an unsuccessful

attempt to escape by swunming across a loch

close by. After being carried to Dunrobin

castle, and presented to the Earl of Sutherland,

George Gmi was sent by him to the Earl of

Caithness, who, though extremely grieved at

the misfortune which had happened to the clan

Gim, dissembled his vexation, and received the

prisoner as if he approved of the Earl of

Sutherland's proceedings against him and his

unfortunate people. After a short confine-

ment, George Gun was released from liis cap-

tivity by the Earl of Caitliness, at the entreaty

of tlie Earl of Sutherland, not from any favour

to the prisoner himself, or to the earl, whom
the Earl of Caithness hated mortally, but with

the design of making Gun an instrument of

annoyance to some of the Earl of Sutherland's

neighbours. But the Earl of Caithness was

disappointed in hia object, for George Gun,

after liis enlargement from prison, always re-

mained faithful to the Earl of Sutherland.^

About this time a violent feud arose in the

« Sir K. Gordon, p. 185.
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western isles between Augiis Macdonald of

Kintyre, and Sir Lauclilan Maclean of Duart,

in Mull, whose sister Angus had married,

which ended in the almost total destruction of

the clan Donald and clan Lean. The circum-

stances which led to tliis unfortunate dissen-

sion were these :

—

Donald Gorm Macdonald of Slate, when
going on a visit from Slate to liis cousin, Angus

Macdonald of Kintyre, was forced by contrary

winds to land with his party in the island of

Jura, which belonged partly to Sir Lauchlan

Maclean, and partly to Angus Macdonald.

The part of the island where Macdonald of

Slate landed belonged to Sir Lauchlan Maclean.

No sooner had Macdonald and his company

landed, than, by an milucky coincidence, Mac-

donald Tearreagh and Houcheon MacgiUespic,

two of the clan Donaldwho had lately quarrelled

with Donald Gorm, arrived at the same time

with a party of men ; and, understanding that

Donald Gorm was in the island, they secretly

took away, by night, a number of cattle be-

longing to the clan Lean, and immediately put

to sea. Their object in doing so was to make
the clan Lean beheve that Donald Gorm and

Ids party had carried off the cattle, in the hope

that the Macleans woidd attack Donald Gorm,

and they were not disappointed. As soon as

the lifting of the cattle had been discovered.

Sir Lauchlan Maclean assembled his whole

forces, and, under the impression that Donald

Gorm and his party had committed the spoli-

ation, he attacked them suddenly and unawares,

dm'ing the night, at a place in the island called

Inverchuockwrick, and slew about sixty of the

clan Donald. Donald Gorm, having previously

gone on board his vessel to pass the night, for-

tunately escaped.

When Angus Macdonald heard of tliis " un-

toward event," he visited Donald Gorm in

Skye for the purpose of consulting with him
on the means of obtaining reparation for the

loss of his men. On his return homeward to

Kintyre, he landed in the Isle of Mull, and,

contrary to the advice of CoU Mac-James and

Reginald Mac-James, his two brothers, and of

Reginald Mac-CoU, his cousin, who wished

liim to send a messenger to announce the re-

sult of his meeting with Donald Gorm, went

to the castle of Duart, the principal residence

of Su- Lauchlan Maclean in Mull. His two
brothers refused to accompany liim, and they

acted rightly ; for, the day after Angus arrived

at Duart, he and all his party were perfidiously

ai'rested by Su- Lauchlan Maclean. Eeginald

Mac-CoU, the cousin of Angus, alone escaped.

The Ehinns of Islay at this time belonged to

the clan Donald, but they had given the pos-

session of them to the clan Lean for personal

services. Sir Lauchlan, thinking the present

a favoui-able opportunity for acquiring an abso-

lute right to this property, offered to release

Angus Macdonald, provided he would renounce

his right and title to the Ehinns ; and, in case

of refusal, he threatened to make him end his

days in captivity. Angus, being thus in some

degi'ee compeUed, agreed to the proposed terms

;

but, before obtaining liis liberty, he was forced

to give James Macdonald, his eldest son, and

Eeginald Mac-James, his brother, as hostages,

imtU the deed of conveyance shoidd be deliv-

ered to Sir Lauchlan.

It was not, however, the intention of Angus
Macdonald to implement this engagement, if

he coidd accomplish the liberation of his son

and brother. His cousin had suffered a griev-

ous injury at the hands of Su' Lauchlan Mac-

lean without any just cause of offence, and he

himself had, when on a fiiendly mission, been

detained most unjustly as a prisoner, and com-

pelled to promise to sm-render into Sir Lauch-

lan's hands, by a regular deed, a part of hie

property. Under these circumstances, his

resolution to break the unfair engagement he

had come under is not to be wondered at. To

acoompHsh his object he had recourse to a

stratagem in which he succeeded, as will be

shown in the sequel.

After Maclean had obtained delivery of the

two hostages, he made a voyage to Islay to get

the engagement completed. He left behind,

in the castle of Duart, Eeginald Mac-James,

one of the hostages, whom he put in fetters,

and took the other to accompany him on his

voyage. Having arrived in the isle of Isla}',

he encamped at Eilean-Gorm, a ruinous castle

upon the Ehinns of Islay, which castle had

been lately in the possession of the clan Lean.

Angus ISIacdonald was residing at the time at

the house of IMulindi-y or Midlindhi'ea, a com-

fortable and well-furnished residence belonging
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to him on the island, and to which he invited

Sir Lauclilan, under the pretence of aifording

him hetter accommodation, and providing him

with hetter provisions tlian he could ohtaiii in

his camp ; hut Sir Lauclilan, having his sus-

picions, declined to accept the iavitation.

" There wes," says Sir Kohert Gordon, " so

Little trust on either syd, that they did not now

meit in friendship or amitie, hot vpon ther

owne guard, or rather hy messingers, one from

another. And true it is (sayeth John Colwin,

in his manuscript) that the islanders are, of

nature, verie suspicious ; full of invention

against ther nighhours, hy whatsoever way

they may get them destroyed. Eesyds this,

they are hent and eager in taking revenge, that

neither have they regaird to persone, tj-me,

aige, nor cause ; and ar generallie so addicted

that way (as lykwise are the most pairt of all

Highlanders), that therein they suipasse all

other people whatsoever."

Sir Lauclilan, however, was thrown off his

guard hy fair promises, and agreed to pay

Macdonald a visit, and accordingly proceeded

to Mulindry, accompanied hy James Macdon-

ald, his own nephew, and the son of Angus,

and 86 of his kinsmen and servants. Maclean

and liis party, on their arrival, were received

hy Macdonald with much apparent Idndness,

and were simiptuously entertained during the

whole day. In the meantime, Macdonald sent

notice to all his friends and well-wishers in the

island, to come to his house at nine o'clock at

night, his design heing to seize Maclean and

liis party. At the usual hour for going to

repose, Maclean and his people were lodged in

a long-house, wliich stood hy itself, at some

distance from the other houses. During the

whole day Maclean had always kept James

Macdonald, the hostage, within his reach, as a

sort of protection to him in case of an attack,

and at going to hed he took him along with

him. Ahout an hour after Maclean and Ins

people had retired, Angus assemhled liis men
to the numher of 300 or 400, and made them

surround the house in which Maclean and liis

company lay. Then, going liiniself to the

door, he called upon Maclean, and told him

that he had come to give him his reposing

drink, which he had forgotten to offer him

hefore going to hed. Maclean answered that

he did not wish to diink at that time ; hut

IMacdonald insisted that he should rise and

receive the di'ink, it heing, he said, liis will

that he should do so. The peremptory tone of

Macdonald made Maclean at once apprehen-

sive of the danger of his situation, and imme-

diately getting up and placing the hoy hetween

his shoulders, prepared to ja'cserve his life as

long as he could witli the hoy, or to sell it as

dearly as possihle. As soon as the door was

forced open, James Macdonald, seeing his

father with a naked sword in liis hand and a

numher of his men armed in the same manner,

cried aloud for mercy to Maclean, his uncle,

whicli heing granted, Sir Lauchlan was imme'
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liiately removed to a secret chamber, where he

remained till next morning. After Maclean

nad surrendered, Angus Macdonald announced

to those within the house, that if they would

como \vitliout their lives would be spared

;

but he excepted Macdonald Terreagh and

another individual whom he namecL The
whole, A\'ith the exception of these two, hav-

ing complied, the house was immediately set

on fire, and consumed along witli Macdonald

Terreagh and liis comjianion. The fonner was

one of the clan Donald of the Western Islands,

and not only had assisted the clan Lean

against his own tribe, but was also the origin-

ator, as we have seen, of all these disturbances
;

and the latter was a near kiusman to Maclean,

one of the oldest of the clan, and celebrated

for his wisdom and prowess. This affiiir took

^lace in the month of July, 1586.

When the intelligence of the seizure of Sir

Lauclilan Maclean reached the Isle of MuU,
Allan Maclean, who was the nearest kinsman

io Maclean, whose children were tlien very

young, bethought liimself of an expedient to

obtain the possessions of Sir- Lauclilan. In

conjunction with his friends, Allan caused a

false report to be spread in the island of Islay,

that the friends of Maclean had killed Reginald

Mac-James, the remaining hostage at Duart

in Mull, by means of which he hoped that

Angus Macdonald would be moved to kill Sir

Lauclilan, and thereby enable him (Allan) to

supply his place. But although tliis device

did not succeed, it proved very disastrous to

Sir Lauchlan's fi'ieuds and followers, who were

beheaded in pah's by Coll Mac-James, the

brother of Angus ]\Iacdonald.

The fiiends of Sii' Lauchlan seeing no hopes

of his release, applied to tlie Earl of Argyle to

assist them in a contemplated attempt to rescue

him out of the hands of Angus Macdonald
;

but the earl, perceiving the utter hopelessness

of such an attempt with such forces as he and

they could command, advised them to com-

plain to Kuig James VI. against Angus ilac-

donald, for the seiziu'e and detention of their

chief The king immediately directed that

]\Iacdonald shoidd be summoned by a herald-

at-arms to deliver up Sir Lauclilan into tlie

hands of the Earl of Argyle ; but the herald

was interrupted in the performance of his duty,

not being able to procure shipping for Ish,y,

and was obliged to return home. The Earl of

Argyle had then recourse to negotiation with

Macdonald, and, after considerable trouble, he

prevailed on him to release Sir Lauchlan on

certain strict conditions, but not until Eegi-

nald Mac-James, the brother of Angus, had

been delivered up, and the eail, for perform-

ance of the conditions agreed upon, had given

his own son, and the son of Macleod of Ham's,

as hostages. But Maclean, quite regardless of

the safety of the hostages, and in open viola-

tion of tlie engagements he had come under,

on hearing that Angus Macdonald had gone

on a visit to the clan Donald of the glens in

Ireland, invaded Isla, which he laid waste, and

pur.sued those who had assisted in Ids capture.

On his return from Ireland, Angus Macdon-

ald made great preparations for inflicting a

just chastisement upon Maclean. Collecting

a large body of men, and much sliipping, he

invaded Mull and Tiree, cari-ying havoc and

destruction along ndth him, and destroying

every human being and every domestic auimtd,

of whatever kind. "V^Hule Macdonald was

committing these ravages in Mull and Tii'ee,

Maclean, instead of opposing him, invaded

Kintyi'e, where he took ample retaliation by

wasting and burning a great part of that coun-

try. In this fanner did these hostile clans

continue, for a considerable period, mutually

to vex and destroy one another, till they were

almost extonninated, root and branch.

In order to strengthen liis own power and

to weaken that of his antagonist. Sir Laucldan

Maclean attempted to detach Jolm jNFac-Iain,

of Ardnamurchan, fi-om Angus Macdonald and

his party. Mac-Iain had formerly been an

unsuccessfid suitor for the hand of Maclean's

mother, and Sir Lauchlan now gave him an

invitation to visit him in Mull, promising, at

the same time, to give him his moth-er in mar-

riage. Mac-Iain accepted the invitation, and

on his arrival in Mull, Maclean prevailed on

his mother to marry Mac-Iain, and the nuptials

were accordingly celebrated at Torloisk in

Mull. No persuasion, however, could induce

Mac-Iain to join against liis ovra tribe, towards

which, notmthstanding his matrimoniiil aUi

ance, he entertained the strongest affection

Chagrined at the unexpected refusal of Mac-
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Iain, Sir Lauchlan resolved to punisli kis

refractory guest by one of those gross infringe-

ments of the laws of hospitality which so often

marked the hostility of rival clans. During

the dead hour of the night he caused the door

of Mac-Iaiu's bedchamber to be forced open,

dragged him from his bed, and from the arms

of his wife, and put him in close confinement,

after killing eighteen of his followers. After

suffering a year's captivity, he was released and

exchanged for Maclean's son, and the other

hostages in Macdonald's possession.

The dissensions between these two tribes

having attracted the attention of government,

the rival cliiefs were induced, partly by com-

mand of the king, and pai-tly by persuasions

and fair promises, to come to Edinburgh in the

year 1592, for the piirpose of having their

differences reconciled. On their arrival they

were coixunitted prisoners to tlie castle of Edin-

burgh, but were soon released and allowed to

return home on payment of a small pecuniary

fine, "and a shamfull remission," says Sir Ro-

bert Gordon, "granted to either of them."'

In the year 1587, the flames of discord,

which had lain dormant for a short time, bm-st

forth between the rival houses of Sutherland

and Caitlmess. In the year 1583, Alexander,

Earl of Sutherland, obtained from the Earl of

Huntly a gi'ant of the superiority of Strath-

naver, and of the heritable slierLffship of

Sutherland and Strathnaver, which last was

granted in lieu of the lordship of Aboyne.

Tliis grant was confirmed by his Majesty ui

a charter under the great seal, by which

Sutherland and Strathnaver were disjoined

and dismembered from the sheriffdom of

Inverness. As the strength and influence of

the Earl of Sutherland were greatly increased

by the power and authority with which the

superiority of Strathnaver invested him, the

Earl of Caithness used the most urgent entreat-

ies with the Earl of Huntly, who was his

brother-in-law, to recall the gift of the superi-

ority which he had granted to the Earl of

Sutherland, and confer the same on hun. The

Earl of Himtly gave no decided answer to this

application, although he seemed I'ather to listen

with a favourable ear to his brother-in-law's

' Histury, p. 1B2.

request. The Earl of Sutherland liaving been

made aware of his rival's pretensions, and of

the reception which he had met with from the

Earl of Huntly, immediately notified to Hvmtly

that he would never restore the superiority

either to him or to the Earl of Caithness, as

the bargam he had made with hhn had been

long finally concluded. The Earl of Huntly

was much offended at this notice, but he and

the Earl of Sutherland were soon reconciled

through the mediation of Sir Patrick Gordon

of Aueliindim.

Disappointed in his views of obtaining the

superiority in question, the Earl of Caithness

seized the first opportunity, which presented

itself, of quarrelling with the Earl of Suther-

land, and he now thought that a suitable occa-

sion had occurred. George Gordon, a bastard

son of Gilbert Gordon of Gartay, having offered

many indignities to the Earl of Caithness, the

Earl, instead of complaining to the Earl of

Sutherland, Lu whose service this George Gordon

was, craved satisfaction and redress from the

Earl of Huntly. Huntly very properly desired

the Earl of Caithness to lay his complaint

before the Earl of Sutherland ; but this lie

declined to do, disdaining to seek redress from

Earl Alexander. Encouraged, probably, by the

refusal of the Earl of Himtly to interfere, and

the stubbornness of the Earl of Caithness to

ask redress from his master, George Gordon,

who resided in the town of Marie in Strathully,

on the borders of Caithness, not satisfied with

the indignities which he had formerly shown

to the Earl of Caithness, cut off the taUs of tlie

earl's horses as they were passing the river of

Helmsdale under the- care of his servants, on

their journey from Caithness to Edinburgh,

and in derision desired the earl's servants to

show him what he had done.

This George Gordon, it would appear, led a

very irregular and wcked course of life, and

shortly after the occurrence we have just related,

a cLrciunstance happenedwhich induced theEarl

of Caithness to take redress at his o^vn hands.

George Gordon had incurred the displeasure of

the Earl of Sutherland by an uula-wful con-

nexion with his wife's sister, and as he had no

hopes of regaining the earl's favour but by

renouncing this impure intercourse, he sent

Patrick Gordon, his brother, to the Earl of
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Caithness to endeavom- to effect a reconciliation

with liini, as he coiild no longer rely upon the

protection of his master, the Earl of Suther-

land. The Earl of Caitliness, who felt an

inward satisfaction at hearing of the displea-

sure of the Earl of Sutherland with George

Gordon, dissembled liis feelings, and pretended

to listen with great favoiu- to the request of

Patrick Gordon, in order to throw George

Gordon off his guard, wliile he was in reality

meditating his destruction. Tlie ruse succeeded

so effectually, that although Gordon received

timeous notice, from some friends, of the

intentions of the earl to attack him, he reposed

in false secm-ity upon the promises held out to

liim, and made no provision for his personal

safety. But he was soon undeceived by the

appearance of the earl and a body of men,

who, in February, 1587, entering Marie under

the silence of the night, surrounded liis house

and required liim to surrender, which he refused

to do. Having cut liis way through his enemies

and throAvn himself into the river of Helms-

dale, which he attempted to swim across, he

was slain by a shower of arrows.

The Earl of Sutherland, thougli he disliked

the conduct of George Gordon, was higldy in-

censed at his death, and made great prepara-

tions to punish the Earl of Caithness for his

attack upon Gordon. The Earl of Caitlmess

in his turn assembled his whole forces, and,

being joined by Mackay and the Stratknaver

men, together with John, the ISIaster of Orltiioy,

and the Earl of Carrick, brother of Patrick,

Earl of Orkney, and some of his countrymen,

marched to Helmsdale to meet the Earl of

Sutherland. As soon as the latter heard of the

advance of the Earl of Caithness, he also pro-

ceeded towards Helmsdale, accompanied by

Mackintosh, Eoderick Mackenzie of Eedcastle,

Hector Monroe of Contaligh, and NeOl Hou-

cheonson, with the men of Assynt. On liis

arrival at the river of Helmsdale, the Earl of

Sutherland foimd the enemy encamped on the

opposite side. Neither party seemed inclined

to come to a general engagement, but contented

themselves with daily skirmishes, annoying

each other with guns and arrows from the

opposite banks of the river. The Sutherland

men, who were very expert archers, annoyed

t^ie Caitlmess men so much, as to force them

to break up their camp on the river side and

to remove among the rocks above the vLllago

of Easter Helmsdale. Mackay and liis coim-

trj-men were encamped on the river of Marie,

and in order to detach him from the Earl of

Caitlmess, Macintosh crossed that river and

had a private conference mth him. After

reminding him of the friendsliip which had so

long subsisted between his ancestors and the

Sutherland family, Macintosh endcavoiu'ed to

impress upon Ms mind the danger he incurred

by taking up arms against his o\vn superior the

Earl of Sutherland, and entreated liim, for his

own sake, to join the earl; but Mackay remained

inflexible.

By the mediation of mutual friends, the two

eails agreed to a temporary truce on the 9th

of March, 1587, and thus the effusion of human

blood was stopped for a short time. As

Mackay was the vassal of the Earl of Suther-

land, the latter refused to comprehend him in

the truce, and insisted upon an unconditional

submission, but Mackay obstinately refused to

do so, and returned home to his own coimtry,

higlily chagrined that the Earl of Caithness,

for whom he had put his life and estate in

jeopardy, should have acceded to tlie Earl of

Sutherland's request to exclude him from the

benefit of the truce. Before the two earls

separated they came to a mutual understand-

ing to reduce Mackay to obedience ; and that

he might not suspect their design, they agreed

to meet at Edinburgh for the purpose of con-

certing the necessary measures together. Ac-

cordingly, they held a meeting at the appointed

place in the year 1588, and came to tlie reso-

lution to attack Mackay; and to prevent

Mackay from receiving any intelligence of

their design, both parties swore to keep the

same secret; but the Earl of Caithness, re-

gardless of his oath, immediately sent notice to

]\Iackay of the intended attack, for the purpose

of enabling him to meet it. Instead, however,

of folio-wing the Earl of Caithness's advice,

Tilackay, justly dreading his liollow friendship,

made haste, by the advice of Macintosh and

the Laird of Foulis, to reconcile himself to the

Earl of Sutherland, his superior, by iin im-

mediate submission. For this purpose he and

the earl first met at Inverness, and after con-

ferring together they made another appoint-
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meiit to meet at Elgin, where a perfect and

final reconciliation took place in the month of

November, 1588.

CHAPTER VIII.

A. D. 1.188—1601.

KING OF SCOTLAND :^I;nnes VI., 16C7—1603.

Continued strife between tlie Earls of SutherlauJ and
Caithness—Short Reconciliation—Strifo renewed

—

Fresh Reconciliation—Quarrel between Clan Gun
and other tribes—The Earl of Huntly, the Clan
Chattan, and others—Death of the " Bonny" Earl

of Murray—Consequent excitement—Strife between
Huntly and the Clan Chattan—Huntly attainted

and treated as a rebel—Argyle sent again.st him

—

15attle of Glenlivet—Jouruey of James VI. to the
North—Tumults in Ross—Feud between the Mac-
leans and Macdonalds—Defeat of the Macleans—Dis-

pute between the Earls of Sutherland and Caithness

—Feud between Macdonald of Slate and Macleod of

Harris—Reconciliation.

The truce between the Earls of Caitlmess

and Sutherland having now expired, the latter,

accompanied by ilackay, INIacintosh, the Laird

of Foulis, the Lau-d of Assynt, and Gille-Calum,

Laird of Easay, entered Caitlmess with all his

forces in the beginning of 1588. In taking

tlus step he was warranted by a commission

which he had obtained at coiu't, through the

influence of Chancellor IVIaitland, against the

Earl of Caithness for killing George Gordon.

The people of Caithness, alarmed at the great

force of the carl, fled in all directions on his

approach, and he never halted tUl he reached

the strong fort of Girnigo, where lie pitched

his camp for twelve days. He then penetrated

as far as Duncansby, killing several of the

country people on his route, and collecting an

immense quantity of cattle and goods, so large,

indeed, as to exceed all that had been seen toge-

ther in that country for many years. This mva-

sion had such an effect upon the people of Caith-

ness, that every race, clan, tribe, and family

there, vied with one another in offering pledges

to the Earl of Sutherland to keep the peace in

ill time coming. The town of Wick was also

oillaged and burnt, but the church was pre-

served. In the church was found the heart of

the Eni'l of Caithness's father in a case of lead,

wliich was openct by John Mac-GiUe-Calum of

Rasay, and the .ishos of the heart were thrown

by liim to the winds.

During the tim.e when these depredations

were being committed, the Earl of Caithness

shut himself up in the castle of Giruigo ; but

on learning the disasters which had befallen

his country, he desired a cessation of hostilities

and a conference mth the Earl of Sutherland.

As the castle of Girnigo was strongly fortified,

and as the Earl of Caitlmess had made prepa-

rations for endiu'ing a long siege, the Earl of

Sutherland complied with his request. Both

carls idtimately agreed to refer all their differ-

ences and disputes to the arbitration of friends,

and the Earl of Huntly was chosen by mutual

consent to act as umpire or oversman, in the

event of a difference of opinion. A second

truce was in this way entered into imtil the

decision of the arbiters, when all difference."?

were to cease.'

Notwithstanding tliis engagement, however,

the Eaii of Caithness soon gave fresh provoca-

tion, for before the truce had expired he sent

a party of his men to Diri-Chatt in Sutherland,

under the command of Kenneth Buy, and his

brother Earquhar Buy, chieftains of the Siol-

Mliic-Imlieair in Caithness, and cliief advisers

of the Earl of Caithness in his bad actions, and

his instruments in oppressing the poor people

of Caithness. The Earl of Sutherland lost no

time in revenging himself for the depredations

committed. At Whitsunday, in the year 1589,

he sent 300 men into Caithness, with Alexan-

der Gordon of KUcalinekill at their head.

They penetrated as far as Girnigo, laying the

coimtry waste everjr^vhere around them, and

striking terror into the hearts of the inhabit-

ants, many of whom, including some of the

Siol-Mliic-Inilieair, they killed. After spend-

ing their fury the party returned to Sutherland

with a large booty, and without the loss of a

single man.

To retaliate upon the Earl of Sutherland for

this inroad, James Sinclair of Markle, brother

of the Earl of Caithness, collected an army

of 3,000 men, with which he marched into

Strathully, in the month of June, 1589. As

the Earl of Sutherland had been apprehen-

sive of an attack, he had placed a range of

sentinels along the borders of Sutherland, to

give notice of the approach of the enemy. Of

I ' Sir K. Gordon, n. 157.
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tliese, four were stationed in the village of

Liribell, which the Caithness men entered in

the middle of the day luiknowu to the sentinels,

who, instead of keeping an outlook, were at

the time carelessly enjoying themselves witJiin

the watch-house. On perceiving the Caithness

men ahout entering the house, they shut them-

selves up within it ; but the house being set

on file, three of them perished, and the fourth,

rushing through the flames, escaped with great

difficulty, and announced to his countrymen

the an-ival of the enemy. From Strathully,

Sinclair passed forward with his army to a

place called Crissalligh, on the height of Strath-

broray, and began to drive away some cattle

towards Caithness. As the Earl of Sutherland

had not yet had sufficient tune to collect a suf-

ficient force to oppose Sinclair, he sent in the

meantime Houchoon !Mackay, who happened

to be at Duni'obin with 500 or 600 men, to

keep Smclair in check imtil a greater force

should be assembled. With this body, which

was hastily drawn together on the spur of the

occasion, Maokay advanced ^vith amazing celer-

ity, and sucli was the rapidity of his move-

ments, that ho most unexpectedly came up

mth Sinclair not far from Crissalligh, when

his army was rangmg about without order or

military discipline. On coming up, Mackay

found John Gordon of KilcalmekiU at the

head of a small party skirmishing with the

Caithness men, a circumstance wliich made
him instantly resolve, though so far inferior in

numbers, to attack Smclair. Crossing there-

fore the water, which was between him and

the enemy, Mackay and his men rushed upon

the army of Sinclair, which they defeated after

a long and warm contest. The Caithness men
retreated ivith the loss of their booty and part

of their baggage, and were closely pm^sued by

a body of men commanded by John Murray,

nicknamed the mercliant, to a distance of 16

iniles.'

This defeat, however, did not satisfy the

Earl of Sutherland, who, having now assembled

an army, entered Caithness with the intention

of laying it waste. The earl advanced as far

as Corrichoigli, and the Earl of Caithness con-

vened h.is forces at Spittle, where he lay wait-

' Sir R. Gordon, p. 199.

ing the arrival of his enemy. The Earl of

Huntly, having been made acquainted with the

warlike preparations of the two hostUe eai-ls,

sent, without delay, his uncle. Sir Patrick

Gordon of Auchindun, to mediate between

them, and ho luckily arrived at the Earl of

Sutherland's head-quarters, at the very instant

his army was on its march to meet the Earl

of Caithness. By the fiiendly interference of

Sir Patrick, the parties were prevailed upon to

desist from their hostile intentions, and to

agree to hold an amicable meeting at Elgin, in

presence of the Earl of Huntly, to whom they

also agreed to refer all their differences. A
meeting accordingly took place in the month

of November, 1589, at which all disputes were

settled, and in order that the reconciliation

might be lasting, and that no recourse might

again be had to arms, the two earls subscribed

a deed, by which they appointed Huntly and

his successors hereditary judges, and arbitra-

tors of all disputes or differences, that might

thenceforth arise between these two houses.

This reconciliation, however, as it did not

obliterate the rancour which existed between

the people of these different districts, was but

of short duration. The frequent depredations

committed by the vassals and retainers of the

earls upon the property of one another, led to an

exchange of letters and messages between them

about the means to be used for repressing these

disorders. During this correspondence the Earl

of Sutherland became unwell, and, being con-

fined to liis bed, the Earl of Caithness, in Octo-

ber, 1590, -wrote him a kind letter, which he had

scarcely despatched when he most unaccount-

ably entered Sutherland with a hostile force

;

but he only remained one night in that country,

in consequence of receiving intelligence of a

meditated attack upon his camp by John Gor-

don of KUcalmekiU, and Neill Mac-Iain-Mac-

William. A considerable number of the Suth-

erland men having collected together, they re-

solved to pursue the Caithness men, who had

carried off a large quantity of cattle; but, on

coming nearly up with them, an unfortunate

difference arose between the Murrays and the

Gordons, each contending for the command of

the vanguard. The MuiTaj's rested their claim

upon their former good seridces to the house

of Sutherland ; but the Gordons refusing to
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admit it, all the Murrays, with the exception

of WUham Murray, brother of the Laird of

Pabossie, and John Miuray, the mercha7if,

withdrew, and took a station on a hill hard

by to witness tlie combat. This unexpected

event seemed to paralyze the Gordons at iirst

;

but seeing the Caithness men driving the

cattle away before them, and tliinking that if

they did not attack them they would be accused

of cowardice, Patrick Gordon of Gartay, Jolin

Gordon of Embo, and John Gordon of Kil-

calm.ekiLl, after some consultation, resolved to

attack the retiring foe without loss of time,

and without waiting for the coming up of the

Strathnaver men, who were hourly expected.

This was a bold and desperate attempt, as the

Gordons were only as one to twelve in point

of numbers, but they could not brook the idea

of being branded as cowards. "With such

numerical inferiority, and with the sun and

wind in their faces to boot, the Sutherland

men advanced upon and resolutely attacked

the Caithness men near Cljoie. In the van of

the Caithness army were placed about 1,500

archers, a considerable number of whom were

from the Western Isles, under the command of

Donald BaUoch Mackay of Scourie, who
poured a thick shower of arrows upon the men
of Sutherland as thoy advanced, the latter, in

return, giving their opponents a similar recep-

tion. The combat raged with great fury for a

considerable time between these two parties :

thrice were the Caithness archers driven back

upon their rear, which was in consequence

thrown into great disorder, and tlirice did

they return to the conflict, cheered on and
encouraged by their leader ; but, though supe-

rior in numbers, they could not withstand the

firmness and intrepidity of the Sutherland

men, who forced them to retire from the field

of battle on the approach of night, and to

abandon the cattle which had been carried off.

The loss in killed and wounded was about

equal on both sides ; but, mth the exception

of Nicolas Sutherland, brother of the Laird of

Forae, aud Angus Mac-Angus-Termat, both
belonging to the Caithness party, and John
Murray, the merchant, on the Sutherland side,

there were no principal persons killed.

Vain as the efi'orts of the common friends of

the rival earls had hitherto been to reconcile

them eflfectually, the Earl of Huntly and

others once more attempted an arrangement

and having prevailed upon the parties to meet

at Strathbogie, a final agreement was entered

into in the month of ]\Iarch, 1591, by which

they agreed to bury all bygone chfferences in

obhvion, and to live on terms of amity in all

time thereafter.

This fresh reconciliation of the two earls was

the means of restoring quiet in their districts

for a considerable time, which was partially

interrupted in the year 1594, by a quarrel

between the clan Gun and some of the other

petty tribes. Donald Mac-WUham-Mac-Hen-

ric, Alister Mac-Iain-Mac-Rorie, and others of

the clan Gun entered Caithness and attacked

Farquhar Buy, one of the captains of the tribe

of Siol-Mhic-Imheair, and William Sutherland,

alias WiUiam Abaraich, the chief favourite of

the Earl of Caithness, and the principal plotter

against the life of George Gordon, whose death

has been already noticed. After a warm skir-

mish, Farquhar Buy, and WiUiam Abaraich,

and some of their followers, were slain. To re-

venge this outrage, the Earl of Caithness sent

the same year his brother, James Sinclair of

Murkle, with a party of men, against the clan

Gim in Strathie, in Strathnaver, who killed

seven of that tribe. George Mac-Iain-Mac-

Rob, the cliief, and Donald Mao-WiUiam-Mao-

Henric narrowly escaped with their lives.

For the sake of continuity, we have deferred

noticing those transactions in the north in

which George Gordon, Earl of Huntly, was

more immediately concerned, and which led to

several bloody conflicts.

The earl, who was a favoimte at court, and

personally Kked by James VI., finding himself

in danger from the prevailing faction, retired

to his possessions in the north, for the purpose

of improving his estates and enjoying domestic

quiet. One of his first measures was to erect

a castle at Ruthven, in Badenoch, in the neigh-

bom-hood of his hunting forests. This gave

great offence to Macintosh, the chief of the clan

Chattan, and his people, as they considered

that the object of its erection was to overawe

the clan. Being the earl's vassals and tenants,

they were bound to certain services, among

which the furnishing of materials for the build-

ing formed a chief part ; but, instead of assist-
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ing the earl's people, they at first indirectly

and in an underhand manner endeavoured to

prevent the workmen from going on with their

operations, and after^wards positively refused

to furnish the necessaries required for th'3

building. This act of disobedience n-as the

cause of much trouble, which was increased by a

quarrel in the year 1590, between the Gordons

and the Grants, the occasion of which was as

follows. John Grant, the tutor of Ballen-

dalloch, having ndthlield the rents due to the

nddow, and endeavoured otherwise to injure

her, James Gordon, her nephew, eldest son of

Alexander Gordon of Lismore, along with some

of his friends, went to BallendaUoch to obtain

justice for her. On their arrival, differences

were accommodated so far that the tutor paid

up all arrears due to the lady, except a trifle,

wliich he insisted, on some ground or other, on

retaining. This led to some altercation, in

which the servants of both parties took a share,

and latterly came to blows ; hut they were

separated, and James Gordon retm-ned home.

Judging from what had taken place, that liis

aunt's interests would in future be better

attended to if under the protection of a hus-

band, he persuaded the brother of Sir Thomas

Gordon of Cluny to marry her, which he did.

This act so incensed the tutor of BaUendalloch,

that he at once showed his displeasure by

killing, at the instigation of the laird of Grant,

one of John Gordon's servants. For this the

tutor, and such of the Grants as should harbour

or assist him, were declared outlaws and rebels,

and a commission was granted to the Earl of

Huntly to apprehend and bring them to justice,

in virtue of which, he besieged the house of

BallendaUoch, and took it by force, on the

2d November, 1590 : but the tutor effected

his escape. Sir John Campbell of CadeU, a

despicable tool of the Chancellor Maitland,

who had plotted the destruction of the earl

and the laird of Grant, now joined in the

conspiracy against him, and stirred up the clan

Chattan, and Macintosh their chief, to aid

the Grants. They also persuaded the Earls of

Athol and Murray to assist them against the

Earl of Himtly.

As soon as Himtly ascertained that the

Grants and clan Chattan, who were his o'wn

vassaLs, had put themselves under the com-

mand of these earls, he assembled his followers,

and, entering Badenoch, summoned his vassals

to appear before liim, and deliver up the

tutor and his abettors, but none of them came.

He then proclaimed and denounced them rebels,

and obtained a royal commission to invade and

apprehend them. To consult on the best

means of defending themselves, the Earls of

Murray and Athole, the Dunbars, the clan

Chattan, the Grants, and the laird of Cadell,

and others of their party met at Forres. In

the midst of their deliberations Huntly, who
had received early intelligence of the meeting,

and had, in consequence, assembled his forces,

unexpectedly made his appearance in the

neighbourhood of Forres. This sudden advance

of Huntly struck terror into the minds of the

persons assembled, and the meeting instantly

broke up in great confusion. The whole party,

with the exception of the Earl of Mmray, left

the to'wn in great haste, and fled to Tarnoway;

the Earl of Huntly, not aware that Murray

had remained behind, marching directly to

Tarnoway in pursuit of the fugitives. On

arriving within sight of the castle into which

the flying party had thro'WTi themselves, the

earl sent John Gordon, brother of Sir Thomas

Gordon of Cluny, with a small body of men to

reconnoitre ; but approaching too near without

due caution, he was shot by one of the Earl of

Murray's servants. As Huntly found the castle

weU fortified, and as the rebels evacuated it

and fled to the mountains, Ica-ving a sufficient

force to protect it, he disbanded liis men on

November 24, 1590, and returned home,

whence he proceeded to Edinburgh.

Shortly after his arrival the Earl of BothweU,

who had a design upon the life of Chancellor

INIaitland, made an attack upon the palace of

Holyroodhouse under cloud of night, 'with the

view of seizing Maitland ; but, ha^ving failed

in his object, he was forced to flee to the north

to avoid the vengeance of the king. The Earl

of Huntly, who had been lately reconciled to

Maitland, and the Duke of Lennox, were sent in

pursuit of BothweU, but he escaped. Under-

standing afterwards that he was harboured by

the Earl of Murray at Donnibristle, the chan-

ceUor, ha^ving procured a commission against

him from the king in favour of Huntly, agaui

sent him, accompanied by forty gertlemen, to
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attack the Earl of Murray. When the party had

arrived near Donnibristle, the Earl of Huntly

.sent Captam Jolm Gordon, of Buckie, brother

of Gordon of Gight, witli a summons to the Earl

of Murray, requiring him to surrender himself

prisoner ; but instead of compljdng, one of the

earl's servants levelled a piece at tlio bearer of

tlie despatch, and womrdcd him mortally.

Huntly, therefore, after giving orders to take

the Earl of Murray alive if possible, forcibly

entered the house ; but Sir Thomas Gordon,

recollecting tlie fate of liis brother at Tarnoway,

and Gordon of Gight, who saw his brotlier

lying mortally wounded before his eyes, entirely

disregarded the injimction ; and following the

earl, who had fled among the rooks on the

adjoining sea-shore, slew htm. It was tliis Earl

of Murray who was known as the "bonny"

carl, and, according to some liistorians, had

impressed the heart of Anne of Deimiark, and

excited the jealousy of her royal spouse. This

at l(>ast was the popidar notion of his time :

—

'* He was a Lraw gallant,

And he played at the gluve
;

And the bonny Earl of Murray,

Oh ! he was the qneen's lovo

According to one account the house was set

on fii'e, and Mm-ray was discovered, when
endeavoiu'ing to escape, by a spark which fell

on Ids helmet, and slain by Gordon of Buckie,

saying to the latter, who had wounded him in

the face, " You have spilt a better face than

your avian."

The Earl of Huntly immediately despatched

John Gordon of Buckie to Edinbm-gh, to lay

a statement of the affair before the king and

the chancellor. The death of the Earl of

Murray would have passed quietly over, as an

event of ordinary occm-rence in those trouble-

some times ; but, as he was one of the heads

of the Protestant party, the Presbyterian

ministers gave the matter a religious turn by

denouncing the Catholic Earl of Huntly as a

murderer, who wished to advance the interests

of his church by imbruing his hands in the

blood of his Protestant countrymen. The

effect of the ministers' denunciations was a

timiult among the people in Edinburgh and

other parts of the kingdom, which obliged the

king to cancel the commission he had granted

to the Earl of Hmitly. The spirit of discon-

tent became so violent that Captain John

Gordon, who had been left at Inverkeithing

for the recovery of liis wounds, but who Iiad

been afterwards taken prisoner by the Earl of

Murray's friends and carried to Echnburgh.

was tried before a jury, and, contrary to law

and justice, condemned and executed for having

assisted the Earl of Huntly acting under a royal

commission. The recklessness and severity of

this act were still more atrocious, as Captain

Gordon's wounds were incurable, and he was

fast hastening to his grave. John Gordon of

Buckie, who was master of the king's lioiise-

hold, was obhged to flee from Edinburgh, and

made a narrow escape vrith. his life.

As for the Earl of Himtly, he was summoned,

at the instance of the Lord of St. Colme, brother

of the deceased Earl of Murray, to stand trial.

He accordingly appeared at Edinbm-gh, and

offered to abide the residt of a trial by his

peers, and in the meantime was committed a

prisoner to the castle of Blackness on the 12th

of March, 1.591, till the peers should assemble

to try him. On giving sufficient surety, how-

ever, that he would appear and stand trial on

receiving six days' notice to that effect, he was

released by the king on the 20th day of the

same month.

The clan Chattan, who had never submitted

without reluctance to the Earl of Himtly, con-

sidered the present aspect of affairs as peculiarly

favourable to the design they entertained of

shaking off the yoke altogether, and being

countenanced and assisted by the Grants, and

other friends of the Earl of Murray, made no

secret of their intentions. At first the earl

sent Allan !Macdonald-Dubh, the chief of the

clan Cameron, with his tribe, to attack the

clan Chattan in Badenoch, and to keep them

in due order and subjection. The Camerons,

though wai-mly opposed, succeeded in defeat-

ing the clan Chattan, who lost 50 of their

men after a sharp skirmish. The earl next

despatched Macronald, with some of the

Lochaber men, against the Grants in Strath-

spey, whom he attacked, lulled 18 of them,

and laid waste the lands of Ballendalloch.

After the clan Chattan had recovered from

their defeat, they invaded Strathdee and

Glenmuck in November 1592. To punisi
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this aggression, tlie Earl of Huntly collected

his forces and entered Pettie, then in posses-

sion of the clan Chattan as a fief from the

Earls of Murray, and laid waste all the lands

of the clan Chattan there, killed many of

them, and carried off a large quantity of cattle,

which lie divided among his army. But in

returning from Pettie after dishancUng liis

army, he received the imwelcome intelligence

that William Macintosh, son of Lauclilan Mac-

intosh, the chief, with 800 of the clan Chattan,

had invaded the lands of Auchindun and Cab-

berogh. The earl, after desiring the small

party which remained with him to follow him

as speedily as possible, immediately set oif at

full speed, accompanied by Sir Patrick Gordon

of Auchindim and 36 horsemen, in quest of

Macintosh and his party. Overtaking them

before they had left the bounds of Cabberogh,

upon the top of a hill called Stapliegate, he

attacked them with his small party, and, after

a warm skirmish, defeated them, killing about

60 of their men, and wounding WUliam Mac-

intosh and others.

The Earl of Huntly, after thiis subduing his

enemies in the north, now found himself placed

under ban by the government on account

of an alleged conspiracy between liim and the

Earls of Angus and Errol and the cro-\vn of

Spain, to overturn the State and the Church.

The king and his councillors seemed to be

satisfied of the innocence of the earls ; but the

uiinisters, who considered the reformed religion

in Scotland in danger wliile these Catholic

peers were protected and favoured, importuned

liis majesty to punish them. The king, yield-

ing to necessity and to the intrigues of Queen

Elizabeth, forfeited their titles, intending to

restore them when a proper opportunity

occurred ; and, to sUence the clamours of the

ministers, convoked a parliament, which was

held in the end of IMay, 1594. As few of the

peers attended, the ministers, having the com-

missioners of the burghs on their side, carried

everjrthing their own way, and the consequence

was, that the three earls were attainted without

trial, and their arms were torn in presence of

the parliament, according to the custom in

such cases.

Having so far succeeded, the ministers,

., instigated by the Queen of England, now

entreated the king to send the Earl of Argyle,

a youth of nineteen years of age, in the jiay of

Queen Elizabeth, with an army against the

Catholic earls. The king, stiU yielding to

necessity, complied, and Argyle, having col-

lected a force of about 12,000 men, entered

Badenccli and. laid siege to the castle of Kuth-

ven, on the 27th of September, 1594. He was

accompanied ui this expedition by tlie Earl of

Athole, Sir Lauclilan Maclean with some of his

islanders, the chief of the Macintoshes, the

Laird of Grant, the clan Gregor, MacneU of

Barra, with all their friends and dependents,

together with the whole of the Campbells, and

a variety of others animated by a thirst for

plunder or mahce towards the Gordons. The

castle of Kuthven was so well defended by the

clan Plierson, who were the Earl of Himtly's

vassals, that Argyle was obliged to give up the

siege. He then marched through Strathspey,

and encamped at Drummin, upon the river

Avon, on the 2d of October, whence he issued

orders to Lord Forbes, the Erasers, the Dun-

bars, the clan Kenzie, the Irvings, the Ogil-

vies, the Leslies, and other tribes and clans

in the north, to join liis standard with all con-

venient speed.

The earls, against whom this expedition was

directed, were by no means dismayed. They

loiew that although the king was constrained

by popular clamour to levy war upon tliem, he

was in secret friendly to them ; and they were,

moreover, aware that the army of Argyle,

who was a youth of no military experience,

was a raw and undisciplined militia, and com-

posed, in a gi'eat measure, of Catholics, who

could not be expected to feel very warmly for

the Protestant interest, to support which the

expedition was professedly undertaken. The

seeds of disaffection, besides, had been already

so'wn in Argyle's camp by the corruption of the

Grants and CampbeU of Lochnell.

On hearing of Argyle's approach, the Earl

of Errol immediately collected a select body of

about 100 horsemen, being gentlemen, on

whose courage and fidelity he could rely, and

with these he joined the Earl of Huntly at

Strathbogie. The forces of Huntly, after this

junction, amounted, it is said, to nearly 1,500

men, almost altogether horsemen, and with this

body he advanced to Carnborrow, where the
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two earls and tlieir chief followers made a

solemn vow to conquer or die. Marcliing from

thence, Himtly's army arrived at Aucliindun

on the same day that Axgyle's army reached

Drummin. At Auchindim, Huntly received

intelligence that Argyle was on the eve of

descending from the mountains to the lowlands,

winch induced liim, on the folloTOng day,

to send Captain Thomas Carr and a party of

horsemen to reconnoitre the enemy, while he

liimself advanced with his main army. The

reconnoitring party soon fell in, accidentally,

with Argyle's scouts, whom they chased, and

some of whom they killed. This occurrence,

which was looked upon as a prognostic of

victory, so encouraged Huntly and his men,

that he resolved to attack the army of Argyle

before he should he joined by Lord Forbes,

and the forces which were waiting for his

appearance in the lowlands. Argyle had now
passed Glenlivet, and had reached the banks

nf a small brook named Altchonlachan.

On the other hand, the Earl of Argjde had

no idea that the Earls of Huntly and Errol

would attack him with such an inferior force

;

and he was, therefore, astonished at seeing them

approach so near him as they did. Apprehen-

sive that liis numerical superiority in foot would

be counterbalanced by Himtly's cavalry, he

held a council of war, which advised Argyle to

wait tiU the king, who had promised to appear

with a force, should arrive, or, at all events,

tin he should be joined by the Erasers and

!Mackenzics from the north, and the Irvings,

Forbeses, and Leslies from the lowlands with

their horse. This opinion, which was con-

sidered judicious by the most experienced of

Argyle's army, was however disregarded by

him, and he determined to wait the attack of

the enemy ; and to encourage his men he

pointed out to them the small number of those

they had to combat with, and the spoils they

might expect after victory. He disposed his

army on the declivity of a lull, betwixt Glen-

livet and Glenrinnes, in two parallel divisions.

Tlie right wing, consisting of the Macleans and

Macintoshes, was commanded by Sir Lauchlan

Maclean and Macintosh—the left, composed

of the Grants, MacneiUs, and Macgregors, by

Grant of Gartinbeg ; and the centre, consisting

pf the Campbells, &c., was commanded by

Campbell of Aucliinbreck. This vanguard

consisted of 4,000 men, one-half of whom
carried muskets. The rear of the army, con-

sisting of about 6,000 men, was commanded

by Argyle himself. The Earl of Himtly's van-

guard was composed of 300 gentlemen, led by

the Earl of Errol, Sir Patrick Gordon of

Auchindim, the laird of Gight, the laird of

Bonnitoun, and Captain, afterwards Sir Thomas

Carr. The earl liimself followed with the

remainder of his forces, having the laird of

Cluny upon liis right hand and the laird of

Abergeldy upon liis left. Three pieces of field

ordnance under the direction of CaptainAndrew
Gray, afterwards colonel of the English and

Scots who served in Bohemia, were placed in

front of the vanguard. Before advancing, the

Earl of Huntly harangued his little army to

encourage them to fight manfully ; ho told

them that they had no alternative before them

but victory or death—that they were now to

combat, not for their o^vn lives only, but also

for the very existence of their families, which

would be utterly extinguished if they fell a

prey to their enemies.

The position wliicli Aj-gyle occupied on the

declivity of the liiU gave him a decided advan

tage over his assailants, who, from the nature

of their force, were greatly hampered by the

mossy nature of the ground at the foot of

the hill, interspersed by pits from which turf

had been dug. But, notwithstanding these

obstacles, Huntly advanced up the lull with

a slow and steady pace. It had been

arranged between him and Campbell of

LochneU, who had promised to go over to

Huntly as soon as the battle had commenced,

that, before charging Argyle with his cavalry,

Huntly should fire his artillery at the yellow

standard. Campbell bore a mortal enmity

at Argyle, and as he was Argyle's nearest

heir, he probably had directed the firing

at the yellow standard in the hope of

cutting off the earl. Unfortunately for

himself, however, Campbell was shot dead

at the first fire of the cannon, and upon

his fall all his men fled from tlie field.

Macneill of Barra was also slain at the same

time.

Tlie Highlanders, who had never before

seen field pieces, were thrown into disorder



BATTLE OF GLENLIVET. 109

by tlio cannonade, which heing perceived by

Hiintly, he charged the enemy, and rushing in

among them with his horsemen, increased the

confusion. The Earl of Errol was directed to

attack the right ^ving of Argyle's army, com-

manded by Maclean, but as it occupied a very

steep part of the hill, and as Errol was greatly

annoyed by thick volleys of shot from above,

he was compelled to make a detour, leavmg

the enemy on his left. But Gordon of Auch-

indim, disdaining such a prudent course, gal-

loped up the hill with a party of his own fol-

lowers, and charged Maclean with great im-

petuosity ; but Auchindun's rashness cost him

his life. The fall of Auchindun so exasperated

his followers that they set no bounds to their

fury; but Maclean received their repeated

assaults with firmness, and manoeuvred his

troops so well as to succeed in cutting off the

Earl of Errol, and placing bim between his

own body and that of Argyle, by whose joint

forces he was completely siuTOunded. At this

important crisis, when no hopes of retreat

remained, and when Errol and his men were

in danger of being cut to pieces, the Earl of

Huntly, very fortunately, came up to his assist-

ance and relieved him from his embarrass-

ment. The battle was now renewed and con-

tiinied for two hom's, diuing which both parties

fought with great bravery, "the one," says Sir

Robert Gordon, " for glorie, the other for

necessitie." In the heat of the action the Earl

of Huntly had a horse shot under him, and was

in imminent danger of his life ; but another

horse was immediately procured for him. Af-

ter a hard contest the main body of Argyle's

army began to give way, and retreated towards

the rivulet of Altchonlachan ; but Maclean

stUl kept the field, and continued to support

the falling fortune of the day. At length,

finding the contest hopeless, and after losing

many of liis men, he retired in good order with

the small company that still remained about

him. Huutly pursued the retiring foe beyond

the water of Altchonlachan, when he was

prevented from following them farther by the

steepness of the hills, so unfavoui-able to the

operations of cavalry. The success of Huntly

was mainly owing to the treachery of LochneU,

and of John Grant of Gartinbeg, one of Huntly's

vassals, who, in terms of a concerted plan, re-

treated with his men as soon as the action

began, by which act the centre and the left

wing of Argyle's army were completely broken.

On the side of Ai-gyle 500 men were killed

besides MacneUl of Barra, and Lochnell

and Auoliinbreck, the two cousins of Argyle.

The Earl of Huntly's loss was comparatively

trifling. About 14 gentlemen were slain, in-

cluding Sir Patrick Gordon of Aucliindun,

and the Laird of Gight ; and the Earl of Errol

and a considerable number of persons were

womided. At the conclusion of the battle the

conquerors returned thanks to God on the

field for the victory they had achieved. This

battle is called by some ^vriters the battle of

Glenlivet, and by others the battle of Altchon-

lachan. Among the trophies found on the

field was the ensign belonging to the Earl of

Argyle, wliich was carried with other spoils to

Strathbogie, and placed upon the top of the

great tower. So certain had Argyle been of

success in his enterprise, that he had made out

a paper apportioning the lands of the Gordons,

the Hays, and aU who were suspected to favour

them, among the chief officers of his army.

Tills document was found among the baggage

which he left behind him on the field of battle.*

Although Ai-gyle certainly calculated upon

bemg joined by the king, it seems doubtful if

James ever entertained such an intention, for

he stopped at Dundee, from which he chd not

stir till he heard of the residt of the battle of

Glenlivet. Instigated by the ministers and

other enemies of the Earl of Huutly, who

became now more exasperated than ever at the

unexpected failure of Argyle's expedition, the

king proceeded north to Strathbogie, and in

his route he permitted, most im.willingly, the

house of Craig in Angus, belonging to Sir

John OgUvie, son of Lord OgUvie, that of

Bagaes in Angus, the property of Sir Walter

Lindsay, the house of Culsalmond in Gariooh,

appertaining to the Laird of Newton-Gordon,

the house of Slaines in Buchan, belonging to

the Earl of Errol, and the castle of Strathbogie,

to be razed to the grovmd, irnder the pretext

that priests and Jesiuts had been harboured in

them. In the meantime the Earl of Huntly

> Sir R. Gordon, pp. 226, 227, 228, 22P.—.Sliaw'i

Mora;/, pp. 266, 267, 268.
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ind his friends retired into Sutherland, where

they remained six weeks \vith Earl Alexander

;

and on the king's departure to Strathbogie,

lluntly returned, leaving his eldest son George,

Lord Gordon, in Sutherland with his aimt, tdl

tlie retui'n of more peaceable times.

The king left the Duke of Lennox to act as

liis lieutenant in the north, with whom the

two earls held a meeting at Aberdeen, ?nd as

their temporary absence from the kingdom

might aUay the spirit of violence and discon-

tent, which was particidarly annoying to liis

majesty, they agreed to leave the kingdom

during the king's pleasure. After spending

sixteen months in travelling through Germany

and Flanders, Huntly was recalled, and on his

return he, as well as the Earls of Angus and

En'ol, were restored to their fonner honours

and estates by the parliament, held at Edin-

burgh in November 1597, and in testimony of

his regard for Huntly, the king, two years

thereafter, created him a marquis. This signal

mark of the royal favour had such an influence

upon the clan Chattan, the clan Kenzie, the

Grants, Forbeses, Leshes, and other hostile

clans and tribes, that they at once submitted

themselves to the marquis.

The warlike operations in the north seem,

for a time, to have drawn off the attention of

She clans from their own feuds ; but in the

year 1597 a tumult occurred at Loggiewreid in

lioss, which had almost put that province and

the adjoining country into a flame. The quar-

rel began between John Mac-GUle-Calum,

brotlier of Gille-Calum, Laird of Rasay, and

Alexander Bane, brother of Duncan Bane of

Tulloch, in Eoss. The Monroes took the side

of the Banes, and the Mackenzies aided John

Mac-GUle-Calum. In this tumult John Mac-

GUle-Calum and John Mac-Murthow-Mac-

WUliam, a gentleman of the clan Kenzie, and

three persons of that surname, were killed on

[he one side, and on the other were slain John

Monroe of Culcraigie, his brother Houcheon

Monroe, and John Monroe Kobertson. This

occurrence renewed the ancient animosity be-

tween the clan Kenzie and the Monroes, and

footh parties began to assemble their friends

jbr the purpose of attacking one another ; but

their differences were in some measiu'e happUy

Teconciied by the mediation ofcommon friends.

In the following year the ambition anc

avarice cf Sir Lauchlan Maclean, of whom
notice has been ah-cady taken, brought him to

an untimely end, having been slain in Islay by

Su- James Macdonald, Ids nephew, eldest son

of j\jagus Macdonald of Kintyre. Sir Lauch-

lan had long had an eye upon the possessions

of the clan Eonald in Islay ; but having faded

in extorting a conveyance thereof from Angus

Macdonald in the way before alluded to, he

endeavoured, by his credit at court and by

bribery or other means, to obtam a grant of

these lands from the crown in 1595. At this

period Angus Macdonald had become infirm

from age, and his son. Sir James Macdonald

was too young to make any effectual resistance

to the newly acquired claims of his covetous

uncle. After obtaining the gift. Sir Lauchlan

collected his people and friends, and invaded

Islay, for the purpose of taking possession of

the lands which belonged to the clan Donald.

Su- James Macdonald, on hearing of his uncle's

landing, collected his friends, and landed in

Islay to dispossess Sir Lauchlan of the property.

To prevent the effusion of blood, some common

friends of the parties interposed, and endea-

voured to bring about an adjustment of their

differences. They prevaUed upon Sir James

to agree to resign the half of the island to his

uncle during the life of the latter, provided he

woidd acknowledge that he held the same for

personal service to the clan Donald in the same

manner as Maclean's progenitors had always

held the Ehinns of Islay ; and he moreover

offered to submit the question to any impartial

friends Maclean might choose, under this

reasonable condition, that in case they should

not agree, his Majesty should decide. But

Maclean, contrary to the advice of Ms best

friends, would listen to no proposals short of

an absolute surrender of the whole of the island.

Sir James therefore resolved to vindicate his

right by an appeal to arms, though his force

was far inferior to that of Sir Lauchlan.

A despwato struggle took place, in which great

valour -B&s :^j»played on both sides. Sir

LauchlMi f7HS killed fighting at the head of

his men, who were at length compelled tn

retreat to their boats and vessels. Besides

their chief, the Macleans left 80 of their prin-

cipal men and 200 common soldiers dead on
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the tield of battle. Lauchlan Barroch-^Maclean,

gon of Sir Lauchlan, was dangerously wounded,

but escaped. Sir James Macdonald was also

so severely wounded tbat he never fully recov-

ered from Ills wounds. About 30 of the clan

Donald were killed and about 60 wounded.

Sir Lauclilan, according to Sir Eobert Gordon,

had consulted a witch before he undertook this

journey into Islay, who advised liini, in the

first place, not to land upon the island on a

Thursday ; secondly, that he should not cbink

of the water of a well near Groyuard ; and

lastly, she told him that one Maclean should

be slain at Groynard. " The first he trans-

gressed unwillingly," says Sir Eobert, " being

driven into the island of Ha by a tempest

upon a Thursday ; the second he transgressed

negligentlie, haveing drank of that water befor

he wes awair ; and so he wes killed ther at

Groinard, as wes foretold him, bot doubtfuUie.

Thus eudetli all these that doe trust in such

kynd of respouces, or doe hunt after them l"^

On hearing of Maclean's death and the defeat

of his men, the king became so higlily incensed

against the clan Donald that, finding he had a

right to dispose of their possessions both in

Kintyre and Islay, he made a grant of them to

the Earl of Argyle and the Campbells. This

gave rise to a number of bloody conflicts be-

tween the Campbells and the clan Donald in

the years 1614, -15, and -16, wliich ended in

the ruin of the latter.

The rival houses of Sutherland and Caith-

ness had now lived on friendly terms for some

years. After spending about eighteen months

at court, and attending a convention of the

estates at Edinburgh in July, 1598, Jolin, sixth

Earl of Sutherland, went to the Continent,

where he remained till the month of September,

1600. The Earl of Caithness, deeming the

absence of the Earl of Sutherland a fit oppor-

timity for carr3dng into effect some designs

against him, caused William Mackay to obtain

leave from his brother Houcheon Mackay to

hunt in the policy of Durines belongbig to the

Earl of Sutherland. The Eail of Caithness

thereupon assembled all Itia vasrsals and de-

pendents, and, under the pretence of hunting,

made demonstrations for fintering Sutherland

' ffisiory, p. 238.

or Strathnaver. As soon as Mackay was

informed of his intentions, he sent a message

to the Earl of Caithness, intimating to him that

he would not permit him to enter either of

those countries, or to cross the marches. The

Earl of Caithness returned a haughty answer

;

but he did not carry his threat of invasion into

execution on account of the amval of the Earl

of Sutherland from the Continent. As the

Earl of Caitlmess still contmued to threaten

an invasion, the Earl of Sutherland collected

his forces, in the month of Jidy 1601, to op-

pose him. Mackay, with his countrymen,

soon joined the Earl of Sutherland at Lagan-

Gatncamhd in Dirichat, where he was soon

also joined by the Monroes under Eobert

Monroe of Contaligh, and the laird of Assynt

\vith his countrymen.

While the Earl of Sutherland's force was

thus assembling, the Earl of Caithness ad-

vanced towards Sutherland with his armj-.

The tivo armies encamped at the distance of

about tliree miles asunder, near the hill of

Bengiime. In expectation of a battle on the

morning after then- encampment, the Suthei--

land men took up a position in a plain which

lay between the two armies, called Leathad

Eeidh, than wliich a more convenient station

could not have been selected. But the com-

modiousness of the plain was not the only

reason for making the selection. Tliere had

been long a prophetic tradition in these coun-

tries that a battle was to be fought on this

ground between the inliabitants of Sutherlaml,

assisted by the Stratluiaver men, and the men
of Caithness; that although the Sutherland

men were to be victorious their loss would be

gi-eat, and that the loss of the Strathnaver

men shoidd even be greater, but that the

Caithness men shoidd be so completely over-

thrown that they should not be able, for a con-

siderable length of time, to recover the blow

which they were to receive. This superstitious

idea made such an impression upon the minds

of the men of Sutherland that it was with

great difficulty they could be restrained from

immediately attacking their enemies.

The Earl of Caithness, daunted by this cir-

cumstance, and being diffident of the fidelity

of some of liis people, whom he had used with

great cruelty, sent messengers to the Earl of
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Sutherland expressing Ms regret at what had

happened, stating that he was provoked to his

present measures by the insolence of Mackay,

who had repeatedly dared him to the attack,

and that, if the Earl of Sutherland would pass

over the affair, he woidd permit him and liis

army to advance twice as far into Caitluiess as

he had marched into Sutherland. The Earl of

Sutherland, on receipt of this offer, called a

council of his friends to deliberate upon it.

Mackay and some others advised the earl to

decline the proposal, and attack the Earl of

Caithness; while others of the earl's advisers

thought it neither fit nor reasonable to risk so

many lives when such ample satisfaction was

offered. A sort of middle com-so was, there-

fore, adopted by giving the Earl of Caithness

an opportunity to escape if he inclined. The

messengers were accordingly sent back with

this answer, that if the Earl of Caitliness and

his army would remain where they lay tiU

sunrise next morning they might be assured of

an attack.

When this answer was delivered in the Earl

of Caithness' camp, his men got so alarmed

that the earl, vnth. great difficulty, prevented

them fi'om ranning away immediately. He
remained on the field all niglit watcliing them

in person, encouraging them to remain, and

making great promises to them if they stood

finn. But his entreaties were quite miavaUing,

for as soon as the morning dawned, on per-

ceiving the approach of the Earl of Sutherland's

army, they fled from the field in the utmost

confusion, josthng and overthromng one an-

other in their flight, and leaving their whole

baggage behind them. The Earl of Sutherland

resolved to pursue the flying enemy; but,

before proceeding on the pursuit, his army col-

lected a quantity of stones which they accu-

mulated into a heap to commemorate the flight

of the Caithness men, which lieap was called

Carn-Teiche, that is, the Fhght Caii-n.

Not wishing to encounter the Earl of Suther-

land under the adverse circumstances which

had occurred, the Earl of Caithness, after

entering his o^vn territories, sent a message to

his pursuer to the effect that having complied

with Iris request in "withdrawing his army, he

hoped hostile proceedings would cease, and

tliat if the Earl of Sutherland should advance

with, his army into Caithness, Earl George

would not hinder him; but he suggested to

liim the propriety of appointing some gentle-

men on both sides to see the respective armies

dissolved. The Earl of Sutherland acceded to

this proposal, and sent George Gray of Cuttle,

eldest son of Gilbert Gray of SordeU, with a

company of resolute men into Caithness to see

the army of the Earl of Caithness broken up.

The Earl of Caithness, in his turn, despatched

Alexander Bane, chief of the Caithness Banes,

who witnessed the dismissal of the Earl of

Sutherland's army.^

About the period in question, gi'eat commo-

tions took place in the north-west isles, in con-

sequence of a quarrel between Donald Gorm
Macdonald of Slate, and Sir Eoderick Macleod

of Han-is, arising out of the follo^ving cii-cum-

stances. Donald Gorm Macdonald, who had

married the sister of Sir Eoderick, instigated

by jealoiisy, had conceived displeasure at her

and put her away. Having complained to

her brother of the treatment thus received. Sir

Eoderick sent a message to Macdonald requir-

mg him to take back his wife. Instead of

complyingwith this request, Macdonald brought

an action of divorce agamst her, and liaviiig

obtained decree therein, married the sister of

Kenneth Mackenzie, lord of EantaU. Sir

Eoderick, who considered himself disgraced

and his family dishonom-ed by such proceed-

ings, assembled all his countrjTnen and his

tribe, the Siol-Tliormaid, without delay, and

invaded with fixe and sword the lands of Mac-

donald in the isle of Skye, to which he laid

claim as his own. Macdonald retaliated by

landing in Harris with his forces, whicli he

laid waste, and after killing some of the inha-

bitants retired vrith a large booty in cattle.

To make amends for this loss. Sir Eoderick in-

vaded Uist, which belonged to Macdonald, and

despatched his cousin, Donald Glas Macleod,

with 40 men, into the interior, to lay the

island waste, and to carry off a quantity of

goods and cattle, which the inhabitants had

placed within the precincts of the cliurch of

KiUtrjTiard as a sanctuary. This exploit

turned out to be very serious, as Donald

Macleod and his party were most unexpect-

' Sir Robert Gordon, jj. 243.
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edly attAcked in the act of carrying off their-

prey, hj John Mac-Iain-iMliic-Slieiimais, a kins-

man of MacdonalJ, at the head of a body of

12 men who had remained in the island, by

whom Donald Macleod and the gi'eater part of

bjs men were cut to pieces, and the booty

rescued. Sir Eoderick, thinking that the force

which had attacked his cousin was much
greater than it was, retired from the island,

intending to return on a futm-e day vnth a

greater force to revenge liis loss.

Tliis odious system of warfare continued till

the hostile parties had almost exterminated one

another; and to such extremities were they re-

duced by the ruin and desolation wliich fol-

lowed, that they were compelled to eat horses,

dogs, cats, and other animals, to preserve a

miserable existence. To put an end, if possible,

at once to this destructive contest, Macdonald

collected all liis remaining forces, wiih the

determination of striking a decisive blow at

liis opponent; and accordingly, in the year

1601, he entered Sir Eoderick's territories with

the design of brmging him to battle. Sir Ro-

derick was then in Argyle, soliciting aid and

advice from the Earl of Argyle against the

clan Donald ; but on hearing of the approach

of Macdonald, Alexander Macleod, brother of

Sir Eoderick, resolved to try the residt of a

battle. Assembling, therefore, all the iuliabi-

tants of his brother's lands, together with the

whole tribe of the Siol-Thormaid, and some of

the Siol-Thorquill, ho encamped close by the

hill of Benquliillin, in Skye, resolved to give

battle to the clan Donald next mommg. Ac-

cordingly, on the arrival of morning, an obsti-

nate and deadly fight took place, which lasted

the whole day, each side contending with the

utmost valour for victory ; but at length the

clan Donald overthrew their opiponents. Alex-

ander Macleod was wounded and taken pri-

soner, along with NeiU-Mac-Alastaii'-Euaidh,

and 30 others of the choicest men of the

Siol-Thormaid. lain-Mac-Thormaid and Tlior-

maid-Mac-Tliormaid, two near kinsmen of Sii'

Roderick, and several others, were slain.

After this affair, a reconciliation took place

between Macdonald and Sir Eoderick, at the

Bolicitation of old Angus Macdonald of Kintyi-c,

the laird of CoU, and other friends, when Mac-
lonald deUvered up to Sir Eoderick the pris-

oners he had taken at Benquhillin; but

although these parties never again showed any
open hostility, they brought several actions at

law against each other, the one claiming from

the other certain parts of liis possessions.

CHAPTEE IX.

4. D. 1602— 1G13.

Feud between the Colquhoims and M.icgregors—Mac-
gregors outlawed—Execution of their Chief—Quar-
rel between the clan Kenzie and Glengarry—Alister
Mac-Uille,ani-Mhoir beheaded—Lawless proceedings
in Sutherland—Deadly quarrel in Dornoch—Meeting
between the Earls of Caithness and Sutherland

—

Feud between the Murrays and some of the Siol-

Thomais—Dissension in Moray among the Dunbars
—Quarrel between the Earl of Caithness and tliu

chief of the Mackays—Commotions in Lewis among
the Macleods—Invasion of Lewis by Fife adventurers
—Compelled to abandon it—Lord Kintail obtains
possession of Lewis—Expulsion of Neill Macleod

—

Quarrel between the Laird of Easay and Mackenzie
of Gairloch—Disturbances in Caithness—Tumults
in Caithness on the apprehension of Arthur Smith,
a false coiner—Earl of Caithness prosecutes Donald
Mackay and others —Dissensions among the clan
Cameron.

In the early part of the year 1602 the west of

Scotland was tlu'0\\'n into a state of great dis-

order, in consequence of the renewal of some

old quarrels between Colquhoun of Luss, the

chief of that sm-name, and Alexander Macgre-

gor, chief of the clan Gregor. To put an end

to these dissensions, Alexander Macgregor left

Eamioch, accompanied by about 200 of liis

kinsmen and friends, entered Leimox, and took

up Ids c^uarters on the confines of Luss's ten-i-

tory, where ho expected, by the mediation of

his friends, to bring matters to an amicable

adjustment. As the laird of Luss was sus-

picious of Macgi'egor's real intentions, he

assembled all his vassals, with the Buchanans

and others, to the number of 300 horse and

500 foot, designing, if the residt of the

meeting shoidd not tm-n out according to his
[

expectations and wishes, to cut off Macgregor

and his party. But Macgregor, anticipating

Colquhon's intention, was upon his guard, and,

by liis precautions, defeated the design upon

him. A conference was held for the purpose

of terminating all differences, but the meeting
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broke up -without any adjustment : Macgregor

then proceeded homewards. The laird of

Luss, in pursuance of his plan, immediately

followed Macgregor with great haste through

Glenfruin, in the expectation of coming upon

liim unawares, and defeating him; but Mac-

gregor, who was on the alert, observed, iu due

time, the approach of his pursuers, and made

Lis preparations accordingly. He divided his

company into two parts, the largest of which

he kept under his o^ra command, and placed

the other part under the command of Jolui

Macgregor, his brother, whom he despatched

by a circuitous route, for the purpose of

attacking Luss's party in the rear, when they

should least expect to be assailed. This stra-

tagem succeeded, and the residt was, that after

a keen contest, Luss's party was completely

overthrown, with the loss of 200 men, besides

ueveral gentlemen and burgesses of the town

of Diunbarton. It is remarkable that of the

Macgregors, John, the brother of Alexander,

and another person, were the oidy killed, though

some of the party were woiuided.

The laird of Luss and his friends sent early

notice of their disaster to the king, and by

misrepresentmg the whole affair to him, and

exhibiting to his majesty eleven score bloody

shirts, belonging to those of their party who

wore slain, the king grew exceedingly incensed

at the clan Gregor, who had no person about

the king to plead their cause, proclaimed them

rebels, and interdicted all the lieges from har-

bouring or having any communication ^vith

them. The Earl of Argyle, -with the Camp-

bells, was afterwards sent against the proscribed

clan, and hunted them through the country.

About GO of the clan made a brave stand at

Bentoik against a party of 200 chosen men

belonging to the clan Cameron, clan Nab, and

clan Eonald, under the command of Eobert

Campbell, son of the lau'd of Glenorchy, when

Duncan Aberigh, one of the chieftains of the

clan Gregor, and his son Duncan, and seven

gentlemen of Campbell's party were killed.

But although they made a brave resistance, and

killed many of their piu'suers, the Macgregors,

after many skirmishes and great losses, were at

last overcome. Commissions were thereafter

sent through the kingdom, for lining those who

bad harboured any of the clan, and for pun-

ishing all persons who had kept up any com-

munication with them, and the fines so levied

were given by the king to the Earl of Argyle,

as a recompense for his services against the

unfortunate Macgregors.

Alexander Macgregor, the chief, after sufler-

mg many vicissitudes of fortime, at last sur-

rendered himself to the Earl of Ai-gyle, on con-

dition that he should grant liim a safe conduct

into England to Kuig James, that he might

lay before his majesty a true state of the whole

afl'air from the commencement, and crave the

royal mercy; and as a security for liis return to

Scotland, he delivered up to Argyle tlm-ty of his

choicest men as hostages. But no sooner had

Macgregor arrived at Berwick on his way to Lon-

don, than he was basely arrested, brought back

by the earl to Edinbui'gh, and, by his influence,

executed alongwith the thirty hostages. Argyle

lioped, by these means, ultunately to anniliilato

the whole clan ; but in this cruel design he

was quite disappointed, for the clan speedily

increased, and became almost as powerful as

before.^

While the Highland borders wore thus dis-

turbed by the warfare between the Macgregors

and the Colquhouns, a commotion happened iu

the interior of the Highlands, in consequence

of a quarrel between the clan Kenzie and the

laird of Glengarry, who, according to Sii' Eobert

Gordon, was " luiexpert and unsldlfull in the

lawes of the realme." From his want of know-

ledge of the law, the clan Kenzie are said by

the same writer to have " easalie intrappeil

him ^^dtlun the compas thereof," certauily by

no means a difficidt matter in those lawless

tunes ; they then procured a warrant for citing

him to appear before the justiciary com't at

Edinburgh, which they took good care should

not be served upon him personally. Either not

knowing of these legal proceedings, or neglect-

ing the summons, GlengaiTy did not appear at

Edinburgh on the day appointed, but went

about revenging the slaughter of two of his

kmsmen, whom the clan Kenzie had killed

after the summons for Glengarry's appearance

had heen issued. The consequence was that

Glengarry and some of his followers were out-

lawed. Through the interest of tlie Earl of

Sir R. Gordon, p. 247.
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Dunfermline, lord chauceUor of Scotland,

Kenneth Mackenzie, afterwards created Lord

Kintail, obtained a conunissiou against Glen-

garry and liis people, which occasioned great

trouble and mucli slaughter. Being assisted

by many followers from the neighbouring

coimtry, Mackenzie, by virtue of his commis-

sion, invaded Glengarry's territories, wliich he

mercilessly wasted and destroyed with fire and

sword. On his return, Mackenzie besieged

the castle of Stronie, which ultimately siu'-

rondered to him. To assist Mackenzie in tliis

expedition, the Earl of Sutherland, in token of

the ancient friendship which had subsisted

between liis family and the Mackeiizies, sent

240 weU equipped and able men, under the

command of John Gordon of Embo. Mac-

kenzie again returned into Glengaxry, where

he had a skirmish with a party commanded by

Glengarry's eldest son, iu which the latter and

GO of his followers were slain. The Mackenzies

also suffered some loss on this occasion. At

last, after much trouble and bloodshed on both

sides, an agreement was entered into, by which

Glengarry reuoimced in favoiu' of Kenneth

Mackenzie, the castle of Stromo and the adja-

cent lands. ^

In the year 1605, the peace of the northern

Highlands was somewhat distiu'bed by one

of those atrocious occuiTences so common at

that tune. The chief of the Mackays had a

servant named Alister-Mac-Udleam-lMlioir.

This man having some business to transact in

Caithness, went there without the least appre-

hension of danger, as the Earls of Sutherland

and Caithness had settled all their differences.

No sooner, however, did the latter hear of

Mac-UiUeam-Mhou''s arrival in Caithness, than

he sent Henry Sinclair, Ids bastard brother,

with a party of men to kill liim. Mac-UUleani-

Mhou', being a bold and resolute man, was not

openly attacked by Sinclair ; but on entering

the house where the former had taken up his

residence, Sinclair and his party pretended

that they had come on a friendly visit to him

to enjoy themselves in his companj'. Not

suspecting their hostile intentions, Alister

invited them to sit down and di'ink with liim

;

but scarcely had they taken their seats when

» Sir R. Gordon, p. 248.

they seized Mac-Udleani-Mhoir, and carried

him off prisoner to the Earl of Caithness, who
caused liini to be beheaded in his o^vn presence,

the following day. The fidelity of this unfor-

tunate man to Mackay, his master, durhig the

disputes between the Earls of Sutlierland and

Caithness, was the cause for which he suffered.

Mackay, resolved upon getting the earl

piuiislied, entered a legal prosecution against

him at Edinburgh, but by the mediation of the

Marqius of Huntly the suit was quashed. ^

In July, 1C05, a murder was committed in

Stratlmaver, by Eobert Gray of Hopsdale or

OspisdeU, the victim being Angus Mac-Ken-

neth-Mac-Alister, one of the Siol-Mluu'chaidh-

Ehiabhaich. The circumstances leading to

this wUl illustrate the utterly lawless and

insecure state of the Highlands at tliis time

John Gray of Skibo held the lands of Ardinsh

under John, the fifth of that name. Earl of

Sutherland, as superior, wliich lands the grand-

father of Ajigus ]\Iac-Kenneth had in possession

from Jolin Mackay, son of Y-Eoy-Mackay.

who, before the time of this Earl John, pos-

sessed some lands in Ereachat. "When John

Gray obtained the grant of Ardmsli from John

the fifth, he allowed Kenneth Mac-Alister, the

father of Angus Mac-Kenneth, to retain posses-

sion thereof, which he continued to do tiU

about the year 1573. About this period a

variance arose between John Gray and Hugh
Murray of Aberscors, in consequence of some

law-suits which they carried on against one

another ; but they were reconciled by Alex-

ander, Earl of Sutherland, who became bound

to pay a sum of money to Jolm Gray, for Hugh
Murray, who was iu the meantime to gel

possession of the lands of Ardinsh in security.

As Jolin Gray stiU retained the property and

kept Kenneth Mac-Alister in the possession

thereof at the old rent, the Murrays took

umbrage at him, and prevaded upon the Earl

(jf Sutherland to grant a conveyance of the

wadset or mortgage over Ardinsh in favour of

Angus Mui'ray, formerly baihe of Dornoch. In

the meantime, Kenneth Mac-Alister died, leav-

ing his son, Angus Mac-Kenneth, in possession.

Angus Murray having acquired the mortgage,

now endeavoured to raise the rent of Ardhisli,

« Sir R. Gordon, p. 253.
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but Angus Mac-Kenneth refusing to pay more

than his father had paid, was dispossessed, and

the lands were let to William Mae-Iain-Mac-

Kenneth, cousin of Angus Mac-Kennetli. Tliis

proceeding so exasperated Angus that he mur-

dered his cousin "WiUiani Mac-Kenneth, liis

vnie, and two sons, under cloud of night, and

so determined was he that no other person

should possess the lands but himself, that lie

kLUed no less than niue other persons, who had

successively endeavoured to occupy them. No

others being disposed to occupy Ardinsh at the

risk of their hves, and Angus Murray getting

wearied of his possession, resigned his right to

Gilbert Gray of Skibo, on the death of John

Gray, his father. Gilbert thereafter conveyed

the property to Eobert Gray of OspisdeU, his

second son ; but Eobert, being disinclined to

allow Angus Mac-Kenneth, who had again

obtained possession, to contmue tenant, he

chspossessed him, and let the land to one Finlay

Logan, but this new tenant was murdered by

Mac-Kenneth in the year 1604. Mac-Kenneth

then fled into Strathnaver with a party com-

posed of persons of desperate and reckless pas-

sions like liimself, -with, the intention of annoy-

ing Eobert Gray by their incui'sions. Gray

having ascertained that they were in the parish

of Creigh, he immediately attacked them and

killed Murdo Mac-Kenneth, the brother of

Angus, who made a narrow escape, and again

retired into Strathnaver. Angus again re-

turned into Sutherland in May 1C05, and, in

the absence of Eobert Gray, burnt liis stable,

with some of his cattle, at OspisdeU. Gray

then obtained a warrant against Mac-Kenneth,

and having procured the assistance of a body

of men from John Earl of Sutherland, entered

Stratlmaver and attacked Mac-Kenneth at tlic

Cruifs of Hoip, and slew him.'

The Earl of Caitlmoss, disUlving the imquiet

state in which he had for some time been forced

to remain, made another attempt, in the month

of July, 1607, to hunt in Bengiime, without

asking permission from the Earl of Sutherland

;

but he was prevented from accomplishing his

purpose by the sudden apj)earance in Strathully

of the latter, attended by his friend Mackay,

and a considerable body of their countrymen.

' Sii K. (lordon, p. 254

Almost the whole of the inhabitants of Domocli

turned out on this occasion, and went to Strath-

idly. During their absence a quarrel ensued

m the town between one John MacphaUl and

three brothers of the name of Pope, in whicii

one of the latter was killed ; the circiunstancea

loading to and attending which quarrel were

these :—In the year 1585, William Pope, a

native of Eoss, settled iu Sutherland, and

being a man of good education, was appointed

schoolmaster in Dornoch, and afterwards be-

came its resident minister. He also received

another clerical appointment in Caitlmess, by

means of which, and of his other living, he

became, in course of time, wealthy. This

good success induced two 3'ounger brothers,

Cliarles and Thomas, to leave their native

country and settle in Sutherland. Thomas

was soon made chancellor of Caithness and

minister of Eogart. Charles became a notary

public and a messenger-at-arms ; and having,

by his good conduct and agreeable conversa-

tion, ingi-atiated himself with the Earl of

Sutherland, was appointed to the office of

sheriff-clerk of Sutherland. The brothers soon

acquired considerable wealth, which they laid

out in the purchase of houses in the town of

Dornoch, where they chiefly resided. Many
of the uihabitants of the to"\vn envied theii

acquisitions, and took every occasion to insult

them as intruders, who had a design, as they

supposed, to drive the ancient inhabitants of

the place from theu' possessions. On the

occasion in. question William and Thomas

Pope, along with other ministers, had held a

meeting at Dornoch on church affairs, on

dissohdng which they went to breakfast at

an inn. While at breakfast, Jolin Macphaill

entered the house, and demanded some liquor

from the mistress of the inn, but she refused

to give him any, as she knew liim to be a

troublesome and quarrelsome person. Mac-

pliaUl, ii-ritated at the refusal, spoke harshly

to the woman, and the ministers having made

some excuse for her, Macphaill vented his abuse

upon them. Being threatened by Thomas

Pope, for his insolence, he pushed an arrow

with a barbed head, which he held in his hand,

into one of Pope's arms. The parties then

separated, but the two Popes being observed

walking in the churchyard in the evening, with
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Dornoch, showing the Cathedral and the remaining tower of the ol J Castle.

whoir sworJs girt about them, by Macphaill,

who looked upon their so arming tliemselves

as a tlireat, he immediately made the circmn-

stance known to Houcheon Macphaill, liis

nephew, and one Wilham Murray, all of whom
entered the churchyard and assailed the two

brothers -with the most vituperative abuse.

Charles Pope, learning the danger his brothers

were in, immediately hastened to the spot,

where he found the two parties engaged.

Charles attacked Murray, whom he wounded

in the face, whereupon Murray instantly killed

liim. WUliani and Thomas were grievously

woimded by ^Macphaill and his nephew, and

left for dead, but they ultimately recovered.

Macphaill and liis nephew fled to HoUand,

wliere they ended their days. After this oc-

currence, the surviving brothers left Sutherland

and went back into their own country. It is

only by recording such comparatively unim-

portant incidents as this, apparently somewhat

beneath the dignity of history, that a know-

ledge of the real state of the Higlilands at tliis

time can be conveyed.

By the mediation of the Marquis of Huntly,

the Earls of Caithness and Sutherland again

met at Elgin with theu' mutual friends, and

once more adjusted their differences. On tliis

occasion the Earl of Sutherland was accom-

panied by large parties of the Gordons, the

Erasers, the Dunbars, the clan Kenzie, the

Monroes, the clan Chattan, and other friends,

which so displeased the Earl of Caithness, who
was grieved to see his rival so honourably

attended, that he could never afterwards be

induced to meet again with the Earl of Suther-

land or any of his famUj'.

During the year 1C08 a quarrel occurred in

Sutherland between Iver Mac-Donald-Mac-

Alister, one of the Siol-Thomais, and Alex-

ander Murray in Auchindough. Iver and liis

eldest son, John, meeting one day with Alex-

ander Murray and his son, Thomas, an alterca-

tion took place on some questions in dispute.

From words they proceeded to blows, and the

result was that John, the son of Iver, and

Alexander Murray were killed. Iver then fled

into Strathnaver, whither he was followed by

Thomas Mun-ay, accompanied by a party of 24

men, to revenge the death of liis father. Iver,

however, avoided them, and having assembled

some friends, he attacked Murray unawares, at

the liiU of Binchlibrig, and compelled liim to

flee, after taking five of his men prisoners,

whom he released after a captivity of five days.

As the chief of the Mackays protected Iver,

George Murray of Pulrossie took up the quarrel,

and annoyed Iver and his party ; but the

matter was compromised by Mackay, who paid

a smn of money to Pubossie and Thomas

Murray, as a reparation for divers losses they

had sustained at Iver's hands during his out.
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lawry. This compromise was tlic more readily

entered into by Pulrossie, as the Earl of Suth-

erland was rather favourable to Ivor, and was

by no means displeased at him for the injuries

he did to Pubossie, who had not acted duti-

fully towards Iiim. Besides having lost his

own son in the quarrel, who was killed by

Thomas Murray, Iver was unjustly dealt with

in being made the sole object of persecution.^

A civil dissension occurred about this time

in Moray among the Dimbars, which nearly

proved fatal to that family. To understand

the origin of this dispute it is necessary to state

the circvimstances which led to it, and to go

back to the period when Patrick Dunbar,

sheriff of Moray, and tutor and uncle of Alex-

ander Dunbar of Westfield, was killed, along

mth the Earl of Murray, at Donnibristle.

Alexander did not enjoy his inlieritance long,

having died at Dimkeld, shortly after the death

of his uncle, under chcumstances which led to

a suspicion that he had been poisoned. As he

died without leaving any issue, he was suc-

ceeded by Alexander Dunbar, son of tlie above-

mentioned Patrick, by a sister of Eoliert Dunbar

of Burgy. This Alexander was a young man of

great promise, and was directed in all his pro-

ceedings by liis uncle Eobert Dunbar of Burgy.

Patrick Dunbar of Blery and Kilbuyack and his

family, imagining that Eobert Dunbar, to whom
they bore a grudge, was giving advice to his

nephew to their prejudice, conceived a deadly

enmity at both, and seized every occasion to

annoy the sheriff of Moray and his uncle. An
accidental meeting having taken place between

Robert Dunbar, brother of Alexander, and

Wmiam Dunbar, son of Blery, high words

were exchanged, and a scuffle ensued, in which

William Dunbar received considerable injiwy

in his person. Patrick Dunbar and liis sons

were so incensed at this occurrence that they

took up arms and attacked their cliief, Alex-

ander Dunbar, sheriff of Moray, in the town of

Forres, where he was shot dead by Eobert

Dunbar, son of Blery. Jolm Dunbar, sheriff

of Moray, who succeeded Ids brother Alexander,

and liis brother, Eobert Dunbar of Burgy, en-

deavoured to bring the murderers of liis brother

to justice ; but they failed in consequence of

" Sir E. Gorrlon, p. 259

Alexander Dimbar being, at the time of his

death, a rebel to the king, having been de-

nounced at the horn for a civil cause. By

negotiation, however, this deadly feud was

stayed, and a sort of reconciliation effected by

the friendly mediation of the Earl of Diuiferm-

line, then Lord Chancellor of Scotland.'

In the year 1610 the Earl of Caithness and

Houcheon Mackay, chief of the Mackays, had

a difference in consequence of the protection

given by the latter to a gentleman named Jolm

Sutherland, the son of Mackay's sister. Suth-

erland hvod in Berridale, mider the Earl of

Caitlmess, but he was so molested by the earl

that he lost all patience, and went about

avenging the injuries he had sustained. Tlie

earl, therefore, cited him to appear at Edin-

burgh to answer to certain charges made against

him ; but not obeying the summons, he was

denounced and proclaimed a rebel to tlie king.

Eeduced, in consequence, to great extremities,

and seeing no remedy by which he coidd re-

trieve liimself, he became an outlaw, wasted

and destroyed the earl's country, and carried

off herds of cattle, which he transported into

Strathnaver, the country of his kinsman. The

earl thereupon sent a party of the Siol-Mhic-

Iniheair to attack liim, and, after a long search,

they found him encamped near the water of

Sliin in Sutherland. He, however, was aware

of then" approacli before they perceived Mm,
and, taking advantage of this circumstance,

attacked them in the act of crossing the water.

Tliey were in consequence defeated, leaving

several of their party dead on the field.

This disaster exasperated the earl, who re-

solved to prosecute Mackay and his son, Do-

nald Mackay, for giving succour and protec-

tion within their coimtry to Jolm Sutherland,

an outlaw. Accordingly, he served both of

them with a notice to appear before the Privy

Council to answer to the charges he had pre-

ferred agamst them. Mackay at once obeyed

the summons, and went to Edinburgh, where

ho met Sir Eobert Gordon, who had come from

England for the express pirrpose of assisting

Mackay on the present occasion. The earl,

who had grown tired of the troubles which

John Sutherland had occasioned in Ids country,

' Sir E. Gordon, p. 261.
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was iaduced, by the entreaties of friends, to

settle matters on the following conditions :

—

Tliat he should forgive John Sutherland all

past injuries, and restore him to his former

possessions ; that Jolm Sutherland and his

brother Donald shoidd be delivered, the one

after the other, into the hands of the carl, to

be kept prisoners for a certain time ; and that

Donald Mac-Tliomais-Mhoir, one of the Sliochd-

lain-Abaraich, and a follower of John Suther-

land in liis depredations, should bo also deHv-

crod up to the earl to be dealt with as to lum

should seem meet ; all of which stipulations

were complied with. The earl hanged Donald

RLac-Thomais as soon as he was delivered up.

John Sutherland was kept a prisoner at Girnigo

about twelve months, during which time Don-

ald ^Mackay made several \asits to Earl George

for the purpose of getting him released, in which

he at last succeeded, besides procuring a dis-

charge to Donald Sutherland, who, in his tirrn,

should have surrendered himself as prisoner on

the release of his brother John, but upon the

condition that he and his father, Houcheon

Mackay, should pass the next following Christ-

mas with the earl at Girnigo. Mackay and

his brother WiUiam, accordingly, spent their

Christmas at Girnigo, but Donald Mackay was

prevented by business from attending. The

design of the Earl of Caithness in thus favour-

ing Mackay, was to separate liim from the

interests of the Earl of Sutherland, but he was

imsuccessfid.

Some years before the events we have just

related, a commotion took place in Lewis,

occasioned by the pretensions of TorqmU

Connaldagh of the Cogigh to the possessions

of Eoderick Macleod of Lewis, his reputed

father. Eoderick had first married Barbara

Stuart, daughter of Lord Methven, by whom
he had a son named Torquill-Ire, who, on ari'iv-

ing at manliood, gave proofs of a warlike

disposition. Upon the death of Barbara Stuart,

Macleod married a daugliter of Mackenzie,

lord of Kintail, whom he afterwards divorced

for adidtery with the Breve of Lewis, a sort

of judge among the islanders, to whose autho-

rity they submitted themselves. INIacleod next

married a daughter of Maclean, by whom he

had two sons, Torquill Dubh and Tormaid.

In saUing from Lewis to Skye, Torquill-

Ire, eldest son of Macleod, and 200 men,

perished in a great tempest. Torquill Con

naldagh, above mentioned, was the fruit of the

adidtcrous connexion between Macleod's second

^vife and the Breve, at least Macleod woidd

never acknowledge liim as his son. This Tor-

quill being now of age, and having married a

sister of Glengarry, took up arms against Mac-

leod, his reputed father, to vindicate his sup-

posed rights as Macleod's son, being assisted

by Tormaid, Ougigh, and Murthow, three of

the bastard sons of Macleod. The old man

was apprehended and detained four years in

captivity, when he was released on condition

that he shoidd acknowledge Torc^iull Con-

naldagh as his lawfid son. Tormaid Ougigh

having been slain by Donald Macleod, his

brother, another natural son of old Macleod,

Torquill Connaldagh, assisted by Murthow

Macleod, his reputed bastard brother, took

Donald prisoner and carried him to Cogigh,

but he escaped and fled to his father in

Levns, who was higldy offended at Torquill for

seizing his son Donald. Macleod then caused

Donald to apprehend Murthow, and having

delivered him to his father, he was imprisoned

in the castle of Stornoway. As soon as

Torquill heard of tliis occurrence, he went to

Stornoway and attacked the fort, wliich h«

took, after a short siege, and released Murthow.

He then apprehended Eoderick Macleod,

killed a niunber of his men, and carried off all

the charters and other title-deeds of Le^vis,

which he gave in custody to the Mackenzies.

Torquill had a son named John Macleod, who

was in the service of the Marquis of Huntly ; he

now sent for him, and on his arrival committed

to him the charge of the castle of Stornoway in

which old Macleod was imprisoned. John

Macleod being now master of Le'^vis, and

acknowledged superior thereof, proceeded to

expel Eorie-Og and Donald, two of Eoderick

Macleod's bastard sons, from the island ; but

Eorie-Og attacked liim in Stornoway, and after

killing him, released Eoderick Macleod, liis

father, who possessed the island in peace during

the remainder of his life. Torquill Connaldagh,

by the assistance of the clan Kenzie, got

Donald Macleod into his possession, and exe-

cuted him at Dingwall.

Upon the death of Eoderick Macleod, hip
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Stomoway Castle.—From a photograph taken specially ior i!;:s work.

son TorquiU Dubh succeeded him in Lewis, against his life, which, by the assistance of tlic

Taking a grudge at Eorie-Og, his brother,

lie apprehended him, and sent him to Mac-

lean to be detained in prison; but he escaped

out of Maclean's hands, and afterwards per-

ished in a snow-storm. As TorquiU Dubli

excluded TorquiU Connaldagh from the

succession of Lewis, as a bastard, the clan

Kenzie formed a design to pirrchase and conquer

Lewis, wliich they calcidated on accomplish-

ing on account of the simplicity of TorquiU

Connaldagh, who had now no friend to advise

with, and from the dissensions which unfor-

tunately existed among the race of tlie Siol-

TorquiU. This scheme, moreover, received the

aid of a matrimonial alliance between TorquiU

Connaldagh and the clan, by a marriage betiveen

his eldest daughter and Eoderick Mackenzie,

the lord of KintaU's brother. The clan did not

avow their design openly, but they advanced

tlieir enterprise under the pretence of assisting

TorquiU Connaldagh, who was a descendant of

the KintaU famUj', and tliey idtimately suc-

ceeded in destroying the famUy of Macleod of

Lewis, together -mth. his tribe, the Siol-TorquiU,

and by the ruin of that family and some neigh-

bouring clans, this ambitious clan made them-

selves complete masters of Lewis and other

places. As TorquiU Dubh was the chief

ohstacie in their way, they formed a conspiracy

Breve, they were enabled to carry out success-

fully. The Breve, by stratagem, managed to

obtain possession of TorquiU Dubh and some

of his friends, and deUvcr them to the lord of

KintaU, who ordered them to be beheaded,

which they accordingly were in JiUy, 1597.

Some gentlemen belonging to Fife, hearing

of these disturbances in LeAvis, obtained from

the king, in 1598, a gift of the island, then

professed object being to civilize the inhabit.-

ants, tlieir real design, however, being, by

means of a colony, to supplant the inhabitants,

and drive them from the island. A body of

soldiers and artificers of aU sorts were sent,

with every tiling necessary for a plantation,

into Lewis, where, on their arrival, they began

to erect houses in a convenient situation, and

soon completed a smaU but neat town, in which

they took up their quarters. The new settlers

were, however, much annoyed in their opera-

tions by NcUl and Murthow Macleod, the only

sons of Roderick Macleod who remained in

the island. The speculation proved ruinous

to many of the adventurers, who, in conse-

quence of the disasters they met with, lost

their estates, and were in tlic end obhged to

quit the island.

In the meantime, NeiU Macleod quarreUed

with his brother Murthow, for harbouring and
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maintaining the Breve and such of his tribe as

were still alive, who had been the chief instru-

ments in the murder of Toi'quill Dubh. Neill

thereupon appreliended his brother, and some

of tlie clan JIliic-GhLlle-lMlioLr, all of whom he

killed, reserving his brother only alive. Wlicn

the Fife specidators were informed that Neill

had taken Murtliow, his brother, prisoner, they

sent him a message ofTertng to give him a share

of the island, and to assist liim in revenging

the death of Torquill Dubh, provided he would

deliver Murtliow into their hands. Neill

agreed to this proposal, and having gone there-

after to Edinburgh, he received a pardon from

the king for all his past offences.

These proceedings frustrated for a time tlic

designs of tlie Mackenzies upon the island, and

the lord of Kintail abnost despaired of obtaLu-

ing possession by any means. As the new

settlers now stood in liis way, lie resolved to

desist from persecuting the Siol-Torquill, and

to cross the former in their undertakings, by

all the means in his power. He jhad for some

time kept Tormaid Maoleod, the la\vful brotlier

of Torquill Dubh, a prisoner ; but he now re-

leased him, tliinking that upon his appearance

in the Lewis all the islanders would rise in his

favour ; and he was not deceived in his expec-

tations, for, as Sir Eobert Gordon observes,

" all these islanders, (and lykwayes tlie Hie-

landers,) are, by nature, most bent and prone

to adventure themselves, their lyffs, and all

they have, for their masters and lords, yea

beyond all other people." ^ In the meantime

Murthow Macleod was carried to St. Andrews,

and there executed. Having at his execution

revealed the designs of tlio lord of Kintail,

the latter was committed, by order of the

king, to the castle of Edinburgh, from wliich,

however, he contrived to escape without trial,

by means, as is supposed, of the then Lord-

Chancellor of Scotland.

On receiving pardon Neill Macleod returned

into Lewis with the Fife adventurers ; but he

had not been long in the island when he quar-

relled with them on account of an injury lie had

received from Sir James Spence of Worniistoun.

He therefore abandoned them, and watclied a

favourable opportunity for attacking them.

' Eistonj, ]). 271.

Tliey then attempted to apprehend him by a

stratagem, but only succeeded in bringing dis-

aster upon themselves. Upon hearing of thiS;

the lord of Kintail thought the time was now

suitable for liim to stir, and accordingly lie

sent Tomiaid Macleod into Lewis, as he had

intended, promising liim all the assistance in

his power if he woidd attack the Fife settlers.

As soon as Tormaid arrived in the island,

liis brother NeiU and all the natives assembled

and acknowledged him as their lord and master.

He immediately attacked the camp of the ad-

venturers, which he forced, burnt the fort,

killed the greater part of their men, took tlie

commanders prisoners, whom he released, after

a captivity of eight months, on their solemn

promise not to return again to the island, and

on their giving a pledge that they should obtain

a pardon from the king for Tormaid and liis

followers for all past offences. After Tormaid

had thus obtained possession of the island,

John ]\Iac-Donald-Mac-Houchoon apprehended

Torquill Connaldagh, and carried him into

Lewis to liis brother, Tormaid Macleod. Tor-

maid inflicted no punisliment upon Connal-

dagh, but merely required from him delivery

of the title-deeds of Le'^vis, and the other

pajiers wliich he had carried off when he appre-

hended his fatlier Roderick Macleod. Con-

naldagh informed him that he had it not in his

power to give them up, as he had delivered

them to the clan Kenzie, in whose possession

they stiU were. Knowing this to be the fact,

Tormaid released TorquiU Connaldagh, and

allowed him to leave the island, contrary to

the advice of all his followers and friends, who

were for inflicting the punishment of death

upon Torquill, as he had been the occasion of

all the miseries and troubles which had befallen

them.

The Breve of Lewis soon met with a just

punisliment for the crime he had committed in

betraying and murdering his master, Torquill

Dubh Macleod. The Breve and some of his

relations had taken refuge in the country of

Assynt. John Mac-Donald-Mac-Houcheon,

accompanied by foui" persons, having accident-

ally entered the house where the Breve and

sis of his kindred lodged, found themselves

unexpectedly in the same room with them

Being of opposite factions, a fight immediately
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eusup.fl, in tlie course of wliicli the Breve and

liis party fled out of the house, hut were pur-

sued hy John and liis men, and the Breve and

five of liis friends killed.

Although the Fife settlers liad engaged not

to return again into Lewis, they nevcTthc-

less made preparations for invading it, having

ohtained the king's commission against Tor-

maid Macleod and his trihe, the Siol-TorquiU.

They were aided in this expedition hy forces

from all the ncighhouring counties, and par-

ticularly hy the Earl of Sutherland, who sent

a party of men under the command of WUliam
Mac-Miic-Sheumais, cliief of the clan Gim
in Sutherland, to assist in suhduing Tonnaid

Macleod. As soon as they had effected a land-

ing in the island with all their forces, they sent

a message to Macleod, acquainting him that if

lie woidd surrender liimsolf to them, in name

of the king, they would transport him safely to

London, where his majesty then was ; and

tliat, upon his arrival there, they would not

oidy obtain his pardon, hut also allow liim to

deal with the Iving in behalf of his friends, and

for the means of supporting himself. Macleod,

afraid to risk his fortune against tlie nmnerous

forces brought against him, agreed to the terms

proposed, contrary to the advice of liis brother

Ifeill, who refused to yield. Tormaid was

thereupon sent to London, where he took care

to give the Idng full mformation concerning aU

the circimistances of his case ; he showed his

majesty that Lewis was his just inlieritance,

and that liis majesty had been deceived by the

Fife adventurers in making him behove that

the island was at his disposal, which act of

deception had occasioned much trouble and a

great loss of blood. He concluded by implor-

ing liis majesty to do him justice by restoring

him to liis rights. Understanding that Mac-

leod's representations were favourably received

by his majesty, the adventurers used all their

influence at court to thwart liim ; and as some

of them were the king's own domestic servants,

they at last succeeded so far as to get him to be

sent home to Scotland a prisoner in 160.5.

He remained a captive at Edinburgh till the

month of March, 1615, when the Idng granted

him permission to pass into Holland, to Maurice,

Prnico of Orange, wliere he ended his days.

The settlors soon grew wearied of their new

possession, and as all of them had declined in

then- circumstances in this luckless specidation,

and as they were continually annoyed by Neill

Macleod, they finally abandoned the island,

and returned to Fife to bewail their loss.

Lord Kintail, now no longer di.?guising Ids

intentions, obtained, tlirough means of the

Lord Chancellor, a gift of Le'svis, under the

great seal, for liis own use, in vii'tue of the old

right which Torquill Connaldagh had long

before resigned in his favour. Some of the

adventurers ha^dng complained to the king of

this proceeding, his majesty became highly

displeased at Kintail, and made him resign liis

right into his majesty's hands by means of

Lord Balmerino, then Secretary of Scotland,

and Lord President of the session ; which right

Ids majesty now (1608) vested in tlie persons

of Lord Balmerino, Sir George Hay, afterwards

Chancellor of Scotland, and Sir James Speneo

of Worniistoun. Balmerino, on being con-

victed of liigh treason in 1609, lost Ids share,

but Hay and Spence imdertook the coloniza-

tion of Lewis, and accordingly made great

preparations for accomphshing their puiposc.

Being assisted by most of the neighbouring

countries, they invaded Lewis for the doublf

object of planting a colony, and of subduing

and apprehending NeUl Macleod, who now
alone defended the island.

On this occasion Lord Kintail played a

double part, for while he sent Eoderick Mac-

kenzie, Ids brother, with a party of men openly

to assist the new colonists who acted under

the king's commission,—promising them at the

same time his friendsliip, and sentUng them a

vessel from Eoss with a supply of provisions,

—

he privately sent notice to Neill Macleod

to intercept the vessel on her way; so that tho

settlers, being disappointed in the provisions

to which they trusted, might abandon tlio

island for want. The case turned out exactly

as Lord Kintail anticipated, as Sir George

Hay and Sir James Spence abandoned the

island, lea\Tng a party of men belu'nd to keep

the fort, and disbanded their forces, returning

into File, intending to have sent a fresh sup-

ply of men, with provisions, into tho island.

But NeUl Macleod having, with tho assistance

of his nephew, Malcolm Macleod, son of Eo-

derick Og, burnt the fort, and apprehended
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the men who were loft beliind in the island,

whom he sent safely home, the Fife gentlemen

ahandoned every idea of again taking possession

of the island, and sold their right to Lord Kin-

taiL He lUcewise obtained from tlie king a

grant of the share of the island forfeited by

Balmerino, and thus at length acquired what

he had so long and anxiously desired. -

Lord Kintail lost no time in taking posses-

sion of the island,—and all the iiiliabitants,

shortly after liis landing, with the exception

of NeiU Macleod and a few others, submitted

to him. ISTeill, along vnih his nephews, Mal-

colm, V/iUiam, and Eoderiok, the three sons

of Koderiok Og, the four sons of TorquiU Blair,

and tliirty others, retired to an Lmprognablc

rock in the sea called Berrissay, on the west of

Lo\vis, into wliich Neill had been accustomed,

for some years, to send pro^dsions and otlier

necessary articles to serve him in case of neces-

sity. Neill lived on this rock for three years,

Lord Kintail in the meantime dying in IGll.

As Macleod could not be attacked in his im-

pregnable position, and as his proximity was a

soiuce of annoyance, the clan Kenzie fell on

the follo'sving expedient to get quit of him.

They gathered together the wives and children

of those that were in Berrissay, and also all per-

sons in the island related to them by consan-

guinity or affinity, and having placed them on

a rock in the sea, so near BeiTissay that tliey

could be heard and seen by NeiU and his

party, the clan Kenzie vowed that they would

suffer the sea to overwhelm them, on the

return of the flood-tide, if Neill did not in-

stantly surrender the fort. Tliis appalling

spectacle had such an effect upon Macleod and

his companions, that they immediately yielded

up the rock and left Lewis.

Neill Macleod then retired into Harris, where

he remained concealed for a time; but not

being able to avoid discovery any longer, he

gave himself up to Sn Eoderick Macleod of

Harris, and entreated liim to carry him into

England to the king, a request with wliich Sir

Eoderick promised to comply. In in-ocecding

on his journey, however, along with Macleod,

he was charged at Glasgow, under jjain of

treason, to deliver up Nedl to the pri%'y coun-

' Gordon, p. 274; Gregory's Western Uiqhlands,
p. 334.

cil. Sir Eoderick obeyed the charge, and Neill,

with his eldest son Donald, were presented tc

the privy council at Edinbiu'gh, where Neill

was executed in April 1613. His son Donald

was banished from the kingdom of Scotland,

and immediately went to England, where he

rcmaiued three years with Sir Eobert Gordon,

tutor of Sutherland, and from England he

afterwards went to Holland, where he died.

After the death of NeUl ]\Iacleod, Eodeiick

and WiUiam, the sons of Eoderick Og, were

apprehended by Eoderiok Mackenzie, tutor of

Kintail, and executed. Malcohu Macleod, liis

third son, who was kept a prisoner by Eoder-

ick Mackenzie, escaped, and having associated

himself with the clan Donald in Islay and

Kintyre during their quarrel with the Camp-

bells in 1G15-1G, ho annoyed the clan Kenzie

with frequent incursions. Malcolm, thereafter,

went to Flanders and Spain, whore he remained

with Sir James Macdonald. Before going to

Spain, lie returned from Flanders into Lewis

in 1616, where he killed two gentlemen

of the clan Kenzie. He returned from Spain

in 1620, and the last that is hoard of liim is

in 1626, when commissions of fire and sword

were gi-anted to Lord Kintail against " Mal-

colm Macquari Macleod."

From the occivrrences in Lewis, wo now

direct the attention 'of oiu- readers to some pro-

ceedings in the isle of Easay, which ended in

bloodshed. The quarrel lay between Gille-

Chalum, laird of tlie island, and Murdo Mac-

kenzie of Gairloch, and the occasion was as

follows. The lands of Gau-loch originally bo-

longed to the clan Mhic-Ghille-Chalum, the

predecessors of the laird of Easay; and when

the Mackenzies began to prosper and to rise,

one of them obtained the third part of these

lands in mortgage or wadset from the clan

JDiic-GliiUe-Chalum. In process of time the

clan Kenzie, by some means or other, unlcnowr.

to the proprietor of Gairloch, obtained a right

to the whole of these lands, but they did not

claim possession of the whole till the death

of Torquill Dubh Macleod of Lewis, whom
the laird of Easay and his tribe followed as

their superior. But upon the death of TorquiU

Dubh, the laird of Gairloch took possession of

= Gregory, p. 337.
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tlie whole of the lands of Gairloch in virtue of

Iiis pretended right, and chased the clan Mhic-

Ghille-Chalum from the lands with fire and

sword. The clan retaliated in their turn hy

invading the laird of Gairloch, plundermg his

lands and committing slaughters. In a sldr-

mish which took place in the year IGIO, in

which lives were lost on both sides, the laird

of Gahloch apjarehended Jolm Mac-Alatn-Mac-

Rory, one of the principal men of the clan;

but being desirous to get liold also of John

Hohnoch-Mac-Rory, another of the cliiefs, he

sent his son Miu-do the following year along

with Alexander Bane, the son and heir of

Bane of Tulloch in Ross, and some otliers, to

search for and pm'sue John Holmoch; and as

he understood that John Holmoch was m Skye,

he hired a ship to carry liis son and party

thither; but instead of going to Slcye, they

unfortxmately, from some imknown cause,

landed in Easay.

On their arrival in Easay in August 1611,

GUle-Chalum, laird of Easay, with some of liis

followers, went on board, and unexpectedly

found Murdo Mackenzie in tlie vessel. After

consulting with his men, lie resolved to take

Mackenzie prisoner, in secm-ity for his cousin,

Jolui Mac-Alain-Mac-Eory, whom the laird of

Gairloch detained in captivity. The party

then attemjited to seize Mackenzie, but he and

Ids party resisting, a keen conflict took place

on board, wliich continued a considerable time.

At last, Murdo Mackenzie, Alexander Bane,

and the whole of their party, with the excep-

tion of tliree, were slain. Tliese three fought

manfully, kUiing the laird of Rasay and the

whole men who accompanied him on board,

and wounding several persons that remained in

the two boats. Finding themselves seriously

wounded, they took advantage of a favourable

wind, and sailed away from the island, but

expired on the voyage homewards. From this

time the Mackenzies appear to have irninter-

ruptedly held possession of Gairloch.''

About the time tliis occurrence took place,

the peace of the north was almost again dis-

turbed in consequence of the conduct ofWiUiam
Mac-Angus-Roy, one of the clan Gun, who,

though born in Strathnaver, had become a

* Sir Kobert Gordon, ]> "73.

servant to the Earl of Caithness. This man

had done many mjm-ies to the people of Caitli-

ness by command of the earl; and the mere dis-

pleasure of Earl George at any of liis people,

was considered by WUliam Mac -Angus as

sidficient authority for him to steal and take

away their goods and cattle. William got so

accustomed to this kind of service, that lie

began also to steal the cattle and horses of the

earl, his master, and, after collecting a large

booty in tliis way, he took his leave. The

earl was extremely enraged at his quondam

servant for so acting; but, as WiUiam Mac-

Angus was in possession of a warrant in writing

imder the earl's own hand, authorizing him to

act as he had done towards the people of

Gaitlmess, the earl was afraid to adopt any

proceedings against lihn, or against those who

protected and harboured him, before the Privy

Council, lest ho might produce the warrant

which he held from the earl. The confidence

wliich the earl had reposed m him served,

however, still more to excite the earl's indig-

nation.

As William Mac-Angus continued his depre-

dations in other quarters, he was apprehended

in the iovro. of Tain, on a charge of cattle-

stealing; but he was released by the Monroes,

who gave security to the magistrates of tlif

town for his appearance when required, upon

due notice being given that he was wanted for

trial. On attempting to escape he was re-

delivered to the provost and bailies of Tain, by

whom he was given up to the Earl of Caith-

ness, who put him in fetters, and imprisoned

him witliin Castle Sinclair (1612). He soon

again contrived to escape, and fled into Strath-

naver, the Earl of Caithness sending liis son,

William, Lord Berridale, in pursuit of him.

Missing the fugitive, he, in revenge, appre-

hended a servant of Mackay, called Angus

Henriach, without any authority from his

majesty, and carried him to Castle Sinclair,

where he was put into fetters and closely im-

prisoned on the pretence that he had assisted

William Mac-Angus in efi'ecting his escape.

When tliis occurrence took place, Donald

Mackay, son of Houcheon Mackay, the chief,

was at Dunrobin castle, and he, on hearing of

the apprehension and imprisonment of his

father's servant, could scarcely be made to
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believe the fact on account of the friend-

ship which had been contracted between his

father and the eai-1 the preceding Cliristmas.

But being made sensible thereof, and of the

cruel usage wliich the servant had received, ho

provaUed on his father to smnmon the earl and

his son to answer to the charge of having ap-

prehended and imprisoned Angus Henriach, a

free subject of the king, without a coinniission.

The earl was also charged to present his pris-

oner before the privy council at Edinbui'gh in

the month of June next foUo^ving, which he

accordingly did ; and Angus being tried before

the lords and declared innocent, was delivered

over to Sir Robert Gordon, who then acted for

Jlackay.^

During the same year (1612) another event

occiu'red in the north, which created consider-

able uproar and discord in the northern High-

lands. A person of the name of Arthur Smith,

who resided in Banff, had counterfeited the

coLQ of the realm, in consequence of wliich he,

snd a man who had assisted him, fl'^'l from Bantf

into Sutherland, where being apprehended in

the year 1599, they were sent by the Countess

of Sutlierland to the king, who ordered them to

be imprisoned in Edinburgli for trial. They

were both accordingly tried and condemned,

and having confessed to crimes even of a deeper

djo, Smith's accomplice was burnt at the place

of execution. Smith himself was reserved foi

farther trial By devising a lock of rare and

curious workmansliip, which took the fancy of

the king, he ultimately obtained his release

and entered into the service of the Earl of

Caithness. His workshop was under the rock

of Castle Sinclair, in a quiet retired place

called the Gote, and to wliich there was a

secret passage from the earl's bedchamber.

No person was admitted to Smith's workshop

but the earl ; and the circumstance of his

being often heard working during the night,

raised suspicions that some secret work was

going on which could not bear the light of

day. The mystery was at last disclosed by an

iiiiiiidation of cnnTi+f-rfi-it coin in Caitlmess,

Castles Sinclair and (iiniigci.-i'roiii

Orkney, Sutherland, and Ross, which was first

detected by Sir Robert Gordon, brother to the

Earl of Sutherland, when in Scotland, in the

year 1611, and he, on his return to England,

made the king acquainted theremth. A com-

mission was granted to Sir Robert to apprehend

' Sir R. Gordon, p. 2S1.

jrapli tnk'-'n spprKilly f.ir this wuik.

Smith, and bring him to Edinburgh, but ne

was so much occupied with other concerns

that ho intrusted the commission to Donald

t

Mackay, his nephew, and to John Gordon,

younger of Embo, whose name was jointly

inserted in the commission along with that uf

Sir Robert. Accordingly, Mackay and Gordon,

accompanied by Adam Gordon Georgeson John,



126 GENEEAL HTSTOEY OF THE HIGHLAITOS

Gordon in Brora)', and some other Sutlierlaud

men, went, in May, 1612, to Stratlinaver, and

assembling some of the inhahitants, they

marched into Caithness next morning, and

entered the town of Thurso, where Smitli then

resided.

After remaining ahout three lioiirs in the

town, the party went to Smith's house and

apprehended him. On searching his house

they found a quantity of spurious gold and

silver coin. Donald Mackay caused Smith

to be put on horseback, and then rode off

with him out of the town. To prevent any

tumult among the inhabitants, Gordon remained

behind -nath some of his men to show them, if

necessary, his Majesty's commission for appre-

lieuding Smith. Scarcely, however, had Mac-

kay left the tovm, when the to\vn-bell was

rung and all the inhabitants assembled. There

were present in Thurso at the time, Johu Sin-

clair of Stirkage, son of the Earl of Caithness's

brother, James Sinclair, brother of the laird of

Dim, James Sinclair of Dyrren, and other

friends, on a visit to Lady Berridale. When
information was brought them of the appre-

hension of Smith, Sinclair of Stirkage, trans-

ported with rage, swore that he would not

allow any man, no matter whose commission

ho held, to carry away his imcle's servant in

his uncle's absence. A furious onset was made

upon Gordon, but his men mthstood it bravely,

and after a warm contest, the inhabitants were

defeated with some loss, and obliged to retire

to the centre of the to's\'n. Donald Mackay

I tearing of the tumult, returned to the to'vvii to

aid Gordon, but the affair was over before he

arrived, Sinclair of Stii'kage having been killed.

To prevent the possibility of the escape or

rescue of Smith, he was lolled by the Stratli-

naver men as soon as tliey heard of the tumidt

in the town.

The Earl of Caitluiess resolved to prosecute

Donald Mackay, John Gordon, younger of

Embo, with their followers, for the slaughter

of Sinclair of Stirkage, and the mutdatiou of

James Sinclair, brother of the laird of Dim,

and summoned them, accordingly, to appear at

Etlinburgh. On the other hand, Sii' Eobert

Gordon and Donald Mackay prosecuted the

Earl of Caitlmess and his son. Lord Berridale,

with several other of their countrjTuen, for

resisting the king's commission, attacking the

commissioners, and apprehending Angus Henri

ach, without a commission, wliich was declared

treason by the laws. The Earl of Caitlmess

endeavom-ed to make the Privy Council believe

that the affair at Thurso arose out of a pre-

meditated design against him, and that Sii

Eobert Gordon's intention in obtaining a com-

mission against Arthur Smith was, imder the

cloak of its authority, to find means to slay

liim and his brethren ; and that, iu pursuance

of his plan, Sir Eobert had, a little before the

skirmish in Thurso, caused the earl to be

denounced and proclaimed as a rebel to the

king, and had lain in wait to lull him ; Sir

Eobert, however, showed the utter ground-

lessness of these charges to the Lords of the

Council.

On the day appointed for appearance, the

parties met at Edinburgh, attended by theii

respective friends. The Earl of Caithness and

lus son, Lord Berridale, were accompanied by

the Lord Gray, the laird of Eoslin, the laii'J

of Cowdenknowes, a son of the sister of the

Earl of Caithness, and the lairds of Mm-kle and

Greeidand, brothers of the earl, along with a

large retinue of subordinate attendants. Sir

Eobert Gordon and Donald Mackay were

attended by the Earl of Winton and his

brother, the Earl of Eglinton, with all tliei!

followers, the Eaii of Linlithgow, with

the Livingstones, Lord Elphiuston, with liis

friends, Lord Forbes, 'with lus friends, the

Drimimonds, Sir Jolin Stuart, captain of Dimi-

barton, and bastard son of the Duke of Lennox

;

Lord Balfour, the laird of Lah-g Mackay in

Galloway; the laird of Foulis, ^vith the Mon-

roes, the laird of Duffus, some of the Gor-

dons, as Sir Alexander Gordon, brother of the

Earl of Sutherland, Climy, Lesmoir, Buckie,

Knokespock, with other gentlemen of respecta'

bility. The absence of the Earl of Sutherland

and Houcheon Mackay mortified the Earl of

Caithness, who coidd not conceal his displea-

siu'e at being so much overmatched in the

respectability and nimiber of attendants by

seconds and children, as he was pleased to call

his adversaries.

According to the usual practice on such

occasions, the parties were accompanied by

their respective friends, from their lodgings, to
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the house where the coiuicil was sitting ; hut

few were admitted within. Tlie councU spent

tlii'ee days in hearing the parties and deliberat-

ing upon the matters brought before them, but

they caniG to no conclusion, and adjourned

tlieir proceedings till the king's pleasm'e shoidd

be known. In the meantime the parties, at

tlio entreaty of the Lords of the Council,

entered into recognizances to keep the peace,

in time coming, towards each other, which

extended not only to their kinsmen, but also

to their friends and dependants.

The king, after fidly considering the state of

affairs between the rival parties, and judging

that if the law were allowed to take its com'se

the peace of the northern countries miglit be

disturbed by the earls and their niunerous fol-

lowers, proposed to the Lords of the Privy

CoimcU to endeavoiu? to prevail upon them to

submit their differences to the arbitration of

mutual friends. Accordingly, after a good

deal of entreaty and reasoning, the parties

were persuaded to agree to the proposed mea-

sure. A deed of submission was then sub-

scribed by the Earl of Caitliness and William,

Lord Berridale, on the one part, and by Sir

Robert Gordon and Donald Maokay on the

other part, taking burden on them for the Earl

of Sutherland and Mackay. The arbiters ap-

pointed by Sir Robert Gordon were the Earl of

Kinghom, the Master of Elphinston, the Earl

of Haddington, afterwards Lord Privy Seal of

Scotland, and Sir Alexander Drummond of

Meidhop. The Archbishop of Glasgow, Sir

John Preston, Lord President of the Council,

Lord Blantyre, and Sir WiUiam Oliphant,

Lord Advocate, were named by the Earl of

Caitliness. The Earl of Dirnfermline, Lord-

Chancellor of Scotland, was chosen oversman

and umpire by both parties. As the arbiters

had then no time to hear the parties, or to

enter upon the consideration of the matters

submitted to them, they appointed them to re-

turn to Edinburgh in the month of May, 1G13.

At the appointed time, the Earl of Caith-

ness and liis brother. Sir Jolm Sinclair of

Greenland, came to Edinburgh, Sir Robert

Gordon arriving at the same time from Eng-

land. The arbiters, however, who were all

members of the Privy Coimcil, being much
occuiiied with state affairs, ilid not go into the

matter, but made the parties subscribe a new
deed of submission, under which they gave

authority to the Marquis of Huntly, by whose

frientUy offices the differences between the two

houses had formerly been so often adjusted, to

act in the matter by endeavoui'ing to bring

about a fresh reconciliation. As the marquis

was the cousin-german of the Earl of Suther-

land, and brother-in-law of the Earl of Caith-

ness, who had married his sister, the council

thought him the most likely person to be

intrusted with such an important negotiation.

The marqius, however, finding the parties

obstinate, and determined not to j-ield a single

point of their respective claims and pretensions,

declined to act farther in the matter, and remit-

ted the whole affair back to the Privy Council.

During the year 1613 the peace of Loch-

aber was distm-bed by dissensions among the

clan Cameron. The Earl of Argyle, reviv-

ing an old claim acquired in the reign of

James V., by CoKn, the third earl, endea-

voured to obtain possession of the lands of

Lochiol, mainly to weaken the influence of his

rival the Marquis of Huntly, to whose party

the clan Cameron were attached. Legal pro-

ceedings were instituted by the earl against

Allan Cameron of Lochiel, who, hastening to

Edinburgh, was there advised by Ai'gyle to

submit the matter to arbiters. The decision

was in favour of the earl, from whom Loeliiel

consented to hold his lands as a vassal. This,

of coiu'se, liiglily incensed the "Marcpiis of

Huntly, who resolved to endeavour to effect

the ruin of his quondam vassal by fomenting

dissensions among the elan Cameron, inducing

the Camerons of Erracht, Kinlocliiel, and Glen-

nevis to become his immediate vassals in those

lands which Lochiel had hitherto hold from

tlie family of Huntly. Loeliiel, fading to in-

duce his kinsmen to renew their allegiance to

him, again went to Edinburgh to consult his

lawyers as to the course which he ought to pur-

sue. WliUe there, he heard of a conspiracy by

the opposite faction against his Hfe, whicii

induced him to hasten home, sending word

privately to liis friends—the Camerons of

Callart, Strone, Letterfinlay, and others—to

meet him on the day appointed for the assem-

bling of his opponents, near the spot where

the latter were to meet.
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Oil arriving at tlie appointed rendezvous,

Locliicl placed in ambush all his followers but

six, with whom he advanced towards his ene-

mies, informing them that he wished to have

a conference with them. The hostile faction,

thinking this a favourable opportunity for

accomplishing theu- design, pursued the chief,

who, when he had led them fairly into the

midst of his ambushed followers, gave the

signal for their slaughter. Twenty of their

principal men were killed, and eight taken

prisoners, Lochiel allo^ving the rest to escape.

Lochiel and his followers were by the Privy

Council outlawed, and a commission of iire and

sword granted to the Marquis of Himtly and

the Gordons, for their pursuit and apprehen-

sion. The division of the clan Cameron which

supported Lochiel continued for several years

in a state of outla^vTy, but, through the influ-

ence of the Earl of Ai'gyle, appears not to have

suffered extremely.^

CHAPTER X.

A.D. 1613—1623.

KINC or tiUEAT BBITAIN :—Jamcs I., 1603—1625.

Continued animosity between the Earls of Caithness

and Sutherland—The latter imprisoned as a sus-

pected Catholic—Formidable Rebellion in the South
Hebrides—Suppressed by the Earl of Argyle—Fresh
intrigues of the Earl of Caithness—His oppressions

—Burning of the corn at Sanset—Legal proceedings

against the Guns—Agreement between the Earl of

Caithness, Sir Robert Gordon, and Lord Forbes

—

Lord Berridale imprisoned—Conditions of release

—

Put in possession of the family Estates—Alliance

between the Earl of Caithness and Sir Don.ild Mae-
kay—Sir Robert Gordon protects the clan Gun

—

Mackay's attempts against the Clan—Mackay and
Sir Robert Gordon reconciled—Quarrel between the

Earl of Enzie and the elan Chattan—Slaughter of

Thomas Lindsay—Hostile preparations against the

Eai'l of Caithness—Expedition into Caithness

—

Flight of the Earl—Reduction and pacification of

Caithness.

As the Privy Council showed no incluiation to

decide the questions submitted to them by the

Earl of Caitlmess and liis adversaries, the earl

sent Ids brother. Sir Jolm Sinclair of Green-

land, to Edinburgh, to complain of tlie delay

which had taken place, and desired him to

throw it hints, that if the earl did not obtain

Gregory's Western Highlands, p. 342.

satisfaction for liis supposed injimes, he would

take redress at his own hands. The earl

tliought that he would succeed, by such a

threat, in moving the council to decide in his

favour, for he was well aware that he was

unable to cany it into execution. To give

some appearance of an intention to enforce it,

ho, in the month of October, 1613, while the

Earl of Sutherland, his brothers and nephews,

were absent from the country, made a demon-

stration of invading Sutherland or Strathnaver,

by collecting his forces at a particular point,

and bringing thither some pieces of ordnance

from Castle Sinclair. The Earl of Sutherland,

having anived in Sutherland while the Earl of

Caithness was thus employed, immediately

assembled some of his countrymen, and, along

with his brother Sh Alexander, went to the

marches between Sutherland and Caithness,

near the height of StrathuUy, where they

waited the approach of the Earl of Caithness.

Here they were joined by Mackay, who had

given notice of the Earl of Caithness's move-

ments to the lairds of Eoulis, Balnago'svn, and

Assynt, the sheriff of Cromarty, and the tutor

of Kintail, all of whom prepared themselves to

assist the Earl of Sutherland. The Earl ol

Caithness, however, by advice of his brother,

Sir John Sinclair, returned home and dis-

banded his force.

To prevent the Earl of Caithness from at

tempting any farther interference with the

Privy Council, either in the way of intrigue or

intimidation. Sir Eobert Gordon obtamed a

remission and pardon from the king, in the

month of December, 1G13, to his nephew,

Donald Mackay, Jolm Gordon, younger of

Embo, John Gordon in Broray, Adam Gordon

Georgeson, and their accomplices, for the

slaughter of John Sinclair of Stirkage at

Thurso. However, Sii' Gideon Murray, Deputy

Treasiu'er for Scotland, contrived to prevent the

pardon passmg through the seals tiU the begin-

ning of tlie year 1616.

The Earl of Caithness, being thus baffled in

his designs against the Earl of Sutlieiiand and

his friends, fell upon a device which never

failed to succeed in times of religious intoler-

ance and persecution. Unfortunately for man-

kind and for the interests of Christianity, the

principles of religious toleration, involving the
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inalienable right of every man to WGrsMp God

according to the dictates of his conscience, have

heen till of late but little understood, and at

the period in question, and for upwards of one

hundred and sixty years thereafter, tlie statute

book of Scotland was disgraced by penal enact-

ments against tlie Catholics, almost unparalleled

for tbeii' sanguinary atrocity. By an act of the

liret parliament of James VI., any Catholic

who assLsted at the offices of lus religion was,

" for the first fault," that is, fur following the

dictates of Ins con.scienco, to suffer confiscation

of aJl his goods, movable and immovable,

personal and real ; for the second, banishment

;

and death for tlie third fault ! But the law

was not confined to overt acts only—the mere

suspicion of being a Catholic placed the sus-

pected person out of the pale and protection of

the law ; for if, on being warned by the bish-

ops and ministers, ho did not recant and give

confession of liis faith according to the ap-

proved form, he was excommunicated, and

declared infamous and incapable to sit or stand

in judgment, pursue or bear office."

Under this last-mentioned law tlie Earl of

Caithness now sought to gratify his vengeance

against the Earl of Sutherland. Having repre-

sented to the Archbishop of St. Ancbews and

the clergy of Scotland that the Earl of Suther-

land was at heart a Catholic, he prevaQed upon

the bishops—with little difficulty, it is sup-

posed—to acquaint the king thereof. His

majesty thereupon issued a warrant against

the Earl of Sutherland, who was in conse-

quence apprehended and imprisoned at St.

Andrews. The earl applied to the bishops for

a month's delay, tiU the 15th February, 1614,

promising that before that time he would
either give the church satisfaction or sun-ender

himself; but his apphcation was refused by
the high commission of Scotland. Sir Alex-

ander Gordon, the brother of the earl, being

then in Edinbm-gh, immediately gave notice to

his brother, Sir Robert Gordon, who was at

the time in London, of the proceedings against

their brother, the earl. Sir Robert having

apphed to his majesty for the release of the

earl for a time, that he might make up his

mind on the subject of religion, and look after

' Act James VI., Pari. 3, Cap. 45.

his affairs in the north, his majesty granted a

warrant for liis liberation till the month of

August following. On the expiration of the

time, he returned to liis confinement at St.

Andrews, from wliich he was removed, on

his own application, to the abbey of Holyrood

house, where he remained till the month of

March, 161.5, when he obtained leave to go

home, " having," says Sir Robert Gordon, " in

some measure satisfied the church concerning

lus religion."

The Earl of Caithness, thus again defeated

in his views, tried, as a denim- resort, to dis-

join the families of Sutherland and Mackay.

Sometimes he attempted to prevail upon the

Marquis of Huntly to persuade the Earl of

Sutherland and his brothers to come to an

arrangement altogether independent of Mac-

kay; and at other times he endeavoured to

persuade Mackay, by holding out certain in-

ducements to him, to compromise their differ-

ences without including the Earl of Suther-

land in the arrangement; but he completely

failed in these attempts. ^

In 1614-15 a formidable rebellion broke out

in the South Hebrides, arising from the efforts

made by the clan Donald of Islay to retain that

island in their possession. The castle of Duny-

veg in Islay, which, for three j'ears previous to

161 4,had been in possession of the Bishop of the

Isles, ha^^ng been taken by Angus Oig, younger

brother of Sir James Macdonald of Islay, from

Ranald Oig, who had surprised it, the former

refused to restore it to the bishop. The Privy

Council took the matter in hand, and, having

accepted from John Campbell of Calder an

offer of a feu-duty or perpetual rent for Islay,

they prevailed on liim to accept a commission

against Angus Oig and his followers. The

clan Donald, who viewed with suspicion the

growing power of the Campbells, looked upon

this project with much dislike, and treated

certain hostages left bj' the bishop with gi-eat

severity. Even the bishop remonstrated agauist

making " the name of Campbell greater in the

Isles than they are already," thinldng it neithei

good nor profitable to his majesty, " to root

out one pestiferous clan, and plant in another

little better." The remonstrance of the bishop

' Sir E. Gordon, p. 299.
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and an offer made to put matters right by Sir

James Macdonald, who was then imprisoned

in Edinburgh castle, were alike unheeded, and

Campbell of Calder received his commission of

Lieutenandi-y against Angus Oig Macdonald,

Coll Mac-Gillespic, and the other rebels of Islay.

A free pardon was offered to all who were not

concerned in the taking of the castle, and a

remission to Angus Oig, pi-ovided he gave up

the castle, the hostages, and two associates of

his own rank.

While Campbell was collecting his forces,

and certain auxiliary troops from Ireland

were preparing to embark, the chancellor of

Scotland. tlM'E.nl nf Thmfi iinliii.', by moans

of a Ross-shire man, named George Graham of

Eryne, prevailed on Angus Oig to release the

bishop's hostages, and deliver up to Graham
the castle, in behalf of the chancellor. Graham
re-delivered the castle to Angus, to be held by

him as the regular constable, until he should

receivefurtherordersfrom the chancellor, andat

the same time assured Angus of the chancel-

lor'scountenance and protection, enjoining him

to resist all efforts on the part of Campbell or

his friends to eject him. These injunctions

Graham's dupes too readily followed. "There

can be no doubt whatever that the chancellor

was the author of this notable plan to procure

the liberatinii i.f thr liustages, and at the same

Hiuiyv.-,' Ca-tk-, Ulay.— Frm.i a .Ir:

time to deprive the clan Donald of the benefit

of thepardon promised to them on this account.

There are grounds for a suspicion that the

chancellor himself desiied to obtain Islay

;

although it is probable that he wished to avoid

the odium attendant on the more violent mea-

sures required to render such an acquisition

available. He, therefore, contrived so as to

leave the punishment of the clan Donald to

the Campbells, who were already siitEciently

obnoxious to the western clans, whilst he him-

self had the credit of procuring the liberation

of the hostages."

Campbell of Calder and Sir Oliver Lambert,

commander of the Irish forces, did not effect a

junction till the 5th of January, 1615, and on

viii'^ t;ikiMi f.vprc'ssly for this work,

the Gth, Campbell landed on Islay %vith 200

men, liis force being augmented next day by

140 more. Several of the rebels, alarmed, de-

serted Angus, and were pardoned on condition

of helping the besiegers. Ronald Mac-James,

uncle of Angus Oig, surrendered a fort on the

island of Lochgorme which he commanded, on

the 21st, and along with his son received a

conditional assurance of his majesty's favour.

Operations were commenced against Dunyveg

on February 1st, and shortly after Angus had

an interview with the lieutenant, during which

thelatter showed that Angushad been deceived

by Graham, upon which he promised to sur-

render. On returning to the castle, however,

he refused to implement his promise, being in-
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stisated to hold out apparently by Coll Mac-

GiUespic. After being again battered for some

time, Angus and some of his followers at last

surrendered unconditionally, Coll Mac-Gillespio

contriving to make liis escape. Campbell took

possession of the castle on the 3d February,

dispersed tlie forces of the rebels, and put to

death a number of those who had deserted the

siege; Angus himself was reserved for exami-

nation by the Privy Council. In the course of

the examination it came out clearly that the

Earl of Argyle was the original promoter of the

seizure of the castle, his purpose apparently

being to ruin the clan Donald by urging them

to rebellion ; but this charge, as well as that

against the Earl of DimfermUne, appears to

have been smothered.

During the early part of the year 1615, CoU

Mac-Gillespic and others of the clan Donald

who had escaped, infested the western coasts,

and committed many acts of piracy, being

joined about the month of May by Sir James

Macdonald, who had escaped from Edinburgli

castle, where he had been lying for a long

time under sentence of death. Sir James and

his followers, now numbering several hundreds,

after laying in a good supply of provisions,

sailed towards Islay. The Privy Council were

not slow in taking steps to repress the rebel-

lion, although various circumstances occurred

to thwart their intentions. Calder engaged to

keep the castle of Dunyveg against tlie rebels,

and instructions were given to the various

western gentlemen friendly to the government

to defend the western coasts and islands.

Large rewards were offered for the principal

rebels. All the forces were enjoined to be

at their appointed stations by the Gth of July,

furnished with forty days' provisions, and with

a sufficient number of boats, to enable them to

act by sea, if necessary.

Sir James Macdonald, about the end of

June, laiuliug on Islay, managed by stratagem

to obtain possession of Dunyveg Castle, liim-

self and liis followers appearing to have con-

ducted tliemselves vrith great moderation.

Dividing his force, which numbered about 400,

into two bodies, ^vith one of which he himself

intended to proceed to Jura, the other, under

CoU Mae-GUlespic, was destined for Kintyre,

for the purpose of encouraging tlie ancient

followers of Lis family to assist liim. In the

beginning of Julj', Angus Oig and a number of

Ms followers were tried and condemned, and

executed immediately after.

Various disheartening reports were now cir-

cidated as to the disaffection of Donald Gorme

of Sleat, captain of the clan Eanald, Ruari

Maeleod of Harris, and others ; and that Hector

Maclean of Dowart, if not actually engaged in

the rebeUion, had announced, that if he was

desired to proceed against the clan Donald, he

would not be very earnest in the service. The

militia of Ayr, Renfrew, Dumbarton, Bute,

and Inverness were called out, and a commis-

sion was granted to the Marquis of Hamilton

to keep the clan Donald out of Arran.

The Privy Council had some time before

tills urged the king to send down the Earl of

Argyle from England—to which he had fled

from Iris numerous creditors—to act as lieu-

tenant in suppressing the insurrection. After

many delays, Argyle, to whom fidl powers had

been given to act as lieutenant, at length

mustered liis forces at Duntroou on Loch

Crinan early in September. He issued a pro-

clamation of pardon to all rebels who were

willing to submit, and by means of spies ex-

amined Macdonald's camp, which had been

pitched on the west coast of Kintyre, the num-

ber of the rebels being ascertained to be about

1,000 men. Argyle set himself so promptly

and vigorously to crush the rebels, that Sii

James Macdonald, who had been followed to

Islay by the former, finding it impossible either

to resist the Lieutenant's forces, or to escape

with his galleys to the north isles, desired from

the earl a truce of four days, promising at the

end of that time to surrender. Argyle would

not accede to this request except on condition

of Sir James giving up the two forts which he

held ; this Sir James urged CoU Mac-GUlespic

to do, but he refused, although he sent secretly

to Argyle a message that he was wUling to

comply with the earl's request. Argyle im-

mediately sent a force against Sir James to

surprise him, who, being warned of tliis by the

natives, managed to make his escape to an

island caUed InchdahoU, on the coast of Ire-

land, and never again returned to the Hebrides.

Next day, Mac-GiUespic surrendered the two

forts and his prisoners, upon assurance of his
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ovii life and the lives of a few of Ids followers,

at tlie same time treacherously apprehending

RQd delivering to Argyle, Macfie of Colonsay,

one of the principal rebel leaders, and eighteen

others. This conduct soon liad many unita-

Lors, including Macfie himself.

Having delivered the forts in Islay to Camp-

bell of Galder, and having executed a number

of tlie leading rebels, Argyle proceeded to

Kintyre, and crushed out all remaining seeds of

insurrection there. Many of the principal

rebels, notwithstanding a diligent search,

elfected theii' escape, many of them to Ireland,

Sir James Macdonald being sent to Spain by

some Jesuits in Galway. The escape of so

many of the principal rebels seems to have

given the CouncQ great dissatisfaction. Argyle

carried on operations till the middle of Decem-

ber 1615, refusing to dismiss the hired soldiers

in the beginning of November, as he was

ordered by tlie Council to do. He was com-

pelled to disburse the pay, amounting to

upwards of ^£7,000, for the extra month and a

half out of his own pocket.

" Thus," to use the words of our authority

for the above details,' " terminated the last

struggle of the once powerful clan Donald of

Islay and Kintyre, to retain, from the grasp of

the Campbells, these ancient possessions of

their tribe."

Ever since the death of John Sinclair at

Thurso, the Earl of Caithness used every means

in his power to induce such of his country-

men as were daring enougli, to show their

prowess and dexterity, by making incursions

into Sutherland or Strathnaver, for the pur-

pose of annoying the vassals and depend-

ants of the Earl of Sutherland and his ally,

Mackay. Amongst others he often communi-

cated on tills subject with William Kenneth-

son, whose father, Kenneth Buidhe, had always

been the principal instrument in the hands

of Earl George in oppressing the people of

his own country. For the furtherance of his

plans he at last prevailed upon William, who
already stood rebel to the king in a criminal

cause, to go into voluntary banishment into

Strathnaver, and put himself under the pro-

tection of Mackay, to whom he was to pre-

" Ore^on'V Westeni Highlands, p. 349, et seq

tend that he had left Caitliness to avoid any

solicitations from the Earl of Caithness to

injure the inhabitants of Strathnaver. To

cover their designs they caused a report to be

spread that William Mac-Kenneth was to leave

Caithness because he would not obey the orders

of the earl to execute some designs against Sir

Robert Gordon, the tutor of Sutlierland, and

Mackay, and when this false rumour had

been sufficiently spread, Mac-Kenneth, and

his brother Jolm, and their dependants, fled

into Strathnaver and solicited the favour and

protection of Mackay. The latter received

them kindly ; but as William and his party

had been long addicted to robbery and theft,

he strongly advised them to abstain from such

practices in all time coming ; and that they

might not afterwards plead necessity as an

excuse for continuing their depredations, he

allotted them some lands to dwell on. After

staying a month or two in Strathnaver, during

which time they stole some cattle and horses

out of Caitliness, William received a private

visit by night from Kenneth Buidlie, his

father, who had been sent by the Earl of Caitli-

ness for the purpose of executing a contem-

plated depredation in Sutherland. Mackay

was then in Sutherland on a visit to his uncle,

Sir Robert Gordon, which being known to

William Mac-Kenneth, he resolved to enter

Sutherland 'with liis party, and carry off into

Caithness all the booty they could collect.

Being observed in the glen of Loth by some of

the clan Gun, collecting cattle and horses, they

were immediately apprehended, with the ex-

ception of lain-Garbh-Mao-Chonald-Mac-Mhur-

cliidli-Mhoir, who, being a very resolute man,

refused to surrender, and was in consequence

kUled. The prisoners were delivered to Sir

Robert Gordon at Dornoch, who committed

WUliam and his brother John to the castle of

Dornoch for trial. In the meantime two of

the principal men of Mac-Kenneth's party

were tried, convicted, and executed, and the

remainder were allowed to retimi home on

givuig surety to keep the peace. This occur

rence took place in the month of January

1616.

The Earl of Caithness now finished his rest-

less career of iniquity by the perpetration of a

crime whicli, tnough trivial in its crnsequences,
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was of so liiglily a penal nature in itself as to

bring his own life into jeopardy. As tlie cir-

cumstances wliich led to the burning of the

corn of WUliam Innes, a servant of Lord Forbes

at Sanset in Caithness, and the discovery of

the Earl of Caitlmess as instigator, are some-

wliat cmious, it is thought that a recital of

tlicm may not be here out of place.

Among other persons wlio had suffered at

the hands of the earl was his own kinsman,

WiUiam Sinclair of Dumbaith. After annoy-

ing hun in a variety of ways, the earl insti-

gated his bastard brother, Henry Sinclair, and

Kenneth Buidhe, to destroy and lay waste part

of Pumbaith's lands, who, unable to resist, and

being in dread of personal risk, locked himself

up in his house at Dunray, which they besieged.

William Sinclair immediately applied to John,

Earl of Sutherland, for assistance, who sent

liis friend Mackay with a party to rescue Sin-

clair from his perilous situation. Mackay suc-

ceeded, and carried Sinclair along witli liim

into Sutherland, where he remained for a time,

but he afterwards went to reside in Moray,

where he died. Although thus crueUy perse-

cuted and forced to become an exile from his

country by the Earl of Caithness, no entreaties

coidd induce him to apply for redress, choosing

rather to suffer liimself than to see his relative

punished. William Sinclair was succeeded by

his grandson, George Sinclair, who married a

sister of Lord Forbes. By the persuasion of

his wife, who was a mere tool in the hands

of the Earl of Caithness, George Sinclair was

induced to execute a deed of entail, by which,

failing of heirs male of his own body, he left

the whole of his lands to the earl. When the

earl had obtained this deed he began to devise

means to make away with Sinclair, and ac-

tually persuaded Sinclair's wife to assist him

in this nefarious design. Having obtained

notice of this conspiracy against his life, Sin-

clair left Caithness and took up his residence

with his brother-in-law, Lord Forbes, who
received liim "with great kindness and hospi-

tality, and reprobated very strongly the wicked

conduct of liis sister. Sinclair now recalled

the entail in favour of the Earl of Caithness,

and made a new deed by -which he conveyed

his whole estate to Lord Forbes. George Sin-

clair died soon after the execution of tlic deed.

and having left no issue, Lord Forbes took pos-

session of his lands of Dunray ami Dumbaith.

Disappointed in his plans to acquire Sinclair's

property, the Earl of Caithness seized every

opportunity of annoying Lord Forbes in his

possessions, by oppressing his tenants and

servants, in every possible way, under the pre-

tence of discharging his duty as sherifl", to

which office he had been appointed by the Earl

of Huntly, on occasion of his marriage with

Huntly's sister. Complaints were made from

time to time against the earl, on account of

these proceedings, to the Privy Council of

Scotland, which, in some measure, afibrded

redress ; but to protect his tenants more effectu-

ally. Lord Forbes took up a temporary resi-

dence in Caithness, relying upon the aid of tlie

house of Sutherland in case of need.

As the Earl of Caithness was aware that any

direct attack on Lord Forbes would be properly

resented, and as any enterprise undertaken by

his own people would be laid to his charge,

however cautious he might be in dealing witli

them, he fixed on the clan Gun as the fittest

instruments for effecting his designs against

Lord Forbes. Besides being the most resolute

men in Caithness, always ready to undertake

any desperate action, they depended more upon

the Earl of Sutherland and Mackay, from

whom they held some lands, than upon the

Earl of Caithness ; a circumstance which the

latter supposed, should the contemplated out-

ragi>s of the clan Gun ever become matter of

inquiry, might throw the suspicion upon the

two former as the silent instigators. Accord

ingly, the earl opened a negotiation with John

Gun, chief of the clan Gun in Caithness, and

with his brother, Alexander Gun, whose fatlier

he had hanged in the year 1586. In conse-

quence of an invitation, the two brothers, along

with Alexander Gun, their cousin-german, re

paired to Castle Sinclair, where they met the

earl. The earl did not at first divulge his

plans to all the party; but taking Alexander

Gun, the cousin, aside, he pointed out to hini

the injury he alleged he had sustained, in con-

sequence of Lorvl Forbes having obtained a

footing m Caithness,—that he could no longer

submit to the indignity shown him by a stran-

ger,—that he had made choice of him (Gun) to

undertake a piece of service for him, on per-
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forming wliich he would reward him most

amply ; and to secure compliance, the earl de-

sired him to remember the many favours he had

already received from him, and how well he

had treated him, promising, at the same time, to

show him even greater kindness in time coming.

Alexander thereupon promised to serve the earl,

though at the hazard of his life ; but upon being

interrogated by the earl whether he would

undertake to burn the corn of Sanset, belong-

ing to William Innes, a servant of Lord Forbes,

Gun, who had never imagined that he was to

be employed in such an ignoble affair, expressed

the greatest astonisliment at the proposal, and

refused, in the most peremptory and indignant

manner, to undertake its execution
;
yet, to

satisfy the earl, he told him that he would, at

his command, undertake to assassinate William

Innes,—an action which he considered less

criminal and dishonourable, and more becom-

ing a gentleman, than burning a quantity of

corn ! Finding him obdurate, the earl enjoined

him to secrecy.

The earl next applied to the two brothers,

John and Alexander, with whom he did not

find it so difficult to treat. They at first hesi-

tated with some firmness in undertaking the

business on which the earl was so intent ; and

they pleaded an excuse, by sajong, that as

justice was then more strictly executed in

Scotland than formerly, they could not expect

to escape, as they had no place of safety to re-

treat to after the crime was committed ; as a

proof of which they instanced the cases of the

clan Donald and the clan Gregor, two races of

people much more powerfid than the clan Gun,

who had been brought to the brink of ruin, and

almost annihilated, under the authority of the

laws. The earl replied, that as soon as they

should perform the service for him he would

send them to the western isles, to some of his

acquaintances and friends, with whom they

might remain till Lord Forbes and he were

reconciled, when he would obtain their pardon
;

that in the meantime he would profess, in

public, to be their enemy, but that he would be

their friend secretly, and permit them to fre-

quent Caithness without danger. Alexander

Gim, overcome at last by the entreaties of the

earl, reluctantly consented to his request, and

going into Sanset, in the dead of night, with

two accomplices, set fire to all the c^ rn stacks

which were in the barn-yard, belonging to

William Innes, and which w(!re in consequence

consumed. This affair oocuned in the month

of November, 1615. The Earl of Caithness

immediately spread a report tlirough the whole

country that Mackay's tenants had conmiitted

this outrage, but the deception was of short

duration.

It may be here noticed that John, sixth Earl

of Sutherland, died in September, 1615, and

was succeeded by his eldest son, John, a boy

six years old, to whom Sir Robert Gordon, his

uncle, was appointed tutor.

Sir Robert Gordon, having arrived in the

north of Scotland, from England, in the month

of December following, resolved to probe the

matter to the bottom, not merely on accoimt

of his nephew, Mackay, whose men were sus-

pected, but to satisfy Lord Forbes, who was

now on friendly terms with the house of Suth-

erland ; but the discovery of the perpetrators

soon became an easy task, in consequence of a

quarrel among the clan Gim themselves, the

members of which upbraided one another as

the authors of the fire-raising. Alexander Gun,

the cousin of Alexander Gun, the real criminal,

thereupon fled from Caithness, and sent somo

of his friends to Sir Robert Gordon and Donald

Mackay with these proposals :—that if they

woidd receive him into favour, and secure him

from danger, he would confess the whole cir-

cumstances, and reveal the authors of the con-

flagration, and that he would declare the whole

before the Privy Coimcil if required. On
receiving this proposal. Sir Robert Gordon

appointed Alexander Gun to meet him pri-

vately at Helmsdale, in the house of Sir Alex-

ander Gordon, brother of Sir Robert. A nieet^

ing was accordingly held at the place appointed,

at which Sir Robert and his friends agreed to

do everything in their power to preserve Gim's

life ; and Mackay promised, moreover, to give

him a possession in Strathie, where his father

had formerly lived.

When the Earl of Caithness heard of Alex-

ander Gun's flight into Sutherland he became

greatly alarmed lest Alexander should reveal the

affair of Sanset ; and anticipating such a result,

the earl gave out everywhere that Sir Robert

Gordon, Mackay, find Sir Alexander Gordon,
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had hired some of the clan Gun to accuse

him of having burnt William Innes's corn.

But this artifice was of no avail, for as soon as

Lord Forbes received notice from Sir Robert

Gordon of the circumstances related by Alex-

ander Gun, he immediately cited John Gun
and his brother Alexander, and their accom-

plices, to appear for trial at Etliuburgh, on the

2d April, 1616, to answer to the charge of

burning the corn at Sanset ; and he also sum-

moned the Earl of Caitliness, as sheriff of that

coimty, to deliver them up for trial John

Gun, thinking that the best course he could

pursue under present circumstances was to fol-

low the example of his cousin, Alexander, sent

a message to Sir Alexander Gordon, desiring

an interview with him, which being granted,

they met at Na\'idale. John Gun then offered

to reveal everything he knew concerning the

fire, on condition that his life should be spared

;

but Sir Alexander observed that he could come

under no engagement, as he was uncertain how
the king and the council miglit view such a

proceeding ; but he promised, that as Jolm had

not been an actor in the business, but a witness

only to the arrangement between his brother

and the Earl of Caithness, he would do what

he could to save him, if he went to Edinburgh

in compliance with the summons.

In this state of matters, the Earl of Caith-

ness wrote to the Marquis of Huntly, accusing

Sir Robert Gordon and Mackay of a design to

bring him within the reach of the law of trea-

son, and to injure tlie honour of his house by

slandering him with the burning of the corn at

Sanset. The other party told the marquis that

they could not refuse to assist Lord Forbes in

finding out the persons who had burned the corn

at Sanset, but that they had never imagined

that the earl would have acted so base a part

as to become an accomplice in such a criminal

act ; and farther, tliat as Mackay's men were

challenged with the deed, they certainly were

entitled at least to clear !Mackay's people from

the charge by endeavouring to find out the male-

factors,—in aU which they considered they had

done the earl no wrong. The Marquis of

Huntly did not fail to -write the Earl of Caith-

ness the answer lie had received from Sir Ro-

bert Gordon and Mackay, which grieved him
pxceodingly, as he was too wcU aware of the

consequences which would follow if the prose-

cution of the Guns was persevered in.

At the time appointed for the trial of the

Guns, Sir Robert Gordon, Mackay, and Lord

Forbes, with aU his friends, went to Edin-

burgli, and upon their arrival they entreated

the coimcU to prevent a remission in favour of

tlie Earl of Caithness from passing the signet

until the affair in hand was tried ; a request

with which the council complied. The Earl

of Caithness did not appear ; but he sent his

son. Lord Eerridale, to Edinburgh, along with

John Gun and aU those persons who had been

summoned by Lord Forbes, with the exception

of Alexander Gun and liis two accomplices.

He alleged as his reason for not sending them
that they were not his men, being Mackay's

own tenants, and dwelling in Dilred, the pro-

perty of Mackay, which was held by liim off

the Earl of Sutherland, who, he alleged, was

bound to present the three persons alluded to.

But the lords of the council would not admit

of this excuse, and again required Lord Eerri-

dale and his fatlier to present the three culprits

before the court on the 10th Jime following,

because, although they had possessions in Dil-

red, they had also lands from the Earl of Caith-

ness on which they usually resided. Besides,

the deed was committed in Caithness, of which

the earl was sheriff, on which account also he

was bound to apprehend them. Lord Berri-

dale, whose character was quite the reverse of

tliat of liis father, apprehensive of the conse-

quences of a trial, now offered satisfaction in

his father's name to Lord Forbes if he would

stop the prosecution ; but his lordsliip refused

to do anything without the previous advice and

consent of Sir Robert Gordon and Mackay, who,

upon being consulted, caused articles of agree-

ment to be di'awn up, which were presented

to Lord Berridale by neutral persons for his

acceptance. He, however, considering the con-

ditions sought to be imposed upon his father

too hard, rejected them.

In consequence of the refusal of Lord Berri-

dale to accede to the terms proposed, Jolm Gun
was apprehended by one of the magistrates of

Edinburgh, on the application of Lord Forbes,

and couunitted a prisoner to the jail of that

city. Gun thereupon requested to see Sir

Robert Gordon and Mackay, whom he entreated



136 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

to use their influence to procure him his

liberty, promising to declare everything he

knew of the business for which he was

prosecuted before the lords of the council.

Sir Robert Gordon and Mackay then deliber-

ated with Lord Forbes and Lord Elphinston

on the subject, and they aU four promised

faithfully to Gun to do everything in their

power to save liim, and that they would

thenceforth maintain and defend him and his

cousin, Alexander Gun, against the Earl of

Caithness or any person, as long as they

had reason and equity on their side ; besides

wliich, Mackay promised him a liferent lease

of the lands in Strathie to compensate for his

possessions in Caitliness, of which he would,

of course, be deprived by the earl for revealing

the latter's connexion with the fire-raising at

Sanset. John Gun was accordingly examined

the following day by the lords of the council,

when he confessed that the Earl of Caithness

made his brother, Alexander Gun, burn the

corn of Sanset, and that the affair had been

oroposed and discussed in his presence. Alex-

ander Gun, the cousin, was examined also at

the same time, and stated the same circum-

stances precisely as John Gun had done.

After examination, John and Alexander were

again committed to prison.

As neither the Earl of Caithness nor his son.

Lord Berridale, complied vnth. the commands

of the council to deliver up Alexander Gun and

his accomplices in the month of June, they

were both outlawed and denounced rebels ; and

were summoned and charged by Lord Forbes to

appear personally at Edinburgh in the month

of Jidy immediately following, to answer to the

charge of causing the corn of Sanset to be burnt.

This fixed determination on the part of Lord

Forbes to bring the earl and his son to trial

had the effect of altering their tone, and they

now earnestly entreated bim and Mackay to

agree to a reconciliation on any terms ; but

they declined to enter into any arrangement

until they had consulted Sir Robert Gordon.

After obtaining Sir Robert's consent, and a

written statement of the conditions which he

required from the Earl of Caithness in behalf of

his nephew, the Earl of Sutherland, the parties

entered into a final agreement in the month of

.July, 1616. The principal heads of the contract.

which was afterwards recorded in the books of

council and session, were as follows :—That

all civil actions between the parties shoidd be

settled by the mediationof common friends,

—

that the Earl of Caithness and his son should

pay to Lord Forbes and Mackay the sum of

20,000 merks Scots money,—that all quarrels

and criminal actions should be mutually for-

given, and particularl}', that the Earl of Caith-

ness and all his friends should forgive and

remit the slaughter at Thurso—that the Earl

of Caithness and his son shoidd renounce for

themselves and their heirs all jurisdiction,

criminal or civil, ^rithin Sutherland or Strath-

naver, and any other jurisdiction which they

shoidd thereafter happen to acquire over any

lands lying within the diocese of Caithness

then pertaining, or which .shoidd afterwards

belong, to the Earl of Sutherland, or his heirs,

—that the Earl of Caithness shoidd deliver

Alexander Gun and his accomplices to Lord

Forbes,—that the earl, his son, and their heirs,

should never thenceforth contend with the

Earl of Sutherland for precedency in parlia-

ment or priority of place,—that the Earl of

Caithness and his son, their friends and tenants,

should keep the peace in time coming, under

the penalty of great sums of money, and should

never molest nor trouble the tenants of the

Earl of Sutherland and Lord Forbes,—that

the Earl of Caithness, his son, or their friends,

should not receive nor harbour anj' fugitives

from Sutherland or Strathnaver,—and that

there shoidd be good friendship and amity

kept amongst them in all time to come.

In consequence of this agreement, the two

sons of Kenneth Buy, William and John be-

fore-mentioned, were delivered to Lord Berri-

dale, who gave security for their keeping the

peace; and John Gun and Alexander his

cousin were released, and delivered to Lord

Forbes and Mackay, who gave surety to the

lords of the councd to present them for trial

whenever required ; and as the Earl of Caith-

ness had deprived them of their possessions in

Caithness on account of the discovery they had

made, Mackay, who had lately been knighted

by the king, gave them lands in Strathnaver

as he had promised . Matters being thus set-

tled. Lord Berridale presented himself be-

fore the court at Edinburgh to abide his
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trial ; but no person of course appearing against

him, the trial was postponed. The Earl of

Caithness, however, failing to appear, the diet

against him was continued till the 28th of

August following.

Although the king was well pleased, on ac-

20unt of the peace which such an adjustment

would produce in his northern dominions, with

the agreement which had been entered into,

and the proceedings which followed thereon,

all of which were made known to him by the

Privy Council; yet, as the passing over such

a flagrant act as wilful fire-raising, without

punishment, might prove pernicious, lie wrote

a letter to the Privy Council of Scotland,

commanding them to prosecute, with all sever-

ity, those who were guilty of, or accessory to,

the crime. Lord Berridfile was thereupon

apprehended on suspicion, and committed a

prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh ; and his

father, perceiving the determination of the

king to prosecute the authors of the fire, again

declined to appear for trial on the appointed

day, on which account he was again outlawed,

and declared a rebel as the guilty author.

In tliis extremity Lord Berridale had recourse

to Sir Robert Gordon, then resident at court,

for his aid. He wrote him a letter, entreating

him that, as aU controversies were now settled,

he would, in place of an enemy become a faithful

friend,—that for his own part, he. Lord Berri-

dale, had been always innocent of the jars and

dissensions which had happened between the

two families,—that he was also innocent of the

crime of wliich he was charged,—and that he

wi,shed his majesty to be informed by Sir Ro-

bert of these circumstances, hoping that he

would order liim to be released from confine-

ment. Sir Robert answered, that he had long

desired a perfect agi-eement between the houses

of Sutherland and Caithness, wliich he would

endeavour to maintain during his administra-

tion in Sutherland,— that he would intercede

with the king in behalf of his lordship to the

utmost of lus power,—that all disputes being

now at an end, he would be his faithful friend,

—that he had a very different opinion of his

disposition from that he entertained of his

father, the carl ; and he concluded by entreat-

ing him to be carcfid to preserve the friendship

which had been now commenced between them.

As the king understood that Lord Berridale

was supposed to bo innocent of the crime with

Avhich he and his father stood charged, and as

he could not, without a verdict against Berri-

dale, proceed against the family of Caithnes.s

by forfeiture, in consequence of his lordship

having been infeft many years before in his

father's estate; his majesty, on the earnest

entreaty of the then bishop of Ross, Sir Robert

Gordon, and Sir James Spenee of Wormistoun,

was pleased to remit and forgive the crime on

the following conditions:— Lst. That the Earl

of Caithness and his son should give satisfac-

tion to their creditors, who were constantly

annoying his majesty witli clamours against

the earl, and craving justice at his hands. 2rl.

That the Earl of Caithness, with consent of

Lord Berridale, shoidd freely renounce and

resign perpetually, into the hands of his ma-

jesty, the heritable sheriffship and justiciary of

Caithness. 3d. That the Earl of Caithness

should deliver the three criminals who had

burnt the com, that public justice might bo

satisfied upon them, as a terror and examjde

to others. 4th. That the Earl of Caithness,

with consent of Lord Berridale, should give

and resign in perjxttium to the bishop of

Caithness, the house of Strabister, with as

many of the feu lands of that bishopric as

should amount to the yearly value of two

thousand merks Scots money, for the purpose

of augmenting the income of the bishop, whicli

was at that time small in consequence of the

greater part of his lands being in the hands of

the earl. Commissioners were sent down

from London to Caitlmess in October 1616, to

see that these conditions were complied vnth.

The second and last conditions were imme-

diately implemented; and as the earl and his

son promised to give satisfaction to tlieir

creditors, and to do everj-^thing in their power

to apprehend the bui'nors of the coi-n, the lat-

ter was released from the castle of Edinburgh,

and directions were given for drawing up a

remission and pardon to the Earl of Caithness.

Lord Berridale, however, had scarcely been

released from the castle, when he was again

imprisoned within the jail of Edinbirrgh, at

the instance of Sir James Home of Cowden-

knowes, his cousin german, who had become

surety for liim and liis father to their creditors
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for large sums of money. The earl himself

narrowly escaped the fate of his son and retired

to Caithness, but his creditors had sufficient

interest to prevent his remission from passing

till they should be satisfied. With consent of

the creditors the coimcil of Scotland gave him

a personal protection, from time to time, to

enable him to come to Edinburgh for the pur-

pose of settbng with them, but he made no

arrangement, and retiuned privately into Caith-

ness before the expiration of the .supersedere

which had been granted him, leaving his son

to suffer all the miseries of a prison. After

enduring a captivity of five years, Lord Berri-

dale was. released from prison by the good

offices of the Earl of Enzie, and put, for behoof

of himself, and his own and his father's credi-

tors, in possession of the family estates from

which liis father was driven by Sir Robert

Gordon acting under a royal warrant, a just

punishment for the many enormities of a long

and misspent life.
^

Desperate as the fortunes of the Earl of

Caithness were even previous to the disposal

of his estates, he most unexpectedly found an

ally in Sir Donald Mackay, who had taken

offence at Sir Robert Gordon, and who, being a

man of quick resolution and of an inconstant

disposition, determined to forsake the house of

Sutherland, and to ingratiate himself with the

Earl of Caithness. He alleged various causes

of discontent as a reason for his conduct, one

of the chief being connected with pecuniary

considerations ; for having, as he alleged,

burdened his estates with debts incurred for

some years past in follo-iving the house of

Sutherland, he thought that, in time coming, he

might, by procuring the favour of the Earl of

Caithness, turn the same to his own advantage

and that of liis coimtrjonen. Moreover, as he

liad been induced to liis own prejudice to grant

certain life-rent tacks of the laiuls of Strathie

and Dilred to John and Alexander Gun, and

others of the clan Gun for revealing the aff'air

of Sanset, he thought that by joining the Earl

of Caithness, these might be destroyed, by

which means he would get back his lands

which he meant to convey to his brother, John

Mackay, as a portion ; and he, moreover,

' Sir R. Gordon, p. 329, et seq.

expected that the earl would give him and his

countrymen some possessions in Caitlmess.

But the chief ground of discontent on the part

of Sir Donald Mackay was an action brought

against him and Lord Forbes before the court

of session, to recover a contract entered into

between the last Earl of Sutherland and Mac-

kay, in the yeai 1613, relative to tJieir marches

and other matters of controversy, whicli being

considered by Mackay as prejudicial to him,

he had endeavoured to get destroyed through

the agency of some persons about Lord Forbes,

into whose keeping the deed had been intrusted.

After brooding over these subjects of discon-

tent for some years, Mackay, in the year 1618,

suddenly resolved to break with the house of

Sutherland, and to form an alliance with the

Earl of Caitlmess, who had long borne a mortal

enmity at that family. Accordingly, Mackay

sent John Sutherland, his cousin-german, into

Caithness to request a private conference with

the earl in any part of Caithness he might

appoint. This offer was too tempting to be

rejected by the earl, who expected, by a recon-

ciliation with Sir Donald Mackay, to turn the

same to his own personal gratification and

advantage. In the first place, he hoped to

revenge himself upon the clan Gun, who were

his principal enemies, and upon Sir Donald

himseK, by detaching him from his superior,

the Earl of Sutherland, and from the friendship

of his uncles, who had always supported him

in all his difficulties. In the second place, he

expected that, by alienating !Mackay from the

duty and affection he owed the house of Suther-

land, that he would weaken his power and

influence. And lastly, he trusted that Mackay

would not only be prevailed upon to discharge

his own part, but would also persuade Lord

Forbes to discharge his share of the sum of

20,000 merks Scots, which he and his son.

Lord Berridale, had become bound to pay them,

on account of the burning at Sanset.

The Earl of Caithness having at once agreed

to Mackay's proposal, a meeting was held by

appointment in the neighbourhood of Dunray,

in the parish of Reaj', in Caithness. The

parties met in the night-time, accompanied each

by three men only. After much discussion, and

^ariolls conferences, which were continued for

two or three days, they resolved to destroy the
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clan Gun, and particularly John Gun, and

Alexander his cousin. To please the earl,

Mackay undertook to despatch these last, as

they were obnoxious to him, on account of the

part they had taken against him, in revealing

the biirning at Sanset. They persuaded them-

selves tliat the house of Sutherland would

defend tlie clan, as they were bound to do

by their promise, and that that house would

be thus drawn into some snare. To confirm

their friendship, the earl and Mackay arranged

that John Mackay, the only brother of Sir

Donald, should maiTy a niece of the earl, a

daughter of James Sinclair of Murkle, who

was a mortal enemy of all the clan Gun. Hav-

ing thus planned the line of conduct they were

to follow, they parted, after swearing to con-

tinue in perpetual friendship.

Notwithstanding the private way in which

the meeting was held, accounts of it immedi-

ately spread through the kingdom ; and every

person wondered at the motives which could

induce Sir Donald Mackay to take such a step

so unadvisedly, without the knowledge of his

uncles. Sir Robert and Sir Alexander Gordon,

or of Lord Forbes. The clan Gun receiving

secret intelligence of the design upon them,

from different friendly quarters, retired into

Sutherland. The clan were astonished at Mac-

kay's conduct, as he had promised, at Edin-

burgh, in presence of Lords Forbes and Elph-

ingston and Sir Eobert Gordon, in the year

1616, to be a perpetual friend to them, and

chiefly to John Gun and to liis cousin Alex-

ander.

After Mackay returned from Caithness, he

sent his cousin-german, Angus Mackay of Big-

house, to Sutherland, to acquaint his uncles,

who had received notice of the meeting, that

his object in meeting the Earl of Caithness was

for his own personal benefit, and that nothing

had been done to their prejudice. Angus

Mackay met Sir Eobert Gordon at Dunrobin,

to whom he delivered his kinsman's message,

which, he said, he hoped Sir Eobert would

take in good part, adding that Sir Donald

would show, in presence of both his uncles, that

the clan Gun had failed in duty and fidelity to

him and the house of Sutherland, since they had

revealed the burning ; and therefore, that if his

uncles would not forsake John Gun, and some

others of the clan, he would adhere to them no

longer. Sir Eobert Gordon returned a verbal

answer by Angus Mackay, that when Sir

Donald came in person to Dunrobin to clear

himself, as in duty he was bound to do, he

would tlien accept of his excuse, and not till

then. And he at the same time wrote a lettei

to Sir Donald, to the effect that for his own

(Sir Robert's) part, he did not much regard

Mackay's secret journey to Caithness, and hi"

reconciliation with Earl George, without his

knowledge or the advice of Lord Forbes ; and

that, however unfavourable the world might

construe it, he would endeavour to colour it in

the best way he could, for Mackay's own
credit. He desired Mackay to consider that a

man's reputation was exceedingly tender, and

that if it were once blemished, though -wrong-

fully, there would stUl some blot remain, be-

cause the greater part of the world would

always incline to speak the worst ; that what-

ever had been arranged in that journey, between

him and the Earl of Caithness, beneficial to

Mackay and not prejudicial to the house of

Sutherland, he should be always ready to assist

him therein, although concluded without his

consent. As to the clan Gun, he could not

with honesty or credit abandon them, and par-

ticularly John and Iris cousin Alexander, until

tried and found guilty, as he had promised

faithfully to be their friend, for revealing tlie

affair of Sanset ; that he had made them this

promise at the earnest desire and entreaty of

Sir Donald himself ; that the house of Suther-

land did always esteem their truth and con-

stancy to be their greatest jewel ; and seeing

that he and his brother. Sir Alexander, were

almost the only branches of it then of age or

man's estate, they would endeavour to prove

true and constant wheresoever they did possess

friendship ; and that neither the house of

Sutherland, nor any greater house whereof

they had the honour to be descended, should

have the least occasion to be ashamed of them

in that respect ; that if Sir Donald had quar-

relled or challenged the clan Gun, before going

into Caithness and his arrangement with Earl

George, the clan might have been suspected

;

but he saw no reason to forsake them until

they were found guilty of some great offence.

Sir Eobert Gordon, therefore, acting as tutoi
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for liis nephew, took the clan Gun under liis

inmiediate protection, with the exception of

Alexander Gun, the burner of the corn, and

his accomplices. John Gun thereupon de-

manded a trial before his friends, that they

might hear what Sir Donald had to lay to his

charge. John and his kinsmen were acquitted,

and declared innocent of any offence, either

against the house of Sutherland or Mackay,

since the fact of the burning.

Sir Donald Mackay, dissatisfied with this

result, went to Edinburgh for the purpose of

obtaining a commission against the clan Gun

from the council, for old crimes committed by

tliem before his majesty had left Scotland for

England ; but he was successfully opposed in

this by Sir Robert Gordon, who wrote a letter

to the Lord-Chancellor and to the Earl of

Melrose, afterwards Earl of Had<lington and

Lord Privy Seal, showing tliat tlie object of

Sir Donald, in asking such a commission, was

to break the king's peace, and to breed fresh

troubles in Caithness. Disappointed in tliis

attempt. Sir Donald returned home to Strath-

naver, and, in the month of April, 1618, he

went to Braill, in Caithness, where he met the

earl, with whom he continued three nights.

On this occasion they agreed to despatch Alex-

ander Gun, the burner of the corn, lest Lord

Forbes should request the earl to deliver him

up ; and they hoped that, in consequence of

such an occurrence, the tribe might be ensnared.

Before parting, the earl dehvered to Mackay

some old writs of certain lands in Strathnaver

and other places within the diocese of Caith-

ness, which belonged to Sir Donald's prede-

cessors ; by means of which the earl thouglit

he would put Sir Donald by the ears with his

uncles, expecting liim to bring an action against

the Earl of Sutherland, for the warrandice of

Stratlmaver, and thus free himself from the

superiority of the Earl of Sutherland.

Shortly after this meeting was held, Sir

Donald entered Sutherland privately, for the

purpose of capturing John Gun ; but, after

lurking two niglits in Golspie, watching Gun,

witliout effect, he was discovered by Adam
Gordon of KilcalmkiU, a trusty dependant of

the house of Sutherland, and thereupon re-

turned to his country. In the meantime the

Earl of Caithness, who souglit every ojipor-

tuaity to quarrel with the house of Suthcr-

lani, endeavoured to pick a quarrel with Sii

Alexander Gordon about some sheUings which

he alleged the latter's servants had erected

beyond the marches between Torrish, in Strath

ully, and the lands of Berridale. Tlie dispute,

however, came to nothing.

When Sir Robert Gordon heard of tliese

occurrences in the nortli, lie returned home

from Edinburgh, where lie had been for some

time; and, on his return, lie visited the Marqui.s

of Huntly at Strathbogie, who advised him to

be on his guard, as he had received notice from

the Earl of Caithness that Sir Donald meant

to create some disturbances in Sutherland.

The object the earl had in view, in acquaint-

ing the marqius with Mackay's intentions, was

to screen himself from any imputation of being

concerned in Mackay's plans, although he fa-

voured them in secret. As soon as Sir Robert

Gordon was informed of Mackay's intentions he

hastened to Sutherland ; but before his arrival

there, Sir Donald had entered Strathully with

a body of men, in quest of Alexander Gun, the

burner, against whom he had obtained letters

of caption. He expected that if he could find

Gun in Strathully, where the clan of that

name cliiefly dwelt, they, and particularly

John Gun, would protect Alexander, and that

in consequence ho would ensnare John Gun

and his tribe, and bring them within the reach

of the law, for having resisted the king's

authority ; but Mackay was disappointed in

his expectations, for Alexander Gun escaped,

and none of the clan Gun made tlie least

movement, not knowing how Sir Robert Gor-

don was affected towards Alexander Gun.

In entering Strathully, without acquainting

liis uncles of his intention, Sir Donald had

acted improperly, and contrary to his duty, as

the vassal of the house of Sutherland : but, not

satisfied with this trespass, he went to Badiii-

loch,and there apprehended William M'Corkill,

one of the clan Gun, and carried him along

with him towards Strathnaver, on the ground

that he had favoured the escape of Alexander

Gun; but M'CorkUl escaped while his keepers

were asleep, and went to Dunrobin, where he

met Sir Alexander Gordon, to whom he related

the circumstance.

Hearing that Sir Robert Gordon was upon
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his journey to Sutherland, Alackay left Badin-

loch in haste, and went privately to the parish

of Culmaly, taking up his residence in Golspie-

tour with John Gordon, younger of Embo, till

he should learn in what manner Sir Robert

would act towards him. Mackay, perceiving

that his presence in Golspietour was likely to

lead to a tumult among the people, sent his

men home to Strathnaver, and went himself

tlie following day, taking only one man along

with him, to Dunrobiu castle, where he met

Sir Robert Gordon, who received liini kindly

according to his usual manner; and after Sir

Robert liad opened his mind very freely to

him on tlie bad course he was pursiung, he

began to talk to him about a reconciliation

with John Gun; but Sir Donald would not

hear of any accommodation, and after stajang a

few days at Dunrobin, returned liome to his

own country.

Sir Donald Mackay, perceiving tlie danger

in wliich he liad placed liimself, and seeing

that he could put no reliance on the hollow

and inconstant friendship of the Earl of Caith-

ness, became desirous of a reconciliation with

his uncles, and with this view he offered

to refer all matters in dispute to the arbitra-

ment of friends, and to make such satisfaction

for his offences as they might enjoin. As Sir

Robert Gordon stiU. had a kindly feeling

towards Mackay, and as the state in which the

affairs of the house of Sutherland stood during

the minority of his nephew, the earl, could not

conveniently admit of foUo'iving out hostile

measures against Mackay, Sir Robert embraced

his offer. The parties, therefore, met at Tain,

and matters beuig discussed in presence of Sir

Alexander Gordon of Navidale, George Monroe

of Milntoun, and John Monroe of Leamlair,

they adjudged that Sir Donald should send

Angus Mackay of Bighouse, and three gentle-

men of the Slaight-ean-Aberigh, to Dunrobin,

there to remain prisoners during Sir Robert's

pleasure, as a punishment for apprehending

WiUiara M'Corkill at Badinloch. After set-

tling some other matters of little moment, the

parties agreed to hold another meeting for

adjusting all remaining questions, at Elgin, in

the month of Jmie of the following year, 1619.

Sir Donald wished to include Gordon of Embo
iiid others of his friends in Sutherland in this

arrangement ; but as they were vassals of the

house of Sutherland, Sir Robert would not

allow Mackay to treat for them.

In the month of November, 1018, a disturb-

ance took place in consequence of a quarrel

between George, Lord Gordon, Earl of Enzie,

and Sir Lauchlan Macintosh, chief of the clan

Chattan, whicli arose out of the following cir-

cumstances:—When the earl went into Loch-

aber, in the year 1613, in pursuit of the clan

Cameron, he requested Macintosh to accom-

pany him, both on account of his being the

vassal of the Marquis of Huntly, the earl's

father, and also on account of the ancient

enmity which had always existed between the

clan Chattan and clan Cameron, in consequence

of the latter keeping forcible possession of cer-

tam lands belonging to the former in Lochaber

To induce Macintosh to join him, the earl

promised to dispossess the clan Cameron of

tlie lands belonging to Macintosh, and to

restore him to the possession of them ; but, by

advice of the laird of Grant, his father-in-law,

who was an enemy of the house of Huntly, he

declined to accompany the earl in liia expedi-

tion. The earl was greatly displeased at Mac-

intosh's refusal, which afterwards led to some

disputes between them. A few years after the

date of tliis expedition—in which the earl sub-

dued the clan Cameron, and took their chief

prisoner, whom he imprisoned at Inverness in

the year 1614—Macintosh obtained a commis-

sion against Macronald, younger of Keppocli,

and his brother, Donald Glass, for laying waste

his lands in Lochaber; and, having collected

all his friends, he entered Lochaber for the

purpose of apprehending them, but, being un-

successful in his attempt, he returned home.

As Macintosh conceived that he had a right to

the services of all his clan, some of whom
were tenants and dependants of the Marquis

of Huntly, he ordered these to follow him, and

compelled such of them as were refractory to

accompany liim into Lochaber. This proceed-

ing gave offence to the Earl of Enzie, who

summoned Macintosh before the lords of the

Privy Council for having, as he asserted, ex-

ceeded his commission. He, moreover, got

Macintosh's commission recalled, and obtained

a new commission in his own favour from the

lords of the council, under which he invaded
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Lochaber, and expelled !Macronald and his

brother Donald from that country.

As Macintosh held certain lands from the

3arl and his father for services to be done,

which the earl alleged had not been performed

by Macintosh agreeably to the tenor of his

titles, tlie earl brought an action against Mac-

intosh in the year 1C18 for evicting these

lands, on the ground of his not having imple-

mented the conditions on which he held them.

And, as the earl had a right to the tithes of

Culloden, which belonged to Macintosh, he

served him, at the same time, vnih an inhibition,

prohibiting him to dispose of these tithes. As

the time for titliing drew near, Macintosh, by

advice of the clan Kenzie and the Grants,

circulated a report that he intended to oppose

the earl in any attempt he might make to take

possession of the tithes of Culloden in kind,

because such a practice had never before been

in use, and that he woidd try the issue of an

action of spuUzie, if brought against him.

Although the earl was much incensed at such

a threat on the part of his own vassal, yet,

being a privy counsellor, and desirous of

showing a good example in keeping the peace,

he abstained from enforcing his right; but,

having formerly obtained a decree against Mac-

intosh for the value of the tithes of the pre-

cedmg years, he sent two messengers-at-arms

to poind and distrain the crops upon the

ground under that warrant. The messengers

were, however, resisted by Maciatosh's servants,

and forced to desist from the execution of their

duty. The earl, in consequence, pursued i\Iac-

intosh and his servants before the Privy

Council, and got them denounced and pro-

claimed rebels to the king. He, thereupon,

collected a number of his particular friends

with the design of carrying his decree into

execution, by distraining the crop at Culloden

and carrying it to Inverness. Macintosh pre-

pared himself to resist, by fortifying the house

of Culloden and laying in a large quantity of

ammunition; and having collected all the corn

witliin shot of the castle and committed the

charge of it to his two uncles, Duncan and

Lauchlan, he waited for the approach of the

earl As the earl was fully aware of Mac-

intosh's preparations, and that the clan Chattan,

the Grants, and the clan Kenzie, had promised

to assist Macintosh in opposing the executiot

of his warrant, he wrote to Sir Eobert Gordon,

tutor of Sutherland, to meet him at Culloden

on the 5th of November, 1618, being the day

fixed by him for enforcing his decree. On
receipt of this letter, Sir Eobert Gordon left

Sutherland for Eog-a-Gight, where the Marquis

of Huntly and his son tlien were, and on his

way paid a visit to !Macmtosh with the view

of bringmg about a compromise; but Macintosh,

who was a young man of a headstrong disposi

tion, refused to listen to any proposals, and

rode post-haste to Edinburgh, from wliich ho

went privately into England.

In the meantime, the Earl of Enzie having

collected his friends, to the number of 1,100

horsemen well appointed and armed, and

600 Highlanders on foot, came to Inver-

ness with this force on the day appointed,

and, after consulting his principal officers,

marched forwards towards Culloden. When
he arrived within view of the castle, the eail

sent Sir Eobert Gordon to Duncan Macintosh,

who, with his brother, commanded the house,

to inform him that, in consequence of his

nephew's extraordinary boasting, he had come

thither to put his majesty's laws in execution,

and to carry off the com which of right be-

longed to him. To this message Duncan re-

plied, tliat he did not mean to prevent the earl

from taking away what belonged to him, but

that, m case of attack, he would defend the

castle which had been committed to his charge.

Sir Eobert, on his return, begged the earl to

send Lord Lovat, who had some influence with

Duncan Macintosh, to endeavoiu- to prevail on

him to surrender the castle. At the desire of

the earl, Lord Lovat accordingly went to the

house of Culloden, accompanied by Sir Eobert

Gordon and George Monroe of Milntoun, and,

after some entreaty, Macintosh agreed to sur-

render at discretion; a party thereupon took

possession of the house, and sent the keys to

the earL He was, however, so well pleased

with the conduct of Macintosh, that he sent

back the keys to him, and as neither the clan

Chattan, the Grants, nor the clan Kenzie,

appeared to oppose him, he disbanded his

party and returned home to Bog-a-Gight.

He did not even carry off the corn, but gave

it to Macintosh's grandmother, who enjoyed
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the life-rent oi" the lands of Culloden as her

jointure.

As the Earl of Eiizie had other claims against

Sir Lauchlan IMacintosh, he cited him before

the lords of coiuicil and session, but failing to

appear, he was again denounced rebel, and

outla^ved for liis disobedience. Sir Lauchlan,

who was then in England at court, informed

the king of the earl's proceedings, wliich he

described as harsh and illegal, and, to counteract

the effect wliich such a statement might have

upon the mind of his majesty, the earl posted

to London and laid before him a true statement

of matters. The consequence was, that Sir

Lauchlan was sent home to Scotland and com-

mitted to the castle of Edinburgh, until he

should give the earl full satisfaction. This

step appears to have brought him to reason,

and induced liim to apply, through the media-

tion of some friends, for a reconciliation with

the earl, which took place accordingly, at

Edinburgh, in the year 1619. Sir Lauchlan,

however, became bound to pay a largo sum of

money to the earl, part of which the latter

afterwards remitted. The laird of Grant, by

whose advice Macintosh had acted in opposing

the earl, also submitted to the latter; but the

reconciliation was more nominal than real,

for the earl was afterwards obliged to protect

the chief of the clan Cameron against them,

and this circumstance gave rise to many dis-

sensions between them and the earl, which

ended only witli the lives of Macintosh and

the laird of Grant, who both died in the year

1622, when the ward of part of Macintosh's

lanfls fell to the earl, as his superior, during

the minority of his son. The Earl of Seaforth

»nd his clan, who had also favoured the de-

signs of Macintosh, were in Kke manner recon-

ciled, at the same time, to the Earl of Enzie,

at Aberdeen, through the mediation of the

Earl of Diuifermline, the Chancellor of Scot-

land, whose daughter the Earl of Seaforth had
married.^

In no part of the Highlands did the spirit

of faction operate so powerfully, or reign with

greater virulence, than in Sutherland and

Caithness and the adjacent country. The
;<;i!ou8ies and strifes which existed for such a

' Sir Robert Gordon, p. 356, et seq.

length of time between the two great n\ al

families of Sutlierland and Caithness, and t;M

warfiU'e which these occasioned, sowed tie

seeds ofa deep-rooted hostility, which extende 1

its baneful influence among all their followers

,

dependants, and friends, and retarded theii"

advancement. The most trivial offences wen
often magnified into the greatest crimes, and

bodies of men, animated by the deadliest

hatred, were instantly congregated to avenge

imaginary wrongs. It would be almost an

entlless task to relate the many disputes and

differences which occurred diu'ing the seven-

teenth century in these distracted districts;

but as a short account of the principal events

is necessary in a work of tliis natui'e, we again

proceed agreeably to our plan.

The resignation which the Earl of Caithness

was compelled to make of part of the feu lands

of the bishopric of Caithness, into the hands of

the bishop, as before related, was a measure

which, preyed upon his mind, naturally restless

and vindictive, and in consequence he con-

tinually annoyed the bishop's servants and

tenants. His hatred was more especially

directed against Eobert Monroe of Aldie, com-

missary of Caitlmess, who always acted as

chamberlain to the bishop, and factor in ihft

diocese, whom he took every opportunity to

mole.st. The earl liad a domestic servant,

James Sinclair of Dyren, who had possessed

part of the lands which he had been compelled

to resign, and which were now tenanted by

Thomas Lindsay, brother-uterine of Eobert

Monroe, the commissary. This James Sinclair,

at the instigation of the earl, quarrelled with

Tiiomas Lindsay, who was passing at the time

near the earl's house in Thurso, and, after

changing some hard words, Sinclair inflicted a

deadly wound upon him, of which he shortly

thereafter died. Sinclair immediately fled to

Edinburgh, and thence to London, to meet

Sir Andrew Sinclair, who was transacting

some business for the king of Denmark there,

that he might intercede with the king for a

pardon ; but his majesty refused to gi'aut it,

and Sinclair, for better security, went to Den-

mark along with Sir Andrew.

As Eobert !Monroe did not consider his per-

son safe in Caithness under such circumstances,

he retired into Sutherland for a time. He then
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pursued James Sinclair and his master, the

Earl of Caitlmess, for the slaughter of his

brother, Thomas Lindsay ; but, not appearing

for trial on the day appointed, they were both

outlawed, and denounced rebels. Hearing that

Sinclair was in London, Monroe hastened

thither, and in his own name and that of the

hishop of Caitlmess, laid a complaint before liis

majesty against the earl and his servant. His

majesty thereupon wrote to the Lords of the

Privy Council of Scotland, desiring them to

adopt the most speedy and rigorous measures

to suppress tlie oppressions of the earl, that his

subjects in the north who were well affected

might live in safety and peace ; and to enable

them the more effectually to pimish the earl,

his majesty ordered them to keep back the

remission that had been granted for the affair

at Sanset, which had not yet been delivered to

him. His majesty also directed the Privy

Coimcil, with all secrecy and speed, to give a

commission to Sir Robert Gordon to apprehend

the earl, or force him to leave the kingdom, and

to take possession of all his castles for his

majesty's behoof; that he should also compel

the lauded proprietors of Caithness to find

.surety, not only for keeping the king's peace

in time coming, but also for their personal

appearance at Edinburgh trncc cveiy year, as

IKe West Islanders were bound to do, to

answer to such complaints as might bo made

against them. The letter containing these in-

structions is dated from Windsor, 25th May,

1621.

The Privj- Council, on receipt of this letter,

communicated the same to Sir Robert Gordon,

who was then iii Edinburgh ; but he excused

himself from accepting the commission offered

him, lest his acceptance might be construed as

proceeding from spleen and malice against the

Earl of Caitlmess. This answer, however, did

not satisfy the Privy Coimcil, which insisted

that he should accept the commission ; he

eventually did so, but on conchtion that the

council shoidd furnish him with shipping and

the munitions of war, and all other necessaries

to force the earl to yield, in case he should

fortify either Castle Sinclair or AckergQl, and

withstand a siege.

While the Privy Council were deliberating

on tliis matter. Sir Robert Gordon took occa-

sion to speak to Lord Berridale, who was still

a prisoner for debt in the jail of Etlinburgh,

respecting the contemplated measui'es against

the earl, his father. As Sir Robert was still

very unwilling to enter upon such an enter-

prise, he advised his lordship to imdertake

the business, by engaging in wliich he might

not only get himself relieved of the claims

against him, save his country from the dangers

which threatened it, but also keep possession of

his castles ; and that as his father had treated

him in the most mmatuial manner, by suffering

him to remain so long in prison without takuig

any steps to obtain his liberation, he woidd be

justified, in the eyes of the world, in accepting

the offer now made. Being encouraged b"

Lord Gordon, Earl of Enzie, to whom Si.

Robert Gordon's proposal had been communi-

cated, to embrace the offer. Lord Benldale

offered to imdertake the ser\'ice without any

charge to his majesty, and that he would,

before being liberated, give security to his

creditors, either to return to prison after ht

had executed the commission, or satisfy them

for their claims against him. The Privy Coun-

cil embraced at once Lord Berridale's proposal,

but, although the Earl of Enzie offered himself

as surety for his lordship's return to prison after

the service Avas over, the creditors refused to

consent to his liberation, and thus the matter

dropped. Sir Robert Gordon was again urged

by the coujicil to accept the commission, and

to make the matter more palatable to him, they

granted the commission to him and the Earl

of Enzie jointlj% both of whom accepted it.

As the coimcil, liowever, had no command from

the king to supply the commissioners with

shipping and warlike stores, they delayed pro-

ceedings till they should receive instructions

from liis majesty touching that point.

When the Earl of Caithness was informed of

the proceedings contemplated against him, and

that Sir Robert Gordon had been employed by a

commission from his majesty to act in the mat-

ter, he ivrote to the Lords of the Privy Coimcil,

asserting that he was innocent of the death of

Thomas Lindsay ; that liis reason for not ap-

pearing at Edinburgh to abide his trial for that

crime, was not that he had been in any shape

privy to the slaughter, but for fear of his

creditors, who, he was afraid, would apprehend
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and imprison him ; and promising, that if liis

majesty would grant him a protection and safe-

conduct, he would tind security to abide trial

for the slaughter of Thomas Lindsay. On

receipt of this letter, the lords of the council

promised him a protection, and in the month

of August, his brother, James Sinclair of

Murkle, and Sir John Sinclair of Greenland,

became sureties for his appearance at Edin-

burgh, at the time prescribed for liis appear-

ance to stand trial. Thus tlie execution of the

commission was in the meantime delayed.

Notwithstanding the refusal of Lord Berri-

dale's creditors to consent to his liberation,

Lord Gordon afterwards did all in his power

to accomplish it, and ultimately succeeded in

obtaining this consent, by giving liis own

personal security either to satisfy the creditors,

or deliver up Lord Berridale into theu' hands.

His lordsliip was accordingly released from

prison, and returned to Caitlmess in the year

1621, after a confinement of five years. As

his final enlargement from jail depended upon

his obtaining the means of papng his creditors,

and as his father, the earl, staid at home con-

s\iming the rents of his estates, in rioting and

lifentiousness, without paying any part either

of the principal or interest of his debts, and

without feeling the least imeasiness at his son's

confinement. Lord Berridale, immediately on

his return, assisted by his friends, attempted

to apprehend his father, so as to get the family

estates into his own possession ; but without

success.

Li the meantime the earl's creditors, wearied

out with the delay wliich had taken place

in liquidating their debts, grew exceedingly

clamorous, and some of them took a journey to

Caithness in the month of April, 1622, to

endeavour to effect a settlement with the earl

personally. All, however, that they obtained

were fair words, and a promise from the earl

that he woidd speedily follow them to Edin-

burgh, and satisfy them of all demands ; but

he failed to perform his promise. About this

time, a sort of reconciliation appears to have

taken place between the earl and his son. Lord

Berridale ; but it was of short duration. On
this now disagreement breaking out, the earl

lost the favour and friendship not only of liis

trothers, James and Sir John, but also that of

his best friends in Caithness. Lord Berridale,

thereupon, left Caithness and took up his

residence with Lord Gordon, who wrote to his

friends at Court to obtain a new commission

against the earl As the king was daily troubled

with complaints against the earl by liis creditors,

he readily consented to such a request, and ho

accordingly wrote a letter to the Lords of the

Privy CounoU of Scotland, in the month of

December 1622, desiring them to issue a com-

mission to Lord Gordon to proceed against the

earl. The execution of the commission was,

however, postponed in consequence of a message

to Lord Gordon to attend the Court and pro-

ceed to France on some aflairs of state, where

he accordingly went in the year 1623. On
the departure of his lordship, the earl mado

an application to the Lords of the Council for

a new protection, promising to appear at Edin-

burgh on the 10th of August of this year, and

to satisfy his creditors. This turned out to be

a mere pretence to obtain delay, for although

the coimcU granted the protection, as required,

upon the most urgent solicitations, the carl

failed to appear on the day appointed. This

breach of liis engagement incensed his majesty

and the council the more against him, and made

them more determined than ever to reduce him

to obedience. He was again denounced and

proclaimed rebel, and a new commission was

granted to Sir Eobert Gordon to proceed against

him and his abettors wth fire and sword. In

this commission there were conjoined with Sir

Eobert, his brother. Sir Alexander Gordon,

Sir Donald Mackay, his nephew, and James

Sinclair of Murkle, but on this condition, that

Sir Eobert should act as chief commissioner,

and that nothing should be done by the other

commissioners in the service theywere emploj'ed

in, without liis advice and consent.

The Earl of Caithness seeing now no longer

any chance of evading the authority of the

laws, prepared to meet the gathering storm by

fortifying his castles and strongholds. Pro-

clamations were issued interdicting all persons

from having any communication with, the earl,

and letters of concurrence were given to Sir

Eobert in name of his majesty, charging and

commanding the inhabitants of Eoss, Suther-

land, Stratlmaver, Caitlmess, and Orkney, to

assist him in the execution of his majesty's
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commission ; a sliijs well fuiiiished with muni-

lions of war, was sent to the coast of Caithness

to prevent the earl's escape by sea, and to

furnish Sir Robert mth ordnance for battering

the earl's castles in case he should %vith6tand

a siege.

Sir Robert Gordon having arrived in Suther-

land in the month of August, 1623, was

immediately joined by Lord Berridale for the

piu'pose of consulting on the plan of operations

to be adopted ; but, before fixing on any par-

ticular plan, it was concerted that Lord Berri-

dale should first proceed to Caithness to learn

what resolution his father had come to, and to

ascertain how the inhabitants of that country

stood aflected towards the earl. He was also

to notify to Sii- Robert the arrival of the ship

of war on the coast. A day was, at the same

time, fixed for the inhabitants of the adjoin-

ing districts to meet Sir Robert Gordon in

Strathully, upon the borders between Suther-

land and Caithness. Lord Bemdale was not

long in Caithness when he sent notice to Sii'

Robert acquainting him that his father, the

earl, had resolved to stand out to the last

extremity, and tliat he had fortified the strong

castle of Ackergill, which he had supplied with

men, anununition, and provisions, and upon

holding out which he placed his last and only

hope. He advised Sir Robert to bring nath

him into Caithness as many men as he could

muster, as many of the inhabitants stood stiU.

well affected to the earl.

The Earl of Caithness, in the meantime,

justly apprehensive of the consequences which

might ensue if unsuccessful in his opposition,

despatched a messenger to Sir Robert Gordon,

proposing that some gentlemen should be

authorized to negotiate between them, for the

purpose of bringing matters to an amicable

accommodation. Sir Robert, who perceived

the drift of this message, which was solely to

obtain delay, returned for answer that he was

exceedingly sorry that the earl had refused the

benefit of his last protection for clearing away

the imputations laid to his charge ; and that

he clearly perceived that the earl's object in

proposing a negotiation was solely to waste

time, and to weary out the commissioners

and army by delays, which he, for liis own
part, would not submit to, because the harvest

was nearly at hand, and the king's ship could

not be detained n^wn the coast idle. Unless,

therefore, the earl at once submitted himself

unconditionally to the king's mercy. Sir Robert

threatened to proceed against him and his

supporters immediately. The earl had been

hitherto so successful in his diflerent schemes

to avoid the ends of justice that such an answei

was by no means exjiected, and the firmness

displayed in it served greatly to shake his

courage.

Upon receipt of the intelligence from Lord

Berridale, Sir Robert Gordon made prepara-

tions for entering Caithness without delay

;

and, as a precautionary measure, he took

pledges from such of the tribes and families in

Caithness as he suspected were favourable to

the earl. Before all his forces had time to

assemble. Sir Robert received notice tliat the

war ship had arrived upon the Caithness coast,

and that the eail was meditating an escape be-

yond the seas. UnwiUing to ^Wthdi-aw men
from the adjoining provinces dui'ing the harvest

season, and considering the Sutherland forces

quite sufficient for his purpose, he sent couriers

into Ross, Strathnaver, Assynt, and Orkney,

desiring the people who had been engaged to

accompany the expedition to remain at home

till farther notice ; and, having assembled all

the inliabitauts of Sutherland, he picked out

the most active and resolute men among them,

whom he caused to be well supplied vnth. war-

like weapons, and other necessaries, for the

expedition. Having thus equipped his army,

Sir Robert, accompanied by his brother. Sir

Alexander Gordon, and the principal gentle-

men of Sutherland, marched, on the 3d of

September, 1623, from Dunrobin to Killiernan

in Strathvdly, the place of rendezvous previ-

ously appointed. Here Sir Robert divided his

forces into companies, over each of which he

placed a commander. The following morning

he passed the river Helmsdale, and ananged

his army in the following order :—Half-a-mile

in advance of the main body he placed a com

pany of the clan Gun, whose duty it was to

search the fields as they advanced for the pur-

pose of discovering any ambuscades wliich

might be laid in their way, and to clear away

any obstruction to the regular advance of the

main body. The right wing of the army was
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led by John Murray of Aberscors, Hugh Gor-

don of Ballellon, and Adam Gordon of Kil-

calmiilL The left wing was commanded by

John Gordon, younger of Embo, Robert Gray

of Ospisdale, and Alexander Sutherland of

Kilphidder. And Sir Robert Gordon liimself,

his brother Sir Alexander, the laird of Pid-

rossie, and WiUiam Mac-Mhic-Sheumais of

Killiernan, led the centre. Tlie two wings

were always kept a short distance in advance

of the centre, from which they were to

receive support when required. In this man-

ner the army advanced towards Berridale, and

they observed the same order of marching dur-

ing all the time they remained in Caithness.

As soon as Lord Benidale heard of Sir

Robert Gordon's advance, he and James Sin-

clair of Murkle, one of the commissioners, and

some other gentlemen, went forward in hac/te

to meet him. The parties accordingly met

among the mountains above Cayen, about three

Til lies from Berridale. Sir Robert continued

his march till he arrived at Brea-Na-HengUsh

in Berridale, where at night he encamped.

Here they were informed that the ship of war,

after castmg anchor before Castle Sinclair, had

gone from thence to Scrabster road, and that

the Earl of Caithness had abandoned the

country, and sailed by night into one of the

Orkney Islands, with the intention of going

thence into Norway or Denmark. From Brea-

Na-Henghsh the army advanced to Lathron,

where they encamped. Here James Sinclair

of Murkle, sheriff of Caithness, Sir William

Sinclair of May, the laird of Ratter, the laird

of Forse, and several other gentlemen of Caith-

ness, waited upon Sir Robert Gordon and

tendered their submission and obedience to his

majesty, offering, at the same time, every

assistance they could afford in forwarding the

objects of the expedition. Sir Robert received

them kindly, and promised to acquaint his

majesty with their submission ; but he dis-

trusted some of them, and he gave orders that

none of the Caithness people should be allowed

to enter his camp after sunset. At Latliron,

Sir Robert was joined by about 300 of the

Caithness men, consisting of the Cadels and

others who had favoured Lord Berridale.

These men were commanded by James Sinclair,

fiar of Murkle, and were kept always a mile or

two in advance of the anny till they reached

Castle Sinclair.

No sooner did Sir Robert arrive before Castle

Sinclair, which was a very strong place, and

tlie principal residence of the Earl of Caith-

ness, than it surrendered, the keys being de-

livered up to him as representing his majesty.

The army encamjied before the castle two

nights, during which time the officers took up

their quarters \vithin the castle, which was

guarded by Sutherland men.

From Castle Sinclair Sir Robert marched to

the castle of AckergiU, another strong place,

which also surrendered on the first summons,

and the keys of which were delivered in like

manner to him. The army next marched in

battle array to the castle of Kease, the last resi-

dence of the earl, which was also given up ivith-

out resistance. The Countess of Caithness had

previously removed to another residence not far

distant, where she was visited by Sir Robert

Gordon, who was her cousin-german. The

countess entreated him, with great earnestness,

to get her husband again restored to favour,

seeing he had made no resistance to him. Sir

Robert promised to do what he could if the

earl would follow his advice ; but he did not

expect that matters could be accommodated so

speedily as she expected, from the pecuhar

situation in which the earl then stood.

From Kease Sir Robert Gordon returned

with liis army to Castle Sinclair, where, accord-

ing to the directions he had received from the

Privy Council, he delivered the keys of all

these castles and forts to Lord Berridale, to be

kept by him for liis majesty's use, for wliich he

should be answerable to the lords of the coun-

cil until the farther pleasure of his majesty

shoidd be known.

The army then returned to Wick in the same

marching order which had been observed since

its first entry into Caithness, at which place

the commissioners considted together, and

framed a set of instructions to Lord Berridale

for governing Caithness peaceably in time com-

ing, conformably to the laws of the kingdom,

and for preventing the Earl of Caithness fi-om

again disturbing the country, shoidd he venture

to return after the departiire of the army. At

Wick Sir Robert Gordon was joined by Sir

Donald ^lackay, who had collected together
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tlie choicest meu of Stratluiaver ; but, as the

object of the expedition had been accomplished,

Sir Donald, after receiving Sir Eobert's tlianks,

returned to Strathnaver. Sir Robert having

brought this expedition to a successful termina-

tion, led back his men iuto Sutherland, and,

after a stay of three months, went to England,

carrying with Mm a letter from the Privy

Council of Scotland to the king, giving an

account of the expedition, and of its happy

results.^

CHAPTER XI.

A. D. 1624—1636.

BRITISH SOVEREIGNS :

—

James VI., 1603—1625. Charles I., 1625—1619.

Iii.iurrection of the clan Chattan against the Earl of

Murray—Dispute between the laird of Duffus and
Gordon, younger of Enibo—Sir Donald Mackay's

machinations—Feud among the Grants—Dispute

between the lairds of Frendraught and Eothiemay

—

Quarrel betiveeu Frendraught and the laird of Fit-

caple—Calamitous and fatal fire at Frendraught
House—Inquiry as to the cause of the iire—-Escape

of James Graut—Apprehension of Grant of Ballin-

daUoch—And of Thomas Grant—Dispute between

the Earl of .Sutherland and Lord Lorn—Depreda-

tions committed upon Frendraught— MarquLs of

Huntly accused therewith—The Marquis and Let-

terfourie committed—Liberated—Death and char-

acter of the Mai'quis.

The troubles in Sutherland and Caithness had

been scarcely allayed, when a formidable in-

surrection broke out on the part of the clan

Chattan against the Earl of Murray, which

occasioned considerable uproar and confusion

in the Highlands. The clan Chattan had for

a very long period been the faithful friends

and followers of the Earls of Murray, who,

on that account, had allotted them many

valuable lands in recompense for their ser-

vices in Pettie and Strathearii. The clan had,

in particular, been very active in revenging

upon the Marquis of Huntly the death of

James, Earl of Murray, who was killed at

Donnibristle; but his son and successor being

reconciled to the family of Huntly, and need-

ing no longer, as he thought, the aid of the

clan, dispossessed them of the lands which his

predecessors had bestowed upon them. Tliis

harsli proceeding occasioned great irritation,

' Sir Robert Gordon, p. 366, et scq.

and, upon the death of Sir Lauchlan theii

cluef, who died a short time before Whitsim-

day, 1624, they resolved either to recover the

possessions of which they had been deprived,

or to lay them waste. While Sir Lauchlan

Uved, the clan were awed by his authority and

prevented from such an attempt, but no such

impediment now standing in their way, and as

their chief, who was a mere child, could run

no risk by the enterprise, they considered the

present a favourable opportunity for carrying

their plan into execution.

Accordingly, a gathering of the clan, to the

number of about 200 gentlemen and 300 ser-

vants, took place about "WTiitsunday, 1624.

Tlus party was commanded by three uncles of

the late chief.* " They keeped the feilds,"

says Spalding, " in their Highland weid upon

foot 'with swords, bowes, arrowes, targets, hag-

buttis, pistoUis, and other Highland armour;

and first began to rob and spoulzie the carle's

tennents, who laboured their possessions, of

their haOl goods, geir, insight, plenishing,

horse, nolt, sheep, corns, and cattell, and left

them nothing that they could gett within their

bounds; sjiie fell in sorning throw out Murray,

Stratha\rak, Urquhart, Ross, Sutherland, Brae

of. Marr, and diverse other parts, takeing their

meat and food per force wher they could not

gett it willingly, frae freinds alseweill as frae

their faes; yet still keeped themselves from

shedeing of innocent blood. Thus they lived

as outlawes, oppressing the countrie, (besydes

the casting of the carle's lands waist), and

openly avowed they had tane this course to gett

tlur own possessions again, or then hold the

country walking."

When this rising took place, the Earl of

Murray obtained from Monteith and Balquhid-

der about 300 armed men, and placing himself

at their head he marched through Moray to In-

verness. The earl took up his residence in

the castle with the Earl of Enzie, his brother-

in-law, eldest son of the Marquis of Huntly,

and after the party had passed one night at

Inverness, he despatched them in quest of the

* Spalding says that the party were commanded by
Lauchlan Macintosh, alias Lauchlan Og, uncle of the

young chief, and Lauchlan Macintosh or Lauchlan
Angus-son, eldest son of Angus Macintosh, alias

Angus William, son of Auld Tirlie.

—

Memorialls oj

t/i£ Trubles in Scotland and in England, A. D. 1624

—

1645.



INSIIEEECTION OF THE CLAN CHATTAN QUELLED. U9

clan Chattan, but whether from fear of meet-

ing them, or because they could not find them,

certain it is that the Monteith and Balquliidder

men returned without effecting anything, after

putting the earl to gi'eat expense. The earl,

therefore, sent them back to their respective

countries, and went himself to Elgin, where he

raised another body of men to suppress the

clan Chattan, who were equally uxisuccessful in

finding the latter out.

These ineffectual attempts against the clan

served to make them more bold and dar-

ing in their outrages; and as the earl now saw

that no force which he could himself bring

into the field was sufficient to overawe those

marauders. King James, at liis earnest solici-

tation, granted him a commission, appointing

him liis lieutenant in the Highlands, and giv-

ing liim authority to proceed capitally against

the offenders. On his return the earl pro-

claimed the commission he had obtained from

his majesty, and issued letters of intercom-

muning against the clan Chattan, prohibiting

all persons from harbouring, supplying, or en-

tertaining them, in any manner of way, mider

certain severe pains and penalties. Although

the Marquis of Huntly was the earl's father-in-

law, he felt somewhat indignant at the appoint-

ment, as he conceived that he or his son had

the best title to be appointed to the lieutenancy

of the north; but he concealed his displeasirre.

After the Earl of Murray had issued the

notices, prohibiting all persons from communi-

cating with, or assisting the clan Chattan, their

Kindred and friends, who had privately pro-

mised them aid, before they broke out, began

to grow cold, and declined to assist them, as

they were apprehensive of losing their estates,

many of them being wealthy. The earl per-

ceiving this, opened a communication with

some of the principal persons of the clan, to

induce them to submit to his authority, who,

seeing no hopes of making any longer an effec-

tual resistance, readily acquiesced, and, by the

intercession of friends, made their peace with

the earl, on condition that they should inform

him of the names of such persons as had given

them protection, after the publication of his

letters of interdiction. Having thus quelled

this formidable insurrection without bloodshed,

the earl, by virtue of his commission, held

justice courts at Elgin, where " some slight

loirns, followers of the clan Chattan," were

tried and executed, but all the principals con-

cerned were pardoned.

As the account which Spalding gives of the

appearance of the accused, and of the base

conduct of the principal men of the clan

Chattan, in informing against their friends and

benefactors, is both curious and graphic, it is

here inserted: "Then presently was brought

in befor the barr; and in the honest men's

faces, the clan Chattan who had gotten supjily,

verified what they had gotten, and the honest

men confounded and dasht, knew not what to

answer, was forced to come in the carle's will,

whilk was not for their weUl : others compeared

and willingly confessed, trusting to gett more

favour at the earle's hands, but they came little

speid: and lastly, some stood out and denyed

all, who was reserved to the triaU of an assyse.

The prinoipall malefactors stood up in judg-

ment, and declared what they had gotten,

whether meat, money, cloathing, gun, ball,

powder, lead, sword, dirk, and the like com-

modities, and alse instructed the assyse in ilk

particular, what they had gotten frae the per-

sons pannalled; an uncouth form of probation,

wher the principall malefactor proves again.st

the receiptor for his own pardon, and honest

men, perhaps neither of the clan Chattan's

kyne nor blood, pimished for their good will,

ignorant of the laws, and rather receipting

them more for their evil nor their good.

Nevertheless thii innocent men, under colloui

of justice, part and part as they came in, were

soimdly fyned in great soumes as their estates

might bear, and some above their estate was

fyned, and every one warded within the tolbuith

of Elgine, while the least myte was payed of

such as was persued in anno 1624."^

Some idea of the unequal administration of

the laws at this time may be formed, when it

is considered that the enormous fines imposed

in the present instance, went into the pockets

of the chief judge, the Earl of Murray himself,

as similar mulcts had previously gone into

those of the Karl of Argyle, in his crusade

against the unfortunate clan Gregor! This

legal robbery, however, does not appear to have

' .Wc»?(W!'o77.«,vol. i. p. 8.
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enriclied the houses of Aigj'le and Murray, for

Sir Kohert Gordon obseiTes, that " these fynes

did not much advantage either of these two

earles." The Earl of Murray, no doubt, tliink-

ing such a mode of raising money an easy and

profitable speculation, afterwards obtained an

enlargement of his commission from Charles I.,

not only against the clan Chattan, but also

against all other oflenders within several adja-

cent shires ; but the commission was afterwards

annulled by his majesty, not so much on

account of the abiises and injustice wliich

might have been perpetrated under it, but

because, as Sir Robert Gordon observes, " it

grieved divers of Iris majesty's best affected

subjects, and chieflie the Marquis of Huntlie,

unto whose predicessors onlie the office of

livetennendrie in the north of Scotland had

bein granted by former kings, for these many

ages."

There seems reason, however, for supposing

that the recall of the commission was hastened

by complaints to the king, on the part of the

oppressed; for the earl had no sooner obtained

its renewal, than he held a court against the

burgh of Inverness, John Grant of Glenmoris-

ton, and others who had refused to acknowledge

their connexion with the clan Chattan, or to

pay him the heavy fines which he had imposed

upon them. The towTi of Inverness endea-

voured to get quit of the earl's extortions, on

the groimd that the inhabitants were innocent

of the crimes laid to their charge; but the earl

frustrated their application to the Privy Coim-

ciL The provost, Duncan Eorbes,^ was then

sent to the king, and Grant of Glenmoriston

took a journey to London, at the same time,

on his own account; but their endeavours

proved ineffectual, and they had no alternative

but to submit to the earl's exactions.'^

The quarrel between the laird of Duifus and

John Gordon, younger of Embo, wliich had

lain dormant for some time, burst forth again,

ill the year 162.5, and proved nearly fatal to

both parties. Gordon had long watched an

opportunity to revenge the \vTong which he

conceived had been done him by the laii-d

^ Founder of tlie house of Ciilloden, and great-

grandfather of the celebrated Lord President Forbes.
' Vide the petition of Provost Forbes to the king,

"in the name of the inliabitants " of Inverness;

priutsd among the CuUoden Papers, No. .'i, p. 4.

of Duffus and his brother, James, but he could

never fall in with either of them, as they

remained in Moray, and, when they appeared

in Sutherland, they were always accompanied

by some friends, so that Gordon was prevented

from attacking them. Frequent disappoint-

ments in this way only whetted his appetite

for revenge ; and meeting, when on horseback,

one day, between Sidderay and Skibo, with

John Sutherland of Clyne, third brother of

the laird of Duffus, who was also on horseback,

he determined to make the laird of GiyaG suffer

for the delinquencies of his elder brother.

Raising, therefore, a cudgel which he held in

his hand, he inflicted several blows upon John

Sutherland, who, as soon as he recovered him-

self from the surprise and confusion into which

such an unexpected attack had thrown him,

drew his sword. Gordon, in his turn, un-

sheathed his, and a warm combat ensued,

between the parties and two friends who ac-

companied them. After they had fought a

wliile, Gordon wounded Sutherland in the

head and in one of his hands, and otherwise

injured him, but he spared his life, although

completely in his power.

Duffus immediately cited John Gordon to

appear before the Privy Council, to answer for

this breach of the peace, and, at the same

time, summoned before the council some of the

Earl of Sutherland's friends and dependants,

for an alleged conspiracy against himself and

his friends. Duffus, with his two brothers

and Gordon, came to Edinburgh on the day

appointed, and, the parties being heard, Gordon

was declared guilty of a riot, and was there-

upon committed to prison. This result gave

great satisfaction to Duffus and his brothers,

who now calculated on nothing less than tlie

utter ruin of Gordon; as they had, by means

of Sir Donald !Mackay, obtained a Strathnaver

man, named Wdliam Mack-Allen (one of the

Siol-Thomais), who had been a servant of

Gordon's, to become a witness against him,

and to prove every thing that Duffus was

pleased to allege against Gordon.

In this state of matters, Sir Robert Gordon

returned from London to Edinburgh, where he

found Duffus in high spirits, exulting at his

success, and young Embo in prison. Sir

Robert applied to Duffus, hoping to bring
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ibout a reconciliation by the intervention of

friends, but Duffus refused to hear of any

arrangement ; and the more reasonable the

conilitions were, which Sir Kobert proposed,

the more unreasonable and obstinate did he

become ; liis object being to get the lords to

award him great sums of money at the expense

of Gordon, in satisfaction for the wrong done

his brother. Sir Eobert, however, finally suc-

ceeded, by the assistance of the Earl of Enzie,

who was then at Edinburgh, in getting the

prosecution against the Earl of Sutherland's

friends quashed, in obtaining the liberation of

John Gordon, and in getting liis fine mitigated

to one hundred pounds Scots, payable to the

king only ; reserving, however, civil action to

John Sutherland of Clyne against Gordon,

before the Lords of Session.

'

Sir Donald Mackay, always restless, and

desirous of gratifying his enmity at the house

of Sutherland, endeavoured to embroil it with

the laird of DufFus in the following way.

Having formed a resolution to leave the king-

dom. Sir Donald applied for, and obtained, a

license from the king to raise a regiment in the

north, to assist Count Mansfield in his campaign

in Germany. He, accordingly, collected, in a

few months, about 3,000 men from diflTerent

parts of Scotland, the greater part of whom he

embarked at Cromarty in the month of October

1626 ; but, on account of bad health, he was

obliged to delay his own departure till the

following year, when he joined the king of

Sweden with his regiment, in consequence of

i peace having been concluded between the

King of Denmark and the Emperor of Ger-

many.^ Among others whom Mackay had

engaged to accompany him to Germany, was a

person named Angus Koy Gun, against whom,

a short time previous to his enlistment, Mac-

' Sir E. Gonlon, p. 397, et seq.
' A consiilerahle number of gentlemen, chiefly from

Ross, Sutherland, and Caithness, joined Mackay, .some

of whom rose to high rank in the army of Gustavus
Adolphus. Among these were Robert Monroe of

Foulis, and his brother, Hector ; Thomas Mackenzie,

brother of the Earl of Seaforth ; John Monroe of Obis-

dell, and his brother Robert ; John Monroe of Assynt,

and others of that surname; Hugh Ross of Priesthill

;

David Ross and Nicolas Ross, sons of Alexander Ross

of Invercharron ; Hugh Gordon, son of Adam Gordon
of Culkour ; John Gordon, son of John Gordon of

Garty ; Adam Gordon and JfJin Gordon, sons of

Adam Gordon George-son ; Ive Mackay, William, son

cf Donald Mackay of Scourie ; William Gun, son of

kay aud his brother, John Mackay of Dirlet,

had obtained a commission from the lords of

the Privy Council for the purpose of appre-

hending him and bringing him before the

council for some supposed crimes. Mackay

coidd have easily apprehended Angus Eoy Gun

on different occasions, but having become one

of his regiment, he allowed the commission, as

far as he was concerned, to remain a dead letter.

Sometime after his enhstment, Angus Eoy

Gun made a journey into Sutherland, a circum-

stance which afforded Mackay an opportunity

of putting into execution the scheme he had

formed, and which showed that he was no

mean adept in the arts of cunning and dissimu-

lation. His plan was this :—He wr-ote, in the

first place, private letters to the laird of Duffus,

and to his brother, John Sutherland of Clyne,

to apprehend Angus Eoy Gun under the com-

mission he had obtained ; and at the same

time, sent the commission itself to the laird of

Duffus as his authority for so doing. He next

wrote a letter to Alexander Gordon, the Earl

of Sutherland's uncle, who, in the absence of

liis brother. Sir Eobert, governed Sutherland,

entreating him, as Angus Eoy Gun was then in

Sutherland, to send him to him to Cromarty, as

he was his hired soldier. Ignorant of Mackay's

design, and desirous of serving him. Sir Alex-

ander sent two of his men to bring Gun to

Sir Alexander ; but on their return they were

met by John Sutherland of Clyne and a party

of sixteen men, who seized Gun ; and to pre-

vent a rescue, the laird of Duffus sent his

brother, James Sutherland, Alexander Murray,

heir-apparent of Aberscors, and "William NeiU-

son, chief of the Sbochd-Iain-Abaraich, with

300 men to protect his brother John. At the

same time, as he anticipated an attack from Sir

Alexander Gordon, he sent messengers to his

supporters in Eoss, Strathnaver, Caithness, and

other places for assistance.

Wlien Sir Alexander Gordon heard of the

assembling of such a body of the Earl of

Sutherland's vassals without his knowledge,

he made inquiry to ascertain the cause ; and

John Gun Rob-son ; John Sinclair, bastard son of the

earl of Caithness ; Francis Sinclair, son of James Sin-

clair of Murkle ; John Innes, son of William Inne.s of

Sanset ; John Gun, son of William Gun in Gol.spie-

Kirktown ; and George Gun, son of Alexander Guu
Rob-son.
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being informed of Gun's capture, he coUecte

J

18 men who were near at hand, and hastened

with them from Dunrobin towards Clyne. On
arriving at the bridge of Broray, he found

James Sutherland, with his brother John, and

their whole party drawn up in battle array at

the east end of the bridge. He, thereupon, sent

a person to the Sutherlands to know the cause

of such an assemblage, and the reason why they

had taken Gun from his servants. As the

Sutherlands refused to exhibit their authority,

Sir Alexander made demonstrations for passing

the bridge, but he was met by a shower of

shot and arrows which wounded two of his

men. After exchanging shots for some time,

Sir Alexander was joined by a considerable

body of his countrymen, by whose aid, not-

withstanding the resistance he met with, he

was enabled to cross the bridge. The Suther-

lands were forced to retreat, and as they saw

no chance of opposing, with success, the power

of the house of Sutherland, they, after some

hours' considtation, delivered up Angus Roy

Gun to Sir Alexander Sutherland, who sent

him immediately to Mackay, then at Cromarty.

As such an example of insubordination

among the Earl of Sutherland's vassals might,

if overlooked, lead others to follow a similar

course, Sir Alexander caused the laird of Duffus

and his brother of Clyne, with their accom-

plices, to be cited to appear at Edinburgh on

tlie 16th of November following, to answer

before the Privy Council for their misdemean-

ours. The laird of Duffus, however, died in

the month of October, but the laird of Clyne

appeared at Edinburgh at the time appointed,

and produced before the Privy Council the

letter he had received from Mackay, as his

authority for acting as he had done. Sir Alex-

ander Gordon also produced the letter sent to

him by Sir Donald, who was thereby convicted

of having been the intentional originator of the

difference ; but as the lords of council thought

that the land of Clyne had exceeded the

bounds of his commission, he was imprisoned

in the jail of Edinburgh, wherein he was

ordered to remain until he should give satisfac-

tion to the other party, and present some of

his men who had failed to appear though sum-

moned. By the mediation, however, of James

Sutherland, tutor of Duffus, a reconcdiation

was effected between Sn Robert and Sir Alex-

ander Gordon, and the laird of Clyne, who

was, in consequence, soon thereafter liberated

from prison.i

The year 1628 was marked by the breaking

out of an old and deadly feud among the

Grants, which had been transmitted from father

to son for several generations, in consequence

of the murder of John Grant of BaUindalloch,

about the middle of the sixteenth century, by

John Roy Grant of Carron, the natural son of

John Grant of Glenmoriston, at the instigation

of the laird of Grant, the chief of the tribe,

who had conceived a grudge against his kins-

man. Some years before the period first men-

tioned, James Grant, one of the Carron family,

happening to be at a fair in the to^vn of Elgin,

observed one of the Grants of the BaUindalloch

family eagerly pursuing his (James's) brother,

Thomas Grant, whom he knocked down in the

street and wounded openly before his eyes.

The assailant was in his turn attacked by James

Grant, who killed him upon the spot and im-

mediately decamped. BaUindalloch then cited

James Grant to stand trial for the slaughter of

his kinsman, but, as he did not appear on tlie

day appointed, he was outlawed. The laird of

Grant made many attempts to reconcile the

parties, but in vain, as BaUindalloch was ob-

stinate and would listen to no proposals.

Nothing less than the blood of James Grant

would satisfy BallindaUoch.

Tliis resolution on the part of BallindaUoch

almost drove James Grant to despair, and see-

ing his life every moment in jeopardy, and de-

prived of any hope of effecting a compromise,

he put himself at the head of a party of bri-

gands, whom he coUected from aU parts of the

Highlands. These freebooters made no dis-

tinction between friends and foes, but attacked

aU persons of whatever description, and wasted

and despoiled their property. James Grant of

Dalnebo, one of the family of BaUindalloch,

feU a victim to their fury, and many of the

kinsmen of that fanuly suffered greatly from

the depredations committed by Grant and his

associates. The Earl of Murray, under the

renewed and extended commission which he

had obtained from King Charles, made various

' Sir R. Gordon, p. 401, et seq.
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attempts to put an end to these lawless pro-

ceedings, but to no purpose; the failure of

these attempts serving only to harden James

Grant and his party, who continued their de-

predations. As Jolm Grant of Carron, nephew

of James Grant, was supposed to maintain and

assist his uncle secretly, a suspicion for which

there seems to have been no foimdation, John

Grant of Ballindalloch sought for an oppor-

tunity of revenging himself upon Carron, who

was a promising young man. Carron having

one day left his house, along with one Alex-

ander Grant and seven or eight other persons,

to cut down some timber in the woods of

Abernethy, Ballindalloch thought the occa-

sion favourable for putting his design into

execution. Having collected and armed sixteen

of his friends, he went to the forest where

Carron was, and under the pretence of search-

ing for James Grant and some of his associates,

against whom he had a commission, attacked

Carron, who fought manfully in defence of his

life, but being overpowered, was kUled by

BalluidallocL Before Carron fell, however,

he and Alexander Grant had slain several of

Ballindalloch's friends, among whom were

Thomas Grant of Davey, and Lauohlan Mac-

intosh of Rockinoyr. Alexander Grant after-

wards annoyed Ballindalloch, killing several of

his men, and assisted James Grant to lay waste

Ballindalloch's lands. " Give me leave heir,"

says Sir R. Gordon, " to remark the provi-

dence and secrait judgement of the Almightie

God, who now hath mett Carron with the

same measure that his forefather, Jolui Roy

Grant of Carron, did serve the ancestor of

BaUendallogh ; for upon the same day of the

moneth that .John Roy Grant did kiU the great

grandfather of BaUendallogh (being the eleventh

day of September), the verie same day of this

month wes Carron slain by this John Grant of

BaUendallogh many yeirs thereafter. And, be-

sides,as that John Roy Grant of Carron was left^

handed, so is this Jolm Grant of BaUendaUogh

left-handed also; and moreover, it is to be ob-

served that BaUendaUogh, at the killing of this

Carron, had upon him the same coat^of-armour,

or maiUie-coat, which John Roy Grant had upon

him at the slaughter of the great-grandfather

of this BaUendallogh, which mailhe-coat Bal-

lendallogh had, a little before this tyme, taken

from James Grant, in a skirmish that passed

betwixt them. Thus wee doe sie that the

judgements of God are inscrutable, and that,

in his own tyme, he pimisheth blood by blood."''

The Earl of Murray, when he heard of this

occurrence, instead of taking measures against

Ballindalloch for his outrage against the laws,

which he was fully entitled to do by virtue

of the commission he held, took part with

BaUindalloch against the friends of Carron.

He not only represented BallindaUoch's case

favourably at court, but also obtained an in-

demnity for him for some years, that he might

not be molested. The countenance thus given

by his majesty's Ueutenant to the murderer of

their kinsmen, exasperated James and Alexan-

der Grant in the highest degree against BaUin-

daUoch and his supporters, whom they contin-

uaUy annoyed with their incursions, laying

waste their lands and possessions, and cutting

off their people. To such an extent was this

system of lawless warfare carried, that BalUn-

dalloch was forced to flee from the north of

Scotland, and Uve for the most part in

Edinburgh, to avoid the dangers with which

he was surrounded. But James Grant's des-

perate career was checked by a party of the

clan Chattan, who unexpectedly attacked him

at Auchnachyle, in Strathdoun, under clond of

night, in the latter end of December, 1630,

when he was taken prisoner after receiving

eleven wounds, and after four of his party were

killed. He was sent by his captors to Edin-

burgh for trial before the lords of the council,

and was imprisoned in the castle of Edinburgh,

from which he escaped in the manner to be

afterwards noticed.

About the time that James Grant was deso-

lating the district of the Highlands, to which

his operations were confined, another part of

the country was convulsed by a dispute, end-

ing tragicaUy, which occurred between James

Crichton of Frendret, or Frendraught, and

WUliam Gordon of Rothiemay, whose lands

lay adjacent to each other. Part of Gordon's

lands which marched with those of Crichton

were purchased by the latter ; but a dispute

having occurred about the right to the salmon

fishings belonging to these lands, an iiTecon-

2 Bistort,, p. 416.
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cilable difference arose between them, which no

mediation of friends could reconcile, although

the matter in dispute was of little moment.

The parties" having had recourse to the law to

settle their respective claims, Crichton pre-

vailed, and succeeded in getting Gordon de-

nounced rebel. He had previously treated

Rothiemay very harshly, who, stung by the

severity of his opponent, and by the victory he

had obtained over him, would listen to no pro-

posals of peace, nor foUow the ad\ice of Ids

best friends. Detennined to set the law at

defiance, he collected a number of loose and

disorderly characters, and annoyed Frendraught,

who, in consequence, apphed for and obtained

a commission from the Privy Comicil for appre-

hending Rothiemay and his associates. In the

execution of tliis task he was assisted by Sir

George Ogilvy of Banff, George Gordon,

brother-german of Sir James Gordon of Les-

moir, and the uncle of Frendraught, James

Leslie, second son of Leslie of Pitcaple, John

Meldrum of Reidhdl, and others. Accom-

panied by these gentlemen, Crichton left his

house of Frendraught on the 1st of January,

1630, for the house of Rotliiemay, with a reso-

lution either to apprehend Gordon, liis anta-

gonist, or to set him at defiance by affronting

him. He was incited the more to follow this

course, as young Rothiemay, at the head of a

party, had come a short time before to the very

doors of Frendraught, and had braved him to

Ids face. Wlien Rothiemay heard of the ad-

vance of Frendraught, he left his house, accom-

panied by his eldest son, John Gordon, and

about eight men on horseback armed with guns

and lances, and a party of men on foot with

muskets, and crossing the river Deveron, went

forward to meet Frendraught and his party.

A sharp conflict immediately took place, in

which Rothiemay's horse was killed under him

;

but he fought manftdly for some time on foot,

unto the whole of his party, with the excep-

tion of his son, were forced to retire. The son,

notwithstanding, continued to support his

father against fearful odds, but was at last

obliged to save himself by flight, leaving his

father lying on the field covered with woimds,

and supposed to be dead. He, however, was

found stiU aUve after the conflict was over, and

being carried home to his house, died within

tliree days thereafter. George Gordon, brother

of Gordon of Lesmoir, received a shot in the

thigh, and died in consequence ten days after

the skirmish. These were the only deaths

which occurred, although several of the com-

batants on both sides were wounded. John

Meldrum, who fought on Frendraught's side,

was the only person severely woundei
The Marquis of Huntly was highly displeased

at Frendraught for having, in such a trifling

matter, proceeded to extremities against his

kinsman, a chief baron of his surname, whose

life had been thus sacrificed in a petty quarrel.

The displeasure of the marquis was stUl farther

heightened, when he was informed that Fren-

draught had joined the Earl of Murray, and had

claimed his protection and assistance ; but the

marquis was obliged to repress his indignation.

John Gordon of Rothiemay, eldest son of the

deceased laird, resolved to avenge the death

of his father, and having collected a party of

men, he associated liimself with James Grant

and other freebooters, for the purpose of laying

waste Frendraught's lands, and oppressing him

in every possible way. Frendraught, who was

in the south of Scotland when this combination

against him was formed, no sooner heard of it

than he posted to England, and, having laid a

statement of the case before the king, his ma-

jesty remitted the matter to the Privy Council of

Scotland, desiring them to use their best endea-

vours for settling the peace of the northern

parts of the kingdom. A commission was

thereupon granted by the lords of the council

to Frendraught and others, for the purpose of

apprehending John Gordon and his associates
;

but, as the commissioners were not able to

execute the task imposed upon them, the lords

of the council sent Sir Robert Gordon, tutor

of Sutherland, who had just returned from

England, and Sir "William Seaton of KUles-

muir, to the north, with a new commission

against the rebels. As it seemed to be en-

tirely out of the power of the Earl of ^Murray

to queU the chstnrbances in the nortli, the

two commissioners received particxdar instruc-

tions to attempt, with the aid of the Marquis

of Huntly, to get matters settled amicably, and

the opposing parties reconciled. The lords of

the councd, at the same time, wrote a letter to

the Marquis of Huntly to the same effect.
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Sir Eobert Gordon and Sir "William Seaton

accordingly left Edinburgh, on their way north,

in the beginning of May, 1630. The latter

stopped at Aberdeen for the purpose of con-

sulting vrith some gentlemen of that county,

as to the best mode of proceeding against the

rebels ; and the former went to Strathbogie to

advise with the Marquis of Huntly.

On Sir Robert's arrival at Strathbogie, he

found that the marquis had gone to Aberdeen

to attend the funeral of the laird of Drum.

By a singidar coincidence, James Grant and

Alexander Grant descended the very day of

Sir Robert's arrival from the mountains, at

the head of a party of 200 Highlanders, well

armed, with a resolution to burn and lay

waste Erendraught's lands. As soon as Sir

Robert became aware of this circumstance,

he went in great haste to Rothiemay house,

where he found John Gordon and his associates

in arms, ready to set out to join the Grants.

By persuasion and entreaties Sir Robert, as-

sisted by his nephew the Earl of Sutherland,

and his brother, Sir Alexander Gordon, who

were then at Frendraught on a visit to the

lady of that place, who was a sister of the earl,

prevailed not only upon John Gordon and his

friends to desist, but also upon James Grant

and his companions-in-arms, to disperse.

On the return of the ]\Iarquis of Huntly to

Strathbogie, Rothiemay and Frendraught were

both induced to meet them in presence of the

marquis. Sir Robert Gordon, and Sir William

Seaton, who, after much entreaty, prevailed

upon them to reconcile their differences, and

submit all matters in dispute to their arbitra-

ment. A decree-arbitral was accordingly pro-

nounced, by wliich the arbiters adjudged that

the laird of Rothiemay and the children of

George Gordon should mutually remit their

father's slaughter, and, in satisfaction thereof,

they decerned that the laird of Frendraught

shoidd pay a certain sum of money to the laird

of Rothiemay, for relief of the debts which he

had contracted during the disturbances between

the two families,' and that he should pay some

money to the children of George Gordon.

' Spalding says that Frendraught was " ordained to

pay to the lady, relict of Rothiemay, ami the hairns,

fiftie thousand merks, in composition of the slaughter.

"

- P. 14.

Frendraught fulfilled these conditions most

wUlingly, and the parties shook hands together

in the orchard of Strathbogie, in token of a

hearty and sincere reconciliation.*

The laird of Frendraught had scarcely been

reconciled to Rothiemay, when he got into

another dispute with the laird of Pitcaple, the

occasion of which was as follows :—John Mel-

drum of Reidhill had assisted Frendrauglit in

his quarrel with old Rothiemay, and had

received a wound in the skirmish in which the

latter lost his life, for which injury Fren-

draught had allowed him some compensation
;

but, conceiving that his services had not been

fairly requited, he began to abuse Frendraught,

and threatened to compel liim to give liim a

greater recompense than he had yet received.

As Frendraught refused to comply with his

demands, Meldrum entered the park of Fren-

drauglit privately in the nighWime, and carried

away two horses belonging to his pretended

debtor. Frendraught thereupon prosecuted

Meldrum for theft, but he declined to appear

in court, and was consequently declared rebel.

Frendraught then obtained a commission from

the Privy Council to apprehend Meldrum,

who took refuge with John Leslie of Pitcaple,

whose sister he had married. Under the com-

mission which he had procured, Frendraught

went in quest of Meldrum, on the 27 th of

September, 1630. He proceeded to Pitcaple's

lands, on which he knew Mekbum then lived,

where he met James Leslie, second son of the

laird of Pitcaple, who had been with him at

the skirmish of Rothiemay. Leslie then began

to expostidate with him in behalf of Meldrum,

his brother-in-law, who, on account of the aid

he had given him in his dispute with Rotliie-

may, took Leslie's remonstrances in good part

;

but Robert Crichton of Conland,^ a kinsman

of Frendraught, grew so warm at Leslie's free-

dom that from high words they proceeded to

blows. Conland, then, dramng a pistol from

his belt, wounded Leslie in the arm, who was

thereupon carried home, apparently in a dying

state.

This affair was the signal for a confederacy

among the Leslies, the greater part of whom

* Sir R. Gordon, p. 416, ei seq. Spalding, p. 14.

^ Sir R. Gordon \p. 419) spells this Conland and
Coiullaiid.
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took up arms against Frendraught, who, a few

days after the occurrence, viz., on the 5th of

October, first went to the Marquis of Huntly,

and afterwards to the Earl of Murray, to express

the regret he felt at what had taken place, and

to beg their Idndly interference to bring matters

to an amicable accommodation. The Earl of

Murray, for some reason or other, declined to

interfere ; but the marqiiis undertook to mediate

between the parties. Accordingly, he sent for

the laird of Pitcaple to come to the Bog of

Gight to confer with him ; but, before setting

out, he mounted and equipped about 30 horse-

men, in consequence of information he had

recoi-iol tl it Fi i liii It vi it tl 1'

At the meeting with the marquis, Pitcapls

complained heavily of the injury his son had

sustained, and avowed, rather rashly, that he

I would revenge himself before he returned home,

and that, at all events, he would listen to no

proposals for a reconciliation till it shoidd be

ascertained whether his son would survive the

wound he had received. The marquis insisted

that Frendraught had done liim no wrong, and

endeavoured to dissuade him from putting his

threat into execution ; but Pitcaple was so dis-

pleased at the marquis for thus expressing

himseK, that he suddenly mounted his horse

and set off, leaving Frendraught behind him.

T! I 11
1

i afi 1 f tl 1

tleul ,iu,) t 11 .. uIj till III _t tli_ .1 I La^tl

tained Frendraught two days with him in the

Bog of Gight, and, hearing that the Leslies

had assembled, and lay in wait for Frendraught

watching his return home, the marquis sent his

son, John, Viscount of Aboyne, and the laird

of Rotliiemay along with him, to protect and

defend him if necessary. They arrived at

Frendraught without interruption, and being

solicited to remain all night, they yielded, and,

after partaking of a hearty supper, went to bed

in the apartments provided for them.

The sleeping apartment of the viscount was

in the old tower of Frendraught, leading off

from the hall. Immediately below this apart-

ment was a vault, in the bottom of which was

* round hole of considerable depth. Robei-t

111 tn III. Irom .1 pliMto„r.ipli Uken fui tins nolk.

Gordon, a servant of the viscount, and his

page, English WiU, as he was called, also slept

in the same chamber. The laird of Eothiemay,

with some servants, were put into an upper

chamber immediately above that in which the

viscount slept ; and in another apartment,

directly over the latter, were laid George

Chahner of Noth, Captain EoUock, one of

Frendraught's party, and George Gordon, an-

other of the viscount's servants. About

midnight the whole of the tower almost

instantaneously took iire, and so suddenly and

furiously did the flames consume the edifice,

that the viscount, the laird of Eothiemay,

English WiU, Colonel Ivat, one of Abojme'a

friends, and two other persons, perished in
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the flames. Kobert Gordon, called Sutherland

Gordon, from having been born in that county,

who lay in the viscomit's chamber, escaped

from the flames, as did George Chakner and

Captain EoUock, who were in the tliii-d floor;

and it is said that Lord Aboyne might have

saved himself also, liad he not, instead of going

out of doors, which he refused to do, run sud-

denly up stairs to Rotliiemay's chamber for the

purpose of awakening him. While so engaged,

the staii--case and ceiling of Eothiemay's apart-

ment hastUy took fire, and, beiug prevented

from descending by the flames, which flUed the

stair-case, they ran from 'U'indow to window of

the apartment piteously and unavailingly ex-

claiming for help.

The news of this calamitous event spread

speedily throughout the kingdom, and the fate

of the unfortunate sufferers was deeply deplored.

Many conjectures were formed as to the cause

of the conflagration. Some persons laid the

blame on Frendraught without the least reason

;

for, besides the improbability of the tiling,

Frendraught himself was a considerable loser,

having lost not only a large quantity of sUver

plate and coin, but also the title deeds of liis

property and other necessary papers, which

were aU consumed. The greater number, how-

ever, suspected the Leslies and their adherents,

who were then so enraged at Frendi-aught that

they threatened to burn the house of Fren-

draught, and had even entered into a negotia-

tion to that efi'ect ^vith James Grant the rebel,

who was Pitcaple's cousin -german, for liis

assistance.^

The Marquis of Himtly, who suspected

Frendraught to be the author of the fire, after-

wards went to Edinburgh and laid a statement

of the case before the Privy CouncO, who,

thereupon, issued a commission to the bishops

of Aberdeen and Moray, Lord OgQvie, Lord

Carnegie, and Colonel Bruce, to investigate

the circumstances which led to the catastrophe.

The commissioners accordingly went to Fren-

draught on April ] 3th, 1631, where they were

met by Lords Gordon, OgUvie, and Deskford,

and several barons and gentlemen, along Avith

whom they examined the burnt tower and

vaults below, with the adjoining premises, to

' Sir R. GorJou, p. 2il.—Spalding, p. 13, ct seq.

ascertain, if possible, how the fire had origin-

ated. After a minute inspection, they came to

the deliberate opinion, which they communi-

cated in writing to the council, that the fire

could not have been accidental, and that it

must have been occasioned either by some

means from without, or raised intentionally

mthin the vaidts or chambers of the tower. ^

The matter, however, was not allowed to

rest here, but under^vent thorough investigation

by the Privy Council in Edinburgh, the residt

being that John Meldruni, above mentioned,

was brought to trial and condemned to death

by the Justiciary Court, in August, 1633, as

having been the perpetrator of the fiend-

ish deed. We give below an extract from

the " dittay" or indictment against Meldruni,

showing the manner in which it was thought

he accomplished his devilish task.* The

catastrophe roused such intense and wide-

spread excitement among all classes of people

at the time, that the grief and horror which

was felt fomid an outlet in verse.^

'' Spalding, p. 24.

* "Johne Meldrum haifing convocat to himselff

certane brokin men, all fugitiues and rebellis, his

complices and associattis, upone the aucht day of

October, the yeir of God jai vie and threttie yeiris

imder silence and clud of nicht, betwi.x tweW hours at

nycht and twa eftir mydnycht, come to the place of

Frendraucht, and supponeing and certanely persuad-

ing himseltf that the said James Creichtoun of Fren-

draucht wes lying within the tourof Frendraucht, quhilk

was the only strenth and strongest pairt of the said

place, the said Johne Meldrum, with his saidis com-
plices, in maist tresonabill and feirfull maner, haifing

brocht with thame ane hudge quantitie of powder,

pik, brumstone, flax, and uther combustabill matter

provydit be thame for the purpois, pat and convoyil

the samyn in and throw the slittis and stones of the

volt of the .said grit tour of Frendraucht, weiU knaw-
in and foirseiue be the said Johne Meldrum, quha
with his complices at that instant tyme fyret the

samyn pik, powder, brumstone, flax, and uther com-
bustable matter above writtin, at dyuerse places of

the said volt; quhilk being sua fyret and kindlet, did

violentUe flie to ane hoill in the heid of the said volt

and tak vent thairat, the whilk hoill of the said volt

and vent thairof being perfytlie knawin to the said

John Meldrum, be rcasone he had remained in hous-

hald with tlie said laird of Frendraucht, as his douie-

fuU servand, within the said hous and place of Fren-

draucht for ane lang tyme of befoir, and knew and was

previe to all the secreitis of the said house. And the

said volt being sua fyret, the haill tour and houssis

quhairof immediately thaireftir, being foure hous hight,

in les space than ane hour tuik fyre in the deid hour

of the night, and was in maist tresonabill, horrible,

and lamentable maner brunt, blawin up, and con-

sumet."—Spalding's Memorialls, Appendix, vol. i.

p. 390.
s A ballad is still sung in the district around

Frendraugtt, which, says Motherwell, "has a high
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During James Grant's confinement within

the castle of Edinburgh, the north was com-

paratively quiet. On the night of the 15th

October, 1632, he, however, effected his escape

from the castle by descending on the west side

by means of ropes furnished to him by his

wife or son, and fled to Ireland. Proclama-

tions were immediately posted throughout the

whole kingdom, offering large sums for his

apprehension, either dead or alive, but to no

degree of poetic merit, and probably was written

at the time by an eye-wituess of the event wliioh it

records." We ^ve a few verses from tlie version in

Motherwell's Miiistrelsij, as quoted iu the Appendix
to Spalding, vol. i. p. 409.

" The eighteenth of October,
A dismal tale to hear.

How good Lord John and Rothiemay
Vv'as both burnt in the fire.

Tliey had not long cast off their cloatbs.

And were but now asleep

—

When the weary smoke began to rise.

Likewise the scorching heat.

' waken, waken, Rothiemay,
waken, brother dear.

And turn you to our Saviour,

There is strong treason here.*

He did him to the wire-window
As fast as he could gang

—

Says— * Wae to the hands put in the stancheons,
For out we'll never win.'

Cried— * Mercy, mercy, Lady Frendraught,
Will ye not sink with sin ?

For fii-st your husband killed my father,

And now you bui'n his son.*

O then out spoke her, Lady Frendraught,
And loudly did she cry

—

' It were great pity for good Lord John,
iJut none for Rothiemay.
But the keys are casten in the deep draw well.

Ye cannot get away.'

While he stood in this dreadful plight.

Most piteous to be seen.

There called out his servant Gordon,
As he had frantic been.

* loup, loup, my dear master,
loup and come to me;

I'll catch you in my arms two.
One foot I will not flee.'

* But I cannot loup, I cannot come,
1 cannot win to thee;

My head's fast in the wire-window,
My feet burning from me.

' Take here the rings from my white fingers,

That are so long and small,

And give them to my Lady fair.

Where she sits in her hall.

' So I cannot loup, I cannot come,
I cannot loup to thee

—

My earthly part is all consumed,
My spirit but speaks to thee.'

Wringing her hands, tearing her haii-,

His Lady she was seen.

And thus addressed his servant Gordon,
Where he stood on the green.

purpose. His wife was taken into custody bj

order of the Marquis of Huntly, but aftei

undergoing an examination, in wliich she

admitted nothing which could in the least

degree criminate her, she was set at liberty.^

James Grant did not remain long in Ireland,

but returned agaiv to the north, where he con-

cealed himself foi some time, only occasionally

skulking here and there in such a private man-

ner, that his enemies were not aware of his

presence. By degrees he gi'ew bolder, and at

last appeared openly in Strathdoun and on

Speyside. His wife, who was far advanced m
pregnancy, had taken a small house in Carron,

belonging to the heirs of her husband's nephew,

in which she meant to reside till her accouche-

ment, and in which she w^as occasionally visited

by her husband. Ballindalloch hearmg of this,

hired a person named Patrick Macgregor, an

outlaw, to apprehend James Grant. Tliis em-

ployment was considered by Macgregor and

his party a piece of acceptable service, as they

expected, in the event of Grant's apprehension,

to obtain pardon for their offences from the

lords of the council. Macgi-egor, therefore, at

the head of a party of men, lay in wait for

James Grant near Carron, and, on observing

liim enter his wife's house at night, along with

his bastard son and another man, they im-

mediately surroimded the house and attempted

to force an entry. Grant perceiving his danger,

acted with great coolness and determination.

Having fastened the door as firmly as he could,

he and liis two companions went to two win-

dows, from wliich they discharged a volley of

arrows upon their assailants, w^ho all slirunk

back, and none would venture near the door

except Macgregor himself, who came boldly

forward and endeavoured to force it ; but he

paid dearly for his raslmess, for Grant, imme-

* wae be to you, George Gordon,
An ill death may you die.

So safe and sound as you stand there,

And my Lord bereaved from me.'

' I bade him loup, I bade him come,
I bade hira loup to me,
I'd catch him in ray arms two,

A foot I should not flee.'

And aft she cried, * Ohon ! alas, alas,

A sair heart's ill to win ;

I wan a sair heart when I marrie<l hira,

And the day it's well retum'd again.'
"

*• Spalding, vol. i. p. 29.
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diately laying hold of a musket, shot him

through both his tliighs, when he instantly

fell to the ground, and soon after expired.

In the confusion which this occurrence occa-

sioned among Macgregor's party, Grant and his

two associates escaped.

Shortly after this event, on the night of

Sunday, December 7th, 1634, James Grant

apprehended his cousin, John Grant of BaUin-

dallooh, by stratagem. After remaining a few

days at Culquholy, BaUindalloch was blind-

folded and taken to Thomas Grant's house at

Dandeis, about tliree miles from Elgin, on the

high road between that town and the Spey.

James Grant ordered him to be watched strictly,

whether sleeping or waking, by two strong

men on each side of liim. BaUindalloch com-

plained of foul play, but James Grant excused

himself for acting as he had done for two

reasons ; 1st, Because BaUindalloch had faUed

to perform a promise he had made to obtain

a remission for him before the preceding Lam-

mas ; and, "idly. That he had entered into a

treaty with the clan Gregor to deprive him of

his life.

BaUindaUoch was kept in durance vile for

twenty days in a kiln near Thomas Grant's

house, suffering the greatest privations, without

fire, light, or bed-clothes, in the dead of winter,

and without knowing where he was. He was

closely watched night and day by Leonard

Leslie, son-in-law of Eobert Grant, brother of

James Grant, and a strong athletic man, named

M'Grinimon, who would not aUow him to leave

the kUn for a moment even to perform the

necessities of nature. On Christmas, James

Grant and his party having gone on some

excursion, leaving Leslie and M'Grimmon be-

hind them, BaUindaUoch, worn out by fatigue,

and almost perishing from cold and hunger,

addressed Leslie in a low tone of voice, laments

ing his miserable situation, and imploring him

to aid him in effecting his escape, and promis-

ing, in the event of success, to reward him

handsomely. LesUe, tempted by the offer,

acceded to BaUindaUooh's request, and made
him acquainted with the place of his confine-

ment. It was then arranged that BaUindaUoch,

under the pretence of stretching his arms,

should disengage the arm which LesUe held,

and that, having so disentangled that arm, he

should, by another attempt, get his other arm

out of M'Grimmon's grasp. The morning of

Simday, the 28th of December, was fixed upon

for putting the stratagem into execution. The

plan succeeded, and as soon as BaUindaUoch

foimd his anns at liberty, he suddenly sprung

to his feet and made for the door of the kiln.

Leslie immediately foUowed him, pretending

to catch liim, and as M'Grimmon was hard

upon his heels, LesKe purposely stumbled in

his way and brought M'Grunmon down to the

ground. This stratagem enabled BaUindaUoch

to get a-head of his pursuers, and although

M'Grimmon sounded the alarm, and the pur-

siut was continued by Eobert Grant and a

party of James Grant's foUowers, BaUindaUoch

succeeded in reaching the viUage of Urquliart

in safety, accompanied by Leonard LesUe.

Sometime after his escape, BaUindaUoch

a]iplied for and obtained a warrant for the

apprehension of Thomas Grant, and others, for

harbouring James Grant. Thomas Grant, and

some of his accompUces, were accordingly seized

and sent to Edinburgh, where they were tried

and convicted. Grant was hanged, and others

were banished from Scotland for life.

After BaUindaUoch's escape, James Grant

kept remarkably quiet, as many persons lay in

wait for him ; but hearing that Thomas Grant,

brother of Patrick Grant of Colqulioche, and

a friend of BaUindalloch, had received a sum

of money from the Earl of Moray, as an

encouragement to seek out and slay James

Grant, the latter resolved to murder Thomas

Grant, and thus reUeve himself of one enemy

at least. He therefore went to Thomas's house,

but not finding hini at home, he kiUed sixteen

of his cattle ; and afterwards learning that

Thomas Grant was sleeping at the house of a

friend hard by, he entered that house and

found Thomas Grant and a bastard brother of

his, both in bed. Having forced them out of

bed, he took them outside of the house and

put them immediately to death. A few days

after the commission of this crime. Grant and

four of his associates went to the lands of

Strathbogie, and entered the house of the com-

mon executioner, craving some food, without

being aware of the profession of the host whose

hospitality they soUcited. The executioner,

disUking the appearance of Grant and his
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compauions, went to James GorJuu, the bailie

of Stratlibogie, and informed him that there

were some suspicious locking persons in his

house. Judging that these could be none other

but Grant and his comrades, Gordon immedi-

ately collected some well-armed horsemen and

foot, and surrounded the house in which Grant

was ; but he successfully resisted all their

attempts to enter the house, and killed two

servants of the Marquis of Huntly. After

keeping them at bay for a considerable time.

Grant and his brother, Robert, effected their

escape from the house, but a bastard son of

James Grant, John Forbes, an intimate associ-

ate, and another person, were taken prisoners,

and carried to Edinburgh, where they were

executed, along with a notorious thief, named

GLUe-Roy-Mac-Gregor. This occurrence took

place in the year 1636. The laird of Grant

had, during the previous year, been ordered

by the council to apprehend James Grant, or

to make him leave the kingdom ; and they

had obliged him to find caution and surety, in

terms of the general bond^ appointed by law

to be taken from all the heads of clans, and from

all governors of provinces in the kingdom, but

chiefly in the west and north of Scotland ; but

the laird could neither perform the one nor the

other. ^

By the judicious management of the affairs

of the house of Sutherland by Sir Robert

Gordon, liis nephew, the earl, on reacliing his

' The "Common Band" or "General Baud," was
the name given in popular speech to an Act of the
Scottish Parliament of the year 15S7, which was passed
with the view of maintaining good order, both on the
Borders and in the Highlands and Isles. 'J'he plan
on which this Act chieliy proceeded was, " To make
it imperative on all landlords, bailies, and chiefs of

clans, to find sureties to a large amount, proportioned
to their wealth and the number of their vassals or

clansmen, for the peaceable and orderly behaviour of

those under them. It was provided, that, if a supe-
rior, after having found the required sureties, should
fail to make immediate reparation of any injuries

tommitted by persons for whom he was bound to
answer, the injured party might proceed at law against
the sureties for the amount of the damage sustained.

Besides being compelled, in such cases, to reimburse
his sureties, the superior was to incur a heavy fine to

the Crown. This important statute likewise contained
many useful provisions for facilitating the administra-
tion of justice in these rude districts."—Spalding's
Memorialls, vol. i. p. 3, (note). Gregory's Western
Highlands, p. 237.

- Continuation of the History of the Earls of Suther-
land, by Gilbert Gordon of Sallagh, annexed to Sir R.
Gordon's work, p. 460. Spalding, p. 63.

majority in 1630 and entering upon the man-

agement of liis own affairs, found the hostility

of the enemy of his family either neutralised or

rendered no longer dangerous ; but, in the year

1633 he found himself involved in a quarrel

witli Lord Lorn, eldest son of the Earl of

Argyle, who had managed the affairs of his

family during his father's banishment from

Scotland. This dispute arose out of the fol

lowing circumstances.

In consequence of a quarrel between Lord

Berridale, who now acted as sole administrator

of his father's estates, and William Mac-Iver,

chieftain of the Siol-Mhic-Imheair, in Caith-

ness, the former removed the latter from the

lands and possessions he held of him in Caith-

ness. Mac-Iver thereupon retired into Argyle,

and assuming the surname of Campbell, as

being originally an Argyle man, sought the

favour and protection of Lord Lorn. The

latter endeavoured, by writing to the Earl of

Sutherland, Berridale himself, and others, to

bring about a reconciliation between Mac-Iver

and Berridale, but to no purpose. Seeing no

hopes of an accommodation, Mac-Iver collected

a party of rebels and outlaws, to the number of

about 20, and made an incursion into Caith-

ness, where, during the space of four or five

years, he did great injury, carrying off con-

siderable spoil, which he conveyed through

the heights of Stratlmaver and Sutherland.

To put an end to Mao-Iver's depredations.

Lord Berridale at first brought a legal prosecu-

tion against him, and having got him de-

nounced rebel, sent out parties of his country-

men to ensnare liim ; but he escaped for a long

tune, and always retired in safety with his

booty, either into the isles or into Argyle.

Lord Lorn, however, publicly disowned Mac-

Iver's proceedings. In his incursions, Mac-

Iver was powerfully assisted by an islander of

the name of GUle-Calum-Mac-Shomhaii-le, who

had married his daughter, and who was well

acquainted mth all tlie passes leading into

Caithness.

At last Mac-Iver and liis son were appre-

hended by Lord Berridale, and hanged, and

the race of the Siol-Mhic-Imheair was almost

extinguished; but GiUe-Calum-Mac-Shomhairle

having associated with himself several of the

men of the Isles and Argyle, and some out-
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laws of the clan Mhic-Iain-Dhuinn, who were
|

dependants of Lord Lorn, continued his incur-

sions into Caithness. Ha^-ing di^aded his com-

pany into two parties, one of which, headed by

Gille-Calum himself, went to the higher parts

of Eoss and Sutherland, there to remain till

joiiied by their companions. The other party

went through the lowlands of Eoss, imder the

pretence of going to the Lammas fair, then held

at Tain, and thence proceeded to Sutherland to

meet the rest of their associates, under the pre-

tence of visiting certain kinsmen they said

they had in Strathully and Strathnaver. This

last-mentioned body consisted of 16 or 20 per-

sons, most of whom were of the clan Mhic-Iain-

Dhuinn. They were under the command of

one Ewen Aird ; and as they passed the tovra

of Tain, on their way to Sutherland, they stole

some horses, which they sold in Sutherland,

without being in the least suspected of the

theft.

The owners of the stolen horses soon came

uito Sutherland in quest of them, and claimed

them from the persons to whom they had been

sold. The Earl of Sutherland, on proof being

given of the property, i-estored the horses to

the true 0T\T!ers, and sent some men in quest of

Ewen Aird, who was still in Strathully. Ewen
was apprehended and brought to Dunrobin.

The Earl of Sutherland ordained him to repay

die monies wliich Ewen and his companions

had received for the horses, the only punish-

ment he said he woidd inflict on them, be-

cause they were strangers. Ewen assented

to the earl's request, and remained as a hostage

at Dunrobin until his companions should send

money to relieve him ; but as soon as his asso-

ciates heard of his detention, they, mstead of

sending money for liis release, fled to GQle-

Calimi-Mac-Shomhairle and his party, leaving

their captain a prisoner at Dimrobin. In their

retreat they destroyed some houses in the high

parts of Sutherland, and on entering Eoss

they laid waste some lands belonging to

Hutcheon Eoss of Auchincloigh. These out>

rages occasioned an immediate assemblage of

the inhabitants of that part of the country,

who pursued the marauders and took them
prisoners. On the prisoners being sent to the

Earl of Sutherland, he assembled the principal

gentlemen of Eoss and Sutherland at Dornoch,

where Ewen Aiid and his accomplices were

tried before a jury, convicted, and executed at

Dornoch, -ivith the exception of two young

boys, who were dismissed.

The Prfvy Council not only approved of

what the Earl of Sutherland had done, but

also sent a commission to him, the Earl

of Seaforth, Houcheon Eoss, and some other

gentlemen in Eoss and Sutherland, against the

clan Mhic-Iain-Dhuinn, in case they should

again make any incursion into Eoss and Suth

erland.

Lord Lorn being at this time justiciary of the

Isles, had obtained an act of the Privy Council

in his favour, by which it was decreed that any

malefactor, being an islander, upon bemg appre-

hended in any part of the kingdom, should be

sent to Lord Lorn, or to his deputies, to be

judged ) and that to this effect he should have

deputies in every part of the kingdom. As

soon as his lordship heard of the trial and exe-

cution of the men at Dornoch, who were of the

clan Mhic-Iain-Dhuinn, his dependants and

followers, he took the matter highly amiss, and

repaired to Edinbirrgh, where he made a com-

plaint to the lords of the council against the

Earl of Sutherland, for having, as he main-

tained, apprehended the king's free subjects

without a commission, and for causing tliem to

be executed, although ttey had not been appre-

hended within his ov\m j,urisdiction. The

lords of the council having heard this com-

plaint, Lord Lorn obtained letters to charge

the Earl of Sutherland and Houcheon Eoss

to answer to the complaint at Edinburgh be-

fore the lords of the Privy CouncO, and, more-

over, obtained a suspension of the earl's com-

mission against the clan IVIhic-Iain-Dhuinn, on

becoming bound, in the meantime, as surety for

their obedience to the laws.

Sir Eobert Gordon happening to arrive at

Edinburgh from England, shortly after Lord

Lorn's visit to Edinburgh, in the year 1634,

learned the object of his mission, and the suc-

cess which had attended it. He, therefore,

being an eye-witness of every thing which had

taken place at Dornoch respecting the trial,

condemnation, and execution of Lord Lorn's

dependents, informed the lords of the coimcil

of aU the proceedings, which proceeding on his

part had the effect of preventing Lord Loro
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from gouig on with his prosecution against tlie

Eaii of Sutherland. He, however, proceeded

to summon Huucheon Eoss ; but the earl, Sir

Robert Gordon, Lord Reay, and aU the gentle-

men who were present at the trial at Dornoch,

signed and sent a letter to the lords of the

council, giving a detail of the whole circum-

stances of the case, and along with this letter

he sent a copy of the proceedings, attested by

the slieritf clerk of Sutherland, to be laid

before the council on the day appointed for

Ross's appearance. After the matter had been

fidly debated in council, the conduct of the

Earl of Sutherland and Houcheon Ross was

approved of, and the commission to the earl of

Sutlierland again renewed, and Lord Lorn was

taken bound, that, in time coming, the counties

of Sutherland and Ross should be kept harm-

less from the clan Mhic-Iain-Dhuinn. The

council, moreover, decided, that, as the Earl

of Sutherland had the rights of regahty and

sheriflship within himself, and as he was ap-

pointed to administer justice within his own

bounds, therefore he was not obliged to send

criminals, though islanders, to Lord Lorn or to

his deputies. This decision had the effect of

relieving Sutherland and Ross from farther

incursions on the part of Lord Lorn's followers.^

The disaster at Frendraught had made an

impression upon the mind of the Marquis of

Huntly, which notliing coidd efface, and he

could never be persuaded that the fire had not

originated with the proprietor of the mansion

himself. He made many unsuccessful attempts

to discover the incendiaries, and on the arrival

of King Charles at Edinburgh, in the year

1633, the marquis made preparations for paying

a personal visit to the king, for the purpose of

impl'iring him to order an investigation into

all the circumstances attending the fire, so as

to lead to a discovery of the criminals. Fall-

ing sick, however, on his journey, and unable

to proceed to Edinburgh, he sent forward his

marchioness, who was accompanied by Lady

Aboyne and other females of rank, all clothed

in deep mourning, to lay a statement of the

case before his majesty, and to solicit the

royal interference. The king received the

marchioness and her attendants most gra-

' Gordon of Sallagh's CmUinuation, p. 464, ut soq.

ciousiy, comforted them as far as words could,

and promised to see justice done.

After the king's departure from Scotland,

the marchioness and Lady Aboyne, both ol

whom still remained in Eilinburgh, determining

to see his majestj-'s promise implementeil, pre-

vailed upon the Privy Council to bring John

Jleldrum of Reidhill to trial, the result being

as previously recorded. A domestic servant of

Frendraught named Tosh, who was snspecteil

of having been concerned in the fire, was after-

wards put to the torture, for the purpose of

extorting a confession of guilt from him ; but he

confessed nothing, and was therefore liberated

from prison.

The condemnation and execution of Mel-

drum, in place of abating, appear to have

increased the odium of Frendraught's enemies.

The Higlilanders of his neighbourhood, as well

as the Gordons, considering his property to be

fair game, made frequent incursions upon his

lands, and carried off cattle and goods. In

1633 and 1634 Adam Gordon of Strathdoun,

with a few of his friends and some outlaws,

made incursions upon Frendraught's lands,

wasted them, and endeavom'ed to carry off a

quantity of goods and cattle. Frendraught,

however, heading some of his tenants, pursued

them, secured the booty, and captured some of

the party, whom he hanged.

On another occasion, about 600 Higli-

landers, belonging to the clan Gregor, clan

Cameron, and other tribes, appeared near

FrentLraught, and openly declared that they

had come to join Adam Gordon of Park, John

Gordon of Invermarkie, and the other friends

of the late Gordon of Rothiemay, for the pur-

pose of revenging liis death. When Fren-

draught heard of the irruption of this body, he

immediately collected about 200 foot, and 140

horsemen, and went in quest of these in-

truders; but being scattered through the coun-

try, they could make no resistance, and every

man provided for his own safety by flight.

To put an end to these annoyances, Fren-

draught got these marauders declared outlaws,

and the lords of the Privy Council wrote to

the Marquis of Huntly, desiring him to repress

the disorders of those of his surname, and

failing his doing so, that they would consider

liim the author of them. The marquis returned
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.in answer to tliis communication, stating, that

as the aggressors were neither his tenants nor

servants, he could in no shape be answerable

for them,—that he had neither countenanced

nor incited tliem, and that he had no warrant

to pursue or prosecute them.

The refusal of the marquis to obey the

orders of tire Privy Council, emboldened the

denounced party to renew their acts of spolia-

tion and robberv. Thev nn lonsjer confined

their depredations to Frendiaught and his

tenants, but extended them to the property ol

the ministers who lived upon Frendraught's

lands. In tliis course of Ufe, they were joined

by some of the young men of the principal

families of the Gordons in Strathbogie, to the

number of 40 horsemen, and 60 foot, and

to encourage them in their designs against

Frendraught, the lady of Rothiemay gave them

the castle of Rothiemay, which tliey fortified.

and fruui which they made daily saUies upon

Frendraught's possessions; burned liis corn,

laid waste his lands, and killed some of his

people. Frendraught opposed them for some

time ; but being satisfied that such proceedings

taking place almost under the very eyes of the

Marquis of Huntly, must necessarily be done

with his concurrence he went to Edinburgh,

and entered a complaint against the marquis

to the Privy Council. Diu-ing Frendraught's

absence, his tenants were expelled by the

Gordons from their possessions, without oppo-

sition. *

Wlien the king heard of these lawless pro-

ceedings, and of the refusal of the marquis to

interfere, he ordered the lords of the Pri\'y

Council to adopt measures for suppressing

them; preparatory to which they cited the

,,, I Kini'ssot Ihinth'. Cniiipd lypermissiun m ui» uutcc
Richmond, from the (Originals at Gordon Castle.

in the beginnin

nf

' Oordnu's Conliniiatimi,

p. 47, et scq.

p. 475. Spahling, vol. i.

marquis, m tne Degmning oi the following

year, to appear before tliem to answer for

these oppressions. He accordingly went to

Edinburgh in the month of February, 1635,

where he was commanded to remain till the

matter should be investigated. The heads of

the families whose sons had joined the outlaws

also appeared, and, after examination, Letter-

fourie, Park, Tilliangus, Tewisoule, Tnver-

markie, TuHoch, Aidlogy, and several other

persons of the surname of Gordon, were com-

mitted to prison, until their sons, who had

engaged in the combination against Fren-

draught, should be presented before the council.

The prisoners, who denied being accessory

thereto, then petitioned to be set at liberty, a

request wliich was complied witli on condition

that they should either produce the rebels, as

the pillagers were called, or make them leave

the kingdom. The marquis, although nothing

could be proved against him, was obliged tc
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find caution that all persons of the surname

of Gordon tnthin his bounds should keep

the peace ; and that he should be answerabk

in aU time coming for any damage which

should befall the laird of Erendraught, or liis

lands, by whatever violent means; and also

that he shoidd present the rebels at Edinburgh,

that justice might be satisfied, or make them

leave the kingdom.

ITie Marquis of Huntly, thereupon, returned

to the north, and the rebels hearing of the

obligation he had come under, immediately

dispersed themselves. The greater part of

them fled into Elanders, and about twelve of

them were apprehended by the marquis, and

sent by him to Edinburgh. John Gordon,

who lived at Woodhead of Eothiemay, and

another, were executed. Of the remaining

two, James Gordon, son of George Gordon in

Auchterless, and William Ross, son of John

Ross of BaUivet, the former was acquitted by

the jury, and the latter was imprisoned in the

jail of Edinburgh for future trial, having been

a ringleader of the party. In apprehending

these twelve persons, James Gordon, son of

Adam Gordon of Strathdoun, was killed, and

to show the Privy Council how dUigent the

marquis had been in fulfilling his obligation,

his head was sent to Edinburgh along with

the prisoners.

The activity with whicti the marquis pursued

the oppressors of Erendraught, brought him

afterwards into some trouble. Adam Gordon,

one of the principal ringleaders of the confed-

eracy, and second son of Sir Adam Gordon of

the Park, thinking it " hard to be baneishit

out of his native country, resoluit to ciun home"

and throw himself on the king's mercy. For

this purpose he made a private communication

to the Archbishop of St. Andrews, then chan-

cellor of Scotland, in which he offered to sub-

mit himself to the king's pleasure, promis-

ing, that if his majesty would grant him a

pardon, he would reveal the author of the re-

bellion. The archbishop, eager, it would ap-

pear, to fulfil the ends of justice, readily

entered into Gordon's views, and sent a spe-

cial messenger to London to the king, who

at once granted Adam a pardon. On reoei\'ing

the pardon, Gordon accused the Marquis of

Huntly as the author of the conspiracy against

Erendraught, and with having instigated him

and his associates to commit all the depredar

tions which had taken place. The king, there-

upon, sent a commission to Scotland, appoint-

ing a select number of the lords of the Privy

Council to examine into the affair.

As Adam Gordon had charged James Gordon

of Letterfourie, with having employed him and

his associates, in name of the marquis, against

the laird of Frendraught, Letterfourie was cited

to appear at Edinburgh for trial. On being

confronted with Adam Gordon, he denied

everything laid to his charge, but, notwith-

standing this denial, he was committed a

prisoner to the jail of Edinburgh. The mar-

qius himself, who had also appeared at Edin-

burgh on the appointed day, January 15th,

1636, was like'wise confronted ndth Adam
Gordon before the committee of the Privy

GouncO. ; but although he denied Adam's ac-

cusation, and " cleared himself with great dex-

teritie, beyond admiration," as Gordon of Sal-

lagh observes, he was, " upon presumption,"

committed a close prisoner to the castle of

Edinburgh.

When his majesty was made acquainted with

these circumstances by the commissioners, and

that there was no proof to establish the charge

against the marquis, both the marquis and

Gordon of Letterfourie were released by his

command, on giving security for indemnify-

ing the laird of Frendraught for any damage

he might sustain in time coming, from the

Gordons and their accomplices. Having so

far succeeded in annoying the marquis, Adam
Gordon, after collecting a body of men, by

leave of the Privy Council, went along with

them to Germany, where he became a captain

in the regiment of Colonel George Leslie. To

terminate the imhappy differences between the

marquis and Erendraught, the king enjoined

Sii' Robert Gordon, who was related to both,

—the marquis being his cousin-german, and

chief of that family, and Frendraught the

husband of his niece,—to endeavour to bring

about a reconciliation between them. Sir

Robert, accordingly, on his return to Scotland,

prevailed upon the parties to enter into a sub-

mission, by which they agreed to refer all

questions and differences between them to the

arbitrament of friends; but before the submis-
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sion was brought to a final coHcIusion, the

marquis expired at Dundee on the 13th

June, (15th according to Gordon), 1636, at

the age of seventy-four, while returning to

the north from Edinburgh. He was in-

terred in the family vault at Elgin, on the

thirtieth day of August following, " having,"

says Spalding, " above his chist a rich mort-

cloath of black velvet, wherein was wrought

two whyte crosses. He had torchlights in

gi'eat number carried be freinds and gentlemen

;

the marques' son, called Adam, was at his

head, the earle of Murray on the right spaik,

the earle of Seaforth on the left spaik, the

earle of Sutherland on the third spaik, and Sir

Eobert Gordon on the fourth spaik. Besyds

thir nobles, many barrons and gentlemen was

there, haveing above three hundred lighted

torches at the lifting. He is carried to the

east port, doun the wjTid to the south kirk

stUe of the coUedge kirk, in at the south kirk

door, and buried in his own isle with nuich

muruing and lamentation. The like forme of

burriall, with torch light, was not sein heir tliir

many dayes befor."^

The marquis was a remarkable man for the

age in which he lived, and there are no char-

acters in that eventful period of Scottish his-

tory so well entitled to veneration and esteem.

A lover of justice, he never attempted to

aggrandize his vast possessions at the expense

of his less powerful neighbours ; a kind and

humane superior and landlord, he exercised a

lenient sway over his numerous vassals and

tenants, who repaid his kindness by sincere

attachment to his person and family. En-

dowed with great strength of mind, invincible

courage, and consummate prudence, he sur-

mounted the numerous difficulties with which

he was surrounded, and lived to see the many
factions which had conspired against him dis-

comfited and dissolved. While his constant

and undeviating attacliment to the religion of

his forefathers, raised up many enemies against

him among the professors of the reformed doc-

trines, by whose cabals he was at one time

obliged to leave the kingdom, his great power

and influence were assailed by another formi-

° Spalding, vol. i. p. 50, et seq. Gordon's Contin-
uation, p. 476, et seq.

dable class of opponents among the turbident

nobility, who were grieved to see a man who

had not imitated their venality and rapacity,

not only retain his predominance in the north,

but also receive especial marks of his sovereign's

regard. But skilful and intriguing as they

were in all the dark and sinister ways of an

age distinguished for its base and wicked

practices, their macliinations were frustrated

by the discernment and honesty of George

Gordon, the first Marquis of Huntly.

CHAPTEE XII.

A.D. 1636—(September) 1644.

• BRITISH SOVEREIGN :—Charles I., 162&—1649.

Charles I. attempts to introduce Episcopacy into Scot-

land—Meets with opposition—Preparations for war

—Doings in the North—Earl of Montrose— Mont-

rose at Aberdeen—Arrests the Marquis of Hnntly

—

Covenanters of the North meet at Turriff—The
"Trott of Turray "—Movements of tlie Gordons

—

Viscount Aboyne lands at Aberdeen— " Raid of

Stonehaven "— Battle at the Bridge of Dee—Pacifi-

cation of Berwick—War again— Earl of Argyle

endeavours to secure the West Highlands—Harsh
proceedings against the Earl of Airly—Montrose

goes over to the king—Marquis of Huntly rises in

the North—Montrose enters Scotland in disguise

—

Landing of Irish forces in the West Highlands

—

Meeting of Montrose and Alexander Macdoiiald

—

Atholemen join Montrose—Montrose advances into

Strathearn—Battle of Tippermuir.

Hitherto the history of the Highlands has

been confined chiefly to the feuds and con-

flicts of the clans, the details of which, though

interesting to their descendants, cannot be sup-

posed to afford the same gratification to readers

at large. "We now enter upon a more impor-

tant era, when the Highlanders begin to play

a much more prominent part in the theatre of

our national history, and to give a foretaste of

that military prowess for which they after-

wards became so highly distinguished.

In entering upon the details of the military

achievements of the Higlilanders during the

period of the civil wars, it is quite unnecessary

and foreign to our purpose to trouble the

reader ^vith a liistory of the rash, unconstitu-

tional, and ill-fated attempt of Charles I. to

introduce Episcopacy into Scotland ; nor, for the

same reason, is it requisite to detail minutely

the proceedings of the authors of the Covenant
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Suffice it to say, that in consequence of the

inflexible determination of Charles to force

English Episcopacy upon the people of Scot-

land, the great majority of the nation declared

their determination " by the great name of the

Lord their God," to defend their religion against

what they considered to be errors and corrup-

tions. Notwthstanding, however, the most

positive demonstrations on the part of the

people to resist, Charles, acting by the advice

of a privy council of Scotsmen established in

England, exclusively devoted to the aflfaii's of

Scotland, and instigated by Archbishop Laud,

resolved to suppress the Covenant by open force.

In order to gain time for the necessary prepara-

tions, he sent the Marquis of Hamilton, as his

commissioner, to Scotland, who was instructed

to promise " that the practice of the liturgy and

the canons should never be pressed in any other

than a fair and legal way, and that the liigh

commission should be so rectified as never to

impugn the laws, or to be a just grievance to

loyal subjects," and that the king would jiardon

those who had lately taken an illegal covenant,

on their immediately renouncing it, and giving

up the bond to the commissioners.

WTien the Covenanters heard of Hamilton's

approach, they appointed a national fast to be

held, to beg the blessing of God upon the kirk,

and on the 10th of June, 1638, the marquis

was received at Leith, and proceeded to the

capital through an assemblage of about 60,000

Covenanters, and 500 ministers. The sisirit

and temper of such a vast assemblage over-

awed the marquis, and he therefore concealed

his instructions. After making two successive

journeys to London to communicate the alarm-

ing state of affairs, and to receive fresh instruc-

tions, he, on liis second return, issued a pro-

clamation, discharging " the service book, the

book of canons, and the high commission court,

dispensing \vith the five articles of Perth, dis-

pensing the entrants into the mmistry from

taking the oath of supremacy and of canonical

obedience, commanding all persons to lay aside

the new Covenant, and take that which had

been published by the king's father in 1589,

and .summoning a free assembly of the kirk to

meet in the month of November, and a parlia-

ment in the month of May, the follo\ving year."

lilatters had, however, proceeded too far for

submission to the conditions cf the proclama-

tion, and the covenanting leaders answered it

by a formal protest, in which they gave sixteen

reasons, showuig that to comply with the de-

mands of the king would be to betray the cause

of God, and to act against the dictates of con-

science.

In consequence of the opposition made to

the proclamation, it was generally expected

that the king would have recalled the order for

the meeting of the assembly at Glasgow ; but

no proliibition having been issued, that assem-

bly, which consisted, besides the clergy, of one

lay-elder and four lay-assessors from every pres-

bytery, met at the time appointed, viz., in the

month of November, 1638. After the assembly

had spent a week in violent debates, the com-

missioner, in terms of liis instructions, declared

it dissolved ; but, encoui'aged by the accession

of the Earl of Argyle, who placed himself at

the head of the Covenanters, the members de-

clined to disperse at the mere mandate of the

sovereign, and passed a resolution that, in

spuitual matters, the kirk was independent of

the civil power, and that the dissolution by

the commissioner was Ulegal and void. After

spending three weeks in revising the ecclesi-

astical regulations introduced into Scotland

since the accession of James to the crown of

England, the assembly condemned the liturgy,

ordinal, book of canons, and court of high

commission, and, assuming all the powers of

legislation, abolished episcopacy, and excom-

municated the bishops themselves, and the

ministers who supported them. Charles de-

clared theii' proceedings null ; but the people

received them with gi-eat joy, and testified

their approbation by a national thanksgiving.

Both parties had for some time been prepar-

ing for war, and they now hastened on their

jjlans. In consequence of an order from the

supreme committee of the Covenanters in Edin-

burgh, every man capable of bearing arms was

called out and trained. Experienced Scottish

officers, who had spent the greater part of their

lives in military service in Sweden and Ger-

many, returned to Scotland to place themselves

at the head of their countrymen, and the Scot-

tish merchants in Holland supplied them with

arms and ammunition. The king advanced as

far as York with an army, the Scottish bishops
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making liim believe that the news of his a])-

proach would induce tlie Covenanters to submit

themselves to his pleasure ; but he was disap-

pointed,—for instead of submitting themselves,

thej' were the first to commence hostilities.

About the 19th of March, 1639, General Les-

lie, the covenanting general, with a few men,

surprised, and without difficulty, occuj)ied the

castle of Edinburgh, and about the same time

the Earl of Traquair surrendered Dalkeith

house. Dumbarton castle, like that of Edin-

burgh, was taken by stratagem, the governor,

named Stewart, being intercepted on a Sunday

as he returned from church, and made to

change clothes with another gentleman and

give the pass-word, by which means the Cove-

nanters easily obtained possession. Tlie king,

on arriving at Durham, despatched the Marquis

of Hamilton with a fleet of forty ships, ha^dng

on board 6,000 troops, to the Frith of Forth
;

but as both sides of the Frith were well forti-

fied at different points, and covered with troops,

he was unable to effect a landing. ^

In the meantime, the INlarquis of Huntly

raised the royal standard in the north, and as

the Earl of Sutherland, accompanied by Lord

Reay, Jolin, Master of Berridale and others,

had been very busj^ in Inverness and Elgin,

persuading the inhabitants to subscribe the

Covenant, the marquis wrote him confidentially,

blaming him for his past conduct, and advising

him to declare for the king ; but the earl

informed him in reply, that it was against the

bishops and their innovations, and not against

the king, that he had so acted. The earl then,

in his turn, advised the marquis to join the

Covenanters, by doing which he said he would

not only confer honour on lumself, but much
good on his native country ; that in any private

question in wliich Huntly was personally inter-

ested he woidd assist, but that in the present

affair he would not aid him. The earl there-

upon joined the Earl of Seaforth, the Master of

Berridale, Lord Lovat, Lord Eeay, the laii-d of

Balnagown, the Eosses, the Monroes, the laml

of Grant, Macintosh, the laird of Inues, the

sherifiF of ]\Ioray, the baron of Kilravock, the

laird of Altire, the tutor of Duffus, and the

otherCovenanters on the north of tlie riverSpey.

' Gordon's Scots Affairs, vol. ii. ]). 209.

The Marquis of Hiuitly assembled his forces

first at Turriff, and afterwards at Kintore,

whence he marched upon Aberdeen, which lie

took possession of in name of tlie king. The

marquis being informed shortly after his arrival

in Aberdeen, that a meeting of Covenanters,

who resided within his mstrict, was to be held

at Turriff on the 14th of February, resolved to

disperse them. He therefore wrote letters to

his chief dependents, requiring them to meet

him at Turriff the same day, and bring with

them no arms but swords and "schottis"or

pistols. One of these letters fell into the hands

of the Earl of Montrose, one of the chief cove-

nanting lords, who determined at all hazards

to protect the meeting of his friends, the Cove-

nanters. In pursuance of tliis resolution, he

collected, with great alacrity, some of his best

friends in Angus, and wth his own and their

dependents, to the nmuber of about 800 men,

he crossed the range of hills called the Grange-

bean, between Angus and Aberdeenshire, and

took possession of Turriff on the morning of

the 14tli of February. "UHien Himtly's party

arrived during the course of the day, they were

surprised at seeing the little churchyard of the

village filled with armed men ; and they were

still more smprised to observe them levelling

their hagbuts at them across the walls of the

churchyard. Not knowing how to act in the

absence of the marquis, they retired to a place

called the Broad Ford of Towie, about two

miles south from the village, when tliey were

soon joined by Huntly and his suite. After

some consultation, the marquis, after parading

his men in order of battle along the north-west

side of the village, in sight of Montrose,

chspersed his party, wliich amounted to 2,000

men, without offering to attack Montrose, on

the pretence that liis commission of lieu

tenancy only authorised him to act on the

defensive.
'^

James Graham, Earl, and afterwards first

Marquis of Montrose, who played so pro-

minent a part in the history of the troublous

times on which we are entering, was descended

from a family wliich can be traced back to the

beginning of the 12tli century. His ancestor,

the Earl of Montrose, fell at Flodden, and hia

' Sjialding, vol. i. [i. 137.
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gi'aiidfatlier became viceroy of Scotland after

James VI. ascended the tlirone of England.

He himself was born in 1612, his mother being

I^ady Margaret Euthven, eldest daughter of

William, first Earl of Gowrie. He succeeded

to the estates and title in 1626, on the death

of his father, and three years after, married

Magdalene Carnegie, daughter of Lord Car-

negie of Kinnaird. He pursued his studies at

St. Andrews University and Kinnaird Castle

tiU he was about twenty years of age, when

he went to the Continent and studied at the

academies of France and Italy, returning an

accomplished gentleman and a soldier. On
his return he was, for some reason, coldly

received by Charles I., and it is supposed by

some that it was mainly out of chagrin on this

account that he joined the Covenanters. What-

ever may have been his motive for joining

them, he was certainly an important and

powerful accession to their ranks, although, as

will be seen, his adherence to them was but of

short duration.

Montrose is thus portrayed by his contempo-

rary, Patrick Gordon of Euthven, author of

Britane's Distemper. " It cannot be denied

but he was ane accomplished gentleman of

many excellent partes ; a bodie not tall, but

comely and well compossed in all his linia-

mentes ; his complexion meerly whitee, with

fla.xin haire ; of a stayed, graue, and solide

looke, and yet his eyes sparkling and full of

lyfe ; of speach slowe, but wittie and fuU of

sence ; a presence graitfull, courtly, and so

winneing vpon the beholder, as it seemed to

claime reuerence without sewetng for it ; for

he was so affable, so courteous, so bening, as

seemed verely to scorne ostentation and the

keeping of state, and therefor he quicklie made

a conquesse of the heartes of all his followers,

so as whan he list he could haue lead them in

a chaine to haue followed him ivith cheare-

fullnes in aU his interpryses ; and I am cer-

tanely perswaded, that this his gratious, hu-

mane, and courteous fredome of behauiour,

being certanely acceptable befor God as well as

men, was it that wanne him so much renovne,

and inabled him cheifly, in the loue of his

followers, to goe through so great interprysses,

(vheirin his equall had failled, altho they

exceeded him farre in power, nor can any

other reason be giuen for it, bat only this that

foUoweth. He did not seeme to affect state,

nor to claime reuerence, nor to keepe a dis-

tance with gentlemen that ware not his domes-

tickes ; but rather in a noble yet courteousa

way he seemed to slight those vanisheing

smockes of greatnes, affecting rather the reall

possession of mens heartes then the frothie

and outward showe of reuerence ; and tlierefor

was all reuerence thrust vpon him, because aU

did loue him, therfor all did honour him and

reuerence him, yea, haueing once acquired there

heartes, they ware readie not only to honour

him, but to quarrell with any that would not

honour him, and would not spare there for-

tounes, nor there derrest blood about there

heartes, to the end he might be honoured,

because they saue that he tooke the right

course to obtaine honour. He had fund furth

the right way to be reuerenced, and thereby

was approued that proplieticke maxime which

hath never failed, nor neuer shall faille,

being pronounced by the Fontaine of treuth

(He that exalteth himselfe shall he humbled) ;

for his winneing behauiour and courteous

caryago got him more respect then those to

whom they ware bound both by the law of

nature and by good reason to hawe giuen it to.

Nor could any other reason be giuen for it,

but only there to much keepeing of distance,

and caryeing themselfes in a more statlye and

resemed way, without putteLng a difference

betiiixt a free borne gentleman and a seruille

or base mynded slaue.

" Tills much I thought good by the way to

signifie ; for the best and most waliant general!

that euer lead ane arniie if he mistake the dis-

position of the nation whom he commandes,

and will not descend a litle till he meete with

the genious of liis shouldioiirs, on whose fol-

loweing his grandour and the success of his in-

terpryses chiefely dependeth, stryueing through

a high soireing and ower ^vinneing ambition to

drawe them to his byas with awe and not

with lowe, that leader, I say, shall neuer pre-

wadl against his enemies with ane armie of the

Scotes nation."

Montrose had, about this time, received a

commission from the Tables—as the boards of

representatives, chosen respectively by the no-

bility, county gentry, clergy, and inhabitants of
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tlie biirghs, were called—to raise a body of

troops for the service of tlie Covenanters, and he

now proceeded to embody them vnth. extraordi-

nary promptitude. Within one month, he col-

lected a force of ahout 3,000 horse and foot,

from the coiinties of Fife, Forfar, and Perth,

and put them into a complete state of military

discipline. Being joined by the forces under

Greneral Leslie, he marched upon Aberdeen,

which he entered, without opposition, on the

30th of March, the Marquis of Huntly having

abandoned the town on his approach. Some

idea of the well-appointed state of this army

may be formed from the curious description of

Spalding, who says, that " upon the morne,

being Saturday, they came in order of battell,

wedl armed, both on horse and foot, ilk horse-

man having five shot at the least, with ane

carabine in his hand, two pistols by his sydes,

and other two at his saddell toir ; the pikemen

in their ranks, with pike and sword ; the

musketiers in their ranks, with musket, niusket-

staffe, bandelier, sword, powder, ball, and

match ; ilk company, hoth on horse and foot,

had their captains, lieutenants, ensignes, Ser-

jeants, and other officers and rommanders, all

for the most part in buff coats, and in goodly

order. They had five colours or ensignes,

whereof the Earl of Montrose had one, have-

Lag this motto :
' For Eeligion, the Cove-

nant, AND THE CouNTRiE ;' the Earle of Maris-

chall had one, the Earle of Kinghorne had

one, and the town of Dundie had two. They

had trumpeters to ilk company of horsemen,

and drummers to ilk company of footmen

;

they had their meat, drink, and other provi-

sion, bag and baggage, carryed with them,

aU done be advj'se of his excellence Felt Mar-

schaU Leslie, whose councell Generall Montrose

followed in this busieness. Now, in seemly

order and good array, this army came forward,

and entered the burgh of Aberdein, about ten

hours in the morning, at the Over Kirkgate

Port, syne came doun throw the Broadgate,

throw the Castlegate, out at the Justice Port

to the Queen's Links directly. Here it is to

be netted that few or none of this had army
wanted ane blew ribbin hung about his craig,

doun under his left arme, which they called

the Covenanters' Ribhin. But the Lord Gor-

don, and some other of the marquess' bairnes

and familie, had ane ribbin when ho wa.<i

dwelling in the toun, of ane reid flesh cullor,

which they wore in their hatts, and called it

The Roijall Ribhin, as a signe of their love and

loyaUtie to the king. In despyte and derision

thereof this hlew ribbin was worne, and called

the Cuvenmiters' Ribhin, he the had souldiers

of the army, and would not hear of the royall

ribbin ; such was their pryde and malice."*

At Aberdeen Montrose was joined the same

day by Lord Eraser, the Master of Forbes, the

laird of Dalgettie, the tutor of Pitsligo, the

Earl Marshal's men in Buchan, with several

other gentlemen and their tenants, dependants,

and servants, to the number of 2,000, an addi-

tion which augmented Montrose's army to 9,000

men. Leaving the Earl of Kinghorn with

1,500 men to keep possession of Aberdeen,

Montrose marched the same day towards Kin-

tore, where he encamped that night. Halting

all Simday, he proceeded on the Monday to In-

verury, where he again pitched his camp. The

Marquis of Huntly grew alarmed at this sudden

and unexpected movement, and thought it now
time to treat with such a formidable foe for his

personal safety. He, therefore, despatched

Eobert Gordon of Straloch and Doctor Gordon,

an Aberdeen physician, to Montrose's camp, to

request an interview. The marquis proposed

to meet him on a moor near Blackball, about

two miles from the camp, with 11 attendants

each, with no arms but a single sword at their

side. After consulting with Field Marshal

Leslie and the other officers, Montrose agreed

to meet the marquis, on Thursday the 4th of

April, at the place mentioned. The parties

accordingly met. Among the eleven who
attended the marquis were his son James,

Lord Aboyne, and the Lord Olipliant. Lords

Elcho and Cowper were of the party who at-

tended Montrose. After the usual salutation

they both alighted and entered into conversa-

tion ; but, coming to no understanding, they

adjourned the conference till the following

morning, when the marquis signed a paper

obligmg himself to maintain the king's author-

ity, " the liberty of church and state, rehgion

and laws." He promised at the same time to

do his best to make his friends, tenants, and

8 Troubles, vol. i. pp. 107, 108.
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Borvaats subscribe the Covenant.' The mar-

quis, after tliis arrangement, went to Strath-

bogie, and Montrose returned with his army to

Aberdeen, the following day.

The marquis had not been many days at

Strathbogie, when he received a notice from

Montrose to repair to Aberdeen with his two

sons, Lord Gordon and Viscount Aboyne,

for the ostensible purpose of assisting the

committee in their deliberations as to the

settlement of the disturbances in the north.'

On Huntly receiving an assurance from Mon-

trose and the other covenanting leaders that

no attempt should be made to detain himself

and his sons as prisoners, he complied with

Montrose's invitation, and repairing to Aber-

deen, ho took up his quarters in the laird of

I'itfoddel's house.

The arrest of the marqnis, which followed,

has been attributed, not without reason, to the

intrigues of the Erasers and the Forbeses, who

bore a mortal antipathy to the house of Huntly,

and who were desirous to see the " Cock of the

North," as the powerful head of that house was

popularly called, humbled. ^ But, be these con-

jectures as they may, on the morning after the

marquis's arrival at Aberdeen, viz., on the 11th

April, a council of the principal officers of

!Rtontrose's army was held, at which it was

determined to arrest the marquis and Lord

Gordon, his eldest son, and carry them to

Edinburgh. It was not, however, judged ad-

visable to act upon this resolution immediately,

and to do away with any appearance of treach-

ery, Montrose and his friends invited the mar-

quis and his two sons to supper tlie following

evening. During the entertainment the most

friendly civilities were passed on both sides,

and, after the party had become somewhat

merry, Montrose and his friends hinted to the

marquis the expediency, in the present posture

of affairs, of resigning his commission of lieu-

tenancy. They also proposed that he should

write a letter to the king along with the resig-

nation of his commission, in favour of the

Covenanters, as good and loyal subjects ; and

that he should despatch the laird of Cluny, the

following morning, with the letter and resigna-

' Spalding, vol. i. pp. 157, 160.

' Gordon of Rothiemay, vol. ii. p.

» Id., vol. ii. p. 235.

•235.

tion. The marquis, seemg that his commission

was altogether unavailable, immediately wrote

out, in presence of the meeting, a resignation of

it, and a letter of recommendation as proposed

,

and, in their presence, delivered the same to the

laird of Cluny, who was to set off the followLug

morning with them to the king. It would

appear that Montrose was not sincere in mak-

ing this demand upon the marquis, and tliat

his object was, by calculating on a refusal, to

mike tliat the ground for arresting him; for

the marquis had scarcely returned to his lodg-

ings to pass the night, when an armed guard

was placed round the house, to prevent him

from returning home, as he intended to do, the

foUo^ving morning.

\Vlien the marquis rose, next morning, he

was surprised at receiving a message from

the covenanting general, desiring liis attend-

ance at the house of the Earl Marshal; and

he was still farther surprised, when, on

going out, along with his two sons, to tlie

appointed place of meeting, he found his

lodging beset with sentinels. The marquis

was received by Montrose with the usual

morning salutation, after which, he proceeded

to demand from him a contribution for liqui-

dating a loan of 200,000 merks, which the

Covenanters had borrowed from Sir AViUiam

Dick, a rich merchant of Edinburgh. To this

unexpected demand the marquis replied, that

he was not obKged to pay any part thereof, not

having been concerned in the borrowing, and

of course, decUned to comjily. Montrose then

requested him to take steps t<i a]iprehend James

Grant and John Dugar, and their accomplices,

who had given considerable annoyance to the

Covenanters in the Highlands. Himtly ob-

jected, that, having now no commission, he

could not act, and thg,t, although he had,

James Grant had already obtained a remission

from the king; and as for John Dugar, he would

concur, if required, with the other neighbouring

proprietors in an attempt to apprehend him.

The earl, finaUy, as the Covenant, he said, ad-

mitted of no standing hatred or feud, required

the marquis to reconcile himself to Crichton,

the laird of Frendraught, but this tlie marquis

positively refused to do. Finding, as he no

doubt expected, the marquis quite resolute m
his determination to resist these demands, the
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earl suddenly changed liis tone, and thus ad-

dressed the marqms, apparently in the most

friendly terms, " My lord, seeing we are all

now friends, will you go south to Edinburgli

with us?" lluutly answered that ho would

not—that he was not prepared for such a

joiu:ney, and that he was just going to sot off

for Strathbogie. "Your lordship," rejoined

Montrose, " will do well to go vdih us." The

marquis now perceiving Montrose's design,

accosted him thus, " My lord, I came here to

this town upon assurance that I shoidd come

and go at my ovm pleasure, without molesta-

tion or inquietude; and now I see why my
lodguig was guarded, and that ye mean to take

me to Edinburgh, whether I will or not. This

conduct, on your part, seems to me to be

neither fair nor honourable." He added, " My
lord, give me back the bond which I gave you

at Inverury, and you shall have an answer."

Montrose thereupon delivered the bond to the

marquis. Huntly then inquired at the earl,

" Whether he would take him to the south as

a captive, or wUlingly of his ov^ti mind?"
" Make your choice," said Montrose. " Then,"

observed the marquis, " I will not go as a cap-

tive, but as a volunteer." The marquis there-

upon immediately returned to his lodging, and

despatched a messenger after the lau'd of

Cluny, to stop him on his journe}'."^

It was the intention of Montrose to take

both the marquis and his sons to Edinburgh,

but Viscount Abojoie, at the desire of some of

his friends, was released, and allowed to return

to Strathbogie. On arriving at Edinburgh,

the marquis and his son. Lord Gordon, were

committed close prisoners to the castle of

Edinburgh, aud the Tables " appointed five

guardians to attend upon him and his son

night and day, upon his own expenses, that

none should come in nor out but by their

sight." 2 On being solicited to sign the Cov-

enant, Huntly issued a manifesto characterized

by magnanimity and the most steadfast loyalty,

concluding with the foUo^ving words :
—" For

my oune part, I am in your power; and re-

solved not to leave that foul title of traitor as

ane mheritance upon my posteritye. Yow

SpaMinf;, vol, i. p. 168.
" Ibid. p. 177.

may tacke my heade from my shoulders, but

not my heart from my soveraigne."*

Some time after the departure of Montrose's

army to the south, the Covenanters of the north

appointed a committee meeting to be held at

Turriff, upon Wednesday, 24th April, con-

sisting of the Earls Marshal and Seaforth,

Lord Eraser, the Master of Forbes, and some

of their kindred and friends. All persons

within tlie diocese, who had not subscribed tlio

Covenant, were required to attend this meeting

for the purpose of signing it, and failing com-

pliance, their property was to be given up

to indiscriminate plunder. As neither Lord

AbojTie, the laird of Banff, nor any of their

friends and kinsmen, had subscribed the Cov-

enant, nor meant to do so, they resolved to

protect themselves from the threatened attack.

A preliminary meeting of the heads of the

nortliern Covenanters was held on the 22d of

Aprd, at Monjonusk, where tliey learned of

the rising of Lord Aboyne aud his friends.

This intelligence induced them to postpone

the meeting at Turriff tUl the 26th of April,

by wlii-^h day they expected to be joined by

several g ^ntlemen from Caithness, Sutherland,

Eoss, Moray, and other quarters. At another

meeting, however, on the 24th of AprU, they

postponed the proposed meeting at TuiTiff,

si7ie die, and adjourned to Aberdeen; but as

no notice had been sent of the postponement

to the different covenanting districts in the

north, about 1,500 men assembled at the place

of meeting on the 26th of April, and were

quite astonished to find that the chiefs were

absent. Upon an explanation taking place,

the meeting was adjoined till the 20th of May.

Lord Aboyne had not been idle during this

interval, having collected about 2,000 horse

and foot from the Highlands and Lowlands,

with which force he had narrowly watched

the movements of the Covenanters. Hearing,

however, of the adjournment of the Turriff

meeting, his lordship, at the entreaty of his

friends, broke up his army, and went by sea to

England to meet the king, to inform him of

the precarious state of afl'airs in the nortli.

Many of his followers, such as the lairds of

Gight, Haddo, Udney, Newton, Pitmedden,

* Gordon of Rothiemay, ii. 240. Spalding, i ] 79.
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r.iveran, Tippertie, Hartliill, and otliers, who

had subscribed the Covenant, regretted his

departure; but as they had gone too far to

recede, they resolved to continue their forces

in the field, and held a meeting on the 7th of

May at Auohterless, to concert a plan of

operations.

A body of the Covenanters, to the number

of about 2,000, having assembled at Turriif as

early as the 13th of May, tlie Gordons resolved

instantly to attack them, before they should

be joined by other forces, whicli were expected

to arrive before the 20th. Taking ;Jong with

them four brass field-pieces from Strathbogie,

the Gordons, to the number of about 800 horse

and foot, commenced their march on the 13th

of May, at ten o'clock at night, and reached

Turriff next morning by day-break, by a road

unknown to the sentinels of the covenanting

army. As soon as they approached the town,

the commander of the Gordons ordered the

trumpets to be sounded and the drums to be

beat, the noise of wliicli was the first indication

the Covenanters had of their arrival. Being

thus surprised, the latter had no time to make

any preparations for defending themselves.

They made, indeed, a short resistance, but were

soon dispersed by the fire from the field-pieces,

leaving behind them the lairds of Echt and

Skene, and a few others, who were taken

prisoners. The loss on either side, in killed

and woiuided, was very trifling. This skirmish

is called by the writers of the period, " the

Trott of Tuiray."*

The successful issue of this trifling affair had

a powerful effect on the minds of the victors,

who forthwith marched on Aberdeen, which

'.hey entered on the 15th of May. They

expelled the Covenanters from the town, and

were there joined by a body of men from the

Braes of Mar under the command of Donald

Farquharson of TuUiegarmouth, and the laird

of Abergeldie, and by another party headed by
James Grant, so long an outlaw, to the num-

ber of about 500 men. These men quartered

themselves very freely upon the inhabitants,

particularly on those who had declared for the

Covenant, and they plundered many gentle-

^ Turray is the old name of Turriff.—Gordon of

RDthiemay, vol. iL p. 254. Gordon of Sallagh, p. 401.

men's houses in the neighbourhood. Tlic house

of Durris, belonging to John Forbes of Leslie,

a great Covenanter, received a visit from them,

" There was," says Spalding, " little plenishing

left unconveyed away before tlieir comeing.

They gott good bear and ale, broke up girneUs,

and buke bannocks at good fyres, and drank

merrily upon the laird's best drink : syne

carried away vrith them alse meikle victual

as they could beir, which they could not gett

eaten and destroyed ; and syne removed from

that to Echt, Skene, Monj-musk, and other

houses pertaining to the name of Forbes, all

great Covenanters."^

Two days after their arrival at Aberdeen,

the Gordons sent to Dunnottar, for the purpose

of ascertaining the sentiments of the Earl

Marshal, in relation to their proceedings, and

whether they might reckon on his friendship.

The earl, however, intimated that he coidd say

nothing in relation to the affair, and that he

would require eight days to advise with his

friends. This answer was considered quite

unsatisfactory, and the cliiefs of the army were

at a loss how to act. Eobert Gordon of Stra-

loch, and James Burnet of CraigmyUe, a

brother of the laird of Leys, proposed to enter

into a negotiation with the Earl Marshal, but

Sir George Ogilvie of Banff would not listen

to such a proceeding, and, addressing Straloch,

he Said, " Go, if you will go ; but pr'j-thee, let

it be as quarter-master, to inform the earl that

we are coming." Straloch, however, went not

in the character of a quarter-master, but as a

mediator in behalf of his chief The earl said

he had no intention to take up arms, without

an order from the Tables ; that, if the Gordons

would disperse, he would give them early

notice to re-assemble, if necessary, for theii

own defence, but that if they should attack

him, he would certainly defend himself

The army was accordingly disbanded on the

21st of May, and the barons went to Aberdeen,

there to spend a few days. The depredations

of the Highlanders, who had come down to

the lowlands in quest of phmder, upon the

properties of the Covenanters, were thereafter

carried on to such an extent, that the latter com-

plained to the Earl Marshal, who immediately

« Spalding, vol. i. v. 188.
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assembled a body of men out of Angus and

the Mearns, with which he entered Aberdeen

on the 23d of May, causing the barons to

make a precipitate retreat. Two days there-

after the earl w.as joined by Montrose, at the

head of 4,000 men, an addition which, \vith

other accessions, made the whole force assem-

bled at Aberdeen exceed 6,000.

Meanwhile a large body of northern Cove-

nanters, under the command of the Earl of

Seaforth, was approaching from the districts

beyond the Spey; but the Gordons having

crossed the Spey for the purpose of opposing

their advance, an agreement was entered into

between both parties that, on the Gordons re-

tiring across the Spey, Seaforth and his men

should also retire homewards.

After spending five days in Aberdeen, Mon-

trose marched his army to Udney, thence

to Kellie, the seat of the laird of Haddo, and

afterwards to Gight, the residence of Sir

Eobert Gordon, to which he laid siege. But

intelligence of the arrival of Viscount Aboyne

in the bay of Aberdeen, deranged liis plans.

Being quite uncertain of Aboyne's strength,

and fearing that his retreat might be cut off,

Montrose quickly raised the siege and returned

to Aberdeen. Although Lord Aboyne still

remained on board his vessel, and eoidd easUy

have been prevented from landing, Montrose

most unaccountably abandoned the town, and

retired into the Mearns.

Viscount Aboyne had been most graciously

received by the king, and had ingratiated him-

self so much with the monarch, as to obtain

the commission of lieutenancy which his father

held. The king appears to have entertained

good hopes from his endeavonrs to support the

royal cause in the north of Scotland, and be-

fore taking leave he gave the viscount a letter

addressed to the Marquis of Hamilton, request-

ing him to afford his lordship all the assistance

in his power. From whatever cause, all the

aid afforded by the Marquis was limited to a

few officers and four field-pieces :
" The king,''

says Gordon of SaUagh, " coming to Berwick,

and business growing to a height, the armies

of England and Scotland lying near one another,

his majesty sent the Viscount of Aboyne and

Colonel Gun (who was then returned out of

Germany) to the Marquis of Hamilton, to

receive some forces from him, and with these

forces to go to Aberdeen, to possess and re-

cover that town. The Marquis of Hamilton,

Ij'ing at anchor m Forth, gave them no supply

of men, but sent them five ships to Aberdeen,

and the marquis himself retired with his fleet

and men to the Holy Island, hard by Berwick,

to reinforce the kmg's army there against the

Scots at Dunslaw." ^ On his voyage to

Aberdeen, Abo}aie's ships fell in with two

vessels, one of which contained the lairds of

Banff, Foveran, Newton, Crummie, and others,

who had fled on the approach of Montrose to

Gight; and the other had on board some

citizens of Aberdeen, and several ministers

who had refused to sign the Covenant, all of

whom the viscount persuaded to return home

along with him.

On the 6th of June, Lord AbojTie, accom-

panied by the Earls of Glencairn and Tulli-

bardine, the lairds of Drum, Banff, Fedderet,

Foveran, and Newton, and their followers,

with Colonel Gun and several English officers,

landed in Aberdeen without opposition. Imme-

diately on coming ashore, Aboyne issued a pro-

clamation which was read at the cross of Aber-

deen, prohibiting all his majesty's loyal subjects

from paying any rents, duties, or other debts to

the Covenanters, and requiring them to pay

one-half of such sums to the king, and to

retain the other for themselves. Those persons

who had been forced to subscribe the Cove-

nant against their wUl, were, on repentance, to

be forgiven, and every person was required to

take an oath of allegiance to his majesty.

This bold step inspired the royalists with

confidence, and in a short space of time a con-

siderable force raUied round the royal standard.

Lewis Gordon, third son of the Marquis of

Huntly, a youth of extraordinary courage, on

hearing of his brother's arrival, collected his

father's friends and tenants, to the number of

about 1,000 horse and foot, and with these he

entered Aberdeen on the 7th of June. These

were succeeded by 100 horse, sent in by the

laird of Drum, and by considerable forces led

by James Grant and Donald Farquharson.

Many of the Covenanters also joined the

\-iscount, so that his force ultimately amounted

' Contimiation, p. 402.
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to several thousand men. Spalding' gives

a sad, though somewhat ludicrous account

of the way in which Farquharson's " hie-

land men " conducted themselves while in

Aberdeen. He says, " Thir saulless lounis

plunderit meit, drink, and scheip quhair ever

they cam. Thay oppressit the Oldtoun, and

brocht in out of the countrie honest menis

scheip, and sold at the cross of Old Abirdein

to sic as wold by, ane scheip upone foot for

ane groat. The poor men that aueht thame

foUouit in and coft bak thair awin scheip

agane, sic as wes left unslayne for thair meit."

On the 10th of June the visooimt left Aber-

deen, and advanced upon Kintore with an

army of about 2,000 horse and foot, to which

he received daily accessions. The inhabitants

of the latter place were compelled by him to

subscribe the oath of allegiance, and notwith-

standing their compliance, " the troops," says

Spalding, " plundered meat and drink, and

made good fires: and, where they wanted

peats, broke do^vn beds and boards in honest

men's houses to be fires, and fed their horses

with corn and straw that day and night."'

Next morning the army made a raid upon

Hall Forrest, a seat of the Earl Marshal, and

the house of Muchells, belonging to Lord

Eraser ; but Aboyne, hearing of a rising in the

south, returned to Aberdeen.

As delay would be dangerous to his cau.'ie in

the present conjuncture, he crossed the Dee on

the 14th of June, his army amounting alto-

gether probably to about 3,000 horse and foot,'

with the intention of occupying Stonehaven,

and of issuing afresh the king's proclamation

at the market cross of that burgh. He pro-

ceeded as far as Muchollis, or Muchalls, the seat

of Sir Thomas Burnet of Leyes, a Covenanter,

where he encamped that night. On hearing of

his approach, the Earl Marshal and Montrose

posted themselves, with 1,200 men, and some

pieces of ordinance which they had drawn from

Dunnottar castle, on the direct road which

Aboyne had to pass, and waited his approach.

' Spalding, vol, i. p. 20.5.

' Troubles, vol. i. p. 206.
' Spalding, vol. i. p. 207.—Gordon of Rothiemay,

vol. ii. p. 268.—Gordon of Rutliven, in his abridg-
ment of Britane's Dwton^cr (Spald. Club ed.), p. 206,
makes the number 5,000.

Although Aboyne was quite aware of the

position of the Earl Marshal, instead of endea-

vouring to outflank him by making a detom' to

the right, he, by Colonel Gun's advice, crossed

the Meagre hiU next morning, directly in the

face of his opponent, who lay with his forces

at the bottom of the hill. As Abo)Tie de-

scended the hUl, the Earl ^Marshal opened a

heavy fire upon him, which threw his men into

complete disorder. The Highlanders, unaccus-

tomed to the fire of cannon, were tlie first to

retreat, and in a short time the whole army

gave way. Aboyne thereupon returned to

Aberdeen with some horsemen, leaving the

rest of the army to foUow ; but the High-

landers took a homeward course, carrying along

with them a large quantity of booty, which

thej' gathered on their retreat. The disastrous

issue of " the Eaid of Stonehaven," as this

affair has been called, has been attributed, with

considerable plausibility, to treachery on the

part of Colonel Gun, to whom, on account of

his great experience, Aboyne had intrusted the

command of the army.^

On his arrival at Aberdeen, Aboyne held a

council of war, at which it was determined to

send some persons into the Mearns to collect

the scattered remains of his army, for, with the

exception of about 180 horsemen and a few foot

soldiers, the whole of the fine army which he

had led from Aberdeen had disappeared ; but

although the army again mustered at Leggets-

den to the number of 4,000, they were pre-

vented from recrossing the Dee and joining

his lordship by the Marshal and Montrose,

who advanced towards the bridge of Dee with

all their forces. Aboyne, hearing of their ap-

proach, resolved to dispute with them the

passage of the Dee, and, as a precautionary

measure, blocked up the entrance to the bridge

of Dee from the south by a thick wall of tui-f,

beside which he placed 100 musketeers upon

the bridge, under the command of Lieutenant

Colonel Johnstone, to annoy the assailants fi'oin

the small turrets on its sides. The vi.'scount

was warmly seconded in his views by the citi-

zens of Aberdeen, whose dread of another hos-

tile visit from the Covenanters induced them to

- Spalding, vol. 1. p. 208. Gordon of Rothiemay,
vol. ii. p. 272. Britane's Distemper^ p. 24.
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alford him every assistance in their power, ami

it is recorded that the women and chihlren

even occupied themselves in carrying provi-

sions to the army during the contest.

The array of Montrose consisted of about

2,000 foot and 300 horse, and a large train of

artillery. The forces which Lord AbojTie

had collected on the spur of the occasion

were not numerous, but lie was superior in

cavalry. His ordnance consisted only of four

pieces of brass cannon. Montrose arrived at

tlie bridge of Dee on the 18th of June, and,

without a moment's delay, commenced a furious

cannonade upon the works which had been

thrown up at the south end, and which he

kept up during the whole day without produc-

ing any material effect. Lieutenant-colonel

Johnstone defended the bridge with deter-

mined bravery, and his musketeers kept up a

galling and well-directed fire upon their assail-

ants. Both parties reposed during the short

twilight, and as soon as morning dawned Mon-

trose renewed his attack upon the bridge, with

an ardour which seemed to have received a

fresh impulse from the unavaUing efforts of

the preceding day ; but all his attempts were

vain. Seeing no hopes of carrying the bridge

in the teeth of the force opposed to him, he had

recourse to a stratagem, by which he succeeded

in withdrawing a part of Aboyne's forces from

the defence of the bridge. That force had,

indeed, been considerably impaired before the

renewal of the attack, in consequence of a party

of 50 musketeers having gone to Aberdeen to

escort thither the body of a citizen named John

Forbes, who had been killed the preceding

day ; to which circumstance Spalding attri-

butes the loss of the bridge ; but whether the

absence of this party had such an effect upon

the fortune of the day is by no means clear.

The covenanting general, after battering unsuc-

cessfully the defences of the bridge, ordered

a party of horsemen to proceed up the river

some distance, and to make a demonstration as

if they intended to cross. Aboyne was com-

pletely deceived by this manceuvre, and sent

the whole of his horsemen from the bridge

to dispute the passage of the river with those

of Montrose, leaving Lieutenant-colonel John-

stone and his .50 musketeers alone to protect

the bridge. Montrose having thus drawn his

opjionent into the snare set for him, imme-

diately sent back the greater part of his horse,

under the command of Captain Middleton, with

instructions to renew the attack upon the

bridge with redoubled energy. This officer lost

no time in obeying these orders, and Lieutenant-

colonel Johnstone having been wounded in the

outset by a stone torn from the bridge by a shot,

was forced to abandon its defence, and he and

his party retired precipitately to Aberdeen.

When Aboyne saw the colours of the Cove-

nanters flying on the bridge of Dee, he fled with

great haste towards Strathbogie, after releasing

the lairds of Purie OgUvy and Purie Fodder-

inghame, whom he had taken prisoners, and

carried with him from Aberdeen. The loss on

either side during the conflict on the bridge

was trifling. The only person of note who fell

on Aboyne's side was Seaton of Pitmedden, a

brave cavalier, who was killed by a cannon

shot while riding along the river side with

Lord Aboyne. On that of the Covenanters

was slain another valiant gentleman, a brother

of Ramsay of Balmain. About 14 persons of

inferior note were killed on each side, including

some burgesses of Aberdeen, and several were

wounded.

Montrose, reaching the north bank of the

Dee, proceeded immediately to Aberdeen,

which lie entered without opposition. So ex-

asperated were Montrose's followers at the

repeated instances of devotedness shown by

the inhabitants to the roj'al cause, that they

proposed to raze the to'WTi and set it on fire
;

but they were hindered from carrying their

design into execution by the firmness of Mon-

trose. The Covenanters, however, treated the

inhabitants very harshly, and imprisoned many

who were suspected of having been concerned

in opposing their passage across the Dee ; but

an end was put to these proceedings in conse-

quence of intelligence being brought on the fol-

lowing day (June 20th) of the treaty of paci-

fication which had been entered into between

the king and his subjects at Berwick, upon the

18th of that month. On receipt of this news,

Montrose sent a despatch to the Earl of Sea-

forth, who was stationed with his army on the

Spey, intimating the pacification, and desiring

him to (hsband his aniiy, with which order ha

instantly complied.



176 GENEEAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

The articles of pacification were preceded by

a declaration on the part of the king, in which

he stated, that although he could not conde-

scend to ratify and approve of the acts of the

Glasgow General Assembly, yet, notwithstand-

ing the many disorders which had of late been

cumraitted, he not only confirmed and made

good whatsoever his commissioner had granted

and promised, but he also declared that all mat^

ters ecclesiastical should be determined by the

assembUes of the kirk, and matters civil by

the parliament and other inferior judicatories

established by law. To settle, therefore, " the

general distractions " of the kingdom, his ma-

jesty ordered that a free general assembly

should be held at Edinburgh on the 6th August

following, at which he declared his intention,

" God willing, to be personally present;" and

he moreover ordered a parliament to meet at

Edinburgh on the 20th of the same month, for

ratifying the proceedings of the general assem-

bly, and settling such other matters as might

conduce to the peace and good of the kingdom

of Scotland. By the articles of pacification, it

was, inter alia, provided that the forces in

Scotland should be disbanded within forty-

eight hours after the publication of the de-

claration, and that aU the royal castles, forts,

and warlike stores of every description, should

be delivered up to his majesty after the said

publication, as soon as he should send to

receive them. Under the seventh and last

article of the treaty, the Marquis of Huntly

and his son. Lord Gordon, and some otliers

wlio had been detained prisoners in the castle

of Edinburgh by the Covenanters, were set at

liberty.

It has been generally supposed that neither

party had any smcere intention to observe the

conditions of the treaty. Certain it is, that the

Ink with which it was written was scarcely dry

before its violation was contemplated. On the

one hand, the king, before removing his army

from the neighbourhood of Berwick, required

the heads of theCovenanters to attend him there,

obviously with the object of gaining them over

to his side ; but, with the exception of three

commoners and tliree lords, Montrose, Lou-

don, and Lothian, they refused to obey. It

was at this conference that Charles, who ap-

parently had great persuasive powers, made

a convert of Montrose, who from that time

determined to desert his associates in arms

and to place himself under the royal standard.

The immediate strengthening of the forts of Ber-

wick and Carlisle, and the provisioning of the

castle of Edinburgh, were probably the sugges-

tions of Montrose, who would, of course, be

intrusted with the secret of Ms majesty's de-

signs. The Covenanters, on the other hand,

although making a show of disbanding their

army at Dunse, in reality kept a considerable

force on foot, which they quartered in different

parts of the country, to be in readiness for the

field on a short notice. The suspicious conduct

of the king certainly justified this precaution.

The general assembly met on the day fixed

upon, but, instead of attending in person as he

proposed, Charles appointed the Earl of Tra-

quair to act as his commissioner. After abolish-

ing the articles of Perth, the book of canons, the

liturg)', the high commission and episcopacy,

and ratifying the late Covenant, the assembly

was dissolved on the 30th of August, and

another general assembly was appointed to be

held at Aberdeen on the 28th of July of the fol-

lowing year, 1640. The parliament met next

day, viz., on the last day of August, and as there

were no bishops to represent the third estate,

fourteen minor barons were elected in their

stead. His majesty's commissioner protested

against the vote and against farther proceedings

till the king's mind should be known, and the

commissioner immechately sent off a letter ap-

prising him of the occurrence. Without waitr

ing for the king's answer, the parliament was

proceeding with a variety of bills for securing

the liberty of the subject and restraining the

royal prerogative, when it was unexpectedly

and suddenly prorogued, by an order from the

king, till the 2d of June in the following year.

If Charles had not already made up his mind

for war with his Scottish subjects, the conduct

of the parliament which he had just prorogued

determined him again to have recourse to arms

in vindication of his prerogative. He endea-

voured, at first, to enlist the sympathies of the

bulk of the English nation in his cause, but

without effect ; and his repeated appeals to his

English people, setting forth the rectitude of

his intentions and the justice of his cause,

being answered by men who questioned the
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one and denied the other, rather injured than

eerved him. The people of England were not

then in a mood to embark in a crusade against

the civil and religious liberties of the north;

and they had too much experience of the arbi-

trary spirit of the king to imagine that their

oivn liberties would be better secured by ex-

tinguishing the flame which burned in the

breasts of the sturdy and enthusiastic Cove-

nanters.

But notmthstanding the many discouraging

circimistances wliich surrounded him, Charles

displayed a firmness of resolution to coerce the

rebellious Scots by every means within his

reach. The spring and part of the summer of

1640 were spent by both parties in military

preparations. Field-Marshal Sir Alexander

Leslie of Balgony, an old and experienced

officer who had been in foreign service, was

appointed generalissimo of the Scots army by

the war committee. When mustered by the

general at Choicelee, it amounted to about

22,000 foot and 2,.500 horse. A council of

war was held at Dunse at which it was deter-

mined to invade England. Montrose, to whose

command a division of the army, consisting of

2,000 foot and 500 horse, was intrusted, was

absent when this meeting was held; but,

although his sentiments had, by this time,

undergone a complete change, seeing on his

return no chance of preventing the resolution

of the council, he dissembled his feelings and

openly approved of the plan. There seems to

be no doubt that in following this course he

intended, on the first favourable opportunity,

to declare for the king, and carry off such part

of the aiTuy as should be inclined to follow

him, which he reckoned at a third of the

whole. 3

The Earl of Argyle was commissioned by

the Committee of Estates to secure the west

and central Highlands. This, the eighth

Earl and first Marquis of Argyle, had suc-

ceeded to the title only in 1638, although

he had enjoyed the estates for many years

before that, as his father had been living in

Spain, an outlaw. He was born in 1.598,

and strictly educated in the protestant faith as

established in Scotland at the Eeformation.

' Wishart's Memoirs, Edin. 1819, p. 24.

In 1626 he was made a privy councillor, and

in 1634 appointed one of the extraordinary

lords of session. In 1638, at the General

Assembly of Glasgow, he openly went over to

the side of the Covenanters, and from that time

was recognised as their political head. Argyle,

in executing the task intrusted to him by tlie

committee, appears to have been actuated more

b}' feelings of private revenge than by an

honest desire to carry out the spirit of his

commission. The ostensible reason for his

undertaking this charge was his thorough ac-

quaintance with the Higlilands and the High-

landers, and his ability to command the ser-

vices of a large following of his own. " But the

cheefe cause," according to Gordon of Eotliie-

may,* " though least mentioned, was Argylle,

his spleene that he carryed upon the acconipt

of former disobleedgments betwixt his family

and some of the Highland clans: therefore he

was glade now to gett so faire a colour of

revenge upon the publicke score, which he did

not lett slippe. Another reasone he had

besyde; it was his designe to swallow upp

Badzenoch and Lochaber, and some landes

belonging to the Mackdonalds, a numerous

trybe, but haters of, and aeqwaUy hated by

Argylle." He had some hold on these two

districts, as, in 1639, he had become security

for some of Huntly's debts to the latter's

creditors. Argyle managed to seduce from

their allegiance to Huntly the clan Cameron

in Lochaber, who bore a strong resentment

against their proper chief on account of some

supposed injury done to the clan by the former

marquis. Although they had httle relish for

the Covenant, still to gratify their revenge,

they joined themselves to Argyle. A tribe

of the Macdonalds who inhabited Lochaber,

the Macranalds of Keppoch, who remained

faithful to Huntly, met with very different

treatment at the hands of Argyle, who devas-

tated their district and burnt down their chief's

dwelling at Keppoch.

During this same summer (July 1640),

Argyle, who had raised an army of about 5,000

men, made a devastating raid into the district

of Forfarshire belonging to the Earl of Airly.

He made first for Airly castle, about five

* Scots Affairs, iii. 163.
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miles north of Meigle, whicli, in the absence

of the earl in England, was held hy his son

Lord OgLIvie, who had recentty maintained it

against Montrose. Wlien Argyle came up,

Ogilvie saw that resistance was hopeless, and

abandoned the castle to the tender mercy of

the enemy. Argj'le without scruple razed the

place to the ground, and is said to liave shown

himself so " extremely earnest" in the work of

demolition " that he was seen taking a hammer

in his hande and knocking down the hewed

work of the doors and -Hdndows till he did

sweat for heat at his work."^ Argyle's men
carried off all they could from the house and

the surrounding district, and rendered useless

what they wer« compelled to leave beliind.

From Airly, Argyle proceeded to a seat be-

longing to Lord Ogilvie, Forthar in Glenisla,

the " bonnie house o' Airly," of the weU-knoA^Ti

song. Here he behaved in a manner for which

it would be difficult for his warmest supporters

to find the shadow of an excuse, even taking

into consideration the roughness of the times.

The place is said by Gordon to have been " no

strength," so that there is still less excuse for

his conduct. He treated Forthar in the same

way that he did Airly, and although Lady

Ogilvie, who at the time was close on her con-

finement, asked Argyle to stay proceedings

until she gave birth to her infiint, he without

scruple expelled her from the house, and pro-

ceeded with liis work of destruction. Not

only so, however, but " the Lady Drum, Dame
Marian Douglas, who lived at that time in

Kelly, hearing tell what extremity her grand-

child, the Lady Ogilvy, was reduced to, did

send a commission to Argyle, to whom the said

Lady Drum was a kinswoman, requesting that,

with his license, she might admit into her own

house, her grandchild, the Lady OgUvy, who
at that time was near her delivery; but Argyle

would give no license. This occasioned the

Lady Drum for to fetch the Lady Ogilvie to

her house of Kelly, and for to keep her there

upon all hazard that might follow."

At the same time Argyle " was not forgetful

to remember old quarrels to Sir John Ogilvie

of Craigie." He sent a sergeant to OgUvie's

house to warn him to leave it, but the sergeant

• Goidon of Rothiemay, iii. 165.

thought Argyle must have made some mistake,

as he found it no more than a simple unfortified

country house, occupied only by a sick gentle-

woman and some servants. The sergeant re-

First Marquis of Argyte.

turned and told this to Argyle, who waxed

wroth and told him it was his duty simply to

obey orders, commanding him at the same time

to return and " deface and spoil the house."

After the sergeant had received his orders,

Ai-gyle was observed to turn round and repeat

to himself the Latin political maxim Ahscin-

dantur qui nos perfurhant, " a maxime which

many thought that he practised accurately,

which h« did upon the account of the proverb

consequential thereunto, and which is the rea-

son of the former, which Argyle was remarked

likewise to have often in his mouth as a choice

aphorism, and well observed by statesmen.

Quod mortni non mordent."

Argyle next proceeded against the Earl of

Athole, who, with about 1,200 followers, was

lying in Breadalbane, ready to meet him.

Argyle, whose army was about five times the

size of Athole's, instead of giving fight, man-

j
aged by stratagem to capture Athole and some

of his friends, whom he sent to the Committer

of Estates at Edinburgh.
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Argyle, after having thus gratified his private

revenge and made a show of quieting the

Highlands, returned to the lowlands.*

On the 20th of August General Leslie crossed

the Tweed with his army, the van of which

was led by Montrose on foot. This task,

though performed with readiness and with

every appearance of good will, was not volun-

tarily undertaken, hut had been devolved upon

Montrose by lot ; none of the principal officers

daring to take the lead of their own accord in

such a dangerous enterprise. There can be

no doubt that ^Montrose was insincere in his

professions, and that those who suspected him

were right in tliinking that in his heart he

was turned Royalist," a supposition which his

correspondence with the king and his subse-

quent conduct fully justify.

Although the proper time had not arrived

for throwing off the mask, Montrose im-

mediately on his return to Scotland, after

the close of this campaign, began to concert

measures for counteracting the designs of the

Covenanters ; but his plans were embarrassed by

some of his associates disclosing to the Cove-

nanters the existence of an association wliich

Montrose had formed at Cumbernauld for sup-

porting the royal authority. A great outcry

was raised against Montrose in consequence,

but his influence was so great that the heads

of the Covenanters were afraid to show any

severity towards him. On subsequently dis-

covering, however, that the king had written

him letters which were intercepted and forcibly

taken from the messenger, a servant of the

Earl of Traquair, they apprehended him, along

with Lord Napier of Merchiston, and Sir

George Stirhng of Keith, his relatives and in-

timate friends, and imprisoned them in the

castle of Edinburgh. On the meeting of the

parhament at Edinburgh in July, 1641, which

was attended by the king in person, Montrose

demanded to be tried before them, but his appli-

cation was rejected by the Covenanters, who
obtained an order from the parliament proliib-

iting him from going into the king's presence.

After the king had returned to England, Mon-
trose and his feUow-prisoners were liberated,

' See Gordon of Rothiemay, iii. 163 et sen. Spal-
ding, i. 2fl0.

'^

' Outhrie's Memoirs, p. 70.

and he, thereupon, went to his o^vn castle,

where he remained for some time, ruminating

on the course he should pursue for the relief

of the king. The king, while in Scotland at

this time, conferred honours upon several of

the covenanting leaders, apparently for the

purpose of conciliation, Argyle being raised to

the dignity of a marquis.

Although Charles complied with the de-

mands of his Scottish subjects, and heaped

many favours and distinctions upon the heads

of the leading Covenanters, they were by no

means satisfied, and entered fully into the

hostile views of their brethren in the south,

with whom they made common cause. Ha\'iiig

resolved to send an army into England to join

the forces of the parliament, which had come

to an open rupture with the sovereign, they

attempted to gain over Montrose to their side

by offering him the post of lieutenant-general of

their army, and promising to accede to any

demands he might make; but he rejected all

their offers; and, as an important crisis was at

hand, he hastened to England in the early part

of the year 1643, in company with Lord

OgUvie, to lay the state of affairs before the

king, and to offer him his advice and service

in such an emergency. Charles, however,

either from a want of confidence in the judg-

ment of Montrose, who, to the rashness and

impetuosity of youth, added, as he was led to

believe, a desire of gratifying his personal

feelings and vanity, or overcome by the calcu-

lating but fatal poKcy of the Marquis of Ham-
ilton, who deprecated a fresh war between

the king and his Scottish subjects, dechned to

follow the advice of Montrose, who had offered

to raise an army immediately in Scotland to

support him.

A convention of estates called by the Cove-

nanters, without any authority from the king,

met at Edinburgh on the 22d of June, 1643,

and he soon perceived from the character and

proceedings of this assembly, the great majority

of which were Covenanters, the mistake he had

committed iu rejecting the advice of Montrose,

and he now resolved, thenceforth, to be guided

in his plans for subduing Scotland by the

opinion of that nobleman. Accordingly, at a

meeting held at Oxford, between the king and

Montrose, in the month of December, 1643,
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wlien the Scots army was about entering

England, it was agreed that the Earl of An-

trim, an Irish nobleman of great power and

influence, who then lived at Oxford, should be

sent to Ireland to raise auxiliaries with whom
he should make a descent on the west parts of

Scotland in the month of April following ;

—

that the Marquis of Newcastle, who commanded

the royal forces in the north of England, should

furnish Montrose with a party of horse, with

which he should enter the south of Scotland,

—that an application should be made to the

King of Denmark for some troops of German

horse; and that a quantity of arms should be

transported into Scotland from abroad.^

Instructions having been given to the Earl

of Antrim to raise the Irish levy, and Sir

James Cochran having been despatched to the

continent as ambassador for the king, to procure

foreign aid, Montrose left Oxford on his way

to Scotland, taking York and Durham in his

route. Near the latter city he had an inter-

view with the Marquis of Newcastle for the

purpose of obtaming a sufficient party of horse

to escort him into Scotland, but all he coidd

procure was about 100 liorse, badly appointed,

with two small brass field pieces.' The Mar-

quis sent orders to the king's officers, and to

the captains of the militia in Cumberland and

Westmoreland, to afford Montrose such assist-

ance as they could, and he was in consequence

joined on his way to Carlisle by 800 foot and

three troops of horse, of Cumberland and

Northumberland mUitia. With this small

force, and about 200 horse, consisting of noble-

men and gentlemen who had served as officers

in Germany, France, or England, Montrose

entered Scotland on the 13th of April, 1644.

He had not, however, proceeded far, when a

revolt broke out among the Enghsh soldiers,

who immediately returned to England. In

spite of this discouragement, Montrose pro-

ceeded on with his small party of liorse

towards Dumfries, which surrendered to him

without opposition. After waiting there a few

days, in expectation of hearing some tidings

respecting the Earl of Antrim's movements,

without receiving any, he retired to Carlisle,

" Wisliart.
' The Duchess of Newcastle says, in the memoirs of

hei hoahand, that the number was 200.

to avoid being surprised by the Covenantorn,

large bodies of whom were hovering about in

all directions.

To aid the views of Montrose, the king had

appointed the Marquis of Huntly, on whose

fidelity he could rely, his heutenant^general

in the north of Scotland. He, on hearing

of the capture of Dumfries by Montrose,

immediately collected a considerable body ot

horse and foot, consisting of Highlanders and

lowlanders, at Kiiicardine-O'Neil, with the

intention of crossing the Cairn-a-Mount ; but

being disappointed in not being joined by

some forces from Perthshire, Angus, and the

Mearns, which he expected, he altered his steps,

and proceeded towards Aberdeen, which he

took. Thence he despatched parties of his

troops through the counties of Aberdeen and

Banff, which brought in quantities of horses

and arms for the use of his army. One

party, consisting of 120 horse and 300 foot,

commanded by the young laird of Drum and

his brother, young Gicht, Colonel Nathaniel

Gordon and Colonel Donald Farquharson and

others, proceeded to the town of Montrose,

which they took, killed one of the bailies, made

the provost prisoner, and threw some cannon

into the sea as they could not carry them away.

But, on hearing that the Earl of Kiugliom was

advancing upon them with the forces of Angus,

they made a speedy retreat, leaving thirty of

their foot behind them prisoners. To protect

themselves against the army of the Marquis of

Huntly, the inhabitants of Moray, on the north

of the Spey, raised a regiment of foot and

three companies of horse, which were quartered

in the town of Elgin.

When the convention heard of Huntly's

movements, they appointed the Marquis of

Argyle to raise an army to quell this insurrec-

tion. He, accordingly, assembled at Perth

a force of 5,000 foot and 800 horse out of

Fife, Angus, Mearns, Aigjde, and Perthshire

with which he advanced on Aberdeen. Huntlj

.

hearing of his approach, fled from Al:)erdeL

and retired to the town of Banff, where, on

the day of his arrival, he disbanded his army

The marquis himself thereafter retii-ed to

Strathnaver, and took up liis residence with

the master of Eeay. Argyle, after taking

possession of A.berdeen, proceeded northward
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and took the castles of Gicht and Kellie, made

the lairds of Gicht and Haddo prisoners and

sent them to Edinburgh, the latter being, along

with one Captain Logan, afterwards beheaded, i

We now return to Montrose, who, after an

ineffectual attempt to obtain an accession of

force from the army of Prince Rupert, Count

Palatine of the Rhine, determined on again

entering Scotland with his little band. But

being desirous to learn the exact situation of

affairs there, before putting this resolution into

effect, he sent Lord Ogilvie and Sir William

RoUock into Scotland, in disguise, for that

purpose. They returned in about fourteen

days, and brought a spiritless and melancholy

account of the state of matters in the north,

where they found all the passes, towns,

and forts, in possession of the Covenanters,

and where no man dared to speak in favour

of the king. This intelligence was received

with dismay by Montrose's followers, who now
began to think of the best means of securing

their own safety. In this unpleasant conjunc-

ture of affairs, Montrose called them together

to consult on the line of conduct they should

pursue. Some advised Mm to return to Ox-

ford and inform liis majesty of the hopeless

Btate of his affairs in Scotland, while others

gave an opinion that he should resign his com-

mission, and go abroad till a more favourable

opportunity occurred of serving the king

;

but the cliivaLrous and undaunted spirit of

Montrose disdained to follow either of these

courses, and he resolved upon the desperate

expedient of venturing into the very heart of

Scotland, with only one or two companions, in

the hope of being able to raUy round his per-

son a force sufficient to support the declining

interests of his sovereign.

Having communicated this intention pri-

vately to Lord Ogilvie, he put imder his charge

the few gentlemen who had remained faithful

to him, that he might conduct them to the

king ; and having accompanied them to a dis-

tance, he withdrew from them clandestinely,

leaving his servants, horses, and baggage beliind

him, and returned to Carlisle. Having pre-

pared himself for his journey, he selected Sir

William Rollock, a gentleman of tried honour,

• Gordon of Sallagh, p. 519.

and one Sibbald, to accompany liim. Dis-

guised as a groom, and riding upon a lean,

worn-out horse, and leading anotlier in his

hand, Montrose passed for Sibbald's servant,

in which condition and capacity he proceeded

to the borders. The party had not proceeded

far when an occurrence took place, which

considerably disconcerted them. Meeting with

a Scottish soldier, who had served under the

Marquis of Newcastle in England, he, after

passing RoUock and Sibbald, went up to the

marquis, and accosted him by his name. Mon-

trose told him that he was qidte mistaken ; but

the soldier being positive, and judging that the

marquis was concerned in some important affair,

rephed, with a countenance which betokened

a kind heart, " Do not I know my lord Mar-

quis of Montrose well enough ? But go your

way, and God be with you."^ Wlien Montrose

saw that he could not preserve an incognito

from the penetrating eye of the soldier, he gave

him some money and dismissed him.

This occurrence excited alarm in the mind

of Montrose, and made him accelerate his

journey. Within four days he arrived at the

house of TuUibelton, among the bill s near the

Tay, which belonged to Patrick Graham of

Inchbrakie, his cousin, and a royalist. No
situation was better fitted for concocting his

plans, and for communicating with those clans

and the gentry of the adjoining lowlands who
stood well affected to the king. It formed, in

fact, a centre, or point d'appui to the royalists

of the Highlands and the adjoining lowlands,

from which a pretty regular communication

could be kept up, without any of those dangers

which would have arisen in the lowlands.

For some days Montrose did not venture tff

appear among the people in the neighbourhood,

nor did he consider himself safe even in TuUi-

belton house, but passed the night in an obscure

cottage, and in the day-time wandered alone

among the neighbouring mountains, ruminating

over the strange peculiarity of his situation, and

waiting the return of his feUow-traveUers, whom
he had despatched to collect inteUigence on the

state of the kingdom. These messengers came

back to him after some days' absence, bringing

^vith them the most cheerless accoimts of the

^ Wishart, p. 64,
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Eituation of the country, and of the persecu-

tions which the royalists suffered at the hands

of the Covenanters. Among other distressing

pieces of intelligence, they communicated to

Montrose the premature and unsuccessful at^

tempt of the Marquis of Huntly in favour of

the royal cause, and of his retreat to Strath-

naver to avoid the ftiry of his enemies. These

accounts greatly affected Montrose, who was

grieved to find that the Gordons, who were

stem royalists, should he exposed, by the aban-

donment of their chief, to the revenge of their

enemies ; but he consoled himself with the

reflection, that as soon as he should be enabled

to unfurl the royal standard, the tide of fortune

woi-dd turn.

While cogitating on the course he shovJd

pursue in this conjimcture, a report reached

him from some shepherds on the hills that a

body of Irish troops had landed in the West,

and was advancing through the Highlands.

Montrose at once concluded that these were

the auxiliaries whom the Earl of Antrim had

undertaken to send him four months before,

and such they proved to be. This force, which

amounted to 1,.500 men, was under the com-

mand of Alexander Macdonald, son of CoU

Mac-Gillespic Macdonald of lona, who had

been greatly persecuted by the family of Argyle.

Macdonald had arrived early in July, 1644,

among the Hebrides, and had landed and taken

the castles of Meigray and Kinloch Alan. He
had then disembarked his forces in Knoydart,

where he expected to be joined by the Marquis

of Huntly and the Earl of Seaforth. As he

advanced into the interior, he despatched the

fiery cross for the purpose of summoning the

clans to his standard ; but, although the cross

was carried through a large extent of country,

even to Aberdeen, he was joined at first only

by the clan Donald, under the captain of clan

Eanald, and the laird of Glengary. Tlie Mar-

quis of Argyle collected an army to oppose

the progress of Macdonald, and, to cut off

his retreat to Ireland, he sent some ships of

war to Loch Eishord, where Macdonald's fleet

lay, which captured or destroyed them. This

loss, while it frustrated an intention Macdonald

entertained of returning to Ireland, in conse-

quence of the disappointment he had met with

in nQt being joined by the clans, stimulated

him to farther exertions in continuing his

march, in the hope of meeting Montrose.

As Macdonald was perfectly ignorant of

Montrose's movements, and thought it likely

that he might be still at Carlisle, waiting tiU

he should hear of Macdonald's arrival, he sent

letters to him by the hands of a confidential

friend, who resided in the neighbourhood of

Inchbrakie's house. This gentleman, who
knew nothing of Montrose's return to Scotland,

having lucidly commimicated to Mr. Graham

the secret of being intrusted with letters to his

kinsman, Montrose, Graham offered to see them

safely delivered to Montrose, thoiigh he should

ride to Carlisle himself. The gentleman in

question then delivered the letters to Graham,

and Montrose having received them, wrote an

answer as if from Carlisle, in which he requested

Macdonald to keep up his spirits, that he would

soon be joined by a seasonable reinforcement

and a general at their head, and he ordered

him with all expedition to march down into

Athole. In fixing on Athole as the place of

his rendezvous, Montrose is said to have been

actuated by an implicit reliance on the fidelity

and loyalty of the Athole-men, and by a high

opinion of their courage. They lay, besides,

under many obligations to himself, and he cal-

culated that he had only to appear among

them to command their services in the cause of

their sovereign.

When Macdonald received these instructions,

he marched towards Athole ; but in passing

through Badenoch he was threatened with an

attack by the Earls of Sutherland and Seaforth,

at the head of some of their people, and by the

Erasers, Grants, Bosses, and Monroes, and

other inhabitants of ^loray, who had assembled

at the top of Strathspey; but Macdonald very

cautiously avoided them, and hastened into

Athole. On arriving in Athole, Macdonald

was coldly received by the people of that as

well as the surrounding country, who doubted

whether he had any authority from the king

;

and besides, they hesitated to place themselves

under the command of a person of neither

noble nor ancient lineage, and whom they con-

sidered an upstart. This indecision might

have proved fatal to Macdonald, who was

closely pressed in his rear by the army of

Argyle, had not these untoward deliberations
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been instantly put an end to by the arrival of

Montrose at Blair, where Macdonald had fixed

his head-quarters. Montrose had travelled

seventy miles on foot, in a Highland dress,

accompanied by Patrick Graham, his cousin,

as his gmde.^ His appearance was haUed by

his countrymen with every demonstration of

joy, and they immediately made hi in a spon-

taneous offer of their services.

Accordingly, on the following day, the

Athole-men, to the number of about 800, con-

sisting chiefly of the Stewarts and Eobertsons,

put themselves under arms and flocked to the

standard of Montrose. Thus, in little more

than twenty-four hours, Montrose saw himself

at the head of a force of upwards of 2,000 men,

animated by an enthusiastic attachment to his

person and to the cause which he had espoused.

The extraordinary contrast between his present

commanding position, and the situation in

which he was placed a few days before, as a

forlorn wanderer among the mountains, pro-

duced a powerful eflect upon the daring and

cliivalrous spirit of Montrose, who looked for-

ward to the success of his enterprise with the

eagerness of a man who considered the destinies

of liis sovereign as altogether depending upon

his individual exertions. Impressed with the

necessity of acting mth promptitude, he did

not hesitate long as to the course he should

pursue. He might have immediately gone in

quest of Argyle, who had followed the army of

Macdonald, with slow and cautious steps, and

by one of those sudden movements which no

man knew better how to execute with advan-

tage, surprised and defeated Ms adversary;

but such a plan did not accord with the designs

of Montrose, who resolved to open the cam-

paign at once in the lowlands, and thus give

confidence to the friends and supporters of

he king.

The general opinion which the Lowlanders

of this period entertained regarding their up-

land neighbours was not very respectful. A
covenanting wit, in a poem which he wrote

against the bishops only a few years before.

Bays of one whose extraction was from the

other side of the Grampians,

" A bishop and a Highlaudman, how can'st thou

honest be ?

' Wishart, p. 69.

as if these two qualifications were of them-

selves sufiicient, without any known vice, to

put a man completely beyond the pale of virtue.

It seems, indeed, to have been a general beHef

at the time that this primitive and sequestered

people, as they were avowedly out of the sav-

ing circle of the Covenant, were also out of the

limits of both law and religion, and therefore

hopelessly and utterly given up to aU sorts of

wickedness. Not only were mm-der and rob-

bery among the list of offences which they

were accused of daily committing, but there

even seems to have been a popular idea that

sorcery was a prevailing crime amongst them.

They were also charged with a general inclina-

tion to popery, an offence which, from the

alarms and superstitions of the time, had now
come, in general phraseology, to signify a con-

densation of all others. Along with tliis hor-

rible notion of the mountaineers, there was not

associated the slightest idea of their ardent and

chivalrous character; nor was there any general

sensation of terror for the power which they

undoubtedly possessed of annoying the peace-

ful inhabitants, and thwarting the poHcy of

the Low country, no considerable body of

Higlilanders having been there seen in arms

for several generations.

In pursuance of his determination, Montrose

put his small army in motion the same day to-

wards Strathearn, in passing through which he

expected to be joined by some of the inhabitants

of that and the adjoining country. At the

same time he sent forward a messenger with a

friendly notice to the Menzieses of liis inten-

tion to pass tlirough their country, but instead

of taking tliis in good part they maltreated the

messenger and harassed the rear of his army.

This unprovoked attack so exasperated Mon-

trose, that he ordered his men, when passing

by Weem castle, which belonged to the clan

Menzies, to plunder and lay waste their lands,

and to burn their houses, an order which was

hteraUy obeyed. He expected that this exam-

ple of summary vengeance woidd serve as a

useful lesson to djter others, who might be dis-

posed to imitate the conduct of the Menzieses,

from followuig a similar course. Notwith-

staniling the time spent in making these repri-

sals, Montrose passed the Tay with a part of

his forces the same evening, and the remainder
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followed very early the next mornmg. He
had, at the special request of the Athole-men

themselves, placed them imder the command

of his kinsman, Patrick Graham of Inchhrakie,

and he now sent him forward with a select

party to reconnoitre. Inchbrakie soon returned

with information that he had observed a party

of armed men stationed upon the hill of

Buchanty. On inquiry, Montrose ascertained

that this body was commanded by Lord Kil-

pont, eldest son of the Earl of Menteith, and

by Sir John Drummond, son of the Earl of

Perth, both of whom were his relations. The

force in question, which consisted of about 500

men, was on its way to Perth to join the other

covenanting troops who were stationed there.

Montrose immediately marched up to this

body, with the intention, if he could not pre-

vail on them to join him, of attacking them,

but before he had approached sufficiently near.

Lord Kilpont, who had ascertained that Mon-

trose commanded, sent some of his principal

officers to him to ascertain what his object was

in thus advancing. Montrose having explained

his views and stated that he acted by the king's

authority, and having entreated them to return

to their allegiance, they and the whole of their

party immediately joined him. This new ac-

cession augmented Montrose's army to about

3,000 men.

Montrose now learned from his new allies

that the Covenanters had assembled their forces

in great numbers at Perth, and that they lay

there waiting for his approach. The cove-

nanting army, in fact, was more than double

that of Montrose, amounting to about 6,000

foot and 700 horse, to which were attached

four pieces of artillery. Montrose, on the

other hand, had not a single horseman, and

but three horses, two of which were for his

o^vn use, and the other for that of Sir WUliam
Eollock, and besides he had no artUlery. Yet

with such a decided disparity, Montrose re-

solved to march directly to Perth and attack

the enemy. He appears to have been influenced

in this resolution by the consideration of the

proximity of Argyle with his ai-my, and

the danger in which he would be placed by

being hemmed in by two hostile armies : he

could expect to avoid such an embarrassment

only by risking an immediate engagement.

As the day was too far advanced to proceed

to Perth, Montrose ordered his men to bivouac

during the night about three miles fi-om

Buchanty, and began his march by dawn of

day. As soon as Lord Elcho, the commander

of the covenanting army, heard of Montrose's

approach, he left Perth and drew up his army

on Tippermuir, a plain of some extent between

four and five miles west from the town. Re-

serving to himself the command of the right

wing, he committed the charge of the left to

Sir James Scott, an able and skilfid officer,

who had served with great honour in the

Venetian army ; and to the Earl of Tullibar-

dine he intrusted the command of the centre.

The horse were divided and placed on each

wing with the view of surrounding the army

of Montrose, should he venture to attack them

in their position. As soon as Montrose per-

ceived the enemy thus drawn up in battle

array, he made the necessary dispositions for

attacking them. To counteract as much as

possible the danger arising to such a small

body of men, improtected by cavalry, from the

extended line of tlie Covenanters, Montrose

endeavoured to make his line as extensive as

possible with safety, by limiting his files to

three men deep. As the Irish had neither

swords nor pikes to oppose the cavalry, they

were stationed in the centre of the line, and

the Highlanders, who were provided with

swords and Lochaber axes, were placed on the

wings, as better fitted to resist the attacks of

the cavalry. Some of the Highlanders were,

however, quite destitute of arms of every de-

scription, and it is related on the authority of

an eye-witness that Montrose, seeing their help-

less condition, thus quaintly addressed them :

—

" It is true you have no arms
;
your enemies,

however, have plenty. My advice, therefore, is,

that as there happens to be a great abundance

of stones upon this moor, every man should

provide himself, in the first place, with as

stout a stone as he can well manage, rush

up to the first Covenanter he meets, beat out

his brains, take his sword, and then, I be-

lieve, he win be at no loss how to proceed."*

This advice, as will be seen, was really acted

upon. As Montrose was almost destitute of

"* GcnUemmi's Mag., vol. xvi. p. 153.
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powder, he ordered the Irish forces to husband

their iire till they should come close to the

enemy, and after a simultaneous discharge

from the three ranks, (the front rank kneel-

ing,) to assail the enemy thereafter as they best

could. To oppose the left ^ving of the Cove-

nanters, commanded by Sir James Scott, Mon-

trose took upon himself the command of liis

own right, placing Lord Kilpont at the head

of the left, and Macdonald, his major-general,

over the centre.

During the progress of these arrangements,

Montrose despatched an accomplished young

nobleman, named Drunimond, eldest son of

Lord Maderty, with a message to the chiefs of

the Covenanters' army, entreating them to lay

down their arms and return to their duty and

obedience to their sovereign. Instead, how-

ever, of returning any answer to tliis message,

they seized the messenger, and sent him to

Perth under an escort, with an intimation that,

on obtaining a victory over his master, they

would execute him. Indeed, the probability of

a defeat seems never for a moment to have

entered into the imaginations of the Covenant-

ers, and they had been assured by Frederick

Carmiohael, a minister who had preached to

them the same day, being Sunday, 1st Septem-

ber, " that if ever God spoke truth out of his

mouth, he promised them, in the name of God,

a certain victory that day."^

There being no hopes, therefore, of an accom-

modation, both armies, after advancing towards

each other, remained motionless for a short

time, as if unwilling to begin the attack ; but

this state of matters was speedily put an end to

by the advance of a select skirmishing party

\mder the command of Lord Drummond, sent

out from the main body of the covenanting

army, for the double purpose of distracting the

attention of Montrose, and inducing his troops

to leave their ranks, and thus create confusion

among them ; but Montrose kept liis men in

check, and contented himself with sending out

a few of liis men to oppose them. Lord Drum-

mond, whom BaiUie appears to have suspected

of treachery, and his party were routed at the

first onset, and fled back upon the main body

in great disorder. This trivial affair decided

" VVishart, p. 77.

the fate of the day, for the Covenanters, many

of whom were undisciplined, seeing the luiex-

pected defeat of Lord Dnimmond's party, be-

came quite dispirited, and began to show

s3Tnptoms which indicated a disposition for

immediate flight. The confusion into -which

the main body had been thrown by the retreat

of the advanced party, and the indecision wliich

seemed now to prevail in the Covenanters' anny

in consequence of that reverse, were observed

by the watchful eye of Montrose, who saw that

the favourable moment for striking a decisive

blow had arrived. He therefore gave orders to

liis men to advance, who, immediately setting

up a loud shout, rushed forward at a quick pace

towards the enemy. They were met by a ran-

dom discharge from some cannon which the

Covenanters had placed in front of their armj^,

but which did little or no execution. When
sufficiently near, Montrose's musketeers halted,

and, as ordered, poured a volley into the main

rank of the Covenanters, which immediately

gave way. The cavalry of the Covenanters,

thereupon, issued from their stations and at-

tacked the royalists, who, in their turn, de-

fended themselves with singular intrepidity.

Wliile the armed Highlanders made ample use

of their Lochaber axes and swords, the Irish

steadily opposed the attacks of the horse with

the butt ends of their muskets ; but the most

efi'ective annoyance which the cavalry met with

appears to have proceeded from the unarmed

Higlilanders, who having supplied themselves

with a quantity of stones, as suggested by

Montrose, discharged them with well-directed

aim at the horses and their riders. The result

was, that after a short struggle, the cavalry were

obliged to make a precipitate retreat. While

this contest was going on, another part of

Montrose's army was engaged with the right

wing of the covenanting army, under Sir James

Scott, but although this body made a longer and

more determined resistance, and galled the party

opposed to them by an incessant fii'e of mus-

ketry, they were at last overpowered by the

Athole-men, who rushed upon them with their

broad-swords, and cut down and wounded a

considerable number. The rout of the Cove-

nanters now became general. The horsemen

saved themselves by the fleetness of theii

horses; but during the pursuit, which was kept
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up to a distance of six or seven miles, many

hundreds of foot were killed, and a consider-

able number made prisoners,^ some of wliom

afterwards served in Montrose's army. The

loss on the side of Montrose appears to have been

very trifling. By this victor}^, and the subse-

quent capture of Perth, which he entered the

same day, Montrose was enabled to equip his

army with all those warlike necessaries of

which it had been so remarkably destitute in

the morning, and of wliich the Covenanters

left him an abundant supply.^

CHAPTER XIII.

A. D. 1644 (September^—1645 (Febhuaet).

BRITISH sovereign:—Charles I., 1625—1649.

Muntrose crosses the Tay to Collace—Marches through
Angus and Mearns— Battle of Aberdeen—Supine-

ness of the Gordons— Movements of Argyle—Mon-
trose retreats through Badeuoch—Second march of

Montrose to the north—Battle of Fyvie—Montrose
retreats to Strathbogie—Secession from his camp

—

Montrose enters and wastes Breadalbane and Argyle
—Marches to Lochness—Ai'gyle enters Lochaber

—

Battle of Inverlochy.

Montrose now entertained confident expecta-

tions that many of the royalists of the sur-

rounding country who had liitherto kept aloof

would join him; but after remaining tliree days

at Perth, to give them an opportunity of rally-

ing round his standard, he had the mortifica-

tion to find that, with the exception of

Lords Dupplin and Spynie, and a few gentle-

men from the Carse of Gowrie, who came to

him, his anticipations were not to be realiied.

The spirits of the royaUsts had been too much
subdued by the severities of tlie Covenanters

for them all at once to risk their lives and for-

tunes on the issue of what they had long con-

sidered a hopeless cause; and although Mon-
trose had succeeded in dispersing one army

with a greatly inferior force, yet it was well

' There is a great discrepancy between contemporary
writers as to the number killed. Wisliart states it at

2,000; Spalding, at 1,300, and 800 prisoners; though
he says that some reckoned the number at 1,500
killed. Gordon of Sallagh mentions only 300. Gor-
don of Ruthvcn, in Britanes Distemper, gives the
number at 2,000 killed and 1,000 prisoners. Baillie

says (vol. ii. p. 233, ed. 1841) that no quarter was
given, and not a prisoner was taken.

' BritaiK's Distemper, p. 73.

known that that army was composed of raw

and vmdisciplined men, and that the Covenant-

ers had still large bodies of well-trained troops

in the field.

Thus disappointed in his hopes, and under-

standing that the Marquis of Argyle was fast

approaching with a large army, Montrose

crossed the Tay on the 4th of September, di-

recting his course towards Coupar-Angus, and

encamped at night in the open fields near Col-

lace. His object in proceeding nortliward was

to endeavour to raise some of the loyal clans,

and thus to put himself in a sufficiently strong

condition to meet Argyle. Montrose had given

orders to the army to march early next morn-

ing, but by break of day, and before the driuus

had beat, he was alarmed by an uproar in the

camp. Perceiving his men runn ing to their

arms in a state of fury and rage, Montrose, ap-

prehensive that the Highlanders and Irish had

quarrelled, immediately rushed in among the

thickest of the crowd to pacify them, but to liis

great grief and dismay, he ascertained that the

confusion had arisen from the assassination of

his valued friend Lord Kilpont. He had fall-

en a victim to the blind fury of James Stewart

of Ardvoirhch, with whom he had slept the

same night, and who had long enjoyed his con-

fidence and friendship. According to Wishart,

wishing to ingratiate himself with the Cove-

nanters, he formed a design to assassinate Mon-

trose or his major-general, Macdonald ; and

endeavoured to entice Kilpont to concirr in his

wicked project. He, therefore, on the night in

question, slept with his lordship, and having

prevailed upon him to rise and take a walk in

the fields before dayhght, on the pretence of re-

freshing themselves, he there disclosed his hor-

rid purpose, and entreated his lordship to con-

cur therein. Lord Kilpont rejected the base

proposal with horror and indignation, wliich so

alarmed Stewart that, afraid lest his lordsliip

might discover the matter, he suddenly drew

his dirk and mortally wounded Kilpont.

Stewart, thereupon, fled, and thereafter joined

the Marquis of Argyle, who gave him a com-

mission in his army.'

' Wishart, p. 84.— Stewart's descendant, the late

Robert Stewart of Ardvoirhch, gives an account of

the above incident, founded on a '* constant tradition

in the family," tending to show that his ancestor was
not so much a man of base and treacherous character.
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Montrose now marched upon Dundee, wliich

refused to surrender. Not wishing to waste

his time upon the hazardous issue of a siege

with a hostile army in his rear, Montrose pro-

ceeded through Angus and the Meams, and in

the course of his route was joined by the Earl

of Airly, his two sons, Sir Thomas and Sir

David Ogilvie, and a considerable number of

their friends and vassals, and some gentlemen

from the Mearns and Aberdeenshire. This was

a seasonable addition to Montrose's force, which

had been greatly weakened by the absence of

some of the Highlanders who had gone home
to deposit their spoils, and by the departure of

Lord KUpont's retainers, who had gone to Mon-

teith with his corpse.

After the battle of Tippermuir, Lord Elcho

had retired, with his regiment and some fugi-

tives, to Aberdeen, where he found Lord

Burleigh and other commissioners from the

convention of estates. As soon as they heard

of the approach of Montrose, Burleigh, who
acted as chief commissioner, immediately as-

sembled the Eorbeses, the Erasers, and the

other friends of the covenanting interest, and

did everything in his power to gain over to his

side as many persons as he could from those

districts where Montrose expected assistance.

In tliis way Burleigh increased his force to

2,.50O foot and 500 horse, but some of these,

consisting of Gordons, and others who were

obliged to take up amis, could not be relied

upon.

When Montrose heard of these preparations,

he resolved, notwithstanding the disparity of

force, his own army now amounting only to

as of "violent passions and singular temper." James
Stewart, it is said, was so irritated at the Irish, for com-
mitting some excesses on lands belonging to him, that
he challenged their commander, Macdonald, to single
combat. By advice of KUpont, Montrose arrested both,
and brought about a seeming conciliation. When
encamped at CoUace, Montrose gave an entertain-
ment to his officers, on returning from which Ardvoir-
lich, " heated with drink, began to blame Kilpont for

the part he had taken in preventing his obtaining re-

dress, and reflecting against Montrose for not allowing
him what he considered proper reparation. Kilpont,
of course, defended the conduct of himself and his
relative, Montrose, till their argument came to high
words, acd finally, from the state they were both in,

by an easy transition, to blows, when Ardvoirlich, with
his dirk, struck Kilpont dead on the spot." He fled,

leaving his eldest son, Henry, mortally wounded at
Tippermuir, on his death-bed.— Introd. to Legend oj

Memtrose.

1,500 foot and 44 horse, to hasten his march

and attack them before Argyle should come up.

On arriving near the bridge of Dee, he found

it strongly fortified and guarded by a consider-

able force. He did not attempt to force a pas-

sage, but, directing his course to the west, along

the river, crossed it at a ford at the MiUs of

Drum, and encamped at Crathas that night

(Wednesday, 11th September). The Cove-

nanters, the same day, drew up their army at

the Two Mile Cross, a short distance from

Aberdeen, where they remained till Thursday

night, when they retired into the town. On
the same night, Montrose marched down Dee-

side, and took possession of the ground which

the Covenanters had just left.^

On the following morning, viz., Friday, 13th

September, about eleven o'clock, the Covenant-

ers marched out of Aberdeen to meet Montrose,

who, on their approach, despatched a driunmer

to beat a parley, and sent a commissioner

along with him bearing a letter to the pro-

vost and baUies of Aberdeen, commanding and

charging them to surrender the town, promis-

ing that no more harm should be done to it

;

" otherwise, if they would disobey, that then

he desired them to remove old aged men,

women, and children out of the way, and to

stand to their own perU." Immediately on

receipt of this letter, the provost called a meet-

ing of the council, wliich was attended by Lord

Burleigh, and, after a short consultation, an

answer was sent along with the commissioner

declining to surrender the town. On their

return the di-ummer was killed by the Cove-

nanters, at a place called Justice Mills ; which

violation of the law of nations so exasperated

Montrose, that he gave orders to his men not

to spare any of the enemy who might fall into

their hands. His anger at this occurrence is

strongly depicted by Spalding, who says, that

" he grew mad, and became furious and im-

patient."

As soon as Montrose received notice of the

refusal of the magistrates to surrender the town,

he made the necessary dispositions for attack-

ing the enemy. Erom his paucity of cavalry,

he was obliged to extend his line, as he had

done at Tippermuir, to prevent the enemy

' Spalding, vol. ii. p. 405.
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from surrounding or outflaiildng him with

their horse, and on each of his wings he posted

his small body of horsemen along with select

parties of musketeers and archers. To James

Hay and Sir Nathaniel Gordon he gave the

command of the right wing, committing the

charge of the left to Sir WUliam EoUock, all

men of tried bravery and experience.

The Covenanters began the battle by a can-

nonade from their field-pieces, and, from their

commanding position, gave considerable annoy-

ance to the royal forces, who were very defi-

cient in artillery. After the firing had been

kept up for some time, Lord Lewis Gordon,

third son of the Marquis of Huntly, a young

man of a very ardent tlisposition, and of a vio-

lent and changeable temper, who commanded

the left wing of the Covenanters, having ob-

tained possession of some level gi'ound where

liis horse coidd act, made a demonstration to

attack Montrose's right wing ; wliich being ob-

served by Montrose, he immediately ordered

Sir William EoUock, with his party of horse,

from the left wing to the assistance of the right.

These united wings, wliich consisted of only

44 horse, not only repulsed the attack of a

body of 300, but tlirew them into complete

disorder, and forced them to retreat upon the

main body, leaving many dead and woimded

on the field. Montrose restrained these brave

cavaliers from pursuing the body they had

routed, anticipating that their services might

be soon required at the other wing ; and he

was not mistaken, for no sooner did the cove-

nanting general perceive the retreat of Lord

Lewis Gordon than he ordered an attack to be

made upon the left wing of Montrose's army

;

but Montrose, with a celerity almost unex-

ampled, moved his whole cavalry from the

right to the left wing, which, falling upon the

flank of their assailants sword in hand, forced

them to fly, with gi'eat slaughter. In this

aft'air Montrose's horse took Forbes of Craigie-

var and Forbes of Boyndlie prisoners.

The unsuccessful attacks on the wings of

Montrose's army had in no shape affected the

future fortune of the day, as both armies kept

their ground, and were equally animated with

nopes of ultimate success. Vexed, but by no

means intimidated by their second defeat, the

gentlemen who composed Burleigh's horse con-

sidted together as to the best mode of renewing

the attack ; and, being of opinion that the suc-

cess of Montrose's cavalry was owing cliiefly to

the expert musketeers, with whom they were

interlined, they resolved to imitate the same

plan, by mixing among them a select body of

foot, and renewing the charge a third time,

with redoubled energy. But this scheme,

which might have proved fatal to Montrose, if

tried, was frustrated by a resolution he came

to, of making an instant and simultaneous

attack upon the enemy. Perceiving their

horse still in great confusion, and a consider-

able way apart from their main body, he deter-

mined upon attacking them with his foot before

they should get time to rally ; and galloping

up to his men, who had been greatly gaUed by

the enemies' cannon, he told them that there

was no good to be expected by the two armies

keeping at such a distance—that in this way
there was no means of distinguishing the

strong from the weak, nor the coward from

the brave man, but that if they would once

make a home charge upon these timorous and

eifeminate stripUngs, as he called Burleigh's

horse, they would never stand their attack.

" Come on, then," said he, " my brave feUow-

soldiers, fall down upon them with your swords

and muskets, drive them before you, and make
them suffer the punishment due to their perfidy

and rebellion." 1 These words were no sooner

uttered, than Montrose's men rushed forward

at a quick pace and fell upon the enemy, sword

in hand. The Covenanters were paralyzed

by the suddenness and impetuosity of the

attack, and, turning their backs, fled in the

utmost trepidation and confusion, towards

Aberdeen. The slaughter was tremendous, as

the victors spared no man. The road leading

from the field of battle to Aberdeen was strewed

with the dead and the dying; the streets of

Aberdeen were covered with the bodies, and

stained with the blood of its inliabitants.

" The lieutenant followed the chase into Aber-

deen, his men hewing and cutting down all

manner of men they could overtake, within the

town, upon the streets, or in the houses, and

roimd about the town, as our men were fleeing

with broad swords, but (i.e. without) mercy

' Wishart, p, 89
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or remeid. Tlieir cruel Irish, seeing a man

well clad, would first tyr (strip) hi™ and save

his clothes unspoiled, syne kill the nian."^

In fine, according to this writer, who was an

eye-witness, the town of Aherdeen, which, but

a few years before, had suffered for its loyalty,

was now, by the same general who had then

-ppressed it, delivered up by him to be indis-

crimmately plimdered by his Irish forces, for

having espoused the same cause which he him-

self had supported. For four days did these

men indulge in the most dreadful excesses,

"and nothing," continues Spalding, was "heard

but pitiful howling, crying, weeping, mourning,

tlirough aU the streets." Yet Guthry says

that Montrose " shewed great mercy, both

pardoning the people and protecting their

goods." ^

It is singular, that although the battle con-

tinued for four hours without any determinate

result, Montrose lost very few men, a circum-

stance the more extraordinary as the cannon of

the Covenanters were placed upon advantageous

ground, whilst those of Montrose were rendered

quite ineffective by being situated in a position

from which they could not be brought to bear

upon the enemy. An anecdote, characteristic

of the bravery of the Irish, and of their cool-

ness in enduring the privations of war, has

been preserved. During the cannonade on the

side of the Covenanters, an Irislunan had his

leg shot away by a cannon ball, but which

kept stQl attached to the stump by means of

a smaU bit of skin, or flesh. His comrades-in-

arms being affected with his disaster, this brave

man, without betraying any symptoms of pain,

thus cheerfully addi'essed them :
—" This, my

companions, is the fate of war, and what none

of us ought to grudge : go on, and behave as

becomes you ; and, as for me, I am certain my
lord, the marquis, will make me a trooper, as

I am now disabled for the foot service." Then,

taking a knife from his pocket, he deliberately

opened it, and cut asunder the skin which

retained the leg, without betraying the least

emotion, and delivered it to one of liis com-

panions for interment. As soon as this cour-

ageous mar. was able to mount a horse, his

wish to become a trooper was complied with.

Spalding, toL iL 407. Memoirs, p. 13JU

in which capacity he afterwards distinguished

himself. *

Hoping that the news of the victory he had

obtained would create a strong feeling in his

favour among the Gordons, some of whom had

actually fought against him, under the com-

mand of Lord Lewis Gordon, Montrose sent a

part of his army towards Kintore and Inver-

lU'y, the following day, to encourage the people

of the surrounding country to declare for liim

;

but he was sadly disappointed in his expecta-

tions. The fact is, that ever since the appoint-

ment of Montrose as lieutenant-general of the

kingdom,—an appointment which trenched

upon the authority of the Marquis of Huntly as

lieutenant of the north,—the latter had become

quite lukewarm in. the cause of his sovereign

;

and, although he was aware of the intentions

of his son. Lord Lewis, to join the Covenanters,

he quietly allowed him to do so without re-

monstrance. But, besides being thus, in some

measure, superseded by Montrose, the marquis

was actuated by personal hostility to him on

account of the treatment he had formerly

received from him ; and it appears to have been

partly to gratify his spleen that he remained a

passive observer of a struggle which involved

the very existence of the monarchy itself

Whatever may have been Huntly's reasons foi

not supporting Montrose, his apathy and in-

difference had a deadening influence upon lii?

numerous retainers, who had no idea of taking

the field but at the command of their chief

As Montrose saw no possibility of opposing

the powerfid and weU-appointed anny of Ar-

gyle, which was advancing upon him with

slow and cautious steps, disappointed as he had

been of the aid which he had calculated upon,

he resolved to march into the Higlilands, and

there collect such of the clans as were favour-

ably disposed to the royal cause. Leaving

Aberdeen, therefore, on the 16th of September,

with the remainder of his forces, he joined the

camp at Kintore, whence he despatched Sir

"Wmiam Rollock to Oxford to inform the king

of the events of the campaign, and of liis

present situation, and to solicit him to send

supplies.

We must now advert to the progress of

* Wishart, p. 9]
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Argyle's army, the slow movements of •wldch

form an unfavourable contrast with the rapid

marches of Montrose's army. On the 4th of

September, four days after the battle of Tip-

permuir, Argyle, who had been pursuing the

Irish forces under Macdonald, had arrived with

his Highlanders at Stirling, where, on the

following day, he was joined by the Earl of

Lothian and his regiment, which had shortly

before been brought over from Ireland. After

raising some men in Stirlingshire, he marched

to Perth upon the 10th, where he was joined

by some Eife men, and Lord Bargenny's and

Sir Frederick Hamilton's regiments of horse,

which had been recalled from Newcastle for

that purpose. With this increased force, which

now consisted of about 3,000 foot and two

regular cavalry regiments, besides ten troops

of horse, Argyle left Perth on the 14th of

September for the north, and in liis route

was joined by the Earl Marshal, Lords Gor-

don, Fraser, and Crichton, and other Covenant-

ers. He arrived at Aberdeen upon the 19th

of September, where he issued a proclamation,

declaring the Marquis of Montrose and his

followers traitors to religion and to their king

and country, and offering a reward of 20,000

pounds Scots, to any person who should bring

in Montrose dead or alive.^ Spalding laments

\vith great pathos and feeling the severe hard-

ships to which the citizens of Aberdeen had

been subjected by these frequent visitations of

hostile armies, and alluding to the present oc-

cupancy of the town by Argyle, he observes

that " this multitude of people hved upon free

quarters, a new grief to both towns, whereof

there was quartered on poor old Aberdeen

Argyle's own three regiments. The soldiers

had their baggage carried, and craved nothing

but house-room and fire. But ilk captain,

with twelve gentlemen, had free quarters, (so

long as the town had meat and chink,) for two

ordinaries, but the third ordinary they furnished

themselves out of their own baggage and pro-

visions, having store of meal, molt and sheep,

carried with them. But, the first night, they

drank out all the stale ale in Aberdeen, and

lived upon wort thereafter." ^

Argyle was now within half a day's march

" Spalding, vol. ii. p. 414. * Idem.

of Montrose, but, strange to tell, he made no

preparations to foUow him, and spent two or

three days in Aberdeen doing absolutely

nothing. After spending this time in inglori

ous supineness, Argyle put his army in motion

in the direction of Kintore. Montrose, on

hearing of his approach, concealed his cannon

in a bog, and leaving behind him some of his

heavy baggage, made towards the Spey with

the intention of crossing it. On arriving at

the river, he encamped near the old castle of

Eothiemurchus ; but finding that the boats used

iQ passing the river had been removed to the

north side of the river, and that a large armed

force from the country on the north of the

Spey had assembled on the opposite bank to

oppose his passage, Montrose marched his

army into the forest of Abernethy. Argyle

only proceeded at first as far as Strathbogie;

but instead of pursuing Montrose, he allowed

his troops to waste their time in plundering

the properties and laying waste the lands of

the Gordons in Strathbogie and the Enzie,

under the very eyes of Lord Gordon and Lord

Le-\vis Gordon, neither of whom appears to have

endeavoured to avert such a calamity. Spald-

ing says that it was "a wonderful unnaturalitie

in the Lord Gordon to suffer his father's lands

and friends in his own sight to be thus wreckt

and destroyed in his father's absence
;

" but

Lord Gordon likely had it not in his power to

stay these proceedings, which, if not done at

the instigation, may have received the appro-

bation of his violent and headstrong younger

brother, who had joined the Covenanters' stand-

ard. On the 27th of September, Argyle mus-

tered his forces at the Bog of Gicht, when they

were foimd to amount to about 4,000 men; but

although the army of Montrose did not amoimt

to much more than a thii-d of that number,

and was within twenty miles' distance, he did

not venture to attack him. Aj'ter remaining a

few days in Abernethy forest, Montrose passed

through the forest of Eothiemurchus, and follow-

ing the course of the Spey, marched through

Badenoch to Athole, which he reached on 1st

October.

^'^Tien Argyle heard of the departure of

Montrose from the forest of Abernethy, he

made a feint of following him. He accord-

ingly set his army in motion along Spey- side,

^
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and crossing the river himself with a few horse,

marched up some distance along the north

bank, and recrossed, when he ordered his troops

to halt. He then proceeded to Forres to at-

tend a committee meeting of Covenanters to

concert a plan of operations in the north, at

which the Earl of Sutherland, Lord Lovat, the

sheriff of ]\loray, the lairds of Balnagown,

Innes and Pluscardine, and many others were

present. From Forres Aigyle went to Inver-

ness, and after giving some instructions to Sir

Mungo Campbell of Lawers, and the laird of

Buchanan, the commanders of the regiments

stationed there, he returned to his army, which

he marched through Badenooh in pursuit of

Jlontrose. From Athole Montrose sent Mae-

donald with a party of 500 men to the Western

Highlands, to invite the laird of Maclean, the

captain of clan Eanald, and others to join him.

Marching down to Dunkeld, Montrose himself

jjroceeded rapidly through Angus towards

Brechin and Montrose.''

Although some delay had been occasioned

in Montrose's movements by his illness for a

few days in Badenoch, this was fuUy compen-

sated for by the tardy motions of Axgyle, who,

on entering Badenoch, found that his vigOant

antagonist was several days' march a-head of

him. This intelligence, however, did not in-

duce him in the least to accelerate his march.

Hearing, when passing through Badenoch, that

Montrose had been joined by some of the in-

habitants of that country, Argyle, according to

Spalding, " left notliing of that country un-

destroyed, no not one four footed beast ;
" and

Athole shared a similar fate.

At the time Montrose entered Angus, a com-

mittee of the estates, consisting of the Earl

Marshal and other barons, was sittiug in Aber-

deen, who, on hearing of his approach, issued

on the 10th of October a printed order, to which

the Earl Marshal's name was attached, ordain-

ing, under pain of being severely fined, all

persons, of whatever age, sex, or condition,

haviug horses of the value of forty pounds

Scots or upwards, to send them to the bridge

of Dee, which was appointed as the place of

rendezvous, on the 14th of October, by ten

clock, A. M., with riders fully equipped and

' Guthry, p. 231.

armed. With the exception of Lord Gordon,

who brought three troops of horse, and Captain

Alexander Keith, brother of the Earl Marshal,

who appeared with one troop at the appointed

place, no attention was paid to the order of the

committee by the people, who had not yet

recovered from their fears, and their recent

sufferings were still too fresh in their minds to

induce them again to expose themselves to the

vengeance of Montrose and his Irish troops.

After refresliing his army for a few days in

Angus, Montrose prepared to cross the Gram-

pians, and march to Strathbogie to make
another attempt to raise the Gordons ; but,

before setting out on his march, he released

Forbes of Craigievar and Forbes of Boyndlie,

on their parole, upon condition that Craigievar

should procure the liberation of the young laird

of Drum and his brother from the jail of Edin-

burgh, failing which, Craigievar and Boynd-

lie were both to deliver themselves up to him

as prisoners before the 1st of November. Tliis

act of generosity on the part of Montrose was

greatly admired, more particularly as Craigievar

was one of the heads of the Covenanters, and

had great influence among them. In pursu-

ance of his design, Montrose marched through

the Meams, and upon Thursday, the 17th of

October, crossed the Dee at the Mills of Drum,

with his whole army. In his progress north,

contrary to his former forbearing pohcy, he

laid waste the lands of some of the leading

Covenanters, burnt their houses, and plundered

their effects. He arrived at Stratlibogie on the

19th of October, where he remained till the

27th, without being able to induce any con-

siderable number of the Gordons to join bim

It was not from want of inclination that they

refused to do so, but they were unwilling
to incur the displeasure of their chief, who
they knew was personally opposed to Mon-

ti ose, and who felt indignant at seeing a man
who had formerly espoused the cause of the

Covenanters preferred before htm. Had Mon-

trose been accompanied by any of the Marquis

of Huntly's sons, they might have had influence

enough to have induced some of the Gordons

to declare for him ; but the situation of the

marquis's three sons was at this time very pecu

liar. The eldest son. Lord Gordon, a young

man " of singidar worth and accomplishments."
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was with. Argyle, his uncle by the mother's

side ; the Earl of Abojoie, the second son, was

shut up in the castle of Carlisle, then in a state

of siege ; and Lord Lewis Gordon, the third

eon, had, as we have seen, joined the Cove-

nanters, and fought in their ranks.

In this situation of matters, Montrose left

Strathhogie on the day last mentioned, and

took up a position in the forest of Fyvie,

where he despatched some of liis troops, who

took possession of the castles of Fyvie and

Tollie Barclay, in which he found a good sup-

ply of provisions, which was of great service to

his army. During his stay at Strathhogie,

Montrose kept a strict outlook for the enemy,

and scarcely passed a night without scouring

the neighbouring country to the distance of

several miles with parties of light foot, who

attacked straggling parties of the Covenanters,

and brought in prisoners from time to time,

without sustaining any loss. These petty

enterprises, while they alarmed their enemies,

gave an extraordinary degree of confidence to

Montrose's men, who were ready to undertake

any service, however difficult or dangerous, if

he only commanded them to perform it.

When Montrose crossed the Dee, Argyle

was several days' march behind him. The

latter, however, reached Aberdeen on the 24th

of October, and proceeded the follomng morn-

ing towards Kintore, which he reached the

same night. Next morning he marched for-

ward to Inverury, where he halted at night.

Here he was joined by the Earl of Lothian's

regiment, which increased his force to about

2,500 foot, and 1,200 horse. In his progress

through the counties of Angus, Kincardine,

Aberdeen, and Banff, he received no accession

of strength, from the dread which the name

and actions of Montrose had infused into the

minds of the inhabitants of these counties.

The sudden movements of Argyle from Aber-

deen to Kintore, and from Kintore to Inverury,

form a remarkable contrast with the slowness

of his former motions. He had followed Mon-

trose through a long and circuitous route, the

greater part of which stiU bore recent traces of

Ids footsteps, and instead of showing any dispo-

sition to overtake his flying foe, seemed rather

inclined to keep that respeotfid distance from

him so congenial to the mind of one who.

" willing to wound," is " yet still afraid tc

strike." But although this questionable policy

of Argyle was by no means calculated to raise

his military fame, it had the effect of throwing

Montrose, in the present case, off his guard,

and had weU-nigh proved fatal to him. The

rapid march of Argj'le on Kintore and Inverury,

in fact, was effected without Montrose's know-

ledge, for the spies he had employed concealed

the matter from him, and wlule he imagined

that Argyle was still on the other side of the

Grampians, he suddenly appeared within a very

few miles of Montrose's camp, on the 28tli of

October.

The unexpected arrival of Argyle's army did

not disconcert Montrose. His foot, which

amounted to 1,500 men, were little more than

the half of those under Argyle, while he had only

about 50 horse to oppose 1,200. Yet, with

this immense disparity, he resolved to await the

attack of the enemy, judging it inexpedient,

from the want of cavalry, to become the assail-

ant by descending into the plain where Argyle's

army was encamped. On a rugged eminence

behind the castle of Fyvie, on the uneven

sides of which several ditches had been cut

and dikes built to serve as farm fences, Mon-

trose drew up liis little but intrepid host ; but

before he had marked out the positions to be

occupied by his divisions, he had the misfor-

tune to witness the desertion of a small body

of the Gordons, who had joined him at Strath-

bogie. They, however, did not join Argyle,

but contented themselves with withdra^ving

altogether from the scene of the ensuing action.

It is probable that they came to the determina-

tion of retiring, not from cowardice, but from

disinclination to appear in the field against

Lord Lewis Gordon, who held a high com-

mand in Argyle's army. The secession of the

Gordons, though in reality a circumstance of

trifling importance in itself, (for had they re-

mained, they wovdd have fought unwillingly,

and consequently might net have had sufficient

resolution to maintain the position which would

have been assigned them,) had a disheartening

influence upon the spirits of Montrose's men,

and accordingly they found themselves imable

to resist the first shock of Argyle's numerous

forces, who, charging them with great impetuo-

sity, di'ove them up the eminence, of a consider-
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able part of which Argyle's army got possession.

In this critical conjuncture, when terror and de-

spair seemed about to obtain the mastery over

hearts to which fear had liitherto been a

stranger, Montrose displayed a coolness and

presence of mind equal to the dangers wliich

surrounded him. Animating them by his pre-

sence, and by the example wliioh he showed in

risking his person in the hottest of the fight,

he roused their courage by putting them fur-

ther in mind of tlio victories they had achieved,

and how greatly superior they were in bravery

to the enemy opposed to them. After tliis

emphatic appeal to their feelings, Montrose

tinned to Colonel O'Kean, a young Irish gentle-

man, highly respected by the former for Ins

bravery, and desired liim, with an air of the

most perfect scmg froid, to go down with such

men as were readiest, and to drive these fel-

lows (meaning Argyle's men), out of the ditches,

that they might be no more troubled with

them. O'Kcan quickly obeyed the mandate,

and though the party in the ditclies was

greatly superior to the body he led, and was,

moreover, supported by some horse, he drove

them away, and captured several bags of

powder which they loft behind them in their

nurry to escape. This was a valuable acquisi-

tion, as Montrose's men had spent already al-

most the whole of their ammunition.

While O'Kean was executing this brilliant

affair, Jlontrose observed five troops of horse,

under the Earl of Lothian, preparing to attack

his 50 horse, wlio were posted a little way up

the eminence, with a small wood in their rear.

He, tlierefore, wthout a moment's delay, or-

dered a party of musketeers to their aid, who,

having interlined themselves with the 50 horse,

kept up such a galling fire upon Lothian's

troopers, that before they had advanced lialf

way across a field which lay between them and

Montrose's horse, they were obliged to wheel

about and gallop off.

Montrose's men became so elated with their

success that they could scarcely be restrained

firom leaving their ground and making a gen-

eral attack upon the whole of Argyle's array

;

but although Montrose did not approve of this

design, he disguised liis opinion, and seemed

rather to concur in the views of his men, telling

them, however, to be so far mindful of their

duty as to wait till he shoidd see the fit mo-

ment for ordering the attack. Ar-gylo remained

till the evening without attempting anything

farther, and then retired to a distance of about

three miles across the Spey ; his men passed

the night under arms. The oidy person of

note killed in tliese skirmishes was Captain

Keith, brother of the Earl Marshal.

Next day Argjde resolved to attack Mon-

trose, with the view of driving him from his

position. He was induced to come to this de-

termination from a report, too well founded,

wliich had reached him, that Montrose's army

was almost destitute of amniimition ;—indeed,

he liad compelled the inhabitants of all the

surrounding districts to deliver up every article

of pewter in their possession for the purpose

of being converted into ammimition; but this

precarious supply ajipears soon to have been

exhausted.* On arriving at the bottom of

the liill, he changed his resolution, not judg-

ing it safe, from the experience of the pre-

cedmg day, to hazard an attack. Montrose,

on the otlier hand, agreeably to his original

plan, kept his ground, as he did not deem it

advisable to expose his men to the enemy's cav-

alry by descendiiig from the eminence. With
the exception of some trifling skirmishes be-

tween the advanced posts, the main body of

both armies remained quiescent during tlie

whole day. Argyle again retired in the even-

ing to the ground he had occupied the pre-

ceding night, whence he returned the following

day, part of which was spent in the same man-

ner as the former ; but long before the day liad

expired he led off his army, "upon fair day

light," says Spalding, " to a considerable dis-

tance, leaving Montrose to efl'ect his escape un-

molested."

Montrose, thus left to foUow any course ho

pleased, marched off after nightfall towards

Strathbogie, plundering Turriff and Eothiemay

house in his route. He selected Strathbogie as

the place of his retreat on aocoimt of the nigged-

ness of the country and of the numerous dikes

with which it was intersected, which would

prevent the operations of Argyle's cavalry, and

where he intended to remain till joined by

Macdonald, whom he daily expected from the

8 Wisliart, p. 100.

2 B
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Highlands -vrith a remforcement. When Ar-

gj'le heard of Montrose's departure on the fol-

lowing morning, being the last day of October,

he forthwith proceeded after him with his

army, thinking to bring him to action in the

open country, and encamped at Tullochbeg on

the 2d of November, where he drew out his

army in battle array. He endeavoured to bring

Montrose to a general engagement, and, in

order to draw him from a favom-able position

he was preparing to occupy, Argyle sent out a

skirmishing party of his Highlanders ; but they

were soon repulsed, and Montrose took posses-

sion of the ground he had selected.

Baffled in all his attempts to overcome Mon-

trose by force of arms, Argyle, whose talents

were more fitted for the intrigues of the cabinet

than the tactics of the field, had now recourse

to negotiation, with the view of eff'ecting the

ruin of his antagonist. For this purpose lie

proposed a cessation of arms, and that he and

Montrose should hold a conference, previous to

which arrangements should be entered into for

their mutual security. Montrose knew Argyle

too well to place any reliance upon his word,

and as he had no doubt that Argyle would take

advantage, during the proposed cessation, to

tamper with his men and endeavour to with-

draw them from their allegiance, he called a

council of war, and proposed to retii'e without

delay to the Highlands. The council at once

approved of this suggestion, whereupon Mon-

trose resolved to march next night as far as

Badenoch ; and that his army might be able to

accomplish such a long journey witliin the time

fixed, he immediately sent off all liis heavy bag-

gage under a guard, and ordered his men to

keep themselves prepared as if to fight a battle

the next day.' Scarcely, however, had the

carriages and heavy baggage been despatched,

when an event took place which greatly dis-

concerted Montrose. This was nothing less

than the desertion of his friend Colonel Sib-

oald and some of his officers, who went over

to the enemy. They were accompanied by Sir

William Forbes of Craigievar, who, having been

unable to fulfil the condition on which he was

to obtain his ultimate liberation, had returned

two or three days before to Montrose's camp.

» Wishart, p. 102.

This distressing occurrence induced Montrose

to postpone his march for a time, as he was

quite certain that the deserters would commu-

nicate liis plans to Argyle. Ordering, there-

fore, back the baggage he had sent ofi', he

resumed his former position, in which he

remained four days, as if he there intended to

take up his m'nter quarters.

Li the meantime Montrose had the mortifi-

cation to -ivitness the defection of almost the

whole of his ofiicers, who were very numerous,

for, with the exception of the Irish and High-

landers, they outnumbered the privates from

the Lowlands. The bad example which had

been set by Sibbald, the intimate friend of

Montrose, and the insidious promises of pre-

ferment held out to them by Argyle, induced

some, whose loyalty was questionable, to adopt

this course ; but the idea of the privations to

wliich they would be exposed in traversing,

during winter, among frost and snow, the

dreary and dangerous regions of the Highlands,

shook the constancy of others, who, in different

circumstances, would have wUlingly exposed

their Hves for their sovereign. Bad health,

inabUity to undergo the fatigue of long and

constant marches—these and other excuses

were made to Montrose as the reasons for crav-

ing a discharge from a service which had now

become more hazardous than ever. Montrose

made no remonstrance, but -nith looks of high

disdain which betrayed the inward workings

of a proud and unsubdued mind, indignant at

being thus abandoned at such a dangerous

crisis, readily complied with the request of

every man who asked permission to retire. Tlie

Earl of Airly, now sixty years of age and in

precarious health, and his two sons, Sir Thomas

and Sir David Ogilvie, out of all the Low-

landers, alone remained faithful to Montrose,

and could, on no accoimt, be prevailed upon to

abandon him. Among others who left Mon-

trose on this occasion, was Sir Nathaniel Gor-

don, who, it is said, went over to Argyle's camp

in consequence of a concerted plan between

him and Montrose, for the purpose of detaching

Lewis Gordon from the cause of the Covenant-

ers, a conjecture which seems to have originated

in the subsequent conduct of Sir Nathaniel

and Lord Lewis, who joined Montrose the

follo\ving year.
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Montrose, now abandoned by all his Low-

land friends, prepared for his march, prepara-

tory to which he sent off his baggage as

formerly ; and after lighting some fires for the

purpose of deceiving the enemy, took his

departure on the evening of the 6th of Novem-

ber, and arrived about break of day at Balveny.

After remaining a few days there to refresh his

men, he proceeded through Badenoch, and

descended by rapid marches into Athole, where

he was joined by Macdonald and John Muid-

artach, the captain of the Cianranald, the latter

of whom brought 500 of his men along vidth

him. He was also reinforced by some small

parties from the neighbouring Highlands, whom
Macdonald liad induced to follow liim.

In the meantime Argyle, after giving orders

to his Highlanders to return home, went him-

self to Edinburgh, where he "got but small

thanks for his service against Montrose."'

Although the Committee of Estates, out of

deference, approved of his conduct, which some

of his flatterers considered deserving of praise

because he "had shed no blood ;"2 yet the

majority had formed a very different estimate

of his character, dui'ing a campaign which had

been fruitful neither of glory nor victory.

Confident of success, the heads of the Cove-

nanters looked upon the first efforts of Mon-

trose in the light of a desperate and forlorn

attempt, rasldy and inconsiderately undertaken,

and which they expected would be speedily

put down ; but the results of the battles of

Tippermuir, Aberdeen, and Fyvie, gave a new
direction to their thoughts, and the royalists,

liitherto contemned, began now to be dreaded

and respected. In allusion to the present

"posture of affairs," it is observed by Guthry,

that " many who had formerly been violent,

began to talk moderately of business, and what

was most taken notice of, was the lukewarm-

ness of many amongst the ministry, who now
in their preaching had begim to abate much of

their former zeal."^ The early success of Mon-
trose had indeed caused some misgivings in

the minds of the Covenanters ; but as they all

hoped that .'irgyle woidd change the tide of war,

they showed no disposition to relax in their

' Spalding, vol. ii. p. 287. = Gutliry, p. 1.3i.

' llemoirs, pp. 131—o.

severities towards those who were siispected of

favouring the cause of the king. The signal

failure, however, of Argyle's expedition, and

liis return to the capital, quite changed, as we

have seen, the aspect of affairs, and many of

those who had been most sanguine in their

calculations regarding the result of the struggle,

began now to waver and to doubt.

Wliile Argyle was passing his time in Edin-

burgh, Montrose was meditating a terrible

blow at Argyle himself to revenge the cruelties

he had exercised upon the royalists, and to give

confidence to the clans in Argyle's neighbour-

hood. These had been hitherto prevented from

joining Montrose's standard from a dread of

Argyle, who having always a body of 5,000 or

6,000 Highlanders at command, had kept them

in such complete subjection that they dared not,

^\'ithout the risk of absolute ruin, espouse the

cause of their sovereign. Tlie idea of cm-bing

the power of a haughty and domineering chief

whose word was a law to the inliabitants of

an extensive district, ready to obey his cruel

mandates at all times, and the spirit of revenge,

the predominating characteristic of the clans,

smoothed the difliciilties which presented

themselves in invading a country made almost

inaccessible by nature, and rendered still more

imapproachable by the severities of winter.

Tlie determination of Montrose having thus

met with a wUUng response in tlie breasts of

liis men, he lost no time in putting them in

motion. Di\'iding his army into two parts,

he liimself marched with the main body, con-

sisting of the Irish and the Athole-men, to

Loch Tay, whence he proceeded through

Breadalbane. The other body, composed of

the clan Donald and other Highlanders, he

despatched by a different route, with instruc-

tions to meet liim at an assigned spot on the

borders of Argyle. The country through which

both divisions passed, being chiefly in posses-

sion of Argyle's kinsmen or dependants, was

laid waste, particularly the lands of Campbell

of Glenorchy.

"Wlien Argyle heard of the ravages com-

mitted by Montrose's army on the lands of his

kinsmen, he hastened home from Edinburgh

to his castle at Inverary, and gave orders for

the assembling of Ids clan, either to repel any

attack that might be made on his own coiintry,
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or to protect his friends from future aggression.

It is by no means certain that ho anticipated

an invasion from Montrose, particularly at such

a season of the year, and he seemed to imagine

liimseK so secure from attack, owing to the

intricacy of the passes leading into Ai-gj'le, that

although a mere handful of men coidd have

eflectually opposed an army much larger than

tliat of Montrose, he took no precautions to

guard them. So important indeed did he

himself consider these passes to be, tliat he

had frequently declared that he would rather

forfeit a hundred thousand crowns, than that

an enemy should know the passes by which an

armed force could penetrate mto Argyle.*

While thus reposing in fancied security in

his impregnable stronghold, and issuing liis

mandates for levying Ms forces, some sliepherds

arrived in great terror from the hills,and brought

him the alarming intelligence that the enemy,

whom he had imaguied were about a hmidred

miles distant, were witliin two miles of his

own dwelling. Terrified at the unexpected

appearance of Montrose, whose vengeance he

justly dreaded, he had barely self-possession

left to concert measures for his own personal

safety, by taking refuge on board a fishing

boat in Loch Fyne, in which he sought his

way to the Lowlands, lea^'ing his people and

country exposed to the merciless will of an

enemy thirsting for revenge. The inhabitants

of Argyle being thus abandoned by their

chief, made no attempt to oppose Montrose,

who, the more efiectually to carry his plan for

pillaging and ravaging the country mto execu-

tion, divided his army into three parties, under

the respective orders of the captain of clan

Ranald, Macdonald, and himself. For up-

wards of six weeks, viz., from the 13th of

December, 1644, till nearly the end of Janu-

ary follo\ving, these different bodies traversed

tlie whole country without molestation, burn-

ing, wasting, and destroying every thing wJiich

came within their reach. Nor were the people

themselves spared, for although it is men-

tioned by one writer that Montrose " shed

no blood in regard that all the people

(follo'sv'ing their lord's laudable example) deli-

vered themselves by flight also," * it is evident

« Wishart, p, 107 ' Guthry, \>. 136.

from several contemporary autliors that the

slaughter must have been immense.^ In fact,

before the end of January, the face of a single

male inhabitant was not to be seen throughout

the whole extent of Argyle and Lorn, the

whole population having been either driven

out of these districts, or taken refuge in dens

and caves known only to themselves.

Having tlius retaliated upon Argyle and his

people in a tenfold degree the miseries which

he had occasioned in Lochaber and the adjoin-

ing countries, Montrose left Argyle and Lorn,

passing through Glencoe and Lochaber on his

way to Lochness. On Ms march eastwards he

was joined by the laird of Abergeldie, the Far-

quli arsons of the Braes of Mar, and by a party

of the Gordons. The object of Montrose, by

tills movement, was to seize Inverness, whicli

was then protected by only two regiments, in

the expectation that its capture would operate

as a stimulus to the northern clans, who had

not yet declared themselves. This resolution

was by no means altered on rcacliing the head

of Lochness, where he learned that tlie Earl of

Seaforth was advancing to meet him wtli an

army of 5,000 horse and foot, which he re-

solved to encounter, it being composed, with

the exception of two regular regiments, of raw

and undisciplined levies.

Wliile proceeding, however, through Aber-

tarf, a person arrived in great haste at KUcum-

min, the present fort Augustus, wlio brought

him the surprising intelligence that Argyle had

entered Lochaber with an anny of 3,000 men

;

that he was burning and laying waste the

country, and that his head-quarters were at the

old castle of Inverlochy. After Argjde had

effected Ms escape from Inverary, he had gone

to Dumbarton, where he remained till Mon-

trose's departure from Ms territory. Wliile

there, a body of covenanting troops who had

served in England, arrived under the command

of Major-general BaOJie, for the purpose of

assisting Ai-gyle in expelling Montrose from

Ms bounds ; but on learning tliat Montrose

had left Argyle, and was marching through

Glencoe and Lochaber, General BaUlio deter-

mined to lead Ms army in an easterly direction

« SpaHins, vol. ii. p. 442; Wishart, p. lOS—^«d
Boole of Clanraiiald.
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through the Lowhiiu.ls, with the iuteutiou of

intercepting Montrose, should he attempt a

descent. At the same time it was arranged

between Baillie and Argyle that the latter,

who had now recovered from his panic in con-

sequence of Montrose's departiu'e, should re-

turn to Argyle and collect his men from their

hiding-places and retreats. As it was not im-

probable, however, that Montrose might renew

his visit, the Conunittee of Estates allowed

Baillie to place 1,100 of his soldiers at the

disposal of Argyle, who, as soon as he was

able to muster liis men, was to follow Mon-

trose's rear, yet so as to avoid an engagement,

tiU Badlie, who, on hearing of Argyle's advance

into Lochaber, was to march suddenly across

tlio Grampians, should attack Montrose in

front, To assist him in levying and organiz-

ing his clan, Argyle called over Campbell of

Aucliinbreck, his kinsman, from Ireland, who

had considerable reputation as a military com-

mander. In terms of liis instructions, there-

fore, Argyle had entered Lochaber, and had

advanced as far as luverlochy, when, as we

Lave seen, the news of his arrival was brought

to Montrose.

Montrose was at first almost disinclined,

from the weU-known reputation of Ai-gyle, to

credit this intelligence, but being fully assured

of its correctness from the apparent sincerity of

his informer, he lost not a moment in making

up Ms mind as to the course he shoidd pui-sue.

He might have instantly marched back upon

Argyle by the route he had just followed ; but

as the latter would thus get due notice of his

approach, and prepare himself for the tlrreat-

eiied danger, Montrose resolved upon a differ-

ent plan. The design he conceived coidd

only have originated in the mind of such a

bold and enterprising commander as Mon-

trose, before whose daring genius difficulties

hitherto deemed insurmountable at once disap-

peared. The idea of carrying an army over

dangerous and precipitous mountains, whose

wild and frowning aspect seemed to forbid the

approach of human footsteps, and in the middle

of ^vinter, too, when the formidable perils of

the joiuney were greatly increased by the snow,

however chimerical it might have seemed to

other men, appeared quite practicable to Mon-

trose, whose sanguine anticipations of the ad-

vantages to be derived from such an extra-

ordinary exploit, more than counterbalanced,

in his mind, the risks to be encountered.

The distance between the place where Mon-

trose received the news of Argyle's arrival and

Inverlochy is about thirty miles ; but this dis-

tance was considerably increased by the devious

track which Montrose followed. Marching

along the small river Tarf in a southerly direc-

tion, he crossed the hills of Lairio Thierard,

passed tlirough Glenroy, and after traversing the

range of mountains between the Glen and Ben

Nevis, he amved in Glennevis before Argyle

had the least notice of his approach. Before

setting out on his march, Montrose had taken

the wise precaution of placing guards upon the

common road leading to Inverlochy, to prevent

intelligence of his movements being carried to

Argyle, and he had killed such of Argyle's

scouts as he had fallen in with in the course of

liis march. This fatiguing and unexampled

journey had been performed in little more than

a night and a day, and when, in the course of

the evening, Montrose's men arrived in Glen-

ne\ds, they found themselves so weary and

exliausted that they could not venture to attack

the enemy. They therefore lay under arms all

night, and refreshed themselves as they best

coidd tdl next morning. As the night was

uncommonly clear, it being mooidight, the ad-

vanced posts of both armies kept up a small

fire of musketry, which led to no result.

In the meantime Argyle, after committing

his army to the charge of his cousin, Campbell

of Auchinbreck, with liis customary prudence,

went, dui'ing the night, on board a boat in the

loch, excusing himself for this apparent pusil-

lanimous act by alleging his incapacity to enter

the field of battle in consequence of some con-

tusions he had received by a fall two or three

weeks before ; but liis enemies averred that

cowardice was the real motive wliich induced

him to take refuge in his galley, from which

he witnessed the defeat and destruction of his

army. This somewhat suspicious action of

Argyle—and it was not the only time he pro-

vided for his personal safety in a similar man-

ner—is accounted for in the following
(

1 iron-

ical) way by the author of Britane's Distemper

(p. 100) :-
" In this confusion, the commanders of there
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armie liglites wpon this resolution, not to liazart

the marquisse owne persone ; for it seems not

possible that Ardgylle himselfe, beiag a noble-

man of such eminent qualitie, a man of so deepe

and profund judgement, one that knew so weell

what belongeth to the office of a generall, that

any basse motion of feare, I say, coidd make

him so wnsensible of the poynt of honour as is

generally reported. Nether wdl I, for my owne

jiairt, belieue it ; but I am confident that those

barrones of liis kiiired, wha ware captanes

and commanderes of the armie, feareing the

euent of this battelle, for diners reasones ; and

one was, that Allan M'CoUduie, ane old fox,

and who was thought to be a seer, had told

them that there should be a batteU lost there

by them that came first to seike battell ; this

was one cause of there importunitie with him

that he should not come to battell that day

;

for tliey sawe that of necessitie they most feght,

and woidd not hazart there cheife persone,

urgeing liira by force to reteire to his galay,

wliich lay hard by, and committe the tryall of

the day to them ; he, it is to be thought, with

great difficultie yeelding to there request,

leaues his cusine, the laird of Auchinbreike, a

most walorous and braue gentleman, to the

generall commande of the armie, and takes with

himselfe only sir James Rollocke, his brother

in lawe, sir Jhone Wachope of Nithrie, Mr.

Mungo Law, a preacher. It is reported those

two last was send from Edinburgh with liim

to beare witnesse of the expulsion of tliose

rebelles, for so they ware still pleased to ternie

the Royalistes."

It would appear that it was not until the

morning of the battle that Argyle's men were

aware that it was the army of Montrose that

was so near them, as they considered it quite

impossible that he should have been able to

bring his forces across the mountains ; they

imagined that the body before them consisted

of some of the inhabitants of the country, who

had collected to defend their properties. But

they were undeceived when, in the dawn of the

morning, the warlike sound of Montrose's

trumpets, resounding through the glen where

they lay, and reverberating from the adjoming

hUls, broke upon their ears. Tliis served as

the signal to both armies to prepare for battle.

Montrose drew out his army in an extended

line. The right wing consisted of a regiment

of Irish, under the command of Macdonald,

his major-general ; the centre was composed of

the Athole-men, the Stuarts of Appin, the Mac-

donalds of Glencoe, and other Highlanders,

severally under the command of Clanranald,

M'Lean, and Glengary ; and the left wing con-

sisted of some Irish, at the head ofwhom was tlie

brave Colonel O'Kean. A body of Irish was

placed behind the main body as a reserve, under

the command of Colonel James M'Donald, abas

O'Neill. The general of Ai'gyle's army formed

it in a similar manner. The Lowland forces

were equally divided, and formed the wings,

between which the HigUanders were placed.

Upon a rising ground, behind this line. General

Campbell cbew up a reserve of Highlanders,

and placed a field-piece. Within the house of

Inverlochy, which was only about a pistol-shot

from the place where the army was formed, he

planted a body of 40 or 50 men to protect the

place, and to annoy Montrose's men with dis-

cliarges of musketry.'^ The account given by

Gordon of SaUagh, that Argyle had transported

the half of his army over the water at Inver-

lochy, under the command of Auchinbreck,

and that Montrose defeated this division, '.vliile

Argyle was prevented from relieving it with

the other division, from the intervening of

"an arm of the sea, that was interjected betwixt

them and lum,"* is probably erroneous, for the

circumstance is not mentioned by any other

\yTiter of the period, and it is well known, tliat

Argyle abandoned his army, and witnessed its

destruction from his galley,— circumstances

which Gordon altogether overlooks.

It was at sunrise, on Sunday, the 2d of

February, 1645, that Montrose, after having

formed his army in battle array, gave orders to

his men to advance upon the enemy. The left

wing of INIontrose's army, imder the command of

O'Kean, was the first to commence the attack,

by charging the enemy's riglit. This was imme-

diately followed by a fiu'ious assault upon the

centre and left wing of Argyle's army, by

Montrose's right wing and centre. Argyle's

right wing not being able to resist tlie attack

of Montrose's left, tiu-ued about and fled, which

' Spalding, vol. ii. p. 444.
* Conlinuaticm, p. 522.
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circumstance had such a discouraging cH'ect on

the remainder of Argyle's troops, that after

discharging their muskets, the whole of tliem,

inchiding the reserve, took to their heels. Tlie

rout now became general. An attempt was

made by a body of about 200 of the fugitives,

to throw themselves into the castle of Inver-

locliy, but a party of Montrose's horse pre-

vented them. Some of the flying enemy

directed their course along the side of Loch-

Kil, but all these were either killed or (bowned

in the pursuit. Tlie greater part, however,

fled towards the hills in the direction of Argj-le,

and were pursued by Montrose's men, to the dis-

tance of about eight miles. As no resistance

was made by the defeated party in their flight,

the carnage was very great, being reckoned at

1,500 men. Many more would have been cut

off' had it not been for the humanity of Mon-

trose, who did every thing in his power to save

the unresisting enemy from the fury of his men,

I who were not disposed to give quarter to tlie

Inverlochv Castle.—Prora M'CuIloch's celebrated pietare in the Bdinburgh National (Gallery,

anfortunate Campbells. Having taken the

castle, Montrose not only treated the officers,

who were from the Lowlands, with kindness,

but gave them their liberty on parole.

Among the principal persons who fell on

Argyle's side, were the commander, Campbell

of Auchinbreck, Campbell of Lochnell, the

eldest son of LochneU, and liis brother, Colin
;

M'Dougall of Kara and his eldest son ; Major

Menzies, brother to the laird, (or Prior as he

was called) of Achattens Parbreck ; and the

provost of the church of Kilmun. The loss

on the side of Montrose was extremely trifling.

The number of wounded is indeed not stated,

but lie had only three privates kiUed. He
sustained, however, a severe loss in Sir Thomas
Ogilvie, son of the Earl of Airly, who died a

few days after the battle, of a wound he

received in the thigh. Montrose regretted the

death of this steadfast friend and worthy man,

with feelings of real sorrow, and caused his

body to be interred in Athole with due solem-

nity.^ Montrose immediately after the battle

sent a messenger to the king with a letter,

giving an account of it, at the conclusion of

wliich he exultingly says to Charles, " Give me
I leave, after I have reduced this country, and

I

conquered from Dan to Beersheba, to say to

I

your Majesty, as David's general to his master,

I

Come thou thyself, lest this country be called

by my name." When the king received this

letter, the royal and parliamentary commis-

» .Spalding, vol. ii. p. <45.—Wisliart, p. Ill, et

.seq.—Guthry, p. 140.
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sioners were sitting at Uxbridge negotiating

the terms of a peace ; "but Charles, induced by

the letter, imprudently broke off the negotia-

tion, a circumstance which led to his ruin.

CHAPTEE XIV.

i.u. FEBRnARY

—

September, 16-15.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN :—Cbarles I., Iti25—1649.

Montrose marches to Inverness and Elgin, wasting

the lands of the Covenanters—Enters and ]ihmders

Banff -Deputation from Aherdeen—Death of Donald
Farquharsou—Montrose imposes a tax of £10,000

on Aberdeen—Enters and burns Stonehaven—De-

feats Hurry's horse at Fettercairn— Marches to

Brechin and Dunkeld—Stonns and captures Dundee
—Montrose's retreat from Dundee—Movements of

General Baillie—Battle of Auldearn— Montrose's

after-movements—Battle of Afford—General Baillie

and the Committee of Estates retreat to Stirling

—

Montrose marches to Aberdeen—Montrose marches
sontli—Is joined by more Highlanders—Threatens

Perth—Retreats to Dunkeld—Again moves south

—Baillie joined by the men of Fife—Montrose at

Alloa—Maclean burns Castle Campbell—Montrose

goes towards Stirling—Differences among the Cove-

nanters—Battle of Kilsyth—Montrose enters Glas-

gow—Submission of the nobility and the western

counties—Submission of Edinburgh—Montrose ap-

pointed Lieutenant-governor of Scotland—Deser-

tion of Highlanders— Battle of Philiphaugh.

When the disastrotis news of the battle of

Inverlochy reached Edmburgh, the Estates

were thro'WTi into a state of great alarm. They

had, no doubt, begiui to fear, before that event,

and, of course, to respect the prowess of Mon-

trose, but they never could have been made to

believe that, witliiii the space of a few days,

a well-appointed army, composed in part of

veteran troops, would have been utterly defeated

by a force so vastly inferior in point of num-

bers, and beset with difficulties and dangers to

which the army of Argjde was not exposed.

Nor were the fears of the Estates much allayed

by the appearance of Argyle, who arrived at

EiUnbiirgh to give them an account of the

atfair, " having his left arm tied up in a scarf,

as if he had been at bones-breaking." ' It is

true that Lord Balmerino made a speech before

the assembly of the Estates, m wMch he

affirmed, that the great loss reported to be

sustained at Inverlochy " was but the inven-

tion of the malignants, who spake as they

» Guthry, p. 141.

wished," and that " upon liis honour, not more

than thirty of Argyle's men had been killed ;"2

but as the disaster was well known, this device

only misled the weak and ignorant. Had
Montrose at this juncture descended into the

Lowlands, it is not improbable that his presence

might have given a favourable turn to the state

of matters in the south, where the king's

affairs were in the most precarious situation; but

such a design does not seem to have accorded

with his views of prolonging the contest in

the Highlands, which were more suitable than

the Lowlands to his plan of operations, and to

the nature of his forces.

Accordingly, after allowing his men to re-

fresh themselves a few days at Inverlochy,

Montrose returned across the mountains of

Lochaber into Badenoch, " ivith disjilayed

banner." Marcliing doyra the south side of

the Spej', he crossed that river at Balchastel,

and entered Moray without opposition. He
proceeded by rapid strides towards the town

of Inverness, which he intended to take pos-

session of; but, on arriving in the neighboirr-

hood, he found it garrisoned by the laird of

Lawers' and Buchanan's regiments. As he did

not wish to consume his time in a siege, ho

immediately altered his course and marched in

the direction of Elgin, issuing, as he went along,

a proclamation in the king's name, calling

upon all males, from 16 to 60 years of age, to

join him immediately, armed as they best

could, on foot or on horse, and that under

pain of fire and sword, as rebels to the king.

In consequence of this tlrreat Montrose was

joined by some of the Moray-men, including

the laird of Grant and 200 of his followers;

and, to show an example of severity, he

plundered the houses and laid waste the estates

of many of the principal gentlemen of the dis-

trict, carrying off, at the same time, a large

quantity of cattle and effects, and destroying

the boats and nets which they fell in with on

the Spey.^

Whilst Montrose was thus laying waste part

of Moray, a committee of the Estates, consist-

ing of the Earl of Seaforth, the laird of Innes,

Sir Eobert Gordon, the laird of Pluscardine,

and others, was sitting at Elgin; these, on

' Idem. ' Spalding, vol. ii. p. 447.
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hearing of his proceedings, proliihited the

lioliliiig of the fair wliich was kept there

annually on Fasten's eve, and to whieh

many merchants and others in the north

resorted, lest the property brought there for

sale might fall a prey to Montrose's army.

They, at the same time, sent Sir Robert Gor-

don, IMackenzie of Pluscardiue, and Innes of

Luthers, to treat with Montrose, in name of

the gentry of Moray, most of whom wore then

assembled in Elgin ; but he refused to enter

into any negotiation, offering, at the same time,

to accept of the services of such as woidd join

liim and obey him as the king's lieutenant.*

Before this answer had been conununicated to

the gentry at Elgin, they had all fled from the

to^vn in consequence of hearing that Montrose

was advancing upon them mth rapidity. The

laird of Innes, along vnth some of his friends,

retired to the castle of Spynie, possessed by

his eldest son, wliich was well fortified and pro-

vided with every necessary for undergoing a

siege. The laird of Dufl'us went into Suther-

land. As soon as the inhabitants of the town

saw the committee preparing to leave it, most

of them also resolved to depart, which they

did, carrying along with them their principal

effects. Some went to Inverness, and others

into Ross, but the greater part went to the

castle of Sppiie, where they sought and ob-

tauied refuge.

Apprehensive that Montrose might foUow

up the di-eadful example he had sho^\Ti, by

burning the town, a proposal was made to, and

accepted by him, to pay four thousand merks

to save the town from destruction; but, on

entering it, which he did on the 19th of Feb-

ruary, his men, and particularly the laird of

Grant's party, were so disappointed in their

hopes of plunder, in consequence of the inhab-

itants having carried away the best of their

effects, that they destroyed every article of

furniture which was left.

Montrose was joined, on his arrival at

Elgin, by Lord Gordon, the eldest son of the

Marquis of Huntly, vnth. some of his friends

and vassals. This young nobleman had been

long kept in a state of durance by Argyle, his

uncle, contrary to his own wishes, and now,

when an opportunity had for the fii-st time

* Gordon's Continuation, p. 522.

occurred, he showed the bent of his inclination

by declaring for the king.

On taking possession of Elgin, Montrose

gave orders to bring all the ferry-boats on tha

Spey to the north side of the river, and ho

stationed sentinels at all the fords up and

down, to watch any movements wliich might

be made by the enemies' forces in the south.

Montrose, thereupon, held a councd of war,

at which it was determined to cross the Spey,

march into the comities of Banff and Aberdeen,

by the aid of Lord Gordon, raise the friends

and retainers of the Marqms of Huntly,

and thence proceed into the Mearns, where

another accession of forces was expected. Ac-

cordingly, Montrose left Elgin on the 4th of

March with the main body of liis army, towards

the Bog of Gicht, accompanied by the Earl of

Seaforth, Sir Robert Gordon, the lairds of

Grant, Pluscardine, Findrassio, and several

other gentlemen who " had come in to him "

at Elgin. To punish the Earl of Findlater,

who had refused to join him, Montrose sent

the Farquharsons of Braemar before him, across

the Spey, who plundered, -without mercy, the

town of Cullen, belonging to the earl.

After crossing the Spey, Montrose, either

apprehensive that depredations would be com-

mitted upon the properties of liis Moray

friends who accompanied him, by the two

regiments which garrisoned Inverness, and the

Covenanters of that district, or having received

notice to that effect, he allowed the Earl of

Seaforth, the laird of Grant, and the other

Moray gentlemen, to return home to defend

their estates ; but before aUo^ving them to de-

part, he made them take a solemn oath of

allegiance to the king, and promise that they

should never henceforth take up arms against

his majesty or his loyal subjects. At the same

time, he made them come under an engage-

ment to join him with all their forces as soon

as they coidd do so. The Earl of Seaforth,

however, disregarded Ms oath, and again joined

the ranks of the Covenanters. In a letter

wliich he •wrote to the committee of Estates at

Aberdeen, he stated that he had yielded to

Montrose through fear only, and he avowed

that he would abide by " the good cause t«

his death."*

' Sp.ilding, vol. ii. p. 301.
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On Montrosu's arrival at Strathbogie, or

Gordon castle, Lord Graham, his eldest son, a

most promising youth of sixteen, became un-

well, and died after a few days' iUness. Tlie

loss of a son who had followed him in his

campaigns, and shared mth him the dangers

of the field, was a subject of deep regret to

Montrose. Wliile Montrose was occupied at

the death-bed of his son, Lord Gordon was

busily employed among the Gordons, out of

whom he speetlily raised a force of about 500

foot, and 160 horse.

With tliis accession to his forces, Montrose

left Strathbogie and marched towards Banff,

on liis route to the south. In passing by tlie

hoiise of Cullen, in Boyne, the seat of the Earl

of Fuidlater, who had fled to Edinburgh, and

left the charge of tlie house to the countess, a

party of Montrose's men entered the house,

wliich tliey plundered of all its valuable con-

tents. Tliey then proceeded to set the house

on fire, but the countess entreated Montrose

to order liis men to desist, and promised that

if her husband did not come to Montrose

and give him satisfaction within fifteen days,

she would pay him 20,000 merks, of which

sum she instantly paid down 5,000. Montrose

complied with her request, and also spared

the lands, although the earl was " a great

Covenanter." Montrose's men next laid waste

the lands in the Boyne, burnt the houses,

and plundered the minister of the place of all

his goods and effects, including his books.

The laird of Boyne shut himself up in liis

stronghold, the Crag, where he was out of

danger ; but he had the misfortune to see his

lands laid waste and destroyed. Montrose

then went to Banff, which he gave up to indis-

criminate plunder. His troops did not leave a

vestige of moveable property in the town, and

they even stripped to the skin every man they

met with in the streets. They also burned two

or three houses of little value, but not a tlrop

of blood was shed.

From Banff Montrose proceeded to Turriff,

where a deputation from the town council of

Aberdeen waited upon liim, to represent the

many miseries which the loyal city had suf-

fered from its frequent occupation by hostile

armies since the first outbreaking of the unfor-

timate troubles which molested the kingdom.

Tliey further represented, that such was tlie

terror of the inhabitants at the idea c f another

visit from his Irish troops, that all the men
and women, on hearing of his approach, had

made preparations for abandoning the tovm,

and that they would certainly leave it if thf^y

did not get an assurance from the marquis c:f

safety and protection. Montrose heard tlio

commissioners patiently, expressed his regret

at the calamities which had befallen their town,

and bade them not be afraid, as lie would take

care that none of his foot, or Irish, soldiers

slioidd come within eight miles of Aberdeen :

and that if he liimself should enter the town,

he would support himself at his own expense.

The commissioners returned to Aberdeen, and

related the successful issue of their journey, to

the great joy of all the inhabitants.''

Wliilst Montrose lay at Turriff, Sir Nathaniel

Gordon, with some troopers, went to Aberdeen,

which he entered on Sunday, the 9th of March,

on which day there had been " no sermon in

either of the Aberdeens," as the ministers had

fled the town. Tlie keys of the churches, gates,

and jaU were delivered to him by the magis-

trates. The follo\ving morning Sir Nathaniel

was joined by 100 Irish tlragoons. After re-

leasing some prisoners, he went to Torry, and

took, after a slight resistance, 1,800 muskets,

pikes, and other arms, which had been left in

charge of a troop of horse. Besides receiving

orders to watch the town. Sir Nathaniel was

instructed to send out scouts as far as Cowie

to watch the enemy, who were daily expected

from the south. When reconnoitring, a skir-

mish took place at the bridge of Dee, in wluch

Captain Keith's troop was routed. Finding

the country quite clear, and no appearance of

the covenanting forces, Gordon returned back

to the army, which had advanced to Fren-

draught. No attempt was made upon the

house of French-aught, which was kept by the

young viscount in absence of his father, who

was then at Muchallis with his godson, Lord

Eraser ; but ^Montrose destroyed 60 ploughs

of land belonging to Frendraught within the

parishes of Forgiie, Inverkeithnie, and Drum-

blade, and the house of the minister of Forgue,

with all the other houses, and buildings, and

' Spalding, vol. ii. p. 452.
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tlieir contents. Nothing, in fact, was spared.

All the cattle, horses, sheep, and other do-

mestic animals, were carried off, and the whole

of Frendraught's lands were left a dreary and

uninhabitable waste.

From Pennyburn, Montrose despatched, on

tlie 10th of March, a letter to the authorities of

Aberdeen, commanding them to Lssne an order

that all men, of whatever description, between

the age of sixteen and sixty, should meet him

equipped in their best arms, and such of tliem

as had horses, mounted on the best of them, on

the 15th of March, at his camp at Inverury, un-

der the pain of fire and sword. In consequence

of this mandate he was joined by a considerable

number of horse and foot. On the 12th of

March, Montrose arrived at Kintore, and took

up his o\vn quarters in the house of John

Cheyue, the minister of the place, whence he

issued an order commanding each parish 'within

the presbj'tery of Aberdeen, (with the excep-

tion of the town of Aberdeen,) to send to liim

two commissioners, who were required to bring

along with them a complete roU of the whole

heritors, feuars, and liferenters of each parish.

His object, in requiring such a list, was to

ascertain the number of men capable of serving,

and also the names of those who should refuse

to join him. Commissioners were accordingly

sent from the parishes, and the consequence was,

Ihat Montrose was joined daily by many men
.vlio would not otherwise have assisted liim, but

who were now alarmed for the safety of their

properties. While at Kintore, an occurrence

took place which vexed Montrose exceedingly.

To reconnoitre and watch the motions of tlie

enemy, Montrose had, on the 12th of March,

sent Sir Nathaniel Gordon, along with Donald

Farquharson, Captain Mortimer, and other

well-mounted cavaliers, to the number of about

80, to Aberdeen. This party, perceiving no

enemy iu the neighbourhood of Aberdeen,

utterly neglected to place any sentinels at the

gates of the town, and spent their time at

their lodgings in entertainments and amuse-

ments. Tliis careless conduct did not pass

unobserved by some of the Covenanters in the

town, who, it is said, sent notice thereof to

Major-general Hurry, the second in command
under General Badlie, who was then lying at the

North Water Bridge with Lord Balcarras's and

other foot regiments. On receiving tliis inteUi-

gonce. Hurry put liimself at the head of 160

horse and foot, taken from the regular regi-

ments, and some troopers and musketeers, and

rode off to Aberdeen in great haste, where he

arrived on the 15th of March, at 8 o'clock in tlio

evening. Having posted sentinels at the gates

to prevent any of Montrose's party from escap-

ing, he entered the town at an hour when tliey

were aU carelessly enjoying tiiemselves in their

lodgings, quite miappreheusive of such a visit.

The noise in the streets, occasioned by the

tramping of the horses, was the first indication

they had of the presence of the enemy, but it

was then too late for them to defend themselves.

Donald Farquliarson was killed in the street,

opposite the guard-house ; " a brave gentle-

man," says Spalding, " and one of the noblest

captains amongst all the Higlilanders of Scot-

land, and the king's man for life and death."

The enemy stripped him of a rich dress he had

put on the same day, and left his body lying

naked in the street. A few other gentlemen

were killed, and some taken prisoners, but

the greater part escaped. Hurry left the to^vn

next day, and, on his return to BaUlie's camp,

entered the to^vn of Montrose, and carried off

Lord Graham, Montrose's second son, a boy of

fourteen years of age, then at school, who,

along with his teacher, was sent to Edinburgh,

and committed to the castle.

The gentlemen who had escaped from Aber-

deen retiuuied to Montrose, who was greatly

offended at them for their carelessness. The

magistrates of Aberdeen, alarmed lest Montrose

shoidd inflict summary vengeance upon the

town, as being implicated in the attack upon

the cavaliers, sent two commissioners to Kin-

tore to assure him that they were in no way con-

cerned in that affair. Although he heard them

with great patience, he gave them no satisfac-

tion as to his intentions, and they returned to

Aberdeen without bemg able to obtain any

promise from lii'n to spare the to^vn. Montrose

contented himself with making the merchants

furnish him with cloth, and gold and silver-

lace, to the amount of £10,000 Scots, for the

use of his army, which he held the magistrates

bound to pay, by a tax upon the inhabitants.

" Thus," says Spalding, " cross upon cross

upon Aberdeen."
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'\^^]en Sir Nathaniel Gordon and tlio re-

mainder of his party returned to Kintore,

Montrose despatched, on the same day (March

16th), a body of 1,000 horse and foot, the latter

consisting of Irish, to Aberdeen, under the com-

mand of Macdouald, liis major-general Many

of tlie inliabitants, alarmed at the approach of

tills party, and stdl having the fear of the Irish

before tlieir eyes, were prepai'uig to leave the

town; but Macdonald relieved their apprehen-

sions by assuruig them that the Irish, who

amounted to 700, should not enter the town;

he accordingly stationed them at the Bridge

of Deo and the Two Mde Cross, he and his

troopers alone entering the tovra. With the

exception of the houses of one or two " remark-

able Covenanters," which were plundered, Mac-

donald showed the utmost respect for private

property, a cirsumstance which obtained for

him the esteem of the inhabitants, wlio had

seldom experienced such kind treatment before.

Having discharged the last duties to the

brave Farquharson and Ids companions, Mac-

donald left Aberdeen, on March 18th, to join

Montrose at Duriis; but he had not proceeded

fiir when complaints were brought to lum that

some of his Irish troops, who had lagged

behind, had entered tlie tovm, and were plun-

dermg it. Macdonald, therefore, returned

immediately to the town, and drove, says

Spalding, " all these rascals with sore skins

out of the town before him.""

Before leaving KLnture, the Earl of Aii'ly

was attacked by a fever, in consequence of

which, Montrose sent him to Lethintie, the

residence of the earl's son-in-law, under a guard

of 300 men; but he was afterwards removed

to Strathbogie for greater security. On ar-

riving, March 17th, at Durris, in Kincardine-

shire, where he was joined by Macdonald,

Montrose burnt the house and oifices to the

ground, set fire to the grain, and swept away

all the cattle, horses, and sheeiJ. He also

wasted such of the lands of Flntry as belonged

to Forbes of Craigievar, to punish him for the

breacli of his parole ; treating in the same way

the house and grain belonging to Abercrombie,

the minister of Fintry, who was " a main

Covenantor." On the 19th, Montrose entered

' Vol. ii. p. Ji7.

Stonehaven, and took up his residence in the

house of James Clerk, the pi jvost of the town.

Here learning that the Covenanters in the

north were troubling Lord Gordon's lands, he

despatched 500 of Gordon's foot to defend

Strathbogie and liis other possessions; but he

stQl retained Lord Gordon himself with hia

troopers.

On the day after his arrival at Stonehaven,

Montrose wrote a letter to the Earl Marshal,

who, along with sixteen ministers, and some

other persons of distinction, had shut himself

up in his castle of Dunottar. The bearer of

the letter was not, however, suffered to enter

wthm the gate, and was sent back, at the

mstigation probably of the earl's lady and

the ministers who were with him, without

an answer. Montrose then endeavoured, by

means of George Keith, the Earl Marshal's

brother, to persuade the latter to declare for

the kuig, but he refused, in consequence of

wliich Montrose resolved to inflict summary

vengeance upon him, by burning and laying

waste Ins lands and those of his retainers in

the neighbourhood. Acting upon this deter-

mination, he, on the 21st of March, set fiie to

the houses adjoining the castle of Dunottar,

and burnt the grain which was stacked in the

barn-yards. Even the house of the miuistei

did not escape. He next set fire to the to'ivn

of Stonehaven, sparing only the house of the

provost, in which he resided; phmdered a ship

which lay in the liarbour, and then set lier

on tire, along with all the fishing boats. The

lands and houses of Cowie shared the same

hard fate. Whilst the work of destruction

was going on, it is said that the inliabitants

appeared before the castle of Dunottar, and,

setting up cries of pity, implored the earl to

save them from ruin, but they received no

answer to their supplications, and the earl wit-

nessed from his stronghold the total destruction

of the properties of liis tenants and dependents

•irithout making any effort to stop it. After

he had effected tlie destruction of the barony

of Dunottar, Montrose set fire to the lands of

Fetteresso, one-foui-th part of which was burnt

up, together with the whole corn in the yards.

A beautiful deer park was also burnt, and its

alarmed inmates were aU taken and kiUed, as

well as all the cattle in the barony. Montrose
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uext pvoceeJeJ to Dnimlithie and Urie, be-

longing to John Forbes of Leslie, a leading

Covenanter, where he committed similar depre-

dations.

Montrose, on thn following day, advanced

to Fettercairn, where he quartered his foot

soldiers, sending out quarter-masters tlirough

the country, and about the town of Montrose,

to provide quarters for some troopers; but, as

these troopers were proceeding on their journey,

they were alarmed by the sudden appearance

of some of ^Major-general Hurry's troops, who
had concealed themselves witliin the plantation

of Halkerton. These, suddenly issuing from

the wood, set up a loud shout, on hearing

which the troopers immediately turned to the

right about and went back to the camp. This

party turned out to be a body of 600 horse,

under the command of Hurry himself, who had

loft the head-quarters of General Baillie, at

Brechin, for the purpose of reconnoitring Mon-
trose's movements. In order to deceive Hurry,

who kept advancing with his 600 horse, Mon-
trose placed his horse, which amounted only

to 200, and which he took care to line with some
expert musquoteers, in a prominent situation,

and concealed his foot in an adjoining valley.

This ruse had the desired effect, for Hurry
imagining that there were no other forces at

hand, immediately attacked the small body of

horse opposed to him; but he was soon un-

deceived by the sudden appearance of the

foot, and forced to retreat with precipitation.

Though his men were greatly alarmed, Huny,

who was a brave officer, having placed himseU

in the rear, managed to retreat across the

North Esk with very little loss.

After this affair ^Montrose allowed his men

to refresh themselves for a few days, and, on

the 25th of March, put his anny in motion in

the direction of Brechin. On hearing of liis

approach, the inhabitants of the to'^vn concealed

their effects in the castle, and in the steeples

of churches, and fled. Montrose's troops,

although they found- out the secreted goods,

were so enraged at the conduct of the inhab-

itants that they plundered the town, and burnt

about sixtj' houses.

From Brechin, Montrose proceeded through

Angus, with the intention either of fighting

BaUlie, or of marching onwards to the south.

His whole force, at thLs time, did not exceed

3,000 men, and, on reaching Kirriemuir, his

cavalrj' was greatly diminished by his ha^dng

been obliged to send away about 160 horse-

men to Strathbogie, under Lord Gordon and

his brother LeT\is, to defend their father's pos-

sessions against the Covenanters. Montrose



206 GENEEAL HISTOKY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

proceeded with his army along the foot of the

Grampians, in the direction of Dunkeld, where

he intended to cross the Tay in the sight of

General BailUe, who commanded an army

greatly superior in numbers ; but, although

Montrose frequently oifered him battle, BailHe,

contrary, it is said, to the advice of Hurry, as

often declined it. On arriving at tlie water of

Isla, the two armies, separated by that stream,

remained motionless for several days, as if un-

detemiine* how to act. As length Montrose

sent a trumpeter to BaiUie offering him battle

;

and as the water could not be safely passed by

his army if opposed, Montrose proposed to al-

low Baillie to pass it unmolested, on condition

that he would give him his word of honour

that he would fight without delay ; but BaiUie

answered that he would attend to his own

business himself, and that he woidd fight when

he himself thought proper. The conduct of

Baillie throughout seems altogether extraordi-

nary, but it is alleged tliat he had no power to

act for himself, being subject to the directions

of a council of war, composed of the Earls

of Crawford and Cassilis, Lords Balmerino,

Kirkcudbright, and others.^

As Montrose could not attempt to cross the

water of Isla \vithout cavaby, in opposition to

a force so greatly superior, he led Iris army off

in the direction of the Grampians, and marched

upon Dunkeld, of which he took possession.

Baillie being fully aware of liis intention to

cross the Tay, immediately mthdrew to Perth

for the purpose of opposing Montrose's passage

;

but, if Montrose really entertained such an in-

tention after he had sent away the Gordon

troopers, he abandoned it after reaching Dun-

keld, and resolved to retrace his steps north-

wards. Being anxious, however, to signalize

himself by some important achievement before

he returned to the north, and to give confi-

dence to the royalists, he determined to sur-

prise Dundee, a town which had rendered

itself particularly obnoxious to him for the re-

sistance made by the inhabitants after the

battle of Tippermuir. Having sent off the

weaker part of his troops, and those who were

lightly armed, with his heavy baggage, along

the bottom of the liills with instructions to

8 Spaldinj!, vol. ii. p. 462.

meet him at Brechin, Montrose himself, at the

head of about 150 horse, and 600 expert mus-

keteers,' left Dunkeld on April 3d about mid-

night, and marched with such extraordinary

expedition that he arrived at Dundee Law at

10 o'clock in the morning, where he encamped.

Montrose then sent a trumpeter into the to^vn

with a summons requiring- a surrender, promis-

ing that, in the event of compliance, he would

protect the lives and properties of the inhabit-

ants, but tlireatening, in case of refusal, to set

fire to the town and put the inhabitants to

the sword. Instead of returning an answer to

this demand, the town's people put the mes-

senger into prison. Tliis insult was keenly

felt by Montrose, who immediately gave orders

to his troops to storm the town in three differ

ent places at once, and to fulfil the threat

which he had held out in case of resistance.

The inhabitants, in the mean time, made such

preparations for defence as the shortness of the

time allowed, but, although they fought brave-

ly, they coidd not resist the impetuosity of

Montrose's troops, who, impelled by a spirit of

revenge, and a thirst for plunder, which Dim-

dee, then one of the largest and most opulent

towns in Scotland, offered them considerable

opportunities of gratifying, forced the inhabit-

ants from the stations they occupied, and

turned the cannon which they had planted in

the streets against themselves. The contest,

however, continued in various quarters of the

town for several hoirrs, during wliich the town

was set on fire in different places. The whole

of that quarter of the town called the Bonnet

HOI feU a prey to the flames, and the entire

to\vn would have certainly shared the same

fate had not ]\Iontrose's men chiefly occupied

themselves in plundering the houses and filling

themselves with the contents of tlie wine cel-

lars. The sack of the town continued tiU the

evening, and the inhabitants were subjected to

every excess which an infiu-iated and victorious

soldiery, maddened by intoxication, could in-

flict.

This melancholy state of things was, how-

ever, fortunately put an end to by intelligence

having been brought to Montrose, who had

viewed the storming of the to'svn from the

' Mtmtrose Rediviviis, p. 61.
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neighbouring height of Dundee Law, that

General Baillie was marching in groat haste

down the Carse of Go\VTie, towards Dundee,

with 3,000 foot and 800 horse. On receiving

this news from his scouts, Montrose gave im-

mediate orders to his troops to evacuate Dun-

dee, but so intent were they upon their booty,

that it was with the utmost difficidty tliey

could be prevailed upon to leave the town,

and, before the last of them could be induced

to retire, some of the enemy's troops were

within gun-shot of them. The sudden appear-

ance of Baillie's army was quite unlooked-for, as

Montrose had been made to believe, from the

reports of his scouts, that it had crossed the

Tay, and was proceeding to the Forth, when,

in fact, only a very small part, which had been

mistaken by the scouts for the entire army of

Baillie, had passed.

In tliis critical conjuncture, Montrose held

a council of war, to consult how to act under

the perilous circumstances in which he was

now placed. The council was divided between

two opinions. Some of them advised Mon-

trose to consult his personal safety, by rid-

ing off to the north with his horse, leaving

the foot to their fate, as they considered it

utterly unpossible for him to carry them off in

their present state, fatigued, and worn out as

they were by a march of 24 miles during the

preceding night, and rendered abnost incajiable

of resisting the enemy, from the debauch they

had indidged in during the day. Besides, they

would require to march 20 or even 30 mdes,

before they could reckon themselves secure

from the attacks of their pursuers, a journey

which it was deemed impossible to perform,

without being previously allowed some hours

repose. In this way, and in no other, urged

the advocates of this view, might he expect

to retrieve matters, as he could, by his presence

araong his friends in the north, raise new
forces ; but that, if he himself was cut off, the

king's affairs would be utterly ruined. The
other part of the council gave quite an opposite

opinion, by declaring that, as the cause for

which they had fought so gloriously was now
irretrievably lost, they should remain in their

position, and await the issue of an attack,

judging it more honourable to die fighting in

defence of their kmg, than to seek safety in an

ignominious flight, which would be rendered

still more disgraceful by abandoning theii

unfortunate fellow-warriors to the mercy of a

revengeful foe.

Montrose, however, disapproved of both

these plans. He considered the first as imbe-

coming the generosity of men who had fought

so often side by side ; and the second ho

tliought extremely rash and imprudent. He,

therefore, resolved to steer a middle course,

and, refusing to abandon liis brave companions

in arms in the hour of danger, gave orders

for an immediate retreat, in the direction

of Arbroath. This, however, was a mere

manoeuvre to deceive the enemy, as Montrose

intended, after nightfall, to march towards the

Grampians. In order to make his retreat more

secure, Montrose despatched 400 of his foot,

and gave them orders to march as quickly as

possible, without breaking tlieir ranks. These

were followed by 200 of his most expert

musketeers, and Montrose himself closed the

roar with liis horse in open rank, so as to

admit the musketeers to interline them, in case

of an attack. It was about six o'clock in the

evening when Montrose began his retreat, at

which hour the last of BaUlie's foot had reached

Dimdee.

Scarcely had Montrose begim to move, when
intelligence was received by Baillie, from some

prisoners he had taken, of Montrose's inten-

tions, which was now confirmed by ocular

proof A proposal, it is said, was then made

by Hurry, to follow Montrose Anth the whole

army, and attack him, but BaiUie rejected it

;

and the better, as he thought, to secure Mon-

trose, and prevent his escape, he divided liis

army into two parts, one of which he sent off

in the direction of the Grampians, to prevent

Montrose from entering the Highlands ; and

the other followed directly in the rear of

Montrose. He thus expected to be able to

cut off Montrose entirely, and to encourage

his men to the pui'suit, he offered a reward

of 20,000 crowns to any one who should bring

him Montrose's head. BaiUie's cavalry soon

came up with Montrose's rear, but they were so

well received by the musketeers, who brought

down some of them, that they became very

cautious in their approaches. The darkness of

the night soon put an end to the pursuit, and
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Montrose continued unmolested his march to

Arhroath, in the neighbourhood of which he

arrived about midnight. His troops had now

marched upwards of 40 miles, 17 of wliich

they had performed in a few hours, in the

face of a large army, and had passed two nights

and a day without sleep ; but as their safety

might be endangered by allowing them to

repose till daylight, Montrose entreated them

to proceed on their march. Though almost

exhausted vnth. incessant fatigue, and over-

powered wth drowsiness, they readUy obeyed

the order of their general, and, after a short

halt, proceeded on their route in a northwesterly

direction. They arrived at the South Esk

early in the morning, which they crossed, at

simrise, near Carriston Castle.

Montrose now sent notice to the party wliich

he had despatched from Dunkeld to Brechin,

with his baggage, to join him, but they had,

on hearing of his retreat, already taken refuge

among the neighbouring liUls. Baillie, who

had passed the night at Eorfar, now considered

that he had Montrose completely in liis power;

but, to his utter amazement, not a trace of

Montrose was to be seen next morning. Little

did he imagine that Montrose had passed

close by him during the night, and eluded

his grasp. Chagi'ined at this unexpected dis-

appointment, BaiUie, without waiting for his

foot, galloped off at full speed to overtake

Montrose, and, with such celerity did he travel,

that he was close upon ^Montrose before the

latter received notice of his approach. The

whole of ]\Iontrose's men, with the exception

of a few sentinels, were now stretched upon

the ground, in a state of profound repose, and,

so firmly tlid sleep hold their exhausted frames

in its grasp, that it was with the utmost diffi-

culty that they could be aroused from their

!)lumbers, or made sensible of their danger.

The sentinels, it is said, had even to prick

some of them with their swords, before they

could be awakened, ^ and when at length the

sleepers were aroused they effected a retreat,

after some skirmishing, to the foot of the

Grampians, about three miles distant from their

camp, and retired, thereafter, through Glenesk

into the interior •n'ithout further molestation.

' Montrose Rcdiviviis, p. 65.

Tliis memorable retreat is certainly one cf

the most extraordinary events which occurred

during the whole of Montrose's campaigns.

It is not surprising, that some of the most

experienced officers in Britain, and in France

and Germany, considered it the most splendid

of all Montrose's achievements. ^

Being now secure from all danger in the

fastnesses of tlie Grampians, Montrose allowed

his men to refresh themselves for some days.

Whilst enjoying this necessary relaxation from

the fatigues of the field, intelligence was brought

to Montrose that a di\'ision of the covenanting

army, under Hurry, was in full march on Aber-

deen, with an intention of proceeding into

Moray. Judging that an attack upon the pos-

sessions of the Gordons would be one of Hurry's

objects, Montrose despatclied Lord Gordon with

his horse to the north, for the purpose of assistr

ing his friends in case of attack.

It was not in the natm-e of Montrose to re-

main inactive for any length of time, and an

occurrence, of which he had received notice,

had lately taken place, which determined hira

to return a second time to Dunkeld. This was

the escape of Viscount Aboyne, and some other

noblemen and gentlemen, from Carlisle, who,

he was informed, were on their way north to

join him. Apprehensive that they might bo

intesrupted by BaiUie's troops, he resolved to

make a diversion in their favour, and, by draw-

ing off the attention of BaiUie, enable them the

more effectually to elude observation. Leaving,

therefore, Macdonald, with about 200 men, to

beat up the enemy in the neighbom-hood of

Coupar-Angus, Montrose proceeded, with the

remainder of his forces, consisting only of 500

foot and 50 horse, to Dunkeld, whence he

marched to Crieff, which is about 17 miles

west from Perth. It was not until he had ar-

rived at the latter town that BaiUie, who, after

his pursuit of Montrose, had returned to Perth

with his army, heard of tliis movement. As

Baillie was sufficiently aware of the weakness

of Montrose's force, and as he was sure that,

with such a great disparity, Montrose woidd

not risk a general engagement, he endeavoured

to surprise him, in the hope either of cutting

him off entirely, or crippling lum so effectually

= Wishart, p. 127,
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as to prevent liini from again taking tlie field.

He tLerefore left Perth during the night of the

7th of April, with his whole army, consisting

of 2,000 foot and 500 horse, with the inten-

tion of falling upon Montrose hy break of day,

before he should be aware of his presence ; but

Montrose's experience had taught him the ne-

cessity of being always upon his guard when

so near an enemy's camp, and, accordingly, he

had drawn up his army, in anticipation of

BaiUie's advance, in such order as would en-

able him either to give battle or retreat.

As soon as he heard of Baillie's approach,

Montrose advanced with his horse to recon-

noitre, and having ascertained the enemy's

strength and numbers, which were too formi-

dable to be encountered with his little band,

brave as they were, he gave immediate orders

to his foot to retreat with speed up Strathearn,

and to retire into the adjoining passes. To

prevent them from being harassed in their re-

treat by the enemy's cavalry, Montrose covered

their rear with his small body of horse, sus-

taining a very severe attack, which he warmly

repulsed. After a march of about eight miles,

Montrose's troops arrived at the pass of Strath-

earn, of which they took immediate possession,

and BaiUie, thinking it useless to follow them

into their retreat, discontinued the piu'suit, and

retired with his army towards Perth. Mon-

trose passed the night on the banks of Loch

Earn, and marched next morning through Bal-

quidder, wiiere he was joined, at the ford of

Cardross, by the Viscount Aboyne, the Master

of Napier, Hay of Dalgetty, and Stu-ling of

Keir, who, along with the Earl of Nithsdale,

Lord Herries, and others, had escaped from

Carhsle, as before stated.

No sooner had BaUlie returned from the

pursuit of Montrose than intelligence was

brought him that Macdonald, with the 200

men which Montrose had left with him, had

burnt the to^vn of Coupar-Angus,—that he had

wasted the lands of Lord Balmeriuo,—kUIed

Patrick Lindsay, the minister of Coupar,—and

finally, after routing some troopers of Lord

Balcarras, and carrying off their horses and

arms, had fled to the hills. This occurrence,

withdrawing the attention of BaiUie from Mon-
ti-ose's futMe movements, enabled tlie latter to

proceed to the north without opposition.

Montrose had advanced as far as Loch Katr

rine, when a messenger brought him intelli-

gence that General Hurry was in the Enzie

with a considerable force, that he had been

joined by some of the Moray-men, and, after

plundering and laying waste the country, was

preparing to attack Lord Gordon, who had not

a sufficient force to oppose him. On receiving

this information, Montrose resolved to proceed

immediately to the north to save the Gordons

from the destruction which appeared to hang

over them, hoping that, with such accessions of

force as he might obtain in his march, united

with that under Lord Gordon, he would suc-

ceed in defeating Hurry before Baillie should

be aware of his movements.

He, therefore, returned througli Balquidder,

marched, with rapid strides, along the side of

Loch Tay, through Athole and Angus, and,

crossing the Grampian hills, proceeded down

the Strath of Gleimiuck. In his march, Mon-

trose was joined by the Athole-men and the

other Highlanders who had obtained, or rather

taken leave of absence after the battle of Inver-

lochy, and also by Macdonald and his party.

On arriving in the neighbom-hood of Auchin-

doun, he was met by Lord Gordon, at the head

of 1,000 foot and 200 horse. Montrose crossed

the Dee on the 1st of May, at the mUl of

Crathie—having provided liimself with ammu-

nition from a sliip in Aberdeen liarbour—con-

tinued his march towards the Spey, and before

Hurry was even aware that the enemy had

crossed the Grampians, he found them within

six miles of his camp. The sudden appear-

ance of Montrose with such a superior force

—for Hurry had only at this time about 1 ,000

foot and 200 horse—greatly alarmed him,

and raising his camp, he crossed the Spey in

great haste, with the intention of marching

to Inverness, where he would be joined by the

troops of the garrison, and receive large rein-

forcements from the neighbouring counties.

Montrose immediately pursued him, and fol-

lowed close upon his heels to the distance of

14 miles beyond Forres, when, favoured by the

darkness of the night. Hurry effected his escape,

•with little loss, and amved at Inverness.

The panic into which Hurry had been tlirown

soon gave way to a very different feeling, as hii

found the Earls of Seaforth and Sutherland
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witli their retainers, and the clan Eraser, and

others from Moray and Caithness, all assem-

bled at Inverness, as he had directed. This

accession of force increased his armj' to 3,-500

foot and 400 horse. He therefore resolved to

act on the offensive, by gi\'ing battle to Mon-

trose immediately.

Montrose had taken up a position at tlie vil-

lage of Auldearn, about three miles south-east

from Nairn, on the morning after the pursuit.

In the course of the day. Hurry advanced with

all his forces, including the garrison of Inver-

ness, towards Nairn ; and, on approaching

Auldearn, formed his army in order of battle.

Montrose's force, which had been greatly weak-

ened by the return of the Athole-men and

other Higlilanders to defend their country from

the depredations of BaiUie's array, now con-

sisted of only 1,500 foot and 250 horse. It

was not, therefore, without great reluctance,

that he resolved to risk a battle vnth an enemy

more than double in point of numbers, and

composed in great jmrt of veteran troops ; but,

pressed as he was by Hurry, and in danger of

being attacked in his rear by Eaillie, who was

advancing by forced marches to the north, he

had no alternative but to hazard a general en-

gagement. He therefore instantly looked about

him for an advantageous position.

The village of Auldearn stands upon a height,

behind which, or on the east, is a valley, over-

looked by a ridge of little eminences, running

in a northerly direction, and which almost con-

ceals the valley from view. In this hollow

Jlontrose arranged his forces in order of battle.

Having formed them into two divisions, he

posted the right wing on the north of the

village, at a place where there was a consider-

able number of dikes and ditches. This body,

which consisted of 400 men, chiefly Irish, was

placed imder the oommand of Macdonald. On
taking their stations, Montrose gave them strict

injunctions not to leave their position on any

account, as they were effectually protected by

the walls around them, not only frcan the at-

tacks of cavalry, but of foot, and could, with-

out much danger to themselves, keep up a

galling and destructive fire upon their assailant-s.

In order to attract the best troops of the

enemy to this difficult spot where they could

not act, and to make them bcUeve that Mon-

trose commanded this wing, he gave the royal

standard to Macdonald, intending, when they

should get entangled among the bushes and

dikes, witli which the grouml to the right was

covered, to attack tliem himself with his left

^ving; and to enable him to do so the more

effectually, he placed the whole of his horse

and the remainder of the foot on the left wing

to the south of the village. The former ho

committed to the charge of Lord Gordon, re-

serving the command of the latter to himself.

After placing a few chosen foot with some can-

non in front of the village, under cover of some

dikes, Montrose firmly awaited the attack of

the enemy.

Hurry divided his foot and his horse each into

two divisions. On the right wing of the main

body of the foot, which was commanded by

Campbell of Lawers, Hurry placed the regular

cavalry which he had brought from the' south,

and on the left the horse of Moray and the

north, under the charge of Captain Dnmimond.

The other division of foot was placed behind

as a reserve, and commanded by Hurry himself.

When Hurry observed the singular position

which Montrose had taken up, he was utterly

at a loss to guess his designs, and though it

appeared to him, skilful as he was in tlie art of

war, a most extraordinary and novel sight, yet,

from tlie well known character of Montrose,

he was satisfied that Montrose's arrangements

were the result of a deep laid scheme. But

what especially excited the surprise of Hurry,

was the appearance of the large yellow banner

or royal standard in the midst of a small body

of foot stationed among hedges and dikes

and stones, almost isolated from the horse

and tlie main body of the foot. To attack

this party, at the head of which he natu-

rally supposed Mentrose was, was his first

object. This was precisely what Montrose

had wished ; his snare proved successful.

With the design of overwhelming at once

the right wing, Hmrry despatched towards

it the best of his horse and all his vet-

eran troops, who made a furious attack

upon Macdonald's party, the latter defending

themselves bravely behind the dikes and

bushes. The contest continued for some time

on the right with varied success, and Hurry,

who had plenty of men to spare, rehcved thoso
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who were engaged by fcesh troops. Montrose,

who kept a steady eye upon the motions of

the enemy, and watched a favourable oppor-

tunity for making a grand attack upon them

with the left wing, was just preparing to carry

his design into execution, when a confidential

person suddenly rode up to him and wliispered

in his ear that the right wing had been put

to flight.

This intelligence was not, however, quite

correct. It seems that Macdonald who, says

Wishart, " was a brave enough man, but rather

a better soldier than a general, extremely

violent, and daring even to rashness," had been

so provoked with the taunts and insults of the

enemy, that in spite of the express orders he

had received from Montrose on no account to

leave his position, he had un'wisely advanced

beyond it to attack the enemy, and though he

had been several times repulsed he returned to

the charge. But he was at last borne down

by the great numerical superiority of the

enemy's horse and foot, consisting of veteran

troops, and forced to retire in great disorder

into an adjoining enclosure. Nothing, how-

ever, coidd exceed the admirable manner in

which he managed this retreat, and the courage

he displayed while leading off liis men. De-

fending his body with a large target, he resisted,

single-handed, the assaults of the enemy, and

was the last man to leave the field. So closely

indeed was he pressed by Hurry's spearmen,

that some of them actually came so near him
as to fix their spears in his target, which he

cut oif by threes or fours at a time with his

broadsword. •'

It was during this retreat that Montrose re-

ceived the intelligence of the flight of the right

wing; but he preserved liis usual presence of

mind, and to encourage his men, who might

get alarmed at hearing such news, he thus

addressed Lord Gordon, loud enough to be

heard by liis troops, " What are we doing, my
Lord? Our friend Macdonald has routed the

enemy on the right and is carrjring all before

him. Shall we look on and let him carry oft'

the whole honour of the day?" A crisis had
arrived, and not a moment was to be lost.

Scarcely, therefore, were the words out of

^ Wishart, p. 136.

Montrose's mouth, when he ordered his men to

charge the enemy. When his men were ad-

vancing to the charge. Captain or Major Drum-

mond, who commanded Hurry's horse, made

an awkward movement by wheeling about liis

men, and his horse coming in contact with the

foot, broke their ranks and occasioned consid-

erable confusion. Lord Gordon seeing this,

immediately rushed in upon Dnunmond's horse

with his party and put them to flight. Mon-

trose followed hard with the foot, and attacked

the main body of Hurry's army, which he

routed after a powerful resistance. The vet-

erans in Hurry's army, who had served in

Ireland, fought manfully, and chose ratlier to

be cut down standing in their ranks than re-

treat ; but the new levies from Moray, Eoss,

Sutherland, and Caithness, fled in great con-

sternation. They were pursued for several

miles, and might have been all killed or caji-

tured if Lord Aboyne had not, by an unneces-

sary display of ensigns and standards, which

he had taken from the enemy, attracted the

notice of the pursuers, who halted for some

time under the impression that a fresh party of

the enemy was coming up to attack them. In

this way Hurry and some of his troops, who
were the last to leave the field of battle, as well

as the other fugitives, escaped from the impend-

ing danger, and arrived at Inverness the fol-

lowing morning. As the loss of this battle

was mainly owing to Captain Drummond, he

was tried by a court-martial at Inverness, and

condemned to be shot, a sentence which was

carried into immediate execution. He was

accused of having betrayed the army, and it is

said that he admitted that after the battle had

commenced he had spoken with the enemy.''

The number of killed on both sides has been

variously stated. That on the side of the Cove-

nanters has been reckoned by one wiitor at

1,000,5 i-,y another e at 2,000, and by a thu\l

at 3,000 men.'' Montrose, on the otlier hanfl,

is said by the first of these authors to have lost

about 200 men, while the second says that ho

had only " some twenty-four gentlemen hurt,

and some few Irish killed," and Wishart informs

us that ]\Iontrose only missed one private man

* Gordon's Continuation, p. 525.
* Sjialdiug. ^ \Visliart.

Idem.
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on the left, and that the right wing, commanded

by Macdonald, " lost only fourteen private

men." The clans who had joined Hurry suf-

fered considerably, particularly the Erasers,

who, besides unmarried men, are said to have

left dead on the field no less than 87 married

men. Among the principal covenanting offi-

cers who were slain were Colonel Campbell of

Lawers, Sir John and Sir Gideon Murray, and

Colonel James Campbell, with several other

officers of inferior note. The laird of Lawers's

brother, Archibald Campbell, and a few other

officers, were taken prisoners. Captain Mac-

donald and WUliam Macpherson of Invereschie

were the only persons of any note kiUed on

Montrose's side. Montrose took several pri-

soners, whom, with the wounded, he treated

with great kindness. Such of the former as

expressed their sorrow for having joined the

ranks of the Covenanters he released—others

who were disposed to join him he received into

liis army, but such as remained obstinate he im-

prisoned. Besides taking 16 standards from

the enemy, Montrose got possession of the

whole of their baggage, provisions, and ammu-

nition, and a considerable quantity of money

and valuable effects. The battle of Auldearn

was fought on the 4th of May, according to

Wisliart,** and on the 9th according to others,''

Li the year 1645.

The iramen.se disproportion between the

numbers of the slain on the side of the Cove-

nanters and that of the prisoners taken by

Montrose evidently shows that very little quar-

ter had been given, the cause of which is said

to have been the murder of James Gordon,

younger of Ehiny, who was killed by a party

from the garrison of Spjoiie, and by some of

the inhabitants of Elgin, at Stniders, near

Forres, where he had been left in consequence

of a severe wound he had received in a skir-

rai.sh during Himy's firet retreat to Inverness.'

But Montrose revenged himself still farther by

advancing to Elgin and biu'ning the houses of

all those who had been concerned in the mur-

der, at the same time sending out a party- to

' Montrose Redivivics, p. 73.

' Spalding, vol. ii., p. 473. Frilaiu's Distemper,

p. 127.
' Gordon's Continitatitm, p. 525.
' Spalding, vol. li. p. 474.

treat in a similar way the town of Garmoutlij

belonging to the laird of Innes.

While these proceedings were going on,

Montrose sent his whole baggage, booty, and

warlike stores across the Spey, which he him-

self crossed upon the 14th of May, proceeding

to Birkenbog, the seat of " a great Covenanter,"

where he took up his head quarters. He quar-

tered his men in the neighboiu'hood, and, dur-

ing a short stay at Birkenbog, he sent out

different parties of his troops to scoiu' the coim-

try, and take vengeance on the Covenanters.

When General Baillie first heard of the de-

feat of his colleague, Hurry, at Auldearn, he

was lying at Cromar, with his army. He had,

in the beginning of May, after Montrose's de-

parture to the north, entered Athole, which he

had wasted with fire and sword, and had made

an attempt upon the strong castle of Blair, in

which many of the prisoners taken at the

battle of Inverlochy were confined ; but, not

succeeding in his enterprise, he had, after col-

lecting an immense booty, marched through

Athole, and, passing by Kirriemuir and Fetter-

cairn, encamped on the Birse on the 10th of

May. His force at this time amounted to

about 2,000 foot and 120 troopers. On the fol-

lowing day he had marched to Cromar, where

he encamped between the Kirks of Coull and

Tarlan till he shoidd be joined by Lord Bal-

carras's horse regiment. In a short time he

was joined, not only by Balcarras's regiment,

but by two foot regiments. The ministers en-

deavoured to induce the coiuitry people also to

join Baillie, by " thundering out of pidpits,"

but " they lay still," says Spalding, " and

would not follow him."'

As soon as Baillie heard of the defeat of

Hurry, he raised his camp at Cromar, upon the

19th of May, and hastened north. He arrived

at the wood of Coolilarachie, within two miles

of Strathbogie, before Montrose was aware of

his approach. Here he was joined by Hurry,

who, with some horse from Inverness, had

passed themselves off as belonging to Lord

Gordon's party, and had thus been permitted

to go through Montrose's lines without oppo-

sition.

It was on the 19th of May, when lying at

' Spalding, vol. ii. p. 47G.
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Birkenbog, that Montrose received the intelli-

gence of Baillie's arrival in the neighbourhood

of Strathbogie. Although Montrose's men had

not yet wholly recovered from the fatigues of

their late extraordinary march and subsequent

labours, and although their numbers had been

reduced since the battle of Auldearn, by the

departure of some of the Higlilanders ^vith the

booty they had acquired, they felt no disinclina-

tion to engage the enemy, but, on the contrary,

were desirous of coming to immediate action.

But Montrose, although he had the utmost con-

fidence in the often tried courage of his troops,

judged it more expedient to avoid an engage-

ment at present, and to retire, in the meantime,

into his fastnesses to recruit his exhausted

strength, than risk another battle with a fresh

force, greatly superior to his own. In order to

deceive the enemy as to his intentions, he ad-

vanced, the same day, upon Strathbogie, and,

Avithin view of tlieir camp, began to make in-

trenchments, and raise fortifications, as if pre-

paring to defend himself. But as soon as the

darkness of the night prevented BaUlie from

discovering his motions, Montrose marched

rapidly up the south side of the Spey with liis

foot, leaving his horse behind him, with in-

structions to follow him as soon as daylight

began to appear.

BaUlie had passed the night in the confident

expectation of a battle next day, but was sur-

prised to learn the following morning that not

a vestige of Montrose's army was to be seen.

Montrose had taken the route to Balveny,

which having been ascertained by Baillie, he

immediately prepared to follow. He, accord-

ingly, crossed the Spey, and after a rapid

march, almost overtook the retiring foe in

Glenlivet; but Montrose, having outdistanced

his pursuers by several miles before night came

on, got the start of them so completely, that

they were quite at a loss next morning to

ascertain the route he had taken, and could

only guess at it by observing the traces of his

footsteps on the grass and the heather over

wliich he liad passed. Following, tlierefore,

the course thus pointed out, Baillie came again

in sight of Montrose; but he found that he

had taken up a position, which, whilst it almost

defied approach from its rocky and woody situ-

ation, commanded the entrance into Badenoch,

from which country Montrose could, without

molestation, draw supplies of both men and

provisions. To attack Montrose in liis strong-

hold was out of the question ; but, in the hope

of withdrawing him from it, Bailhe encamped

his army hard by. Montrose lay quite secure

in his well-chosen position, from which he

sent out parties who, skirmishing by day, and

beating up the quarters of the enemy during

the night, so harassed and frightened tliem,

that they were obliged to retreat to Inverness,

after a stay of a few days, a measure which

was rendered stOl more necessary from the

want of provisions and of provender for the

liorses. Leaving Inverness, Baillie crossed the

Spey, and proceeded to Aberdeenshire, arriving

on the 3d of June at Newton, in the Garioch,

" where he encamped, destroying the country,

and cutting the green growing crops to the

very clod."''

Having got quit of the presence of Baillie's

army, ilontrose resolved to make a descent

into Angus, and attack the Earl of Crawford,

wlio lay at the castle of Newtyle with an army

of reserve to support Baillie, and to prevent

Montrose from crossing the Forth, and carrying

the war into the south. This nobleman, who
stood next to Argyle, as head of the Cov-

enanters, had often complained to the Estates

against Argyle, whose rival he was, for his

inactivity and pusillanimity; and having in-

sinuated that he would have acted a very

different part had the command of such an

army as Argyle had, been intrusted to him,

he had the address to obtain the command

of the army now under liim, which had

been newly raised; but the earl was without

military experience, and quite unfit to cope

with Montrose.

Proceeding through Badenoch, Montrose

crossed the Grampians, and arrived by rapid

marches on the banks of the river Airly, within

seven miles of Crawford's camp, but was pre-

vented from giving battle by the desertion of

the Gordons and their friends, who almost all

returned to their country.

He now formed the resolution to attack

Baillie himself, but before he could venture on

sucli a bold step, he saw that there was an

* Spaliling, vol. ii. p. 479.
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absolute necessity of making some additions

to his force. With this view he sent Sir

Nathaniel Gordon, an influential cavalier, into

the north before him, to raise the Gordons and

the other royalists; and, on his march north

through Glenshee and the Braes of Mar, Mon-

trose despatched Macdonald into the remoter

Hig]Janils with a party to bring him, as speedily

as possible, all the forces he could. Judging

that the influence and authority of Lord Gordon

might gi-eatly assist Sir Nathaniel, he sent liim

after liim, and Montrose himself encamped in

the country of Cromar, waiting for the expected

reinforcements.

In the meantime, EaiUie lay in camp on

Dee-side, in the lower part of Mar, where he

was joined by Crawford; but he showed no

disjjosition to attack Montrose, who, from the

inferiority, in point of number, of his forces,

retired to the old castle of Kargarf. Crawford

did not, however, remain long with Baillie;

but, exchanging a thousand of his raw recruits

for a similar nimiber of BaiUie's veterans, he

returned with these, and the remainder of his

army, through the Mearns into Angus, as if he

intended some mighty exploit; he, thereafter,

entered Atliole, and in imitation of Argyle,

plundered and burnt tlie country.

Raising his camp, Baillie marclied towards

Strathbogie to lay siege to the Marquis of

Huntly's castle, the Bog of Giglit, now Gordon

castle; but although Montrose had not yet

received any reinforcements, he resolved to

follow Baillie and prevent him from putting

his design into execution. But Montrose had

marched scarcely three miles wlien he was

observed by BaUlie's scouts, and at the same

time ascertained that Baillie had taken up a

strong position on a rising ground above Keith,

about two miles off. Next morning Montrose,

not considering it advisable to attack BaLUie

in the strong position he occupied, sent a

trumpeter to him offering to engagi him on

open ground, but Ba'Jlie answered the hostUe

nessage by saying, that he would not receive

orders for fighting from his enemy.^

In this situation of matters, Montrose had

recourse to stratagem to draw Baillie from his

stronghold. By retiring across the river Don,

' Wishart, p. 1 l.'i.

the covenanting general was led to believe that

Montrose intended to march to tlie south, and

he was, therefore, advised by a committee of

the Estates which always accompanied him,

and in whose hands he appears to have been a

mere passive instrument, to pursue Montrose.

As soon as Montrose's scouts brought intelli-

gence that BaUlie was advancing, he set off by

break of day to the village of Alford on the

river Don, where he intended to await the

enemy. Wlien BaUlie was informed of this

movement, he imagined that Montrose was in

fidl retreat before him, a supposition wliich

encouraged him so to hasten his march, that

he came up with Montrose at noon at the dis-

tance of a few miles from Alford. Montrose,

thereupon, drew up his army in order of battle

on an advantageous rising ground and waited

for tlie enemy; but instead of attacking him,

Baillie made a detour to the left with the

intention of getting into Montrose's rear and

cutting off his retreat. Montrose then conti

nued his march to Alford, where he passed the

night.

On the following morning, the 2d of July,

the two armies were only the distance of about

four miles from each other. Montrose drew

up liis troops on a little hill behind the village

of Alford. In his rear was a marsh full of

ditclies and pits, which would protect him

from the inroads of BaiUie's cavalry shoidd

they attempt to assaU him in that quarter, and

in his front stood a steep hill, which prevented

the enemy from observing his motions. He

gave the command of the right wing to Lord

Gordon and Sir Nathaniel ; the left he com-

mitted to Viscount Aboyne and Sir WUham
Eollock ; and the main body was put under the

charge of Angus Macvichalister, chief of the

!MacdoneUs of Glengarry, Drummond younger

of BaUoch, and Quarter-master George Graham,

a skilfid officer. To Napier his nephew, Mon-

trose intrusted a body of reserve, wliich was

concealed behind the hill.

Scarcely had Montrose completed his ar-

rangements, when he received intelligence that

the enemy had crossed the Don, and was mov-

ing in the direction of Alford, This was a

fatal step on the part of Baillie, who, it is said,

was forced into battle by the rashness of Lord

Balcarras, " one of the bravest men of the
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kingdom,"* who unnecessarily placed himself

and his regiment in a position of such danger

that they could not he rescued without expos-

ing the whole of tlie covenantmg army.
''

When Baillie arrived in the valley adjoining

the liill on which Montrose had taken up his

position, both armies remained motionless for

some time, viewing each other, as if unwilling

to begin the combat. Owing to the command-

ing position which Montrose occupied, the

Covenanters could not expect to gain any

advantage by attacking him even with superior

forces ; but now, for the first tune, the number

of the respective armies was about equal, and

Montrose had this advantage over Ms adver-

sary, that while Baillie's army consisted in

part of the raw and undisciplined levies which

tlie Earl of Craivford liad exclianged for some

of liis veteran troops, the gi'eater part of Mon-

trose's men had been long accustomed to ser-

vice. These circumstances determined Baillie

not to attempt the ascent of the hill, but to

remain in tlie valley, where, in the event of a

descent by Montrose, liis superiority in cavahy

would give lum tlie advantage.

This state of inaction was, however, soon

put an end to by Lord Gordon, who observing

a party of BaUlie's troops driving away before

them a large quantity of cattle wliich they had

collected in Strathbogie and the Enzie, and

being desirous of recovering the property of

his countrymen, selected a body of horse, wth
which he attempted a rescue. The assailed

party was protected by some dykes and enclo-

sures, from beliind which they fired a volley

upon the Gordons, which did considerable

execution amongst them. Such a cool and

determined reception, attended ^\^th a result

so disastrous and unexpected, might have been

attended by dangerous consequences, had not

Montrose, on observing the party of Lord Gor-

don giving indications as if undetermined how
to act, resolved immediately to commence a

general attack upon the enemy mth his whole

army. But as Baillie's foot had intrenched

themselves amongst the dykes and fences which

covered the ground at the bottom of the hiU,

and could not be attacked in that position

with success, Montrose immediately ordered

• r.ritane's Distcinper, p. 129. ' Wisliait, p. 1-17.

the horse, who were engaged with the enemy,

to retreat to their former position, in the expec-

tation that Baillie's troops would leave their

ground and follow them. And in this hope

he was not disappointed, for the Covenanters

thinking that this movement of the horse was

merely the prelude to a retreat, advanced from

their secure position, and followed the supposed

fugitives with then- whole horse and foot in

regular order.

Both armies now came to close quarters, and

fought face to face and man to man with great

obstinacy for some time, without either party

receding from the ground they occupied. At
length Sir Nathaniel Gordon, growing impa-

tient at such a protracted resistance, resolved

to cut his way through the enemy's left wug,
consisting of Lord Balcarras's regiment of horse

;

and calling to the light musketeers who Kued

his horse, he ordered them to tlirow aside their

muskets, which were now unnecessary, and to

attack the enemy's horse with their drawn

swords. Tliis order was immediately obeyed,

and in a sliort time they cut a passage tlu-ough

the ranks of the enemy, whom they hewed
down with great slaughter. Wlien the horse

which composed Baillie's right vviug, and which

had been kept in check by Lord Aboyne, per-

ceived that their left had given way, they also

retreated.' An attempt was made by the

covenanting general to rally his left wing by

bringing up the right, after it liad retired, to

its support, but they were so alarmed at the

spectacle or melee which they had just witnessed

on the left, where their corm-ades had been cut

dowTi by the broad swords of Montrose's

musketeers, that they could not be induced to

take the place of their retiring friends.

Thus abandoned by the horse, Baillie's foot

were attacked on all sides by Montrose's forces.

They fought with uncommon bravery, and

although they were cut down in great numbers,

the survivors exhibited a perseverance and

determination to resist to the last extremity.

An accident now occurred, which, whilst it

threw a melancholy gloom over the fortunes of

the day, and the spiiits of Montrose's men,

served to hasten the work of carnage and death.

Tliis was the fall of Lord Gordon, wlio having

* VVishart, p. 149.
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incautiously rushed in amongst the thickest of

the enemy, was unfortunately shot dead, it is

said,^ when in the act of pulHng Baillie, the

covenanting general, from liis horse, having, it

is said, in a moment of exultation, promised

to his men, to drag Baillie out of the ranks

and present liim before them. The Gordons,

on perceiving their young chief fall, set no

bounds to their fury, and falling upon the

enemy with renewed vigour, hewed them down

without mercy ;
yet these brave men still

showed no disposition to flee, and it was not

until the appearance of the reserve under tlie

Master of Napier, which had hitherto been

kept out of view of the enemy at tlie back of

the luU, that their courage began to fail them.

Wlien this body began to descend the hill,

accompanied by what appeared to them a fresh

reinforcement of cavahy, but which consisted

merely of the camp or livery boys, who had

mounted the sumpter-horses to make a display

for the purpose of alarming the enemy, tlie

entire remaining body of the covenanting foot

fled with precipitation. A hot pursuit took

place, and so great was the slaughter that very

few of them escaped. The covenanting general

and his principal officers were saved by the

fleetness of their horses, and the Marquis of

Argyle, who had accompanied BaUlie as a

member of the committee, and who was closely

pursued by Glengarry and some of his High-

landers, made a narrow escape by repeatedly

changing horses.

Thus ended one of the best contested battles

which Montrose had yet fought, yet strange as

the fact may appear, his loss was, as usual,

extremely trifling. Lord Gordon being the only

person of importance slain. A considerable

number of Montrose's men, however, were

wounded, particularly the Gordons, who, for a

long time, sustained the attacks of Balcarras's

horse, amongst whom were Sir Nathaniel, and

Gordon, younger of Gicht. ^ The loss on the

side of the Covenanters was immense ; by far

the greater part of their foot, and a consider-

able number of their cavalry having been slain.

' This incident is extremely doubtful ; it appears

to lie mentioned only in the Hcd Book of Clanranald,

while no mention is made of it in Gordon of Sallagh,

Wisliart, or Gordon of Ruthven.
' Gordon's Continuation, p. 526.

Some prisoners were taken fi'OLi them, but

their number was small, owing to their obsti-

nacy in refusing quarter. These were sent to

Strathbogie under an escort.

The brQliant victory was, however, clouded

by the death of Lord Gordon, " a very

hopeful young gentleman, able of mind and

body, about the age of twenty-eight years." ^

Wishart gives an affecting description of the

feelmgs of Montrose's army when tliis amiable

young nobleman was killed. " There was," he

says, " a general lamentation for the loss of

the Lord Gordon, whose death seemed to

eclipse all the glory of the victory. As the

report spread among the soldiers, every one

appeared to be struck dumb with the melan-

choly news, and a universal sUence prevailed

for some time through the army. However,

their grief soon burst through all restraint,

venting itself in the voice of lamentation and

sorrow. When the first transports were over,

the soldiers exclaimed against heaven and

earth for bereaving the king, the kingdom, and

themselves, of such an excellent young noble-

man; and, unmindful of the victory or of the

phmder, they tlu'onged about the body of their

dead captain, some weeping over his wounds

and kissing his lifeless limbs; while others

praised his comely appearance even in death,

and extolled his noble mind, which was en-

riched with every valuable qualification that

could adorn his high birth or ample fortune :

they even cursed the victory bought at so dear

a rate. Nothing could have supported the

army under this immense sorrow but the pre-

sence of Montrose, whose safety gave them

joy, and not a little revived their drooping

spirits. In the meantmie he could not com-

mand his grief, but mourned bitterly over the

melancholy fate of liis only and dearest friend,

grievously complaining, that one who was the

honour of his nation, the ornament of the Scots

nobUity, and the boldest asserter of the royal

authority in the north, had fallen In the flower

of his youth." ^

The victories of Montrose in Scotland were

more than counterbalanced by those of the

parliamentary forces in England. Under dif-

ferent circumstances, the success at Alford

' Idem. Mnnoirs, p. 132.
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might have been attended mth consequences

the most important to the royal cause; but tlie

defeat of the king on the 14tli of June, at

Naseby, had raised the hopes of the Cove-

nanters, and prepared their minds to receive

the tidings of Baillio's defeat with coolness and

moderation.

Upon the day on which the battle of Alford

was fought, the parliament had adjourned to

Stirling from Edinburgh, on account of a

destructive pestilence which had reached the

capital from Newcastle, by way of Kelso.

Thither General BaUlie, Lord Balcarras, and

the committee of Estates, which had accompa-

nied the covenanting army, repaired, to laj' a

statement of the late disaster before the par-

liament, and to receive instructions as to their

futra-e conduct. With the exception of Baillie,

they were well received. Balcarras, who had

particularly distmguished liimself in the battle

at the head of his horse, received a vote of

thanks, and a similar acknowledgment was,

after some hesitation, awarded to BaUlie, not-

withstanding some attempts made to prejudice

the parliament against him. But the fact was,

they could not dispense in the present emer-

gency with an officer of tlie military talents of

Baillie, who, instead of shrinking from respon-

sibility for the loss of the battle of Alford,

offered to stand trial before a court martial,

and to justify Ins conduct on that occasion.

To have withheld, therefore, the usual token of

approbation from him, wliile bestowing it upon

an inferior officer, would have been to fix a

stigma upon him which he was not disposed to

brook consistently with the retention of the

command of the army; and as the parKament

resolved to renew liis commission, by appoint-

ing him to the command of the army then

being concentrated at Perth, they afterwards

professed their unqualified satisfaction with

him.

After the battle of Alford the army of Mon-

trose was considerably diminished, in conse-

quence of the Highlanders, according to cus-

tom, taking leave of absence, and returning

home with the spoil they had taken from the

enemy. This singular, though ordinary prac-

tice, contributed more to paralyze the exertions

of ^Montrose, and to prevent him from follow-

ing up his successes, than any event which

occurred in the whole course of his campaigns,

and it may appear strange that Montrose did

not attempt to put an end to it ; but the tenm-e

by wliich he held the services of these hardy

mountaineers being that they should be allowed

their wonted privileges, any attempt to deviate

from their established customs would have been

an immediate signal for desertion.

As it would have been imprudent in Mon-

trose, with forces thus impaired, to have fol-

lowed the fugitives, who would receive fresh

succours from the south, he, after allowing his

men some time to refresh themselves, marched

to Aberdeen, where he celebrated the funeral

obsequies of his valued friend. Lord Gordon,

wth becoming dignity.

The district of Buchan in Aberdeenshire,

which, from its outlying situation, had hitherto

escaped assessment for the supply of the hostile

armies, was at this time subjected to the sur-

veillance of Montrose, who despatched a party

from Aberdeen into that country to collect aU

the horses they could find for the use of his

anny, and also to obtain recruits. About the

same time the Marquis of Huntly, who had

been living in Stratlmaver for some time, hav-

ing heard of the death of his eldest son, Lord

Gordon, meditated a return to his o^vn coimtry,

intending to throw the influence of his name

and authority into the royal scale. But as he

might be exposed to danger in passing through

countries which were hostile to the royal

cause, it was arranged between Montrose and

Viscount Aboyne, who had just been created

an earl, that the latter should proceed to Strath-

naver, with a force of 2,000 men to escort his

father south. This expedition was, however,

abandoned, in consequence of intelligence

having been brought to Montrose that the

Covenanters were assembling in great strength

at Perth.

The parliament which, as we have seen, had

left Edinburgh, and gone to Stirling on account

of the pestilence, had been obliged, in conse-

quence of its appearance in Stirling, to adjourn

to Perth, where it was to meet on the 24th ol

July ; but before leaving Stirling, they ordered

a levy of 10,000 foot to be raised in the coun-

ties to the south of the Tay ; and to insure due

obedience to this mandate, all noblemen, gen-

tlemen, and heritors, were required to attend
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at Pertli on or before that day, well moxmted,

and to bring with them such forces as they

could raise, under a heavy penalty.*

On leaving Aberdeen, Montrose took up his

quarters at Crabston, situated a few miles from

Aberdeen, between the rivers Don and Dee,

where he remained for some time in the expec-

tation of being joined by reinforcements from

the Highlands under Major-general Macdonald,

who had been absent about two months from

the army in quest of recruits. As, however,

these expected succours did not arrive within

the time expected, Montrose, impatient of

delay, crossed the Dee, and marching over the

Grampians, descended into the Mearns, and

pitched his camp at Fordoun in Kincardine-

shire.

Proceeding on his march, through Angus and

Blairgowrie to Dunkeld, Montrose had the

good fortune to be successively joined by his

cousin, Patrick Graham of Inchbrakie, at the

head of the brave Athole Highlanders, and by

Llacdonald, his major-general, who brouglit

with him the chief of the Macleans, and

about 700 of that clan, all animated by a

strong feeling of animosity against Argyle and

liis partisans. He was also joined by John

Muidartach, the celebrated captain of the

Clanranald, at the head of 500 of his men;

by the Macgregors and Macnabs, lieaded

by their respective cliieftains; by the Clan-

donald, under the command of the uncles of

Glengarry and other officers, Glengarry him-

self, " who," says Bishop Wishart, " deserves

a singular commendation for his bravery and

steady loyalty to the king, and his peculiar

attachment to Montrose,"* having never left

Montrose since he joined him at the time of

his expedition into Argyle. Besides aU these,

the Stewarts of Appin, some of the Farquhar-

sons of Braemar, and small parties of inferior

clans from Badenoch, rallied round the standard

of Montrose.

Having obtained these reinforcements, Mon-

trose now formed the design of marching upon

Perth, and breaking up the parliament which

had there assembled, and thereafter of pro-

ceeding to the south, and dissipating the levies

which were being raised beyond the Tay.

* Guthrie's Memoirs, p. 150. Memoirs, p. 155.

But the want of cavalry, in which he was con

stantly deficient, formed a bar to this plan,

and Montrose was, therefore, obliged to defer

his project tdl he should be joined by the

Earls of Aboyne and Airly, whom he expected

soon with a considerable body of horse. In

the meantime, Montrose crossed the Tay at

Dunkeld, and encamped at Amulree. The

covenanting army, wdth the exception of the

garrison of Perth, was then lying on the south

side of the Earn, and a body of 400 horse was

posted near the town, for the protection of the

Estates or parliament.

This movement, on the part of Montrose,

created some alarm in the minds of the Cove-

nanters, which was greatly increased by a

report from their horse, stationed in the neigh-

bourhood of the town, who, seeing some of his

scouts approach it, had fancied that he was

going to storm it. While this panic was at its

heiglit, Montrose, who had no intention of

attacking the town, raised his camp, and took

up a position in the wood of Methven, about

five mUes from Perth. During this movement,

the town was tlirown into a state of the greatest

consternation, from an apprehension that Mon-

trose was about to attack it, and the nobility

and the otlier members of the parliament were

earnestly solicited to secure their safety by a

speedy flight, but the Estates remained firm,

and could not be persuaded to abandon their

posts. In order, if possible, still farther to

increase the panic in the to^vn, Montrose ad-

vanced almost to the very gates of Perth with

his horse the following day, which, although

not exceeding 100, were made to appeal- for-

midable by the addition of the baggage-horses,

on which some musketeers were mounted.

Tliis act of bold defiance magnified the fears

of those who were in the town, and made them

imagine that Montrose was well provided in

cavalry. The covenanting troops, therefore,

were afraid to venture beyond the gates; and

Montrose having thus easUy accomplished hia

object, was encouraged, stUl farther, to cross

the Earn at Dupplin, when he openly recon-

noitred the enemy's army on the south of that

river, and surveyed the Strath with great deli-

beration and coolness, without interruption.

Both armies remained in their positions for

several days without attempting any thing,
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each waiting for reinforcements. During all

tlds time, the enemy had been deceived re-

specting the strength of Montrose's horse, but

haiing learned his weakness in that respect,

and the deception which he had practised so

successfully upon them, and being jomed by

three regiments from Fife, they resolved to

offer him battle. Montrose, however, from Ids

great inferiority of numbers, particidarly in

horse, was not in a condition to accept the

challenge, and wisely declined it. Accordingly,

when he saw the enemy advancing towards

him, he prepared to retreat among the neigh-

bouring mountains; but to deceive the enemy,

and to enable him to carry off his baggage, he

tbew out liis army as if he intended to fight,

placing his horse in front, and securing the

passes into the mountains with guards. While

making these dispositions, he sent off his

baggage towards the hills under an escort; and

when he thought the baggage out of danger,

gave orders to his army to march off in close

rank ; and to cover its retreat and protect it

from the cavalry of the enemy, he placed his

horse, lined as usual \vith the best musketeers,

in the rear.

As soon as BaiUie, the covenanting general,

perceived that Montrose was in fidl retreat, he

despatched General Hurry with the cavalry in

pursuit of him ; but from a most unaccountable

delay on Hurry's part in crossing the Pow—so

slow, indeed, had his movements been, tliat

BaiUie's foot overtook him at the fords of the

Almond—Montrose had almost reached tlie

passes of the mountains before he was over-

taken. Chagrined at his easy escape, and

determined to perform some striking exploit

before Montrose should retire into liis fastnesses,

a body of 300 of the best mounted covenanting

cavalry set off at full gallop after him, and

attacked him with great fury, using at the

same time the most insulting and abusive lan-

guage. To put an end to this annoyance, Mon-
trose selected twenty expert HiglJanders, and

requested them to bring dovra some of the

assailants. Accordingly these marksmen ad-

vanced in a crouching attitude, concealing their

guns, and having approached within musket-

shot, took deliberate aim, and soon brought

down the more advanced of the party. This

unexpected disaster made the assailants more

cautious in their advances, and caused them to

resolve upon an immediate retreat; but the

marksmen were so elated with their success

that they actually pursued them down into the

plain, " and resolutely attacked the whole party,

who, putting spurs to their horses, fled with

the utmost precipitation, like so many deer

Ijefore the hunters."^ In this retreat Montrose

did not lose a single man.

After giving over this fruitless pursuit, the

enemy returned to Montrose's camp at Meth-

ven, where, according to Wishart, they com-

mitted a most barbarous act in revenge of their

late affront, by butchering some of the wives of

the Higlilanders and Irish who had been left

behind. Montrose took up his quarters at

Little Dunkeld, both because he was there per-

fectly secure from the attacks of the enemy's

cavaby, and because it was a convenient sta-

tion to wait for the reinforcements of horse

which he daily expected from the north under

the Earls of Airly and Aboyne. Although

both armies lay close together for several days,

notliiug was attempted on either side. The

covenanting general had become quite disgusted

with the service in consequence of the jealousies

and suspicions which it was too evident the

committee entertained of him. His disgust was

increased by the sudden return to their country

of the Fife men, who preferred their domestic

comforts to the vicissitudes of war, but who
unfortunately were, as we shall soon see, to be

sacrificed at its shrine.

At length the Earl of Aboyne, accompanied

by Sir Nathaniel Gordon, arrived at Little

Dunkeld, but with a force much inferior in

numbers to what was expected. They only

brought 200 horse and 120 musketeers, which

last were mounted upon carriage horses. The

smallness of their number was compensated,

however, in a great measure by their steadiness

and bravery. The Earl of Airly and his son,

Sir David Ogilvie, joined Montrose at the same

time, along vrith a troop of 80 horse, consisting

chiefly of gentlemen of the name of Ogilvie,

among whom was Alexander Ogilvie, son of

Sir Jolm Ogilvie of Innerquharity, a yomig

man who had already distinguished himself in

the field.

' Wishart's Alemoirs, p. 159.
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Never, at any former period of his eventful

career, did the probabilities of ultimate suc-

cess on the side of Montrose appear greater

than now. His army, ardent and devoted to

the royal cause, now amounted to nearly

5,000 foot and about 500 liorse, the greater

part of which consisted of brave and experi-

enced warriors whom he had often led to

victory. A considerable portion of his army

was composed of some of the most valiant

of the Highland clans, led by their respective

cliiefs, among whom stood conspicuous the re-

nowned captain of clan Ranald, in himself a

host. The clans were animated by a feeling

of the most unbounded attachment to what

they considered the cause of their chiefs, and

by a deadly spirit of revenge for the cruelties

which tlie Covenanters under Argyle had exer-

cised in the Highlands. The Macleans antl

the Athole Higlilanders in particidar, longed

for an opportunity of retaliating upon the cove-

nanting partisans of Argyle the injuries which

Perth in the 17th century.—From Slezer's Thcatru Seoticc (1S93).

Ihey had repeatedly received at his hands, and

thereby ^viping out the stain which, as they

conceived, had been cast upon them. But for-

tunate as Montrose now was in having such an

army at his disposal, the chances in Ms favour

were greatly enhanced by the circumstance, that

whereas in his former campaigns he had to

watch the movements of different armies, and

to fight them in detail, he was now enabled,

from having annihilated or dispersed the whole

armies formerly opposed to him, to concentrate

his strength and to direct all his energies to

one point. The only bar which now stood in

the way of the entire subjugation of Scotland

to the authority of the king, was the army of

Baillie, and the defeat or destruction of this

body now became the immediate object of

Montrose. His resolution to attack the enemy

was hastened by the receipt of information that

the Fife regiments had left BaiUie's camp and

returned home, and that the general himself

was so dissatisfied with the conduct of the

covenanting committee, who thwarted all his

plans and usurped his authority, that he was

about to resign the command of the army.

Montrose, therefore, without loss of time,

raised his camp, and descending into the Low-

lands, arrived at Logie Almond, where he

halted his foot. Thence he went out with his

cavalry to reconnoitre the enemy, and came in



BAILLIE JOINED BY THE MEN OF FIFE. 221

full view of them before sunset. They made

no attempt to molest him, and testified their

Jread of this unexpected visit by retiring within

their lines. Early next morning Montrose

again rode out to make liis observations, but

was surprised to learn that the enemy had

abandoned their camp at Metli\'en during the

night, and had retired across the Earn, and

taken up a position at Kilgraston, near Bridge-

of-Earn. Montrose immediately put his army

in motion towards the Earn, which he crossed

by the bridge of Nether Gask, about eight

miles above Kilgraston. He then proceeded

forward as far as the Kirk of Dron, by wliich

movement he for the first time succeeded in

throwing open to the operations of his army the

whole of the country south of the Tay, from

which the enemy had hitherto carefully ex-

cluded him. The eneraj', alarmed at l\Iontrose's

approach, made every preparation for defending

themselves by strengthening the position in

which they were intrenched, and which, from

the narrowness of tlie passes and the nature of

the ground, was well adapted for sustaining

an attack.

Montrose was most anxious to bring the

enemy to an engagement before they should

be joined by a large levy then raising in Fife

;

but they were too advantageously posted to be

attacked wth much certainty of success. As

he could not by any means induce them to

leave their ground, he marched to Kiiu-oss for

the double purpose of putting an end to the

Fife levies and of withdi-awing the enemy from

their position, so as to aflbrd him an opportu-

nity of attacking them under more favourable

cu'cumstances. This movement had the effect

of drawing Baillie from his stronghold, who
cautiously followed Montrose at a respectfid

distance. In the course of his marcli, Baillie

was again jouied by the three Fife regiments.

On arriving at Kinross in the evening, Mon-
trose learned from an advanced party he had

sent out to collect information through the

country, under the command of Colonel Na-

thaniel Gordon, and Sir William Piollock, that

the people of Fife were in arms, a piece of

intelligence wliich made biin resolve immedi-

ately to retrace his steps, judging it imprudent

to risk a battle in such a hostile district. Al-

though the men of Fife were stern Covenanters,

and were ready to fight for tlie Covenant on

their own sod, yet Uving for the most part in

towns, and following out the sober pursuits of

a quiet and domestic life, they had no relisli

for war, and disliked the service of the camp.

Hence the speedy return of the Fife regiments

from the camp at Methven, to tlieir own coun-

try, and hence another reason which induced

Montrose to leave their unfriendly soil, viz.,

that they would probably again abandon BaiUie,

should he attempt to follow Montrose in hia

progress west.

Accordingly, after remaining a night at Kin-

ross, Montrose, the following morning, marched

towards Alloa, in the neighbourhood of wliich

he arrived in the evening, and passed the night

in the wood of Tullybody. The Irish plundered

the town of Alloa, and tlie adjoining lordship,

which belonged to the Earl of Mar ; but not-

withstanding this unprovoked outrage, the eai-1

and Lord Erskine gave Montrose, the Earl of

Airly, and the principal officers of the army,

an elegant entertainment in the castle of Alloa.

Montrose, however, did not delay the march

of his army while partaking of the hospitality

of the Earl of Mar, but immediately despatched

Macdonald west to Stirling with the foot,

retaining only the horse to serve liim as a body-

guard. In this route the Macleans laid waste

the parishes of Muckart and DoUar, of which

the Marquis of Argyle was the superior, and

burnt Castle Campbell, the principal residence

of the Argyle family in the lowlands, in requital

of similar acts done by the marquis and his

followers in the country of the Macleans.

'

As the pestilence was still raging in the town

of Stirling, Montrose avoided it altogether, lest

his army might catch the infection. He halted

witliin tliree miles of the town, where his army

passed the night, and being apprised next

morning, by one of Baillie's scouts who had

been taken prisoner, that Baillie was close at

hand with the whole of liis army, Montrose

marched quickly up to the fords of Frew, about

eight miles above Stirling bridge, and there

crossed the Forth. Pursuing his march the

following morning in the direction of Glasgow,

he made a short halt about six miles from

Stirling, to ascertain the enemy's movements,

* Guthry s Memoirs, p. 151.
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and being informed that Baillie had not yet

crossed the Forth, he marched to Kilsyth,

where he encamped. During the day, Baillie

passed the Forth by Stirling bridge, and

marching forwards, came within view of Mon-

trose's army, and encamped that evening witliin

three mUes of Kilsyth.

'

The covenanting army had, in its progress

westward, followed exactly the tract of Mon-

trose tlvrough the vale of the Devon. The

Marquis of Argyle avaUing himself of this cir-

cumstance, caused the house of Menstrie, the

seat of the Earl of Stirling, the king's secre-

tary, and that of Airthrie, belonging to Sir

John Graham of Braco, to be burnt. He,

moreover, sent an insolent message to the Earl

of Mar, notifying to him, that, on the return

of the army from the pursuit of Montrose, he,

the earl, might calculate on having his castle

also burnt, for the hospitality he had shown

^Montrose. ^

The conjecture of Montrose, that the Fife

regiments woidd not cross the Forth, was not

altogether without foundation. In fact, when

they arrived near Stirling, they positively

refused to advance further, and excused them-

selves by alleging, th.at they were raised on the

express condition that they should not be called

upon to serve out of their own shire, and that,

having already advanced beyond its limits, they

would on no account cross the Forth. But their

obstinacy was overcome by the all-powerfid

influence of the ministers, who, in addition to

the usual scriptural appeals, " told them jolly

tales that Lanark, Glencairn, and Eglinton,

were lifting an army to join them, and there-

fore entreated that they woidd, for only one

day more, go out," untU that army approached,

when they shoidd be discharged. ^

WhUe the Fife regiments were thus per-

suaded to expose themselves to the \ULforeseen

destruction which unfortunately awaited them,

an incident occurred on the opposite bank of

the Forth, which betokened ill for the future

prospects of the covenanting army. This will

be best explained by stating the matter in

General Baillie's own words. " A little above

the park (the king's park at Stirling), I halted

until the Fife regiments were brought up,

» Wishart, p. 156. ' Guthrj', p. 15b. ' Idem.

hearing that the rebels were marching towartla

KUsj'th. After the upcoming of these regi-

ments, the Marquis of Argyle, Earl of Craw-

ford, and Lord Burleigh, and, if I mistake not,

the Earl of Tulliebardine, the Lords Elcho and

Balcarras, with some others, came up. My
lord marquis asked me what next was to be

done. I answered, the direction shoidd como

from his lordsliip and those of the committee.

My lord demanded what reason was for tliis 1

I answered, I found myself so slighted in

every thing belonging to a commander-in-cliief,

that, for the short time I was to stay with

tliem, I would absolutely submit to their di

rection and follow it. The marquis desired me

to explain myself, which I did in these parti

cidars, sufficiently known to my lord marquis

and the other lords and gentlemen then present.

I told his lordship, (1.) Prisoners of all sorts

were exchanged without my knowledge; the

traffickers therein received passes from others,

and, sometimes passing within two miles of

me, did neither acquaint me with their busi-

ness, nor, at their return, where, or in what

posture they had left the enemy: (2.) Wliile I

was present, others did sometimes undertake

the command of the army: (3.) Without either

my order or knowledge, fire was raised, and

that destroyed which might have been a re-

compense to some good deserver, for wluch I

woidd not be answerable to the public. All

which things considered, I should in any thing

freely give my own opinion, but follow the

judgment of the committee, and the rather be-

cause that was the last day of my undertaking."'

It is here necessary to state, by way of expla-

nation, that Baillie had, in consequence of the

previous conduct of the committee, resigned

his commission, and had only been induced, at

the earnest solicitation of the parliament, to

continue his services for a definite period,

wliich, it appears, was just on the point of ex-

piring.

The differences between Baillie and the

committee being patched up, the covenanting

army proceeded on the 14th of August in

the direction of Denny, and having crossed

the Carron at Hollandbush, encamped, as we

have stated, about 3 miles from Kilsyth.

^ General Baillie s Narrative, Baillie's Letters, vol

ii. pp. 270, 271
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Before the arrival of Baillio, Montrosa had

receivcil information which made him resolve

to hazard a battle immediately. The intelli-

gence he had obtained was to the effect, tliat

the Earls of Cassilis, Eglinton, and Glencairn,

and other heads of the Covenantors, were ac-

tively engaged in levying forces in the west of

Scotland, and that the Earl of Lanark had

already raised a body of 1,000 foot and 500

horse in Clydesdale, among the vassals and de-

pendents of the Hamilton family, and that this

force was witliin 1 2 miles of KiLsyth.

Having taken his resolution, Montrose made

the necessary arrangements for receiving the

enemy, by placing his men in the best position

which the nature of the ground afforded. In

front of his position were several cottages and

gardens, of which he took possession. Baillio,

seeing the advantageous position chosen by

Montrose, would have willingly delayed battle

till either the expected reinforcements from the

west shoidd arrive, or till Montrose should be

induced to become the assailant ; but his plans

were over-ruled by Argyle and the other mem-

liers of the comnnttee, who insisted that he

should immediately attack Montrose. Accord-

ingly, early in the morning he put liis army in

motion from Hollandbush, and advanced near

Auchinclogh, about two miles to the east of

KUsyth, where he halted. As the ground be-

tween him and Montrose was fidl of quagmires,

which effectually prevented Montrose from at^

tacking him in front, he proposed to take up a

defensive position without advancing farther,

and await an attack. But here again the com-

mittee interposed, and when he was in the

very act of arranging the stations of his army,

they advised him to take a position on a hiU

on his right, which they considered more suit^

able. It was in vain that BaiUie remonstrated

against what he justly considered an impru-

dent advice—the committee were inexorable in

their resolution, and Badlie had no alternative

but to obey. In justice, however, to Lord

Balcarras, it must be mentioned that he disap-

proved of the views of the committee.

When Montrose saw the covenanting array

approach from Hollandbush, he was exceed-

ingly delighted, as, from the excellent state of his

army, the courageous bearing of his men, and

the advantage of his position, ho calculated

upon obtaining a decisive victory, which might

enable him to advance into England and re-

trieve the affairs of his sovereign in that king-

dom. But whUe Montrose was thus joyfully

anticipating a victory which, he flattered him-

self, would be crowned with results the most

favourable to tl^'e royal cause, an incident

occurred which might have proved fatal to his

hopes, had he not, with that wonderful self-

possession and consummate prudence for which

he was so distinguished, turned that very in-

cident to his own advantage. Among the

covenanting cavalry was a regiment of cuiras-

siers, the ajjpearanco of whose armour, glitter-

ing in the sun, stiiick such terror into Mon-

trose's horse, that tliey hesitated about engag-

ing with such formidable antagonists, and,

while riding along the Hue to encourage his

men and give the necessary directions, Mon-

trose heard his cavalry muttering among them-

selves and complaining that they were now

for the first time to fight with men clad in

iron, whose bodies would be quite impenetra-

ble to their swords. Wlien the terror of a foe

has once taken hold of the mind, it can only

be sufficiently eradicated by supplanting it

with a feeling of contempt for the object of its

dread, and no man was better fitted by nature

than Montrose for inspiring such a feeling into

the minds of his troops. Accordingly, scarcely

had the murmurings of his cavalry broken

upon his ears, when he rode up to the head of

his cavaby, and (pointing to the cuirassiers)

thus addressed his men:—" Gentlemen, these

are the same men you beat at Alford, that ran

away from you at Auldearn, Tippermuir, &c.

;

they are such cowardly rascals that their offi-

cers could not bring them to look you in the

face till they had clad them in armour; to

show our contempt of them we'll fight them

in our shirts."* No sooner had these words

been uttered, when, to add to the impression

they could not fail to produce, Montrose threw

off liis coat and waistcoat, and, drawing his

* Carte, vol. iv. p. 538. The author of Britanr's

Distemper (p. 139) says that Montrose ordered every

man to pnt a white shirt above his clothes. It is,

however, highly probable that the narrative in tlie

text is substantially true. Wisliart {Montrose Redivi-

vus, p. 96,) says they were ordered to throw off their

doublets and " afTront the enemy all in white, being

naked unto the waist all but their shirts."
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sword with the air of a hero, stood before his

men, at once an object of their wonder and a

model for their imitation. The effect was in-

stantaneous. The example thus set by Mon-

trose was immediately followed by the whole

army, every man stripping himself to liis shirt,

and the cavalry, partaking in the general en-

thusiasm, assured themselves of victory. As

the day was uncommonly hot and oppressive,

the troops found great relief by disburdening

themselves of their clothes, and the infantry

were, in consequence, enabled to display greater

agility in combat. The extraordinary appear-

ance of Montrose's men after they had parted

with their clothes, excited the astonishment of

the Covenanters, and as they coidd only attri-

bute such a singular preparation for battle to a

fixed determination on the part of the royahsts

to conquer or to die, fearfid doubts arose in

their minds as to the probable result of the

contest in which tliey were just about to en-

gage.

In moving to take up the new position

which had been assigned to it by the com-

mittee, the utmost disorder prevailed among

tne covenanting army, which the general was

unable to correct. Indeed, so unruly had the

troops become, that some regiments, instead

of taking the stations assigned to them by the

commander, took up, at the suggestion of

Argyle, quite different ground, whUe others,

in utter disregard of Baillie's instructions, ac-

tually selected positions for themselves. Thus,

at tlie moment the battle was about to begm,

liaillie foimd all his plans completely over-

ruled, and as he now saw how utterly impossi-

ble it would be for him to carry any of his

contemplated arrangements into effect, he was

necessitated to engage Montrose imder the

most unfavourable circumstances.

The covenanting general, however, might

have so accommodated liimself in the unex-

pected dilemma in which he had been placed

as to have prevented the disastrous result

which followed, had not his horse regiments,

from an impression that Montrose had begun

a retreat, rashly commenced the action before

all the infantry had come up, by attempting to

carry the cottages and gardens in which the

advanced guard of Montrose was placed. Al-

though they made a violent charge, thej' were

as warndy received by Montrose's muaketeers,

who, being protected by the dikes and enclo-

sures, kept up such a galling fire upon their as-

sailants as to oblige tliem to retreat with pre-

cipitation and some loss.

A body of about 1,000 Highlanders, who
were posted next to Montrose's advanced

guard, became so suddenly elated with this

success that, without waiting for orders from

Montrose, they immediately ran up that part of

the hni where the main body of the covenants

ing army was posted. Montrose was higldy

displeased with the Highlanders for this rash

act, which seemed to thi'eaten them with in-

stant destruction ; but there was no time for

remonstrance, and as he saw an absolute neces-

sity for supporting this intrepid body, he

stifled his displeasure, and began to consider

how he could most effectually afford support.

Owing to the tardy advance of the enemy's

rear, it was some little time before the cove-

nanting army attacked this resolute body. At

length tlu'ee troops of horse and a body of

about 2,000 foot were seen advancing against

them, and in a short time both parties closed

upon each other. The Highlanders, as usual,

displayed great intrepichty, and firmly main-

tained their groimd; but as it was evident that

they could not long withstand the overwhelm-

ing force opposed to them, the Earl of Aboyne,

who, with a select body of horsemen, had been

placed by Montrose at some distance from the

main arm}', taking with him 12 horsemen,

rode forv/ard to see if he could render any

assistance. Seeing the critical position in

which the rash Highlanders were placed, he

sent back for the cavalry to advance imme-

diately, at the same time bravely shouting to

the few followers that were \vith liim, " Let us

go, Monsieurs, and assist these our distressed

friends, in so great hazard through the foolish

rashness of their commander. We shall, God

willing, bring them off, at least in some good

order, so as they shall neither be all lost, nor

endanger the army by their sudden flight,

whereto they may be forced." ' He thereupon

charged the enemy's lancers, who, seeing him

make such a furious onset, retired to the left,

thus putting the foot betwesn themselves and

^ Britane's Distemper, p. 140.
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Aboyiie. The latter, without halting, charged

forward upon the foot, until, when within

pistol-shot, he perceived them preparing to re-

ceive liim \ipon their pikes. He then nimbly

turned a little to tlie left, and charged vnth such

impetuosity and suddenness a regiment of mus-

keteers, that although they received him ^vith

three volleys from the three first ranks, he

broke right through them, till he came out to

where his distressed friends were environed

witli horse and foot, and so sorely straightened

as to be crying out for quarter. His presence

caused them to rally, and they took heart as he

cried with a lusty voice, " Courage, my hearts,

follow me, and let them have one sound

charge." " And this he gives with such brave

and invincible resolution, as he breaks, dis-

perses, and discourages both foot and horse,

who seek no more to pursue, but strive to re-

tire in order, to the wliich their commanders

often invite them, but in vain." They got

into complete disorder, and began to run for

their lives. What had been begun by Aboyne,

was completed by the Earl of Airly, who, at

the lu'gent request of Montrose, now came up

at the head of the Ogilvies to the assistance of

the Higlilanders. Montrose had made several

ineffectual attempts to induce different parties

of his army to volunteer in defence of the

brave men who were struggling for their exis-

tence within view of their companions in arms,

and, as a dernier resort, appealed to liis tried

friend the Earl of Airly, in behalf of the rash

men who had thus exposed themselves to im-

minent danger. This appeal to the cliivalrous

feelings of the venerable earl met with a ready

and willing response from him, and after stat>

inghis readiness to undertake the duty assigned

him, he immediately put himself at the head of

a troop of his o^vn horse, commanded by Colonel

John Ogil\'ie of Bahhme,who had distinguished

liim.self in the Swedish service, and rode off

with great speed towards the enemj-. He in-

stantly ordered his squadron to charge the

enemy's horse, who were so closely pressed

that they got entangled among the covenant-

ing foot, whom they put into disorder.

As soon as Baillie perceived that his horse

were falling back, he endeavoured to bring up

his reserve to support them ; but this body,

which consisted chiefly of the Fife militia,

became so alanned at the retreat of the horse,

that they immediately abandoned their ranks

and fled. On the other hand, the rest of

Montrose's men, encouraged by the success of

the Ogilvies, could no longer restrain them-

selves, and lushing forward upon the enemy
with a loud shout, completed the disorder.

The -wild appearance of the royalists, added to

the dreadful yells which they set up, created

such a panic among the astonished Covenanters,

that, in an instant, and as if by a siinidtaneous

impulse, every man threw away his arms, and

endeavoured to secure his personal safety by

flight. In the general rout which ensued, the

covenanting liorse, in tlieir anxiety to escape,

galloped through the flying foot, and trampled

many of their companions in arms almost to

death.

In the pursuit which followed, Montrose's

men cut down the defenceless Covenanters

without mercy, and so great was the carnage,

that, out of a body of upwards of G,000 foot,

probably not more than 100 escaped with

their lives. The royalists were so intent upon

hewing down the unfortunate foot, that a con-

siderable part of the cavalry effected their

escape. Some of them, however, in the hurry

of their flight, having run unawares into a large

morass, called Dolater bog, now forming a part

of the bed of the Forth and Clyde canal, there

perished, and, many years afterwards, tlie

bodies of men and horses were dug up from

the bog, without any marks of decomposition
;

and there is a tradition still current, that one

man was found upon horseback, fully attired

in his mihtary costume, in the very posture in

which he had sunk.^ Very few prisoners

wei-e taken, and with the exception of Sir

William ^Murray of Blebo, James Arnot, brother

to Lord Burleigh, and Colonels Dyce and

Wallace, and a few other gentlemen, who
received quarter, and, after being well treated

by Montrose, were afterwards released upon

parole, all the officers of the covenanting army

escaped. Some of them fled to Stii'ling, and

took temporary refuge in the castle ; others

galloped down to the south shore of the Frith

of Forth. Among the latter, Argyle was the

most conspicuous, who, according to Bishop

^ Nimmo's General Histnr\i of SlirUngsJiirc. p. o'Jtf.
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Guthry, " never looked over Lis shoulder until,

after 20 miles' riding, lie reached the South

Queensferry, where he possessed himself of a

boat again." ^ "Wishart sarcastically ohserves,

that tliis was the thii'd time that Argyle had
" saved himself by means of a boat ; and, even

then, he did not reckon himself secure till

they had weighed anchor and caiTied the vessel

out to sea."*

The whole of the baggage, arms, and stores,

belonging to the covenanting army were cap-

tured by the royalists. The loss on the side

of Montrose was, as usual, extremely tiifling,

amounting, it is said, only to six or eight men,

three of whom were Ogilvies, who feU in the

charge which decided the fortune of the day.

The news of this disastrous and melancholy

defeat, speedily sj^iread tliroughout the king-

dom and fiUed it with mourning. The plague,

which had devastated some of the most popu-

lous of the covenanting districts, was stiU

caiTying on its depopulating career, and the

spirits of the pe0i)le, already broken and sub-

dued under that scourge, were reduced to a

state almost bordering on despair, when tliey

received the afflicting intelligence of the utter

annihilation of an army on which their only

hopes were placed. No alternative, therefore,

now remained for them but unconditional

submission to the conqueror, and accordingly,

deputies were sent to him from different parts

of the kingdom, to assure him of the return of

the people to their allegiance to the king, to

proffer their obedience to Montrose as his lieu-

tenant, and to offer him assistance in sujiport

of the I'oyal cause. The nobility and other

persons of note who had hitherto kept aloof,

or whose loyalty had been questionable, also

crowded to the royal standard to congratulate

Montrose upon the favourable aspect of affairs

and to offer their services.

AVhile at Kilsyth, two commissioners. Sir

Eobeit Douglas and Mr. Archibald Fleming,

commissary, arrived at Montrose's camp on the

part of the inhabitants of Glasgow, to obtain

favour and forgiveness, by congratidating him

upon his success, and inviting him to visit

tlieir city. Montrose received these commis-

sioners and the other numerous deputations

' Memoirs, p. 154. ' Memoirs, p. 171.

and individuals who afterwards waited on him,

not merely with courtesy but with kindness,

and promised to bury all past occurrences in

perfect obhvion, but on the condition that they

should return to their aUegianoe and conduct

themselves in futui-e as loyal subjects. " The

whole country now," says Wishart, "resounded

Montrose's praise. His unparalleled magnar

nimity and bravery, his happiness in devising

his plan of operations, and his quickness in

executing them, his unshaken resolution and

intrepidity, even in the greatest dangers, and

his patience in bearing the severest hardships

and fatigues ; his faithfulness and strict observ-

ance of his promises to such as submitted, and

his clemency towards his prisoners ; in short,

that heroic virtue wliich displayed itself in all

liis actions, was extolled to the skies, and filled

the mouths of all ranks of men, and several

poems and panegyrics were wrote iipon this

occasion."^ It is believed, however, that there

was little sincerity in these professions.

TMs submission of the people was accelerated

liy the dispersion of the Covenant nobility, an

event that put a temporary end to the govern-

ment which they had established. Argyle,

Crawford, Lanark, and others, sought protec-

tion in Berwick, and Glencairn, and Cassihs

took refuge in Ireland.

Montrose might now have marched directly

upon, and seized the capital, where many of

his friends were confined as prisoners; but he

considered it of more importance to march to

the west and disperse some levies which were

there raising. Accordingly, after refreshing

liis troops two days at KUsyth, he dispatched

a strong body luider the command of Mac-

donald, his major-general, into Ayrslrire to

suppress a rismg under the Earls of Cassilis

and Glencairn; and with the remainder of his

army he proceeded towards Glasgow, which he

entered amidst the general acclamations of the
j

citizens. Here Montrose unmediately com-

menced an inquiry into the conduct of the

leading Covenanters of the city, some of whom

he put to death as a terror to others. Mon-

trose remained only a day in Glasgow, and
'

encamped the following day on BothweU moor,

about twelve nules from the city. His object

^ Morwirs, |i. 174.
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in doing so, was to put an end to some excesses

on the part of his Irish and Highland troops,

whom, from the precarious tenure of their

services, and his uiability to pay them, he

could not venture to control hy the severities

of martial law.^ And as he was apprehensive

that some of his men might lurk behind, or

visit the city for the purpose of plunder, he

allowed the inhabitants to form a guard among

themselves to protect it. The citizens, in

gratitude for the favour and clemency thus

8ho\vn them, presented Montrose with the sum

of 10,000 merks.

In the meantime, Major-general Macdonald

anived in AjTsliii-e, where he was received

vith open arms. The levies which had been

raised in the west qmetly dispersed ; and, as

above mentioned, the Earls of CassUis and

Glencairn fled to Ireland. The Countess of

Loudon, whose husband had acted a conspi-

cuous part against tlie Idng, received Macdon-

ald with great kindness at Loudon castle,

embracing hini in her arms, and entertaining

him with great splendour and hospitality ^ she

even seut a servant to Montrose to oITer her

respects to him.-

During Montrose's stay at BothweU, where

he remained till the 4tli of September, he was

waited upon by many of the nobility in person,

to congratulate him upon his recent victory,

and to tender their services. Others sent

sunilar communications by their fi'iends. Tlie

Marquis of Douglas, the Earls of Linlithgow

and Annandale, Lords Seton, Drummond,
Fleming, Maderty, Carnegie and Johnston,

were among the first who came forward.

Deputations also arrived from the counties of

Linlithgow, Lanark, Eenfrew, and Ayr, and
also from the towns of Greenock, Ayr, and

Irvine, to implore forgiveness for past oifences,

and to give pledges for their future loyalty.

Montrose received them all very graciously,

and relying upon their assurances, granted

them an amnesty.

Montrose expected that the city of Edin-

burgh, which had been the focus of rebeUion,

would have followed the example of Glasgow
and the other to-svns ; but whether from obsti-

' Burnet s Memoirs of the Dukes of Bamilton, p. 276.
'' Guthry's Memoirs, p. 155.

nacy or from the dread of a refusal of pardon,

the authorities did not send commissioners to

Montrose, and it was not untd a body of the

royalist horse appeared within four miles of

the city, that they resolved to proffer their

submission, and to throw themselves on the

mercy of the conqueror.

After the battle of Kilsyth, Montrose dis-

patched his nephew, Archibald, Master of

Napier, and Nathaniel Gordon, with a select

body of horse, to summon Edinburgh to sur-

render, to secure its obedience and fidelity,

and to set at liberty the royalist prisoners,

many of whom were confined in the Tolbooth.

Should the city refuse to submit, it was to be

subjected to fire and sword. On his way to

Edinburgh, Napier set at liberty his father and

wife, Stirling of Keir, his brother-in-law, and

sisters, from the prison of Luilithgow. When
four mUes from Edinburgh they came to a halt,

and waited to see how the citizens would con-

duct themselves. The inhabitants, so far from

having any intention of resisting the royal

army, were in a state of consternation and

despair lest their submission should not be

accepted by Montrose, " accusmg themselves

as sacrilegious, perjured and luigratefid traitors,

unworthy of that clemency and forgiveness for

which they so ardently prayed." In the most

grovelUng and humble manner they besought

the prisoners, whom not long before they had

treated ^vith harshness and contempt, to inter-

cede with Montrose on their behalf, promising

to submit to any conditions.

The citizens, having chosen deputies, selected

from the prisoners two of the most eminent

and stanch roj-alists, Ludovic Earl of Crawford

and James Lord Ogilvie, the Earl of Airly's

son, to wait upon Montrose and introduce the

deputation, implore his pardon, and tender the

city's humble submission. These two noble-

men and the deputies having joined Napier,

the latter returned directly to his uncle Mon-

trose, who was imfeignedly delighted at the

sight of his dear friends Crawford and Ogilvie.

The city delegates, on being admitted to

audience, " made a free surrender to him of

the to^vn, and liumbly deprecated his vengeance

and implored his pardon and forgiveness, pro-

mising, in name of the whole inhabitants, an

inviolable fidelity and obedience for the future,
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and committing themselves and all their con-

cerns to his patronage and protection, which

they humbly entreated he wonld grant them.

They promised also, immediately to release all

the prisoners in their custody, and desired liim

to assure himself that any thing else he should

desire of them should be instantly complied

with. The to'wn, they said, had been almost

depopulated by a dreadful plague, so that no

supplies of men could be expected from it; but

they were ready to contribute all they could to

defray the expense of what troops he might

raise in other places. Above all, they most

earnestly implored him to intercede for them

with their most gracious and merciful king, to

obtain his pity and pardon, and that he would

not condemn the whole city for the crime of

rebellion, in which they had been involved by

the craft and example of a few seditious men,

armed with power and authority. Montrose

gave them reason to hope for the royal forgive-

ness; and the only conditions he required of

them, were, sacretUy to observe their loyalty

and allegiance to his majesty for the future;

to renounce all correspondence \vitli the rebels,

whether within or without the kingdom: the

castle of Edinburgh, which lie well knew was

then in their power, he required they shoidd

surrender to the king's officers ; and that, as

soon as the delegates returned to the city,

all the prisoners should be immediately set at

liberty, and sent to his camp."'

Although the commissioners agreed to these

conditions, and promised to perform them, the

only one they ever fulfilled was that which

stipulated the release of the prisoners, who
were immediately on the return of the commis-

sioners sent to Montrose's camp. Indeed, it

was scarcely to be expected, from the character

of the times, that the citizens of Edinburgh,

who had all along been warm partisans of the

covenanting interest, would show a readiness

to comply with stipulations which had been

extorted from their commissioners under the

circumstances we have mentioned.

\V liile at Eothwell, Montrose received vari-

ous communications from the king, who was

then at Oxford. Tlie most important of these

were two commissions under the great seal, one

' Wisbart.

appointing Montrose Captain-general and Lieu-

tenant-governor of Scotland, and conferrinc

on him fuU powers to raise forces, punish

state offenders, and make knights, &c. ; and

the other authorising him to summon a parha-

ment to meet at Glasgow, to settle the affair's

of the kingdom. Tlie bearer of these impor-

tant documents was Sir Robert Spottiswood,

formerly president of the Court of Session, and

who now acted as secretary of state for Scot-

land. As a person so well known as Sir

Robert could not travel by any of the ordinary

roads without risk of apprehension, he took a

circuitous route from Oxford, passing through

Wales, and thence crossing over to the Isle of

Man, took shipping and landed in the West
Highlands. From Lochaber he proceeded down
into Athole, whence he was conducted by a

party of Athole-men to Montrose, at Eothwell

Moot.

The instructions brought by Sir Robert

Spottiswood, regarding the holding of a par-

liament and the matters connected therewith,

were in the meantime superseded by orders

from the king of a later date, brought by a

more direct route. Ly these he was directed

to march immediately to the borders, where he

would, it was said, be joined by the Earls of

Roxburgh, Traquair, and Home, and the other

royaHst nobOity of the southern counties, at

the head of their numerous vassals and tenants,

as well as by a body of horse which his majesty

would send from England ; that, with these

united forces, he should watch the motions of

General David Leslie, who was advancing to

the north with a body of 6,000 cavalry. In

fact, Leslie, who had acquired great celebrity

by his conduct in the battle of Marston ]\Ioor,

had reached Berwick in the beginning of Sep-

tembei, having been called thither on his road

to Hereford by the covenanting nobility, who

had taken refuge there after the battle of KU-

syth.

Montrose reviewed his army on the 3d of

September, on which occasion Sir Robert

Spottiswood delivered to liim the commission

appointing him his majesty's Lieutenant-gov-

ernor for Scotland and General of all his ni.v

jesty's forces.* After this and the other com-
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mission had been read, Montrose addressed his

army in a short and feeling speech, in the

course of which he took occasion to praise

their bravery and loyalty, and expressed great

affection for them. In conclusion, addressing

Macdonald, his major-general, he bestowed

upon him the tribute of Ms praise, and, by

virtue of the power with which he had been

invested, conferred upon him the honour of

knighthood, in presence of the whole army.

Little did Montrose imagine, that the man

whose services he was now so justly rewarding

had resolved immediately to abandon him,

and, under the pretence of revenging some in-

juries which his friends had sustained at the

hands of Argyle toui years before, to quit for

ever the service of liis royal master.

Montrose's ranks had, before the review

alluded to, been thinned by private desertions

among the Highlanders, who carried off with

them aU the booty they had been able to collect

;

but as soon as Montrose announced his inten-

tion, in terms of the instructions he had received

from the king, to march south, the Highlanders

in a body demanded liberty to return home

for a short time to repair their houses, which

liad been reduced to ruins by the enemy, and

to provide a stock of provisions for their wives

and families during the ensuing winter. To

induce Montrose to comply the more readily

with their request, they promised to retiirn to

his camp within forty days, and to bring

some of their friends along with them. As

Montrose saw that the Higlilanders were de-

termined to depart, and that consequently

any attempt to retain them would be unavail-

ing, he dissembled the displeasure he felt,

and after thanking them in the king's name

for their services, and entreating them to

return to liim as soon as possible, he granted

them leave of absence mth apparent goodwill.

But when Sir Alexander Macdonald also an-

nounced his intention to return to the High-

lands, Montrose could not conceal his chagrin,

and strongly remonst^'ated against such a step.

" Montrose," says Guthry, " dealt most seri-

ously with him to have staid until they had

been absolute conquerors, promising then to go

thither himself, and be concurring vnth him

in punishing them, (Argyle and his party,) as

they deserved ; and withal told him that his

separating at this time miist be the occasion of

ruin to them both. But all was to no purpose

;

he woidd needs be gone, and for a reason en-

larged himself in reckoning up the Marquis of

Argyle's cruelties against his friends, who, as

he said, did four years ago draw liis father and

brother to Inverary upon trust, and then made

them prisoners ; and since, (his friends having

retired to the isles of Jura and Eachlin for

shelter,) sent Ardkinlass and the captain of

Skipness to the said isles to murder them,

which, (said he,) they did without mercy,

sparing neither women nor children. With

such discourses he justified his departure, and

would not be liindered." Macdonald accord-

ingly, after returning thanks to Montrose in a

formal oration for the favours he had received,

and pledging himself for the early return of the

Highlanders, departed for the Highlands on the

day of the review, accompanied by about 3,000

Highlanders, the elite of Montrose's army, and

by 120 of the best of the Irish troops, whom
he had selected as a body guard.

The desertion of such a large body of men,

consisting of the flower of liis army, was a sub-

ject of the deepest concern to Montrose, whose

sole reliance for support against the powerful

force of Leslie, now depended upon the pre-

carious succours he might obtain on his march

to the south. Under such circumstances p

commander more prudent than Montrose would

have hesitated about the course to be pursued,

and woidd probably have either remained for

some time in his position, tiU the levies raising

in the south should assemble, or retreat across

the Forth, and there awaited reinforcements

from the north ; but the ardent and chivalrous

feelings of Montrose so blinded him, as to

make him altogether disregard prudential con

siderations, and the splendour of his victories

had dazzled his imagination so much, as to

induce him to believe that he had oidy to

engage the enemy to defeat him.

Accordingly, on the day foUo\ving the depar

ture of the Highlanders, viz., the 4th of Sep

tember, Montrose began his march to the

south ; but he had not proceeded far, when

he had the mortification to find himself also

abandoned by the Earl of Aboyne, who not

only carried off the whole of his own men, but

induced the other horsemen of the north, who
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were not of his party, to accompanj' him. Sir

Nathaniel Gordon appears to have been the

only individual of the name of Gordon who

remained behind. The cause of such a hasty

proceeding on the part of the Earl of Aboyne,

is not very evident ; but it seems probable, that

his lordship had taken some offence at Mon-

trose, who, according to a partisan of the Gordon

family, arrogated to himself all the honour of

the victories which the earl had greatly con-

tributed to obtain. 5

The army of Montrose was now reduced to

a mere handful of men, consisting only of

about 200 gentlemen who had joined him at

Bothwell, and 700 foot, chiefly Irish. " Yet he

resolved to proceed on his march, and reached

Cranstoun-Kirk in Mid-Lothian, on Saturday

the 6th of September, where he received intelli-

gence that General Da^^d Leslie had arrived

at Berwick with a great body of cavalry. He
encamped at Cranstoun-Kirk with the inten-

tion of remaining there over the Sunday, and

hearing Dr. Wishart preach ; but having, the

following morning, been put in possession of a

correspondence between Leslie and the heads

of the Covenanters, at Berwick, which de-

veloped their plans, he quickly raised his camp,

without waiting for sermon, and advanced into

the district of the Gala. A more irapnident

step than this cannot be well conceived, as

Montrose threw his little band into the jaws

of Leslie's army, which was Ij'ing ready to

pounce upon liim. In his march along Gala-

water, he was joined by the Marquis of Douglas

and Lord Ogilvie at the head of a small party,

the remains of a larger body which had been

diminished by desertion. Montrose was waited

upon at Galashiels by the Earl of Traquair,

who professed the most fervent attachment to

the king, and promised to obtain information

foT him respecting Leslie's movements ; and in

proof of his sincerity, sent his son Lord Linton

with a troop of well-mounted horse, who joined

him the foUomng day.

From Galashiels Montrose marched to Kelso,

where he expected to be joined by the Earls of

Home and Roxburgh, and their vassals ; but

on his arrival there, he was surprised to find

* Gortlon's Contin'uation, p. 528.
• Guthry's Memoirs, p. 159.

that these two noblemen had taken no measures

to raise the levies they had promised. He,

therefore, resolved to pay them a visit, to

compel them to fulfil their engagements ; but

anticipating such a step, they had allowed

themselves to be made volimtary prisoners by

a party of Leslie's horse and carried to Berwick.

Roxburgh, whom Wishart calls " a cunning

old fox," was the contriver of this artful

scheme, which, while it secured him and his

colleague Home the favour of the Covenanters,

was intended to induce the king to believe

that they were suffering for their loyalty.

Tliis act of perfidy opened the eyes of Mon-

trose to the danger of his situation, and made

Iiim instantly resolve to retrace his steps, so as

to prevent his retreat to the north being cut

off by David Leslie, who had by this time

crossed the Tweed. He, therefore, marched

from Kelso westward to Jedburgh, and from

thence to Selkirk, where he arrived on the 12th

of September, and encamped that night in a

wood, called Hareheadwood, in the neighbour-

hood of the town at the head of a long and

level piece of ground called Philiphaugh, on

the north bank of the Ettrick. Montrose him-

self, ^vith his horse, took up his quarters in

the to-wn.

The position thus selected by Montrose was

well calculated to prevent his being taken by

surprise, as Leslie, from the direction in which

he had necessarOy to advance, could only

approach it by coming up the open vale of

Philiphaugh ; but unfortimately, Montrose did

not, on this occasion, take those extraordinary

precautions wliich he had been accustomed to

do. It had always been his practice hitherto,

to superintend in person the setting of the

night watches, and to give instructions himself

to the sentinels, and to the scouts he sent out,

to watch the motions of the enemy ; but having

important letters to write to the king, which

he was desirous of sending off before the break

of day by a trusty messenger, he intrusted

these detaUs to Ms cavalry officers, whom he

exhorted to great vigilance, and to take care

tliat the scouts kept a sharp outlook for the

enemy. Montrose had the utmost confidence

in the wisdom and integrity of his ofiicers,

whose long experience in military affairs he

had many times witnessed ; and as there seemed
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to be no immediate danger, lie thought that,

for one night at least, he could safely leave the

direction of affairs to such men.

While occupied during the night preparing

his dispatches for the king, Montrose received

several loose reports, from time to time, respect-

ing the alleged movements of the enemy, of

which he sent due notice to his officers, but he

was as often assured, both by the reports of

his officers and of the scouts, that not a vestige

of an enemy was to be seen. Thus the night

passed -without any apparent foundation for

the supposition that the enemy was at hand,

and to make assurance doubly sure, some of

the fleetest of the cavalry were sent out at

break of day to reconnoitre. On their return,

they stated that they had examined with care

all the roads and passes for ten miles round,

and solemnly aveiTed, that there was not the

least appearance of an enemy within the range

tliey had just scoured. Yet singidar as the

fact may appear, Leslie was lying at that very

time at Mebose, with 4,000 horse, within six

miles of Montrose's camp.

It appears that on the day of Montrose's

march from Jedburgh, General Leslie, who

had a few days before crossed the Tweed at

Berwick, held a council of war on Gladsmuir

in East Lothian, at which it was determined

that he should proceed towards Stirling to cut

off Montrose's retreat to the Higldands, whitlier

it was supposed that he meant instantly to

retire, for the purpose of obtaining reinforce-

ments. But the council had scarcely risen,

when letters were brought to Leslie, acquaint-

ing him with the low and impaired state of

Montrose's forces, and liis design of marching

into Dumfries-shire to procure an accession of

strength. On receiving this intelligence, Leslie

abandoned his plan of marching northward,

and ordering his army to tiurn to the left, he

immediately marched to the south, and enter-

ing the vale of Gala, proceeded to Melrose,

where he took up his quarters for the night,

intending to attack Montrose's little band next

morning, in the hope of annihilating it alto-

gether. Both Wishart and Gutliry suspect

that the Earl of Traquair was the informant,

and they rest their conjecture upon the circimi-

stance of his having withdrawn during the

night, (without acquainting Montrose,) the

troop of horse under his son. Lord Linton;

but this is not sufficient, of itself, to warrant

us in charging him with such an act.

But the most extraordinary and unaccount-

able circumstance which preceded the battle of

PhUiphaugh, was, that although Leslie was

within six miles of Montrose's camp, neither

the scouts nor the cavalry, who are stated to

have scoured the country for four miles beyond

the place where Leslie lay, could discover, as

they reported, any traces of him. Did the

scouts deceive Montrose, or did they not pro-

ceed in the direction of Leslie's camp, or did

they confine their perambulations within a

more limited range? These are questions

which it is impossible to answer with any

degree of certainty. But what is to be said of

the cavalry who ha\'ing made their observations

at day-break, and confessedly several miles

beyond the enemy's camp, returned as luckless

as the midnight scouts? The only plausible

answer that can be given to this question is,

either that they had not visited the neighbour-

hood of Mebose, or that a thick mist wliich

l>revailed on the morning of the 13th of Sep-

tember, had concealed the enemy from their

view. However, be this as it may, certain it

is that owing to the tliickness of the fog,

Leslie was enabled to advance, unobserved, till

he came within half a mile of Montrose's head

quarters. On the alarm occasioned by this

sudden and unexpected appearance of the

enemy, Montrose instantly sprung upon the

first horse that came to hand, and galloped off

to his camp. On his arrival, he fortunately

found that all his men, though the hour was

very early, had risen, but considerable disorder

prevailed in the camp in consequence of pre-

parations they were making for an immediate

march into Dumfries-shire in terms of instruc-

tions they had received the previous evening.

The cavalr}', however, were quite dismounted,

some of the officers were absent, and their

horses were scattered through the adjoining

fields taking their morning repast. Short as

the time was for putting his small band in a

defensive position, !^^ontrose acted with his

accustomed presence of mind, and before the

enemy commenced his attack, he had suc-

ceeded in drawing up his men in order of

battle, in the position which they had occupied
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the preceding night. Notliing but self-pre-

servation, on which the cause of the king, his

master, was chiefly dependant, could have

justified Montrose in attempting to resist the

powerful force now about to assaQ him. With

about 1,000 foot and 500 horse, the greater

part of which was composed of raw and undis-

ciplined levies hastily brought into the field,

and lakewarm in the cause, he had to resist

the attack of a body of about 6,000 veteran

troops, chiefly English cavalry, who had dis-

tinguished themselves at the battle of Marston-

moor, and who, though they could make no

addition to their laurels by defeating such a

handful of men, may bo supposed to have been

especially desirous of anniliUating the remains

of an army which had been so long formidable

and victorious.

The covenanting general began the battle

by charging Montrose's right wing, consisting

of horse, with the great body of his cavalry;

but so fu-mly was the charge received by the

brave cavaliers with Montrose at their head,

that the assailants were forced to retire with

loss. A second charge met a simOar fate.

Thus foiled in their attempts on the right, they

next attacked Montrose's left wing, consisting

of foot, which, after a gallant resistance, retired

a little up the face of the hill, where it was

posted, to avoid the attacks of the cavalry.

WliUe this struggle was going on on the left,

a body of 2,000 covenanting foot wliich had

made a circuitous route, appeared in the rear of

the right wmg, which they attacked. The
right wing not being able to resist this force,

and apprehensive that a new attack would be

made upon them by the enemy's cavalry, and

that they woidd thus be surrounded and per-

haps cut to pieces, fled from the field. The
foot who had taken up a position on the side

of the hill, being thus abandoned to their fate,

surrendered themselves as prisoners of war

after a slight resistance; but horrible to teU,

they were afterwards shot by orders of the

covenanting general, at the instigation, it is

said, of some presbyterian ministers, who de-

clared that no faith should be kept -ivith such

persons.

Montrose was still on tlie field "witli about

30 lirave cavaliers, and witnessed the rout of

one part of his army and the surrender of

another, with tlie most poignant feelings of

regret. He might have instantly retreated

with safety, but he coidd not brook the idea of

ruiming away, and, therefore, resolved not to

abandon the post of honour, but to fight to the

last extremity, and to sell his life as dearly as

possible. It was not long before he and his

noble band were nearly siuroimded by the

enemy, who kept pressing so hard upon him,

and in such numbers, as almost to preclude the

possibility of escape. Yet they did not ven-

ture to attack Montrose and his brave asso-

ciates in a body, but in detached parties, every

one of which was successively repulsed with

loss. As the enemy grew tu-ed of attacking

him, and seemed to be more intent upon plim-

dering his baggage than capturing his person,

Montrose saw that the danger was not so great

as he supposed, and therefore he began to reflect

upon the folly of sacrificing his life so long as

a ray of hope remained. He had lost a battle,

no doubt ; but in this there was no dislionour

when the disparity of his force with that of

the enemy was considered. Besides, he had

lost few of liis men, and the Highlanders, on

whom he chiefly relied, were stiU entire, and

were ready to take the field as soon as he ap-

peared again among them. And as to the

eifect wliich such a defeat might be supposed

to have upon the adherents of the king, who

were still numerous and powerfid, it coidd be

easily removed as soon as they saw him again

at the head of a fresh force. That he coidd only

expect to retrieve the present state of afl'airs by

escaping from the present danger and raising

new troops ; but that if he rashly sacrificed his

life the king's affairs might be irretrievably

ruined. These reflections being seconded by

the Marquis of Douglas and a few trusty

friends, who implored him not to tlrrow away

a life so valuable to the king and to the coun-

try, Montrose resolved to considt his safety by

an immediate flight. Putting himself, there-

fore, at the head of his troop, he cut his way

through the enemy, without the loss of a single

man. They were pursued by a party of horse,

some of whom they killed, and actually carried

off one Bruce, a captain of horse, and two

standard-bearers, with their ensigns, as prison-

ers. Montrose went in tlie direction of Peebles

which he entered about sunset, and here he was
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joined by various straggling parties of his men

who had escaped.

Montrose lost in this engagement very few of

Ids horse, but a considerable part of his foot

was destroyed. Ho carried off, as we have

seen, two of the enemy's standards, and fortu-

nately preserved liis own, two in number, from

the enemy. That belonging to his infantry

was saved by an Irish soldier of great bravery,

who, on seeing the battle lost, and the enemy

in possession of the field, tore it from the pole,

and, Avr'apping it round his body, which was

without any other covering, nobly cut his way

through the enemy sword in hand. He over-

took Montrose at Peebles, and delivered the

standai-d into liis hands the same night. Mon-

trose rewarded him for his bravery by appoint-

ingMm one of his life-guard, and by committing

the standard to liis future charge. The other

was preserved and delivered to Montrose by the

Honourable William Hay, brother to the Earl

of Kinnoul, a youth of a martial and enterpris-

ing spirit.

Montrose passed the night at Peebles, where

he was joined by most of his horse and part of

his infantry ; but some of his officers who had

mistaken their way, or fled in a different direc-

tion, were seized by the coimtry people and

delivered over to Leslie. Among these were

the Earl of Hartfell, Lords Drummond and

OgUvie, Sir Robert Spottiswood, Sir Alexander

Leslie of Auchiutoul, Sir William Rollock, Sir

PhUip Ifisbet, the Honourable William Mur-

ray, brother to the Earl of Tulliebardine, Alex-

inder OgUvie of Inverquharity, Colonel Na-

thaniel Gordou, and Mr. Andrew Gutliry, son

of the bishop of ^Iiirray.^ Montrose left

Peebles early the following morning, and, cross-

ing the Clyde at a ford shown him by Sir John

Dalziel, where he was, to his great joy, joined

by the Earls of Cra\vford and Airly, and other

noblemen who had effected their escape by a

different route, he proceeded rapidly to the

north, and entered Athole, after dispatcliing

the Marquis of Douglas and the Earl of Airly

into Angus, and Lonl Erskine into Mar, to

raise forces. ]\Iontrose then sent letters to Sir

Alexander Macdonald and the Earl of Aboyne,

requesting them to join him without delay, and

' Guthry's Memoirs, p. 101.

to bring ^vith them all the forces they could

muster, to enable him to enter on a new cam-

paign.

As soon as the members of the Committee

of Estates, who had taken refuge in Berwick,

heard of Montrose's defeat at PhiHphaugh, they

joined Leslie's army, which they accompanied

to Edinburgh, and there concocted those mea-

sures of revenge against tlie unhappy royalists

who had fallen into their hands, which they

afterwards carried into execution. The first

who suflered were Colonel O'Kean, to whose

distinguished bravery at the battle of Eyvie we

have already alluded, and Major Lauclilan,

another brave officer. Both these were hanged,

without trial, upon the Castle-hill at Edin-

burgh. Perhaps the circumstance of being

Irishmen appeared a sufficient reason in the

eyes of their enemies for dispatching them so

summarily ; but they were, nevertheless, the

subjects of the king, and as fully entitled to all

the privileges of war as the other prisoners.

This hatred of the Irish by the Covenanters

was not oonfuied to the cases of these indivi-

duals. Having in their march westward to

Glasgow fallen in, near Linlithgow, with a

bod}' of helpless Irish women and children,

who, in consequence of the loss of their hus-

bands and fathers at the battle of Philiphaugb,

were now seeking their way home to their own

country, they were all seized by orders of the

heads of the Covenanters, and thrown head-

long by the brutal soldiers over the bridge of

Avon into the river below. Some of these

unfortunate beings, who had sufficient strength

left to reach the banks of the river, were not

allowed to save themselves from dro^vning, but

after being beaten on the head and stunned by

blows from the butt ends of muskets and by

clubs, were pushed back into the stream, where

they all perished.' According to Gordon of

Euthven, many of the women who were with

child were ripped up and cut to pieces, " with

such savage and inhuman cruelty, as neither

Turk nor Scytliian was ever heard to have done

the like."'

The covenanting army continued its march

' Sir George Mackenzie's Vind., vol. ii. p. 348.

Ctordon's History of tin Family of Gordon, vol. ii. pp.
190, 491.

" Britane's Distemper, p. 160.
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to Glasgow, -where a convention of the Estates

was held, to determine upon farther measures.

To testify their gratitude to Leslie, they granted

him a present of 50,000 merks and a gold

chain, and they also voted the sum of 25,000

merks to Jliddleton, the second in command.^

CHAPTER XV.

A. D. 1645—1649.

BRITISH sovereign:—Charles I., 1625—1649.

Hnntly refuses to join Montrose—Aboyne joins and
shortly deserts him—Executions hy the Covenanters

—Montrose h.is an interview with Huntly—Defeat

of the Campbells at Callander—Meeting of the cove-

nanting Parliament—Trials and Executions—Move-
ments of Montrose and Huntly— General Middleton's

movements—The King escapes to the Scots army

—

Orders Montrose to disband his army— Montrose
corresponds with the King—Interview with Middle-

ton—Disbands his army—Kmbarks for the Continent

—The Scotch and the King— Proceedings of General

Leslie—Defeats Sir Alexander JIacdonald—Sun'en;

der of Dun.-iverty Castle—Leslie in the Western
Isles—Apprehension of Huntly—Risings in Scot-

land in belialf of the King—Movements of royalists

under Hamilton— Rising in the West—Enter Edin-

burgh—Capture of Stirling and flight of Argyle

—

Cromwell arrives in Edinburgh—Trial and Execu-
tion of the King—Also of Hamilton and Huntly.

Montrose appeared among his Athole friends

at a tune the most unfavourable for obtaining

their aid. Many of them were engaged in the

occupation of the harvest, securing, for the sup-

port of themselves and their families, the scanty

and precarious crops which were then upon the

groimd, and which, if neglected to be cut dovra

in due time, might be destroyed by unfavour-

able weather. It was, besides, little more than

a month since they had left him at Bothwell,

for the purpose partly of repairing the dam-

ages wliich had been committed by Argyle's

men upon their houses, and the interval which

had since elapsed had not been sufficient for

accompUsliing their object. Yet, notwithstand-

ing these drawbacks, Montrose succeeded in

inducing about 400 of the men of Athole to

join biin immediately, and to follow him to

the north in quest of additional reinforce-

ments ; and he obtained a promise that, on

his return, the whole of the Athole Higliland-

ers would join him in a body.

Guthrj', p. 169.

While in Athole, Montrose received pro-

mises both from Lord Aboyne and Sir Alex-

ander Macdonald, that they would speedily

join him with considerable reinforcements
;

but, growing impatient at Aboyne's delay, be

resolved to proceed north himself to ascertain

in person the cause of it, and to urge that

nobleman to fulfil his promise. Crossing,

therefore, the Grampians, he marched witli

great haste thi-ough Aberdeenshire, and had

an interview with Lord Aboyne, whom he ex-

pected to rouse fi'om his apathy. Montrose,

however, soon perceived, that whatever Lord

AbojTie's own intentions were, he was thwarted

by his father, the Marquis of Huntly, who, on

hearing of jSIontrose's success at Kilsyth, had

left his retreat in Strathnaver, where he had

passed a year and a half in absolute supine-

ness, and returned to his own country. The

marquis appears to have been filled with envy

towards Montrose, and although, being a royal-

ist in his heart, he did not care to expose the

c^o^vn and monarchy to danger to gratify his

spleen and vanity, yet he coidd not endure to

see a man whom he looked upon as his inferior

in rank, monopolize the whole power and au-

thoritjf in Scotland.

" He was," says Bishop Wishart, " a man

equally unfortunate and inconsiderate ; and,

however much he woidd seem, or was really

attached to the king, )'et he often betrayed

that interest through a piide and unaccount-

able envy he had conceived against Montrose,

whose glory and renown he endeavoured rather

to extenuate than make the object of his emu-

lation. He durst not venture to depreciate

Montrose's actions before his o^vn people, who

had been eye-^vitnesses of them, and were well

acquainted ndth his abilities, lest it might be

construed into a sign of disaffection to the

king himself. However, he gave out that he

would take the charge of commanding them

himself during the remainder of the war ; and

in that view he headed all liis own vassals, and

advised his neighbours, not \vithout threats if

they acted otherwise, to enlist imder no other

authority than his o^mi. They remonstrated

against being asketl tO' disobey the commands of

Montrose, who was appointed by the king his

deputy-governor and captain-general of aU the

forces within the kingdom. Himtly replied,
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tliat lie himself should in no way he want-

ing in his duty to the king ; but, in the mean-

time, it tended no less to their honour than

liis own that it should appear to the king and

the whole kingdom how much they contributed

to the maintenance of the war; and tliis, he

said, could never be done, unless they com-

posed a separate army by themselves. He
spoke in very magnihcent terms of his own

power, and endeavoured as much as possible to

extenuate that of Montrose. He extolled im-

moderately the glory and achievements of his

ancestors, the Gordons ; a race, worthy indeed

of aU due commendation, whose power had for

many ages been formidable, and an overmatch

for their neighbours ; and was so even at this

day. It was therefore, he said, extremely un-

just to ascribe unto another, meaning Jlontrose,

the glory and reno"\vn acquired by their coiu-age,

and at the expense of their blood. But, for

the futiu-e, he would take care that neither the

king should be disappointed of the help of the

Gordons, nor shoidd they be robbed of the

praise due to their merit."

Notwithstanding Huntly's reasoning, some

of his clan perceived the great danger to which

the king's affairs woidd be exposed by such

conduct, and they did everything in their

power to induce him to alter his resolution.

It was, however, in vain that they represented

to him the danger and impropriety of dividing

the friends of the king at such a crisis, when

union and harmony were so essentially neces-

sary for accompUshing the objects they had in

view, and when, by allowing petty jealousies

to interfere and distract their councils, they

might ruin the royal cause in Scotland.

Huntly lent a deaf ear to all their entreaties,

and instead of adopting the advice of his

friends to support Montrose, by ordering his

vassals to join him, he opposed bim almost in

everything he proposed by underhand means,

although affecting a seeming compliance with

his wishes. Seeing all their efforts fruitless,

those friends who had advised Huntly to join

Montrose declared that they would range them-

selves under Montrose's banner, as the king's

lieutenant, regardless of consequences, and they

kept their word.

The author of the history of the family of

Gordon, and Gordon of Iluthven, author of

Britanes Distemper, endeavour to defend

Huntly from these charges made against hio:

by Wishart. They assert that Wishan has

given only one side of the case, and that

Huntly acted as he did from a genuine desire

to serve the highest interests of the king, and

through no envy towards Montrose. They

lament that any misunderstanding should ever

have arisen between these two eminent roj^alists,

as it luidoubtedly tended materially to preju-

dice the cause of the king. No doubt Huntly

sincerely wished to serve the royal cause : but

we are afraid that jealousy towards Montrose

helped considerably to obscure his mental

vision and prejudice liis judgment.^

Among other reasons which induced Mon-

trose to take the speedy step he did of march-

ing north himself, was a report which had

reached him that the king was to send from

England a large body of horse to support liim,

and he was most anxious to collect such forces

as he could to enable him to be in a condition

to advance to the south, and unite with this

body. In fact, the king had given orders to

Lord Digby and Sir Mannaduke Langdale t&

proceed to Scotland with a body of 1,.500

horse ; but they were, unfortunately, completely

defeated, even before Montrose's departure to

the north, by Colonel Copley at Sherburn,

with the loss of all their baggage. Digby ana

Langdale, accompanied by the Earls of Carn-

wath and Nithsdale, fled to Skipton, and

afterwards to Dumfries, whence they took

ship to the Isle of Man.

Notwithstanding the evasions of the Marquis

of Huntly, Montrose succeeded in inducing the

Earl of Abojrne to join him at Drimiminor,

the seat of Lord Forbes, with a force of 1,500

foot and 300 horse, all of whom appeared to

be actuated by the best spirit. To remove

every unfavoiu-able impression from the mind

of Montrose, Aboyne assured him \vith gi-eat

frankness, that he and his men were ready to

follow him wherever he should be pleased to

lead them ; that they woidd obey his orders
;

and that liis brother, Lord Lewis, woidd also

speedily join him, as he soon did, with an addi-

tional force.

On receiving this reinforcement, ^Montrose

^ Ilistary oftlie Family of Gordon, vol. ii. p 495,

Brilanc's Distemper, p. 166.



236 GEXEEAL HISTOKY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

turned liis face to the south, and marched

towards Mar, where he was to be joined hy

forces which Lord Erskine had raised there

;

but he had not proceeded far, when Lord

Lewis Gordon, under some pretence or other,

returned home with a considerable party of

horse, promising to return to the army the

following day. The desertion of Lord Lewis

had a most pernicious influence upon the

remainder of AbojTie's men, who, before the

army had reached Afford, were greatly dimin-

ished by desertion. As the remainder showed

great unwillingness to march forward, and as

the desertions continued, Aboyne requested

leave of absence, alleging as his reason, that

his father had expressly commanded him to

return to defend his possessions against a party

of the enemy who were in Lower Mar, and

who were threatening an attack. The demand

of Aboyne excited the astonishment of Mon-

trose, who remonstrated with him, and gave

many reasons to induce him to remain. He

showed that Aboj-ne's apprehensions of danger

were groundless, as, with the exception of a

few troops of the enemy's horse quartered in

Aberdeen, there were no other forces in the

north which could disturb his father's posses-

sions, and that these horse were too weak to

attempt any thing—that by marching south,

the seat of war woidd be transferred from the

north country, and that, in this way, the

IVIarqtds of Huntly would be relieved altogether

of the presence of the enemy—that it would

be impossible to join the royalist forces, which

were on their way from England, without

crossing the Forth, and that it was only by

adopting the latter step that they coidd ever

expect to rescue their brave friends from the

fangs of the Covenanters, and save their lives.

Aboyne did not attempt to answer these

reasons, which were urged with Montrose's

peculiar energy, but he requested him to send

some persons who had influence with his

father to acquaint him with them. Donald,

Lord Eeay, at whose house Huntly had lived

durin" his exile in Stratlmaver, and Alexander

Irvine, younger of Drum, Huntly's son-in-law,

both of whom had been indebted to Montrose

for their liberty, were accordingly sent by him

to the Marquis of Huntly, as the most likely

persons he coidd select to induce Huntly to

allow Aboj-ne to remain with the army. ISut

all their arguments and entreaties were to no

purpose. Lord Eeay was so heartily ashamed

at the failure of his mission, that he declined

to return to Montrose; and Irvine, who brought

some evasive letters from Huntly, frankly

declared to Montrose, that he could obtain no

satisfactory explanation from his father-in-law

of his real intentions, farther, than that he

remained fixed in his resolution that Aboyne
shoidd retiim home immediately. After declar-

ing that he parted from Montrose ^vith. reluc-

tance, and promising to join him witliin a

fortnight with a force even larger than that

which he had lately brought, Aboyne left the

army and retiuned to his father.

Montrose then continued his march through

Braemar and Glenshee into Athole, where he

obtained an accession of force. He next pro-

ceeded to Strathearn, where he was met by two

messengers,—Captain Thomas OgUvie, yoimger

of Pourie, and Captain Robert Nisbet,—who
arrived by diff'erent routes, with orders from

the king, desiring Montrose to join Lord George

Digby, near the English border, as soon as

possible. On receiving these commands, Mon-

trose immediately sent the messengers north

to the ]\Iarquis of Huntly, to acquaint him with

the king's wishes, in the expectation that the

use of his majesty's name would at once induce

him to send Aboyne south with reinforcements.

While Montrose lay in Strathearn waiting

for reinforcements, intelligence was brought to

him that the Covenanters were about to imbrue

their hands in the blood of his friends who

had been taken prisoners after the battle of

PhUiphaugh. The committee of Estates, which

had accompanied the covenanting army to

Glasgow, had now determined upon this bold

and illegal step, for which hitherto, with the

recent exceptions of O'Kean and LaugUane,

no example had been set by either of the belli-

gerent parties in Scotland since the commence-

ment of the war. They had wisely abstained

from staining the scafi'olds with blood, but

from different motives. Montrose, in general,

refrained from inflicting capital punishment,

and, as we have seen, often released his prison

ers on parole. The heads of the Covenanters

had been deterred by fear alone from carrying

their bloody purposes into execution ; but con-
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Biflering that tlicy liad now nothing to fear,

they soon appeared in their true colours.

Besides the committee of the Estates, a com-

mittee of the kirk held sittings in Glasgow at

the same time, which sittings were afterwards

transferred to Perth, where, after deposing some

ministers wlio were considered disaffected to

the Covenant, because they liad not "mourned"

for ^Montrose's victory at Kilsyth, they " con-

cerned" themselves, as Guthry observes, about

"the disposition of men's heads." Accord-

ingly, thinking the committee of Estates remiss

in condemning and executing the prisoners,

they appointed Mr. William Bennet, who acted

as Jloderator in the absence of Mr. Robert

Douglas, and two others of tlieir number, to

wait upon the committee of Estates, and remon-

strate with them for their supineness. Guthry

relates, that the deputation reported on their

return, in his own hearing, that some of tlie

lords of the committee slighted the desire of

(he committee of the kirk, and that they were

likely to have obtained notliing had not the

Earl of Tulliebardine made a seasonable speech

to the effect, " that because he had a brother

among those men, it might be that their lord-

ships so valued his concurrence with them in

the good cause, that for respect of him they

were the more lotli to resolve upon tlie question.

But that, as for himself, since that young man

had joined with that ^ncked crew, he did not

esteem him liis brother, and therefore declared

that he would take it for no favour if upon that

account any indulgence was granted liim." ^ *

This fratricidal speech made those members of

the committee, who had disliked the shedding

of blood, liang down their heads, according to

Bennet's report, and the committee, thereupon,

resolved that 10 of the prisoners should be

executed, viz., the Earl of Hartfell, Lord Ogd-

vie, Sir Robert Spottiswood, the Honourable

AVilliam Murray, brother to the Earl of TuUie-

• Afemoirs, p. 164.
* This report fortunately appears to be helied by

the following entries in Balfour's Annals, 17th and
13th January, 1646. "The earl of Tulliebardine
humbly petitions the House that they would be pleased

to pardon his brother, William Murray's life, in respect

he averred on his honour, that he was not covipos

mentis, as also within age." "The earl of Tulliebar-

dine again this day gave in a humble petition to the
House fcir prolonging the execution of that sentence
pronounced against his brother." Vol. iii. pp. 362,

bardine, Alexander Ogilvio of Inverquharity,

Sir William Rollock, Sir Philip Nisbet, Colonel

Nathaniel Gordon, Adjutant Stewart, and Cap-

tain Andrew Guthry.

Apprehensive, however, that ]\lontrose miglit

still be in a condition to avenge the blood of

his friends, the committee did not venture to

carry their sentence into immediate execution

upon any of them ; but hearing of the division

between Montrose and Huntly, and the desertion

of the Gordons, they thought they might now
safely venture to immolate a few victims at tlie

slirine of the Covenant. Accordingly three of

the prisoners were ordered for execution, viz..

Sir William Rollock, Sir Philip Nisbet, chief

of tliat name, and Alexander Ogilvie, younger

of Inverquharit}', a youth not quite 18 j'ears

of age, who had already given proofs of abUitj'.

This excellent young man was sacrificed to

gratify the malignant animosity of Argyle at

the Ogilvies. Sir William was executed at

the market cross of Glasgow, on the 28th of

October, and Sir Philip and Ogilvie suffered at

the same place on the following day. Wishart

relates a circumstance connected with Sir Wil-

liam Eollock's condemnation, which exhibits a

singidar instance of the ferocity and fanaticism

of the times. He says, that the chief crime

laid to Sir William's charge was, that he had

not perpetrated a deed of the most villanous

and atrocious nature. Having been sent by

Montrose, after the battle of Aberdeen, with

some despatches to the king, lie was appre-

hended by the enemy, and would undoubtedly

have been immediately executed, but for Argj-le,

who used all liis endeavours to engage liim to

assassinate Montrose, and who at length, hy

threatening him with immediate death, and

promising him, in case of compliance, very

high rewards, prevailed on him to undertake

that barbarous office, for which, however, he

secretly entertained the utmost abhorrence.

Having thereby obtained his life and liberty,

he returned straight to Montrose and disclosed

the whole matter to him, entreating him, at the

same time, to look more carefully to his own

safety ; as it could not be supposed that he,

Sir William, was the only person who had

been practised upon in this shameful manner

or that others would equally detest the deed,

but that some persons would undoubtedly be
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found who, alluied mth the bait, -would use

their utmost industry and pains to obtain the

promised reward. * Another instance of fanati-

cism is related by Guthry, of David Dickson

the " bloody preacher," who, on witnessing the

execution of Nisbet and Ogih-ie, was lieard to

utter the barbarous expression—" The work

goes bonnyly on," an expression which after-

wards became proverbial.

About the time this tragedy was performmg,

Montrose crossed the Forth and entered Len-

nox with a force of 300 horse and 1,200 foot,

and took up his quarters on the lauds of Sir

John Buchanan, an ardent Covenanter, whence

he sent out his cavalry every day, who hovered

about Glasgow, and plundered the neighbour-

ing country without opposition, although the

Covenanters had a force of about 3,000 cavalry

in Glasgow and the neighbourhood. When
!Montrose hoard of the execution of his friends,

his heart was filled with the most poignant

grief, and he longed for a suitable opportunity

to avenge their deaths, but he was too weak

to venture upon an immediate attack. He
sent repeated messengeis from liis present head-

quarters to Sir Alexander Macdouald to join

him ; but after hovering several weeks about

Glasgow, like a hawk ready to poimce upon its

quarry, he had the mortification to find, that

Macdonald liad no intention of ever again

returning to him, and that his expectations of

being joined by the Earl of Aboyne were to be

equally disappointed.

Under these imtoward circumstances, there-

fore, and as the winter, which turned out

unusually severe, was far advanced, Montrose

resolved to retire into the north where he could

remain undisturbed. With this view he began

his march from the Lennox on the 19th of No-

vember, and crossing the hills of Monteith,

which were covered with snow to a consider-

able depth, he entered Strathearn, and crossing

the Tay, mai-ched into Athole. Here Montrose

received the melancholy news of the death of

his brother-in-law, Archibald Lord Napier of

Merchiston, whom he had left behind him in

Athole on account of indisposition ; a man,

Bays Bishop Wishart, " not less noble in his

personal accomplishments than in his birth

' Wisliart p. 223.

and descent ; a man of the greatest uprightness

and integrity, and of a most happy genius,

being, as to his skill in the sciences, equal to

his father and grandfather, who were famous

all the world over for their knowledge in pliilo-

sophy and mathematics, and in the doctrine of

civil prudence far beyond them." Montrose

had been accustomed from his earliest years to

look up to this gifted nobleman with feelings

of reverential and filial awe, nor were these

feelings impaired as he advanced in life. He
was interred in the Kirk of Blair with becom-

ing solemnity by Montrose.

'VAHien Montrose arrived in Athole, he there

found Captain OgUvie and Captain Nisbet, who

had just returned from the north to give an

account of their embassy to the Marquis of

Huntly. They reported that they foimd him

quite inflexible in his determination not to

send assistance to Montrose, that he had spoken

disdainfidly to Ihem, and even questioned the

authenticity of the message which they brought

from the king. It was truly grievous for Mon-

trose to see the cause for which he had fought

so long, and for which he had encountered so

many personal risks, tlms endangered by the

apparently wilfid and fatal obstinacy of an

individual who had abandoned his country and

liis friends in the most trj-ing circumstances,

and skulked in Strathnaver, without showing

any inclination to support the tottering throne

of his sovereign. But Montrose did not yet

despair of bringing the marquis to a due sense

of his duty ; and as he considered that it was

more expedient, in the present conjuncture, to

endeavour to soothe the wounded pride of the

marquis than to use the langiiage of menace,

he sent Sir John Dalziel to Huntly with a

message of peace and reconciliation ; intending,

if necessary, as soon as circimistances permitted,

to follow liim, and enforce by his personal

presence, at a friendly conference, which Sir

Jolm was requested to ask from the marquis,

the absolute necessity of such a reconcUiation.

As Dalziel was quite imsuccessful in his

mission, and could not prevail upon Himtly

to agree to a conference with Montrose, the

latter hastened to put into effect his inten-

tion of pajing a personal visit to Himtly,

" that nothing might be unattempted to bring

liim to a right way of thinking," and " by
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heaping favours and benefits upon Mm, force

him even against his will, to a reconciliation,

and to co-operato "with him in promoting the

king's affairs." ^ Montrose accordingly left

Athole with his army in the month of Decem-

ber, and marching into Angus, crossed the

Grampians, then covered with frost and snow,

by rapid marches, and arrived in Strathbogie,

before Huntly was aware of liis movements.

To avoid ^Montrose, Himtly immediately shut

Iiimself up in his castle of Bog of Gicht, on

the Spey, but Montrose having left his head-

quarters with a troop of horse, unexpectedly

surprised him very early in the morning before

he had time to secrete himself. Instead of

reproaching Huntly with his past conduct,

Montrose spoke to liim in the most aflable

manner, and apparently succeeded in removing

his dissatisfaction so far, that a plan for con-

ducting the future operations of the army was

agreed upon between them. The reduction of

the garrison of Inverness, which, tliougli strong

and well fortified, was but scantily stored \vith

proAasions, and an attempt to induce tlie Earl

of Seaforth to join them, were the leailing parts

of this plan. Accordingly, while Montrose

was to march through Stratlispey, on liis way

to Inverness, it was agreed that Himtly should

also advance upon it by a diifereut road along

the sea-coast of Moraysliire, and thereby hem
in the garrison on both sides.

In prosecution of tliis design, Montrose pro-

ceeded through Strathspey, and sat do\NTi before

Inverness, waiting for the arrival of Huntly.

When marching tlu-ough Stratlispey, Montrose

received inteUigenoe that Athole was tlu-eat^

ened with a visit from the Campbells—a cir-

cumstance which induced Mm to despatch

Graham of Inchbrakie and John Drummond,
younger of BaUoch, to that cotmtry, for the

purpose of embodying the Athole Higlilanders,

who had remained at home, in defence of their

coimtry. The inhabitants of Argyle, on hear-

ing of Sir Alexander Macdonald's arrival in

their country, after the battle of KUsj^th, had

fled to avoid Ms vengeance, and concealed

themselves in caverns or in the clefts of the

rooks ; but being compelled by the calls of

Qunger to abandon their retreats, they had

• Wishart, p. 227

been collected together by Campbell of Ard-

kinlass to the nimiber of about 1,200, and had

attacked the Macgregors and Macnabs for

favouring Llontrose. Being joined by the

Stuarts of Balquidder, the Menzieses, and other

partisans of Argjde, to the niunber of about

300, they meditated an invasion of Athole,

and liad advanced as far as Strathample, with

the intention of carrying their design into

execution, when intelligence was brought to

Inchbrakie of then- approach. Inchbrakie and

Balloch had by tMs time collected a body

of 700 able-bodied men, and, with tMs force,

they immediately proceeded to meet the Camp-

bells. These had laid siege to Castle Ample

;

but, on being apprised of the advance of the

Athole-men, they retu'ed to Monteith, whither

they were hotly pursued by the Athole-men,

wlio overtook tliem at Callander, near the

village of Monteitii. After crossing the river

Teith, they halted and prepared for battle,

having previously stationed a large party of

musketeers to guard the ford.

Having ascertained the strength and position

of the Campbells, Inchbrakie ordered 100 of

Ms men to advance to the ford, as if with the

intention of crossing it, in order to di'aw the

attention of the Campbells to tMs single point,

wMle, with the remainder of Ms men, he

hastened to cross the river by another ford,

higher up, and nearer the village. Tliis move-

ment was immediately perceived by the Argyle-

men, who, alarmed at such a bold step, and

probably thinking tliat the Athole-men were

more numerous than they really were, aban-

doned their position, and tied with preciijitation

towards Stirling. As soon as the Athole party,

stationed at the lower ford, saw the opposite

bank deserted, they immediately crossed the

river and attacked the rear of the retiring

Campbells. They were soon joined in the

pursuit by the party which had crossed the

higher ford ; but, as the Athole-men had per-

fprmed a tedious march of ten mUes that

morning, they were unable to continue the

pursuit far. About 80 of the Campbells were

kdled in the pursuit. They loitered about

Stirling for some time in a very pitiful state,

tiU visited by their cMef, on Ms way to Ii-eland,

who, not knoAving how to dispose of them, led

tliem into Eenfrewshire, under the impression



240 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

that as the inhabitants of tliat district were

friendly to the Covenant, they would be well

received ; but the people of Eenfrewshire,

instead of showing sj-mpathy for these unfortu-

nate wanderers, threatened to take arms and

cut them down, unless they departed immedi-

ately. The marquis, thereupon, sent them into

Lennox, and quartered th/^m upon the lands of

Lord Napier and other " malignants," as the

royalists were called. '^

The support of General Leslie's army being

heavily felt by the people, complaints were

made to the Committee of Estates for retaining

such a large body of men in Scotland, -n-ithout

any necessity, and whose habits and mode of

living were so different from those of the

inhabitants of North Britain. The Committee

sent Leslie back to England, retaining only a

small brigade under General Middleton, to

watch the motions of Montrose.

The Covenanters, emboldened by recent

events, had siunmoned a parliament to meet

at St. Andrews, which accordingly assembled

on the 26th of November, 1645 ; and, that the

ministers might not be behind their lay

bretliren in zeal for the blood of the " malig-

nants," the general assembly of the church also

met at the same time and place. It is truly

humiliating to find men, no doubt sincerely

believing they were serraig the cause of reli-

gion, demanding the lives of their countrj-men

as a sacrifice which they considered would be

weU-pleasing to God
;
yet, whilst every unpre-

judiced mind must condemn the fanaticism of

the Covenanters, it must be remembered that

the imconstitutional attempts of the king to

force Episcopacy upon them—a system wliich

they detested,—the severe losses which they

had sustained from the arms of Montrose, and

the dread of being subjected to the yoke of

prelacy, and punished for their resistance, had

aroused them to a state of frenzy, over which

reason and religion could have little control.

As a preparative for the bloody scenes about

to be enacted. Sir Archibald Johnston of "VVar-

riston, on the day the parliament met, addressed

the house in a long harangue, in which lie

entreated them to " unity amongst themselves,

to lay all private respects and interests aside,

' Gnthry, p. Ha

and to do justice on delinq\ionts and mahg-

nants ; showing that their dallying formerly

had provoked God's two great servants against

them—the sword and plague of pestilence

—

which had ploughed up the land with deep

furrows : he showed that the massacre of Kil-

syth was never to be forgotten, and that God,

who was the just Judge of the world, would

not but judge righteously, and keep in remem- -

brance that sea of innocent blood wliich lay

before lus throne, crjang for vengeance on these

bloodthii-sty rebels, the butchers of so many

innocent souls. He showed, likewise, that the

times required a more narrow and sharp look-

ing into than formerly, in respect that the

house of parliament was become at this present

like to Noah's ark, which had in it both foul and

clean creatures, and therefore he besought the

Estates there now convened by God's especial

permission and appointment, before that they

went about the constitution of that high court

of parliament, that they would make a serious

search and inquiry after such as were ears and

eyes to the enemies of the commonwealth, and

did sit there as if there was nothing to say to

tlieni ; and, therefore, he humbly desired that

the house might be adjourned till to-morrow

at two o'clock in the afternoon, and that the

several Estates might consider what comipted

members were amongst them, who had com-

plied with the public enemy of the state, either

by themselves or by their agents or friends."'

On the 4th of December, a petition was

presented to the parliament from the prisoners

confined in the castle of St. Andrews, praying to

be tried either by their peers, the justice-general,

or before the whole parliament, and not by a

committee, as proposed ; and they very properly

objected to Sir Archibald Jolmston's sitting

as a judge, he having already prejudged their

case ; but the house, " in one voice," most

iniquitously rejected the petition, reserving,

however, to the prisoners stiU to object to Sir

Archibald before the committee, " if they had

not any personal exception against his person."'

As the ministers considered the parhament

tardy in their proceedings against the royalists,

the commissioners of the general assembly pre-

' Balfour, vol. iii. pp. 311, 312.
• Balfour, vol. iii. p. 323.
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sented, on the 5tli of December, a remonstrance,

praying them " for justice upon delinquents

and malignants who had shed the blood of

their bretliren," and on the same daj', four

petitions and remonstrances to the same effect

•were presented to the parliament, from the

provincial assemblies and from Fife, Dumfries,

Merse, Teviotdale, and Galloway, by a body of

about 200 persons. The parliament, says

Balfour, by their president, answered, that

they had taken their " modest petitions and

settsonahle remonstrances veiy kindly, and

rendered them hearty thanks, and wished them

to be confident that, 'with all alacrity and dili-

gence, they would go about and proceed in

answering the expectations of all their reason-

able desires, as they might themselves perceive

in their procedure hitherto; and, withal, he

entreated them, in the name of the house, that

they would be earnest with God to implore

and beg his blessing to assist and encourage

them to tlie performance of what they de-

manded." 1

Notwithstanding the entreaties of the minis-

ters to proceed with the condemnation of the

prisoners, the parliament postponed proceedings

tiU the 17th of January, 1646; but, as a peace-

offering, they ordered, in the mean time, some

Irish prisoners, composed partly of those who
had been taken at Philiphaugh, and who had

escaped assassination, and partly of stragglers

who had been picked up after that battle, and

who were confined in various prisons through-

out the kingdom, especially in those of Selkirk,

Jedburgh, Glasgow, Dumbarton, and Perth, to

be executed without trial, " conform to the

treaty betwixt both kingdoms." ^ A more ille-

gal act it is scarcely possible to conceive, but

in these times even the forms of justice were

set aside.

The Committee of Estates, when sitting in

Glasgow, had condemned the Earl of HartfeU

and Lord OgQvie to death, along ^Y\i\\ Sir

WUham EoUock, Sir Philip Nisbet, and Alex-

ander Ogilvie; but, for some reason or other,

their execution was deferred. So that, with

the exception of Adjutant Stuart, who escaped

while under the charge of General MidcUeton,

there remained only four persons of any note

Balfour, vol. iii. p. 325. - ILid. p. 341.

for condemnation, viz.. Colonel Nathaniel Gor-

don, Sir Eobert Spotfiswood, the Honourable

William Murray, and Captain Gutluy. It

appears from the parliamentary register of Sii-

James Balfoiu', that these four prisoners pleaded

exemption from trial, or rather from condemna-

tion, on the ground of "quarters;" but after

three hours' debate, on the 10th of January,

the parliament overruled this defence; and the

committee having, of course, found them all

"guilty of high treason against the states of

the kingdom," they fixed the 16th of that

month for taking into consideration the punish-

ment to be inflicted upon them.

The first case taken up on the appointed

day, was that of Colonel Nathaniel Gordon,

who, after a debate of three hours' diu-ation,

was sentenced to be beheaded at the cross of

St. Andrews, on Tuesday, the 20th of January,

at twelve o'clock, noon, and iiis lands and

goods were declared forfeited to the public.

The lord chancellor declined voting. Similar

sentences were pronounced upon the Honour-

able WiUiam Murray and Captain Guthry, by

a majority of votes, a few of the members

having voted that they should be imprisoned

during life. Mr. Murray's brother, the Earl of

Tiilhebardine, absented himself. These three

fell under an act passed the preceding year,

declaring that all persons who, after having

subscribed tlie Covenant, should witlitlraw from

it, should be held as guilty of high treason.

But the case of Sir Eobert Spottiswood, who
had not subscribed the Covenant, not falling

within the scope of this ex-post-facto law, tlie

committee had stated in a special report the

grounds on which they found Sir Robert guilty

of high treason, namely, 1st, that he had ad-

vised, docketed, signed, carried, and delivered

to Montrose the commission appointing him

"lieutenant-governor and captain-general" of

aU his majesty's forces in Scotland; and 2dly,

that he had been taken in arms against the

country at PliihiAaugh. After a lengthened

debate, the parliament decided that both these

charges were capital offences, and accordingly

Sir Eobert was condemned by a large majority

to lose his head.^

It was tlie intention of the parliament to

' Balfour, vol. iii. pp. 356—61.
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have ordered the Earl of Hartfell and Lord

Ogilvie to be executed along with the other

prisoners; hut on the evening of the 19th of

January Lord Ogilvie effected liis escape in tlie

follo\ving Tvay. Pretending sickness he applied

for, and obtained, though vnih considerable

difficulty, liberty to his mother, wife, and sister,

to visit and attend him in prison. On entering

Ills chamber the sentmels retired out of respect

to the ladies; and, as soon as the door was

shut, his lordsliip jumped out of bed, and

attired himself in his sister's clothes, who, on

undressing, took the place of her brother in

bed, and put on his night^cap. After spending

some time together to prevent suspicion, the

two other ladies and his lordship, after opening

the door ajar so as to be seen by the guards,

pretended to take a most affectionate and pain-

ful leave of the unfortunate bed-ridden prisoner,

and drawing the door after them, passed the

sentinels without interruption. This happened

about eight o'clock in the evening; and as

horses had been prepared for his lordehip and

two companions who were waiting to escort

him, he immediately mounted, and was out of

all danger before next morning, when the de-

ception was discovered. The escape of Lord

Ogilvie highly incensed Argyle, who hated the

Ogilvies, and who, it is said, longed for the

death of his lordship. He coidd not conceal

the chagrin he felt on the occasion, and even

had the audacity to propose that the three

ladies should be immediately punished; but

the Hamiltons and Lord Lindsay, who, on ac-

count of their relationship to Lord OgUvie,

were suspected of being privy to liis escape,

protected them from liis vengeance. The

escape of Lord Ogilvie was a fortunate occur-

rence for the Earl of HartfeU, for whose life it

is alleged the Hamiltons thirsted in their turn

;

and to disappoint whom Argyle insisted that

the earl's life should be spared, a concession

which ho obtained.*

Of the four prisoners, Colonel Nathaniel

Gordon, " a man," says Wishart, " of exoellont

endowments both of body and mind," was the

first that suffered. He had been long under

the ban of the church for adultery; but on

signing a paper, declarai;ory of his repentance,

* Wishai-t, p. 238; Guthiy, p. 168.

he was absolved from the sentence of excom-

munication. He died expressing gi-eat sorrow

for the vices and follies of his youth ; but vin-

dicated himself for the part he had taken in

the troubles of his country, professed the most

unshaken loyalty to his king, and declared that

if there were any thing in the instrument ha

had signed which might be construed as di'

honourable to the king, or repugnant to his

authority, he completely disowned it.

Colonel Gordon was followed to tlie scaffold

by Sir Robert Spottiswood, a man of spoi

less integrity, and one of the most profounri

scholars of the age. He was the eldest son of

Archbishop Spottiswood, and had, by liis rare

endo-ivments and great merit, been noticed with

distinction by King James and his successor

Charles. James conferred on him the order of

knighthood, and made him a privy councillor,

and Charles promoted him to the high situa-

tion of lord president of the court of session

;

and, upon the desertion of the Earl of Lanark

to the Covenanters, the king appointed liiiu

principal secretary of state for Scotland instead

of that nobleman. This appointment drew

down upon Viim the liatred of the leading

Covenanters, but still there were some among

tliem who continued to respect him on accoimt

of his worth and shining talents; and when

the vote was taken in parliament whether he

should suffer, the Earls of Eglintoun, Cassdis,

Dunfermline, and Carnwath, voted that his

life should be spared; and the lord chancellor

and the Earl of Lanark, by leave of the house,

declined voting. " Though many liked not

his party, they liked his person, which made

him many friends even among the Covenanters,

insomuch, that after liis sentence was read,

some of the nobility spoke in his behalf, and

entreated the house to consider the quaUty and

parts of that excellent gentleman and most just

judge, whom they had condemned, and begged

earnestly his life might be spared. But an

eminent knowledge and esteem, which, in

other cases, might be a motive to save a crmii-

nal, was here only the cause of taking an inno-

cent man's life—so dangerous is it, in a corrupt

age, to be eminently constant and virtuous.

Tlie gentlemen who spoke were told that the

authority of the e.stablished government was

not secure whde Sir Kobert's Ufe was spared.
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WTiereupon the noLlemen who presided at the

meeting of the estates at Glasgow, and in the

parliament at St. Andrews, openly declared,

when they signed the respective sentences, that

they did sign as preses, and in obedience to

the command of the estates, but not as to their

particular judgment."*

After he had mounted the scaffold, still

reeking with the blood of Colonel Gordon,

. Sir Robert surveyed the terrific scene around

him with singular composure, wliich, added

to his naturally grave and dignified appear-

ance, filled the breasts of the spectators with

a feeling of compassion. Sir Robert had

intended to have addi'essed the people, and

had prepared a written speech for the occasion

;

but on turning round to addi'ess the spectators,

he was prevented from proceeding by the pro-

vost of St. Andrews, formerly a servant of Sir

Eohert's father, who had been instigated to

impose silence upon liini by Eobert Blair, one

of those ministers who, to the scandal of reli-

gion, had dishonoured their profession by call-

ing out for the blood of their countrymen.

Blair's motive in occasioning this interruption

is said to have arisen from a dread he enter-

tained that Sir Eobert would expose the

designs of the Covenanters, and impress the

bystanders with an unfavourable opinion of

'.heir proceedings. Sir Eobert bore the inter-

ruption with the most unruffled composure,

and, as he saw no chance of succeeding, he

threw the manuscript of his speech amongst

the crowd, and applied himseK to his private

devotions. But here again he was annoyed by

the officious impertinence of Blair, who rudely

asked him whether he (BlaLr) and the people

shoidd pray for the salvation of his soul? To

tliis question Sir Eobert answered, that he

indeed desired the prayers of the people; but

knowing the bloodthii-sty character of the man
he was adcbessing, who had come to tease him
in his last moments, he told him that he

"would have no concern with his prayers,

which he believed were impious, and an

abomination unto God ; adding, that of all the

plagues ivith which the offended majesty of

God had scourged the nation, this was certainly

by far the greatest, greater than even the sword,

° Life prefixed to Sir Robert's work, entitled Prac-
tides, falitt, jirinted in 1706.

fire, or pestilence; that for the sins of the

people God had sent a lying spirit into the

mouths of the prophets."'' This answer raised

the fury of Blair, who assailed Sir Eobert with

the most acrimonious imputations, and reviled

the memory of his father by the most infamous

charges; but Sir Eobert was too deeply ab-

sorbed in meditation to regard such obloquy.

Having finished his devotions, this great and

good man, after uttering these words, " Mercifid

Jesus! gather my soul unto thy saints and

martyrs who have run before me in this race,"

laid his neck upon the fatal block, and in an

instant his head was severed from lus body.

After Sir Eobert Spottiswood's execution.

Captain Guthry, son of the ex-bishop of Moray,

was next led to the scaffold. The fierce and

unfeeling Blair, who had already officiously

mtnessed, 'with the most morbid complacency,

the successive executions of Colonel Gordon

and Sir Eobert, not satisfied with reviling

the latter gentleman in liis last moments,

tnd lacerating his feelings by heaping every

sort of obloquy upon the memory of his father,

vented the dregs of his impotent rage upon the

unfortunate victim now before him ; but Guthry

bore all tliis man's reproaches with becoming

dignity, and declared that he considered it an

honour to die in defence of the just cause of

Ms sovereign. He met his death with the

fortitude of a hero and the firmness of a

Cliristian.

In consequence of an application to the par-

hament by the Earl of TulHebardine, the exe-

cution of Ms brother, WUliam Murray, was

delayed tiU the 23d of January. The case of

this unfortunate young man excited a strong

feeling of regi'et among the Covenanters them-

selves, and some "writers have not scrupled to

blame the earl as the cause of Ms death, that

he might succeed to Ms patrimony. Some

countenance is afforded to this conjecture from

the circumstance that the earl not only made

no exertions to save his brother from condem-

nation, but that he even absented himself from

parliament the day that Ms brother's ease came

to be discussed, when, by his presence or his

vote, he might have saved Ms brother's life.

Nor is this supposition, it is contended, in any

« 'Wishart, p. 242.
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shape weakened by the attempt he afterwards

made to get off his hi'other; for he must have

known that the parliament had gone too far to

retract, and could not, ^vithout laying itself

open to the charge of the grossest partiality,

reprieve Ni. Muixay, and allow their sentence

to he carried into execution against the other

prisoners. If true, however, that the earl

dehvered the speech imputed to him by Ben-

net, there can be no doubt of liis being a par-

ticipator in the death of his brother, but, it

would be hard to condemn him on such ques-

tionable authority. To whatever cause it was

owing, Mr. Murray was not, during his last

moments, subjected to the annoyances of Blair,

nor was he prevented from delivering the

following speech to the persons assembled to

witness his execution. He spoke in a loud

tone of voice as follows :
" I hope, my country-

men, you will reckon that the house of Tullie-

bardine, and the whole family of MiuTay, have

this day acquired a new and no small addition

of honour; that a young man, descended of

that ancient race, has, though innocent, and in

the flower of his age, with the greatest readi-

ness and cheerfulness, delivered up his life for

his king, the father of his country, and the

most mimificent patron and benefactor of that

family from which he is sprung. Let not my
honoured mother, my dearest sisters, my kin-

dred or my friends, lament the shortness of my
life, seeing that it is abundantly recompensed

by the honour of my death. Pray for my soul,

and God be with you."^

Many prisoners, but of less note, stUl re-

mained to be disposed of; but the parhament,

either averse to shed more blood, or from other

considerations, took no steps against them.

The committee of the kirk, however, being

actuated by other motives, pressed the parlia-

ment to dispose of some more of the " mahg-

nants
;
" but the bloody zeal of these clerical

enthusiasts was checked by the better sense of

the parliament ; and in order to get rid of

their importunities for blood, a suggestion was

made to them by the leading men in parlia-

ment to lay before them an " overture," propos-

ing some more lenient mode of punishment.

The "godly" brotherhood soon met, but a

' Guthry, p. 245.

considerable difference of opinion prevailing as

to the nature of the punishment to be submitted

to parliament in the proposed overture, the

moderator asked David Dickson what he

thought best to be done with the prisoners,

who answered " in his homely way of speaking,

'shame them and herry (plunder) them.'" This

proposal, bemg adopted, was made the subject

of an overture, wliich was accordingly presented

to parliament ; and to meet the views of the

ministers, a remit was made to a large com-

mittee, which was appointed to meet at Lin-

lithgow, on the 25th of February, to fix the

amount of the fines to be imposed vipon the

different delinquents.

While the proceedings before detailed were

going on at St. Andrews, Montrose was inefifec-

tually endeavouring to reduce the garrison of

Inverness, the acquisition of which would have

been of some importance to him. Had the

Marquis of Himtly kept liis promise, and

joined Montrose, its capture might have been

effected ; but that nobleman never made his

appearance, and as Inverness was thus left

open on the side which it was intended he

should block up, the enemy were enabled to

supply themselves with provisions and warlike

stores, of which they stood in great need.

Himtly, however, afterwards crossed the Spey,

and entered Moray with a considerable force

;

but instead ofjoining Montrose, who repeatedly

sent for him, he wasted his time in fruitless

enterprises, besieging and taking a few castles

of no importance.

As Huntly probably did not think that the

capture of a few obscure castles was sufficient

to establish his pretensions as Montrose's rival,

he resolved to seizeAberdeen, and had advanced

on his way as far as Kintore, where he was

met by Ludovick Lindsay, Earl of Crawford,

who had retired from the Mearns, where he

had been stationed with Montrose's horse, on

hearing of the approach of the parliamentary

army under the command of General Middle-

ton towards Aberdeen. This intelligence was

quite sufficient to induce the marquis to desist

from his enterprise. Lindsay then marched

into Buchan, and burnt the town of Fraser-

burgh. He, thereafter, went to Banff, hut was

compelled to retire hastily into Moray with

some loss in February 1646, by a di^dsion of
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MiclJleton's army under the command of Lieu-

tenant-Colonel Montgomery and Major David

Barclay. *

About this time intelligence was brought to

Montrose that General Middleton had arrived

at Aberdeen with a force of 600 horse and 800

foot. He now renewed his entreaties to Huntly

to join him immediately, that they might

either reduce Inverness or march jointly upon

Aberdeen and attack Middleton ; Huntly, how-

ever, refused to accede to Montrose's request.

This refusal exasperated Montrose to such a

degree that he resolved to have recourse to

force to compel compliance, as he could no

longer endure to see the authority of the

sovereign, whose deputy he was, thus trampled

upon and despised. As he had abeady brought

over to his side the Earl of Seaforth, who had

induced the heads of some of the pruicipal

clans to form a confederation for obtaining a

national peace, he wa.s fully in a condition to

have reduced Huntly to obedience. Montrose

having got a new commission, sent a copy of it

to Huntly, and, as governor and general of the

royal forces, charged liim to come without

delay, with his whole force to Inverness, and

there receive further orders. Huntly appears

to have made preparations for complying with

this order, but MidiUeton's sudden advance on

Inverness induced him to alter his purpose.

'

Yfishart relates rather an incredible story

respecting an alleged piece of treachery on the

part of Lord Le^vis Gordon on this occasion.

He states that, as Montrose had no reliance

on Huntly, and as he began now to think it

high time to look more carefully to his own
safety, lest Huntly's malice might at last carry

him the length even to betray him, he sent

three troops of horse to the fords of the Spey

to watch the motions of the enemy, nith orders,

if they approached, to send him immediate

intimation of their movements. This bod}', it

is said, occupied the most convenient stations,

and watched with very great diligence for some

time, tm Lord Lewis, who then kept the castle

of Eothes, having contrived his scheme of

vUlany, assured the officers who commanded
the horse, that the enemy was very far distant,

' Gordon's Continuation, p. 531.
' SrUane's Distemper, p. 182.

and had no intention to pass the river; he,

therefore, advised them to cease watching, and

having invited them to the castle where they

were sumptuously entertained by liim, plied

with wine and spirits, and detained tUl such

time as Lord Middleton had crossed the Spey

with a largo army of horse and foot, and pene-

trated far into Maray, he dismissed his guests

with these jeering remarks—" Go, return to

your general Montrose, who will now have

better work than he had at Selkirk." Gordon

of Euthven, however, contradicts this very im-

probable story, and attributes Middleton'a

unmolested crossing of the Spey to the negli-

gence of the troops who guarded the passage;

asserting that Lord Le^vis knew nothing of it

tUI Mortimer, one of the captains in command

of the troops, appeared at Rothes to tell him

that Middleton was on the other side of the

Spey on his waj' to Inverness. Moreover- such

a statement carries its ovm condemnation upon

the face of it, for even supposing that Mon-

trose's officers had acted the stupid part im-

puted to them, they would certainly not have

forgotten their duty so far as- to order their

men to abandon their posts.

It was in the month of May, 1646, that

General Middleton left Aberdeen at the liead

of his army, on his way to Inverness. He left

behind him in Aberdeen a regiment of horse,

and another of foot, for the protection of the

town, under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel

Montgomerj'. Middleton made a rapid march,

and arrived in the neighbourhood of Inverness

on the 9th of May, driving before him the few

troops of horse which Montrose had stationed

on the Spey to watch his motions. On. being

warned of MidcUeton's approach, Montrose

drew his troops together, and took up a posi-

tion at some distance from the town; but

having ascertained that Middleton was strong

in cavalry, he hastily crossed the river Ness.

Middleton, thereupon, despatched two regi-

ments of cavalry after him, who attacked liis

rear, cut off some of his men, and captiu'ed

two pieces of cannon and part of his baggage.

Montrose continued his retreat by Beauly into

Ross-shire, whither he was pursued by Middle-

ton, who, however, suffered some loss in the

pursuit. As Montrose's forces were far inferior,

in point of numbers, to those of Middleton, he
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avoided coming to an engagement, and as

Seaforth's men, who had joined Montrose at

Inverness, under their chief, began to desert

him in great niunhers, and as he could not

dppend on the population by which he was

surrounded, Montrose turned to the right, and

passing by Lochness, marched through Strath-

glass and Stratherrick to the banks of the

Spey. MidtUeton did not follow Montrose,

but went and laid siege to the castle of the

Earl of Seaforth in the canonry of Ross, which

he took after a siege of four days. He behaved

towards the Countess of Seaforth, who was

within the castle, with great politeness, and

restored it to her after taking away the ammu-

nition which it contained.

Tlie absence of Middletou from Aberdeen

afforded Himtly an opportunity of accomplish-

ing the design which he formerly entertained,

till prevented by the approach of Middletou

from the south, of t;iking Aberdeen, and ac-

cordinclv lie ordered his men to march from I

Deeside to Inverury, where he appointed a

general rendezvous to be held on the 10th of

May. Colonel Montgomery being aware of his

motions, beat up his quarters the same night at

Kintore with a party of horse, and killed some

of liis men. But Montgomery was repulsed by

Lord Le-ivis Gordon, with some loss, and forced

to retire to Aberdeen. The marquis appeared

at the gates of Aberdeen at 12 o'clock on the

following day, with a force of 1,500 Highland

foot and 600 horse, and stormed it in three

different places. The garrison defended them-

selves with courage, and twice repidsed the

assailants, in which contest a part of the town

was set on fire; but a fresh reinforcement

having entered the town, under Lord Aboyne,

the attack was renewed, and Montgomery and

his horse were forced to retire down to the

edge of the river Dee, which they crossed by

s^vimming. The covenanting foot, after taking

refuge in the tolbooth and in tlie liousos of the

Earl Marischal and Mt-iLzies i-i Pit fuddles,

old Al-ei etn lu the I'th centun — Fi r '=:iezers Th atr

craved quarter and surrendered at diacretion.

Although the city of Aberdeen had done no-

thing to incur Huntly's displeasure, he allowed

his Highlanders to pillage it. About twenty

officers were taken prisoners, among whom
were Colonels Hurry, Barclay, and David

Leighton; besides Sir WUliam Forbes of

Craigievar, and other country gentlemen, par-

ticularly of the name of Forbes; but they were

all released next day on their parole of honour

not to serve against the king in future. There

were killed on the side of the Covenanters,

Colonel William Forbes, Captain Lockliart,

son of Sir James Lockhart of Lee, and three

captains of foot, besides a number of privates;

but Hmitly lost onlj' about twenty men.
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As Huntly's force was considerably reduced

by the return of the Higliianders, who had

accompanied liim, to their own houses, 'svith

the booty which they had collected in Aber-

deen, and, as he was apprehensive of the im-

mediate return of iliddleton from the north,

he remained but a short time in Aberdeen.

Marching up the north bank of the Dee, he

encamped in Cromar; but the sudden appear-

ance of Middleton, who, on hearing of Huntly's

advance on Aberdeen, had retraced his steps

and re-crossed the Spey, made him retire into

Mar. Middleton, after pursuing him for a

short distance, returned to Aberdeen, whicli

he found had sufl'ered severely from Huntly's

visit.

After an ineffectual attempt by Montrose to

obtain an interview with Huntly at the Bog of

Gight, wliither he had gone after Middleton's

return to Aberdeen, ^Montrose resolved to make

a tour through the Highlands, in the hope that

he would be able, by his personal presence,

and by promising suitable rewards, to induce

tlie clans to rise in defence of their sovereign;

but Math the determination, in case of refusal,

to enforce obedience to his commands. This

resolution was not taken by Montrose, without

the concurrence of some of his best friends,

who promised to aid him by every means in

their power, in carrjdng it into effect. In pur-

suance of his design, Montrose was just about

setting out on liis proposed journey, when, on

the last day of j\Iay, a messenger arrived with a

letter from the king, requesting him to disband

his forces, and to retire, himself, to France,

where he would receive " further directions."

After the disastrous battle of Naseby, which

was fought on the 14th of June, 1644, between

the English royalists and the parliamentary

forces, tlie campaign in England, on the part

of the king, "presented little more than

the last and feeble struggles of an expiring

party." 3 The king had been enabled, in con-

sequence of the recall of the horse, which had
reached Nottingham, on their way to Hereford,

under General David Leslie, after the battle of

KUsyth, to drive the parliamentary infantry

back from the siege of Hereford ; but the sur-

render of Bristol to the forces of the parliament,

' Lingarcl, vol. vi. p. 5.3'^, 4to.

on the 10th of September, and the defeat of

the royalists at Chester, on the 2M of the same

month, completed the ruin of the king's affairs.

Having shut himself up in Oxford, for the last

time, in November following, Charles, after

the discovery of the secret treaty with the

Catholics of Ireland, which had been entered

into by the Eail of Glamorgan, endeavoured to

negotiate with the English parliament in tlio

expectation that if he could gain either the

presbyterians or independents over to his side,

by fair promises, he would be enabled to get

the upper hand of both.* That negotiation,

however, not succeeding, another was set

on foot, tlirough the medium of Montrevil,

the French envoy, with the Scots army be-

fore Newark, the leaders of wliich offered

an asylmn to the king on certain condi-

tions. At length Charles, undetermined as to

the course he should pursue, on hearing of the

approach of the parliamentary army, under

Fairfax, left Oxford at midnight, on the 27th

of AprU, 1646, in the disguise of a servant,

accompanied by Mr. Ashburidiam and Dr.

Hudson, a clergyman, and, after traversing

the neighbouring country, arrived at South-

well on the 5th of May, where he was intro-

duced by Montrevil to the Earl of Leven, tlie

commander of the Scots army, and the officers

of his staff. The arrival of the king seemed to

surprise the officers very much, although it is

generally supposed that they had been made

previously aware of his intentions by Hudson,

who had preceded him, and they treated him

with becoming respect, the commander tender-

ing his bare sword upon his knee;^ but when

Charles, who had retained Leven's sword, indi-

cated his intention to take the command of the

army, by giving orders to the guard, that crafty

veteran imhesitatingly thus addressed him:

—

" I am the older soldier, Sire, your majesty

had better leave that office to me."^ The king

was, in fact, now a prisoner. As soon as tlie

intelligence reached the capital, that the king

had retii-ed to the Scots camp, the two parha-

mentaiy factions united in accusing the Scots

of perfidy, and sent a body of 5,000 horse to

watch their motions; but the Scots being de-

sirous to avoid hostilities, raised their camp

* Lingard, vol. vi. p. 54.3.

= Kirkton. " Riishwortli. vi.
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before Newark, and hastily retired to New-

castle, carrying tlie king along with them.

On arriving at Newcastle, the king was

waited upon hy the Earls of Lanark and Cal-

lander, and Lord Balmerino, who paid their

respects to him. As Callander was understood

to be favourably inclined to the king, Lanark

and Balmerino were desirous to get rid of him,

and accordingly they prevailed upon his majesty

to send Callander back to Etlinburgh with a

letter, which they had induced his majesty to

write to the Committee of Estates, expressive of

his desire to comply with the wishes of the

Scots parliament, and containing instructions

to them to order Montrose, Hmitly, and Sir

Alexander Macdonald to disband their forces.

And it was also at the desire of these two

noblemen that the king wrote the letter to

Montrose already referred to.

After Montrose had read this letter he was

filled with deep amazement and concern. All

those visionary schemes for accomplishing the

great object of his ambition, which a fewminutes

before had floated in his vivid imagination, were

now dispelled. He was now placed in one

of the most painful and difficidt situations it

is possible to conceive. He had no doubt that

the letter had been extorted from the king, yet

he considered that it would neither be prudent

nor safe for him to risk the responsibility of

disobeying the king's orders. Besides, were

lie to attempt to act contrary to these instruc-

tions, he might thereby compromise the safety

of the king, as his enemies would find it no

difficidt afiair to convince the army that Mon-

trose was acting according to private instruc-

tions from the king himself. On the other

hand, by instantly disbanding his army, Mon-

trose considered that he would leave the royal-

ists, and all those friends who had shared his

dangers, to the mercy of their enemies. In

this dilemma, he determined to convene a

general meeting of all the principal royalists,

to consult as to how he should act—a resolu-

tion which showed his good sense, and kind

and just feeling towards those who had been

induced by his means to risk their lives and

fortunes in the cause of the king. Notwith-

standing the many slights which had been put

upon him by the Marquis of Huntly, Montrose,

anxious to preserve a good understanding with

him, sent Sir John Hurry and Sir John Innes

to Huntly, to invite him to attend the proposed

meeting, and that there might be no appearance

of dictation on the part of Montrose, the time

and place of meeting was left to Huntly's ovm

choice. But this nobleman answered that he

himself had received orders similar to those

sent to Montrose, which he was resolved to

obey immediately, and, therefore, he declined

to attend any meeting on the subject.

In this situation of matters, Montrose con-

sidered that his best and wisest course would

be to keep his army together tiU he should

receive another communication from the king,

in answer to a letter which he sent by a messen-

ger of his own, in which he begged his majesty

to acquaint him with the real situation of

matters, whether he considered his person safo

in the hands of the Covenanters, and if ho

could be of any farther service to him. Mon-

trose begged also to be informed by the king,

if he persevered in his resolution to disband

an army which had fought so bravely in his

defence, and that at a time when his enemies,

in both kingdoms, were still under anus ; and

if so, he wished to be instructed by his majesty

as to the course he should pursue, for the pro-

tection and security of the lives and fortunes

of those brave men, who had encountered so

many dangers, and had spent their blood in

liis defence, as he could not endure the idea of

leaving such loyal subjects to the mercy of

their enemies.'' The king returned an answer'

to this letter, by the former messenger, Ker, in

which he assured him that he no less esteemed

his willingness to lay do^vn arms at his com-

mand, " for a gallant and real expression " of

liis zeal and affection to his service than any

of his former actions ; but he hoped that Mon-

trose had not such a mean opinion of him, that

for any particular or worldly respects he would

suffer him (Montrose) to be ruined,—that his

only reason for sending Montrose out of the

country was that he might return with greater

glory, and, in the meantime, to have as hon-

ourable an employment as he (the king) could

confer upon him,—that Ker would tell him

the care he had of all Montrose's friends, and

his own, to whom, although he could not

' Wishart, p. 262. ' June 15, 1646.
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promise such conditions as he would have

WTshed, yet they would be such, all tilings

considered, as were most fit for them to accept.

" Wlierefore," continues his majesty, " I renew

my former directions, of laying down arms,

unto you, desiring you to let Huntly, Cra\vford,

Airly, Seaforth, and Ogilvy, know, that want

of time hath made me now omit to reiterate

my former commands unto you, intending that

this sliall serve for all ; assuring them, and all

the rest of my friends, that, whensoever God

shall enable me, they shall reap the friuts of

their loyalty and affection to my service."

Tliese ' conditions,' which consisted of several

articles, and in the drawing up of which the

king probably had no concern, were far from

satisfactory to Montrose, who refused to accede

to them. He even refused to treat with the

Covenanters, and sent back the messenger

to the king to notify to him, that as he had

acted under his majesty's commission, he woidd

admit of no conditions for laying down his

arms, or disbanding his army, which did not

come directly from the king himself ; but that

if his majesty imposed conditions upon him,

he would accept of them with the most implicit

submission. The king, who had no alternative

but to adopt these conditions as his own, put

his name to them and sent back the messenger

with them, with fresh instructions to Montrose

to disband his army forthwith under the pain

of high treason. Besides Ker, the king

despatched another trusty messenger to Mon-

trose with a private letter' lu-ging him to

accept of the conditions offered, as in the event

of his refusal to break up his army, his majesty

might be placed " in a very sad condition,"

such as he would rather leave Montrose to

guess at than seek himself to express. From
this expression, it would appear that Charles

abeady began to entertain some apprehensions

about his personal safety. These commands

of the king were too peremptory to be any

longer withstood, and as Montrose had been

informed that several of the leading royalists,

particularly the Marquis of Himtly, Lord

Aboyne, and the Earl of Seaforth, were negoti-

ating witli the Estates in their own behalf, and

that Himtly and Aboyne had even offered to

5 July 16, 1646.

compel Montrose to lay down his arms in com-

pliance with the orders of the king, he i me-

diately resolved to disband his army.

As Middleton had been intrusted by the

Committee of Estates with ample powers to

negotiate with the royalists, and to see the

conditions offered to Montrose implemented

by him in case of acceptance, a cessation of

arms was agreed upon between Montrose and

Middleton ; and in order to discuss the condi-

tions, a conference was held between them on

the 22d day of July, on a meadow, nea tlie

river Isla, in Angus, where they " conferred

for the space of two hours, there being none

near them but one man for each of them to

hold his horse."! jj^g conditions agreed upon

were these, that with the excepition of Mon-

trose himself, the Earl of C^a^vford, Sir Alex-

ander Macdonald, and Sir John Hurry, idl

those who had taken up arms against the

Covenanters would be pardoned on makiiig

their submission, and that Montrose, Crawford,

Hurry, and Graham of Gorthy, should t ans-

port themselves beyond seas, before the last

day of August, in a ship to be provided by tlie

Estates. This arrangement was ratified by tlie

conmiitt«e of Estates, but the committee of the

kirk exclaimed against it, and petitione the

Committee of Estates not to sanction it.

Preparatory to disbanding his army, Mon
trose appointed it to rendezvous at liattray, in

the neighboivrhood of Coupar-Angus, at wliich

place, on the 30th of July, he discharged his

men, after addressing them mth feeling and

animation. "After giving them due praise for

their faithfid services and good behaviour, he

told them his orders, and bade them farewel an

event no less sorrowful to the whole army than

to himself ; and, notvWthstanding that he used

liis utmost endeavours to raise their drooping

spirits, and encourage them with the flatt ring

prospect of a speedy and desirable peace and

assured them that he contributed to the king's

safety and interest by his present ready suU

mission, no less than he had formerly done

by his military attempts
;
yet they concluded,

tliat a period was that day put to the ing's

authority, which would expire with the disso-

lution of their army, for disbanding wldcii,

' Guthry, p. 179.
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they were all convinced the orders had heen

extorted from the king, or granted by hiin on

purpose to evite a greater and more immediate

ovil. And, upon whatever favourable condi-

tions their own safety might be provided

for, yet they lamented their fate, and would

much rather have midergone the greatest fatigue

and hardships than be obliged to remain inac-

tive and idle spectators of the miseries and

calamities befaUing their dearest sovereign.

Neither were their generous souls a little con-

cerned for the unworthy and disgraceful opin-

ion which foreign nations and after ages could

not fail to conceive of the Scots, as universally

dipt in rebellion, and guilty of defection from

tlie best of kings. Their sorrow was likewise

considerably augmented by the thoughts of

being separated from tlieir brave and success-

ful general, who was now obliged to enter

into a kind of banislunent, to the irreparable

loss of the king, the country, themselves, and

all good men, at a time when they never had

greater occasion for his services : And falling

down upon their knees, -with tears in their

eyes, they obtested him, that seeing the king's

safety and interest required his immediate

departure from the kingdom, he would take

them along with him to whatever comer of the

world he would retire, professmg their readi-

ness to live, to fight, nay, if it so please God,

even to die under his command. And not a

few of them had privately determined, thougli

at the evident risk of their hves and fortunes,

to foUow him without his knowledge, and

even against liis inclination, and to offer him

their service in a foreign land, which they

could not any longer afford him in then- own
distressed native country."

-

Such is the account of the affecting farewell

between Montrose and the few remaining brave

and adventurous men who had shared ^vith

him all the dangers and vicissitudes of the

battle-field, as related by a warm partisan of

fallen royalty
;
yet there is no reason for sup-

posing that he has given an exaggerated view

of the feelings of the warlike and devoted band

at parting, under existing circumstances, with

their beloved commander who had so often led

them to victory, and whose banishment from

= Wishart, pp. 264-5.

his native country they regarded as tlie death-

blow to their hopes.

Upon the dissolution of Montrose's army,

the Scots ofBeers and soldiers retired to their

homes, and the Irish troops marched west-

ward into Argyle, whence they embarked

for their own country, being accompanied

tliither by the Earl of Crawford, who from

thence went to Spain. Montrose, along with

the few friends who were to follow him abroad,

took up his abode at his seat of Old Mon-

trose, there to wait the arrival of the vessel

destined to convey them to the continent.

The day fixed for Montrose's departure was

the 1st of September, and he waited with

unpatience for the arrival of the expected

vessel ; but as the month of August was fast

expiring without such vessel making its appear-

ance, or any apparent preparation for the

voyage, IVIontrose's friends applied to the com-

mittee of the Estates for a prorogation of the

day stipulated for his departure, but they could

obtain no satisfactory answer.

At length, on the last day of August, a vessel

for the reception of the marquis entered the

harbour of Montrose, in which he proposed

immediately to embark, but he was told by the

sliipmaster, " a violent and rigid Covenanter,"

that he meant to careen his vessel before going

to sea, an operation which would occupy a few

days. In the course of conversation, the ship-

master bluntly stated to his intended passen-

gers, that he had received express instructions

to land them at certain ports. The behaviour

of the captain, joined to the information he

had communicated, and the fact that several

English ships of war had been seen for several

days off the coast, as if watching his embarka-

tion and departure, created a strong suspicion

in Montrose's mind that a plan had been laid

for capturing him, and induced him to consult

his ONvn safety and that of liis friends, by seek-

ing another way of leaving the kingdom. The

anxiety of Montrose and his followers was

speedily relieved by the arrival of intelligence,

that a small vessel belonging to Bergen, in

Norway, had been found in the neighboiu'ing

harbour of Stonehaven ; and that the master

had engaged, on being promised a handsome

freight, to be in readmess, on an appointed day,

to sail with such passengers as should appear.
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Accordingly, after sending off Sir Jolm

Hiirry, John Dnmimond of Balloch, Graham

of Gortliy, Dr. Wishart, and a few other friends

by land to Stonehaven, on tlie 3d of September

1646, he himself left the harbour of Montrose

in a small boat, disguised as the servant of

James Wood, a clergyman, who accompanied

him ; and the same evening went safely on

boai'd the vessel, into wliich his friends had

embarked, and setting sail with a fair wind,

arrived in a few days at Bergen, in Norway,

where he received a friendly welcome from

Thomas Gray, a Scotsman, the governor of the

castle of Bergen. ^

It is beyond the province of this history to

give a detailed account of the transactions

which took place between the Scotch and Eng-

lish concerning the disbanding of the Scottish

army and the delivery of the king to the

English parliament. Although the Scotch are

sertainly not free from blame for having

betrayed their king, after he had cast himself

ipon their loyalty and mercy, still it must be

remembered, in extenuation, that the king was

merely playing a game, that his giving himself

up to the Scotch army was his last desperate

move, and that he wovdd not have had the

least scruple in outwitting, deceiving, and even

destroying his protectors. In September, 1646,

an agreement was come to between the Scotch

commissioners and the English parliament, that

the army should be disbanded, on the latter

paying £400,000 as payment in full of the

arrears of pay due to the army for its services.

Tliere was no mention then made of the delivery

of the king, and a candid examination of the

evidence on both sides proves that the one

transaction was quite independent of the other.

" Tliat fanaticism and self-interest had steeled

the breasts of the Covenanters against the more

generous impulses of loyalty and compassion,

may, indeed, be granted ; but more than this

cannot be legitimately inferred from any proof

furnished by history."*

Wilde the negotiations for the delivery of

the king were pending, Charles, who seems to

have been fuUy aware of them, meditated the

design of escaping from the Soots army, and

putting himself at the head of such forces as

' Wishart. * Linganl, vol. vi.

the Marquis of Huntly could raise in the north

In pursuance of this design, his majesty, about

the middle of December, sent Eobert Leslie,

brother of General David Leslie, with letters

and a private commission to Huntly, by which

he was informed of Ids majesty's intentions,

and Huntly was, therefore, desired to levy

what forces he could, and have them in readi-

ness to take the field on his arrival in the

north. On receipt of his majesty's commands,

Huntly began to raise forces, and having col-

lected them at Banff, fortified the town, and

there awaited the king's arrival.^ But the

king was prevented from putting his plan into

execution by a premature discovery, and was

thenceforth much more strictly guarded.

After the delivery of the king to the Eng-

lish, on the 28th of January, 1647, the Scots

anny returned to Scotland. It was thereupon

remodelled and reduced, by order of the parlia-

ment, to 6,000 foot, and 1,200 horse; a force

which was considered sufficient not only to

keep the royalists in awe, but also to reduce

the Marquis of Hiuitly and Sir Alexander

Macdouald, who were still at the head of soma

men. The dispersion, therefore, of the forces

under these two commanders became tlio

immediate object of the parliament. An at-

tempt had been made in the month of January,

by a division of the covenanting army stationed

in Aberdeenshire, under the command of Major

Bickerton, to surprise the Marquis of Huntly

at Banff, but it had been obliged to retire with

loss ; and Huntly continued to remain in his

position tin the month of April, when, on the

approach of General David Leslie with a con-

siderable force, he fled with a few friends to

the mountains of Lochaber for shelter. LesKe

thereupon reduced the castles belonging to tlie

marquis. He first took that of Strathbogie

and sent the commander thereof, the laird

of Newton-Gordon, to Edinburgh ; then the

castle of Lesmore; and lastly, the Bog of

Gicht, or Gordon castle, the commander of

which, James Gordon of Letterfurie, and his

brother, Thomas Gordon of Clastirim, and

other gentlemen of the name of Gordon, were

sent to Edinburgh as prisoners. Leslie next

took the isle of Lochtanner, in Aboyne, wliich

' Gordon's Continuaiimi, p. 536.
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had been fortified by Himtly.^ Quarter was

given to the men who garrisoned those different

strengths, ^nth the exception of the Irish and

deserters, who were hanged immediately on

their capture.

'

Ha\'ing taken these different places, Leslie,

in quest of the marquis, next marched into

Badenoch, where he captured the castle of

Euthven. Thence he proceeded into Lochaber,

and took the fortress of Inverlochy. Huntly

disbanded his forces in Badenoch, reserving

only a few as a body-guard for himself and liis

son ; " showing them that he was resolved to

live an outlaw tUl provident heaven should be

pleased to change the king's fortune, upon

whose commandments liis life and fortune

should always depend."^ The covenanting

general, thereupon, marched to the south with

a part of his forces, leaving the remainder in

the north, under the command of Middleton,

and encamped in StrathaUan, he himself taking

up his head-quarters in Dunblane. Here he

remained till the middle of May, when he was

joined by the Marquis of Argyle, and ordered

to advance into that nobleman's country to

drive out Sir Alexander Macdonald. Accord-

ingly, he set out on the 17th of May, and

arrived at Inverary on the 21st. Sir Alexander

Macdonald was at this time in KlntjTe, with

a force of about 1,400 foot and two troops of

horse, wliich would have been fully sufficient

to check Leslie, but he seems not to have been

aware of the advance of the latter, and had

taken no precautions to guard the passes lead-

ing into the peninsula, which might have been

successfully defended by a handful of men

against a considerable force. Having secured

these difficult passes, Leslie advanced into

Kintyre, and after skirmishing the whole of

the 25th of May 'with Macdonald, forced him

to retire. After throwing 300 men into a for-

tress on the top of the hiU of Dunaverty, and in

wliich "there was not a di-op of water but what

fell from the clouds," ' Macdonald, on the follow-

ing day, embarked liis troops in boats provided

for the occasion, and passed over into Islay.

Leslie, thereupon, laid siege to the castle of

Dimaverty, which was well defended ; but the

^ Gordon's Contimiaiion, p. 537. ' Oiitliiy.

• Britanes Distemper, p. 200. ' Turner's Memoirs.

assailants having carried a trench at the bottom

of the liill which gave the garrison the com-

mand of water, and in the storming of wliich

the besieged lost 40 men, the latter craved a

parley, in consequence of wliich Sir James

Turner, Leslie's adjutant-general, was sent to

confer ^\•ith the garrison on the tenns of sur-

render. Leslie would not grant " any other

conditions than that they should j-ield on dis-

cretion or mercy. And it seemed strange to

me," continues Sir James Tm-ner, " to hear the

lieutenant-general's nice distinction, that they

should yield themselves to the kingdom's

mercy, and not to his. At length they did so,

and after they had come out of the castle, they

were put to the sword, every mother's son,

except one young man, Maccoul, whose life I

begged to be sent to France, with 100 fellows

which we had smoked out of a cave, as they

do foxes, who were given to Captain Campbell,

the chancellor's brother." ^ This atrocious act

was perpetrated at the instigation of John Nave

or Neaves, "a bloody preacher," ^ but, accord-

ing to Wodrow, an " excellent man," who
woidd not be satisfied with less than the blood

of the prisoners. As the account given by Sir

James Turner, an eye-mtness of this infamous

transaction, is curious, no apology is necessary

for inserting it. " Here it will be fit to make

a stop, tUl this cruel action be canvassed.

First, the heutenant-general was two da3'S

irresolute what to do. The Marquis of Argyle

was accused at his arraignment of this murder,

and I was examined as a witness. I declared,

which was true, that I never heard him advise

the heutenant-general to it. What he did io

private I know not. Secondly, Argyle was

but a colonel then, and he had no power to do

it of himself. Thirdly, though he had advised

him to it, it was no capital crime ; for counsel

is no command. Fourtlily, I have several

times spoke to the heutenant-general to save

these men's lives, and he always assented to it,

and I know of himself he was imwilling to shed

their blood. Fiftlily, Mr. John Nave (who

was appointed by the commission of the kirk

to wait on him as his chaplain) never ceased

to tempt him to that bloodshed, yea, and

threatened him wath the curses befell Saul for

Turner's Mc Guthry.
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sparing tlio Amalokitcs, for with them his

theology taught him to compare the Dimaverty

men. And I verily believe that this prevailed

most mth David Leslie, who looked upon

Nave as the representative of the kirk of Scot^

land." The fact of Sir James and Da\'id

Leslie's repugnance to shed the blood of those

defenceless men is fully corroborated by Bishop

Gutliry, on the authority of many persons who

were present, who says that while the butchery

was going on, and while Leslie, Argyle, and

Neaves were walking over the ancles in blood,

Leslie turned out and thus addressed the latter

:

—" Now, Mr. John, have you not once got

your fill of blood ?" The sufferers on this occa-

sion were partly Irish, and partly belonging to

tlie clan Dongal or Coull, to the castle of whose

chief, in Lome, Colonel Eobert Montgomerie

now laid siege, whUe Leslie himself, with a

part of his forces, left Kintyre for Islay in

pursuit of Macdonald.

On landing in Islay, Leslie found that Mac-

donald had fled to Ireland, and had left

CoUdttoch, his father, in the castle of Dim-

niveg, with a force of 200 men to defend the

island against the superior power of LesHe.

The result turned out as might have been

anticipated. Although the garrison made a

brave resistance, yet, being wholly without

water, they found themselves unable to resist,

and offered to capitidate on certain conditions.

These were, that the officers shoidd be entitled

to go where they pleased, and that the privates

shoidd be sent to France. These conditions

were agreed to, and were punctually fulfilled.

Old Colkittoch had, however, the misfortune

not to be included in tlvis capitidation, for,

before the castle had surrendered, "the old man,

Colkittoch," says Sir James Turner, " coming

foohsldy out of the house, where he was

governor, on some parole or other,' to speak

with his old friend, the captain of Dunstaffnage

castle, was surprised, and made prisoner, not

without some stain to the lieutenant-general's

honour. He was afterwards hanged by a jury

of Argyle's sheriff-depute, one George Campbell,

from whose sentence few are said to have

escaped that kind of deatli."

' Spaldinf; says that Colkittoch came out of the
castle to treat for a surrender on an assurance of per-
sonal safety.

Leaving Islay, Leslie " boated over to Jura,

a horrible isle," says Sir James Turner, " and a

habitation fit for deer and wild beasts ; and so

from isle to isle," continues he, "till he came to

Mull, which is one of the best of the Hebrides.

Here Maclaine saved his lands, with the loss

of his reputation, if he ever had any. He gave

up his strong castles to LesH«, gave his eldest

son for hostage of his fidelity, and, which

was unchristian baseness in the lowest degree,

he delivered up fourteen prettie Irishmen, who

had been all along faithfid to him, to the lieu-

tenant-general, who immediately caused hang

them all It was not well done to demand

them from Maclaine, but inexcusablie ill done

in him to betray them. Here I cannot forget

one Donald Campbell, fleshed in blood from his

very infancie, who with all imaginable violence

pressed that the whole clan Maclaine should

be put to the edge of the sword ; nor could he

be commanded to forbear his bloody suit by

the heutenaut^general and two major-generals
;

and wth some difficulty was he commanded

silence by his chief, the Marquis of Argyle.

For my part, I said nothing, for indeed I did

not care though he had prevailed in his suit,

the delivery of the Irish had so irritated me
against that whole clan and name."

While Leslie was thus subduing the Hebrides,

Middleton was occupied in pursuing the Mar-

quis of Himtly through Glenmoriston, Bade-

noch, and other places. Huntly was at length

captured by Lieutenant-Colonel Menzies, in

Strathdon, in December, 1647. Having re-

ceived inteUigence of the place of the marquis's

retreat, Menzies came to Dalnabo ^Wth a select

body of horse, consisting of three troops, about

midnight, and immediately entered the house

just as Huntly was going to bed. The marquis

was attended by only ten gentlemen and ser-

vants, as a sort of body-guard, who notwith-

standing the great disparity of numbers, made

a brave attempt to protect the marquis, in

which six of them were killed and the rest

mortally wounded, among whom was Jolin

Grant, the kndlord. On hearing that the

marquis had been taken prisoner, the whole of

bis vassals in the neighbourhood, to the num-

ber of between 400 and 500, wth Grant of

Carron at their head, flew to arms to rescue

him, Lieutenant-Colonel Menzies thereupon
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carried the marquis to the castle of Blairfindie,

in Glenlivet, about four miles from Dalnabo,

.vhere the latter received a notice from Grant

and his party by the wife of Gordon of

Munmore, that they had solemnly sworn

either to rescue him or die to a man, and

they requested liim to give them such orders

to carry their plan into effect as he might judge

proper. But the marquis dissuaded his people

from the intended attempt, and returned for

answer that, now almost worn out with grid

and fatigue, he could no longer live in hills

and dens ; and hoped that his enemies woul

not drive things to the worst ; but, if such was

the will of heaven, he could not outlive the

sad fate he foresaw his royal master was likely

ro undergo ; and be the event as it woidd, ho

doubted not but the just providence of God

would restore the royal family, and liis owni

along \nth it.
*

Besides the gentlemen and servants about

Huntly's person, there were some Irish who
were quartered in the offices about Dalnabo.

These were carried prisoners by Menzies to

Strathbogie, where Middleton then was, who
ordered them all to be shot. In consequence

of an order from the comnuttee of Estates at

EdinbiU'gh, Menzies carried the marquis under

a strong guard of horse to Leith, where, after

being kept two days, he was delivered up to

the magistrates, and incarcerated in the jail of

the city. The committee had previously de-

bated the question whether the marquis should

be immediately executed or reprieved tOl the

meeting of parliament, but although the Argyle

faction, notwithstanding the Marquis of Argjde

withdrew before the vote was taken, and the

committee of the church did every tiling in

their power to procure the immediate execution

of the marquis, his life was spared till the

meeting of the parliament by a majority of one

vote. ^ The Earl of Aboyne and Lord Lewis

Gordon had the good fortune to escape to the

continent. The first went to France, where

he shortly thereafter died—the second took

refuge in Holland. A reward of ,£1,000 ster-

ling had been promised to any person who
should apprehend Huntly, which smn was

* Gordon's History of the Family of Gordon, vol. ii.

p. 546.
= Guthry, p. 207

Second Marquis of Huntly.—From a rarp print in

collection of W. F. Watson, Esq., Edinburgh.

didy paid to ]\Ienzies by the Committee of

Estates.

"

There appears to be no doubt that Argyle

was highly gratified at the capture of Huntly.

It is related by Spalding, that taking advan-

tage of Huntly's situation, Argyle bought up

all the comprisings on his lands, and that

he caused summon at the market-cross of

Aberdeen by soimd of trumpet, all Hmitly's

wadsetters and creditors to appear at Edinburgli

in the month of March following Hmitly's

imprisonment, calling on them to produce their

securities before the lords of session, with

certification that if they did not appear, their

securities were to be declared null and void.

Some of Huntly's creditors sold their claims to

Argyle, and having thus bought up all the

rights he could obtain upon Huntly's estate at

a small or nominal value, under the pretence

that he was acting for the benefit of his nephew.

Lord Gordon, he granted bonds for the amount

which, according to Spalding, he never paid

^ See the Act of Sederunt of the committee in the

appendix- to Gordon's History of the family of Gordon
vol. ii. p. 537
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In this way did Argyle possess liiniself of tlie

marquis's estates, wkich he continued to enjoy

upwards of twelve years; viz., from 1648, till

the restoration of Charles II. in 1660.

'When the king, who was then a prisoner in

Carisbrook castle, heard of the capture of

Huntly, he wrote a letter to the Earl of Lan-

ark, then in London, earnestly urging him to

do all in his power in behalf of the Marquis.

The earl, however, either from unwillingness

or inabOity, appears to have paid no attention

to tlus letter.

Shortly before the capture of the Marquis of

Huntly, John Gordon of Innermarkie, Gordon,

younger of Newton-Gordon, and the laird of

Harthill, three of his cliief friends, had been

taken prisoners by Major-General Middleton,

and sent to Edinburgh, where they were im-

prisoned. The two latter were condemned to

die by the Committee of Estates, and although

their friends procured a remission of the sen-

tence from the king, they were, notwithstand-

ing, both beheaded at the market^cross of

Edinburgh.

While the hopes of the royahsts, both in

England and Scotland, seemed to be almost

extinguished, a ray of light, about this time,

darted through the dark gloom of the political

horizon, which they fondly imagined was the

harbinger of a new and, for them, a better

order of things ; but all their expectations

were destined to end in bitter disappointment.

The Duke of Hamilton, who had lately formed

an association to release the king from his

capti\'ity, which went under the name of the

" Engagement," prevailed upon the parliament,

which met in March, 1648, to appoint a com-

mittee of danger, and to consent to a levy

of 40,000 men. The bulk of the English

popidation, with the exception of the army,

had grown quite dissatisfied with the state of

matters. Their eyes were now directed towards

Scotland, and the news of the Scots' levy made

them indulge a hope that they would soon be

enabled, by the aid of the Scots auxiliaries, to

throw off the military yoke, and restore the

king on conditions favourable to liberty. But

Hamilton, being thwarted by Argyle and his

party, had it not in his power to take advantage

of the favourable disposition of the Englisli

people, and instead of raising 40,000 men,

he found, to his groat mortification, that, at

the utmost, he could, after upwards of three

months' labour, only bring about 15,000 meji

into the field, and that not until several insiu'-

rections in England, in favour of tlie king, had

been suppressed.

It was the misfortune of Hamilton that with

every disposition to serve the cause of his

royal master, he had neither the capacity to

conceive, nor the resolution to adopt bold and

decisive measures equal to the emergency of

the times. Like the king, he attempted

to act the pai't of the cunning politician, but

was wholly unfitted for the performance of

such a character. Had he had the address to

separate old Leslie and his nephew from the

party of Argyle, by placing the direction of

military affairs in their hands, he might have

succeeded in raising a force sufficient to cope

with the parliamentary army of England ; but

he had the weakness, after both these generals

had joined the kirk in its remonstrance to the

parliament that uotliing should be done with-

out the consent of the committee of the general

assembly, to get liiuLself appointed commander-

in-chief of the army, a measure wliich could

not fail to disgust these hardy veterans. He
failed in an attempt to conciliate the Marquis

of Argyle, who did all in his power to thwart

Hamilton's designs. Argyle went to Fife and

induced the gentry of that county not only to

oppose the levies, but to hold themselves in

readiness to rise on the other side when called

upon. He was not so successful in Stirling-

shire, none of the gentlemen of that coimty

concurring in his views except the laird of

Buchanan, Sir William Bruce of Stenliouse,

and a few persons of inferior note ; but in

Dumbartonshire he succeeded to the utmost

of his wishes. After attending a meeting wth
the Lord Chancellor, (Loudon,) the Earls of

Cassihs and EgUnton, and David Dick and

other ministers, at EgHnton's house, on the

29th of May, Argyle went home to raise his

own people.

Several instances of opposition to the levy

took place ; but the most formidable one, and

the only one worthy of notice, was in AjTshiro,

where a body of armed insurgents, to the
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number of 800 horse and 1,200 foot according

to one •ivriter/ and 500 horse and 2,000 foot

according to another, ^ headed by several minis-

ters, assembled at Maucliline ; but they were

defeated and dispersed, on the 10th of June,

by Middleton, who had been appointed lieu-

tenant-general of horse, with the loss of 80

men.

There are no data by which to ascertain the

number of men raised in the Highlands for

Hamilton's army ; but it must necessarily have

been very inconsiderable. Not a single man
was of course raised in Argyleshire, and scarcely

any in the adjoining part of Inverness-sliire,

to which the influence or power of Argyle

extended. The Earl of Sutherland, who had

been appointed a colonel of foot in liis oivn

division, decMned the office, and Lord Reay

was so disgusted with " Duke Hamilton's

failure," that he took shipping at Thurso in

the month of July, and went to Norway,^

where he was appointed governor of Bergen,

and received the colonelcy of a regiment from

the King of Deimiark, whom he had fomierly

served. The only individual who could have

benefitted the royal cause in the north was the

Marquis of Himtly, but by a strange fataUty

the Duke of Hamilton, who could have easily

prociued an order from the parliament for his

liberation from prison, allowed him to continue

there, and merely contented himself with

obtaining a warrant for changing the marquis's

place of confinement from the jaU to the castle

of Edinburgh.

In consequence of the many difficulties

which occurred in collecting his troops, and

providing the necessary materiel for the use of

the army, the duke was not able to begin his

march till the 8th of July, on which day he

put liis army in motion towards the borders.

His force, which amounted to about 10,000

foot and 4,000 horse, was composed of raw

and nndiscipHned levies, and he had not a

single field-piece. He entered England by the

western border, where he was met by Sir

Marmaduke Langdale and a body of 4,000

brave cavaliers, all devotedly attaolied to the

king. At tliis time Lambert, the parliamentary

' Baillie. ' Gntliry.
° GorJoa's Continnation, p. 541.

general, had invested Carlisle, and Hamilton

was induced by the English royahsts, contrary

to his own views, to march upon CarUsle, and

force Lambert to raise the siege. That general,

who had received orders from Cromwell not to

engage the Scots till he should join him, accord-

ingly retired, and Carlisle was delivered up

next day to Hamilton by the English royalists,

who also put him in possession of Berwick.

It is unnecessary to enter into details con-

cerning this mismanaged and unfortimate

expedition, the result of which is well known

to every reader of English history. Sir Mar-

maduke Langdale was defeated by Cromwell

at Preston on the 17th of August, and on

entering the town after the defeat, was morti-

fied to find that his Scotch allies had aban-

doned it. Langdale having now no alternative

but flight, disbanded bis infantry, and along

with his cavalry and Hamilton, who, refusing

to follow the example of his army, had re-

mained in the town, swam across the Ribble.

The Scotch army retu-ed during the night

towards Wigan, where it was joined by the

duke next morning, but so reduced in spirits

and weakened by desertion as to be quite

unable to make any resistance to the victorious

troops of Cromwell, who pressed hard upon

them. The foot, under the command of

BaUlie, continued to retreat during the day,

but were overtaken at Warrington, and, being

unable either to proceed or to resist, sur-

rendered. The number which capitulated

amounted to about 3,000. Upwards of 6,000

had previously been captured by the country

people, and the few who had the good fortune

to escape joined Mimio and returned to Scot-

land. These prisoners were sold as slaves, and

sent to the plantations.

The duke, abandoning BaUlie to his fate,

carried off the whole cavalry ; but he had not

proceeded far when his rear was attacked by

the parliamentary army. Middleton made a

gallant defence, and was taken prisoner; but

the duke escaped, and fled to Uttoxeter, fol-

lowed by his horse, where he surrendered

liimself to General Lambert and Lord Grey of

Groby, who sent him prisoner to Windsor.

The Earl of Callander, having effected his

escape, went over to Holland, disgusted at the

conduct of the duke.
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As soon as the news of the defeat of Hamil-

ton reached Scotland, the Covenanters of the

west began to bestir themselves, and a party

of them, under the command of Kobert Mont-

gomery, son of the Earl of Eglintou, attacked

a troop of Lanark's horse, quartered in Ayr-

shire, killed some and routed the rest. The

Committee of Estates, apprehensive that the

spirit of insurrection -woidd speedily spread,

immediately ordered out all the fencible men

in the kingdom to put down the rising in the

west. A difference, however, arose in the

committee in the choice of a commander.

The Earl of Lanark and the Earl Marischal

were proposed by their respective friends.

Lanark's chief opponent was the Earl of Rox-

burgh, who, (says Wishart,) " in a grave and

modest speech, earnestly entreated him, for the

sake of tlieir dear sovereign and tlieir distressed

country, not to insist in demanding that dig-

nity, which was extremely unseasonable and

ill-judged at that time."i Eoxburgh's remon-

strance had no effect upon Lanark, who, on a

vote being taken, was found to have the ma-

jority, and so anxious was he to obtain the

command of the army that he actually voted

for himself. ^ He had even the indiscretion to

declare, that he would not permit any other

person to command in his brother's absence.

This rash and imprudent behaviour on the part

of Lanark so exasperated Roxburgh and his

friends, who justly dreaded the utter ruin of

the king's affairs, that they henceforth with-

drew altogether from public affairs.

A.s soon as Lanark had been appointed to

the command of the new levy, he set about

raising it with great expedition. Eor this

purpose he sent circulars, plausibly written, to

every part of Scotland, calling upon all classes

to join him without delay. These circulars

had the desired effect. The people beyond the

Forth, and even the men of Fife, showed a

disposition to obey the call. The Earl of Sea-

forth raised 4,000 men in the Western Islands

and in Eoss-sliire, whom he brought south,

and the Earl of Morton also brought into

Lothian 1,200 men from the Orkneys. In

short, vnih the exception of Argyle, there

were few places in Scotland from which con-

* Metnoirs, p. 311. - Guthry, p. 327.

siderable bodies of men might not have been

expected.

Before the defeat of Hamilton's army, Lan-

ark had raised three regiments of horse, which

were now imder his command. These, with

the accessions of force which were daily arriv-

ing from different parts of the kingdom, were

quite sufficient to have put down the insurrec-

tion in the west; but instead of marching

thither, Lanark, to the surprise of every person,

proceeded tlirough East Lothian towards the

eastern borders to meet Sir George Munro, who

was retiring upon Berwick before the army of

Cromwell. The people of the west being thus

relieved from the apprehensions of a visit,

assembled in great numbers, and talcing advan-

tage of Lanark's absence, a body of them, to

the number of no less than 6,000 men, headed

by the chancellor, the Earl of Eglinton, and

some ministers, advanced upon the capital,

which they entered without opposition, the

magistrates and ministers of the city welcoming

their approach by going out to meet them.

Bishop Wishart describes this body as " a

confused rabble, composed of farmers, cow

herds, shepherds, coblers, and such like mob,

without arms, and \vithout courage," and says,

that when they arrived in Edinburgh, " they

were provided with arms, wliich, as they were

unaccustomed to, were rather a burden and

incumbrance than of any use,"—that "they

were mounted upon horses, or jades rather,

wliich had been long used to the drudgery of

labour, equipped with pack saddles and halters,

in place of saddles and bridles."^ Tliis tumid,

tuary body, however, was soon put into proper

order by the Earl of Leven, who was invested

with the chief command, and by David Leslie,

as his lieutenant-general, and presented a rather

formidable appearance, for on Lanark's return

from the south, he did not venture to engage

it, though his force amounted to 4,000 or

5,000 horse and as many foot, many of whom
were veterans who had served in Ireland under

Munro.

In thus declining to attack Leslie, Lanark

acted contrary to the advice of Munro and

his other officers. According to Dr. Wish-

art, Lanark's advanced guard, on arriving at

^ Memoirs, p. 316.
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Musselburgh, feU in with some of Leslie's out-

posts, -vvLo defended the bridge over the Esk,

and Lanark's advanced guard, though inferior

in number, immediately put them in great

disorder, and killed some of them without

sustaining any loss. This success was reported

to Lanark, and it was represented to him, that

by following it up immediately, while the

enemy continued in the state of alarm into

which this affair of outposts had thrown them,

he might, perhaps, obtain a bloodless victory,

and secure possession of the city of Edinburgh

and the town of Leith, with all the warlike

stores, before sunset.

Leading his army along the base of the

Pentland hills, Lanark proceeded to Linlith-

gow, wluch he entered on the evening of the

1 1 th of September, where he almost surprised

the Earl of Cassihs, who, at the head of 800

horse from Carrick and Galloway, had taken

up his quarters there for the night ; but a

notice having been sent to him of the Earl

of Lanark's approach by some friend, he

fled precipitately to Queensferry, leaving the

supper which was cooking for him and his

men on the fire, which repast was greedily

devoured by Lanark's troops.

Ever since Lanark's march to the borders to

meet Monro, the Marqius of Argyle had been

busily employed m raising men in his own

territory to assist the insm-gents, but it had

been so much depopulated by the ravages of

Montrose and Macdonald, that he could scarcely

muster 300 men. With these and 400 more

which he had collected in the Lennox and in

the western part of Stirlingshire, he advanced

to Stirling, entering it upon the 12th of

September at eleven o'clock forenoon. After

assigning to the troops their different posts in

the town, and making arrangements with tlie

magistrates for their support, Argyle went to

dine with the Earl of Mar at his residence in

the town. But while the dinner was serving

up, Argyle, to his infinite alarm, heard that a

part of Lanark's forces had entered Stirling.

This was the advanced guard, commanded by

Sir George Munro, who, on hearing that Argyle

was in possession of the town when only

within two miles of it, had, unknown to Lanark,

who was behind with the main body of the

army, pushed forward and entered the town

before Argyle's men were aware of his approach.

Argyle, as formerly, having a great regard

for his personal safety, immediately mounted

his horse, gaUoped across Stirling bridge, and

never looked behind tiU he reached North

Queensferry, where he instantly crossed the

Frith in a small boat and proceeded to Edin-

burgh. Nearly 200 of Argyle's men were

either killed or drowned, and the remainder

were taken prisoners.

A negotiation for peace immediately ensued

between the two parties, and on the 15th of

September a treaty was entered into by which

the Hamilton party agreed to refer aU civil

matters in dispute to a Parliament, to be held

before the 10th of January, and aU ecclesias-

tical affairs to an assembly of the kirk. It

was also stipiilated that both armies should be

disbanded before the 29th of September, or at

farthest on the 5th of October, that the ad-

herents of the king should not be disturbed,

and that all the prisoners taken in Scotland

should be released. Mimro perceiving that

the king's affairs woiild be irretrievably ruined

by this compromise, objected to the treaty,

and would have stood out had he been backed

by the other officers ; but very few seconding

his views, he addressed the troops, wlio had

accompanied him from Ireland, in St Ninian's

church, and offered to lead back to Ireland

such as were incHned to serve under their old

commander, Major-General Robert Munro; but

having received intelligence at Glasgow that

that general had been taken prisoner and sent

to London, he disbanded the troops who had

followed him thither, and retired to Holland.

According to the treaty the two armies were

disbanded on the appointed day, and the

" Whigamores," as the insurgents from the

west were caUed, immedifl,tely returned home

to cut do^vn their corn, which was ready for

the sickle. Argyle's men, who had been taken

prisoners at Stirling, were set at hberty, and

conducted home to their own country by one

of Argyle's officers.

The Marquis of Argyle, Loudon the chan-

cellor, the Earls of Cassdis and Eglinton, and

others, now met at Edinburgh, and formed

themselves into a body under the title of the

Committee of Estates, and having arranged

matters for the better securing their own
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influence, they summoned a parliament to meet

on the 4th of January. In the meantime,

Oliver Cromwell, who, after the pursuit of

Monro, had laid siege to Berwick, was waited

upon by Axgyle, Lord Elcho, and Sir Charles

Erskine, to comphment him upon liis success

at Preston, and after making Ludovick Leslie

deliver up Berwick to him, they invited him

and Lambert to Edinburgh. Cromwell took

up his residence in the House of Lady Home
in the Canongate, where he received frequent

visits from Aigyle, Loudon, the Earl of Lothian,

Lords Arbuthnot, Elcho, and Burleigh, and

the most noted of the ministers. It is said,

that during these conferences, Cromwell com-

municated to his visitors his intentions with

respect to the king, and obtained their consent. ^

In the meantime the Independents were

doing their utmost to induce the English

parliament to bring the king to trial for high

treason. They, having in the meantime been

disappointed in their views by the presby-

terians, prevailed upon Fairfax to order Ham-

mond, the governor of the Isle of Wight, to

attend him at Windsor, and to send Colonel

Eure with orders to seize the king at Newport,

where he was conferring with the commis-

sioners, and imprison him again in Carisbrook

castle ; but Hammond having declined to

allow Eure to interfere without an order from

the parliament, Eure left the island without

attempting to fulfil his instructions. Ham-
mond, however, afterwards left the island with

the commissioners, and committed Charles

to the custody of one Major Eolfe, a person

who, only sis months before, had been

charged with a design on the life of the

king, and who had escaped trial because only

one witness had attested the fact before the

grand jury.

The king seemed to be fully aware of the

danger of his present situation, and on the

morning of the 28th of November, when the

commissioners left the island, he gave vent to

liis feelings in a strain of the most pathetic

emotions, which drew tears from his attend-

ants; "My lords," said he to the commissioners,

" I beheve we shall scarce ever see each other

^in, but God's will be done ! I have made

* Guthry.

my peace with him, and shall undergo without

fear whatever he may suffer men to do to me.

My lords, you cannot but know, that in my
fall and ruin you see your own, and that also

near you. I pray God send you better friends

than I have found. I am fully informed of

tlie carriage of those who plot against me and

mine ; but nothing affects me so much as the

feeling I have of the sufferings of my subjects,

and the mischief that hangs over my thi'ee

kingdoms, drawn upon them by those who,

upon pretences of good, violently pursue their

own interests and ends."* As soon as the

commissioners and Hammond had quitted the

island, Fairfax sent a troop of horse and a com-

pany of foot, under the command of Lieutenant-

Colonel Cobbett, to seize the king, who received

notice of the approach of this body and of its

object next morning from a person in disguise

;

but although advised by the Duke of Rich-

mond, the Earl of Lindsay, and Colonel Coke

to make his escape, which he could easily have

accomplished, he declined to do so, becaiise hs

considered himself bound in honour to remain

twentj' days after the treaty. The consequence

was, that Charles was taken prisoner by

Cobbett, and carried to Hui'st castle.

The rest of this painful tragedy is well

kno^vn. After the purified house of commons
had passed a vote declaring that it was high

treason in the king of England, for the time

being, to levy war against the parliament and

kingilom of England, his majesty was brought

to trial before a tribunal erected pro re nata

by the house called the high court of justice,

which adjudged him " as a tyrant, traitor,

murderer, and public enemy to the good people

of the nation, to be put to death by the sever-

ing of his head from his body," a sentence

which was carried into execution, in front of

WTiitehaU, on the 30th of January 1649.

The unfortunate monarch conducted himself

tliroughout the whole of these melancholy pro-

ceedings ynt\\ becoming dignity, and braved

the terrors of death with fortitude and resig-

nation.

The Duke of Hamilton, who, by liis incapa-

city, had ruined the king's affairs when on the

' Appendix to Evelyn's Memoirs, vol. ii. pp. 128,

90. Clarendon, vol. iii. p. 234.
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point of teing retrieved, was not destined long

to survive his royal master. In violation of

the articles of liis capitulation, he was brought

to trial, and although he pleaded that he acted

under the orders of the Scottish parhament,

and was not amenable to an English tribunal,

he was, under the pretence that he was Earl

of Cambridge in England, sentenced to be

beheaded. He siiffered on the 9 th of March.

The Marquis of Huntly had languished in

prison sLace December 1647, and during the

life of the king the Scottish parliament had

not ventured to bring him to the block ; but

both the king and Hamilton, his favourite,

being now put out of the way, they felt them-

selves no longer imder restraint, and accord-

ingly the parliament, on the 16 th of March,

ordained the marquis to be beheaded, at the

market-cross of Edinburgh, on the 22d of that

month. As he lay under sentence of ecclesias-

tical excommunication, one of the " bloody

ministers," says the author of the History

of the family of Gordoa, " asked him, when

brought upon the scaffold, if he desired to be

absolved from the sentence;" to which, the

marquis replied, " that as he was not accustomed

to give ear to false prophets, he did not viish

to be troubled by him." And thereupon turn-

ing " towards the people, he told them that he

was going to die for having employed some

years of his life in the service of the king his

master ; that he was sorry he was not the first

of his majesty's subjects who had suffered for

his cause, so glorious Ln itself that it sweetened

to him aU the bitterness of death." He then

declared that he had charity to forgive those

who had voted for his death, although he

could not admit that he had done any thing

contrary to the laws. After throwing off his

doublet, he offered up a prayer, and then

embracing some friends around him, he sub-

mitted his neck, without any symptoms of

emotion, to the fatal instrument.

CHAPTEE XVI.

A. D. 1649—1650.

Negotiations with Charles II.—Proceedings of Mon-
trose—Phiscardine's Insurrection—Landing of Kin-
noul and Montrose in Orkney—Montrose's Declara-

tion—Montrose advances soutliwards—Is defeated

at Carbisdale—Montrose captured and sent to Edin-
burgh—His reception there—Trial and Execution.

While the dominant party in England were

contemplating the erection of a commonwealth

upon the nuns of the monarchy they had just

overthrown, the faction in Scotland, with Ar-

gj'le at its head, which had usurped the reins

of government in that country, in obedience to

the known wish of the nation, resolved to

recognise the principle of legitimacy by acknow-

ledging the Prince of Wales as successor to

the crown of Scotland. No sooner, therefore,

had the intelligence of the execution of the

king reached Edinburgh, than the usual pre-

parations were made for proclaiming Charles

II., a ceremony which was performed at the

market-cross of Edinburgh, on the 5th of

February, with the usual formalities.

This proceeding was contrary to the policy

of Argyle, whose intentions were in exact

accordance with those of the English Inde-

pendents ; but, as the melancholy fate of the

king had excited a feeling of indignation in

the Scottish nation, he was afraid to imitate

the example of his English friends, and dis-

sembling his views, adopted other measures

ivithout changing his object. At the instiga-

tion of Argyle it was agreed in parliament to

propose certain conditions to the prince as the

terms on which alone he should be entitled to

sway the sceptre of his father. These were, in

substance, 1st, that he should sign the Cove-

nants, and endeavour to estabhsh them by his

authority in all his dominions ; 2d, that he

should ratify and confirm all the acts of the

Estates, approving of the two Covenants, the

directory, confession of faith, and the cate-

chism, that he should renounce episcopacy and

adopt the presbyterian form of worship ; 3d,

that in all civil matters he should submit to

the parliament, and in things ecclesiastical to

the authority of the general assembly; and,
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histly, that he should remove from his person

and court the Marquis of Montrose, " a person

excommunicated by the chiuch, and forfaulted

by the parliament of Scotland, being a man
most justly, if ever any, cast out of the church

of God."

These conditions, so flattering to popidar

prejudice and the prevailing ideas of the times,

appear to have been proposed only because

Argyle thought they would be rejected by the

youthfid monarch, surrounded as he then was

by counsellors to whom these terms wovdd be

particularly obnoxious. To carry these propo-

sitions to Charles II., then at the Hague, seven

commissioners from the parliament and Itirk

were appointed, who set sail from Kii'kcaldy

roads on the 17th of March, ^ arriving at the

Hague on the 26th. His couit, wliich at first

consisted of the few persons whom his father

had placed about hhn, had been lately increased

by the arrival of the Earl of Lanark, now
become, by the death of his brother, Duke of

Hamdton, the Earls of Liiuderdale and Callan-

der, the heads of the Engagers ; and by the

subsequent addition of Montrose, Kiunoid, and

Seaforth. The following graphic sketch is

given by Dr. Wishart of the appearance and

reception of the commissioners:—" When these

commissioners, or deputies from the Estates

were admitted to their first audience of the

king, their solemn gait, their grave dress, and

dejected countenances, had all the appearance

imagiaable of humility ; and many who were

not acquainted with the temper and practices

of the men, from thence concluded that they

were about to implore of his majesty a general

oblivion and pardon for what was past, and to

promise a perfect obedience and submission in

time coming ; and that they were ready to

yield every thing that was just and reasonable,

and would be sincere in all their proposals of

peace and accommodation. They acted in a

double capacity, and had instructions both

from the Estates and from the commission of

the kirk, in both of which the Earl of Cassdis

was the chief jjorson, not only in what they

were charged with from the Estates, as being

a nobleman, but also from the commission of

the kirk, of which he was a ruliug elder.

" Balfour, vol. iii. p. 393.

Their address to the king was introduced with

abundance of deep sighs and heavy groans, as

if they had been labouring, as Virgil says of

the Sibyl, to shake the ponderous load from

off their breasts, after which they at last

exhibited their papers, containing the ordinan-

ces of the Estates, and acts of the commission

of the kirk, and pretended that the terms

demanded in them were moderate, just, and

reasonable, and absolutely necessary for set-

tling the present confusions, and restoring the

king; with which, if he complied, he would

be immediately settled upon his father's throne

by the unanimous consent of the people."'

The king, after vainly endeavouring to in-

duce the commissioners to modify the condi-

tions to which his acceptance was required,

and to declare publicly their opinions of the

murder of his father, to which they had made

no allusion, declined to agree to the terms

proposed. He at the same time stated, that as

he had been already proclaimed king of Scot-

land by the Committee of Estates, it was their

duty to obey liim, and that he should expect

the Committee of Estates, the assembly of the

kirk, and the nation at large, to perform their

duty to him, humbly obejdng, maintaining,

and defending him as their lawfid sovereign. *

The commissioners having got their answer on

the 19 th of May, returned to Scotland, and

Charles went to St. Germain in France, to

visit Queen Henrietta Maria, his mother,

before going to Ireland, whither he had been

invited by the Marquis of Ormond to join the

royalist army.

During the captivity of Charles I., Montrose

used every exertion at the court of France to

raise money and men to enable him to make a

descent upon the coast of England or Scotland,

to rescue his sovereign from confinement ; but

his endeavours proving inefi'ectual, he entered

into the service of the Emperor of Germany,

who honoured him with especial marks of his

esteem. He had been lately residing at Brussels

engaged in the aifairs of the emperor, where

he received letters from the Prince of Wales,

then at the Hague, requiring his attendance to

consult on the state of his father's affairs ; but

before he set out for the Hague, he received

^ Memoirs, p. 351. Balfour, vol. iii. p. 405.
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the news of the death of Charles T. He was

KG overwhehned with grief at this intelligence,

that according to Bishop Wishart, who was an

eye-witness, he fainted and fell down in the

midst of his attendants, and appeared for some

time as if q^uite dead. When he had suffi-

ciently recovered to give full vent to his feel-

ings, he expressed a desire to die with Ms
sovereign, as he could no longer enjoy, as he

said, a life which had now hecome a grievous

and heavy burden. But on Wishart remon-

strating with him upon the impropriety of

entertaining such a sentiment, and informing

him that he should be rather more desirous of

life that he might avenge the death of his royal

master, and place his son and lawful successor

upon the throne of his ancestors, Montrose

replied with composure, that in that view he

should be satisfied to live ; " but," continued

he, "I swear before God, angels, and men, that

I will dedicate the remainder of my life to the

avenging the death of the royal martyr, and

re-establishing his son upon his father's throne."

On arriving at the Hague, Montrose was

received by Charles II. with marked distinc-

tion. After some consultation, a descent upon

Scotland was resolved upon, and Montrose,

thereupon, received a commission, appointing

him Lieutenant-governor of Scotland, and com-

mander-in-cliief of all the forces there both by

sea and land. The king also appointed him

his ambassador to the emperor, the princes of

Germany, the King of Denmark, and other

friendly sovereigns, to solicit supplies of money

and warlike stores, to enable him to commence

the war. Thus, before the commissioners had

arrived, the king had made up his mind as to

the course he should pursue, and being backed

by the opinion of a man of such an ardent

temperament as Montrose, the result of the

communing between the king and the com-

missioners was as might have been expected.

Connected probably with Montrose's plan

of a descent, a rising took place in the

north under Thomas Mackenzie of PluscardLne,

brother of the Earl of Seaforth, Sir Thomas

Urquhart of Cromarty, Colonel Jolm Munro

of Lumlair, and Colonel Hugh Eraser, who, at

the head of a number of their friends and

followers, entered the town of Inverness, on

the 22d of February, expelled the troops from

the garrison, and demohshed and razed the

walls and fortifications of the town. The pre-

text put forward by Mackenzie and his friends

was, that the parliament had sent private com-

missioners to apprehend them ; but the fact

appears to be, that tliis insm'rection had taken

place at the instigation of the king, between

whom and Pluscardine a correspondence had

been previously opened. ' General David Leshe

was sent to the north with a force to suppress

the insurgents, who, on his approach, fled to

the mountains of Ross ; but he was soon

obliged to retrace his steps, in consequence of

a rising in Athole under the direction of Lord

OgUvie, General Middleton, and others, in

favour of the king. Leslie had previously

made terms with UrquLart, Munro, and Eraser,

but as Mackenzie would not listen to any

accommodation, he left behind him a garrison

in the castle of Chanonry, and also three troops

of horse in Moray under the charge of Colonel

Gilbert Ker, and Lieutenant-colonels Hacket

and Strachan, to watch Pluscardine's motions.

But this force was quite insufficient to resist

Pluscardine, who, on the departure of Leslie,

descended from the mountains and attacked

the castle of Chanonry, which he re-took. He
was thereupon joined by his nephew, Lord

Reay, at the head of 300 well-armed able-

bodied men, wliich increased his force to be-

tween 800 and 900.

Having suppressed the rising in Athole,

Leslie was again sent north by the parliament,

accompanied by the Earl of Sutherland ; but

he had not proceeded far, when he ascertained

that Mackenzie had been induced by Lord

Ogilvie and General Middleton, who had lately

joined him, to advance southward into Hade-

noch, with the view of raising the people in

that and the neighbouring districts, and that

they had been there joined by the yoimg

Marquis of Huntly, formerly Lord Lewis Gor-

don, and had taken the castle of Euthven.

Leslie thereupon divided his army, with one

part of which he himself entered Badenoch,

while he despatched the Earl of Sutherland to

the north to collect forces in Ross, Sutherland,

and Caitlmess, ^vitl^ another part, consisting

of five troops of horse, under the command of

' See Appendix to Wishart 's Memoirs, p. 440.
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Ker, Hacket, and Strachan. To hinder the

royalists from retiring into Athole, Leslie

marched southward towards Glenesk, hy

which movement he compelled them to leave

Eadenoch and to march down Spey-side

towards Balveny. On arriving at Balveny,

they resolved to enter into a negotiation with

Leslie, and accordingly Pluscardins and Mid-

dleton left Balveny with a troop of horse to

meet Leslie, leaving Huntly, Reay, and Ogilvie,

in charge of the forces, the former of whom
sent his hrother Lord Charles Gordon to the

Enzie, to raise some horse.

While waiting for the return of Pluscardine

and Middleton, the party at Balveny had not

the shghtest idea that they might be taken hy

smprise ; but on the 8th of May at day-break,

they were most unexpectedly attacked by the

horse which had been sent north with the Earl

of Sutherland, and which, returning from Eoss,

had speedily crossed the Spey. Seizing the

royalist sentinels, they surprised Lord Eeay at

the castle of Balveny, where he and about 900

foot were taken prisoners and about 80 killed.

Huntly and OgUvie, who had their quarters at

the church of Mortlach, about a mile from

Balveny castle, escaped. Colonel Ker at once

dismissed all the prisoners to their own homes

on giving their oaths not to take up arms

against the parliament in time coming. He
sent Lord Eeay along wth some of his kins-

men and friends and Mackenzie of Eedcastle

and other prisoners of his surname to Edin-

burgh ; all of whom were imprisoned. Huntly,

Ogilvie, Pluscardine, and MidtUeton, on giving

security to keep the peace, were forgiven by

Leslie and returned to their homes. Colonel

Ker afterwards returned to Eoss, took Eed-

castle, which he demolished, and hanged the

persons who had defended it. Thus ended this

premature insurrection wliich, had it been

delayed till the arrival of Montrose, might have

been attended with a very different result. ^

The projected descent by Montrose upon

Scotland, was considered by many persons as

a desperate measure, which none but those

quite reckless of consequences would attempt

;

hut there were others, chiefly among the ultra-

royahsts, who viewed the affair in a different

' GorJou's ContmuaHmi, p. 5i7, etscj.

light, and who, although they considered the

enterprise as one not without considerable risk,

anticipated its success. Such, at least, were

the sentiments of some of the king's friends

before the insurrection under Mackenzie of

Pluscardine had been crushed ; but it is very

probable that these were greatly altered after

its suppiession. The failure of Pluscardine's

ill-timed attempt was indeed considered by

Montrose as a great misfortune, but a misfor-

tune far from irreparable, and as he had invi-

tations from the royahst nobdity of Scotland,

requesting him to enter upon his enterprise,

and promising liim every assistance in their

power, and as he was assured that the great

body of the Scottish nation was ready to

second his views, he entered upon the task

assigned him by his royal master, with an

alacrity and -tvilb'n crnp.qs which indicated a

confidence on his part of ultimate success.

In terms of the powers he had received from

the king, Montrose visited the north of Europe,

and obtained promises of assistance of men,

money, and ammunition, from some of the

northern prmces ; but few of them fulfilled

their engagements in consequence of the in-

trigues of the king's enemies with the courtiers,

who thwarted wth all their influence the

measures of Montrose. By the most indefati-

gable industry and perseverance, however, he

collected a force of 1 ,200 men at Gottenburg,

about 800 of whom had been raised in Holstein

and Hamburg, and ha"ving received from the

Queen of Sweden 1,500 complete stands ol

arms, for arn-ung such persons as might join

his standard on landing in Scotland, he re-

solved, without loss of time, to send off this

armament to the Orkneys, where, in con-

sequence of a previous arrangement %vith the

Earl of Morton, who was favourable to the

king, it was agreed that a descent should be

made. Accordingly, the first division of the

expedition, which consisted of three parts, was

despatched early in September ; but it never

reached its destination, the vessels ha-ving

foundered at sea in a storm. The second

di'vision was more fortunate, and arrived at

Kirkwall, about the end of the month. It

consisted of 200 common soldiers and 80

officers, under the command of the Earl of

Kinnoul, who on landing was joined by his
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undo tlie Earl of Morten and by many of the

Orkney gentlemen. Kinnoul imjiiediately laid

siege to the castle of Birsay, which was soon

surrendered to him ; and he proceeded to raise

levies among the Orcadians, hut was checked

in liis progress in consequence of a difference

\vith Morton, who claimed the privilege, as

superior of Orkney, of commanding his own

vassals, a claim which Kinnoul would not

allow. JMorton felt the repulse keenly, and

died soon tliereafter of a broken heart, as is

believed. His nephew, perhaps hurt at the

treatment he had given his uncle, speedily

followed him to the grave.

Tlie news of Kinnoul's landing reached

Edinburgh about the lltb. of October, when

General DaWd Leslie.

General David Leslie was despatched to the

north with seven or eight troops of horse to

watch him if he attempted to cross the Pent-

land Frith ; but seeing no appearance of an

enemy, and hearing of intended commotions

among the royalists in Angus and the Mearns,

he returned to the south after an absence of

fifteen daj's,^ having previously placed strong

garrisons in some of the northern strengths. ^

" Balfour, vol. iii. p. 432.
' Gordon's ContinvMtion, p. 551.

Montrose himself, with the remainder of

the expedition, stiU tarried at Gottenburg, in

the expectation of obtaining additional rein-

forcements or of procuring supplies of arms

and money. It appears from a letter* which

he addressed to the Earl of Seaforth, of the

date of 15th December, that he intended to

sail for Scotland the following day ; but owing

to various causes he did not leave Gottenburg

tin about the end of February 1650. He
landed in Orkney in the beginning of March,

with a force of 500 men, accompanied by Lord

Frendraught, Major General Hurry, and other

gentlemen who had attached themselves to

his service and fortunes.

To prepare the mii^ds of the people of Scot-

land for the enterprise he was about to under-

take, Montrose, about the close of the year,

had circulated a " Declaration " in Scotland,

as " Lieutenant-governor and Captain-genoral

for his Majesty of the Kingdom of Scotland,"

in which, after detailing the proceedings of

those whom he termed " an horrid and

infamous faction of rebels within the kingdom

of Scotland," towards his late majesty, he

declared that his present majesty was not only

willing to pardon every one, with the exception

of those who upon clear e^vidence shoiild be

found guilty " of that most damnable fact of

murder of his father," pro-vided that imme-

diately or upon the first convenient occasion,

they abandoned the rebels and joined him, and

therefore, he expected aU persons who had
" any duty left them to God, their king,

country, friends, homes, wives, children, or

would change now at last the tyramiy, violence,

and oppression of those rebels, with the mUd
and innocent government of their just prince,

or revenge the horrid and execrable murdering

of their sacred king, redeem their nation from

infamy, restore the present and oblige the ages

to come, would join themselves -with him in

the service he was about to engage."

This declaration which, by order of the

Committee of Estates, was publicly burnt at the

market cross of Edinburgh, by the hands of

the common hangman, was answered on the

2d of January, by a " declaration and warning

of the commission of the General Assembly,"

* Appendix to "Wishart's Memoirs, p. 443.
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addressed to " all the members of the kirk and

kingdom," which was followed on the 24th of

the same month, by another " declaration

"

from the Committee of Estates of the parliament

of Scotland, in vindication of their proceedings

from " the aspersions of a scandalous pamphlet,

published by that excommunicate traitor, James

Graham, under the title of a ' Declaration of

James, Marquis of Montrose.'" The last of

these docimients vindicates at great length,

and apparently with great success, those whom
Montrose had designated the " infamous faction

of rebels," not because the committee thought

" it worth the while to answer the slanders

and groundless reproaches of that viperous

brood of Satan, James Graham, whom the

Estates of parliament had long since declared

ti'aitor, the church delivered into the hands of

the devU, and the nation doth generally detest

and abhor;" but because "their silence might

be subject to misconstruction, and some of the

weaker sort might be inveigled by the bold

assertions and railing accusations of this im-

pudent braggard, presenting himself to the

view of the world clothed with his majesty's

authority, as lieutenant-governor and captain-

general of this kingdom." These declarations

of the kirk and Estates, backed as they were

by fulmiaations from all the pulpits of the

kingdom against Montrose, made a deep im-

pression on men's minds, highly unfavourable

to him ; and as the Committee of Estates

discharged all persons from aiding or assisting

him under the pain of high treason, and as

every action and word of those considered

friendly to him were strictly watched, they did

not attempt, and had they attempted, would

have found it impossible, to make any prepa-

rations to receive him on his arrivaL

Such was the situation of matters when
Montrose landed in Orkney, where, in conse-

quence of the death of Morton and Kinnoul,

little progress had been made in raising troops.

He remained several weeks in Orkney, without

exciting much notice, and having collected

about 800 of the natives, which, with the

addition of the 200 troops carried over by Kin-

noul, made liis whole force amount to about

1,500 men, he crossed the Pentland Frith in a

number of boats collected among the islands,

and landed without opposition at the northern

extremity of Caithness, in the immediate vicin-

ity of John o'Groat'a house. On landing, he

displayed three banners, one of which was

made of black taffeta, in the centre of which

was exhibited a representation of the bleeding

head of the late king, as struck off from the

body, surrounded by two inscriptions, "Judge

and avenge my cause, Lord," and " Deo et

victricibus armis." Another standard had this

motto, " Quos pietas ratus et honor fecit ami-

cus." These two banners were those of the

king. The third, which was Montrose's own,

bore the words, " Nil medium," a motto strongly

significant of the uncompromising character

of the man. ^ Montrose immediately com-

pelled the inhabitants of Caithness to swear

obedience to him as the king's lieutenant-

governor. All the ministers, with the excep-

tion of one named William Smith, took the

oath, and to punish Smith for his disobedience,

he was sent in irons on board a vessel ^ A
number of the inhabitants, however, alarmed

at the arrival of foreign troops, with whose

presence they considered carnage and murder

to be associated, were seized with a panic and

fled, nor did some of them stop till they reached

Edinbiu'gh, where they carried the alarming

intelligence of Montrose's advance to the par-

liament which was then sitting.

As soon as the Earl of Sutherland hefl,r(l of

Montrose's arrival in Caithness, he assembled

all liis countrymen to oppose liis advance into

Sutherland. He sent, at the same time, for

two troops of horse stationed in Eoss, to assist

him, but their officers being in Edinburgh,

they refused to obey, as they had received no

orders. Being apprized of the earl's move-

ments, and anticipating that he might secure

the important pass of the Ord, and thus pre-

vent him from entering Sutherland, Montrose

despatched a body of 500 men to the .<!Outh,

who obtained possession of the pass. The next

step Montrose took, was against the castle of

Dunbeath, belonging to Sir Jolm Smclair,

who, on Montrose's arrival, had fled and left

the place in charge of his lady. The castle

was strong and well supplied ^Yith. provisions,

and the possession of it was considered very

^ Balfour, vol. iii. p. 440.
' Gordon's Continuation, p. B£2.
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Important by Montrose, in case lie should be

obliged to retreat into Orlcney. The castle,

which was defended by Sir John's lady and

a few servants, surrendered to General Hurry,

after a short resistance, on condition that

persons and property should be respected.

Hurry put a strong garrison in the castle,

under the command of Major Whiteford.

Having secured this important strength,

Montrose marched into Sutherland, leaving

Henry Graham, his natural brother, behind

him with a party to raise men for the service.

While in Caithness, the only persons that

proffered their services to Montrose, were

Houcheon JIackay ofSkoury, Hugh Mackay of

Dirlet, and Alexander Sinclair of Brims, whom
he desj.-atched to Strathnaver, to collect forces,

but they appear to have neglected the matter.

On the approach of Montrose, the Earl of

Sutherland, not conceiving himself in a condi-

tion to resist, retired with his men, and put-

ting strong garrisons into Dunrobin, Skelbo,

Skibo, and Dornoch, and sending off a party

with cattle and effects to the hills to be out of

the reach of the enemy, he went himself into

Eoss with 300 of his men. Montrose continued

to advance, and encamped the first night at

Garty and Helmsdale, the second at Kintred-

well, and the third night at Ehives. In passing

by Dum'obin, a part of his men went between

the castle and the sea, some ofwhomwere kOIed,

and others taken prisoners, in a sortie from the

garrison. On the following day, Montrose

demanded the prisoners from William Gordon

the commander of Dunrobin, but his request

was refused. Montrose encamped at Eian in

Stratlifieet the fourth night, at Gruidy on the

fifth, and at Strathoikel on the sixth. He
then marched to Carbisdale, on the borders of

Eoss-shii'e, where he halted a few days in expec-

tation of being joined by the Mackenzies.

While reposing here in fancied security and

calcvdating on complete success, he sent a noti-

fication to the Earl of Sutherland to the effect,

that though he had spared his lands for the

present, yet the time was at hand when he

would make his own neighbours undo him.

Little did Montrose then imagine that Ms own

fate was so near at hand.

As soon as intelligence of Montrose's descent

was received in Edinburgh, the most active

preparations were made to send north troops

to meet him. David Leslie, the commander-

in-chief, appointed Brechin as the place of

rendezvous for the troops ; but as a considerable

time would necessarily elapse before they

could be all collected, and as apprehensions

were entertained that Montrose might speedily

penetrate into the heart of the Highlands,

where he could not fail to find auxiliaries,

Lieutenant-Colonel Strachan, an officer who

had been particularly active in suppressing

Pluscardine's insurrection, was despatched, in

tlie meantime, to the north with a few troops

of horse, for the piirpose of keeping Montrose

in check, and enabling the Earl of Sutherland,

and the other presbjrterian leaders in the north

to raise their levies. These troops, which

were those of Ker, Hacket, Montgomery, and

Strachan, and an Irish troop coimnanded by

one Collace, were joined by a body of about

500 foot under the Earl of Sutherland, Eoss

of Bahiagown, and Munro of Lumlair, all of

whom were assembled at Tain when Montrose

encamped at Strathoikel. This movement

brought the hostile parties within twenty miles

of each other, but Montrose was not aware

that his enemy was so near at hand. Strachan,

who had early intelligence brought him of

Montrose's advance, immediately called a coun-

cil of war to deliberate, at which it was re-

solved that the Earl of Sutherland should, by

a circuitous movement, throw himself into

Montrose's rear, in order to prevent a jimction

between him and Henry Graham, and such of

the Stratlinaver and Caithness men as should

attempt to join him. It was resolved that, at

the same time, Strachan with his five troops

of horse, and the Munroes, and Eosses, under

Balnagown, and Lumlair, should march directly

forward and attack Montrose in the level coun-

try before he should, as was contemplated, retire

to the hills on the approach of Leslie, who was

hastening rapidly north with a force of 4,000

horse and foot, at the rate of thirty miles a-day.

It was Saturday the 27th of April, when

Strachan's officers were dehberating whether

they should move immediately forward or wait

tUl Monday, " and so decline the hazard of

engaging upon the Lord's day," " when notice

' Ealfour, vol. iv. p. 9.
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being brought that Montrose liad advanced

from Stratlioikel to Carbisdale, a movement

which brought liim six mUes nearer to them,

they made arrangements for attacking him

without delay. Strachan advanced without

observation as far as Fearn, within a mil p.

and a half or two miles of Montrose, where

he concealed liis men on a moor covered with

broom, whence he sent out a party of scouts

under Captain Anch-ew Munio, son of Munro

of Lumlair, to reconnoitre Montrose. Munro

soon returned and reported that Montrose liad

sent out a body of 40 horse to ascertain their

movements. In order to deceive this body,

Strachan ordered one troop of horse out of the

broom, wliich being the only force observed by

Montrose's scouts, they returned and reported

to Montrose what they had seen. This intel-

'igenoe threw Montrose completely off his

guard, who, conceiving that the whole strength

of the enemy consisted of a single troop of

horse, made no preparations for defending

himself.

In the meantime, Strachan formed his men
into four divisions. The first, wliich consisted

of about 100 horsemen, he commanded him-

self; the second, amounting to upwards of 80,

was given in charge to Hacket ; and the third,

also horse, to the number of about 40, was

led by Captain Hutcheson. The fourth divi-

sion, which was composed of a body of muske-

teers belonging to Lawer's regiment, was com-

manded by one Quarter-master Shaw. *

The deception which had been so well

practised upon Montrose by Strachan, in con-

cealing the real amount of his force, might

not have been attended with any serious effect

to Montrose, but for another stratagem which

Strachan had in. reserve, and which proved

Montrose's ruin. Strachan's scheme was first

to advance with his own division to make it

appear as if his whole strength consisted of

only 100 horse, and while Montrose was im-

pressed with this false idea, to bring up the

other three divisions in rapid succession, and
thus create a panic among Montrose's men as

if a large army were about to attack them.

This contrivance was cro-wned with the most
complete success. Montrose little suspecting

' Balfour, vol. iv. p. 9.

the trick, was thro^vn quite off his guard, and

alarmed at the sudden appearance of successive

bodies of cavalry, he immediately gave orders

for a retreat to a wood and craggy hill at a

short distance in his rear ; but before Mon-

trose's men could reach their intended place of

retreat, they were overtaken when almost

breathless, by Strachan's troopers, who charged

them violently. The foreign troops received

the charge with firmness, and, after discharging

a volley upon the horse, flew into the wood

;

but most of the Orcadians threw down their

arms in terror and begged for quarter. The

Munroes and Eosses followed the Danish

troops into the wood and killed many of them.

200 of the fugitives in attempting to cross the

adjoining river were drowned.

Montrose for some time made an vmavading

effort to rally some of his men, and fought

with his accustomed bravery ; but having his

horse shot under him, and seeing it utterly

impossible longer to resist the enemy, he

mounted the horse of Lord Frendi-aught, which

that young and generous nobleman proffered

him, and galloped off the field ; and as soon as

he got out of the reach of the enemy, he dis-

mounted, and throwing away his cloak, which

was decorated with the star of the garter, and

liis sword, sought his safety on foot.

The slaughter of Montrose's men continued

about two hours, or until sunset, during

which time ten of his best officers and 386

common soldiers were killed. The most con-

spicuous among the former for bravery was

Menzies younger of Pitfoddles, the bearer of

the black standard, who repeatedly refused to

receive quarter. Upwards of 400 prisoner."

were taken, including 31 officers, among whom
were Sir John Hurry and Lord Frendraught

the latter of whom was severely wounded.

Among the prisoners taken were two ministers.

This victory was acliieved almost without

bloodshed on the part of the victors, who had

oidy two men wounded, and one trooper

drowned. After the slaughter, the conquerors

returned thanks to God on the open field for

the victory they had obtained, and returned to

Tain, carrying the prisoners along with them. ^

For several days the people of Eoss and Suther-

' GorJon's Continuation, p. 555.



263 GENERAL HISTOEY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

land continued to pursue some unfortunate

stragglers, -wliom they despatched. The result

"was most calamitous to Orkney, as appears

from a petition and memorandum by the gentle-

men of Orkney to Lord Morton in 1662, in

which it is stated, that there was scarcely a

gentleman's house in that country " but lost

either a son or a brother." ^

Montrose, accompanied by the Earl of Ivin-

noul, who had lately succeeded to the title on

the death of liis brother, and six or seven com-

panions, having, as before stated, dismounted

from his horse and thrown away liis cloak and

sword, and having, by the advice of his friends,

to avoid detection, exchanged his clothes for the

more homely attire of a common Highlander,

wandered all night and the two following

days among bleak and solitary regions, without

knowing where to proceed, and readj- to perish

under the accumulated distresses of hunger,

fatigue, and anxiety of mind. The Earl of

Kinnoul, imable, from exhaustion, to follow

Montrose any farther, was left among the

mountains, where it is supposed he perished.

When upon the point of starvation, Montrose

was fortunate to light upon a small cottage,

where he obtained a supply of milk and bread,"

on receiving which he continued his lonely

and dangerous course among the mountains of

Sutherland, at the risk of being seized every

horn-, and dragged as a felon before the very

man whom, only a few days before, he had

thi'eatened with his vengeance.

In the meantime, active search was made

after Montrose. As it was conjectured that

he might attempt to reach Caithness, where his

natural brother, Henry Graham, stiU remained

with some troops in possession of the castle of

Dmibeath, and as it appeared probable, from

the dii-ection Montrose was supposed to have

taken, that he meant to go through Assynt,

Captain Andrew Munro sent instructions to

Ifcil Macleod, the laird of Assynt, his brother-

in-law, to apprehend every stranger that might

enter his bounds, in the hope of catching Mon-

trose, for whose apprehension a splendid reward

was offered. Jn consequence of these instruc-

tions, Macleod sent out various parties in quest

1 Vide the document in the Appendix to Peterkin's

Notes on Orkney and Zetland, pp. 106, 107.

' Gordon's Continuation, p. 555.

of Montrose, but they could not fall in with

him. " At last," says Bishop Wisliart, " the

lau-d of Assynt being abroad in arms with some

of his tenants in search of him, lighted on him

in a place where he had continued three or

four days without meat or drink, and only one

man Ln his company." The bishop then states,

that " Assynt had formerly been one of Mon-

trose's OAvn followers ; who immediately know-

ing him, and believing to find friendship at

his hands, willingly discovered himself; but

AssjTit not daring to conceal him, and heiug

greedy of the reward which was promised to

the person who should apprehend him by the

Council of the Estates, immediately seized and

disarmed him."^ This account differs a little

from that of the author of the continuation of

Sir Robert Gordon's history, who, however, it

must be remembered, represents the Earl of

Sutherland and his friends in as favourable a

light as possible. Gordon says, that it was one

of Macleod's parties that apprehended Mon-

trose, and is altogether silent as to Assynt's

ha\'ing been his follower ; but both writers

inform us that Montrose offered Macleod a large

sum of money for his liberty, which he refused

to grant. Macleod kept Montrose and his com

panion. Major Sinclair, an Orkney gentleman,

prisoners in the castle of Ardvraick, his prioci

pal residence. By order of Leslie, Montrose

was thence removed to Skibo castle, where he

was kei^t two nights, thereafter to the castle of

Braan, and thence again to Edinburgh.

Li his progress to the capital, Montrose had

to endure all those indignities which vulgar

minds, instigated by malevolence and fanati-

cism, could suggest ; but he bore every insidt

with perfect composure. At a short interview

which he had with two of his children at the

house of the Earl of South Esk, his father-in-

law, on his way to Edinburgh, he exhibited

the same composure, for " neither at meeting

nor parting could any change of his former

comitenance be discerned, or the least expres-

sion heard which was not suitable to the great-

ness of his spirit, and the fame of his former

actions. His beha\'iour was, during the whole

journey, such as became a great man ; his

countenance was serene and cheerful, as one

' Memcirs, p. 377.
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Castle of Ardvraick.

who was superior to all those reproaches which

they had prepared the people to pour out upon

him in all the places through which he was to

pass."*

At Dundee, which had particularly suffered

from his army, a very different feeling was

shown by the uihahitants, who displayed a

generosity of feeling and a sympathy for

fallen greatness, which did them immortal

honour. Instead of insulting the fallen hero

in his distress, they commiserated his misfor-

times, and prevailed upon his guards to permit

him to exchange the rustic and mean apparel

in which he had been apprehended, and which,

to excite the derision of the mob, they had

compelled him to wear, for a more becoming

dress which had been provided for him by the

people of Dundee. The sensibilities of the

inhabitants had probably been awakened by a

bold and ineffectual attempt to rescue Mon-

trose, made by the lady of the laird of Grange,

at whose house, in the neighbourhood of Dun-

dee, he had passed the previous night. The
author of the Memoirs of the Somervilles

* Memoirs, p. 380.

gives the folloAving characteristic aocoimt of

this affair :—

•

" It was at this ladye's house that that party

of the Covenanters their standing armie, that

gairded in the Marques of Montrose, efter his

forces was beat and himself betrayed in the

north, lodged him, whom this excellent lady

designed to sett at libertie, by procureing his

escape from her house ; in order to this, soe

soon as ther quarters was settled, and that she

had observed the way and manner of the place-

ing of the guairds, and what officers commanded

them, she not only ordered her butlers to let

the souldiers want for noe drink, but she her-

self, out of respect and kyndnesse, as she

pretended, plyed hard the officers and souldiers

of the main-guaird, (which was keeped in her

owne hall) with the strongest ale and acquavite,

that before midnight, all of them, (being for

the most part Highlandmen of Lawer's regi-

ment) became starke drunke. If her Stewarts

and other servants had obeyed her directions

in giving out what drinke the out-gairds should

have called for, undoubtedly the business

had been effectuat ; but unhappily, when the

marques had passed the first and second cen-
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tinells that was sleeping upon their musquets,

and likewayes through the main-gaird, that was

lying in the hall lyke swyne on a midding, he

was challenged a little without the outmost

guaird hy a wretched trouper of Strachan's

troupe, that had been present at his taking.

This fellow was none of the guaird that night,

hut being quartered hard by, was come ram-

melbng in for his bellieful of drinke, when he

made this imluokie discovery, wliich being

done, the marques was presently seized upon,

and with much rudenesse (being in the ladye's

cloaths which he had put on for a disguize)

turned back to his prisone chamber. The lady,

her old husband, with the wholl servants of

the house, were made prisoners for that night,

and the morrow efter, when they came to be

challenged before these that had the com-

mand of this party, and some members of that

wretched Committee of Estates, that satt

allways at Edinbrough (for mischief to the royall

interest,) which they had sent for the more

security, to be stiU with this party, fearing the

great friends and weUl-vrishers this noble heroe

had upon the way he was to come, should

either by force or stratageme, be taken from

them. The ladie, as she had been the only

contryver of Montrose's escape, soe did she

avow the same before them aU ; testifying she

was heartUy sorry it had not taken eifect

according to her wished desyre. Tliis confi-

dence of hers, as it bred some admiratione in

her accusors, soe it freed her husband and the

servants from being farder challenged; only

they took security of the laird for his ladye's

appearing before the Committie of Estates

when called, which she never was. Ther

worships gott something else to thinke upon,

then to conveen soe excellent a lady before

them upon such ane account, as tended greatly

to her honour and ther oune shame."

The parhament, which had been adjourned

till the 15th of May, met on the appointed

day, and named a committee to devise the mode

of his reception into the capital and the manner

of his death. In terms of the coimnittee's report

an act was passed on the 17th of May, ordaining

"James Graham" to be conveyed bareheaded

from the Water Gate (the eastern extremity of

the city) on a cart, to which he was to be tied

with a rope, and drawn by the hangman in his

livery, with his hat on, to the jail of Edin-

burgh, and thence to be brought to the parlia-

ment house, and there on his knees to receive

sentence of death. It was resolved that he

should be hanged on a gibbet at the cross of

Edinburgh, with the book which contained

the history of his wars and the declaration

which he had issued, tied to his neck, and

after hanging for the space of three hours, that

his body should be cut down by the hangman,

his head severed from his body, fixed on an

iron spike, and placed on the pinnacle on the

west end of the prison; that his hands and legs

should also be cut off, the former to be placed

over the gates of Perth and Stirling, and the

latter over those of Aberdeen and Glasgow

;

that if at his death he showed any signs of

repentance, and should in consequence be

relieved from the sentence of excommunication

wMch the kirk had pronounced against him,

that the trunk of his body should be interred

by " pioneers " in the Gray Friars' churchyard

;

but otherwise, that it should be buried by the

hangman's assistants, under the scaffold on the

Boroughmuii', the usual place of execution. ^

The minds of the populace had, at this time,

been wrought up to the highest pitch of hatred

at Montrose by the ministers, who, during a

fast which had lately been held in thanksgiving

for his apprehension, had launched the most

dreadful and bloody invectives against him,

and to this circumstance perhaps is to he attri-

buted the ignominious plan devised for Ms
reception.

On the day following the passing of the act,

Montrose was brought up from Leith, moimted

on an outworn horse, to the Water Gate, along

with 23 of his officers, his fellow-prisoners,

where he was met about four o'clock, p.m., by

the magistrates of the city in their robes,

followed by the " town guard," and the com-

mon executioner. Having been delivered by

his guards to the civic authorities, whose duty

it now was to take charge of his person, Mon-

trose was, for the first time, made acquainted

with the fate which awaited him, by one of the

magistrates putting a copy of the sentence into

liis hanis. He perused the paper with com-

posure, and after he had read it he informed

' Balfour, vol. iv. pp. 12, 13.
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tho magistrates that he was ready to submit

to his fate, and only regretted, " that through

him tlie king's majesty, whose person he repre-

sented, should he so mucli dishonoured."^

Before mounting the vehicle brought for his

reception, Montrose was ordered by the hang-

man to uncover his head; hut as the mandate

was not immediately attended to, that abhorred

instrument of the law enforced his command

with his own hands. He thereupon made

Montrose go into the cart, and placing him on

a high chair fixed upon a small platform raised

at the end of the cart, he pinioned his arms

close to his sides by means of cords, wliich

being passed across his breast, and fastened

behind the vehicle, kept liim so firmly

fixed as to render his body immoveable. The

other prisoners, who were tied together in

pairs, having been marshalled in front of the

cart in walking order and uncovered, the hang-

man, clothed in his official attire, mounted one

of the horses^ attached to the cart, and the

procession thereupon moved off at a slow pace

up the Canongate, in presence of thousands of

spectators, who lined the long street, and

filled the windows of the adjoining houses.

Among the crowd which thronged the street

to view the mournful spectacle was a great

number of the inferior classes of the com-

munity, chiefly females, who had come \vith

the determined intention of venting abuse

upon the fallen hero, and pelting him, as he

proceeded along the street, with dirt, stones,

and other missiles, incited thereto by the

harangues of the ministers on occasion of the

late fast; but they were so overawed by the

dignity of his demeanour, and the undaunted

courage of soul which he displayed, that their

feeliogs were at once overcome, and instead of

covering him with reproaches, they dissolved

into tears of pity at the sight of fallen great-

ness, and invoked the blessings of heaven upon

the head of the illustrious captive. A result

so totally imlooked-for, could not be but ex-

ceedingly displeasing to the enemies of Mon-
trose, and particularly to the ministers, who,

on the following day (Sunday), denounced

the conduct of the people from the pulpits of

' Wishart, p. 385.
' According to Montrose RcdiiHvus, p. 181, the

cart was drawn by four horses.

the city, and threatened them -with the ^vrath

of heaven.

But displeasing as the humane reception of

Montrose was to the clergy, it must have been

much more mortifying to Argyle, his mortal

enemy, wlio, contrary to modern notions of

decency and good feeling, surrounded by liis

family and the marriage party of his newly-

wedded son. Lord Lorn, appeared pubhcly on

a balcony in front of the Earl of Moray's house*

in the Canongate, from which he beheld rm-

daunted the great Montrose, powerless now to

do him personal harm. To add to the insidt,

eitlier accidentally or on purpose, the vehicle

which carried Montrose was stopped for some

time beneatli the place where Argyle and his

party stood, so that they were able to take a

leisurely view of the object of their hate and

fear, and it woidd appear that they took

advantage of their fallen foe's position to

indulge in unseemly demonstrations of triumph

and insult. Eor the sake of humanity and the

honour of tender-hearted woman, we would fain

disbelieve the statement that the Marchioness

of Argyle had the effrontery to vent her hatred

toward the fallen enemy of her house by spit-

ting upon him. Whatever were the inward

workings of Montrose's soid, he betrayed no

symptoms of inquietude, but preserved, during

this trjdng scene, a dignified demeanour which

is said to have considerably discomposed his

triumphant rival and his friends.

Although the distance from the Water Gate

to the prison was only about haK a mile, yet

so slow had the procession moved, that it was

almost seven o'clock in the evening before it

reached the prison. When released from the

cart Montrose gave the hangman some money

for his services in having driven so well liis

"triumphal chariot,"' as he jocularly termed

the cart. On being lodged in jail, he was

immediately visited by a small committee

appointed by the parliament, which had held

an extraordinary meeting at six o'clock in the

evening. Balfour says, that the object of the

committee, which consisted of three members

and two ministers, was to ask " James Grahams

if he had any thing to say, and to show liim

' Now the Free Clim-ch Normal ScliooL
» Wishart, p. 386.



272 GENEEAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

that lie was to repair to the house to receive

his sentenoe." The house remained sitting tiU

the return of the deputation, who reported that

Montrose had refused to answer any of the

4uestions put to him till he was informed

upon what terms they stood with the king,

and whether they had concluded any agreement

with him. In consequence of this information,

the parliament delayed passing sentence till

Monday the 20th of May; and, in the mean-

time, appointed seven of their members to wait

upon the marquis and examine him on some

points respecting " Duke Hamilton and others;"

and to induce him to answer, the deputation

was instructed to inform liim, that an agree-

ment had been concluded between the com-

missioners on the part of the estates and liis

majesty, who was coming to Scotland.^ Mon-

trose, however, excused himself from annoyance

by stating, that as his journey had been long,

and as " the ceremony and compliment they

had paid him that day had been somewhat

wearisome and tedious," he required repose;^

in consequence of which the deputation left him.

Montrose meant to have spent the whole of

the following day, being Sunday, in devotional

exercises suitable to his trying situation; but

he was denied this consolation by the incessant

intrusions of the ministers and members of

parliament, who annoyed him by asking a

variety of ensnaring questions, which he having

refused to answer, they gave vent to the foulest

reproaches against him. These insults, how-

ever, had no effect on him, nor did he show

the least s3Tnptoms of impatience, but carried

himself throughout witli a firmness which no

menaces could shake. When he broke silence

at last, he said that " they were much mis-

taken if they imagined that they had afironted

biTn by carrying him in a vile cart the day

before ; for he esteemed it the most honourable

and cheerful journey he had ever performed in

his life ; liis most merciful God and Eedeemer

having aU the while manifested his presence

to him in a most comfortable and inexpressible

manner, and supplied him by his divine grace,

with resolution and constancy to overlook the

reproaches of men, and to behold him alone

for whose cause ho suffered."^

> Balfour, vol. iv. p. 14. = Wishart, p. 3S6.
^ Wishart, p. 387.

Agreeably to the order of parliament, Mon-

trose was brought up by the magistrates of

Edinburgh on Monday at ten o'clock forenoon

to receive sentence. As if to give dignity and

importance to the cause for which he was

about to suffer, and to show how indifferent

he was to his own fate, Montrose appeared at

the bar of the parliament in a superb dress

which he had provided for the purpose, after

his arrival in Edinburgh. His small clothes

consisted of a rich suit of black sUk, covered

with costly silver lace, over which he wore a

scarlet rochet which reached to his knee, and

which was trimmed with silver galloons, and

lined with crimson taffeta. He also wore silk

stockings of a carnation colour, with garters,

rcses and corresponding ornaments, and a

beaver hat having a very rich silver band. *

Having ascended "the place of delinquents,"

a platform on which criminals received sen-

tence, Montrose surveyed the scene before him

with his wonted composure, and though his

countenance was rather pale, and exhibited

other symptoms of care, his firmness never foi

a moment forsook him. Twice indeed was he

observed to heave a sigh and to roll his eyes

along the house,* during the virulent invectives

which the lord-chanceUor (Loudon) poured out

upon him, but these emotions were only the

indications of the warmth of his feelings while

suffering under reproaches which he could not

resent.

The lord-chancellor, in rising to address

Montrose, entered into a long detail of his

" rebellions," as he designated the warlike

actions of Montrose, who, he said, liad invaded

his native country with hostile arms, and had

called in Irish rebels and foreigners to his

assistance. He then reproached Montrose with

having broken not only the national covenant,

which he had bound himself to support, but

also the solemn league and covenant, to which

the whole nation had sworn ; and he concluded

by informing !Montrosc, that for the many

murders, treasons, and impieties of which he

had been guilty, God had now brought him to

suffer condign punishment. After the chan-

* Balfour, vol. iv. p. 16, note to Kirkton's Church

History, p. 124. Relation of tlie execution of Jama
Graham., London, 1650.

* Balfour, vol. iv. p. 16.
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cellor had concluded his harangue, Montrose

requested permission to say a few words in his

own vindication, which being granted, though

not without some diificulty, he proceeded to

vindicate his conduct, showing tliat it was the

result of sincere patriotism and devoted loyalty.

"He had," he said, "not spilt any blood,

not even that of liis most inveterate enemies,

but in the field of battle ; and that even in the

greatest heat of action he had preserved the

lives of many thousands ; and that as he had

first taken up arms at the command of the

king, he had laid them down upon his orders,

without any regard to his own interest, and

had retired beyond the seas.

"With regard to his late invasion, he said,

he had undertaken it at the command and by

the express orders of the present king, (to

whom they all owed duty and aUegianoe, and

for whose long and happy reign he offered his

sincere and earnest prayers,) in order to accel-

erate the treaty which was then begun betwixt

him and them—that it was his intention, as

soon as the treaty had been concluded, to lay

down arms and retire at the call of his majesty

;

and such being liis authority and determina-

tion, he might justly affirm, that no subject

ever acted upon more honourable grounds, nor

by a more lawful power and authority than he

had done in the late expedition.

"In conclusion, he called upon the assem-

blage to lay aside all prejudice, private ani-

mosity, and desire of revenge, and to consider

him, in relation to the justice of liis cause, as

.a man and a Christian, and an obedient subject,

in relation to the conunands of his sovereign,

which he had faithfully executed. He then

put them in mind of the great obligations

which many of them were under to him, for

having preserved their lives and fortunes at a

time when he had the power and authority, had
he inclined, of destroying both, and entreated

them not to judge him rashly, but according

to the laws of God, the laws of nature and

nations, and particularly by the laws of the

land—that if they should refuse to do so, he
would appeal to the just Judge of the world,

who would at last judge them all, and pro-

noimce a righteous sentence."''

" Wisliart, p. 391.

This speech was delivered witliout affecta-

tion or embarrassment, and with such finnness

and clearness of intonation, that, according to

a cavalier historian, many persons present were

afterwards heard to declare, that he looked

and spoke as he had been accustomed when at

the head of his army. '' The chancellor replied

to Montrose, in a strain of the most furious

invective, " punctually proving him," says

Balfour, "by his acts of hostility, to be a person

most infamous, perjured, treacherous, and of

aU that this land ever brought forth, the most

creueU and inliumane butcher and murtherer

of his natione, a sworne enimy to the Covenant

and peace of liis countrey, and one quhosse

bouncUesse pryde and ambition had lost the

father, and by his wicked counsells done quliat

in him lay to distroy the sone lykwayes."^

]\Iontrose attempted to address the com-t a

second time, but was rudely interrupted by

the chancellor, who ordered him to keep

silence, and to kneel down and receive his

sentence. Tlie prisoner at once obeyed, but

remarked, that on falling on his knees, ho

meant only to honour the king his master, and

not the parliament. Wliile Sir Archibald

Johnston, the clerk-register, was reading the

sentence, Montrose kept his countenance erect

and displayed liis usual firmness. " Ho be-

haved all this time in the house with a great

deal of courage and modesty, unmoved and

undaunted."' The execution was fixed for

three o'clock the foUo\ving day.

The feelings of humanity and the voice of

religion, now demanded that the unfortunate

prisoner should be allowed to spend the short

time he had to live, in those solemn prepara-

tions for death, enjoined by religion, in privacy

and without molestation ; but it was his fate

to be in the hands of men in whose breasts

such feelings were stifled, and whose religion

was deeply imbued with a stern and gloomy

fanaticism, to which charity was an entire

stranger. However, it would be unfair and

uncharitable to look upon the conduct of

these men as if they had been surrounded with

all the advantages of the present enlightened

a^e. We ouKht to bear in mind their recent

" Monteith's Hist, of the Ti-ouhles, &c., ii.

* Annals, vol. iv. p. 'i!>. " Idem, )i.
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escape from the most iutolerant of all religions,

of whose persecuting principles they had not

yet got rid; the hard treatment to which they

had been subjected by the late king and his

father; and the fact that they really believed

they were doing their duty to God and

serving the best interests of true religion. It

is indeed difficult to be charitable to the

uncharitable, tolerant to persecutors.

No sooner had Montrose returned to prison,

than he was again assailed by the ministers,

who endeavoured to induce him to submit to

the kirk, no doubt considering the conversion of

such an extraordinary malignant as Montrose,

as a theological achievement of the first impor-

tance. To subdue his obstinacy, they mag-

nified the power of the keys, which they said

had been committed to them, and informed

him that unless he reconciled himself to the

kirk and obtained a release from the sentence

of excommunication which had been pro-

nounced against him, he would be eternally

damned. But Montrose, regardless of their

tlireats and denunciations, remained inflexible.

Besides the ministers, he was frequently waited

upon by the magistrates of the city, with whom
he entered into conversation. He told them

that he was much indebted to the parliament

for the great honour they had decreed him,

—

that he was prouder to have his head fixed

upon the top of the prison, than if they had

decreed a golden statue to be erected to him

in the market-place, or ordered his portrait to

be placed in the king's bed-chamber,—that so

far from grieving for the mutilation which his

body was about to undergo, he was happy that

the parliament had taken such an effectual

method of preserving the memory of his

loyalty, by transmitting such proofs of them

to the four principal cities of the kingdom, and

he only wished that he had flesh enough to

have sent a piece to every city in Christendom,

ds a testimony of his unshaken love and fidelity

to his king and country.' But annoying as

the visits of the ministers and magistrates

undoubtedly were, Montrose was stiU farther

doomed to undergo the humiliation of being

placed under the more immediate charge of

Major Weir, who afterwards obtained an

» Wishart, p. 393.

infamous notoriety in the annals of criminal

jurisprudence. This incestuous wretch, who
laid claim to superior godliness, and who
pretended to be gifted with the spirit of praj'er,

of which he gave proofs by many extemporary

effusions, gave Montrose great uneasiness by

smoking tobacco, to the smell of which he

had, like Charles I., a particular aversion.

Dm-iiig the night, when free from the in-

trusion of the ministers, Montrose occupied

liimself in devotional exercises, and even

foimd leisure to gratify his poetic taste,

by composing the following lines which ho

wrote upon the window of the chamber in

which he was confined.

" Let them bestow on every aiith a limb,
Then open all my veins, that 1 may swim
To thee, my Maker, in that crimson lake.

Then place my parboiled head upon a stake
;

Scatter my ashes, strow them in the air.

Lord, since thou knowest where all these atoms are,

I'm hopeful thou 'It recover once my dust.

And confident thou'lt raise me with the juot.

"

On the morning of the 21st of May, 1650,

the city of Edinburgh was put into a state of

commotion by the noise of drums and trumpet"?,

which was heard in every quarter of the city.

The sound attracted the notice of Montrose,

who inquired at the captain of the guard the

cause of it. The officer told him that the

parliament, dreading that an attempt might be

made by the mob, under the influence of the

malignants, to rescue Idm, had given orders to

call out the soldiers and citizens to arms. " Do
I," said the marquis, " who was such a terror

to these good men when alive, continue still

so formidable to them, now that I am about

to die? But let them look to themselves ; for

even after I am dead, I will be continually

present to their wicked consciences, and

become more formidable to them than while

I was alive."

After partaking of a hearty breakfast, Mon-

trose entered upon the business of the toilet,

to which he paid particular attention. Wliile

in the act of combing his hair, he was visited

by Sir Archibald Johnston, the clerk-register,

one of his most inveterate foes, who made

some remarks on the impropriety, as he

thought, of a person in the dreadful situation

of the marquis, occupying some of the precious

moments he had yet to live in frivolous atten-
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tions to his person. Tlie marquis, who knew

well the character of this morose man, thus

addressed him ^viih a smile of contempt,

" While my head is my own, I Avill di'ess and

adorn it; but to-morrow, when it becomes

yours, you may treat it as you please."

About an hour before the time fixed for his

execution, Montrose was waited upon by the

magistrates of the city, who saw him conveyed

to the scaffold on the same vehicle on which

he had been can'ied into the city. In

addition to the dress which he wore on that

occasion, he was now habited in a superb scar-

let cloak, ornamented with gold and silver

lace, which liis friends had provided him with.

Long before his removal from prison, an im-

mense assemblage of persons had congregated

around the place of execution in the High-

street, all of whom were deeply affected on

Montrose's appearance. As he proceeded along,

he had, says Wishart, " such a grand air, and

so much beauty, majesty, and gravity appeared

in his countenance, as shocked the whole city

at the cruelty that was designed him; and

extorted even from his enemies this imwilling

confession, that he was a man of the most

lofty and elevated soid, and of the most un-

shaken constancy and resolution that the age

had produced."

It had always been the uniform practice in

Scotland to permit all persons about to suffer

the last penalty of the law to address the as-

sembled spectators, and on mounting the scaf-

fold Montrose was proceeding to avail himself

of this privilege; but the magistrates, who
probably had received their instructions from

the parliament, refused to allow him to harangue

the multitude. His friends, however, anti-

cipating this, had hired a young man, skilled

in stenography, who, having stationed himself

near the scaffold, was enabled to take doAvn

the substance of some observations which

Montrose was pennitted to make in answer to

questions put by some persons who siurounded

him.

He began by remarking that lie would con-

sider it extremely hard indeed if the mode of

Ids death should be esteemed any reflection

upon him, or prove offensive to any good

Christian, seeing that such occurrences often

happened to the good at the hands of the

•\vicked, and often to the wicked at the liands

of the good— and that just men sometimes

perish in their righteousness, while wicked

men prosper in their villanies. That he,

therefore, expected that those who knew him
well woidd not esteem him tlie less for liis

present sufl'erings, especially as many greater

and more deserving men than he had under-

gone the same untimely and disgraceful fate.

Yet, that he coidd not but acknowledge that

aU the judgments of God were just, and that

the punishment he was about to suffer was

very deservedly inflicted upon him for the

many private sins he had committed, and he

therefore mlUngly submitted to it;—that he

freely pardoned his enemies, whom he reck-

oned but the instrimients of the Divine will,

and prayed to God to forgive them, although

they had oppressed the poor, and perverted

judgment and justice.

That he had done nothing contrary to the

laws of the kingdom, and that he had under-

taken nothing but in obedience to the just

commands of his sovereign, when reduced to

the greatest difficidties by his rebellious suli-

jects, who had risen up in arms against him

—

that his principal study had always been to

fear God and honour the king, in a manner
agi'eeable to the law of God, the laws of nature,

and those of his o^vn country; and that, in

neither of these respects, had he transgressed

against men, but against God alone, with whom
he expected to find abundant mercy, and in

the confidence of wliich, he was ready to ap-

proach the eternal throne without terror—that

he could not pretend to foretell what might

happen, or to pry into the secrets of Divine

Providence; but he prayed to God that the

indignities and cruelties which he was that

day to suffer might not be a prelude of still

greater miseries which would befall his afflicted

country, which was fast hastening to ruin.

That with regard to the grievous censure of

the church, which he was sorry some gooil

people thought it a crime in him to die under,

he observed, that he did not incur it from any

fault of his own, but in the perfoimance of liis

duty to his lawfid prince, for the security of

rehgion, and the preservation of his sacred

person and royal authority—that the sentence

of excommunication, so rashly laid upon him
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by tlie clergy, gave him much concern, and

that he earnestly desired to he released from

it, so far as that could he done, agreeably to

the laws of God, and without hiirting his con-

science or allegiance, which, if they refused,

he appealed to God, the righteous judge of the

world, who, ere long, was to be his impartial

judge and gracious redeemer.

In answer to the reproaches of some persons

who had endeavoured to destroy the marquis's

character and reputation by spreachng a report

that he had laid the whole blame of what he

had done upon the king and his royal father,

he observed that such a thought had never

once entered into his breast—that the late

king had lived a saint and died a martyr, and

he prayed to God, that as his o'^vn fate was not

unlike his, so his death might be attended

with the same degi'ee of piety and resignation

;

for if he could wish his soul in another man's

Btead, or to be conjoined with it in the same

condition after this life, it would be his alone.

He then requested that the people would

judge charitably of him and his actions, with-

out prejudice and without passion. He de-

sired the prayers of all good men for liis sold

;

for Ms part, he said he prayed earnestly for

them all; and with the greatest seriousness,

submission and humility, deprecated the ven-

geance of Almighty God, which had been so

long awakened, and which was stiU impending

over his afflicted country—that his enemies

were at liberty to exult and triumph over the

perishing remains of his body, but tlie utmost

indignities they could inflict should never pre-

vail on him, now at his death, to swerve from

that duty and reverence to God, and obedience

and respect to the king, which he had mani-

fested all his Hfe long. " I can say no more,"

concluded the marquis, " but remit myself to

your charity, and I desire your prayers. Tou
that are scandalized at me, give me your charity;

I shall pray for you alL I leave my soul to

God, my service to my prince, my good\\dll to

my friends, and my name in charity to you all.

I might say more, but I have exonered my
conscience; the rest I leave to God's mercj'."^

A party of ministers who occupied the lower

end of the scaffold now attempted, partly by

» Wish:,rt, p. 399. r..ilfour, vol. iv. p. 22.

persuasion and partly by threats, to induce

Montrose to yield to the kirk by acknowledg-

ing his own criminaUt}'; but he denied that

he had acted contrary to religion and the laws

of the land, and, of course, refused to accept

of a reconciliation upon .such terms. Finding

him inflexible, they refused to pray for him as

he desired, observing, that no prayers could be

of any avail to a man who was an outcast from

the church of God. Being desired to pray by

himself apart, he told them that if they would

not permit the people to join with him, his

prayers alone and separately before so large an

assembly would perhaps be offensive both to

them and him—that he had already poured

out his soul before God, who knew liis heart,

and to whom he had committed his spirit.

He then shut his eyes, and holding liis hat

before liis face with his left hand, he raised

his right in the attitude of prayer, in which

posture he continued about a quarter of an

hour in silent and fervent pra3'er.

As the fatal hour was fast approaching when

this unfortunate nobleman was to bid a last

adieu to sublunary things, he desired the

executioner to hasten his preparations. This

gloomy functionary, accordingly, brought the

book of Montrose's wars, and his late declara-

tion, which, by the sentence, were ordered to

be tied round his neck ivith a cord. Montrose

himself assisted in carrying this part of his

sentence into execution, and while the operation

was performing, good-humouredly remarked,

that lie considered himself as much honoured

then by having such tokens of liis loyalty

attached to his person as he had been when

his majesty had invested him with the order

of the garter.

'

Hitherto, Montrose had remained uncovered;

but, before ascending the ladder that con-

ducted to the top of the gibbet, which rose to

the height of thirty feet from the centre of the

scaffold, he requested permission to put on lu's

hat. This request was, however, refused. He
then asked leave to keep on his cloak ; but

this favour was also denied him. Irritated,

probably at these refusals, he appears for a

moment to have lu.st his usual equanimity of

temper, and when orders were given to pinion
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his arms, he told tlie magistrates that if they

could invent any farther marks of ignominy,

he was ready to endure them all for the sake

of the cause for which he suffered.

On arriving at the top of the ladder, which

he ascended with astonishing firmness, Mon-

trose asked the executioner how long his hody

was to be suspended to the gibbet. " Three

hours," was the answer. He then presented

the executioner with three or four pieces of

CTold, told lum he freely forgave him for the

part he acted, and instructed him to throw

hiui off as soon as he observed him uplifting

liis liands. The executioner watched the fatal

signal, and on the noble victim raising his

hands, obeyed the mandate, and, it is said,

bm-st into tears. A feeling of horror seized

the assembled multitude, who expressed their

disapprobation by a general groan. Among

the spectators were many persons who had

indulged during the day in bitter invectives

a"ainst ]\Iontrose, but whose feelings were so

overpowered by the sad spectacle of his death

that they could not refrain from tears. * Even

the relentless Argyle, who had good feeling

enough to absent himself from the execution,

is said to have shed tears on hearing of Mon-

trose's death, but if a cavalier writer is to be

believed, his son. Lord Lome, disgraced him-

self by the most unfeeling barbarity. *

* Montrose Rcdivivxts.
' " 'Tis said that Argyle's expressions had some-

thing of grief in them, and did likewise weep at the

rehearsal of his death, (for he was not present at the

execution). Howsoever, they were by many called

crocodiles' tears, how worthily I leave to others' judg-

ment. But I am sure there did in his son, Lord

Lome, appear no such sign, who neither had so much
tenderness of heart as to be sorry, nor so much paternal

wit as to dissemble, who, entertaining his new bride

(the Earl of Moray's daughter) with this spectacle,

mocked and laughed ia the midst of that weeping

assembly ; and, staying afterwards to see him hewn
in pieces, triumphed at every stroke which was
bestowed upon his maugled body." Montrose Rcdi-

vivus, edition of 1652. Note to Wishart's Memoirs,

p. 401.

The dismembered portions of Montrose's body were

disposed of in terms of the sentence. Lady Napier,

the wife of Montrose's esteemed friend and relation,

being desirous of procuring his heart, employed some
adventurous persons to obtain it for her. 'fhey accom-

plished this object on the second day after the execu-

tion, and were handsomely rewarded by her ladyship.

The heart was embalmed by a surgeon, and after being

enshrined in a rich gold urn, was sent by her to the

ehlest son of the marquis, then in Flanders. The
family of Napier possess a portrait of Lady Napier, in

which there is a representation of the urn.—Kirkton's

Thus died, at the early age of thirty-eight,

James Graham, Marquis of Montrose, who had

acquired during a short career of military glory

greater reputation than perhaps ever fell to the

lot of any commander within the same compass

of time. That partisans may have exaggerated

his actions, and extolled his character too

highly, may be fairly admitted ; but it cannot

be denied that Montrose was really a gi-eat

commander, and that there were noble and

generous traits about him wliich indicated a

high and cultivated mind, in many respects far

superior to the age in which he lived. But how-

ever much the military exploits of Montrose

may be admired, it must never be forgotten tliat

his sword was drawn against his own coimtry-

men in their struggles against arbitrary power,

and that although there was much to condemn

in the conduct of the Covenanters, subsequent

events, in the reign of the second Charles and

James, showed that they were not mistaken in

the dread wliich they entertained of the extinc-

tion of their religious liberties, had Charles I.

succeeded in his designs.

Among Montrose's officers five of the most

distinguished were selected for execution, all of

whom perished under ' the Maiden,' a species

of guillotine, introduced into Scotland by the

Regent Morton, to which he himself became

the first victim. The officers who suffered

were Sir Jolm Hurry, ^ Captain Spottiswood,

History of the Church of Scotland, note, p. 125 ; edited

by the late C. K Sharpe, Esq.

After the restoration, the trunk was disinterred,

and the other remains collected, and on 11th May,
166], were deposited with great solemnity by order of

C'harles IL, in the family aisle in St. Giles' church.

The remains of Sir Francis Hay of Dalgetty were

honoured with a similar mark of respect on tlie same
day. For an account of the ceremonial, see Nos. 27

and 28 of the Appendix to Wishart's Memoirs.
^ Hurry was at first condemned by the parliament

to perjjetnal banishment, "but the commission of the

kirk voted he should die, and thereupon sent ther

moderator, with other two of their number, to the

parliament house, who very saucilly, in face of that

great and honourable court, (if it had not been then a

body without a head) told the president and chancellor

that the parliament had granted life to a man whom
the law had appointed for death, being a man of blood,

(citing these words of our blessed Saviour to Peter,

—

'AH they that take the sword shall perish by the

sword;') whereas, it was very weill knoune, all the

blood that that unfortunate gentleman had shed iu

Scotland was in ther quarrell and defence, being but

then engaged in his master's service, when he \v3a

taken prisoner, and executed at the kirk's in.stigatinne.

"The parliament was sae farre from rebuking ther

bold intruders, or resenting those acts of the commi*
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yovmger of Dairsie, Sir Francis Hay of Dal-

getty, Colonel William Sibbald, and Captain

Cliarteris, a cadet of the ancient family of

Amisfield. All these met death Avith extraor-

dinary fortitude. Sir Francis Ha}', who was

a Catholic, " and therefore," as a cavalier

historian quaintly observes, "not coming within

the compass of the ministers' prayers,"^ dis-

played in particidar an intrepidity worthy of

his name and family.^ After a witty meta-

phorical allusion to "the Maiden," he kissed

the fatal instrument, and kneeling down, laid

his head upon tlie block. Colonel Sibbald

exhibited a surprising gaiety, and, " with an

undaunted behaviour, marched up to the block,

as if he had been to act the part of a gallant

in a play."' An instance of the mifeehng

levity with which such melancholy scenes were

witnessed, even by those who considered them-

selves the ministers of the gospel, occurred on

the present as on former occasions. Captain

Spottiswood, grandson of the archbishop of

that name, having on Ms knees said the

following prayer :
—" Lord, who hath been

graciously pleased to bring me tlirough the

wilderness of this world, I trust at this time

you wiU waft me over this sea of blood to my
heavenly Canaan ;" was rebuked by a minister

who was near him in the following words :

—

" Take tent (heed), take tent, sir, that you

di'own not by the gate !" (way). Spottiswood

replied ^vith great modesty that " he hoped he

was no Egyptian," an answer which forced the

base intruder to retire among the crowd to

conceal his shame.

The execution of Captain Charteris (the last

who suffered) was a source of melancholy regret

to his friends, and of triumpli to the ministers.

sion of the kirk, now qnyte besyde tlier master's com-
niissione, as they will have it understood, and ther

owne solenine professione not to meddle in secular

affairs, that they rescinded their former act, and
]ia.ssed a sentence of death upon him, hereby imitating

ther dear brethren, the parliament of England, in the

caice of the Hothams. "

—

Memoirs of the Somerville

Family.
' Wishart, p. 412.
^ " His constancy at death show well he repented

nothing he did, in order to his allegiance and Ma-
jesty's sei-vice, to the great shame of those who
threatened him with their apocrj'phal exconimnnica-

tions, to which he gave no more place than our Saviour

to the devil's temptations."

—

Relation of the True
Punerah of the Great Lord Marqtiessc of Montrose.

' Wishart.

He was a man of determined mind ; but his

health being much impaired by wounds which

he had received, he had not tmnnesa to resist

the importunities of his friends, who, as a

means of sa^dng his life, as they thought,

prevailed uj:)on liiiu to agree to make a pubhc

declaration of his errors. This unhappy man,

accordingly, when on the scaffold, read a long

speech, which had been prepared for him by

the ministers, penned in a peculiarly mournful

strain, in which he lamented his apostaoy from

the Covenant, and acknowledged " other things

which he had vented to them (the ministers)

in auricular confession."'^ Yet, notwithstand-

ing the expectations wliich he and his friends

were led to entertain that his life would be

spared, he had no sooner finished liis s^jeech

than he was despatched.

CHAPTEK XVII.

A. D. 1650—1660.

Commonwealth, 16W—1060.

Arrival of Charles II.—Cromwell invades Scotland-
Attacks the Scotch army near Edinburgh— Hi.»

further movements—The Dunfermline Declaration

—Retreat of Cromwell—Battle of Dunbar—Decla-

ration and Warning of the kirk—Flight of the king
from Perth—Insurrections in the Highlands—Pro-

ceedings of Cromwell—Conduct of the western army
—Cromwell marches north— Enters Perth —Scotch
anny invades England—Battle of Worcester—Oper-
ations of Monk in Scotland— Administration of

aliairs committed to hira—Earl of Glencairn's insur-

rection in the Highlands—Chiefs of the insurrection

submit to Monk—Cameron of Lochiel^State of the

country—Restoration of Charles II.

Having arranged with the commissioners the

conditions on which he was to ascend the Scot-

tish tluone, Charles, vnt\\ about 500 attendants,

left Holland on the 2d of June, in some vessels

furnished him by the Prince of Orange, and

after a boisterous voyage of three weeks, during

wliich he Wcis daily in danger of being captured

by EngKsh cruizers, arrived in the Moray

frith, and disembarked at Garmouth, a small

village at the mouth of the Spoy, on the 23d

' Wishart, p. 413.—The practice of auricular con-

fession seems to have existed to a considerable extent

among the Covenanters. It is singular that had 11

not been for the evidence of the minister of Ormiston,

to whom the noted Major Weir had communicated his

secrets in auricular confession, he would not have beeu

convicted.—See Arnot's Criminal Trials.
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of tUiit month. Before landing, however,

Charles readily gave his signature to the Cove-

nant, which subsequent events showed lie had

no intention of observing longer than suited

his purpose.

The news of the king's arrival reached Edin-

burgh on the 26th of June. The guns of the

castle were fired in honour of the event, and

the inhabitants manifested their joy by bonfires

and other demonstrations of popular feeling.

The same enthusiasm spread quickly through-

out the kingdom, and his majesty was wel-

comed with warm congratulations as he pro-

ceeded on his journey towards Falkland, which

had been fixed upon by parliament as the

place of his residence. The pleasure he re-

ceived from these professions of loyalty was,

however, not without alloy, as he was obliged,

at the request of the parliament, to dismiss

from his presence some of his best friends,

both Scotch and English, particularly the Duke

of Hamilton, the Earl of Lauderdale, and other

" engagers," who, by an act passed on the 4tli

of Ju7ie against " classed delinquents," were

debarred from returning to the kingdom, or

remaming therein, " without the express war-

rant of the Estates of parliament."" Of the

English exiles the Duke of Buckingham, Lord

WUmot, and seven gentlemen of the household

were allowed to remain with him.s In fact,

vrith these exceptions, every person even

suspected of being a " malignant," was care-

fidly excluded from the court, and his majesty

was thus surrounded by the heads of the

Covenanters and the clergy. These last

scarcely ever left his person, watched his

words and motions, and inflicted upon him

long harangues, in which he was often re-

minded of the misfortunes of his family.

The rulers of the English commonwealth,

aware of the negotiations which had been

going on between the young king and the

Scots commis-sioners in Holland, became appre-

hensive of their own stability, should a union

take place between the Covenanters and the

English Presbyterians, to support the cause of

the king, and they therefore resolved to invade

Scotland, and by reducing it to their authority

extinguish for ever the hopes of the king and

= Balfour, vol. iv. p. 42 ^ Idem, p. 77

his parly. Fairfax was appointed commander-

in-cliief, and Cromwell lieutenant-general of

the army destined for this purpose ; but as

Fau'fax considered the invasion of Scotland as

a violation of the solemn league and covenant

which he had sworn to observe, he refused,

notwithstanding the most urgent entreaties, to

accept the command, which in consequence

devolved upon Cromwell.

The prejiarations making in England for the

invasion of Scotland were met with corre-

sponding activity in Scotland, the parliament

of which ordered an army of 30,000 men to

be immediately raised to maintain the inde-

pendence of the country. The nominal com-

mand of this army was given to the Earl of

Leven, who had become old and infirm ; but

David Leslie his relative, was in reality the

commander. The levies went on with con-

siderable rapidity, but before they were as-

sembled Cromwell crossed the Tweed on the

22d of July at the head of 16,000 well

appointed and highly disciplined troops. On
his march from Berwick to Musselburgh a

scene of desolation was presented to the eyes

of Cromwell, far surpassing anything he had

ever before witnessed. With the exception of

a few old women and chUtlren, not a human

being was to be seen, and the whole country

appeared as one great waste over which the

hand of the ruthless destroyer bad exercised

its ravages. To understand the cause of this

it is necesssary to mention, that, with the view

of depriving the enemy of provisions, instruc-

tions had been issued to lay waste the country

between Berwick and the capital, to remove

or destroy the cattle and provisions, and that

the inhabitants should retire to other parts of

the kingdom under the severest penalties. To

induce them to comply with this ferocious

command, appalling statements of the cruelties

of Cromwell in Ireland were industriously

circulated among the people ; that he had

given orders to put all the males between 16

and 60 to death, to cut of the right hands of

aU the boys between 6 and 16, and to bore

with red-hot irons the breasts of all females

of age for bearing children. ' Fortunately for

his army CromweU had provided a fleet Ld

•< Wliitelock, p. 465
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case of exigency, which, kept up with him in

his march along the coast, and supplied him

witli provisions.

The English general continued his course

along the coast till he arrived at Musselburgh,

where he established his head-quarters. Here

he learnt that the Scots army, consisting of

upwards of 30,000 men, had taken up a strong

position between Edinburgh and Leith, and

had made a deep entrenchment in front of

their lines, along which they had erected

several batteries. Cromwell reconnoitered this

position, and tried all his art to induce the

Scots to come to a general engagement ; but as

Leslie's plan was to act on the defensive, and

thus force Cromwell either to attack him at a

considerable disadvantage, or to retreat back

into England after his supply of provisions

shoidd be exhausted, he kept his army within

their entrenchments.

As Cromwell perceived that he woidd be

soon reduced to the alternative of attacking

the Scots in their position, or of retracing his

steps through the ruined track over which his

army had lately passed, he resolved upon an

assault, and fixed Monday the 29th of July

for advancing on the enemy. By a singidar

coincidence, the king, at the instigation of the

Earl of Eglinton, but contrary to the wish of

his council and the commanders, visited the

army that very day. His presence was hailed

with shouts of enthusiasm by the soldiers, who

indulged in copious libations to the health of

their sovereign. The soldiers in consequence

neglected their duty, and great confusion pre-

vailed in the camp;^ but on the approach of

Cromwell sufficient order was restored, and

they patiently waited his attack. Ha^^ng

selected the centre of the enemy's position,

near a spot called the Quarry Holes, about

halfway between Edinburgh and Leith, as

appearing to him the most favourable point

for commencing the operations of the da}',

Cromwell led forward his army to the assault

;

but after a desperate struggle he was repulsed

with the loss of a considerable number of men

and horses.^ Cromwell renewed the attack

on the 31st, and would probably have carried

LesKe's position hit for a destructive fire from

» Ballbur, vol. Idom,
I).

88.

some batteries near Leith. Cromwell retired

to Musselburgh in the evening, where he was

unexpectedly attacked by a body of 2,000

horse and 500 foot, commanded by Major-

General Montgomery, son of the Earl of

Eglinton, and Colonel Strachan, which had

been despatched at an early part of tlie day

by a circuitous route to the right, for the

purpose of falling on Cromwell's rear. If

Balfour is to be credited, this party beat Crom-

well " soundlie," and would have defeated his

whole army if they had had an additional force

of 1 ,000 men ; but an English writer informs

us, that the Scots suffered severely. ^ Accord-

ing to the first-mentioned author the English

had 5 colonels and 500 men killed, while the

latter states the loss of the Scots to have

been about 100 men, and a large number of

pri.soners. On the following day, Cromwell,

probably finding that he had enough of mouths

to consume his provisions, without the aid of

prisoners, offered to exchange all those he had

taken the preceding day, and sent the wounded

Scots back to their camp.

These encounters, notwithstanding the ex-

pectations of the ministers, and the vaunts of

the parliamentary committee of their pretended

successes, inspired some of Leslie's officers with

a salutary dread of the prowess of Cromwell's

veterans. An amusing instance of this feeling

is related by Balfour in the case of the earl of

W. (lie suppresses the name) who " being

commandit the nixt day (the day after the last

mentioned skirmish) in the morning, to marche

out one a partey, saw he could not goe one

upone service untill he had his brackefaste.

The brackefaste was delayed above four hoiu«

in getting until the L. General being pri^'ily

advertissed by a secrett frind, that my Lord

was peaceably myndit that morning, sent him

expresse orders not to marche, to save his repu-

tation. One tliis, the gallants of the army

raissed a proverbe, 'That they wold not goe

out one a partey until they gate ther bracke-

faste.'"^

For several days Cromwell remained inactive

in his camp, during which the parliamentary

committee subjected the Scots army to a piu-g-

ing operation, which impaired its efficiency,

" Whitclock. * Cair.jur, vol. iv. p. 87.
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and, perhaps, contributed chiefly to its ruin.

As the Solemn League and Covenant was con-

sidered by the Covenanters a sacred pledge

to God, wliich no true Christian could refuse

to take, they looked upon those who declined

to subscribe it as the enemies of religion, with

whom it would be criminal in the eye of

Heaven to associate. Before the purgation

commenced, the king received a hint, equiva-

lent to a command, from the heads of the

Covenanters to retire to Dunfermline, an order

which he obeyed "sore against his owii mind,""

by taking his departure on Friday the 2d

of August, after spending the short space of

two hoiirs at a banquet, which had been pro-

vided for him by the city of Edinburgh. No
sooner had the king departed than the purging

process was commenced, and on the 2d, 3d,

and 5th of August, during which the committee

held their sittings, no less than 80 officers, all

men of unquestionable loyalty, besides a con-

siderable number of common soldiers, were

expelled from the army, i

Cromwell retired with, his anny to Dunbar

on the 5tli of August. Here he found the few

mhabitants who had remained in the town in

a state of starvation. Touched with commiser-

ation, he generously distributed among them,

on liis supplies being landed, a considerable

quantity of wheat and pease. ^

While the ministers were thanking God
" for sending the sectarian army (for so they

designated the Independents) back the way
they came, and flinging such a terror into their

hearts, as made them fly when none pur.sued," ^

CromweU suddenly re-appeared at Musselburgh,

and thus put an end to their thanksgivings.

Seeing no hopes of the Scots army leaving

its entrenchments, and afraid that farther delay

might be injurious to him, Cromwell made a

movement on the 1 3th of August to the west,

as far as the village of Colinton, three miles'

south-west from Edinburgh, where he poste<l

the main body of his army. The Scottish

general thinking that Cromwell had an inten-

tion of attacking him in his rear, raised his

camp and marched towards Corstorphine, about

two miles north from Colinton, where lie drew

' Balfour.

= Whitelock.
I'nlfour, vol. iv.

Idem, p. 483.

out his army. Botli armies surveyed ea^-h

other for several days, but neither attempted

to bring the other to action. As he could not,

from the nature of the ground which lay

between the two armies, attack his opponents

with any probability of success, Cromwell

again returned to Musselburgh with his army

on a Sunday, that he might not be harassed

in his march by the Covenanters, who never

fought but on the defensive on tliat day.

Although the king before liis landing had

subscribed the Solemn League and Covenant,

and although they had purged tlie army to

their heart's content, still Argyle and liis party

were not satisfied, and they, therefore, required

his majesty to subscribe a declaration " for the

satisfaction of all honest men." On the 16th

of August, after some hesitation and with

slight modification of the terms, Charles was

induced to sign a most humUiattng declaration,

which reflected upon the conduct of his father,

lamented the "idolatry" of his mother, pledged

him to renounce the friendsliip of all who were

unfriendly to the Covenant, establish Presby-

terianism in England, in sliort, made him a

mere tool in the hands of the extreme Cove-

nanters.

Although every sober and judicious person

must have perceived that there was httle pro-

bability that such a declaration would be

regarded by the young monarch when released

from his trammels, yet so greatly important

was his majesty's subscription to the instru-

ment considered by the Covenanters, that they

hailed it with the most lively emotions of joy

and gratitude ; and the ministers who, only

two days before, had denounced the king from

the pulpits as the roit of malignancy, and a

hypocrite, who had sho-ivn, by his refusal to

sign the declaration, that he had no intention

to keep the Covenant, were the first to set the

example. The army, excited by the harangues

of the ministers during a fast, which they pro-

claimed to appease the anger of heaven for the

sins of the king and his father, longed to meet

the enemy, and it required all the influence

and authority of General Leshe to restrain

them from leaving their lines and rushing

upon the " sectaries ;" but, unfortunately for

the Covenanters, their wish was soon to be

gratified.

2 N
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It does not appear that the chiefs of the

Covenanters were actuated by the same enthu-

siasm as the ministers and the common soldiers,

or that the generals of the army were very

sanguine of success. They were too well aware

of the composition of Cromwell's veteran host,

to suppose that their raw and undisciplined

le^ ies, though numerically superior, could meet

the enemy in the open field ; and hence they

deemed it a wise course of policy to act on the

defensive, and to harass them by a desidtory

warfare as occasion oifered. This system had

been so successful as to embarrass Cromwell

greatly, and to leave him no alternative but

a retreat into England—a course which he

was obliged to adopt more speedily, perhaps,

than he would otherwise have done, in conse-

quence of extensive sickness in his army. No
indications of any movement had appeared up

to the 29th of August, as on that day the

Committee of Estates adjourned the meet-

ing of parliament, which was to have then

assembled, tiU the 10th of September, " in

respecte that Oliver CromweU and his armey

of sectaries and blasphemers have invadit this

Idngdome, and are now laying witliin the

bosome thereof."'

On the 30th of August, however, Cromwell

collected his army at Musselburgh, and having

put all his sick on board his fleet, which lay

in the adjoining bay, he gave orders to his

army to march next morning to Haddington,

and thence to Dunbar. He made an attempt

to obtain the consent of the Committee of

Estates to retire without molestation, promis-

ing never again to interfere in the afl'airs of

Scotland ; but they refused to agree to his

proposal, as they considered that they would

be able to cut off his retreat and compel him

to surrender at discretion.

Next morning Cromwell's army was in full

retreat towards Haddington. The Soots army

followed in close pursuit, but with the excep-

tion of some slight skirmishing between the

advanced guard of the Scots and Cromwell's

rear, nothing important took place. Cromwell

halted during the night at Haddington, and

offered battle next day ; but as the Scots

declined, he continued his retreat to Dunbar,

Balfour, vol. iv. p 96

wliich he reached in the evening. With the

intention of cutting ofl' his retreat, Leslie drew

off his army to the south towards the heights

of Lammermuir, and took up a position on

Doon hiU. Having at the same time secured

an important pass called the Peaths, through

which CromweU had necessarily to pass on his

way to Berwick, the situation of the latter

became extremely critical, as he had no chance

of escape but by cutting his way through

the Scots army, which had now completely

obstructed his line of retreat. Cromwell per-

ceived the danger of his situation, but he was
too much of an enthusiast to give way to

despair; he deliberately, and within view of the

enemy, shipped off the remainder of his sick

at Dunbar, on the 2d of September, intending,

should Providence not directly interpose in his

behalf, to put his foot also on board, and at

the head of his cavalry to cut his way through

the Scots army.^ But as, in an affair of such

importance, nothing could be done without

prayer, he directed his men to "seek the Lord

for a way of deliverance and salvation."^ A
part of the day was accordingly spent in prayer,

and at the conclusion, Cromwell declared, that

while he prayed he felt an enlargement of

heart and a buoyancy of spirit which assured

him that God had hearkened to their prayers.'

Wliile Cromwell and his men were employed

in their devotional exercises, a council of war

was held by the Scottish commander to deli-

berate upon the course to be pursued in the

present crisis. As Leslie considered himself

perfectly secure in his position, which could

not be assailed by the enemy without evident

risk of a defeat, and as he was apprehensive

of a most formidable and desperate resistance

should he venture to attack the brave and

enthusiastic Independents, who were drawn

out within two mUes of his camp ; he gave as

his opinion that the Scottish army should not

Only remain in its position, but that Cromwell

should be allowed to retire into England on

certain easy conditions. The officers of the

army concurred in the views of the general,

but this opinion was overruled by the Com-

mittees of the Estates and kirk, who, anxious

^ B.alfour, vol. iv. p. 97. * CromvdlianOy j). S9.

^ Burnet's Oimi ThneSj vol. i. p. o-l.
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to secure their prey, lest by any possibility it

might escape, insisted that the army should

descend from the heights and attack the "army

of sectaries and blasphemers," which they fully

expected the Lord would deliver into their

hands.

In pursuance of the orders of the Committees

to attack Cromwell early the following morn-

ing, Leslie drew down liis men on the evenmg

of the 2d of September from the heights

whicli they occupied to the level ground below,

that he might be ready to commence the attack

before the enemy should be fully on their

guard. But nothing could escape the pene-

trating eye of Cromwell, who, though pon-

dering with solicitude upon the difficulties

of his situation, was not inattentive to the

enemy, whose motions he personally watched

with the utmost vigUance and assiduity. He
was about retiring for the night, when looking

through his glass for the last time that evening,

he perceived, to his infinite joy, the Scottish

army in motion dovm the hill. The object of

this movement at once occurred to him, and in

a rapture of enthusiasm he exclaimed, " They

are coming down;—the Lord hath delivered

them into our hands." A strong spirit of

religious enthusiasm had in fact seized both

armies, and each considered itself the peculiar

favourite of heaven.

Unfortunately for the Scots their movements

were considerably impeded by the state of the

weather, which, during the night, became very

rainy and tempestuous. Confident in their

numbers, they seem to have disregarded the

ordinary rules of mditary prudence, and such

was the slowness of their movements, that

they found themselves unexpectedly attacked

at the da\vn of day before the last of their

forces had left the hill where they had been

stationed. Cromwell had, during the night,

advanced his army to the edge of a deep

ravine which had separated the advanced

posts of both parties, along which his troops

reposed waiting in deep silence the order for

attack. As soon as Cromwell was enabled by

the approach of day to obtain a partial view

of the position selected by the Scots, he per-

ceived that the Scottish general had posted a

large body of cavalry on liis right wing near

to a pass on the road from Dunbar to Berwick,

with the evident intention of preventing the

English from effecting an escape. To this

point, therefore, Cromwell directed his attack

with the main body of his horse, and some

regiments of foot, with which he endeavoured

to obtain possession of the pass ; but they

were charged by the Scottish lancers, who,

aided by some artillery, drove them down the

hiU. Cromwell, thereupon, brought up a

reserve of horse and foot and renewed the

attack, but was again repulsed. He still per-

severed, however, and the cavalry were again

giving way, when just as the sun was emerg-

ing from the ocean, and beginnmg, through

the mist of the morning, to dart its rays upon

the armour of the embattled hosts, he exclaimed

with impassioned fervour,—" I^et God arise, let

his enemies be scattered." In a moment

Cromwell's own regiment of foot, to whom
his exclamation had been more particularly

addressed, advanced with their pikes levelled,

the cavalry rallied, and the Scottish horse, as

if seized with a panic, tiu'ned their backs and

fled, producing the utmost confusion among

the foot, who were posted in their rear.

As soon as the Scots perceived the defeat

and flight of their cavalry, they were seized

with a feeling of consternation, and tlirowing

away their arms, sought their safety in flight.

They were closely pursued by Cromwell's

dragoons, who followed them to the distance

of many miles in the direction of Edinburgh,

and cut them down without mercy. Out of a

force of 27,000 men, who, a few hours before,

had assured themselves of victory, not more

than 14,000 escaped. 3,000 of the Scots lay

lifeless on the fertile plains of East Lotliian,

and about 10,000 were taken prisoners, of

whom not less than 5,000 were wounded.^

All the ammunition, artillery, and baggage of

the Scots army fell into the hands of the

conquerors. The loss on the side of Cromwell

was trifling, not amounting to more than 30

men kdled. The battle of Dunbar took place

on the 3d of September, 1650, and was long

familiarly known among the Scots by the

name of " the Tyesday's chase."

Cromwell spent the following day at Dunbar

•svriting despatches to the parliament. He

« Whitelock, p. 471.



284 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

ordered all tlie wounded to be taken particidar

care of, and after their wounds were dressed

they were released on their parole. The re-

mainder of the prisoners were sent to England,

where about 2,000 of them died of a pestilen-

tial disease, and the rest were sent as slaves to

the English plantations in the West Indies.

Cromwell, of course, now abandoned his inten-

tion of returning to England. In fui'therance

of his design to subject Scotland to his

authority, he marched to Edinburgh, which he

entered without opposition.

In the meantime, the Scottish horse and

the few foot which had escaped from the

slaughter of Dunbar were coUeoted together

at Stirling. Here the Commissioners of the

General Assembly held a meeting on the 12th

of September, at which they drew up a

" declaration and warning to all the congrega-

tions of the kirk of Scotland," exhorting the

people to bear the recent disaster with becom-

ing fortitude, and to humble themselves before

God that he might turn away his anger from

them ; at the same time ordaining a " soleme

publieke humUiatione upone the defait of the

anney," to be kept throughout the kingdom.

It is probable that this " declaration and

warning" had little eifect upon the minds

of the people, whose enthusiasm had been

somewhat cooled by Cromwell's success, and

although they did not, perhaps, like their

unfortunate countrymen, who were taken cap-

tives on the 3d of September and sent into

England, curse the king and clergy for insnar-

ing them in misery, as Whitelock observes,

they could not but look upon the perpetual

meddling of the ministers with the affairs of

the State, as the real source of all the calamities

which had recently befallen the country. As

to the king he had become so thoroughly dis-

gusted with the conduct of the Argyle faction,

whose sole object seemed to be to use him as

a tool for their own purposes, that he regarded

the recent defeat of the Covenanters in the

light of a triumph to liis cause, which, by

destroying the power of Argyle, would pave

the way for the due exercise of the royal

authority.

The king now entertained the idea of form-

ing a party for himself among the numerous

royalists in the Highlands, for which purpose

he opened up a correspendence with Huntly,

Moray, and Athole, and other chiefs ; but

before matters were fully concocted, the nego-

tiation was disclosed to Argj'le, who took

immediate means to defeat it. Accordingly,

on the 27th of September, the Committee of

Estates ordered the whole cavaliers who stiU

remained about the king's person, with the

exception of three, one of whom was Bucking-

ham, to quit the court ivithin 24 hours, and

the kingdom in 20 days.

As Charles was to be thus summarily

deprived of the society and advice of his

friends, he took the resolution of leaving

Perth, and retiring to the Highlands among

liis friends. Accordingly, imder the pre-

tence of hawking, he left Perth about half-

past one o'clock in the afternoon of the

4th of October, accompanied by five of his

livery servants, and rode at full gaUop, until

he arrived at Dudhope near Dimdee, which he

did in an hour and a half. He then proceeded

to Auchter-house along with Viscount Dud-

hope, whence he was conveyed by the Earl

of Buchan and the Viscount to Cortuquhuy,

the seat of the Earl of Airly. After partaking

of some refreshment he proceeded the same

night up the glen, rmder the protection of 60

or 80 Highlanders, to a poor cottage, 42 miles

from Perth, belonging to the laird of Glova.

Fatigued by such a long journey, he threw

himself down on an old mattress, but ho had

not enjoyed many hoiirs repose when the house

was entered, a little before break of day, by

Lieutenant-Colonel Nairne, and Colonel Ba3Ti-

ton, an Englishman, who had been sent by

Colonel Montgomery in quest of him. Shortly

after Montgomery himself appeared, accom-

panied by the laird of Scotscraig, who had

given him information of the place of his

Majesty's retreat, and Sir Alexander Hope

bearing one of the king's hawks. This party

advised the king to get on horseback, offered

to attend him, and promised to live and die

with him if necessary.

Perceiving their intention to carry him back

to Perth, the king told Montgomery that he

had left Perth in consequence of information

he had received from Dr. Eraser, his physician,

that it was the intention of the Committee of

Estates to have delivered him up to the Eng-
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Hsh, and to liang all liis servants : Montgomery

assured Ids Majesty that the statement was

false, and that no person hut a traitor could

have invented it. While this altercation was

going on, Dudliope and the Higldanders who
attended the king strongly advised him to

retire instantly to the mountains, and they

gave him to understand that a force of 2,000

horse and 5,000 foot was waiting for him

within the distance of five or six miles ready

to execute his orders ; hut hefore his Majesty

had come to any resolution as to the course he

shoiild adopt, two regiments of covenanting

horse appeared, on observing which, says Bal-

four, " Buchan, Dudliope and ther hegerly

guard begane to shecke ther eares, and speake

more calmley, and in a lower strain." The

king thereupon gave his consent to return to

Perth, whither he was accordmgly conducted

by Montgomery at the head of his horse. ^

This attempt of the king to escape (familiarly

known by the name of " the Start") produced

a salutary effect upon the Committee of Estates,

and they now began to treat him with more

respect, admitting him to their deliberations,

and even suspending the act they had issued

ordering the English cavaliers to leave the

kingdom.

As a considerable part of the Higldands was

now up in arms to support the king, the com-

mittee induced hun to wi-ite letters to the chief

leaders of the insurrection desiring tliem to lay

down their arms, wliich correspondence led to

a protracted negotiation. An act of indemnity

R'as passed on the 12th of October, in favour

of the people of Athole, who had taken up

arms ; but as it was couched in language which

they disliked, and contained conditions of

wliich they disapproved, the Earl of Athole

and his people presented a petition to his

majesty and the committee, craving some alter-

ation in the terms.

In order to enforce the orders of the king

to the northern royalists, to lay down their arms.

Sir John Brown's regiment was despatched to

the north ; but they were surprised during the

night of the 21st of October, and defeated by
a party under Sir David Ogdvie, brother to

Lord Ogdvie. On receiving this intelligence,

' B.ilfour, vol. iv. p. 115.

General Leslie hastened to Perth from Stirling,

and crossed the Tay on the 24th, with a force

of 3,000 cavalry, with which he was ordered

to proceed to Dundee and scour Angus. At
this time General Middleton was lying at

Forfar, and he, on hearing of Leslie's advance,

sent him a letter, inclosing a copy of a " bond

and oath of engagement" which had been

entered into by Huntly, Athole, Seaforth,

Middleton, and other individuals, by which

they had pledged themselves to join firmly

and faithfully together, and neither for fear,

threatening, allurement, nor advantage, to

relinquish the cause of religion, of the king and

of the kingdom, nor to lay down their arma

without a general consent; and as the best

imdertakings often did not escape censure and

malice, they promised and swore, for the satis-

faction of all reasonable persons, that they

would maintain the true religion, as then

established in Scotland, the National Cove-

nant, and the Solemn League and Covenant

;

and defend the person of the king, his preroga-

tive, greatness, and authority, and the privi-

leges of parliament, and the freedom of the

subject. Middleton stated that Leslie would

perceive from the terms of the document

inclosed, that the only aim of himself and

friends was to unite Scotsmen in defence of

their common rights, and that the gi'ounds on

wliich they had entered into the association

were precisely the same as those professed by

Leslie himself. As the independence of Scot-

land was at stake, and as Scotsmen should

unite for the preservation of their liberties, he

proposed to join Leslie, and to put himself

imder his command, and he expressed a hope

that Leshe would not shed the blood of his

countrymen, or force them to the unhappy

necessity of shedding the blood of theii'

brethren in self-defence.'- The negotiation

thus begun was finally concluded on the 4th

of November at Strathbogie, agreeably to a

treaty between Leslie and the chief royalists,

by which the latter accepted an indemnity and

laid down their arms.

Cromwell did not follow up his success as

might have been expected, but contented him-

self with laying siege to the castle of Edin

' Balfour, vol. iv. p. 11:9,
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burgh, aud puskLng forward his advanced posts

as far as Linlithgow.

Among the leading Covenanters hotli in par-

liament and the church, there were some whose

political ideas were pretty similar to those of

Cromwell, respecting monarchical government,

and wlio had not only approved of the execu-

tion of the late king, but were desirous of

excluding his son from the crown of Scotland.

This party, though a minority, made up for its

numerical inferiority, by the talents, fanati-

cism, and restless activity of its partisans ; but

formidable as their opposition in parliament

was, tliey found themselves unable effectually

to resist the general wish of the nation in

favour of the king, and yielded to the force of

circumstances. By excluding, however, the

royalists from the camp, and keeping the king

in a state of subjection to their authority, they

had succeeded ia usurping the government,

and had the disaster of Dunbar not occurred,

might have been enabled to carry their designs

against the monarchy into effect ; but not-

withstanding this catastrophe, they were not

discouraged, and as soon as they had recovered

from the temporary state of alarm into which

the success of Cromwell had thrown them,

they began to concert measures, in accordance

with a plan they now contemplated, for making

themselves altogether independent of parlia-

ment. For this purpose, under the pretence

of opposing the common enemy, they solicited

and obtained permission from the Committee

of Estates to raise forces iu the counties of

Dumfries, Galloway, Wigton, Ayr, and Ren-

frew, the inhabitants of which were imbued

\vith a sterner spirit of fanaticism, and there-

fore more ready to support their plans than

those of any other parts of Scotland. By
bringing in the exhortations of GiUespie and

others of the more rigid among the ministers

to their aid, they succeeded in a short time in

raising a body of nearly 5,000 horse, over

which Strachan, Kerr, and two other colonels,

all mere tools of the party, were placed.

As soon as the leaders of this faction, of

whom Johnston of Warriston, the clerk-register,

was chief, had collected these levies, they began

to develop the plan they had formed of with-

drawing themselves from the control of the

Committee of Estates by raising a variety of

objections against the line of conduct pursued

by the Committee, and, tiU these were removed,

they refused to unite " the western army," as

this new force was called, with the army under

Leslie. Cromwell, aware of this division in

the Scottish army, endeavoured to widen the

breach by opening a correspondence with

Strachan, who had fought under him at Pres-

ton, the consequence being that Strachan soon

went over to the English army with a body of

troopers. Leslie complained to the Estates of

the refusal of the western forces to join liim,

and solicited to be recalled from his charge

;

but they declined to receive his resignation,

and sent a deputation, consisting of Argyle,

Cassilis, and other members to the western

army, " to solicit unity for the good of the

kingdom."^ So unsuccessful, however, was

the deputation in bringing about this desired

"unity," that, on the 17th October, an elabor-

ate paper, titled, " the humble Remonstrance

of the Gentlemen-Commanders, and Ministers

attending the forces in the west," addressed to

the Committee of Estates, was dra^vn up and

presented by Sir George Maxwell to them at

Stuiing, on the 22d. The compilers of this

document proposed to remove from the pre-

sence of the king, the judicatories and the

armies, the " malignants," whom many of the

committee were accused of having received

" into intimate friendship," admitting them to

their councils, aud bringing in some of them

to the parliament and committees, and about

the king, thereby affording " many pregnant

presumptions," of a design on the part of some

of the Committee of Estates, " to set up and

employ the malignant party," or, at least, giving

" evidences of a strong inclination to intrust

them again in the managing of the work of

God."^ The Committee of Estates paid no

regard to this remonstrance, a circumstance

which gave such umbrage to Warriston and

the leaders of the western army, that they

drew up another, couched in still stronger

language, on the 30th of October, at Dumfries,

whither they had retired with the army on a

movement made by Cromwell to the west. In

this fresh remonstrance the faction declared

that as it was now manifest that the king was

= Balfour, vol, iv. p. 123. ' Idem, p. 152.
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opposed to tlic work of God and the Coveuants, '

and cleaving to the enemies of both, they would I

not regard him or his interest in their quarrel

with the invaders; that ho oiight not to be

intrusted in Scotland with the exercise of his

power till he gave proofs of a real change in

his conduct; and that an effectual course ought

to be taken for preventing, in time coming,

"his conjunction with the malignant party,"

and for investigating into the cause of his

late flight ; and that the malignants should bo

rendered incapable in future of hurting the

work and people of God.*

A petition having been presented to the

Comuiiltee of Estates on the 9th of November,

requiring a satisfactory answer to the first

remonstrance, a joint declaration was issued by

the king and the committee on the 2.5th,

declaring " the said paper, as it related to the

parliament and civil judicatories, to be scandal-

ous and injurious to his majesty's person, and

prejudicial to his authority." The commission

of the General Assembly having been required

to give their opinion upon the remonstrance,

in so far as it related to religion and church

judicatories, acknowledged that, although it

contained "many sad truths," nevertheless,

the commission declared itself dissatisfied with

the remonsti'ance, which it considered apt to

breed division in kirk and kingdom."^ This

declaration of the commission was not only

approved of by the General Assembly, but

what was of equal importance, that venerable

body passed a resolution declaring that in such a

perilous crisis all Scotsmen might be employed

to defend their country. An exception of

persons " excommunicated, forfeited, notori-

ously profane, or flagitious, and professed ene-

mies and opposers of the Covenant and cause

of God,"" was no doubt made, but this exemp-

tion did not exclude all the " malignants." A
breach was now made in the unity of the

Scottish church, and the nation was split into

two parties—a division which paved the way
for the subjugation of Scotland by Cromwell.

The party wliich adliered to the king was

distinguished by the name of Resohitioners,

and the other was denominated Protesters,

* Balfoar, vol. iv. )i. 136. ° Idem, p. 175.
' Woodrow, Introihution, iii.

a distinction which was kept up for several

years.

Nothing could be more gratifying to Crom-

well than to see the Scots thus divided among

themselves, and keeping up two distinct armies

in the field, mutually opposed to each other.

He had by negotiation and intrigue contributed

to increase the irritation between the two

parties, and had even succeeded in sowing the

seeds of dissension among the leaders of the

western army itself. Strachan, his old friend,

had resigned the command which had been

conferred on Kerr, who was by no means

hearty in the cause. In this situation of

matters Cromwell resolved, in the meantime,

to confine his attention to the operations of the

western army, with the intention, if he suc-

ceeded in defeatmg it, of marching north with

the whole of his forces, and attacking the royal

army. As the castle of Edinburgh was stUl

in the hands of the Covenanters, Cromwell

could only spare a force of about 7,000 horse,

which he accordingly sent west about the end

of November, under Lambert, to watch Kerr's

motions. Intelligence of tliis movement was

received by the parliament then sitting at

Perth, on the 30th of November, in conse-

quence of which Colonel Robert Montgomery

was despatched with tliree regiments to support

the western army, the command of which he

was requested by the parliament to take ; and,

to enforce this order, the committee on military

affairs was directed to send a deputation tc

the western forces to intimate to them the

command of the parliament. Before the arrival,

however, of Montgomery, Kerr was defeated

on the 1st of December, in an attack he made

on Lambert at Ilamilton, in which he himself

was taken prisoner, and the whole of his forces

dispersed. '' This victory gave Cromwell quiet

possession of the whole of Scotland, south of

the Clyde and the Forth, with the exception

of Stirling, and a small tract around it ; and

as the castle of Edinburgh surrendered on the

24th of December, Stirling castle was the only

fortress of any note, south of the Forth, which

remained in the possession of the royalists at

the close of the year.

A considerable time, however, elapsed before

' Balfnur, vol. iv. p. 193— 395.
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Cromwell found LimseK in a condition to

commence his intended campaign beyond the

FortL His inactivity is to he ascribed partly

to an ague with which he was seized in Febru-

ary, 1651, and which had impaired his health

so much that in May he obtained permission

to return to England to recruit his debihtated

constitution ; but a sudden and favourable

change having taken place in the state of his

health, he gladly remained with the army,

which he put in motion towards StirUng on

the 3d of July.

The Scottish parliament was fully aware of

the impending danger, and made the necessary

preparations to meet it, but the Engagers and

the party of Argyle did not always draw

together
;
yet the king had the address, by his

accommodating and insinuating behaviour, to

smooth down many differences, and thus

prepared the way for that ascendency which his

friends, the HamUtons, afterwards obtained.

The coronation of the king took place at Scone,

on the 1st of January, 1651, in pursuance of

an order of the parhament. His conduct on

that occasion added greatly to his growng

popularity. The first trial of strength, to

borrow a modern parliamentary phrase, which

took place in the parhament, was on the 23d

of December, 1650, on the nomination of

colonels to the different horse and foot regi-

ments then in the course of being raised. A
list of them had been submitted to the house

on the 20th, which contained about an equal

number of royalists and Covenanters. This

gave rise to a long debate, but the list was

finally approved of.

Among the colonels of foot, were the Earls

of Athole and Tulliebardine, and the Master of

Gray for Perth ; the lairds of Maclean and

Aidkinlass for Argyle and Bute ; the laird of

Grant and the sheriff of Moray for Nairne,

Elgin, and " Grant's Lands ; " the lairds of

Plusoardine, Balnagowan, the master of Lovat,

and the laird of Lumlair, for Inverness and

Ross ; Lord Sutherland and Henry Mackay of

Skowrie, for Sutherland and Strathnaver ; the

master of Caithness for Caithness : and Dun-

can Macpherson for Badenoch. The clans in

the Highlands and the Isles were to be com-

manded respectively by Macdonald, the tutor

of Macleod, Clanranald, the tutor of Keppoch,

the laird of Lochaber, the tutor of Maclean,

Lochiel, MacneU of Barra, Lauclilane Mackin-

tosh, and the laird of Jura.

'

Argyle and his party made several attempts,

afterwards, to check the rising influence of the

Hamiltons, by opposing the different plans

submitted to the parliament for rendering the

army more efficient, but they were outvoted.

The finishing blow was given to their hopes

by the appomtment of the king to the chief

command of the army, and by the repeal of

the " act of classes," which excluded the royal-

ists from ha\'ing any share in the administra-

tion of the affairs of the kingdom, and fi-om

serving their country.

In expectation of Cromwell's advance, the

Scots had raised, during the spring, strong

fortifications along the fords of the river Forth,

to obstruct his passage, and had entrenched

themselves at the Torwood, having the town

of Stirling at their back, in which position

Cromwell found them when he advanced west

in July. As he considered it dangerous to

attempt to carry such a strong position in the

face of an army of about 20,000 men, (for

such it is said was the number of the Soots), lis

endeavoured, by marches and countermarches,

to draw them out ; but although they followed

his motions, they took care not to commit

themselves, by going too far from their lines

of defence. Seeing no chance of bringing them

to a general engagement, Cromwell adopted

the bold plan of crossing the Frith of Forth

at Queensferry, and of tlirowing himself into

the rear of the Scottish army. While there-

fore, he continued, by his motions along the

Scottish lines, to draw off the attention of the

Scottish commanders from his plan, he, on the

20th of July, sent over Lambert, ^vith a large

division of his army in a number of boats

which had been provided for the occasion.

He landed without opposition, and proceeded

immediately to fortify himself on the hill

between the North Ferry and Tnverkeithing.

General Holbum was immediately despatched

with a large force to keep Lambert in check,

and though the Scots fought with great bravery,

they were defeated. A body of Highlanders

particularly distinguished themselves. The

» Balfour, vol. iv. pp. 210—;;12.
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loss of the Scots was considerable ; and among

the slain wore the young chief of Maclean and

about 100 of his friends and followers. This

victory opened a free passage to Cromwell to

the north of Scotland. He immediately, there-

fore, crossed the Forth with the remainder of

his army, and proceeded to Perth, of which he

took possession on the 2d of August.

While the Scottish leaders were puzzled how

to extricate themselves from the dilemma into

which they had been thrown by the singidar

change which had lately taken place in the

relative position of the two armies, the king

alone seemed free from embarrassment, and at

once proposed to his generals, that, instead of

following Cromwell, or waiting till he should

attack them, they should immediately invade

England, where he expected to be joined by

numerous royalists, who only required his

presence among them at the head of such an

army, to declare themselves. Under existing

circumstances, the plan, though at once bold

and decisive, was certainly judicious, and,

therefore, it is not surprising that it should

have received the approbation of the chiefs of

the army. Having obtained their concurrence,

the king immediately issued a proclamation

on the 30th of July, to the armj', announcing

his intention of marching for England the

following day, accompanied by such of his

subjects as were willing to give proofs of their

loyalty by sharing his fortunes. This appeal

was not made in vain, and Charles found him-

self next morning in full march on the road to

Carlisle, at the head of 11,000, or, as some

accounts state, of 14,000 men. Argyle, as was

to be expected, excused liimseK from accom-

panying the arm}', and obtained permission to

retire to his castle. ^

Although Cromwell was within almost a

day's march of the Scottish army, yet, so

sudden and unexpected had been its departure,

and so secretly had the whole affair been

managed, that it was not until the 4th of

August that he received the extraordinary

intelligence of its departure for England.

Cromwell was now as much embarrassed as

the Scottish commander had lately been, for

' T,eicester's Journal, p. 110. 'Wliitelock, p. 501.

Cl.aiendon, vol. iii. p. 397.

he had not the most distant idea, when he

threw himself so abruptly into their rear, that

they woidd adopt the bold resolution of march-

ing into England, As soon, however, as he

had recovered from the surprise into which

such an alarming event had thrown him, he

despatched letters to the parliament, assuring

them of his intention to follow the Scottish

army without delay, and exhorting them not to

be discouraged, but to rely on his activity. He
also sent Lambert with a force of 3,000 cavalry

to harass the rear of the Scottish army, and for-

warded orders to Harrison, who was then at

Newcastle, to press upon their flank with a

similar number ; and, in a few days, he himself

crossed the Forth \\ith an army of 10,000 men,

and proceeded along the eastern coast, in the

direction of York, leaving Monk behind him

with a force of 5,000 horse and foot to com-

plete the reduction of Scotland.

The Scottish army reached Worcester on

the 22d, and on being mustered the king

foimd that he had at his command only 14,000

men, 2,000 of whom were Englishmen. To

attack this force, large bodies of parliamentaiy

troops were concentrated at Worcester, and on

the 28th of August, when Cromwell arrived to

take the command, the army of the republic

amounted to upwards of 30,000 men, who

hailed the presence of their commander with

rapture. The two armies met on the 3d of

September, the anniversary of the battle of

Dunbar, and the disastrous result is well

known, it being out of place here to enter into

details. The king himself, at the head of the

Highlanders, fought with great bravery : his

example animated the troops, and had he been

supported by Leslie's cavalry, as was expected,

the issue of the struggle might have been

different. As it was, the royal army was

completely defeated, and the king had to pro

vide for his personal safety by flight.

Tills battle, which CromweU admits " was

as stilT a contest for four or five hours as ever

he had seen," was very disastrous to the

royalists, 3,000 of whom were killed on the

spot, and a considerably farger number taken

prisoners, and even the greater part of the

cavalry, who escaped from the city, were after-

wards taken by detachments of the enemy.

The Duke of Hamilton was mortally wounded

2 o



290 GENEEAL HISTOKY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

in the field of battle; the Earls of Derhy,

Lauderdale, Eothes, Cleveland and KeUy,

Lords Sinclair, Kenmure and Grandison, and

Generals Leslie, Middleton, Massey and Mont-

gomery, were made prisoners after the battle.

When the king considered himself free from

immediate danger, he separated, dm-ing the

darkness of the night, from the body of oavaby

whicli surrounded him, and with a party of

60 horse proceeded to Whiteladies, a house

belonging to one Giffard a recusant and royidist,

at which he arrived at an early hour in the

morrdng, after a ride of 25 miles. After a

series of extraordinary adventures and of the

most singular hair-breadth escapes, ho landed

tn safety at Fecamp in Normandy, on the 17th

of October.

While Cromwell was following the king

tlu'ough England, ilonk proceeded to complete

the subjugation of Scotland. He first laid

siege to Stirling castle, iuto which lie tlurew

shells from batteries he had raised, the ex-

plosion of which so alarmed the Higlilanders

who composed the garrison, that they forced

the governor to surrender. All the records of

the kingdom, the royal robes, and part of the

wgalia, which had been locked up in the castle

as a place of perfect security, feU into the

hands of the captors, and were sent by Monk
to England. He next proceeded to Dimdee,

which was strongly fortified and well gar-

risoned, and contained ^vithia it an immense

quantity of costly furniture and plate, besides

a large sum of money, aU of which had been

lodged in the town for safety. Monk, hearing

that the Committees of the Estates and of the

kirk were sitting at Alyth in Angus, sent a

company of horse, who surprised the whole

party and made them prisoners.

When the necessary preparations for an

assaidt had been completed. Monk sent a sum-

mons to Lumsden, the governor of Dundee, to

surrender, but he rejected it with disdain.

The obstinacy of Lumsden exasperated Monk,

who ordered his troops to storm the to'wn, and

to put the garrison and all the inhabitants,

v>-ithout regard to age or sex, to the sword.

The town was accordingly carried by assault

on the 1st of September, and was followed by

all the horrors which an infuriated soldiery

ffOiild inflict upon a defenceless population.

The townsmen gave no aid to the garrison, and

when the repubhcan troops entered the tovra,

they found the greater part of them lying

drunk in the streets. The carnage was stayed,

but not untU 800 males, including the greater

part of tlie garrison, and about 200 women
and children, were killed. Among the slain,

was Lumsden the governor, who, although he

had quarter given him by Captain Kelly, was

nevertheless shot dead by Major Butler as

KeUy was conducting him along the street to

Monk. Besides the immense booty which

was in the town, about 60 ships which were

in the harbour of Dundee with their cargoes,

fell into the hands of the EngHsh. ^

The capture of Dundee was immediately

followed by the volimtary surrender of St.

Andrews, Montrose and Aberdeen. Some of

the Committee of Estates who had been absent

from Adyth, held a meeting at Inverury, to

deliberate on the state of matters, at which the

Marquis of Huntly presided, and at which a

motion was made, to invest him with full

authority to act in the absence of the king,

but the meeting broke up on hearing of

Monk's approach. The committee retii-ed

across the Spey, but Huntly went to Strath-

don along with his forces. Monk did not

proceed farther north than Aberdeen at this

time.

The Marquis of Argyle, who had given great

offence to Cromwell, by his double dealing,

seeing now no chance of opposing successfully

the republican arms, made an attempt at

negotiation, and sent a letter by a trumpeter

to Monk, proposing a meeting at some con-

venient place, " as a means to stop the shedding

of more Christian blood." The only answer

which Monk gave to the messenger, who

arrived at Dundee on the 19th of October,

was, that he could not treat without orders

from the parliament of England. This refusal

on the part of Monk to negotiate, was a sore

disappointment to Argyle, as it disappointed

the hopes he entertained of getting the Enghsh

government to acknowledge a debt which he

claimed from them.^

Monk now turned liis whole attention to

1 Balfour, vol. W. p. -315. Echard, p. 698.
- Heath, pp. 304, 308, 310, 313. Whitelock, pp

514, 534, 543.
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the state of matters in tlie North, where

some forces were still on foot, under the

command of the Marquis of Huntly and Lord

Baloarras. With the former he concluded an

agreement on the 21st of November, luider

wliich Huntly consented to disband his men

;

and on the 3d of December, a similar treaty

was entered into between Baloarras and Colo-

nels Overton and Ldburn. Shortly after the

English army crossed the Spey and entered

Inverness, where they planted a garrison ; so

that before the end of the year, the whole of

the Lowlands and a part of the Higlilands had

submitted to the arms of the republic. ^ To

complete the destruction of the independence

of Scotland, a destruction accomplished less

by the power of her enemy than by the per-

versity of her sons, and to reduce it to a

province of England, the English army was

augmented to 20,000 men, and citadels erected

in several to^vns, and a long chain of military

stations drami across the country to curb the

inhabitants. All the crown lands were declared

public property by the Enghsh parliament, and

the estates of aU persons who had joined in

the English invasions, under the king and the

Duke of Hamilton, were confiscated by the

same authority. A proclamation was issued,

abolishing all authority not derived from the

English parliament : all persons holding public

appointments, whose fidelity to the new order

of things was suspected, were dismissed, and

their places supplied by others of more subser-

vient principles; tlie supreme courts of justice

were abolished, and English judges appointed

to discharge the judicial functions, aided by a

few natives. *

As several bodies of Highlanders still re-

mained under anus in the interior of the High-

lands, Monk directed three distinct parties to

cross the mountains, simidtaneously, in the

summer of 16.52. Whde Colonel Lilbum
advanced from Inverness towards Lochaber on
one side, General Dean led his troops from
Perth in the same direction on the other, and
Colonel Overton landed in Kintyre with a

force from Ayr. But they were all obliged

' B.^lfour, vol. iv. p. .345. Gordon's Continuatim),
p. .i(il.

" Whiteloek, pp. 528, 542. Leicester's Journal, p.
129. Journals, Nov. 19.

speedily to retrace their steps, amid the jeers

and laughter of the Highlanders. ^

The administration of the affairs of Scotland

was committed to Monk, than whom a more

prudent person, and one better calculated to

disarm the indignant feelings of the Scots at

their national degradation, could not have

been selected. But as it was evident that

order could not be restored, or obedience en-

forced, as long as the clergy were allowed to

continue their impertinent meddling m state af-

fairs, he proliibited the meetings of the General

Assembly, and, in one instance, dispersed that

body by a military force. In doing so, it was

afterwards admitted by some of the clergy

themselves, that he had acted wisely, as the

shutting up of the assembly tended greatly to

allay those fierce contentions between the pro-

testers and resolutioners, which, for several

years, distracted the nation, and made them

attend more to the spiritual concerns of their

flocks.^ The spirit of dissension was not,

^ Alluding to Lilburn's expedition, Balfour says,

*'The Frassers came in to tlieni, and condiscendit to

pay them cesso; bot Glengarey stood out, and in effecte

the heighlandmen fooled them home againe to the
lowlandes; some with faire wordes; others stoode to

ther defence ; and the Inglishe finding nothing
amongest them save hunger and strokes, were glad,

(ther bisquet and cheesse being all spent, and ther

clothes worne, with ther horsses out-tyred, ) to returne,

cursing the heighlaudes, to ther winter quarters.

"

He says that General Dean "lost some few men and
horsses in viewing of the heighlanders." But Overton
encountered the greatest danger; for, says the same
writer, " If my Lord Marquesse of Argyle had not
protected him, he and all that wes with him had
gottin ther throttes cutte. So, weill laughin at by
the heighlanders, he wes forced to retiinie with penurey
aneuche, werey glade all of them that ther lives were
saved."—Vol. iv. pp. 349-50.

^ "And I verily believe there were more souls con-

verted to Christ in that short period of time, than in

any season since the Refonnation, though of treeple

its duration. Nor was there ever gi'eater purity and
plenty of the means of grace than was in their time.

Ministers were painful, people were diligent ; and if a
man hade seen one of their solemn communions, where
many congregations mett in great multitudes, some
dozen of Ministers used to preach, and the people

continued, as it were, in a sort of trance, (so serious

were they in spiritual exercises,) for three days at

least, he wouM have thought it a solemnity unknown
to the rest of the world."

—

Kirlcton.
" It is not to be forgotten, that from the year 1652

to the year 1660, there was great good done by the

preaching of the Gospell in the west of Scotland, more
than was observed to have been for twenty or thirty

years before; a great many brought in to Christ Jesus

by a saving work of conversion, which occasioned

through ministers jjreaching nothing all that tymo
but the gospell, and had left off to preach up parlia

nients, armies, leagues, resolutions, and remonstran.**
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however, confined to the clergy, but extended

its witliermg influence to many of the laity,

who, to gratify their revenge, accused one

another of the most atrocious crimes before the

newly constituted tribunaL The English

judges were called to decide upon numerous

acts alleged to have been committed twenty or

thirty years before, of which no proofs were

offered, but extorted confessions in the kirk,

and no less than sixty persons were brought

before them accused of witchcraft, who had

been tortured into an admission of its practices.

All these cases were dismissed, and the new

judges administered the laws throughout with

an equity and moderation which was almost

uuknown before in Scotland, and which formed

a singulai' contrast with the disregard of justice,

and the extreme violence which had of late

disgraced the Scottish tribunals.

With a short interruption, occasioned by an

insurrection, under the Earl of Glencaim, in

William, Ninth Earl of Glencairn.

the Highlands, Scotland now enjoyed tranquU-

Irty tiU the restoration of Charles II., and

which was much in use before, from the year 163S till

that time 52, which occasioned a great number of

li}'pocrytes in the church, who, out of hope of prefer-

ment, honour, riches, and worldly credit, took on the

forme of godliness, but wanted the power of it."

—

Law's MemoriaU.

comparative prosperity and happiness, a com-

pensation in some degree for the loss of hei

liberties. The interruption alluded to took

place in the year 165.3, on the departure of

Monk from Scotland to take the command of

the EngUsh fleet.

In the month of August, 16.33, a meeting

was held at Lochearn, which was attended by

Glencairn, the Earl of Athole, Lord Lorn,

eldest son of the Marquis of Argyle, Glengarry,

Lochiel, Graham of Duchray, Donald Mac-

gregor tutor of Macgregor, Farqidiarson of

Inverey, Robertson of Strowan, Macnaughton

of Macnaughton, and Colonel Blackadder of

TullyaUan. At this meeting, which continued

several days, it was tdtimately agreed that the

persons present should assemble their vassals

and dependents with as little delay as possible,

and place themselves tinder the command of

Glencaim, who was to wait in the neighbour-

hood of Lochearn till the difl'erent parties

should collect and bring together their respec-

tive forces. Six weeks were, however, allowed

to expire before any assemblage took place,

during allwhich time Glencairn roamed through

the neighbouring mountains, attended only by

one companion and three servants. The first

who made his appearance was Graham of

Duchray, at the head of 40 men. He was

followed, in two or three days, by the tutor

of Macgregor, and 80 of that clan. With

this force he went to Duchray house, in Stir-

lingshire, near Loch Ard, where he was joined

by Lord Kenmure, and about 40 horsemen,

and by Colonel Blackadder, with 30 more

from Fife. The Laird of ^Macnaughton also

arrived with 12 horse, and a party of be-

tween 60 and 80 lowlanders, under the com-

mand of Captain Hamilton, brother to the

laird of MOntown. The earl's force thus

amounted to nearly 300 men.

On hearing of the assemblage of this body.

Colonel Kidd, the governor of Stirling castle,

at the head of the greater part of a regiment

of foot, and a troop of horse, marched towards

Aberfoyle, wliich was within three miles of

Glencaim's camp; but having received notice

of his approach, the earl took care to secure

the adjoining pass. He posted his foot to the

best advantage on both sides, and he drew up

the horse under Lord Kenmure in the centra
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Although Kidd must have perceived the great

risk he would run in attempting to carry the

pass, he nevertheless made the attempt, but

his advance was driven back at the first charge

by the lowlanders and Duchray's men, with

whom they first came in contact, -^vith the loss

of about 60 men. The whole of Kidd's

party, thereupon, tiirned their backs and

fled. They were hotly pursued by Glen-

cairn's horse and foot, who killed about 80 of

them.

The news of Kidd's defeat, trifling as it was,

raised the hopes of the royalists, and small

parties of Highlanders flocked daily to Glen-

cairn's standard. Leaving Aberfoyle, he

marched to Lochearn, and thence to Loch

Itannoch, where he was met by several of the

clans. Glengarry brought 300, Lochiel 400,

and Macgregor about 200 men. The Earl of

Athole appeared at the head of 100 horse, and

brought also a regiment of foot, consisting of

about 1,200 men, commanded by Andrew

Drmimiond, brother to Sir James Drummond
of Mechaney, as his lieutenant-colonel. Sh-

Arthur Forbes and some oflicers, with about

80 horsemen, also joined the royal army.

Having despatched some oflicers to the low-

lands, with instructions to raise forces. Glen-

cairn marched north to join Farquharson of

Inverey, who was raising a regiment in Cromar.

In the course of his march, several gentlemen

uf the adjoining country joined him. Morgan,

the English general, who was lying at the time

in Aberdeen, being apprised of Farquharson's

movements, collected a force of 2,000 foot and

1,000 horse, with which he advanced, by forced

marches, towards Cromar, and a brisk attack

upon the outposts of Glencairn's army was the

first intelligence they received of Morgan's ap-

proach. In the situation in which Glencairn

thus found himself imexpeotedly placed, he

had no remedy but an imniediate retreat through

a long and narrow glen leading to the forest of

Abernethy, whicli he was enabled to reach

cliiefly by the bravery of Graham of Duchray,

who, at the head of a resolute party of 40

men, kept in check a body of the enemy who
had entered the glen before the royalists, and

prevented them from securing the passes.

Morgan pursued the fugitives through the glen

very closely, and did not desist till prevented

by the darkness of the night. He thereaftei

returned to Aberdeen.

Glencairn passed about five weelvij in Cromar

and Badenoch, waiting for additional rein-

forcements; and as Lord Lorn had not yet

joined him, he despatcheil Lord Kenmure Avith

100 horse into Argylesliire to urge him to hurry

forward the levies in that quarter. Lorn soon

arrived in Badenoch with 1,000 foot and about

50 horse; but he had not remained above a

fortnight in the field when, on some pretence

or other, he (January 1st, 1654) clandestinely

left the army, and carried off his men along

with him, taking the direction of Euthven

castle, which was then garrisoned by English

troops. Glencairn was greatly exasperated at

Lorn's defection, and sent a party of horse,

under the command of Glengarry and Lochiel,

^vath instructions either to bring him and his

men back to the army, or, in case of refusal,

to attack them. Glengarry followed the

Campbells so hard that he came up with them

within half a mile of the castle. Lord Lorn

escaped, and was followed by his horse, of

whom about 20 were brought back by a party

sent in pursuit by Glengarry; the foot halted

on a hill
, and offered to return to the camp.

Glengarry, who bad had a great antipathy to

the whole race of the Campbells ever since

Montrose's wars, would, contrary to his in-

structions, have attacked them; but Glencairn

fortunately arrived in time to prevent blood-

shed, and having ordered Graham of Duchray

to acquaint them that he coidd not receive any

proposals from them with arms in their hands,

they delivered them up. Glencairn, along

with some officers, then rode up to them, and

having addressed them on the impropriety of

their conduct, they aE declared their willing-

ness to serve the king and to obey him as their

commander, a declaration which both oflicers

and men confirmed with an oath. Their arms

were then restored to them, but they all de-

serted within a fortnight. ^

About this time Glencairn was joined by a

small party of English royalists, under Colonel

Wogan, an enterprising officer, who had landed

at Dover, and ha\dng raised a body of volun-

" Graham of Deuchrie's Account of Glcncaun's Ex
pedition.
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tfters in London, traversed England under the

l)anners of the commonwealth, and entered

Scotland by Carlisle.

Notwithstanding the desertion of the Camp-

bells, Gleucairn's army was so increased by

daily accessions of force that he considered

himself in a condition to cope vnth the enemy,

and, by the advice of his officers, resolved to

descend into Aberdeenshire, and beat up the

quarters of the Englisli. Another reason

which urged him to leave the Higldands was a

scarcity of provisions in the districts which

had been occupied by his army, and which

could no longer afford to support such a large

body of men. Descending by Balveny, he

took up his quarters at "VVhitelums, near the

castle of Kildrummie, belonging to the Earl of

Mar, then garrisoned by the English. After

Ijdng about a fortnight at Whitehmis unmo-

lested, Glencairn raised his camp, and marching

into Morayslure, took possession of Elgin,

where he established his head quarters. Here

he was joined by the Marquis of Montrose,

Lord Forrester, and some country gentlemen.

After spending a month at F^gin, where,

according to Graham of Duclrray's narrative,

the army had " very good quarters, and where

they made themselves merry," the earl received

letters from General Middleton, who had some

time before made his escape from the tower of

London, where he had been imprisoned after

the battle of Worcester, announcing his arrival

in Sutherland, with a commission from the

king, appointing him generalissimo of all the

royal forces in Scotland. Some dissensions

had existed among the royaUsts respecting the

chief command of the army, which had been

finally conceded to Glencairn; but neither he

nor the nobility who were with him, were pre-

pared to expect that the king would have ap-

pointed, to such an important charge, a man

so much their inferior in station as Middleton.

The intelligence was accordingly received with

discontent; but, as the king's commission could

not, without serious injury to the royal cause,

be disputed, in the present juncture they

stifled their displeasure, and Glencairn, in

terms of the instructions he had received from

Middleton to march north, put his army in

motion. Morgan, the English commander,

having drawn together a body of troops, fol-

lowed Glencau-n, between whose rear and Mor-

gan's advanced guard many warm skirmishes

took place.

Glencairn and his men crossed the river

Ness, eight miles above Inverness. The earl

having placed guards along the northern bank

of the river to watch the approach of the

enemy, hastened to Dornoch to meet Middle-

ton. In a few days a grand muster of the

army took place, when it was found to amount

to 3,500 foot, and 1,500 horse. Glencairn

then resigned the command to Middleton, in

presence of the army, and, riding along the

lines, acquainted the troops that he was no

longer their general, and expressed a hope that

they woidd find themselves happy in serving

under such a commander as Middleton. The

troops expressed great dissatisfaction at this

announcement by their looks, and some, "both

officers and soldiers, shed tears, and vowed

that they would serve mtli their old general

in any corner of the world." ^

After the review, the earl gave a sumptuous

entertainment to Middleton and the principal

officers of the army, at which an occurrence

took place which soured the temper of the offi-

cers, and sowed the seeds of new divisions in

the camp. On the cloth being removed, Glen-

cairn proposed the health of the commander-

in-chief, whom he thus addressed :—" My lord

general, you see what a gallant army these

worthy gentlemen here present and I have

gathered together, at a time when it coidd

hardly be expected that any niunber durst meet

together : these men have come out to serve his

majesty, at the hazard of their lives and all that

is dear to them : I hope, therefore, you wiU give

them aU the encoiu'agement to do their duty

that lies in your power." Scarcely had these

words been uttered when Sir George Munro,

who had come over vnth IVIiddleton from France

to act as his lieutenant-general, started up from

liis seat, and addressing liimseLf to the earl,

swore by G— that the men he had that day

seen were nothing but a mimber of thieves and

robbers, and that ere long he would bring a

very different set of men into the field. These

imprudent observations called up Glengarry, but

he was restrained by Glencairn, who said tliat

^ Graham.
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ho was mi)re concerned in the affront put upon

the army by Munro than he was, and, turning

to Munro, he thus addressed him :
—" You,

Sir, are a hase liar ; for they are neither thieves

nor robbers, but brave gentlemen and good

soldiers." A meeting took place in conse-

quence early next morning between Glencairn

and Munro, about two mOes to the south of

Dornoch, when the latter was severely wounded.

The parties then returned to head-quarters,

when Glencairn was put under arrest in his

chamber, by orders of Middleton, and his

Eword taken from him.

The partiality thus shoivu to Munro, who

was the aggressor, and who had sent the chal-

lenge to Glencairn, was exceedingly mortifying

to the earl, which being followed by another

affair which soon took place, and in which the

same partiality was displayed, made him resolve

to retire from the army. The occurrence was

this :—A dispute having taken place on the

merits of the recent quarrel between a Captain

Livingston, a friend of Munro, and a gentleman

of the name of Lindsay, who had accompanied

Lord Napier from the continent, in which

Livingston maintained that Munro had acted

properly, and the contrary insisted upon by

Lindsay ; mutual challenges were given, and

the parties met on the links of Dornoch to

decide the dispute by the sword. Lindsay,

being a superior swordsman, run Livingston

through the heart at the first thrust, and he

expired immediately. Lindsay was immedi-

ately apprehended, and although Glencairn,

backed by other officers, used every exertion to

save him, he was brought to trial before a court-

martial, by order of Middleton, and condemned

to be shot at the cross of Dornoch, a sentence

which was carried into execution the same day.

These unfortunate disputes divided the offi-

cers of the army into two parties, and afforded

but a sorry prognostic of the prospects of the

royalists. Glencairn, no longer able to curb

liis displeasure, slipped off about a fortnight

after Lindsay's death, with his own troop of

horse, and a few gentlemen volunteers—100

horse in all—and took the direction of Assynt.

The laird of Assynt, who had betrayed Mon-
trose, on the arrival of Glencairn's party on

his lands, offered to assist him. to secure the

paPBes, so as to prevent him from being over-

taken that night, of which offei Glencairn,

though distrustful of Macleod, agreed to accept.

Middleton indeed sent a party in pursuit, but

they did not come up with Glencairn, who
reached Kintail the follo^ving day, where he

was well received by the Earl of Seaforth's

people. He remained there a few days, and

afterwards traversed the Highlands tiU he

arrived at KiUin, at the head of Loch Tay,

where he was successively joined by Sir George

Maxwell, the Earl of Selkirk, and Lord For-

rester, each of whom brought a small party of

horse along vidth him, by which additions

his force was increased to 400 horsemen. The

earl now appears, for the first time, to have

seen the impropriety of his conduct in with-

drawing from the army ; but as he could not

endure the idea of returning himself, he endea-

voured to make some reparation by sending

this body north to join Middleton, and sought

a retreat with the laird of Luss at his castle of

Rossdhu, when he despatched some officers to

raise men in the lowlands for the king's service.

In the meantime Monk had returned to

Scotland, and had brought along mth him a

strong reinforcement of troops from England,

with which he joined Morgan in the north, and

marched directly into the Highlands in search

of Middleton. It was the intention of the

latter to have remained for some time in the

Highlands, to have collected all the forces

he possibly could, to make occasional descents

upon the lowlands, and by marches and

countermarches to have distracted the enemy

;

but the advance of Monk into the very

bosom of the Highlands, with a large army,

frustrated his design. Middleton soon found

himself sorely pressed by his able adversary,

who brought forward his army in separate

divisions, yet not so isolated as not to be able

to support each other in case of attack. In

an attempt to elude his pursuers, Middleton

was surprised in a defile near Lochgarry, by

one of these divisions under the command of

Morgan. His men were either slain or dis-

persed, and he himself escaped vrith. difficulty.

The chiefs of the insurrection immediately

made their peace with Monk, who treated

them with great lenity.

'

• Dii oil ray's Xarrative,
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There was one chief, however, whom Monk

ColliJ neither bribe, cajole, nor threaten into

bubmission ; this was the brave and intractable

Sir Ewen or Evan Cameron of Lochiel in the

north-west of Argyleshire, now about 25 years

of age. Having been left an orphan, he was

lirought up till his 18th year under the care

of tlie Marquis of Ai-gyle, who, endeavouring

to instil into him the unsavoury principles of

the Covenanters, put him to school at Inverary

under the guardiansliip of a gentleman of his

own principles. " But young Lochiel preferred

the sports of the field to the labours of the

scliool," and Argylc finding him totally intrac-

table and utterly disgusted 'with covenanting

principles, allowed him to return to Lochaber,

to head liis clan in the 18th year of his age.

In 1651, Charles II. having written to Lochiel

inviting him and liis clan to take arms and

come to the aid of his country and his

sovereign, he, early in spring 1652, was the

first to join Glencairn's expedition.

Monk left no method untried to induce

Locliiel to submit, but, in spite of his

friends' entreaties, he refused to lay do\vu hi

arms. Monk, finding all his attempts useless

resolved to plant a garrison at Inverlochy, (no\v

Fort William,) in order to keep the country in

awe and the chief at home. Lochiel resolved

that Monk should find it no easy matter to

accomplish his task, and took up his station at

Achdalew, 3 luUes west of Inverlochy, on th(

north side of Loch EiL He kept spies in and

around the garrison, who informed liim of all

that was going on. Lochiel, having been in

foiTued tliat the governor was about to despatch

300 of his men, in two vessels, westward, t

cut down wood and carry off cattle, resolved

that they " should pay well for every tree and

every hide." He had at the time only 38 men

beside him, the rest ha\dng been sent off to

secure their cattle and other goods. In spite of

the disparity of numbers, he resolved to watch

and attack the governor's men at a favourable

opportimity.

" The Camerons being some more than 30 in

number, armed partly with musquets, and

partly -with bows, kept up their pieces and

arrows till their very muzzles and points almost

touched their enemies' breasts, when the very

first fire took down above 30. They then laid

on with their swords, and laid about with

incredible fmy. The English defended them-

selves with their musquets and bayonets with

great bravery, but to little purpose. The

skirmish continued long and obstinate : at last

the English gave way, and retreated towards

the ship, with their faces to the enemy, fight-

ing with astonishing resolution. But Lochiel,

to prevent their flight, commanded two or three

of his men to run before, and from behind a

bush to make a noise, as if there was another

party of Highlanders to intercept their retreat.

This took so effectually, that they stopped,

and animated by rage, madness, and despair,

they renewed the skirmish with greater fury

than ever, and wanted nothing but proper

Sir Ewen Cameron of Lochiel.—From a rare print in tbe

collection of W. F. Watson, Esq., Edinburgh.

arms to make Lochiel repent of his stratagem.

They were at last, however, forced to give way,

and betake themselves to then' heels; the

Camerons pursued them chin deep in the sea

;

138 were counted dead of the English, and of

the Camerons only 5 were killed.

" In this engagement, Lochiel himself had

several wonderful escapes. In the retreat nf

the English, one of the strongest and bravo.st

of the officers retired beliind a bush, when he

observed Lochiel pursuing, and seeing hin-
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unaccompanied with any, he leaped out, ami

thought him his prey. They met one another

mth equal fury. The combat was long, and

doubtful. The English gentleman had by

far the advantage in strength and size ; but

Lochiel exceeding him in nimbleness and

a<'ility, in the end tript the sword out of his

hand : upon which, his antagonist flew upon

}iim with amazing rapidity ; they closed, and

wrestled till both fell to the ground in each

other's arms. The English officer got above

Lochiel, and pressed him hard ; but stretching

forth his neck by attempting to disengage

himself, Lochiel, who by this time had his

hands at liberty, with liis left hand seized him

by the collar, and jumpmg at his extended

throat, he bit it with his teeth quite tlirough,

and kept such a hold of his gi'ip, that he

brought away his mouth full ; this, he said,

was the sweetest bite he ever had in his life

time. Lnniediately afterwards, when continu-

ing the pursuit after that encounter was over,

he found his men chin deep in the sea ; he

quickly followed them, and observing a fellow

on deck aiming his piece at him, plunged into

the sea, and escaped, but so narrowly that the

hair on the back part of his head was cut, and

a little of the skin ruffled. In a little while a

similar attempt was made to shoot liim : his

foster-brother tlu-ew himself before him, and

received the shot in his mouth and breast,

preferring his chief's life to his own."i

After Locliiel had joined General Middle-

ton, he heard that the governor of Inverlochy,

taking advantage of liis absence, was cutting

down the woods and collecting all the pro-

visions he could lay hold of. Middletcn

allowed him to return to Lochaber, but with

only 150 men. He soon found that the infor-

mation was quite correct, and in order to

obtain revenge, on the day after his arrival, he

posted his men in different parts of a wood,

about a mile from the garrison, to which the

soldiers resorted every day, to cut down and

bringm wood. Lochiel soon observed upwards

of 400 approaching the wood, and at the most

favourable moment gave his men the signal of

attack. A terrible slaughter ensued among

the governor's men ; 100 fell on the spot, and

' reiinaiit's Tour in Scotland, vol. i. pp. 353-3.55.

the pursuit was carried on to the very walls of

the garrison. The officers were the only

persons who resisted, and not one of them

escaped.

Lochiel, in this manner, continued for a

long time to harass the garrison, frequently

cutting off small detaclunents, partly by strata-

gem and partly by force, until the garrison

became so wary that they ultimately gave him

few opportunities of pouncing upon them.

Even after Middleton and the other chiefs had

capitulated and come to terms, Lochiel refused

to give in. At last, however, after long

cajoling, the obstinate chief was induced to

come to terms, the Marquis of Aigj-le becoming

his surety. He was asked simply to give his

word of honour to live in peace, on which

condition, he and his clan were allowed to

keep their arms as before the war broke out.

Reparation was to be made to Lochiel and hia

tenants, for whatever losses they had sustained

from the garrison, and an indemnity was

granted for aU past offences. In fact, the

treaty was a very liberal bribe to Locliiel to

be quiet. All that was demanded of Locliiel

was, that he and his clan should lay down
their arms in the name of Charles II., before

the governor of Inverlochy, and take them up

in the name of the Commonwealth, no mention

being made of the Protector
;
promising at the

same time to do his best to make his clan

behave themselves. ^

It would be out of place in a History of the

Highlands to enter into a detailed account of

the general history of Scotland during the

Commonwealth, and of the various intrigues

for the restoration of Charles II. There

appears to have been no events of any impor-

tance during this period in the Higlilands,

which at that time were so remote and

inaccessible as to be almost beyond the influ-

ence of the many wise measures introduced

by CromweU for the government of Scotland,

as well as the by no means beneficial strictness

of the presbyterian clergy. BaiUie^ thus sadly

describes the state of some of the noble families

of Scotland about this time :
" The country

lies very quiet ; it is exceeding poor ; trade is

Pennant's Tour in Scotland, vol. i. Appendix.
'' Letters and Journals, vol. iii. p. 387.
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nought ; the English, has all the moneys. Our

nohle families are almost gone : Lennox has

little in Scotland unsold ; Hamilton's estate,

except Arran and the Baronrie of Hamilton, is

sold ; Argyle can pay little animal rent for

seven or eight hundred thousand merks ; and

he is no more drowned in debt than puhhc

hatred, almost of all, both Scottish and

English; the Gordons are gone ; the Douglasses

little better; Eghntoun and Glencairn on the

brink of breaking ; many of our chief famihes

estates are cracking ; nor is there any appear-

ance of any human relief for the time. What
is become of the king and his family we do

not know." Nicoll* writes in the same strain:

" The condition of this nation of Scotland yet

remains sad, by reason of poverty and heavy

burdens." "At the same time," says Dr.

Chambers, 5 "that so great poverty prevailed,

there was such a protection to life and pro-

perty as had never before been known. It

was not we believe without cause, that the

famous Colonel Desborough, in a speech in the

House of Commons (March 17th, 1659), made

it a boast for his party, that a man may ride

over all Scotland, with a s\vitch in his hand

and a himdred pounds in his pocket, wliich he

nould not have done these five hundred years."

In some of the letters sent home by the English

soldiery, we get a slight glimpse into the con-

dition of the Highlands at this time, which

shows that the people generally had made but

little advance in civilization. Their houses,

we are told, were buUt of earth and turf, and

were so low that the horsemen sometunes rode

over them ; the people generally, both men and

women, wore plaids about their middles ; they

were " simple and ignorant in the tilings of

God," and some of them as brutish as heathens

;

nevertheless " some did hear the English

preachers with great attention and gi-oaning."^

By the tact and management of General

Monk, who gradually detached himself from

the cause of the parhament, and espoused that

of the exiled king, and a few other royalists,

the Long Parliament, now reduced to a

" Eump," after having sat nineteen years and

Quoted in Chambers's Domestic Annals, vol. ii. p.

248.
' Dom. Annals, vol . ii. p. 249.

I() .'If, vol. ii. p. 218. Whitelocke's ilfcmOT-inVs.

a half, dissolved itself by its own act, on the

IGth of March, 1660. A new parhament, in

which the cavahers and moderate presbji.eriana

had the majority, met on the 25th of April,

and carried out the wishes of the nation, by

inviting his majesty to come and take posses-

sion of his inlieritance. The king was not

long in obeying the invitation. He was re-

ceived at Dover by Monk, at the head of the

nobihty, whence he proceeded to London,

which he entered on the 29th of May, 1660,

amidst the acclamations of the citizens.

CHAPTEE XVIII.

7

Highlaiid Manners, Customs, &c.—Character of an-

cient Higlilanders—Highland Dress—Superstitions

—Kelpies— Urisks— Daoine Shith— Practices in

the Western Islands

—

Dcis-iuil—Second-sight

—

"Weddings—Social duties—Courage—Love of Coun-
try—Bards—Highlanders' feeling with regard to

death— Hospitality— Clans— Creachs— Cearnachs
or C.ttherans—Chiefs— Relation ol' the Clans to

their Chiefs—Appendix on Highland Dress.

We shall take advantage of the breathing-

space afforded us here, before entering upon

the stirring events of the next century, in

wliich the Highlanders played a most impor-

tant part, to notice such objects connected

with the ancient state of the Highlands, and

the character and condition of the inhabi-

tants in former times, as may be considered

interesting either in a local or national point

of view. It will be seen that our observations

do not apply to the Highlanders of the present

day, as these have lost many of the peculiari-

ties of manners, speech, dress, &c., which

characterized their ancestors. The Higlilands

have undergone considerable change dm-ing the

last century and a half, and the alteration, in a

social point of view, has been on the whole for

the better. The Highlands now are generally

as accessible as the lowlands; the manners,

speech, and occupations of the inhabitants are

becoming more and more assimilated to those

of their lowland neighbours, and to all appear-

' For much of the matter in this chapter we must

confess ourselves indebted to General Stewart's admir-

able and interesting Sketches of the Highlanders, a

well-stored repository of information on all points

connected with the ancient manners and customs of

the Highlands.
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ance, in a very short time, there will remain

little or nothing to distinguish the Scottish

Celt from the Saxon. Although this change

has hy no means been altogether to the advan-

tage of the Highlander,—although many of the

vices as well as the virtues of civilization have

been forced upon him, still, for the sake of the

community at large, the change cannot be re-

gretted, and it is only to be desired that the

lowlanders in turn may be brought to admire

and imitate the noble virtues of their northern

neighbom-s, their courage, fidelity, reverence,

self-respect, and love of independence.

The early history of the Higlilanders presents

Tis with a bold and hardy race of men, filled

with a romantic attachment to their native

mountains and glens, cherisliing an exalted

spirit of independence, and firmly bound to-

gether in septs or clans by the ties of kindred.

Having little intercourse vnth the rest of the

world, and pent up for many centuries within

the Grampian range, the Higlilanders acquired

a peculiar character, and retained or adopted

habits and manners differing widely from those

of their lowland neighbours. " The ideas and

employments, which their seclusion from the

world rendered habitual,— the familiar con-

templation of the most sublime objects of

nature,—the habit of concentrating their affec-

tions witliin the narrow precincts of their own
glens, or the limited circle of their own kins-

men,—and the necessity of imion and self-

dependence in aU difficulties and dangers,

combined to form a pecuUar and original

character. A certain romantic sentiment, the

offspring of deep and cherished feeling, strong

attachment to their country and kindred, and

a consequent disdain of submission to strangers,

formed the character of independence; while

an habitual contempt of danger was nourished

by their solitary musmgs, of which the honour

of their clan, and a long descent from brave

and warlike ancestors, formed the frequent

theme. Thus, their exercises, their amuse-

ments, their modes of subsistence, their mo-
tives of action, their prejudices and their

superstitions, became characteristic, permanent,

and peculiar.

"Firmness and decision, fertility in re-

sources, ardour in friendship, and a generous

•nthusiasm, were the result of such a situation.

such modes of life, and .such habits of thought.

Feeling themselves separated by Nature from

the rest of mankind, and distinguished by

their language, their habits, their manners,

and their dress, they considered themselves

the original possessors of the coimtry, and re-

garded the Saxons of the Lowlands as strangers

and intruders."''

Like their Celtic ancestors, the Highlanders

were tall, robust, and well formed. Early

marriages were unknown among them, and it

was rare for a female who was of a puny sta-

ture and delicate constitution to be honoured

\vith a husband. The following observations

of Martin on the inhabitants of some of the

western islands may be generally applied to

the Highlanders :
—" They are not obliged to

art in forming their bodies, for Nature never

fails to act her part bountifully to them; "per-

haps there is no part of the habitable globe

where so few bodily imperfections are to be

seen, nor any children that go more early. I

have observed several of them walk alone

before they were ten months old: they are

bathed all over every morning and evening,

some in cold, some in warm water; but the

latter is most commonly used, and they wear

nothing strait about them. The mother gener-

ally suckles the child, failing of which, a nurse

is provided, for they seldom bring up any by

hand: they give new born infants fresh butter

to take away the meconium, and this they do

for several days ; they taste neither sugar, nor

cinnamon, nor have they any daily allowance

of sack bestowed on them, as the custom is

elsewhere, nor is the nurse allowed to taste ale.

The generality wear neither shoes nor stockings

before they are seven, eight, or ten years old

;

and many among them wear no nightcaps be-

fore they are sixteen years old, and upwards

;

some use none all their life-time, and these are

not so liable to headaches as others who keep

their heads warm."'

As a proof of the indifference of the High

landers to cold, reference has been made to

their often sleeping in the open air during the

severity of winter. Burt, who resided among

them and wrote in the year 172.5, relates that

he has seen the places which they occupied,

' Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. jqi. 7, S.

» Martin's Western Islands, 2(1 edit. iip. IIM IfcS-
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and whicli were known hj being free from the

snow that deeply covered the ground, except

where the heat of theii bodies had melted it.

The same writer represents a chief as giving

offence to his clan by his degeneracy in forming

the snow into a pillow before he lay down.

" The Higlilanders were so accustomed to sleep

in the open air, that the want of shelter was of

little consequence to them. It was usual be-

fore they lay down to dip their plaids in water,

by which the cloth was less pervious to the

wind, and the heat of their bodies produced a

warmth, which the woollen, if dry, could not

afford. An old man informed me, that a

favourite place of repose was under a cover of

thick overhanging heatL The HigUanders,

in 1745, could scarcely be prevailed on to use

tents. It is not long since those who fre-

quented Lawrence fair, St. Sair's, and other

markets in the Garioch of Aberdeenshire, gave

up the practice of sleeping in the open fields.

The horses being on these occasions left to

shift for themselves, the inhabitants no longer

have their crop spoiled, by their ' upthrough

neighbours,' Avith whom they had often bloody

contentions, in consequence of these uncere-

monious visits."'

As to the antiquity of the picturesque High-

land costume, there has been considerable dis-

cussion. Tin of late years the general opinion

was that tlie plaid, philibeg, and bonnet, formed

the ancient garb of the HigManders, but some

writers have maintained that the philibeg is of

modern invention, and that the truis, which

consisted of breeches and stockings in one

piece, and made to tit close to the limbs, was

the old costume. That the truis is very

ancient in the Highlands is probable, but it

was chiefly confined to the higher classes, who
always used it when travelling on horseback.

At p. 4 of tliis volume, fig. 2 shows a very

early form of Higliland costume ; and although

rude, it bears a strong resemblance to the more

modern belted plaid. In an appendix to this

chapter vnll be found a collection of extracts

from various writers, reaching back to a very

early period, and containing allusions to the

peculiar form and pattern of the Highland

dress, proving that, in its simple form, it lays

" Logan, vol. i. pp. 404, 405.

claim to considerable antiquity. For these

extracts we are indebted to the admirable pub-

lication of the lona club, entitled Collectanea

de rebus Alhanicis.

The following is a description of the various

parts of the Highland costume :—The Breacan-

feile, literally, the variegated or chequered

covering, is the original garb of the Highland-

ers, and forms the chief part of the costrmie

;

but it is now almost laid aside in its simple

form. It consisted of a plain piece of tartan

from four to six yards in length, and two yards

broad. The plaid was adjusted with much

nicety, and made to surround the waist in great

plaits or folds, and was firmly bound round

the loins with a leathern belt in such a manner

that the lower side fell down to the middle of

the knee joint, and tlien, wliile there were

the foldings behind, the cloth was double

before. The upper part was then fastened on

the left shoidder with a large brooch or pin,

so as to display to the most advantage the

tastefulness of the arrangement, the two ends

being sometimes suffered to hang down; but

that on the right side, which was necessarily

the longest, was more usually tucked under the

belt. In battle, in travelling, and on other

occasions, this added much to the commodi-

ousness and grace of the costume. By this

arrangement, the right arm of the wearer was

left uncovered and at fidl liberty ; but in wet

or very cold weather the plaid was thrown

loose, by wliich both body and shoulders were

covered. To give free exercise for both arms

in case of need, the plaid was fastened across

the breast by a large silver bodkin, or circidar

brooch, often enriched with precious stones, or

imitations of them, ha^vlng mottos engraved,

consisting of allegorical and figurative sen-

tences. 1 Maoculloch, we think, in his jaunty

off-hand way, has very happdy conjectured

what is Hkely to have been the origin of this

part of Higliland dress. " It does not seem

very difficult," he says,^ "to trace the origin

of the belted plaid ; the true and characteristic

dress from which the other modifications have

been derived. It is precisely, as has been

often said, the expedient of a savage, imable

' Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 74.

• Highlands, vol. i. p. 180.
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or unwilling to convert the web of cloth wliioli

he had procured, into a more convenient shape.

EoUing one extremity round his body, the

remainder was th^o^vn over his shoulder, to be

used as occasion should require, in covering

the rest of his person." It indeed appears

to be a well authenticated fact that the kilt

or philiheg, as distinct from the belted plaid,

is a comparatively modern article of dress

in the Highlands, having been the invention

of an Englisliman who, while superintend-

ing some works in Lochaber about 1728,

induced his workmen to separate that part of

the ancient garment which came over the

shoulder, and which encumbered their move-

ments, from the part which surrounded the

loins, retaining only the latter.

As the breacan was without pockets, a purse,

called sporan by the Higlilanders, was fastened

or tied in front, and was made of goats' or

badgers' skin, sometimes of leather, and was

neither so large nor so gaudy as that now in

use. People of rank or condition ornamented

their purses sometimes with a silver mouth-

piece, and fixed the tassels and other appen-

dages with silver fastenings ; but in general

the mouthpieces were of brass, and the cords

employed were of leather neatly interwoven.

The sporan was divided into several compart-

ments. One of these was used for holding a

watch, another money, &c. The Highlanders

even carried their shot in the sporan occasion-

ally, but for this purpose they commonly car-

ried a waUet at the right side, in wliich they

also stowed when travelling, a quantity of

meal and other provisions. This military knap-

sack was called dorlach by the Highlanders.

The use of stockings and shoes is compara-

tively of recent date among the Higlilanders.

Originally they encased their feet in a piece of

untanned hide, cut to the shape and size of the

foot, and drawn close together with leather

thongs, a practice which is observed even at

the present day by the descendants of the

Scandinavian settlers in the Shetland islands,

where they are called rivelms; but tliis mode
of covering the feet was far from being gen-

eral, as the greater part of the population went

barefooted Such was the state of the High-

landers who fought at Killiecrankio ; and Burt,

who wrote in the early part of the 1 8th century.

says that he visited a well-educated and polite

Laird, in the north, who wore neither shoes

nor stockings, nor had any covering for his

feet. A modern writer observes, that when
the HigUand regiments were embodied during

the French and American wars, hundreds of

the men were brought down without either

stockings or shoes.

The stockings, which were originally of the

same pattern with the plaid, were not knitted,

but were cut out of the web, as is still done in

the case of those worn by the common soldiers

in the Highland regiments ; but a great variety

of fancy patterns are now in use. The garters

were of rich colours, and broad, and were

wrought in a small loom, which is now almost

laid aside. Their texture was very close,

which prevented them from wrinkling, and

displayed the pattern to its fuU extent. On
the occasion of an anniversary cavalcade, on

Michaelmas day, by the inhabitants of the

island of North Uist, when persons of all ranks

and of both sexes appeared on horseback, the

women, in return for presents of knives and

purses given them by the men, presented the

latter " with a pair of fine garters of divers

colours." '^

The bonnet, of which there were various

patterns, completed the national garb, and

those who could afford had also, as essential

accompaniments, a dirk, with a knife and fork

stuck in the side of the sheath, and solnetimes

a spoon, together with a pair of steel pistols.

The garb, however, differed materially in

quality and in ornamental display, according

to the rank or ability of the wearer. The

short coat and waistcoat worn by the wealthy,

were adorned with silver buttons, tassels, em-

broidery, or lace, according to the taste of the

wearer or fashion of the times, and even

" among the better and more provident of the

lower ranks," as General Stewart remarks,

silver buttons were frequently found, which

had come do'wn to them as an inheritance of

long descent. The same author observes, that

the reason for wearing these buttons, which

were of a large size and of sohd silver, was,

that their value might defray the expense of a

decent fimeral in the event of the wearer falling

' M.wtin's Western Islands, 2d edit. p. 80.
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ill battle, or dying in a strange country and at

a distance from his friends. Tlie officers of

Maokay's and Munroe's Highland regiments,

who served under Gustavus Adolphus in the

wars of 1626 and 1638, in addition to rich

buttons, wore a gold chain round the neck, to

secure the owner, in case of being wounded or

taken prisoner, good treatment, or as paj-ment

fur futui'e ransom.*

Although shoe buckles now form a part of

the Highland costume, they were unknown in

the Highlands 150 years ago. The ancient

Highlanders did not wear neckcloths. Their

shirts were of woollen cloth, and as linen was

long expensive, a considerable time elapsed

before linen shirts came into general use. We
have heard an old and intelligent Highlander

remark, that rheumatism was almost, if not

wholly, imknown in the Highlands untO. the

introduction of linen shirts.

It is observed by General Stewart, that

" among the circumstances which influenced

the military character of the Higlilanders, their

peculiar garb was conspicuous, which, by its

freedom and lightness, enabled them to use

their limbs, and to handle their arms with ease

and celerity, and to move with great speed

when employed with either cavalry or light

infantry. In the wars of Gustavus Adolphus,

in the civil wars of Charles I., and on various

other occasions, they were often mixed with

the cavalry, affording to detached squadrons

tlie incalculable advantage of support from

infantry, even in their most rapid movements."

" I observed," says the author of ' Memoirs of

a Cavalier,' speaking of the Scots army in

1640, "I observed that these parties had

always some foot with them, and yet if the

horses galloped or pushed on ever so forward,

the foot were as forward as they, which was

an extraordinary advantage. These were those

they call Highlanders ; they would run on foot

with all their arms, and all their accoutrements,

and kept very good order too, and kept pace

with the horses, let them go at what rate they

would."

The dress of the women seems to require

some little notice. Till manlage, or till they

arrived at a certain age, they went with the

' Stewart's Sietches, vol. i. p. 78.

head bare, the hair being tied with bandages

or some sKght ornament, after which they

wore a head-dress, called the curch, made of

Unen, wluch was tied under the chin; but

when a young woman lost her virtue and

character she was obliged to wear a cap, and

never afterwards to appear bare-headed. Mar-

tin's observations on the dress of the females

of the western islands may be taken as giving

a pretty correct idea of that worn by those of

the Higlilands. " The women wore sleeves of

scarlet cloth, closed at the end as men's vests,

with gold lace round them, having plate but-

tons set with fme stones. The head-dress was

a fine kerchief of linen, strait about the head.

The plaid was tied before on the breast, with

a buckle of sUver or brass, according to the

quality of the person. I have seen some of

the former of one hundred merks value; the

whole curiously engraved with various animals.

There was a lesser buckle which was worn in

the middle of the larger. It had in the centre

a large piece of crystal, or some finer stone, of

a lesser size." The plaid, which, with the ex

ception of a few stripes of red, black, or blue,

waK white, reached from the neck almost to

the feet; it was plaited, and was tied round

the waist by a belt of leather, studded with

small pieces of silver.

The antiquity of the tartan has been called

in question by several \vTiters, who have main-

tained that it is of modern invention ; but

they have given no proofs in support of their

assertion. In the appendix to this chapter it

will be seen that, as far back as the years 1538

and 1597, mention is made of this species of

cloth ; and in the account of charge and dis-

charge of John, Bishop of Glasgow, Treasurer

to King James III. in 1471, the follomng

entries occur :

—

" An elne and ane halve of blue tartane

to lyne his gowne of cloth of gold, £110 6

" Four elne and ane halve of tartane for a

sparwurt abun his credill, price ano

elne, 10s 2 ."i

" Halve ane elne of duble tartane to lyne

collars to her lady the Queue, price

8 shillings."

It is not at aU improbable that Joseph's

well-known " coat of many colours" may have

been somewhat of the same nature as tartan
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and the ^vlite^ of the article Tartan in Cham-

lers's Enctjdojpcedia says, " this is probably

the oldest pattern ever woven ; at all events

the so-caUed shepherd's plaid of Scotland is

known to have a very remote antiquity amongst

the eastern nations of the world." It has been

proved by Logan, from Diodorus, Pliny, and

other ancient writers, that variegated cloth was

in common use for purposes of dress among

the continental Celts.

When the great improvements in the pro-

cess of dyeing by means of chemistry are

considered, it will appear surprising, that with-

out any knowledge of this art, and without

the substances now employed, the Higlilanders

should have been able, from the scanty materials

which their country afforded, to produce the

beautiful and lasting colours which distinguish

the old Highland tartan, some specimens of

which are understood stiU to exist, and which

retain much of their original brilliancy of

colouring. " In dyeing and arranging the

various colours of their tartans, they displayed

no small art and taste, preserving at the same

time the distinctive patterns (or sets, as they

were called) of the different clans, tribes, fami-

lies, and districts. Thus, a Macdonald, a

Campbell, a Mackenzie, &c., was known by

his plaid ; and, in like manner, the Athole,

Glenorchy, and other colours of different dis-

tricts, were easily distinguishable. Besides

those general divisions, industrious housewives

had patterns, distinguished by the set, superior

quality, and fineness of cloth, or brightness

and variety of the colours. In those times,

when mutual attachment and confidence sub-

sisted between the proprietors and occupiers of

land in the Highlands, the removal of tenants,

except in remarkable cases, rarely occurred

;

and, consequently, it was easy to preserve and

perpetuate any particular set or pattern, even

among the lower orders."'

The Highlanders, in common with most

other nations, were much addicted to supersti-

tion. The peculiar aspect of their country, in

which nature appears in its wildest and most

romantic features, exhibiting at a glance sharp

and rugged mountains, with dreary wastes

—

vide-stretched lakes, and rapid torrents, over

* Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 7S.

which the tliimders and lightnings, and tem-

pests, and rains, of heaven, exhaust their

terrific rage, wrought upon the creative powers

of tlio imagination, and from these appearances,

the Highlanders " were naturally led to ascribe

every disaster to the influence of superior

powers, in whose character the predominating

feature necessarily was malignity towards the

human race."'

The most dangerous and most malignant

creature was the Ttelpie, or water-horse, which

was supposed to allure women and children

to his subaqueous haunts, and there devour

them. Sometimes he would swell the lake or

torrent beyond its usual Kmits, and overwhelm

the imguarded traveller in the flood. The

shepherd, as he sat upon the brow of a rock in

a summer's evening, often fancied he saw this

animal dasbing along the surface of the lake,

or browsing on the pasture-ground upon its

verge.

The urisks, who were supposed to be of a

condition somewhat intermediate between that

of mortal men and spirits, " were a sort of

lubbary supematurals, who, like the hroionies

of England, could be gained over by kind

attentions to perform the drudgery of the farm;

and it was believed that many families in the

Higlilands had one of the order attached to

it."^ The urisks were supposed to live dis-

persed over the Highlands, each having his

own wild recess ; but they were said to hold

stated assemblies in tlie celebrated cave called

Coire-nan-Uriskin, situated near the base of

Ben-Venue, in Aberfoyle, on its northern

shoulder. It overhangs Loch Katrine " in

solemn grandeur," and is beautifully and faith-

fully described by Sir Walter Scott. ^

' (.'tTaha.Ta'a Sketches of Perthshire. " Idem.

^ '* It was a wild and strange retreat,

As e'er was trod by outlaw's feet.

The dell, upon the mountain's crest,

Yawned like a gash on warrior's breast

;

Its trench had staid full many a rock,

Hurl'd by primeval earthquake shock
From Ben- Venue's grey summit wild,

Anil here, in random ruin piled,

They frowned incumbent o'er the spot.

And formed the rugged sylvan grot.

The oak and birch, with mingled shade,

At noontide there a twilight made.
Unless where short and sudden shone
From straggling beani on cliff or stone,

With such a glimpse as prophet's eyo
Gains on thy depth. Futurity
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The Jirisks, though generally inclined to

mischief, were supposed to relax in their pro-

pensity, if kindly treated by the families which

they haimted. They were even serviceable in

some instances, and in this point of view were

often considered an acquisition. Each family

regularly set down a bowl of cream for its

urisk, and even clothes were sometimes added.

The urisk resented any omission or want of

attention on the part of the family ; and tradi-

tion says, that the urisk of Glaschoil, a small

farm about a mile to the west of Ben-Venue,

having been disappointed one night of his bowl

of cream, after performing the task allotted

him, took his departure about day-break, utter-

ing a horrible shriek, and never again returned.

The Daoine SJiith, or SM (men nf peace),

or as they are sometimes called, Daoine matha

(good men), come next to be noticed. Dr.

Graham considers the part of the popular

superstitions of the Highlands which relates

to these imaginary persons, and which is to

this day retained, as he observes, in some degree

of purity, as " the most beautifid and perfect

branch of Highland mythology."

Although it has been generally supposed

that the mythology of the Daoine Shi' is the

same as that respecting the fairies of England,

as portrayed by Shakspeare, in the Midsummer

Night's Dream, and perhaps, too, of the Orien-

tals, they differ essentially in many important

points.

The Daoine Shi', or men of peace, who are

the fairies of the Higlilanders, " though not

absolutely malevolent, are believed to be a

peevish repining race of beings, who, possess-

ing themselves but a scanty portion of happi-

ness, are supposed to envy mankind their more

complete and substantial enjoyments. They

No mnrraur wak'd the solemn still,

Save tinkling of a fountain rill

;

But when the wind cliafed with the lake,

A sullen sound would upward break,

With dashing hollow voice, that spoko
The incessant war of wave and rock.

Suspended cliffs, with hideous sway,

Seem'd nodding o'er the cavern grey.

Grey Superstition's whisper dread.

Debarred the spot to vidgar tread
;

For there, she said, did fays resort.

And satyrs hold their sylvan court.

By moon-light tread their mystic maze,

And blast the rash beholder's gaze."

Lady of Oie Lake, c. iii. s.

are supposed to enjoy, in their subterraneous

recesses, a sort of shadowy happiness, a tinsel

grandeur, which, however, they would willingly

exchange for the more solid joys of mortals."^

Green was the colour of the dress which these

men of peace always wore, and they were sup-

posed to take offence when any of the mortal

race presimied to wear their favourite colour.

The Highlanders ascribe the disastrous result

of the battle of KiUiecrankie to the circum-

stance of Viscomit Dundee having been dressed

in green on that Ul-fated day. This colour is

even yet considered ominous to those of his

name who assume it.

The abodes of the Daoine Shi' are supposed

to be below grassy eminences or knolls, where,

during the night, they celebrate their festivi-

ties by the light of the moon, and dance to

notes of the softest music. * Tradition reports

that they have often allured some of the

human race into their subterraneous retreats,

consisting of gorgeous apartments, and that

they have been regaled with the most sump-

tuous banquets and delicious wines. Their

females far exceed the daughters of men in

beauty. If any mortal shall be tempted to

partake of their repast, or join in their plea-

sures, he at once forfeits the society of his

fellow-men, and is bound down irrevocably to

the condition of a Shi'ich, or man of peace.

"A woman," says a Highland tradition, "was

conveyed, in days of yore, into the secret

recesses of the men of peace. There she was

recognised by one who had formerly been an

ordinary mortal, but who had, by some fatality,

become associated with the Shi'ichs. This

acquaintance, still retaining some portion of

human benevolence, warned her of her danger,

and counselled her, as she valued her liberty,

to abstain from eating or drinking with them

* Graham's Sketches.

' The belief in Fairies is a popular superstition

among the Shetlanders. The margin of a small lake

called the Sandy l^och, about two miles from Lerwick,

is celebrated for having been their favourite resort.

It is said that they often walk in procession along the

sides of the loch in different costumes. Some of the

natives used frequently, when passing by a knoll, to

stop and listen to the music of the fairies, and when
the music ceased, they would hear the rattling of the

pewter plates which were to be used at supper. The
fairies sometimes visit the Shetland bams, from which

they are usually ejected by means of a flail, which

the proprietor wields with great agilitj', thumping
and thrashing in every direction.
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for a certain space of time. She complied

with the counsel of her friend ; and when tlie

period assigned was elapsed, she found herself

again upon earth, restored to the society of

mortals. It is added, that when she had

examined the viands which had been presented

to her, and wliich had appeared so tempting

to the eye, they were found, now that the

enchantment had been removed, to consist

only of the refuse of the earth."

Some mortals, however, who had been so

unhappy as to fall into the snares of the

Shi'ichs, are generally believed to have obtained

a release from Fairyland, and to have been

restored to the society of their friends. Ethert

Brand, according to the legend, was released

by the intrepidity of his sister, as related by

Sir Walter Scott in the fourth Canto of the

I.adv of the Lake :

—

" She crossed liim thrice that lady bokl

:

He rose beneath her hand,

The fairest kniglit on Scottish mould,

Her brother, Ethert Brand !

"

A recent tradition gives a similar story,

axcept in its unfortunate catastrophe, and is

thus related by Dr. Patrick Graham in his

" Sketches of Perthshire."

The Rev. Eobert Kirk, the first translator

of the Psalms into Gaelic verse, had formerly

been minister at Balquidder, and died minister

of Aberfoyle, in 1688, at the early age of 42.

His gravestone, which may be seen near the

east end of the church of Aberfoyle, bears the

inscription which is given underneatL* He
was walking, it is said, one evening in his

night-go-mi, upon the little eminence to the

west of the present manse, which is stOl

reckoned a Dim-3h.i\ He fell down dead, as

was believed j but this was not his fate :

—

" It was between the night and day.

When the fairy king lias power.

That he sunk down {but not) in sinful fray,

And, "twixt life and death, was snatched away,

To the joyless Elfin bower."

Mr. Kirk was the near relation of Mr.

Grahame of Duchiay. Shortly after his funeral,

he appeared in the dress in which he had sunk
down, to a mutual relation of his own and of

' ROBERTUS KiP.K, A. M., LiXGtJJS HiiiEENn(c)j
t.lTMEN, ObhT, &C.

Ducliray. " Go," said he to him, " to my
cousin Duchray, and tell him that I am not

dead ; I fell down in a swoon, and was carried

into Fairy-land, where I now am. Tell him,

that when he and my friends are assembled at

the baptism of my cliild—for he had left his

wife pregnant—I will appear in the room, and

that if he throws the knife which he holds in

his hand over my head, I wUl be released, and

restored to human society." Tlie man, it

seems, neglected for some time, to deliver the

message. Mr. Kirk appeared to him a second

time, threatening to haunt him night and day

tin he executed his commission, which at

length he did. The day of the baptism arrived.

They were seated at table. Mr. Kirk entered,

but the laird of Duchray, by some unaccount-

able fatality, neglected to perform the pre-

scribed ceremony. Mr. Kirk retired by another

door, and was seen no more. It is firmly

believed that he is, at this day, in Fairy-land.

Another legend in a similar strain is also

given as communicated by a very intelligent

young lady :—

-

"A young man roaming one day through

the forest, observed a number of persons, all

dressed in green, issuing from one of those

round eminences which are commonly accounted

fairy hills. Each of them, in succession, called

upon a person by name, to fetch his horse.

A caparisoned steed instantly appeared ; they

all mounted, and sallied forth into the regions

of the air. The young man, like Ali Baba in

the Arabian Nights, ventured to pronounce the

same name, and called for his horse. The steed

immediately appeared ; he mounted, and was

soon joined to the fairy choir. He remained

with them for a year, going about with them

to fairs and weddings, and feasting, though

unseen by mortal eyes, on the victuals that

were exhibited on those occasions. They had,

one day, gone to a wedding, where the cheer

was abundant. During the feast the bride-

groom sneezed. The young man, according to

the usual custom, said, ' God bless you.' Tlie

fairies were ofi'ended at the pronunciation

of the sacred name, and assiu'ed liim, that

if he dared to repeat it they woidd punish

him. The bridegroom sneezed a second time.

He repeated his lilessing ; they threatened

more than tremendous vengeance. He sneezpff
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a third time ; he blessed liim as before. The

fairies were enraged ; they tumbled him from

a precipice, but he found himself unhurt, and

was restored to the society of mortals."

The Shi'ichs, or men of peace, are supposed

to have a design against new-born children,

and women in childbed, whom, it is stUl

universally believed, they sometimes carry off

into their secret recesses. To prevent this

abduction, women in childbed are closely

watched, and are not left alone, even for a

single moment, tiU the child is baptized, when

the Shi'ichs are supposed to have no more

power over them.
''

The following tradition wiU illustrate tliis

branch of the popular superstition respecting

the Shiichs : A woman whose new-born cliild

had been conveyed by them into their secret

abodes, was also carried thither herself, to

remain, however, only until she should suckle

her infant. She one day, during this period,

observed the Shi'ichs busily employed in mix-

ing various ingredients in a boiling cauldron
;

and as soon as the composition was prepared,

she remarked that the}' aU carefully anointed

their eyes with it, laying the remainder aside

for future use. In a moment when they were

all absent, she also attempted to anoint her

eyes with the precious drug, but had time to

apply it to one ej'e only, when the Daoine Shi'

returned. But with that eye, she was hence-

forth enabled to see every thing as it really

passed in their secret abodes ; she saw every

object, not as she had hitherto done, in decep-

tive splendour and elegance, but in its genuine

colours and form. The gaudy ornaments of

the apartment were reduced to the naked walls

of a gloomy cavern. Soon after, having dis-

charged her ofiice, she was dismissed to her

own home. Still, however, she retained the

faculty of seeing with her medicated eye, every

' The Fairies of Shetland appear to be bolder than
the Shi'ichs of the Highlands, for they are believed to

carry off young children even after baptism, taking

care, however, to subytitute a cabbage stock, or some-

thing else in lieu, which is made to assume the appear-

ance of the abstracted child. The unhappy mother
must take as much care of this phantom as she did of

her child, and on no account destroy it, otherwise, it

is believed, the fairies will not restore her child to her.

"This is not my bairn," said a mother to a neighbour

who was condoling with her on the wasted appearance

of her infant, then sitting on her knee,—"this is not

my bairc—may the d—1 rest where my bairn now is!"

thing that was done, any where in her presence,

by the deceptive art of the order. One day,

amidst a throng of people, she chanced to

observe the Shi'ich, or man of peace, in whose

possession she had left her child, though to

every other eye in\'isible. Prompted by

maternal affection, she inadvertently accosted

him, and began to inquire after the welfare of

her child. The man of peace, astonished at

thus being recognised by one of mortal race,

sternly demanded how she had been enabled

to discover him Awed by the terrible frown

of his countenance, she acknowledged what

she had done. He spat into her eye, and

extinguished it for ever.

The Shi'ichs, it is stQl believed, have a great

propensity for attending funerals and weddings,

and other public entertainments, and even

fairs. They have an object in this ; for it is

believed that, though invisible to mortal eyes,

they are busily emploj'ed in carrj-ing away the

substantial articles and provisions which are

exhibited, in place of which they substitute

shadowy forms, having the appearance of the

things so purloined. And so strong was the

behef in this mythology, even tdl a recent

period, that some persons are old enough to

remember, that some individuals would not eat

any thing presented on the occasions alluded

to, because they believed it to be unsubstantial

and hurtful.

As the Shi'ichs are supposed to be pre-

sent on all occasions, though invisible, the

Highlanders, whenever they allude to them, do

so in terms of respect. This is, however, done

as seldom as possible ; and when the Shi'ichs are

casually mentioned, the Highlanders add some

propitiatory expression of praise to avert their

displeasure, which they greatly dread. This

reserve and dread on the part of the High-

landers, is said to arise from the peevish envy

and jealousy which the Shi'ichs are believed to

entertain towards the human race. Although

beheved to be always present, watching the

doings of mortals, the Shi'ichs are supposed to

be more particular in their attendance on

Friday, on which day they are believed to

possess very extensive influence. They aie

beheved to be especially jealous of what may

be said concerning them ; and if they are at

all spoken of on that day, which is never
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done without great reluctance, the Highlanders

uniformly style them the Daoine matlia, or

good men.

According to the traditionary legends of the

Highlanders, the Shi'ichs are helieved to be of

both sexes ; and it is the general opinion among

the HigUanders that men have sometimes

cohabited vnih. females of the Slii'ich race,

who are in consequence called Leannan Shi'.

These mistresses are believed to be very kind

to their mortal paramours, by revealing to

them the knowledge of many tilings both

present and future, which were concealed from

the rest of mankind. The knowledge of the

medicinal virtues of many herbs, it is related,

has been obtained in tliis way from the

Leannan Shi'. The Daoine Shi' of the other

sex are said, in their turn, to have sometimes

held intercourse with mistresses of mortal race.

This popular superstition relating to the

Daoine Shi', is supposed, with good reason, to

have taken its rise in the times of the Druids,

or rather to have been invented by them after

the overthrow of their hierarchy, for the pm-
pose of preserving the existence of their order,

after they had retreated for safety to caves and

the deep recesses of the forest. This idea

receives some corroboration from the Gaelic

term, Dniidheachd, which the Highlanders

apply to the deceptive power by which the

men of peace are believed to impose upon the

senses of mankind, " founded, probably, on

the opinion entertained of old, concerning the

magical powers of the Druids. Deeply versed,

according to Cesar's information, as the Druids

were, in the higher departments of philosophy,

and probably acquainted with electricity, and

various branches of chemistry, they might find

it easy to excite the belief of their supernatural

powers, in the minds of the uninitiated

vulgar."' The influence of this powerful

order upon the popular belief was felt long

after the supposed era of its extinction ; for it

was not until Cliristianity was introduced into

the Highlands, that the total suppression of

the Druids took place. Adamnan mentions

in his hfe of St. Columba, the mocidruidi, (or

sons of Druids,) as existing in Scotland in the

tiine of Columba ; and he infoims us, " that

' Graham's Sketches.

the saint was interrupted at the castle of tho

king (of the Picts), in the discharge of hia

religious olfioes, by certain magi;" a term, by
the bye, appKed by Pliny to the order of the

Druids. The following passage from an

ancient Gaelic MS. ' in the possession of the

Highland Society of Scotland, supposed to be

of the 12th or 13th century, is conjectured to

refer to the incident noticed by Adamnan.
" After this, St. Columba went upon a time to

the king of the Picts, namely, Bruidhi, son of

Jlilchu, and the gate of the castle was shut

against him ; but the ii'on locks of the town

opened instantly, through the prayers of

Columb CUle. Then came the son of tho

king, to wit, Maelchu, and his Druid, to argue

keenly against Columb Cille, in support of

paganism."

IMartin relates, that the natives of South-

Uist beheved that a valley called Glenslyte,

situated between two mountains on the oast

side of the island, was haunted by spirits,

whom they called the Great Men, and that if

any man or woman entered the valley without

first making an entire resignation of themselves

to the conduct of the great men, they would

infallibly grow mad. The words by which

they gave themselves up to the guidance of

these men are comprehended in three sentences,

wherein the glen is twice named. This author

remonstrated with the inhabitants upon this

" piece of silly credidity," but they answered

that there had been recently an instance of a

woman who went into the glen ^\'ithout resign-

ing herself to the guidance of the great men,

"and immediately after she became mad; which

confirmed them in their unreasonable fancy."

He also observes, that the people who resided

in the glen in summer, said, they sometimes

heard a loud noise in the air like men speaking.'

The same writer mentions a universal custom

among the inhabitants of the Western Islands,

of pouring a cow's milk upon a little hiU, or

big stone, where a spiiit they called Brownie,

was believed to lodge, which spirit always

appeared in the shape of a tall man, with very

long bro'\vn hair. On inquiring " from several

well-meaning women, who, imtU of late, had

' MS. No. IV. noticed in the Appendix to the
Report on the Poems of Ossian, p. 310.

'^ Western Islands, 2d ed. p. 86.
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practised it," tliey told Martin that it had

been transmitted to them by their ancestors,

who believed it was attended with good for-

tune, but the most credidous of the vulgar had

then laid it aside.

It was also customary among the " over-

curious," in the Western Islands, to consult an

in\'isible oracle, concerning the fate of families,

battles, &c. This was done tliree different

ways ; the first was by a company of men, one

of whom being chosen by lot, was afterwards

carried to a river, the boundary between two

villages: four of the company seized on him,

and having shut his eyes, they took him by

the legs and arms, and then tossing him to

and fro, struck his posteriors with force against

the bank. One of them then cried out. What
is it you have got here? Another answered, A
log of birch wood. The other cried again. Let

his invisible friends appear from all quarters,

and let them relieve him, by giving an answer

to our present demands ; and in a few minutes

after, a number of little creatures came from

the sea, who answered the question, and dis-

appeared suddenly. The man was then set at

liberty, and they all returned home to take

their measures according to the prediction of

their false prophets. Tliis was always prac-

tised at night.

The second way of consulting the oracle was

by a party of men, who tu'st retired to solitary

places, remote from any house, and then

singling out one of their number, wrapt him
in a large cow's hide, which they folded about

him, covering all but his head, in which pos-

ture they left him all night until his invisible

friends reKeved him by giving a proper answer

to the question put; which answer he received,

as he fancied, from several persons he found

about him all that time. His companions

returned to him at break of day when he com-

municated his news to them, which it is said

" often proved fatal to those concerned in such

unlawfid inquiries. "^

The third way of consulting the oracle, and

which consultation was to serve as a confirma-

tion of the second, was this: The same com-

pany who put the man into the hide, took a

live cat and put him on a spit. One of the

' Martin, 2d eJ. p. 112.

company was employed to turn the spit, and

when in the act of turning, one of his compa-

nions would ask him, what are you doing?

He answered, I roast this cat, until his friends

answer the question, the same as that proposed

to the man inclosed in the hide. Afterwards

a very large cat was said to come, attended by

a number of lesser cats, desiring to relieve the

cat turned upon the spit, and answered the

question. And if the answer turned out to be

the same that was given to the man in the

hide, then it was taken as a confirmation of

the other, which in this case was believed

infallible. 3

A singular practice called Deis-iml existed

in the Western Islands, so called from a man

going round carrying fire in his right hand,

which in the Gaelic is called Deas. In the

island of Lewis this fiery circuit was made

about the houses, com, cattle, &c., of each

particular family, to protect them from the

power of evil spirits. The fire was also carried

round about women before they were churched

after child-bearing, and about children till

they were baptized. This ceremony was per-

formed in the morning and at night, and was

practised by some of the old midwives in

Martin's time. Some of them told him that

' the fire-round was an effectual means of pre-

serving both the mother and the infant from

the power of e\il spirits, who are ready at such

times to do mischief, and sometimes carry away

the infant ; and when they get them once in

their possession, return them poor meagre

skeletons ; and these infants are said to have

voracious appetites, constantly craving for

meat. In this case it was usual with those

who believed that their clulcben were thus

taken away, to dig a grave in the fields upon

quarter-day, and there to lay the fairy skeleton

tiU next morning ; at which time the parents

went to the place, where they doubted not to

find their own chilA instead of this skeleton.

Some of the poorer sort of people in these

islands long retained a custom of performing

rounds sun-wise, about the persons of their

benefactors three times, when they blessed

them, and wished good success to all theii

enterprises. Some were very careful, when

3 Martin, 2d ed. p. 112.
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they set out to sea, that the boat should be

first rowed about sun-wise; and if this was

neglected, they were afraid their voyage would

prove unfortunate.'

. A prevailing superstition also existed in tlie

Western Islands, and among the inhabitants

of the neighbouring coast, that women, by a

certain charm or by some secret influence,

could withdraw and appropriate to their ovra

use the increase of their neiglibour's cow's

milk. It was believed, however, that the milk

so charmed did not produce the ordinary quan-

tity of butter usually chiirued from other milk,

and that the curds made of such milk were so

tough that they coidd not be made so firm as

other cheese, and that it was also much lighter

in weight. It was also believed that the butter

produced from the charmed milk coidd be ilis-

covered from that yielded from the chanuer's

own milk, by a ditlerence in the colour, the

former being of a paler hue than the latter.

The woman in whose possession butter so dis-

tinguished was found, was considered to be

guilty. To bring back the increase of milk, it

was usual to take a little of the rennet from all

the suspected persons, and put it into an egg

BheU fuU of mUk, and when the rennet taken

from the cliarmer was mingled with it, it was

said presently to curdle, but not before. Some
women put the root of groundsel among their

cream as an amulet against such charms.

In retaliation for washing dishes, wherein

milk was kept, in streams or rivulets in wHch
trouts were, it was believed that they prevented

01 took away an increase of milk, and the

damage thus occasioned coidd only be repaired

by taking a live trout and pouring milk into

its mouth. If the milk curdled immediately,

this was a sure sign of its being taken away by

trouts ; if not, the inhabitants ascribed the evil

to some other cause. Some women, it was

affirmed, had the art to take away the milk of

nurses.

A similar superstition existed as to malt, the

virtues of which were said to be sometimes

imperceptibly filched, by some charm, before

being used, so that the drink made of this

malt had neither strength nor good taste,

while, on the contrary, the supposed charmer

had very good ale all the time. The following

curious stoiy is told by Martin in relation to

this subject. " A gentleman of my acquaint-

ance, for the space of a year, coidd not have a

drop of good ale in his house; and having

complained of it to all that conversed with

him, he was at last advised to get some yeast

from every alehouse in the parish; and havmg

got a little from one particular man, he put it

among his wort, which became as good ale as

could be drank, and so defeated the charm.

Alter which, the gentleman on whose land tlus

man lived, banished him tliirty-six miles from

thence."*

A singular mode of divination was some-

times practised by the Highlanders with bones.

Having picked the flesh clean off a shoulder-

blade of mutton, which was supposed to lose

its virtue if touched by iron, they turned

towards the east, and with looks steadily fixed

on the transparent bone they pretended to

foretell deaths, burials, &c.

The phases or changes of the moon were

closely observed, and it was only at particular

periods of her revolution that they woidd cut

turf or fuel, fell wood, or cut thatch for houses,

or go upon any important expedition. They

expected better crops of grain by so^\'ing theii

seed in the moon's increase. " The moon," aa

Dr. Johnson observes, " has great influence in

vulgar philosophy," and in his memory it was

a precept annually given in one of the English

almanacs, "To lull hogs wlien the moon was

increasing, and the bacon would prove the

better in boiling."

The aid of superstition was sometimes re-

sorted to for curing diseases. For hectic and

consumptive complaints, the Highlanders used

to pare the nails of the fingers and toes of the

patient,—put tliese parings into a bag made

from a piece of his clothes,—and after waving

their hand with the bag thrice round his head,

and crjong, Deis-iuil, they buried it in some

unknown place. Pliny, in his natural history,

says that this practice existed among the Magi

of Ids time.

To remove any contagious disease from

cattle, they used to extinguish the fires in tire

surroimding villages, after which they forced

fire with a wheel, or by rubbing one piece of

dry wood upon another, with which they

* Western Islands, p. 122.
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burned juniper in tlie stalls of the cattle that

the smoke might purify the air ahout them.

Wlien this was performed, the fires in the

houses were rekindled from the forced fire.

Shaw relates in Ms history of Moray, that he

personally witnessed both the last-mentioned

practices.

Akin to some of the superstitions we have

noticed, but differing fi'ora them in many
essential respects, is the belief—for supersti-

tion it cannot well be called—in the Second

Sight, by which, as Dr. Johnson observes,

" seems to be meant a mode of seeing, super-

added to that which nature generally bestows,"*

and consists of " an impression made either by

the mind upon the eye, or by the eye upon the

mind, by which things distant or future are

perceived, and seen as if they were present."''

This " deceptive faculty" is in Gaelic called

Taihhse, i. e. a spectre, or a \ision, and is nei-

ther voluntary nor constant, but consists " in

seeing an otherwise invisible object, without

any pre^dous means used by the person that

sees it for that end; the vision makes such

a lively impression upon the seer, that they

neither see nor think of any thing else, except

the vision, as long as it continues: and then

they appear pensive or jovial, according to the

object which was represented to them."^

It has been observed by lookers-on, that

those persons who saw, or were supposed to

see, a vision, always kept their eye-lids erect,

and that they continued to stare until the

object vanished. Martin affirms that he and

other persons that were ndth them, observed

this more than once, and he mentions an in-

stance of a man in Skye, the inner part of

whose eye-lids was turned so far upwards

during a vision, that after the object disap-

peared he found it necessary to draw them

dcivn with his fingers, and would sometimes

employ others to draw them down, which he

indeed, Martin says, "foimd from experience

to be the easier way."

The visions are said to have taken place

either in the morning, at noon, in the evening,

or at night. If an object was seen early in

the morning, its accomplishment would take

place in a few hours thereafter. If at noon,

' Journey to the Hebrides, p. 166.
' Martin, p. 300.

Id.

that very day. If in the evening, perhaps

that night; if after the candles were lighted,

the accomplishment would take place by weeks,

months, and sometimes years, according to the

time of night the vision was seen.

As the appearances which are said to have

been observed in visions and their prognostics

may prove curious to the general reader, a few

of them shall be here stated, as noted by Martin.

Wlien a sliroud was perceived ahout one, it

was a sure prognostic of death. The time was

judged according to the height of it about the

person. If not seen above the middle, death

was not to be expected for the space of a year,

and perhaps some months longer; and as it

was frequently seen to ascend higher towards

the head, death was concluded to he at hand

within a few days, if not hours.

If a woman was seen standing at a man's

left hand, it was a presage that she would be

his wife, whether they were married to others,

or unmarried at the time of the apparition.

IS two or three women were seen at once

standing near a man's left hand, she that was

next to him would undoubtedly be his wife

first, and so on, whether aU three, or the man,

were single or married at the time of the vision

or not.

It was usual for the Seers to see any man
that was shortly to arrive at the house. If

imkno"svn to the Seer he would give such a

description of the person he saw as to make
him to be at once recognised upon his arrival.

On the other hand, if the Seer knew the person

he saw in the \-ision, he would tell his name,

and know by the expression of his counte-

nance whether he came in a good or bad

humour.

The Seers often saw houses, gardens, and

trees, in places where there were none, but in

the course of time these places became covered

with them.

To see a spark of fire fall upon one's ainn

or breast, was a forerunner of a dead child to

be seen in the arms of those persons. To see

a seat empty when one was sitting on it, was

a presage of that person's immediate death.

There are now few persons, if any, who

pretend to this faculty, and the belief in it is

almost generally exploded. Yet it cannot be

denied that apparent proofs of its existence
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have been adduced ivhich. have staggered

minds not prone to superstition. Wlien the

connexion between cause and effect can be

recognised, things which would otherwise have

appeared wonderful and almost incredible, are

viewed as ordinary occurrences. The impos-

sibility of accounting for such an extraordinary

phenomenon as the alleged faculty, on philo-

sophical principles, or from the laws of nature,

must ever leave the matter suspended between

rational doubt and confirmed scepticism. The

strong-minded but superstitious Dr. Johnson

appears, from the following passage, to have

been inclined to believe in the genuineness of

the facidty. " Strong reasons for incredulity,"

says Dr. Johnson, " will readily occur. Tliis

faculty of seeing things out of sight is local,

and commonly useless. It is a breach of the

common order of things, without any visible

reason or perceptible benefit. It is ascribed

only to a people very little enlightened ; and

among them, for the most part, to the mean

and ignorant. To the confidence of these

objections it may be replied, that by presum-

ing to determine what is fit, and what is

beneficial, they presuppose more knowledge

of the universal system than man has attained

;

and therefore depend upon principles too

complicated and extensive for our comprehen-

sion ; and that there can be no security in the

consequence, when the premises are not under-

stood : that the Second Sight is only wonderful

because it is rare, for, considered in itself, it

involves no more difficulty than dreams, or

perhaps than the regular exercises of the

cogitative faculty ; that a general opinion of

communicative impulses, or visionary repre-

sentations, has prevailed in all ages and all

nations ; that particular instances have been

given, with such evidence as neither Bacon,

nor Bayle, has been able to resist ; that sudden

impressions, which the event has verified, have

been felt by more than own or publish them

;

that the Second Sight of the Hebrides implies

only the local frequency of a power which is

no where totally unknown ; and that where

we are unable to decide by antecedent reason,

we must be content to yield to the force of

testimony."'

' Jouitif-ii to ike Western Islamh, pp. 167, 168.

Among the various modes of social inter-

course wliich gladdened the minds and dissi-

pated the few worldly cares of the HiglJanders,

weddings bore a distinguished part, and they

were longed for with a peculiar earnestness.

Young and old, from the boy and girl of the

age of ten to the hoary-headed sire and aged

matron, attended them. The marriage invita-

tions were given by the bride and bridegroom,

in person, for some weeks previous, and

included the friends of the betrothed parties

living at the distance of many miles.

When the bride and bridegroom had com-

pleted their rounds, the custom was for the

matrons of the invited families to return the

visit within a few daj's, carrying along with

them large presents of hams, beef, cheese,

butter, malt, spirits, and such other articles as

they inclined or thought necessary for the

approaching feast. To such an extent was

this practice carried in some instances in the

quantity presented, that, along with what the

guests paid (as they commonly did) for their

entertainment at the marriage, and the gifts

presented on the day after the marriage, the

young couple obtained a pretty fair competence,

which warded off the shafts of poverty, and

even made them comfortable in after-life.

The joyous wedding-morning was ushered

in by the notes of the bagpipe. A party of

pipers, followed by the bridegroom and some

of his friends, commenced at an early hour a

round of morning calls to remind the guests

of their engagements. These hastened to join

the party, and before the circuit, which some-

times occupied several hours, had ended, some

hundreds, perhaps, had joined the wedding

standard before they reached the bridegroom's

house. The bride made a similar round among

her friends. Separate dinners were provided
;

the bridegroom giving a dinner to liis friends,

and the bride to hers. The marriage ceremony

was seldom performed tiU after dinner. The

clergyman sometimes attended, but the parties

preferred waiting on him, as the appearance

of a large procession to his house gave addi-

tional importance and eclat to the ceremony

of the day, which was further heightened by

a constant firing by the young men, who

supplied themselves with guns and pistols,

and which firing was responded to by every



312 GEJiERAL HISTOEY OF THE HIGHLAJJ^US.

hamlet as the party passud along ;
" so that,

with streamers flying, pipers plajdng, the

constant firing from all sides, and the shouts

of the young men, the whole had the appear-

ance of a military army passing, wth all the

noise of warfare, through a hostUe country."

On tlie wedding-day, the bride and bride-

groom avoided each other tiU they met before

tlie clergjTnan. Many ceremonies were per-

formed during the celebration of the marriage

rites. These ceremonies were of an amusing

and innocent description, and added much to

the cheerfulness and happiness of the young

people. One of these ceremonies consisted in

untying all the bindings and strings about the

person of the bridegroom, to denote, that

nothing was to be bound on the marriage day

but the one indissoluble knot which deatli

only can dissolve. The bride was exempted

from this operation from a delicacy of feeling

towards her sex, and from a supposition that

she was so pure that infidelity on her part

could not be contemplated.

To discontinue practices in themselves inno-

cent, and which contribute to the social

happiness of manldnd, must ever be regretted,

and it is not therefore to be wondered at, that

a generous and open-hearted Highlander, like

General Stewart, should have expressed liis re-

gi'et at tlie partial disuse of these ceremonies, or

that be should have preferred a Highland wed-

ding, where he had himself " been so happy,

and seen so many bhthe countenances, and eyes

sparkling with delight, to such weddings as

that of the Laird of Drum, ancestor of tlie

Lord Sommerville, when he married a daughter

of Sir James Bannatyne of Corehouse."'

The festivities of the wedding-day were

' "On that occasion, sanctified by the puritanical

caut of the times, there was one uiari|uis, three earls,

two lords, sixteen barons, and eight ministers present
at the solemnity, but not one musician ; they liked

yet better the bleating of the calves of Dan and Bethel
—the ministers' long-winded, and sometimes non-
sensical graces, little to purpose—than all musical
instruments of the sanctuaries, at so solemn an occa-

sion, which, if it be lawful at all to have them, cer-

tainly it ought to be upon a wedding-day, for diver-

tisement to the guests, that innocent recreation of

music and dancing being much more warrantable and
far better exercise than drinking and smoking tobacco,

wherein the holy brethren of the Presbyterian (per-

suasion) for the most part employed themselves, with-

out any formal health, or remembrance of their friends,

a nod with the head, or a sign with the turning up of

generally prolonged to a late liour, and dmhig

the whole day the fiddlers and pipers never

ceased except at short intervals, to make sweet

music. The fiddlers performed in the house,

the pipers in the field ;^ so tliat the company

alternately enjoyed the pleasure of dancing

within and without the house, as they felt

inclined, provided the weather permitted.

No people were more attached to the fulfil-

ment of all the domestic duties, and the sacred

obligation of the marriage vow, than the High-

landers. A violation thereof was of course of

unfrequent occurrence, and among the common

people a separation was almost imkuowu.

Rarely, indeed,, did a husband attempt to get

rid of his wife, however disagreeable she might

be. He would have considered his ehddren

dishonoured, if he had driven their mother

from the protection of liis roof The pimish-

ment inflicted by the ecclesiastical authority

for an infringement of the marriage vow was,

that " the guilty person, whether male or

female, was made to stand in a barrel of colJ

water at the chm'ch door, after which, the

delinquent, clad in a wet canvas shirt, was

made to stand before the congregation, and at

close of service the minister explained the

natiu-e of the offence.^ Illicit intercourse

before marriage between the sexes was also of

rare occurrence, and met witli condign pmiish-

ment in the public infamy which attended

such breaches against chastity.

Tliis was the more remarkable, as early

the white of the eye. served for the ceremony.''

—Stewart's Skcldics—Meiiioirs of the Smnmervillt
Pamily.

^ "Playing the bagpipes within doors,"' says Gen-
eral Stewart, "is a Lowland and English custom.

In the Highlands the piper is always in the open air;

and when people wish to dance to his music, it is ud

the green, if the weather permits ; nothing but ne-

cessity makes them attempt a pipe-dance in the house.

'I'he bagpipe was a field instrument intended to call

the clans to arms, and animate them in battle, and
was no more intended for a house than a round of six-

pouuders. A broadside from a first-rate, or a round
from a battery, has a sublime and impressive elfect at

a proper distance. In the same manner, the sound of

bagi)ipes, softened by distance, had an indescribable

effect on the mind and actions of the Highlanders.

But as few would choose to be under the muzzle of

the guns of a battery, so I have seldom seen a High-
lander, whose ears were not grated when close to pipes,

however much his breast might be warmeil. anil his

feelings roused, by the sounds to which he bad been
accustomed in his youth, when proceeding from the

proper distance.

—

Sketches, A pp. xxiii.

- Dr. M 'Queen's Dissertation.



SOCIAL DUTIES. 31c

marriages were discouraged, and the j'ounger

sons were not allowed to many until they

obtained sufficient means to keep a house and

to rent a small farm, or were otherwise enabled

to support a family.

Tlie attachment of the Higlilanders to their

offspring, and the veneration and filial piety

which a reciprocal feeling produced on the part

of their cliildren, were leading characteristics

in the Higliland character, and much as these

mountaineers have degenerated in some of the

other virtues, these affections stiU remain

almost imimpaired. Children seldom desert

their parents in their old age, and when forced

to earn a subsistence from home, they always

consider tliemselves bound to share with their

parents whatever they can save from their

wages. But the parents are never left alone,

as one of the family, by turns, remains at

home for the purpose of taking care of them

in terms of an arrangement. " The sense of

duty is not extinguished by absence from the

mountains. It accompanies the Highland

soldier amid the dissipations of a mode of life

to which he has not been accustomed. It

prompts him to save a portion of his pay, to

enable him to assist his parents, and also to

work when he has an opportunity, that he

may increase their allowance, at once preserv-

ing himself from idle habits, and contributing

to the comfort and happiness of those who
gave him birth. I have been a frequent wit-

ness of these offerings of filial boiuity, and

the channel through which they were commu-

nicated, and I have generally found that a

threat of informing their parents of miscon-

duct, has operated as a sufficient check on

young soldiers, who always received the inti-

mation vnth a sort of horror. They knew that

the report would not only grieve their rela-

tions, but act as a sentence of banishment

against themselves, as they coidd not return

home with a bad or blemished character.

Generals M'Kenzie, Eraser, and M'Kenzie of

Suddie, who successively commanded the 78th

Highlanders, seldom had occasion to resort to

any other punishment than threats of this

kind, for several years after the embodjnng of

that regiment."^

' Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 86.

Nor were the Higlilanders less alive to the

principles of honesty and fair dealing, in their

transactions with one another. Disgrace was

the usual consequence of insolvency, which

was considered ex facie criminal. Bankrupts

were compelled to undergo a singular pimish-

ment. They " were forced to surrender their

all, and were clad in a party-coloured clouted

garment, with the hose of different sets, and had

their hips dashed against a stone, in presence

of the people, by four men, each taking a hold

of an arm or a leg. This punisluuent was

called Toncruaidli."*

Such was the confidence in their honour and

integrity, that in the ordinary transactions ol

the people, a mere verbal obligation without the

intervention of any -nTiting, was held quite

sufficient, although contracted in the most

private manner,* and there were few instances

where the obligation was either unfulfilled or

denied. Their mode of concluding or confirm-

ing their money agreements or other transac-

tions, was by the contracting parties going out

into the open air, and with eyes erect, taking

Heaven to witness their engagements, after

which, each party put a mark on some remark-

able stone or other natural object, which their

ancestors had been accustomed to notice.

•* Stewart's Sketclics.

" Two remarkable instances of the regard paid by
the Highlanders to their engagements, are given by
General Stewart. *' A gentleman of the name of

Stewart, agreed to lend a considerable sum of money
to a neighbour. When they had met, and the money
was already counted down upon the table, the borrower
offered a receipt. As soon as the lender (grandfather

of the late Mr. Stewart of Ballachulish) heard this,

he immediately collected the money, saying, that a
man who could not trust his own word, without a
bond, .should not be tiusted by him, and should have
none of his money, which he put up in his purse and
returned home." An inhabitant of the same district

kept a retail shop for nearly fifty years, and supplied

the whole district, then full of people, with all their

little merchandise. He neither gave nor asked any
receipts. At Martinmas of each year he collected the

amount of his sales, which were always paid to a day.

In one of his annual rounds, a customer happened to

be from home ; consequently, he returned unpaid,

but before he was out of bed the following morning,
he was awakened by a call from his customer, who
came to pay his account. After the business was
settled, his neighbour said, "You are now paid; I

would not for my best cow that I should sleep while

you wanted your money after your term of payment,
and that I should be the last in the country in your

debt." Such examples of stern honesty are now,

alas ! of rare occurrence. Many of the Wrtues which
adorned the Highland character have disappeared in

the vortex of modem improvement, by which the

country has been completely revolutionized.
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Accustomed, as the Highlanders were, to

interminable feuds arising out of the preten-

sions of rival clans, the native courage which

they had inherited from their Celtic progeni-

tors ivas preserved unimpaired. Instances of

cowardice were, therefore, of rare occurrence,

and whoever exhibited symptoms of fear before

a foe, was considered infamous and put under

the ban of his party. The following anecdote,

as related by Mrs. Grant, shows, strongly, the

detestation which the Highlanders entertained

towards those who had disgraced themselves

and their clan by an act of poltroonery: " There

was a clan, / must not say what dan it is, who

had been for ages governed by a series of chiefs,

singularly estimable, and highly beloved, and

who, in one instance, provoked their leader to

the extreme of indignation. I shoidd observe,

that the transgression was partial, the culprits

being the inhabitants of one single parish.

Tliese, in a hasty skirmish with a neighbouring

clan, tliinking discretion the best part of

valour, sought safety in retreat. A cruel chief

would have inflicted the worst of punishments

—banishment from the bounds of his clan,

—

which, indeed, fell little short of the curse

of Kehama. This good laird, however, set

bounds to his wrath, yet made their punish-

ment severe and exemplary. He appeared

himself with all the populati-^n of the three

adjacent parishes, at the parish church of the

oifenders, where they were aU by order con-

vened. After divine ser^dce, they were

marched three times round the church, in

presence of their offended leader and his as-

sembled clan. Each individual, on coming

out of the church door, was obliged to draw

out his tongue with liis fingers, and then cry

audibly, ' Shud bleider heich,' (i. e.) 'This is

the poltroon,' and to repeat it at every corner

of the church. After this procession of igno-

miny, no other punishment was inflicted, ex-

cept that of being left to guard the district

when the rest were called out to battle. . . .

It is credibly asserted, that no enemy has seen

the back of any of that name (Grant) ever

since. And it is certain, that, to this day, it

is not safe for any person of another name to

mention the circumstance in presence of one

of the afi'ronted clan."^

"^ On the Superstitions of the Highlanders.

The Highlanders, like the inhabitants of

other romantic and mountainous regions, always

retain an enthusiastic attachment to their coun-

try, which neither distance of place nor length

of time can efi"ace. This strong feeling has,

we think, been attributed erroneously to the

powerful and lasting effect which the external

objects of nature, seen in their wildest and

most fantastic forms and features, are calculated

to impress upon the imagination.

No doubt the remembrance of these objects

might contribute to endear the scenes of youth

to the patriotic Highlander when far removed

from his native glens; but it was the recollec-

tion of home,—sweet home !—of the domestic

circle, and of the many pleasing associations

which arise from the contemplation of the days

of other years, when mirth and innocence held

mutual dalliance, that chiefly impelled him to

sigh for the land of his fathers. Mankind

have naturally an affection for the country of

their birth, and this affection is felt more or

less according to the degree of social or com-

mercial intercourse which exists among nations.

Confined, like the Swiss, for many ages within

their natural boundaries, and having httle oi

no intercourse with the rest of the world, the

Highlanders formed those strong local attach-

ments for which they were long remarkably

distinguished ; but which are now being gradu-

ally obliterated by the mighty changes rapidly

taking place in the state of society.

Firmly attached as they were to their coun-

try, the Highlanders had also a singular pre-

dilection for the place of their birth. An
amusing instance of this local attachment is

mentioned by General Stewart. A tenant of

his father's, at the foot of the mountain

Shichallion, ha\'ing removed and followed his

son to a farm which the latter had taken at

some chstance lower down the country, the old

man was missing for a considerable time one

morning, and on being asked on his return

where he had been, replied, " As I was sitting

by the side of the river, a thought came across

me, that, perhaps, some of the waters from

Shichallion, and the sweet foimtains that

watered the farm of my forefathers, might now

be passing by me, and that if I bathed they

might touch my skin. I immediately stripped,

and, from the pleasure I felt in being sur-
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rounded by the pure waters of Leidna-breilag

(the name of the farm) I could not tear myself

away sooner." But this fondness of the High-

lander was not confined to the desire of living

upon the beloved spot—it extended even to

the grave. The idea of dying at a distance

from home and among strangers could not be

endured, and the aged Highlander, when absent

from his native place, felt discomposed lest

death should overtake him before his return.

To be consigned to the gi-ave among strangers,

without the attendance and sympathy of

friends, and at a distance from their family,

was considered a heavy calamity; and even to

this day, people make the gi-eatest exertions to

carry home the bodies of such relations as

happen to die far from the ground hallowed

by the ashes of their forefathers.'' This trait

was exemplified in the case of a woman aged

ninety-one, who a few years ago went to Perth

from her house in Strathbrane in perfect health,

and in the possession of all her faculties. A
few days after lier arrival in Perth, where she

had gone to visit a daughter, she had a slight

attack of fever. One evening a considerable

quantity of snow had fallen, and she expressed

great anxiety, particidarly when told that a

heavier fall was expected. Next morning her

bed was found empty, and no trace of her

could be discovered, tiU the second day, when

she sent word that she had slipt out of the

house at midnight, set off on foot through the

snow, and never stopped till she reached home,

a distance of twenty miles. When questioned

some time afterwards why she went away so

abruptly, she answered, " If my sickness had

increased, and if I had died, they could not

have sent my remains home tlirough the deep

snows. If I had told my daughter, perhaps

she would have locked the door upon me, and

God forbid that my bones should be at such a

distance from home, and be buried among
Gall-na-machair, The strangers of the plain."

^

Among the causes which contributed to

sustain the warlike character of the High-

landers, the exertions of the bards in stimulat-

ing them to deeds of valour in the field of

battle, mu-st not be overlooked. One of the

most important duties of the bard consisted in

•Stevart'? Si'Jches, vol. i. p. 82. Id.

attending the clans to the field, and exhorting

them before battle to emulate the glories of

their ancestors, and to die if necessary in do-

fence of their country. The appeals of tht

bards, which were delivered and enforced with

great vehemence and earnestness, never failed

to arouse the feelings; and when amid the diu

of battle the voices of the bards could no

longer be heard, the pipers succeeded them,

and cheered on their respective parties with

their warlike and inspiring strains. After the

termination of the battle, the bard celebrated

the praises of the brave warriors who had fallen

in battle, and related the heroic actions of the

survivors to excite them to similar exertions

on future occasions. To impress still more

deeply upon the minds of the survivors th.e

honour and heroism of their fallen friends, the

piper was employed to perform plaintive dirges

for the slain.

From the associations raised in the mind by

the great respect thus paid to the dead, and

the honours which awaited the survivors who

distinguished themselves in the field of battle,

by tlieir actions being celebrated by the bards,

and transmitted to posterity, originated that

magnanimous contempt of death for wliich the

Highlanders are noted. While among some

people the idea of death is avoided with

studious alarm, the Highlander wiU speak of

it with an easy and unconcerned familiarity,

as an event of ordinary occurrence, but in a

way " equally remote from dastardly affecta-

tion, or fool-hardy presumption, and propor-

tioned solely to the inevitable certainty of the

event itself."^

To be interred decently, and in a becoming

manner, is a material consideration in the

mind of a Highlander, and care is generally

taken, even by the poorest, long before the

approach of death, to provide sirffioient articles

to insure a respectable interment. To wisli

one another an honourable death, crioch

onarach, is considered friendly by the High-

landers, and even children will sometimes

express the same sentiment towards their

parents. "A man well known to the ^vriter

of these pages was remarkable for his filial

affection, even among the sons and daughters

1
' Stewart's Sketches.
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of the mountains, so distingiiislied for that

hranch of piety. His mother heiug a "widow,

and having a numerous family, who had mar-

ried very early, he continued to hve single,

that he might the more sedulously attend to

her comfort, and watch over her declining years

with the tenderest care. On her birth-day, he

always collected his brothers and sisters, and

all their families, to a sort of kindly feast, and,

in conclusion, gave a toast, not easdy translated

from the emphatic language, svithout circum-

locution,

—

An easy and decorous departure to

my mother, comes nearest to it. This toast,

wliich would shake the nerves of fasliionable

delicacy, was received with great applause, the

old woman remarking, that God had been

always good to her, and she hoped she woidd

die as decently as she had lived, for it is

thought of the utmost consequence to die

decently. The ritual of decorous departure,

and of behaviour to be observed by the friends

of the dying on that solemn occasion, being

fully estabKshed, nothing is more common

than to take a solemn leave of old people, as if

they were going on a journey, and pretty much

in the same terms. People frequently send

conditional messages to the departed. If you

are permitted, tell my dear brother, that I liave

vierely endured the leorld mice he left it, and

that I have been very kind to every creature he

used to cherish, for his sake. I have, indeed,

heard a person of a very enlightened mind,

seriously give a message to an aged person, to

deliver to a child he had lost not long before,

which she as seriously promised to deliver,

with the wonted salvo, if she was permitted."'

In no country was " the savage \'irtue of

hospitality" carried to a greater extent than in

the Highlands, and never did stranger receive

a heartier welcome than was given to the guest

who entered a Highland mansion or cottiige.

This hospitality was sometimes carried rather

too far, partioidarly in the island of Barra,

where, according to Martin, the custom was,

that, when strangers from the northern islands

went there, " the natives, immediately after their

landing, obliged them to eat, even though they

should have liberally eat and drank but an

hour before their landing there." This meat

' Mrs. Grant's Superstitions of tlic Hirjlilcindcrs.

they called Bieytciv, L e. Ocean meat. Six

Eobert Gordon informs us that it was a custom

among the western islanders, that when one

was invited to another's house, they never

separated tiU the whole provision was iinished;

and that, when it was done, they went to the

next house, and so on from one house to an-

other untd they made a complete round, from

neighbour to neighbour, always carrying the

head of the family in which they had been last

entertained to the next house along mth them.'''

The removal of the court by Malcolm Can-

more to the Lowlands was an event wliich was

followed by results very disastrous to tho

future prosperity of the Higlilands. The in-

habitants soon sunk into a state of poverty,

and, as by the transference of the seat of

government the administration of the laws

became either inoperative or was feebly en-

forced, the people gave themselves up tc

violence and turbidence, and revenged in person

those injuries which the laws could no longer

redress. Eeleased from the salutary control of

monarchical government, the Highlanders soon

saw the necessity of substituting some other

system in its place, to protect themselves

against the aggressions to which they were

exposed. From this state of things originated

the great power of the Chiefs, who attained

their ascendancy over the different httle com-

munities into which the population of the

Highlands was naturally divided, on account

of their superior property, courage, or talent.

The powers of the chiefs were very great.

They acted as judges or arbiters in the quarrels

of their clansmen and followers, and as they

were backed by resolute supporters of their

rights, their property, and their power, they

established within their o^\ti territories a juris-

diction almost independent of the kingly

authority.

From this division of the people into clans

and tribes under separate chiefs, arose many of

those institutions, feelings, and usages which

characterised the Higlilanders. " The nature

of the country, and the motives which induced

the Celts to make it their refuge, almost neces-

sarily prescribed the form of their institutions.

Unequal to contend with the overwhelming

° Genealogical Eistori, of the Earidom of Suther

land, p. 1S9.
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numbers, who drove them from the plains,

and, anxious to preserve their independence,

and their blood uncontaminated by a mixture

with strangers, they defended themselves in

those strongholds which are, in every country,

the sanctuaries of national liberty, and the

refuge of those who resist the oppressions and

the dominion of a more powerful neighbour.

Thus, in the absence of their monarchs, and

defended by their barrier of rocks, they did

not always submit to the authority of a distant

government, whicli could neither enforce obe-

dience nor afford protection."'

The various little societies into which the

Highland population was, by tlie nature of the

country, divided, having no desire to change

their residence or to keep up a communication

with one another, and having all their wants,

which were few, supplied within themselves,

became individually isolated. Every district

became an independent state, and thus the

Highland population, though possessing a com-

munity of customs and the same characteristics,

was divided or broken into separate masses,

and placed under different jurisdictions. A
patriarchal* sj'stem of government, " a sort

of hereditary monarchy founded on custom,

and allowed by general consent, rather than

regulated by laws," was thus established over

each community or clan in the persons of the

chiefs.

As a consequence of the separation which

was preserved by the different clans, matri-

monial alliances were rarely made with stran-

gers, and hence the members of the clan were

generally related to one another by the ties of

consanguinity or affinity. WMle this double

connexion tended to preserve harmony and

good will among the members of tlie same

clan, it also tended, on the other hand, to excite

a bitter spirit of animosity between rival clans,

whenever an affront or injury was offered by

' Stewart's StetrJics, vol. i. p. 22.

* The power of the chiefs over their clans was,

from political motives, often supported hy the govern-

ment, to counteract the great influence of the feudal

system which enabled the nohles frequently to set the
authority of the state at defiance. Although the
Duke of Gordon was the feudal superior of the lands
held by the Camerons, M'Phersons, M'Donells of

Keppoch and others, he had no influence over those

clans who always obeyed the orders of Lochiel, Clnnie,

Keppoch, &c.

one clan to another, or by indi\'iduals of differ-

ent clans.

Although tbe chief had great power with his

clan in the different relations of landlord,

leader, and judge, his authority was far from

absolute, as he was obliged to consult the lead-

ing men of the clan in matters of importance

—in things regarding the clan or particular

families, in removing differences, punishing or

redi'essing injuries, preventing lawsuits, sup

porting declining families, and declaring wai

against, or adjusting terms of peace with other

clans.

As the system of clanship was calculated to

cherish a warlike spirit, the young chiefs and

heads of families were regarded or despised

according to their military or peaceable dispo-

sition. If they revenged a quarrel with another

clan by killing some of the enemy, or carrj-ing

off tbeir cattle and la3ang their lands waste,

they were highly esteemed, and great expecta-

tions were formed of their future prowess and

exploits. But if they failed in their attempts,

they were not respected ; and if they appeared

disinclined to engage in hostile rencontres,

they were despised. ^

The military ranks of the clans were fixed

and perpetual. The cbief was, of course, the

principal commander. The oldest cadet com-

manded the right ^ving, and the youngest the

rear. Every head of a distinct family was

captain of his own tribe. An ensign or stand-

ard-bearer was attached to each clan, who

^ Martin observes that in the 'Western Islands,

"every heir, or young chieftain of a tribe, was obliged

in honour to give a" public specimen of his valoui

before he was owned and declared governor or leader

of his people, who obeyed and followed him upon all

occasions. This chieftain was usually attended with

a retinue of young men of quality, who had not

beforehand given any proof of their valour, and were

ambitious of such an opportunity to signalize them-

selves. It was usual for the captain to lead them, to

make a desperate incursion upon some neighbour or

other that they were in feud with, and they were

obliged to bring, by open force, the cattle they found

on the lands they attacked, or to die in the attempt.

Alter the performance of this achievement, the young

chieftain was ever after reputed valiant, and worthy

of government, and such as were of his retinue acquired

the like reputation. This custom being reciprocally

used among them, was not reputed robbery, for the

damage which one tribe sustained by this essay of the

chieftain of another, was repaired when their chieftain

came in his turn to make his specimen ; but I have

not heard an instance of this practice for these sixty

years past."—We5«er» Islands, 2d edit. pp. 101, 102.
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generally iiihorited his office, which had been

usually conferred on an ancestor who had

distinguished himsel£ A small salary was

attached to this office.

Each clan had a stated place of rendezvous,

where they met at the call of their chief.

Wlien an emergency arose for an immediate

meeting from the incursions of a hostile clan,

the cross or tarie, or fiery-cross, was immedi-

ately despatched through the territories of the

clan. This signal consisted of two pieces of

wood placed in the form of a cross. One of

the ends of the horizontal piece was either

burnt or burning, and a piece of linen or wliite

cloth stained with blood was suspended from

the other end. Two men, each with a cross

in his hand, were despatched by the chief in

different directions, who kept running with

great speed, shouting the war-cry of the tribe,

and naming the place of rendezvous, if differ-

ent from the usual place of meeting. The

cross was delivered from hand to hand, and as

each fresh bearer ran at full speed, the clan

assembled with great celerity. General Stewart

says, that one of the latest instances of the

fiery-cross being used, was in 1745 by Lord

Breadalbane, when it went round Loch Tay, a

distance of thirty-two miles, in three hours,

to raise his people and prevent tlieir joining

the rebels, but with less effect than in 1715

when it went the same round, and when 500

men assembled in a few hours, under the

command of the Laird of Glenlyon, to join the

Earl of Mar.

Every clan had its own war-cry, (called in

Scottish slogan^ to which every clansman

answered. It served as a watch-word in cases

of sudden alarm, in the confusion of combat,

or in the darkness of the night. The clans

were also distinguished by a particular badge,

or by the peculiar arrangements or sets of the

different colours of the tartan, which will be

fully noticed when we come to treat of the

history of the clans.

When a clan went upon any expedition they

were much influenced by omens. If they met

an armed man they believed that good was

portended. If they observed a deer, fox, hare,

or any other four-footed beast of game, and did

not succeed in killing it, they prognosticated

eviL If a woman barefooted crossed the road

before them, they seized her and drew blood

from her forehead.

The Cuid-Oidhche, or night's provision, \A'a3

paid by many tenants to the chief ; and in

liunting or going on an expedition, the tenant

who lived near the hill was bound to furnish

the master and his followers a night's entertain-

ment, with bra^vn for his dogs.

There are no sufficient data to enable us to

estimate correctly the number of fighting men

which the clans could bring at any time into

the field ; but a general idea may be formed of

their strength in 1745, from the following

statement of the respective forces of the clans

as taken from the memorial supposed to be

drawn up by the Lord President Forbes of

Culloden, for the information of government.

It is to be observed, however, that besides

the clans here mentioned, there were many

independent gentlemen, as General Stewart

observes, who had many followers, but being

what were called broken names, or small tribes,

are omitted.

Argyle,
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Macdonald of Clanronald,

Macdonell of Glengaiy,

Macdonell of Keppocb,

Macdouald of Glencoe,

Eobeitsous,

Camerons, .

M'Kinnon,

Macleod,

The Duke of Montrose, Earls of Bute

and Moray, Macfarlaues, M'Neils

of Barra, M'Nabs, M'Naughtons,

Lamonts, &e. &c. .

700

500

300

130

200

800

200

700

31,930

There is nothing so remarkable in the

political liistory of any country as the succes-

sion of the Higlilaud chiefs, and the long and

uninterrupted sway which they held over their

followers. The authority which a chief exer-

cised among his clan was truly paternal, and

he might, with great justice, have been called

the father of his people. We cannot account

for that warm attachment and the incorruptible

and unshaken fidelity which the clans uni-

formly displayed towards their chiefs, on any

other ground, than the kind and conciliatory

system which they must have adopted towards

their people ; for, much as the feehngs of the

latter might have been awakened, by the songs

and traditions of the bards, to a respect for

the successors of the heroes whose praises they

heard celebrated, a sense of wrongs commit-

ted, or of oppressions exercised, would have

obhterated every feeling of attachment in the

minds of the sufferers, and caused them to

attempt to get rid of a tyrant who had rendered

himself obnoxious by his tyranny.

The division of the people into small tribes,

and the establishment of patriarchal govern-

ment, were attended with many important

consequences ail'ecting the character of the

Highlanders. This creation of an imperium

in imperio was an anomaly, but it was, never-

theless, rendered necessary from the state of

soaiety in the Highlands shortly after the

transference of the seat of government from

the mountains. The authority of the king,

though weak and inefficient, continued, how-

ever, to he recognised, nominally at least,

except indeed when he interfered in the dis-

putes between the clans. On such occasions

his authority was utterly disregarded. " HLs

mandates could neither stop the depredations

of one clan against another, nor allay their

mutual hostilities. Delinquents could not,

with impunity, be pursued into the bosom of

a clan which protected them, nor could his

judges administer the laws in opposition to

their interests or their wUl. Sometimes ho

strengthened his arm by fomenting animosities

among them, and by entering occasionally into

the interest of one, in order to weaken another.

Many instances of this species of policy occur

in Scottish history, which, for a long period,

was unhappily a mere record of internal

violence.""

The general laws being thus superseded by

the internal feuds of the clans, and the author-

ity of the sovereign being insufficient to repress

these disorders, a perpetual system of warfare,

aggression, depredation, and contention existed

among them, whicli, during the continuance

of clanship, banished peace from the High-

lands. The little sovereignties of the clans

" touched at so many points, yet were so

independent of one another ; they approached

so nearly, in many respects, yet were, in

others, so distant ; there were so many oppor-

tunities of encroachment, on the one hand, and

so little of a disposition to submit to it, on

the other ; and the quarrel of one individual

of the tribe so naturally involved the rest, that

there was scarcely ever a profound peace, or

perfect cordiality between them. Among their

chiefs the most deadly feuds frequently arose

from opposing interests, or from wounded

pride. These feuds were warmly espoused by

the whole clan, and were often transmitted,,

"with aggravated animosity, from generation to

generation."
"

The disputes between opposing clans were

frequently made matters of negotiation, and

their differences were often adjusted by treaties.

Opposing clans, as a means of strengthening

themselves against the attacks of their rivals,

or of maintaining the balance of jiower, also

entered into coalitions wdth friendly neigh-

bours. These bands of amity or manreid, as

they were called, were of the nature of treaties

of offensive and defensive alliance, by which

" Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 3'J
" Idem, vol. i. pp. 30, 31.
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the contracting parties bound themselves to

assist each other ; and it is remarkable that

tlie duty of allegiance to the king ivas always

acknowledged in these treaties,
—

" always ex-

cepting ray duty to our lord the king, and to

our kindred and friends," was a clause which

was unifonnly inserted in them. In the same

manner, when men who were not chiefs of

dans, but of subordinate tribes, thus bound

themselves, their fidelity to their chiefs was

always excepted. The smaller clans who were

unable to defend tliemselvcs, and such clans

or families who had lost their chiefs, were

included in these friendly treaties.^ Under

these treaties the smaller clans identified them-

selves ^Yith. the greater clans ; they engaged in

the quarrels, followed the fortunes, and fouglit

under the greater chiefs ; but their ranlvs, as

General Stewart observes, were separately

marshalled, and led by their own. subordinate

chieftains and lairds, who owned submission

onlj' when necessary, for the success of com-

bined operations. Several instances of this

union will be found in the history of thb

clans.

As ihe system of clansliip, by ignoring the

authority of the sovereign and of the laws,

prevented the clans from ever coming to any

general terms of accommodation for settling

their differences, their feuds were interminable,

and the Higlilands were, therefore, for ages,

the tlieatre of a constant petty warfare destruc-

tive of the social virtues. " The spirit of

opposition and rivalry between the clans per-

petuated a system of hostility, encouraged the

cultivation of the military at the expense of

tlie social virtues, and perverted their ideas of

both law and morality. Revenge was ac-

counted a duty, the destruction of a neighbour

i meritorious exploit, and rapine an honour-

ible occupation. Their love of distinction,

aaid theii- conscious reliance on their courage,

when under the direction of these perverted

notions, oidy tended to make their feuds more

implacable, their condition more agitated, and

their depredations more rapacious and deso-

" General Stewart says that the families of the name
of Stewa.t, whose estates lay in the district of Atliole,

and wliose chief, by birth, was at a distance, ranged
themselves under the family of A thole, though they
were themselves sufficiently Dunierous to raise 1000
lighting men.

lating. Superstition added its influence in

exasperating animosities, by teaching the clans-

men, that, to revenge the death of a relation

or friend, was a sacrifice agreeable to their

shades : thus engaging ou the side of the most

implacable hatred, and the darkest vengeance,

the most amiable and domestic of all our

feelings,—reverence for the memory of the

dead, and affection for the virtues of the

living." ^

As the causes out of which feuds originated

were innumerable, so many of them were

trivial and unimportant, but as submission to

the most trifling insult was considered dis-

graceful, and might, if overlooked, lead to

fresh aggression, the clan was immediately

summoned, and the cry for revenge met with

a ready response in every breast. The most

glaring insult that could be offered to a clan,

was to speak disrespectfidly of its chief, ^ an

offence which was considered as a personal

affront by all his followers, and was resented

accordingly.

It often happened that the insidted clan was

unable to take the field to repel aggression or

to vindicate its honour ; but the injury was

never forgotten, and the memory of it was

treasured up tiU a fitting opportunity for taking

revenge shoidd arrive. The want of strengtli

was sometimes supplied by cunning, and the

blackest and deadliest intentions of hatred and

revenge were sought to be perpetrated under

the mask of conciliation and friendship. This

was the natural result of the inefficiency of the

laws which could afford no redress for wrongs,

and which, therefore, loft every individual to

vindicate his rights with liis own hand. The

feeling of revenge, when directed against rival

tribes, was cherished and honoured, and to

such an extent was it carried, that there are

well authenticated instances where one of the

adverse parties has been exterminated in the

bloody and ferocious conflicts which the feuds

occasioned.

As the wealth of the Highlanders consisted

' Stewart's Sl-etchcs, vol. i. pp. 33, 34.
' "When a quarrel begins in words between two

Highlanders of difl'erent clans, it is esteemed the very

lieight of malice and rancour, and the greatest ot all

]irovocations, to reproach one another with the \'ices

or personal defects of their chiefs, or that of the par-

ticul.-ir branch whence they spnmg "— Rurt's LeUers.
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chiefly in flocks and herds, " the usual mode

of commencing attacks, or of making reprisals,

was ty an incursion to carry off the cattle of

the hostile clan. A predatory expedition was

the general declaration of enmity, and a com-

mand given by the chief to clear the pastiu'es

of the enemy, constituted the usual letters of

marque." ^ Tliese Creachs, as sucli depredations

were termed, were carried on with systematic

order, and were considered as perfectly justi-

fiable. If lives were lost in these forays,

revenge full and ample was taken, but in

general personal liostdities were avoided in

these incursions either against the Lowlanders

or rival tribes. These predatory expeditions

were more frequently directed against the Low-

landers, whom the Highlanders considered as

aliens, and whose cattle they, therefore, con-

sidered as fair spoU at aU times. The forays

were generally executed with great secrecy,

and the cattle were often lifted and secured

for a considerable time before they were missed.

To trace the cattle which had been thus carried

off, the owners endeavoured to discover their

foot-marks in the grass, or by the yielding of

the heath over which they had passed ; and so

acute had habit rendered their sight, that they

frequently succeeded, in this manner, in dis-

covering their property. Tlie man on whose

property the tract of the cattle was lost was

held liable if he did not succeed in following

out the trace or discovering the cattle ; and if

he did not make restitution, or offer to com-

pensate the loss, an immediate quarrel was the

consequence. A reward, called Tasgal money,

was sometimes offered for the recovery of stolen

cattle ; but as tliis was considered in the light

of a bribe, it was generally discouraged. The

Camerons and some otlier clans, it is said,

bound themselves by oath never to accept

such a reward, and to put to death aU who
should receive it.

Besides those who took part in the Creachs

there was another and a peculiar class called

Ceamachs, a term of similar import with the

Catherans of the Lowlands, the Kernes of the

English, and the Catervce of the Romans. The

Ceamachs were originally a select body of men
employed in difficult and dangerous enterprises

' Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 35.

where more than ordinary honour was to be

acquired ; but, in process of time, they were

employed in the degrading and dishonourable

task of levying contributions on their Lowland

neighboiu"s, or in forcing them to pay tribute

or black mail for protection. Young men of

the second order of gentry who were desirous

of entering the military profession, frequently

joined in these exploits, as they were con-

sidered well fitted for accustoming those who
engaged in them to the fatigues and exercises

incident to a military life. The celebrated

Eobert Macgi'egor Campbell, or Eob Eoy,' was

the most noted of these freebooters.

The cearnachs were principally the borderers

living close to and within tlie Grampian range,

but cearnachs from the more northerly parts

of the Highlands also paid frequent visits to

the Lowlands, and carried off large quantities

of booty. The border cearnachs judging such

irruptions as an invasion of their rights, fre-

quently attacked the northern cearnachs on

their return homewards ; and if they succeeded

in capturing the spoil, they either appropriated

it to their own iise or restored it to the owners.

It might be supposed that the system of

spoliation we have described, would have led

these freebooters occasionally to steal from one

another. Such, however, was not the case ; for

they observed the strictest honesty in this

respect. No precautions were taken—because

unnecessary—to protect property; and the usual

seciu'ities of locks, bolts, and bars, were never

used, nor even thought of. Instances of theft

from dweUing-liouses were very rare ; and, with

the exception of one case which happened so

late as the year 1770, highway robbery was

totally unknown. Yet, notwithstanding the

laudable regard thus shown by the freebooters

to the property of their own society, they

attached no ideas of moral turpitude to the acts

of spoliation we have alluded to. Donald

Cameron, or Donald Bane Leane, an active

leader of a party of banditti who had associated

together after the troubles of 1745, tried at

Perth for cattle-stealing, and executed at Kin-

loch Eannoch, in 1752, expressed surprise and

indignation at his hard fate, as he considered

' For an account of this notorious individual, see

the history of the clan Macgregor in the second pait

of this work.

28
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it, as lie had never committed murder nor

robbery, or taken any thing but cattle off the

grass of those "with whom he had quarrelled.

The practice of " lifting of cattle " seems to

have been viewed as a very venial offence,

even by persons holding very different views

of morality from the actors, in proof of which.

General Stewart refers to a letter of Field-

Marshal "Wade to Mr. Forbes of Culloden,

then Lord Advocate, dated October, 1729,

d-escribing an entertainment given him on a

visit to a party of cearnachs. " The Knight

and I," says the Marshal, " travelled in my
carriage with great ease and pleasure to the

feast of oxen which the highwaj-men had pre-

pared for us, opposite Lochgarrj', where we

found four oxen roasting at the same time, in

great order and solemnity. We dined in a

tent pitched for that purpose. The beef was

excellent; and we had plenty of bumpers,

not forgetting your Lordship's and Culloden's

health ; and, after three hours' stay, took leave

of our benefactors, the highwaymen,* and

arrived at the hut at Dalnachardoch, before it

was dark."

5

Amid the violence and turbulence which

existed in the Higlilands, no appeal for redress

of wrongs committed, or injuries sustained,

could be effectually made to the legal tribunals

of the country; but to prevent the utter

anarchy which would have ensued from such

a state of society, voluntary and associated

tribunals, composed of the principal men of

the tribes, were appointed. A composition in

cattle being the mode of compensating in-

juiies, these tribunals generally determined the

amount of the compensation according to the

nature of the injury, and the wealth and rank

of the parties. These compensations were

called Eri'j.

Besides these tribunals, every cliief held a

court, in which he decided all disputes occurring

* General Stewart observes, that the Marshal had
not at this period been Ions enough in the Highlands
to distinguish a cearnach, or "lifter of cattle," from
a highwajTuan. *' No such character as the latter

then existed in the country ; and it may be presumed
he did not consider these men in the light which the

word would indicate,—for certainly the Commander-
in-chief would neither have associated with men whom
he supposed to be really highwaymen, nor partaken

of their hospitalitj'."

' Culloden Papers.

among his clansmen. He generally resided

among them. " His castle was the court where

rewards were distributed, and the most envi-

able chstinctions conferred. All disputes were

settled by his decision, and the prosperity or

poverty of his tenants depended on his proper

or improper treatment of them. These tenants

followed his standard in war—attended him

in his hunting excursions—supplied his table

with the produce of their farms—and assembled

to reap his corn, and to prepare and bring

home his fuel They looked up to him as

their ad^nser and protector. The cadets of his

family, respected in proportion to the proximity

of the relation in which they stood to lum,

became a species of sub-chiefs, scattered over

different parts of his domains, holding their

lands and properties of him, with a sort of

subordinate jurisdiction over a portion of his

people, and were ever ready to afford him their

counsel or assistance in all emergencies.

" Great part of the rent of land was paid in

kind, and generally consumed where it was

produced. One cliief was distinguished from

another, not by any additional splendour of

dress or equipage, but by being followed by

more dependants, and by entertaining a greater

number of guests. ^Vhat his retainers gave

from then- individual property was spent

amongst them in the kindest and most liberal

manner. At the castle every indi^dual was

made welcome, and was treated according to

his station, with a degree of courtesy and regard

to his feelings unknown in any other country.^

This condescension, while it raised the clans-

man in his own estimation, and drew closer

the ties between him and his superior, seldom

tempted bim to use any improper familiarities.

^ This was noticed by Dr. Johnson. He thus de-

scribes a meeting between the young laird of Coil and

some of his "subjects:"—"Wherever we roved, we

were pleased to see the reverence with which his sub-

jects regarded him. He did not endeavour to dazzle

them by any magnificence of dress,—his only distinc-

tion was a feather in his bonnet; but as soon as he

appeared, they forsook their work and clustered about

him : he took them by the hand, and they seemed

mutually delighted. He has the proper disposition

of a chieftain, and seems desirous to continue the

customs of his house. The bagpiper jilayed regularly

when dinner was served, whose person and dress made

a good appearance; and he brought no disgrace upon

the family of Kankiii, which has long supplied the

lairds of Coll with hereditary music."

—

Jmi-nuy to It"

Western Islands.
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He believed himself well liorn, and was tauglit

to respect himself in the respect which he

showed to his chief; and thus, instead of com-

plaining of the difference of station and fortune,

or considering a ready obetlience to liis chief-

tain's call as a slavish oppression, he felt con-

vinced that he was supporting his own honour

in showing his gratitude and duty to the

generous head of liis family. ' Hence, the

Highlanders, whom more savage nations called

savage, carried in the outward expression of

their manners the politeness of courts without

their vices, and in their bosoms the high point

of honour without its follies.'""

It cannot, however, be denied, that the

authority of the chief was naturally arbitrary,

aud was sometimes exercised unduly and with

great severity; as a proof of wliich, there is

said to exist among the papers of the Perth

family, an application to Lord Drummond
from the town of Perth, dated in 1707, re-

questing an occasional use of his lordship's

executioner, who was considered an expert

operator, a request with wliich his lordship

complied, reserving, howBver, to himself the

power of recalling the executioner when he

had occasion for his services. Another curious

illustration of this exercise of power is given

by General Stewart. Sometime before the

year 1745, Lord President Forbes dined at

Blair castle with the Duke of Athole, on liis

way from Edinburgh to his seat at Gulloden.

A petition was delivered to his Grace in the

course of the evening, on reading which, he

thus addressed the President :
" My lord, here

is a petition from a poor man, whom Commis-

sary Bisset, my baron bailie (an officer to whom
the chief occasionally delegated his authority),

has condemned to be hanged; and as he is a

clever fellow, and is strongly recommended to

mere}', I am much inclined to pardon him."

"But your Grace knows," said the President,

" that, after condemnation, no man can pardon

but his Majesty." " As to that," repUed the

Duke, " since I have the power of punishing,

it is but right that I should have the power to

pardon." Then, calling upon a servant who
was in waiting, his Grace said, " Go, send an

" Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 46, &c.—D.-ilrymple's

Afemoirs.

express to Logierait, and order Donald Stewart,

presently under sentence, to be instantly set at

liberty."^

The authority which the generality of the

chiefs exercised, was acquired from ancient

usage and the weakness of the government;

but the lords of regality, and the great barons

and chiefs, had jurisdiction conferred on them
by the Cro\\'n, both in civil and criminal cases,

wliich they sometimes exercised in person and

sometimes by deputy. The persons to whom
they delegated this authority were called

bailies. In civil matters the baron or chief

covdd judge in questions of debt within his

barony, as well as in most of those cases known
by the technical term of possessory actions.

And though it has always been an established

rule of law, that no person can be judge in his

own cause, a baron might judge in all actions

between himseK and his vassals and tenants,

necessary for making his rents and feu-duties

effectual. Thus, he could ascertain the price

of corn due by a tenant, and pronounce sen-

tence against him for arrears of rent; but in

all cases where the chief was a party, he could

not judge in person. The criminal jurisdic-

tion of a baron, according to the laws ascribed

to ]\Ialcolm Mackenneth, extended to all crimes

except treason, and tlie four pleas of the Crown,

viz., robbery, murder, rape, and fire-raising.

Freemen could be tried by none but their

peers. Whenever the baron held a court, his

vassals were bound to attend and afford such

assistance as might be required. On these

occasions many useful regulations for the good

of the community were often made, and sup-

plies were sometimes voluntarily granted to

the chief to support his dignity. The bounty

of the vassals was especially and liberally be-

stowed on the marriage of the chief, and in

the portioning of his daughters and younger

sons. These donations consisted of cattle,

which constituted the principal riches of the

country in those patriarchal days. In this

way the younger sons of the chief were fre-

quently provided for on their settlement in

life.

The reciprocal ties which connected the

chief and his clan were almost indissoluble.

^ Stewart, vol. i. p. 50.
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In return for the kindness and paternal care

bestowed ty the former on the latter, they

yielded a ready suhmission to his authority,

and evinced a rare fidelity to his person, which

no adversity could shake. Inniunerahle in-

stances of this devoted attachment might be

given, but two will suffice. In the battle of

Inverkeitliing, between the royaHsts and the

troops of Ohver CromweU, 500 of the followers

of the Laird of Maclean were left dead on the

field Sir Hector Maclean being hard pressed

by the enemy in the heat of the action, was

successively covered from their attacks by

seven brothers, aU of whom sacrificed their

lives in his defence ; and as one fell another

came up in succession to cover him, crying,

" Another for Hector." This phrase, says

General Stewart, has continued ever since a

proverb or watchword, when a man encounters

any sudden danger that requires instant suc-

coixr. The other instance is that of a servant

of the late James Menzies of Culdares, who
had been engaged in the rebellion of 1715.

Mr. Menzies was taken at Preston in Lanca-

shire, was carried to London, where he was

tried and condemned, but afterwards reprieved.

Tliis act prevented him from turning out in

1745: but to show his good wishes towards

Prince Charles, he sent him a handsome

charger as a present, when advancing through

England. The servant who led and delivered

the horse was taken prisoner and carried to

Carlisle, where he was tried and condemned.

Every attempt was made, by threats of im-

mediate execution, in case of refusal, and

promises of pardon, on giving information, to

extort a discovery from him of the person who
sent the horse, but in vain. He knew, he

said, what would be the consequence of a

disclosure, and that his own life was nothing

in comparison with that which it would en-

danger. Being hard pressed at the place of

execution to inform on his master, he asked

those about him if they were really serious in

supposing that he was such a villain as to

betray his master. He said, that if he did

what they desired, and forgot his master and

his trust, he needed not return to his country,

for Glenlyon would be no home or coimtry for

liim, as he would be despised and hunted out

of the glen. Tliis trusty servant's name was

John Macnaughton, a native of Glenlyon in

Perthshire. *

The obedience and attachment of the High

landers to their chiefs, and the readiness they

displayed, on all occasions, to adopt, when

called upon, the quarrels of their superiors,

did not, however, make them forget their own

independence. When a chief was unfit for

liis situation, or had degraded his name and

family, the clan proceeded to depose him, and

set up the next in succession, if deserving, to

whom they transferred their allegiance, as

happened to two chiefs of the families of Mac-

donald of Clanronald and Macdonell of Kep-

poch. The head of the family of Stewart of

' A picture of the horse was in the possession of

the late General Stewart of Garth, being a legacy

bequeathed to him by the daughter of Mr. Menzies.

"A brother of Macnaughton," says the General, "lived

for many years on the estate of Garth, and died in

1790. He always went about armed, at least so far

armed, that when debarred wearing a sword or dirk,

he slung a large long Icnife in his belt. He was one
of the last I recollect of the ancient race, and gave a

very favourable impression of their general manner
and appearance. He was a smith by trade, and
although of the lowest order of the peojile, he walked
about with an air and manner that might have become
a field-marshal. He spoke with great force and
fluency of language, and, although most respectful to

those to whom he thought respect was due, he had an
appearance of independence and ease, that strangers,

ignorant of the language and character of the people,

might have supposed to proceed from impudence. As
he always carried arms when legally permitted, so he
showed on one occasion that he knew how to handle
them. When the Black Watch was quartered on the

banks of the rivers Tay and Lyon, in 1741, an affray

arose between a few of the soldiers and some of the

people at a fair at Kenniore. Some of the Breadalbane

men took the part of the soldiers, and, as many were
armed, swords were quickly drawn, and one of the

former killed, when their opponents, with whom wao
Macnaughton, and a smith, (to whom he was then an
apprentice, ) retreated and fled to the ferry-boat across

the Tay. There was no bridge, and the ferryman, on
seeing the fray, chained his boat. Macnaughton was
the first at the river side, and leaping into the boat,

followed by his master, the smith, with a stroke of his

broadsword cut the chain, and crossing the river, fixed

the boat on the opposite side, and thus prevented an
immediate pursuit. Indeed no farther steps were
t.iken. The Earl of Breadalbane, who was then at

Taymouth, was immediately sent for. On inquiiy, he

found that the whole had originated from an accidental

reflection thrown out by a soldier of one of the Argyle
companies against the Atholemen, then supposed to

be Jacobites, and that it was difficult to ascertain who
gave the fatal blow. The man who was kiUed was an

old warrior of nearly eighty years of age. He had
been with Lord Breadalbane's men, under Campbell
of Glenlyon, at the battle of Sheriff'muir ; and, as his

side lost their cause, he swore never to shave again.

He kept his word, and as his beard grew till it reached

his girdle, he got the name of Padi'ic-na-Phaisaig,
' Peter with the Beard."
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Gailh, who, on account of liis ferocious dis-

position, was nick-named the " Fierce Wolf,"

was, about the year 1520, not only deposed,

but confined for life in a ceU in the castle of

Garth, which was, therefore, long regarded by

the people with a kind of superstitious terror.

The clans even sometimes interfered Mrith the

choice of the chiefs in changing their places of

abode, or in selecting a site for a new residence.

The Earl of Seaforth was prevented by his

clan (the M'Kenzies) from demolisliing Brahan

castle, the principal seat of the family. In

the same way the Laird of Glenorchy, ancestor

of the Marqms of Breadalbane, having some

time pre'vious to the year 1.570, laid the

foundation of a castle which he intended to

build on a hiU on the side of Lochtay, was

compelled, or induced, by his people, to change

liis plan and buUd the castle of BaUoch or

TajTnouth.

From what has been stated, it will be per-

ceived that the influence of a chief with his

clan depended much on his personal qualities,

of which kindness and a condescension, which

admitted of an easy familiarity, were necessary

traits. Captain Burt, the author of ' Letters

from the North,' thus alludes to the familiarity

which existed between a chief and his clan, and

the affability and courtesy with which thej'

were accustomed to be treated :
" And as the

meanest among them pretended to be his

relations by consanguinity, they insisted on

the privilege of taking him by the hand when-

ever they met him. Concerning this last, I

once saw a number of very discontented coun-

tenances when a certain lord, one of the chiefs,

endeavoured to evade this ceremony. It was

in the presence of an English gentleman, of

high station, from whom he would willingly

have concealed the knowledge of such seeming

famiharily -nith slave.s^of wretched appearance

;

and thinking it, I suppose, a kind of contra-

diction to what he had often boasted at other

times, viz., his despotic power in his clan."

From the feeling of self-respect which the

urbanity and condescension of the chiefs natu-

rally created in the minds of the people, arose

that honourable principle of fidelity to superi-

ors and to their trust, whiclr we have already

noticed, " and which," says General Stewart,

"was so generally and so forcibly imbibed.

that the man who betrayed his trust was con-

sidered unworthy of tlie name wliich he bore,

or of the kindred to which he belonged."

From this principle flowed a marked detes-

tation of treachery, a vice of very rare occur-

rence among the Highlanders ; and so tenacious

were they on that point, that the slighte.-ft

suspicion of infidelity on the part of an indi-

vidual estranged him from the society of Lis

clan, who sliunned liim as a person with whom
it was dangerous any longer to associate. The

case of -John Du Cameron, better known, from

his large size, by the name of Sergeant Jlor,^

affords an example of this. This man had

been a sergeant in the French service, and

returned to Scotland in the year 1745, when

he engaged in the rebellion. Having no fixed

abode, and dreading the consequences of hav-

ing served in the French army, and of ti^iug

afterwards engaged in the rebellion, he formed

a party of freebooters, and took up hi,.s resi-

dence among the mountains on the borders of

the counties of Perth, Inverness, and Argylc,

where he carried on a system of spoL'ation by

carrying off the cattle of tlioso he called his

enemies, if they did not purchase his forbear-

ance by the payment of Black mail. Cameron

had long been in the habit of sleeping in a

barn on the farm of Dunan in Eannoch ; but

' The following amusing anecdote of tliis man is

relateil by General Stewart :
— " On one occasion he

met with an officer of the garrison of Fort-William on
the mountains of Lochaber. The officer told him
that he suspected he had lost his way, and, having a
large sum of money for the garrison, was afraid of

meeting the sergeant Mor ; he therefore rei|Uested

that the stranger would accomjiany him on his road.

The other agreed ; and, while they walked on, they
talked much of the sergeant and his feats, the ofiicer

using much freedom with his name, calling him robber,

murderer.— ' Stop there, ' interrupted liis companion,
' he does indeed take the cattle of the whigs and you
Sassanachs, but neither he nor his cearnachs ever shed
innocent blood ; except once, ' added he, 'that f was
unfortunate at Braemar, when a man was killed, but
I immediately ordered the creach (the spoil) to be
abandoned, and left to the owners, retreating as fast

as we could after such a misfortune !

'
' You,' says

the officer, ' what had you to do with the affair
?

' 'I

am John Du Cameron,—I am the sergeant Mor

;

there is the road to fnverfochay,—you cannot now
mistake it You and your money are safe. Tell your
governor to send a more wary messenger for his gold.

Tell him also, that, although an outlaw, and forced

to live on the public, I am a soldier as well as himself,

and would despise taking his gold from a defenceless

man who confided in me.' The officer lost no time
in reaching the garrison, and never forgot the adven-
ture, which he frequently related."
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hariDg teen betrayed by some persor., lie was

apprehended one night when asleep in the

bam, in the year 1753, by a party of Lieu-

tenant (after Sir Hector) Munro's detach-

ment. Ho was carried to Perth, and there

tried before the court of justiciary for the

murder alluded to in the note, and various

acts of theft and cattle-stealing. Being found

guilty, ho was executed at Perth in 1753. It

was generally believed in the country that

Cameron had been betrayed by the man in

whose barn he had taken shelter, and the

circumstance of his renting a farm from govern-

ment, on the forfeited estate of Strowan, on

advantageous terms, strengthened the suspi-

cion ; but beyond this there was nothing to

confirm the imputation. Yet this man was

ever after heartily despised, and ha"ving by

various misfortunes lost all his property, which

obliged him to leave the country in great

poverty, the people firmly believed that his

misfortunes were a just judgment upon him

for violating the trust reposed in him by an

•msuspecting and unfortunate person.

Such were some of the leading character-

istics of this remarkable race of people, who

preserved many of their national peculiarities

till a comparatively recent period. These,

whoever, are now fast disappearing before the

march of modem improvement and civiliza-

tion ; and we are sorry to add that the vices

which seem almost inseparable from tliis new

state of society have found their way into some

parts of the Highlands, and supplanted, to a

certain extent, many of those shining virtues

which were once the glory of the Gael.

APPENDI.K TO CHAPTER XVIII.,

Containing notices ty contemporary writers, from the
11th century downwards, of the dress and arms of the
Highlanders ; extracted from the lona Club publica-
tion, Collectanea de rebus Albankis.

Magnus Berfaet's Saga.

A.D. 1093. It is said when KingJIagnns retuvneJ

from his expedition in the west, that he ado])ted the

costume in use in the western lands, and Likewise

many of his followers ; that they went about bare-

legged having short tunics (W. kyrtles), and also

upper garments ; and so many men called hira Bare-

legged or Barefoot.

Andrew Wjmtoim (1420), referring to thecombrit

on N. Inch, says,

At Sanct Johnstone beside the Freris,

All thai entrit in Barrens

Wyth Bow and Ax, Knyf and Swerd,

To deil amang them their la.st werd.

John M.-ijor (1512).

From the middle of their thigh to the foot they

have no covering for the leg, clothing themselves with

a mantle instead of an upper garment, and a shirt

dyed with saffron. They always carry a bow and

arrows, a very bi-oad .sword with a small halbert, a

large dagger, sharpened on one side only, but very

sharp, under the belt. In time of war they cover

their whole body with a shirt of mail of iron rings,

and fight in that. The common people of the High-

land Scots rush into battle, having their body clothed

with a linen garment manifoldly sewed and painted

or daubed with pitch, with a covering of deerskin.

In another place he speaks much to the same

purport.

In the accounts of the Lord High Treasurer of

Scotland, in August 1538, we find the following

entries regarding a Highland dress made for King

James V., on the occasion of that monarch making

a hunting excursion into the Highlands :

—

Item in the first for ii elnis ane quarter elne of

variant cullorit velvet to be the Kingis Grace ane schort

Heland coit price of the elne vi'ib summa liiilib x».

Item, for iii elnis quarter elne of grene taffatys

to lyne the said coit with, price of the elne xs sura-

ma .....•• xxxii" vid.

Item for iii elnis of Heland tartane to be hoiss to

the Kingis Grace, price of the elne iiiis iiiii sum-

ma xiiis.

Ite.m for XV olnis of holland claith to be syde

Heland sarkis to the Kingis Grace, price of the elne

viiis summa ...... vil»b.

Item for sewing and making of the said sarkis ixs.

Item for twa unce of silk to sew thame . x«.

Item for iiii elnis of rubanis to the handis of

thame ii'-

Letter written by John Elder, a Highland priest,

to Henry VIIL (1543).

Moreover, wherefor they call us in Scotland Eedd-

shankes, and in your Graces dominion of England,

roghe footide Scottis, Pleas it your Maiestie to under-

stande, that we of all people can tollerat, suffir, and

away best with colde, for boithe somer and wyntir

(excepte when the freest is most vehcmonte), goynge

ilwaies bair leggide and bair footide, our delite and

pleasure is not onely in huntynge of redd deir, wolfes,

foxes, and graies, whereof we abo\inde, and have

greate plentie, but also in rynninge, leapinge, swym-

mynge, shootynge, and thrawinge of dartis :
therfor,

in so moohe as we use and delite so to go alwaies, the

tendir delicatt gentilbnen of Scotland call us Redd-

:ihankes. And agayne in wj-nter, whene the froest in
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mooste vehement (as I have saide) which wo can not

sufEr bair footide, so weill as snow, whiche can never

hurt us whene it cummes to our girdills, we go a

huntynge, and after that we have slayne redd deir,

we flaye of the skyne, bey and bey, and settinge of our

bair foote on the iusyde therof, for neide of cunnyge

shoemakers, by your Graces pardon, we play the

sutters ; compasinge and mesuringe so moche thereof,

as shall retche up to our anclers, pryckynge the upper

part therof also with holis, that the water may repas

when it entres, and stretchide up with a stronge

thwange of the same, meitand above our said ancklcrs,

so, and please your noble Grace, we make our shoois

:

Therfor, we usinge such maner of shoois, the roghe

hairie syde outwart, in your Graces dominion of Eng-

land, we be callit roghe footide Scottis ; which mauer

of schools (and pleas your Highnes) in Latyne be

called perones, whereof the poet Virgill makis men-

cioun, sayinge. That the olde auncient Latyns in tynie

of warrs u&ide suche maner of schoos. And althoughe

a great sorte of us Reddshankes go after this maner in

our countrethe, yeit never the les, and pleas your

Grace, when we come to the courte (the Kinges Grace

our great master being alyve) waitinge on our Lordes

and maisters, who also, for velvettis and silkis, be

right well araide, we have as good garmentis as some

of our fellowis whiche gyve attendaunce in the court

every day.

John de Beuugue, a Frenchman, who wrote a

history of the campaigns in Scotland in 1549,

printed in Paris in 1556, states that, at the siege

of Haddington, in 1549, "they (the Scottish army)

were followed by the Highlanders, and these last

go almost naked ; they have painted waistcoats,

and a sort of woollen covering, variously coloured."

Lindsay of Pitscottie (wrote about 1573):

—

The other pairts [of Scotland] northerue are full of

mountaines, and very rud and homlie kyud of people

doeth inhabite, which is called the Reidschankis or

Wyld Scottis. They be clothed with ane mantle,

with ane schirt saffroned after the Irisch manner,

going hair-lagged to the knee. Thair weapones ar

bowis and dartes, with ane verie broad sword and ane

dagger scharp onlie at the on edge.

John Lesley, Bishop of Eoss, who published his

work De origine, moribus d rebtis gestis Scotorum

at Rome in 1578, thus describes the arms and dress

of the old Scots, which were still in his time used

by the Highlanders and Islanders :

—

In battle and hostile encounter their missile weapons

were a lance and arrows. They used also a two-edged

sword which, with the foot soldiers was pretty long,

and short for the horse ; both had it broad, and with

an edge so e.xceeiling sharp that at one blow it would

easily cut a man in two. For defence, they used a

coat of mail, woven of iron rings, which they wore

over a leather jerkin, stout and of handsome appear-

ance, which we call an aeton. Their whole armour

was light, that they might the more easily slip from

their enemies' hands if they chanced to fall into such

a strait. Their clothing was made for use (being

chiefly suited to war), and not for ornament. All,

both nobles and common people, wore mantles of one

sort (except that the nobles preferred those of several

colours). These were long aud flowing, but capable

of being neatly gathered up at pleasure into folds. I

am inclined to believe that they were the same aj

those to which the ancients gave the name of brachal.

Wrapped up in these for their only covering they

would sleep comfortably. They had also shaggy rugs,

such as the Irish use at the present day, some fitted

for a journey, others to be placed on a bed. The rest

of their garments consisted of a short woollen jacket

with the sleeves open below for the convenience of

throwing their darts, and a covering for the thighs of

the simplest kind, more for decency than for show or

a defence against cold. They made also of linen, very

large shirts, with numerous folds and wide sleeves,

which flowed abroad loosely to their knees. These,

the rich coloured with saffron, and others smeared

with some grease to preserve them longer clean among

the toils and exercises of a camp, which they held it

of the highest consequence to practise continually.

In the manufacture of these, ornament and a certain at-

tention to taste were not altogether neglected, and they

joined the different parts of their shirts very neatly

with silk threads, chiefly of a green or red colour.

Their women's attire was very becoming. Over a

gown reaching to the ancles, and generally em-

broidered, they wore large mantles of the kind already

described, and woven of different colours. Their chief

ornaments were the bracelets and necklaces with

which they decorated their arms and necks.

George Buchanan (pub. 1582, thus translated by

Monypenny 1612).

They delight in marled clothes, specially that have

long stripes of sundry colours ; they love chiefly pur-

ple and blew. Their predecessors used short mantles

or plaids of divers colours sundry waies devided ; and

amongst some, the same custome is observed to this

day ; but for the most part now they are browne,

more nere to the colour of the hadder ; to the effect

when they lie amongst the hadder the bright colour

of their plaids shall not bewray them ; with the which,

rather coloured than clad, they suffer the most cruel

tempests that blow in the open field in such sort, that

under a wrythe of snow they slepe sound. . . .

Their armour wherewith they cover their bodies in

time of werre, is an iron bonnet and an habbergion

side (long) almost even to their heeles. Their weaponea

against their enemies are bowes and arrowes. The

arrows are for the most part hooked, with a bauble on

either side, which once entered within the body can-

not be drawn forth againe, unlesse the wounde be

made wider. Some of them fight with broad swords

and axes.

Nicolay d'Arfeville, Cosmographer to King of

France, pub. 1583, a vol. on Scotland, speaks

thus :

—
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They [wild Scots] weir like the Irish, a long large

and full shirt, coloured with sallron, and over this a

garment hanging to the knee, of thick wool, after the

manner of a cassock. They go with bare heads, and

allow the hair to grow very long, and they wear neither

stockings nor shoes, except some who have buskins

made ill a very old fashion, which come as high as

their knees. Their arms are the how and arrow, and

some darts, which they throw with great dexterity,

and a large sword, with a single-edged dagger. They

are very swift of foot, and there is no horse so swift as

to outstrip them, as I have seea proved several times,

both in England and Scotland.

In 1594, when Red Hugh O'Donnell, Lord of

Tirconall iii Ulster, was in rebellion against Queen

Elizabeth, he was assisted for some time by a body

of auxiliaries from the Hebrides. These warriors

are described in the following terms in the Life of

Hugh O'Dounell, origuially ^vritten in Irish by

Peregrine O'Clery, and since translated by the late

Edward O'Reilly, Esq.

The outward clothing they (the auxiliaries from the

isles) wore, was a mottled garment with numerous

colours hanging in folds to the calf of the leg, with a

girdle round the loins over the garment. Some of

them with horn-hafted swords, large and military,

over their shoulders. A man when he had to strike

with them, was obliged to apply both his hands to the

haft.

John Taylor, the Water Poet, made an excursion

to Scotland in 1618, of which he published an

amusing account under the title of The Pennylcsse

Pilgrimage. He describes the dress of the High-

landers in the following account he gives of his

visit to Braemar for the purpose of paying his

respects to the Earl of Mar and Sir W. Moray of

Abercairney.

Thus, with extreme travell, ascending and descend-

ing, mounting and alighting, I came at night to the

place where 1 would be, in the Brae of Marr, which

is a large county all composed of such moantaines,

that Shooters hill. Gads hill, Highgate hill, Hainp-

stead hill, Birdlip hill, or Malvernes hills, are but

mole-hills in comparison, or like a liver, or a gizzard

under a capon's wing, in respect to the altitude of their

tops, or perpendicularite of their hottomes. There I

saw mount Benawne with a fund'd mist upon his

snowy head instead of a night-cap ; for you must

understand, that the oldest man alive never saw hut

the snow was on the top of divers of tho-se hills, (both

in summer as well as in winter). There did 1 find

the truely noble and Right Honourable Lords John

Erskine, Earle of Marr, James Stuart, Earle of

Murray, George Gordon, Earle of Engye, sonne and

heire to the Marquise of Huntley, James Erskin,

Earle of Bughan, and John, Lord Erskin, Sonne

and heire to the Earle of Marr, and their Countesses,

with my much honoured, and my best assured and

approved friend. Sir William Murray, Knight, of

AbSrcarny, and hundred of others, knights, esquires.

and their followers ; all and every man in geuerall, in

one habit, as if Licurgus had been there, and made
lawes of equality. For once in the yeere, which is the

whole moneth of August, and sometimes part of

September, many of the nobility and gentry of the

kingdome (for their pleasure) doe come into these

Higliland countries to hunt, where they doe conforme

themselves to the habite of the Highland men, who,

for the moste part, speake nothing but Irish ; and in

former time were those people which were called the

Redshanks. Their habite is shooes with but one sole

apiece; stockings (which they call short hose) made
of a wamie stuff of divers colours, which they call

tartane. As for breeches, many of them, nor their

forefathers, ever wore any, but a jerkin of the same

stulle that their hose is of, their garters being bands

or wreathes of hay or straw, with a plaed about their

shoulders, which is a mantle of divers colours, much
finer and lighter stuffe than their hose, with blue flat

caps on their heads, a handkerchiefe knit with two

knots about their necke ; and thus are they attyred.

Now, their weapons are long bowes and forked an'owes,

swords and targets, harquebu.sses, muskets, durks,

and Loquhabor-a.xes. With these armes I found

many of them armed for the hunting. As for their

attire, any man of what degree soever that comes

amongst them, must not disdaine to weare it ; for if

they doe, then they will disdaine to hunt, or willingly

to bring in their dogges ; but if men be kind unto them,

and be in their habit, then are they conquered with

kindnesse, and the sport wUl be plentifuU. This was

the reason that I found so many noblemen and gentle

men in those shapes. But to proceed to the hunting.

My good Lord of Marr having put me into thai

shape, I rode with him from his house, where I saw

the mines of an old castle, called the castle of Kin-

droghit. It was built by king Malcolm Canmore (for

a hunting house), who raigned in Scotland when

Edward the Confessor, Harold, and Norman William

raigned in England ; I speak of it, because it was the

last house that I saw in those parts ; for I was the

space of twelve dayes after, before I saw either house,

corne-field, or habitation for any creature, but deere,

wild horses, wolves, and such like creatures, which

made me doubt that I should never have scene a house

Defoe, in his Memoirs of a Cavalier, written

about 1721, and obviously composed from authentic

materials, thus describes the Highland part of the

Scottish army which invaded England in 1639, at

the commencement of the great civil war. The

Cavalier having paid a visit to the Scottish camp

to satisfy his curiosity, thus proceeds :

—

1 confess the soldiers made a very uncouth figure,

especially the Highlanders : the oddness and barbarity

of their garb and arms seemed to have something in

it remarkable. They were generally tall swinging

fellows ; their swords were extravagantly and I think

insignificantly broad, and they carried great wooden

targets, large enough to cover the upper part of their

bodies. Their dress was as antique as the rest • a cap
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on their heads, called by them a bonnet, long hang-

ing sleeves behind, and their doublet, breeches, and

stockings, of a stufl' they called plaid, stripped across

red and yellow, with short cloaks of the same.

William Cleland, Lieutenant-Colonel to the Earl

of Angiis's regiment, who was kiUed whilst gal-

lantly defending liis post at Dimkeld, against a

party of Highlanders, soon after the Revolution,

wrote a satirical poem upon the expedition of the

Highland host in 1678, from which the following

extract is taken :

—

Their head, their neck, their legs, their thighs

Are influenced by the skies.

Without a clout to interrupt them

They need not strip them when they whip them

Nor loose their doublet when they're hanged.

But those who were their chief Commanders,

As such who bore the pirnie standards.

Who led the van, and drove the rear.

Were right well mounted of their gear

;

With brogues, trues, and i)irnie plaides.

With good blew bonnets on their heads.

Which on the one side had a flipe

Adorn'd with a tobacco pipe,

With durk, and snap work, and snuff mill,

A bagg which they with onions till.

And, as their strik observers say,

A tupe horn till'd with usquebay
;

A slasht out coat beneath her plaids,

A targe of timber, nails and hides

;

With a long two-handed sword.

As good's the country can affoord.

. . . . they're smear'd with tar.

Which doth defend them heel and neck.

Just as it doth their sheep protect.

WOliam Sacheverell, governor of the Isle of

Man, made an excursion in 1688 through the Isle

of Mull, and thence to Icolmkill. An accoimt of

this he published in 1702, in which he describes

from observation, the dress, armour, and appearance

of the Highlanders.

During my stay, I generally observed the men to

be large-bodied, stout, subtle, active, patient of cold

and hunger. There appeared in all their actions a

certain generous air of freedom, and contempt of those

trifles, luxury and ambition, which we so servilely

creep after. They bound their appetites by their

necessities, and their happiness consists, not in having
much, but in coveting little. The women seem to

have the same sentiments with the men; though their

habits were mean, and they had not our sort of

breeding, yet in many of them there was a natural

beauty and a graceful modesty, which never faUs of
attracting. The usual outward habit of both sexes is

the pladd
; the women's much finer, the colours more

lively, and the squares larger than the men's, and put
me in mind of the ancient Picts. This serves them
for a veil, and covers both head and body. The men
wear theirs after another manner, especially when
designed for ornament; it is loose and flowing, like

the mantles our painters give their heroes. Their

thighs are bare, with brawny muscles. Nature has

drawn all her strokes bold and masterly; what is

covered is only adapted to necessity—a thin brogue ou

the foot, a short buskin of various colours on the leg,

tied above the calf with a striped pair of garters.

What should be concealed is hid with a large shot-

pouch, on each side of which hangs a pistol and a

dagger, as if they found it necessary to keep those

parts well guarded. A round target on their backs,

a blue bonnet on their heads, in one hand a broad-

sword, and a musquet in the other. Perhaps no
nation goes better armed; and I assure you they will

handle them with bravery and dexterity, especially

the sword and target, as our veteran regiments found

to their cost at Killiecrankie.

The following minute description of Highland

dress is contained in Martin's Western Isles of

Scotland

:

—
The first habit wore by persous of distinction in the

islands, was the leni-croich, from the Irish word lent,

which signifies a shirt, and crock, saffron, because

their shirt was died with that herb : the ordinary

number of ells used to make this robe was twenty-

four; it was the upper garb, reaching below the knees,

and was tied with a belt round the middle ; but the

islanders have laid it aside about a hundred years ago.

They now generally use coat, wastcoat, and breeches,

as elsewhere, and on their heads wear bonnets made
of thick cloth, some blew, .some black, and some gray.

Many of the people wear troteis. Some have thera

very fine woven like stockings of those made of cloath;

some are coloured and others striped; the latter are as

well shap'd as the former, lying close to the body from

the middle downwards, and tied round with a belt

above the haunches. There is a square piece of cloth

which hangs down before. The measure for shaping

the trowis is a stick of wood whose length is a cubit,

and that divided into the length of a finger, and half

a finger; so that it requires more skill to make it,

than the ordinary habit.

The shooes anciently wore, was a piece of the hide

of a deer, cow, or horse, with the hair on, being tied

behind and before with a point of leather. The gener-

ality now wear shooes having one thin sole only, and
shaped after the right and left foot ; so that what is

for one foot, will not serve the other.

But persons of distinction wear the garb in fashion

in the south of Scotland.

The plad wore only by the men, is made of fine

wool, the thread as fine as can be made of that kind

;

it consists of divers colours, and there is a great deal

of ingenuity requir'd in sorting the colours, so as to

be agreeable to the nicest fancy. For this reason the

women are at great pains, first to give an exact

pattern of the plade upon a piece of wood, having the

number of every thread of the stripe on it. The

length of it is commonly seven double ells; the one

end hangs by the middle over the left arm, the other

going round the body, hangs by the end over the left

arm also. The right hand above it is to be at liberty

2 T
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to do any thiBg upon occasion. Every isle differs

from each other in their fancy of making plaids, as to

the stripes in breadth and colours. This humour is

as different thro' the main land of the Highlands,

insofar that they who have seen tho.se places, is able

at the first view of a man's plaid, to guess the place of

his residence.

When they travel on foot, the plaid is tied on the

breast with a bodkin of bone or wood, (just as the

spina wore by the Germans, according to the descrip-

tion of 0. Tacitus ;) the plaid is tied round the middle

with a leather belt ; it is pleated from the belt to the

knee very nicely ; this dress for footmen is found much
easier and lighter than breeches, or trowis.

The ancient dress wore by the women, and which is

yet wore by some of the vulgar, called arisad, is a

white plade, having a few small stripes of black, blew,

and red ; it reached from the neck to the heels, and

was tied before on the breast with a buckle of silver,

Dr brass, according to the quality of the person. I

have seen some of the former of an hundred marks

value ; it was broad as any ordinary pewter plate, the

whole curiously engraven with various animals, &c.

There was a lesser buckle which was wore iu the

middle of the larger, and above two ounces weight ; it

had in the center a large piece of chrystal, or some

finer stone, and this was set all round with several

finer stones of a lesser size.

The plad being pleated all round, was tied with

a belt below the brea,st; the belt was of leather, and

several pieces of silver intermix'd with the leatlier like

a chain. The lower end of the belt has a piece of

plate about eight inches long, and three in breadth,

curiously engraven ; the end of which was adorned

with fine stones, or pieces of red corral. They wore

sleeves of scarlet cloth, clos'd at the end as mens

vests, with gold lace round 'em, having plate buttons

set with fine stones. The head dress was a fine

kerchief of linen strait about the head, hanging down

the back taper-wise ; a large lock of hair hangs down

their cheeks above their breast, the lower end tied

with a knot of ribbands.

The ancient way of fighting was by set battles, and

for arms some had broad two handed swords, and

head-pieces, and others bows and arrows, \yhen all

their arrows were spent, they attack'd one another

with sword in hand. Since the invention of guns,

they aere very early accustomed to use them, and

carry their pieces with them wherever they go ; they

likewise learn to handle the broad sword, and target.

The chief of each tribe advances with his followers

within shot of the enemy, having first laid aside their

upper garments ; and after one general discharge, they

attack them with sword in hand, having their target

on their left hand, (as they did at Kelicranky) which

soon brings the matter to an issue, and verifies the

observation made of 'em by our historians,

Aut mors cito, aut victoria l;cta.

The following is taken from Letters from a

Gentleman in the North of Scotlaml, written by

Captain Burt, an English officer of En^eers.

engaged under ^Marshal Wade on the military roads

through the Highlands, begun in the year 1726:

—

The Highland dress consists of a bonnet made of

thrum without a brim, a short coat, a waistcoat,

longer by five or six inches, short stockings, and

brogues, or pumps without heels. By the way, they

cut holes in their brogues, though new made, to let

out the water, when they have far to go and rivers to

pass : this they do to preserve their feet from galling.

Few besides gentlemen wear the trmezc,—that is,

the breeches and stockings all of one piece, and drawn

on together; over this habit they wear a plaid, which

is usually three yards long and two breadths wide,

and the whole garb is made of chequered tartan, or

plaiding : this, with the sword and pistol, is called a

full dress, and, to a well-proportioned man, with any

tolerable air, it makes an agreeable figure; but this

you have seen in London, and it is chiefly their mode

of dressing when they are in the Lowlands, or when

they make a neighbouring visit, or go anywhere on

horseback ; but when those among them who travel

on foot, and have not attendants to carry them over

the waters, they vary it into the quclt, which is a

manner I am about to describe.

The common habit of the ordinary Highlanders is

far from being acceptable to the eye ; with them a

small part of the plaid, which is not so large as the

former, is set in folds and girt round the waist, to

make of it a short petticoat that reaches half way

down the thigh, and the rest is brought over the

shoulders, and then fastened before, below the neck,

often with a fork, and sometimes with a bodkin or

sliarpened piece of stick, so that they make pretty

nearly the appearance of the poor women in London

when they bring their gowns over their heads to

shelter them from the rain. In this way of wearing

the plaid, they have sometimes nothing else to cover

them, and are often barefoot ; but some I have seen

shod with a kind of pumps, made out of a raw cow-

hide, with the hair turned outward, which being ill

made, the wearer's foot looked something like those

of a rough-footed hen or pigeon : these are called

quarrants, and are not only offensive to the sight, but

intolerable to the smell of those who are near them.

The stocking rises no higher than the thick of the

calf, and from the middle of the thigh to the middle

of the leg is a naked space, which, being exposed to

all weathers, becomes tanned and freckled. This

dress is called the quelt ; and, for the most part, they

wear the petticoat so very short, tliat in a windy day,

going up a hill, or stooping, the indecency of it is

plainly discovered.

I have observed before that the plaid serves the

ordinary people for a cloak by day and bedding at

night : by the latter it imbibes so much perspiration,

that no one day can free it from the filthy smell ; and

even some of better than ordinary appearance, when

the plaid falls from the shoulder, or otherwise requires

to be re-adjusted, while you are talking with thorn,

toss it over again, as some people do the knots of theii

wigs, which conveys the offence in whiffs that are in-
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tolerable ;—of this they seem not to be sensible, for it

is often done only to give themselves airs.

The plaid is the undress of the ladies; and to a

genteel woman, who adjusts it with a good air, is a

becoming veil. But as I am pretty sure you never

saw one of them in England, I shall employ a few

words to describe it to you. It is made of silk or fine

worsted, checjuered with various lively colours, two

breadths wide, and three yards in length ; it is brought

over the head, and may hide or discover the face ac-

cording to the wearer's fancy or occasion ; it reaches

to the waist behind ; one comer falls as low as the

anklo on one side ; and the other part, in folds, hangs

down from the opposite arm.

The ordinary girls wear nothing upon their heads

until they are married or have a child, except some-

times a fillet of red or blue coarse cloth, of which

they are very proud ; but often their hair hangs down
jver the forehead like that of a wild colt. If they

wear stockings, which is very rare, they lay them in

plaits one above another, from the ancle up to the

calf, to make their legs appear as near as they can in

the fomi of a cylinder ; but I think I have seen some-

thing like this among the poor German refiigee women
and the Moorish men in London.

Mr. Gough, in his additions to Camden's Britan-

nia, gives the following accurate description of tlie

Highland dress and armour, as they were to be

found in the district of Breadalbane previous to the

proscription of the dress :

—

The dress of the men is the brechan or plaid, 12 or

13 yards of narrow stuff wrapped round the middle,

and reaching to the knees, often girt round the waist,

and in cold weather covering the whole body, even on

the open hills, all night, and fastened on the shoulders

with a brooch ; short stockings tied below the knee

;

tncish, a genteeler kind of breeches, and stockings of

one piece ; cueranen, a laced shoe of skin, with the

hairy side out, rather disused; kilt or fillibeg, g. d.

little plaid, or short petticoat, reaching to the knees,

aubstituted of late to the longer end of the plaid ; and
lastly, the pouch of badger or other skins, with tassels

hanging before them.

The women's dress is the kcrch, or white linen

pinned round behind like a hood, and over the fore-

heads of married women, whereas maidens wear only

a mood or ribbon round their heads ; the tanac or

plaid fastened over their shoulders, and drawn over

their heads in bad weather; a plaited long stocking,

called ossan, is their high dress.

The following detail of the complete equipment

of a Highland chief was communicated by a High-

land gentleman to Charles Grant, Vicomte de

Vaux, by whom it was printed in his Mimoires de

la Maison de Grant, in 1796 :—

No. 1. A full-trimmed bonnet.

2. A tartan jacket, vest, kilt, and cross-belt.

3. A tartan belted plaid.

4. pair of liose, made up [of cloth].

5. A tartan pair of stockings, ditto, v

garters.

6. Two pair of brogs.

7. A silver-mounted purse and belt.

8. A target with spear.

9. A broadsword.

10. A pair of pistols and bullet-mould.

11. A dirk, knife, fork, and belt.

CHAPTEE XIX.

sovereigns:—

Trial and Execution of the Marquis of Argyle—Flia

character—Feud between the Earl of Argyle ard
the Macleans—The " Highland Host "—The Test-
Trial and Condemnation of the Earl of Argyle

—

Argyle escapes—Argyle and Monmouth's invasion^
Execution of Argyle—Unconstitutional proceedings
of the King—Designs of the Prince of Orange—Pro-
ceedings of King James— Landing of the Prince of

Orange—State of feeling in Scotland—Flight of the
King—The Duke of Gordon—Convention of Estates

—Duke of Gordon holds Edinburgh Castle—Viscount
Dundee.

The news of the king's arrival was received

in Scotland with a burst of enthusiasm not

quite in accordance with the national charac-

ter;^ hut the idea that the nation was ahout

to regain its liberties made Scotsmen forget

their wonted propriety. Preparatory to the

assemblmg of the Scottish parliament, whi(;h

was summoned to meet at Edinburgh on the

1st of January, 1661, Middleton, who had

lately been created an earl, was appointed hia

majesty's commissioner ; the Earl of Glencairn,

chancellor ; the Earl of Lauderdale, secretary

of state ; the Earl of Eothes, president of the

council ; and the Earl of Crawford, lord-trea-

surer.

' " I believe there was never accident in the world
altered the disposition of a people more than that (the

king's return) did the Scottish nation. Sober men
observed, it not only inebriat but really intoxicate, and
made people not only drunk but frantick; men did

not think they could handsomely express their joy
except they turned brutes for debauch, rebels, and
pugeants; yea, many a sober man was tempted to ex-

ceed, lest he should be condemned as unnatural, dis-

loyal, and unsensible. Most of the nobility, and many
of the gentry, and hungry old souldiers, flew to Lon-
don, just as the vulture does to the carcase. And
though many of them were bare enough, they made no
bones to tcivc 15 of the 100 of exchange."—Kirktcn,

p. 65.
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It would be quite apart from the object of

this work to detail the many imconetitutional

acts passed by this " terrible parliament," as it

is well named by Kirkton ; but the trial of the

Marquis of Argyle must not be overlooked.

That nobleman had, on the restoration of the

king, gone to London to congratulate Ins ma-

jesty on his return ; but on his arrival he

was immediately seized and committed to the

Tower. He petitioned the king for a personal

interview, which was refused, and, to get rid

of his importunities, his majesty directed that

he should be sent back to Scotland for trial.

Being brought to trial, he applied for delay,

till some witnesses at a distance shoidd be

examined on commission ; but this also was re-

fused. He thereupon claimed the benefit of

the amnesty which the king had granted at

Stilling. This plea was sustained by desire of

the king ; but as there were other charges

Rgainst him, arising out of transactions siilise-

1 quent to the year 1651, to which year only the

amnesty extended, the trial was proceeded in.

These charges were, that he had aided the

English in destroying the liberties of Scotland

—that h". had accepted a grant of £12,000

from Cromwell—that he had ropeatedl}' used

defamatory and traitorous language in speaking

of the royal family—and, lastly, that he had

voted for a bill abjuring the right of the royal

family to the crowns of the three kingdoms,

which had been passed in the parliament of

Richard Cromwell, in which he sat. Argjde

denied that he had ever given any countenance

or assistance to the English in their invasion

of Scotland ; but he admitted the grant from

Cromwell, which he stated was given, not in

lieu of services, but as a compensation for

losses sustained by him. He, moreover, denied

that he had ever used the words attributed to

him respecting the royal family ; and with re-

gard to the charge of sitting in Richard Crom-

well's parhament, he stated that he had taken

liis seat to protect his oo\mtry from oppression,

and to be ready, should occasion offer, to sup-

port by his vote the restoration of the king.

This defence staggered the parliament, and

judgment was postponed. In the meantime

Glencairn and Rothes hastened to London, to

lay the matter before the king, and to urge the

necessity of Argylo's condemnation. Unfor-

tunately for that nobleman, they had recovered

some letters which he had written to Monk
and other English officers, in whicli were found

some expressions very hostile to the king ; but

as these letters have not been preserved, theii

precise contents are not known. Argyle was

again brought before parliament, and the letters

read in his presence. He had no explanation

to give, and Ms friends, vexed and dismayed,

retired from the house and left liim to his fate.

He was accordingly sentenced to death on the

25th of May, 1661, and, tliat he might not

have an opportunity of appealing to the clem-

ency of the king, he was ordered to be beheaded

within forty-eight hours. He prepared for

death ^vith a fortitude not expected from the

timidity of his nature ; wrote a long letter to

tlie king, vindicating '^is memory, and implor

ing protection for his poor wife and family ; on

the day of his execution, dined at noon with

liis friends with great clieerfuhiess, and was

accompanied by several of the nobility to the

scaffold, where he behaved with singular con-

stancy and courage. After dinner he retired a

short time for private prayer, and, on return-

ing, told his friends that " the Lord had sealed

liis charter, and said to him, ' Son, be of good

cheer, thy sins are forgiven.' " When brought

to the scaffold he addressed the people, pro-

tested his innocence, declared his adherence to

the Covenant, reproved " the abounding wick-

edness of the land, and vindicated himself

from the charge of being accessory to the death

of Charles I." "With the greatest fortitude he

laid his head upon the block, which was imme-

diately severed from his body by the maiden.

This event took place upon Monday, the 27th

of May, 1661, the marquis being then 65 yeans

of age. By a singular destiny, the head of

Argyle was fixed on the same spike which had

borne that of his great rival Montrose.^

Aigj'le was held in high estimation by his

party, and, by whatever motives he may have

been actuated, it cannot but be admitted, that

to his exertions Scotland is cluefly indebted

for the successful stand which was made against

the unconstitutional attempts of the elder

Charles upon the ci'vil and religious Kberties

of his Scottish subjects. He appears to have

' Stale Trials, vol. v., 1369— 1.'508.—KirkioD. 100

—4.
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ntusi, "Villa, -^^^mth IvliiiLuiL:!.

Atiti ju man Museum ^

been naturally averse to physical pain, defieicut

in personal courage, the possession of which,

in the times in which Argyle lived, " covered

a multitude of sins," and the want of which

was esteemed by some unpardonable. We
believe that it is chiefly on tliis account that

his character is represented by his enemies and

the opponents of his principles in such an

unfavourable light, contrasting as it does so

strikingly -mth that of his great opponent, the

brave and chivalrous Montrose. That he was

an luiprincijjled hypocrite, we think it would

be diflicult to prove
;
genuine h3'pocrisy, in a

man of his abihty, would have probably gained

for it.-; possessor a happier fate. That he was

wary, cnnning, reticent, and ambitious, there

cannot bo any doubt ;—such qualities are al-

most indispcn.sablfi to the politician, and were

more than, onliiiarily necessary in those times,

e.5pecially, cC'Usi j'-.riug the men Argyle had to

deal vdih. We believe that he was actuated

nil along by deep but narrow and gloomy re-

ligious [irinciple, that lie had the welfiire of his

' Till' !a the veritable instrument devised by the
/Isycnt Morton, and by which were beheaded the

|

Marqui3 ar.d Earl of Argyle, " and many more of the
|

noblest blood of .Scotland.

"

I

country sincerely at heart, and that he took the

means he thought best calculated to maintain

freedom, and, what he thought, true religion in

the land. As he himself said in a letter to the

Earl of Strafford,* he thought " his duty to the

king woidd be best shown by maintaining the

constitution of his country in church and state."

On the whole, he appears to have been a weU-
meauing, wrong-headed, narrow-minded, clever

politician. Mr. Grainger, in his Biognqihkal

History of England, justly observes, " The
Marquis of Argyle was in the cabinet what
liis enemy, the Marquis of Montrose, was in

the field, the first character of his age for poli-

tical courage and conduct." Had he been

tried by impartial judges, the circiunstances of

the times would have been considered as afford-

ing some extenuation for his conduct ; but it

was his misfortune to be tried by men who were

his enemies, and who did not scruple to violate

aU the forms ofjustice to bring him to the block,

in the hope of obtaining his vast possessions.

The execution of Argyle was not in accord-

ance with the views of the king, who, to show
his disapprobation of the death of the mar-

quis, received Lord Lorn, his eldest son, with

favour at court ; from which circumstance the

enemies of the house of Argyle anticipated

that they woidd be disappointed in their expec-

tations of sharing among them the confiscated

estates of the marquis. To impair, therefore,

these estates was their next object. Argyle

had obtained from the Scottish parliament a

gi-ant of the confiscated estate of the Marquis

of Huntly, his brother-in-law, on the ground

that he was a considerable creditor, but as

Himtly was indebted to other persons to the

extent of 400,000 merks, the estate was bur-

dened to that amount on passing into Argjde's

possession. Middleton and his colleagues im-

mediately passed an act, restoring Huntly's

estate free of incumbrance, leaving to Huntly's

creditors recourse upon the estates of Argyle

for payment of their debts. Young Argyle

was exasperated at tliis proceeding, and in a

letter to Lord Duifus, his brother-in-law, ex-

pressed himself in very unguarded terms re

sjiecting the parliament. This letter was inter-

cepted by Middleton, and on it the parliament

* Strafford's Letters, vol. ii. pp. 187-290.
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gi'ounded a charge of verbal sedition, or leasing-

making, as the crime is known in the statutory

law of Scotland, an offence which was then

capital. Upon this vague charge the young

nobleman was brought to trial before the par-

liament, and condemned to death. The ene-

mies of the liouse of Argyle now supposed tliat

the estates of the family were again within

their grasp ; but the king, at the intercession

of Lauderdale, the rival of Middleton, par-

doned Lorn, released him from prison after

about a year's confinement, restored to him the

family estates, and allowed him to retain the

title of Earl. 5

After the suppression of Glencairn's short-

lived insurrection, the Highlands appear to

have enjoyed repose tLU the year 1674, when

an outbreak took place which threatened to

involve the greater part of that country in the

horrors of feudal war, the occasion of which

was as follows. The Marqviis of Argyle had

purchased up some debts due by the laird of

Maclean, for which his son, the earl, applied

for pajTnent ; but the laird being unwilling or

unable to pay, the earl apprised his lands, and

followed out other legal proceedings, to make

the claim effectual against Maclean's estates.

In the meantime the latter died, leaving a son

under the guardianship of his brother, to whom,

on Maclean's death, the earl renewed his appli-

cation for payment. The tutor of Maclean

stated his readiness to settle, either by appro-

priating as much of the rents of his ward's

lands in Mull and Tirey as would be sufficient

to pay the interest of the debt, or by selling or

conveying to him in security as much of the

property as would be sufficient to pay off the

debt itself; but he required, before entering

into this arrangement, that the earl would re-

strict his claim to what was justly due. The

earl professed his readiness to comply with the

tutor's offer ; but the latter contrived to evade

the matter for a considerable time, and at

length showed a dispositi m to resist the earl's

demand by force.

The earl, therefore, resolved to enforce com-

pliance, and armed with a decree of the Court

of Session, and supported by a body of 2,000

•"f his tenants and vassals, he crossed into ]\Iull,

5 Kirkton, pp. 143, 166

in wliich he landed at tliree different places

without opposition, although the ISIacleaus had

700 or 800 men in the island. The Macleans

had sent their cattle into Mull for safety, a

considerable number of which were killed or

houghed by Lord NeiU, brother to the earl, at

the head of a party of the Campbells. The

islanders at once submitted, and the earl hav-

ing obtained possession of the castle of Duart,

and placed a garrison therein, left the island.

Although the Macleans had promised to pay

their rents to the earl, they refused when ap-

plied to the following year, a refusal which

induced him to prepare for a second invasion

of MuU. In September, 1675, he had collected

a force of about 1,500 men, including 100 of the

king's troops from Glasgow, under the command
of Captain Crichton, and a simQar number of

militia-men, under Andrew M'Farlane, the

laird of M'Farlane, the use of which corps had

been granted to the earl on application to the

CouncU. The Macleans, aware of their danger,

had strengthened themselves by an alliance

with Lord Macdonald and other chieftains,

who sent a force of about 1,000 men to their

aid ; but Argyle's forces never reached the

island, liis ships having been driven back

damaged and dismantled by a dreadful liurri-

cane, which lasted two days.^

This misfortune, and intelligence which the

earl received from the commander of Duart

castle that the Macleans were in great force in

the island, made him postpone his enterpri.se.

With the exception of 500 men whom he re-

tained for the protection of his coasts, and

about 300 or 400 to protect his lands agaiast

the incursions of the Macleans, he dismissed

his forces, after giving them instructions to re-

assemble on the 18th of October, unless coun-

termanded before that time. The earl then

went to Edinburgh to crave additional aid

from the government ; but receiving no en-

couragement, he posted to London, where he

expected, \y\\h. the help of his friend the Duke

of Lauderdale, to obtain as.si stance. Lord !Mac-

* " A nimour went that there was a witch-wife

named Muddock who had promised to the M'Lains.

that, so long as she lived, the Earle of Argile should

not enter Mull; and indeed many of the people im-

puted the rise of that great storme under her pacliou

with the devil, how true I cannot assert."—Law's

Meirwriah, p. S3.
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douald and the other friends of the Macleans,

hearing of Argyle's departure, immediately fol-

lowed him to London, and laid a statement of

the dispute before the king, who, in Eehruary,

1676, remitted the matter to tliree lords of the

PrivT Council of Scotland for judgment. The

earl returned to Edinburgh in June followmg.

A meeting of the parties took place before tlie

lords to whom the matter had been referred,

but they came to no decision, and the subse-

quent fate of Argyle put an end to these differ-

ences, although it appears that he was allowed

to take possession of the island of IMull with-

out resistance in the year 1680."

Except upon one occasion, now to be noticed,

the Higldanders took no share in any of the

pubHc transactions in Scotland during the

reigns of Charles the Second and his brother

James. Isolated from the Lowlands by a

mountain barrier which prevented almost any

intercourse between them and their southern

neighbours, they happily kept free from the

contagion of that religious fanaticism which

spread over the Lowlands of Scotland, in con-

sequence of the unconstitutional attempts of

the government to force episcopacy upon the

people. Had the Highlanders been imbued

nith the same spirit which actuated the Scot-

tish whigs, the government might have found

it a difficult task to have suppressed them ; but

they did not concern themselves with these

theological disputes, and tliey did not hesitate

when their chiefs, at the call of the govern-

ment, required their services to march to the

Lowlands to suppress the disturbances in the

western counties. Accordingly, an army of

about 8,000 men, known in Scottish history

by the name of the " Highland Host," de-

scended from the mountains under the com-

mand of their respective chiefs, and encamped

at StirKng on the 24th of June, 1678, wdience

they spread themselves over Clydesdale, Een-

frew, Cunningham, Kyle, and Carrick, and over-

awed the whigs so effectually, that they did

not attempt to oppose the government during

the stay of these hardy mountaineers among
them. According to "Wodrow and Kirkton,

the Highlanders were guilty of great oppression

and cruelty, but they kept their hands free

' Note to Kirkton by Slinrpc, p. 391

from blood, as it has been correctly stated that

not one whig lost his life during the invasion

of these HigUand crusaders.' After remaining

about eight months in the Lowlands, the High-

landers were sent home, the government having

no further occasion for their services, but before

their departure they took care to carry along

with them a large quantity of plunder they had
collected during their stay.'

After the departure of the Highlanders, the

Covenanters again appeared upon the stage,

and proceeded so far as even to murder some

soldiers who had been quartered on some land-

lords who had refused to pay cess. The assas-

sination of Archbishop Sharp, and the insur-

rection of the Covenanters rmder a preacher

named Hamilton, followed by the defeat of the

celebrated Graham of Claverhouse at Drum-
clog on the 1st of June, 1679, alarmed the

government ; but the defeat of the Covenanters

by the king's forces at BothweU bridge, on the

22d of June, quieted their apprehensions.

Fresh measures of severity were adopted against

the tinfortunate whigs, who, driven to despair,

again flew to arms, encouraged by the exhorta-

tions of the celebrated Richard Cameron,—from

whom the religious sect kno-wn by the name of

Cameronians takes its name,—and Donald Car-

gill, another enthusiast ; but they were defeated

in an action at Airs-moss in Kyle, in which

Cameron, their ecclesiastical head, was killed.

To check the diffusion of anti-monarchical

principles, which were spreading fast tlirough-

out the kingdom under the auspices of the dis-

ciples of Cameron, the government, on the

meeting of the Scottish parliament on the

28th of July, 1681, devised a test, which they

required to be taken by all persons possessed

of any civil, military, or ecclesiastical office.

The parties taking this test were made to dc-

8 Law's Memorials, pp. 80, 1, 2, 3, 94, l.iO.

' " But when this goodly army retreated homeward,
you would have thought by their haggage they liad

heen at the sack of a be.sieged city; and, therefoie,

when they passed Stirling bridge every man drew his

sword to show the world they hade returned conquer-

ors from their enemies' land ; but they might as well

have showen the pots, pans, girdles, shoes taken ofl

country men's feet, and other bodily and househoh'

furniture with which they were burdened; and among
all, none purchast so well as the two carles Airly and
.Strathmore, chiefly the last, who sent home the money,
not in purses, but in bags and great quantities."

—

Kirkton, pp. 390—1.
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clare their adhesion to the true Protestant re-

ligion, as contained in the original confession

of faith, ratified hy parliament in the year 1560,

to recognise the supremacy of the king over aU

persons civil and ecclesiastical, and to acknow-

ledge that there " lay no obligation from the

national covenant, or the solemn league and

covenant, or any other manner of way whatso-

ever, to endeavour any alteration in the govern-

ment in church or state, as it was then estah-

lished by the laws of the kingdom."'

The terms of this test were far from satis-

factory to some even of the best friends of the

government, as it was fuU of contradictions and

absurdities, and it was not untU the Privy

Council issued an explanatory declaration that

they could be prevailed upon to take it. Tlie

Dukes of Hamilton and Monmouth, however,

rather than take the test, resigned their offices.

Among others who had distinguished them-

selves in opposing the passing of the test, was

the Earl of Argyle, who supported an amend-

ment proposed by Lord Belhaven, for setting

aside a clause excepting the Duke of York,

brother to the king, and the other princes of

the blood, from its operation. The conduct of

Aigyle gave great offence to the duke, who sat

as commissioner in the parliament, and encour-

aged his enemies to set about accomplishing his

ruin. The Earl of Errol brought in a bUl re-

viving some old claims upon his estates, and

the king's advocate endeavoured to deprive

him of his hereditary offices ; but the Duke of

York interposed, and prevented the adoption

of these intended measures. To gratify his

enemies, however, and to show the displeasure

of the court at his recent opposition, Argyle

was deprived of his seat in the Court of Session.

But this did not sufficiently appease their re-

sentment, and, anxious for an opportunity of

gratifying their malice, they hoped that he

would refuse to take the test. Accordingly,

he was required to subscribe it : he hesitated,

.'tnd craved time to deliberate. Aware of the

plot which had been long hatching against

him, and as he saw that if he refused he would

be deprived of his important hereditary juris-

dictions, he resolved to take the test, with a

declaratory explanation, which, it is understood,

' Scots Ach, 16S1, c. vi.

received the approbation of tlie Duke of York,

to whom the earl had submitted it. The earl

then subscribed the test in presence of the coun-

cil, and added the foUo^ving explanation :

—

" I have considered the test, and am very de-

sirous of giving obedience as far as I can. I am
confident that the parliament never intended to

impose contradictory oaths : Therefore I think

no man can explain it but for himself. Accord-

ingly, I take it so far as it is consistent with

itself and the Protestant religion. And I do

declare, that I mean not to bind myself, in my
station, in a la^vful way, from wisliing and en-

deavouring any alteration which I think to thi

advantage of Church or State, and not repug-

nant to the Protestant religion and my loyalty.

And this I miderstand as a part of my oath."

This declaration did not please the council, but

as the Duke appeared to be satisfied, the matter

was passed over, and Argyle kept his seat at

the council board.

Although the Duke of York had been heard

to declare that no honest man coiild take the

test,—a declaration which fully justified the

course Argyle had pursued,—yet the enemies

of that nobleman wrought so far upon the

mind of his royal higliness as to induce him to

tliinli that Argyle's declaration was a highly

criminal act. The earl, therefore, was required

to take the test a second time, without explana-

tion ; and having refused, he was committed a

prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh, and on the

slight foundation of a declaration which had

been sanctioned by the next heii- to the crown,

was raised a hideous superstructure of higli

treason, leasing-making, and perjury.

Argj'le was brought to trial on Monday, the

12th of December, 1681, before the High Court

of Justiciary. The Earl of Queensberry, the

justice-general, and four other judges, sat upon

the bench, and fifteen noblemen acted as jurors.

The absurdity of the charges, and the iniquity

of the attempt to deprive a nobleman, who had,

even in the worst times, shown an attachment

to the royal family, of his fortune, his honours,

and his life, were ably exposed by the counsel

for the earl ; but so lost was a majority of the

judges to every sense of justice, that, regardless

of the infamy which would for ever attach to

them, they foiind the libel relevant; and on

the following day the assize or jury, of which
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the Marqiiis of Montrose, cousm-german to

Aigyle, was chancellor, found him guilty. In-

telligence of Argyfe's condemnation was imme-

diately sent to the king, but the messenger was

anticipated in his arrival by an express from

the earl himself to the king, who, although he

gave orders that sentence should be passed

against Argyle, sent positive injunctions to

delay the execution till his pleasure should be

known. Argyle, however, did not wish to

trust to the royal clemency, and as he under-

stood preparations were making for Ms execu-

tion, he made his escape from the castle of

Edinburgh, disguised as a page carrying the

train of Lady Sophia Lindsay, his step-daugh-

ter, daughter of Lord Balcarres, whose widow

Argyle married.- He went to London, where

he lay some time in concealment, whence he

went over to Holland. On the day of his

escape, being the 21st of December, he was

proclaimed a fugitive at the market cross of

Edinburgh, and, on the S-tth, the Court of Jus-

ticiary passed sentence of death against him,

ordered his arms to be reversed and torn at the

market cross of Edinburgh, and declared his

titles and estates forfeited.

' " He was lying a prisoner in Edinburgh castle in

daily expectation of the order arriving for his execution,

when woman's wit intervened to save him, and he owed
his life to the affection of his favourite step-daughter,

the sprightly Lady Sophia, who, about eiglit o'clock in

the evening of Tuesday, the 20th of December, 1681,

effected his escape in the following manner, as related

to Lady Anne Lin<lsay, by her father, Earl James,
I-ady Sophia's nephew :

—
' Having obtained permis-

sion to pay him a visit of one half-hour, she contrived

to bring as her page a tall, awkward, country clown,

with a fair wig procured for the occasion, who had ap-

parently been engaged in a fray, having his head tied

up. On entering she made tliem immediately change
clothes; they did so, and, on tlie expiration of the half-

hour, she, in a flood of tears, bade farewell to her sup
posed father, and walked out of the prison with the

most perfect dignity, and with a slow pace. The senti-

nel at the drawbridge, a sly Highlander, eyed her
father hard, but her presence of mind did not desert

her, she twitched her train of embroidery, carried in

those days by the page, out of his hand, and, dropping
it in the mud, " Varlet, " cried she, in a fury, dashing
it across his face, "t,ike that—and that too," adding
a box on the ear, " for knowing no better how to carry

your lady's garment. " Her ill-treatment of him, and
the dirt with which she had besmeared his face, so con-

founded the sentinel, that he let them pass the draw-
bridge unquestioned.' Having passed through all the
guards, attended by a gentleman from the castle. Lady
Sophia entered her carriage, which was in waiting for

her; *the Earl,' says a contemporary annalist, 'steps

up on the hinder part of her coach as her lackey, and.
Coming forgainst the weighhouse, slips off and shifts

for himself.'"

—

Lines of the Lindsays, vol. ii. p. 1-47.

In exculpation of their infamous proceedings,

the persecutors of Argyle pretended that their

only object in resorting to such unjustifiable

measures, was to force him to surrender his

extensive hereditary jurisdictions, which, they

considered, gave him too great authority in the

Highlands, and the exercise of which in his

family, might obstruct the ends of justice ; and

that they had no designs either upon his life

or fortune. But this is an excuse which can-

not be admitted, for they had influence enough

with the Crown to have deprived Argyle of

these hereditary jurisdictions, without having

recourse to measures so glaringly subversive of

justice.

The only advantage taken by the king of

Argyle's forfeiture was the retention of the

heritable jurisdictions, which were parcelled

out among the friends of the court during

pleasure. Lord Lorn, the earl's son, had the

forfeited estates restored to him, after provision

had been made for satisfying the demands of

his father's creditors.

During the latter years of Charles II., a

number of persons from England and Scotland

had taken refuge in Holland, to escape state

prosecutions with which they were threatened.

Among the Scottish exiles, besides Argyle,

were Sir James Dalrymple, afterwards Earl of

Stair, the celebrated Fletcher of Salton, and

Sir Patrick Hume of Polwarth,—all of whom,

as martyrs of hberty, longed for an opportunity

of vindicating its cause in the face of their

country. The accession of James II., in 1685,

to the crown of his brother, seemed an event

favourable to their plans, and at a meeting

which some of the exiled leaders held at Rot-

terdam, they resolved to raise the standard of

revolt in England and Scotland, and invited

the Duke of Monmouth, also an exile, and the

Earl of Argyle, to join them.^ Monmouth,

who was then living in retirement at Brussels,

spending his time in illicit amours, accepted

the invitation, and having repaired to Rotter-

dam, offered either to attempt a descent on

England, at the head of the English exiles, or

to go to Scotland as a volunteer, under Argyle.^

The latter, who had never ceased since his

flight to keep up a correspondence with his

' Hume's Narrative, pp. 5-9.

* Hume's Nar., p. 15. Wellwood App., p, S'23,

2 n
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friends m Scotland, liad ali-eady teen making

preparations, and by means of a large siun of

money he had received from a rich widow of

Amsterdam, had there purchased a ship and

arms, and ammunition. He now also repaired to

Rotterdam, where it was finally arranged that

two expeditions should he fitted out,—one for

England, under Monmouth, and the other for

Scotland, under the command of Argyle, who

was appointed by the council at Rotterdam

captain-general of the army, " with as full

power as was usually given to generals by the

free states in Eirrope."^

On the 2d of May, 1685, the expedition

under Argyle, which consisted of three ships

and about 300 men, left the shores of Holland,

and reached Cairston in the Orkneys on the

6th, after a pleasant voyage. The seizure, by

the natives, of Spence, the earl's secretary, and

of Blackadder, his surgeon, both of whom had

incautiously ventured on shore, afforded the

government the necessary information as to the

strength and destination of the expedition. A
proclamation had been issued, on the 28th of

April, for putting the kingdom in a posture of

defence, hostages had been taken from the

vassals of Argyle as sureties for their fidelity,

and all persons whose loyalty was suspected

were either imprisoned or had to find security

for their fidelity to the government ; but as

soon as the council at Edinburgh received the

intelligence of Aigj'le's having reached the

Orkneys, they despatched troops to the west,

and ordered several frigates to cruise among

the Western Isles. After taking four Orca-

dians as hostages for the lives of his secretary

and surgeon, Argyle left the Orkneys on the

7th of May, and arrived at Tobermory in the

isle of MuU on the 11th, whence he sailed to

the mainland, and landed in Kintyre. Here

he published a declaration which had been

dra-mi up in Holland by Sir James Stuart,

afterwards king's advocate, full of invective

against the government, and attributing all the

grievances under which the country had la-

boured in the preceding reign to a conspiracy

between popery and tyranny, which had, he

observed, been evidently disclosed by the cut-

ting off of the late king and the ascension of

» Home's Nar., rp- 9, 12-14, 15-18.

the Duke of York to the throne. It declared

that the object of the invaders was to restore

the true Protestant religion, and that as the

Duke of York was, from his religion, as they

supposed, incapable of giving security on that

head, they declared that they would never enter

into any treaty with him. The earl issued, a

few days thereafter, a second declaration, from

Tarbet, reciting his o^Tn wrongs, and calling

upon his former vassals to join his standard.

Messengers were despatched in all directions,

bearing aloft the fiery cross, and in a short

time about 800 of his clan, headed by Sir Dun-

can Campbell of Auchinbreck, rallied around

their chief. Other reinforcements arrived,

which increased his army to 2,500 men ; a

force wholly insufficient to meet a body of

about 7,000 militia and a considerable number

of regular troops already assembled in the west

to oppose his advance.

Although Argyle's obvious plan was at onco

to have dashed into the western Lowlands,

where ihe spirit of disaffection was deeply pre-

valent, and where a great accession of force

might have been expected, he, contrary to the

advice of some of his officers, remained in Ar-

gyle a considerable time in expectation of hear-

ing of Monmouth's landing, and spent the pre-

cious moments in chasing out of his territories

a few stragglers who infested his borders. Amid

the dissensions which naturally arose from this

difference of opinion, the royalists were hem-

ming Argyle in on all sides. Whilst the Duke

of Gordon was advancing upon his rear with

the northern forces, and the Earl of Dumbarton

with the regular troops pressing him m front,

the Marquis of Athole and Lord Charles Mur-

ray, at the head of 1,500 men, kept hanging on

his right wing, and a fleet watched his ships to

prevent his escape by sea. In this conjmicture

Argyle yielded to the opinion of his officers,

and, lea-vang his stores in the castle of AUan-

greg, in charge of a garrison of 150 men, he

began his march, on the 10th of June, to the

Lowlands, and gave orders that his vessels

should follow close along the coast. The com-

mander of the castle, on the approach of the

king's ships under Sir Thomas Hamilton, aban-

doned it five days thereafter, without firing a

single shot, and the warlike stores which it con-

tained, consisting of 5,000 stand of arms and
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300 baxiels of powder, besides a standard beai-

ing tlie inscription " Against Poperj', Prelacy,

and Erastianism," fell a prey to the royaKsts.

The vessels also belonging to Argyle were taken

at the same time.''

On the 16th of Juno Argyle crossed the

Leven near Dumbarton, but finding it imprac-

ticable, from the numerous forces opposed to

htni, and which met liim at every point, to

proceed on his intended route to Glasgow by

the ordinary road, he betook himself to the

hiUs, in the expectation of eluding his foes

dm'ing the darkness of the night ; but this

desperate expedient did not succeed, and next

morning Argyle found his force diminished by

desertion to 500 men. Thus abandoned by

the greater part of his men, he, in his turn,

deserted those who remained with him, and

endeavoured to secure his O'ivn safety. Dis-

guised in a common dress he wandered for

some time in the company of Major Fidlarton

in the vicinity of Dumbarton, and on the oppo-

site side of the Clj'de, but was at last taken

prisoner by a few militiamen in attempting to

reach his own country.' About 100 of the

volunteers from Holland crossed the Clyde in

boats, but being attacked by the royalists were

dispersed. Thus ended tliis ill concerted and

unfortunate expedition."

Argyle was carried to Glasgow, and thence

to Edinburgh, where he underwent the same

ignominious and brutal treatment which the

brave Montrose had suffered on being brought

to the capital after his capture. As the judg-

* Hume's Narrative, pp. 46-56. Gazette, 2044.
' He was attacked by two troopers who were ignor-

ant of his quality, till the exclamation "Unfortunate
Argyle," uttered as he fell, betrayed him. "The
clanoftheRiddells," says Dr Bums, editor of Wodrow,
"have taken the honour, or the disgrace of having fur-

nished one of these two militiamen. A person of this

name from Lochwiunoch, within forty years ago, had
gone to the Balloch fair, near Dumbarton, in the cajia-

city of a horse-dealer. The Camjibells from Argj'le-

shire heard his hated name, which called up to their

imaginations one of the principal murderers of their

chief, and they were preparing themselves for a feudal
clan battle, when the companions of the Lowlander
interposed and prevented bloodshed by a cunning
device or ruse de guerre, transforming his name from
Riddell to Ridet."—"The spot where Argyle was
taken [commonly said to have been near luchinnan
in Renfrewshire] is marked out by a stone, which
passes among the country-people by the name of
'Arg>-le's Stone.'" Hist. &c., torn. iv. p. 297.

' Hume's JVarraiu-c, pp. 56-67. Wodrow, voL ii.

pp. 533-537. Gazette, 2045.

meet which had been prouoimced against

Ai-gyle, after Iris escape liom the castle oi

Edinburgh, was still in force, no trial was con-

sidered necessary. He was beheaded accord-

ingly on the 26th of Jime, evincing in his last

moments the fortitude of a Eoman, and the

faith of a martyr. ""WTien this nobleman's

death," observes Sir Walter Scott, " is con-

sidered as the consequence of a sentence passed

against him for presiuning to comment upon

and explain an oath which was self-contradic-

tory, it can only be termed a judicial murder."

His two sons, Lord Lorn and Lord Neil!

Ninth Earl of Argyle.

Campbell, were banished. Monmouth, who
did not land in England tiU the 11th of June,

was equally imfortunate, and suffered the

death of a traitor on Tower HUl on the 15th

of July.

The iU-fated result of Aigj'le's expedition,

and the suppression of Monmouth's rebellion,

enabled James to turn the whole of his atten-

tion to the accomplishment of an object more

valuable, in Iris opinion, than the crown itself

—the restoration of the Catholic religion. In

furtherance of this design, the king adopted a

series of the most unconstitutional and impoli-

tic measures, which destroyed the popularitj
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he had acquired on his accession, and finally

ended in his expulsion from the throne.

It was not, however, till the Scottish parlia-

ment, which met on the 28th of April, 1686,

and on the obsequiousness of which the king

had placed great reliance, had refused to repeal

the test, that he resolved upon those desperate

measures which proved so fatal to him. This

parliament was prorogued hy order of the king

on the 15th of June, and in a few months

thereafter, he addressed a succession of letters

to the council,^from which he had previously

removed some individuals who were opposed

to his plans,—in which he stated, that in

requiring the parliament to repeal the penal

statutes, he merely meant to give them an

opportunity of evincing their loyalty, as he

considered that he had sufficient power, by

virtue of his prerogative, to suspend or dispense

mth those laws ; a most erroneous and dan-

gerous doctrine certainly, hut which could

never be said to have been exploded till the

era of the revolution. In these letters the

king ordered the council to allow the Catholics

to exercise their worsliip freely in private, to

extend the protection of government to his

Protestant as weU as Catholic subjects, to

receive the conformist clergy in general to

livings in the chiirch, and to admit certain

individuals whom he named to offices in the

state -ivithout requiring any of them to take

the test. ^

But these letters, though disapproved of in

part by the council, were merely preparatory to

much more important steps, viz., the issuing

of two successive proclamations by the king

on the 12th of February and the 5th of July

in the following year, granting full and free

toleration to Presb)i;erians, Catholics, and

Quakers, with liberty to exercise their worship

iri houses and chapels. He also suspended

the severe penal statutes against the Catholics,

which had been passed during the minority of

his grandfather ; but he declared his resolution

to preserve inviolate the rights and privileges

of the then established (Episcopal) church of

Scotland, and to protect the holders of church

property in their possessions.

By the Presbj^terians who ba^l for so many

' Fountainhall, p. 1177.

years wTithed under the lash of persecution,

these proclamations were received with great

satisfaction ; and at a meeting which was hela

at Edinburgh of the Presbyterian ministers,

who had assembled from aU parts of the coim-

try to consider the matter, a great majority

not only accepted the boon with cheerfulness,

but voted a loyal address to his majesty, thank-

ing him for the indulgence he had granted

them. Some there were, however, of the more

rigorous kind, who denounced any communi-

cation with the king, whom they declared

" an apostate, bigoted, excommimicated papist,

under the malediction of the Mediator
;
yea,

heir to the imprecation of his grandfather,"

and who found wann abettors in the clergy of

the Episcopal church in Scotland, who dis-

played their anger even in their discourses

from the pulpit, i

Although the Presbj'terians reaped great ad-

vantages from the toleration which the king had

granted, by being allowed the free and undis-

turbed exercise of their worship, and by being,

many of them, admitted into offices of the state,

yet they perceived that a much greater propor-

tion of Catholicswas admitted to similaremploy-

ments. Thus they began to grow suspicious of

the king's intentions, and, instead of continuing

their gratitude, they openly declared that they

did not any longer consider themselves under

any obligation to his majesty, as the toleration

had been granted for the purpose of introducing

Cathohcs into places of trust, and of dividing

Protestants among themselves. These appre-

hensions were encouraged by the Episcopal

party, who, alarmed at the violent proceedings

of the king against the English universities,

and the bishops who had refused to read his

proclamation for hberty of conscience in the

churches, endeavoured to instil the same dread

of popery and arbitrary power into the minds

of their Presbyterian countrymen which they

themselves entertained. By these and similar

means discontent spread rapidly among the

people of Scotland, who considered their civil

and religious liberties in imminent danger, and

were, therefore, ready to join in any measure

which might be proposed for their protection.

1 Wodrow, vol. ii. p. 624, App. 187, 192, 194, 195.

Fountainhall, State Trials, vol. x. p. 785, vol. xi. p.

1179. Balcarras's Account, p. 3.
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William, Prince of Orange, who had married

the Princess ]\rary,the eldest daughter of James,

next in succession to the Crown, watched the

progress of this struggle between arbitrary

power and popidar rights with extreme anxiety.

He had incurred the displeasure of his father-

in-law, while Duke of York, by joining the

party whose object it was to exclude James

from the throne, by the reception which he

gave the Duke of Monmouth in Holland, and

by his connivance, apparent at least, at tlie

attempts of the latter and the Earl of Arg3de.

But, upon the defeat of Jlonmouth, Wdliam,

by offering his congratulations on that event,

reinstated himself in the good graces of his

father-in-law. As James, however, could not

reconcile the protection which the prince af-

forded to the numerous exiles from England

and Scotland who had taken refuge in Holland,

with the prince's professions of friendsliip, he

demanded their removal ; but this was refused,

through the influence of the prince with the

States, and though, upon a hint being given that

3 war might ensue in consequence of this refusal,

they were removed from the Hague, yet they

stUl continued to reside in other parts of Hol-

land, and kept up a regidar communication

with the Prince. Another demand made by

the king to dismiss the officers of the British

regiments serving in Holland, whose fidelity was

suspected, met with the same evasive compli-

ance ; for although William displaced those

officers, he refused commissions to all persons

whom he suspected of attachment to the king

or the Catholic faith. The wise policy of this

proceeding was exemplified in the subsequent

conduct of the regiments which declared them-

selves in favour of the prince's pretensions.^

Early in the year 1687, William perceived

that matters were approaching to a crisis in

England, but he did not think that the time

had then arrived for putting his intended de-

sign of invasion into execution. To sound the

dispositions of the people, he sent over in Feb-

ruary, that year, Dyckvelt, an acute statesman,

who kept up a secret communication with those

who favoured the designs of his master. Dyck-
velt soon returned to HoUand, with letters from

several of the nobility addressed to the prince,

all couched in favourable terms, wliich encour-

aged him to send Zuleistein, another agent, into

England to assure his friends there that if

James attempted, with the aid " of a packed

parliament," to repeal the penal laws and the

test act, he would oppose him with an armed

force.'

Although the king was aware of the prince's

intrigues, he could never be persuaded that the

latter had any intention to dispossess him of

his crown, and continued to pursue the despe-

rate coui-se he had resolved upon, \vith a per-

tinacity and zeal which blinded him to the

dangers which sirrrounded him. The prepara-

tions of the prince for a descent on England

went on in the meantime with activity ; but a

temporary damp was cast on his hopes by re-

ports of the pregnancy of the queen, an event

wliich, if a son was the result, might prevent

the accession of his wife, the Princess Mary.

On the 10th of June, 1688, the queen gave

birth to a prince, afterwards known as the Pre-

tender.

It was not till the month of September,

when James was on the verge of the preci-

pice, that he saw the danger of his situa-

tion. He now began, when too late, to attempt

to repair the errors of his reign, by a variety of

popular concessions ; but although these were

granted with apparent cheerfulness, and ac-

cepted with indications of thankfidness, it was

evident that they were forced from the king

by the necessity of his situation, and might be

withdrawn when that necessity ceased to exist,

an idea which appears to have prevailed among

the people.

Being now convinced that the Prince of

Orange contemplated an invasion of England,

James began to make the necessary prepara-

tions for defence. In September, 1688, he sent

down an express to Scotland to the members

of the Privy Council, acquainting them with

the prince's preparations, and requiring them to

place that part of his dominions on the war

establishment. The militia was accordingly

embodied, the castles of Edinburgh, Stirling,

&c. provisioned, and orders were sent to the

chiefs of the Highland clans to be ready to

assemble their men on a short notice. Many

' Dnlrjuiple, pp. 200—210.
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persons at first discredited the report of an

invasion from Holland, and considered that it

was a mere device of the king either to raise

money or to collect an army for some sinister

purpose ; but their suspicions were aUayed by

intelligence being brought by some seamen

from Holland of the warlike preparations which

wore making ui the Dutch ports. The jealousies

which were entertained of the king's intentions

were dissipated by the di-ead of a foreign inva-

sion, and addresses were sent in to the Privy

CounoU from the different towns, and from the

country gentlemen, with offers of service.*

Wliilst the Privy Council were engaged in

fulfilling the king's instructions, they received

an order from his majesty to concentrate the

regular army, and despatch it without delay

into England. This force, which did not ex-

ceed 3,000 men, was in a state of excellent

discipline, and was so advantageously posted

throughout the kingdom that any insurrection

which might break out could be easHy sup-

pressed. As the Prince of Orange had many

adherents in Scotland, and as the spirit of dis-

affection to the existing government in the

western counties, though subdued, had not

been extinguished, the Privy Council con-

sidered that to send the army out of the king-

dom under such circumstances would be a most

imprudent step ; and they, therefore, sent an

express to the king, representing the danger of

such a movement, of which the disafiected

would not faU to avail themselves, should an

opportunity occur. They proposed that the

army should remain as it was then stationed,

and that, in lieu thereof, a body of miUtia and

a detachment of Highlanders, amounting to-

gether to 13,000 men, should be despatched to

the borders, or marched into the north of Eng-

land, to watch the movements of the king's

enemies in that quarter, and to suppress any

riP'Jigs which they might attempt in favour of

the prince. But, although the Council were

unanimous in giving this advice, the king dis-

regarded it altogether, reiterated the order he

had formerly given, and intimated, that if any

of them were afraid to remain in Scotland, they

might accompany the array into England.

Accordingly, the Scottish army began its

* Balcarras, p. 9. I

march early in October, in two divisions. The

first, consisting of the foot, at the head of which

was General Douglas, brotlier of the Duke of

Queensberry, who had the chief command of

the army, took the road to Chester ; and the

second, consisting of the horse, under the direc-

tion of Graham of Claverhoiise, as major-gen-

eral, marched by York. These detachments,

on their arrival at London, joined the English

army under the command of the Earl of Fevers-

ham, about the end of October.

To supply the absence of the regular troops,

and to prevent the disaffected from making

the capital the focus of insurrection, a large

body of militia, under the command of Sii-

George Munro, was quartered in Edinburgh

and the subiirbs ; but no sooner had the army

passed the borders, than crowds from all parts

of the kingdom congregated, as if by mutual

consent, in the metropolis, where they held

private meetings, which were attended by the

Earls of Glencairn, Crawford, Dundonald, and

others. The objects of these meetings were

made known to the councU by spies, who were

employed to attend them ; and although they

were clearly treasonable, the council had not

the courage to arrest a single individual.

Among other things, the leaders of these meet-

ings resolved to intercept all correspondence

between the king and the council, a task

which Sir James Montgomery undertook to

see accomplished, and which he did so effec-

tually that very few despatches reached their

destination. ^

For several weeks the Privy Council, owing

to tliis interruption, was kept in a state of

painful imcertainty as to the state of the

king's affairs in England ; but at last an express

arrived from the Earl of Melfort, announcing

the important intelligence that the Prince of

Orange had landed in England with a con-

siderable force, and that his majesty had gone

to meet Iiim at the head of his army.

The landing of the prince, which was

effected without opposition on the 5th of

November 1688, at Torbay in Devonshire,

excited the greatest alarm in the mind of the

king, who had entertained hopes that a weU

appointed fleet of thirty-seven men-of-war, and

' Idem, p. 19.
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seventeen fire-ships wliich had been stationed

off the Gun-fleet vmder the Earl of Dartmouth,

an old and experienced commander, woidd

have intercepted the prince in his voyage.

Unfortunately, however, for the king, the

cruisers which the admiral had sent out to

watch the approach of the enemy had been

driven back by the violence of the wind, and

when the fleet of the prince passed the Downs

towards its destined place of disembarkation,

the royal fleet was ridmg at anchor abreast of

the Long-sand, several miles to leeward, with

the yards and topmasts struck ; and as twenty-

four hours elapsed before it covdd be got ready

to commence the pursuit, the commander, on

the representation of his ofiicers, desisted from

the attempt.

As soon as the king had recovered from the

panic into which the news of the prince's

arrival had thrown liim, he ordered twenty

battalions of infantry and thirty squadrons of

cavalry to march towards Salisbury and Marl-

borough, leaving six squadrons and six batta-

lions behind to preserve tranquillity in the

capital.^ The prince, who had been led to

expect that he would be received with open

arms by all classes on his arrival, met at first

vvith a very cold reception, and he felt so dis-

appointed that he even threatened to re-embark

his army. Had James therefore adopted the

advice given him by the King of France, to

push forward his troops immediately in person

and attack the invader before the spirit of

disaffection should spread, he might, perhaps,

by one stroke, have for ever annihilated the

hopes of his son-in-law and preserved his

crown; but James thought and acted differ-

ently, and he soon had cause to repent bitterly

of the course he pursued. Owing to the open

defection of some of his officers and the secret

machinations of others, the king soon found,

that with the exception perhaps of the Scottish

regiments, he could no longer rely upon the

fidelity of his army. On the 20th of Novem-

ber he arrived at Sahsbury, and reviewed a

division of the army stationed there ; and

intended to inspect the following day, another

division which lay at Warminster ; but being

informed that General Kirk, its commander,

' Barillon.

Lord ChurchiU. and others, had entered into

a conspiracy to seize him and carry him a

prisoner to the enemy's camp, he summoned a

council of war, at which these officers were

present, and without making them aware that

he was in the knowledge of such a plot, pro-

posed a retreat beyond the Thames. This pro-

position met with keen opposition from

ChurchiU, but was supported by the Earl of

Feversham, his brother the Count de Eoye,

and the Earl of Dumbarton, who commanded

one of the Scottish foot regiments. The pro-

posal having been adopted, Chui'chill and some

other oflicers went over to the prince during

the night. ^

The army accordingly retired behind the

Tliames, and the king, without leading any

particular instructions to liis oflicers, proceeded

to London, to attend a comicU of peers which

he had summoned to meet liim at Whitehall.

The departure of the king was a subject of

deep regret to his real friends in the army, and

particularly to the Earl of Dumbarton, and

Lord Dundee, who had offered to engage the

enemy with the Scots troops alone. This offer

his majesty thought proper to decline, and in

a conference which Dundee and the Earl of

Balcarras afterwards had with him in London,

wlien he had made up his mind to retire to

France, he gave them to understand that he

meant to intrust the latter with the administra-

tion of his civU affairs in Scotland, and to

appoint the former the generalissimo of his

forces.

In the Scottish Privj' Council there were

several persons who were inimical to the king,

and who only waited for a favourable oppor-

tunity of offering their allegiance and services

to the Prince of Orange. These were the

Marquis of Athole, the Viscount Tarbet, and

Sir John Dalrymple, the Lord-president of the

Court of Session. The two latter, in conjunc-

tion with Balcarras, had been appointed by

the council to proceed to England, to obtain

personally from the king the necessary instruc-

tions how to act on the landing of the prince

,

but on some slight pretext they declined the

journey, and Balcarras, a nobleman of un-

doubted loyalty, was obliged to go alone, and

^ James* Mc»u>irs, vol. ii. p. 22i

vol. iii. p. 316.

&c. Burnet,
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had the meeting -with his majesty to -wiiich

allusion has been made. These counsellors

were duly apprised of the advance of the

prince, the defection of some of the king's

officers, and of his return to London ; hut as

the result of the struggle seemed still to be

dubious, they abstained from openly declaring

themselves. In order, however, to get rid of

the chancellor, the Earl of Perth, and get the

government into tlieir own hands, as prelimi-

nary to their designs. Viscount Tarbet proposed

that, with the exception of four companies of

foot and two troops of horse to collect the

revenue, the remainder of the troops should be

disbanded, as he considered it quite unneces-

sary to keep up such a force in time of peace,

the Prince of Orange having stated in a decla-

ration wliich he had issued, that that was one

of the grievances complained of by the nation.

The chancellor, not foreseeing the consequen-

ces, assented to the proposal, and he had the

mortification, after the order for dismissal had

been given, to receive an intimation from the

Marquis of Atbole and his party, who waited

personally upon him at his lodgings, that as

they considered it dangerous to act with him

and other Catholic counsellors who were incapa^

citated by law, they meant to take the govern-

ment into their own hands in behalf of the

king, and they demanded that he and his party

should retire from the administration of affairs.

The Duke of Gordon and the other Cathohc

members of the council, on hearing of this

proceeding, assembled in the chancellor's house

to consult with him as to the nature of the

answer which should be given to this extra-

ordinary demand. As they saw resistance

hopeless, they advised the chancellor to submit,

and, probably to avoid personal danger, he

retired immediately to the country.

The Marquis of Athole called a meeting of

the council, and proposed an address of con-

gratulation to the Prince of Orange, strongly

expressive of gratitude to him for his generous

undertaking to relieve them from popery and

arbitrary power, and ofTering a tender of their

services ; but this address was warmly opposed

by the two archbishops. Sir John Dalrj-mple,

Sir George Mackenzie and others, and was

finally negatived. They even opposed the

voting of any address under existing circum-

stances, but the marquis and his party suc-

ceeded in carrying a short address, drawn up

in general terms. Lord Glammis was sent up

with it, but it was so different from what the

Prince expected, that it met with a very cold

reception.

The fate of the unfortunate monarch had by

this time been decided. Before his return to

London a great defection had taken place

among the officers of the army, and he had at

last the mortification to see himself deserted

by his son-in-law, Prince George of Denmark,

and by his daughter the Princess Anne, the

wifie of the Prince. " God help me ! my very

children have forsaken me ;" such was the

exclamation uttered by the vmhappy monarch,

his countenance suflused with tears, when he

received the afflicting inteUigence of the flight

of Anne from Whitehall. 'V\nien the king

saw he could no longer resist the torrent of

popular indignation, and that an imperious

necessity required that he shoidd leave the

kingdom, his first solicitude was to provide for

the safety of the queen and his son, whom he

managed to get safely conveyed to France.

The resolution of the king to quit the king-

dom was hastened after a fruitless attempt at

negotiation with the Prince of Orange, by the

appearance of an infamous proclamation against

Catholics, issued under the signature of the

prince, and which, though afterwards disowned

by him, was, at the time, believed to be genuine.

Having, therefore, made up his mind to follow

the queen ^vithout delay, the king wrote a

letter to the Earl of Feversham, the commander

of the forces, intimating his intention, and

after thanking him and the army for their

loyalty, he informed them that he did not

wish them any longer to run the risk of resist-

ing " a foreign army and a poisoned nation."

Shortly after midnight, having disguised him-

self as a country gentleman, he left the palace,

and descending by the back stairs, entered

into a hackney coach, which conveyed him to

the horse-ferry, whence he crossed the river,

into which the king threw the great seal.

Having arrived at Emley ferry near Fevers-

ham by ten o'clock, he embarked on board the

custom-house hoy, but before she could be got

ready for sea the king was apprehended, and

placed under a strong guard.
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Wheu the king's arrest was first reported in

London, the intelligence was not believed

;

but all uncertainty on the subject was removed

by a conununication from James himself in

the shape of a letter, but \vithout any address,

which was put into the hands of Lord ]\Iul-

grave by a stranger at the door of the council

chamber at Whitehall. A body of about tliirty

peers and bishops had, on the flight of the

king, formed themselves into a council, and

had assumed the reins of government, and

many of these, on this letter being read, were

desirous of taking no notice of it, lest they

might, by so doing, displease the prince. Lord

Halifax, the chairman, who favoured the

prince's designs, attempted to quash the matter,

by adjourning the meeting, but Mulgrave pre-

vailed on the members of the councLl to remain,

and obtained an order to despatch the Earl of

Feversham with 200 of the life-guards to pro-

tect the person of the kmg.

On the arrival of Feversham the king re-

solved to remain in the kingdom, and to return

to London, a resolution which he adopted at

the urgent entreaty of Lord Winchelsea, whom,

on his apprehension, he had appointed lord-lieu-

tenant of Kent. James was not without hopes

that the prince would still come to terms, and

to ascertain his sentiments he sent Feversham

to Windsor to invite the prince to a personal

conference in the capital, and to inform him

that St. James's palace would be ready for liis

•eception. The arrival of the earl (vith such a

proposal was exceedingly annojang to William

and his adlierents, the former of whom, on the

supposition that the king had taken a final

adieu of the kingdom, had begun to act the

part of the sovereign, wliile the latter were

already intriguing for the great offices of the

state. Instead of returning an answer to the

king's message, William, on the pretence that

Feversham had disbanded the army without

orders, and had come to Windsor ^vitllout a

passport, ordered him to be arrested, and com-

mitted a prisoner to the round tower, an order

which was promptly obeyed.

At Rochester, whence he had despatched

Feversham, the king was mot by his guards,

and thence proceeded to London, which he

entered on the 16th of December amidst the

acclamations of the citizens, and the rinring

of bells, and other popular manifestations of

joy, a remarkable proof of the instability and

inconstancy of feeUng which actuate masses of

people under excitement.

As James conceived that the only chance ho

now had of securing the confidence of his sub-

jects and preserving his crown, consisted in

giving some signal proof of his sincerity to

act constitutionally, he made the humiliating

offer to Lewis and Stamps, two of the city

aldermen, to deliver himself up into their hands

on receiving an assurance that the civil authori-

ties would guarantee his personal safety, and

to remain in custody till parliament should

pass such measures as might be considered

necessary for securing the religion and liberties

of the nation. But Sir Robert Clayton dis-

suaded the common coimcil from entering into

any engagement which the city might possibly

be unable to fulfil, and thus a negotiation was

dropt, which, if successfid, might have placed

William in a situation of great embarrass-

ment. *

But although James did not succeed in his

offer to the city, his return to Whitehall had

changed the aspect of affairs, and had placed

WLUiam in a dilemma from which he could

only extricate himself by withdrawing alto-

gether his pretensions to the crown, or by

driving his uncle out of it by force. William

considered that the most safe and prudent

course he could pursue woidd be to force

James to leave the kingdom ; but in such a

manner as to induce the belief that he did so

freely and of his own accord. Accordingly, to

excite the king's alarms, a body of Dutch

guards, by order of the prince, marched into

Westminster, and, after taking possession of

the palace of St. James's, marched with their

matches lighted to Whitehall, of which they

also demanded possession. As resistance,

owing to the great disparity of numbers, was

considered by the king to be unavailing, he,

contrary to the opinion of Lord Craven, the

commander of his guards, who, though eighty

years of age, offered to oppose the invaders,

ordered the guards to resign their posts, of

which the Dutch took possession. This event

' James (Memoirs), vol. ii. p. 271.

—

Great BriUin'i

Jiist Complaint, p. 8.
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took place late on the evening of the 16th of

December.

'

The king now received orders from William

to quit Wliitehall by ten o'clock next morning,

as the latter meant to enter London about

noon, and that he should retire to Ham, a

Louse in Surrey belonging to the dowager

duchess of Lauderdale, which had been pro-

vided for his reception. The king objected to

Ham as a residence being uncomfortable, but

stated his willingness to return to Eochester.

Permission being granted by the prince, James

left Whitehall about twelve o'clock noon, after

taking an affectionate adieu of his friends,

many of whom burst into tears. He embarked

on board the royal barge, attended by Viscount

Dundee and other noblemen, and descended

the river, siurounded by several boats filled

with Dutch guards, in presence of an immense

concourse of spectators, many of whom wit-

' "A day or two after liis return. Earl Colin (of Bal-

carras) and his friend Dundee waited on liis Majesty.

Colin had been in town but three or four days, which
he had employed in endeavours to unite his Majesty's

friends in his interest. ' He was received affection-

ately,' says his son, 'but observed that there were
none with the king but some of the gentlemen of his

bed-chamber. L-—— came in, one of the generals of

his army disbanded about a fortnight before. He in-

formed the king that most of his generals and colonels

of his guards had assembled that morning upon
observing the universal joy of the city upon his

return ; that the result of their meeting was to appoint
him to tell his Majesty that still much was in their

power to serve and defend him ; that most part of

the array disbanded was either in London or near it

;

and that, if he would order them to beat their drums,
they were confident twenty thousand men could be
got together before the end of next day.— ' My lord,'

says the king, ' I know you to be my friend, sincere

and honourable ; the men who sent you are not so,

and I expect nothing from them.'—He then said it

was a fine day—he would take a walk. None attended
him but Colin and Lord Dundee. When he was in

the Mall, he stopped and looked at them, and asked
how they came to be with him, when all the world
had forsaken him and gone to the Prince of Orange ?

Colin said their fidelity to so good a master would
ever be the same ; they had nothing to do with the

Prince of Orange,—Lord Dundee made the strongest

professions of duty;— 'Will you two, as gentlemen,

say you have still attachment to me ? '
—

' Sir, we do.'

—

' Will you give me your hands upon it, as men of

honour ?
' they did so,— 'Well, I see you are the men

I always took you to be
;
you shall know all my

intentions. I can no longer remain here but as a

cypher, or be a prisoner to the Prince of Orange, and
you know there is but a small distance betvveen the

prisons and the graves of kings ; therefore I go for

France immediately ; when there, you shall have my
instructions,—you. Lord Balcarres, shall have a com-
mission to manage my civil affairs, and you. Lord
D'juideo, to command my troops in Scotland.' "

—

Lives

of the Lindsays, vol. ii. pp. 101, 162.

nessed with sorrow the humiliating spec-

tacle. 1

The king arrived at Eochester the following

day from Gravesend, where he had passed the

previous night. Having remained four days

at Eochester, he, accompanied by two captains

in the navy, his natural son the Duke of Ber-

wick, and a domestic, went on board the Eagle

fiieship, being miable to reach, on account of

the tmfavourable state of the weather, a fishing

smack which had been hired for his reception.

On the following morning he went on board

the smack, and after a boisterous voyage of

two days, arrived at Ambleteuse, in France, on

the 25th of December, and joined his wife and

child, at the castle of St. Germain's, on the

28th. Thus ingloriously and sadly ended the

reign of the last of the unfortunate and seem-

ingly infatuated royal race of Stuarts.

Considering the crisis at which matters had

arrived, the course which the king pursued, of

tvithdrawing from the kingdom, was evidently

the most prudent which could be adopted.

All his trusty adherents in England were with-

out power or influence, and in Scotland the

Duke of Gordon was the only nobleman who
openly stood out for the interests of his sover-

eign. He had been created a duke by Charles

II. James had appointed him governor of

the castle of Edinburgh, and he had been

thereafter made a privy-counsellor and one of

the lords of the treasury. Though a firm and

conscientious Catholic, he was always opposed

to the violent measures of the court, as he was

afraid that however well meant, they would

turn out ruinous to the king ; not indeed that

he did not wish to see the professors of the

same faith with himself enjoy the same civil

privileges as were enjoyed by his Protestant

countrymen, but because he was opposed to

the exercise of the dispensing power at a time

when the least favour shown to the professors

of the proscribed faitli was denoimced as an

attempt to introduce popery. The king, influ-

enced by some of his flatterers, received the

duke coldly on his appearance at court in

March, 1688, and curtailed some of his rights

and privileges over the lands of some of his

vassals in Badenoch. Even his fidelity appeai'ed

' James, vol. ii. pp. 265—267.
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to he questioned, by various acts of interfur-

ence with the affaii-s of the castle, of which he

disapproved. Ho resented these indignities

by tendering his resignation of the various

appointments be held from the crown, and

demanded permission from the king to retire

beyond seas for a time ; but James put a nega-

tive upon both proposals, and the duke returned

to his post at Edinburgh.
"

Notwithstanding the bad treatment he had

received, the duke, true to his trust, determined

to preserve the castle of Edinburgh for the

king, although the Prince of Orange should

obtain possession of every other fortress in the

kingdom. He requested the privy council to

lay in a quantity of provisions and ammunition,

but this demand was but partially attended

to, for though the garrison consisted only of

120 men, there was not a sufficiency of ma-

terials for a three months' siege. The duke

shut himself up in the castle, and invited the

Earl of Perth, the chancellor, to join him

;

but the earl declined the offer, and, in attempt-

ing to make bis escape to the continent, was

seized near the Bass, in the Frith of Forth, by

some seamen from Ku'kcaldy, under a warrant

from the magistrates of that burgh, and com-

mitted to Stirling castle, where he remained a

close prisoner for nearly four years. * A few

days after the duke had retired to the castle,

an attempt was made by some of the prince's

adherents to corrupt the fidelity of the garri-

son, by circulating a false report that the duke

meant to make the whole garrison, who were

chiefly Protestants, swear to maintain the

Catholic religion. A mutiny was on the eve

of breaking out, but it was detected by the

vigilance of some officers. The duke, there-

upon, drew out the garrison, assured them that

the report in q\iestion was whoUy unfounded,

and informed them that all he required of

them was to take the oath of allegiance to

the king, which was immediately done by

the greater part of the garrison. Those who
refused were at once dismissed. To supply

the deficiency thus made, the duke sent notice

to Francis Gordon of Midstrath to bring up

from the north 45 of the best and most reso-

' Gordon's Hist, of the Family of Gordon, vol. ii.

pp. 585, 586.
' Balcarras, p. 29.

lute men he could find on his lauds ; but, on

their arrival at Leith, a hue and cry was

raised that the duke was bringing down
Papists and Highlanders to overawe the Pro-

testants. To calm the minds of the people,

the duke ordered these men to return home. *

As soon as the news of the arrival of the

Prince of Orange in London, and the departure

of the king, was received in Edinburgh, an

immense concourse of persons, "of all sorts,

degrees, and persuasions," who " coidd (says

Balcarras) scrape so much together" to de-

fray their expenses, went up to London,

influenced by motives of interest or patriot-

ism. The Prince of Orange took the wise

expedient of obtaining aU the legal sanction

which, before the assembling of a parliament,

could be given to his assumption of the ad-

ministration of affairs in England ; obtaining

the concurrence of many of the spiritual and

temporal peers, and of a meeting composed of

some members who had sat in the House of

Commons during the reign of Charles II.,

as also of the Lord-Ma3-or of London, and 50 of

the common coimcd. He now adopted the same

expedient as to Scotland, and taking advantage

of the great influx into the capital of noblemen

and gentlemen from that country, he convened

them together. A meeting was accordingly

held at "WMtehall, at which 30 noblemen and

80 gentlemen attended. The Duke of Hamil-

ton, who aimed at the cliief direction of afl'airs

in Scotland, was chosen president. At this

meeting a motion was made by the duke that

a convention of the estates shoidd be called as

early as possible, and that an address should

be presented to the prince to take upon him

the direction of affairs in Scotland in the

meantime; but this motion was unexpectedly

opposed bj' the Earl of Arran, the duke's eldest

son, who proposed that the king should be

invited back on condition that he should call

a free parliament for securing the civil and

religious liberties of Scotland. This proposi-

tion threw the assembly into confusion, and a

short adjournment took place, but on resuming

their seats, the earl's motion was warmly op-

posed by Sir Patrick Hurco, and as none of

* Gordon's Hiit. of the Family of Oordov, vol. ii.

pp. 587, 5SS.
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ibe memTjers offered to second it, the motion

was consequently lost, and the duke's being

put to the vote, was carried.

A convention of the estates, called by circu-

lar letters from the prince, was accordingly

appointed to be held at Edinburgh, on the

14th of March, 1689, and the supporters of

the prince, as well as the adherents of the

king, prepared to depart home to attend the

ensuing election. But the prince managed to

detain them tiU he should be declared king,

that as many as might feel inclined might seal

their new-born loyalty by kissing his hand;

but "William had to experience the mortifica-

tion of a refusal even from some of those whom
he had ranked amongst his warmest friends.

The Earl of Balcarras and Viscount Dundee,

the former of whom had, as before mentioned,

been invested by the king with the civil, the

latter with the military administration of affairs

in Scotland, were the first of either party who

arrived in Scotland, but not until the end of

February, when the elections were about to

commence. On their arrival at Edinburgh

they found the Duke of Gordon, who had

hitherto refused to deliver up the castle, though

tempted by the most alluring offers from the

jirince, about to capitulate, but they dissuaded

him from this step, on the ground that the

king's cause was not hopeless, and that the

retention of such an important fortress was of

the utmost importance.

The elections commenced. The inhabitants

of the southern and western counties (for every

Protestant, without distinction, was allowed to

vote), alarmed for the extinction of their reli-

gious liberties, and excited by the recollection

of the wrongs they and their forefathers had

suffered, gave their siiffrages to the popular

candidate, and the adherents of the king soon

perceived that the chances were against him.

Yet, when the convention met, a respectable

:ninority seemed, notwithstanthng, to be in

favour of the king, but they had neither the

courage nor address to oppose the popular

current. To overawe, as is supposed, the

friends 'A the king, or to prevent the conven-

tion from biing overawed by the troops in the

castle, th'; Duke uf Hamilton and his friends,

a few d33'R before the meeting of the conven-

tiim, inwoducuJ n considerable number of

armed men into Edinburgh, some of whom
were concealed in cellars and houses, ready to

act as occasion might require. The first trial

of strength between the two parties took place

on the election of a president. To the Duke
of Hamilton the adherents of the king opposed

the Marquis of Athole, who, in consequence of

being shghted by the prince, had promised his

support to the royal party ; but the duke was

elected by a considerable majority. Tliis vote

sealed the fate of the Tory party, and many
wlio had hitherto wavered in their allegiance

now openly abandoned the cause of James.

The consequence was, that within a few days,

the number of the adherents of the king was

greatly reduced.

The first act of the convention was to send

the Earls of Tweeddale and Leven, with an

order to the Duke of Gordon to deliver up the

castle within twenty-foui hours. The duke,

overcome by the smooth and insinuating beha-

^•iour of Tweeddale, reluctantly yielded, and

promised to surrender the castle next morning

at ten o'clock When this answer was brought

to the convention, Balcarras and Dundee were

alarmed, and immediately despatched a confi-

dential servant to the duke reminding him of

his promise to hold out, and imploring him

not to give way. The duke wavered, but on

obtaining a writing which he required under

the hands of these noblemen that the retention

of the castle was absolutely necessary for the

success of the king's affairs, and being visited

the following morning by Lord Dundee, who
impressed on him the importance of holding

out, he resolved to break with the convention.

To prepare matters in the north he despatched

thither the Earl of Dunfermline, his brother-

in-law, to whom he granted a written commis-

sion, authorising him to raise his friends and

vassals in support of the king.^

In consequence of the refusal of the duke

to deliver up the castle, he was, by order of

the convention, summoned by the heralds at

the gate of the castle to surrender, and a pro-

clamation was read at the same time prohibit-

ing all persons from having any communication

with him, and promising a reward of six

° Balcarras, pp. 41—2. Gonlnn's Hist of (St

Family of Gordon, p. 592.



VISCOUNT DUNDEE 349

months' pay to the Protestants in the garrison

who should seize him and deliver him and the

castle up to the convention. Tlie duke ad-

dressed the heralds from within the gate, and

told them, that he kept the castle by commis-

sion from their common master, and would

defend it to the last extremity; and after

handing them some guineas, which he re-

quested they would spend in drinking the

king's health, and the healths of all his loyal

subjects, he facetiously advised them not to

proclaim men traitors with the king's coats on

their backs tiU they had turned them. Upon

the departure of the heralds, the duke drew

out the garrison and gave them their option,

either to remain in the castle and share with

him the dangers that awaited them, or to

depart. Upwards of a thii'd of the garrison

took advantage of the permission to depart,

and left the castle on that and the following

day.«

As the king's friends saw that any efforts

they could make in the convention would be

quite unavailing, they agreed at a private

meeting which they held on the 17th of

March, to repair to StirKng and there hold a

convention by themselves. This resolution

was adopted agreeably to the wish of the king

himself, who had sent a ^vritten authority,

dated from Ireland, empowering the Arch-

bishop of St. Andrews, the Earl of Balcarras,

and Viscount Dundee, to call a meeting of

the estates at Stirling. Balcarras and Dundee

received an assurance from the Marquis of

Athole, who, ever since the cold reception he

had met with from William, had been won-

derfully loyal, that he would accompany them,

and a similar promise was obtained from the

Earl of Mar, governor of Stu-ling castle.

Athole, however, began to waver, a circum-

Btanoe which deferred the departure of the

king's friends.

Here it may not be improper to notice a

cii'cumstance wliich probably had its weight in

the deliberations preceding the departure of

Dundee. On the morning of 16th March,

just as Lord Dundee was on the point of going

to the convention, he was waited upon by

James Binnie, a dyer, who informed him that

' Balcarras, p. 24.

—

Minutes of Convention, 16th
' Gordon's Hist, of the Family of Gordon, pp. 593-4. March.

he had overheard a conversation the day before

among some persons of their intention of mur-

dering him and Sir George Mackenzie, and

Binnie offered, if a warrant were granted him,

to apprehend them. Dundee immediately

went to the convention and applied for protec-

tion, but they refused to act in Ihe matter, and

passed to the order of the day. Whether this

affair was the device of the Whig party, as has

been supposed, to get quit of two individuals

particularly obnoxious to them, there are no

means of ascertaining; but when the circum-

stances of the times, and the opinions then

held by many of the people are considered, the

design of assassinating them is far from im

probable.^

But be this as it ma}^ Dimdee resolved to

remain as short as possible in a place where

he might be every moment exposed to the

dagger of the assassin; and, accordingly, he

and his friends fixed on Monday the 18th of

March for their departure for Stirling. With

the exception of Dundee, they all assembled

at the appointed place of rendezvous in the

city at the hour which had been fixed; but as

the Marquis of Athole, who had promised to

accompany them and to protect them on their

arrival at Stirling with a body of his vassals,

wished them to postpone their departure tUl

the following day; they consented to remain,

and were in the act of dispersing and proceed-

ing to the convention when Dundee made his

appearance. Such an unexpected resolution

greatly surprised him, but he told Balcarras,

that whatever were the views of his friends,

he would not remain another day in Edinburgh.

Balcarras remonstrated with him, and repre-

sented, that his departure would give the

alarm to their enemies, who would not fail to

take advantage of the discovery; but he re-

plied, that as he had a select body of between

forty and fifty troopers ready mounted and

prepared to start, he would not remain any

longer within the city, but would clear the

walls ynth. his party and wait without for such

friends as might choose to join him. Dundee

accordingly left the city at the head of his

troopers, to go, as he is said to have emphati-
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cally replied to a friend who put tlie question

to Mm, wherever the spirit of Montrose should

direct. After passing the Nether Bow port, he

turned to the left down Leith Wynd, and after

clearing the suburbs of the Calton, he faced to

the west, and proceeded along the Kne of road

known at the time by the name of the Lang-

gate, and which now forms the splendid terrace

of Princes' street. On arriving opposite the

castle, Dundee ordered his men to halt, and

alighting from his horse, he clambered up the

steep precipice on the west side of that fortress,

and from the bottom of the wall held a con-

ference with the Duke of Gordon, who stood

in an adjoining postern gate immediately above.

No account has been preserved of the natui'e

of the conversation which passed between

these two devoted adherents of the king, but

it is understood that the viscount entreated

the duke to hold out the castle as long as he

could, and that he would endeavour to raise

the siege as soon as he had collected sufficient

forces.*

The convention despatched a Major Bunting

with a party of horse in pursuit, but although

he overtook Dundee, he had not the courage

to attack him, alarmed by a threat with which,

it is said, Dundee menaced him, that he would

send him (Bunting) back to the convention, in

a pair of blankets, did he dare to molest him.'

Dundee crossed Stirhng bridge the second day

' It is to this interview that Sir Walter Scott

alludes in his well-known and stirring ballad of

" Bonnie Dundee."

—" The Gordon has asked of him whither he goes?
* Wherever shall guide me the soul of Montrose !

Your grace in short space shall have tidings of me.
Or that low lies the bonnet of Bonnie Dundee !

"There's lands beyond Pentland, and hills beyond Forth,

If there 's lords in the South-land, there 's chiefs in the
North,

And wild dunnie-wassels three thousand times three,

Will cry hoigh ! for the bonnet of Bonnie Dundee ?

'Away to the hills, to the woods, to the rocks

—

Ere I own an usurper I'll couch with the fox;

So, tremble, false Whigs, though triumphant ye be,

For ye 've not seen the last of my bonnet or me !

'

He waved his proud arm and the trumpets were blown,

The kettle-drums clashed, and the horsemen rode on,

Till by Ravelston craigs and on Clermiston-lea

Died away the wild war-note of Bonnie Dundee.

—'Come fill up my cup. come fill up my can,

Come saddle my horses and call up my men.
Fling all your gates open and let me go free.

For it 's up with the bonnets of Bonnie Dundee !'"

» Life of Dundee.

of his departure, and proceeded to his residence

of Dudhope, near Dundee, to ruminate over

the events which had just passed, and to

concoct his plans, under the new and extra-

ordinary circumstances in which lie was placed,

for the restoration of James.

CHAPTER XX.

March to July, 1689.

BRITISH SOVEEEIGN :—William III., lOSS—1703.

Viscount Dundee—Proceedings of the convention

—

General Hugh Mackay—Attempt to apprehend Dun-
dee, who retires to the north—Mackay follows Dun-
dee—Dundee joined by Keppoch—Movements of

the two commanders—Movements of Colonel Ram-
say—Disaffection among Mackay's troops—Euthven
Castle surrenders to Dundee—Mackay retreats down
Strathspey—Followed by Dundee—Retreat of Dun-
dee, who disbands his forces—Mackay returns to

Edinburgh—Probabilities of success—Dundee soli-

cits aid from Ireland—Preparations of Mackay

—

Lord Murray and the Athole-men—Departure of

Mackay to Perth—Dundee marches into Atholc

—

Battle of Kilhecrankie—Death and character of

Dundee.

Before giving the details of Dundee's insur-

rection, the following short sketch wiU not be

out of place. John Graham, Viscount Dun-

dee, descended from the royal line of the

Stuarts by the marriage of William, Lord

Graham of Kincardine, his ancestor, witli the

Princess Mary, second daughter of King

Robert III., was the eldest son of Sir WiUiam

Graham of Olaverhouse in Angus or Forfar-

shire, and was born in 1643. Besides a royal

descent, Viscount Dundee also claimed to be

descended, through the family of Morphy La

Mearns, from the illustrious house of Montrose,

and was also allied to the noble family of

Northesk by his mother, Lady Jean Carnegy,

who was fourth daughter of the fu'st earL

Young Graham entered the university of St.

Andrew's in the year 1660, where, according

to his partial biographer, he made " very

considerable progress " in " Humanity and

Mathematics." He was chiefly remarkable for

his enthusiastic predilection for Highland

poetry and the established order of things.

He left the university m 1670 and went to

France, where he entered as a volunteer. He

afterwards transferred his services to Holland,

and received the commission of a comet in
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one of the Prince of Orange's troops of guards.

He distinguislieJ himself at the hattle of

Seneife, in 1674, by saving the life of the

prince, who had been dismounted, and carrying

him off upon his own horse. Having been

refused the command of one of the Scottish

regiments in the employment of the States, he

left the Dutch service and returned to Scotland

in the year 1677, and was appointed by Charles

II. captain of one of the regiments then raising

in Scotland for the suppression of the Whigs,

in which service he acquired from the imfor-

John Graham, Viscount Dundee.

From Original Painting in possession of the Earl of Strathmore.

lunate Covenanters, on account of his sever-

ities, the unenviable appellation of " the bloody

Clavers." The confidence which Charles had
bestowed on Captain Graham was continued by
his successor James, who, after promoting him

successively to the ranks of brigadier and
major-general, raised him to the peerage under
the title of Viscount Dundee, on the 12th of

November 1688, seven days after the invasion

of the Prince of Orange.

The idea of setting up a counter convention

at Stu-ling, was immediately abandoned on

the departure of Dundee from the capital.

The Marquis of Athole, whom the adherents

of the king had chosen for their leader, showed

no disposition to follow Dundee, and the Ear]

of Mar, who to save his loyalty made a feint

to escape by the only guarded way, was appre-

hended, not unwillingly, as is supposed, by

the sentinels, and brought back, but was re

leased on giving liis parole that he would not

leave the city without the permission of the

convention. The ambiguous conduct of these

two noblemen tended to cool the ardour

of the few remaining adherents of the

king, some of whom resolved to support

the new order of things, whilst others,

less pUant, absented themselves wholly

from the convention. That assembly,

after approving of the conduct of the

English convention, in requesting the

Prince of Orange (now declared King of

England) to take upon him the adminis-

tration of tlie affairs of that kingdom,

acknowledged their obligations to him

as the assertor of their liberties, and also

entreated him to assume the manage-

ment of the affairs of Scotland.

Popular as the steps were which the

convention were about to take for settling

tlie government of the nation, with the

great body of the people, they were not

insensible to the probability of a formid-

able opposition being raised to theii' plans

by a determined band of royalists in the

north, who, headed by such a warlike and

experienced commander as Dundee, might

involve the whole kingdom in a civil war.

To prepare, therefore, against such an emer-

gency, the convention before proceeding

to the important business for which it

had assembled issued a proclamation, requiring

aU persons from sixteen to sixty, and capable of

bearing arms, to put themselves in readiness

to take the field when called upon ; they

deprived all militia officers suspected of attach-

ment to the king of their commissions, and

iilled up the vacancies thus occasioned by

others on whom they could rely. Sir Patrick

Hume, who lay under an attainder for the part

he took in Argyle's rebellion, was appointed

to the command of the horse militia, and the
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Earl of Leven was nominated to the command

of a body of 800 men, raised for a guard to

the city of Edinburgh.

Backed by these, and by about 1100 men

01 the Scotch brigade from Holland, which

arrived at Leith from England, on tlie 25th of

March, \mder General Mackay, as major-general

of all the forces in Scotland, ' and by a force of

200 dragoons which were also sent from Eng-

land; the leaders of the convention proposed

that a committee of eight lords, eight knights,

and eight bm-gesses, should be appointed to

prepare and report upon a plan of settling the

government.

The throne having been declared vacant, the

convention, on the motion of the Duke of

Hamilton, appointed the committee to di'aw

up an act for settlLag the crown of Scotland

upon WOliam and Mary, and they were also

instructed to prepare an instrument or declara-

tion for preventing a recurrence of tlie griev-

ances, of which the nation complained. The

Earl of Argyle on the part of the lords. Sir

James Montgomery for the knights, and Sir

John Dabymple for the burghs, were there-

upon despatched to London to offer the crown

to WUliam and Mary, on the conditions stipu-

' General Hugh Mackay, third son of Colonel Hugh
Mackay of Scowry, was horn about 1640. Soon after

the Restoration in 1660, he obtained an ensign's com-
mission in the Royal Scots, now the Scots Greys, and
accompanied it to France on that corps being lent by
Charles 11. to the French king. In 1669 he entered
tlie Venetian service, in which he distinguished him-
self. Leaving the service of that republic, he again
went to France, where he obtained a captaincy in

Douglas's regiment. After serving under Marshal
Turenne, in the campaign in the Netherlands, in 1672,
Captain Mackay offered his services to the Prince of

Orange, who gave him the commission of Major in one
of the Scotch regiments, then serving in Holland.
After reaching the rank of Colonel in the Dutch ser-

vice, Mackay was invited to England by James II.,

from whom, on the 4th of June, 1685, he received the
appointment of major-general, or commander in chief,

of the forces in Scotland; and was admitted a member
of the Scottish Privy Council, by virtue of a warrant
from the king, dated the 18th of the same month.
But disliking the arbitrary proceedings of James, or
preferring the service of his son-in-law, Mackay re-

signed his commission in 1686, and returned to Hol-
land. The prince raised him to the rank of Major-
general, and gave him the command of the British

regiments, with which he invaded England. By a

warrant signed by William and Mary, dated from
Kensington, 4th January, 1689, Mackay was appointed
"Major-general of all forces whatever, within our
ancient kingdom of Scotland." Mackay was raised to

tho rank of Lieutenant-general in 1690, and was killed

at the battle cf Steinkirk, 3d August, 1692.

lated by the convention. The commissioners

were introduced to their majesties at Whitehall,

on the 11th of May, and were of course well

received, but on the coronation oath being pre-

sented to them by the Earl of Argyle, William,

who was rather disposed to support episcopacy

in Scotland, demurred to take it, as it appeared

by a clause which it contained, importing that

their majesties should root out heresy, and all

enemies to the true worship of God, to lay him

under an obligatioB to become a persecutor.

This difficulty, which it is evident was well

founded, was however got over by the com-

missioners declaring that such was not the

meaning or import of the oath.

The convention ha'i'ing thus completed the

object for which it was assembled, adjourned

to the 21st of May, not however tiU it had

passed an act at utter variance with those prin-

ciples of constitutional liberty, which it pro-

fessed to establish. By this act the Duke of

Hamilton was vested with fuU power and

authority to imprison any person he might

suspect of disaffection to the new government,

a violent and arbitrary measure certainly, which

notliing but the extraordinary circumstances oi

the times could justify. The Earl of Balcarras

and Viscount Dundee were marked out as the

first victims of this unconstitutional law. The

latter had been already proclaimed an outlaw

and a rebel by the convention, for absenting

himself from its meetings, but he had hitherto

made no movement, in consequence of instruc-

tions from the king, desiring liim not to take

the field till a force of 5,000 foot, and 300

horse, which he promised to send him from

Ireland, should land in Scotland.

These instructions having come to the know-

ledge of Hamilton, hastened his determination

to arrest Balcarras and Dimdee. Balcarras was

seized at his country seat, carried to Edinburgh,

and imprisoned in the common jail, from which

he was afterwards transferred to the castle

after its surrender; but Dundee, who had re-

ceived notice of the approach of the party, re-

tired from his house at Dudhope and took

refuge in the mountains.

The favourable reception which James had

met with in Ireland, and the discovery which

the adherents of WUliam in Scotland had made

of his intention to land an army in Scotland,
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joined to the fact that the great body of the

Highlanders, and almost the whole of the

episcopal party in the north, were hostile to the

recent change in the government, could not

fail to excite alarm in the minds of tlie parti-

zans of the new dj-nasty. The briUiant acliieve-

ments of Montrose had slio-\vn how inadequate

the peacefid inhabitants of the south, tliough

impelled by the spirit of religious fanaticism,

were to contend with the brave and hardy

moimtaineers of the north; and as Dundee, as

they were aware, was desirous of emulating his

great predecessor, and was engaged in an active

correspondence with the Highland chiefs, they

must necessarily have looked forward to a long

and bloody, and perhaps a doubtfid contest.

As Dundee possessed the confidence of the

Highland clans,^ and as he looked cliiefly to

them for support in his attempt to restore the

exUed monarch. Viscount Tarbat, one of the

ablest politicians of the period, proposed a plan

^ " To the regular trained officers, such an army as

he commanded was as unstable and capricious as a

giddy mob. If he did not study the peculiarities of

the race, and of each individual clan, some untoward
accident was ever occurring to vex his disciplinarian

spirit, and make him suspect that the cause was
ruined; and if he did not at once recognise and yield

to the peculiarities as they occurred, a trifle might
readily sacrifice the army or the cause,—for the High-
land soldier's immediate cause was his leader or his

clan. The succession to the crown of Britain, or the

preservation of the constitution were distant and
secondary objects, to be sacrificed without hesitation

to any question of precedence or etiquette. "—Burton's

Scotland frmn the Revolution, vol. i. pp. 101—103.

—

" If anything good was brought him (Dundee) to eat, he
sent it to a faint or sick soldier. If a soldier was weary,

he offered to carry his arms. He kept those who were
with him from sinking under their fatigues, not so

much by exhortation, as by preventing them from at-

tending to their sufferings. For this reason he walked
on foot with the men; now by the side of one clan,

.ind anon by that of another. He amused them with
jokes. He flattered them with his knowledge of their

genealogies. He animated them by a recital of the
deeds of their ancestors, and of the verses of their

bards. It was one of his maxims, that no general

should fight with an irregular army, unless he was
acquainted with every man he commanded. Yet, with
these habits of familiarity, the severity of his dis-

cipline was dreadful. The only punishmeut he in-

flicted was death. ' All other punishments,' he said,
' disgraced a gentleman, and ail who were with him
were of that rank; but that death was a relief from
the consciousness of crime.' It is reported of him,
that, having seen a youth fly in his first action, he
pretended he had sent him to the rear on a message.
The youth fled a second time. He brought him to the
front of the army, and saying, ' That a gentleman's
son ought not to fall by the hands of a common exe-
cutioner,' shot him with his own pistol.' "—Dalrymple's
Mnnoirs, part ii. p. 47.

for detaching the chiefs from the cause of

James, some of whom he averred were not so

inimical to William nor so attached to James,

as was supposed; but who, jealous of the power

of Argyle, were justly apprehensive that if, as

appearances indicated, that nobleman acquired

an ascendency in the national councils, ho

would make use of his power to oppress them,

and would obtain a revocation of the grants of

certain lands which belonged to his family, ami

which had been forfeited in the reign of

Charles II. Besides these reasons, there was

another which was supposed to influence other.')

in their determination to resti're the fallen

dynasty, and thereby crush the rising power of

Argyle, viz. that they were greatly in arrears

to him as tlieir superior. Tarbat, therefore,

suggested to General Mackay, that an attempt

shoidd be made, in the first place to obtain

tlie submission of these last by making them

an offer to discharge Argyle's claims against

their lands, which he computed would amount

to £5,000 sterling, and that a separate ofl'er

should be made to the chief of the Macleans

to make good a transaction which had been in

part entered upon between him and the lata

earl for adjusting their difl'erences. This plan

was approved of by the English government,

but the affair is said to have been marred by

the appointment of Campbell of Cawdor as

negotiator, who was personally obnoxious to

the chiefs. Mackay attempted to open a cor-

respondence with Cameron of Lochiel on the

subject, but could obtain no answer, and Mac-

doneU of Glengary, to whom he also made a

communication, heartily despising the bribe,

advised the general, in return, to imitate the

conduct of General Monk, by restoring James. ^

Dundee crossed the Dee, and entered tha

Duke of Gordon's country, the inhabitants of

which were friendly to the cause of James, and

where he was joined by about 50 horse under

the Earl of Dunfermline, who, as has been

stated, was sent north by the Duke of Gordon

to raise his vassals in support of his royal

master. Wliilst Dundee was occupied in rais-

ing forces in this district, Mackay was de-

spatched from Edinburgh with a considerable

body of troops in pursuit. Mackay appointed
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the town of Dundee as the rendezvous for his

troops, being the best station he could select

for keeping the adjoining country, which was

disaifected to the new government, in awe, and

whence he could send parties to the north to

watch the motions of Dundee. On arriving at

Dundee, Mackay, lea^ong a part of his troops

there under the command of Lieutenant-colonel

Livingston, proceeded north with a body of

about 500 men, consisting chiefly of dra-

goons, in quest of the Viscount. At Brechin

he received intelligence that Dundee, ignorant

of course of Mackay's movements, was on his

return to his seat of Glenogilvie in the braes

of Angus, that he had already passed the

Cairn-a-mount, and that he was expected to

pass the night at Fettercairn, only a few miles

north from Brechin. The viscount, however,

having been apprized of Mackay's movements,

recrossed the Dee.

As soon as Mackay was informed of tliis re-

trograde movement, he resolved to pursue

Dundee, and, if possible, to overtake him be-

fore he should have time to collect any con-

siderable body of forces. With a small but

select body of horse and foot, therefore, he

crossed the Dee at Kincardine, in the expecta-

tion of being joined in the course of his march

by some country gentlemen who had given

him assurances of support before leaving Edin-

burgh. In this expectation, however, he was

sadly disappointed, for, with the exception of

the Master of Forbes, who met him after he

had crossed the Dee, with a party of 40

gentlemen of his name on horseback and a

body of between 500 and 600 men on foot,

chiefly raw peasantry, not one of them showed

any inclination to join him. The fact was,

that, with few exceptions, the people resid-

ing to the north of the Tay, were either in-

different to the course of events, or were op-

posed upon principle to any change in the

hereditary succession to the cro^vn, which

many of them considered an infraction of the

Divine law, and which tliey believed no mis-

conduct on the part of the king could justify.

No man knew these things better than Dun-

dee, who calculated that by means of this feel-

ing he would soon be able to arouse the war-

like north against the more peaceful south.

But valuable as such a body of auxiliaiies as

that brought by the Master of Forbes may be

supposed to have been under these circum-

stances, Mackay, who had been accustomed to

the finest troops in Europe, considered that

they woidd be of no service to him, as, accord-

ing to his own account, they were " ill armed,"

and appeared "little like the work" for which

tliey were intended. He therefore declined

the services of the Forbeses in the meantime,

and after thanking the master for having

brought them together, be ordered liim to dis-

miss them to their homes, with instructions

that they should re-assemble whenever a neces-

sity occurred for defending their own country

against the inroads of Dundee.

Having received intelligence of Dundee's

route through Strathdon towards Strathbogie,

Jlackay continued his march in that direction

through Aberdeenshire and Moray. On aiTiv-

ing at Strathbogie, he was informed that

Dimdee had crossed the Spey with about

150 horse without opposition, although Mac-

kay had given particular instruction to the

laird of Grant, while in Edinburgh, to oc-

cupy all the fords of that river. Mackay

also learned, on the following day, by a letter

sent to him by the magistrates of Elgin, which

had been addressed to them by Dundee, that

the Viscount was at Inverness, that he had

been there joined by Macdonald of Kep-

poch at the head of 1,000 Highlanders, and

that he intended to make Elgin his head

quarters preparatory to an attack upon Mac-

kay. The accession of the Macdonalds was of

immense importance to Dimdee, and was as

seasonable as unexpected. A deadly feud had

for some time existed between Macdonald and

Mackintosh, arising out of certain claims by

I the former upon the lands of the latter; and to

such a pitch of armed violence did Keppoch

carry his pretensions, that James II. felt him-

self called upon to interfere, by issuing a com-

mission of fire and sword against him as a

rebel. Keppoch, taking advantage of the im-

settled state of the government, renewed his

claims against Mackintosh; and having de-

feated the Mackintoshes in battle, he had ad-

vanced to Inverness, the inliabitants of which

had supported the Mackintoshes against hiui,

and was threatening to svreak his vengeance

upon them if they did not purchase forbearance
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by paying luui a large pecuniary fine. It was

at this critical moment that Dundee arrived,

who, anxious at once to secure the aid of Kep-

poch and the friendship of the citizens of In-

verness, who had only a few days before pro-

claimed the Prince of Orange, interposed be-

tween them and their exasperated foe, and

satisfied the latter's supposed claims by collect-

ing the amount of his demands by subscription

among the inhabitants.''

The news of the junction of the Keppoch

Highlanders with Dimdee, and of their inten-

tion to march to the south, was exceedingly

disooncerting to Mackay, who had advanced

into a hostile country ivith a handful of troops

quite incapable of resisting the powerful force

now opposed to them. The obvious and ap-

parently most prudential course which pre-

sented itself, was, on the approach of the

enemy, to make a siu-e and as slow a retreat as

possible, and to bring up the forces which he

had left behind him; but Mackay, rightly

judging that a retreat, besides giving Dundee

the command of a large tract of country favour-

able to his ^ews, might create an impression

that his adversary was much stronger than he

really was, resolved not only to stand firm,

hut even to cross the Spey, and take posses-

sion of Elgin before Dundee shoidd arrive

there. Accordingly, after despatching a courier

to bring up his reserves from Brechin without

delay, he crossed the Spey and advanced upon

Elgin, with his dragoons at a hard trot, fol-

lowed by 200 veteran foot, who were so

desirous of coming to action that they kept up

-with the horse the whole way from the river

to the town. From Elgin, Mackay despatched

messengers to some of the principal Wliig pro-

prietors in Moray, Ross, and Sutherland, de-

su'ing them to prepare themselves for joining

him as soon as they should receive his orders.

Mackay lay a few days at Elgin in expecta-

tion of Dundee's advance; but as the latter did

not appear, !Mackay,. 'ndio had just received a

reinforcement of horse from Brechin, left Elgin

and took the road to Inverness. 'When he

reached Forres, he ascertained that Dundee

had left Inverness, and had crossed the heights

of Badenoch on his way to Atliole. It is said

* Memoirs of Dundee.—Burton's Scotland from the

Revolnlion, vol. i. d- 112.

that Dundee intended to have advanced upon

Elgin, and to have engaged Mackay, but he

was counteracted in his design by the refusal

of a party of Camerons, who were under Kep-

poch, to march without the consent of their

chief, their real motive apparently being that

they were desirous of securing what booty they

had taken. Mackay continued his march to

Inverness, where he was joined by 500 of the

Mackays, Grants, and Rosses. From Inver-

ness, he despatched couriers to the adherents

of the new government in the north to join

him; and at the same time sent an express to

Colonel Balfour at Edinburgh, to despatch

Colonel Ramsay north with a select body of

600 men to be dra'wn from the Dutch regiments.

To efi'ect as speedy a junction with him as

possible, Mackay dii'ected that Ramsay should

march through Athole and Badenoch. These

transactions. Burton^ thinks happened pro-

bably about the beginning of May.

Dundee, on the other hand, was no less busy

in his preparations for the ensuing campaign.

He never ceased to carry on an active corre-

spondence with many of the Highland chief-

tains whose confidence he possessed; and on

liis march tluough Badenoch he received the

most gratifying assurances of support from the

gentlemen of that country, with the exception

of Mackintosh, who had taken offence at Dun-

dee. Having fixed upon Lochaber as the most

central and convenient district for mustering

his forces, Dundee appointed the friends of

King James to assemble there on the 18th of

May, and in the meantime he descended into

Athole, with a body of 150 horse, where he

met with a cordial reception from Stewart of

Ballechan, factor or steward to the Marquis of

Athole, and from the other vassals of the

marquis. Wliether Stewart and the other

gentlemen of the district, in taking this decided

part, acted from a private understanding with

their chief, who still remained at Edinburgh,

where he had given in an equivocal adherence

to the government, or whether they were yet

ignorant of the course he meant to foUow, are

questions which, for want of information, do

not admit of solution. The omission on the

part of the marquis to send instructioiis to

' Scotlandfrom Revolution, vol. i. ji. 114.
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Stewart to raise a body of 400 Athole High-

landers, to oppose the passage of Dundee

through his bounds to the south, should he

attempt it, to which effect he had pledged

himself to Mackay, before the latter left Edin-

burgh for the north, raises a suspicion that the

gentlemen of Athole acted agreeably to the

understood wishes of their chief.''

Being informed that the lairds of Blair and

Pollock were Ijang in Perth with a troop of

horse, which they had raised for the service of

the government, Dundee determined to sur-

prise them, and accordingly left Athole, and

proceeded with celerity dming the night to-

wards Perth, which he entered unawares early

next morning, and seized both these gentlemen

and two other officers in their beds, carrying

them off prisoners. He also took away 30

horses, and a sum of 9,000 merks of the public

revenue which he found in the office of the

collector. Leaving Perth, Dundee ranged

thi'ough Angus, augmenting his cavalry, and

after an ineffectual attempt to surprise Lord

Eollo, who was raising a troop of horse, he

appeared before the town of Dundee, then

guarded by two troops of Livingston's dragoons.

Their commander, un'naUing to encounter Dun-

dee, shut himself up in the tovrn, and the Vis-

count, after spending two nights at Dudhope,

his country seat, returned to the Highlands, to

meet his friends at the appointed place of

rendezvous.

During all this time, Mackay remained at

Inverness, waiting for the arrival of Eamsay's

detachment from the south, which he had long

and anxiously looked for. In conformity with

Mackay's orders, Colonel Balfour immediately

put the troops under Colonel Eamsay in readi-

ness to march, but just as they were about to

pass across the Frith of Forth, from Leith to

Burntisland, an alarm was created by the ap-

pearance of a large number of vessels at the

mouth of the Frith, which were at once sup-

posed to be a French fleet with troops on

board for the purpose of making a descent

upon the coast in support of Dundee. As the

' " Lord Athole, Lord Tarbet, and Lord Breadalbane,

men of great power in the North, were yirerailed upon
to give hin\ no disturbance : The two first because

they thought themselves neglected by the new govern-

ment; the l.-ist to make himself necessary tD it."

—

Dalrymple's Memmrs, Part ii. p. 45.

seizure of the capital, it was naturally supposed,

would be the first object of the invaders, the

embarkation of Eamsay's detachment, which

in such an event would be necessary for its <le-

fence, was countermanded; but in two or three

days the fears of the government were dispelled,

by having ascertained that the fleet in question

consisted of a number of Dutch herring vessels

which were proceeding on their annual voyage

to the fishing stations on the northern coast.

This delay occasioned great embarrassment to

the operations of JIackay, and almost proved"

fatal to him, as Dundee was thereby enabled

to throw himself with a large force between

Mackay's and Eamsay's corps, and to threaten

both with annihilation.

In terms of his instructions, Eamsay, after

reaching Perth, proceeded through Athole, on

his way to Inverness. Though the Athole-

men, many of whom he found armed, offered

no opposition to his march, yet as every thing

around liiin assumed a warlike appearance, and

as reports were continually brought to him

that Dundee had placed himself between him

and Mackay, with a very large force, he grew

alarmed, and so strong had his fears become

when within a dozen of miles of Euthven in

Badenoch, that he resolved to return to Perth.

He had previously despatched a letter to Mac-

kay, informing him of his advance, and ap-

pointing a meeting at Euthven on a given

day, but he neglected to send another express

acquainting Mackay of his design to return to

Perth. The retreat of Eamsay was disorderly,

and some of his men deserted. The Athole-

men, who kept hovering about him, were de-

sirous of attacking liim, but they were pre-

vented, though with difficulty, by the gentle-

men of the district. Mackay having received

Eamsay's despatch, was so anxious to form a

speedy junction with the latter's detachment,

that he left Inverness the following (Sunday)

morning, taking with Mm only two days' pro-

visions. When about half-way between In-

verness and Euthven, he received an express

from the governor of the castle, informing him

of Eamsay's retreat, and that Dundee acting

on information contained in an intercepted

despatch of Mackay's, had entered Badenoch

on Sunday morning, (the morning of Mac-

kay's march from Inverness,) with an im-
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mense force, and was witliin a few miles of the

castle.

The first person -svho had met Dundee in

Lochalier on the appointed day was Glengary,

who had with him a hody of between 200 and

300 men. He was followed by Maedonald of

Morer, at the head of nearly 200 of Clan

Eanald's men, and by Appin and Glencoe,

with about the same number. Dundee had

been subsequently joined by Lochiel (now 60

years of age), who had 600 men under him,

and by Keppoch, at the head of 200 ; but Sir

Alexander JIaclean, who had promised also to

attend, failed to appear.

The intelligence communicated by the com-

mander of Euthven castle was exceedingly

])eTplexing to Mackay, who must have felt

keenly the disappointment of Eamsay's flight.

He saw himself with a handful of men sur-

rounded by a warlike and hostile population,

and within a short march of a powerful force,

which he could not singly resist—with few

friends on whom he could place much reli-

ance. He had, in the unfortunate situation

in which he was placed, only a choice of

evils before him. To have proceeded on his

march with the view of cutting Ms way
through the enemy, would have been, even if

practicable, an imprudent and very dangerous

step, and to have taken \^^p a position in a

district where he would have been exposed to

he surrounded and cut ofi' from his resources,

would have been equally rash. He had, there-

fore, no alternative which he could prudently

adopt, but either to fall back upon Inverness,

or retire down the vale of the Spey. He pre-

ferred the latter course ; for, although such a

movement would leave Inverness quite exposed

to Dundee's army, that disadvantage would be

more than cotmterbalanced by the protection

which would be thereby afforded to the laird

of Grant's lands, near the borders of which

Dundee was now hovering, and by the obstruc-

tion which the interposition of Mackay's troops

would present to any attempt on the part of

Dimdee to recruit his army in the Duke of

Gordon's cormtry. Besides, by making Strath-

spey the scene of his operations, Mackay
expected to be able to keep up a communica-

tion with the south through Angus and Aber-

deenshire, and the adjoining parts of Moray,

which he could not maintain if he returned to

Inverness.

Accordingly, after despatching an express to

Inverness, apprising the garrison of his inten-

tions, and promising assistance, should Dundee

venture to attack the town, Mackay began a

rapid march towards Strathspey, which he

continued during the night, and did not halt

tin he had descended a considerable way down

that vale. Dundee, who had closely pursued

him, afraid of exposing his men to the attacks

of Mackay's cavalry, did not follow him after

he had gained the flatter part of the Strath, but

kept aloof at the distance of some miles in a

more elevated position where he encamped.

Notwithstanding his inferiority in point of

nimibers, the revolutionary general determined

to endeavom- to allure Dundee from his strong-

hold by offering him battle, and having re-

freshed his men, wearied by a long march of

twenty-four hours, he advanced next morning

to within a mile of Dundee's camp, and, after

reconnoitring the position of the enemy, made

preparations for receiving them ; but Dimdee,

secure from danger, by the nature of the ground

he occupied, showed no disposition to engage.

It is probable that, in acting thus passively,

he was influenced by the conduct of the High-

landers, who were averse to engage with

cavalry, and some of whom (the Camerons,

according to Mackay,) fled to the neighbouring

bill s on Mackay's approach. Seeing no hope

of drawing the Viscount out of his trenches,

Mackay returned in the evening to his camp,

which he removed the following day to Colm-

nakUl, about six miles lower down the Spey,

where he considered himself more secure from

any sudden surprise or attack, and where he

was speedily joined by two troops of Living-

ston's dragoons from Dundee. The ground

occupied by Mackay was a spacious plain,

bounded on the south by the Spey, wliich eflec-

tually protected his rear, whilst his front was

covered by a wood and some marshes which

skirted the plain on the north. The right of

Mackay's position was protected by a small

river with a rough and stony bottom. The

general liimseK took up his quarters at Bel-

castle, a summer-house in the neighbourhood

belonging to the laird of Grant, whence he

despatched ten or twelve of Grant's tenants.



358 GENERAL HISTORY OE THE HIGHLANDS.

selected by Grant himself as the most intelli-

gent and trustworthy, to watch and bring him

notice of Dundee's motions. These scouts

kept up a constant communication with

Mackay, who received a report from one or

other of them almost every alternate hour.

In the meantime, he kept his whole army

under arms, and to prevent surprise, small

parties of horse and dragoons patrolled the

neighbouring woods, and some foot were sta-

tioned along the banks of the little river

on the right. But these precautions would

probably have been unavailing, if the govern-

ment general had not tiineously been made

acquainted with the fact, that there were

enemies in his camp who were watching an

opportunity to betray him.

Eor some time, a report had been current

tliat Livingston's regiment of dragoons was

disaffected to the government ; but as Mackay

could not trace the rumour to any authentic

source, he disbelieved it, and to mark his con-

fidence in its fidelity, he had ordered the

two troops which were stationed at Dundee to

join him in the north. But two days after

two deserters from Dundee's camp informed

Mackay that, with few exceptions, all the

dragoon officers had entered into a conspiracy

to betraj' him. They said that they had heard

Dundee frequently assure the chiefs of the

clans that he could depend upon the dragoons,

and heard him inform the chiefs, that tiU he

saw a favourable opportunity for requiring the

services of the dragoons, he would allow them

to remain in the enemy's camp, where they

might be useful to him. The deserters like-

wise informed Mackay that they had not left

Dundee's camp altogether of their ovm accord,

but partly at the instigation of the lairds of

Blair and PoUock, who had been carried about

by Dundee as prisoners ever since their capture

at Perth, and who were anxious to prevent

Mackay from engaging, under these cLrcum-

stances, with such a small party of troops as

he then had.

This information, though calculated to shake

the general's confidence in the fidelity of these

dragoons, was too vague and unsatisfactory to

be relied upon. Mackay appears at first to

have had some doubts of the truth of the state-

nent; but his unwillingness to believe the

accusation gave place to an opposite impression

when, after ordering the deserters to be con-

fined in Belcastle, and threatening them with

exemplary pimishment should it turn out that

they were spies sent by Dundee, they expressed

themselves quite satisfied to abide the result

of any investigation he might institute.

Mackay, though now satisfied that there

were traitors in his camp, took no steps to

secure them, but continued to remain in his

position waiting for the arrival of Barclay's

dragoons and Leslie's foot from Forfar and

Couper Angus. Mackay might have retreated

down the river, but he was advised to remain

at Colmnakill by Sir Thomas Livingston and

the laird of Grant ; because by retaining his

ground, his expected succours would be every

day dra^ving nearer to him, and every day

thus spent would be lost to Dundee, who was

prevented, by his presence, from communicat-

ing -with those places in the low country from

which he expected reinforcements, particularly

in horse, of which he stood in most need.

Besides, by retiring, IMackay considered that

he might probably be forced to recross the

Grampians before the two regiments could join

him, in which case he would leave the whole

of the north exposed to Dundee, who woidd

probably avail himself of the opportunity to

raise a force too formidable to be encountered.

In the meantime, Dundee sent a detachment

of his army to lay siege to the old castle of

Ruthven, in which Mackay, on his arrival

at Inverness, had placed a garrison of about

60 of Grant's Highlanders, under the command

of John Forbes, brother to Culloden. The

garrison being in want of provisions, capitu-

lated on the condition that their lives should

be spared, and that they should be aUowod to

return to their homes on their parole. MTiile

conducted through Dundee's camp, Forbes

observed aU the horses saddled, and his araiy

preparing as if for an immediate march. In

proceeding towards Colmnakill, he met, at the

distance of about a mile from Dundee's lines,

two men on horseback, one in a red, the other

in a blue uniform. The latter immediately chal-

lenged him with the usual parole, "Qui vivel"

on which Forbes returning the " Vive le Roi

Guilleaume," as indicative of his loyalty to the

existing government, the man in red informed
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him that they had been despatched from Mac-

kay's camp to ohtain intelligence of the enemy.

Captain Forbes then cautioned the men of the

risk they would run if they proceeded farther,

but regardless of his advice, they rode forward

in the direction of Dundee's camp. Forbes

having mentioned this occurrence to Mackay

the same day, the latter immediately sus-

pected that the officers of dragoons were in

communication with Dundee, as he had

given no such order as the man clothed in

red had pretended. He, thereupon, desired

inquiry to be made if any dragoons had been

sent out, and by whom ; and as blue was the

uniform of Livingston's men, he desired them

to be instantly mustered to ascertain if anj^

were absent ; but the general had scarcely

issued these instructions, when some of his

scouts brought him intelligence that Dundee's

army was moving down the Strath towards

Colmnakill. This movement, combined with

the information which had been communicated

to him by Forbes, left no doubt of the treachery

of the dragoons.

Under these circumstances, Mackay had no

alternative but an immediate retreat. Calhng,

therefore, his commanding officers together, he

ordered them to put their men under arms, and

to form them upon the plain in marching

order. He next addressed himself to the laird

of Grant, and after expressing his regret at the

step he was about to take, by which Grant's

lands would be left for a short time exposed

to the ravages of Dundee's ai-my, he requested

him to order his tenants to drive their cattle

down the country out of the reach of the

enemy, who woidd probably overlook them in

their anxiety to follow him in his retreat.

Grant listened to this advice with becoming

attention, but to show how little he regarded

his own personal interest, as opposed to what he

conceived his duty to his country, he observed,

that though he might lose every thing by

Dundee's invasion of his country, he woidd not

take one step prejudicial to the government.

In fixing the order of liis retreat, Mackay
adopted the plan he had been accustomed to

follow, that he might not excite the jealousy

of the dragoons, or make them suspect that

he was distrustful of them. Accordingly, as

was his usual practice, he divided the dragoons

into two bodies, one of which, consisting of

Major and Captain Balfour's companies, he

placed in the rear, and the other four companies

commanded by the disafl'ected officers he placed

in the front, that he might overawe them by

his own presence. Immediately before the

two troops of dragoons which formed the rear-

guard, Mackay placed 200 foot, chiefly grena-

diers of the three Scoto-Dutch regiments, and

next to them the English horse, then scarcely

70 men strong, and between those horse and

the four companies of dragoons which were

led by Sir Thomas Livingston, he posted 200

of Lord Eeay's and Ealnagowan's Highlanders,

having previously dismissed Grant's men,

whom he had informed their chief he would

leave behind to protect their owir country from

Dundee's stragglers.

There were three ways by which Mackay

could retreat,—either towards Inverness, or

through Strathdown and Glenlivet, a move-

ment which would bring him near his expected

reinforcements, or down Strathspey. Of these

routes Mackay would have preferred the south-

ern ; but as the population of Strathdown and

Glenlivet was Catholic, and of course hostUe to

him, and as the ground in those districts was

unfavourable to the operations of cavalry in

case of attack, he resolved to march down

Strathspey. But as he was desirous to con-

ceal his route from Dundee, he did not begin

his march till nightfall, at which time Dundee

was within three miles of his camp. In his

course down Speyside he passed by the hoiise

of Grant of BaUindaUoch, who was serving

under Dundee, and arrived early the following

morning at Balveny, where he halted to refresh

his men and procure a supply of provisions.

There he met Sir George Gordon of Edin-

glassie, from whom he obtained some men to

act as intelligencers. Some of these he de-

spatched back in the dii-ection he had come,

to ascertain if Dundee stQl remained in the

Strath ; but apprehensive that Dundee would

take a southerly course, by crossing the Strath,

with the view of throwing himseK between

Mackay and his reinforcements, he sent oiJ

others in that direction. These scouts soon

returned with intelligence that Dimdee was

stdl in Strathspey. This information was

satisfactory to Mackay, and iclieved him from
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a state of the most painful anxiety; but lie

was still greatly perplexed by tlie want of pro-

visions, -wliich, though houi-ly expected, had not

yet arrived.

Desirous, however, to wait for supplies as

long as consistent with safety, he again de-

spatched some of Gordon's men in the direc-

tion he supposed Dundee would take, and at

the same time sent a sergeant with a party of

12 dragoons back by the course he had marched,

to bring him notice of Dundee's motions.

Mackay waited with the greatest impatience

till about five o'clock in the evening for the

return of the dragoons, without any signs of

their appearance, a circumstance which alarmed

him so much, that although a quantity of pro-

visions and oats had just reached his camp, he

would not aUow time for baking bread or feed-

ing the horses, but gave orders for an imme-

diate march. Accordingly, the whole party

moved off in the same order as before, and

passed a small river about a mile above the

place where they had been encamped ; but

they had scarcely advanced half a mile when

Sir Thomas Livingston, who happened to be a

little behind, observed the enemy on the other

side of the river they had just passed, march-

ing towards the ford by which Mackay's men
had crossed. On being informed of this, Mac-

kay, after ordering Lieutenant-colonel Living-

ston, who was at the head of the vanguard, to

continue at a pretty quick pace
;
galloped to

the rear, and having despatched Sir Thomas

Livingston to the front to lead the party, with

instructions to keep up a constant pace, but

^vithout wearying the troops, he posted himself

upon a rising ground with about 50 or 60

horse and dragoons in view of Dundee's army,

where he was joined by the Master of Forbes

with about 50 horse.

Wheu Dundee observed the party of dra-

goons drawn up on the hillock he immediately

halted, drew in his stragglers, and marshalled

Iris men into battalions, keeping up the usual

distinction of the clans. In the meantime

Mackay sent off his nephew, Major Mackay,

to a hUl wliich lay about a quarter of a mile

to his left, from which he coidd obtain a nearer

and more correct view of Dundee's force and

his motions. The Viscount's horse immedi-

ately passed the river, and di-ew up along the

bank to protect the passage of the foot, who
in their turn also formed tOl the baggage was

brought over. It was now after sunset, but

the Viscount continued to advance. Mackay,

who was nearly two miles behind his rear;

thereupon began to ride off with his party, but

he had not proceeded far when a cry of "halt !"

met his ears. On turning round he observed

galloping after him. Major Mackay, who,

having observed a party of horse which he

supposed to belong to Dundee, moving along

the face of a hill to the General's left, and

w-hich from the twilight appeared more nu-

merous than it really was, had hastened to

acquaint the General of the circumstance. It

turned out, however, that this party which

had occasioned such alarm was no other than

the sergeant with the 12 dragoons of Living-

ston's regiment which had been sent out by

Mackay in the morning to reconnoitre. It

was afterwards ascertained that this sergeant

was concerned in the plot, and that he was the

same individual in blue, whom Captain Forbes

had met with witliin a mile of Dundee's camp.

This man pretended, however, that he had run

great danger of capture ; and that he had taken

such a round-about way merely to avoid the

enemy, though he and his party had been

with Dundee the whole day, and had con-

ducted liim over the ground which Mackay

had passed on the preceding day. The

government forces continued their march all

night till they crossed the river of Bogie,

where, from pure exhaustion, they halted at

four o'clock in the morning. The General

then ordered the provisions wliich had reached

the camp previous to his retreat, to be distri-

buted among his troops, and desired the horse-

men to lead their horses into an adjoining

corn-field and feed them. When the men

were refreshing themselves Mackay received

the agreeable intelligence that Barclay and

Leslie's regiments woidd join him that day,

but " to play sure game," as he himself says,

after allowing his men two hours' rest, he

marched three miles further down towards his

succours, and took up a position at the foot of

Suy-hUl upon the common road from the south

to the north, by which he expected the two

regiments would march.

Having sent a pressing order to Baniay and
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Leslie to liasten their march, Maokay had tlie

satisfaction of being joined by tlie former at

twelve o'clock noon, and by the latter at six

o'clock in the evening, after a long and fatiguing

march. Eesolved that no time should be lost

in turning the chase upon Dundee before he

should be aware of these reinforcements, ISIac-

General Hugh Macki^T of Scoarie.

kay put hi.s army in marcliing order, and ad-

vanced towards him after ten o'clock at night.

But his designs were made known to Dundee

by two dragoons who had been despatched by

their officers. These men, on the departure of

Dundee, were discovered in a wood, and the

general being satisfied that the sergeant before

mentioned had had a conference with Dundee,

and the two dragoons having confessed nearly

as much themselves, he immediately put Lieu-

tenant-colonel Livingston and the other sus-

pected officers under arrest. He thereupon

continued his march, and arrived at Balveny

that night, and on the following day reached

ColmnakiU, which he had left only live days

before. Here having received notice that a

party of Dundee's men was on the other side

of the adjoining river, he sent orders to Sir

Thomsis Li\'ing.ston to cross with 200 dragoons

and drive them away; but Sir Thomas having

been previously informed that the laird of

Grant was sorely pressed by the retiring forces

of Dundee, had anticipated the general's orders,

and had advanced two miles beyond the river

with a greater force, in pursuit of a bodj' of

Higlilanders. These were, according to Bal-

carras, Sir John Maclean's men, who were on

their way to join Dimdee, and who, alarmed at

the appearance of such a large number of di-a-

goons, threw away their plaids and betook

themselves to an adjoining hdl, where they

formed. They are stated by the last-mentioned

author to have amounted only to 200 men, but

Mackay, in liis memoirs," states the niunber at

500. Mackay observes, that but for the indis-

cretion of Livingston's adjutant, who by riding

a quarter of a mile in advance, gave the High
landers timeous notice of the approach of the

dragoons, not one of them would have escaped,

but being thereby enabled to gain the top of

the hUl before the dragoons came up with

them, they sustained a loss of only 80 or 100

men. In this skirmish, a captain of Barclay's

regiment and six dragoons were killed, and

some wounded.

Having been joined by Eamsay's detach-

ment, which during the occupancy of Strath-

spey b}' the hostile armies, had, imknown to

Mackay, penetrated through Athole and Baden-

och and reached Inverness, Mackay continued

to pursue Dundee into Badenoch ; but as the

latter retired into Lochaber, Mackay gave over

the pursuit on learning that Dundee had dis-

missed the greater part of his forces. Mackay,

thereupon, marched to Inverness with Living-

ston's dragoons, Leslie's foot, and a party of

Leven's and Hastings' regiments, and 200

Highlanders, and sent Barclay's regiment to

Strathbogie, and the three Dutch regiments to

Elgin. From Inverness, Mackay despatched

an express to the Duke of Hamilton, urging

upon him the necessity of placing " a formi-

dable garrison " at Inverlochy, and small ones

in other places in the north, without which he

considered that it would be utterly impossible

to subdue the Highlanders, who, on the ap-

proach of an army, for which a fortnight's sub-

sistence could not be found in their mountnin

' P. 38, of Bannatvno club edition.

2 z"
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ous regions, could easily retire to difficult

passes and other places inaccessible to regular

troops. He, therefore, requested that his grace

and the parliament would consider the matter

before the season was farther spent, and pro-

vide the necessarj' means for carrjdng such a

design into effect against his arrival in the

south, whither he intended to proceed in a few

days.

On liis way to the south, ]\Iackay despatched

50 horse, as many of Barclay's dragoons, and

60 foot, to take possession of the house of

Braemar, into which he intended to place a

garrison to keep the Braemar men in check,

and to cover the county of Aberdeen; and he

ordered the captain of dragoons, after putting

20 of his men into the house, to march for-

ward, without halting, before break of day, to

the house of Inverey, about three mdes farther

off, for the purpose of seizing Inverey and some

other gentlemen who had lately been with

Dundee. But, fortunately for Inverey and his

guests, the officer trifled off his time in Brae-

mar house, refreshing Ms horses, till the dawn

of the morning, and the approach of him and

his party being perceived, Inverey and his

friends escaped in their shirts to a neighbour-

ing wood. Disapjiointed of their prey, the

party retired to the house of Braemar, where,

after setting their horses loose to graze, they

laid themselves down to repose; but they were

soon wakened from their slumbers by some

firing from a party on a rock above, which had

so alarmed the horses that they were found

galloping to and fro in the adjoining fields.

As soon as the dragoons had caught their

horses, which they had some difficulty in

doing, they galloped do'\\Ti the country. The

party on the rock was headed by Inverey, who

had collected a number of his tenantry for the

purpose of expelling the dragoons from his

bounds, and who, on their retreat, set fire to

Braemar house, which was consumed.

The party of foot, which, having charge of a

convoy of provisions and ammunition for the

intended garrison, had not yet arrived, on

hearing of the retreat of the dragoons, shut

themselves up in a gentleman's house, to secure

themselves from attack, and the commanding

officer sent an express after Mackay, who was

then on his way to the south, acquainting him

witli the failure of the enterprise. On receiv-

mg tliis intelligence, Mackay, although he had

not a day's bread on hand, and was in great

haste to reach Edinburgh, " to put life in the

design of Inverlochy," turned off his course

and crossed the hills towards Braemar, with

his foot, after giving directions to Barclay's

dragoons to march up Deeside. Finding Brae-

mar house destroyed, and the vaults of it in-

capable of holding ,a garrison, Mackay, after

burning Inverey's house and laying waste all

his lands, descended the river to Abergeldie,

where he left a detachment of 72 men as a

check upon the Farquharsons. And having

placed the other troops which he had brought

from the north in quarters farther down the

Dee, he posted off to Edinburgh, where he

arrived in the beginning of July, about a fort-

night after the surrender of the castle of Edin-

burgh, which capitidated on the 14th of June,

after a siege of three months.

On his arrival at Edinburgh, Mackay wa.s

exceedingly mortified to find that no steps

whatever liad been taken by the government for

putting his design into execution, of erecting

a fort at Inverlochy. As the season was now

too far advanced to collect materials for sucli

an erection, he proposed that a body of 1,500

pioneers should be levied in the northern

counties, each of whom shoidd be obliged to

carry a spade, shovel, or pickaxe, along vrith

him, and that a month's provisions of meal,

with horses to carry it, should be furnished,

along with a force of 400 men. But this plan,

the general himself confesses, " considering the

inability, ignorance, and little forwardness of

the government to furnish the necessary in-

gredients for the advance of their service, was

built upon a sandy foundation, and much like

the building of castles in the air."^ As an

instance of the slowness and irresolution of

government, Mackay mentions, that after his

return from the north, they took three weeks

to dehbevate upon the mode of conveying a

fortnight's provisions for 400 men ; by which

delay he says he lost the opportunity of pre-

venting Dundee from occupying Athole, Baden

och, and other parts of the southern Highlands.

The return of Mackay to the capital, aftT a

Memo p. 46.
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fruitless and exceedingly harassing series of

marches and countermarches, seems to have

abated the ardour of some of the supporters of

the government, who, disappointed in their

expectations, and displeased at the preference

shown by the court to others they considered

less deserving than themselves, had become

either indifferent about the result of the strug-

gle, or secretly wished for a restoration. That

such an event might occur was indeed far from

improbable. James was ab'eady in possession,

with the exception of two cities, of all L'eland,

and WiUiam was by no means popular in

England. To give, therefore, a decided and

favourable turn to James's affairs in Scotland,

nothing was wanting but to aid Dundee imme-

diately with a few thousand men from Ireland
;

but although the necessity of such a step was

urged by Dundee in his communications with

the exUed monarch, the latter did not, unfor-

tunately for himself, consider the matter in the

same light. The expectation of such a rein-

forcement, which they confidently looked for,

had, however, its due effect upon the minds of

the niglJanders, who gladly endured during

the recent campaign all those painful priva-

tions which necessarily attend an army scantily

provided with the means of subsistence. No
man was better fitted by nature than Dundee

for command under such difficidties, and at

the head of such troops. Whilst by his open-

ness, frankness, and disinterestedness he ac-

quired an ascendency over the minds of the

chiefs, he was equally successful hy attending

personally to their wants, by mixing frequently

among them, and by sharing their privations

and fatigues, in securing the obedience of the

clans. But valuable and important as the

services were of such a bold and devoted band,

it was evident that without a sudden and

powerfid diversion from Ireland, or a consider-

able rising in the lowlands, it woidd be impos-

sible for Dundee, from the paucity of his forces,

and the want of cavalry, to carry the war into

the south with any possible chance of success.

As the Irish reinforcements were daily ex-

pected, Dundee enjoined the chiefs of the

clans, who, with their men, had taken a tem-

porary leave of absence on the departure of

Mackay, to rejoin him as soon as possible, and

iiom his head-quarters at Moy, in Lochaber,

he sent expresses to the other chiefs who had

not yet joined him to hasten to the approach-

ing muster. ^

About the same time he despatched a letter

to the Earl of Melfort, in which, after advert-

ing to various circumstances, he advises him to

send over from Ireland a body of 5,000 or

6,000 men to Inverlochy, which he considered

the safest landing-place that could be selected

as being " far from the enemy," and whence

an easy entrance could be obtained for an army

into Moray, Angus, or Perthshire. On the

return of the transports from Inverlochy,

Dundee advised Melfort to send over as many
foot as he conveniently could to the point of

Cantyie, on hearing of whose landing he would

' The following letter to Macleod of Macleod shown
Dundee's notion of his prospects at this time :

—

" For the Laird o/ Macleod.*

" Mot, Jun 23, 1689.

"Sir,—Glengaire gave me ane account of the sub-

stance of a letter he receaved from yow : I shall only
tell yow, that if you heasten not to land your men, I

am of opinion yow will have litle occasion to do the
king great service ; for if he land in the west of Scot-

land, yow will come too late, as I believe yow will

thinck yourself by the news I have to tell yow. The
Prince of Orange hath wreaten to the Scots councell

not to fatig his troops any more by following us in

the hills, but to draw them together in a body to the
west ; and, accordingly, severall of the forces that
were in Pearthshire and Angus, are drawn to Edinr.,

and some of Mackay's regments are maroht that way
from him Some of the French fleet

hath been seen amongst the islands, and hath taken
the two Glasgow frigats. The king, being thus mas-
ter by sea and land, hath nothing to do but bring
over his army, which many people fancy is landed
ahaidy in the west. He will have little to oppose
him there, and will probably march towards Eng-
land ; so that we who are in the graitest readiness

will have ado to join him. I have received by Mr.
Hay a commission of lieutenant-general, which mis-
cairied by Breidy. I have also receaved a double
of a letter miscairied by Breidy to me, and a new
letter, dated the ISth of May ; both which are so kind,

that I am asham'd to tell. He counts for great

services, which I am conscious to myself that I have
hardly done my deutie. He promises not only to me,
but to all that will join, such marks of favor, as after

ages shall see what honour and advantage there is, in

being loyall. He sayes, in express terms, that his

favours shall vy with our loyalty. He hath, by the

same letters, given full power of councell to such
councellors here, as shall be joined in the king's

service, and given us power, with the rest of his

freends, to meet in a convention, by his authority, to

counteract the mock convention at Edinr., whom he
hath declaired traitours, and comanded all his loyall

subjects to make warr against them ; in obedience to

which, I have called all the clannes. Captain of

* The oritrinal of this letter, which is addressed to JohD
Macleod of Macleod, is in possession of the present Laird of

Macleod, his descendant.
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advance as far as the neck of Tarbert to meet

them, and that on the junction taking place,

Dimdee -would march " to raise the country,"

and afterwards proceed to the passes of the

Forth to meet the king, who, it -was supposed,

woidd follow the expedition. To deceive Mac-

kay and the Scottish council, and to induce

them to withdraw their forces from the north,

and thus leave him at greater liherty to or-

ganize it, Dundee industriously circidated a

report that the forces from Ireland would land

altogether in some quarter south of the Clyde.

To give an appearance of certainty to the

rumour, he wrote a letter to Lady Errol, a

warm supporter of James's interest, acquainting

her of the expected landing in the west, and

to prevent suspicion of any ruse heing intended,

he inclosed some proclamations, which, it is

presumed, he intended to issue when the Irish

arrived. As wished and anticipated, this

despatch was intercepted and sent to Edin-

burgh. The device appears to have in part

Slenrannald * is near us these several! days ; the laird

Df Barof is there with his men. I am persuaded Sir

Donald + is there by this. M 'Clean g lands in Morren
to-morrow certainly. Apen,|| Glenco, ** Lochell,tt
lilengaire, II Keppooh,gg are all raidy. Sir Alex-

luderllll and Largo*** have been here with there

men all this while with me, so that I hope we will go

out of Lochaber about thre thousand. Yow may
judge what we will gett in Strathharig, Uadenock,
Athol, llarr, and the duke of Gordon's lands, besides

the loyall shires of Bamf, Aberdeen, Merns, Angus,
I'erth, and StirUng. I hope we will be masters of

the north, as the king's army wiU be of the south. I

had almost forgot to tell you of my Lord Broadal-

ban, ttt who I suppose will now come to the feelds.

Dnmbeth, with two hundred hors and eight hundred
foot, are said to be endeavouring to join us. lly L.

Seaforthlll will be in a few dayes from Irland to rais

his men for the king's service. Now, I have layd tlie

whole business before yow, yow will easily know what
is fitt for yow to do. All I shall say further is, to

repeat and renew the desyre of my former letter, and
assure vow that I am,

"Sir
"Your most humble servant,

"DUXDIE.

"Yow will receave the king's letter to yow."

* Allan M.icdonald, captain of Clanranald, then under iige.

Ronald Macdonald of Benbecula, his tutor, attended him.

t R. Macneil of Barra.

J Sir Donald Macdonald of Slate.

§ Sir John Maclean of Dowart and Morven.

II
Stewart of Appin.

** Alexander Macdonald, or Maclan of Glencoe.

tt Sir Ewen Cameron of Locheil.

it Alexander Macdonell. younger of Glengary.

§§ Dundee "used to call him CoU of the Cowes, because he
found them out when they were driven to the hills out of the
way."

—

Deposition of Lieutenant Colt in appendix to acts of par-

liament, 1690.

nil Sir Alexander Maclean of Otter.
*•• Alexander Macdonald of Largo.

ttt John, first Earl of Breadalbaue.

iii Kenneth, fotj-th Earl of Seaforth.

succeeded, as Dundee informs Melfort, that

the government forces were afterwards with-

drawn from Cantyre.i

Whilst Dundee was thus maturing his plans,

preparatory to another campaign, Mackay was

urging the privy council to supply him -with a

sufficient force, for carrying into effect his

' " For the E-ii:L of ilELFor.T. *

" Mot in Lochaber, June 27, 16S9.

After exculpating himself from a charge made
against him by the Earl, of his name having been
' made use of for carrying on designs against the Earl,'

Dundee thus proceeds :

—

" When we first came out I had but fifty pounds of

powder: more 1 could not get, all the great towns
and seaports were in rebellion, and had seized the
powder, and would sell none. But I had one advan-
tage, the Highlanders will not fire above once, and
then take to the broadsword . . . The advocate +
is gone to England, a very honest man, firm beyond
belief; and Athol is gone too, who did not know what
to do. Earl Hume, who is very frank, is taken
prisoner to Edinburgh, but he will be let out on secu-

rity. Earl Breadalbin keeps close in a strong house

;

he has and pretends the gout. Earl Errol stays at

home; so does Aberdeen. Earl JIarshall is at Edin-
burgh, but does not meddle. Earl Lauderdale ia

right, and at home. The Bishops, I know not where
they are. They are now the kirk invisible. I will

be forced to open the letter, and send copies attested

to them, and keep the original, till I can find out our
primate. The poor ministers are sorely oppressed
over all. They generally stand right. Duke Queens-
berry was present at the cross, when their new mock
King was proclaimed, and I hear, voted for him,
though not for the throne vacant. His brother the
Lieutenant General, some say is made an Earl. He
has come down to Edinbtu-gh, and is gone up again.

He is the old man, and has abused me strangely, for

he swore to me to make amends. Tarbat is a great

viUain. Besides what he has done at Edinburgh, he
has endeavoured to seduce Lochiel, by oflers of money,
which is under his hand. He is now gone up to secure

his faction, which is melting, the two Dalrymples and
others against Skelmarly.J Polwart, Cardross, Ross,

and others now joined with that worthy prince, Duke
Hamilton. M. Douglas is now a great knave, as well

as bea.st; as is Gleucairne, Morton, and Eglinton,

and even Cassillis is gone astray, misled by Gibby. §

Panmure keeps right, and at home, so does Strath-

more, Southesk, and Kinnaird. Old Airly is at Edin-
burgh under caution, so is Balcarras and Dunmore.
Stormont is declared fugitive for not appearing. All

these wUl break out, and many more, when the King
lands, or any from him. Most of the gentry on this

side the Forth, and many on the other, n'ill do so too.

But they sufi'er mightily in the mean time ; and will

be forced to submit, if there be not relief sent very
soon. The Duke of Gordon, they say, wanted nothing
for holding out but hopes of relief. Earl of Dunferra-
ling stays constantly with me, and so does Lord Dun-
kell, Pitcur, and many other gentlemen, who really

deserve well, for they suft'er great hardships. When
the troops land there must be blank commissions sent

for horse and foot, for them and others that will join.

"

* This letter was printed by Macpherson from the Naime
papers,

t Sir George Mackenzie. 1 Sir James Monl^omorv.
§ Dr. Gilbert Burnet, the historian.
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favourite plan of erecting a strong fortifica-

tion at Inverlochy. This leads to the sup-

position that " the General," a term by which

Mackay distinguishes himself in liis memoirs,

nad not taken the bait which had been pre-

pared for him by his artful rival, for it is im-

probable, had Mackay believed the story in-

vented by Dundee, that he would have insisted

on carrjdng such a large force as 4,000 men,

the number he required, into Lochaber, so

very remote from the scene of the threatened

invasion.

Having collected his forces, Mackay made

the necessary preparations for his departure,

but he was detained nearly a fortnight in

Edinburgh, beyond the time he had fixed for

his march, by the delays of the government, in

furnishing meal for his troops, and horses for

transporting it. In the meantime he was in-

fonned by Lord Murray, eldest son of the

Marquis of Athole, that Stewart of Ballochin,

his father's chamberlain, and other gentlemen

of the county of Angus, had taken possession

of the castle of Blair Athole, belonging to

the Marquis, and were fortifying it for behoof

of King James. Lord Murray oilered to go

immediately to Athole, and do everytliing

in his power to obtain possession of the castle

of Blair, before Dundee should arrive. As

Lord Murray's wife was known to be very

zealous for the presbyterian interest, and as his

lordship and the Marquis his father, who was

secretly hostile to the government, were at

variance, Mackay gave a ready assent to the

proposal, and pressed his lordship eagerly to

depart for Athole without loss of time, infonn-

tng him that aU he required from him, was to

prevent the A thole-men from joining Dundee.^

Lord Murray accordingly proceeded to

Athole, where he arrived about the beginning

of Jidy, and lost no time in summoning his

father's vassals to meet him. About 1,200 of

them assembled, but no entreaties could induce

them to declare in favour of the government,

nor coidd a distinct pledge be obtained from

them to observe a neutrality during the im-

penduig contest. His lordship was equally

unsuccessful in an appUcation which he made
to Stewart of EaUochin, for dehvery of Blair

* Mackay s Memoirs,

castle ; Stewart telling him that he held the

castle for behoof of King James, by order of

his lieutenant-general. The failure of Lord

Murray's mission could certainly occasion no

disappointment, as it was not to be imagined

that a body of men who had all along been

distinguished for their attachment to the ex-

iled family, were, at the call of a young

man, who by marriage, and the disagreement

with his father, may be supposed to have

made himself obnoxious to the men of Athole,

all at once to abandon long-cherished ideas and

to arm in support of a cause in which they felt

no interest.

About the period of Lord Murray's arrival

in Athole, intelligence was brought to Dundee

that a body of 500 Irish troops, under an

ofiicer of the name of Cannon, had reached

MulL The viscount immediately proceeded to

Inverlochy to give orders respecting their land-

ing, but, although they all reached the main-

land in perfect safety, the ships which carried

their provisions being unnecessarily detained

at Mull, were all captured by some EngUsh

frigates which were cruizing amongst the west-

ern islands. The loss of their stores was a

serious evil; and it embittered the disappoint-

ment felt by Dundee and the chiefs, to lind

that instead of an efficient force of 5,000 or

6,000 men, as they had been led to expect, not

more than a tenth part had been sent, and

even this paltry force was neither properly

disciplined, nor sufficiently armed ; so that,

according to Balcarras, their arrival did " more

harm than good." Such also was the opinion

of Mackay at the time, as expressed in a letter

to Lord Melville. 3

Having given the necessary orders for bring-

ing up the Irish troops, Dundee returned to

Strowan, where he had fixed his head quarters.

Here he received a letter which had arrived

during his absence at Inverlochy, from Lord

Strathnaver, eldest son of the Earl of Suther-

land, couched in very friendly terms, and ad-

vising him to follow the example of the Duke

of Gordon, as the course he was following, if

persisted in, would lead inevitably to his ruin.

But Dundee was not the man who would allow

his personal interest to interfere with the

I
' No. 14 of Appendix to Mackay's Memoirs, p. 245.
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allegiance wliich he considered he owed to his

exiled sovereign, and while in his answer he

expressed a deep sense of the obligation he lay

under to his lordship for his advice and offers

of service, which he imputed to his lordship's

" sincere goodness and concern" for him and

his famil}', he assured him that he (Dundee)

had no less concern for him, and that he had

been even thinking of making a proposal to

him, but delayed doing so tUl his lordship

should see things in a clearer point of view.

At Strowan, Dundee was made acquainted

by Stewart of Ballochin, with Lord Murray's

proceedings, and with a demand made by his

lordship for possession of Blair castle, a de-

mand to which Ballochin had given the most

decided refusal. The possession of this place

was of vast importance to Dundee, as it com-

manded the entrance into the southern High-

lands, and lay in the line of Mackay's intended

route to Inverlochy. To reward his fidelity,

and to counteract Lord Murray's ijifiuence in

Athole, Dundee sent a commission to Ballochin,

appointing liim colonel of the Athole-men.

The appointment, however, would probably

have been conferred on Lord Mm'ray, to whom
Dundee had, on the 19th of July, two days

before the date of Balloohin's commission, de-

spatched a letter, stating the happiness which

he felt on hearing that his lordship had ap-

pointed a rendezvous of the Athole-men at

Blair, and expressing a hope that he would

join the viscount with his men ; but, instead

of answering this letter, Ms lordship sent it to

Lord MelviUe, the secretary of state for Scot-

land. Such also was the fate of other letters,

wliich Dundee sent to Lord Murray. Along

with the last, which was written on the 25th

of Jiily, Dundee despatched Major Graham

and Captain Eamsay for the purpose of obtain-

ing a personal interview with Lord Murray;

but he declined to see them, or to give any

answer to Dundee's communication. It ap-

pears that up to this time the Athole-men, who

had, at the call of the son of their cliief, as-

sembled to the number of about 1,200, were

ignorant of Lord Murray's intentions; but

when he refused to receive Dundee's officers,

they at once began to suspect his designs, and

demanded with one voice an immediate ex-

planation, intimating at the same time, that if

he would joiu Dundee they would follow him

to a man; but if on the contrary he refused,

they would all leave him. His lordship re-

monstrated with them, and even threatened

them with his vengeance if they abandoned

him; but regardless of his threats, they left

him to join Dundee, having previously fUled

their bonnets with water from the rivulet of

Banovy, in the neighbourhood of Blair castle,

and pledged themselves to King James by

drinking his health.^

In the meantime the government general

was busily engaged at Edinburgh, making the

necessary preparations for his march. He ap-

pointed his troops to rendezvous at Perth, and

after completing his arrangements at Edin-

burgh, he went to Stirling to inspect the castle,

so as to make himself acquainted with its

means of defence. In a letter^ dated 24th

July, written to Lord Mehdlle on his arrival

at Stirling, Mackay alludes to the distracted

state of the government in Scotland, and the

difficulty he would experience in executuig the

commission which the king had given him, to

keep the kingdom peaceable, in consequence oi

the divisions which existed even between the

adherents of the government. The removal

from office of Stair the president of the court

of session, and his son, who had rendered

themselves obnoxious to the ultra whig party,

by their attempts to stretch the royal preroga-

tive too far, appears to have been considered by

that party of more importance than keeping

Dundee in check. So high did the spirit

of party run, that the Earl of Annandale and

Lord Ross, who had just been appointed

colonels of two newly raised regiments of

horse, refused to accompany their regiments,

and offered to resign their commissions rather

than quit the parliament. This state of matters

was highly favourable to James's interests in

Scotland, and if Melfort had followed Dundee's

advice, by sending over a large force from Ire-

land, the cause of his royal master might have

triumphed, but with that fatality which at-

tended the unfortunate monarch in all his

undertakings, he allowed to slip away the

golden opportunity which was here offered

him, of recovering his crown.

* Balcarras, p. 68. Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 62.

^ No. 16 of Appendix to Mackay's Memoirs, p. 24fi.
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From Stirling Maclvay proceeded to Perth,

after ordering the troops of horse and dragoons

of the expedition to follow him. On arriving

at Perth, a letter was shown him from Lord

Murray, from which he learned, that Dundee,

who had been solicited hy Stewart of Ballochin

to hasten into Athole, was already marching

through Badenoch, and so anxious was he to

anticipate Mackay's arrival in Athole, that he

had left beliind him several chiefs and their

men, whose junction he daily expected. Lord

Murray added, that if Mackay did not hasten

his march so as to reach Athole before Dun-

dee, he would not undertake to prevent his

men from joining the Viscount. As Mac-

kay informs us, that before lea\ing Edinburgh

he had begun " already to have very HI

thoughts of the expedition in gross," and as

on reaching Stirling, the idea that he would

be straitened for provisions haunted his mind,

this information was assuredly by no means

calculated to relieve these fearfid apprehen-

sions. He had gone too far, however, to retrace

liis steps vnih honour, and although four troops

of dragoons and two of horse had not yet

joined him, he resolved, for reasons that to

him, in the position in wliioh he was then

placed, seemed most forcible, to proceed imme-

diately on his march to Athole.

The last and perhaps most important reason

given by himself for this step, is that, as the

possession, by Mackay, of the castle of Blair,

was in his opinion the only means of keeping

in awe the Athole-men, (who, from their num-

bers and strict attachment to the house of Stew-

art, were more to be dreaded than any other

body of Higldanders,) and preventing them

from joining Dundee, he had no alternative

liut to allow Dundee to roam uncontrolled

through the disaffected district of Athole,

gathering strength at every step, or to attempt

to gain the important fortress of Blair.

Such were the grounds, as stated by Mackay

in his o'rni exculpation, which made him

resolve upon marching into Athole, and which,

he observes, " more capable commanders might

readily be deceived in." Those who make

the unfortimate result of this movement the

rule of their judgment, will be apt to condemn

Mackay's conduct on this occasion as rash and

injudicious, but when his own reasons are

duly weighed, it is difficult to see how he

could have acted otherwise than he did.

There can be no doubt, that had he been as

successful at KUliecrankie as he was unfor-

tunate, he woidd have been applauded for the

exercise of a sound discretion, and regarded as

a tactician of the highest order.

On the 26th of July, Mackay left Perth at the

head of an army of 4,500 men. Of tliis force,

notwithstanding that the four troops of dra-

goons and two of horse already alluded to, had

not yet arrived, a fair proportion consisted of

cavalry. At night Mackay encamped opjjosite

to Dunkeld, and here, at midniglit, he received

an express from Lord Murray announcing the

alarming intelligence, that Dundee had entered

Athole, in consequence of which event he

informed him that he had retreated from

before the castle of Blair, which he had for

some time partially blockaded ; and that al-

though he had left the narrow and difficult

pass of Killiecrankie between him and Dundee,

lie had posted a guard at the further extremity

to secure a free passage to Mackay's troops

through the pass which he supposed Dundee
had already reached. Mackay seems to have

doubted the latter part of this statement, and

his suspicions were in some degree confirmed

by the fact, that Lieutenant-colonel Lauder,

whom he despatched with a party immediately

on receipt of Murray's letter, to seciire the

entrance into the pass from the vale of Blair,

did not see a single man on his arrival there.

Discouraging as this intelligence was, Mac-

kay stiU determined to persevere in his march,

and having despatched orders to Perth to

hasten the arrival of the six troops of cavalry

he had left beliind, he put liis army in motion

next morning, July 27th, at day-break, and

proceeded in the direction of the pass, the

entrance to which he reached at ten o'clock in

the morning. Here he halted, and allowed

his men two hours to rest and refresh them

selves before they entered upon the bold and

hazardous enterprise of plunging themselves

into a frightful chasm, out of which they

might possibly never return. To support

Lauder in case of attack, the general, on halt-

ing, despatched tlirough the pass a body of

200 men under the command of the Lieuten-

ant-colonel of the Earl of Leven's regiment.



3GS GENEEiiX HISTOfiY OF THE HIGHL.iifDS.

whom lie instructed to send him any intelli-

gence he could obtain of Dundee's motions.

A short way helow the pass Mackay fell in

with Lord Murray, who informed him, that

with the exception of 200 or 300 men, who

still remained with him, the whole had gone

to the hills to secure their cattle, an answer

which Mackay, with the open and unsuspect-

ing generosity of a soldier, considered satis-

factory, and made him, as he observes, " not

so apt to judge so iU of Murray as others did."

Having received a notice from Lauder that

the pass was clear, and that there was no

appearance of Dundee, Mackay put his army

again in motion, and entered the fatal pass.

Hastings's regiment (now the 13th), and Annan-

dale's horse were placed behind to protect the

baggage, from an apprehension that Dundee's

Higlilanders might make a detour round the

nill to attack it, or that the country people

might attempt to plunder it if not so guarded.

The idea that no opposition would be oifered

to their passage through this tenific defile,

which seemed to forbid approach, and to warn

the luihappy soldier of the dangers which

awaited him should he precipitate himself into

its recesses, may have aflbrded some consolation

to the feelings of Mackay's troops as they

entered this den of desolation ; but when they

found themselves fairly within its gorge, their

imaginations must have been appalled as they

gazed, at every successive step, on the wild

and terrific objects which encompassed them

on every side. They however proceeded, at

the command of their general, on their devious

course, and finally cleared it, with the loss of

only a single horseman, who, according to an

Athole tradition, was shot by an intrepid

adventurer, named Ian Ban Beg MacEan, who

had posted himself on a hill, from which he

fired across the rivulet of the Garry and

brought down his victim. A well, caUed in

Gaelic, Fuaran u trupar,—AiKjlice, the "Horse-

man's well,"—is shown as the place where the

horseman felL

As soon as the five battalions and the troop

of horse which preceded the baggage had de-

bouched from the further extremity of the pass,

they halted, by command of the general, upon

a corn field, along the side of the river to await

the arrival of the baggage, and of Hastings's re-

giment and the other troop of horse. Mackay

then ordered Lieutenant-colonel Lauder to ad-

vance with his 200 fusileers and a troop of

horse in the direction he supposed Dundee
might be expected to appear. Lauder had not

advanced far when he discovered some parties

of Dundee's forces between him and Blair.

Being immediately apprised of this Tiy Lauder,

JIackay, after gi'ving orders to Colonel Balfour

to supply the troops with ammunition, and to

put them under arms without delay, galloped

olf to the ground, from which Lauder had

espied the enemy, to observe their motions be-

fore making choice of the field of battle. On
arriving at the advanced post, Mackay observed

several small parties of troops, scarcely a mile

distant, marching slowly along the foot of a

hm in the direction of Blair, and advancing

towards him. Mackay, thereupon, sent orders

to BaKour to advance immediately up to him

with the foot. But these orders were no sooner

despatched than he observed some bodies of

Dundee's forces marching down a liigh hUl

within a quarter of a mile from the place where

he stood, in consequence of which movement,

he immediately galloped back to his men to

countermand the order he had just issued, and

to put his army in order of battle.*

Dundee, who had been duly advertised of

Mackay's motions, had descended from the

higher district of Badenoch into Athole on the

previous day, with a force of about 2,.500 men,

of whom about one-fifth part consisted of the

Irish, which had lately landed at Inverlochy

under Brigadier Cannon. Some of the clans

which were expected had not yet joined, as the

day appointed for the general rendezvous had

not then arrived ; but as Dundee considered it

of paramount importance to prevent Mackay

from establishing himself in Athole, he did not

hesitate to meet the latter, whose force num-

bered about 4,000. 15

On his arrival at the castle of Blair, in-

telligence was brought Dundee that Mackay

had reached the pass of Killiecrankie, which

^ Mackay's Memoirs, p. 51-
' " Mackay's force was certainly not double that of

his adversary; bnt had it borne a far greater propor-

tion, the trained warriors and command of the ground,

when in the hands of one well fitted to use them, were

advantages outweighing a large numerical preponder-

ance."—Burton's Scotland from Revolution, vol. •

p. 131
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he was {)reparing to enter. Dundee, against

the advice of most of his officers, resolved to

allow Mackay to enter the pass undisputed.

He appealed to the feelings of the Highlanders,

whose ancestors, he said, acting upon their

national maxim never to attack a foe who

could not defend liimself on equal terms, would

have disdained to adopt the course proposed,

(and in saying so he did not, he observed,

mean to insinuate that the persons he addressed

had degenerated from the honour and courage

of their ancestors). One principal reason

stated by Dundee for allowing Mackay to ad-

vance through the Pass unmolested, was the

grpat advantage they would gain by engaging

him on open ground before he should be joined

by his English dragoons, who, from their being

so formidable to the Highlanders, would, if

allowed by him to come up, more than com-

pensate for any accession of force which Dun-

dee might receive.'' Another reason not less

important was, that in the event of Mackay sus-

taining a defeat, his army would probably be

ruined, as he could not retreat back through

the Pass without the risk of evident destruc-

tion, whereas should the Highlanders suffer a

defeat, they could easdy retreat to the moun-

tains. He added, that in anticipation of Mao-

kay's defeat, he had already given orders to

his friends in the neighbourhood, to cut off the

few remaining stragglers that might attempt to

escape.^

The forces which had been descried by

Lauder, appear to have been a body of 400

men under the command of Sir John Maclean,

whom Dimdee, on learning that the advanced

guard of Mackay's army, after traversing the

pass, had taken up a position near its northern

extremity, had despatched from Blair castle to

keep them in check. But his scouts having

shortly thereafter brought him notice that the

whole of ]\Iackay's army was preparing to enter

the pass, he resolved to make a detour with

the main body of liis army round the hUl on

which the castle of Lude stands, in the vicinity

of the pass, and fall upon ^Mackay as soon as

he should clear that defile. Having made
liimself acquainted, by inquiries among the

most intelligent of the country people, with

^ Balcarras, p. 69.
* Dahyraple's Memoirs, part ii. p. 56.

the localities in the immediate neighbourhood

of the pass, and of the suitableness of the

ground for the operations of such a force as his,

he advanced at double-quick time from Blair

along the present line of road, and on arriving

at the river Tilt, turned off to the left round

the back of the hiU, and crossed that river

near its confluence with the rindet of Aid-

Chluan. This movement will account for the

sudden and unexpected appearance of Dundee

on the face of the high hill on Mackay's right.

Immediately above the ground on which

Mackay had halted his troops is an eminence,

the access to which is steep and difficult, and

covered with trees and shrubs. Alarmed lest

Dundee should obtain possession of this emi-

nence—which beingwithin a carabine shot from

the place on which Mackay stood, would give

him such a command of the ground as would

enable him, by means of his fire, to force Mac-

kay to cross the river in confusion—he, im-

mediately on liis return from the position oc-

cupied by his advanced guard, " made every

battalion form by a Quart de Conversion to the

right upon the ground where they stood,"*

and then made them march each in succession

before him up the hill tiU they reached the

eminence, of which they took possession.

Within a musket shot of this groimd is another

eminence immediately above the house of

Urrard, which Dundee had reached before

Mackay had completed his ascent, and on

which he halted.

At this conjuncture, neither Hastings's regi-

ment nor Annandale's troop of horse had yet

come out of the pass, but Mackay, nevertheless,

at once proceeded to arrange his men in fight-

ing order on a plain between the edge of the

eminence and the foot or commencement of the

ascent to Dundee's position, which, from its

extent, enabled liim to form his men in one

line along the eminence. In making his dis-

positions, Mackay divided every battalion into

two parts, and as he meant to fight three deep,

he left a small distance between each of these

sub-battalions. In the centre of his line, how
ever, he left a greater interval of space, beliind

which he placed the two troops of horse, with

the design, when the Highlanders, after the

' Memoirs, p. 51.
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fire of the line had been spent, should ap-

proach, to draw them off by this larger Lnterv-al,

and flank the Highlanders on eitlier side, as

occasion should offer. Mackay assigns as his

reason for placing his cavalry in his rear till

the fire should be exhausted on both sides, a

dread he entertained of exposing them to Dun-

dee's horse, with whom it could not be sup-

posed that these newly -raised levies could

cope. Hastings's regiment, wliich arrived after

Mackay had taken up liis ground, was placed

on the right; and, for greater security, there

was added to it a detachment of firelocks from

each battalion. On the extreme left on a hUloek

covered with trees, Lieutenant-colonel Lauder

was posted, with his party of 200 men, com-

posed of the elite of the army. ^Mackay having

been recognised by Dundee's men busily em-

ployed riding along his line, from battalion to

battalion, giving orders, was selected by some

of them for a little ball practice ; but although

" their popping shot," which wounded some of

his men, fell around him wherever he moved,

he escaped unhurt.

After his line had been fully formed, jMackay

rode along the front, from the left wing, which

he committed to the charge of Brigadier Bal-

four, to the right, and havmg ascertained that

every tiling was in readiness to receive the

enemy, he addi'essed the battalions nearest liim

in a short speech. He requested them to

reflect that their ovrci personal safety was in-

volved in the issue of that day's contest ; and

assured them that if they maintained their

gi-ound, and kept firmly and closely united

together, their assailants would quickly flee

before them for refuge to the lulls—that the

reason for which the Highlanders stript them-

selves almost naked before battle was rather

to enable them to escape, than from any hopes

they entertained of pursuing their foes. Shoidd,

however, his men unfortunately give way be-

fore the rabble of Highlanders whom they saw

marshalled on the adjoining heights—an event

wliich he by no means expected—there was an

absolute certainty, as these naked mountaineers

were more nimble-footed than they were, and

as all the Athole-men were in arms, ready to

take advantage of their defeat, that few or

none of them would escape with their lives.

In conclusion, he warned them that the only

way to avoid ruin was to stand firm to their

posts, and, hke brave men, to fight to the last

in defence of their rehgion and liberties,

against the invaders of both, to seciu'e which,

and not the desii'e of a crown, was the sole

reason which had induced his majesty to send

them on the present service.

WhQst Mackay was thus occupied on the

lower platform, his gallant rival was equally

busy flying about on the eminence above,

ranging his men in battle an-ay. He was par-

ticularly distinguished amongst his officers by

a favourite dun-coloured horse which he rode,

and by his plated armour, which glittered in

the sun-beams. Dimdee, who had arrived

upon the higher platform about the same time

that INIackay had gained the ground he now

occupied, ranged his men in one Hue in the

following order:—(Jn the right, he placed Sir

John Maclean, -with his regiment divided into

two battalions. On the left, he posted the

regiment of Sir Donald Macdonald, commanded

by the young chief and Sir George Barclay,

and a battalion under Sir Alexander Maclean.

In the centre were placed four battalions, con-

sisting of the Camerons, the MacdoneUs of

Glengary and Clanranald, and the Irish regi-

ment, with a troop of horse under the command

of Sir William Wallace, who had early that

morning produced a commission, to the great

displeasure of the Earl of Dunfermline and

other officers, appointing Mm colonel of a

horse regiment which the earl commanded.'

It may be observed, that neither Mackay nor

Dundee placed any body of reserve behind

their Hues.

The great extent of JIackay's line, wliich

reached considerably beyond Dundee's wings,''

compelled the latter, to prevent the danger of

being outflanked, to enlarge the inter\'als be-

tween his battalions. A general movement

from right to left accordingly took place along

Dimdee's line. Before Dundee's left halted,

Mackay, imagining that the object of the

movement in that quarter was to get between

' Macpherson's Original Paitcrs, vol. i. p. 369.

- Mackay 's army is said to have outwingert Dundee s

by nearly a quarter of a mile, which obliged the latter

to leave large intervals between each clan. On this

account there was a deficiency of troops in Dundee s

centre.—Memoir of Dundee in Miscellanea Scotica.

vol. iii.
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Tlitti and the pass, for the purpose of cutting

off all commimication between him and Perth,

made his line make a corresponding movement

to his right, hut on oliser\'ing that Dundee's

left wing halted, Mackay brought his line to a

stand. These different movements necessarily

occupied a considerable time, and both armies

being now finally arranged, they gazed upon

each other with great composure for the space

of two -whole hours.

During this interval of care and anxious sus-

pense, the feelings of both parties—their hopes

or their fears—^would probably be tinctured by

a deeper hue of confidence or despondency as

they reflected on the events of former days.

Though more than forty years had elapsed

since the brilliant achievements of Montrose,

the Higlilanders,^ naturally brave,had lost none

of their military ardour, and the descendants of

the heroes of Tippermuir, Aldeam, and Kilsj^th,

who now stood in battle array on the upper

plain, whence, with a scowl of scorn and defi-

ance, they looked down upon the Sassenachs

below, calling to mind the recital of the heroic

deeds of their fathers, to which they had

listened with wonder and enthusiasm in their

childhood, would bui'n for the moment when,

at the command of their chief, they should

measure their broad swords with the bayonets

of their Lowland foes. On the other hand,

Mackay's men had no such recollections to

inspire confidence or to cheer them in their

perilous enterprise, and when they beheld the

Highland host ready at a moment's notice

to burst like a mountain torrent upon their

devoted heads, and called to mind the tales

they had heard of the warlike prowess of the

Highlanders, they could not but reooO. at the

idea of encountering, in deadly strife, such

determined antagonists. There were, it is true,

many men in Mackay's army to whom the

dangers of the battle field were familiar, and

in whose minds such reflections would doubt-

' "The night before the hattle, Dundee having re-

flected that the Highlanders had not been tried in

general actions since the battle of Philiphaugh, which
had been fought 40 years before, and being desii'ous

to put their courage to the test, gave an alarm, and
caused a false attack to be made upon his own camp.
In an instant he found every man at his post and
firm in it. The event of the stratagem removed the

diffidence of the general, and confirmed the confidence

of the soldiers."—Dalrymple's il/o/ioirs, part ii. p. 57.

less find no place, but the great majority of liis

troops consisted of newly raised levies, who
had never before seen the face of an enemy.

Mackay himself, though an old and experi-

enced officer, and a brave man, was not

without his misgi^ongs ; and as the evening

advanced without any movement on the part

of Dundee to commence the action, his uneasi-

ness increased. Nor were his apprehensions

likely to be allayed by the reply made by the

second son of Lochiel, who held a commission

in his own regiment of Scots fusUeers, in answer

to a question put to him by Mackay. " Here

is your father with his wild savages," said

Mackay to the young man, on seeing the stand-

ard of the Camerons, putting on at the same

moment an air of confidence, " how would you

like to be with him?" " It signifies little,"

answered the son of the chief, " what I would

like, but I recommend to you to be prepared
;

or perhaps my father and his ^vild savages may

be nearer to you before night than you would

like."^ The apparent irresolution of the High-

landers to begin the battle was considered by

Mackay as intentional, and he supposed that

their design was to wait till nightfall, when,

by descending suddenly from their position,

and setting up a loud shout, according to their

usual custom, they expected to frighten his

men, unaccustomed to an enemy, and jiut them

in disorder. As Mackay could not, without

the utmost danger, advance up the hiU and

commence the action, and as the risk was

equally great should he attempt to retreat

down the hill and cross the river, he resolved,

at all hazards, to remain in his position,

" though ^vitll impatience," as he observes, till

Dundee should either attack him or retire,

which he had better opportrmities of doing

than Mackay had. To provoke the Highland-

ers, and to induce them to engage, he ordered

three small leather field pieces to be discharged,

but they proved of little use, and the carriages

being much too high, broke after the third

firing.

Towards the close of the evening, some of

Dundee's sharpshooters, who had kept up, dur-

ing the day, an occasional fire in the directicn

in which they observed Mackay moving, by

" Stewart's Sketches, vol. i. p. 63.
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wliicli they had wounded some of his men, as

ah'eady stated, took possession of some houses

upon the ascent which lay between the two

armies, for the purpose of directing their aim

with surer effect. But they were immediately

dislodged by a party of musketeers despatched

by Mackay's brother, who commanded the

general's regiment, and chased back to their

main body with some loss. This skirmish

Mackay supposed would soon draw on a general

engagement, and his expectations were speedily

realized.

It was within half an hoxa of sunset, and

the moment was at hand, when, at the word

of command, the Highlanders and their allies

were to march down the hOl, and with sword

in hand, fall upon the trembling and devoted

host below, whom, like the eagle vie-\ving his

destined prey from his lofty eyry, they had so

long surveyed. Having determined, as much

to please his men as to gi'atify his own inclina-

tion, to lead the charge in person, at the head

of the horse, Dundee exchanged his red coat,

which he had worn during the day, and by

which he had been recognised by Mackay's

troops, for another of darker colour, to conceal

liis rank, and thereby avoid the risk of being

singled out by the enemy. Dundee, after the

manner of the ancient Greek and Eoman
generals, is said to have harangued his men in

the following enthusiastic strain :
—

*

" You ai'e come hither to fight, and that in

the best of causes ; for it is the battle of your

lung, your religion, and your country, against

the foulest usurpation and rebellion. And
having therefore so good a cause in your hands,

I doubt not but it ^vill inspire you with an

equal courage to maintain it ; for there is no

proportion betwixt loyalty and treason, nor

should there be any betwixt the valour of

good subjects and traitors. Eemember that

to-day begins the fate of your king, your reli-

^ "Among the papers of the exiled prince's secretar}'

is a very well composed document, called "Lord
Dundee's speech to his troops before the battle of

Killiecrankie," which he certainly never delivered,

for the excellent reason that not a tenth of his audi-

ence could have understood a word of it, and he was
not a man tempted either by capacity or inclination

to the useless composition of flowing sentences."

Burton's Scotland from Revolution, vol. i. p. 132.

Burton, however, thinks we may readily believe

General Mackay's statement as to the few homely sen-

tences which he says he dropped to his men.

gion, and your country. Behave yourselves,

therefore, like true Scotsmen, and let us by

this action redeem the credit of this nation,

that is laid low by the treacheries and cowardice

of some of our countrymen, in making which

request, I ask notliing of you that I am not

now ready to do myself. And if any of us

shall fall upon this occasion, we shall have

the honour of dying on our duty, and as

becomes true men of valour and conscience

;

and such of us as shall live and win the battle,

shall have the reward of a gracious king and

the praise of all good men. In God's name,

then, let us go on, and let this be your word

—King James and the church of Scotland,

which God long preserve !"*

A pause now ensued, and a death-like silence

prevailed along the line, when, on a sudden,

it appeared in motion, marching slowly down

the hdl. The Highlanders, who stript them-

selves to their sliirts and doublets, advanced,

according to their usual practice, with their

bodies bent forward, so as to present as small

a surface as possible to the fire of the enemy,

the upper part of their bodies being covered

by their targets.

To discourage the Highlanders in their ad-

vance by keeping up a continual fire, Mackay

had given instructions to his officers command-

ing battalions, to commence firing by platoons,

at the distance of a hundred paces. Tliis order

was not attended to, as Balfour's regiment, and

the half of Eamsay's, did not fire a single shot,

and the other half fired very little. The

Higldanders, however, met with a very brisk

fire from Mackay's right, and particularly

from his own battalion, in which no less than

16 gentlemen of the MacdoneUs of Glengarry

fell; but, luidismayed by danger, they kept

steadily advancing in the face of the enemy's

fire, of which they received tliree rotmds.

Having now come close up to the enemy, they

lialted for a moment, and having levelled and

discharged their pistoLs, which did Kttle execu-

tion, they setupa loud shout and rushed sword in

hand upon the enemy, before the latter had time

to screw on their baj'onets to the end of their

muskets. The shock was too impetuous to be

long resisted by men who, according to their

' llacpherson's Original Papers, vol i. p. 371.
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owii general, " behaved, with the exception of

Hastings's and Leven's regimeut, like the vilest

cowards in nature." But even had these men

been more stout-hearted, their courage would

not have availed them, as their anns were in-

sufficient to parry off the tremendous strokes

of the axes, and the broad and double-edged

swords of the Highlanders, who, with a single

blow, either felled their opponents to the earth

or struck off a member from their bodies, ai d

at once disabled them. Wliile the work of

death was thus going on towards the riglit,

Dundee, at the head of the horse, made a

furious charge on Mackay's own battalion, and

broke through it, on which the English horse

which were stationed behind, fled without fu-ing

a single shot. Dundee, thereupon, rode off to

attack the enemy's cannon, but the officer (Sir

William Wallace) who had that morning pro-

duced his commission as colonel of the horse,

appears to have misunderstood Dundee, who,

on arriving near the enemy's cannon, found

himself alone. He, therefore, gave the horse

a signal to advance quickly, on which the Earl

of Dunfermline, who then served only as a

volimteer, overlooking the affront which had

been put upon him, rode out of the ranks, fol-

lowed by 16 gentlemen, attacked the party

who guarded the cannon, and captured them.

As soon as Mackay perceived that Dundee's

grand point of attack was near the centre of

his line, he immediately resolved to attack the

Highlanders in flank with the two troops of

horse which he had placed in the rear of his

line, for which purpose he ordered Lord Bel-

haven to proceed round the left n'ing with his

own troop, and attack them on their right

flank; he ordered at the same time the other

troop to proceed in the contrary direction, and

assail them on their left. Mackay himself led

round Belliaven's troop, but it was scarcely

in front of the line when it got into disorder,

and instead of obeying the orders to wheel for

the flank of the enemy, after some confused

firing it turned upon the right wing of Lord

Kenmure's battalion, which it threw into dis-

order, and which thereupon began to give way.

At this critical moment Mackay, who was

instantly surrounded by a crowd of High-

landers, anxious to disentangle his cavalry,

so as to get them formed, caUed aloud to

them to follow him, and putting spurs to

his horse galloped through the enemy, but

with the exception of one servant whose horse

was shot under him, not a single horseman

attempted to follow their general. Wlien he

had gone sufficiently far to be out of the reach

of immediate danger, he turned round to ob-

serve the state of matters, and to his infinite

surprise he foimd that both armies had disap-

peared. To use his own expression, " in the

twinkling of an eye, in a manner," his own

men as well as the enemy were out of sight,

ha\Tng gone dovni pell-mell to the river where

liis baggage stood. The flight of his men

must have been rapid indeed, for although the

left vnng, wliich had never been attacked, had

begun to flee before he rode off, the right vring

and centre stiU kept their ground.

Mackay now stood in one of the most extra-

ordinary predicaments in which the commander

of an army was ever placed. His whole men

had, as if by some supernatural cause, disap-

peared almost in an instant of time, and he

found himself standing a solitary being on the

mountain side, not knowing what to do, or

wliither to direct his course. Whether had

they had the courage to follow him, the timid

troop would have turned the tide of victory in

his favour, may indeed be well doubted; but

it is obvious that he adopted the only alterna-

tive which could render success probable.

Judging from the ease with which he galloped

through the Highlanders, who made way for

him, he thinks that if he had had but 50 reso-

lute horse such as Colchester's, he " had cer-

tainly," as he says, " by all human appearance

recovered all," for although his whole line had

begun to give way when he ordered the horse

to follow him, the right of the enemy had not

then moved from tbeii ground.^ WMle runii-

natmg upon the " sad spectacle " wliich he

now beheld, his mind preyed upon by the most

gloomy reflections, he fortunately espied to the

right, " a small heap of red coats," which he

immediately galloped for, and found it to con-

sist of a part of the Earl of Leven's regiment,

mixed with a few stragglers from other regi-

ments who had escaped from the swords of the

Highlanders. The Earl himself, his Lieuteii

* Memoirs, p. 57.
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ant-colonel, the Major, and most of the other

officers of the regiment, were with this body.

Mackay perceived a part of Hastings's regiment

marching up to the ground it had occupied at

the commencement of the action. Haraig

rode up to this party, he was informed by the

Colonel that he had left his ground in pursuit

of the enemy, a detachment of which had at-

tempted to outflank him, but having wheeled

to the right upon them with his pikes, they

abandoned the idea of attacking him, and

repaired to their main body, which they ob-

served among the baggage at the river-side.

The plimder which the baggage offered was

too tempting a lure for the HigUanders, whose

destructive progress it at once arrested. It

was ia fact solely to this tliii-st for spoil that

Mackay and the few of his men who escaped

owed their safety, for had the Highlanders

continued the pursuit, it is very probable that

not a single individual of Mackay's army

would have been left alive to relate their sad

disaster.
''

As soon as Mackay had got up Hastings's

battalion and joined it to that of Leven's, he

despatched his nephew. Captain Mackay,

—

who, though he had received eight broad-sword

wounds on his body, was still able to ride his

horse,—in quest of such of his officers as

might be within his reach, about the bottom

of the hUl, with orders to collect a.s many of

their men as they could, and join the general.

This mission was totally unsuccessful, for

although he had faUeu in ndth several officers,

few of them took any notice of him ; and all

who had survived the battle \i jre now scattered

far beyond Mackay's reach. Wliile receiving

this afflicting intelligence, Mackay descried in

the twilight, a large body of men, who appeared

to form themselves along the edge of a wood

on Balfour's left, where Lieutenant-colonel

Lauder had been posted with 200 men. As

' In a conversation respecting the battle between
General Wade and an old Highlander, who had fought
at KiUiecrankie, the latter is reported to have spoken
lightly of Mackay as a commander, calling him a gieat

fool, because he did not put his baggage in front of

his army at KiUiecrankie. "VVade dissented, of course,

but the old man insisted that the baggage should

have been placed before the line, in which case Mac-
kay, he observed, would have gained the battle, as

the Highlanders would have first attacked the baggage,

and would have thus fallen an easy prey to Mackay's
army.

he was not yet aware of the fate of Lauder's

corps, which was among the first that fled, he

supposed that the body he had observed miglit

either be that party or another body of his

men who had retired to the wood on the

descent of the Highlanders, and he therefore

rode off to reconnoitre them, after directing

his officers to endeavour to put their men in a

condition to fire one discharge, at least, if

attacked. Mackay approached the party suffi-

ciently near to discover that they were Dun-

dee's men, and having turned his horse's head

he walked slowly back, that he might not

excite the apprehensions of the Highlanders.

The ground on which Mackay stood with the

wreck of his army, amounting to scarcely 400

men, was the farthest removed of any other

part of the position he had selected in the

morning, from the point to which he was

necessarily obliged to direct his retreat, and

over the intervening space he could not but

expect to fail in with parties of the Higliland-

ers, who woidd fall upon him, and kill or

disperse his tired followers. But he extricated

himself fi'om the difficulties which beset hini,

with considerable adroitness. He advised

them on no account to show any inclination

to run, as it could not add to their personal

safety, but, on the contrary, might endanger

it the more, as the Highlanders, observing

their terror, would certainly break in among

them, and pursue them with the greater

avidity. When about to retire down the hill

the party was joined by Lord Belhaven, and a

few other horsemen, who proved very service-

able as scouts during the retreat. Mackay

then led his men slowly down the hiU, and

evaded the enemy so completely that he did

not meet with the least interruption in his

march. He retired across the Garry without

molestation, and made a short halt to ascertain

whether he was pursued. Seeing no disposi-

tion on the part of the Highlanders to follow

liim, he began to tliink of the best way of

retiring out of Athole. All his officers advised

him to return to Perth tlirough the pass of

KUliecraukie, but he saw proper to reject this

advice, and resolved to march several miles up

Atliole and cross over the hills to Stirling.

Giving orders, therefore, to his men to

march, he proceeded to the west along the
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Pass of Killiecrankie in last century. From an olJ crayon draw i

bank of the river, and had the satisfaction,

when about two miles from the field of battle,

to come up with a party of about 150 fugitives

almost ivithout arms, under the command of

Colonel Eamsay, who was quite at a loss what

direction to take. Mackay then continued

liis march along the edge of a rivulet wliich

falls into the Garry, till he came to some little

houses. Here lie obtained from one of the

inhabitants, information as to the route he

meant to follow, and having made himself

acquainted, as far as he could, by an examina^

tion of his map, with the situation of the

country through which he had to pass, he

crossed the stream and proceeded across the

lulls towards Weem castle, the seat of the

chief of the clan Menzies, whose son had been

in the action with a company of 100 High-

landers he had raised for the service of the

goverimient. After a most fatiguing journey,

he reached the castle before morning. Hero

he obtained some sleep and refreshment, of

which he stood greatly in need, having since

- his departure from Dmikeld, on the morning

preceding, marched about 40 miles.

The news of Mackay's defeat had preceded

liis retreat ; and on his march during the

following day, he found the country through

which he passed in an uproar, and every

person arming in favour of King James. The

people of Strathtay alarmed at the approach

of Mackay's men, whom they took to be High-

landers, and considering their houses and

cattle in danger, set up a dreadful shout,

which so frightened Mackay's men that they

began to flee back to the hills under an appre-

hension that the Highlanders were at hand.

Mackay and some of his ofiioers on horseback,

by presentiag their pistols and threatening the

fugitives, succeeded in raU3'ing them, but

owing to the thickness of the morning more

than 100 escaped, all of whom were killed,

stripped, or taken prisoners by the coimtry

people. Mackay continiied his march with

very little halting all that day, being Sunday

the 28th, and arrived late at night at Drum-

mond castle, in which he had a garrison.

Next day he reached Stii'ling with about 400

men.

On the morning after the battle—for uiglit

had thro^vn its ciirtain over the horrors of the

scene, before the extent of the carnage could

be ascertained—the field of battle and the

ground between it and the river, extending as

far as the pass, presented an appalling spec-

tacle in the vast numbers of the dead which

strewed the field, whose mutilated bodies at-

tested the savage and unrelenting ferocity with
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which Mackay's men had been he^vn down by

the Highlanders. Here might be seen a skull

which had been struck off above the ears by a

stroke from a broad-sword—there a head Ijn'ng

near the trunk from which it had been severed

—here an arm or a limb—there a corpse laid

open from the head to the brisket; while inter-

spersed among these lifeless trunks, dejedaque

membra, were to be seen broken pikes, small

swords and muskets, which had been snapt

asunder by the atldetic blows of the Lochaber

axe and broad-sword.

'

If the importance of a victory is to be

reckoned by the comparative numbers of the

slain, and the brilliant acliievements of the

victors, the battle of KUlieorankie may well

stand high in the list of military exploits.

Considermg the shortness of the combat, the

loss on the part of Mackay was prodigious.

Not less than 2,000 of his men were either

killed or captured. Among the slain were

Lieutenant - colonel Mackay, brother of the

General, Brigadier Balfour, and several other

officers. Highland tradition reports that Bal-

four was cut down by the Eeverend Eobert

Stewart, a Catholic clergyman, nephew to

Stewart of Ballochin, for having contemptu-

ously refused to receive quarter when offered

him by the priest. The same tradition relates

that Stewart, who was a powerful muscidar

man, followed the enemy in their flight down
to the river, and towards tlie pass, wielding a

tremendous broad-sword, with which he cut

down numbers of the fugitives, and so much
did he exert himself in the use of his fatal

weapon, that, at the conclusion of the carnage,

his hand had swollen to such an extent, that

it could only be extricated from the basketrhilt

of his sword, by cutting away the net-work.

' In allusion to this battle, the author of the me-
moirs of Viscount Dundee, (in Mis. Scot., vol. ill.,)

says, "Then the Highlanders fired, threw down their

fusils, rushed in upon the enemy with sword, target, and
pistol, who did not maintain their ground two minutes
after the Highlanders were amongst them ; and I dare
be bold to say, that were scarce ever such strokes
given in Europe as were given that day by the High-
landers. Many of General Mackay's officers and
soldiers were cut down through the skull and neck to

the very breast ; others had skull's cut off above their

ears like night-caps; some soldiers had both their

bodies and cross-belts cut through at one blow
;
pikes

and small swords were cut like willows; and whoever
doubts of this, may consult the witnesses of the
Iragedy.

"

But as the importance of a victory, however
;

splendid in itself, or distinguished by acta of
j

individual prowess, can only be appreciated by
its results, the battle of Killiecrankie, instead

of being advantageous to the cause of King
James, was, by the death of the brave Dundee,
the precursor of its ruin. After he had charged

at the head of his horse, and driven the enemy
from their cannon, he was about to proceed up
the lull to bring down Sir Donald Macdonald's

regiment, which appeared rather tardy in its

motions, when he received a musket shot in

his side, through an opening of his armour, the

ball probably passing out in front through the

centre of his breastplate (See Plate of Dundee's

Armour).! gg attempted to ride a little, but

was unable, and fell from his horse mortally

womided, and almost immediately expired.^

The loss on the side of Dundee was never pro-

perly ascertained, but is supposed to have been

about 900.

' Balcarras.
' The authenticity of the letter alleged to have been

written by Dundee after he received his wound, may
well be doubted. 1st. No contemporary writer men-
tions its existence. 2d. It is probable that Dundee
died as stated in the text. King James says, that

"when crossing over the plaine to give some orders

on the left where the enemy made the most opposition,

he was most unfortunately kiJUd hy a random shot."

Clarke's James II. , vol. ii. p. 352. See the authorities

referred to by Mr Smythe of Methven, in a note on

the letter in the Bannatyne collection of Dundee's

letters. These are supported by the following note,

written on a copy of Balcarras's Memoirs, in the Library

of Christ Church, Oxford, upon the passage relative

to a bundle of papers found lying near Dundee on the

field.

"N.B.—I spoke with some that were at that fight,

and saw the Viscount of Dundee's corp.se naked upon

the ground, and was of the number that wrapt it in a

pladd, and brought it off the field to the Blair of

Athole; they said they saw no papers, nor was there

any such rumour among them." ....
His Grace the Duke of Athole has kindly sent us the

following note on this matter. "Lord Dundee is

reported to have been watering his horse at a spring

within gunshot of Urrard House, and at the same time

hfted his left arm to point or give some directions.

At this instant he was shot out of a window through

the chinks of his armour, i.e. between back- and breast-

plates, which must have gaped open. The left side of

the breastplate, inside, is stained apparently with blood,

and the ball must have passed out from back to front

through the hole in the centre (See Plate). An old

woman who died near here (Blair) within the memory of

persons still living, used to relate how her grandfather

was skulking on the hiU above and saw Lord Dundee

fall; and his brother, who wa.s the hostler at the inn

at Blair, saw him carried in there, and said that Lord

Dundee died in the middle room, upstairs, of the inn.

I think I have seen it stated elsewhere that he was

taken to the Castle, but I should be inclined to believe

tile country tradition."
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AHMOIIR WORN' BY VISCOUNT DUNDEE AT KILLIECRANKIE .

!. Brea.sc Plate,m possession of his Gracp the Dake of Ath.ole . _ See' Page 376 Vohl

2, Remains of Helmet, in possession of JV Wlnxoj Esq^- of Liide. taken out of

Dundee's ^rave in the rhnrch of Biair Athole in 1794.

3 Sword, in possession of iLj£.KackintosK Esq of Maxikintosh^^iven to

LadiLan 21^ Laird of Madnntosh. lij Dundee's Relations -The hilt is

silver and beaxs die Graham Arms, _ The date on the blade is A D 1504-

4- Pistol. in possession of ^fiss Stirling Graham of Duntrune —representative cf

the Claverhouse familj _In the plate both sides of the Pistol are shown the

stock IS of iron and is nchly inlaid pnth silver
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Among the slain, Alistor Dhu (black Alex-

auiler) the chief of Glengarry, who, at the head

of his battalion, mowed down two men at

every stroke, with his ponderous two-handed

sword, had to lament the loss of a brother,

several other relatives, and stUl nearer and

dearer to him, of his son, Donald, siirnamed

Gorm, from the blueness of his eyes. This

youth, who had exhibited early proofs of

bravery worthy of his name, and the race

whence he sprung, killed, it is said, 18 of the

enemy with his own hand. No less than five

cousins of Sir Donald Macdonald of the isles

fell, together \vitli the tutor of Macdonald of

Largo and his sons. Colonel GUbert Eamsay,

and the brave laird of Pitcur, " who, like a

moving castle in the shape of men, threw fire

and sword on all sides," ^ were also numbered

with the dead on this eventful day.*

Tlic allcijcd letterfrom Dundee to the King is as

follows:—
"Sir,

"It hath pleased God to give your forces a

great victory over the rebels, in which three-fourths

of them are fallen under the weight of our swords. I

might say much of the action, if I had not the honour
to command it ; but of 5,000 men, which was the best

computation I could make of the rebels, it is certain

there have not escaped 1,200. We have not lost full

out 900. This absolute victory made us masters of

the field and enemy's baggage, which I gave to the

soldiers ; who, to do them all right, both officers and
common men. Highlands, Lowlands, and Irish, be-

haved themselves with equal gallantry to what I ever

saw in the hottest battles fought abroad by disciplined

armies; and this M 'Kay's old soldiers felt on this

occasion. I cannot now. Sir, be more particular; but

take leave to assure your majesty the kingdom is

generally disposed to your service, and impatiently

wait for your coming; and this success will bring in

the rest of the nobility and gentry, having had all

their assurance for it, except the notorious rebels.

Therefore, Sir, for God's sake, assist us, though it be

with such another detachment as you sent us before,

especially of horse and dragoons ; and you will crown
our beginning with a complete success, and yourself

with an entire possession of your ancient hereditary

kingdom of Scotland. My wounds forbid me to en-

large to your Majesty at this time, though they tell

ree they are not mortal. However, I beseech your
Majesty to believe, whether I live or die,

'

' I am entirely yours,

DUNDEE."

"The letter is so happily expressed as to be a

forgery on its face ; for it is not to be imagined that

he who vainly struggled after grammar with all his

senses with him, would command it when mortally
wounded, and utterly unfit for that species of com-
mand with which ho was familiar."— Burton, vol. i.

p. 134.

' Memoirs of Dundee.
* " In this battle Lochiel was attended by the son

of his foster-brother. This faithful adherent followed
him like his shadow, ready to assist him with his

I.

In the Viscount Dundee, King James lost

the only man La Scotland possessed of all the

qualifications necessary for conducting to a

successful issue the great and important charge

which had been committed to him by his

sovereign. Educated in the strictest principles

of toryism, he could never divest his mind of

the abstract ideas of passive obedience and

hereditary right, and to him, therefore, any

attempt to resist the authority of the .sovereign,

no matter how far that autliority was abused,

appeared highly treasonable. Though a sincere

Protestant Episcopalian, the heresy of the suc-

cessor of Charles II. as the religion of James

must have appeared to him, in no respect altered

his ideas of implicit fidelity to the sovereign,

nor did his views undergo any change when the

arbitrary and unconstitutional proceedings of

James seemed to the leading men of the nation

to have solved the great political problem, when
resistance should commence and obedience

end. ^ In his eye, therefore, the revolution

which drove the unfortunate James from his

throne, was a great national sin, which could

only be atoned for by restoring to him his

crown, an object, in the accomplishment of

which, he conceived all good men were bound

to lend a helping hand. These ideas ingrafted

upon a temperament peculiarly sanguine, made

him an enthusiast in favour of hereditary right,

and his appointment by the fallen monarch as

the chosen one by whose instrumentality his

restoration was to be effected, imparted a

charm to his enthusiasm which dispelled every

sword, or cover him from the .shot of the enemy.
Soon after the battle began, the chief missed his fnend
from his side, and turning round to look what had
become of him, saw him l}'ing on his back, with his

breast pierced by an arrow. He had hardly breath

before he expired to tell Lochiel, that, seeing an
enemy, a Highlander in General Mackay's army, aim-
ing at him with a bow and arrow from the rear, he
sprung behind him, and thus sheltered him from
instant death. This is a species of duty not often

practised, perhaps, by an aid-de-camp of the present

day. "

—

Stewart's Sketdie^.

* "He became a fanatic of the order he found him-
self in,—the order of the cavalier who is devoted to

his monarch and his monarch's allies, aristocratic

and hierarchical. His fanaticism was that of the

gentleman. It is not common, perhaps, to associate

the reproachful term, 'fanatic,' with a word so ex-

pressive of estimable social qualities as this word
' gentleman ;

' but as there is no hesitation in apply-

ing it to religious opinions carried to excess, surely

there can be no desecration in applying it to social

qualities when they become offensively prurient."

—

Burton's Scotland from, devolution, vol. i. p. 99.

3b
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difficulty that appeared to obstruct the grand

object of his ambition and his hopes. With

an inflexibility of purpose, wliich no tempta-

tion could overcome, he steadily pursued the

course which the duty he conceived he owed

to his sovereign and the natural inclination of

his o^ai mind directed him to follow. But

Dundee had not merely the 'svill, but, what was

of no less importance, the abUity, had lie lived,

to have executed the commission intrusted to

him, one of his highest qualifications for such

a purpose—considering the fickle and imruly

bands he had to command—beuig that he

stood unrivalled among his contemporaries in

the art of gaining the affections of his troops,

and communicating to them a fuU measure of

the spirit wliich animated himself. His death,

therefore, was a fatal blow to James's prospects,

and with him the cause of the Stuarts may be

said to have perished. Dundee and his friend

Pitcur were interred in the church of Blair-

Athole. " Never vaulted roof or marble monu-

ment covered the last abode of a more restless

and ambitious heart than that which has slept

in this quiet spot amidst peasant dust."''

CHAPTEE XXI.

A. D. 1689^1691.

BRITISH sovEKEir.N:-Wimam III., 1688—1703.

Mackay's movements—Advances to Perth— Colonel

Cannon marches north and is joined liy several clans

—Followed by Mackay—Cannon returns south

—

The Cameronians at Dunkeld—Movements of Mac-
kay—Major-General Buchan arrives from Ireland

and marches north—Skirmish at Cromdale—Mac-
kay marches to Inverlochy—Erection of Fort-

William—Movements of Buchan and Cannon

—

Mackay marches to the north—Earl of Seaforth

imprisoned—Cessation of hostilities—Departure of

Dundee's officers for France.

The news of Mackay's defeat reached Edin-

burgh on Sunday the 28th of July, the day

after the battle, and tlu-ew the partizans of the

government, who were there assembled, into

the greatest consternation. In the absence of

official details, the most gloomy accounts were

given by a few terrified stragglers wlio arrived

in the capital, and who gave out that, with

the exception of themselves, the whole of Mac-

' Burton, vol. i. p. 134.

kay's army had been destroyed. In the state

of disorder and confusion which prevailed, the

Duke of Hamilton, the Commissioner to the

revolution parUament, summoned a meeting of

the privy cormcU, at which orders were issued

to raise all the fencible men in the west, and

to concentrate all the forces in the south at

Stirling, to which point it v/as supposed Dundee
(of whose death they were not aware) would

be rapidly hastening ; and on the supposition

that Mackay was either killed or made prisoner.

Sir John Lanier was ordered west to take the

command.

During two entire days the ferment continued

in the capital, and every hour added to the

fears of those who had most to dread from a

counter-revolution. At length, when the minds

of men were wrought up to the highest pitch

of terror and dismay, intelligence was received

of the death of Dundee, and shortly thereafter

a despatch fi'om General Mackay, giving an

account of the battle, and of his safe retreat to

Stirling. An event so unlooked for and so

important as the death of the only man in

whom the hopes of King James rested, and

from the decision of whose character the sup-

porters of the revolution settlement anticipated

the most fearful consequences, was haded by

the Duke of Hamilton and his friends with

transports of joy. They had indeed good rea-

son to rejoice, for although the battle had been

disastrous to their forces, the loss which King

James had sustained in the person of Dundee

was irreparable.

On arriving at Stirling, Mackay met Sii'

John Lanier, who communicated to him the

orders that had been issued by the govern-

ment on receiving the news of his defeat. So

decisive had the battle of Kdliecrankie ap-

peared to them that they had given up all

idea of maintaining a position on the north of

the Forth, all the country beyond which they

meant to abandon to the victorious arms of

Dundee, and to confine their operations to a

defence of the fords of the Forth, and the pass

and bridge of StirUng. In pursuance of this

design orders had been sent to Barclay's regi-

ment, which was quartered in the county of

Aberdeen, to retire upon Dundee, and Lanier

had despatched an express to his own regiment,

which lay partly at Alnwick and partly at
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Morpeth, to hastea down to Scotland. This

plan, however, was disapproved of by Mackay,

and he, therefore, as he saj's, " resolved to

alter these measures, knowing how hard a pull

we would have, if he left the north, which are

absolutely the best men of that kingdom for

the war, to the discretion of the enemy, where

he would not only get great numbers to join

liim, but also take possession of towns and

seize upon the public revenues, whereby they

could form a fasliion of government, and so

have more plausible ways, not only to main-

tain but also to engross their party, than ever

they have had."''

For these reasons Mackay determined to

take the field again without delay, and to give,

as he observes, " some eclat to the service, and

hinder the disaffected of the shires of Perth

and Angus to rise in arms against the govern-

ment," he resolved to march direct to Perth

with the forces which were at hand, and place

a garrison there. Eortimately some of the

troops which the privy council had ordered to

rendezvous at Stii'ling were already there, and

others were at hand. Preparatory to his

march he sent Sir John Lanier to Edinburgh

to hasten the advance of his own regiment,

consisting of nine troops of horse, and also of

Hayford's di'agoons, consisting of eight troops,

and ordered eight troops of horse, and four of

dragoons, both of which had been newly

levied, and Lord Colchester's regiment of

horse, not above 500 men Ln all, to join him

at Stirling on the morning of "Wednesday, the

31st of July. Many thousands of men in the

western comities were now assembling of their

own accord in consequence of Mackay's defeat;

but disliking such auxiliaries, " whose preten-

sions," he says, " appeared already exorbitant

enough," and who, if employed, might think

that the government could not be maintained

wthout their assistance, he intimated that he

would not require their services, and ordered

them to return to their homes.

The horse and di'agoons having come to

Stirling as directed, with these he departed for

Perth at two o'clock in the afternoon, giving

orders to a newly-raised battalion of foot, con-

eisting of Mar and Bargenj-'s regiments, to

' Memoirs, p. 62.

follow him. On his way he could obtain

no intelligence respecting the motions of the

enemy, as he foimd the houses mostly deserted

by their inhabitants, who had taken up arms

and had gone to join the standard of King
James. On approaching the river Earn, how-

ever, Mackay's scouts, who, to prevent notice

of his approach, kept only a musket-shot in

advance, were saluted with a loud " qui vive"

by two horsemen. The scouts, four in num-
ber, answered this challenge by a discharge

from their carabines, which brought down the

two horsemen, one of whom was shot dead.

The other was mortally wounded, and though

he spoke a few words, was not able to answer

some questions put to him for eliciting infor-

mation. As Mackay conjectm-ed from this

occurrence, that the main body of the enemy
was not far oiF, he altered his line of march,

and crossing a pretty steep hiU to the north,

reached the field of Tipperiuuir, a few miles

west from Perth.

Having been informed at Tippermuir, that

the enemy lay encamped at Dunkeld, and that

a party of their horse and foot was in Perth

for the purpose of carrying ofi' some meal

which had been sent thither by the council for

the use of Mackay's army, the general drew off

his men to the left to throw himself between

Dimkeld and Perth, and thereby cut off the

party. He himself marched down upon Perth,

but on coming \vithin sight of the town waa

disappointed to observe that about 30 of the

enemy's horse had already crossed the Tay,

and were beyond his reach. He proceeded on

his march, and when \vithiu half a mile of the

town observed the foot party, which consisteil

of about 300 Athole-men, approaching. Tlia

Higlilanders, who had not the most distant

idea that there was a single enemy nearer tliau

Stirling, were almost petrified with horror

when they beheld such a large body of cavalry

ready to poimce upon them, and for a time

they stood quite motionless, not knowing what

to do. Apprehensive that they might attempt

to escape by a ford near the place where they

stood, Mackay despatchedfour troops of dragoons

at fidl gallop to prevent their passage. The

Athole-men seeing that their retreat would be

cut oif, threw themselves into the Tay, whither

they were followed by the horse and dragoons,
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who cut tliem down in the water without

mercy. About 120 of the Athole-men were

killed and 30 made prisoners. In tliis affair

Mackay lost only one man, who had impru-

dently pursued to a distance a small party of

the Highlanders.*

This disastrous skirmish, whilst it raised

the expectations of the revolutionists, tlirew

a damp over King James's supporters, and

augured ill for the success of Colonel Cannon,

who had assumed the command of James's

army on the death of Dundee. This officer,

though a faithfid adherent of his royal master,

was altogether unfit for the command of such

an army. He seems to have possessed none

of Dundee's genius, and his regular military

experience rendered him totally unfit to deal

with such an irregidar and capricious race as

were the Highlanders, with whose habits,

feelings, and dispositions, he was totally unac-

quainted. Had Dundee lived he would pro-

bably have carried his victorious army across

the Forth, seized upon the capital and dispersed

the government; but his successor did not

know how to take advantage of the victory

which had been obtained, and instead of

marching instantly south, he merely advanced

to Dunkeld, about 16 miles from the field of

the recent battle, where he remained encamped

for several days, when the party he had sent

to Perth was attacked and almost destroyed

by the dogged and steady Mackay.

At Dunkeld, Cannon was joined by the

Stewarts of Appin, the Macgregors and the

Athole-men vmder Lord James Murray, of

which circumstance Mackay was informed soon

after his arrival at Perth. In the meantime

he took care to secure the town against attack

by erecting pallisades, and sent out patrols

during the night to bring notice of the enemy

should they approach the town. Cannon,

however, made no attempt to disturb Mackay,

and after passing several days at Dunkeld in

inactivity, he raised his camp and proceeded

northwards along the skii-ts of the Grampians

with a force of about 3,000 men. It was the

intention of Mackay to have returned to Edin-

burgh to consult with the ^rivj coimcil as to

the best means of speedily settling the peace

« Mackay, pp. 63, 64.

of the kingdom, and to leave Mar and Bar-

geny's regiments and six troops of cavalry in

garrison at Perth ; but on hearing of Cannon's

movement to the north he abandoned his inten-

tion, and after despatching orders to Sir John
Lanier to proceed to Perth with all possible

haste along with the horse and dragoons which
were expected from England, he crossed the

Tay with his whole cavalry force, consisting

of nearly 1,500 men, leaving two battalions of

foot behind, and advanced towards Coupar-

Angus. At Coupar he received intelligence

from some prisoners who had been taken at

Balliecrankie, and who had escaped on the

march north, that Cannon had marched as far

as Glen Isla, about eight miles from Forfar,

where he had encamped. Mackay in conse-

quence continued his march to Forfar, where

he learned that Cannon had made another

movement to Clova.

After passing two nights at Forfar, he re-

ceived notice that Cannon had crossed the

mountains and entered Braemar. As Mackay

considered that these movements of Camion

were intended by him as a ruse to draw him

north, and that when Cannon had accomplished

his object he meant immediate^ to recross the

mountains and enter Angus, where he expected

some reinforcements to join him, Mackay sent

orders to Lanier to advance to Forfar, to serve

as a check upon Cannon should he again enter

Angus, and proceeded himself to Aberdeen,

which he reached the second day, to the great

joy, he says, of most of the inhabitants, who

were in dread of a visit from the Higldanders

that very night.

'

On arriving at the Braes of Mar, Cannon

was joined by the Farqiiharsons, the Frasers,

the Gordons of Strathdown and Glenlivet, and

by 200 of the Macphersons. Keppoch and

young Lochiel also met him. ^ At Aberdeen,

Mackay received an express from the Master

of Forbes, informing him that Cannon had

taken up a very strong position upon his

father's lands, having the Highlands at his

back and a wood to cover him in front; the posi-

tion being so well chosen that he could keep up

a free communication with his friends in the

lower parts of the shires of Aberdeen and Banlt

Memoirs, p. 66. Memoirs of Dundee.







MACPHERSON. FULL DRESS





CANNON" FOLLOWED BY MACKAY. 381

Judging that Cannon's oliject in selecting such

a position was to strengthen himself in horse

from the adjoining low country, of which species

of force he stood in most need, Mackay, with

the view of obstructing his levies, ordered Sir

Thomas Livingston to leave the command of

tlie forces at Inverness witli Sir James Leslie,

and to repair immediately to Strathbogie with

his regiment of dragoons, iTith instructions,

shoidd the enemy appear in that quarter, to

march farther to the left across the low country,

and to send him despatches from time to time,

announcing the state of matters. At the same

time he ordered Sir John Lanier to send Hay-

ford's regiment of di-agoons to Aberdeen to

strengthen him.

After remaining a day at Aberdeen, Mackay

marched up Dee-side to beat up Cannon's

quarters, but learning on his march that the

Higldanders had left Lord Forbes's lands and

liad gone north in the direction of the Duke
of Gordon's territory, he drew off liis men next

morning at break of day towards Strathbogie,

for the purpose of covering Livingston's march.

Mackay having nothing but cavalry, got the

start of Cannon, and reached Strathbogie

before Cannon arrived at the castle of Auclvin-

doim, where he intended to fix his head

quarters. At Auchindoun, Cannon was in-

formed that Mackay was already at the castle

of Strathbogie, a distance of about six miles,

He, thereupon, called a council of war to dis-

cuss the expediency of giving battle to Mac-

kay. A preliminary question was agitated by

the Highland cliiefs as to the right of the

Lowland officers to sit in the coimcil, the former

contending that as none of these officers had

any troops under their immediate command,

and were wholly unacquainted with the disci-

pline of the Highlanders and their mode of

fighting, they had no right to deUberate on the

subject, and were unable to form a correct

judgment on the question they were called

upon to discuss. The decision of this point

lay with Cannon, who, by the advice of the

Earl of Dunfermline, decided the question

against the Highlanders. A judgment more

unfortunate to the cause of King James could

not have been pronounced, as it gave rise to

jealousies and strifes among the officers, and

when the question whether a battle should be

hazarded was put to the vote, the clans who
were for fighting Mackay immediately, found

themselves in a minority. This was followed

by a resolution to return to Athole. As

matters stood, the chances of victory on either

side may be considered to have been pretty

fairly balanced, but subsequent events showed

that Cannon in the present instance omitted

the best opportunity he was ever destined to

have of gaining a victory which might have

decided the fate of Scotland.

Although Mackay's men were almost worn

out with extreme fatigue, being kept under

arms every night for a considerable time, and

only allowed an occasional repose by turns

during the day-time, the general resolved to

follow Cannon with aU possible despatch.

The cause of Cannon's movement was owing

to the following circumstances. The pri\'y

council wishing to obtain possession of the

castles of Blair and Finlarig, had sent a letter

to Mackay at Sti-athbogie with instructions to

proceed to these places before the rainy season

should set in, for the purpose of reducing

and putting garrisons into them. Mackay, in

answer, stated his inability to undertake such

a service in the face of the formidable force

which lay so near him, and that he did not

conceive there was any necessity for being in

such a hurr}', as, from the proximity of these

castles to the low country, he could make him-

self master of them at any time if sufficiently

strong. But he observed, that if the coimcQ

was bent upon the undertaking, they might

direct Sir Jolm Lanier to order some foot and

Barclay's regiment to join him from Forfar,

and with these and three battalions of the

Dutch regiments, then at Perth, and which

had not been at the battle of KQliecrankie,

execute that piece of service. Upon receiving

Mackay's answer, the council ordered the Earl

cf Angus's regunent, known by the name of

the Cameronian regiment—a band of stern,

fearless, religious enthusiasts from the west

—

to advance to Dunkeld, with the view, it is

supposed, of supporting Lanier. Mackay was

quite averse to the employment of these men,

and disapproved of the plan of posting them

so near the Highlands, the effect of which,

he observed, woidd be, that they would be

instantly attacked, " because the enemy had
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not such prejudice at any of the furces as at

this regiment, whom they called the Cameron-

ian regiment, whose oppression against all such

as were not of their own sentiments, made

them generally hated and feared in the north-

ern counties. "2 Accordingly, no sooner had

they encamped at Dunkeld, than some of King

James's friends in Athole resolved to put them

off, and a notice was sent to Cannon to return

south with that view, in consequence of wliich,

he raised his camp and proceeded suddenly

towards the Dee, as already mentioned.

Mackay followed him, and on arriving at

Aberdeen, warned Sir John Lanier of the

advance of Cannon, and to prevent the High-

landers from making any inroads, he sent out

small parties of his men to scoirr the neigh-

bouring country. Wlien Lanier was informed

of Cannon's approach, he left Forfar, where he

was posted with his own and Barclay's regi-

ment, for Brechin, near to which town the

enemy had advanced. Some skirmishing took

]ilace between the advanced posts, with loss

on both sides. The Highlanders, thereupon,

retired to the hills, and Lanier, who was ignor-

ant of the object of Cannon's march, returned

to Forfar. Here he received orders from the

privy coimcil to march to the castles of Blair

and Finlarig, in consequence of which he pro-

ceeded to Coupar-Angus the following day,

where intelligence was brought him from

Colonel Eamsay, that the Highlanders were

marching upon Dunkeld. He was informed at

the same time that the Cameronian regiment,

which was disadvantageously posted, would

assirredly be defeated, if not immediately sup-

ported. Instead of sending any instructions

to Eamsay, who required his advice, Lanier

delayed forwarding an answer till he should

arrive at Perth the following day, " in which

interim," says Mackay, " if the providence of

God had not blinded Cannon, and disheartened

his Highlanders from continuing their attack,

the regiment had certainly been lost, for they

had two full days' time to carry them, and all

their defence was but low gardens, in most

places not above four feet high."'

On Sunday morning, the 18th of August,

the Cameronians, in expectation of an attack,

' Memoirs, p. 69. ' Idem.

began to entrench themselves williin some

inclosures about the Marquis of Athole's house

at Dimkeld. The country people, in parties

of ten and twenty, appeared during the morning

on the neighbouring hiUs, and about four in

the afternoon a body of about 300 men drew

up on a hiU to the north of Dunkeld, whence

they despatched a messenger, who carried a

halbert surmounted by a white cloth as a flag

of truce, with a letter without any subscription,

addressed to Lieutenant-colonel Cleland, the

commanding officer, of the following tenor ;

—

" We the gentlemen assembled being informed

that ye intend to burn the town, desire to

know whether ye come for peace or war, and

do certify you, that if ye burn any one house,

we vnR destroy you." To which communica-

tion Lieutenant-colonel Cleland replied as

follows :
—" We are faithful subjects to King

William and Queen Mary, and enemies to their

enemies ; and if you, who send these tlireats,

shall make any hostile appearance, we will

burn all that belongs to you, and otherwise

chastise you as you deserve."

On the first alarm of the Higlilandors' ap-

proach to Dunkeld, Colonel Eamsay sent up

some troops of horse and dragoons under Lord

Cardi'oss to assist the Cameronians in case of

attack. This party arrived at Dunkeld on

Tuesday morning, but the Highlanders not

being yet sufficiently numerous, showed no

disposition to attack the Cameronians that day.

At night, Cleland received intelligence that

the fiery cross had been sent round, and that a

considerable gathering had taken place, and

next morning the Higlilanders began to appear

in large parties among the hills, between whom
and some detached parties of horse and foot

which Cleland sent out to scour the coimtry,

some brisk skirmishing took place during the

day. The Highlanders having retired, Cle-

land's forces returned to Dimkeld in the even-

ing, where Lord Cardross received an order

from Colonel Eamsay to return instantly to

Perth, from an absurd apprehension that the

cavalry could be of little use in defending the

position occupied by the Cameronian regiment.

When Cleland, who appears to have been a

determined, sensible, clear-headed enthusiast

of about 30 years of age, was informed of this

extraordinary mandate, he remonstrated with
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Cardross in tlie strongest manner against com-

plying iritli it, as the safety of his regiment

might be involved in the result; hut his lord-

ship pleaded his instructions, which gave him

no discretionary power, and he departed for

Perth the same evening, leaving the Cameron-

ians to the tender mercies of their bitterest

enemies, the Highlanders. Cleland's obvious

course was to have followed the cavalry, but

though the danger was imminent, he disdained

to abandon the post which had been assigned

him, and easily prevailed upon the Cameron-

ians to remain and meet the enemy at all

hazards. Burton* truly says that it is difficult

to imagine a position more dangerous for a

Lowland force than the little village of Dun-

keld, being deep sunk among liills commanding

it, and cutting off retreat, while a rapid river

forms the diameter of their semicircle.

The parties which had appeared during the

day consisted enth'ely of Athole-men, whose

numbers probably did not exceed 500 or 600

;

but in the evening they were joined by the

whole of Cannon's force, amounting to nearly

4,000. To the great surprise and dismay of

the Cameronians, this formidable body ap-

peared at six o'clock next morning, Wednesday
the 21st of August, on the hUls about Dunkeld

formed in order of battle. The situation of

the Cameronians was now critical in the ex-

treme. They had no alternative but to fight

or surrender, for retreat was not in their power.

A capitulation would have been the ob^vious

course, but the great abhorrence in which the

Cameronians were held by the Highlanders,

gave faint hopes of obtaining the usual terms

of civilized warfare from the inveterate host

which hung over them on the surrounding

heights. They, therefore, adopted the des-

perate resolution of defending themselves to

the last extremity, and they hoped, that by

posting themselves advantageously behind the

walls and enclosures adjoining the vUlage and

Dimkeld-house, they would be able to keep the

Highlanders in check tiU some relief might

arrive.

The Cameronian commander accordingly

made the necessary preparations for defence.

He fii'st posted parties of his men in the

* SeoUand, vol. i. p. ]41.

cathedral and steeple, and in Dunkeld-uouse.

The remainder of his men he disposed behind

the walls of the adjoining gardens and parks,

and along some ditches which he caused to be

thrown up to extend his line of defence. All

these arrangements were completed before 7

o'clock in the morning, about which time the

Higlilanders appeared moving do^vvn the bills

towards Dunkeld. Desirous to gain possession

of the to^wn, to dislodge the Cameronians, or

to dra^w oif their attention from the points

where he meant to direct his main attack,

Cannon despatched a small train of artOlery

do^wn a little hill near the to^wn, accompanied

by 100 men clad in armour, who were followed

by a party of Highlanders on foot. To pre-

vent the Cameronians from escaping by the

ford across the Tay, he sent two troops of horse

round the to^wn, who took up a position be-

t\vixt the ford and the church, while two other

troops were placed at the opposite end of the

town. "When the party arrived at the bottom

of the hUl, they were opposed by a small body

of men whom Cleland had posted behind a

stone wall, but after some smart firing, this

body was obliged to give way and to retire to

Dunkeld-house. Another party of the Came-

ronians, which had been posted at the other

end of the to^wn, was obliged also to retire.

Ha-ving forced the outposts, the whole body of

the Highlanders rushed firriously into the

to-^vn, which they entered at four different

points at once. The Cameronians, however,

firmly maintained their ground witliin the

enclosures, from which they kept up a galling

and destructive fire upon the Highlanders, who
in vain attempted to dislodge them. Eiudiug

their broad-swords of little avail against the

pikes and halberts of an enemy protected by

stone walls, the Highlanders retired to the

houses, and some to the heights near the town,

from which they kept up a sliarp though inef-

fectual fire upon the Cameronians, who retiu'ned

it with much better effect. The Cameronians,

however, soon sustained a hea'vy loss in the

death of Cleland, their brave commander, who,

in the act of exhorting his men to stand firm

to their posts, was, within an hour after the

engagement commenced, mortally wounded by

two bullets, one of wliich pierced his liver, the

other entering his head at the same instant
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Dunkeld in the 17th cenlary.—From Slezer's Theanun

Aware of his fate, he attempted to gain Dun-

keld-house, lest his men, seeing him expire,

might become dispirited; but he was unable

to reach the threshold, and expired in their

presence.

During three hom-s an incessant firing was

kept up on both sides, which might have con-

tinued for several hours longer %vithout pro-

ducing any definite residt, unless, indeed, the

ammunition of either party had become ex-

hausted. Probably from the dread of such a

contingency, which would have been fatal to

the Cameronians, Captain Munro, to whom,

on tlie death of Cleland, the command had

fallen, resolved to attempt to dislodge the

Higlilanders from the houses by setting the

town on fire. He accordingly sent into the

town several small parties of pikemen with

burning faggots upon the points of their pikes

to set fire to the houses in wliich the High-

landers were posted. This order was exe-

cuted with such promptitude, that in a short

time the whole town was in a conflagi-ation.

The scone which the town now presented was

one of the most heart-rending description.

The din of war was indeed no longer heard,

but a more terrific sound had succeeded, from

the wild shrieks of despair which issued from

the dense mass of smoke and flame wliich

I

enveloped the unfortutiatf suii'erers. To add

I

to the calamity, the pikemen had coolly locked

I

the doors of such of the houses as had keys

I

standing in them, and the unhappy intruders

I being thus cut off from escape, perished in the

flames. No less than 16 Highlanders were, in

consequence, burnt to death in one house.

With the exception of tliree houses, possessed

by the Cameronians, the whole of the town

was consumed.

The Higlilanders finding their ammunition

all spent,* and seeing that they could no

longer maintain their position among the ruins

of the town, began to retire to the hill s about

eleven o'clock, after having sustained a loss of

about 300 men. The Cameronians, whose loss

was trifling, on seeing the Highlanders depart,

set up a loud shout, threw up their caps, beat

their drums, and waved their colours in token

of triumph, demonstrations which must have

been exceedingly gaUing to the feelings of the

Highlanders, who only four hours before had

assured themselves of an easy conquest. It is

stated in the Cameronian accomit of the battle,

that an attempt was made by Cannon to induce

the Higlilanders to renew the attack, but tliey

declined, for this reajoa, tliat although still

^ Balcarras.
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ready to fight "witli men, they would not again

encounter devils. ^ To show their gratitude to

God for " so miraculous a victory," the Cam-

eronians spent a considerable part of the after-

noon in singing psalms of praise and thanks-

giving.

The Highlanders were greatly discouraged

by the repulse which they sustained at Dun-

keld, and they attributed the misfortune to the

incapacity of Cannon, in whom they conse-

quently lost all confidence. Perceiving that

they could no longer keep the field -with any

probabUity of success under such a commander,

they retired to Blair, and after entering into a

bond of association to support the cause of

King James, and for mutual protection, they

departed for their homes, leaving Cannon and

his Irish troops and the few lowland gentle-

men to shift for themselves. Cannon went to

Mull, and resided mth the chief of Maclean.
'^

* Life and Diary of Colonel Blackader.
' " We, Lord James MuiTay, Patrick ."^tewart of

Ballechan, Sir .John M'Lean, Sir Donald M'DoBald,
Sir Ewen Cameron, Glengarie, Benbecula, Sir Alex-
ander M'Lean, Apjiin, Enveray, Keppoch, Gleucoe,

Stiowan, Calochele, Lieut. -Col. M'Gregor, Bara,
Large, M'Naughten, do hereby bind and oblige our-

selves, for his Majesty's service and our own safeties,

to meet at the day
of September next, and bring along with us
feiicible men. That is to say. Lord James Mur-
ray and Ballechan Sir John M'Lean
•JOO, Sir Donald M 'Donald 200, Sir Ewen Cameron
•J"0, Glengarie 200, Benbecula 200, Sir Alexander
M'Lean 100, Appin 100, Enveray 100, Keppoch 100,
Lieut. -Col. M'Gregor 100, Calochele 50, Strowan 60,

Bara 50, Glencoe 50, M'Naughten 50, Large 50 ; but
in case any of the rebels shall assault or attack any of

the above-named jiersons betwixt the date hereof and
the said day of rendezvous, we do all solemnly promise
to assist one another to the utmost of our power, as

witness these presents, signed by us at the castle of
Blair, the 24th of August, 1689 years.—Al. Robertson,
D. M'Neil. Alex. M'Donald, Do. M'Gregor, Alex.
M'Donell, D. M'Donahl, D. M'D. of Benbecula, Al.

M'Donald, The. Farqrson, Jo. M'Leane, E. Cameron
ofLochiel, Al. Stuart."

—

Records of Parliament.

Seven days before the date of tin's bond, these asso-

ciates, and other friends, sent the following character-
istic letter to Mackay, in answer to a friendly invita-

tion from him to lay down their arms :

—

'Sir,

"Birse, 17th August, 16

"We received your letter from Strathbogy,
and we saw that you wrote to Brigadier Cannan from
St Johnstoun, to which we gave a civil return, for by
'telling that you support yourselves by fictions and
stories (a thing known all the world over), is no rail-

ing. The Christian means {as you say in your last)

you make use of to advance the good cause by, is

evident to all the world, and the argument you use to

move us to address your government, is consequential

In the meantime Mackay left Aberdeen for

the purpose of joining Lanier, leaving behind

him Sir Thomas Livingston, with his regiment

and nine troops of cavalry, to keep the adjoin-

ing northern counties in awe. At Brechin he

learnt that Lanier had received an order from

the privy coimcil to march into Athole, in

consequence of which information he joined

him at Perth on the 2Cth of August. He
thereafter leit Perth, with the greater part of

the forces which he found there assembled,

and took the route to Blair. It was clearly

the interest of James's party to have burned

the castle of Blair, so as to prevent Mackay

from placing a garrison in it to overawe the

neighbouring coimtry ; but if sucli was the

intention of the Highlanders, they wore de-

terred from putting it in execution by a mes-

sage from Mackay, who tlireatened, in the

event of the castle being burnt, to raze every

house in Athole to the gi-ouud, and to bui'n

and destroy all the corn in that district. Mac-

kay remained ten days at the castle of Blair,

to the whole ; for instead of telling us what good
Christians, men of honour, good subjects, and good
neighbours, ought to do, you tell us in both your
letters, that his Majesty has hot wars in Ireland, and
cannot in haste come to us, which, though it were as

true as we know it is not, is only an argument from
safety and interest. And that you may know the

sentiments of men of honour, we declare to you and
all the world, we scorn your usurper, and the indemni-

ties of his government ; and to save you farther trouble

by your frequent invitations, we assure you that we
are satisfied our king will take his own time and way
to manage his dominions and punish his rebels ; and
although he should send no assistance to us at all, we
will die with our swords in our hands before we fail in

our loyalty and sworn allegiance to our sovereign.

Judge, then, what effect Duke Hamilton's letter has

upon us ; but you have got an honourable father for

this story from Ireland, and although we can better

tell you how matters go in Ireland, and that we pity

tho.se on whom such stories have influence, yet we
have no orders to offer conditions to any rebels ; we
allow them and his grace to believe on and take your
measures by your success, till his Majesty's farther

orders. Sir, We thank you for the good meaning of

your invitation, (though we are coufident you had no
hojie of success. ) And we wUl shortly endeavour to

give you a re.-juital—and those of us who live in

islands have already seen and defied the Prince of

Orange his frigates. We are, Sir, your affectionate

and humble servants. Jo. MacLeane, E. Cameron of

Locliiel, C. M'Kenzie, D. Mackdonald, John Grant

of Balnadaloch, Pa. Steuart, J. M'Nachtane, Alexr.

M'Donald, A. M'Nachtan, Jo. Cameron, Tho. Farqr-

son, H. M'Lean of Lochbuye, Alexr. M'Donell, D.

M'D, of Benbecula, R. MacNeill of Bara, D. M'Neill,

Ra. M'Donald, J. M'Donald, Alexr. Maclaine. Wj
have returned your letter from Duke Hamilton,

because you have more use for it than we.'

—

Parlia-

inentary Records.

3c
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during which, time many of tiie Athole people

took advantage of an indemnity wiiich he

offered them, and delivered up their arms.

Having placed a garrison of 500 men in the

castle, and given orders to raise a palhsade and

breast-work round it, he was forced to return

to Perth in consequence of continual rains,

which made him also forego a resolution he

had entertained of marching to the head of

Loch Tay, and placing a garrison in the castle

of Finlarig, belonging to the Earl of Breadal-

bane, who, according to him, was " one of the

chiefest and cunningest fomenters of the

trouble of that kingdom (Scotland), not for

love of King James, but to make himself

necessary to the government."* The subse-

quent conduct of this nobleman fully corro-

borated this opinion. After the rains had sub-

sided, a detachment of 200 men imder Lord

Cardross, took possession of Finlarig castle, not^

withstanding that the proprietor had, shortly

before, taken the oaths to the government,

and found bail for his allegiance.

While the death of Dundee seemed to give

stability to the government in Scotland on the

one hand, its safety appeared to be endangered

on the other, by the jealousies and dissensions

which agitated the parliament Among the

persons who had been instrumental in bringing

about the revolution, there were some extreme

Presbyterians, who, seeing that their expecta-

tions were not to be realized, and that all the

offices of trust were monopolized by a few

favourites about court, became factious and

impatient, and were ready to seize the first

opportunity that offered of overturning the

government. Sir James Montgomery was at

the head of this disaffected party, which,

during the ensuing winter, held several private

meetings. The residt was, that a most extra-

ordinary and unnatural coalition took place

between the Jacobites and the discontented

Presbyterians for the restoration of King

James. By muting their votes in parliament

they expected to embarrass the government,

and make it odious to the people, and thereby

pave the way for the return of the exiled mon-

arch ; but their designs were disconcerted by a

discovery of the plot.

' ^fc}noirs, p. 72.

!Maekay had now grown heartily tired of the

service, and as his plans for the subjugation of

the Highlands had been treated with indiffer-

ence or neglect by tlie government, he became

desirous to resign his commission, and retire

to Holland, his adopted coimtry, there to spend

the remainder of lus days in peace. There

was certainly nothing in the situation of his

native country at the period in question to

induce him to remain. An unpaid, disorderly,

and mutinous army ; an oppressed people, a

discontented nobility, a divided parliament

and council ; " church divided into two more

irreconcileable factions, though both calling

themselves Protestants, than Eome and CJe-

neva," matters deemed of so little importance by

the first reformers as scarcely to be mentioned

in their ^vritings, preferred by the " rehgious

zealots " of those da5's to the well-being of the

whole Protestant church, the Episcopal muiis-

ters who had been ejected preaching " King

James more than Christ, as they had been

accustomed to take passive obedience more

than the gospel for their text
: "—these con-

siderations all tended to disgust a man of a

moderate and conciliating disposition like Mac-

kay, and made him " look upon Scotsmen of

those times in general, as void of zeal for their

reUgion and natural affection, seeing all men

hunt after their particidar advantages, and

none minding sincerely and self-deniedly the

common good, which gave him a real distaste

of the country and service ; resolving from

that time forward to disengage himself out of

it as soon as possible he could get it done, and

that the service could allow of."' Maokay,

however, failed in obtaining even a temporary

leave of absence diu'ing the winter, by the

intrigues of Lord Melville and Viscount Tar-

bet, who, as he says, suspecting an interview

with William, who was then in Holland, to be

tlie object of his proposed visit thither, were

afraid that he would induce Wilham to adopt

a system different from that hitherto followed

in the management of Scottish affairs.

Mackay finding that he woidd not succeed

in his apphoation for leave of absence, began

to apply himself with great perseverance to

accomplish his long-desired project of erecting*

' Memoirs, p. 77.
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•fort at Inverlochy, capable of containing 1,000

or 1,200 men, to keep the western Highlanders

in check. In a communication which he made

to King WiUiam on the suhject, he requested

to be supplied with three frigates of about 30

guns each, 10 or 12 ships of burden, and 3

or 4 dozen of large boats, 3,000 muskets, 400

ehevaiix de /rise, and 2,000 spades, shovels,

and pickaxes, n-ith money sufficient to purchase

two months' provisions for 3,000 or 4,000

men. On receiving these supplies he proposed

to march with this force tlirough Argyle about

the end of March, as far as Dunstaffnage,

where he meant to embark his men in the

ships, and thence proceed to Inverlochy, and

land them under the protection of the guns of

the ships of war. No notice, however, was

taken of this proposal either by William or his

ministers, notwithstanding that its importance

n'as urged in repeated letters from Maokay,

who, in consequence, grew quite impatient, and

threatened to throw up liis commission. At

length the privy council having, at his request,

written a letter to the king on the subject, he

ordered the frigates to be sent down, with

some arms and ammunition, and implements for

commencing the work ; but the required supply

of money was not forthcoming, without which

the expedition could not be undertaken.

Anxious, however, to get the fort erected with

as little delay as possible, Mackay oifered to

the privy council to proceed to Inverlochy

with a select detachment of 600 men, provided

they woidd give him provisions for three

months ; but although a sum of five or six

hundred pounds woidd have almost sufficed for

this purpose, the council pleaded the impossi-

biUty of raising the money. ^ In this emer-

gency he applied to the city of Glasgow, the

magistrates of which imdertook to hire vessels

for transporting the detachment, and to furnish

him with the necessary provisions, and such

articles as he might require for completing the

fort, in addition to those sent down from Eng-

land. ^ Major Ferguson, who was appointed to

command this expedition, repaired to Glasgow

;

but he was detained there about five weeks wait-

ing for the provisions. The news, however,

of such an armament being in preparation,

' ilackay's Memoirs, p. 85. ' Idem, page 86.

and a report purposely circulated by Mackay,

that it was much larger than it actually was,

having reached the Highlands, had the effect

of preventing many of the Islanders and the

inhabitants of the adjoining mainland from

joining Major-general Buchan, who took the

field in April 1690.

Before the arrival of this officer, the High-

landers had resolved to place themselves under

the command of Sir Ewen Cameron of Loch-

iel, having, in consequence of their defeat at

Dunkeld, lost confidence in Cannon as a com-

mander. After that disaster, Lochiel and the

other Jacobite chiefs had represented to James

the precarious state of his affairs in Scotland,

and the necessity there was for sending them

aid ; but James was too much occupied with

preparations for resisting a tlireatened invasion

of Ireland, by his son-in-law, to attend much
to his Scottish concerns. He, however, sent

over a vessel with some clothes, arms, ammu-

nition, and provisions, and a few Irish officers,

among whom was Major-general Buchan, with

a commission, as commander-in-chief of all the

Jacobite forces in Scotland.

On Buchan's arrival, a meeting of the chiefs

and principal officers was held at Keppoch,

to deKberate upon the course they ought to

pursue. As no reinforcement had arrived from

Ireland, and as the plot between the Jacobites

and the disappointed chiefs of the Presby-

terians, which had raised the expectations of

King James's partizans, had been discovered,

the meeting was divided in opinion, upon the

expediency of renewing hostilities. Some,

thinking the cause quite desperate, proposed

to submit to the government, which they knew

was quite disposed to grant them the most

favourable terms; but tliis proposition was

warmly resisted by Lochiel, who had great

influence -with his fellow chiefs. He stated

that he had adhered to the cause of Charles

II. at a time when it was more desperate than

that of his royal brother now was, who was

still at the head of an army in Ireland, and

who had many friends in Britain, ready to de-

clare themselves, when a fit opportunity offered

;

that under these circumstances, he considered

they would disgrace themselves, if they aban-

doned the cause they had pledged themselves

to defend, and that for his own part he would
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neither listen to terms from the government,

nor lay down his arms, -witliout an express

order from King James himself. In conse-

quence of this declaration, the meeting unan-

imously resolved to continue the war; but as

the labours of the spring season vpere not over,

they postponed the muster of the clans, till

those should be completed; and in the mean

time directed Major-general Buchan, to employ

the interval in beating up the enemy's quarters,

along the borders of the lowlands, for which

purpose a detaclunent of 1,200 foot was to be

placed at his disposal

'

When Mackay heard that Buchan had taken

the field, he ordered Sir Thomas Livingston,

—

whom he had despatched north from Aberdeen

to Inverness, with his regiment, in the month

of January, to watch the motions of the High-

landers,—to keep a sharp outlook after Buchan,

who, it was supposed, would probably make a

descent upon the lowlands of Moray or Banff.

Sir Thomas had at tliis time, besides his own

rogiment of dragoons, tliree regiments of foot,

and some troojjs of horse, under his command,

j)osted in and about the town of Inverness.

Hearing that Buchan was marching through

Lochaber and Badenoch, Livingston made two

successive marches up the country, in the

direction Buchan was said to be advancing,

but on both occasions, from the great difficulty

he experienced in obtaining provender for liis

horses, and provisions for Ids troops, he was

obliged to retui'u to Inverness without seeing

Buchan, or hearing anything concerning hiin.

Having ascertained that the feeling of hostility

towards the government was rapidly extending,

and that it had even reached the clans, who
liad hitherto, in appearance at least, shewn

themselves favourably inclined to the revolu-

tion, Livingston, thereupon, despatched a letter

to Mackay, acquainting him of the cLreum-

stanoe, and stating that if Buchan was not

speedily opposed, he was afraid that by far the

greater part of the northern counties would

join him. That he might obtain early intelli-

gence of Buchan's motions, and avoid the diffi-

culties he had experienced in his former

marches for want of provisions, Livingston

took up a position eight miles from Inverness,

' Balcarras.

with a select body of 1,200 men, consisting of

his own regiment, which amoimted to .300 men,

400 of Leslie's regiment, a company of 100 of

Lord Eeay's Highlanders, 300 of Grant's

Highlanders, and two troops of hoi se.
*

On receiving Livingston's despatch, Mackay

sent orders to the different detaclunents which

lay at Stirling, Glasgow, Dundee, and other

places, amounting together to 3,000 men, to

assemble without delay at Perth, that they

might be in readiness, should a general rising

in favour of King James take place in the

north, to support Livingston, and to serve as

a check upon the southern Highlands. He, at

the same time, directed Lieutenant- colonel

Buchan, brother of King James's general, who
commanded the forces in the city and county

of Aberdeen, consisting of a battahon of Ram-

say's regiment, the Cameronian regiment, and

five troops of horse and dragoons, to march

upon any point Livingston should dii-ect.

'

In the mean time Major-general Buchan was

advancing tlxrough Badenoch ^v^th the design

of mai'ching down Speyside into the Duke of

Gordon's country, where he exj>ected to be

joined by some of the vassals of that nobleman.

At Cuhiakill he held a council of war to deter-

mine whether to take up a position in that

neighbourhood, where they would be secure

from the attacks of Livingston's cavalry, or

proceed farther down the Spey. As Buchan's

force did not exceed 800 men, and as they

were aware that a large force of horse and foot

lay at Inverness, the Higliland officers were

unanimously of opinion that they should not

advance beyond Ciilnakill, but shoidd march

the following day to Glenloohy, and encamp

among the adjoining woods. Buchan, who

appears to have been as incapable of conduct-

ing a Higldand force, and as ignorant of the

mode of warfare pursued by the Highlanders

as Cannon, liis predecessor, now second in

command, rejecting the Highland officers' ad-

vice, on the following day marched do^vn the

Spey as far as Cromdale, where he encamped

on the last day of AprQ. ^

* Mackay's Memoirs, p. 93. Mackay's account

says, "six companies of Grant's regiment, making,

about 800 men,"—an evident error.

* Mackay's Memoirs, p. 94.

' Memoirs of Dundee.
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Livingston was, at this time, lying within

eight miles of Strathspey, on the grounds of

the lau'd of Grant, where he received notice

the same day from a captain in Grant's regi-

ment, who, with a company of men, held pos-

session for the government of Balloch, now
Grant castle, in the vicinity of Cromdale, that

Buchan was marching down Strathspey. De-

sirous of attacking liim hefore he should have

an opportunity of being joined by the country

people, Livingston marched off towards the

Spey, in the afternoon, and continued his

march till he arrived within two mUes of

Balloch castle. As it was already dark, and

the night far advanced, and as a diSicult pass

lay between liim and the castle, Livingston

proposed to encamp during the night; but not

finding a convenient place, he, by the persua-

sion of one of his officers who was acquainted

with the pass, and who undertook to conduct

liim safely through it, renewed his march, and

arrived at the top of the hill above the castle

at two o'clock in the morning. Buchan's men
were then reposing in fancied security near

Lethindie, on the adjoining plain of Cromdale,

and the fires of their camp, which were

pointed out by the captain of the castle to

Livingston, showed him that he was much
nearer the enemy than he had any idea

of. Mackay says, that had Livingston been

aware that the Highlanders were encamped so

near the pass, he would not have ventui-ed

through it during the night, having little con-

fidence in the country people; nor would the

enemy, had they suspected Livingston's march,

left their former station and encamped upon

an open plain, a considerable distance from

any secure position, "just as if they had been

li'd tluther by the hand as an ox to the

sliiughter."

'

As .several gentlemen of the adjoining coun-

try had sought an asylum in the castle on

hearing of Buchan's advance, the commander,

in order to prevent any knowledge of Living-

ston's approach being communicated to the

Highlanders, had taken the precaution to shut

the gates of the castle, and to proliibit all egress

;

so that the Higlilanders were as ignorant of

Livingston's arrival as he had previously been

' Mcvurirs, p. 95.

of their encampment at Cromdale. Such being

the case, the commander of the castle advised

him to attack the Highlanders without delay,

and he himself offered to conduct the troops

into the plain. This proposition having been

acceded to, the troops were allowed half an

hour to refresh themselves, after wliich they

marched down through the valley of Auchin-

arrow to the river. Finding a ford below

Dellachaple, guarded by 100 Higlilanders,

Livingston left a detachment of foot and a

few dragoons to amuse them, while, with his

main body, led by some gentlemen of the

name of Grant on horseback, he marched to

another ford through a covered way, a mile

farther down the river, which he crossed at the

head of three troops of dragoons, and a troop of

horse, a company of his Highlanders forming

the advanced guard. After he reached the

opposite bank of the Spey, he perceived the

Highlanders, who had received notice of his

approach from their advanced guards at the

upper ford, in great confusion, and in motion

towards the hills. He thereupon sent orders

to a part of his regiment, and another troop

of horse to cross the river and join him

;

but, without waiting for them, he galloped off

at full speed towards the hills, so as to get

between the fugitives— the greater part of

whom were almost naked—and the hills, and

intercept them in their retreat. The cavalry

were accompanied by the company of High-

landers which had crossed the river, and who

are said to have outrun their mounted com-

panions, a circumstance which induced the

flying Highlanders, on arriving at the foot of

the hdl of Cromdale, to make a stand ; but, on

the approach of Livingston and the remainder

of his dragoons and horse, they again took to

their heels. They turned, however, frequently

round upon their pursuers, and defended them-

selves with their swords and targets with great

bravery. A thick fog, which, coming down

the side of the moimtain, enveloped the fugi-

tives, compelled Livingston to discontinue the

pursuit, and even to beat a retreat. According

to Mackay, the Highlanders had 400 men

killed and taken prisoners, while Livingston

did not lose a suigle man, and only 7 or 8

horses ; but Ealcarras states his loss at about

100 kUled, and several prisoners ; and the
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author of the " Memoiis of Dundee " sa\'s, that

many of Livingston's di-agoons fell * A party

of the Camerons and Macleans, who had in

the flight separated from their companions in

arms, crossed the Spey the following day, but,

being pursued by some of Livingston's men,

were overtaken and disjjersed on the moor of

Granish near Aviemore, where some of them

were killed. The rest took shelter in Craig-

elachie, and, being joined by Keppoch and liis

Highlanders, made an attempt to seize the

castle of Lochinclan in Eothiemui'chus, but

were repulsed witli loss by the. proprietor and

Lis tenants.^

The news of the disaster at Cromdale was

received with feelings of dismay by the parti-

sans of King James at Edinburgh, who began

to regret that they had not embraced an ofler

which had been made by King William for a

cessation of arms. On the other hand, tlie

friends of the government were elated with

Livmgston's success, and hastened the long

delayed expedition to Inverlochy, under Jlajor

Ferguson, which accordingly set sail from

Greenock on the 15th of May. Having ob-

tained the consent of King William to march

into Lochaher, Mackay made preparations for

the expedition ; and, although the Earl of

Melville, the commissioner to the Scottish

parliament, gave him notice of some dangerous

plots against the government both in England

and Scotland, which might require the pre-

sence of a large force in the lowlands to check,

yet, as he considered the subjugation of the

Highlands of primary importance, he resolved

to proceed on his expedition; and, accordingly,

on the 18th of June, marched from Perth at

the head of about 3,000 horse and foot. As

his route to Liverlochy would bring him within

a short day's march of the enemy, and as he was

desirous—agreeably, as he says, to a military

maxim, " without necessity, to put nothing to

an apparent hazard when the success is of great

* Shaw (ffistory of Moray) says that above 100 of

Buchan's men were killed, and about 60 made prison-

ers, who were found in the castle of Lethindie and the

mill ; and he adds, as a thing deserving of remark,

that "Colonel Macdonald of Keppoch, who was ever

keen f >r plunder, had nerer once fought for his king,

would not encamp with the other rebels, but with his

men quartered at Garvlin, half-a-mile distant, and
thereby escaped without loss."

' Shaw's Moray.

importance,''—to avoid «,n engagement in a

country full of defiles and difficult passes till

he should join the forces in the noi^th under

Sir Thomas Livingston, he resolved to march

towards Strathspej', and thence through Bade-

noch into Lochaber. To conceal from the

enemy his design of marching north, after

entering Athole, he made a movement as if he

intended to enter Badenoch by the nearest

route, and then turning suddenly to the right,

took tlie road to Strathspey. Having joined

Livingston in Strathspey on the 26th of June,

the united forces, after a day's rest, marched

towards Badenoch.

The Highlanders who, after their dispersion

at Cromdale, had returned to their homes, had

re-assembled on hearing of !Mackay's approach

;

but, from the fewness of their numbers, they

made no attempt to obstruct his passage

tlu'ough Badenoch. Being informed that they

had taken possession of a strait and difficult

pass through which they expected him to

march, he, on the 1st of July,—the very day

on which the celebrated battle of the Boyne

was fought,—made a feint with four troops of

horse and dragoons as if he intended to pass

that way, for the purpose of deceiving the

enemy ; after which he suddenly changed his

march to the left. After traversing mountains

and bogs, he entered Lochaber by Glenspean

the same night, and arrived at Liverlochy on

the 3d of the month. ^

The site of the old fort, which had been

erected by Oliver CromweU, did not please

Mackay, as it was commanded by a neighbour-

ing hill ; but, as a more eligible one could not

be found, he commenced the work on the 5th

of the month, and, in eleven days the wall

was raised to its full intended height of twenty

feet from the bottom of the fosse, and pallisaded

round with a cheniin convert and glacis. Hav-

ing finished the fort, which was named Fort-

WDHam, in honotrr of the king, he was about

proceeding to send a detachment into Mull to

reduce that island, but received despatches

from the privy council announcing the defeat

of the English and Dutch fleets, and requu'ing

liis return to the South as soon as possible, with

as many of his forces as could be spared, in con-

^ MsvioirSj p. 98.
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sequence of an expected in^^^sion from France.

He therefore marched from Inverlochy for the

South on the 18th, leaving behind liim 1,000

men in garrison in the new fort. He arrived

in Badenocli on the 20th by easy marclies, and

leaving his army in camp the wliole of the

21st to rest themselves, he went vpith a party

of 150 horse and dragoons to inspect Euthven

castle which the Jacobite forces had burnt the

preceding year. Here he left the company of

Lord Eeay's Highlanders with instructions to

the commander to raise a breastwork round an

old square wall, within which the garrison

might remain secure against surprise or attack.

He then descended into Athole, and arrived

at Perth on the 26th of July, being little more

than five weeks since he set out on his long

projected expedition.

During his absence Major-general Buchan

and Colonel Cannon, each at the head of a

select body of cavalier horse, had been scour-

ing the low country. The latter, in particular,

with 200 horse, had attacked Lord Cardross's

dragoons who were stationed in Menteith, and

had pursued them down as far as the park of

Stirling. On his arrival at Perth, Mackay

being informed of the proceedings of Can-

non's party, sent orders to the troops at

Stirling to march out in quest of them, while

he himself, after receiving a supply of biscuit

from Dundee, resolved to march from Perth

with a detaclunent for the purpose of inter-

cepting them ; but Cannon had passed through

the heights of Athole towards Braemar before

the troops at Stirling left that town. Mackay

followed after them for two days with a force

of 1,000 men, but was unable to overtake

them. Being unprovided for a longer march,

he returned on the third day to Stirling,

whence he despatched three troops of Car-

dross's dragoons, and one of horse, to support

the Master of Forbes who was guarding Aber-

deenshire.

Buchan and Cannon having united their

forces, and being joined by Farquharson of

Inverey, at the head of 500 or 600 of the Brae-

mar Highlanders, descended into the adjoining

low parts of Aberdeenshire, Mearns, and Banff,

to unite themselves to some of the country

Jacobite gentlemen, leaving behind them a

body of 160 men, to block up Abergeldie, in

which ]\Iackay still kept a garrison. They

were at first opposed on their descent into the

low country, by the Master of Forbes, and

Colonel Jackson, "with eight troops of cavalry,

which was fully more than sufficient to have

repulsed in a level country, any body the

Highlanders could then bring into the field.

Buchan, however, having purposely magnified

the appearance of his forces, by ranging his

foot over a large extent of ground, and inter-

spersing his baggage and baggage horses among

them, inspired tlie IMaster of Forbes and Jack-

son with, such dread, that they considered it

prudent to retire before a foe apparently so

formidable in appearance, and their fears in-

creasing after they had begiin their retreat,

they set off towards Aberdeen at full gallop,

and never looked behind, till they had entered

the town, after a race of upwards of 20 miles.

'

Buchan, who had no immediate design upon

Aberdeen, followed the alarmed cavalry, and

such was the eflfeot of the retreat upon some

of the neighbouring noblemen and gentlsinen,

that they joined Buchan in the pursuit. The

inhabitants were thrown into a state of tlie

greatest alarm at this occurrence, and the

necessary means of defence were adopted, but

Buchan made no attempt to enter tlie town.

Wlien Mackay received intelligence of this

" disorder," as he terms the flight of Forbes

and Jackson, he instantly despatched Colonel

Cunningham with 300 men, and two troops of

cavalry, to the north to join Jackson ; but

Cunningham was unable to effect a junction,

as Cannon lay encamped between liim and

Jackson. As the fears of a French invasion

had subsided, Mackay, on hearing of Cunning-

ham's failure, marched north himself in such

haste that he carried neither baggage nor pro-

visions along with him ; but on his way north

he learned that Buchan had left the neigh-

bourhood of Aberdeen, and was marching

southward. On hearing of Mackay's advance,

Buchan drew off his men to the riglit, and

crossed the hiUs. On arriving at the Deo, he

left Cunningham with a detachment at the

- " His mastership (of Forbes) understanjinf; the

wnril of comniand, wheel, better than advance, turned

the battle into a race, and won ; for he was first at

Aberdeen, and altirmed the town with a frightful out-

cry, The enemy, the enemy's coming."—Memoirs of

Dundee.
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castle of Aboyne, and proceeded with, his OTvn

division to raise the siege of Ahergeldie. In

the course of this march, a party of 60 dra-

goons, under Major Mackay, fell in among the

hLUs, with a body of 200 Highlanders, under

Inverey, all of whom were either killed or

made prisoners. The chief himself made a

very narrow escape, having been trampled

under the horses' feet, and left for dead on the

field. Mackay also laid waste the fertile coun-

try about Abergeldie, to the extent of twelve

miles round, and burnt from 1,200 to 1,400

hciuses, by way of reprisal, for having blocked

up the garrison. ^

Having united all his forces in the north,

with the exception of those which lay at

Inverness, Mackay marched as far north as

Strathdon, where he was told that the greater

part of the north was hostile to the govern-

ment, and was ready to rise in arms, which

information made him at once resolve to

proceed north with all possible haste in

order to get Buchan's force dispersed, before

any general rising should take place. Leav-

ing therefore his foot behind, he proceeded

north with his cavalrj^ in great haste, and in

the course of his march was informed that

Buchan was not only on his way north, but

that he expected to be joined by several

thousand Highlanders. He, therefore, con-

tinued his march with great celerity, allowing

his men no more time than was absolutely

necessary for refreshing their horses, and ar-

rived within four hours' march of the enemy,

before they received any notice of his approach.

Buchan had reached Inverness, and was only

waiting for the Earl of Seaforth's and other

Highlanders, whom he expected to join him
in attacking the town; but on hearing of

Mackay's advance, he crossed the river Ness,

and retired along the north side of the Loch.

The Earl of Seaforth, afraid of the conse-

quences which might result to him personally,

for the part he had acted, sent liis mother, the

Countess Dowager of Seaforth, and Mackenzie

of Coul, to Mackay, to inform him that he

would accede to such conditions as might be

agreed upon between them and Mackay. An
agreement was accordingly entered into, by

' llackay's Memoirs, p. 101.

which it was stipulated, that the earl should

deKver himseK into Mackay's hands, to be

kept as a prisoner at Inverness, till the privy

councU. should decide as to his future disposal;

and to conceal this arrangement from the

Jacobite party, it was farther agreed that the

earl should allow himself to be seized as if by

surprise, by a party of horse under Major

Mackay, at one of his seats during the night.

The earl, however, disappointed the party sent

out to apprehend him, in excuse for which,

both he and his mother, in letters to Mackay,

pleaded the state of his health, which they

alleged would sufler from imprisonment. The

earl cannot certainly be blamed for having

demurred placing himself at the unconditional

disposal of such a body as the privy councU of

Scotland, some of whom would not have hesi-

tated to sacrifice him, if by doing so they could

have obtained a share of his estates.

Mackay was so irritated at the deception

which had been practised upon him, that he

resolved to treat the earl's vassals " with all

the rigour of mOitary execution." Having,

however, a warm feeling for the earl's friends,

on account of their being " all Protestants, and

none of the most dangerous enemies," as he

says, and being more desirous to obtain pos-

session of the earl's person than to ruin his

friends, he caused information of his intentions

upon the earl's lands to be sent to Seaforth's

camp, by some of his own party, as if from a

feeling of friendship to him. Contrary to

Mackay's anticipations, Seaforth surrendered

liimseK, and was committed prisoner to the

castle of Inverness.* About this time the

^ "I believe it shall fare so with the Earl of Sea-

forth, that is, that he shall haply, (perhaps) submit,

when his countrey is mined, and spoyled, which is

the character of a true Scotsman, wi/se hchiiide the

hand I"

—

Letter to the Privy Cmincil, Ist Sept. 1690.

Appendix to Mcinoirs. No. 73. Mackay was directed

by the privy council, by warrant, dated 7th Oct. 1690,
** to transport the person of Colin, Earl of Seaforth,

with safety from Inverness to Edinburgh, in such way
and manner, as he should think fit." In consequence
of this removal, he was entered a prisoner within the

castle of Edinburgh, on 6th Nov. following, whence
he was liberated on 7th Jan. 1692, on finding caution

to appear when called upon. He was bound not to

go ten miles beyond Edinburgh. He wa« again im-

prisoned, but made his escape, and was apprehended
at Pencaitland, on 7th May 1692, and again kept in

close confinement, within the castle of Edinburgh.
He was afterwards liberated, on giving security for

his peaceable behaviour.- -Recjrds of the Privy

Council,
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Earl of Argyle—who had fled to Holland in

1685, on his father's execution, but retm-ned

with the Prince of Orange, and was reinstated

by the C-onvention in his father's estates and

title—with a force of 1,900 foot, and 60 dra-

goons, invaded l\Iull, the inhabitants of which

took the oaths of allegiance to the government,

and delivered up their arms. He was, how-

ever, from the state of the weather, obliged to

leave the island, before effecting the reduction

of Duart castle, and left 300 men behind him

to keep it in check. Maclean himself, with a

few of his friends, took refuge on Carnbiirrow,

an inaccessible rock near Mull.

King James's afiairs had now become utterly'

desperate in Scotland, and his defeat at the

battle of the Bovne, on the 1st of July, 1690,

almost annihilated his hopes in Ireland. Un-

able to collect any considerable body of men

together, Buchan, after wandering tlirough

Lochaber, dismissed the few that still re-

mained with him, and along with Sir George

Barclay, Lieutenant-colonel Graham, and other

officers, took up his abode with Macdonell of

Glengary, Cannon and his officers retiring to

the isles, under the protection of Sir Donald

Macdonald. In their retreats, these officers

who had displayed the most heroic attachment

to the cause of the unfortunate king, under

the most trj-ing circumstances, stiU continued

to cherish some distant hopes of his restora-

tion, and were prepared to enter upon any ser-

vice, however hazardous, which might lead to

such a consummation.

At length, seeing no chance of making a

successful effort in favour of James, they, in

connexion with the chiefs, sent over the Earl

of Dunfermline to France in the spring of

1691, to represent to him the state of matters,

and to receive liis commands. Having received

instructions from his majesty to enter into a

negotiation with the government, a meeting of

the principal officers and the Jacobite chiefs

was held at AchaUader in Glenorohy on the

30th of June, which was attended by the Earl

of Breadalbane on the part of the government,

at which a cessation of hostUities was agreed

upon tUl the 1st of October. To get the

chiefs to submit to the government, money
and other inducements were held out to them

by Breadalbane, at whose disposal a sum of

about £15,000 or £20,000 had been placed

by King WOliam. They, however, declined

to come to any definite arrangement at this

time, and requested liberty to send Sir George

Barclay and Major Menzies to France, to obtain

the sanction of King James, to enter into a

treaty -with the government, a request which

was reluctantly granted. After learning from

these officers the miseries to which the clans

were reduced, and the utter hopelessness of

attempting another campaign under existing

circumstances, James allowed them to make
the best terms they could with the government.

Accordingly, and in terms of a proclamation

issued by the government on the 27th of

August, 1691, promising an indemnity to all

persons who had been in arms, and who should

take an oath of allegiance to the government

before the 1st of January 1692 ; all the cluefs,

\nt\i one unfortunate exception, which will be

afterwards noticed, gave in their adherence,

and took the oath -(vithin the prescribed time.

Buchan and Cannon with their officers, in

terms of an agreement with the government,

were transported to France, to which country

they had asked and obtained permission from

their royal master to retire, as they could no

longer be serviceable to liim in their native

land.

We are sorry that it is beyond the province

of the present work, even did space permit, to

give a detailed account of the heroic and ahnost

quixotically cliivalrous conduct of Dundee's

officers, after their emigration to France. In

order that they might not be a burden on their

royal master King James, they entered the

French service, forming themselves into a

company of " private sentinels " or common
soldiers, four of their number being appointed

officers, whose conduct gives " no opportunity

of speaking well of them."^ They numbered

only about 150, and so effectively performed

their duty in the service of France, that,

unsuited as they were for the hard life of com-

mon soldiers, and cheated by their heartless

officers of the few comforts provided for them,

in a very short time " the earth closed over

the last remains of the gentlemen-adventurers

^ For details, see An Accmint of Dundee's oj

after titcy went to Prance in Miscellanea Scotica.

3d
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wlio followed the banner of Dundee."'' Tliey

bore all their hardships with cheerfulness and

even gaiety, winning the tears and love of the

women wherever they passed, and the respect

of their French comrades. The following inci-

dent must suffice as an example of their fear-

less hardihood.

" The Germans had made a lodgement in an

island in the Eliine (near Strasburg). The

French, from an opinion that the river was

impassable without boats, had ordered a num-

ber for the passage. Among other troops

intended for the service, tliis company was

ordered to keep a station opposite to the island

until the boats sliould amve ; but finding,

upon examination, the ford, though difficult,

not impassable, they, according to the custom

of the Highlanders in wading through rivers,

joining their hands together, and entering the

river in a line with its current, the strongest

men in the upper part, and the weaker in the

under, so that those who were bighest up the

stream broke all its force, and tjang their arms

and clothes on their shoulders, passed to tl

island in sight of both armies on the opposit

bank, and drove ten times their number from

the lodgement. The French cried out in admi

ration, ' A gentleman, in whatever station, js

stdl a gentleman.' ' Le gentilhomme est tou

jours gentiDiomme.' The place is caUtd

Vide d'Ecosse to this day."^

CHAPTER XXil

EREicN : -Williaiu 111., liiSS-1703.

Nefjotiations with tlie Hijjlilauil chiefs—Massacre of

Glencoe—Master of Stair—King William—Subse-

quent enfiuiiy—State of Highlands during William's

reigu—Simou Fraser, Lord Lovat.

During 1690 and 1691 the Jacobites caused

the government much trouble and anxiety by

tlieir ceaseless plotting to get up an insurrec-

tion, in which they were to be assisted by

supplies from France. Many men, professedly

loyal to King William, gave, from varioiLS

motives, theii' secret countenance to these

• Burton's Scotland fron, Miioluti&n, vol. i. p. 1.^3.

Dalrymple's Memoirs, vol. i. part ii. p. 61.

attempts ; and the Highlanders especially

proved a galling and distracting thorn in the

side of tlie government. As early as 1690,

Lord Tarbet, (subsequently Earl of Cromarty,)

proposed a scheme for the quieting of the High-

lands, which Lord Breadalbane oli'ered to

carry into execution ; but it was at the time

abandoned. In 1691, however, negotiations

were again renewed, and, as has been seen,

Breadalbane was intrusted with a sum of

money to distribute among the chiefs, or rathe'

to buy up the claims which Argyle and other

superior.s had over theii' feudal vassals, and

First Earl of Breadalbane.

Trom Original Painting in poaaession of Lady Elizabeth Pringla.

which was the real cause of the strife and dis

satisfaction existing in tlie Higlxlands. The

Secretary of State, Sir Jolm Dalrymple, kno^vll

as the Master of Stair, son of the Earl of

Stair, appears latterly to have been at the

bottom of the scheme, and was certainly most

anxious that it should be successfully and

speedily carried out, having at first apparently

no thought of resorting to measures of crue,

severity.

Not much appears to have resulted from the

meetinu wliich Breadalbane had with the chie&
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at Acliallader ; indeed, lie showed very little of

an earnest desire for conciliation, as Lis tbreat-

euiiig conduct induced Alexander Macdonald,

or Maclan, of Glencoe, to leave the meeting

abruptly for his own safety. Between Brtad-

albane, who was a Campbell, and Macdonald

much bad blood appears to have existed

;

indeed, nothing but the bitterest hatred was

cherished by the whole tribe of the Macdonalds

to the Campbells, as the latter had from time

to time, oftener by foul than by fair means,

ousted the former from their once extensive pos-

sessions. The Macdonalds of Glencoe especi-

ally, stUl considered the lands and property of

the Campbells as their own, and without hesita-

tion supplied their wants out of the numerous

herds of the latter. It was some recent raid

of this sort which roused the wrath of Bread-

albane ; and on poor Macdonald's head hghted

aU the blame and the punishment of the

ineffectual negotiation. What became of the

money has never been clearly ascertained

;

but much can be inferred from Breadalbane's

answer when asked afterwards by Lord Not-

tingham to account for it, " The money is

spent, the Highlands are quiet, and this is the

only way of accounting among friends."

Like many of his contemporaries, Bread-

albane attached himself openly to King

WUliam's government only because it was

for the time the winning side; while at

the same time he professed secretly to be

attached to the interest of the exiled King

James. He told the Highland chiefs that

in urging them to enter into terms with

the government, he had their own interests

and those of King James at heart ; for there

being then " no other appearance of relief, he

thought they could not do better than sue for

a cessation, which would be a breathing to

them, and give them time to represent their

circmnstances to King James." * A contem-

porary characterises him as being " cunning as

a fox ; wise as a serpent ; but as sUppery as an

eeL No govermnent can trust him but where

his own private interest is in ^dew."9

As the chiefs did not seem in any hurry to

come to terms, a proclamation was issued, in

' Carstares' Pupa-i, p 138.

' Meinairs of Mackaij ^ Secret Services, p. 199.

Quoted by liuiton.

August 1C91, requiring them to take the oath

of allegiance before the 1st of January 1692,

threatening all those who did not comply with

"letters of fire and sword." This had the

proper effect, as, one by one, the chiefs swore

fealty to the government, Macdonald of Glen-

coe, from pride or some other reason, being

the last to comply with the terms of the pro-

clamation. The difficulty in getting the chiefs

to come to terms, and thus allowing the gov-

ernment to pursue its other schemes without

anxiety, seems at last to have irritated Sir John

Dalrj-mple so much against them, that latterly

he eagerly desired that some, and especially

the various tribes of Macdonalds, might hold

out beyond the time, in order that an example

roight be made of them by putting into execu-

tion the penalty attached to the non-fulfilment

of the terms of the proclamation. In a letter

to Breadalbane of Dec. 2d, he thinks " the

clan Donald must be rooted out and Lochiel,"

and is doubtfid whether the money " had been

better employed to settle the Highlands, or to

ravage them." In another written on the

following day he mentions with approval

Breadalbane's " mauling scheme," artfully rous-

ing the latter's indignation by speaking of the

cliiefs' ungratefulness to him, using at the same

time the significant jshrase delenda est Car-

thago. He and Breadalbane seemed however

likely to be cheated of their vengeance, for

even the obstinate and hated l\Iao Ian himself,

after holding out to the very last day, hastened

to fidfil the requirements of the proclamation,

and thus place himself beyond the power of

the strong arm of the law.

On the 31st of December, 1691, Glencoe

made his way to Fort^William, and presented

liimself to Colonel Hill the governor, asking

him to administer the required oath of allegi-

ance. The Colonel, however, declined to act,

on the ground, that according to the proclama-

tion, the civO. magistrate alone could admin-

ister them. Glencoe remonstrated with HiU

on account of the exigency of the case, as

there was not any magistrate whom he could

reach before the expiration of that day, but

Hill persisted in asserting that it was out of

liis power to act in the matter. He, however,

advised Glencoe to proceed instantly to Inver-

ary, giving him at the same time a letter to
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Sir Colin Campbell of Ardkiuglass, sheriff of

Argyleshire, begging liim. to receive Glencoe

as " a lost sheep," and to administer to him

the necessary oaths. HiU also gave Glencoe

a letter of protection, and an assurance that

no proceedings should be instituted against

him under the proclamation, till he should

have an opportunity of laying his case before

the king or the privy council.

Glencoe left Fort-WiUiam immediately, and

so great was Jiis anxiety to reach Inverary with

as little delay as possible, that although his

way lay through mountains almost impassable,

and although the country was deeply covered

with snow, he proceeded on his journey with-

out even stoppmg to see his family, though he

passed within half a mile of liis own house.

On arriving at Inverary, Sir Colin Campbell

was absent, and he had to wait three days tiU

his return, Sir Colin having been prevented

from reaching Inverary sooner, on account of

the badness of the weather. As the time

allowed by the proclamation for taking the

oaths had expired. Sir Colin declined at first

to swear Glencoe, alleging that it would be of

no use to take the oaths ; but Glencoe having

first importuned him with tears to receive from

him the oath of allegiance, and having there-

after threatened to protest against the sheriff

should he refuse to act, Sir Cohn yielded, and

administered the oaths to Glencoe and his

attendants on the 6tli of January. Glencoe,

thereupon, returned home in perfect reliance

that having done his utmost to comply with

the injunction of the government, he was free

from danger.

Shortly after this, Campbell transmitted to

Colin Campbell, sheriff-clerk of Aigyle, who
was then in Edinburgh, the certificate of Glen-

coe's oath on the same paper with other certifi-

cates, sending at the same time the letter

which he had received from Hill. Campbell

showed this paper with Hill's letter to several

privy councillors, among whom was the Earl

of Stair, aU of whom were of opinion that the

certificate could not be received without a

waiTant from the king. Instead, however, of

laying the matter before the privy council, or

informing Glencoe of the rejection of the

certificate, that he might petition the king,

Campbell gave in the paper to the clerks of

the council with Glencoe's certificate " delete

and obliterate."

Whether tliis was done at the instigation of

Secretary Dalrymple, it is impossible to say

;

but it is not improbable that this man—who,

a few weeks before, had exulted ' that as the

winter was the only season in which tlie High-

landers could not escape, they could easily be

destroyed " in the cold long nights "—was not

an indifferent spectator to Campbell's proceed-

ings. In fact, it appears that the secretary

contemplated the total extirpation of the clans,

for, in a letter to Sii- Thomas Livingston, com-

mander of the forces in Scotland, dated Janu-

ary 7th, he says, " You know in general that

these troops posted at Inverness and Inver-

lochie, win be ordered to take in the house of

Innergarie, and to destroy entu'ely the coimtry

of Lochaber, Loohiel's lands, Keppoch's, Glen-

garie's, and Glencoe," and he adds, " I assiue

you your power shall be full enough, and I

hope the soldiers will not trouble the govern

ment with prisoners."
,
The Macdonalds were

chiefly marked out by him for destruction, and

after saying, in a letter of the 9th, that he

could have wished that they " had not divided"

on the question of taking the oath of indem-

nity, he expresses his regret to find that Kep-

poch and Glencoe were safe. When he heard

two days after from Aigyle, that Glencoe had

not managed to take the oaths within the time

prescribed, he exjjressed a joy which might be

called fiendish, and set himself busily to take

proper advantage of the opportunity." ^ De-

lenda est Carthago.

That no time might be lost in enforcing the

penalties in the proclamation, now that the

time allowed for taking the oath of allegiance

had expired, instructions of rather an equivocal

nature, signed and coimtersigned by the king on

the 11th of January, were sent down by yomig

Stair to Sir Thomas Livingston, enclosed in a

letter from the secretary of same date. By
the instructions, Livingston was ordered "to

march the troops against the rebels who had

not taken the benefit of the indemnity, and to

destroy them by fixe and sword;" but lest such

a course might render them desperate, he was

' Letters to Lieutenant-colonel Hamilton, &c. 1st

and 3d Dec. 1691.
^ ^UTt0XL& Scotland, 16S9—171S, vol. i. p. 160.
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allowed to " give terms and quarters, but iii

this manner only, that cliieftains and heritors,

or leaders, be prisoners of war, their lives only

safe, and all other things in mercy, they taking

the oath of allegiance, and the commiuiity

taking the oath of allegiance, and renderuig

their arms, and submitting to the government,

are to have quarters, and indemnity for their

lives and fortunes, and to be protected from

the soldiers." As a hint to Livingston how-

to act under the discretionary power with

which these instructions vested him, Dah-ymple

says in his letter containing them, " I have no

great kindness to Keppoch nor Glencoe, and it

is well that people are in mercy, and then just

now my Lord Argyle tells me that Glencoe

hath not taken the oath, at which I rejoice.

It is a great work of charity to be exact in

rooting out that damnable sect, the worst of

the Highlands."

The purport of this letter coidd not be mis-

understood; but lest Livingston might not feel

disposed to imbrue his hands in the blood of

Glencoe and his people, additional instructions

liearing the date (in Stair's handwriting) of

January 16th, and also signed and counter-

signed by King William, were despatched to

Livingston by the Master of Stair, ordering

him to extirpate the whole clan. In the letter

containing these instructions, Dalrymple in-

forms Livingston that " the king does not at

all incline to receive any after the diet but in

mercy," but he artfully adds, " but for a just

example of vengeance, I entreat the thieving

tribe of Glencoe may be rooted out to purpose."

Lest, however, Livingston might hesitate, a

ihq)licate of these additional instructions' was

These instructions are as follow:

AVlLLIAM R. 16th January, 1692.

1. The copy of the paper given by Jlacdonald of

Aughtera to you has been shown us. We did formerly
grant passes to Bnchan and Cannon, and we do autho-
rize and allow you to grant passes to them, and ten
servants to each of them, to come freely and safely to

Leith ; from that to be transported to the Nether-
lands before the 15th of March next, to go from
thence where they please, without any stop or trouble.

2. We doe allow you to receive the submissions of

Glengarry and those with him upon their taking the
oath of allegiance and delivering up the house of
Invergarry ; to be safe as to their lives, but as to their
estates to depend upon our mercy.

3. In case you find that the house of Invergarry
cannot probably be taken in this season of the year,
with the artillery and provision you can bring there

;

sent at the same time by Secretary Dalrymple

to Colonel ndl, the governor of Fort-Williani,

with a letter of an import similar to that sent

to Livingston. From the following extract it

would appear that not only the Earl of Bread-

albane, but also the Earl of Argyle, was privy

to this infamous transaction. " The Earls of

Argyle and Ereadalbane have promised that

they (the ]\Iacdonalds of Glencoe) shall have no

retreat in their bounds, thejiasses to Eannoch

woidd be secured, and the hazard certified to

the laird of Weems to reset them ; in that case

Argyle's detacliment with a party that may bo

posted in Island Stalker must cut them off."

Preparatory to putting the butchering war-

rant in execution, a party of Argyle's regiment,

to the number of 1 20 men, under the command
of Captain Campbell of Glenlyon, was ordered

to proceed to Glencoe, and take up their quar-

ters there, about the end of January or begin-

ning of February. On approaching the Glen,

they were met by John Macdonald, the elder

son of the chief, at the head of about 20 men,

who demanded from Campbell the reason of

his coming into a peaceful country with a

military force; Glenlyon and two subalterns

who were with him explained that they camo

as friends, and that their sole object was to

obtain suitable quarters, where they could con-

veniently collect the arrears of cess and hearth-

money,—a new tax laid on by the Scottish

parliament in 1690,—in proof of which. Lieu-

tenant Lindsay produced the instructions of

Colonel Hill to that effect. They thereupon

received a hearty welcome, and were hospitably

entertained by Glencoe and his people tUl the

fatal morning of the massacre. Indeed, so

familiar was Glenlyon, that scarcely a day

in that case we leave it to your discretion to give

Glengarry the assurance of entire indemnity for life

and fortune, upon delivering of the house and arms,

and taking the oath of allegiance. In this you are to

act as you find the circumstances of the affair do re-

quire; but it were much better that those who have
not taken the benefit of our indemnity, in the terms

within the diet prefixt by our proclamation, should be

oliliged to render upon mercy. The taking the oath

of allegiance is indispensable, others having already

taken it.

4. If M'Ean of Glencoe and that tribe can be weL
separated from the rest, it will be a proper vindication

of the public justice to extirpate that set of thieves.

The double of these instructions is only communicAted
to Sir Thomas Livingston.

W". Rex.
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passed that he dij not visit the house of

Alexander Macdonald, the younger son of the

cliief, who was man-ied to Glenlyon's niece,

tlie sister of Rob Roy, and take his " morning

drink," agreeably to the most approved practice

of Highland hospitality.

If Secretary Dalrymple imagined that Liv-

ingston was disinclined to follow his instruc-

tions he was mistaken, for immediately on

receipt of them he wrote Lieutenant-colonel

Hamilton, who had been fixed upon by the

secretary to be the executioner, expressing his

satisfaction that Glencoe had not taken the

oath within the period prescribed, and urging

him, If he wished to approve himself to the

government, to execute his commission with

the utmost rigour, and " not to trouble the

government wtli prisoners." In the meantime,

the Master of Stair was taking every precaution

that the deed should be done suddenly and

effectively, and accordingly, on the 13th of

January he wrote two letters, one to Living-

ston, and the otlier to HUl, urging them on.

Addressing the former, he says, " I am glad

Glencoe did not come in within the time pre-

fixed; I hope what is done there may be in

earnest, since the rest are not in a condition to

draw together help. I think to harry (plunder)

their cattle and burn their houses is but to

render them desperate lawless men to rob their

neighbours, but I believe you wUl be satisfied,

it were a great advantage to the nation that

thieving tribe were rooted out and cut off; it

must be quietly done, other^vise they wiU

make shift for both their men and their cattle."

And in his letter to Hill he says, " Pray, when
the thing concerning Glencoe is resolved, let it

be secret and sudden, otherwise the men will

shift you, and better not meddle with them

than not to do it to pm-pose, to cut off that

nest of robbers who have fallen in the mercy

of the law, now when there is force and oppor-

tunity, whereby the king's justice will be as

conspicuous and useful as his clemency to

others. I apprehend the storm is so great that

for some time you can do little, but so soon as

possible I know you will be at work, for these

false people will do nothing, but as they see

you in a condition to do with them."

In pursuance of these fresh instructions from

the secretary, HiU, on the 12th of Februarj',

sent orders to Hamilton, forthwith to execute

the fatal commission. Accordingly, on the

same day, Hamilton directed Major Robert

Duncanson of Argj-le's regiment to proceed

immediately with a detachment of that regi-

ment to Glencoe, so as to reach the post which

had been assigned him by five o'clock the fol-

lo^ving morning, at which hour Hamilton pro-

mised to reach another post with a party of

Hdl's regiment. Whether Duncanson, who
appears to have been a Campbell,* was averse

to take an active personal part in the bloody

tragedy about to be enacted, is a question that

cannot now be solved; but it may have been

from some repugnance to act in person that

immediately on receipt of Hamilton's order, he

despatched another order from himself to Cap-

tain Campbell of Glenlyon, then living in

Glencoe, vnth. instructions to fall upon the

Macdonalds precisely at five o'clock the fol-

lowing morning, and put aU to the sword

under seventy years of age.

'

* See note at p. 165, vol. i. of Burton's Scotland,

1689—1748.

' Colonel Hill's Order to Lieut. -Col. James
Hamilton.

'Sir,

"Fort Waiiam, 12th Feb., 1692.

"You are, with 400 of my regiment, and
the 400 of my LorJ Argyle's regiment under the com-
mand of Major Duncanson, to march straight to

Glenco, and there put in due execution the orders you
have received from the commander-in-chief. Given
under my hand at Fort William, the 12th February
1692.

"J. Hill."
" To Lieut, -Col. James Hainiltony

Order from Lieut.-Col. Hamilton, to Major Kobert
DCNCANSON.

" Ballechylls, 12th Feb., 1692.

"Sir,
'

' Persuant to the commander-in-chief and
my colonel's order to me for putting in execution the

King's commands against those rebels of Glenco,

wherein you with the party of the Earl of Argyle's

regiment under your command, are to be concerned ;

you are therefore forthwith to order your affair so, an

that the several posts already assigned you be by you

and your several detachments fain in activeness pre-

cisely by five of the clock to-morrow moniiug, being

Saturday ; at which time I will endeavour the same
with those appointed from this regiment from the

other places. It will be most necessary you secure

well those avenues on the south side, that the old fox,

nor none of his cubbs get away. The orders are, that

none be spared of the sword, nor the government
troubled with prisoners ; which is all until I see you

from,

"Sir,

"Your most humble Serpant,

"James Hamiltoune.
"
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Glenlyon appears to have been a mau equal

to any kind of loathsome work, especially

against a Macdonald; one who

"CouKl smile, aiul murder while he sniileil."

With this sanguinary order in his pocket,

and with his mind made up unhesitatingly and

rigorously to execute it, he did not liesitate to

spend the eve of the massacre playing at cards

with John and Alexander Macdonald, the

sons of the chief, to wish them good night at

parting, and to accept an invitation from

Glencoe himself to dine with him the follow-

ing day. Little suspecting the intended

butcheiT, Glencoe and his sons retired to rest

at their usual hour; but early in the morning,

whUe the preparations for the intended mas-

sacre were going on, John Macdonald, the

elder son of the chief, hearing the sound of

voices about his house, grew alarmed, and

jumping out of bed tlu-ew on his clothes and

\rent to Inverriggen, where Glenlyon was

quartered, to ascertain the cause of the un-

usual bustle which had interrupted liis noc-

turnal slumbers. To his great surprise he

found the soldiers all in motion, as if preparing

for some enterprise, which induced him to in-

quire at Captain Campbell the object of these

" Please to order a guard to secure the ferry, and
linats there ; ami the boats must be all on this side
the feri-y after your men are over.

" For theii- Majesty's service.

" To Major Robert Dimcaiison of the

Earl of Argylcs Ecgt."

Order from Major DuNCANSON to Captain Egbert
Campbell of Glenlyon.

'Sir,

" 12th Feb., 1692.

" You are hereby ordered to fall upon the
rebells the Macdonalds of Gleuco, and put all to the
sword under seventy. You are to have a special care
that the old fo.x and his sons do not escape your hands;
you are to secure all the avenues that no man escape.
This you are to put in execution at five of the clock
precisely; and by that time, or very shortly after it,

I will strive to be at you with a stronger p:irty. If 1

do not come to you at five, you are not to tarry for me
but to fall on. This is by the king's speciall com-
mands, for the good and .safety of the countrey, that
these miscreants bo cut off, root and branch. See
that this be put in execution without fear or favour,
or you may expect to be dealt with as one not true to
king or government, nor as man fit to carry commis-
sion in the king's service. Expecting you will not
fail in the fulfilling hereof, as you love yourself, I

mibscribe this with my hand at Ballychvlls, the 12th
February, 1692.

"Robert Duncanson."

extraordinary preparations at such an early

hoirr. The anxiety with which young Mac-

donald pressed his question, indicating a secret

cUstrust on his part, Campbell endeavoured by

professions of friendship to lull his suspicions,

and pretended that his sole design was to

march against some of Glengarry's men. As
John Macdonald, the younger son of Glencoe,

was married to Glenlyon's niece, that crafty

knave referred to his connexion with the

family of Glencoe, and put it to the young

man, whether, if he intended any thing hostile

to the clan, he would not have provided for

the safety of his niece and her husband. Mac-

donald, apparently satisfied with this explana-

tion, returned home and retired again to rest,

but he had not been long in bed when his

servant, who, apprehensive of the real inten-

tions of Glenlyon and his party, had prevented

Macdonald from sleeping, informed liim of the

approach of a party of men towards the house.

Jumping immediately out of bed he ran to the

door, and perceiving a body of about 20

soldiers with muskets and fixed bayonets com-

ing in the direction of his house, he fled to a

hill in the neighbourhood, where he was joined

by his brother Alexander, who had escaped

from the scene of carnage, after being wakened

from sleep by his servant.

The massacre commenced about five o'clock

in the morning at tlu-ee different places at once.

Glenlyon, with a barbarity which fortunately

for society has few parallels, undertook to

butcher his o-svn hospitable landlord and the

other inhabitants of Inverriggen, where he and

a party of his men were quartered, and de-

spatched Lieutenant Lindsay with another

party of soldiers to Glencoe's house to cut off

the unsuspecting chief. Under the pretence

of a friendly visit, he and his party obtained

admission into the house. Glencoe was in

bed, and while in the act of rising to receive

his cruel visitors, was basely shot at by two of

the soldiers, and fell lifeless into the arms of

his wife. The lady in the extremity of her

anguish leaped out of bed and put on her

clothes, but the ruffians stripped her naked,

pulled the ring." oif her fingers with their teeth,

and treated her so cruelly that she died the

following day. The party also killed two men
whom they found in the house, and woLinded
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a tliird named Duncan Don, who came occa- ,

sioually to Glencoe with letters from Braemar.
I

While the butchery was going on in Glen-
j

coe's house, Glenlyon was husily doing his .

bloody work at Inverriggen, where his own i

host was shot by his order. Here the party
|

seized nine men, whom they first bound hand
;

and foot, after which they shot them one b^' I

one. Glenlyon was desirous of saving the Life I

of a young man about twenty years of age,

but one Captain Drummond shot him dead.
|

The snmp nffircr. imnelled hv a tliir.4 for blood. '

ran his dagger through the body of a boy wuo
had grasped Campbell by the legs and was

supplicating for mercy.

A third party under the command of one

Sergeant Barker, which was quartered in the

village of Auchnaion, fired upon a body of

nine men whom they observed in a house

in the village sitting before a fire. Among
these was the laird of Aucliintriaten, who was

killed on the spot, along with four more of the

party. This gentleman had at the time a pro-

iL'ctiiJU in liis i.uck.'t from CoI.,nrl Hill, which

In; had received three mouths before. The

remainder of the party in the house, two or

three of whom were wounded, escaped by the

back of the house, with the exception of a

brother of Auchintriaten, who having been

seized by Barker, requested him as a favour not

to despatch him in the house but to kill him

without. The sergeant consented, on account

of having shared his generous hospitahtj' ; but

when brought out he threw his plaid, which he

had kept loose, over the faces of the soldiers

who were appointed to shoot him, and thus

escaped.

3esides the slaughter at these three places,

there were some persons dragged from their

beds and murdered in other parts of the Glen,

imong whom was an old man of eighty years

of age ; in all, 38 persons were slaughtered.

Tlie whole male population under 70 years of

age, amounting to 200, would in all likeliliood

have been cut off, if, fortimately for them, a

party of 400 men under Lieutenant-colonel

Hamilton, who was principally charged vrith

the execution of the sanguinary warrant, had

not been prevented by the severity of the

weather from reaching the Glen tUl eleven

o'clock, six hours after the slaughter, by which

time the whole surviving male inhabitants,

warned of their danger and of the fate of their

chief and other sufferers, had fled to the hills.

Ignorant of this latter circumstance, Hamilton,

on arriving at the pass, appointed several

parties to proceed to different pai'ts of the

Glen, with orders to take no piisoners, but to
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kill all the men that came in tlieir way. They

had not, however, proceeded for when they fell

in with Major Duncanson's party, by whom
they were informed of the events of the morn-

ing, and wlio told them tliat as the sivrvivors

Lad escaped to the hiUs, they had nothing to

do but to biu-n the houses, and carry otf the

eattle. They accordingly set fire to the houses,

and having collected the cattle and effects

in the Glen-, cari'ied them to Inverlochy,

where they were divided among the officers of

tl'.o garrison. That Hamilton would have

executed his commission to the very letter, is

evident from the fact, tbat an old man, above

seventy, the only remaining male inliabitant of

the desolate vale they fell in with, was put to

death by his orders.

After the destruction of the houses, a heart-

rending scene ensued. Ejected from their

dwellings by the devouring element, aged ma-

trons, women with child, and mothers, with

infants at their breasts and followed by child-

ren on foot, clinging to them with all the

solicitude and anxiety of helplessness,, were to

be seen wending their way, almost in a state

of muUty, towards the mountains in quest of

some friendly hovel, beneath whose roof they

might seek shelter from the pitQess tempest

and deplore their unhappy fate. But as there

were no houses witbin the distance of several

mdes, and as these could only be reached by

crossing mountains deeply covered with snow,

a great number of these unhappy beings, over-

come by fatigue, cold, and himger, dropt down

and perished miserably among the snow.

While this brutal massacre struck terror into

the hearts of the Jacobite chiefs, and thus so

far served the immediate object of the govern-

ment, it was highly prejudicial to King Wil-

liam. In every quarter, even at court, the

account of the massacre was received at first

with incredulity, and then with horror and

indignation ; and the Jacobite party did not

fail to turn the affair to good account against

the government, by exaggerating, botli at home

and abroad, the barbarous details. The odium

of the nation rose to such a pitch, that had

the exiled monarch appeared at the head of a

few thousand men, he would, probably, have

succeeded in regaining his croivn. The minis-

try, and even King Wilham, grow alarmed,

and to pacify the people he dismissed tlui

blaster of Stair from his councils, and appointed

a commission of inquiry to investigate the afi'air.

As for the Master of Stair, at whose door

the chief blame of the infamous transaction was

laid by the commission of inquiry, and who is

popidarly considered to have been a heartless

and bloodtliirsty wretch, he could not under-

stand the intlignant astonishment expressed on

aU hands at what he considered a most patri-

otic, beneficial, and in every respect higlily

commendable proceeding. He considered that

he had done his ungrateful country excelleitt

service in doing a little to root out a band of

pestilential banditti, whom he regarded in as

bad a light as the Italian government of the

present day does the unscrupidous robbers who-

infest the country, or as the American gov-

ernment did the bloodtliirsty Indians wh-o

harassed the frontiers. Letters of "fire and

sword " against the Highlanders were as com-

rrkon, in the days of tlie Stewarts, as warrants

for the apprehension of house-breakers or forgers

are at the present day. They were looked

upon as semi-civilized aborigines,^haracterised

by such names as "rebellious and. bajbarou?

thieves, Ununers, sorners," &c. ; and the killing

of a Higlilandman was thought no more of

than the killing of a " nigger " was in the

slave-states of America. In various acts of the

privy coimcU of Scotland, the clan Gregor is

denounced in the above terms, and was visited

wath all the terrors of,'" fire and sword."

" Their habitations were di^troyed. They were

hunted down like wild beasts. Their very

name was proscribed."^ We have already

referred to, in its proper place, a mandate from

King James V. in 1.583, against the clan

Chattan, in which he chaises his lieges to

invade the clan " to their utter destruction by

slaughter, burning, drowning, and otherways

;

and leave no creature living of that clan, except

priests, women, and bairns." Even Captain

Burt, in the beginning of the next century,

writes of the Highlanders as if they were an

interesting race of semi-barbarians, many of

whom would cut a man's throat for the mere

sake of keeping their hands in practice. ^ In

" ifaitland Chih, vol. containing Pnpers on tha

Condition of the Highlands, 1686—1696. Prefi.ne.

^ Letters fr&r>i a Gentleman in the North.

3e
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a letter of the 5th March, 1(392, after refcrrmg

to the unirersal talk in London ahout the

transaction, Dalrymple says, " All I regret is,

that any of the sort got away ; and there is a

necessity to prosecute them to the utmost."

Again, -miting to Colonel Hill in April of the

same year, he tells him that " as for tlie people

of Glencoe, when you do j'our duty in a thing

so necessary to rid the country of thieving,

you need not trouhle yourself to take the pains

to vindicate yourself. When you do right,

you need fear nohody. All that can he said

is, tliat, in the execution, it was neither so full

nor 80 fair as might have been." Indeed we
think that any one who examines into the

matter with unbiassed and cool mind, which

is diffieidt, cannot faU to conclude that neither

private spite nor heartless bloodthirstiness actu-

ated him in bringing about the transaction

;

but that he sincerely thought he was doing his

country a service in taking the only effectual

means of putting down a public pest and a

hindrance to progress.

Had the clan been proceeded against in open

and legitimate warfare, resulting in its utter

extinction, the affair might have occupied no

more than a short paragraph in this and other

histories. There can be no doubt that what

gives the deed its nefarious stamp, is the

fiendishly deliberate and deceitful way in

wliich it was accomplished, in violation of

laws of hospitality which are respected even

by cutrthroat Arabs. And after all it was a

blunder.

As to whether King "William knew the fall

significance of the order which he signed,

and what was the extent of his knowledge

of the circumstances, are points which can

never be ascertained. It is mere meaningless

declamation to talk of it as a foul and indelible

blot on his character and reign. " The best

that can be done for the cause of truth, is to

give the facts abundantly and accurately. Tlie

character of the revolution king is one of the

questions wluch political passion and partizan-

ship have not yet let go, so that reason may

take it up. And with those who believe that,

by his very act of heading the revolution wliich

drove forth the Stewarts, he was the man to

order and urge on the miirder of an interesting

and loyal clan, it would he quite useless to

discuss the question on the ground of rational

probabilities."^

Though the nation had long desired an

inquiry into this barbarous afiair, it was not

until the 29th of April, 169.5, upwards of three

years after the massacre, that a commission

was granted. A commission had indeed been

issued in 1693 appointing the Duke of Hamil-

ton and others to examine into the affair, but

this was never acted iipon. The Marquis of

Tweeddale, lord high chancellor of Scotland,

and the other commissioners now appointed,

accordingly entered upon the inquiry, and,

after examining witnesses and documents, drew

up a report and transmitted it to his majesty.

The commissioners appear to have executed

their task, on the whole, with great fairness,

although they put the very best construction

on William's orders, and tlirew the whole

blame of the massacre upon Secretary Dal-

rymple.

The report of the commissioners was laid

before the parliament of Scotland on the 24th

of June, which decided that the execution of

the Glencoe-men was a murder, resolved nemine

coniradii-'tnfe, that the instructions contained

in the wan'ant of the 16th January, 1692, did

not authorise the massacre. After various

sittings on the subject, "the committee for the

security of the kingdom" was appointed to

draw up an address to the king on the subject

of the massacre, which being submitted to

parliament on the 10th of Jidy, was voted and

approved of.

No active measures in the way of pimishing

either principals or subordinates, however,

were taken in consequence of the findings of

the commission and the recommendations of

parliament, except that Breadalbane, who they

found had laid himself open to a charge of

liigh treason, was imprisoned for a few days

in Edinburgh castle. A curious and interest-

ing incident came out during the sitting of the

commission, tending to show that Breadalbane

was conscious of a verj' large share of guUt,

and was fuUy aware of the heinous and nefari

ous character of the bloody transaction. Some

days after the slaughtfr, a person sent by

Breadalbane's steward waited upon Glencoe's

5 Burton's Scotland, 1689—174S, vol. i. p. 17i.
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sons, and told them that if they would declare

that his lordship had no concern in tlie

slaughter, they might be assured that the earl

would procure their "remission and restitution."

As the survi\dng Macdonalds, who on their

humble petition and promise of good behaviour

were allowed to retui-n to the glen, had been

reduced to great poverty and distress by the

destruction of their property, and as they had

conducted themselves with great moderation

under their misfortunes, the estates solicited

his majesty to order reparation to be made to

them for the losses they had sustained in their

properties. Wlietlier the "royal charity and

compassion " invoked by the estates in behalf

of these unfortimate people were ever exercised

does not appear ; but it is higHy probable, that

this part of the address was as little heeded as

the rest.' In fact, the whole matter was

' The following extraordinaiy anecdote is given by
General Stewart {Sketches, vol. i.) in reference to the

puni-shment which, in the opinion of the Highlanders,

awaits the descendants of the oppressor. " The belief

that pnnishnient of the cruelty, oppression, or mis-

conduct of an individual, descended as a curse on his

children to the third and fourth generation, was not

confined to the common people. All ranks were influ-

enced by it, believing that if the curse did not fall

upon the first, or second generation, it would inevi-

tably descend upon the succeeding. The late Colonel

Campbell of Gleulyon retained this belief through a

course of thirty years' intercourse with the world, as

an officer of the 42d regiment, and of marines. He
was grandson of the laird of Glenlyon, who commanded
the military at the massacre of Glencoe ; and who lived

in the laird of Glencoe's house, where he and his men
were hospitably received as friends, and entertained

a fortnight before the execution of his orders. He
was playing at cards with the family when the first

shot wa-s fired, and the murderous scene commenced.
Colonel Campbell was an additional captain in the 42d
regiment in 1748, and was put on half pay. He then

entered the marines, and in 1762 was major, with the

brevet rank of lieutenant-colonel, and commanded 800

of his corps at the Havannah. In 1771, he was
ordered to superintend the execution of the sentence

of a court-martial on a soldier of marines, condemned
to be shot. A reprieve was sent, but the whole cere-

mony of the execution was to proceed until the crimi-

nal was upon his knees, with a cap over his eyes,

prepared to receive the volley. It was then he was to

be informed of his pardon. No person was to be told

previously, and Colonel Campbell was directed not to

inform even the firing party, who were warned that

the signal to fire would be the waving of a white
handkerchief by the commanding officer. AVhen all

was prepared, and the clergyman had left the prisoner

on his knees, in momentary expectation of his fate,

and the tiring party were looking with intense atten-

tion for the signal. Colonel Campbell put his hand
into his pocket for the reprieve, and in pulling out

the packet the white handkerchief accompanied it,

and catching the eyes of the party, they fired, and the

unfortunate prisoner was shot deacL

"The paper dropped through Colonel Campbell's

hushed up, and it now lives in the page of his-

tory as a sad and somewhat inexplicable blun-

der, which has rendered the memories of those

who contrived it and those who executed it, for

ever infamous. ^

These measures of the government, concilia-

tory and threatening, seem to have had tho

effect for the time of suppressing open hos-

tility at least among the Higlilanders ; but

from tlie natui-e of tliat people, and the method

in wliich government treated them, we can

readily believe that their obedience was none

of the heartiest, and that they would be glad

any moment to join in an attempt to oust King
WiUiam and restore King James. During the

whole of William's reign his peace of mind
was being continually disturbed by rumours

and discoveries of plots, and by threats of a

hostUe descent on this country from France.

In aU these the Highland chiefs had their fair

share, and were ready to receive with open

arms any hostile expedition which might be

fortunate enough to effect a landing on their

coasts.

The stirring events of the last fifty years, in

which the Highlanders played a conspicuous

part, appear to have been the means of draw-

ing their attention somewhat away fi'om their

hereditary clan-quarrels, and thus rendering

their destructive internal strifes less frequent.

But now that there was no external outlet for

their belligerent propensities, they appear agam

to have resumed their old clan feuds. "To bo

at peace, unless they were disarmed and over

awed, was not in their nature ; and neither the

fingers, and clapping his hand to his forehead, he ex-

claimed, ' The curse of God and of Glencoe is here, I

am an unfortunate ruined man.' He desired the
soldiers to be sent to the barracks, instantly quitted
the parade, and soon afterwards retired from the
service. This retirement was mt the result of any
reflection or reprimand on account of this unfortunate

affair, as it was known to be entirely accidental. The
impression on his mind, however, wa.s never effaced.

Nor is the massacre and the judgment which the
people believe has fallen on the descendants of tlie

principal actors in this tragedy, effaced from their re-

collection. They carefully note, that while the family

of the unfortunate gentleman who .suffered is still

entire, and his estate preserved in direct male succes-

sion to his posterity, this is not the case with the

family, posterity, and estates, of those who were the

principals, promoters, and actors in this black affair."

^ Report of Commission on Glencoe : Carstare's

State Papers : Gallienus Redivivus : Dalrymple's Me-
moirs and Appendix : Papers on the Condilion of the

Highlatids in Maitland Club.
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law nor the military power of the nation was

tlien on a scale sufficient to have accomplished

these ends. We even find those chiefs who

had ingratiated themselves with the govern-

ment, ohtaining, though not so readily as for-

merly, the writs known by the savage name

of 'letters of fiie and sword' against their

enemies. These were licenses for civil war,

giving the sanction of government aid and

encouragement to one side in the conflict.

They authorised the favoured clan to himi,

waste, and slay, far and wide, within the terri-

tory of their enemies, setting forth—such were

the words of style used by the clerks of the

privy council who prepared these terrible docu-

ments— ' that whatever slaughter, mutOation,

blood, fire-raising, or other violence' may be

done by the persons holding the letters, shall

be held ' laudable, good, and warrantable ser-

vice to his majesty and his government.'

There is little doubt that the readiness with

which these warrants were issued in earlier

times, arose from the \'iew that it was a good

thing to encourage the Highlanders in slaying

each other, and doubtless, even for a few years

after such an event as Glencoe, such a feeling

would linger in the usual official quarters.

Though it was professed that no one coidd

obtain letters of fire and sword but a litigant

who could not enforce his just claims, it would

be generally a vain task to examine the relative

merits of the two sides, expecting to find one

of them in the right. Any mitigation wliich

the horrors of such a system may have received

in later times, would be from the garrison of

Fort-William being associated in arms with

the holders of the letters."!

The materials for the internal history of the

Highlands at tliis period are scanty; doubtless

there were many petty strifes carried on be-

tween hostile clans, and many cattle-lifting

raids made by the Highland borderers upon

their lowland neighbours, but no records of

these appear to have been kept.

Shortly after the Glencoe massacre, a scheme

appears to have been proposed to the king by

Breadalbane^ for utilizing the Highlanders

" in case of any insurrection at home, or inva-

pion from abroad." The gist of it was that

' Burton'? Scotland, 1689—1748. vnl. i., pp. 175, 176.

' Dalrymple's Appendix, vol. u., part ii. p. 217.

the Highland chiefs should be ordered to raise

a body of 4,000 men, who woiild be so dis-

ciplined that they would be ready to be called

out when reqmred, and who were to be com-

manded by " some principal man in the High-

lands," who would have the pay of a general

officer. This "principal man," Breadalbane

doubtless meant to be himself, as he suggests

that the second in command should be Lochiel,

who he said was ambitious to serve liis majestj',

and was a Protestant. Forty subordinate offi-

cers were to be appointed, Breadalbane wisely

suggesting that these should be of Highland

extraction, and that the soldiers themselves

should be allowed to use their own apparel,

their own arms, and to be disciplined after

their own fashion. As will be afterwards seen,

government appears to have acted on this or

some similar proposal, and organized a few

independent Highland companies. We give

below the number of men which, according to

Breadalbane's estimate, each of tlie chiefs to

which the proposal referred could raise. It is

probably considerably below the number of

men capable of bearing arms, who were at the

command of the various chiefs named. ^

^ List of chieftains to which the proposals relate :^
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It is about tMs time that tlio famous Robert

Macgi'egor, better known as Rob Roy, first

emerges into notice. The details of his life

will be found in the account of the Clan Mac-

gregor, in Part Second of tliis work.

Durmg this reign, and shortly after the

husliing-up of the Glencoe aflfaii', there came

into prominence another character, destined to

play a far more important part in the history

of the Highlands and of the country generally,

than Rob Roy, whom he resembled in the xm-

sorupulous means he took to attain his ends,

but whose rude but genuine sense of honour

and sincerity lie appears to have been entu-ely

devoid of. This was the notorious Simon

Eraser, so well known afterwards as Lord

Lovat. He was born, according to some

authorities, in the year 1670, but according to

himself in 1676, and was the second son of

Thomas Eraser, styled of Beaufort, near Inver-

ness, fourth son of Hugh, ninth Lord Lovat.

Simon's mother was dame Sybilla Macleod,

daughter of the chief of the Macleods. He
was educated at King's College, Aberdeen,

where he is said highly to have distinguished

himself, and to have taken the degree of Master

of Arts.* " One can easily beheve that Simon,

with his brain ever at work, and his ambition

ever on the stretch, would let no one outstrip

him. . . . His subsequent full and free

use of the Erench indicates an aptitude for

languages seldom equalled, and his tone of

imting and speaking was that of a scholar,

always when he thought fit that it should be

so. "5 In 1695, he was induced to leave the

university, just as he was about to enter upon

the study of law, and accept a company in a

regiment raised for the service of King William,

by Lord Murray, son of the Marquis of Athole,

whose daughter was married to the then Lord

Lovat, Simon's cousin. Simon, who pretended

the most inviolable loyalty to the exiled King

James, gives as his excuse for acceptmg this

Sir Donald M'Donald, of Sleat,
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Captain Eraser sent the fiery cross and coronach

through the country of his clan, and immedi-

ately had at his command a body of 500 armed

men. With this small army, Eraser, accom-

panied by his prisoners, proceeded to Castle

Dounie, of which they took possession, senti-

nels being placed in all the rooms, particolarly

Lady Lovat's. The prisoners, after being de-

tained for some time in the Island of Angus in

the Beauly river, were dismissed.

Burton^ very justly remarks, that the whole

of these wild acts were evidently the result of

a series of impulses. What followed appears

to have been equally unpremeditated and the

result of pure impulse. Simon deteiiniaed to

atone to himself for the loss of the daughter

by forcibly wedding the mother, whom he

liimself describes as a widow " old enough to

be his mother, dwarfish in her person, and

deformed in her shape." '' Eor this purpose her

three waiting maids were carried by force out

of the room, and about two in the morning one

of them was brought back and found her lady

" sitting on the floor, her hair dishevelled, her

head reclining backwards on the bed, Donald

Beaton pulling off the lady's shoes, and the

Captain holding burning feathers and aqua-

vitae to her nose, her ladysliip being in a

swoon." A mock marriage was performed

between Simon and Lady Lovat, by a wretched

minister of the name of IMunro, and the lady's

clothes having been violently puUed oif her,

her stays being cut oft' mth a dirk, she was

tossed into the bed, to have the marriage con-

summated with violence. Notwithstanding

that the bagpipes were kept playing in the

next room, the poor lady's cries were heard

outside the house. ^ In the mornuig the lady

was found to be so stupified with the brutal

treatment she had received that she could not

recognise her dearest friends.

These violent proceedings caused much con-

sternation in the country, and the Athole

family immediately set about to obtain redress,

or rather revenge. Letters of fire and sword

and of intercommuning were passed against

the whole of the Erasers, and the Marquis of

TuUiebardine organised a force to carry these

^ Lovat, p. 27. " Memoirs, p. 62.

' Pitcaim's Trials, p. 89. Anderson's Fraser

Fwmily, p. 121.

threats into execution. " On the whole, the

force brought against him caimot have been

very large ; but in Simon's own history of hia

conflicts and escapes, the whole afi'air assumes

the aspect of a very considerable campaign, in

which his enemies, spoken of as ' the several

regiments of cavahy, infantry, and dragoons,'

are always defeated and bafiled in an xmac-

countable manner by some handful of Erasers." ^

There does not appear to have been any down-

right skirmish, the only approach to such a

thing being a meeting tliat took place at Strath-

errick between the Erasers and the A thole-

men under the two Lords Murray, in which

the latter threw themselves on the mercy of

Simon, who made them, after the manner of

the ancient Eomans, pass through the yoke,

and at the same time swear by a fearful oath

never again to enter the Lovat territories.

In June, 1698, proceedings were commenced

in the court of justiciary against Eraser and

his accomplices, and in September they were

condemned, in tlieir absence, to be executed as

traitors.

In 1699, died old Eraser of Beaufort, at the

house of his brother-in-law Macleod of Dun-

vegan Castle in Skye, and liis son thenceforth

assumed the title of Lord Lovat. He appears

for some time to have led a wandering life,

subsisting on pillage and the occasional contri-

butions of the attached moimtaineers. ' Tired

of this kind of life, he, at the recommendation

of Argjde, who had endeavoured to secure

favour for him at head-quarters, sued for a

pardon, which King WUliam granted for all

his proceedings except the rape. He was

•n-illing to stand trial on this last head, and for

this purpose appeared in Edinburgh with a

small army of 100 followers as svitnesses; but

as the majority of the judges were prejudiced

against him, he found it prudent again to take

refuge in his mountains. He was outlawed,

and finding liis enemies too powerful for him,

he fled to Erance in 1702, and ofi'ered his

services to King James.

These details show, that amid the growing

civilization and rapid progress of the country

generally, the Highlanders were yet as barbarous

and lawless as ever ; the clans stiU cherisliing

' Burton's Lovat, p. 38. Anderson, 130.
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the same devotion to tlieii' chiefs, and the same

readiness, in defiance of law, to enter into an

extenninatmg mutual strife. The government

appears to have given up in despair- all hopes

of making the Highlanders amenable to tlie

ordinary law of the country, or of rootmg out

from among them those ancient customs so

inconsistent with the spirit of the British con-

stitution. All it apparently aimed at was to

confine the lawless and belligerent propensities

of these troublesome Celts to their own country,

and prevent them from taking a form that

would be injurious to the civdized Lowlanders

and the interests of the existing government

generally. " From old experience in dealing

with the Highlanders, government had learned

a pohcy which suited temjiorary purposes at

all events, however little it tended to the

general pacification and civilisation of the

people. This was, not to trust entirely to a

Lowland government force, but to arm one

clan against another. It seemed a crafty de-

vice for the extermination of these troublesome

tribes, and a real practical adaptation of Swift's

paradoxical project for abolishing pauperism,

by making the poor feed upon each other.

H\it practised as it had been for centuries,

down from the celebrated battle of the anta-

gonist clans on the Inch of Perth, yet it never

seemed to weaken the strength or abate tlie

ferocity of these warlike vagrants, but rather

seemed to nourish their thirst of blood, to

make arms and warfare more familiar and in-

dispensable, and to add every year to the

terrors of this formidable people, who, in the

very bosom of fast civilizing Europe, were as

httle under the control of enlightened social

institutions, and as completely savage in their

iiabits, as the Bosgesman of the East, or the

Black-foot Indian of the West."^

CHAPTER XXIII.

A. D. 1695—17:4.

The Oarien Scliemo—Hopes of the Jacobites—Death
of James 11.—Death of King WiUiam—Accession

of the Piiuces.s Anne—The Scottish Parliament

—

Burton's Life of Lord Loial, p. 36.

Simon Fraser, Lord Lovat—Meeting of .Scottish

Parliament— Union with England— Ferment in

Scotland against it—Hooke's Negotiation—Prepara-

tions in France to invade Scotland—rnsuccessful

result of the expedition—State of Scotland- Pro-

ceedings of the Jacobites—Death of Queen Anne.

In the meantime, December 28, 1694, had

died Queen Mary, to the great grief of her

husband and the sincere regret of the nation

generally.

We are not required to enter here into a

history of the Darien scheme, which originated

in 1695, and was so mismanaged as to mvolve

in ruin thousands of families formerly in com-

parative opulence. It appears to have had

little influence on the Highlands, for although

a few natives took part in the expedition out

of dissatisfaction with WiUiam's govermuent,

the great mass of the Highlanders were too far

behind the age to resort to such a roundabout

means of aggrandizing a fortune.

The attitude assumed by King William and

the government to the Darien expedition exas-

perated the Scottish nation so much that there

seemed to be some danger of a counter-revolu-

tion. To the bitterness of disappointment

succeeded an implacable hostility to the kmg,

who was denounced, in pamplilets of the most

violent and inflammatory tendency, as a hy]w-

crite, and as the deceiver of those who liad

shed their best blood in his cause, and as tlie

author of all the misfortunes which had be-

fallen Scotland. One of these pamplilets was

voted by the House of Commons a false, scan-

dalous, and seditious Ubel, and ordered to be

burned by the common executioner, and an

address was voted to his majesty to issue a

proclamation for apprehending the autlior,

printer, and publisher of the obnoxious publi-

cation. The king was so chagrined at tlie

conduct of the Scotch that he refused to see

Lord Basil Hamilton, who had an addi-ess to

present to his majesty from the company,

praying for his interference on behalf of their

servants who were kept in captivity by the

Spaniards.

In dh-ect contradiction to the House C'f

Lords, the Scottish parliament voted that the

colony of Darien was a lawfid and rightful

settlement which they would support; a reso-

lution which induced the Duke of Queensbem-,

the commissioner, to prorogue the session.
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Tjut tliis step only tended to increase the dis-

contents of the nation; and, to show tlie king

that the people would be no longer trifled

with, an address to his majesty, containing a

detail of national grievances, and representing

the necessity of calling an immediate meeting

of parliament, was dra^^'n up and signed by a

considerable number of the members; and a

deputation, with Lord Eoss at its head, was

appointed to present the address to the king.

His majesty, however, evaded the address, by

informing the deputation that they would be

made acquainted in Scotland with his inten-

tions; and, as if to show his displeasure, he

ordered the parliament to be adjourned by

proclamation.

The Scottish nation was now fuUy ripe for

a rebeUion, but neither James nor liis advisers

had the capacity to avail themselves of passing

events, to snatch the tottering crown from the

head of the illustrious foreigner, who was des-

tined to be the happy instrument of placing

the Liberties of the nation upon a more sure

and permanent footing than they had hitherto

been. The hopes of the Jacobites were, how-

ever, greatly raised by the jarrings between

the king and his Scottish subjects, and an

event occurred, about this time, which tended

stiU farther to strengthen them. This was

the death of the young Duke of Gloucester,

tlie only sm-viving chUd of the Princess Anne,

on the 20th of July, 1700, in the eleventh

year of his age. As the Jacobites considered

that the duke was the chief obstacle in the

way of the accession of the Prince of Wales to

the crown, they could not conceal their plea-

sure at an occurrence which seemed to pave

the way for the restoration of the exiled family,

and they privately despatched a trusty adhe-

rent to Erance to assure King James that they

would settle the succession upon the Prince of

AVales. Such a proposition had indeed been

made by William himself at an interview he

had with Louis XIV. in 1697, when a prospect

opened of James being elected king of Poland

on the death of John Sobiesld; but tliis pro-

posal was rejected by James, who told the

king of France, that though he could bear with

jiutience the usurpation of his nephew and

son-in-law, he would not allow his own son to

commit such an act of injustice; that by per-

mitting his son to reign while he (James) w;is

alive, he would, in fact, be held as having re-

nounced his crown, and that the Prince of

AVales would also be held as having resigned

liis o\vn right, if he accepted the cro^^Ti as

successor to the Prince of Orange. As James

had now given up all idea of a crovTi, and was

wholly engi'ossed with the more important

concerns of a future life, it is probable that he

received the proposal of liis friends in a very

different spmt from that he evinced when
made by William.

The designs of the Jacobites, however, were

frustrated by the intrigues of the Princess

Sophia, Electress and Duchess Dowager of

Hanover, grand-daughter of Kmg James L,

who had for several years contemplated the

plan of getting the succession to the English

crown settled upon herself and her heirs. An
act was accordingly passed by the English

parliament in June, 1701, at the desire of the

king, whom the princess had prevailed upon

to espouse her cause, declaring her to be the

next in succession to the crown of England,

after his majesty and the Princess Aime, in

default of issue of their bodies respectively,

and that after the decease of WiUiam and

Anne respectively without issue, the crown

and government of England shoidd remain

and continue to the Princess Sophia and tlie

heirs of her bod}', being Protestants. This act,

which, by one swoop, cut off the whole Catholic

descendants of James I., of whom there were

fifty -three alive, all nearer heirs to the crown

than the princess, gave great offence to all the

Cathohc princes concerned in the succession.

The act of settlement in favour of the

Princess Sojjhia and her heirs, was a death-

blow to the Jacobite interest, but stiU the

hopes of the party were not extinguished. As

James had given up all idea of dispossessing

William, and even discountenanced any at-

tempt to disturb the peace of the kingdom

during his own life-tune, the partisans of his

family had given up every expectation of his

restoration. But the death of King James,

which took place at St. Germains on the 16 th

of September, 1701, and the recognition of his

son by Louis XIV. as king, were events which

opened up brighter prospects than they liad

yet enjoyed. The unfortunate monarch had,
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for several years, taken fareweU. of worldly

objects, and had turned his whole attention to

the concerns of eternity, djing ardently at-

tached to the creed which, from principle, he

had embraced. Of the arbitrary and unconsti-

tutional conduct of James, at the period pre-

ceding the revolution, it is impossible for any

lover of genuine liberty to speak without feel-

ings of indignation; but it must not be for-

gotten that in his time the prerogatives of the

crown were not clearly defined, and that he

was misled by evil counsellors, who advised

him to violate the existing constitution.

Nothing but the prospect of an immediate

war with England could, it is believed, have

induced Louis to recognise, as he did, the

Prince of Wales as king of England, Ireland,

and Scotland. William remonstrated against

this act of the French king, as a violation of

the treaty of Ryswick, and appealed to the

King of Sweden, as the guarantee for its ob-

servance; but Louis was inflexible, and main-

tained in the face of aU Europe, that he was

not debarred by the treaty from acknowledging

the title of the Prince of Wales, to which he

had right by birth. He admitted that by the

fourth article of the treaty he was bound not

to disturb William in the possession of his

dominions, and he declared his intention to

adhere to that stipulation ; but this explanation

was considered quite unsatisfactory by WLUiam,

who recalled his ambassador from Paris. The

conduct of the French king excited general

indignation in England, and addresses were

sent up from all parts of the kingdom, expres-

sive of attachment to the government. The

English parliament passed two separate acts of

attainder against the pretended Prince of

^Vales, as the son of James was termed, and

the queen, his mother, who acted as regent.

Great preparations were made for entering into

a war with France, and William had concerted

with his allies the plan of a campaign, but he

did not live to see the gigantic schemes which

he had devised for humbling the pride of

France put into execution. He expired at

Kensington on the 8th of March, 1702, in con-

sequence of a fall from hi.s horse about a fort-

night before, wliich fractured his collar-bone.

He had reigned thirteen years, and was in the

fifty-second year of his age.

The accession of the Princess Anne gave

satisfaction to all parties, particularly to tlie

Jacobites, who imagined, that as she had no

heirs of her own body, she would be in-

duced to concur with them in getting the suc-

cession act repealed, so as to make way for her

brother, the Prince of Wales. At first the

queen seemed disposed to throw herself into

the hands of the Tory faction, at the head of

which was the Earl of Eochester, first cousin

to the queen, who was averse to a war with

France; but the Earl, (afterwards the celebrated

Duke) of Marlborough, his rival, succeeded,

through the intrigues of his countess, in alter-

ing the mind of her majest}', and war was

accordingly declared against France on the 4th

of May.

The Scottish parhament, to which the Duke

of Queensberry was appointed commissioner,

met on the 9th of June; but before his com-

mission was read, the Duke of Hamilton ob-

jected to the legality of the meeting, the par-

liament having been virtually dissolved, as he

maintained, by not having met "\vithin the

statutory period; and ha\Tng taken a formal

protest against its proceedings, he withdrew

from the house, followed by seventy-nine mem-

bers of the first rank in the kingdom, amidst

the acclamations of the people. The seceding

members, thereupon, sent up Lord Blantyre to

London with an address to the queen, but she

refused to see him. This refusal highly dis-

pleased the people, whose resentment was still

farther increased by a prosecution raised by

the lord advocate against the facidty of advo-

cates, for havmg, by a vote, approved of the

secession and address. Several acts were

passed by the parliament, one of the most im-

portant of which was that authorizing the

queen to name commissioners for negotiat-

ing a treaty of union with England. An
attempt was made by the Earl of Marchmont,

the lord-chancellor, (better known as Sir

Patrick Home of Polwarth) without any in-

structions from his colleagues, and even con-

trary to the advice of the conunissioner, to

alter the succession, by bringing in a bill simi-

lar to that which had passed ir. England for

abjuring the Prince of Wales, and .settling the

succession on the Princess Sophia and he?

heirs; but as the ministry had no instructioiia

3f
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from the queen, the bill was not supported.

It is not improbable that Marchmont intended,

by the introduction of this measure, to sound

the disposition of the queen in regard of her

brother.

The queen, by virtue of the powers conferred

on her by the parliaments of England and

Scotland, named commissioners to treat about

a union, who met at the Cockpit, near White-

hall, on the 22d of October; but after some

of the preliminaries had been adjusted, the

conference broke off, in consequence of the

Scottish commissioners insisting that all the

rights and privileges of the Darien company

should be preserved and maintained.

A partial change in the Scottish ministry

having taken place, the queen resolved upon

calling a new parliament, in the spring of

1703, previous to which she issued an act of

indemnity in favour of every person who had

taken any part against the government since

the revolution, and allowed such of them as

were abroad to return home. Under the pro-

tection of this amnesty many of the Jacobites

returned to Scotland, and took the oaths to

tlie government, in the hope of forwarding the

interest of the Prince of "Wales. At tliis time

Scotland was divided into three parties. The

lirst consisted of the revolutionists, who were

headed by the Duke of Argyle. The second

of what was called the country party, who
were opposed to the union, and who insisted

on indemnification for the losses sustained in

tlie Darien speculation, and satisfaction for

the massacre of Glencoe and other grievances

suffered in the late reign. The Duke of Hamil-

ton and the Marquis of Tweeddale took

the direction of this party. The last, called

Mitchell's club, from the house they met in,

was composed entii'ely of the Jacobites or

Cavaliers. These were headed by the Earl of

Home. ^ The two latter parties, by coalescing

at the elections, might have returned a majority

favourable to their views ; but the Earl of Sea-

field, who had succeeded the Earl of March-

mont as chancellor, had the address to separate

the Jacobites from the country party, and, by

making them believe that he was their friend,

prevailed upon them to throw their interest at

' LucklMrt Papers, vol. i. p. 58.

the elections into the scale of the government

The parliament, however, which met on the

6th of May, was not so pliable to ministerial

dictation as might have been expected, for

although the royal assent was refused to what

was called the act of security for limiting the

power of the crown, " this session of parha-

ment," to use the words of Lockhart, " did more

for redressing the giievances and restoring the

liberties of the nation than all the parliaments

since the year 1660."^ It was in this parlia-

ment that the celebrated patriot, Fletcher of

Saltoun, first distinguished himself. The Earl

of Marchmont again brought in his bill for

settling the crown of Scotland upon the house

of Hanover ; but such was the indignation

with which it was received by the house, that

some of the members proposed that the bUl

should be burnt, while others moved that the

proposer of the measure should be committed

to the castle of Edinburgh. On a division the

bUl was thro^vn out by a very large majority.

After the prorogation of the parliament, the

courtiers and the heads of the cavaliers repaired

to London to pay court to the queen, who

received them kmdly, and conferred marks of

her favour upon some of them. The Marquis

of Athole, in particular, who aspired to be

leader of the Jacobites, was made a duke, and

invested with the dignity of a knight of the

order of the Thistle, which she had just revived

to enable her to extend the royal favour. Her

policy seems to have been to gain over all

parties to her interest ; but she was soon made

to beheve that a conspiracy existed against her

among the cavahers to supersede her, and to

place her brother upon the throne. The mov-

ing spirit in this plot, known as the Scotch

Plot, was the now notorious Lovat.

"An mdemnity having been granted to those

who had left the coimtry witi the exiled court,

on condition of their returning within a time

limited, and taking the oaths, it was observed

with alarm, that many persons were taking

advantage of this opportunity to return, who

were among the most formidable of the

Jacobite leaders, and who could not be sup-

posed to be sincerely disposed to support the

Protestant line of succession. Among these

* Idem, vol. i. p. 71.
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omLaous apparitions were Lovat himself, the

two Murrays, Sir John Maclean, Eobertson

of Struan the poet chieftain,
—

' a little black

man, about thirty years old,' as he was de-

scribed by those who kept their eyes on

him ; and David Lindsay, secretary to the

Pretender's prime minister, Middleton. The

tiery Lord Belliaven had just paid a visit to

France. He was an opponent of English

ascendency, and a cadet of the house of Hamil-

ton ; and his mission could, of com'se, have no

otlier object but to offer the allegiance of that

house to the young prince. Political intriguers,

such as the renowned Ferguson, looked busy

and mysterious. Mrs. Fox, whose name was

connected with the plot for which Sir Jolm

Fenwick suffered, had ventured over to Britain,

under a feigned name ; and sundry young men

of good birth, whose avowed mission to France

had been to study medicine, had, either in

vanity or carelessness, allowed it to transpire

that they had been at the com't of St. Ger-

mains, and had seen those royal personages

who created so dangerous an interest through-

out the country. The general movement of

these parties was northwards, and was accom-

panied by incidents such as those which hap-

pened to Lovat. Captain Hamilton, an officer

stationed at Liverness, ^vrote to Brigadier-

general Maitland, governor of Fortwilliam, on

the 23d of Jidy, that a great hunting match

had been planned for tlie 2d of the month, at

which many of the Highland chiefs were to

assemble their vassals.

" ' The Duke of Hamilton is to be there, the

Marqius of Athol : and our neighbour the

Laird of Grant, who has ordered 600 of his

men in arms, in good order, with tartane coats,

all of one colour and fashion. This is his

order to his people in Strathspey. Lf it be a

match of hunting only, I know not, but I

tliink it my duty to acquaint you, whatever

may faU out of any such body of men in arms,

particidarly in our northern parts.'

" It will be remembered that this was exactly

the form in which the Earl of Mar raised the

standard of rebellion at Braemar, in 1715; and

we appear to owe the suggestion to the inven-

tive genius of Lovat. At the same time, the

British ambassador at the Hague received some

mysterious intimations about large sums for-

warded in gold, tlu'ough a Dutch commercial

house, to persons of importance in Scotland."*

Lovat had the address before leaving France,

by imposing upon Louis, to whom he was

introduced by the pope's nuncio, to obtain

from the widow of King James, acting as re-

gent for her son, a commission of Maj or-general,

with power to raise and command forces ui his

behalf. As the court of St. GemiaLns had

some suspicion of Eraser's integrity. Captain

Jolm MuiTay, brother of Mr. Murray of Aber-

cairney, and Captain James Murray, brother of

Sir David Murray of Stanhope, were sent over

to Scotland, under the protection of Queen

Anne's indemnity, as a check upon him, and

to sound the dispositions of the people.

On arriving in Scotland, he set off for the

Highlands, introduced himself into the society

of the adherents of the exiled family, and, by

producing his commission of major-general,

induced some of them to give him assurances

that they would rise in arms when reqiured,

though they regretted that such a character

shoidd have been intrusted with so important

a command. Others, however, appreliensivo

of his real designs, refused to hold any inter-

course with him on the subject of his mission.

On Lovat's return to Edinburgh, late in

September, he contrived to obtain an interview

with the Duke of Queensberry, High Commis-

sioner to the Parliament of Scotland, and

revealed to him the whole aflair, dra\ving con-

siderably on his oivn fertile fancy for startling

facts. He also produced a letter, purporting

to be from the ex-queen, signed vnlh the initial

M., addressed to the Duke of Athole. Its

words were, " You may be sure that when my
concerns require the help of my fiiends, you are

one of the first I have in my view. I am satis-

fied you will not be wanting for any thing that

may be in your power according to your pro-

mise, and you may be assured of all sucli

returns as you can expect from me and mine.

The bearer, who is known to you, wiU tell you

more of my friendship to you, and how I rely

on yours for me, and those I am concerned for.''

Queensberry was delighted -ndth tliis apparent

discovery, and immediately sent the letter

unopened to the queen. Lovat, however, by

* Burton's Life of Lcrval, pp. 7S, 77.
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his plotting had made the country too hot to

hold him, and a day or two after his letter had

been sent to the queen, letters of fire and

sword were issued against him, so that he now

set himself to get safely back to France. He
managed to obtaia from Queensberry a pass to

London, to which place the duke himself was

bound, and after a few more secret interviews

in London, with another pass which he con-

trived to obtain, he safely quitted England

about the middle of October. ^

When this so-called conspiracy became pub-

licly laiown it excited considerable sensation,

and the House of Lords immediately resolved

that a committee should be appointed to inquire

into the matter ; but the queen, who was

already well acquainted with the circumstances,

sent them a message, intimating, that as the

affair was already under investigation, she was

desirous that the house should not interfere,

and she promised in a short time to inform

tliem of the result. Accordingly, on the 17th

of December, she went to the House of Peers,

and made a speech to both bouses, informing

tliem that she had complete evidence of evU

practices and designs against her government,

earned on by the emissaries of France in Scot-

land. The peers, however, proceeded in the

inquuy, and after considerable investigation

they agreed to the following resolution, " that

tliere had been a dangerous conspiracy in Scot-

land toward the invading that kingdom with

a French power, in order to subvert her

majesty's government, and the bringing in the

pretended Prince of Wales ; that it was their

opinion nothing had given so much encourage-

ment to these designs as the succession of the

crown of Scotland not being declared in favour

of the Princess Sophia and her heirs ; that the

queen should be addressed to use such methods

as she thought convenient, for having tlie

succession of the crown of that kingdom settled

after that manner ; and that being once done,

then they would do all in their power to pro-

mote an entire union of the two kingdoms."

Mr. Lockhai'i/ asserts that the lords thus inter-

fered at the Lristdiice of the Duke of Queens-

berry, as he kuew that the Whigs would brhig

him oif, and alihuiigh they wore so clear as to

* JCocpliursou's PajJcrs. Buiton's Zucca.

the existence of a plot, he maintains that " it

wag all trick and viUany." Meanwhile Eraser,

for his imposition upon the French king, was

committed a prisoner to the Bastde, in which

he remained several years. ''

It was discovered that the adcbess on tht

letter from tlie ex-queen was forged by Lovat

himself, she having addressed it to no one,

although it is supposed to have been meant

for the Duke of Gordon. Lovat had also to

implicate the Duke of Hamilton, and as he

regarded both these noblemen as " impostors "

and enemies of the exiled family, he considered

that his conduct, in thus attempting to ruin

them, " far from being a real crime, ought to

be regarded as a good and essential service to

the king (James III.), and the sincere, politi-

cal, and ingenious fruit of his zeal, for his

project, and the interests of his sovereign."'

Such is a specimen of the morality of this

extraordinary personage, who, in his correspou

dence with the revolution party, always pre-

tended to be a friend to the revolution settle-

ment.

According to Lockhart, the Duke of Queens-

berry was at the bottom of this sham plot, but

he appears really to have been entirely inno-

cent, and to have acted all along for what he

thought the best interests of the government.

" He was, to use a common but clear expres-

sion, made a fool of"^ Although he had

managed to clear himself of all blame, stiU as

the affair had rendered him very vmpopular in

Scotland, he was dismissed from liis situation

as one of the Scottish secretaries of state, and

the Marquis of Tweeddale was appointed to

succeed him as lord high-commissioner to the

Scottish parliament, which met on the 6th of

July, 1704.9

From the temper displayed in the Scottish

parliament, it was obvious that without enter-

ing into a treaty -v^ath Scotland, it would be

utterly impossible for the English ministry to

caiTy the question of the succession in Scotland.

To accomplish this the English parliament

authorised the queen to nominate commis-

sioners to treat with commissioners from Scot-

« Lockhart, vol. i. pp. 78—83.
^ Memoirs of the Life of Simmi, Lord Loeai.

Written by himself, p. 179.
* Burton's Lovat, p. 90.

^ Lockhart, vol. i. p. 98.
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laud; but tlio conduct of the pailLameiit was

by no means calculated to aUay tlie jealousy

entertained by the Scotch, of the interference

of England in imijosing a foreign sovereign

upon them. Instead of simply empowering

the queen to appoint commissioners, the Eng-

lish parliament, instigated by the Scottisli

ministrj', directed the Scottish parliament in

the choice of its commissioners, and they even

prohibited their own comiuissioners to meet

and treat with those of Scotland unless the

parliament of Scotland allowed the queen to

name these commissioners herself. Moreover

all Scotsmen not settled in England, or in its

service, were declared aliens, until the succes-

sion to the crown of Scotland should be settled

on the Princess Sophia and her Protestant

heirs. Several prohibitory clauses against the

trade of Scotland were also inserted in the act,

which were to take efl'ect about eight months

tliereafter if the Scottish parliament did not,

before the appointed time, yield to the instruc-

tions of that of England.

To strengthen the government party the

Scottish ministry was changed, and the Duke
of Queensberry was recalled to office, being

appointed to the privy seal The Cavaliers,

thus deprived of the aid of the duke and his

friends, applied to the Marquis of Tweeddale

—who, with his displaced friends, had formed

a party called the squadrone volante, or " flj'ing

squadron"— to unite with them against the

court; but he declined the proposal, as being

inconsistent with the object for which it was

said to be formed, namely, to keep the con-

tending parties in parliament in check, and

to vote only for such measures, by whatever

party introduced, which should appear most

beneficial to tlie country.

Not'withstanding the exertions of the court

party, the Scottish ministry soon found them-

selves in a minority in the parliament, wliich

was opened on the 28th of Jtme, 1705, by the

Duke of Argyle as commissioner. The motion

of Sir James Falconer, wliich had hitherto

remained a dead letter, was again renewed;

but although the ministry was supported by

the "squadron" in opposition to the motion,

the CavaKors carried it by a great majority.

The Dukes of Hamilton and Athole were now
desirous of pushing on the inquiry into the

alleged plot, but by advice of the Cavaliers,

who insisted that such a proceeding would be

a violation of the agreement entered into be-

tween them and the Duke of Queensberry's

friends, they desisted for a time. But the

duke having prevailed upon such of his friends

as had voted with the Cavaliers in the be-

ginning of the session, to join the coiu't party,

the subject was introduced before the house in

the shape of a motion, to know what answer

the queen had sent to an address which had

been voted to her in the preceding session, to

send down to Scotland against the next session

such persons as had been examined respecting

the plot, and the papers connected therewitli.

The Dukes of Hamilton and Athole vindicated

themselves against the charge of being accessory

to Eraser's proceedings, and the latter particu-

larly, in a long speech, reprobated the conduct

of the Duke of Qneensberrj^, whom he openly

accused of a design to ruin him. Neither tlie

duke nor his friends made any answer to tlie

charge, and Athole and Hamilton conceivhig

that they had cleared themselves sufficiently,

allowed the subject to drop. The most im-

portant business of the session was the measure

of the proposed union with England, an act

for effecting which was passed, though not

without considerable opposition.

Before the state of the vote upon this mea-

sure was announced, the Duke of Athole, " in

regard that by an English act of parliament

made in the last sessions thereof, entituled an

act for the effectual securing England from the

dangers that may arise from several acts passed

lately in Scotland, the subjects of this kingdom

were adjudged aliens, born out of the allegiance

of the queen, as queen of England, after the

25th of December 1705," protested that, for

saving the honour and interest of her majesty

as queen of Scotland, and maintaining and

preserving the undoubted rights and privileges

of her subjects, no act for a treaty with Eng-

land ought to pass without a clause being added

thereto, prohibiting and discharging the com-

missioners that might be appointed for carrying

on the treaty from departing from Scotland

until the English parhament should repeal and

rescind the obnoxious act alluded to. To this

protest twenty-four peers, thirty-seven barons,

and eighteen of tlie burgh representatives ad-
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hered. "VAHien the state of the vote was an-

nounced, the Duke of Hamilton, to the sur-

prise of the cavaliers and the country party,

moved that the nomination of the commis-

sioners should he left wholly to the queen.

From twelve to fifteen members immediately

exclaimed that the duke had deserted and

basely betrayed his friends, and ran out of the

house in rage and despair. A warm debate

then ensued, in which Hamilton was roughly

handled, and the inconsistency of his conduct

exposed ; but he persisted in his motion, which

was carried by a majority of eight votes. Had
the other members remained he would have

found himself in a minority. The Duke of

Athole protested a second time for the reasons

contained in his first protest, and twenty-one

peers, thirty-three barons, and eighteen burgh

representatives adhered to his second protest.

The protesters consisted of most of the cavaliers

and the country party, and the whole of the

" Squadron." The protesters, however, were

not discouraged, and they succeeded so far as

to obtain an order of the house prohibiting the

Scottish commissioners from treating until the

clause in the English act, declaring the subjects

of Scotland aliens, should be repealed, a reso-

lution which had the desired effect, the English

parliament rescinding the clause before the

time fixed for its operation arrived. ^

In terms of the powers vested in her by the

parliaments of England and Scotland, the

queen nominated commissioners, who met in

the council chamber of the Cockpit, near

Whitehall, on the 16th of April, 1706. Dur-

ing their sittings they were twice visited

by the queen, who urged them to complete

wth as little delay as possible, a treaty

which, she anticipated, would be advantageous

to both kingdoms. By the second article of

the treaty, it was declared that the succession

to the monarchy of the United Kingdom of

Great Britain, in default of issue of the queen,

should remain and continue to the Princess

Sophia and her heirs, being Protestants.

"When the terms of the treaty became pub-

licly known in Scotland, a shout of indignation

was set up in every part of the kingdom, at a

measure wliich, it was supposed, would destroy

1 Lockhart, vol. i. pp. 131, 132, 13-3, 137, Un.

the independence of the nation ; and when

the Scottish parliament met for the purpose of

ratifying the treaty, considerable rioting took

place in different parts of the country, and

large bodies of armed men threatened to marcli

upon the capital, and disperse the assembly.

Nimierous addresses were sent to the parlia-

ment from every part of the kingdom against

the Union, and considerable opposition was

made by the Dukes of Hamilton and Athole,

Lord Belhaven, Fletcher of Saltoun, and others,

but the court party, having obtained the sup-

port of the " Squadron," carried the measure

by a great majority. The treaty was, however,

after strenuous opposition, ratified by the Scotch

as well as the English parliament, and ulti-

mately completed on May 1st, 1707.

As the restoration of the son of James II.

now appeared to the Scottish nation necessary

to preserve its independence, various combina-

tions were entered into among the people

to effect it. The inhabitants of the western

shires, chiefly Cameronians, formerly the most

determined supporters of the Protestant govern-

ment, aU at once became the most zealous

partisans of the exiled family, whose Catholi-

city they showed themselves disposed alto-

gether to overlook Preparatory to more active

measures for accomplishing their object, the

ringleaders among them held several meetings,

divided themselves into regiments, chose their

officers, provided themselves with horses and

arms, and, notwithstanding the religious asper-

ity which had long existed between them and

the inhabitants of the northern shires, offered

to unite with them in any measure whicli

might be devised for accomplishing the restora-

tion of the young prince, who had now assumed

the title of the Chevalier de St. George. * The

court of St. Germains, fully aware of the strong

national feeling which existed in favour of the

prince, sent, in concert with the French king,

one Hooke into Scotland to obtain intelligence,

and to treat with the people for his restoration.

This gentleman had been one of the Duke of

Monmouth's chaplains when he invaded Eng-

land ; but after the execution of that unfortu-

nate nobleman, Hooke went to France, where

he became a Catholic, and entered into tlie

' Lockhart, vol. i. p. 196.
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French service, in which he rose to the rank

of Colouel. He had been in Scotland in 1705

on a mission to the heads of the Jacobite chiefs

and the country party ; but though a man of

sense, he conducted himself with such indis-

cretion, that he could only obtain general

promises, from the parties he consulted, of

their readiness to advance the prince's interest.

The cavaliers, however, sent Captain Henry

Straton, a gentleman in whom they placed

great confidence, to France, in July the follow-

ing year, to ascertain the extent of the aid they

might expect from Louis.

Hooke, on this occasion, landed in the north

of Scotland, about the end of February or

beginning of March, 1707, and took up a tem-

porary abode in Slains Castle, the seat of the

Earl of Errol, high-constable of Scotland, where

he was waited upon by the countess-dowager,

the mother of the earl, her son being then

absent from home. Instead of consulting, as

he should have done, the principal chiefs upon

tlie subject of his mission, Hooke at first con-

fined himself to interviews with some gentle-

men in the counties of Perth and Angus, by

whom he was received with great favour and

hospitality, and looked upon as a person of no

ordinary importance. The attention thus paid

him, flattered his vanity, in return for which

he made them his confidents, and proceeded,

in concert with them, to deliberate upon the

mode of accomplishing a restoration. This

party, however, had not the wisdom to conceal

the negotiation with Hooke, whose presence in

the country became consequently generally

known. The result was, that the Duke of

Hamilton and others, conceiving themselves

slighted, and alarmed at the imprudence of

Hooke's friends, declined to correspond with

him, and entered into direct communication

with the court of St. Germains itself.

As the French king was desirous of ascer-

taming the exact situation of the affairs in

Scotland, M. de Chamillard, his minister of

war, had furnished Hooke with a paper of

instructions, in the shape of questions, to which

he was desired to obtain distinct answers, to

enable his majesty to judge of the extent of

the assistance required from him, and the

probability of success. In answer to these

lucstioiis, a memorial, addressed to the king

of France, was drawn up, and signed by several

noblemen and gentlemen, in which they stated

that the greater part of the Scottish nation

had always been disposed for the service of

" its lawful king " ever since the revolution
;

but that this disposition had now become

universal, and that the shires of the west,

wliich used to be the most disaffected, were

now zealous to serve him. That to reap the

benefit of so favoui'able a disposition, and of

so happy a oonjimcture, the presence of the

king (the Chevalier) would be absolutely

necessary, the people being unwilling to take

arms mthout being sure of having him at their

head—that the whole nation would rise upon

his arrival—that he woidd become master of

Scotland without opposition, and that the exist-

ing government would be entirely aboKshed

—

that of the numbers that they would raise,

the memorialists would immediately despatch

25,000 foot, and 5,000 horse and dragoons

into England, while the other peers and chiefs

would assemble all their men in their respective

counties, and that the general rendezvous of the

troops on the north of the river Tay should

be at Perth, those of the western counties

at Stirling, and those of the south and east at

Dumfries and Dunse. As to the subsistence

of the troops, they informed his majesty that

they would require nothing from him, as the

harvests of two years were to be found in the

granaries, and that so great was its abundance,

that a crown would purchase as much flour

as would maintain a man two months—that

there was also great plenty of meat, beer and

brandy in the kingdom, and cloth, linen, shoes

and bonnets, sufficient to clothe a considerable

number of troops. The principal articles they

stood in most need of were arms and money.

Of the former, the memorialists begged his

majesty to send them as many as woidd equip

25,000 foot, and 5,000 horse or dragoons,

together with a proportionate quantity of am-

munition, and also some pieces of artillery,

bombs, &c. Of money, of wliich the country

had been almost drained by the Darien specu-

lation, by five years of famine, and by the

constant residence of the nobility at London,

they required a remittance of 100,000 pistoles,

to enable them to march into England, and

also a regular monthly subsidy during the war.
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In addition to these demands, they required

that the Chevalier should he accompanied to

Scotland hy a body of 8,000 troops, to protect

his person against any sudden attempt hy the

government forces. The memoriahsts con-

cluded, hy assuring his most Christian Ma-

jesty of their resolution to bind themselves hy

the strictest and most sacred ties, to assist one

another in what they deemed a common cause,

to forget all family differences, and to concur

sincerely, and with all their hearts, " without

jealousy or distrust, like men of honour in so

just and glorious an enterprise."^

Having finished his negotiation, Hooke re-

turned to France in the month of May, after

assuring his friends that " the Pretender"

would land in Scotland about August follow-

ing. On arriving at the court of St. Germains,

Hooke gave the most flattering account of his

reception, and of the zeal of the people in he-

half of the Chevalier, and accused the Duke of

Hamilton and the other persons who had

refused openly to commit themselves, of luke-

warmness in the cause. The armament, pro-

mised by the king of France, should have been

ready in August; but the court of Versailles

contrived to put it off, from time to time,

under various pretences. The fact appears to

be, that Louis was indifferent about the matter,

and, although he pretended that his object was

to place the Chevalier upon the throne of his

ancestors, his real object was to create a diver-

sion in his own favour by embroiling Great

Britain in a civil war. His reverses at Eamil-

lies and Turin had induced him to send

Hooke into Scotland to obtain information,

but, having afterwards defeated the allies at

Almanza, he was in hopes that he would be

able to retrieve his affairs without the aid of

the intended descent on Scotland.

To hasten the enterprise, the cavaliers sent

the Honourable Charles Fleming, brother of

the Earl of Wigton, over to France with letters

to his most Christian Majesty and the Cheva-

lier, in consequence of which, preparations for

the expedition were commenced at Dunkirk,

where a squadron was collected under the

command of the Chevalier de Forbin. When
the news of these preparations reached Eng-

^ Secret Hist&ry of Colonel Hoolce's Negotiation in

'^tland in 1707.—Edin. 1760. Pp. 69—75.

land, the greatest exertions were made to meet

the threatened danger. Both houses of parlia-

ment joined in an address to the queen, in

which they pledged themselves to defend her

with their Hves and fortunes against the

"pretended Prince of Wales," and all her

other enemies. They suspended the habeas

corpus act, and passed a bill enacting, that all

persons should take the oath of abjuration

under the pain of being held as convicted

recusants. They also passed another bill,

releasing the Scottish clans from aU vassalage

to those chiefs who should appear in arms

against her majesty; and "the Pretender"

and his adherents were declared traitors and

rebels. A large fleet was equipped and as-

sembled at Deal ivith extraordinary prompti-

tude, and despatched towards Dunkirk undei

the command of Sir John Leake, Sir George

Byng, and Lord Dursley, and transports were

engaged to bring over ten British battalions

from Ostend. WTien this fleet, which the

French had supposed to be destined for Lisbon,

appeared off Mardj'ke, they were greatly sur-

prised; and the embarkation of their troops,

which had commenced, was immediately coun-

termanded. The French admiral represented

to his court the danger of proceeding with the

expedition; but he received positive orders to

finish the embarkation, and to sail with the

first favourable wind. Tlie Chevaher de St.

George, at taking farewell, was presented by

Louis with a sword studded with costly

diamonds, and sumptuous services of gold and

silver plate, rich dresses, and other necessaries

becoming his high station.

While the embarkation was going on, Mr.

Fleming and a gentleman of the name of

Arnott were separately despatched for Scotland

from Dunkirk, on the evening of the 6th of

March, 1708, in two frigates, with instructions

from the Chevalier to the Jacobite chiefs.

Fleming arrived on the northern coast on the

1.3th, and, when about two leagues off the

land, entered a fishing boat which landed him

at Slains castle, where he met the Earl of

Errol, who received the intelligence of the ex-

pedition with great pleasure. On perusing

the Chevalier's instructions, he immediately

despatched a messenger to 5Ir. Malcolm of

Grange, in Fife, with orders to have a beat
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and pilots in readiness at the mouth of the

Frith of Forth to go on board the first vessel

that should give the signal agreed on.

In the mean time, the English fleet having

been forced, by stress of weather, off their

station on the 14th of March, the expedition

saUed on the 17th from the road of Dunkirk;

but it was detained in Newport-pits in conse-

quence of a change in the wind, till the 1 9th,

when it again set sail with a fair breeze for

Scotland. The expedition consisted of seven

men-of-war, two of which were fitted up as

transports, and twenty-one frigates, having on

board 5,100 troops, under the command of

Monsieur le Comte de Gass^ who, on the last-

mentioned day, received from the French king

the patent of a Marshal of France, and assumed

the name of Mantignon. While at Newport,

three of the frigates, which had received some

damage, returned to Dunkirk ; but, at a council

of war, held in the apartment of the Chevalier,

it was resolved, at his desire, to proceed with-

out them, although these vessels had 800 troops

on board, and a considerable quantity of arms

and provisions. At the same council it was

also determined to sail directly to the Frith of

Forth, and to disembark the troops at Bumt-

ipland, whence it was proposed to send a

detachment to take possession of Stirling. *

The French fleet having been observed in

Newport-pits from the steeples of Ostend, a

vessel was immediately despatched thence by

Major-general Cadogan to inform Sir George

Liyng of their having left Dunkirk ; Sir George

went immediately in quest of the enemy. The

French fleet, favoured by a strong and fair

wind, reached the Frith on the evening of the

23d, without seeing any of the English squad-

ron, and anchored off Crail, the commander

intending to proceed up the Frith the follow-

ing morning ; but he had been anticipated by

the Proteus, one of the three vessels wliich had

retiu-ned to Dunkii'k, and which, being a

superior sailer, had reached the Frith before

liim, and had given notice of the approach of

the French fleet to the friends of the Cheva-

lier, who lived on the coast, by firing five guns,

the concerted signal by which the friends of

tlie prince along that coast were to be apprized

* M. D'Andrezel's Account in Hooke, p. 139.

of his arrival. Malcolm of Grange, who had

been for some days anxiously looking out for

the fleet, went immediately on board this vessel

with a pilot.

The resolution of M. de Forbin to proceed

up the Frith next morning, was, however, pui

an end to, by the appearance, at day-break, of

the English fleet, consisting of 28 saU, stand-

ing in for the Frith. Alarmed for the safety

of his ships, the French commander immedi-

ately cut his cables, and by favour of a strong

land breeze which fortunately sprung up, stood

out to sea under full saU, having previously

given orders to the different ships, in case of

separation, to rendezvous at Cromarty or In-

verness. The French vessels being lighter and

cleaner, outstripped the English in sailing, and

all of them escaped, with the exception of tho

Salisbury, a ship formerly captmed from the

English, which was taken. On board of this

vessel were Lord Griffin, the Earl of Middle-

ton's two sons, M. La Vie, a Major-general,

Colonel Francis Wauchope, some other officers,

and between 300 and 400 soldiers. On tho

following day, the French commander finding

himself out of sight of the enemy, and all hia

vessels together, with the exception of tho

Salisbury, consulted with the Marshal de Man-

tignon, on the expediency of landing at some

place in the north of Scotland, and proposed

Inverness. The Chevalier, who was so desi-

rous of landing, that he had, though in vain,

entreated M. de Forbin, the preceding day, to

put him ashore, though his domestics alone

should accompany him, received this proposal

with great satisfaction. The fleet accordingly,

aided by a favourable wind, steered to the

north during the whole of the 25th ; but at

ten o'clock at night, the wind suddenly changed

to the north, and blew directly in their teeth

with considerable violence. As the storm con-

tinued the whole of the following day, and as

M. de Forbin was afraid that the fleet would

be dispersed, and might, when separated, fall

into the hands of the enemy, a council was

held, at which it was unanimously resolved,

with the entire concurrence of the Chevalier,

to return to Dunkirk, where the expedition

arrived on the 7th of AprO.

Such was the result of an enterprise, which,

but for the merest accidental circumstanco,

3g
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might have 'been crowned with the most com-

plete success ; for had the expedition arrived

only a fe^7 houi's earlier in the Frith of Forth,

the whole troops, arms and ammvmitioa, would

have heon landed without opposition. Such

were the dispositions of the people of Scotland

in favour of "the Pretender," and so disaffected

had they become towards the government, that

a universal rising would undoubtedly have

taken place in his support had he set his foot

in Scotland. No effectual resistance could

have been offered to him by the regular troops,

which did not exceed 2,500 men ; and as

little reliance could be placed in them, from

their participating generally in the national

feeling, the Earl of Leven, the commander-in-

chief, had determined to retire to Carlisle or

Berwick, with such forces as would accompany

liim.* The news of the sailing of the expetli-

° Alluding to the appearance of the French fleet in

the Frith, Lockhart says, " It is impossible to describe

the different appearance of people's sentiments; all this

day (23d March) generally speaking, in every person's

face was to be observed an air of jollity and satisfac-

tiiin, excepting the general (Leven), those concerned

in the government, and such as were deeply dipt in

the revolution. These indeed were in the greatest

terror and confusion. And it was no great wonder
tliat the Earl of Leven did afterwards, in one of his

letters to the secretaries of state, complain that the

Jacobites were so uppish he durst hardly look them in

the face as they walked in the streets of Edinburgh
;

for uppish they were indeed, expecting soon to have

an occasion of repaying hira and his fellow-rebels in

the same coin he and they had treated them for these

twenty years past. But next day advice was sent

from Sir George Byng, that he had come up with and
was then in pursuit of the French tleet, and then it

was that every body was in the greatest pain and

anxiety imaginable ; some fearing it would, and others

that it would not, determine as it did. In this per-

plexity were people when, on the next day, being

Sunday, a great number of taU ships were seen sailing

up the Frith. This put our general in such a terror

and confusion as can scarcely be well expressed : he

drew up his army in battle array on the sands of

Leith, as if he'd oppose a landing, and in this posture

did he remain for several hours, when at last his fears,

which truly had almost distracted him, vanisheil by

the landing of a boat, which acquainted him that it

was the English fleet returning from chasing the

French. For Sir George Byng, after a day's pursuit,

finding the French out-sailed him, taekt about for the

Frith, which was the place he designed chiefly to

guard ; besides, he had sailed so unprovided tliat

most of his ships wanted water and provisions. H ere

he lay several weeks, and for the most part the wind
was easterly, so that he could not well have sailed

down the Frith, and the French might, and every

body believed would, have landed in the north, or

sailed round and landed in the west ; but instead of

that thev went sneakingly home, without doing any

good, but on the contrary much harm, to the king,

Sis country, and themselves."—VoL i. pp. 2-43, 244.

tion created a panic in .England, was followed

by a i'un upon the cork, which would have

been obliged to suspw'.d its payments had

not the most I'xtranrdinaij- exertions been made

to support its credit.

The principal friends of the Chevalier de St.

George, and every person of any distinction in

Scotland, suspected of favouring his preten-

sions, were, upon the failure of the expedition,

immediately seized and committed to the

castles of Edinburgh and Stirling, and the

common jails, whence many of them were

transmitted to England, and imprisoned in the

Tower of London, or in Newgate. Amoi.jj;

those who were carried to London, was the

Duke of Hamilton, who, taking advantage of

a quarrel between the Lord-treasurer Godol-

phin and the Whigs, obtained, by offering his

support to the latter in the election of the

Scottish representative peers, not only his own

liberation, but also that of all the other prison-

ers, with the exception of Stirling of Kier,

Seaton of Touch, Stirling of Garden, and other

gentlemen of Stirlingshire, who, on receiving

intelligence that the Chevalier had landed, had

mounted their horses and advanced in a body

towards Edinburgh, to support him. These

last were brought to trial for high treason, as

having appeared in arms against the govern-

ment; but as no proof was brought again.«;t

them, they were acquitted.^ The fact is, that

the queen's adwsers, fully aware of the great

danger which the government had escaped,

and the risks to which it was still exposeil,

were disposed to act a very lenient part, anrl

were afraid, under existing circumstances, to.

commit themselves by sacrificing any of the

disaffected to a doubtful, and, as it mtist have

appeared to them, a precarious expediency.

For a time, the idea of a restoration seems

to have been abandoned ; but the systematic

attacks made by the High Church party in

England, upon the principles of the revclutiou,

and the poptdar excitement raised against the

Wliig ministry in consequence of Dr. Sache-

verel's trial, raised anew the expectations of

the Jacobites, which were stUl farther elevated

by the expidsion of the 'UHiigs from office in

1710, by the intrigues of the Tories. Altliough
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the queen on opening the new parliament,

which met on the 25th of November, declared

to both houses that she would employ such

persons only as were warmly attached to the

Protestant succession in the House of Hanover;

yet it was generally understood that she was

inclined to favour the pretensions of her brother,

the Chevalier de St. George. As his religion

was, in fact, the only bar in the way of his suc-

cession, she endeavoured, but without success,

to induce him to abandon it. " You see," she

observed to the Duke of Buckingham, when

speaking of her brother, " he does not take the

least step to oblige me. I have no reason to

think he values me or my kingdom, therefore

I shaU give it to the Elector of Hanover."

On another occasion, when warmly pressed by

the duke, she replied, " What would you have

me to do? You know, as tlie law stands, a

Papist cannot inherit the crown, and, therefore,

any wiU I may make will be to no pm-pose
;

the law gives aU to Hanover ; and therefore I

had better do that with a good grace which I

cannot help. He may thank liimself for it.

He knows I always loved him better than the

Elector."^ The Tories were by no means

averse to her majesty's views of a successor,

but afraid of a reaction in pubKc opinion in

favoiir of the Wliigs, who were endeavouring

to excite the fears of the nation by raising a

no-popery cry, they not only carefully abstained

from any act which might be considered as

favouring the claims of " the Pretender ;" but

even appeared as if hostile to them. Indeed,

so desirous were some of the Tory members of

the House of Commons to settle the croi\Ti

upon his head, that they required a mere pro-

fession of Protestantism from him, till he should

be firmly seated on the throne, after which he

might, they said, again resume the exercise

and profession of his religion. But the prince

refused to comply.

In Scotland, however, little reserve was

shown, a remarkable instance of wliich occurred

in the Faculty of Advocates, which body ac-

cepted from the Duchess of Gordon a silver

medal, having on one side an impression of

the head of the Chevalier de St. George, and

on the reverse a representation of the British

' Stuart Papers, July, 1712. vol. ii. p. 327.

islands, with the motto, " lieddite." At the

presentation of this treasonable device, a motion

thanking her grace for her gift was carried,

after a warm debate, by a majority of sixty-

three voices against twelve. Dundas of Amis-

ton, to whom the task of conveying the vote

was intrusted, thanked her grace for having

presented the Faculty ivith a medal of their

sovereign, and stated a hope that she would

very soon be enabled to present them with a

second medal struck upon the restoration of

the king and royal faniUy, and the finishing

of usurpation, rebellion, and whiggery. This

proceeding created an extraordinary sensation,

and Sir David Dabymple, the Lord Advocate,

was directed by the ministry to inquire into

the matter. The Facidty grew alarmed, dis-

claimed the conduct of Dundas and of Home,
another member with whom they alleged the

transaction originated, and by a solemn resolu-

tion declared their attachment to the queen

and the Protestant succession. To satisfy, in

some measure, tlie court of Hanover, the resi-

dent of which at the British court had pre-

sented a memorial to the queen desiring that

Dundas and his party might be prosecuted, the

Lord Advocate was dismissed from ofiice,

because he had been remiss in bringing the

delinquents to justice ; but no instructions

were given to his successor to prosecute them.

The remaining years of Queen Anne's reign

were chiefly occupied with party struggles,

which embittered her existence and impaired

her constitution. The Tories disunited among

themselves, split latterly into two factions,

which were respectively headed by Harley,

Earl of Oxford, and Henry St. John, Lord

"Viscount Bolingbroke. The Wbigs, on the

other hand, united, active and vigorous, pressed

hard upon them, and employed every art to

inflame the people against the authors of their

disgrace. Popery and the Pretender were the

never-ceasing topics with which they endea-

voured to enlist the feelings of the nation in

their favour, and the Duke of Argyle, in a

warm debate which took place in the House of

Peers on a question proposed by the Earl of

Wharton, " Whether the Protestant succession

was in danger under the present administra-

tion?" offered to prove that the lord-treasurer

had remitted a sum of money annually to the
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Highland Jacobite cMefs. Oxford did not

deny the charge, but defended himself by-

Baying, that he had only adopted the policy of

King William, who had granted yearly pen-

gions to the heads of the clans, the better to

gecuie their obedience to the government.

The fate of the Tory ministry was at length

sealed by the removal of Oxford and the deatli

of the queen, who survived that event only a

few days. Fatigued by a long attendance at a

cabinet council held immediately after the dis-

missal of the lord-treasurer, she was thro-\vu

into a lethargic disorder, which terminated her

existence on the morning of the 1st of August,

1714, in the fiftieth year of her age, and in

the thirteenth of her reign. With the exce]>

tion of her dereliction of duty towards her

father, which, from the circumstances in which

she was placed, may admit of considerable

palliation, she left behind her an unblemished

reputation; and though not possessed of mucli

genius or vigour of mind, she wielded the

sceptre with greater skill than is usually to

be fouud in sovereigns, who, like her, have

allowed themselves to be controlled by fa-

vourites.

CHAPTER XXIV.

A. D. 1714—1715.

BKiTisH suvereion:—George I., 171-1—1727.

Proceedings of tlie Whigs—Declaration of the Clieva-

lier de St. George—Arrival of George I. in England
—Conduct of the Earl of Mar—Government measures

—Int'igues of the Jacobites—The Earl of Mar

—

Leaves England for Scotland— The "Hunting
match"—The Chevalier de St. George proclaimed
by Mar, who raises the standard of revolt in Brae-

mar—Death of Louis XIV.—Manifesto issued by
the Jacobites.

The dismissal of the Earl of Oxford from the

office of lord-high-treasurer was gratifying to

the Jacobites, whose expectations he had dis-

appointed, and they naturally waited with

anxiety for the appointment of his successor,

whom they confidently imagined would be

Bolingbroke, his rival, who was supposed, on

juster grounds, to favour their views, and to

whom they had transferred their confidence.

But all their hopes were disappointed by the

promotion of the Duke of Shrewsbury to the

treasury, a nobleman distinguished for modestj

and disintereatedness, and a devoted attach-

ment to his country.

To counteract still farther the schemes of

Bolingbroke, all the members of the privy

council in London, or the neighbourhood, had

been invited, on the proposal of Somerset and

Argyle, to attend the council without distinc-

tion of party, in consequence of which Lord

Somers, and many other Whig noblemen,

repaired to Kensington. The presence of such

a number of the Wliigs completely overawed

the Tories, who, confused, distracted, and dis-

united, were either unable or afraid to oppose

the measures proposed by the former for effec-

tually securing the Protestant succession, and

gave a tacit acquiescence to them. Every pre-

caution, in short, had been taken to prevent

any movement of the Jacobite party in favour

of the Chevalier, and an express was sent to

the Elector of Hanover, informing him that

the physicians despaired of the queen's life,

and desiring him to repair to England with

all convenient speed.

As soon as the death of the queen was an-

nounced, the lords of the privy council met,

and drew up and issued a proclamation the

same day, declaring that by the deatli of Queen

Anne, the imperial crowns of Great Britain,

France, and Ireland, had " solely and right-

fully come to the High and Mighty Prinre

George, Elector of Brunswick, Lunenburg," in

consequence of wliich, the prince was imme-

diately proclaimed in London, by the heralds

at arms, with the usual solemnities, and on

Thursday the 5th of August, the same cere-

mony was repeated at the market cross of

Edinburgh, by the deputy-lord-lyon, lung at

arms, in presence of the magistrates and town

council of the city, the judges of the supreme

courts, a considerable number of the nobihty,

and a large assemblage of the inhabitants.

The Jacobites preserved a prudent silence on

this occasion, but the supporters of the govern-

ment at Edinburgh took care, notwithstanding,

to provide against any contingency. They,

accordingly, cut off a part of the wooden bridge

before the castle gate, and drew up the re-

maining part to cover the gate itself. They

also threw up an intrenchment between the

gate and the castle wall, on which they posted
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a party of soldiers. In addition to tlicse pre-

cautions, Major-general Wightman, the com-

mander of the forces, ordered the different

detaclinients quartered at Dundee, and other

places, to join his camp in the vicinity of

Edinburgh, with which order tliey immediately

complied.^

Pursuant to an act of the late reign, the

parliament met on the day the queen died.

The first four days were occupied in swearing

in the members, and on the 5th of August, the

parliament was opened by the Lord Chancellor,

in name of the lords justices, on whom the

interim administration of the government had

devolved by an act of the 4th and 5th of

Queen Aame. Both houses thereafter voted

loyal addresses to his majesty, in which, after

congratulating him upon his accession to the

tlirone, they expressed their anxiety for his

safe and speedy arrival in Great Britain. To

these addresses his majesty returned most

gracious answers, wliich were reported to both

houses on the 25th of August, on wliich day

the parliament was prorogued till the 23d of

September.

When the Chevalier de St. George heard of

the death of his sister. Queen Anne, he set off

from his residence in Lorraine, to Paris, to

crave the aid of the King of France, in vindi-

cation of his hereditary rights ; but Louis

d(-'clined to interfere, on the ground that he

liad, by the treaty of Utrecht, acknowledged

tlie Protestant succession. Disappointed in

Ills application, he retired first to Luneville,

and afterwards to Plombieres, whence, on the

29th of August, he issued a declaration as

King James III., asserting his indefeasible

right to the crowns of Great Britain and Ire-

land, and solemnly protesting against every

act that had been already done, or that should

thereafter be done to the prejudice of his

hereditary rights. He says, that although he

had been obliged by the treaty to remove from

France, that he had still continued to have his

Isingdoms and his people in view, and tliat he

had never ceased to hope, that God would in

time open his people's eyes, and convince them

not only of the notorious injustice done to the

' Rae's Tluiory of the laU RcheUimi
1718, p. 63.

Dumfries,

crown and him, but of the dangerous conse-

quences thereof for themselves ; and that as he

could not see, n'ithout grief and sorrow, their

blood and treasure lavished in the late war, in

o]iposition to his rights, so he could not now
with less sorrow, see them exposed to be sub-

jected to an arbitrary power, and become a

prey to foreigners—that the settlement of the

succession upon one who was so far removed

from the regular line, was opposed to the

maxims of the English constitution—that the

Elector of Brunswick was, besides, a foreigner,

a powerful prince, and absolute in his own
country—that he was ignorant of the laws,

manners, customs, and language, and supported

by a good many of his own people—that there

had been many thousands of aliens domiciled

in England, for the last thirty years, who would

be ready to stand by him upon all occasions

—

that the subversion of such a sacred and funda-

mental principle as hereditary right, would

lead to endless wars and divisions, and that as

there were many other princes, who had better

pretensions to the crown than the Elector of

Brunswick, the nation could never enjoy any

lasting peace or happiness, tLQ the succession

was again settled " in the rightful line."^

Meanwhile, certain movements in Scotland,

among the friends of the Chevalier, indicated

to the government that an insurrection was

intended. Bodies of armed men were seen

marching towards the Higlilands, and a partj

of Highlanders appeared in arms near Inver-

lochy, which was, however, soon dispersed by

a detachment from the garrison. In this situ-

ation of matters, the lords justices sent down

to Scotland a considerable number of half-pay

officers, chiefly of the Scots regiments, to officer

the militia of the country, under the direction

of Major-general Wliitham, then commander-

in-cliief in Scotland. These prompt measures

taken by the government, alarmed the Jacob-

ites, who, after several consultations, retired to

their homes. The Duke of Gordon was, by

order of the justices, confined in the city of

Edinburgh, and the Marquis of Huntly, and

Lord Drummond, in their respective residences

of Brahan, and castle Drummond. The last,

on hearing that an order for his seiziu'e had

' Cullodcn Pajvrs, pp. .30, 31.
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arrived, fled to the Highlands, but offered hail

for his good behaviour. At the same time,

Captain Campbell, of Gleudaruel, who had

obtained a commission from the late Tory

administration, to raise an independent com-

pany in the Highlands, was apprehended at

Inverlochy, and carried prisoner to the capital,

and Sir Donald M'Donald of Slait, was also

seized and committed to the castle of Edin-

burgh. ^ As the lords justices had received

information that the Chevalier intended to

land in the kingdom, they, on the 15th of

September, issued a proclamation, in terms of

an act passed in the last session of parliament,

offering a reward of £100,000 sterling for his

apprehension, should he land or attempt to

land in Great Britain.^

King George, after vesting the government of

liis German dominions in a council, embarked

for England on the 16th of September, and

landed at Greenwich on the 18th, where he

was received by the Duke of Northumber-

land, captain of the life-guards, and by the

lords justices, and a large number of the nobi-

lity and other persons of distinction. Among
those who presented themselves on this occa-

sion was the Earl of Mar, one of the secretaries

of state, but the king had been so prepossessed

against this nobleman, and indeed against all

the heads of the Torj' party, that he did not

vouchsafe even to notice him. The earl sus-

pecting that means had been used to prejudice

liis majesty against liim, had, in order to take

ofiT any unfavourable impression which these

might have produced upon the king's mind,

written a letter to George when in Holland on

his way to England, congratulating him upon

his accession to the throne, stating the services

which he had rendered to the government, and

assuring his majesty that he should find him
as faitliful and dutiful a subject and servant

as ever any of his family, which had been

always loyal, had been to the crown, or as he

had been to his late mistress, the queen.

With the same view, it is supposed, or to tln-ow

the government off its guard, Mar caused a

letter to be addressed to him by some of the

heads and branches of the Jacobite clans

expressive of their loyalty to King George, and

' Eae, [,. 77. ' Giueffe, 25th September, 1714.

declaring, that as they had been always ready

to foUow his lordship's directions ia servinj^

Queen Anne, they were equally ready to concur

with him in faithfully serving his majesty.'

But the prejudices of the king agaiast Mar

were too deeply rooted to be overcome, and

within eight days after the king's arrival in

England, Mar was dismissed from office, and

the Duke of Montrose appointed in his stead.

It was very natural for the king to prefer the

Whig party, by whose influence Le had been

raised to the throne ; but unfortunately for the

' This document, which was signed by the chief

of Maclean, Macdonell of Glengarry, Cameron of

Lochiel, Macdonell of Keppoch, Sir Donald Mac-
donald, Mackintosh of Mackintosh, Mackenzie of Fra-

Kerdale, M'Leod of Contulick, Grant of Gleumoristou,

Chishoim of Comer, and M'Pherson of Cluny, is as

follows :

—

"My Lord,
" So soon as we heard of the afflicting

news of the death of her late majesty, Queen Anne,
it did exceedingly comfort us, that, after so good and
great a queen, who had the hearts and consulted the

true happiness of all her people, we were to be governed
by his sacred majesty, King George, a prince so

brightly adorned with all royal vii-tues. that Britain,

under his royal administration, shall still be flourish-

ing at home, and able to hold the balance in the affairs

of Europe.* Allow us, my Lord, to please ourselves

with this agreeable persuasion, that his majesty's royal

and kindly influence shall reach to us, who are the
most remote, as well as to others of his subjects in

this island. We are not ignorant that there are some
people forward to misrepresent us, from particular

private views of their own, and who, to reach their

own ends against \is, on all occasions, endeavour to

make us, in the Highlands of Scotland, pass for dis-

affected persons.

"Your lordship has an estate and interest in the

Highlands, and is so well known to bear good-will to

your neighbours, that in order to prevent any ill im-
pressions which malicious and ill-designing people may
at this juncture labour to give of us, we must beg
leave to address your lordship, and entreat you to

assure the government, in our names, and in that of

the rest of the clans, who, by distance of place, could

not be present at the signing of this letter, of our

loyalty to his sacred majest)'. King George. And we
do hereby declare to your lordship, that as we were

always ready to follow youi- directions in serving

Queen Anne, so we will now be equally forward to

concur with your lordship in faithfully serving King
George. And we entreat your lordship would advise

as how we may best offer our duty to his majesty upon
his coming over to Britain ; and on all occasions we
will beg to receive your counsel and direction how we
may be most useful to his royal government.

"We are, with aU truth and respect," &c.

* There is little difficulty in perceiving, by comparing this

letter with that written by Mar to the king, that it is the pro-
duction of Mar himself, though said to be drawn up by his

brother. Lord Grange. " The balance in the affairs of Europe,"
an expression since changed into that of the "balance of

power," is a phrase wixich could have occurred only to a secre-

tary of state. What calamities have been inflicted upon
Europe since the sway of the Grand ifonarque in attempts to,

adjust "this balance," and vet the scales -vibrate as much as
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nation, he carried this predilection too far. A
wise and prudent prince wculd have endea-

voured to conciliate the adverse faction by

acts of kindness, hut George turned his back

upon the entire body of the Tories, and threw

liiniself completely into the arras of the Wliigs,

who alone shared in the royal favour, and who

used every art to confirm their own interest,

and extend their connexions. The consequence

was, that a spirit of the most violent discontent

was excited throughout the whole kingdom,

and the populace, led on by the Tories or

Jacobites, raised tumvdts in different parts of

the kingdom. The Chevalier de St. G«orge

availing himself of this excitement, transmitted

by the French mad. copies of the manifesto, or

declaration, which he had issued from Plom-

bieres to the chief nobility, particularly the

Dukes of Slirewsbury, Marlborough, and Ar-

gyle, who delivered them to the secretaries of

state. The king, imagining that the Duke of

Lon-aine was privy to the preparation and trans-

mission of the manifesto, refused an audience

to the Marquis de Lamberti, minister from the

duke ; but although the duke, on being in-

formed by his minister of the circumstance,

denied most pointedly that he was accessory

to the affair, and declared that the Chevalier

took up his residence in Lorraine by the direc-

tions of the kmg of France, the king persisted

in refusing an audience to De Lamberti till

liis master shoidd remove the Chevalier from

his dominions.

The parliament having been dissolved, the

king, in the month of January, 1715, issued an

extraordinary proclamation, calling a new par-

liament. Li tliis proclamation he complained

of the evil designs of the disaffected, and of

the misrepresentation of his principles and

conduct which had been industriously cii'cu-

lated throughout the kingdom, expressing liis

hopes that his loving subjects would send up

to parliament the fittest persons to redress the

present disorders, and to provide for tlie peace

and happmess of the kingdoms. In order to

secure the interest of those in civil and military

employments in the elections, a proclamation

was issued on the same day, continuing all per-

sons who had oeen didy invested in their oflFices,

civil or military, before the demise of the quesn,

and who had not been since removed there-

from, for the space of six montlis iVom tli2 date

of the proclamation, unless his majesty should

see cause to remove tliem sooner. A warmly

contested election followed in Entiand, but

although the Tories made every exertion, and

set up the usual shout of the eliurch in danger, a

cry which was responded to by the populace in

many places, a majority of "Wliigs was retnrned.

The Wliigs were stOl more successful in Scot-

land, where a majority of the sixteen peers,

and forty out of forty-five members returned

to the commons, were in the interest of the

government. The principal struggle in Scot-

land was in Inverness-shire, between M'Kenzie

of Preston-hall, who was supported by Glen-

garry and the other Jacobite chiefs, and Forbes

of CuUoden, brother of the celebrated President

Forbes, who carried the election by the inter-

est of Brigadier-general Grant, and the friends

of Lord Lovat.

The new parliament assembled on the 19th

of March at Westminster, and was for some

time chieily occupied in investigating the con-

duct of the late ministers, against some of

whom measures of extreme rigour were resolved

upon. But these proceedings were interrupted

by the necessity of devising means for the

suppression of a growing spirit of discontent

and disaffection, which seemed to gain ground

daily in England, of which an insiu-rection in

Scotland, and an invasion from abroad, seemed

about to ensue as inevitable residts. To put

an end to future rioting, a biU was passed, by

wliich it was declared, that if any persons, to

the luunber of twelve, riotously, tumultuously,

and unlawfully assembled, should continue

together for an hour after having been re-

quired to disperse by a justice of peace or other

ofiicer, by proclamation publicly read,—and of

which a form was given in the act, they should

be guilty of felony, without benefit of clergy.

Wlien the king attended in the House of

Lords on the 13th of July, to give his assent

to this and other biUs, he informed both houses

that a rebellion had actually begun at home,

and tliat an invasion was threatened from

abroad, and he, therefore, solicited the com-

mons to enable him to provide for the defence

of the kingdom. The preparations of the

Chevalier de St. George for a descent upon

Great Britain were indeed already far advanced.
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Elated by the intelligence which had been

sent him from England by the Tories, of the

disaffection of the people to the government,

and by the promises of support ivliich he had

received from them, should he land in Great

Bi-itaiQ, the prince had applied a second time

for succour to Louis, who, notwithstanding the

treaty of Utrecht, supplied him privately «'ith

money, and allowed a ship to be fitted out for

him, at his own expense, in the port of Havre.

The cause of the Chevalier had now been

openly espoused by the Duke of Ormond and

Lord Bolingbroke, both of whom having retired

to France, had been attainted by the British

parliament without a hearing, and were busily

employed corresponding with the Tories of

England. These intrigues and preparations

were early discovered by the Earl of Stair, the

British ambassador at Paris, and communicated

by him to the ministry. Proceeding upon this

information, the parliament suspended the

Habeas Corpus act, and renewed the offer of

one hundred thousand pounds to any person

or persons who should seize the Pretender,

dead or alive. Great naval and military pre-

parations were made, and the trained bands

were kept in readiness to suppress tumults.

As early as May, a report was current

among the Jacobites of Scotland of the Cheva-

lier's design to make a descent, in consequence

of which they began to bestir themselves, by

providing arms, horses, &c. Lockhart of

Carnwath, a very warm partisan of the Cheva-

lier, while " solacing" himself, as he says,

with the expectation of hearing " great and

good news," had his house surrounded by a

strong detachment of Lord Shannon's regi-

ment of foot, which carried him prisoner to

the castle of Edinburgh, by virtue of a warrant

" under the Elector of Hanover's own hand."

The apprehension of Lockhart served as a

signal to the other Jacobites in Scotland,

against whom warrants were issued, aU of

whom escaped, with the exception of the Earls

of Home and Wigton, who were taken up, and

also committed prisoners to the castle. *

Of John Erskine, the 11th Earl of Mar, the

chief leader in the ensuing insurrection, it may
be proper to say a few words. Following the

* Lockhart Papers, vol. i pp. 485-6.

footsteps of his father, who joined the revolu-

tion party, merely because he considered it his

interest so to do, the young earl, on entering

into public life, attached himself to the party

then in power, at the head of which was the

Duke of Queensberry, the leader of the

Scottish Whigs. He took the oaths and his

seat in parliament in September, 1696, was

sworn in a privy councillor the following year,

and was afterwards appointed ta the command

of a regiment of foot, and invested with the

order of the Thistle. Li 1704, when the

Whigs were superseded by the country party,

the earl, pursuant to the line of conduct he

intended to follow, of making his politics sub-

servient to his interest, immediately paid court

to the new administration, by placing himself

at the head of such of the Duke of Queens-

berry's friends as opposed the Marquis of

Tweeddale and his party. In this situation

he showed so much dexterity, and managed

his opposition with so much art and address,

that he was considered by the Tories as a man
of probity, and well inclined to the exiled

family. Afterwards, when the Whig party

came again into power, he gave them his sup-

port, and became very zealous in promoting aU

the measures of the court, particularly the

treaty of union, for which he presented the

draught of an act in parliament, in 1705. To

reward his exertions, he was, after the proro-

gation of the parliament, appointed secretary

of state for Scotland, instead of the Marquis

of Annandale, who was displaced, because he

was suspected of holding a correspondence

with the " Squadron," who were inclined to

support the succession to the crown without,

rather than with the proposed union. His

lordship was chosen one of the sixteen repre-

sentative peers in 1707, and re-elected at the

general election the following year, and in

1710 and 1713. By the share he had taken

in bringing about the union, Mar had rendered

himself very unpopular in Scotland; but he

endeavoured to regain the favour of his coun-

trymen, by attending a deputation of Scottish

members, consisting of the Duke of Aigyle,

himself, Cockburn younger of Ormiston, and

Lockhart of Carnwath, who waited on Queen

Anne in 1712, to inform her of their resolu-

I

tion to move for a repeal of the union with
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England. Wlien the Earl of Findlater brought

forward a motion for repeal in the House of

Lords, Mar spoke strongly in favour of it, and

pressed the dissolution of the union as the

only means to preserve the peace of the island.^

He was made a privy-councillor in 1708, and

on the death of the Duke of Queensberry ui

1713, the earl was again appointed secretary

of state for Scotland, and thus, for the second

time, enlisted himself imder the banners of

Toryism; but an end was put to his political

tergiversation by his abrupt and unceremonious

dismissal from ofiice by George I., and he

vowed revenge.

Though not possessed of shining talents, he

made ample amends for their deficiencies by

artifice and an insinuating and courteous de-

portment, and managed his designs with such

prudence and circumspection as to render it

extremely difficult to ascertain his object when

he desired concealment; by which conduct

" he showed himself," in the opinion of a con-

temporary, "to be a man of good sense, but

bad morals."^ The versatility of his politics

was perhaps owing rather to the peculiar cir-

cumstances in which he was placed than to

any innate viciousness of disposition. He was

a Jacobite from principle, but as the fortunes

of his house had been greatly impaired in the

civil war by its attachment to the Stuarts,

and as, upon liis entrance into public life, he

foimd the cause of the exiled family at a low

ebb, he sought to retrieve the losses which his

ancestors had sustained; while, at the same

time, he gratified his ambition, by aspiring to

power, which he could only hope to acquire

by attaching himself to the existing govern-

ment. The loss of a place of £5,000 a-year,

without any chance of ever again enjoying

the sweets of office, was gaU and wormwood

to such a man. This disappointment, and

the studied insult he had received from the

king, operating upon a selfish and ambitious

spirit, drove him into open rebellion, with no

other view than the gratification of his revenge.

But whatever were his qualifications in the

cabinet, he was ^vithout military experience,

and consequently unfit to command an army,

as the result showed.

' Lockhart, vol. i. p. 436. ^ Idem

On the eve of Mar's departure from England

to place himself at the head of the intended

insurrection in Scotland, he resolved to show

himself at court ; and, accordingly, he appeared

in the presence of King George on the 1st of

August, with all the complaisance of a corn-tier,

and with that aff'ability of demeanour for which

he was so distinguished. What his motives

were for thus needlessly laying liimseLf open

to the charge of studied duplicity by confront-

ing a sovereign whose throne he was about to

attempt to overturn, it is difficult to conjecture.

Was it to solace his offended pride, or to show

the world the hardihood of his determination

to unfurl the standard of revolt, that he had

the cool daring, in presence of the nobles of

the land, to look in the face the man against

whom he had inwardly vowed to wage war ?

(Jr was his object, in thus appearing as if no

treasonable design could be in his contemjila-

tion, intended as a feiat to deceive the court

and lull suspicion, so as to enable him the

more effectually to conceal the preparations he

had made for his intended departure ? All of

these questions might be fairly answered in

the affirmative, as being in perfect conformity

with the earl's character.

Having disguised himself by changing his

usual dress, he embarked at Gravesend on the

2d of August, 1715, on board a vessel bound

for Newcastle, accompanied by Major-general

Hamilton and Colonel Hay, and attended by

two servants. On arriving at Newcastle he

and his party went on board another vessel

bound for the Frith of Forth, the property of

one Spence, and were landed at Ehe, a small

port on the Fife coast, near the mouth of the

Frith. Daring the great civil war, and for

many years thereafter, a landing in Fife in

support of the Stuarts would have been a

dangerous attempt, but the opinions of many

of the Fife people had, of late, undergone a

complete revolution ; and, at the time in ques-

tion, Fife had, as the Jacobites would have

said, many "honest" men, or in other words,

persons who were warmly attached to the

interests of the exiled family. From Elie, Mar

proceeded to CraO, where he was met by Sir

Alexander Erskine, the Lord Lyon, and other

friends of the Jacobite interest, who accom-

panied him to the house of "the Honest Laird,"

3h
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a name ty which John Bethune of Balfour,

a stanch Jacobite, was commonly known.

After remaining a few days in Fife, Mar paid

a visit to his hrother-in-law, the Earl of Ivin-

noul, at lus seat of Dupplin. in the county of

Perth, whence he departed on Thursday the

18th of August, and crossed the Tay about

two miles below Perth, with 40 horse, on liis

way to his seat of Kildrummy, in the Braes of

Mar. On the following day he despatched

letters to the principal Jacobites, inviting them

to attend a grand hunting-match at Braemar,

on the 27th of August. As the government

was on the alert, and watched very narrowly

any unusual assemblages, the Jacobites had

frequently before had recourse to this and

similar expedients to enable them to concert

their measures without exciting the suspicion

of the government..

'

That the earl had matured his plans before

coming to Scotland, and that the Jacobites

were let into the secret of his designs, is evi-

dent from the fact that, as early as the 6th of

August, those in Edinburgh and the neigh-

bourhood were aware of his intention to come

down to Scotland. On the follo^ving morning

the Honourable John Dalzel, a captain on half

pay, sent in a resignation of his commission,

that he might join with greater freedom the

standard of the earl.

Under pretence of attending the hmiting-

match, a considerable number of noblemen

and gentlemen arrived at Aboyne, in Aber-

deenshire, about the time appointed. Among
these were the Marquis of Huntly, eldest son

of the Duke of Gordon ; the Marquis of Tulli-

bardine, eldest son of the Duke of Athole ; the

Earls of Nithsdale, Marischal, Traquair, Errol,

Southesk, Carnwath, Seaforth, Linlithgow,

and others ; the Viscounts Kilsyth, Kenmure,

Kingston, and Stormont ; Lords Eollo, Duifus,

Drummond, StrathaUan, OgUvie, and Kairne

;

and about twenty-six gentlemen of influence in

the Highlands, among whom were Generals

Hamilton and Gordon, Glengary, Campbell of

Glendaruel, and the lairds of Auohterhouse

and Auldbar. ^

After the meeting had assembled, the earl

" Eae, 188. Annals ofKing George, year the seconi.

London, 1717, p. 25.

' Rae, p. 189. Annals of King George, pp. 15, 16.

proceeded to address his friends in a regular

and well-ordered speech. He began by ex-

pressing his sorrow for having been instru-

mental in forwarding the union of the two

kingdoms. He informed them that liis eyes

were now opened, and that he clearly perceived

the error he had committed ; that he would

therefore do every thing in his power to make

his countrymen again a free people, and restore

to them their ancient liberties which had been

surrendered into the hands of the English by

the accursed treaty of union. That this treaty,

which had abeady done so much injury to Scot-

land, was calculated to inflict additional griev-

ances upon it, and that such were the designs

of the English appeared evident by the mea-

sures which had been daily pursued ever since

the Elector of Hanover had ascended the

throne. That this prince regarded neither the

welfare of his people, nor their religion ; but

had committed the charge of both entirely to

a set of men who, while they stuck to the Pro-

testant succession, made such alterations in

church and state as they thought fit. That

they had already begun to encroach upon the

liberties of both, on which account he had

resolved to vindicate their rights by placing

the lawful sovereign, James VIII., who had

promised to hear their grievances and redress

their wrongs, upon the throne of his ances-

tors. He then informed them of his deter-

mination to take up arms in behalf of his

lawful king: that he would summon all the

fencible men among his own tenantry, and

with them hazard his life in the cause ; and he

exhorted all those assembled to follow his

example. To encourage them to do so, he

assured them that there would be a general

rising in England in support of the cause;

that they would receive powerful assistance

from France, whither the Duke of Ormond

and Lord Bohngbroke had gone to induce

Louis XIV. to aid and assist them with men

and money ; and that the Duke of Berwick

would certainly land in the West of England

n-ith a large force. That there were thousands

of persons throughout the kingdom who had

solemnly pledged themselves to him, and to

one another, to join him in deposing King

George, and establishing James VIII. on the

throne. He then informed them that he had
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received letters (which he exhibited) under tlie

hand of James himself, from Lorraine, promis-

ing to come over to Scotland and place his

person under the protection of the valour- and

fidehty of his Scottish suhjects ; and that,

in the meantime, ships, provided with arms,

ammunition, and other military stores, would

he sent over from France as soon as a landing

port should he fixed upon. He thereupon pro-

duced, or stated that he had in his possession,

a commission from James, appointing him his

Lieutenant-general, and commander of all the

Jacobite forces in Scotland, and infoiined the

meeting that he was furnished with money,

and that an arrangement had been made by

which he would be enabled to pay regularly

the troops that should be raised, so that no

gentleman who might join his standard, with

his followers, would be put to any expense,

and the country would be quite relieved from

the burden of supporting the war. After the

earl had finished his harangue, the meeting

unanimously resolved to take up arms in sup-

port of the Chevalier ; and after taking an

oath of fidelity to the earl as the representative

of James VIIL and to each other, the persons

present took leave of him, and promised to

return immediately to their estates and raise

their men, and to hold themselves in readiness

to join tlie earl on the first summons. To

enlist the feelings of the people in favour of

the prince, copies of liis manifesto, of which

each individual who attended the meeting

obtained a supply from the earl, were industri-

ously circidated tliroughout the country, and

dropt in the streets of the different towns in

Scotland during night.

The government was not inattentive to the

proceedings of the Jacobites, and measures

were adopted immediately by the Lord Advo-

cate for securing the chiefs. Under the autho-

rity of an act passed on the 30th of August, a

large number of noblemen and gentlemen, of

whom a great proportion belonged to the High-

lands, were summoned by him to appear at

Edinburgh witliin certain specified periods,

under the pain of a year's imprisonment and

other penalties, to give baU for their allegiance

to the government. Among them was Eob Eoy.

The time allowed for the appearance of such

&s resided to the south of the river Tay, was

seven days, to those on the north, fifteen, and

to such as might be out of Scotland, sixty days

after the day of citation. Very few of them

however ajjpeared, and the remainder, almost

without exception, rushed at once into the

insurrection.

The confederated chiefs had scarcely all of

them reached their respective homes, when
they were again summoned by Mar to meet

him at Aboyne, on the 3d of September, to

concert measures for appearing immediately in

arms. Some of those who resided oidy a

short distance from the appointed rendezvous,

attended, and having received instructions to

assemble their men, and to join him without

delay, at Kirkmichael, a village in Braemar,

they returned to their estates, and sent round '

|

the fiery cross to summon their followers to '[

the field. With 60 followers only. Mar pro-

claimed the Chevalier at Castletown in Brae-

mar, after which he proceeded to Kirkmichael,

where on the 6th of September he raised his

standard, which was consecrated by prayer, in

presence, according to some accounts, of a force

of 2,000 men, mostly consisting of horse. ^

When the standard was in the course of being

erected, the ball on the top of the pole fell oft',

an incident which was regarded by the super-

stitious Highlanders as a bad omen, and which

threw a damp over the proceedings of the day.

On the foUowing day. Mar intimated by a

circular letter to the gentlemen of Perthshire,

his appointment to the chief command of nil

King James's forces in Scotland, and he

required them to hold themselves in readiness

to join him with their vassals when called

upon. He also directed them to secure the

arms of such persons as were hostile to the

cause of King James, and desired they would

prevent their men from plundering, or li^dng

at free quarters, upon his Majesty's subjects.

" The King," he observes, " makes no doubt of

your zeal for his service, especially at this

juncture when his cause is so deeply concerned,

and the relieving of our native country from

oppression and a foreign yoke, too heavy for

us and our posterity to bear, and when now is

the time to endeavour the restoring, not only

our rightful and native king, but also out

^ Annals of 2d Year of George 7. , p. 28,
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country to its ani;ient, free, and indeijendent

constitution under him, whose ancestors have

reigned over us for so many generations."

Two days thereafter the earl pubhshed a

high-flown declaration, in which he summons,

" in his Majesty's name and authority," and

" by the King's special order to me thereunto,"

all faithful and loving subjects to raise their

fencible men with their best arms, and to join

him at the Inver of Mar on the following

Monday, " in order to proceed in our march to

attend the king's standard with his other

forces. The king intending that liis forces

shall be paid from the time of their first setting

out, he expects, as he positively orders, that

they behave themselves civilly, and commit

no plundering or other disorders, upon the

liighest penalties, and his displeasure, wliich is

expected you'l see observed."

As a contrast to this high-flown and liberty-

sounding document, the following singular let-

ter, -nTitten by the earl to his baUlie in the

lordship of Kildrummy, on the evening of the

day on which the above declaration was issued,

is curious. It exhibits, in a remarkable point

of view, the despotic power which, even down
to such a modern period, a feudal or rather a

Highland chief considered himself entitled to

exercise with impunity over his vassals. Had
such an order been issued by a baron, who had

scarcely ever gone beyond the boundaries of

his own demesnes, it might have been passed

over without remark, as in perfect keeping

with the ideas of a feudal despot; but to see

the refined courtier threatening his own vassals

and tenants with destruction, and even exter-

muiation, merely because they hesitated to

take up arms in opposition to the government

under which they lived, and under which the

earl himself had served, is indeed very extra-

ordinary :

—

" Inveecauld, Sept. 9, at night, 1715.

" Jocke,—Ye was in the right not to come

with the hundred men ye sent up to-night,

when I expected foiu' times the number. It

is a pretty thing, when all the Highlands of

Scotland are now rising upon their king and

country's account, as I have accounts from

them since they were vrith me, and the gentle-

men of our neighbouring lowlands expecting

us down to join them, that my men should be

only refractory. Is not this the thing we are

now about, which they have been wishing

these twenty-six years? And now, when it is

come, and the king and country's cause is at

stake, will they for ever sit stiU and see all

perish? I have used gentle means too long,

and so I shall be forced to put other orders I

have in execution. I have sent you enclosed

an order for the lordship of Kildrummy, which

you are immediately to intimate to all my vas-

sals: if they give ready obedience, it will make

some amends, and if not ye may tell them

from me, that it will not be in my power to

save them (were I willing) from being treated

as enemies, by those who are ready soon to

join me; and they may depend on it, that I

will be the first to propose, and order their

being so. Particularly, let my own tenants in

Kildrummy know, that if they come not forth

with their best arms, that I will send a party

immediately to burn what they shall miss

taking from them. And they may believe this

not only a threat, but, by all that's sacred, I'U

put it in execution, let my loss be what it will,

that it may be an example to others. You are

to tell the gentlemen that I'll expect them in

their best accoutrements, on horseback, and no

excuse to be accepted of. Go about this with

all diligence, and come youi'self and let me
know your having done so. All this is not

only as ye will be answerable to me, but to

your king and country.

Your assured friend and servant,

]\L4E."
" To John Forbes of Invcrau,

Bailie of Kildrummy."

While the Jacobite cliiefs were collecting

their forces, an event occurred which ought to

have induced them to abandon, at least for a

time, an enterprise signalized by such an im-

toward beginning. This was the death of

Louis XIV., who expired on the 1st of Sep-

tember, after a short illness, An occurence

more unfortunate to the cause of the Chevaher

could scarcely have happened at such a con-

juncture, as it tended to damp the spirits of

his partisans, who looked upon Louis as the

main prop of the cause. On receipt of this

intelligence, the chiefs held a meeting to con-

sult upon the course they ought to pursue
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under this new aspect of matters. Some of

the more moderate were for returning home,

and remaining quiet till the arrival of the

Chevalier, should he receive any encourage-

ment from the new government of France to

proceed on his intended voyage; but the

majority argued that they had abeady gone too

far to recede with safety, and that as a general

insurrection would take place in England iu

favour of the Chevalier, they should take the

field forthwith. An immediate appeal to arms

having been resolved upon, messengers were

despatched to France to urge the Chevalier to

hasten his departure, and the following notable

manifesto, which had been privately printed at

Edinburgh by Freebairn, one of the king's

printers, was issued at the same time:

—

" Manifesto by the Noblemen, Gentlemen,

and others, who dutifully appear at this

time in asserting the imdoubted rights of

their lawful sovereign, James the Eighth,

by the grace of God, king of Scotland,

England, France, and Ireland, defender

of the faith, &c. ; and for relieving this,

his ancient kingdom, from the oppressions

and grievances it lies under.

" His majesty's right of blood to the crowns

of these reabns is undoubted, and has never

been disputed or arraigned by the least circum-

stance or lawful authority. By the laws of

God, by the ancient constitutions, and by the

positive unrepealed laws of the land, we are

boimd to pay his majesty the duty of loyal

subjects. Nothing can absolve us from this

our duty of subjection and obedience. The

laws of God require our allegiance to our

rightful king—the laws of the land secure our

religion and other interests; and his majesty

giving up himself to the support of his Protes-

tant subjects, puts the means of securing to us

our concerns, religious and civil, in our own

hands. Our fundamental constitution has

been entirely altered and sunk amidst the

various shocks of unstable faction, while, in

searching out new expedients pretended for

our security, it has produced nothing but daily

disappointments, and has brought us and our

posterity under a precarious dependence upon

foreign councils and interests, and the power

of foreign troops. The late unhappy union

which was brought about by the mistaken

notions of some, and the ruinous and selfish

designs of others, has proved so far from

lessening and healing the difl'erences betwixt

his majesty's subjects of Scotland and England,

that it has widened and mcreased them. And
it appears by experience so inconsistent with

the rights, privileges, and interests of us, and

our good neighbours and fellow-subjects of

England, that the continuance of it must

inevitably ruin us, and hurt them ; nor can

any way be found out to relieve us, and restore

our ancient and independent constitution, but

by the restoring our rightfid and natural king,

who has the only undoubted riglit to reign

over us. Neither can we hope that the party

who cliiefly contributed to bring us into bond-

age, will at any time endeavour to work our

relief, since it is known how strenuouslj' they

opposed, in two late instances, the efforts tliat

were made by all Scotsmen by themselves, and

supported by the best and wisest of the Eng-

lish, towards so desirable an end, as they wOl

not adventure openly to diso'ivn the dissolution

of the \mion to be. Our substance has been

wasted in the late ruinous wars, and we see an

unavoidable prospect of having wars continued

on us and our posterity so long as the posses-

sion of the crown is not in the right line.

The hereditary rights of the subjects, thougli

confirmed by conventions and parliaments, are

now treated as of no value or force, and past

services to the crown and royal family are now
looked upon as grounds of suspicion. A packed

up assembly, who call themselves a British

parliament, have, so far as in them hes, inhu-

manely murdered their own and our sovereign,

by promising a good sum of money as the

reward of so execrable a crime. They have

proscribed, by unaccountable and groimdless

impeachments and attainders, the worthy patri-

ots of England, for their honourable and suo-

cessfid endeavours to restore trade, plenty, and

peace to these nations.

" They have broken in upon the sacred lawj

of both countries by which tlie liberty of our

persons was secured, and they have empowered

a foreign prince, (who, notwithstanding his

expectations of the crown for fifteen years, is

still unacquainted with our manners, customs,

and language,) to make an absolute conquest
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(if not timely prevented) of the three king-

doms, hy investing himself with an unlimited

power, not only of raising unnecessary forces

at home, hut also of calling in foreign troops,

ready to promote his uncontrollable designs.

Nor can we he ever hopeful of its being other-

wise, in the way it is at present, for some

generations to come. And the sad consequen-

ces of these unexampled proceedings have

really been so fatal to great numbers of our

kinsmen, friends, and feUow-subjects of both

kingdoms, that they have been constrained to

abandon their country, houses, wives and chil-

dren, to give themselves up prisoners, and

perhaps victims, to be sacrificed to the pleasure

of foreigners, and a few hot-headed men of a

restless faction, whom they employ. Our

troops abroad, notwithstanding their long and

remarkable good services, have been treated,

since the peace, with neglect and contempt,

and particularly in Holland ; and it is not now

the officers' long service, merit, and blood they

have lost, but money and favour by which

they can obtain justice in their preferments.

So that it is evident the safety of his majesty's

person, and independency of his kingdoms,

caU loudly for immediate relief and defence.

"The consideration of these unhappy cir-

cumstances, vriih the due regard we have to

common justice, the peace and quiet of us and

our posterity, and our duty to his majesty, and

his commands, are the powerful motives which

have engaged us in our present undertaking,

which we are firmly and heartily resolved to

push to the utmost, and stand by one another

to the last extremity, as the only solid and

effectual means for putting an end to so dread-

ful a prospect, as by our present situation we
have before our eyes, and with faithful hearts

true to our rightful king, our country, and our

neighbours, we earnestly beseech and expect,

as his majesty commands, the assistance of aU

our true fellow-subjects to second our attempt

;

declaring hereby our sincere intentions that we

will promote and concur in all la'ivfid means

for settling a lasting peace to these lands, under

the auspicious government of our native-born

rightful sovereign, the direction of our own

domestic councils, and the protection of our

native forces and troops. That we wiU in the

»am6 manner concur and endeavour to have

our laws, liberties, and properties, secured by

the parliaments of both kingdoms ; that by

the wisdom of such parliaments we will endea-

vour to have such laws enacted as shall give

absolute security to us, and future ages, for the

Protestant religion, against all efforts of arbi-

trary power, poper}% and all its other enemies.

" Nor have we any reason to be distrustful

of the goodness of God, the truth and purity

of our holy religion, or the known excellency

of his majesty's judgment, as not to hope, that

in due time, good examples and conversation

with our learned di\'ines, will remove those

prejudices, which we know his education in a

Popish country has not riveted in his royal

discerning mind ; and we are sure, as justice is

a virtue in all religions and professions, so the

doing of it to him wiU not lessen his good

opinion of ours. That as the king is willing

to give his royal indemnity for all that is past,

so he will cheerfully concur in passing general

acts of oblivion, that our feUow-subjects, who
have been misled, may have a fair opportunity

of Kving with us in the same friendly manner

that we design to live with them. That we
will use our endeavours for redressing the bad

usage of our troops abroad, and bringing the

troops at home on the same footing and esta-

blishment of pay, as those of England. That

we will sincerely and heartily go into such

measures as shall maintain effectually, and

establish, a right, firm, and lasting union

betwixt his majesty's ancient kingdom of Scot-

land, and our good neighbours and fellow-

subjects of the kingdom of England.

" The peace of these nations being thus set-

tled and we freed from foreign dangers, we wiU

use our endeavours to have the army reduced

to the usual number of guards and garrisons
;

and will concur in such laws and methods, as

shall relieve us of the heavy taxes and debts

now lying upon us, and at the same time, wiU

support the public credit in aU its parts. And
we hereby faitlifidly promise and engage that

every officer who joins with us in our king and

country's cause shall not only enjoy the same

post he now does, but shall be advanced and

preferred according to his rank and station and

the number of men he brings off with him to

us. And each foot soldier so joining us shall

have twenty shillings sterling, and each troopei
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or dragoon, who brings horse and accoutre-

ments along with him, £12 sterling gratuity,

besides their pay ; and in general we shall con-

cur with all our fellow subjects in such measures

as shall make us flourish at home, and be for-

midable abroad, under our rightfid sovereign,

and the peaceable harmony of our ancient fun-

damental constitution, undisturbed by a pre-

tender's interests and councils from abroad, or

a restless faction at home. In so honourable,

so good, and just a cause, we do not doubt of

the assistance, direction, and blessing of Al-

mighty God, who has so often succoured the

royal family of Stuarts, and our country from

sinking under oppression."

A document better calculated to arouse the

national feeling could not have been penned.

Every topic which could excite a spirit of cUs-

affection against the government then existing

is artfully introduced, and enforced with an

energy of diction and an apparent strength of

reasoning admirably fitted for excitmg the spirit

of a people living, as they imagined, in a state

of national dbgi'adation. But this manifesto

which, a few years before, would have set the

whole of Scotland in a flame, produced little

or no effect in those quarters where alone it

was necessary to make such an appeal.

CHAPTER XXV.

SOVEREIGN :—George I., 1714—1727.

Measures of the government—Attempt to surpris.'

Edinburgh Castle—Duke of Argyle appointeJ to

tlie command of the government forces—Expedition

of General Gordon into Argyle—Proceedings of the

Earl of Mar—Insurrection in England—Affair at

Keith—Rising in the south of Scotland—Expedition

of Brigadier Mackintosh—Marches to Edinburgh
and occupies Leith—Duke of Argyle marches to

Leith— Retreat of Mackintosh—Joins the forces

under Forster—Disputes among the insurgents and
secession of 500 Highlanders—Rebels march into

England—Battle of Preston.

While the Earl of Mar was thus busily en-

gaged exciting a rebellion in the north, the

government was no less active in making pre-

parations to meet it. Apprehensive of a general

rising in England, particularly in the west,

where a spirit of disafi'ection had often dis-

played itself, and to which the insui'rection in

Scotland was, it was believed, intended as a

diversion ; the government, instead of despatch-

ing troops to Scotland, posted the whole dis-

posable force in the disaffected districts, at

convenient distances, by which disposition,

considerable bodies coidd be assembled together

to assist each other in case of need. The

Avisdom of this plan soon became apparent, aa

there can be no doubt, that had an army been

sent into Scotland to suppress the rebellion in

the north, an insurrection would have broken

out in England, which might have been fatal

to the government.!

To strengthen, however, the military force

in Scotland, the regiments of Forfar, Orrery,

and Hill, were recalled from Ireland. These

arrived at Edinbm-gh about the 24th of August,

and were soon thereafter despatched along with

other troops to the west, under Major-general

Wightman, for the purpose of securing the

fords of the Forth, and the pass of Stirling.

These troops being upon the reduced establisli-

ment, did not exceed 1,600 men, a force inade-

quate for the protection of such an important

post. Orders were, therefore, sent to the Earl

of Stair's regiment of dragoons and two foot

regiments, which lay in the north of England,

to march to the camp in the park of StirKng

with all expedition, and at the same time,

Evans's regiment of di'agoons, and Clyton's and

Wightman's regiments of foot were recalled

from Ireland.^

During the time the camp was forming at

Stuling, the friends of the Chevalier at Edin-

biu'gh formed the daring project of seizing the

castle of Edinburgh, the possession of which

woidd have been of vast importance to the

Jacobite cause. Lord Drummond, a Catholic,

was at the head of this party, wliich consisted

of about 90 gentlemen selected for the purpose,

about one half of whom were Higldanders. In

the event of success, each of the adventurers

was to receive £100 sterling and a commission

in the army. To facilitate their design, they

employed one Arthur, who had formerly been

an ensign in the Scotch guards, to corrupt

some of the soldiers in the gaiTison, and who

by money and promises of preferment induced

Annals of 2d year of George I., p. 30.

:m, pp. 36—7.

' Annals of 2d year
' Idem, pp. 36—7.
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a sergeant, a corporal, and two sentinels to

enter into the views of the conspirators. These

engaged to attend at a certain place upon the

wall, on the north, near the Sally-port, in order

to assist the conspirators in their ascent. Tlie

latter had prepared a scaling ladder made of

ropes, capable of holding several men abreast,

and had so contrived it, that it ooidd be drawn

up through means of pulleys, by a smaE rope

which the soldiers were to fasten behind the

wall. Having completed their arrangements,

they fixed on the 9th of September for the

attempt, being the day after the last detach-

ment of the government troops quartered iu

EJiubuigh Castle in 1715. from the North-East. Krom an old print.

camp in St. Anne's Yards, near Edinburgh,

had set off for Stirling. But the projectors of

this well-concerted enterprise were doomed to

lament its failure when almost on the eve of

completion.

Arthur, the officer who had bribed the

soldiers, having engaged his brother, a physi-

cian in EcUnburgli, in the Jacobite interest,

let him into the secret of the design upon the

castle. Dr. Arthur, who appears to have been

a man of a timorous disposition, grew alarmed

at this intelligence, and so deep had been the

impression made upon his mind while contem-

plating the probable consequences of such a

step, that on the day before the attempt his

spirits became so depressed as to attract the

notice of his wife, who importuned him to

inform her of the cause. He complied, and

his wife, without acquainting him, sent an

anonymous letter to Sir Adam Cockbum of

Ormiston, Lord-Justice-Clerk, acquainting him

with the conspiracy. Cockburn received this

letter at ten o'clock at night, and sent it off

with a letter from himself to Lieutenant-colonel

Stuart, the deputy-governor of the castle, who

received the communication shortly before

eleven. Stuart lost no time in ordering the

officers to double their guards and make dUi-

gent rounds ; but probably supposing that no

attempt woidd be made that night he went to

bed after issuing these instructions. In the

meantime, the conspirators had assembled at a

tavern preparatory to their attempt, but unfor-

tunately for its success they lingered over their

cups far beyond the time they had fixed upon

for putting their project into execution. In

fact, they did not assemble at the bottom of

the wall till after the deputy-governor had

issued hi.s orders; but ignorant of what had

passed "ivithin the castle, they proceeded to tie

the rope, which had been let down by the

soldiers, to the ladder. Unhappily for the
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wliole party, the hour for changing the senti-

nels had arrived, and while the traitorous

soldiers were in the act of drawing up the

ladder, one Lieutenant Lindsay, at the head of

a party of fresh sentinels, came upon them on

his way to the saUy-port. The soldiers,

alarmed at the approach of Lindsay's party,

immediately slipt the rope, one of them at the

same time discharging his piece at the assail-

ants to divert suspicion from himself. The

noise which this occurrence produced told the

conspirators that they were discovered, on

which they dispersed. A party of the town-

guard which the Lord Provost, at the request

of the Lord-Justice-Clerk, had sent to patrol

about the castle, attracted by the firing, imme-

diately rushed from the West-Port, and re-

paired to the spot, but all the conspirators,

with the exception of four whom they secured,

had escaped. These were one Captain Mac-

lean, an officer who had fought under Dundee

at KiUiecrankie, whom they found lying on

the ground much injured by a fall from the

ladder or from a precipice; Alexander Eamsay

and George BosweU, writers in Edinburgh;

and one Lesly, who had been in the service of

the same Duchess of Gordon who had dis-

tinguished herself in the aff'air of the medal.

This party picked up the ladder and a quantity

of muskets and carbines wliich the conspirators

had thrown away in their fiight. ^

Such was the result of an enterprise which

had been matured with great judgment, and

which would probably have succeeded, but for

the trifling circumstance above mentioned.

The capture of such an important fortress as

the castle of Edinburgh, at such a time, would

have been of vast importance to the Jacobites,

inasmuch as it would not only have afforded

them an abundant supply of military stores,

with which it was then well provided, and put

them in possession of a considerable sum of

money, but would also have served as a rallying

point to the disaffected living to the south of

the Forth, who only waited a favourable op-

portunity to declare themselves. Besides giving

them tne command of the city, the possession

of the castle by a Jacobite force would have

compelled the commander of the government

* Patten, pji. 159. 160. Annals of Georcje I., pp.
89, 40. Rae, pp. 199, 200.

forces to withdraw the greater part of his

troops from Stirling, and leave that highly

important post exposed to the northern insur-

gents. Had the attempt succeeded. Lord

Drummond, the contriver of the design, was

to have been made governor of the castle, and

notice of its capture was to have been an

nounced to some of the Jacobite partisans on

the opposite coast of Fife, by firing three can-

non-shots from its battlements. On hearing

the report of the guns, these men were in-

stantly to have communicated the intelligence

to the Earl of Mar, who was to hasten south

with all his forces.*

As the appointment of a person of rank,

influence, and talent, to the conunand of tlie

army, destined to oppose the Earl of Mar, was

of great importance, the Dnke of Argyle, who

had served with distinction abroad, and who

had formerly acted as commander-in-chief of

the forces in Scotland, was pitched upon as

generahssimo of the army encamped at Stirhng.

Having received instructions from his majesty

on the 8th of September, he departed for Scot-

land the following day, accompanied by somo

of the Scottish nobility, and other persons of

distinction, and arrived at Edinburgh on the

14th. About the same time, the Earl of

Sutherland, who had offered his services to

raise the clans in the northern Highlands, in

support of the government, was sent down

from London to Leith in a ship of war, with

orders to obtain a supply of arms and aimuu-

nition from the governor of the castle of Edin-

burgh. He arrived on the 21st of September,

and after giving instructions for the shipment

of these supplies, departed for the north.

When the Duke of Argyle reached Edin-

burgh, he found that Mar had made consider-

able progress in the insurrection, and that the

regular forces at Stirling were far inferior in

point of nimibers to those of the Jacobite com-

mander. He, therefore, on tlie day he arrived

in the capital, addressed a letter to tlie magis-

trates of Glasgow, (who, on the first appear-

ance of the insurrection, had offered, in a letter

to Lord Townshend, one of the secretaries of

state, to raise 600 men in support of the

government, at the expense of the city,) re-

* Avnals of Second Tear of Qeorgi I., [i. -M.

—

Patten, p. 160.
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questing tliem to send forthwith 500 or 600

men to Stii-ling, under tlie command of such

officers as they should think fit to appoint, to

join the forces stationed there. In compliance

with this demand, there were despatched to

Stirling, on the 17th, 18th, and 19th of Sep-

tember, three battalions, amounting to between

600 and 700 men, under the nominal command

of the Lord Provost, who deputed the active

part of his duties to Colonel Blackadder. On
the arrival of the first battalion, the duke ad-

dressed a second letter from Stirling to the

magistrates of Glasgow, thanking them for

their promptitude, and requesting them to send

intimation, with the greatest despatch, to all

the friends of the government in tlie west, to

assemble all the fencible forces at Glasgow,

and to hold them in readiness to march when

required. In connexion with these instruc-

tions, the duke, at the same time, wrote letters

of a similar import to the magistrates of all the

well aifected burghs, and to private individuals

who were known to be favourably disposed.

Tlie most active measures were accordingly

adopted in the south and west by the friends

of the government, and in a short time a suffi-

cient force was raised to keep the disaffected

in these districts in check. ^

Meanwhile the Earl of Mar and his friends

were no less active in preparing for the cam-

paign. Pursuant to an arrangement with the

Jacobite chiefs, General Gordon, an officer of

great bravery and experience, was despatched

into the Highlands to raise the north-western

clans, with instructions either to join Mar with

such forces as he could collect at the fords of

the Forth, or to march upon Glasgow by Dum-
barton. Having collected a body of between

4,000 and 5,000 men, cliiefly Macdonalds,

Macleans, and Camerons, Gordon attempted to

surprise Fort-WUliam, and succeeded so far as

to carry by surprise some of the outworks,

sword in hand, in which were a lieutenant,

sergeant, and 25 men; but as the garrison

made a determined resistance, he withdrew his

men, and marched towards Inverary. This

route, it is said, was taken at the suggestion

of Campbell of Glendaruel, who, at tlie first

meeting of the Jacobites, had assured Mar and

his friends tliat if tlie more northern clans

would take Argyleshire in their way to the

south, their numbers would be greatly increased

by the Macleans, Macdonalds, MacdougaUs,

MacneiUs, and the other Macs of that county,

together -mth a gTeat number of Campbells, of

the faimly and followers of the Earl of Bread-

albaue. Sir James Campbell of Auchinbreck,

and Sir Duncan Campbell of LochneU; all of

whom, he said, would join in the insurrection,

when they saw the other clans in that coimtry

at hand to protect them against those in the

interest of the Duke of Argyle.^

When the Earl of Islay, brother to the

Duke of Argyle, heard of General Gordon's

movemeuts, he assembled about 2,500 men to

prevent a rising of the clans in Argyle, and of

the disaffected branches of the name of Camp-

bell. On arriving before Inverary, General

Gordon found the place protected by entrench-

ments which the earl had thrown up. He did

not venture on an attack, but contented liim-

self with encamping at the north-east side of

the to'wn, at nearly the distance of a nule,

where he continued some days without any

hostile attempt being made on either side. It

was evidently contrary to Gordon's plan to

hazard an action, his sole design in entering

Argyleshire being to give an opportunity to

the Jacobite population of that district to join

his standard, which the keeping of such a

large body of men locked up in Inverary

would greatly assist.

During the continuance before Inverary of

the " Black Camp," as General Gordon's party

was denominated by the Campbells, the Earl

of Islay and his men were kept in a state of

continual alarm from the most trifling causes.

On one occasion an amusing incident occurred,

which excited the fears of the Campbells, ami

showed how greatly they dreaded an attack.

Some time before tliis occurrence, a small body

of horse from Kintyre had joined the earl: the

men were quartered in the town, but the horses

were put out to graze on the east side of the

small river that runs past Inverary. Tha

horses disliking their quarters, took their de-

parture one night in search of better pasture.

" Rae,

Loiuloii,

p. 223 — if/c of John, Duke nf Argyk.
.7i5, pp. 178, 17'.'.
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They sought their way along the shore for the

purpose of crossing the river at the lower end

of the town. The trampliiig of their hoofs on

the gravel being heard at some distance by the

garrison, the earl's men were thrown into the

utmost consternation, as they had no doubt

that the enemy was advancing to attack them.

As the horses were at full gallop, and advanc-

ing nearer every moment, the noise increasing

as they approached, nothing but terror was to

be seen in every face. With trembling hands

they seized their arms and put themselves in a

defensive posture to repel the attack, but they

were fortunately soon relieved from the panic

they had been thrown into by some of the

horses which had passed the river approaching

without riders ; so that " at last," says the nar-

rator of this anecdote, " the whole was found

only to be a plot among the KintjTe horse to

desert not to the enemy, but to their own coun-

try; for 'tis to be supposed the horses, as well as

their owners, were of very loyal principles."^

Shortly after this event, another occurrence

took place, which terminated not quite so ridi-

culously as the other. One night the sergeant

on duty, when going his rounds at the quarter

of the town opposite to the place where the

clans lay, happened to make some mistake in

the watchword. The sentinel on duty suppos-

ing the sergeant and his party to be enemies,

discharged his piece at them. The earl,

alarmed at the firing, immediately ordered the

drums to beat to arms, and in a short time

the whole of his men were assembled on the

castle-green, where they were drawn up in

battalions in regular order by torch or candle

light, the night being extremely dark. As
soon as they were marshalled, the earl gave

them orders to fire in platoons towards the

quarter whence they supposed the enemy was

approaching, and, accordingly, they opened a

brisk iiTe, which was kept up for a considerable

time, by which several of their own sentinels

in returning from their posts were wounded.

Whilst the Campbells were thus employed

upon the castle-green, several gentlemen, some

say general officers, who liked to fight " under

covert," retired to the square tower or castle

of Tnverary, from the windows of which they

' Life of John Duke of Argyle, p. 180.

issued their orders. When the earl found that

he had no enemy to contend with, he ordered

his men to cease firing, and to continue all

night under arms. This humorous incident,

however, was attended with good consequences

to the terrified Campbells, as it had the effect

of relieving them from the presence of the

enemy. General Gordon, who had not the

most distant intention of entering the town, on

hearing the close and regular firing from the

garrison, concluded that some forces had

entered the town, to celebrate whose arrival

the firing had taken place, and alarmed for his

own safety, sounded a retreat towards Perth-

shire before day-light. ^

No sooner, however, had the clans left Tn-

verary, than a detachment of the Earl of Bread-

albane's men, to the number of about 500,

entered the county under the command of

Campbell of Glenlyon. To expel them, the

Earl of Islay sent a select body of about 700

men, in the direction of Lorn, under the com-

mand of Colonel Campbell of Eanab, an old

and experienced officer, who came up with

Glenlyon's detacliment at Glenscheluch, a small

village at the end of the lake called Lochnell,

in the mid division of Lorn, about 20 miles

distant from Inverary. Both sides immedi-

ately prepared for battle, and to lighten them-

selves as much as possible, the men threw off

their plaids and other incumbrances. Whilst

both parties were standing gazing on each other

with fury in their looks, waiting for the signal

to commence battle, a parley was proposed, in

consequence of which, a conference was held

by the commanders half-way between the

lines. The result was, that the Breadalbane-

men, to spare the effusion of the Campbell

blood, agreed to lay down their arms on con-

dition of being allowed to march out of the

country without disturbance. These terms

being communicated to both detachments, were

approved of by a loud shout of joy, and

hostages were immediately exchanged on both

sides for the due performance of the articles.

The Earl of Islay, on coming up with the

remainder of his forces, was dissatisfied -with

the terms of the capitulation, as he considered

that he had it in his power to cut off Glfln-

8 Idem, p. 181.
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lyon's party ; but lie was jiersuacled to accede

to the articles, which were accordingly honour-

ahly observed on both sides.

'

In the meantime, the Earl of Mar had col-

lected a considerable force, with which he

marched, about the middle of September, to

Moulinearn, a small village in Athole, where

he proclaimed the Chevalier. On entering

Athole, he was joined by 500 Athole-men,

under the Marquis of Tullibardine, and by the

party of the Earl of Breadalbane's men, under

Campbell of Glenlyon and Campbell of Glen-

darueL He was afterwards joined by the old

earl himself, who, although he had, the day

preceding his arrival, procured an affidavit

from a physician in Perth, and the minister

of the parish of Kenmore, of wliich he was

patron, certifying his total inability, from age,

and a complication of diseases, to comply with

a mandate of the government requiring him to

attend at Edinburgh ; yet, nevertheless, found

himself able enough to take the field in sup-

port of the Chevalier. 1 Having received in-

telligence that the Earl of Eothes, and some

of the gentlemen of Fife, were advancing with

500 of the militia of that county to seize Perth,

he sent Colonel John Hay, brother to the Earl

of Kinnoid, with a detachment of 200 horse, to

take possession of that town ; he accordingly

entered it on the 14tli of September, without

opposition, and there proclaimed the Chevalier.

The provost made indeed a demonstration of

opposition by collecting between 300 and 400

men in the market place ; but Colonel Hay
having been joined by a party of 150 men
which had been sent into the town a few days

before by the Duke of Athole, the provost

dismissed liis men. When the Earl of Eotlies,

who was advancing upon Perth with a body of

500 men, heard of its capture, he retired to

Leslie, and sent notice of the event to the

Duke of Argyle. The possession of Perth was

of importance to Mar in a double point of

view, as it not onl}' gave him the command of

the whole of Fife, in addition to the country

north of the Tay, but also inspired lus friends

with confidence.^ Accordingly, the Chevaher

» Life of the DuTce of ArgyU, p. 184.
' Collection of original Letters and A vihmiic Papers

relating to the Rebellion, 1715, p. 20.

- Annals of 2d year ofGeorge /., p. 41. Patten, p.

5—155—2-20.

was proclaimed at Aberdeen by the Earl

jMarischal j at Castle Gordon, by the Marquis of

Hiuitly ; at Brechin, by the Earl of Panmure
;

at Montrose, by the Earl of Southesk ; and at

Dundee, by Graham of Clavcrhouse, who was

afterwards created Viscotmt Dimdee, by the

Chevalier.

As Mar had no intention of descending into

the Lowlands himself without a considerable

force, he remained several days at Moulinearn

waiting for the clans who had promised to join

him, and in the meantime directed Colonel

Hay, whom, on the 18th of September, he

appointed governor of Perth, to retain posses-

sion of that town at all hazards. He also

directed him to tender to the inhabitants the

oath of allegiance to the Chevalier, and to

expel from the town all persons who refused

to take the oath. After this purgation had

been effected, Governor Hay was ordered to

appoint a free election of magistrates by

poU, to open all letters passing through the

post-office, and to appoint a new post-mas-

ter in whom ho could have confidence. To

support Hay in case of an attack, Mar sent

down a party of Eobertsons, on the 22d,

imder the command of Alexander Robertson

of Strowan, their chief, kno^vn as the elector

of Strowan.

At this time. Mar's forces did not probably

exceed 3,000 men, but their number having

been increased to upwards of 5,000 within a

few days thereafter, he marched down upon

Perth, which he entered on the 28th of Sep-

tember, on which day the Honourable James

Murray, second son of the Viscount Stormont,

arrived at Perth vnt\i letters from the Chevor

lier to the earl, giving him assurances of speedy

and powerful succour, and promises from the

Chevalier, as was reported, of appearing per-

sonally in Scotland in a short time. This

gentleman had gone over to France in the

month of April preceding, to meet the Cheva-

lier, who had appointed him principal secretary

for Scotland, and had lately landed at Dover,

whence he had travelled incognito overland to

Edinburgli, where, although well known, ha

escaped detection. After spending a few daj'S

in Edinburgh, during which time he attended,

it is said, several private meetings of the friends

of the Chevalier, he crossed the Frith in an
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open boat at Newhaven, and landed at Burnt-

island, whence he proceeded to Perth.^

The first operations of the insurgents were

marked by vigour and intrepidity. The seizure

of Perth, though by no means a brilliant affair,

was almost as important as a victory would have

been at such a crisis, and another dashing

exploit wliich a p<irty of the earl's army per-

formed a few days after his arrival at Perth,

was calculated to make an impression equally

favourable to the Jacobite cause. Before the

Earl of Sutherland took his departure from

Leith for Dunrobin castle, to raise a force in

the north, he arranged with the government

for a supply of arms, ammunition and military

stores, which was to be furnished by the gover-

nor of Edinbiu'gh castle, and sent dovra to the

north with as Kttle delay as possible. Accord-

ingly, about the end of September, a vessel

belonging to Burntisland was freighted for

that piupose, on board of which were put about

400 stands of arms, and a considerable quantity

of ammunition and military stores. The vessel

anchored in Leith roads, but was prevented

from passing down the Frith by a strong north-

easterly wind, which, continuing to blow very

hard, induced the captain for security's sake to

weigh anchor and stand over to Burntisland

roads, on the opposite coast of Fife, under the

protection of the weather shore. The captain

went on shore at Burntisland, to visit his wife

and family who resided in the town, and the

destiaation of the vessel, and the nature of her

cargo being made known to some persons in

the Jacobite interest, information thereof was

immediately communicated by them to the

Earl of Mar, who at once resolved to send a

detachment to Burntisland to seize the vessel.

Accordingly, ho despatched on the evening of

the 2d of October, a party of 400 horse, and

500 foot, fi'om Perth to Burntisland, with

instructions so to order their march as not to

enter the latter place till about midnight. To

draw off the attention of the Duke of Argyle

from this expetlition, Mar made a movement
as if he intended to march with all his forces

upon Alva, in the neighbourhood of Stirling,

in consequence of wliich Argj-le, who had re-

ceived intelligence of Mar's supposed design,

' A7iiials of 2rf 1/car of Gcorr/s /. ,
]>. 12.

I

kept Jiis men imder arms the whole day in

expectation of an attack. Meanwhile, the

party having reached their destination, the foot

entered Burntisland unpereeived, and while

the horse surrounded the town to prevent any

person from carrying the intelligence of their

arrival out of it, the foot seized all the boats in

the harboiu: and along the shore, to cut off' all

communication by sea. About 120 men were,

thereupon, sent off in some boats to board tlie

ship, which they secured ^rithout opposition.

They at first attempted to bring the vessel into

the harbour, but were prevented by the state

of the tide. They, however, lost no time in

discharging her cargo, and having pressed a

number of carts and horses from the neigh-

bourhood into their service, the detachment

set off undisturbed for Perth with their booty,

where they arrived without molestation. Be-

sides the anus and other warlike materials

wlrich they found in the vessel, the detachment

carried off 100 stands of arms from the town,

and between 30 and 40 more which they found

in another ship. Emboldened by the success

of this enterprise, parties of the insurgents

spread themselves over Fife, took possession of

aU the towns on the north of the Frith of

Forth, from Burntisland to Fifeness, and pro-

hibited all communication between tliem and

the opposite coast. The Earl of Eothes, who
was quartered at Leslie, was now obliged, for

fear of being cut off, to retire to Stirling under

the protection of a detachment of horse and

foot, which had been sent from Stirling to

support him, under the command of the Earl

of Forfar, and Colonel Ker.*

Mar had not yet been joined by any of the

northern clans, nor by those under General

Gordon ; but on the 5th of October, about 500

of the Mackintoshes arrived under the com-

mand of the Laird of Borlum, better known
by the name of Brigadier Mackintosh, an old

and experienced soldier, who, as imcle of the

chief, had placed himself at the head of that

clan in consequence of liis nephew's minority.

This clan had formerly sided wth the revolu-

tion party; but, influenced by Borlum, who
was a zealous Jacobite, they were among the

first to espouse the cause of the Chevalier, and

* A nnals of George I.
,

I!ae, p. 234.
pp. 43, 4 4. I'alteii, p. 1.5G.
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had seized upon Inverness before some of the

other clans had taken the field. On the foUo-w-

mg day the earl was also joined by the Marquis

of Huntly at the head of 500 horse and 2,000

foot, cliiefly Gordons ; and on the 10th by the

Earl ^Marischal with 300 horse, among whom
were many gentlemen, and 500 foot. These

different accessions increased Mar's army to

upwards of 8,000 men.

Mar ought now to have instantly opened

the campaign by advancing upon Stirling, and

attacking the Duke of Axgyle, whose forces

did not, at this time, amoimt to 2,000 men.

In his rear he had nothing to dread, as the

Earl of Seaforth, who was advancing to join

him mth a body of 3,000 foot and 600 horse,

had left a division of 2,000 of his men behind

him to keep the Earl of Sutherland, and the

other friends of the government in the northern

Highlands, in check. As the whole of the

towns on the eastern coast from Burntisland

to Inverness were in possession of his detach-

ments, and as there was not a single hostile

party along the whole of that extensive stretch,

no obstacle could have occurred, had he marched

south, to prevent him from obtaining a regular

supply of provisions for his army and such

warlike stores as might reach any of these ports

from France. One French vessel had already

safely landed a supply of arms and ammunition

in a northern port, and another during ]\Iar's

stay at Perth boldly sailed up the Frith of

Forth, in presence of some Englisli ships of

war, and entered the harbour of Burntisland

with a fresh supply. But though personally

brave, Mar was deficient in military genius,

and was altogether devoid of that promptitude

of action by which Montrose and Dundee were

distinguished. Instead, therefore, of attempt-

ing at once to strike a decisive blow at Arg3de,

the insurgent general lingered at Perth upwards

of a month. This error, however, might have

been repaired had he not committed a more

fatal one hy detaching a considerable part of

his army, including the Macintoshes, who were

the best armed of liis forces, at the solicitation

of a few English Jacobites, who, having taken

up arms in the north of England, craved his

support.

About the period of INIar's departure for

Scotland, the government had obtained infor-

mation of a dangerous conspiracy in England

in favour of the Chevalier, in consequence of

which the titular Duke of Powis was com-

mitted to the Tower, and Lords Lansdowne

and Dupplin were arrested, as implicated in

the conspiracy, and a warrant was issued for

the apprehension of the Earl of Jersey. At

the same time, a message from the king was

sent to the house of commons, informing them

that his majesty had given orders for the

apprehension of Sir William Wyndham, Mr.

Thomas Forster, jimior, member for the county

of Northumberland, and other members of the

lower house, as being engaged in a design to

support an invasion of the kingdom. Sir

WOliam Wyndham was accordingly appre-

hended, and committed to the Tower, but Mr.

Forster having been apprised of the arrival of

a messenger at Durham with the warrant for

his apprehension, avoided him, and joined the

Earl of Derwentwater, a yomig Catholic no-

bleman, against whom a similar warrant had

been issued. Tired of sliifting from place

to place, they convened a meeting of their

friends in Northumberland to consult as to

the course they shoidd pursue; it was resolved

immediately to take up arms in support of

the ChevaUer. In pursuance of a resolution

entered into, about 60 horsemen, mostly gentle-

men, and some attendants, met on Thursday

the 6th of October, at a place called Greenrig,

whence, after some consultation, they marched

to Plainfield, a place on the river Coquet,

where they were joined by a few adherents.

From Plainfield they departed for Rothhury,

a small market town, where they took up their

quarters for the night.

Nest morning, their numbers still increas-

ing, they advanced to Warkworth, where they

were joined by Lord Widdrington, with 30

horse. Mr. Forster was now appointed to the

command of this force, not on accoimt of his

military abilities, for he had none, but because

he was a Protestant, and therefore less objec-

tionable to the high-church party than the Earl

of Derwentwater, who, in the absence of a

regularly bred commander, should, on account,

of his rank, have been named to the chief

command. On Sunday morning, Mr. Forster

sent Mr. Buxton, a clergyman of Derbyshire,

who acted as chaplain to the iiisurgent party,
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to tlie parson of Warkwortli, with orders lo

pray for the Chevalier by name as king, and

to introduce into the Litany the name of Mary,

the queen-mother, and all the dutiful branches

of the royal family, and omit the names of

King George, and the prince and princess.

The minister of the parish wisely declined to

obey these orders, and for his o'mi safety re-

tired to Newcastle. The parishioners, how-

ever, were not deprived of divine service, as

Mr. Buxton, on the refusal of the parson to

officiate as directed, entered the church, and

performed in his stead with considerable effect.*

On Monday the 10th of October, Mr. Forster

was joined by 40 horse from the Scottish

border, on which day he openly proclaimed

the Chevalier. This small party remained at

Warkworth till the 14th, when they proceeded

to Alnwick, where they were joined by many

of their friends, and thence marched to Morpeth.

At Felton bridge they were reinforced by

another party of Scottish horse to the number

of 70, chiefly gentlemen from the border, so

that on entering Morpeth their force amounted

to 300 horse. In the course of his march

Forster had numerous offers of service from

the country people, which, however, he was

obliged to decline from the want of arms; but

he promised to avail himself of them as soon as

he had provided himself with arms and ammu-

nition, which he expected to iind in Newcastle,

whither he intended to proceed.

In connection with these movements, Launce-

lot Errington, a Newcastle shipmaster, under-

took to surprise Holy Island, which was

guarded by a few soldiers, exchanged weekly

from the garrison of Ber^vick. In a military

point of view, the possession of such an insig-

nificant post was of little importance, but it

was considered by the Jacobites as useful for

making signals to such French vessels as might

appear off the Northumberland coast with sup-

plies for the insurgents. Errington, it appears,

was known to the garrison, as he had been in

the habit of visiting the i.sland on business;

* "Buxton's sermon gave mighty encouragement
to the hearers, being full of exhortations, flourishing

argumeats, and cunning insinuations, to be hearty
and zealous in the cause ; for he was a man of a very
comely personage, and could humour his discourse to
induce his hearers to believe what he preached, having
Tory good natural parts, and being pretty well read.'

—Patten, p. 29.

and having arrived off the island on the lOlh

of October, he was allowed to enter the port,

no suspicions being entertained of his design.

Pursuant to the plan he had formed for sur-

prising the castle, he invited the greater part

of the garrison to visit liis vessel, and having

got them on board, he and the party which

accompanied hJTn left the vessel, and took

possession of the castle without opposition.

Errington endeavoured to apprise his friends

at Warkworth of his success by signals, but

these were not observed, and the place was

retaken the following day by a detachment of

30 men from the garrison of Berwick, and a

party of 50 of the inhabitants of the town,

who, crossing the sands at low water, entered

the island, and carried the fort sword in hand.

Errington, in attempting to escape, received a

shot in the thigh, and being captured, was

carried prisoner to Berwick; whence he had

the good fortune to make his escape in disguise."

The possession of Newcastle, where the Jaco-

bite interest was very powerful, was the first

object of the Northumberland insurgents; but

they were frustrated in their design by the vigi-

lance of the magistrates. Having first secured

aU suspected persons, the magistrates walled up

all the gates with stone and lime, except the

Brampton gate, on which they placed two pieces

of cannon. An association of the well-affected

inliabitants was formed for the defence of the

town, and the churchmen and dissenters, laying

aside their antipathies for a time, enrolled

themselves as volunteers. 700 of these were

immediately armed by the magistrates. The

keehnen also, who were chiefly dissenters,

offered to furnish a similar number of men to

defend that town; but their services were not

required, as two successive reinforcements of

regidar troops from Yorkshire arrived on the

9th and 12th of October. Wlien the insur-

gents received intelligence of the state of affairs

at Newcastle, they retired to Hexham, having

a few days before sent an express to the Earl

of Mar for a reinforcement of foot.

The news of the rising under Mr. Forster

having been communicated to the Marquis of

Tweeddale, Lord Lieutenant of Haddington-

shire, his lordship called a meeting of his

^ Patten, pp. 31, 32.

—

Annals of Gcorye I., pp. 74,

75.—Kae, pp. 211, 242.
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deputy lieutenants at Haddington early in

October, and at the same time issued instructions

to them to put the laws in execution against

" papists" and other siispected persons, by

binding them over to keep the peace, and by

seizing their arms and horses in terms of a late

act of parliament. In pursuance of this order,

Mr. Hepburn of Humbie, and Dr. Sinclair of

Hermandston, two of the deputy lieutenants,

resolved to go the morning after the instruc-

tions were issued, to the house of Mr. Hepburn

of Keith, a zealous Jacobite, against whom
they appear to have entertained hostile feel-

ings. Dr. Sinclair accordingly appeared next

morning with a party of armed men at the

place where Hepburn of Humbie had agreed

to meet him; but as the latter did not appear

at the appointed hour, the doctor proceeded

towards Keith \vith his attendants. On their

way to Keith, Hepburn enjoined liis party, in

case of resistance, not to iire tiU they should

be first fired at by !Mr. Hepburn of Keith or

his party; and on arriving near the house he

reiterated these instruction.?. When the arrival

of Sinclair and his party was announced to

Mr. Hepburn of Keith, the latter at once sus-

pecting the cause, immediately demanded in-

spection of the doctor's orders. Sinclair, there-

upon, sent forward a servant with the Marquis

of Tweeddale's commission, who, finding the

gates shut, offered to show the commission to

Hepburn at the dining-room window. On
being informed of the natui-e of the commis-

sion, Hepburn signified the utmost contempt

at it, and furiously exclaiming " God damn the

doctor and the marquis both," disappeared.

The servant thinking that Mr. Hepburn had

retired for a time to consult with his friends

before inspecting the commission, remained

before the inner gate waiting for his return.

But instead of coming back to receive the

commission, Hepburn and his friends immedi-

ately moimted their horses and sallied out,

Hepburn discharging a pistol at the servant,

wliich wounded him in two places. Old Keith

then rode up to the doctor, who was standing

near the outer gate, and after firing another

pistol at him, attacked him sword in hand and

wounded bim in the head. Sinclair's party,

in terms of their instructions, immediately

retm-ned the fire, and Mr. Hepburn's younger

son was unfortunately killed on the spot

Hepburn and his party, disconcerted by this

event, instantly galloped off towards the Bor-

ders and joined the Jacobite standard. The

death of yoimg Hepburn, who was the first

person that fell in the insurrection of 1715,

higlily incensed the Jacobites, who longed for

an opportunity, which was soon afforded them,

of punishing its author. Dr. Sinclair. ^

Whilst Mr. Forster was thus employed in

Northumberland, the Earl of Kenmure, who
liad received a commission from the Earl of

Mar to raise the Jacobites in the south of Scot-

land, was assembling his friends on the Scot^

tish border. Early in October he had held

private meetings with some of them, at which

it had been resolved to make an attempt upon

Dumfries, expecting to surprise it before the

friends of the government there should be

aware of their design ; but the magistrates got

timely warning. Lord Kenmure first appeared

in arms, at the head of 150 horse, on the

11th of October at Moffat, where he pro-

claimed the Chevalier, on the evening of which

day he was joined by the Earl of Wintoun

and 14 attendants. Next day he proceeded

to Lochmaben, where he also proclaimed "the

Pretender." Alarmed at liis approach, the

magistrates of Dumfries ordered the drums to

beat to arms, and for several days the town

exhibited a scene of activity and military

bustle perfectly ludicrous, when the trifling

force with which it was thi'eatened is con-

sidered. Kenmure advanced within two miles

of the town, but being informed of the pre-

parations which had been made to receive him,

he returned to Lochmaben. He thereupon

marched to Ecclefechan, where he was joined

by Sir Patrick Maxwell of SpringkeU, with 14

horsemen, and thence to Langholm, and after-

wards to Hawick, where he proclaimed the.

Clievalier. On the 17th of October, Kenmuro

marched to Jedburgh, witli the intention of pro-

ceeding to Kelso, and there also proclaimed the

prince ; but learning that Kelso was protected

by a party under the command of Sir WOliain

Bennet of Grubbet, he crossed the Border with

the design of forming a junction with Forster.*

' Eae, pp. 243—24.5.

* Rae. Faithful Register of the late ReheUion,

Loudon, 1718.
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We must now dii'ect aitentioa to the mea-

sures taken by the Earl of ?ilar in compliance

with the request of ^Ix. ForsiL*' and his friends

to send them a body of foot. As Mar had not

resolution to attempt the passage of the Foith,

which, with the forces luider his command, lie

could have easily effected, he had no other

way of reinforcing the English Jacobites, than

by attempting to transport a part of his army

across the Frith. As there were several Eng-

lish men-of-war in the Frith, the idea of sending

a body of 2,000 men across such an extensive

arm of the sea appeared chimerical
;
yet, never-

theless, Mar resolved upon this bold and

hazardous attempt.

To command this adventurous expedition,

the Jacobite general pitched upon Old Borliun,

as Brigadier ilackintosh was familiarly called,

who readily undertook, with the assistance of

the Earl of Panmiu'e, and other able officers,

to perform a task which few men, even of ex-

perience, would have undertaken without a

grudge. For this hazardous service, a picked

body of 2,500 men was selected, consisting of

the whole of the Mackintoshes, and the greater

part of Mar's own regiment, and of the regi-

ments of the Earl of Strathmore, Lord Nairne,

Lord Charles Murray, and Drummond of Logie-

Drummond. To escape the men-of-war, wliich

were stationed between Leith and Burntisland,

it was arranged that the expedition shoidd

embark at CraU, Pittenweem, and Elie, three

smaU towns near the mouth of the Frith,

whither the troops were to proceed with the

utmost secrecy and expedition by the most

unfrequented ways through the interior of Fife.

At the same time, to amuse the ships of war,

it was concerted that another small and select

body should opeidy march across the country

to Burntisland, seize upon the boats in the

harbour, and make preparations as if they

intended to cross the Frith. With remarkable

foresight, Mar gave orders that the expedition

shoidd embark with the flowing of the tide,

that in case of detection, the ships of war
should be obstructed by it in thoir pursuit

down the Frith.

Accordingly, on the 9th or 10th of October,

both detachments left Perth escorted by a body
of horso under the command of Sir John
Erskine of Alva, the Master of Sinclair, and

Sir James Sharp, grandson of Archbishop

Sharp of St. Andrews ; and whilst the main

body proceeded in a south-easterly direction,

through the district of Fife bordering upon

the Tay, so as to pass unobserved by the men-

of-war, the other division marched du-ectly

across the country to Burntisland, where they

made a feint as if preparing to embark in

presence of the ships of war which then lay at

anchor in Leitli Roads. When the commanders

of these vessels observed the motions of the

insurgents, they manned their boats and de-

spatched them across to attack them should

they venture out to sea, and sHpping their

cables they stood over mth their vessels to the

Fife shore to support their boats. As the

boats and ships approached, the insiu'genta,

who had already partly embarked, retm-ned on
shore ; and those on land proceeded to erect a

battery, as if for the purpose of covering the

embarkation. An interchange of shots then

took place without damage on either side, till

night put an end to hostilities. In the mean-

time. Brigadier Mackintosh had arrived at the

different stations fixed for his embarkation, at

the distance of nearly 20 mUes from the ships

of war, and was actively engaged in shipping

his men in boats which had been previously

secui'ed for their reception by his friends in

these quarters. The first division crossed the

same night, being Wednesday the 12th of

October, and the second followed next mornincr.

When almost half across the channel, which,

between the place of embarkation and tlie

opposite coast, is about IG or 17 miles broad,

the fleet of boats was descried from the to|>-

masts of the men-of-war, and the commanders

then perceived, for the first time, the deception

which had been so successfully practised upon
them by the detachment at Burntisland. Un-
fortunately, at the time they made this dis-

covery, both wind and tide wore against them

;

but they sent out their boats nilly manned,

which succeeded in capturing only two boats

with 40 men, who were carried into Leith, and

committed to jail. As soon as the tide changed,

the men-of-war proceeded down the Frith, in

pursuit, but they came too late, and the whole of

the boats, with the exception of eight, (which

being far behind, took refuge in the Isle of

May, to avoid capture,) reached the opposite

3 k
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coast in perfect safety, and disembarked tlieir

men at Gullane, North Berwick, Aberladj', and

places adjacent. The number carried over

amounted to about 1,600. Those who were

di-iven into the Isle of May, amounting to 200,

after remaining therein a day or two, regained

the Fife coast, and returned to the camp at

rerth.5

The news of Mackintosh's landing occasioned

a dreadful consternation at Edinburgh, where

the friends of the government, astonished at

the boldness of the enterprise, and the extra-

ordinary success which had attended it, at once

conjectured that the brigadier would march

directly upon the capital, where he had many
friends, and fi'om which he was only 16 miles

distant. As the city was at this time wholly

unprovided with the means of defence, Camp-

bell, the provost, a warm partisan of the govern-

nicut, adopted the most active measures for

putting it in a defensive state. The well

affected among the citizens formed themselves

into a body for its defence, under the name of

the Associate Volunteers, and these, with the

city guards and trained bands, had different

posts assigned them, which they guarded with

great care and vigilance. Even the ministers

of the city, to show an example to the lay

citizens, joined the ranks of the armed volun-

teers. The provost, at the same time, sent an

express to the Duke of Argyle, requesting liim

to send, without delay, a detachment of regiilar

troops to support the citizens.

jyter the brigadier had mustered his men,

he marched to Haddington, in which he took

up his quarters for the night to refresh his

troops, and wait for the remainder of his de-

tachment, which he expected would follow.

According to Mackintosh's instructions, he

shoidd have marched directly for England, to

join the insurgents in Northimiberland, but

having received intelligence of the consterna-

tion which prevailed at Edinburgh, and urged,

it is believed, by pressing solicitations from

some of the Jacobite inhabitants to advance

upon the capital, as weU as lured by the eclat

which its capture woidd confer upon his arms,

and the obvious advantages which would thence

ensue, he marched rapidly towards Edinburgh

" Annals of GeoTgel., pp. 89—01. Patten, pp. S, 9.

the following moniing. He arrived in the

evening of the same day, Friday 14th October,

at Jock's Lodge, about a mile from the city,

where, being informed of llio measures which

h.ad been taken to defend it, and that the

Dake of Argyle was hourly expected from

Stirling with a reinforcement, he immediately

halted, and called a council of war. After a

short consultation, they resolved, in the mean-

time, to take possession of Leith. Mackintosh,

accordingly, turning off his men to the right,

marched into the town witliout opposition.

He immediately released from jail the 40 men
who had been taken prisoners by the boats of

the men-of-war, and seized a considerable

quantity of brandy and provisions, which he

found in the custom-house. He then took

possession of and quartered liis men in the

citadel which had been built by Oliver Crom-

well. This fort, which was of a square form,

with four demi-bastions, and surrounded by a

large dry ditch, was now in a very dismantled

state, though all the outworks, 'n'ith the excep-

tion of the gates, were entire. "Witliin the

walls were several houses, built for tlie conve-

nience of sea-batliing, and which served the

new occupants in lieu of barracks. To supply

the want of gates. Mackintosh formed barri-

cades of beams, planks, and of carts filled with

earth, stone, and other materials, and seizing

six or eight pieces of cannon which he found

in some vessels in the harbour, he planted two

of them at the north end of the drawbridge,

and the remainder upon the ramparts of the

citadeL Within a few hours, therefore, after

he had entered Leith, Mackintosh was fully

prepared to withstand a siege, shotdd the Duke

of Argjde venture to attack him.

^Vhilst Mackintosh was in full march upon

the capital from the east, the Duke of Argyle

was advancing upon it with greater rapidity

from the west, at the head of 400 dragoons

and 200 foot, mounted, for the sake of greater

expedition, upon farm-horses. Ho entered the

city by the west port about ten o'clock at

night, and was joined by the horse mihtia of

Lothian and the Merse with a good many

volunteers, both horse and foot, who, with the

Marquis of Tweeddale, Lord Belliavon, and

others, had retired into Edinburgh on the ap-

proach of the Uisurgents. These, with the
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addition of the city guard and volunteers,

increased Ids force to nearly 1,200 men. With

this body the duke marched down towards

Leith next morning, Saturday, 15th October;

but before he reached the town many of the

" brave gentlemen vohmteers," ^ whose enthu-

siasm had cooled while contemplating the pro-

bable consequences of encountering in deadly

strife the determined band to which they were

to be opposed, slunk out of the ranks and re-

tired to their homes. On arriving near the

citadel, Argyle posted the dragoons and foot

on opposite sides, and along with Generals

Evans and Wightman, proceeded to reconnoitre

the fort on the sea side. Thereafter he sent

in a summons to the citadel requiring the

rebels to surrender under the pain of high

treason, and declaring that if they obliged him

to employ cannon to force them, and killed

any of his men in resisting him, he woidd give

them no quarter. To this message the laird of

Kynnachin, a gentleman of Atliole, returned

this resolute answer, that as to surrendering

they did not understand the word, which could

therefore only excite laughter— that if his

grace thought he was able to make an assault,

he might try, but he would find that they were

fuUy prepared to meet it; and as to quarter

they were resolved, in case of attack, neither

to take nor to give any.

This answer was followed by a discharge from

the cannon on the ramparts, which made Argyle

soon perceive the mistake he had committed

in advancuig without cannon. Had his force

been equal and even numerically superior to

that of Maokinto.sh, he coidd not have ventured

without almost certain destruction, to have

carried the citadel sword in hand, as he found

that before his men could reach the foot of the

wall or the barricaded positions, they would

probably have been exposed to five roiinds

from the besieged, which, at a moderate com-

putation, would have cut off one half of his

men. His cavalry, besides, on account of the

nature of the groimd, could have been of little

use in an assault; and as, under such circiun-

stauces, an attack was considered impracticable,

the duke retired to Edinburgh in the evening

to make the necessary preparations for a siege.

While deliberating on the expediency of mak
ing an attack, some of the volunteers were very

zealous for it, but on being informed that it

belonged to them as volunteers to lead the

way, they heartily approved of the duke's pro-

posal to defer the attempt tiU a more season-

able opportunity. 2

Had the Earl of Mar been apprised in due

time of Mackintosh's advance upon Edinburgh,

and of the Duke of Axgyle's departure from

Stirling, he woidd probably have marched

towards the latter place, and might have

crossed the Forth above the bridge of Stirling,

without any very serious opposition from the

small force stationed in the neighbourhood;

but he received the intelligence of the briga-

dier's movement too late to make it available,

had he been inclined; moreover it appears

that he had resolved not to cross the Forth till

joined by General Gordon's detachment.'

On returrung to Edinburgh the Duke of

Argyle gave orders for the removal of some

pieces of cannon from the castle to Leith, with

the intention of making an assault upon the

citadel the following morning with the whole

of his force, including the dragoons, which he

had resolved to dismount for the occasion.

But he was saved the necessity of such a

hazardous attempt, the insurgents evacuating

the place the same night. Old Borlum, seeing

no chance of obtaining possession of Edin-

burgh, and considering that the occupation of

the citadel, even if tenable, was not of suffi-

cient importance to employ such a large body

of men in its defence, had resolved, shortly

after the departure of the duke, to abandon

the place, and to retrace his steps without

delay, and with all the secrecy in his power.

Two hours before his departure, he sent a boat

across the Frith mth despatches to the Earl of

Mar, giving him a detail of his proceedings

since his landing, and informing him of his

intention to retire. To deceive the men-of-war

which lay at anchor in the Roads, he caused a

shot to be fired after the boat, wliich had the

desired effect of making the officers in com-

mand of the sliips think the boat had some

fiiends of the government on board, and thus

= Rae, p. 263.
2 Letter to Mr. Porster, 21st October, 1715.
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allowing her to pursue lier course without

oustrnction.

At nine o'clock at niglit, every tiling being

ill readiness, Mackintosh, favoured by the

darkness of the night and low water, left the

citadel secretly, and pursuing his course along

the beach, crossed, without observation, the

small rivulet which runs through the harbour

at low water, and wliich was then about knee

deep, and passing the point of the pier, pur-

sued his route south-eastward along the sands

of Leith. At his departure. Mackintosh was

obliged to leave about 40 men behind him,

who having made too free with the brandy

wliich had been found in the custom-house,

were not in a condition to march. These,

with some stragglers who lagged behind, were

afterwards taken prisoners by a detachment of

Argyle's forces, wliich also captured some bag-

gage and ammunition.

Tlie Highlanders continued their march dur-

ing the night, and arrived at two o'clock on

the morning of Sunday, the 16th of October,

at Seaton House, the seat of the Earl of Win-
toun, who had already joined the Viscount

Kemnure. Here, during the day, they were

joined by a small party of their friends, who
had crossed the Frith some time after the

body which marched to Leith had landed, and

who, from having disembarked farther to the

eastward, had not been able to reach their

companions before their departure for the

capital. As soon as the Didce of Argyle heard

of Mackintosh's retreat, and that he had taken

up a position in Seaton House, which was en-

compassed by a very strong and high stone wall,

he resolved to foUow and besiege him in his new
quarters. But the duke was prevented from

carrying this design into execution by receiv-

ing intelligence that Mar was advancing upon

Stirling -with the intention of crossing the

Forth.

Being apprised by the receipt of Jfackin-

tosh's despatch from Leith, of the Brigacher's

design to march to the south, Mar had resolved,

with the view principally of facilitating Ids

retreait from Leith, to make a movement upon

Stirling, and thereby induce the Duke of Ar-

gyle to return to the camp in the Park with

the ta'oops which he had carried to Edinburgh.

Mar, accordingly, left Perth on Monday tha

17th of October, and General Witham, tho

commander of the royalist forces at Stii'ling in

Argyle's absence, having on the previous day

received notice of Mar's intention, immediately

sent an express to the duke, begging Viitn to

return to Stirling immediately, and bring back

the forces he had taken with him to Edinburgh.

The express reached Edinburgh at an early

hour on Monday morning, and the duke imme-

diately left Edinburgh for Stirling, leaving

behind him only 100 dragoons and 150 foot

under General Wightman. On arriving at

Stirling that night he was informed that Mar

was to be at Dunblane next morning with his

whole army, amounting to nearly 10,000 men.*

The arrival of his Grace was most oppor-

tmie, for 5Iar had in fact advanced the same

evening, with all his horse, to Dmiblane, little

more than six mUes from Stirling, and his foot

were only a short way off from the latter place.

Whether ]\Iar woidd have really attempted the

passage of the Forth but for the intelligence

he received next morning, is very problemafr

ical ; but having been informed early on Tues-

day of the duke's return, and of the arrival of

Evans's regiment of dragoons from Ireland, ho

resolved to return to Perth. In a letter which

he wrote to Mr. Forster from Perth on the

21st of October, after alluding to the informa-

tion he had received, he gives as an additional

reason for this determination, that he had left

Perth before provisions could be got ready for

his army, and that he found all the country

about Stirling, where he meant to pass the

Forth, so entirely exhausted by the enemy that

he could find nothing to subsist upon. Besides,

from a letter he had received from General

Gordon, he found the latter could not possibly

join him that week, and he could not think of

passing the Forth, under the circumstances

detailed, till joined by him. Under these

difficulties, and having accompb'shed one of

the objects of his march, by withdra^ving the

Duke of Argyle from the pursuit of his friends

in Lothian, he had thought fit, he observes, to

march back from Dunblane to Auchterarder,

and thence back to Perth, there to wait for

Gordon and the Earl of Seaforth.

Mackintosh, in expectation probably of an

* Annals of Gecrrcje I., p. 98. Patten, p. 18. Kae,

p. 2(55.
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answer to his despatch from Leith, appeared

to bo in no hurry to leave Seaton House, where

his men fared sumptuously upon the best

that the neighbourhood could afford. As

all communication was cut off between him

and the capital by the 100 dragoons which

Argyle had left beliind, and a party of 300

gentlemen-volunteers under the command of

the Earl of Rothes, who patrolled in the neigh-

bourhood of Seaton House, Mackintosh was in

complete ignorance of Argyle's departure from

the capital, and of Mar's march. This was

fortunate, as it seems probable that had the

Brigadier been aware of these circumstances,

lie would have again advanced upon the capital,

and might have captured it. During the tlireo

days that Mackintosh lay in Seaton House, no

attempt was, of course, made to dislodge him

from his position, but he was subjected to

some petty annoyances by the volunteers and

dragoons, between whom and the HiglilanJers

some occasional shots were interchanged with-

out damage on either side. Having deviated

from the line of instructions. Mackintosh ap-

pears to have been anxious, before proceeding

south, to receive from Mar such new or addi-

tional directions as a change of circumstances

might require. Mar lost no time in replying

to Borlum's communication, and on Tuesday

the 18th of October, Borlum received a despatch

desiring him to march immediately towards

England, and form a junction near the borders

with the English Jacobite forces under Mr.

Forster, and those of the south of Scotland

under Lord Kenmure. On the same day.

Mackintosh received a despatch from Mr.

Forster, requesting him to meet him without

delay at Kelso or Coldstream.

*

To give effect to these instructions. Mackin-

tosh left Seaton House next morning, and pro-

ceeded across the country towards Longform-

acus, whicli he reached that night. Doctor

Sinclair, the proprietor of Hermandston House,

had incurred the Brigadier's displeasure by his

treatment of the laird of Keith, to revenge

which he threatened to burn Sinclair's mansion
in passing it on his way south, but he was
persuaded not to carry his threat into execu-

tion. He, however, ordered his soldiers to

» Patten, p. 20.

plunder the house, a mandate which they

obeyed with the utmost alacrity. When
Major-general Wightman heard of Mackin-

tosh's departure, he marched from Edinburgh

with some dragoons, militia and volunteers,

and took possession of Seaton House. After

demolisliing the wall which surrounded it, he

returned to Ediubm-gh in the evening, carrying

along with him some Highlanders who had

lagged behind or deserted from Mackintosh on

his march. *

Mackintosh took up his quarters at Long-

formacus during the night, and continued his

march next morning to Dunse, where he ar-

rived during the day and proclaimed the

Chevalier. Here Mackintosh halted two days,

and on the morning of Saturday the 22d of

October, set out on his march to Kelso, the

appointed place of rendezvous, whither the

Northumbrian forces under Forster were march-

ing the same day. Sir William Bennet of

Grubbet and his friends hearing of the ap-

proach of these two bodies, left the town the

preceding night, and, after dismissing their fol-

lowers, retired to Edinbm'gh. The united

forces of Forster and Kenmure entered Kelso

about one o'clock on Saturday. The High-

landers had not then arrived, but hearing that

they were not far off, the Scottish cavalry, to

mark their respect for the bravery the Higli-

landers had shown in crossing the Fritli,

mai'ched out as far as Ednam bridge to meet

them, and accompanied them into the town

about three o'clock in the afternoon, amidst

the martial sounds of bagpipes. The forces

under Mackintosh now amounted to 1,400 foot

and 600 horse ; but a third of the latter con-

sisted of menial servants.

The following day, being Sunday, was en-

tirely devoted by the Jacobites to religious

duties. Patten, the historian of the insurrec-

tion, an episcopal minister and one of tlieir

chaplains, in terms of instructions from Lord

Kenmure, who had the command of the troops

while in Scotland, preached in the morning in

the great church of Kelso, formerly the abbey

of David I., to a mixed congregation of Catho-

lics, Presbyterians and Episcopalians, from

Deuteronomy xxL 17. "The right of the first-

^ Tatten, p. 20. Annals of George I., p. 101.
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born is liis."^ The pra3-ers on tliis occasion

were read by Mr. Buxton, formerly alluded to.

In tlie afternoon Mr. William Irvine, an old

Scottish Episcopalian minister, chaplain to the

Earl of Carnwath, read prayers, and delivered

a sermon full of exhortations to his hearers to

be zealous and steady in the cause of the

Chevalier. This discom'se, he afterwards told

his colleague, Mr. Patten, he had formerly

preached in the Highlands about twenty-six

years before, in presence of Lord Viscount

Dundee and his army.

Next morning the Highlanders were drawn

up in the church-yard, and thence marched to

the market-cross with colours flying, drums

beating, and bagpipes playing, when the

Chevalier was proclaimed by Seaton of Barnes,

who claimed the vacant title of Earl of Dun-

fermline. After finishing the proclamation,

he read the manifesto quoted in the conclusion

of last chapter, at the end of which the people

vnth loud acclamations shouted, " No union

!

no malt-tax! no salt-tax!"*

The insurgents remained three days in

Kelso, chiefly occupied in searching for arms

and plundering the houses of some of the

loyalists in the neighbourhood. They took

possession of some pieces of cannon which had

been brought by Sir WUliam Bennet from

Hume castle for the defence of the town, and

which had formerly been employed to protect

that ancient stronghold against the attacks of

the English. They also seized some broad-

swords which they found in the church, and a

small quantity of gunpowder. WliUst at

Kelso, Mackintosh seized the public revenue,

as was his uniform custom in every town

through which he passed.

During their stay at Kelso, the insurgents

seem to have come to no determination as to

future operations; but the arrival of General

Carpenter with three regiments of dragoons,

and a regiment of foot, at Wooler, forced them

to resolve upon something decisive. Lord

Kenmure, thereupon, called a council of war

' " All the lords that were Protestants, with a vast

multitude of people, attended: It was very agreeable

to see how decently and reverentlj' the very common
Highlanders behaved, and answered the responses ac-

cording to the Rubrick, to the shame of many that

pretend to more polite breeding."

—

Patten, p. 40.

• Patten, p. 40.

to deliberate upon the course to be pursue.l

According to the opinions of the principal

officers, there were three ways of proceeding.

The first, which was strongly urged by the

Earl of Wintoun, was to march into the west

of Scotland, to reduce Dumfries and Glasgow,

and thereafter to form a junction with the

western clans, under General Gordon, to open

a communication with the Earl of Mar, and

threaten the Duke of Argyle's rear. The

second was to give battle immediately to

General Carpenter, who had scarcely 1,000

men under him, the greater part of whom con-

sisted of newly-raised levies, who had never

seen any service. This plan was supported by

Mackintosh, who was so intent upon it, that,

sticking his pike in the ground, he declared

that he wordd not stir, but would wait for

General Carpenter, and fight him, as he was

sure there would be no difficulty in beating

him. The last plan, which was that of the

Northumberland gentlemen, was to march

directly through Cumberland and Westmore-

land into Lancashire, where the Jacobite inter-

est was very powerful, and where they expected

to be joined by great numbers of the people.

Old Borlum was strongly opposed to this view,

and pointed out the risk which they would

run, if met by an opposing force, which they

might calculate upon, while General Carpenter

was left in their rear. He contended, that if

they succeeded in defeating Carpenter, they

would soon be able to fight any other troops,

—

that if Carpenter should beat them, they had

already advanced far enough, and that they

would be better able, in the event of a reverse,

to shift for themselves in Scotland than in

England.^

Either of the two first-mentioned plans was

far preferable to the last, even had the troops

been disposed to adopt it ; but the aversion of

the Highlanders to a campaign in England

was almost insuperable ; and nothing could

mark more strongly the fatuity of the North-

umberland Jacobites, than to insist, imder

these circumstances, upon marching into Eng-

land. But they pertinaciously adliered to their

opinion, and, by doing so, may be truly said

to have ruined the cause which they had com-

9 AimaJs of 2d year of George I., p. 123. Patten,

pp. 53, 64, 65.
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biueJ to support. As the comparatively small

body of troops under Argyle was the only force

in Scotland from which the insurgents had any

thinf to dread, their whole attention should

have been directed in the first place to that

body, which could not have withstood the

combined attacks of the forces which the

rebels had in the field, amounting to about

16,000 men. The Duke of Argj'le must have

been compelled, had the three divisions of the

insurgent army made a simultaneous movement

upon Stirling, to have hazarded a battle, and

the residt would very probably have been

disastrous to his arms. Had such an event

occiured, the insurgents would have immedi-

ately become masters of the whole of Scotland,

and would soon have been in a condition to

have carried the war into England with every

hope of success.

Amidst the confusion and perplexity occa-

sioned by these dilferences of opinion, a sort

of medium course was in the mean time resolved

upon, till the cliiefs of the army should recon-

cile their divisions. The plan agreed upon

was, that they should, to avoid an immediate

encounter with General Carpenter, decamp

from Kelso, and proceed along the border in a

south-westerly direction towards Jedburgh

:

accordingly, on Thursday the 27 th of October,

the insurgents proceeded on their march. The

disagreement which had taken place had cooled

their military fervour, and a feeling of dread,

at the idea of being attacked by Carpenter's

force, soon began to display itself. Twice, on

the march to Jedburgh, were they thrown into

a state of alarm, approaching to terror,^ by

mistaking a party of their own men for the

troops of General Carpenter.

Instead of advancing upon Jedburgh, as

they supposed Carpenter would have done, the

insurgents ascertained that he had taken a dif-

ferent direction in entering Scotland, and that

from their relative positions, they were con-

siderably in advance of him in the proposed

route into England. The English officers

thereupon again urged their views in covincil,

and insisted upon them with such earnestness,

that Old Borlum was induced, though with

great reluctance, and not till after verv high

words had been exchanged, to yield. Prepara-

tory to crossing the Borders, they despatched

one Captain Hunter (who, from foUowiug thu

profession of a horse-stealer on the Border.s,

was well acquainted with the neighbouring

country,) across the hUls, to provide quarters

for the army in North Tynedale ; but he had

not proceeded far, when an order was sent after

him countermanding his march, in consequence

of a mutiny among the Highlanders, who re-

fused to march into England. The English

horse, after expostulating witb tbem, threat-

ened to surround and compel them to march
;

but Mackintosh informed them that he would

not allow his men to be so treated, and tho

Highlanders themselves despising the threat,

gave them to understand that they would resist

the attempt. ^

The determination, on the part of the High-

landers, not to march into England, staggered

the English gentlemen ; but as they saw nn

hopes of inducing their northern allies to enter

into their views, they consented to waive their

resolution in the meantime, and by mutual

consent the army left Jedburgh on the 29th of

October for Hawick, about ten miles to the

south-west. While on the march to Hawick,

a fresh mutiny broke out among the Highland-

ers, who, suspecting that the march to England

was still resolved upon, separated themselves

from the rest of the army, and going up to

the top of a rising ground on Hawick moor,

grounded their arms, declaring, at the same time,

that although they were determined not to

march into England, they were ready to fight

the enemy on Scottish ground. Should the

cliiefs of the army decline to lead them against

Carpenter's forces, they proposed, agreeably to

the Earl of Wintoun's advice, either to march

tlirough the west of Scotland and join the

clans under General Gordon, by crossing the

Forth above Stirling, or to co-operate with the

Earl of Mar, by falling upon the Duke of

Argyle's rear, while Mar himself should assail

him in front. But the English officers would

listen to none of these propositions, and again

threatened to surround them with the horse

and force them to march. The Highlanders,

exasperated at tliis menace, cocked their pistols,

= Annals of 2d year of Geonje I., yi. 12S.
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and told their imprudent colleagues that if they

ivere to be made a sacrifice, they would prefer

being destroyed in their own country. By the

interposition of the Earl of WLntoun a recon-

ciliation was effected, and the insurgents re-

sumed their march to Hamck, on the under-

standing that the Highlanders should not he

again required to march into England.'

The insurgents passed the night at Hawick,

during which the courage of the Highlanders

was put to the test, by the appearance of a

party of horse, which was observed by their

advanced posts patrolling in front. On the

alarm being given, the Higlilanders imme-

diately flew to arras, and forming themselves

in very good, order by moonlight, waited with

firmness the expected attack ; but the affair

turned out a false alarm, purposely got up, it

is believed, by the English commanders, to

try how the Higlilanders would conduct them-

selves, should an enemy appear.* Next morn-

ing, being Sunday, the 30th of October, the

rebels marched from Hawick to Langholm,

about which time General Carpenter entered

Jedburgh. They arrived at Langholm in the

evening, and vnth. the view, it is supposed, of

attacking Dumfries, they sent forward to Eccle-

fechan, during the night, a detachment of 400

horse, under the Earl of Carnwath, for the

purpose of blocking up Dumfries tUl the foot

should come up. This detacliment arrived at

Ecclefechan before day-light, and, after a short

halt, proceeded in the direction of Dumfries

;

but they had not advanced far, when they

were met by an express from some of their

friends at Dumfries, informing them that great

preparations had been made for the defence of

the town. The Earl of Carnwath immediately

forwarded the express to Langholm, and, in

the meantime, halted his men on Blaoket

ridge, a moor in the neighbombood of Eccle-

fechan, till further orders. The express was

met by the main body of the army about two

miles west from Langholm, on its march to

Dumfries.

The intelligence thus conveyed, immediately

created another schism in the army. The

English, who had been prevailed upon, from

the advantages held out to the Jacobite cause

' Patten, pp. 67,
* Patten, p. 69.

E.ae, pp. 271, 272.

by the capture of such an important post as

Dumfries, to accede to the proposal for attack-

ing it, now resumed their original intention of

marching into England. The Highlanders, on

the other hand, insisted upon marching in-

stantly upon Dumfries, which they alleged

might be easily taken, as there were no regular

forces in it. It was in vain that the advocates

of this plan urged upon the English the adYan-

tages to be derived from the possession of a

place so convenient as Dumfries was, for

receiving succours from France and Ireland,

and for keeping up a communication with Eng-

land and their friends in the west of Scotland.

It was to no jjurpose they were assured, that

there were a great many arms and a good sup-

ply of powder in the town, which they might

secure, and that the Duke of Argyle, whom
they appeared to dread, was in no condition to

injure them, as he had scarcely' 2,000 men

under him, and was in daily expectation of

being attacked by the Earl of Mar, whose

forces were then thrice as numerous ;—these

and similar arguments were entirely thrown

away upon men who had already determined

at all hazards to adhere to their resolution of

carrying the war into England. To induce

the Scottish commanders to concur in their

views, they pretended that they had received

letters from their friends in Lancashire invit-

ing them thither, and assuring them that on

their arrival a general insurrection woidd take

place, and that they would be immediately

joined by 20,000 men, and would have money

and provisions in abundance. The advantages

of a speedy march into England being urged

with extreme earnestness by the English offi-

cers, all their Scottish associates, with the

exception of the Earl of Wintoun, at last con-

sented to try the chances of war on the soU of

England. Even Old Borlum, (who, at the

time the parties were discussing the point in

dispute, was busily engaged at a distance from

the place where the main body had halted,

restraining a party of the Highlanders from

deserting,) yielded to the entreaties of the Eng-

lish officers, and exerted all his influence to

induce his men to foUow his example. By the

aid of great promises and money, the greater

part of the Highlanders was prevailed upon

to follow the fortunes of their commander, but
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about 500 of them marclied oflF in a body to

the north. Before they reached Clydesdale,

however, tliey were almost all made prisoners

by the country people, and lodged in jail.

The Earl of Wiutoun, who was quite opposed to

the measure resolved upon, also went off with

his adherents, hut being overtaken by a messen-

ger who was despatched after him to remon-

strate with him for abandoning his friends, he

consented to return, and immediately rejoined

the army. When overtaken, he drew up his

horse, and, after a momentary pause, as if

reflecting on the judgment which posterity

would form of his conduct, observed with

chivalrous feeling, that history should not have

to relate of him that he deserted King James's

interest or liis country's good, but with a deep

presentiment of the danger of the course his

associates were about to pursue, he added,

" You," addressing the messenger, " or any

man shall have liberty to cut these (laying

hold of his o-^vn ears as he spoke) out of my
head, if we do not aU repent it."

The insurgents, after spiking two pieces of

cannon which they had brought from Kelso,

immediately proceeded on their march for Eng-

land, and entered Longtown in Cumberland

the same night, where they were joined by tlie

detachment which had been sent to Eccle-

fechan the previous night. On the following

day, November 1st, they marched to Bramp-

ton, a small market town in Cumberland,

where they proclaimed the Chevalier, and

levied the excise duties on malt and ale. Mr.

Forster now opened a commission which lie

had lately received from the Earl of Mar,

appointing him general of the Jacobite forces

in England. As the men were greatly fatigued

hy forced marches, having marched about 100

miles in five successive days, they took up

their quarters at Brampton for the night to

refresh themselves. When General Carpenter

heard that the insurgents had entered England,

he left Jedburgh, and recrossing the liills into

Northumberland, threw himself between them

and Newcastle, the seizure of which, he

erroneously supposed, was the object of their

movement.

Next day tlie insurgents marched towards

Penrith, on approaching which they received

uiteUigonce that the posse comitatus of Ciim-

berland, amounting to nearly 14,000 men.

headed by the sheriff of the county, and

attended by Lord Lonsdale and the Bishop nf

Carlisle, had assembled near Penrith on the

line of their march to oppose their advance.

Mr., now General Forster, sent forward a

party to reconnoitre, but he experienced no

trouble from this immense rustic force, which

broke up and dispersed in the utmost confu-

sion on hearing of the approach of the recon-

noitring party. Patten, the historian of the

rebellion, who had formerly been curate of

Penrith, attempted, at the head of a party of

horse, to intercept his superior, the Bishop

of Carlisle, but his lordship escaped. The
insurgents captured some horsps and a large

quantity of arms, and also took several pris-

oners, who being soon released, expressed their

gratitude by shouting, " God save King James

and prosper his merciful army."^ To impress

the inhabitants of Penrith with a favourable

idea of their strength and discipline, the insur-

gents halted upon a moor in the neighbour-

hood, where they formed themselves in order

of battle, and thereafter entered the towTi in

regular marching order. The principal inhabi-

tants, from an apprehension of being plun-

dered, showed great attention to them, in

return for which, and the comfortable enter-

tainment which they received, they abstained

from doing any act which could give offence.

Tliey however raised, according to custom, the

excise and other public duties.

Next day the insurgents marched to Ap-

pleby, -where, as at Penrith, they proclaimed

the Chevalier and seized the public revenue.

After halting two days at this town, they re

sumed their march on the 5th of November,

and arrived at Kendal, where they took up

their quarters for the night. Next morning,

being Sunday, they, after a short march,

reached Kirkby- Lonsdale, where, after pro-

claiming the Chevalier, they went to the

church in tlie afternoon, where, in absence of

the parson, who had absconded, Mr. Patten

read prayers. This author relates a singular

instance of Jacobite zeal on the part of a gen-

tleman of the name of Guin, or Gwyn, who
entered the churches which lay in the route of

' Letter about the Occurrence.': m the icay to, and at
Preston. By an Eye Witness, p i.

3 L



450 GENEEAL HISTOEY OF THE HIGHLAOTDS.

the army, and soratcliinc; ont the name of

King George from the prayer books, suhsti-

tuted that of the Chevalier in its stead, in a

manner so closely resembling the print that

the alteration could scarcely be perceived.

The insurgents had now marched through

two populous counties, but they had obtained

the accession of only two gentlemen to their

ranks. They would probably have received

some additions in Cumberland and Westmore-

land, had not precautions been taken by the

sheriffs of these counties beforehand to secure

the principal Catholics and lodge them in the

castle of Carlisle. Despairing of obtaining any

considerable accession of force, 17 gentlemen

of Teviotdale had left the army at Appleby,

and the Highlanders, who had borne the

fatigues of the march with great fortitude, now

began to manifest signs of impatience at the

disappointment they felt in not being joined

by large bodies of men as they were led to

expect. Their prospects, however, began to

brighten by the arrival of some Lancashire

Catholic gentlemen and their servants at Kii-k-

by-Lonsdale, and by the receipt of intelligence

the following day, when on their march to

Lancaster, that the Jacobites of Lancashire

were ready to join them, and that the Chevalier

had been proclaimed at Manchester.

'

The insurgents entered Lancaster without

opposition, and instantly marching to the

market-place, proclaimed the Chevalier by

.sound of trumpet, the whole body being drawn

up round the cross. Aft«r remaining two days

at Lancaster, where the Highlanders regaled

themselves ynth claret and brandy found in

the custom-house, they took the road to Pres-

ton on Wednesday the 9th of November, with

the intention of possessing themselves of War-

rington bridge and securing ]\Ianchester, as

preliminary to a descent upon Liverpool. The

horse reached Preston at night, two troops of

Stanhope's dragoons and part of a militia regi-

ment under Sir Henry Houghton, which were

quartered in the town, retiring to Wigan on

their approach; but OAving to the badness of

the road from a heavy rain which had fallen

during the day, the foot did not arrive till the

following day, when the Chevalier was pro-

« Patten, p. 89.

claimed at the cross with the usual formahties.

On the march from Lancaster to Preston, and

after their arrival there, the insurgents were

joined by different parties of gentlemen, chiefly

CathoHcs, w'ith their tenants and servants, to

the number of about 1 ,.500 in all, by which

additions Eorster's army was increased to nearly

4,000 men.

Forster, who had kept a strict watch upon

Carpenter, and of whose movements he received

regular accounts daily, was, however, utterly

ignorant of the proceedings of a more formi-

dable antagonist, who, he was made to under-

stand by his Lancashire friends, was at too

great a distance to prove dangerous. This was

General Wills, who had the command in

Cheshire, and who was now busily employed

in concentrating liis forces for the purpose of

attacking the rebels. Unfortimately for them,

the government had been induced, by the

tumults and violences of the high-church party

in the west of England during the preceding

year, to quarter bodies of troops ia the dis-

affected districts, which being disposed at

Shrewsbury, Chester, Birmingham, Stafford,

Wolverhampton, Manchester, and other adja-

cent places, could be easily assembled together

on a short notice. On information being com-

nnmicated to the government of the iavasion

of England, General Wills had been directed

to collect all the forces he coidd, and to march

upon Warrington bridge and Preston, to pre-

vent the advance of the insurgents upon Man-

chester.

General Wills had, accordingly, made great

exertions to fulfil, without delay, the instrus-

tions he had received, and hearing that General

Carpenter was at Durham, had sent an express

to him to march westward ; but he was unable

to save Preston. "When tne insurgents euterea

this town. Wills was at Manchester, waiting

for the arrival of two regiments of foot and a

regiment of dragoons, which were within a few

days' march of him ; but alarmed lest by delay-

ing liis march the rebels might make them-

selves masters of Warrington bridge and Man-

chester, by the possession of which they woiild

increase their force and secure many other

advantages, he resolved instantly to march

upon Preston ^vith such troops as he had. He

left Manchester, accordingly, on Friday the



BATTLE OF PEESTOK 451

11th of November, for Wigaii, with four regi-

ments of dragoons, one of horse, and Preston's

regiment of foot, formerly known as the Camer-

onian regiment. He arrived at "Wigan in the

evening, where he met Stanhope's dragoons

and Houghton's militia, who had retired from

Preston on the evening of the 9th. In the

meantime, the inhabitants of Liverpool antici-

pating a visit from the insurgents, were actively

employed in preparations for its defence.

Within three days they threw up a breastwork

round that part of the town approachable from

the land side, on which they mounted 70 pieces

of cannon, and, to prevent the ships in the

harbour from falling into the hands of the

enemy, they anchored them in the ofSng.

It was the intention of Forster to have left

Preston on the morning of Saturday the 12th

;

but the unexpected arrival of "Wills at Wigan,

of which ho received intelligence on the pre-

ceding night, made him alter his design. For-

ster had been so elated by the addition which

his forces had received at Preston, that he

affected to believe that Wills woxild never

venture to face him ; but old IMackintosh ad-

vised him not to be too confident, as they

might soon find it necessary to defend them-

selves. Observing from a window where they

stood, a party of the new recruits passing by,

the veteran warrior thus contemptuously ad-

dressed the inexperienced general, " Look ye

there, Forster, are yon fellows the men ye

intend to fight WiUs with. Good faith. Sir,

an' ye had ten thousand of them, I'd fight them

all with a thousand of his dragoons." In fact,

a more uncouth and unsoldier-like body had

never before appeared in the field, than these

Lancashire rustics ; some with rusty swords

without muskets, others with muskets without

swords, some with fowling-pieces, others with

pitchforks, while others were wholly unpro-

vided with weapons of any sort. '^ Forster

now altered his tone ; and if the report of a

writer, who says he was an eye-witness, be

true, the news of Wills's advance quite un-

nerved him. Undetermined how to act, he

sent the letter convej'ing the intelligence to

Lord Kemnure, and retired to rest. His lord-

ship, with a few of his officers, repaired to

' Annals of id Yrcir c/ George /., p. 136.

Forster's lodgings to consult him, and, to their

smprise, found him in bed, though the night

was not far advanced. The council, after some

deliberation, resolved to send out a party of

horse towards Wigan, to watch the motions of

the enemy, to secure the pass into the town by

nibble bridge, and to prepare the army for

battle. 8

About day-break of the 12th, General Wills

commenced his march from Wigan, and as

soon as it was knoAvn that he was advancing

upon Preston, a select body of 100 well-armed

Highlanders, under the command of Farquliar-

son of Invercauld, was posted at Eibble bridge,

and Forster himself at the head of a party of

horse, crossed the bridge, and advanced to re-

connoitre.

The approach to Eibble bridge, which is

about half a mile from Preston, is by a deep

path between two high banks, and so narrow

in some places that scarcely two men can ride

abreast. Here it was that Cromwell, in an

action with the royalists, was nearly killed by

a large fragment of a rock thi'own from above,

and only escaped by forcing his horse into a

quicksand. The possession, therefore, of this

pass, was of the utmost importance to the

insurgents, as Wills was not in a condition to

have forced it, being wholly unprovided with

cannon. Nor could he have been more suc-

cessful in any attempt to pass the river, wliich

was fordable only at a considerable distance

above and below the bridge, and might have

been rendered impassable in different ways.

But the Jacobite general was grossly ignorant

of every thing appertaining to the art of war,

and in an evil hoiu- ordered the party at the

bridge to abandon it, and retire into the town.

General Wills arrived opposite Eibble bridge

about one o'clock in the afternoon, and was

surprised to find it undefended. Suspecting

an ambuscade, he advanced through the way

leading to the bridge ^vith great caution, and

having cleared the bridge, marched towards

the town. He, at first, supposed that the in-

surgents had abandoned the town with the

intention of returning to Scotland ; but he soon

ascertained that they stiU maintained their

"round, and were resolved to meet him. Halt-

' Ldter, dc, bij an eye-witness, p. 6.
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ing, therefore, Ms men upon a small rising

ground near the town, he rode forward with a

strong party of horse to take a sui-vey of the

position of the insurgents.

During the morning they had been busily

employed in raising barricades in the principal

streets, and making other preparations for a

vigorous defence. The Earl of Derwentwater

displayed extraordinary activity and zeal on

this occasion. He distributed money among

the troops, exhorted them to stand firm to

their posts, and set them an example by throw-

ing off his coat, and assisting them in raising

intrenchments. There were four main barriers

erected across the leading streets near the centre

of the town, at each of which, with one excep-

tion, were jalanted two pieces of cannon, which

had been carried by the insurgents from Lan-

caster, and beyond these barriers, towards the

extremities of the to^vn, others were raised of

an inferior description. Behind the barricades

bodies of men were posted, as well as in the

houses outside the barricades, particularly in

those which commanded the entrances into the

principal streets. Certainly after the abandon-

ment of Ribble bridge, a more judicious plan

of defence could not have been devised by the

ablest tactician for meeting the coming exi-

gency ; but unfortunately for the insurgents,

the future conduct of their leaders did not cor-

respond with these skilful dispositions.

One of the main barriers was a little below

the church, and was commanded by Brigadier

Mackintosh, the task of supporting whom was

devolved upon the gentlemen volunteers, who
were dra-nii up in the churchyard under the

command of Viscount Kenmure and the Earls

of Derwentwater, Nithsdale, and Wintoun.

A body of Higlilanders, under Lord Charles

Murray, thii'd son of the Duke of Athole, was

posted at another barrier at the end of a lane

leading to the fields. Colonel Mackintosh, at

the head of the Mackintoshes, was posted at a

third barricade called the Windmill barrier,

from its adjoining such a structui'e on the road

to Lancaster. At the remaining barrier, which

was in the street leading to the Liverpool road,

were placed some of the gentlemen volunteers,

and a part of the Earl of Stratlimore's regi-

ment under the command of Major Miller and

Mr. Douglas.

When the government general had made
himself acquainted with the plan of defence

adopted by the insurgents, he retm-ned to his

main body, and made preparations for an im-

mediate attack. As he had not sufficient forces

to make a simultaneous assault upon aU the

barriers, he resolved to confine himself at first

to two only, those commanded by Old Borlum

and Colonel Mackintosh, in the streets leading

to Wigan and Lancaster respectively, at both

ends of the town. For this purpose he divided

liis troops into three bodies;—the first con-

sisted of Preston's regiment of foot, and 250

dismounted dragoons taken in equal propor-

tions from the five dragoon regiments. This

division was commanded by Brigadier Honey-

wood, and was supported by his own regiment

of dragoons. The second body consisted of

the regiments of Wynn and Dormer, and a

squadron of Stanhope's regiment, aU of which

were dismoimted;—the last division, consist-

ing of Pitt's horse and the remainder of Stan-

hope's regiment, was kept as a reserve for

supporting the other divisions as occasion

should require, and to prevent the insurgents

from escaping over the Ribble.

The action was begun by the division of

Honejnvood, which, after driving a party of

the insurgents fi-om a small barricade at the

extremity of one of the leading streets, entered

the to'vvn, and attacked the barrier near tho

church, defended by Brigadier Mackintosh;

but Honeywood's men were unable to make

any impression, and after sustaining a galling

and destructive fire from the barrier and fi'om

the houses on both sides of the street, they

were forced to retreat from the street with con-

siderable loss. Some of the officers of Preston's

regiment being informed whilst engaged in the

street, that the street leading to Wigan was

not barricaded, and that the houses on that

side were not possessed by the insurgents,

Lord Forrester, the lieutenant-colonel, resolved,

after Honey^vood's division had failed to estab-

lish itself in the neighbourhood of tlie church,

to attempt an entrance in that direction. He

accordingly di'cw off his men by a narrow back

passage or lane which led into the street in the

direction of Wigan, and ordering them to halt

till he shoidd personally survey the position of

the insm-gents, this intrepid officer deliberately
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rode into the street with his clra\TO sword in liis

hand, and amidst a shower of hiillets, conlly

examined the barrier, and returned to his

troops. He then sallied into the street at the

head of his men, and whilst with one party

he attacked the barrier, another under his

direction crossed the street, and took possession

of a very high liouse belonging to Sir Henry

Houghton, which overlooked the whole town.

In this enterprise many of the assailants fell

by the fire of the insurgents who were posted

in the adjoining houses. At the same time,

Forrester's men possessed themselves of ano-

ther house op))osite, which was unoccupied by

the insurgents. The possession of these houses

was of immense advantage to the government

troops, as it was from the firing kept up from

them that the insurgents chiefly suffered. A
party of .50 Highlanders, under Captain Innes,

had been posted in Houghton's house, and

another body in the opposite one ; but Briga-

dier Mackintosh had unfortunately witbdra-\vii

both parties, contrary to their own wishes, to

less important stations.

Forrester's men maintained the struggle with

great bravery, but were unsuccessful in every

attempt to force the barrier. As the insur-

gents, from their position in the houses and

behind the barricade, were enabled to take

deliberate aim, many of their shots took deadly

effect, and the gallant Lord Forrester received

several wounds ; but although Preston's foot

kepi up a smart fire, they did little execution

among the insurgents, who were protected by

the barricade and the houses. Captain Peter

Farquharson was the only Jacobite officer who
fell in this attack. He received a shot in the

leg, and being taken to the White BuU inn,

where the wounded were carried, he called for

a glass of brandy, and thus addressed his com-

rades :
—" Come lads, here is our master's health

;

though I can do no more, I wish you good

success." Amputation being deemed neces-

sary, this brave man expired, almost immedi-

ately, from the unskilfulness of the operator.

Whilst this struggle was going on near the

church, a contest equally warm was raging in

another quarter of the town between Dormer's

division and the party under Lord Charles

Murray. In approaching the barrier com-

manded by this young nobleman, Dormer's

men were exposed to a well-directed and mur-

derous fire from the houses, yet, though newly-

raised troops, they stood firm, and reached the

barricade, from which, however, they were

vigorously repulsed. Lord Charles Murray

conducted himself with great bravery in repel-

ling this attack, and anticipating a second

attempt upon the barrier, he obtained a rein-

forcement of 50 gentlemen volunteers from

the churchyard. Dormer's troops returned to

the assault, but although they displayed great

courage and resolution, they were again beaten

back ivith loss. An attack made on the Wind
mill barricade, which was defended by Colonel

Mackintosh, was equally unsuccessful.

Thus repulsed in all their attacks, aiul as in

their approaches to the barriers the government

troops had been incessantly exposed to a regu-

lar and well-directed fire from the houses.

General Wills issued orders to set the houses

at both ends of the town on fire, for the pur-

pose of dislodging the insurgents from such

annojang positions, and cooping them up in

the centre of the town. Many houses and

barns were in consequence consumed, including

almost the entire range of houses as far as

Lord Charles Murray's barrier. As the assail-

ants advanced under cover of the smoke of the

conflagration, many of the insurgents, in at-

tempting to escape from the flames, were cut

down on the spot. The rebels in their turn

attempted to dislodge the government troops

from the houses of which they had obtained

possession, by setting them on fire. Fortu-

nately there was no mnd at the time, otherwise

the whole to^vn would have been reduced to

ashes.

Night came on, yet an irregular platooning

was, notwithstanding, kept up till next day

by both parties. To distinguish the houses

possessed by the government forces. General

Wills ordered them to be illuminated, a cir-

cumstance which gave the besieged a decided

advantage, as the light from the windows

enabled them to direct their fire with better

effect. Wills soon perceived the error he had

committed, and sent persons round to order

the lights to be extinguished, which order

being promulgated aloud in the streets, was so

strangely misunderstood by those within, that,

to the amusement of bn^h parties, they set I'p
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additional lights. During the night a consider-

able number of the insurgents left the town.

Before day-break, General Wills visited the

different posts, and gave directions for opening

a communication between both di\'isions of the

army to support each other, should necessity

require. During the morning, which was that

of Sunday the 13th of November, he was

occupied in making arrangements for renewing

the attack. Meantime General Carpenter ar-

rived about ten o'clock with Churchill's and

Molesworth's dragoons, accompanied by the

Earl of Carlisle, Lord Lumley, and others.

This event was as exhilarating to the royalists

as it was disheartening to the besieged, who,

notwithstanding the defection of their more

timorous associates during the preceding night,

were, before the accession of Carpenter, fully a

match for their assailants. Wills, after ex-

plaining to Carpenter the state of matters, and

the dispositions he had made, offered to resign

the command to him. a.= his superior officer,

but being satisfied with WiUs's conduct, Cai-

penter declined to accept it, remarking, that aa

lie had begun the affair so well, he ought to

have the glory of finishing it. On examining

matters himself, however. Carpenter found that

the town was not sufficiently invested, parti-

cularly at the end of Fishergate street, wliich

led to a meadow by wliich the insurgents could

easily have escaped. He therefore posted

Pitt's horse along the meadow, and lest the

whole body of the besieged shoidd attempt to

force a retreat that way, he caused a communi-

cation to be opened tluough the enclosures on

that side, that the other divisions of the army

might the more readily hasten thither to inter-

cept them.

Thus invested on all sides, and pent up

•within a narrow compass by the gradual en-

croachments of the royalists, the Jacobite gen-

eral grew alarmed, and began to think of a

surrender. The Highlanders were fully aware

of their critical situation, but the idea of sur-

rendering bad never once entered their minds,

and they had been restrained only by the most

urgent entreaties from sallying out upon the

royalists, and cutting their way through their

ranks, or dying, as they remarked, like men of

honour, with their swords in their hands.

Neither Forster nor any other officer durst,

therefore, venture to make such a proposal to

tliem, and Patten asserts, that had they known

that Colonel Oxburgh had been sent on the

mission he undertook, he would have nevei-

seen Tyburn, but would have been shot by

common consent before he had passed the

barrier. This gentleman, who had great influ-

ence over Forster (and who, in the opinion of

the last-named author, was better calculated,

from the strictness with which he performed

his religious duties, to be a priest than a field

officer), in conjunction with Lord Widdrington

and others, prevailed upon him to make an

offer of capitulation, thinking that they would

obtain favourable terms from the government

general. This resolution was adopted without

the knowledge of the rest of the officers, and

Oxburgh, who had volunteered to negotiate,

went off about two o'clock in the afternoon to

AVUls's head-quarters. To prevent suspicion

of his real errand, the soldiers were informed

that General Wills had sent to offer them

honourable terms, if they would lay dovra

their arms.

The reception of Oxburgh by General WiUa

was very different from what he and his friends

had anticipated. WiUs, in fact, absolutely re-

fused to hear of any terms, and upon Oxburgh

making an offer that the insurgents should lay

down their arms, provided he would recom-

mend them to the mercy of the king, he in-

formed him that he would not treat with

rebels, who had killed several of his Majesty's

subjects, and who consequently must expect to

undergo the same fate. The colonel, there-

upon, with great earnestness, begged the gen-

eral, as an officer and a man of honour, to

show mercy to people who were willing to

submit. The royalist commander, somewhat

softened, replied, that aU he would promise

was, that if the insurgents would lay down

their arms and surrender themselves prisoners

at discretion, he woidd prevent the soldiers

from cutting them to pieces till further orders;

and that he woidd allow them an hour for the

consideration of his offer. The result of this

interview was immediately reported by Ox-

burgh to his friends, but nothing had transpired

to throw any light upon their deliberations.

Before the hour had elapsed, Mr. Dakell,

brother of the E.i.rl of Carnwath, appeared at
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^^ ills s Head quarters, and requested to know

wJial terms lie would grant separately to the

Scots ; Wills answered that he would not treat

with rehels, nor grant any other terms than

those already offered.

To bring matters to an immediate issue,

General "Wills sent Colonel Cotton iato the

town about tluee o'clock in the afternoon, to

require an immediate answer to Wills's pro-

posal. He was told, however, that differences

existed between the English and Scottish offi-

cers upon the subject, but they requested that

the general would allow them till seven o'clock

next morning to settle their differences, and to

considt upon the best method of delivering

themselves up. This proposal being reported

to Wills, he agi-eed to grant the Jacobite com-

manders the time required, provided they

would bind themselves to throw up no new

entrenchments in the streets, nor allow any of

their men to escape; for the performance of

which stipulations he required the deKvery of

approved hostages.— Cotton having returned

to the to^vn, the Earl of Derwentwater and

Brigadier Mackintosh were pitched upon as

hostages for the observance of these stipula-

tions, and sent to the royalist head-quarters.

As soon as the HigUanders perceived that a

capitulation was resolved upon, their fiuy knew

no bounds. They declared that sooner than

surrender, they would die fighting, and that

when they could no longer defend their posts,

they would attempt to cut their way through

their assailants, and make a retreat. During

the night they paraded the streets, threatening

destruction to every person who should even

aUude to a surrender. Dm'ing these disturb-

ances, several persons were killed, and many
wounded, and llr. Forster, who was openly

denounced as the originator of the capitula-

tion, would certainly have been cut to pieces

by the infuriated soldiers, had he appeared in

the streets. He made a narrow escape even in

his own chamber, a gentleman of the name of

Murray having fired a pistol at Mm, the ball

from which would have taken effect had not

Mr. Patten, the Jacobite chaplain, struck up

the pistol with his hand, and thus diverted the

course of the bullet.

At seven o'clock next morning, Forster noti-

fied to General W^ills that the insurgents were

willing to surrender at discretion as he had

required. Old Borliun being present when

tills message was delivered, observed that he

woidd not be answerable for the Scots surren-

dering without terms, as they were people of

desperate fortunes ; and that he who had been

a soldier himself, knew what it was to be a

prisoner at discretion. " Go back to your

people again," answered Wills, " and I wdl

attack the to^vn, and the consequence will ba

I will not spare one man of you." After this

challenge, Mackintosh could not with a good

grace remain, and returned to his friends; but,

he came back immediately, and informed Wills

that Lord Kenmure and the rest of the Scots

noblemen woidd surrender on the same condi-

tions as the English.

Colonel Cotton was thereupon despatched

•ndth a detachment of 200 men to take posses-

sion of the town, and the rest of the govern-

ment forces thereafter entered it in two grand

divisions, amid the sound of trumpets and

beating of drums, and met in the market-place,

where the Highlanders were drawn up xrnder

arms ready to surrender. The number of

prisoners taken on this occasion was 1,468, of

whom about 463 were English, including 75

noblemen and gentlemen; of the Scots 143

were noblemen and gentlemen. The noble-

men and gentlemen were placed under guards

in the inns of the town, and the privates were

confined in the church. On the part of the

insurgents there were only 17 killed and 25

wounded in the different attacks, but the loss

on the part of the royalists was very consider-

able, amounting, it is believed, to five times

the number of the former. From the small

number of prisoners taken, it would appear

that few of the country people who had joined

the insurgents when they entered Lancashire,

had remained in Preston. They probably left

the town during the nights of Saturday and

Sunday.

'

' Patten, p. 97, et seq. Annah of 2(1 year of

Georqe I., ji, 125, et seq. Faithful Register of Die

late Rebellion, pp. 162, 163, 164.
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CHAPTER XXVI

SOVEREIGN :—George 1., 1714—1727.

Rc-capture of Inrerness by the Royalists—Prepara-

tions for opening the campaign—Mar's departure

from Perth—Junction of the western clans—Ad-
vance of Argyle towards Dunblane—Preparations

for battle—Battle of Sheriffnmir— Star returns to

Perth and Argyle to Stirling—Arrival of the Cheva-
lier— Goes to Perth— Preparations of Argyle

—

Jacobites retreat from Perth— Departure of the

Chevalier for France—Dispersion of the insurgents.

Having, for the sake of continuity, brought

the narrative of the English branch of the in-

surrection to a close, in the preceding chapter,

we now proceed to detail the operations of the

royahst and Jacobite armies under Argyle and

Mar respectively, and the other transactions in

the north which preceded its total suppression.

Before, however, entering upon an aci-oi-ni

of the doings of the main body of the robuls

in Scotland, we must notice briefly the re-cap-

ture by the royalists of Inverness, partly

through the instrumentality of our old friend

Simon Eraser, afterwards Lord Lovat. Finding

it impossible to gain the confidence of the

court of St. Germains, Simon, on the breaking

out of the rebellion, resolved to seek the favour

of King George by using Ms power as head of

his clan on behalf of the royalists. The clan

had sent over some of their number to France

to bring Simon home, in order that he might

tell them what side he desired them to espouse;

these had got the length of Dumfries on the day

ui which that town was thro\vn into a state of

consternation by the Lord Justice-Clerk's letter,

announcing its proposed capture by the rebels.

Simon was received there with much suspi-

Inverness at the eud of the 17th century.—From Slezer s ThcaU'um Scoticc.

cion, and he and his followers placed under

guard, notwithstanding the pass he had man-

aged to obtain from Lord Townshend. Tliis

he obtained on volunteering to accompany the

Earl of Sutherland to the north, and induce

the clan Eraser to abandon the Jacobites and

join the royalists. Although the estates and

honours were in possession of tlie daughter of

the late Lord Lovat, and although her husband,

Mackenzie of Fraserdale, had joined the rebels

with a number of the clan, still, according to

Highland custom, Simon was the real head of

the clan, and as such his influence was pai-a-

mount. ^

' hmton'i Scvl/and {lCS9-J7iS), vol. ii. p. 161.
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On arriving in tliu north " lie found three

nundred men, who had refused to follow the

Jacobite banner of his rival, ready at his call.

Placing himself at tlieir head, like a sovereign

with an army, he sent notice to the disaffected

clansmen who had followed the legal owner of

the estates, to return immediately to their duty

to their true chief, threatening them with ejec-

tion from tlieir holdings, and military execu-

tion against their families and possessions, if

they failed. As men exorcised by a command

wliich it would be wickeil and futile to resist,

the Erasers left Mar's camp, just before the

momentous battle of Sheritt'muir, and joined

their brethren. Lovat found Duncan Forbes,

afterwards the great and good Lord-President,

defending the old fortalice of Culloden, while

his father-in-law, Hugh Rose, held his neigh-

bouring tower of Kilravock against repeated

attacks, and with a well-ordered force of 200

men, made his mansion do the proper service

of a fort in protecting the surrounding country.

Their efforts were importart from their posi-

tion. Northward of Loch Ness, and the chain

of minor lakes, the power of the Earl of

Sutherland, on the government side, balanced

that of Seaforth, Glengarry, and the other

Jacobite leaders; and in their absence at Mar's

camp, was superior. Thus the fortified houses

near Inverness, had all the importance of bor-

der fortresses ; and the reduction of Inverness,

for the Hanover interest, would relieve their

owners of their perilous position, by giving

their friends the command of the pass between

the North Highlands and the rest of Scotland.

The small body under Rose and Forbes, with

Lovat's, and a party of the Grants, amounted

in all to about 1,300 men— a considerable

force in that war of small armies. They laid

plans for systematically investing Inverness;

but before it was necessary to operate on them,

the garrison silently evaciiated the place, drop-

ping down the river in boats on the night of

the 13th of November, and sailing for the

northern coast of the Moray Firth. This affair

seems to have cost no other casualty than the

death of a brother of Rose of KLh-avock, in a

premature and rash attack. Thus the govern-

ment had the command of the eastern pass

between the North Highlands and the low

oouutiy, leaving passable only such routes.

beyond the western extremity of Loch Ness,

as were not liable to be interrupted by the

garrison at FortwiUiam."-

When the Jacobite general took the field he

was so unprovided with money, that aftei

Colonel Hay entered Perth he coidd spare him

only fifty guineas for the use of his detach-

ment, and so exhausted had his little treasury

become shortly after he took up liis quarters

there, that he was reduced to the necessity of

laying the surrounding country, and the shires

of Fife, Kinross, and Clackmannan under con-

tribution. By an order dated from the camp

at Perth on the 4th October, he required every

man of substance attending the standard of

the Chevalier, to raise amongst his tenants

and possessors, the sum of twenty shillings on

every hundred pounds Scots of valued rent,

and such landed proprietors as did not mime-

diately or before the 12th of October, attend hia

standard, were mulcted in double that amount.

This order appears to have had little effect, as

it was renewed on the 21st of October, when

it was rigorously enforced, and the penalty of

military execution threatened against those

who should refuse to unplement it.

To compel compliance, parties of horse and

foot were despatched through the adjoining

country. One of these, consisting of 200 foot

and 100 horse, being sent towards the town of

Dunfermline, information of their march was

brought to the Duke of Argylo on Sunday,

the 23d of October. His grace immediately

despatched Colonel Cathcart with a detachment

of dragoons to intercept them, who, receiving

intelligence that the insurgents had passed

Castle Campbell, and had taken up their

quarters for the night in a village on the road

to Dunfermline, continued his march during

the whole night, and coming upon the village

unperceived at five o'clock in the morning,

surprised the party, some of whom were killed

and others taken while in bed. Among these

were eleven gentlemen, including Gordon of

Craig, Gordon younger of Aberlour, and Mr.

Murray brother to the laird of Abercairney. ^

After this affair, and for want of more stir-

ring excitements, a sort of paper war was

carried on between the two generals, which, if

' Burton's Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 188, 189.
' Itae, p. 294. Life of Argyle, p. 187.

3 M
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attended witli little practical effect on either

side, served at least to keep up in a more

marked manner the distinction between the

adherents of the government and the partizaus

of the Jacobite interest. When informed of

the Earl of Mar's order for an assessment, the

Duke of Argyle issued a counter one, on the

25th of October, prohibiting and discharging

aU persons from giving or furnisliiug the in-

surgents with money or pro\'isions, under the

pains of high treason, and for greater publicity

he directed the same to be intimated at each

parish church door after divine service, and

before the dismissal of the congregation. Tliis

mandate was followed two days thereafter by

another from the duke, requiring all well-

affected noblemen, gentlemen, justices of the

peace, magistrates, and ministers, " to persuade

and encourage all able-bodied and well-affected

men," in their respective parishes, in town and

country, to enlist in the regular army, and

promising a boimty of forty shillings sterling,

and a discharge from the service, if requii'ed,

at the end of three montlis after the suppression

of the insurrection. Tliis order was answered

by a .proclamation from the Earl of Mar, dated

November 1st, prohibiting and dicharging all

persons whatever, under the highest penalties,

from giving obedience to it; and whereas he

had promised his protection, as he observes, to

aU ministers who behaved themselves dutifully,

and did not acknowledge "the Elector of Bruns-

wick as king, by prajdng for him as such in

their churches and congregations ;" yet as

several of them continued the practice, and

might thus " involve and mislead innocent and

ignorant people into traitorous and seditious

practices," he expressly prohibited " all minis-

ters, as well in churches as in meeting-houses,

to acknowledge the Elector of Brunswick as

king, and that upon their highest peril" And
he ordered all officers, civil and military', to shut

up the church doors of such ministers as should

act in contempt of the order, to apprehend their

persons and bring them prisoners to his camp.

Jlany ministers, to avoid compliance with this

order, absented themselves from their charges,

but others who ventured openly to brave it,

were apprehended and treated with severity.

Mar, however, found a more phant body in

the non-jurant episcopal clergy, some of whom

attached themselves to Ids camp, and harangued

his troops from time to time on the duties

they owed to their lawful sovereign, "King

James VIII."

Although the earl seems to have calculated

greatly upon the assistance of France, yet his

stay at Perth appears to have been prolonged

rather by the tardiness of the Earl of Seaforth,

in reaching the insurgent camp, than by any

intention of waiting for supplies from France,

or the expected invasion of England by the

Duke of Ormond ; for no sooner did Seaforth

arrive with the northern clans, about the

beginning of November, than Mar began to

concert measures with his officers for opening

the campaign. The march of the Earl of Sear

forth had been retarded by the Earl of Suther-

land, at the head of a considerable number of

his own men, and of the Mackays, Eosses,

]\Iunroes, and others ; but havdng compelled

them to disperse, he proceeded on his march

with about 3,000 foot and 800 horee, leaving

a sufficient force behind to protect his own

country, and keep the royalist clans in check.

Hitherto the Jacobite commander, from the

procrastinating system he had pursued, and

from jealousies which had arisen in his camp

among his officers, had experienced consider-

able difficulty in keeping his forces together.

Of all men, the Highlanders were the most

unlikely to relish the inactive duties of a

camp, and as the duration of their services lay

entirely with themselves, it was evident that

the longer Mar delayed bringing them into

action, the risk of their abandoning him was

proportionably increased. It was not there-

fore without reason that one of the leaders

remarked that he was afraid the Highlanders

would desert their colours in three cases:—1.

If they were long without being brought to

action, they would tire and go home; 2. If

they fought and were victorious, they would

plunder and go home ; 3. If they fought and

were beaten, they would run away and go home.

To counteract the injurious effect which a

state of inaction might produce upon the minds

of his men, Mar buoyed up their hopes by

issuing from time to time, by means of a print-

ing press brought from Aberdeen, and super-

intended by Freebairn of Edinburgh, a variety

of fabricated accounts, higlily favourable to
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their cause, respecting the progress of the re-

bellion in the south, and the great exertions

making by the Chevalier's friends in France,

aU which accouats were swallowed with the

utmost credidity by liis unsuspecting adherents.

About the time the Earl of Seaforth arrived

at Perth, General Gordon had advanced as far

as Castle Druniniond \vith the western clans

on his way to Perth; and as Mar had now

resolved to attempt the passage of the Forth,

he despatched an express to Gordon, to join

him on his march. At a council of war, which

was held on the 9th of November, the Jacobite

chiefs came to the determination of leaving

Perth the following day for Dunblane. On
obtaining possession of this town, Mar's design

•was to detach three different bodies, of 1,000

men each, to Stirling bridge, and the two

adjacent fords above, for the purpose of amus-

ing Argyle, while he himself with the main

body of his army, consisting of nearly 8,000

men, should attempt to cross the river at a

ford a little way above those selected for the

intended ruse. In the event of success, the

three detached bodies were to be directed to

form a junction and follow the main body

without delay, but in case the Duke of Argyle

abandoned Stirling to oppose the passage of

the main body, they were to enter the town

and fall upon liis rear.

Accordingly, on the morning of Tliiu'sday,

the 10th of November, Mar departed from

Perth, leaving a garrison behind under Colonel

Balfour, besides a scattered force of about 3,000

men quartered in different parts of Fife. The

earl not calculating upon a return to Perth,

took all his baggage along with liim, and pro-

visions sufficient to support liis armj' for twelve

days. The insurgents took up their quarters

for the night at Auchterarder, and on the

following day were joined by the western clans

under General Gordon. The army rested the

whole of the 11th. On the morning of the

12th, Mar ordered General Gordon to march

forward with 3,000 men of the clans, and eight

squadrons of horse under Brigadier Ogilvie and
the Master of Sinclair, and take possession of

Dunblane. After ordering the rest of the

army to parade on the moor of Tullibardine, he

departed for Drummond castle to hold an inter-

view with the Earl of Breadalbane, having

previously directed General Hamilton to follow

Gordon with the main body.

As early as the morning of Tluirsday the

10th* of November, the Duke of Argyle had

received intelligence from some of his spies at

Perth, of Mar's intended march, and of his

plan for effecting the passage of the Forth.

Fortunately for Argyle, his little army had

been lately almost doubled by reinforcements

from Ireland, and it now amounted to 2,300

foot, and 1,200 cavalry, all in the best order

and condition ; but though formidable from its

comjiosition when imited, it was too weak to

divide into detachments for resisting at differ-

ent points the passage of an army thrice as

numerous, in an attempt to cross the Fortt

As Argyle, therefore, saw he could no longer

retain his position on the banks of the river,

which, from its now beginning to freeze, would

soon be rendered more passable than before, he

determined to cross and offer the insurgents

battle before they should reach its northern

bank. Though he exposed himself by this

bold step to the disadvantage of fighting with

a river in his rear, he considered that the risk

would be sufficiently counterbalanced by the

advantage which his cavalry woidd have by

engaging the enemy on level ground.

Having called in several small detachments

which were quartered at Glasgow, Kilsyth, and

Falkirk, Argyle crossed Stirling bridge on the

morning of the 12th of November, for Dun-

blane, much about the same time that Mar's

forces had begun to advance upon that town

in an opposite direction from Auchterarder.

In a short time after their setting out, Argyle's

advanced guard took possession of Dimblane,

of which circumstance General Gordon was

apprised on his march. Having halted his

division, Gordon sent an express, announcing

the intelligence to General Hamilton, who
despatched it to the Earl of Mar, and in a short

time he forwarded a second express confirming

the previous news, and adding that the enemy

were in great force. Hamilton, upon receipt

of this last despatch, halted his men on the

ground adjoining the Roman camp at Ardoch,

* It must be remembered that these dates are ac-

cording to the Old Style of reckoning, and that to

make them accord with the New Stjde, eleven days

must be added : thus, the 10th of November 0. S. ig

the same as the 21st N. S.
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ftbout five miles from Duublane, till he should

receive instructions from the earl. Mar soon

thereafter returned from Drummond castle, and

being desirous of obtaining additional intelli-

gence from the general in advance, ordered

Hamilton to remain in his position, and to

hold his men in readiness to march on a

moment's notice. This order had, however,

been scarcely issued, when a fresh despatch

arrived from Oonnrnl Gordnri. aniiniinrini' that

the Duke of Argyle was in Dunblane with his

whole army. Mar thereupon desired Gordon

to remain where be was till the main body of

the army sliould come up, and ha%'ing ordered

three guns to be fired, the signal agreed upon

to be given Hamilton for putting his men in

marching order, the latter immediately formed

liis division and put it in motion. After a

junction between the two divisions of the army

lind born firiiu'd, the insnr[roiits marched to-

Dunblane, about the time of tbe Rebellion. — !

the bridge of Kinbuck, about fo'u miles fiuin

Dunblane, where they passed the frosty night

under arms without covering or tent. The

Duke of Argyle, who had the most exact intel-

ligence brought to him of the motions of the

insurgents, left Dunblane and formed his army

in order of battle in the evening, on a rising

ground above the house of Kippenross, about

two miles north-east of the town. His army

was drawn up in one extended line. In the

centre were eight battalions of foot under the

command of Major-General Wiglitman. The

right wing consisted of five squadrons of dra-

goons, lurder Lieutenant^General Evans, and

^ similar number, at the head of wliom was

Lieutenant- General Witham, composed the

left wing. After thus drawing up his men,

his gracp issued oiders that no tent shoidd bo

pitched during the night either by officer or

private soldier ; that aU the officers without

distinction should remain at their posts ; and

tliat the troops should rest on their arm." ic

the exact order in which they had been formsd.

The severest penalties were threatened against

those who should infringe these orders. Though

the night was extremely cold, the troops lay

down upon the bare ground, and snatched a

few hours' repose. The duke himself retired

to a sheep-cot at the foot of a hill on the right

of the army, where he passed the night sitting

on a bundle of straw.

Although the two armies had bivouacked

during the night within three miles of each

other, and were only separated by the Sheriff-
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muir, an elevated and uneven waste, skirted

OL the west by the high road from Stirling to

Perth, near the river Allan, yet so ignorant

was !Mar of the movements of Argyle, that so

far from supposing him to he within such a

short distance of his camp, he imagined that

he stUl remained at Dunblane ; and it was not

until he observed a reconnoitring party of

Argyle's cavalry on the adjouiing heights of

•the Sheriffmuir next morning, that he became

aware of his immediate proxmiity. This party-

was headed by the duke himself, who had

aroused his army by break of day, and who,

after issuing instructions to his men to prepare

for battle, had ascended at an early hour the

iill where his advanced guard was posted, to

survey the position of the insurgents.

The Earl of Mar had also put liis men under

arms shortly after break of day, and when

Argj'le's party of observation was first noticed,

Mar was busily engaged ranging his men in

marching order, preparatory to advancing upon

Dunblane. Conceiving that Argyle meant to

offer him battle immediately, he instantly

assembled all the chiefs, and after addressing

them in an eloquent speech, in which he

painted in glowing colours the wrongs of their

prince and their country, and congratulated

ihem that the day had at length arrived when

they could revenge their injuries in open battle,

he desired to know if they were wilhng to

engage. The Marquis of Huntly alone raised

some objections, and some few were heard in

an nnder-tone to advise a return to Perth till

the spring ; but the voices of Hunth' and his

supporters were drowned by loud shouts of

" fight, fight
!

" from the rest, who at once

galloped off to their different posts. *

The Earl of Mar, thereupon, resumed the

marshalling of his army, which formed into

t^T0 lines with a rapidity and decision that

would have done honour to veteran troops ; but

by accident, tliree sqiiadrons of horse posted

on the left, mi-sled by a cry from the High-

landers, of " horse to the right," left their

position and took ground on the right, an

unfortunate mistake for the insurgents, as it

contributed to the defeat of their left wins.

' MS. referred to in Lord .John Russell's History
o/Eiirojir, p. 34,1. Jacol.itc Official Account of the
bottle, printed at Perth, 1715.

The centre of the first line was composed of

ton battalions of foot, consisting of about 4,000

men under the command of the captain of

Clanrarald, Glengary, Sir John Maclean, the

laird of Glenbucket, Brigadier Ogilvie, and the

two brothers of Sir Donald Macdonald of Sleat.

General Gordon, who had long served in the

army of the Czar of Muscov}-, was at the head

of these battalions. On the right of this line

were placed two of the Marquis of Huntly's

squadrons of horse, and another called the

Stiiiing squadi'on, which carried the Chevalier's

standard. This squadron, which consisted

wholly of gentlemen, also bore the title of "the

Restoration regiment of horse." The Perth-

shire squadron formed the left wing. The

centre of the second line consisted of eight liat-

talions of foot, viz., three of the Earl of Sea-

forth's foot, two of the Marquis of Huntly's, the

Earl of Panmure's battalion, and those of the

lyiarquis of Tullibardine, of Drummond, com-

manded by the Viscount of Strathallan, and

of Logie-Almond, and Eobertson of Strowan.

On the right of this second line were posted two

squadrons of horse under the Earl Marischal.

The Angus squadron was on the left. The

whole of the force thus formed for action may

be estimated at 8,000, besides which tliere

was a corps de reswve of 400 horse posted con-

siderably in the rear.

Wliile this formation was going on, the Duke
of Argyle observed for several hours with gieat

attention the various evolutions of the insur-

gents ; but from the nature of the ground*

occupied by them he could not obtain a fuU

view of their line which extended through a

hoUow way, the view of which was obstructed

by the brow of a hill occupied by a party

of Mar's troops. From Mar's advanced gi:ards

looking towards Dunblane, the duke con-

jectured that the insurgents intended to

march in that direction ; but he was unde-

ceived in this idea by a movement on tlie part

* "The muir is a hill, but a very gentle one ; and
it has tlie peculiarity of being a regular curve, pre-

senting in all parts a segment of a s]>here, or rather

an oblate spheroid. There are no rapid declivities

and no plains. Hence, in every part of the hill, tlieie

is a close sky line, caused by the immediate curve,

and where there is so much of tlie curve, as will reach

a perpendicular of some eight feet between two bodies

of men, they cannot see each other."—Burton's Scot-

land (1689—1748), vol. ii. p. 193.
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of a mass of the insurgents towards his right,

as if they intended to cross the moor and fall

upon the flani of his army. As a large morass

lay in the way of the insurgents, Argyle, in

advancing from Dunblane, had conceived him-

self free from danger on that side ; hut it had

now been rendered quite passable for foot as

well as horse by a keen frost during the pre-

ceding night. As soon as Argjde saw this

large body advance up the face of the moor,

wHch, from the right wing of the insurgents

being concealed from his view by a rising

ground, he supposed was the main body of

Mar's army, he requested the advice of the

officers who surrounded him as to how he

should act. It was the general opinion, an

opinion in which the duke himself concurred,

that there would be less risk in engaging the

insurgents on the high groimds than in waiting

for them in the position occupied by the divke's

army ; but although most of the officers thought

that there would not be sufficient time to bring

forward the troops and to change the order of

battle, a change which was absolutely necessary,

the duke resolved to draw out his troops upon

the moor.

Having come to this determination, the duke

returned quicldy to the army, and ordered the

drums to beat the General. This order was

given about eleven o'clock ; but although the

drums instantly beat to arms, an hour elapsed

before the troops were ready to march. The

new order of battle was as follows. The duke's

first line consisted of .^ix battalions of foot, all

old troops, amounting scarcely to 1,800 men.

On the right were posted three squadrons of

dragoons, being the best in the army, namely,

Evans's, the Scots Greys, and the Earl of

Stair's. On the left there were placed three

squadrons of dragoons, namely. Carpenter's,

Ker's, and a squadron of Stair's. The second

line was composed of only two battalions of

foot, with a squadron of dragoons on each

wing. The right wing of the army was com-

manded by the duke himself, the centre by

General Wightman, and the left by General

Witham. Behind Evans's dragoons, on the

right wing, a body of about sixty horse, noble-

men and gentlemen volunteers, took up a

station.

The body which Argj'le had observed coming

up the face of the moor, was a squadron of th»

Earl ^Marischal's horse and Sir Donald Mac
donald's battalion, under their respective com

manders. These had been despatched by the

Earl of Mar, to drive away the reconnoitring

party under the Duke of Argjde from the

height; but on it« disappearing, they returned

and reported the circumst-anee to the earL On
receiving this intelligence. Mar gave orders to

his troops to march up the hUl in four columns.

The whole army was accordingly put in motion,

but they had not proceeded far when the Earl

Marischal, who was in advance, observed

Argyle forming his lines on the southern sum-

mit of the hill, at a short distance from him.

He notified the circumstance to Mar, who in-

stantly gave orders to his men to quicken theii

pace up the hill. In the hurry of their ascent,

the second line pressed so closely upon the

first as to occasion some confusion on the left

when again getting into line, and it was in

consequence of this disorder that the squadrons

of horse forsook their position on the left, and

took ground on the right.

Before the insurgents reached the summit of

the moor, Argyle's right wing was fully formed,

but the greater part of his centre and left, who

were moving up the ascent by a gradual pro-

gression from right to left, had not yet reached

their ground. Argyle's right now found itself

within pistol-shot of Mar's left, but from the

greater extent of Mar's hne, it considerably

outflanked Argyle's left.

As soon as the Earl of Mar perceived that

Argyle's line was only partially formed, he

resolved instantly to attack him before he

should be able to complete his arrangements;

and having sent orders to his right and left to

fall simultaneously upon the enemy, Mar placed

himself at the head of the clans, and being

apprised by a firing on his left that the action

had commenced, he pulled off his hat, which

he waved, and with a huzza led forward his

men upon the half-formed battaUons which

composed the left wing of the enemy. Arrived

within pistol-shot, the Highlanders, according

to custom, poured in a voUey upon the Enghsh

infantry. The fire was instantly returned,

and, to the dismay of the Highlanders, Alan

Muidartach, the captain of Clanranald, was

mortally wounded. He was instantly carried
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off the field, and. as his men clustered around

him, he encouraged them to stand firm to their

posts, and expressed a hope that the result of

the struggle in which they were engaged would

be favourable to the cause of his sovereign.

The loss of a chief, who, from the stately mag-

nificence with which he upheld his rank, and

the urbanity of his disposition, had acquired

an ascendency over the minds of his people,

could not fail to depress their spirits, and make

them almost overlook the danger of their situa-

tion. Wilde absorbed in grief, they were in a

Tioment roused from their dejection hy Glen-

gary, who, ohserving their conduct at this junc-

ture, sprung forward, and throwing his bonnet

into the air, cried aloud, in the expressive

language of his country, " Revenge ! Eevenge

!

Revenge to-day, and mourning to-morrow!"

No sooner had this brave chieftain pronounced

these words, than the Highlanders rushed for-

ward, sword in hand, with the utmost fury,

upon the royalist battalions. The government

troops attempted to stem the impetuosity of

the attack, hy opposing the Higlilanders with

fixed hayonets, but the latter pushed them

aside with their targets, and rushing in with

their hroad-swords among the enemy, spread

death and terror around them. The three

battalions on Argjde's left, which had never

been properly formed, unable to rally, instantly

gave way, and faUing back upon some squadrons

of horse in their rear, created such confusion,

that within seven or eight minutes after the

assault, the form of a battalion or squadron

was no longer discernible. A complete rout

ensued; and there seems no doubt that the

whole of Argyle's left would have been com-

pletely destroyed, had not General Witham, at

the head of the squadrons which were upon

the left of the battalions, checked the advance

of Mar's horse by a charge, in which he suc-

ceeded in capturing a standard. Afraid of

being outflanked by Argyle's left wing, which

extended far beyond liis position, and being

ignorant of what was passing on the right

wing of the royalists, the view of which was

concealed by the imevenness of the ground,

Witham retired in the direction of Dunblane.

The Earl of Mar pursued the disordered mass

to the distance of only half a mile, and having

ordered his foot to halt tOJ he should put them

in order, resolved to follow the enemy and

complete the victory; but receiving intelligence

that his left wing and second line had given

way, and that his artillery had been taken, he

retraced his steps, and took up a position on

the top of the stony hill of Kippendavie, till

he should receive further information respect-

ing the fate of his left wing.

This wing, which was the first to begin the

attack, opened a fire upon Argyle's right wing

when almost within pistol shot. The High-

landers thereafter steadily advanced, and pour-

ing a second volley among the enemy, with a

precision and effect not to be surpassed by the

best disciplined troops, rushed up, sword in

hand, to the very muzzles of their muskets.

Though the fire was destructive, and made
Evans's dragoons reel for a time, the English

troops maintained their ground, and the foot

kept up a platooning, which checked the fury

of their assailants. The struggle continued for

some time without any decided advantage on

either side ; but as Argyle began to perceive

that he could make no impression in front upon

the numerous masses of the insurgents, and

that he might be out-flanked by them, he re-

solved to attack them on their flank with part

of his cavalry, whde his foot should gaU them

with their fire in front. He therefore ordered

Colonel Cathcart to move along the morass to

the right with a strong body of cavalry, and to

fall upon the flank of Mar's left wing, a move-

ment which he executed with great skQl. Cath-

cart, after receiving a fire from the insurgent

horse, immediately charged them, but they sus-

tained the assault with great firmness. Borne

down by the superior weight of the English

dragoons, whose horses were much larger than

those of the insurgents, the Scottish horse,

after nearly half-an-hour's contest, were com-

pelled to give way. The foot of Argyle's right

having made a simultaneous attack upon jMar's

first line of foot, the latter also were forced to

fall back, and Mar's horse and foot coming

into contact vdth his second line, they mixed

indiscriminately, and a general rout in conse-

quence ensued.

After receding a short distance, the insur-

gent horse, which consisted principally of the

Jacobite gentry of Perthshire and Angus, at-

tempted to rally, and even to charge vijgyle's
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cavalry iii their turn, but tliey were again

forced to retire by the pressure of the English

dragoons, who kept advancing in regular order

upon the receding masses of the insurgents.

Determined, however, not to yield one incli of

ground without the utmost necessity, the oava-

Mer horse made repeated efforts to drive the

enemy back, and, in the course of their retreat,

made ten or twelve attempts at dilferent places

to rally and charge the advancmg foe; but

unable to resist the overwhelming pressure of

the English cavalry, they were, after three

hours' hard fighting, driven across the river

Allan by Argyle's dragoons. Some idea may

be formed of the obstinacy of the contest, when

it is considered that the distance from the field

of battle to the river is scarcely three mUes.

To the gallant stand made by the horse may

be ascribed the safety of the foot, who would

have been probably all cut to pieces by the

dragoons, if the attention of the latter had not

been cliiefly occupied by the horse. The foot,

however, siiffered considerably in the retreat,

notwithstanding the humanity of the Duke of

Argyle, who endeavoured to restrain the car-

nage. Besides offering quarter to such of the

Jacobite gentlemen as -vere personally known

to him, he displayed his anxiety for the pre-

servation of his countrymen so far, that on

observing a party of liis dragoons cutting

down a body of foot, into which they had

thrown themselves, he exclaimed \vith a feel-

ing of deep emotion, " Oh, spare the poor Blue-

bonnets !"

As Mar's right wing had been concealed

from the view of Argyle, the latter conceived

that the numerous body he was driving before

him formed the entii'e insurgent army. He,

therefore, resolved to continue the pursuit till

dark, and to support him, he ordered General

Wightman, who commanded his foot upon the

right, to follow liim wi+h his oattalions as

quickly as possible. Wightman accordingly

proceeded to follow the duke with a force of

rjtiiei more than three regiments ; but he had

uot marched far, when he heard a firing on his

left, to ascertain the cause of which, he sent

his aid-de-camp in the direction whence the

firing proceeded. This officer returned in a

short time, and reported that the half of

Argyle's foot, and the squadrons on the left.

liad all been cut off by tlie light of the iusur

gents, which was superior in point of numbers

to Argyle's left. Wightman thereupon slack-

ened his pace, and despatched a messenger to

inform the duke of the fate of his left wing.

Afraid of bemg attacked in his rear by Mar's

right wing, he kept his men in perfect order,

but no demonstration was made to follow him.

When informed of the defeat of liis left wing,

Argyle gave over tlie pursuit, and joining

Wightman with five squadrons of di'agoons,

put his men in order of battle and marched

boldly to the bottom of the hUl, on the top of

which the enemy, amounting to^ 4,000 men,

were advantageously posted. Argyle had now

scarcely 1,000 men imder him, and as these

were already greatly exhausted, he judged it

expedient to act on the defensive ; but the in-

surgents showed no disposition to engage, and

both parties, as if by mutual consent, retired

from their positions in different directions

The duke filed ofl' his men to the right, in

marching order, towards Dunblane ; but as he

stiU dreaded an attack, he formed his men

several times on the march, wherever he foimd

the ground convenient, and waited the approach

of the enemy. Mar di'ew off his men toward

Ardoch, where he passed the night, and

Argyle's troops lay imder arms during the night

in the neighbourhood of Dunblane.

As might have been expected, on an occasion

of such dubious success on either side, both

parties claimed a victory, but impartiality will

confer the palm on neither. ^ Argyle, it is true,

visited the field of battle the following morn-

ing, which Mar might also have done had he

been inclined, and this circimistance, therefore,

can afford no argument in support of his pre-

tensions. Neither can the capture of standards

and colours by Argyle be considered as a proof

of success, for although he took fourteen colours

and standards, including the royal standard

called " the Restoration," besides six pieces of

cannon and other trophies. Mar, according to

' " There's some say that we wan, and some say that tliey

wan,
And some say that nane wan at a* man

;

But one thing I'm sure, that at Sheriamuir

A battle there was that I saw, man.
And we ran, and they ran, and they ran, and we ran,

But Florence* ran fastest of a' man."
The Bank of Hhenffmvir in Hogg's Jacobite Belkt.

• MarqTiis of Huntly's horse
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the official Jacobite account, captured four

stands of colours, several drums, and about

1 400 or 1,500 stands of arms. Accounts the

most contradictory have been given by both

parties of the losses sustained by them. Ac-

cording to the rolls of Argyle's muster-master

general, his loss amounted to 290 men killed,

187 wounded, and 133 prisoners, making a

grand total of 610, while the Jacobite aocomit

makes the loss in killed and wounded on the

side of Argyle amount to between 700 and 800.

On the other hand, the Jacobites state tlieir

loss in killed at only 60, and that very few

of their men were wounded, while the royalists

say that they lost, in kiUed and wounded,

about 800 men.' Supposing the royalist

statement correct, the comparative loss of the

insurgents scarcely exceeded one-third of that

sustained by the government forces.

Several officers were killed on the royalist

side. Among the wounded was the Earl of

Forfar, a brave officer who commanded Mori-

son's regiment. He received a shot in the

knee, and sixteen other wounds, of which he

died at Stirling about three weeks after the

battle. Several persons of distinction were

killed on the side of the insurgents, among

whom were the Earl of Strathmore, and the

Captain of Clanranald. A considerable num-

ber of gentlemen were taken prisoners by Ar-

gyle, but many of them escaped, and he was

able to carrj' oidy 82 of them to Stirling. Of

this number were Lord StrathaUan, Thorn? s

Drummond his brother, Walkinshaw of Bar-

^o^Yfield, Drummond of Logie-Drummond, and

Murray of AuclitertjTe.

On whichsoever side success lay, the battle,

in its consequences, was most important in

many respects to the government, as it was

immediately followed by the desertion of a

considerable number of the clans. With the

exception of the Macdonalds, who particularly

distinguished themselves on the right, and tlie

Perthshire and Angus horse who withstood

the repeated shoclcs of Argyle's cavalry, the

remainder of the insurgent army made little

resistance. The Macphersons and the Mac-

gregors, (the latter commanded by Eob Eoy,"

' Colonel Harrison's account,
• "Eob Roy there stood watch on a hill, for to catch

The booty, for ought that I saw, man
;

the chief's uncle), did not join in the contcil

at all, but looked on as if unconcerned about

the residt. Some of the clans, disgusted at the

pusillanuuity or indifference exhibited by their

For he ne'er advanc'd from the place he wa.s stanc'd,
Till no more was to do there at a' man."

Battle of Sheriffmuh:

"A short time previous to the Earl of Mar's rising,

their (the Macgregors') depredations in the Lennox,
and ou the lower banks of Lochloraond, had been
carried to such an extremity, that the military force

of the west country was raised against them, and all

the warriors of the clan seem to have been driven
from their country, and to have retreated to the north,

oven as far as the mountains of Loch-Arkaig and
Glengarry. Accordingly we find Rob Koy there in
September and October 1715.

** From thence he came down with tlie rest of the
clans, and joined general Gordon in Strathlillan. He
was with the clans before Inverary, and was active in

making some reprisals both by carrying off cattle on
the banks of Loch-Fyne, and capturing ships thai- lay
at anchor in the loch.

"He marched with the clans to Ardoch, and was
present at the battle of Sheriffuiuir, but kept a shy
distance, thereby weakening that wing of the army to

which the Macgregors were placed as a corps-de-reserve,

on what principle it is not easy to determine, if it

was not, as the bard suggests, to watch who gained
the day, and then assist them in disposing of the
booty.
" Before the friends of the Stuarts, however, could

be properly brought to a head, Eob pei-formed a very
signal service to many of them by an act worthy >/

his character, and exactly in his own way. At the

great hunting of Brae Mar, it has been meutioued
what a number of noblemen and chiefs signed the bond
of faith and mutual support. By the negligence of a

chieftain to whose charge this important and danger-

ous document was committed, it fell into the handr,

of Captain Campbell, then at Fort William ; and when
it became known that a man of such determined
Whig principles held this bond, those who signed it

were seriously alarmed, and various plans were sug-

gested for recovering it. Eob Koy Macgregor, who
was at this clan meeting, had also affixed his name

;

but on his own account he was indiiferent, as he
regarded neither king nor government. He was, how-
ever, urged by several chiefs, particularly his patron,

to exert himself, and if possible to recover the bond.

With this view he went to Fort William in disguise,

not with his usual number of attendants, and getting

access to Captain Campbell, who was a near relation

of his own, he discovered that, out of revenge for the

contemptuous manner in which the chieftains now
treated the captain, he bad put the bond into the posses-

sion of the governor of the garrison, who was resolved

to forward it to the privy council ; and Hob, learning

by accident the day on which it was to be sent, took

his leave, and went home. The despatch which con-

tained the bond was made up by Governor Hill, and
sent from Fort William, escorted by an ensign's com-
mand, which in those countries always accompanied
the messages of government. On the third dav's

m.irch, Eob and 50 of his men met this party in Glen-

dochart, and ordering them to halt, demanded Tlieii

despatches. The officer refused ; but Eob told him,

that he would either have their lives and the despatches

together, or the des]iatches alone. The ferocious looks

and appearance of Kob and his men bespoke no irre-

solution. The packet was given up ; and Rob, havi"

3 N
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issociates, and otters dispirited by the fiinmess

displayed by the government forces, returned

CO their homes, thus verifying the observation

made by a Jacobite in reference to the clans,

that wliether victorious or beaten, they would

run away and go home. The defection of

these clans was a severe blow to Mar, and

made him abandon the idea of crossing the

Forth. He, therefore, returned to Perth with

the remains of his army, and to encourage the

friends of the Jacobite interest, circulated the

most favourable accounts of his alleged success

at SheriffmuLr, and of the state of the Cheva-

lier's affairs, although he himself began to con-

sider them desperate, i The Doke of Argyle,

on the other hand, retired to his head-quarters

at Stirling, intending to resimie offensive opera-

ions as soon as some expected reinforcements

should arrive.

The attempt of Mar to disguise the real

state of matters was too gross to deceive his

adherents, and there were not a few who

already began to entertain thoughts of making

their own terms with the government: but tlie

taken out the bond lie wanted, begged the officer

would excuse the delay he had occasioned, and wish-

ing him a good journey, left the military to proceed

unmolested. By this manoeuvre many chieftains kept

on their heads, and the forfeiture of many estates was
prev ented.

" The following notices are from Mr. Moir's MSS.
*' One of the causes of the repulse of part of Mar's

forces was the part which Rob Roy acted; this Rob
Roy, or Red Robert, was uncle to the laird of Mac-
gregor, and commanded that clan in his nephew's
absence ; but on the day of battle he kept his men
together at some distance, without allowing them to

engage, though they showed all the willingness ima-
ginable ; and waited only an opportunity to plunder,

which was it seems the chief di-sign of his coming
there. This clan are a hardy rough people, but noted
for pilfering, as they lie upon the border of the High-
lands, and this Rob Roy had exercised their talents

that way, pretty much in a kind of thieving war he
carried on against the Duke of Montrose, who had
cheated him of a small feudal estate.

"The conduct of this gentleman (who was wont,
as occasion served, to assume the name of Campbell,
his own being prohibited by act of parliament) was
the more surprising, as he had ever been remarked
for courage and activity. When desired by one of his

own officers to go and assist his friends, he remarked,
* If they cannot do it without me, they cannot do it

with me.' It is more than probable, however, that

his interference would have decided the day in favour

of his own party. He continued in arms for some
years, and committed great depredations in the shires

of Dumbarton and Lennox, particularly on the Duke
of Montrose's lands, defeating several detachments

sent to reduce him."

—

Jacobite Kclics, vol. ii. pp.
248 —251.

' Tounial of Mar''! proceedings, printed at Paris.

Highland chiefs and the principal officers

remained firm, and urged Mar to risk another

battle even nith liis reduced forces. The earl,

however, though personally brave, was not the

man to comply with an advice so opposed to

the rule he had laid down for himself, never

to engage without a very superior force on his

side. But had he been of a different opinion,

the receipt of the news of the re-capture of

Inverness would probably have precluded him

from mo-sdng a second time upon Stirluig.

It has been remarked as a singular circtmi-

stance in this history of Mar's insm'rectioii,

that the tliree important events which decided

its fate should have occurred in regular daily

succession. Inverness was captured on the

13th of November,- and on the same day

Mackintosh's forces, cooped up in Preston, had

to maintain a precarious struggle against the

attacks of "Wells's army. Next day witnessed

the battle of Sheriflfmuir, and at the very time

the insurgents in Preston were offering terms

of surrender, the right wings of Argyle's and

Mar's armies were pursuing, with all the con-

fidence of victory, the wings to which they

were respectively opposeiL And lastly, while

on the 14th the insurgents in England were

capitulating at Preston, the two rival armies

in the north were retiring to their head-quar-

ters, each of them claiming a victory.

The arrival of the Chevalier had been long

anxiously looked for by his friends in Scotland.

He was now about to gratify their desire of

beholding his person; but James had already

missed the golden opportunity, which presented

itself at an early stage of the insurrection, of

recovering his father's crown. Had he, o'u,

arriving at St. Malo, whither he proceeded

from Lorraine at the breaking out of the insur-

rection, instantly taken shipping, he would not

only have complied with the declared wishes

of his adherents, but would have evinced at

once a determination to maintain his claim.

Instead of embarking, however, immediately,

^ "The coincidence in time, of this achievement,

with the reduction of Preston, and the battle of

Sheriffmuir, is remarkable, and was much dwelt on

at the time. But perhaps the day of the capture of

Inverness not being exactly known—though it was

certainly about the middle of November—it is not

unlikely that the coincidence may have created a

tendency to assign it to the 1.3th. "—Burton's Scotland

(1689-1747), vol. ii. p. 189 (note).
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as ho aliould have done, he spent so much

time m the shijiment of supplies, wliich he was

desu'ous should precede his departure, that he

was at last altogether prevented fi'om sailing

by some men-of-war, which appeared off the

harbour of St. Male, and which had been sent

by the British government to intercept him.

That he might not disappoint the expectations

of his partisans, he resolved to go to Dunkirk

in quest of shipping, and having traversed the

country in disguise, he embarked at that port,

about the middle of December, on board a

small French vessel of eight guns, which had

formerly been a privateer. He was attended

by five persons only, who, to prevent suspicion,

were disguised as French officers. Among
these were the JIarquis of Tynemouth, son of

the Duke of Ber\vick, and Lieutenant Allan

Cameron, a son of LochieL

Eegardless of the evident risk which he ran,

byattempting a descent upon the eastern coast of

Scotland, he sailed from Dunkirk in the small

vessel in wliich he had embarked, after leaving

instructions to despatch after him two other

vessels that lay in the harbour with his

domestics, and some stores for the use of his

army. It was the Chevalier's intention to

have landed in the vicinity of the Frith of

Tay, and accordingly, after steering in a north-

erly direction, he stood across for the coast of

Angus, which was descried after a voyage of

five days; but observing, at some distance, a

saU, which he judged to be unfriendly, he

altered his course to northward with the de-

sign of landing at Peterhead, of which the

Earl Marischal was the feudal superior. The

vessel which carried the Chevalier came, how-

ever, sufficiently near to land to intimate by

signals to the friends of the prince in the

neighbourhood that he was on board, which

intelligence was immediately conveyed to the

camp at Perth, where it was received with a

feeling of intense delight.

The ChevaUer arrived off Peterhead, on the

22d of December, seven days from the date of

his departure from Dunkirk, and immediately

landed with his small retinue of five persons,

all disguised as seamen. After despatching

the vessel to France with the news of his

arrival, he and his companions took up their

abode in the to-\vn for the night. He passed

the next night at !N"ewburgh, a seat of tlio Earl

Marischal, having previou.siy sent Lieutenant

Cameron to Perth with the inteUigonce of his

landing. The Chevaher continued his journey

towards Perth, and on the 24th passe d incognito

through Aberdeen, and arrived at Fetteresso,

the principal seat of the Earl Marischal, where

he remained several days. As soon as Lieu-

tenant Cameron reached Perth, the Earl of

Mar, the Earl Jlarischal, General Hamilton,

and about thirty other gentlemen, mounted

their horses, and set oif to meet the Chevalier.

This cavalcade arrived at Fetteresso on the

27th, and the persons composing it were intro-

duced to " the king," and had the honour of

kissing his hand. After the brealdng up of

the comt, the Chevalier was proclaimed at the

gates of the house, and pruited copies of the

declaration which he had issued in Lorraine

were immediately dispersed.'

The Chevalier intended to have proceeded

next day on his journey to Perth, but he was

detained at Fetteresso till the 2d of January,

by two successive fits of ague, wliich, however,

did not prevent him from receiving addresses

from the " Episcopal clergy of the diocese of

Aberdeen," and from the magistrates, town

coimcU, and Jacobite inhabitants of the town.

While at Fetteresso the Chevalier exercised

some of the functions of royalty, by confeiTing

titles of dignity on some of his adherents. He
raised the Earl of Mar to a dukedom ; and,

according to report, conferred the honour of

knighthood upon Bannerman, the Jacobite pro-

vost of Aberdeen, who presented the address

from that city. Having recovered from his

attack, the Chevalier left Fetteresso on the 2d

of January, and went to Brechin, where he

passed the night. Next day he moved forward

to Kinnaird, and on the 4th reached Glammis

Castle, the principal seat of the Earl of Strath-

more. At Glammis Mar drew up a letter, in

which he gave a very flattering account of the

Chevalier. As the object of this letter was to

impress the people with a favourable opinion

of the Chevaher, Mar ordered it to be printed

and circulated as widely as possible. The letter

is written with address, and may still be per-

used with interest:

' AnTials of 2d year ofGeorge /., p. 189.
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"Glames, 5 Jan. 1710

" 1 nip.t the king at Eetteresso on Tuesday

se'enight, where we staid till Friday ; from

thence we came to Brechin, then to Kinnaird,

and yesterday here. The king designed to

have gone to Dundee to-day, but there is such

a fall of snow that he is forced to put it off till

to-morrow, if it he practicable then ; and from

thence he designs to go to Scoon. There was

no haste in liis being there sooner, for nothing

can be done this season, else he had not been

so long by the way. People, everywhere, as

we have come along, are excessively fond to see

him, and express that duty they ought. With-

out any compliment to him, and to do liim

nothing but justice, set aside his being a prince,

he is really the first gentleman I ever knew:

He has a very good presence, and resembles

King Charles a great deal His presence, how-

ever, is not the best of liim. He has fine parts,

and despatches all his business himself with

the greatest exactness. I never saw any body

write so finely. He is affable to a great degree,

without losing that majesty he ought to have,

and has the sweetest temper in the world. In

a word, he is every way fitted to make us a

happy people, were his subjects worthy of him.

To have liim peaceably settled on his throne,

is what these kingdoms do not deserve ; but he

deserves it so much that I hope there is a good

fate attending him. I am sure there is nothing

wanting to make the rest of his subjects as

fond of him as we are, but their knowing liim

as we do ; and it wiU be odd if his presence

among us, after his running so many hazards

to compass it, do not turn the hearts, even of

the most obstinate. It is not fit to tell all the

particulars, but I assure you he has left nothing

undone, that well could be, to gain every body

;

and I hope God will touch their hearts.

" I have reason to hope we shall very quickly

see a new face of affairs abroad in the king's

favour, which is all I dare commit to paper.

" Mar."

On the morning of the 6th of January the

Chevalier left Glammis for Dundee, wliich

town he entered about eleven o'clock a.m. on

horseback, amidst the acclamations of the in-

habitants, the Earl of Mar riding on his right

hand, and the Earl Marisohal on his left, and

followed by a train of nearly 300 adhereiitn on

horseback. To gratify the people who flocke,^

round him eager to behold him and to kiss his

hand, he, at the request of his friends, remained

about an hour on horseback at the cross of the

burgh, after which he rode out to the house of

Stewart of Grandtully in the neighbourhood,

where he dined and passed the night. On the

following day he proceeded along the Carse of

Go\vrie to Castle Lyon, a seat of the Earl of

Strathmore, where he dined, and thence to

Fingask, the seat of Sir David Threipland,

wliere he spent the night. Next day, being

Sunday, he took up his abode in the royal

palace of Scone, where he intended to stay till

the ceremony of his coronation should be per-

formed.

On Monday the Chevalier made his pubhc

entry into Perth. He met, however, with a

cold reception, and he himself felt evidently

disappointed at the appearance of the camp.

He had heard much of the Highland chiefs and

the clans, and being desirous to see "those

little kings (the chiefs,) with their armies," a

select body of Highlanders exliibited before

him. Their appearance gave him great satis-

faction, but when he ascertained the paucity

of the number in the camp, he could not repress

the chagrin and disappointment he felt. On
the other hand, the friends of the Chevalier

were equally disappointed. Neither his appear-

ance nor demeanour on the present occasion

tended in any shape to justify the exaggerated

encomiums of Mar, and his lugubrious deport-

ment while at Perth tended more to alienate

the affections of his adherents, and depress

their spirits, than even the disappointment of

supplies from France. The follo\ving is an

account, doubtfully attributed to the Master of

Sinclair, of the appearance of the Chevalier on

his arrival at Perth, his behaviour while there,

and their consequent effects upon his followers.

" His person was tall and thin, seeming to

incline to be lean rather than to fUl as he grows

in years. His countenance was pale, but per-

haps looked more so than usual, by reason he

had three fits of ague which took him two

days after his coming on shore. Yet he seems

to be sanguine in his constitution, and there is

something of a vivacit)' in his eye that perhaps

would have been more visible if he had not
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been uiider dejected circumstances, and sur-

rounded with discouragement, which it must

be acknowledged were sufficient to alter tlie

complexion even of his soul as well as of his

body. His speech was grave, and not verj'

clearly expressive of his thoughts, nor over

much to the purpose ; but his words were few,

and his behaviour and temper seemed always

composed. What he was in his diversions we

know not: here was no room for such things.

It was no time for mirth. Neither can I say

I ever saw him smile. Those who speak so

positively of his being like King James VII.

must excuse me for saying, that it seems to say

they either never saw this person, or never saw

King James VII. ; and yet I must not conceal

that when we saw the man whom they called

our king, we found ourselves not at all ani-

mated by his presence ; and if he was disap-

pointed in us, we were tenfold more so in him.

We saw nothing in him that looked like spirit.

He never appeared with cheerfulness and

vigour to animate us. Our men began to

despise him ; some asked if he could speak.

His countenance looked extremely heavy. He
cared not to come abroad amongst us soldiers,

or to see us handle our arms or do our exer-

cise. Some said the circumstances he foimd

ns in dejected him. I am sure the figure he

made dejected us ; and had he sent us but

5,000 men of good troops, and never himself

come among us, we had done other things

than we have now done. At the approach of

that crisis when he was to defend his preten-

sions, and either lose his life or gain a c^o^^^l,

I think, as his affairs were situated, no man
can say that his appearing grave and composed

was a token of his want of thought, but rather

of a significant anxiety grounded upon the

prospect of his inevitable ruin, which he could

not be so void of sense as not to see plainly

before him, at least when he came to see how
inconsistent his measures were, how unsteady

the resolution of his guides, and how impos-

sible it was to make them agree with one

another."*

The Chevalier returned to Scone in the even-

ing, and notwithstanding the ominous s}Tnp-

toms of the day, proceeded to form a council

* A true account of i/^e proceedings at Perth, by a
Rebel

preparatory to exercising the functions of

royalty. From Scone he soon issued no less

than six proclamations ; one for a general

thanksgiving for Ids safe arrival ; another en-

joining the ministers to pray for him in the

churches ; a third, establishing the currency of

foreign coin ; a fourth, ordering a meeting of

the convention of estates ; a fifth, commanding

all fenciblo men from sixteen to sixty to repair

to his standard ; and a sixth, fixing the 23d of

January for his coronation at Scone. These

assumptions of sovereign authority were, how-

ever, of a very evanescent character, as they

had scarcely been issued when the Chevalier

and his principal friends resolved to abandon

the contest as hopeless. Indeed, from the

reduced state of the army, and its deficiency

in arms and ammunition, a determination had

been come to by his party, a month before he

landed, to retire from Perth as soon as Argyle

should march against it ; but being ignorant

of that resolution, and believing that the insur-

gents intended to defend Perth, Argj-le delayed

his advance tUl he should be joined by large

reinforcements from England and Holland.

Though continued in the command of the

army, Arg}de, for some reason or other, w'aa

not a favourite at court. Of his fideKty there

could be no suspicion, and his conduct had

lately shown that he wanted neither zeal nor

ability to perform the task which had been

assigned him. It has been conjectured that

the leniency which he was disposed to show

towards his unfortunate countrymen was the

cause of that hidden displeasure which ended

in the dismissal of himself and of his brother,

the Earl of Islay, from aU their emplojTnents.

The rejection of an application which he made

to the government for extended powers to

treat with the insurgents after the battle of

Sherifi'muir, goes far to support the supposition.

But whatever were his views, Tie appeared to

be in no hurry to pursue the insurgents, pro-

bably from an idea that they would disperse

of their own accord. By the arrival of a body

of 6,000 Dutch auxiliaries, and other reinforce-

ments from England, Argyle found himself,

early in January, at the head of upwards of

10,000 men, besides a large train of artillery.

Desirous of expelling the insurgents from Eife

before advanciLg north, a detachment of Dutch
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aud Siioluli troops crossed tlie I'ritk of i'urtli

by the duke's orders, and under cover of some

men-of-war, landed at Burntisland, of which

they took possession. On receiving this intel-

ligence the insurgents immediately abandoned

all the towns on the north side of the Frith, ii

cu-cuinstance which was attended witli serious

consequences to their friends at Perth, who

were in consequence entirely cut off from theii

supplies of coals, at an unusually inclement

season.

About the end of January, Argyle was in

fuU condition to march north, but the snow,

which had fallen to a great depth, appeared to

him to offer a formidable obstruction to the

march of an ai'my unaccustomed to a wiater's

campaign ; and which, from the insm-gents

having burnt and destroyed the villages on the

road, woidd have to bivouac two or three

nights in the open air, exposed to all the rigours

of a northern winter. For these reasons Ar-

gyle urged, at a council of war, which was held

at Stirling, a postponement of the march;

but General Cadogan,^ who had been sent

do\vn to Scotland to hasten the duke's motions,

insistiug upon an immediate advance, and hav-

ing openly accused Argj'le of a want of zeal,

liis Grace made preparations for marching, and

to facilitate the transport of liis cannon and

waggons, issued orders for assembling some

thousands of the country people to clear away

the snow.

Although the Jacobite leaders had come to

the resolution of abandoning Perth as soon as

tlin Duke of Argyle should advance upon it,

' This officer appears to have been very suspicions

I'f Aigylo's motives, and did not hesitate to communi-
ratb hib ojiir'ion to liis superiors. In a letter to the

Puko of Marlborough, he says :

'

' Argyle grows so

intolerably uneasy, that it is almost impossible to live

with liin\ any longer ; lie is enraged at tlie success of

tlie expedition, though lie and his creatures attribnte

to theuiselves the honour of it. "WTien I brought him
the ncv.-a of the rebels having ran from Perth, he

Eoemed thunderstnick ; and was so visibly concerned,

that oven the foreign officers that were in the room
took notice cf it Since the rebels quit-

ting Perth, he (Argyle) has sent 500 or 600 of his

Aigyleshire men, wlio go before the army a day's

march, to take possession of the towns the enemy have

abandoned, and to plunder and destroy the country,

which enrages our soldiers, who are forbid under pain

of d'ath to take the value of a farthing, though out of

the rebels' houses. Not one of these Argyle-men
appeared H'ni'st tho rebels were in Perth, and when
tliey ndght have been cf wme use. "—Coi'a Marl-
Wroitgh, vol iii. p. 612.

they nevertheless gave indications as Lf they

really meant to hold out. Pursuant to an

order of a counod, which was held on the IGth

of January, the most strenuous exertions were

made to fortify the town, and both officers and

men vied with one another in hastening the

completion of the works. WTiat the motives

of the leaders may liave been in thus practising

a deception upon the army it is impossible to

conceive; perhaps the distant hope of being

joined by the more remote clans, the chance of

some fortunate, though imlooked for, occur-

rence in the chapter of accidents, or an idea

that their men could not be otherwise kept

together, may have been the inducing causes

of these defensive preparations; but whatever

their motives were, the apparent determination

sho\\Ti by the leading men to meet the enemy,

had the most beneficial effect upon the army,

which evinced a strong desire to engage. In

this wish they thought they were to be gratified

sooner than they expected, by the arrival of

some country people at Perth who brought in-

teUigence that Argyle was advancing srith aU

his cavalry, and 4,000 foot mounted on horses.

This news was, however, premature, and had

originated in the appearance of a recotmoitiing

party of 200 dragoons, wliich Ai-gyle had sent

forward on the road to Perth, on the 21st of

January, and which the fears of the people

had magnified mto an anuy.

All doubts, however, were removed in a few

days, by the receipt of authentic LnteUigenco

at Perth, that Argyle having completed his

arrangements, was to leave StLrhng for Perth

on tho 29th of January, with his whole army.

The councdlors of tho Chevalier were dismaj'ed

at this inteUigence, but it had quite an opposite

effect upon the mass of the army. Nothing

was to be heard in the Jacobite camp but tho

voice of joy and rejoicing, and congratulations,

on the expected happy result of an encounter

with the enemy, were exchanged on all sides

—between the officers and gentlemen volun-

teers, and the common soldiers and clansmen.

While the former were pledging each other in

their cups and drinldng to " the good day," so

near at hand, as thoy thought, which was to

crown the Chevalier's arms -with victory, Uie

latter, amid the din of the warlike bagpij^.

wore to be ooon giving each other a cordia'
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shake of the haud as if fiiUy assured of

success.

Whilst these congratulatory exhibitions were

going on, the councillors of the Chevalier were

deliberating upon the course they should pur-

sue; but although they sat during the whole

night they could come to no decided resolution.

WTion the irresolution of the council became

generally known, the men could not restrain

their indignation, and a general opinion began

to prevail among them that they had been

betrayed. Impressed with this feeKng, they

became mutinous, and carried their insubordi-

nation so far as to insult the officers, whom
they supposed had betrayed them, in the

streets, and to load them with reproachful

epithets. The gentlemen volunteers also par-

ticipated in the same sentiments; and one of

them from the higher parts of ATierdeensliire

was heard to declare before a group of malcon-

tents assembled in the streets, that the clans

should take the person of the Chevalier out of

the hands of the weak councillors who sirr-

rounded Iiim, adding that he would find 10,000

gentlemen in Scotland who would hazard their

lives for him, if he was equally ready as a

prince to risk his ovra life in vindicating his

right to the crown. A friend of the Earl of

Mar, after remonstrating with this party, asked

what they wished their officers to do.—" Do,"

replied a Higlilander, " what did you call us

to take arms for? Was it to run away? What
did the king come hither for? Was it to see

his people butchered by hangmen, and not

strike a stroke for their lives? Let us die lOce

men and not like dogs."^

Amid the confusion and perplexity occa-

sioned by such a state of things. Mar convened

another meeting of the council on the evening

of the 29th, at which a resolution to retreat

was entered into chiefly at Mar's suggestion.

His reasons for advising an abandonment of

tlio enterprise for the present, were, 1st, the

failure of the Duke of Ormond's attempt to

uivade England; 2dly, the great accession of

force which j^jgyle had received from abroad

;

and, lastly, the reduced state of the Jacobite

forces, which did not exceed 4,000 men, and

of whom only about 2,500 were properly

* True AcciKi'U of lite P.-cccedings al Perth, by a
Rebel.

y '^ i

armed. ' Besides these there were, according

to the Master of Sinclair, other reasons of a

private natiure which influenced Mar to give

the advice he did, the chief of which, says the

above-named authority, was that the Earl of

Seaforth, the Marquis of Huntly, and other

Jacobites who were in treaty with the govern-

ment, had basely resolved to deliver up the

Chevalier to the Duke of Argyle, that they

might procure better terms for themselves than

they could otherwise expect. Tliis odious

charge, which is not corroborated by any other

writer, must be looked upon as highly impro-

bable.

Before communicating to the army the reso-

lution to retreat, a general meeting of all the

officers was held at Scone on the following

day, when they were informed of the determi-

nation of the previous evening, and of the

reasons which had led to it. It was then

secretly resolved that the Chevalier and his

principal officers shoidd take shipping at

Montrose for France, and that the army should

be disbanded as soon as it reached the High-

lands, or as soon as circumstances permitted;

but to save appearances -(vith the men, it was

given out, that as Perth was untenable, it be-

came necessary to retire to a stronger position,

where they coidd not only defend themselves,

but keep up a more secure and direct commu-
nication witli their friends in the north. At
this time there were thi-ee ships lying in the

Tay off Dundee, which had lately arrived with

supplies from France; and to secure these for

the conveyance of the Chevalier and his fol-

lowers, a French officer and clergyman were

despatched to Dundee with orders to seed

them down the coast to Montrose, there to

wait his arrival.

'

On the return of the officers to the camp,

they promidgated the order to retreat to their

men, and, as might have been anticipated, it

was received %vith scorn and contempt. Among
the Jacobite inhabitants of the town who had

shown themselves very zealous in the cause of

the Chevalier, the intelligence caused nothing

but dismay, as from the prominent and decided

part tliey had taken, they liad incim'ed the

pcualtifts of treason against the government.

' Mar's Jmimal.
' True Account of the Proceedings at Perth.
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The morning of the olsl of Jauuriry was tixe.l

upon for tho rclroat, but a body of about 800

Highlanders, ilishking the aspect of ail'uirs. and

displeased with the conduct of the ptincijial

officers, quitted Perth the preceding night for

the Highlands by way of Dunkeld. Prepara-

toi-y to his departure, the Chevalier went from

Scone to Perth in the evening, and took up

his residence in the house of Hay the provost,

a stanch Jacobite, where he supped and

passed the night. At ten o'clock next morning

the rebels began thoii' march across the Taj,

which was covered with ice of extraordinary

thickness. About noon the whole army had

passed, and was on the march to I>uudee along

the Carse of Gowiie.

Meanwliile, the Duke of Argyle was advanc-

ing upon I'cLih as fast as the nature of the

di.'uciilties lie had to contend with would admit

ot. He had left Stirling on the "iOth of Janu-

ai-j', and marched to Dunblane. Xext daj he

advanced as far as Auchtei-arder, whicli had

been entirely burnt by tlie rebels. Here thej

passed the night upon the snow without " an\

other covering than the fine canopy of heaven
"

On tlie following day a detachment oi' 200 dia

goons and 400 foot, which had been sent for

ward to protect the country people who were

engaged in clearing away the snow, took pos-

session of the castle of Tullibardiue, the gam
son of whirh had capitidated. The Duke ol

Argyle had resolved to take up his quarter^ lor

the niglit in this fortress ; but receiving intelli-

gence that the rebels had retired from Perth

that morning, he ordered a party of 400 dra-

goons and 1 ,000 foot to hasten forward to take

possession of that town. The duke, at the head

of the di'agoons, arrived at Perth about two

o'clock in the morning of the 1st of Februaiy

;

but the foot, who were greatly fatigued, did

not come up till ten o'clock. Tho remainder

of the duke's army reached Perth that evening.

The distance from Stirling to Perth is only

34 miles, yet such was the obstruction that

Argyle's army met with from the snow, tliat

their march occupied three entire days. The

difficulties of the march and the privations

which Ids men liad suffered by resting two

nights on the snow, exposed to all the seventies

^ A finals of George /. , vol. ii. p. 222.

of the ^veatlici. Lad so e.Kliausted his me7i, that

it was not till the day after his an-ival at Perth

tliat the duke could muster a force sufficiently

strong to pursue the enemy.

On the 2d of February Argyle left Perth at

the head of si.\ squadi'ons of dragoons, three

battalions of foot, and 800 lliglilanders. He
stopped at Errol that night, and entered Dun-

dee next day. Having learned that the Cheva-

lier had left Dundee tlie preceding day on his

Second Duk* ol Ar^^j'-^

way to Montrose, the duko EOiit fo,->vaid a

detachment towards Arbroath, and being joiued

by tlie remainder of liis army on the 4th of

February, ho despatched on the same day three

battalions of foot, 500 of his oyvu Highland-

ers, and 50 di'agoons, towards A.tbroath, and

another detaclmient of 300 foot, iiud 50 dra-

goons, in the direction of Brechin ; but their

march was retarded for some time by the snow.

On the 5th the duke followed with the re-

mainder of the army; and while he himself, at

the head of the cavalry, took the liigh road to

Brecliin, General Cadogan with the infantry

marched in the direction of Arbroath.

During tho retreat to Montrose, suspicions

began to be entertained in the Chevalier's amiy,

that it was his intention to embark for Frauce,
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notwithstanding the assurances of tlie principal

ofScers to the contrary. The unusual route

along the sea-coast gave credence to the rumour

;

but when they approached ]\Iontrose, and saw

Bome French vessels lying at anchor off the

shore, their suspicions were contirmed, and the

men began to manifest sjTnptoms of discontent.

The insurgent army arrived at Montrose on

^he 3d of February, where it was intended they

should pass the night ; but the Chevalier's

advisers, alarmed at the murmurings of the

troops, ordered them to march the same night

towards Aberdeen, -where it was given out they

meant to make a stand till succours should

arrive from abroad. This assurance had the

desired effect upon the troops, who accordingly

began their march in the expectation that the

Chevalier would follow them. To prevent

suspicion, his horses were ordered to be brought

before the door of the house where he lodged

at the hour appointed for the march, and liis

guards were ordered to mount, and to hold

themselves in readiness to accompany him.

Meanwliile the Chevalier was busily em-

ployed in making the necessary preparations

for his approaching departure. To relieve his

memory from the imputation of having volun-

tarily abandoned the brave men who had taken

up arms in liis cause, it is due to him to state

that he had been all along opposed to such a

step, and it was not until he had been repeat-

edly and earnestly m-ged by his friends that

he could be prevailed upon to give his consent

to retire beyond seas. He said he was ready

to suffer every hardship, and expose himself to

every danger, rather than abandon those who
had risked their all in his service ; but being

assured by his friends, that the course they

advised might be ultimately beneficial to both,

he reluctantly yielded to their entreaties. His

principal motive for acceding to their wishes

was the consideration that, if relieved from

his presence, the government might be dis-

posed to give better terms to his followers than

they would be otherwise disposed to grant.^

Before his departure he ordered a commission

to be drawn up, by which he appointed General

Gordon commander-in-chief, with all necessary

powers, and particularly with authority to treat

^ JIar's Journal.

with the enemy. He WTote, at the same time,

a paper containing his reasons for leaving the

kingdom, and along wth which he delivered

to the general all the money in his possession,

(excepting a small sum which he reserved for

defraying the expenses of himself and suite,)

watli instructions, after paying the army, to

apply the residue in indemnifying the inha-

bitants of the villages^ which had been burned,

for tlie losses sustained by them. At the same

time the Chevalier put the following letter to

the Duke of Ai-gyle, which he dictated to a

secretary, into the hands of General Gordon,

respecting the appropriation of the money so

left. It is an interesting document, and ex-

liibits the humanity of the prince in a favour-

able point of view :

—

" For the Duke of Aegyle.

"Montrose, ith Pchruary, 1716.

" It was the view of delivering this my
ancient kingdom from the hardship it lay

imder, and restoring it to its former happiness

and independency, that brought me into this

country ; and all hopes of effectuating that at

this time being taken from me, I have been

reduced much against my incKnation, but by

a cruel necessity, to leave the kingdom with

as many of my faithful subjects as were desi-

rous to follow me, or I able to carry with me,

that so at least I might secure them fi-om the

utter destruction that threatens them, since

that was the only way left me to show them

the regard I had for, and the sense I had of

their unparalleled loyalty.

" Among the manifold mortifications I have

had in this unfortunate expedition, that of

being forced to bum several villages, &c., as

the only expedient left me for the publick

security, was not the smallest. It was indeed

forced upon me by the violence with wliich

my rebellious subjects acted against me, and

what they, as the first authors of it, must be

answerable for, not I : however, as I cannot

think of leaving this country without making

some provision to repair that loss, I have, there-

fore, consigned to the magistrates of

the sum of , desiring and requiring of

you, if not as an obedient subject, at least as

^ Diuining, Auchterarder, Blackford, Crieff, MuthiL

3o



474 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

a lover of your country, to take care that it be

employed to the designed use, that I may at

least have the satisfaction of having been the

destruction and ruin of none, at a time I came

to free all. Whether you have yet received my
letter, 3 or what effect it hath had upon you, I

am as yet ignorant of ; but what will become

of these unhappy nations is but too plains. I

have neglected nothing to render them a free

and prosperous people ; and I fear they will

find yet more than I the smart of preferring a

foreign yoak to that obedience they owe me

;

and what must those who have so obstinately

resisted both my right and my clemency have

to answer for ? But however tilings turn, or

Providence is pleased to dispose of me, I shall

never abandon my just right, nor the pursuits

of it, but with my life ; and beseech God so to

' It is presumed this is the letter alluded to in a

conversation between Lockhart of Camwath and Cap-

tain Dougall Campbell, who is represented by him as

" a person of great worth and loyalty, and a bosome

friend of Argyle's." "Being with me (says Lock-

hart) at my country house, he (Campbell) asked me if

I heard Argyle blam'd for having received and given

no answer to a letter writt to him by the king whilst

lie was at Perth. I told him I had, but could not

agree with those who censured him, for I had such an

abhorrence of breach of trust, that bad I been the

duke's adviser, it should have been to doe as he diil
;

for tho there was nothing I so much desired as to see

him engaged in the king's cause, I wisht it done in a

way consistent with his honour. Captain Campbell

smiled and told me, he was to acquaint me of a secret

which he must previously have my solemn word I

would communicate to none, which he had given

when it was revealed to him, having however obtained

liberty afterwards to speak of it to me. After giving

him the assurance he demanded, he told me that the

letter was not deliveied to the duke, for in his late

Highland progress, he saw it and another to Lord Isla

in the hands of the person to whose care they were

committed, (but who that person was he would not

tell me), who receiving them unseal'd, did not, after

perusal, think it for the king's service to deliver them,

that to the duke being writt in a style by no means

to be approved of; *and, indeed,' added Campbell,
' when I read them, 1 was entirely of the same mind,

ami could not but think that Mar or some other per-

son, with a view of r.ather widening than healing the

breaches, had prevail'd with the king to write after

that manner.' The lettei to Isla was writt as to a

man of business, insisting on the unhappy state of

Scotland, and that nothing but a dissolution of the

union by the king's restoration, could prevent the

utter ruin of that country. That to the duke did

invite him to return to his loyalty and duty, threaten-

ing him, if he neglected, with revenge and the utter

extirpation of his family, for what he and his prede-

cessors had done in tliis and the last century. I doe

not pretend to narrate the precise words of this letter,

nor did Campbell mention them as .such to me ;
how-

ever, I have narrated what he said was the aim and

purport of the letter."—iociAart Papers, voL ii. pp.

U, 15

turn at last the hearts of my subjects, as that

they may enjoy peace and happiness by submit-

ting to what their interest and duty equally

require of them. As for your own particular,

you might, if you had pleased, joined interest

and greatness in your o^vn person ; but, though

you have refused to do that, I must earnestly

request of you to do at least all in your power

to save your country from utter ruin, and to be

just at least to them, since you are it not to me.

" ^ I thought to write this in my o^vn hand,

but had not time.
" .Tame.s R."

This letter was accompanied by a note of tho

folloNving letter to General Gordon, written in

the Chevalier's own hand :

—

" General Gordon is hereby empowered, as

soon as he has no other further occasion for

the money left in his hands for the subsistence

of the troops, to forward, if he thinks fitt, the

enclosed letter to the duke of Argil, and to fill

up the blanks of my letter with the name of

the to^vn where he shall leave the money, and

the summ he shall leave,

" James R."

It was not until the eve of his departiue,

that James thought of selecting the persons

ho wished to accompany him in his flight, but

the near approach of the enemy, of whose

motions he had just received intelligence, and

the mm-murings and jealousies of his troops

compelling him to hasten his departure, he

was narrowed in his choice, as some of the

friends, whose presence he desired, were at

some distance from IMoutrose. The first indi-

vidual he pitched upon was Mar; but the earl

begged that he might be left beliind with the

army. The Chevalier, however, insisted that

he should go ; and on representing to him that

reasons ahnost equally strong existed for Mar's

departure as for his o\vn, that his friends would

make better terras with tlie government with-

out him than with him, and that Ids services

could be of no use in Scotland under existiug

circumstances, he gave his consent.

* What follows is in the Chevalier's own hand-

writing. Tho original document is in the Fingask

family : of course, it had never been delivered to tho

duke.



DTSrEESTOX OF THE TN'SURGENTS. 475

Matters being adjusted, the Chevalier left

his lodgings privately about nine o'clock on the

evening of the 4th of February, accompanied

only by one of his domestics, and having met

Mar at his lodgings, they both proceeded by a

private way to the beach, where a boat was

lying in readiness to receive them, which car-

ried them on ooard a small French vessel that

lay at a little distance from the shore. Tlie

boat was immediately sent back, and returned

in about a quarter of an hour with the Earl of

Melfort, Lord Drunimond, and the remainder

of the Chevalier's suite. Being favoured with

a fresh breeze from the west-south-west, the

vessel stood directly out to sea, and after a

voyage of five days, arrived in safety at Waldam,

near Gravelines in French Flanders.

The insurgents, under General Gordon,

marched to Aberdeen, which they entered on

the morning of the Gtli of February. Here

ho commmiicated to his men the paper of in-

structions he had received from the Cheva-

lier, which, he informed them, he had been

ordered not to open till their arrival at Aber-

deen. In this ^VTiting the prince complained

of the disappointments he had met with, par-

ticularly fiom abroad, and informed the army

of the necessity ho was under, for his o^vn pre-

servation, to leave the country. He thanked

them for having entered so cheerfully into his

service, and imputed tlie failure of the enter-

prise to the apathy of otliers, who had not

seconded their efforts as they had promised to

do. He advised them to consult their own
safety by keeping together in a body under

General Gordon tiU. he should order them to

disperse, and concluded by encouraging them

to hope for better times. After reading this

document, the General notified to liis men that

their pay would cease after that day.

General Cadogan arrived at Montrose on tlie

afternoon of the 5th of February -svith three

regiments of foot, and 600 of Argyle's High-

landers, and the duke reached Brechin with

the dragoons the same night. The whole

royalist forces continued their march the fol-

lowing day towards Aberdeen, but they could

not overtake the insurgents, who were nearly

two days' march in advance. The latter left

Aberdeen on the 7th, and the Duke of Argyle

entered it the foUomng day at the head of 400

dragoons. The main body of the insurgents,

chiefly foot, marched in the direction of Old

Meldrum, but a party of about 200 horse, ,

among whom were many officers and gentlemen-

volunteers, took the route to Peterhead, where

some vessels were lying to carry them to

France. The Duke of Argyle, without waiting

for the coming up of the rest of his army,

immediately sent 200 dragoons, and a party of

foot under Major-General Evans, to cut off the

retreat of the latter, but he did not overtake

them. Upwards of 100 of the gentlemen

composing tliis party escaped to France.

Meanwhil-e the insurgents continued their

march westwards into Moray, and after march-

ing through Strathspey, retired into Badenoch,

where they quietly dispersed. During their

retreat, however, many, whose houses lay con-

tiguous to their route, gradually -svithdrew

from the ranks, so that before their arrival in

Badenoch a considerable reduction liad taken

place in their numbers. Though closely pur-

sued by Argyle's troops, the insurgents did not

lose 100 men during the whole retreat, so well

and orderly was it conducted by the Jacobite

commander.

After the dispersion of the insiu-gents, about

160 officers and gentlemen-volunteers who had

followed the army into the Highlands, hearing

that two French frigates, destined to receive

on board such of the adherents of the Chevalier

as might be inclined to retire abroad, had

arrived off tho Orkney coast, sallied from the
j

hiUs on horseback, and crossing the low coun-

try of Moray embarked in boats at Burgh-head,

and landed in Caithness. From Caithness

they proceeded to tho Orkney islands, where

they had the good fortune to reach the French

ships, wliich carried them to Gottenburg.

Among this party were Lord Duffus, who,

being a seaman, entered into tho naval service

of the King of Sweden, Sir George Sinclair,

Sir David Threipland of Fingask, and General

Eckline. Most of these refugees entered into

the Swedish army then about to invade Norway.

Thus ended an enterprise badly contrived,

and conducted throughout with Httle judgment

or energy. Yet notwithstanding tlie disad-

vantages under which it was attempted, it

might have succeeded, if the efforts of the

Scottish Jacobites had been seconded by the
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Jacobites of England; but the latter, tbougb

decidedly hostile to the House of Brunswick,

were not inclined to risk their lives and for-

tunes in a doubtful contest, in support of the

pretensions of a prince known to them only

by name, and to whose religion many of them

felt a deep-rooted repugnance.

CHAPTER XXVII.

Trial and execution of the prisoners taken in the re-

bellion—Bills of attainder against the Earl of Mar
and others—Proceedings of General Cadogan in the

Highlands—Trials of the prisoners in Scotland—
Act of grace—Removal of the Chevalier from France

—Duke of Argyle dismissed from office—Conti-

nental alTairs—Confederacy to restore the Chevalier

—Threatened Spanish invasion—Disarming of the

Highlanders—Means taken to prevent further dis-

turbances hy building forts, making roads, &c.

—

Aversion of the Highlanders to tliese innovations

—

The Chevalier appoints trustees to manage liis

atfairs in Scotland—Discovery of a new Jacobite

conspiracy—Habeas-corpus act suspended—Boling-

broke—Meeting of Highland cliiefs at Paris—Tlie

disarming act—Disgrace of the Earl of Mar—His
ambiguous conduct— Atterbury's charges against

him—The Chevalier's ilomestic affairs— Death of

George I.— Views of the Chevalier—Prospects of

the Jacobites.

After the flight and dispersion of the msur-

gents, the Duke of Argyle returned to Edin-

burgh about the end of February, where he

was magnificently entertained by the magis-

trates of the city, whence he set off for London

on the 1st of March. He had left instructions

with General Cadogan to keep up a communi-

cation with the Wliig leaders in the north, and

to distribute the troops in quarters contiguous

to the adjoinmg Higlilands, that they might

be the more readily assembled to repress any

fresh insmTection which might break out. To

keep some of the disaffected districts in check,

parties of Higlilanders were placed by Lord

Lovat and Brigadier Grant, in Brahan castle,

and in Erchles aud Borlum ; the former the

seat of the Chisholm, the latter that of Briga-

dier ^Mackintosh.

The fate of the prisoners taken at Preston

remains now to be told The first who were

tried were Lord Charles Murray, Captain Dal-

ziel, brother to the earl of Carnwath, Major

Nairne, Captain Pliilip Lockhart, brother to

Lockhart of Carnwath, Captain Shaftoe, and

Ensign Nairne. These six were tried before a

court-martial at Preston, and all, with the

exception of Captain Dalziel, having been

proved to have been officers in the service of

government, were condemned to be shot. Lord

Charles Murray received a pardon thi'ough the

interest of his friends. The remainder suffered

on the 2d of December.

The EngHsh parliament met on the 9th of

January, 1716. The commons agreed, on the

motion of Mr. Lechmere, to impeach Lords

Derwentwater, Nithsdale, Wintoun, Carnwath,

and Kenmure, of high treason. The articles

of impeachment were carried up to the lords

the same night, and on the next day these

peers were brought to the bar of the house of

lords to hear the articles of impeacluuent read.

They were brought back from the Tower on

the 19th, when they all pled guilty to the

charge of high treason, except the Earl of

Wintoun, who petitioned for a longer time to

give in his answers. The rest received sen-

tence of death on the 9th of February, in

Westminster-hall The Countess of Nithsdale

and Lady Nairne surprised the king as he was

passing tlirough his apartments at St. James's,

and throwing themselves at his feet implored

his mercy in behalf of their husbands ; but he

turned away from them with contemptuous

indifference. The Countess of Derwentwater

was equally unsuccessful, though introduced

by the Dukes of Richmond and St. Albans

into the king's bed-chamber, and accompanied

by the Duchesses of Cleveland and Bolton.

This refusal on the part of the king raised

up a number of advocates in both houses of

parhament, in behalf of the unfortimate noble-

men. Availing themselves of this feeling, thfi

ladies of the condemned lords, accompanied

by about twenty others of equal rank, waited

in the lobby of the house of peers, and at the

door of the house of commons, and solicited

the intercession of both houses. Next day

they petitioned the houses. The commons

rejected the application, and to get quit of

further importunity adjourned for six or seven

days, by a small majority ; but the result was

different in the house of lords. Petitions,

craving the intercession of that house, were
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presented from the condemned peers, wliicli

being read, after considerable opposition, a

motion was made to address his majesty to

grant them a reprieve. This occasioned a

warm debate ; bat before the vote was taken,

an amendment was proposed to the elfect, that

his majesty should reprieve such of the peers

as should seem to deserve his mercy. It was

contended by the supporters of the original

address, that the effect of this amendment

would be to destroy the nature of the address,

as from the nature of the sentence which had

been passed, none of the condemned peers

could deserve mercy ; but the amendment was

Bubstituted, and on the vote being taken,

whether the address should be presented, it

was carried present, by a majority of five votes.

It is said that on one of the peers afterwards

observing to the mover of the amendment,

that it looked as if its object was to defeat the

vote, and make it of no use to the persons for

whose benefit it was intended, the proposer

observed, that such was liis intention in mov-

ing it.
5

The king was evidently chagrined at the

conduct of the house, and when the address

was presented, he informed the deputation, that

on this as on all other occasions, he would do

what he thought most consistent with the

dignity of the crown, and the safety of his

people. The Earl of Nottingham, president

of the council, who had supported the petitions

of the condemned lords, together with Lord

Aylesford, his brother. Chancellor of the Duchy

of Lancaster, Lord Finch, his son, one of the

lords of the treasury, and Lord Guernsey,

master of the ^ewel office, were all removed

from office ; and to show the determination of

the king, order? were issued on the same day

the address was delivered, for executing the

Earls of Derwentwater and Nithsdale, and Vis-

count Kenmure the follo^v•iIlg day. The other

three peers were reprieved to the 7th of March.

The Earl of Nithsdale, by the assistance of his

heroic wife, made his escape the night before

the execution, dressed in female attire. When
the king heard of his escape next morning, ho

observed, that " it was the best thing a man
^ his condition could have done."®

' Annals of the 2d year of Georgcl., p. 24S.
• State Trials, vol. xv.

On the morning of the 24th of February the

Earl of Derwentwater and Viscount Kenmure
were beheaded on Tower-hill. On ascending

the scaffold, Derwentwater knelt down, and

ha\'ing spent some time in prayer, he got up,

and drawing a paper out of his pocket, read

a short address. He hoped for forgivenes.s

through the passion and death of his Saviour

;

apologised to those who might have been

scandalized at his pleading guilty at his trial,

excusing himself for doing so on the ground

that he was made to believe that it was only

a consequence of having submitted to mercy,

acknowledged as his only right and lawful

sovereign. King James III., and earnestly

hoped for his speedy restoration ; and died, as

he had lived, a Roman Catholic. He displayed

the utmost coolness and perfect self-possession.

As soon as the remains of the Earl of

Derwentwater were removed, Viscount Ken-

mure was brought up to the scaffold. Like

Derwentwater, he expi'essed his regret for

pleading guilty to the charge of high treason,

and prayed for " King James." After praying

a short time with uplifted hands, he advanced

to the fatal block, and laying down his head,

the executioner struck it off at two blows.

The Earl of Wintoun, on various frivolous

pretences, got his trial postponed tiU the 15th

of March, when he was brought finally up, and,

after a trial which occupied two days, was

found guilty, and received sentence of death

;

but his lordship afterwards made his escape

from the Tower and fled to France.

On the 7 th of April a commission for trying

the other rebels met in the court of Common
Pleas, Westminster, when bills of high treason

were found against Mr. Forster, Brigadier Mack-

intosh, Colonel Oxburgh, Mr. Menzies of Cul-

dares, and seven of their associates, and on the

10th bnis were found against eleven more.

Forster escaped from Newgate, and so well

had his friends concerted matters, that he

reached Calais in less than 24 hours. The

trials of Brigadier Mackintosh and others were

fixed for the 4th of May, but about eleven

o'clock the preceding night, the brigadier and

fifteen other prisoners broke out of Newgate,

after knocking down the keepers and disarming

the sentinels. Eight were retaken, but Mack-

intosh and seven others escaped. The trials
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of the prisoners who remained proceeded: many

of them were found guilty ; and five, among

whom were Colonel Oxburgh and Mr. Paul, a

non-jurant clergyman of tlie Church of England,

were executed at Tybuin. Twenty-two prison-

ers were executed in Lancasliire. The re-

mainder of the prisoners taken at Preston,

amounting to —wards of 700, submitted to

the king's mercy, and having prayed for trans-

portation, were pold as slaves to some West

India merchants ; a cruel proceeding, when it

is considered that the greater part of these men

were Highlanders, who had joined in the insur-

rection in obedience to the commands of their

chiefs.''

The severities exercised by the government,

and the courage and fortitude displayed by the

imfortunate sufferers, wrought an extraordinary

change in the dispositions of the people, who

began to manifest great dissatisfaction at pro-

ceedings so revolting to humanity. Though

the rebellion was extinguished, the spirit which

had animated it fjtill remained, being increased

rather than diminished by the proceedings of

the government ; and the Tories longed for an

opportunity of availing themselves of the uni-

versal dissatisfaction to secure a majority

favourable to tl eir views at the next general

election. The Wliigs, afraid of the residt of

an early election as destructive to themselves

as a party and to the liberties of the countrj',

had recourse to a bold measure, which nothing

but the most urgent necessity could justify.

This was no other than a plan to repeal the

triennial act, and to prolong the duration of

parliament. It is said that at first they in-

tended to suspend the triennial act for one

election only, but thinking that a temporary

measure would appear a greater violation of

constitutional law than a permanent one, they

resolved to extend the diu'ation of parhament

to seven years. A bill was accordingly brought

into the house of lords on the 10th of April

by the Duke of Devonshire, which, notwith-

' " It is painful tn see on the lists, the many Hiijjh-

land names followed with the word 'labourer,' indi-

cating that they belonged to the humblest class. Too
implicit obedience had been the weakness, instead of

rebellion being the crime, of thrse men : and in many
instances they had been forced into the service for

which they were punished, as absolutely as the French

conscript or the British pressed seaman."—Burton's

ScbHand (1689-17)7), vol. ii. p 211.

standing much opposition, passed both houses,

receiving the royal assent on the 7th of May.

On the same day an act of attainder against

the Earls Marischal, Seaforth, Southesk, Pan-

mure, and others, also received his majesty's

sanction. An act of attainder against the Earl

of Mar, the Marquis of Tullibardine, the Earl

of Linlithgow, Lord Drummond, and other

leaders of the insurrection, had received iha

royal assent on the 17 th of Febraary preceding.

Besides these bUls, three others were passed,

one attainting Mr. Forster and Brigadier Mack-

intosh ; another for more effectually securing

the peace of the Highlands ; a third appointing

commissioners to inquire into the estates of

those persons who had been attainted or con-

victed.

While the parliament was thus engaged in

devising measures for maintaining the pubhc.

tranquUlity, General Cadogan was employed in

dispersing some hostile bands of the clans

which still continued to assemble ^vith their

chiefs in the remoter parts of the Higlilands.

Hearing that the Earl of Seaforth had retired

into the island of Le^vis, where he had col-

lected a considerable body of his men tmder

the command of Brigadier Campbell of Ormim-

del, an officer who had just arrived from Mus-

covy, where he had served in the army of the

Czar, he sent a detachment into the islana

under the command of Colonel Cholmondeiy

to reduce it. The earl, on the appearance ol

this force, crossed into Ross-shire, whence he

escaped to France ; and Campbell being aban

doned by his men after he had formed them ui

order of battle, was taken prisoner while stand-

ing in a charging posture. Another detach-

ment under Colonel Clayton, was sent into the

isle of Skye, where Sir Donald Macdonald was

at the head of about 1,000 men; but the chief

made no resistance, and having no assiuance

of protection from the government in case of a

surrender, retired into one of the Uists, where

he remained till he obtained a ship which

carried him to France. About this time three

ships arrived among the western islands from

France with military supplies for the use ol'

the insurgents, but they came too late to be of

any service. Two of them, after taking 70

gentlemen on board, immediately returned to

France, and the third, which carried fifty chesw
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of small arms, and one hundred and fifty barrels

of gunpowder, and other military stores, was

captured while at anchor near Uist by an Eng-

lish ship of war.

In consequence of instnictions from govern-

ment, Genend Cadogau issued an order, which

was intimated at the diOFerent parish churches

in the north, requiring the rebels to surrender

themselves and to deliver up their arms, assur-

ing them, that such as complied should have

liberty granted to return home in safetj^, but

threatenmg to punish rigorously those who

refused to comply. This order was generally

obeyed by the common people in the Lowlands,

who had been engaged in the insurrection ; but

few of the Highlanders seemed to regard it.

To enforce compliance, Cadogan despatched dif-

ferent detachments through the Higlilands, and

took up his quarters at Blair Athole, where he

could more easily communicate OTth the disaf-

fected districts. He next removed to Euthven

in Badenoch, and afterwards proceeded to Inver-

ness, where he received Glengary's submission.

Lochiel, Keppoch, and Clanianald, had re-

solved to oppose by force the dohvery of their

arms; but on hearing that Clayton, who had

returned from Skye, had resolved to march

from FortwiUiam to Lochiel's house to disarm

the Gamerons, these chiefs retired, and their

men delivered up their arms without resist-

ance. Having succeeded in disarming the

Highlands, the general left Inverness on the

27th of AprU, leaving General Sabine in

command, and proceeded to London. The

rebellion being now considered completely

extinguished, the Dutch auxiliaries were with-

drawn from Scotland, and in a short time

thereafter were embarked for Holland.

To try the prisoners confined in the castles

of Edinburgh, Stirling, Blackness, and other

places in Scotland, a commission of Oyer and

Terminer was appointed to sit at Carlisle in

December, 1716. There were nearly seventy

arraigned. Of twenty-nine who were brought

to trial, twenty-five pled guQty. Brigadier

Campbell of Ormundel, TuUoch of Tannachie,

Stewart of Foss, and Stewart of Glenbuckie,

entered a plea of not guilty. The two last

having satisfied the solicitor-general of their

innocence, he allowed a writ of noli prosequi

to be entered in their behalf, and Campbell

ha\'ing escaped from the castle of Carlisle,

Tulloch alone stood his trial, but he was ac-

quitted. Sentence of death was passed upon

the twenty-five who had admitted their gudt,

and tliirty-six were discharged for want of

e\'idence ; but the sentence of death was never

put into execution. It was wise in the gov-

ernment to pacify the national disaffection \yj

showing mercy.

Following up the same humane view, an act

of grace was passed in 1717 by the king and

both houses of parliament, granting a free and

general pardon to all persons who had com-

mitted any treasonable offences, before the 6th

of May of that year, with the exception of

those who, having committed such offences,

had gone beyond the seas, and who, before

the said day, had returned into Great Britain

or Ireland without his majesty's license, or

who should on or after the said day return

into either of the kingdoms without such

license. All persons of the name and clan of

Macgregor were also excepted, as well as all

such persons as shoiild, on the 5th of May,

1717, remain attainted for high treason. But

all such persons so attainted, unless specially

named, and who had not escaped out of prison,

were freely pardoned and discharged. Under

this act the Earl of Cainwath, and Lords

Widdrington and Naime, were delivered from

the Tower: seventeen persons confined in

Newgate, the prisoners still remaining in the

castles of Lancaster and Carlisle, and those in

the castles of Edinburgh and Stirling, and

other places in Scotland, includmg Lords

StrathaUan and EoUo, were likewise released.

Wbile the Chevalier was preparing to em-

bark for Scotland, the Earl of Stair, (the am-

bassador at the court of France,) had used

every effort to prevent him. Duclos and otliers

say that Stair not only applied to the Duke of

Orleans, the regent, to have the Chevalier

arrested, but that finding the regent insincere

in liis promises of compliance, he sent persi'us

to assassinate the Chevalier on the road when

crossing France to embark for Scotland. Tliat

Stair made such an application, and that he

employed spies to watch the progress of the

prince, are circumstances highly probable; but

both Marshal Berwick and the Earl of Mar

discredited the last part of the story, as they
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considered Stair incapable of ordering an action

80 atrocious as the assassination of the prince.'

On the return of the Chevaher, Stair, afraid

that he and his partisans in France woiild

intrigue with the court, presented a memorial

to the regent in name of his Britannic majesty,

in which, after notifjing the flight of the

Chevaher, and the dispersion of his forces, he

requested the regent to compel the prince to

quit France. He next insisted that such of

the rebels as had retired to France should be

ordered forthwith to depart from that country.

The removal of the Jacobite exiles from the

French court was all that the earl could at that

time obtain from the regent. By an agreement,

however, which was shortly thereafter entered

into between France and England, mutually

guaranteeing the succession to the crown of

France, and the Hanover succession according

to the provisions of the treaty of Utrecht, it

was stipulated that the Pretender should be

sent beyond the Alps, and should never be

allowed to return again to France or Lorraine

on any pretence whatever, and that none of

the rebellious subjects of Great Britain should

be allowed to reside in France.

After the suppression of the insurrection,

the leading supporters of government in Soot-

land repaired to London to congratulate George

1. on the success of his arms, and to obtain

the rewards they expected. The Duke of

Argj'le, to whose exertions chiefly the king

was indebted for his peaceable accession to the

throne, and the extinction of the rebellion, was

already so overloaded with favours that he

could scarcely expect any addition to be made

to them, and would probably have been con-

tented with those he had obtained. The
" squadron" party, however, which had been

long endeavouring to ruin him, now made
every exertion to get him disgraced; and being

assisted by the Marlborough faction, and a

party which espoused the interests of Cadogan,

they succeeded with the king, who dismissed

the duke and his brother, the Earl of Islay,

from all their employments, which were con-

ferred on others. General Carpenter, to whom
the success at Preston was entirely ascribed,

succeeded Argyle in the chief command of the

^ Mem. de Berwick, tome ii.

forces in North Britain; and the Duke of

Montrose was appointed Lord-Eegister of Scot-

land in the room of the Earl of Islay.

The aspect of affairs in the north of Europe

requiring the king's presence in his German

dominions, an act was passed repealing the

clause in the act for the further limitation of

the crown, which restricted the sovereign from

leaving liis British dominions. He closed the

session on the 26th of June, and embarked at

Gravesend on the 7th of July for Holland,

where he arrived on the 9th. He proceeded

to Loo incognito, and thence set out for Pyr-

mont.

For reasons which need not be stated here,

Alberoni, the Spanish prime minister, was

eager that Great Britain should enter upon an

alliance with his country, and in his appeal to

George I. he was backed by the English minis-

ter at Madrid. George thus foimd himself

placed in a singular but fortunate situation.

Equally courted by France and Spain, he had

only to choose between them, and to form that

connexion which might be most conducive to

uphold the Protestant succession and to main-

tain the peace of Europe, vdth which the

internal peace of Great Britain and tlie safety

of the reigning family were intimately con-

nected. The alliance ^vith France being con-

sidered as more likely to secure these advan-

tages than a connexion with Spain, the English

minister at Madrid was instructed by the

cabinet at home to decline the offers of Spain.

" His majesty," said secretary Stanhope, in his

letter to the minister, "is perfectly disposed

to enter into a new treaty with the Catholic

king, to renew and confirm the past ; but the

actual situation of affairs does not permit him

to form other engagements, wliich, far from

contributing to preserve the neutrality of Italy,

would give rise to jealousies tending to dis-

tm-b it.
9

Tliis was followed by the agreement with

France, to which allusion has been made, and

in January, 1717, a triple alliance was entered

into between England, France, and Holland,

by which the contracting parties mutually

guaranteed to one another the possession of all

places respectively held by them. The treaty

' Jlr. Stanhops to Jlr. Doddiiigton, March 13th,
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also contained a guaranty of the Protestant

succession on the throne of England, as well

as that of the Duke of Orleans to the crown of

France.

Baffled in all liis attempts to draw England

into an alliance against the Emperor of Aus-

tria, Alheroni looked to the north, where he

hoped to find allies in the persons of the King

of Sweden and the Czar of Muscovy. Both

Peter the Great and Charles XII. were higlily

incensed against the Elector of Hanover, the

former for resisting the attempts of Russia to

obtain a footing in the empire, the latter for

having joined the confederacy formed against

him during his captivity, and for having

accepted from the King of Denmark the

duchies of Bremen and Verden, Swedish pos-

sessions, which had been conquered by Den-

mark during the absence of Charles. Charles,

to revenge himself, formed the design of restor-

ing the Stuarts, and by Ms instructions, Goertz,

his minister in England, began to cabal with

the English Jacobites, to whom, in name of

Lis master, he promised to grant assistance

in any efforts they might make to rid them-

selves of the elector. It was wliispered among

the Scottish Jacobites, that " the king," as

they termed the Chevalier, had some hopes of

prevailing on Charles to espouse his cause, but

the first notice on which they could place any

reliance was a letter from the Earl of Mar to

one Captain Straiton, which he directed to be

communicated to the Bishop of Edinburgh,

Lord Bahnerino, and Mr. Lockhart of Carn-

wath, and in which he suggested, that as there

was a great scarcity in Sweden, the friends of

the Chevalier should purchase and send 5,000

or 6,000 bolls of meal to that country. Their

poverty, however, and the impracticability of

collecting and sending such a large quantity of

food out of the kingdom, without exciting the

suspicions of the government, prevented the

plan from being carried into execution. >

Shortly thereafter, Straiton received another

letter from Mar, in wliich, after stating that

there was a design to attempt the restoration of

the prince by the aid of a certain foreign sover-

eign, and that it would look strange if his

friends at home did not put themselves in a

^ Lsckhart Papers^ vol. ii. p. 7.

condition to assist him, he suggested, that as

the want of money had been hitherto a great

impediment in the way of the Chevalier's sue

cess, the persons to whom tliis and his first

letter were to be communicated, should per-

suade their friends to have in readiness such

money as they could procure, to be employed

when the proper opportunity offered. Mr.

Lockiiart, who received a letter from the Che-

valier at the same time, undertook the task of

acquainting the Chevalier's friends in Scotland

with Mar's wish, and obtained assurances from

several persons of rank that they would attend

to the prince's request. Lord Eglinton in par-

ticular made an offer of 3,000 guineas.

The intrigues of Goertz, the Swedish minis-

ter, being discovered by the government, he

was arrested and his papers seized at the desire

of King George. This extraordinary proceed-

ing, against which the foreign ministers resident

at the British court remonstrated, roused the

indignation of Charles to the highest pitch,

and being now more determined than ever to

carry his project into effect, he, at the instigar

tion of Alberoni, reconciled himself to the

Czar, who, in resentment of an offer made by

King George to Charles to join against Russia,

if the latter would ratify the cession of Bremen

and Verden, agreed to unite his forces with

those of Sweden and Spain for placing the

Pretender on the throne of England. To

strengthen the interest of the Chevalier in the

north, Alberoni sent the Duke of Ormond into

Russia to negotiate a marriage between the son

of the Chevalier, and Anne the daughter of

Peter, but this project did not take effect.

The Chevalier himself, in the meantime, con-

tracted a marriage with the Princess Clemen-

tina Sobieski, but she was arrested at Inspruck

by order of the imperial government, when on

her journey to meet her betrothed husband,

and sent to a convent.

King George returned to England towards

the end of January, 1717. The parliament

met on the 20th of February, when he in-

formed them of the projected invasion, and

mentioned that he had given orders for laying

copies of papers connected therewith before

them. From these documents it appeared,

that the plan of invasion was ripe for execu-

tion, but that it ^^as not intended to attempt

3 r
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it tin the Dutch auxiliaries slioulJ he sent

back to Holland.

In consequence of the conduct of his Swedisii

majesty, parliament passed a hUl prohihiting

all intercourse ivith Sweden, and a fleet was

despatched to the Baltic under the command

of Sir George Bjiig, to observe the motions of

the Swedes; but the death of Charles XII.

dissolved tlie confederacy between Sweden and

Russia.

War was declared against Spain in Decem-

ber 1718; but a respectable minority in par-

liament, and the nation at large, were opposed

to it, as hurtful to the commercial interests of

Great Britain. France also followed the same

course.

The war with Spain revived the hopes of

the Jacobites, and the Duke of Ormond re-

paired to Madrid, where he held conferences

with Alberoni, and concerted an invasion of

Great Britain. The Dutch, alarmed at Or-

mond's appearance at Madrid, remonstrated

with Alberoni, as they had guaranteed the

Protestant succession, which might be endan-

gered if an insurrection in favour of the

Chevalier de St. George was encouraged by

Spain; but the cardinal assured them that the

duke had no other design in coming into

Spain but to consult his personal safety.

Meanwhile, under the pretence of sending

reinforcements into Sicily, preparations were

made at Cadiz and in the ports of Galicia for

the projected invasion, and the Chevaher him-

seK proceeded to Madi-id, where he was cor-

dially received and treated as King of Great

Britain. On the 10th of March, 1719, a fleet,

consisting of ten men-of-war and twenty-one

transports, having on board 5,000 men, a great

quantity of ammunition, and 30,000 muskets,

sailed from Cadiz, with instructions to join the

rest of the expedition at Corunna, and to make
a descent at once upon England and Ireland,

riie Duke of Ormond was appointed com-

mander of the fleet, with the title of Captain-

general of his most Catholic Majesty; and he

was provided with declarations in the name of

the king, stating, that for many good reasons

he had sent forces into England and Scotland

to act as auxiliaries to King James.

To defeat this attempt the allied cabinets

adopted the necessary measures. His Britannic

majesty having communicated to both houses i

of parliament the advices he had received

respecting the projected invasion, they gave J

him every assurance of support, and requested

him to augment his forces by sea and land.

He oflered a reward of il0,000 to any one

who should apprehend the Duke of Ormond. .

Troops were ordered to assemble in the north

and west of England, and a strong squadron,

under Admiral Norris, was equipped and sent ,

out to sea to meet the Spanish fleet. The '

Dutch furnished 2,000 men, and six battaUons
.

of Imperialists were sent from the Austrian
|

Netherlands ; and the Duke of Orleans ordered
'i

ships to be prepared at Brest to join the
'

EngUsh fleet, and made an oifer of twenty bat- >

talions for the service of King George.

The expedition under Ormond, with the ex-
[

ception of two frigates, never reached its des-
i

tination, having been dispersed and disabled, 1

off' Cape Finisterre, by a violent storm which
;

lasted twelve days. These two ships reached I

the coast of Scotland, having on board the
|

Earls Marischal and Seaforth, the Marquis of
j

Tullibardine, some field officers, 300 Spaniards,
j

and arms for 2,000 men. The expedition en-

tered Loch Alsh about the middle of May, and I

the small force landed in the western High- ;

lands, when it was joined by some Highlanders,
i

chiefly Seaforth's men. The other Jacobite

clans, with the disappomtmeut they formerly

experienced fi'om France still fresh in their

recollection, resolved not to move till the whole

forces under Ormond should arrive. A differ-

ence arose between the Earl !Marischal and the

Marquis of TiiUibardine about the command, !

but this dispute was put an end to by the ad- i

vanee of General Wightman from Inverness,

with a body of regular troops. The High-

'

landers and their allies had taken possession

of the pass at Glenshiel; but on the approach

of the government forces they retired to the

pass at Strachell, which they resolved to de- <

fend. General Wightman attacked and drove '

them, after a smart action of three hours' dura-

1

tion, and after sustaining some loss, from one
|

eminence to another, when night put an end
|

to the combat. The Highlanders seeing no '

chance of making a successful resistance, dis-

persed, during the night, among the mountains,

.

and the Spaniards, on the following day, surren
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dered themselves prisoners of war. Marischal,

Seaforth, and TuUibardine, with the other

officers, retired to the Western Isles, and man-

aged to escape to the continent. ^

After government had succeeded in putting

an end to the rebellion, it felt the necessity of

doing sometlung, not only to allay the con-

sequent disorders in the Highlands, but also

to render the Highlanders less capable in

future of entering into rebellion, and make

them more accessible to the strong arm of the

kw. The estates of most of the chiefs and

proprietors who had been engaged were for-

feited, although practically in some cases it

was found difficult to carry the forfeiture into

effect; as in the case of the Earl of Seaforth,

one of whose retainers seized the office of re-

ceiver, and transmitted the rents to the exiled

eorL

Lord Lovat, who, on account of his loyal con-

duct, had risen high in tlie royal favom-, drew

np, in 1724, a memorial to George I. con-

cerning the state of the Highlands, charac-

terised by great insight into the source of the

existing evils, and recommending to govern-

ment the adoption of measures calculated to

remedy these.

From this memorial we learn that King

William, possibly in accordance with the re-

, commendation of Breadalbane, formerly referred

to, had organized a few independent Highland

companies, which appear to have been of some

service in repressing the disorders so prevalent

in the north.^ " The independent companies,

raised by King WUliani not long after tlie

revolution, reduced the Higlilanders to better

order than at any time they had been in since

the restoration. They were composed of the

natives of the country, inured to the fatigue of

,
travelling the mountains, l}'ing on the hill s,

wore the same habit, and spoke the same

language; but for want of being put under

proper regulations, corruptions were introduced,

. and some, who commanded them, instead of

bringing criminals to justice, (as I am in-

formed) often compounded for the theft, and,

for a sum of money set them at liberty. They
are said also to have defrauded the government

' Lockhart, vol. ii. p. 19.
- See for the informatinn in these paragraphs the

appendices to Jamieson's edition of Burt's Letters.

by keeping not above half their numbers iu

constant pay, which (as I humbly conceive)

might be tlie reason your majesty caused them

to be disbanded."

These companies being broken up in 1717,

according to Lovat and Wade, robberies went

on " without any manner of fear or restraint,

and have ever since continued to infest tlie

country in a public and open manner."'

Wade entered upon his investigation in

1724, and his report shows he was competent

to undertake such a task. He computed that

of the 22,000 Highlandmen able to bear

arms, 10,000 were "vassals to superiors," well

affected to government, and the remainder had

been engaged in rebeUions, and were ready,

when called upon by their cliiefs, " to create

new troubles." One of the greatest grievances

was the robberies referred to by Lovat, accom-

panied with the levying of black mail. Ac-

cording to the general, " the clans, in the

Highlands, the most addicted to rapine and

plunder, are the Camerons, on the west of the

shire of Inverness ; the Mackenzies and others,

in the shire of Eoss, who were vassals to the

late Earl of Seaforth; the !M'DonaIds of Kcp-

poch ; the Broadalbin men and the M'GregoTs,

on the borders of Argileshire. They go out in

parties from ten to thirty men, traverse large

tracks of mountains, till they arrive at the low

lands, where they design to commit their de-

predations, which they choose to do in places

tlistant from the glens which they inhabit.

They drive the stolen cattle in the night time,

and in the day remain on the tops of the

mountains or in the woods, (with which the

Highlands abound), and take the first occasion

to sell them at tlie fairs or markets that are

annually held in many parts of the country.

" Those who are robbed of their cattle (or

persons employed by them), follow them by

the tract, and often recover them from the

robbers, by compotmding for a certain sum of

money agreed on; but if the pursuers are in

numbers superioui to the thieves, and happen

to seize any of them, they are seldom or never

prosecuted, the poorer sort being unable to

support the charges of a prosecution. They

* Burt's Letters, vol. ii. pp. 277, 278.

* Lovat himself commanded one of these companiea,

and appears to have felt pretty sore at the loss of it.
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are likewise under the apprehension of becom-

ing the object of their revenge, by haying their

houses and stacks burnt, their cattle stolen, or

hocked, and their lives at the mercy of the

tribe or clan to whom tlie banditti belongs.

The richer sort, to keep, as they call it, good

neighbourhood, generally compound with the

chieftain of the tribe or clan for double resti-

tution, which he willingly pays to save one of

his clan from prosecution; and this is repaid

him by a contribution from the thieves of his

clan, who never refuse the payment of tlieir

proportion to save one of their o^m fraternity.

This composition is seldom paid in money, but

in cattle stolen from the opposite side of the

country, to make reparation to the person

injured."^

To remedy these evils, an act for the disarm-

ing of the Highlanders was passed in the year

1716, but it was so badly put into force that

the most disaffected clans remained better

armed than ever. By the act, the collectors

of taxes were empowered to pay for the arms

delivered up; but none were given in except

such as were broken and unlit for use, which

were valued at a price far beyond what they

were worth. Not only so, but a brisk trade

appears to have been carried on with Holland

and other countries in broken and useless

arms, which were imported and delivered up

to the commissioners at exorbitant prices.

Wade also found in the possession of the

Highlanders a great number of arms which

they had obtained from the Spaniards engaged

in the affair at Glen Shiel. Altogether he

computed that the Highlanders hostile to his

majesty were in possession of about five or six

thousand arms of various kinds. Wade further

reports that to keep the HigHanders in awe,

" four barracks had been built in different parts

of the Highlands, and parties of regidar troops,

imder the command of Highland officers, with

a company of 30, established to conduct them

through the mountains, was thought an effectual

scheme, as well to prevent the rising of the

Highlanders disaffected to your majesty's gov-

ernment, as to hinder depredations on your

faithful subjects. It is to be wished that,

durmg the reign of your majesty and your suc-

' Burt's Letters, vol. ii. pp. 273, 274.

cessors, no insurrection may ever happen tc

experience whether the barracks "svill effectuaUv

answer the end proposed; yet I am humbly of

opinion, that if the nimiber of troops they are

built to contain were constantly quartered i,^

them (whereas there is now in some but 30

men, and proper provisions laid in for their

support during the winter season), they might

be of some use to prevent the insurrectiona of

the Highlanders, though, as I humbly conceive

(having seen them all), that two of the four

are not built in as proper situations as they

might have been. As to the Highland parties,

I have abeady presumed to represent to your

majesty the little use they were of in hindering

depredations, and the great suflertngs of the

soldiers employed in that service, upon which

your majesty was graciously pleased to counter-

mand them.

" I must farther beg leave to report to your

majesty, that another great cause of disorders

in the Highlands is the want of proper persons

to execute the several offices of civil magis-

trates, especially in the shires of Inverness,

Eoss, and some other parts of the Highlands.

" The party quarrels and violent animosities

among the gentlemen equally well affected to

your majesty's government, I humbly conceive

to be one great cause of this defect. Those

here in arms for your majest}', who raised a

spirit in the shire of Inverness, and recovered

the town of that name from the rebels (their

main body being then at Perth), complain that

the persons employed as magistrates over them

have little interest in the country, and that

three of the deputy sheriffs in those parts were

persons actually in arms against yoiir majesty

at the time of the rebellion, which (as I am

credibly informed) is true. Tliey likeivise

complain that many are left out of the com-

missions of lord lieutenants, deputy lieutenants,

sheriffs, &c., and I take the liberty to observe,

that the want of acting justices of the peace is

a great encouragement to the disorders so fre-

quently committed in that part of the country,

there being but one now residing as an acting

justice for the space of above an hundred miles

in compass."^

He also complained that the regular troopa

' Mem, pp. 278, 279.
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laboiired under great disadvantages in eudea-

vouring to penetrate in tlie Highland fastnesses

from the want of roads and bridges.

As a remedy for these evils he proposed

"that companies of sucli Highlanders as are

well affected to his majesty's government he

estahUshed under proper regulations, and com-

manded by officers speaking the language of

the country, subject to martial law, and under

the inspection and orders of the governors of

Fort-WLUiam, Inverness, and the officer com-

manding his majesty's forces in those parts;"'

that a redoubt or barrack be erected at Inver-

ness, and an addition be made to the one already

established at Killyhuimen (Fort Augustus),

at the south end of Loch Ness, and that a

small vessel, with oars and sails, be built or

the loch, capable of holding from sixty to eight}

soldiers, which would be a means of keeping

up communication between Inverness and Fort

Augustus, and of sending parties to the county

bordering on the lake. Further, that the

Fort Augustus.

different garrisons and castles in North Britain,

especially the castle of Edinburgh, be put in

such condition as to guard against surpri.se,

and that a regiment of dragoons be quartered

in the district between Perth and Inverness.

As to the civil government of the country.

Wade recommended that proper persons be

nominated for sheriffs and deputy sheriffs in

the Highland counties, and that justices of the

peace and constables, with small salaries, be

estabhshed in proper places, and that quarter

sessions be regularly held at Killyhuimen,

Ruthven in Badenoch, Fort WiUiam, and if

necessary, at Bernera, near the coast of the Isle

of Skye.

By an act passed in 1725, Wade was em-

powered to proceed to the Highlands and

summon the clans to deliver up their arms, and

to carry most of his other recommendations

into effect. After quelling the malt-tax riots

in Glasgow and Edinburgh, Wade set out for

the Highlands, and arrived in Inverness on the

10th of August 1725, and immediately pro-

ceeded to business. As his report contains

much interesting and valuable information on

' "The companies were six in number: three distin-

guished by tlie name of large companies, consisted of

100 men each ; and three smaller companies, of 70 men
each. The former were commanded by captains, and
the latter by captain-lieutenants, each commanding
officer being, as the name implies, independent of tha
others. To each company, gi'eat and small, was
attached the same number of subalterns, viz. two lieu*

I tenants and one ensign."
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the state of tlie Highlands at this time, v;e

shall give here a large extract from it.

"The laird of the M'Kenzies, and other

chiefs of the clans and tribes, tenants to the

late Earl of Seaforth, came to me in a body, to

the number of about fifty, and assured me that

both they and their followers were ready to

pay a dutiful obedience to your majesty's com-

mands, by a peaceable surrender of their arms;

that if your majesty would be graciously

pleased to procure them an indemnity for the

rents that had been misapplied for the time

past, they would for the future become faithful

subjects to your majesty, and pay them to your

majesty's receiver for the use of the public. I

assured them of your majesty's gracious inten-

tions towards them, and that they might rely

on your majesty's bounty and clemency, pro-

vided they would merit it by their future good

conduct and peaceable behaviour ; that I had

your majesty's commands to send the first

summons to the country they inhabited ; which

would soon give them an opportunity of show-

ing the sincerity of their promises, and of

having the merit to set example to the rest of

the Highlands, who in their turns were to be

summoned to deliver up their arms, pursuant

to the disarming act ; that they might choose

the place they themselves thought most con-

venient to surrender their arms ; and that I

would answer, that neither their persons nor

their property should be molested by your

majesty's troops.—They desired they might be

permitted to deliver up their arms at the castle

of Brahan, the principal seat of their late

superior, who, they said, had promoted and

encouraged them to this their submission ; but

begged that none of the Higliland companies

might be present ; for, as they had always been

reputed the bravest, as well as the most numer-

ous of the northern clans, they thought it more

consistent with their honour to resign their

arms to your majesty's veteran troops ;—to

which I readily consented.

" Summonses were accordingly sent to the

several clans and tribes, the inhabitants of 1

8

parishes, who were vassals or tenants of the

late Earl of Seaforth, to bring or send in all

their arms and warlike weapons to the castle

of Brahan, on or before the 28th of August.

" On the 25th of August I went to the castle

of Brahan, with a detachment of 200 of the

regular troops, and was met there by the chiefs

of the several clans and tribes, who assured

me they had used their utmost diligence in

collecting aU the arms they were possessed of,

which should be brought thither on the Satur-

day following, pursuant to the summons they

had received ; and telling me they were appre-

hensive of insults or depredations from the

neighbouring clans of the Camerons, and others

who still continued in possession of their arms.

Parties of the Highland companies were ordered

to guard the passes leading to their coimtry

;

which parties continued there for their protec-

tion, tin the clans in that neighbourhood were

summoned, and had surrendered their arms.

" On the day appointed, the several clans

and tribes assembled in the adjacent vUlages,

and marched in good order through the great

avenue that leads to the castle ; and one aftei

another laid down their arms in the courtr-yard,

in great quiet and decency, amounting to 784

of the several species mentioned in the act of

parliament.

"The solemnity with which this was per-

formed, had undoubtedly a ^^-eat influence over

the rest of the Highland clans ; and disposed

them to pay that obedience to your majesty's

commands, by a peaceable surrender of their

arms, which they had never done to any of

your royal predecessors, or in compliance with

any law either before or since the Union.

"The next summonses were sent to the clans

and countries in the neighbourhood of Killy-

huimen and Fort William. Tlie ai-ms of the

several clans of the M'Donalds of Glengary,

M'Leods of Glenelg, Chishohns of Strathglass,

and Grants of Glermioriston, were surrendered

to me at the barrack of Killyhuimen, the 15th

of September ; and those of the M'Donalds of

Keppoch, Moidart, Aresaig, and Glencoe; as

also the Camerons, and Stewarts of Appin,

were delivered to the governor of Fort "WiUiam,

The !M'lntoshes were summoned, and brought

in their arms to Inverness ; and the foUowera

of the Duke of Gordon, with the clan of

M'Phersons, to the barrack of Euthven in

Badenoch.

" The inhabitants of the islet of Skye and

Mull were also summoned ; the M'Donald.s,

M'Kinnons, and M'Leods delivered their arms
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at the barrack of Bernera; and those of the

Isle of Mull, to the officer commancliiig at

Castle Duart, both on the 1st day of October.

" The regiments remained till that time en-

camped at Inverness ; and this service was

performed by sending detachments from the

camp to the several parts of the Highlands

appointed for the s'trrender of arms. Ammu-
nition bread was regularly delivered to the

soldiers, and biscuits to the detachments that

were sent into the mountains. The camp was

plentifully supplied with provisions, and an

hospital in the town provided for the sick

men. This contributed to preserve the soldiers

in health ; so that notwithstanding the exces-

sive bad weather and continued rains tliat fell

during the campaign, there thed of the three

regiments no more than ten soldiers :—but the

weather growing cold, and the snow falling in

the mountains, obliged me to break up the

camp, and send the troops into winter quarters.

"The new-raised companies of Higlilanders

were for some time encamped with the regular

troops, performing the duty of the camp vnth

the rest of the soldiers. They mounted guard,

went out upon parties, had the articles of war

read and explained to them, and were regularly

paid with the rest of the troops. Wben they

had made some progress in their exercise and

discipline, they were sent to their respective

stations with proper orders ; as well to prevent

the Highlanders from returning to the use of

arms, as to hinder their committmg depreda-

tions on the low country.

" The Lord Lovat's company was posted to

guard all the passes in the mountains, from the

Isle of Skye eastward, as far as Inverness ; the

company of Colonel Grant in the several passes

from Inverness southward to Dunkeld ; Sir

Duncan Campbell's company, from Dimkeld

westward, as far as the country of Lorn. The

three companies commanded by lieutenants

were posted, the first at Fort William ; the

second at Killyhuimen ; and the third at Euth-

ven in Badenoch ; and may in a short time be

assembled in a body, to march to any part of

the Highlands as occasion may require.

" The clans of the northern Higlilands hav-

ing peaceably surrendered tlieir arms, pursuant

to the several summonses sent them in your

iiajestv's name, and consequently exposed to

the inroads of their neighbours, to prevent this

inconvenience, (though the season of the year

was far advanced) I thought it both just and

necessary to proceed to disarm the southern

clans, who had also joined in the rebellion,

and thereby to finish the campaign by sura

moning all the clans and countries who had

taken up arms against your majesty in the year

1715.

" Summonses were accordingly sent to the

inhabitants of the Brea of Mar, Perth, Athol,

Braidalbin, Menteth, and those paits of the

shire of Stirling and Dumbarton included in

the disarming act. Parties of the regular troops

were ordered to march from the nearest garri-

sons to several places appointed for the sur-

render of their arms, and circular letters were

sent to the principal gentlemen in those parts,

exciting them to follow the example of the

northern Highlands. The clans of these coun-

tries brought in their arms on the days and

at the places appointed by their respective

summonses, but not in so great a quantity as

the northern clans had done. The gentlemet

assured me they had given strict orders to their

tenants to bring in all the arms they had in

their possession ; but that many of them,

knowing they were not to be paid for them, as

stipiilated by the former act, several had been

carried to the forges, and turned into working

tools and other peaceable instruments ; there

being no prohibition by the act of parliament

to hinder them from disposing of them in any

manner they thought most to their advantage,

provided they had no arms in their possession,

after the day mentioned in the summons ; and

if the informations I have received are true,

the same thing has been practised, more or

less, by all the clans that have been summoned

pursuant to the present act of parliament,

which makes no allowance for arms delivered

up, in order to prevent the notorious frauds

and abuses committed by those who had the

execution of the former act, whereby your

majesty paid near £13,000 for broken and

useless arms, that were hardly worth the ex-

pense of carriage.

" The number of arms collected this year in

the Highlands, of the several species mentioned

in the disarming act, amount in the whole to

2,685. The greatest part of them are deposited
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in the Castle of Edinburgh, and the rest at

Fort William, and the barrack Df Bernera. At

the time they were bro-ighO in by the clans,

there was a mixtui-e of good and bad ; but the

damage they received in the carriage, and

growing rusty by being exposed to rain, they

are of little more worth than the value of the

iron.

" In the execution of the power given me

by your majesty, to grant licences to such per-

sons whose business or occupation required the

use of arms for their safety and defence, I have

given out in the whole 230 hcences to the

foresters, dj'overs, and dealers in cattle, and

other merchandise, belonging to the several

clans who have suiTendered their arms, which

are to remain in force for two years, provided

they behave themselves during that time as

faitlifid subjects to your majesty, and peace-

ably towards their neighbours. The names of

the persons empowered to wear arms by these

licences are entered in a book, as also the names

of the genllemcu by whom they were recom-

mended, and who have promised to be answer-

able for their good beliaviour.

" The several simimonses for tne surrender

of arms have been affixed to the doors of 129

parish churches, on the market crosses of tlie

county tovsms ; and copies of the same regidarly

entered in the sheriff's books in the method

prescribed by the disarming act, by winch these

Highlanders who shall presume to wear arms

\vithout a legal qualification, are subject to the

penalties of that kw which has already had so

good an effect, that, instead of guns, swords,

durks, and pistols, they now travel to their

churches, markets, and fairs with only a staif

in their hands. Since the Highland companies

have been posted at their respective stations,

several of the most notorious thieves have been

seized on and committed to prison, some of

which are now under prosecution, but others,

either by the corruption or negligence of the

jaUers, have been set at liberty, or suffered to

make their escape.

" The imposition commonly called black-

meal is now no longer paid by the inhabitants

bordering on the Highlands ; and robberies

and depredations, formerly complained of, are

less frequently attempted than has been known

for many years past, there having been but

one single instance where cattle have beeu

stolen, without being recovered and returned

to their proper owners.

"At my first coming to the Highlands, I

caused an exact survey to be taken of the

lakes, and that part of the country lying be-

tween Inverness and Fort WLUiam, which

extends from the east to the west sea, in order

to render the communication more practicable

;

and materials were provided for the vessel

wliioh, by your majesty's commands, was to be

built on the Lake Ness ; which is now finished

and launched into tlie lake. It is made in the

form of a gaily, either for rowing or sailing

;

is capable of carrying a party of 50 or 60

soldiers to any part of tlie country bordering

on the said lake ; and wiU be of great use for

transporting provisions and ammiuiition from

Inverness to the barrack of KOlyhuimen,

where four companies of foot have been quar-

tered since the beginning of last October.

" I presume also to acquaint your majesty,

that parties of regular troops have been con-

stantly employed in making the roads of cor

m'lnication between KUlyhuimen and Fort

William, wno have already made so good a

progress in that work, that I hope, before the

end of next summer, they will be rendered

both practicable and convenient for the march

of your majesty's forces between those garri

sons, and facilitate their assembling in one

body, if occasion should require.

"The fortifications and additional barracks,

which, by your majesty's commands were to

be erected at Inverness and Killyhuimen, are

the only part of your majesty's instructions

which I have not been able to put in execu-

tion. There were no persons in that part of

the Highlands of sufficient credit or knowledge

to contract for a work of so extensive a nature.

The stone must be cut out of the quarries

;

nor could the timber be provided sooner than

by sending to Norway to purchase it; and,

although the materials had been ready and at

hand, the excessive rains, that fell during the

whole summer season, must have rendered it

impossible to have carried on the work. I

have, however, contracted for the necessary

repau's of the old castle at Inverness, which I

am promised will be finished before next winter.

" I humblv beg leave to observe to yoiti
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majesty, that nothing has contributed -Biore to

the success of my endeavours in disarming the

Highlanders, and reducing the vassals of the

late Earl of Seafield to your obedience, than

the power your majesty was pleased to grant

rae of receiving the submissions of persons

attainted of high treason. They were dispersed

in different parts of the Higldands, 'n-itliout

the least apprehension of being betrayed or

molested by their countr3-men, and, for their

safety and protection, must have contributed

all they were able to encourage the use of arms,

and to infect the minds of those people on

whose protection they depended. In tliis situa-

tion, they were proper instruments, and always

ready to be employed in promoting the interest

of the Pretender, or any other foreign power

they thought capable of contributing to a

change in that government to which they had

forfeited their lives, and from whom they

expected no favom-. The greatest part of

them were drawn into the rebellion at the

instigation of their superiors, and, in my
humble opinion, have continued their disaffec-

tion, rather from despair than any real dislike

to your majesty's government ; for it was no

sooner known that your majesty had em-

powered me to receive the submissions of those

who repented of their crimes, and were willing

and desirous for the future to live peaceably

under your mild and moderate government, but

applications were made to me from several of

them to intercede with your majesty on their

behalf, declaring their readiness to abandon the

Pretender's party, and to pay a dutiful obedi-

ence to your majesty ; to which I answered,

that I should be ready to intercede in their

favour, when I was farther convinced of the

sincerity of their promises ; that it would soon

come to their turn to be simimoned to bring

in their arms ; and, when they had paid that

first mark of their obedience, by peaceably

surrendering them, I should thereby be better

justified in receiving their submissions, and in

recommending them to your majesty's mercy

and clenisncy.

"As ocon as their respective clans had de-

livered up their arms, several of these attainted

persons came to me at different times and

places to render their submissions to your

majesty. They laid down their swords on the

ground, expressed their sorrow and concern

for having made use of them in opposition to

your majesty; and promised a peaceful and

dutiful obedience for the remaining part of

their lives. They afterwards sent me their

several letters of submission, copies of which

I transmitted to youi' majesty's principal secre-

tarj" of state.

" I made use of the proper arguments to

con\Tnce them of their past folly and rashness,

and gave them hopes of obtaining pardon from

your majesty's gracious and merciful disposi-

tion ; but, being a stranger both to their per-

sons and character, I required they would

procure gentlemen of unquestioned zeal to

your majesty's government, who would write

to me in their favour, and in some measure be

answerable for their future conduct which

was accordingly done.

" When the news came that your majesty

was graciously pleased to accept their submis-

sion, and had given the proper orders for pre-

paring their pardons, it was received with great

joy and satisfaction throughout the Highlands,

which occasioned the Jacobites at Edinburgh

to say, (by way of reproach,) that I had not

only defrauded the Highlanders of their arms,

but had also debauched them from their loyalty

and allegiance."^

Barracks were built at Inverness, a fort

erected at FortAugustus, and at various places

over the country small towers or forts, each

capable of containing a small number of

soldiers.

"Wade at the same time received letters of

submission from a considerable number of

chiefs and other troublesome Higlilanders who
were lying under the taint of high treason.

These were expressed in terms of excessive

humility and contrition, and were fiJl of the

strongest promises of future good behaviour.

Wade seems, as Burton^ remarks, "to have

kno^vn so little of the people as to believe in

their sincerity. Yet the contemporary cor

respondence of the Jacobites indicates, what

subsequent events confirmed, that the High

landers, with the inscrutable diplomatic cunning

peculiar to their race, had overreached the

» Burt's Letters, vol. ii. pp. 303—314.
> Scotland (1689—1747), vol. ii. p. 247.

3q
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military negotiator, and committed a quantity

of effective arms to places of concealment."^

One of the greatest services rendered hy Wade

to the government, and that for which he is

chiefly knovni to posterity, was the construc-

tion of roads through the Highlands, in order

to facilitate the march of troops, and open up

a communication between the various garrisons.

Previous to this the only substitutes for roads

existing in the Highlands were the rude tracts,

sometimes scarcely distinguishable from the

surrounding waste, made by many generations

of Highlanders and their cattle over moun-

tains, through bogs, across rapid rivers, skirting

giddy precipices, and perfectly bewildering and

fraught with danger to any but natives. Cap-

tain Burt, one of the engineers engaged in

Wade's expedition, gives in his Letters many

graphic descriptions of tlie difficulties and

dangers attendant on travelling in the High-

lands before the making of these new roads.

" Tlie old ways," he says, " (for roads I shall

not call them,) consisted chiefly of stony moors,

bogs, rugged, rapid fords, declivities of hills,

entangling woods, and giddy precipices."^ As

a specimen of what the traveller might expect

in his progress among the mountains, we give

the following incident which occurred to Burt

in one of his own journeys.* "There was

nothing remarkable afterwards, till I came

near the top of the hill; where there was a

seeming plain, of about 150 yards, between me

and the summit.

" No sooner was I upon the edge of it, but

my guide desired me to alight; and then I

perceived it was a bog, or peat-moss, as they

call it.

" I had exjierience enough of these deceitfid

surfaces to order that the horses should be led

in separate parts, lest, if one broke the turf,

the other, treading in his steps, might sink.

' Among Wade's correspondents were Robert Stewart

of Appin, Alexander Macdonald of Glencoe, Grant,

Laird of Glenmorison, the Laird of Mackinnon, liobert

Campbell, alias Macgregor (the notorious Kob Roy),

Lord Ogilvy. "No doubt," writes Lockhart to the

Pretender, "the government will be at pains to mag-
nify and spread abroad their success in disarming the

Highlanders, but depend on't, it's all a jest ; for few

or no swords or pistols are or will be surrendered, and
only such of their fire-arms as are of no value."

—

Luckhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 195.

* Letter xxri., p. 191, vol. ii

* Letter xvi.

" The horse I used to ride having httle

weight but his own, went on pretty success-

fully ; only now and then breaking the surface

a little; but the other, that carried my port-

manteau, and being not quite so nimble, was

much in danger, till near the further end, and

there he sank. But it luckily happened to be

in a part where his long legs went to the bot-

tom, which is generally hard gravel, or rock;

but he was in almost up to the back.

" By this time my own (for distinction) was

quite free of the bog, and being frighted, stood

very tamely by himself; which he would not

have done at another time. In the mean

while we were forced to wait at a distance,

wliile the other was flouncing and throwing

the dirt about him; for there was no means of

coming near him to ease him of the heavy

burden he had upon his loins, by which he

was sometimes in danger to be turned upon his

back, when he rose to break the bog before

him. But, in about a quarter of an hour, he

got out, bedaubed with the slough, shaking

with fear, and his head and neck all over in a

foam.

" As for myself, I was harassed on this

slough, by winding about from place to place,

to find such tufts as were within my stride oi

leap, in my heavy boots with liigh heels;

which, by my spring, when the little hillocks

were too far asunder, broke the turf, and then

I threw myself down toward tlie next protu-

berance; but to my guide it seemed nothing;

he was light of body, shod with flat brogues,

wide in the soles, and accustomed to a parti-

cular step, suited to the occasion.

" This hill was about three quarters of a

mile over, and had but a short descent on the

further side, rough, indeed, but not remarkable

in this country. I had now five computed

miles to go before I came to my first asylum,

—

that is, five Scots miles, which, as in the north

of England, are longer than yours as three is

to two ; and, if the difficulty of the way were

to be taken into account, it might well be

called fifteen. This, except about three quar-

ters of a mile of heathy ground, pretty free

from stones and rocks, consisted of stony

moors, almost impracticable for a horse with

his rider, and Hkewise of rocky way, where we

were obliged to dismount, and sometimes climb
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aud otherwliile slide down. But wliat vexed

me most of all, tliey called it a road; and yet

I nnist confess it was preferable to a boggy

way. The great difficulty was to wind about

with, the horses, and find such places as they

coukl possibly be got over."

Wade went vigorously to work in the con-

struction of his roads, selecting from the regu-

lar troops and Higliland companies 500 men,

wlio were put on extra pay whOe at the work

of road-making. Notwithstanding the many

difficulties to be eneountereil, the inexperience

of the workmen, and the inferior tools then at

their command for such a purpose, the under-

taking was satisfactorily accomplished in about

ten years. A Scottish gentleman, who visited

the Highlands in 1737, found the roads com-

pleted, and was surprised by the improvements

which he found to have arisen from them,

among.st which ho gratefully notes the exist-

ence of civilized places for the entertainment

of travellers. Formerly the only apologies lor

hostelries in the Higlilands were wretclied

huts, often with only one apartment, swarming

with lively insects, the atmosphere solid with

smoke, and the fragile walls pierced here and

there with holes large enough to admit a man's

head. Now, however, these were replaced by

small but substantial inns built of stone,

located at distances of about ten miles from

each other along the new roads. The standard

breadth of the roads was sixteen feet, although

where possible they were made wider, and

were carried on in straight lines, unless where

this was impracticable.

Wade's main road, commencing at Perth,

went by Duukeld and Blair-Athole to Dalna-

cardoch, where it was joined by another from

Stii'ling by Crieff, through Glenalmond, to

Aberfeldy, where it crossed the Tay, on what

was tlien considered a magnificent bridge of

fi^e arches. From Dalnacardoch the road goes

on to Dalwlunny, where it again branches into

two, one branch proceeding towards the north-

west through Garva Moor, and over the Cor-

ryan-ick mountain to Fort-Augustus, the other

striking almost due north to Kuthven in Bad-

enoch, and thence by Delmagary to Inverness.

Another road, along the shores of Lochs Ness

and Lochy, joined the latter place with the

strongholds of Fort-Augustus and Fort-William.

One of the most difficult parts of the under-

taking was the crossing of the lofty Corry-

arrick, the road having to be carried up the

south side of the mountain by a series of about

fifteen zigzags. The entire length of road con-

structed measured about 250 miles.

Althougli these roads were doubtless of con-

siderable advantage in a military point of view,

they appear to have been of very little use in

developing the commercial resources of the

Lieutenant General Wade. Commander-in-Chief of all His
Majesty's Forces in Scotland. (From an oM engmr-
ing in the possession of D. Laing, Esq.)

country. " They were indeed triily military

roads—laid down by a practical soldier, and

destined for warlike purposes—witli scarcely

any view towards the ends for which free and

peacefid. citizens open up a system of internal

transit. ^ They appear to have been regarded

with suspicion and dislike by all classes of the

Highlanders. The chiefs, according to Burt,'

complained that in time of pea.e they opened up

their country to strangers, who would be likely

to weaken the attachment of their vassals, and

that in time of war they laid their fastnesses

open to the enemy. The bridges, especially,

they said would render the people effeminate,

and less fit to ford the rivers in other places

where there were no such means of crossing.

The middle class again objected to them be-

" Burton (1689—1747), vol. ii. p. 266.
« Letters, vol. ii. p. 220.
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cause, tlieir horses being vmsbod,—and neces-

sarily so on account of the places where they

had to find pasture—the gravel woidd soon

wuet away their hoofs, and thus render tliem

unserviceable. " The lowest class, who, many

of them, at some times cannot compass a pair

of shoes for themselves, allege that the gravel

is intolerable to their naked feet; and the

complaint has extended to their thin brogues."

For these reasons, allied no doubt to obstinacy

and hatred of innovation and government in-

terference, many of the Highlanders, despis-

ing the new roads, continued to walk in the

wretched ways of their fathers.

Although the Chevalier still had many ad-

herents in the south of Scotland, yet, as they

were narrowly watched by the government, it

was considered inexpedient and unsafe to cor-

respond with them on the subject of the

Spanish expedition. In the state of uncer-

tainty in wliich they were thus kept, they

wisely abstained from committing themselves,

and when Marischal landed they were quite

unprepared to render hiin any assistance, and

unanimously resolved not to move in any shape

tiU a rising should take place in England in

favour of the Chevaher.

As many inconveniences had arisen from a

want of co-operation among the friends of the

Chevalier in the south of Scotland, Mr. Lock-

hart, in concert with the Bishop of Edinburgh,

proposed to James that the Earls of Eglinton

and Wigton, Lord Balmerino, the Bishop of

Edinburgh, (the head of the nonjuring clergy,)

Mr. Paterson of PrestonhaU, and Captain

Straiten, should be appointed commissioners

or trustees for transacting his affairs in Scot-

land. This proposal on the whole was well

received by the Chevalier, who, however, pro-

bably influenced by the jealous schemers who
surroimdeil him, did not sanction the formation

of a regularly organized authoritative commis-

sion. AVriting to Lockhart in February, 1721,

he says, " to appoint a certain number of per-

sons for this effect by commission, is by no

means, at tliis time, advisable, because of the

inconveniences it might draw, sooner or later,

upon the persons concern'd; since it could not

but be expected that the present government

would, at long run, be inform'd of such a paper

which, by its nature, must be known to a great

number of people; besides, that many who
might be most fit to discharge such a trust

might, with reason, not be fond of having

their names exposed in such a matter; while,

on the other heind, numbers might be dis-

obliged for not having a share where it is not

possible all can be concerned; but I think all

these inconveniences may be obviated, the in-

tent of the proposal comply'd with, and equal

advantages drawn from it if the persons named

below, or some of them, would meet and con-

sult together for the intents above-mention'd.

The persons you propose I entirely approve, to

wit, the Earls of Eglinton and Wigton, Lord

Balmerino, the Bishop of Edinburgh, Mr.

Paterson and Captain Straiton, to whom I

would have added Mr. Harry Maul, Sir John

Erskine, Lord Dun, Pomle and Glengary."^

Mr. Lockhart acquainted the different per-

sons, therein named, of its contents, and all of

them undertook to execute the trust reposed in

them; but as they judged it advisable to con-

ceal the powers they had received from their

friends, they requested Mr. Lockhart, when

their advice was wanted, to communicate with

them individually, and having collected theii

sentiments, to give the necessary instructions

with due caution.

In June 1721, a treaty of peace was signed

at Madrid between Great Britain and Spain,

and at the same time a defensive aUiance was

entered into between Great Britain, France,

and Spain. As the two last were the only

powers from whom the " Pretender" could

expect any effectual aid in support of his pre-

tensions, his long-wished-for restoration seemed

now to be hopeless, and Bling George secure,

as he imagined, from foreign invasion and

domestic plots, made preparations for visiting

his German dominions, and actually appointed

a regency to act in his absence. But early in

the year 1722, a discovery was made, on in-

formation received by the king from the regent

of France, that the Jacobites were busy in a

new conspiracy against the government. It

appeared that the Chevalier de St. George,

who was at Eome, was to sail from Porto-

Longone for Spain, under the protection of

three Spanish men-of-war, and there to wait

' Lockhart Papers, vol. iL p. 29.
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the resolutions of ids friends. ' In following

the clue given by the Duke of Orleans, it was

ascertained that all the letters, in relation to

the conspiracy, were carried to Mr. George

Kelly, an Irish clergyman, who despatched

them to their different destinations. The in-

siurection was to have taken place during the

king's absence in Hanover; but his majesty

having deferred his journey in consequence of

the discovery of the plot, the conspirators re-

solved to postpone their attempt tiU the disso-

lution of parliament.

The conspirators, finding they were watched

by government, became extremely cautious,

and the ministers, desirous of getting hold of

the treasonable correspondence, ordered Kelly,

the principal agent, to be arrested. He was

accordingly apprehended, but not until he had,

by keeping his assadants at bay with his sword,

succeeded in burning the greater part of his

papers. Although the papers which were

seized from Kelly, and others which had been

intercepted by government, bore evident marks

of a conspiracy, yet it became very difficult,

from the fictitious names used in them, to trace

out the guilty persons. " We are in trace of

several things very material," observes Robert

Walpole in a letter to his brother, in reference

to this discovery, " but we fox-hunters know
that we do not always find every fox that we
cross upon." Among other persons who were

arrested on suspicion, were the Duke of Nor-

folk, Lords North and Grey, kStrafford, and

Orrery, Atterbury, Bishop of Rochester, and

Sir Harry Goring.

To check the thi-eatened insurrection, a camp

was immediately formed in Hyde-park, and all

military officers were ordered to repair to their

respective regiments. Lieutenant-general Mac-

artney was despatched to Ireland to bring

over some troops from that kingdom, and the

states of Holland were requested to have their

auxiliary troops in readiness for embarkation.

These preparations, and the many rumours

which prevailed respecting the extent of the

conspiracy, affected public credit, and a run

took place upon the bank, but the panic soon

subsided, and public confidence was restored.

Of aU the persons seized of any note, the

' Robert 'Walpole to his brother Horace, May 1722.

Bishop of Rochester was the only individual

against whom a charge coidd plausibly b«

maintained. He was equally noted tor hif.

high literary attainments and a warm attach-

ment to the exploded dogma of passive obedi-

ence. He had written Sacheverel's defence

con amore, and he had carried his partisansliij.

for the house of Stuart so far, that, according

to Lord Harcourt, he offered, upon the death

of Queen Anne, to proclaim the Chevalier de

St. George at Charing-cross in his lawn sleeves,

and when his proposal was declined, he is sair"

to have exclaimed, " Never was a better cause

lost for want of spirit."

After an examination before the privy-coun-

cU, the bishop was committed to the Tower on

a charge of high treason. Tlie committal oi

the bishop was higlily resented by the clergy,

who considered it an outrage upon the Church
of England and the Episcopal order, and they

gave full vent to their feelings by oflering up
public prayers for his health in aU the churches

and chapels of London and Westminster.

The new parliament met in the month of

October, and the first thing the king did was

to announce, by a speech from the throne, the

nature of the conspiracy. A bill for suspend-

ing the habeas corpus act for a whole j'ear was

immediately brought into the house of lords,

but as the period of suspension was double of

any suspension hitherto known, it met with

some opposition. In the commons, however,

VJie opposition was so violent, that Mr. Robert

Walpole found himself necessitated to invent

a story of a design to seize the bank and the

exchequer, and to proclaim the " Pretender

"

on the royal exchange. This ridicidous tale,

uttered with the greatest confidence, alarmed

the commons, and they passed the bdl.

As the Catholics were supposed to be chiefly

concerned in the conspiracy, a bill was intro-

duced into the house of commons for raisinc

£100,000 upon the real and personal estates

of aU " papists," or persons educated in the

Catholic religion, towards defraying the ex-

penses incurred by the late rebellion and dis-

orders. This bin being justly regarded as a

species of persecution, was warmly opposed by

some members, but it was sent up to the house

of lords along with another biU, obliging all

persons, being " papists," in Scotland, and all
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persons in Great Britain, refusing or neglecting

to tate the oaths appointed for the Thing's

person and government, to register their names

and real estates. As might have been antici-

pated, both hills were passed w-ithout amend-

ments, and received the royal assent.

Atterhury was brought up for trial on the

9th of Ma}', 1723, and sentenced to banish-

ment imder pain of death if he shoidd ever

return. He quitted the kingdom in June,

and after a short stay at Brussels, finally settled

in Paris. It is said that when crossing over to

Calais he met Lord Bolingbroke, then on his

way to England, whom he thus addressed with

a smUe, " My lord, you and I are exchanged !"

The return of this extraordinary person to

England gave rise to much specidation, and

many conjectures were hazarded as to the

reasons which had induced Walpole to promote

the return of a man whose impeachment he

had himself moved ; but the mystery has been

cleared up by papers wliich have since met the

public eye. From these it appears that several

years before his appearance in England, Boling-

broke had completely broken with the Stuarts

in consequence of his deprivation of the seals.

It seems that the Earl of ]\Iar and the duke

had a violent difference with regard to the

conduct of the expedition in 1715; and Mar,

to revenge himself upon his rival, prevailed

upon the Duke of Ormond to report in presence

of the Chevalier de St. George certain abusive

expressions which Bolingbroke, when in a state

of intoxication, had Tittered in disparagement

of his master. The Chevalier, higlily exas-

perated at Bolingbroke, sent for the seals, at

which liis lordship was so incensed that when

the queen mother attempted to reconcile them,

Bolingbroke said that he \vished his arm might

rot off if ever he drew his sword or employed

his pen in the service of the Stuarts. He,

thereupon, proffered his services to King

George, and offered to do any thing but betray

the secrets of his friends. This offer was

followed by the celebrated letter to Sir William

WjTidliam, in which he dissuaded the Tories

from placing any reliance on the Pretender,

and exposed the exiled family to ridicule and

contempt ; but his overtures were rejected by

the government, and when an act of indemnity

was hinted at, Walpole expressed in the strong-

est terms his indignation at the very idea of

such a measure. Bolingbroke, however, per-

severed ; and Walpole having been softened

by the entreaties of the Duchess of Kendal,

one of the mistresses of the king, to whom
BoHngbroke made a present of £11,000, he

procured a pardon. In April, 1725, a biU was

brought into the house of lords for restoring

to Bolingbroke his family estate, which, after

some opposition, passed both houses.

Upon the passing of the disarming act, some

of the Highland chiefs held a meeting at Paris,

at which they resolved to apply to the Cheva-

lier de St. George, to know whether, in his

opinion, they should submit to the new law.

James returned an answer under cover to the

restless Atterhury, in which he advised the

chiefs rather to submit than run the risk of

ruining their followers ; but the bishop thought

proper to keep up the letter, and havmg sent

off an express to Rome, James was induced to

wTite another letter altogether different from the

first, requiring them to resist, by force, the ior

tended attempt of the government to disarm the

Highlanders. Meanwhile, the chiefs were ap-

prised of James's original sentiments by a cor-

respondent at Rome, and of the letter which

had been sent to Atterbury's care. Unaware of

this circumstance, the bishop, on receipt of the

second letter, convened the chiefs, and com-

municated to them its contents ; but these

being so completely at variance with the infor-

mation of their correspondent, they insisted

upon seeing the first letter, but Atterhury

refused in the most positive terms to exhibit

it, and insisted upon compliance with the

injunctions contained In the second letter.

They, thereupon, desired to know wliat sup-

port they were to receive in men, money, and

arms ; but the bishop told them, that imless

they resolved to go to Scotland and take uf

arms, he would give them no fiu-ther mformac

tion than this, that they would be assisted by

a certain foreign power, whose name he was

not at liberty to mention.^ The chiefs, dis-

satisfied with the conduct of the bishop, refused

to pledge themselves as required, anl retired.

' Abstract of a letter from one of the Highland

cliiefs at Paris to Mr John Macleod, advocate, dated

the end of June, 1725. Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. pp
192—3.
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The great preparations made to carry the

disarming act into effect, indicated a dread, on

the part of the government, that tlie High-

landers would not deliver up their arms with-

out a struggle. The Chevalier de St. George,

deceived as it would appear by the representa-

tions of Atterbury, resolved to support the

Highlanders, to the effect at least of enabling

them to obtain favourable terms from the

government. " I find," says James, in a letter^

to Mr. Lockhart, " they (the Highlanders) are

of opinion that nothing less than utter ruin is

designed for them, and those on this side are per-

suaded that the EngUsh government will meet

with the greatest difficulties in executing their

projects, and that the clans will unanimously

agree to oppose them to the last, and if thereby

circiunstances will allow them to do notliing

for my service, that they will still, by a capitu-

lation, be able to procure better terms to them-

selves than they can propose by leaving them-

selves at the government's mercy, and delivering

up their arms ; and, if so, I am resolved, and

I think I owe it to them, to do all Lu my
power to support them, and the distance I am

at has obliged me to give my orders accord-

ingly ; and nothing in my power shall be want-

ing to enable them to keep their ground against

the government, at least till they can procure

good terms for themselves, though, at the same

time, I must inform you that the opposition

they propose to make may prove of the greatest

advantage to my interest, considering the hopes

I have of foreign assistance, which, perhaps, you

may hear of even before you receive this letter.

I should not have ventured to call the High-

landers together, without a certainty of their

being supported, but the great probability there

is of it makes me not at all sorry they should

take the resolution of defending themselves,

and not delivering up their arms, which would

have rendered them, in a great measure, useless

to their countrie ; and as the designs of the

government are represented to me, the laying

down of their arms is only to be the forerunner

of other methods, that are to be taken to extir-

pate their race for ever. They are certainly

in the right to make the government buy their

slavery at as dear a rate as they can. The

' Dated 23d June, 1725. Lockhart Papers, vol.

ii. p. 169.

distance I am at (Eome), and the imperfect

accounts I have had of this law, (for disarming

the Highlanders,) have been very unlucky

;

however, the orders I have sent to France I

hope win not come too late, and I can answer

for the diligence in the execution of them,

which is all I can say to you at present from

hence."

A few days after the receipt of this letter.

Mr. Lockhart went to Edinburgh, where hb

found the Duke of Hamilton and the Earl of

Kincardine, two of James's "trustees," to whom
he showed the letter, and requested their

opinion as to the proposed attempt to resist

the contemplated measures of the government.

These noblemen considered that the attempt

would be rash as weU as fatal,—that the idea

of obtaining better terms by a temporary resist-

ance, was vain, unless the Highlanders suc-

ceed in defeating the government ; but that if

they failed, the utter extirpation of their race

would certainly foUow ;—that the Highlanders

being a body of men of such high value, as

well in relation to the interests of the exiled

family, as to those of the kingdom, it was by

no means reasonable to hazard them upon an

uncertainty, for though they should give up

their arms, it woidd be easier to provide them

afterwards with others, when their services

were required, than to repair the loss of theii

persons ;—that with regard to foreign assist-

ance, as such undertakings were liable to many

accidents, and as the best formed designs often

turned out abortive, it was by no means ad-

visable to hazard the Highlanders, who were

hated by the government, upon the expectancy

of such aid; and that if such foreign powers

as could, and were willing to assist, would in-

quire into the true state of affairs in Scotland

they would find that wherever a feasible at-

tempt should be made by them to restore the

exiled family, the Scots would be ready to

declare themselves.

This opinion was communicated by Mr.

Lockhart to James, ^ and he informed him at

the same time that a person of distinction, who

had been sent by the Highland Jacobite chiefs

to obtain intelligence and advice, had arrived

in Edinburgh incognito, and had informed

^ Letter from Mr. Lockhart to the Chevalier, 25th

July, 1725. Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 186.
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Xincardine that the Highlanders had resolved

to make a show of submission, by giving up

part of their arms under the pretence of de-

livering np the whole, while their intention

was to retain and conceal the best and greater

part of them. Kincardine, without giving any

opinion on the subject, recommended to the

gentleman in question, as foreign assistance

might be speedily expected, the expediency of

putting off the delivery as long as possible, and

that as four or five weeks woiild be consumed

before the forms required by the act could be

complied with, they should retain their arms

till the expiration of that period.

The advice given by Hamilton and Eglinton

coincided with the view which James, upon

being made acquainted with the resolution of

the chief at Paris, had adopted; and in a letter

written to Mr. Lockhart by Colonel Hay, whom
he had appointed his secretary of state, and

raised to the peerage under the title of Earl of

Inverness, he signified his approbation of the

advice given by his friends, which he said was

entirely agreeable to his own sentiments from

the begmning. He stated, moreover, that the

orders he had given to assist the Highlanders

were only conditional, and in the event only

that they themselves should have resolved to

oppose the government, and that if the Bishop

of Rochester had pressed any of the chiefs at

Paris to go to arms, it was more with a view

to discover a correspondence which he suspected

one of them had carried on independent of the

others, than with any real design to induce

them to order their followers to make opposi-

tion, as that was to have depended as much
upon the cliiefs at home as upon those abroad.^

Wlien James ascertained that the High-

landers were resolved to submit, he withdrew

the orders he had given for assisting them, and

despatched a trusty messenger to the Highlands

to acquaint them of his readiness to support

them when a proper occasion oflFered, and to

collect information as to the state of the coun-

try. Allan Cameron, the messenger in ques-

tion, arrived in the Highlands in August, and

visited the heads of the clans in the interest of

James, to whom he delivered the message with

which he had been intrusted. It is said that

• Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 218.

General Wade was aware of his arrival, but it

does not appear that any measures were taken

to apprehend liim. After four months' resi-

dence in the Highlands, Cameron ventured on

a journey to Edinburgh, where, in the be-

ginning of the year 1726, he held frequent

conferences with the Duke of Hamilton, the

Earl of Kincardine, and Lockhart of Camwath,

on the subject of his mission and the state of

affairs, but notliing of importance was resolved

upon at these meetings, and Cameron departed

for the continent early in February.

About this time an event occurred, which,

while it tended to create factions amongst the

adherents of James, made many of them keep

either altogether aloof from any direct manage-

ment in his affairs, or abstain from entering

into any plan of co-operation for his restoration.

This was the dismissal of Mar from his post as

minister of James at Paris, on the suspicion

that he had betrayed the secrets of his master

to the British government. From his situation

he was intimately acquainted with all the

Chevalier's affairs, and knew the name of every

person of any note in the three kingdoms who

had taken an interest in the restoration of the

exiled famUy, with many of whom he himself

had corresponded. Tlie removal, therefore, of

such a person from the Jacobite councils could

not fail to excite uneasy apprehensions in the

minds of those who had intrusted him with

their confidence, and to make them extremely

cautious in again committing themselves by

any act, which, if discovered, would place them

in jeopardy. To this feeling may be ascribed

the great reserve which for several years subse-

quent to this occurrence the Jacobites observed

in their foreign relations, and the want of imity

of action which formed so remarkable a charac-

teristic in their subsequent proceedings. As

this affair forms an important link in the his-

torical chain which connects the events of the

year 1715 with those of 1745, a short account

of it is necessary.

During a temporary confinement at Geneva,

!Mar had obtained a simi of money, whether

solicited or not does not appear, from the Earl

of Stair, the British ambassador at Paris, with-

out the knowledge of James. In a narrative

afterwards drawn up by Mar in his own justi-

fication, he states, that being in great straits
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hfl received this money as a loan from the earl,

who was his old friend; but Colonel Hay, in

a letter to Mr. Lockhart of the 8th of Septem-

her, 1725, states that Mar had no occasion for

such a loan, as "the king" remitted him con-

siderable supplies to Geneva, where his expense

would be trifling, as he was entertained by the

town.* This matter might have been over-

looked, but he, soon thereafter, accepted a

pension of J2,000 from the government, over

and above the sum of £1,500 which his

countess and daughter actually then received

by way of jointure and aliment out of the pro-

duce of his estate. Mar states that before he

agreed to receive this pension he took the

advice of General Dillon, a zealous supporter

of the interests of the Stuarts, whom he had

been acoiistomed to consult in all matters of

importance, and that the general advised him

to accept of the offer, as by refusing it the

government might stop his lady's jointure, and

that his estate would be sold and lost for ever

to his family ; and that as he had been released

from his confinement at Geneva on condition

that he should not act or take any part against

the government of Great Britain during his

abode in France, and should return when re-

quired to Geneva, that government might in-

sist on his being sent back to Geneva, whence

ho had been allowed to go to the waters of

Bourbon for his health. Mar communicated

the proposal also to James, who at once sanc-

tioned his acceptance of the pension, and as-

sured him that his sentiments in regard to

him remained unaltered. Notwithstanding this

assurance, however, there is every reason to

believe that James, not without good grounds,

had begun to suspect his fidelity; and as he

could clearly perceive that Mar had already

taken his resolution to close with the govern-

ment, he might consider it his wisest policy to

conceal his displeasure, and not to break at

once with a man who had so much in his

power to injure him and his friends.

Having thus succeeded in their advances to

Mar, the government, on receiving information

of the consjiiracy in which Atterbury was con-

cerned, sent a gentleman to Paris in May, 1722,

with a letter to Mar from Lord Carteret. This

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 177—206.

gentleman received instructions to sound Mar
as to his knowledge of the intended plot. On
arriving at Paris, the messenger, (who, it is

understood, was Colonel Churchill,) sent a

letter to Mar requesting a private interview.

DiUon was present when tliis letter was deliv-

ered, and on reading it, Mar says he showed it

to DiUon, upon wliich it was arranged that

Mar should instantly call upon the person who
had -ivritten the letter, and that DiUon should

remain in the house till ilar's return, when the

object and nature of the interview would be

communicated to liim. On Mar's return he

and DUlon consulted together, and they both

thought that the incident was a lucky one, as

it afforded Mar an opportunity of doing James's

affairs a good service by leading the govern-

ment off the true scent, and thereby prevent

further inquiries. They thereupon di'ew up a

letter with that view, to be sent by Mar in

answer to Carteret's communication, which

being approved of by another person in the

confidence of the Chevalier, was sent by Mar
to the bearer of Carteret's letter. Mar immedi-

ately sent an account of the affair to James and

the Duke of Ormond, and shortly received a

letter from the former, dated 8th June, 1722,

in which he expressed himself entirely satisfied

with the course pursued by Mar on the occasion.

To justify himself still farther. Mar states, that

among the vouchers of his exculpation, there

was the copy of another letter from James,

written by him to one of his agents at Paris,

wherein he justifies and approves of Mar's con-

duct, and expresses his regret for the aspersions

which had been cast upon the earl about the

plot.

Though James thus continued to profess his

usual confidence in Mar's integrity, he had,

ever since he became acquainted with his

pecuniary obligations to Stair, resolved to wiih-

draw that confidence from bim by degrees, and

in such a manner as might not be prejudicial

to the adherents of the exiled family in Great

Britain. B\it Mar, who, as James observed,'

had put himself under such engagements that

he coidd not any longer serve him in a public

manner, and who, from the nature of these

engagements, should have declined all know-

" Letterlo Mr. Lockhart, 31st August, 1724. Lock-

h^irt Papers, vol. ii. p. 131.
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ledge of James's secrets, continued to meddle

with kis affairs as fonnerly, by taking the

direction and management of those intrusted

to Dillon, the confidential agent of James and

the English Jacobites. In this way was Mar

enabled for several years, when distrusted by

James, to compel him in a manner to keep

on good terms with him. From the natural

timidity of James, and liis anxiety to avoid an

open breach with Mar, it is difficult to say how

long matters might have remained in this

awkward state, had not the attention of the

Scottish Jacobites been drawn to Mar's pension

by the report of the parliamentary committee

concerning the conspiracy; and the represents^

tions of the Bishop of Eochester respecting

Mar's conduct, shortly after his arrival in

France, brought matters to a crisis. In the

letter last referred to, James thus intimates to

Mr. Lockhart the final dismissal of Mar. " I

have been always unwilling to mention Mar,

but I find myself indispensably engaged at

present to let my Scots friends know that I

have withdrawn my confidence entirely from

him, as I shall be obliged to do from all who

may be any ways influenced by him. This

conduct is founded on the strongest and most

urgent necessity in which my regard to my
faithful subjects and servants have the greatest

share. Wliat is here said of Mar is not with

a view of its being made public, there being

no occasion for that, since, many years ago, he

put himself under such engagements that he

could not serve me in a public manner, neither

has ho been publicly employ'd by me."

The charges made by Atterbury against Mar
were, Imo, That about the time he, the bishop,

was sent prisoner to the Tower, Mar had written

him a letter which was the cause of his banish-

ment. 2do, That he had betrayed the secrets

of the ChevaUer de St. George to the British

government, and had entered into a corre-

spondence with them. 3(io, That he had ad-

vised the Chevalier to resign his right to the

crown for a pension ; and lastly, that without

consulting James, he drew up and presented a

memorial to the Duke of Orleans, containing a

plan, which, under the pretence of restoring

liim, would, if acted upon, have rendered his

restoration for ever impracticable.

To imderstand the nature of the last charge

against Mar, that he laid the scheme before the

Eegent of France with a design to ruin James,

Mar refers to the plan itself for his justifica-

tion. The expidsion of the Stuarts from the

British throne had been always looked upon

by the French court as an event which, by

dividing the nation into rival factiens, would

enable France to humble and weaken an ancient

and formidable rival. To encourage the Jacob-

ites and Tories in their opposition to the new

dynasty, and to embroil the nation in a civil

war, the French ministry repeatedly promised

to aid them in any attempts they might make

to overturn the government ; but true to the

line of policy they had laid down for them-

selves, of allowing the opposing parties in the

state to weaken each other's strength in their

contest for ascendency, they sided with the

weaker party only to prolong the struggle, in

the hope that, by thus keeping alive the spirit

of discontent, France might be enabled to

extend her power, and carry into effect hai

designs of conquest.

To remove the objections which such a

policy opposed to the restoration of James,

Mar proposed that, upon such event taking

place, Scotland and Ireland should be restored

to their ancient state of independence, and

protected in their trade, and thereby enabled,

as they would be inclined, to support "the

king in such a manner as he'd be under no

necessity of entering into measures contrary to

his inclinations to gratify the caprices, and

allay the factions of his English subjects."'

He also proposed that a certain number of

French forces should remain in Britain after

James was restored, tUl he had modelled and

established the government on this footing,

and that 5,000 Scots and as many Irish troops

should be lent to the French king, to be kept

by him in pay for a certain nivmber of years.

Mar was fully aware that such a scheme would

be highly unpopular in England, on which

account he says, that although he had long

ago formed it, he took no steps therein during

the life of Cardinal Dubois, whom he knew

to be particularly attached to the existing

government of Britain ; but that obstacle being

removed, he laid it before the regent of France,

" Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 183.
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who, he says, lie had reason to helieve, received

it with approbation, as he sealed it up, and

addressed it to the Duke of Bourbon, and

recommended it to his care. To excuse him-

self for laying the scheme before the Duke of

Orleans without the Chevalier's knowledge, he

states that he did so to prevent James, in case

of the scheme being discovered, being blamed

by those who, for particular reasons, would be

displeased at it; but that immediately after

the delivery he acquainted James thereof, and

sent him a copy of it, and at the same time

represented to htm the absolute necessity of

keeping it secret. Notwithstanding this in-

junction. Colonel Hay sent a copy of it to the

Bishop of Rochester, and Mar attributes the

bad feeling wliich Atterbury afterwards dis-

played towards him, to the proposal he made

for restoring Scotland to her independence.

The memorial was presented by Mar to the

Duke of Orleans in September, 1723; but so

little secrecy was observed, that, in the month

of January following, a statement appeared in

the public newspapers, that a certain peer, then

in Paris, had laid a plan before the regent

for restoring the exiled family. Though the

British government must have been aware, or

at all events must have suspected, after such a

notification, that Mar was the author of the

scheme, his pension was still continued, and

they even favoured him still more by allowing

the family estate, which was exposed to sale,

to fall again into the hands of the family on

favourable terms.

On reviewing the whole circumstances of

Max's conduct, evolved by Atterbury's charges,

it must be admitted that his justification is far

from being complete. From the position in

which he placed himself as a debtor of Stair,

and a pensioner of the British government, he

could no longer be trusted vrith safety by his

Jacobite colleagues, and as he had come under

an obhgation, as a condition of his pension,

not to act in behalf of the Stuarts, he was

hound in honour to have abstained from all

farther interference in their afiairs ; but for

reasons only known to himself, he continued

to act as if no alteration of his relations with

the exiled famity had taken place since he was
first intrusted by them. Selfish in his dispo-

sition, and regardless whether the Chevalier de

St. George, or the Elector of Hanover wore

the cro'svn, provided his ambition was gratified,

it is probable that, without harbouring any

intention to betray, he wished to preserve an

appearance of promoting the interests of the

Stuarts, in order that the compact which he

had entered into with the British government,

might, in the event of a restoration of that

family, form no bar to his advancement under

a new order of things ; but whatever were his

views or motives, his design, if he entertained

any such as has been supposed, was frustrated

by his disgrace in 1725.

The breach with Mar was looked upon by

some of the Jacobites as a rash act on the part

of the Chevaher, and they considered that he

had been sacrificed to gratify Colonel Hay,

between whom and Mar an irreconcilable

difference had for some time existed. This

opinion had a pernicious influence upon the

councils of the Chevalier, and to the rupture

with Mar may be attributed the daiouemeni

of an unhappy difierence between James and

his consort, which, for a time, fixed the atten-

tion of all the European courts.

In the year 1720 the Chevalier de St. George

had espoused the Princess Clementina, grand-

daughter of John Sobiesld, king of Poland,

who had born him two sons, viz. Charles

Edward, celebrated for his exploits in 1745,

and Henry Benedict, afterwards known as

Cardinal York. ^ Prince Charles was placed

under the tuition of one Mrs. Sheldon, who,

it is said, obtained a complete ascendency over

the Princess Clementina. As alleged by the

partisans of Colonel Hay, she was entirely

devoted to Mar, and served him as a spy in

the family. To counteract the rising influence

of Hay, she is represented to have incited the

princess against him to such a degree, as to

render the whole household a scene of con-

stant disturbance. But whatever may have

been the condiict of Mrs. Sheldon, there is

good reason for believing that the cause of irri-

tation proceeded entirely from the behaviour

of Hay and his lady, who appear not to have

treated the princess with the respect due to

her rank, and who, from the sway they appeal

to have had over the mind of her husband,

' The Prince was bom on 31st December 1720,

—

the Cardinal on 6th March, 1725.
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indulged in liberties which did not become

them.

To relieve herself from the indignities wliich

she aOeged she siiiFered, the princess resolved

to retire into a convent, of wliich resolution

the Chevalier first received notice from a con-

fidante of the princess, who also informed him

that nothing but the dismissal of Colonel Hay
from his service woidd induce her to alter

her resolution. The princess afterwards per-

sonally notified her determination to her hus-

band, who remonstrated with her upon the

impropriety of a step which would prejudice

them in the eyes of their friends, and make

their enemies triumph; but she remained in-

flexible.

Finding the Chevalier fully determined to

retain Colonel Hay in his service, the princess

made preparations for carrying her resolution

into effect; and, accordingly, on the morning

of Thursday, the 15th of November, 1725,

under the pretence of taking an airing in her

carriage, she drove oif to the convent of St.

Cecilia, at Eome, into which she retired, with-

out taking any notice of a long letter, by way

of remonstrance, which her husband had

written her on the 11th.'

The Chevalier was anxious that his friends

should form a favoiirable opinion of the course

he had adopted in resisting the demand of his

wife; and, accordingly, on the morning after

her departure, he assembled all his household,

and explained to them fully the diff'erent steps

he had taken to prevent the extraordinary pro-

ceeding of the princess. He also entered into

a justification of his own conduct, and con-

cluded by assuring them that it should be his

principal care to educate his two sons in such

a manner as might contribute one day to the

happiness of the people he expected to govern.

With the same view, he immediately despatched

copies of the memoir, and of the two letters he

had -written to the princess, to Mr. Lockliart,

to be shown to his friends in Scotland ; but as

the memoir and letters liad been made public,

copies of them were publicly hawked thi'ough

the slTcets of London and Edinburgh, with a

scurrilous introduction, several weelis before

' This letter, anil a previous one, dated 9th Novem-
ber, are published among the Lockhart Papers, vol.

ii. p. '^46.

Mr. LocldiaTt received his communication.

This was done apparently with the approbation

of the government, as the magistrates of Edin-

burgh compelled the porters of the city to ciy

the papers through the streets. ' At first, the

Jacobites imagined that these documents were

forgeries got up by tlie government, to make

the Jacobite cause contemptible in the eyes of

the people; but they were soon undeceived,

and great was their consternation when they

found that the papers in question were gemiine.

The court of Rome seemed to approve of the

Chevaher's conduct in refusing to remove Hay;

but when it was understood that the removal

of Murray, the yc Tng princes' governor, was

considered by their mother even of more im-

portance than the dismissal of Hay, the pope

sent a message to James, intimating that if

Murray were removed and Mrs. Sheldon re-

stored to favour, a reconciliation might be

effected with the princess,—that, however, he

would not insist on Mrs. Sheldon being taken

back, hut that he could not approve of nor

consent to Murray being about the prince.

The Chevalier did not relish such interference^

and returned for answer, that he had no occa-

sion for the pope's advice, and that he did not

consider his consent necessary in an affair which

related to the private concerns of his family.

As James was the pensioner of his holiness,

the answer may be considered rather un-

courteous, but the Chevalier looked upon such

meddling as an insult which his dignity could

not brook. The pope, however, renewed hia

application to bring about a reconciliation, and

with such earnestness, that James became so

uneasy as to express a wish to retire from his

dominions. ^ By the efforts, however, it is be-

lieved, of the princess's friends, aided by the

repeated remonstrances of a respectable portion

of the Jacobites, the Chevalier at length reluc-

tantly dismissed Hay from his service. Ac-

cording to Mr. Lockhart, Hay and his wife

had obtained such a complete ascendency over

the Chevalier, that they had the direction of

all matters, whether pubKc or domestic, and

taking advantage of the confidence which he

reposed in them, they instilled into his mind

' Lockhart Paiicrs, vol. ii. pp. 242—261, 360.

' Letters from the Chevalier to Mr. Lockliart, 3il

Dec. 1725, and 19th Jan. 1726, vol. u. pp. 253 -25i.
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unfavourable impressions of his best friends.

By insinuating that the princess, and every

person that did not truckle to them, were fac-

tious, and tliat their complaints against the

colonel and his lady proceeded from a feeling

of disrespect to himself, his temper became by

degrees soured towards his wife. To escape

from the insolence of these favourites, the

princess, as has been seen, embraced, for a

time, a conventual life; and while some of

the Chevalier's adherents, who had lost their

estates in his service, left his court in disgust,

others were ordered away. It was currently

reported at the time that llrs. Hay was the

king's mistress, and that jealousy on the part

of the Princess Clementina was the cause of

the rupture ; the princess herself in her letters

distinctly speaks of Mrs. Hay as " the king's

mistress," altliough persons who had ample

opportunities of observation could obsei-ve no

impropriety. The pertinacity with which

James clung to his unworthy favourites tended

greatly to injure his affairs.
'

The death of George I., which took place on

Sunday, the 11th June, 1727, while on his

journey to Hanover, raised anew the hopes of

the Chevalier. He was at liologna when this

intelligence reached htm, and so anxious was

he to he nearer England to watch the progress

of events, and to be ready to avail himself of

the services of his friends in Britain to effect

his restoration, that he left Bologna privately

for Lorraiue, the day after the news was brought

him, although the princess, who had just left the

convent, by the advice of her friends, was at the

time on her way from Eome to Bologna to join

him. The journey of the prmcess being publicly

known, the Chevalier availed liimself of the cir-

cumstance to conceal liis real design, by giving

out that he had left Bologna to meet her. On
arriving at Nancy, the ChevaHer despatched

couriers to Vienna, Madrid, and Paris, an-

nouncing the object of his journey, and at the

same time sent a messenger with a letter to

Mr. Lockhart, who, in consequence of a war-

rant being issued by the British government

for his apprehension, had a few months before

taken refuge on the continent, and was then

residing at Liege. Although he expected no

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 339.

assistance from any foreign power, stiU, ha

says, " the present conjuncture appears so

favourable in all its circimistances that had 1

only consulted my own inclinations, I should

certainly out of hand have crossed the seas,

and seen at any rate what I could do for my
ovm and my subjects' delivery; but as on tliis

occasion I act for them as well as myself, and

cannot hope without their concurrence to suc-

ceed in what I may undertake in our mutual

behalf, I find myseK under the necessity of

making no fui'ther steps without their advice.

" 'Tis true the disadvantages I he under are

great and many; I have but a small stock of

money, scarce sufficient to transport what few

arms I have and what officers I may get to

follow me on this occasion. I'm sensible that

it is next to impossible that a concert should be

established amongst my friends at home, such

as would be sufficient for a rising in arms in

my favour before my arrival, and by what is

said before, the little hopes of foreign assistance

will be sufficiently seen ; but with all this,

many arguments may be brought to authorise

an undertaking i^hich at first sight might

appear rash. . . . All put together it must

be concluded that if the present conjuncture is

sKp'd, it cannot be expected that we ever can

have so favorable a one for acting by ourselves,

and that we run the risk of allowing the

general affairs of Europe to be less favorable

to us than they are at present ; so that what-

ever is not absolutely desperate ought certainly

to be undertaken, and the sooner the better.

" I desire therefore you may think seriously

on this matter, and let me have your opinion

as soon as possible, and if my going into Eng-

land be not adviseable, whether my going to

the Highlands of Scotland might not be found

proper." To tliis letter is appended the foUow-

uig postscri})t in James's own handwiiting.

" The contents of this 'will show you the con-

fidence I have in you, and I expect you will

let me know by the bearer, (Allan Cameron.)

yoxir advice and opinion, particularly on this

important occasion."^

From Cameron Mr. Lockhart was surprised

to learn that the ChevaHer, notwithstanding

his certainty that he could look for no foreign

3 Idem, p. 356.
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aid, and that his friends, both in Scotland and

England, had made no preparations to receive

him, was not only inclined, but seemed even

resolved, to repair to the Highlands of Scot-

land, and there raise the standard of insurrec-

tion, and that Colonel Ha}', whom he had so

lately discarded, was one of his counsellors on

the occasion. As Cameron, who had visited

the Highlands some time before, and was well

aware of the almost insuperable difficulties

which opposed themselves to the contemplated

step, seemed to approve of the Chevalier's

design, Mr. Lockhart expressed his wonder

that one who knew the state of the Highlands

80 well, and the determination generally of the

Higlilanders not to take the field again till they

saw England actually engaged, could advise his

master to risk his person, and expose tlie

country and his fi-iends to certain destruction.

He observed, that there were indeed some

persons who would venture their aU in any

attempt headed by the Chevalier in person, but

as matters 'i^en stood, the number of such

persons would be few, and that the great ma-

jority of those that might be expected to join

him would consist of idle persons, actuated

solely by the hopes of plunder, who would

abandon him eventually to the mercy of the

government troops that woiJd be poured into

the Highlands, and that, under the pretence of

punishing the few who had taken up arms,

they would ravage the country and cut off the

inhabitants, for doing which the government

only wanted such a handle.

In accordance with these sentiments, Mr.

Lockhart represented in his answer to the

ChevaUer's letter, that the design he contem-

plated was one of the gi'eatest importance, and

though it was very proper for him to put him-

self in a condition to avail hunself of any

favourable circumstances that might occur, yet

that appearances did not warrant such expecta-

tions,—that the people of England seemed to

have forgot all the grievances under which

they had laboured during the late reign, in

hope of a better order of things, and that until

they found themselves disappointed, he could

expect nothing from them,—^that with regard

to such of the people of Scotland as were

favoiirably disposed, they could not possibly

do any thing without being previously provided

with many material things they stood in need

of, and that before these could be supplied,

many difficulties had to be surmounted and

much time woidd be lost, during which pre-

parations would be made on all hands to crush

them,—that although it would be of advantage

to strike a blow before the government had

time to strengthen itself at home and abroad,

yet the attempt was not advisable without

necessary precautions and pro\asions to insure

its success, as without these such an attempt

would be desperate, and might ruin the cause

for ever,—that no man Hving would be happier

than he (Mr. Lockhart) to see the da\vning of

a fair day, but when every point of the compass

was black and cloudy, he could not but dread

very bad weather, and such as could give no

encom'agement to a traveller to proceed on his

voyage, and might prove the utter rain of him-

self and attendants.* This judicious advice

was not thrown away upon the Chevaher, who

at once laid aside his design of going to Scot-

land, and retired to Avignon, where he pro-

posed to reside under the protection of the

pope; but his stay at Avignon was short, being

obliged to leave that place in consequence, it

is believed, of the representations of the French

government to the court of Eome. He returned

to Italy.

CHAPTEE XXVIII.

A. D. 1739—1745.

sovereign:—George 11., 1727—1760.

Foreign intrigues— Edinburgh .-issociation— Maria

Theresa—Jacobite intrigiies—Dnimraond of Boch-

aldy at Edinburgh, and Murray of Broughton at

Paris—Plan of a French invasion—Prince Charles

Edward, the Chevalier's son, arrives at Paris—Pre-

parations for invasion—Embarkation and failure of

the expedition—Murray of Broughton proceeds to

Paris—Interview with the Prince, who resolves to

proceed to Scotland.

"War having been declared against Spain in

the year 1739, the Chevaher de St. Geo^
despatched Lord Marischal to Madrid to induce

the court of Spain to adopt measures for his

restoration. But however willing Spain might

be to assist him, he was desirous that no

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 360.
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attempt should be made without the concur-

rence of France. * About the same time, that

is, in the beginning of the year 1740, some of

the more zealous and leading Jacobites, in

anticipation of a war with France, held a meet-

ing at Edinburgh, and formed themselves into

an association, by wliich they engaged them-

selves to take arms and venture their lives and

fortunes to restore the family of Stuart, pro-

vided the King of France would send over a

body of troops to their assistance. The associ-

ation, like that which brought over King

William to England, consisted of seven persons,

viz., Lord Lovat, James Drumraond, commonly

called Duke of Perth, the Earl of Traquair, Sir

James Campbell of Auchinbreck, Cameron of

Locliiel, Jolui Stuart, brother to Lord Traquair,

and Lord John Drummond, uncle to the Duke

of Perth. ^ The conspirators despatched Drum-

mond of Bochaldy, or Balhady, (nepliew to

Lochiel,) to Eome with the bond of association,

and a list of those chiefs and chieftains who

were considered by the associates to be favour-

able to the cause. Drummond was instructed

to deliver these papers into the hands of the

Chevalier de St. George, and to entreat him to

procure assistance from France in furtherance

of their design. The project was well received

by James, who, after perusing the papers,

forwarded them immediately by the same mes-

senger to Cardinal Flemy at Paris, with a

request that the court of France would grant

the required assistance. But the cardinal, with

that caution which distinguished him, would

eome under no engagement, but contented

himself at fu-st by a general assurance of con-

ditional support.

The negotiation was, however, persevered

in, but the death of the Emperor Charles VI.,

which happened on the 20th of October, drew

off the cardinal's attention to matters which

' Letters to the Duke of Orraond and Lord Marisohal,

27tli January, 1740, a.mong th& Stuart Papers. Allud-

ing to his expectations of assistance from France, the

Chevalier, in a letter (of which a copy is also in the

same collection,) written to Marischal on the ]lth

January, 1740, while tlio latter was on his way to

Madrid, says, " I am betwixt hopes and fears, though
I think there is more room for the first than the last,

as you will have perceived by what Lord Sempil (so

an active agent of James was called,) has I suppose

writ to you. I conclude I shall sometime next month
Bee clearer into these great affairs."

' Trial of Lord Lovat, p. 21. Home's Rebellion,

p. 21.

appeared to him of greater importance. The

emperor was succeeded in his hereditary domin-

ions by his eldest daughter, Maria Theresa,

married to the Grand-duke of Tuscany, formerly

Duke of Lorraine. Though this princess suc-

ceeded under the title of the pragmatic sanction,

wliich had been guaranteed by England, France,

Spain, Prussia, Eussia, Holland, and the whole

of the Germanic body, with the exception of

the elector-palatine, and the electors of Bavaria

and Saxony, a powerful confederacy was formed

against her by almost all these powers, to strip

her of her dominions.

Alanned at the formidable confederacy formed

against her, the Qaeen of Hungary applied to

Great Britain for succour; but Sir Eobert

Walpole evaded the demand, and recommended

an immediate peace \vith Prussia. The parlia-

ment, as well as the nation, however, had

different views ; and as the minister saw that

he would be compelled to fulfil his engage-

ments to the house of Austria, parliament was

called upon to support the Queen of Hungary,

and maintain the liberties of Europe. The

commons cheerfully voted a sum of £300,000

to enable George II. to fulfil his engagements,

which sum was remitted to the Queen of Hun-

gary, and the contingent of 12,000 Danish

and Hessian troops, which Great Britain had

engaged to furnish, was got in readiness.

Wliile the flames of war were thus spread-

ing over Europe, the situation of the British

ministry was every day becoming more critical

from the clamours of the Tories and the dis-

contented WHiigs. Walpole had triumphed in

both houses on motions for an address to the

king to dismiss liim from his presence and

councils ; but his triumph was short, and the

approach of an election redoubled the efforts

of his enemies. Though the Jacobites required

no incentive to induce them to assist in dis-

placing a minister who had been the chief

obstacle to the restoration of the exiled family

;

yet to make perfectly sure of their aid, Lord

Chesterfield went to France, and by means of

the Duke of Ormond, obtained, it is said, a

circular letter from the Chevalier de St George

to his friends, urging them to do every thing

in their power to ruin Walpole. To encourage

the popular clamour against the minister,

reports, the most absurd and incredible respect
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ing him, were circulated among the people and

believed ; and -while the general discontent

was at its height, the election commenced.

The contests between the two parties were

extremely violent ; but the comitry party,

backed by the adherents of tho Prince of

Wales, who had formed a party against the

minister, prevailed. So powerful was the in-

fluence of the Duke of Argyle, who had lately

joined the opposition, that out of the forty-five

members returned for Scotland, the friends of

the ministry could not secure above sis. Tlie

new parliament met on tho 4th of December,

1741 ; and Walpole, no longer able to contend

with the forces arrayed against liim, retired

from office within a few weeks thereafter.

Encouraged by appearances, and imagining

that some of the old discontented Wliigs who

deprecated the system which had been pursued

since the accession of the house of Hanover,

of maintaining the foreign dominions of the

sovereign at the expense, as they thought, of

the honour and interests of the nation, Drum-

mond of Bochaldy proposed to the Chevalier

to visit England, and make overtures in his

name to the "old "Wbigs."^ Tliis plan was

highly approved of by James, who ivi'ote him

a letter in his own hand, ^vbich was intended

to be exliibited to such persons as might seem

inclined to favoiu' his restoration. This letter

was inclosed in a private letter containing

instructions for the regulation of his conduct

in the proposed negotiation, which it was

intended should be kept an entii'e secret from

the Jacobites, both in England and Scotland.

Erskine of Grange, who enjoj'ed the confidence

of some of the discontented AVliigs, and who
privately favoured the designs of the exiled

fanlily, was pitched upon as a fit jjerson to

iiifike advances to the old Whigs.

'

' This Scheme was first broached by DruinmouJ to

Senipil, another active agent of the Chevalier, and
communicated by him to James, who signified his

approbation of it in a letter to Sempil, dated Nov. 22,

1741. " I approve very ninch in general of our mak-
ing application to tbe old Wbigs, and take it as a new
and great mark of Balhatdy's zeal. The offer lie makes
of being instrumental in that measure, I perused with
satisfaction. WHiat you \vrite on the subject, I shall

consider seriously on it betwixt this and next week
;

I shall by next post send you a packet for Balhaldy,

with all that may appear proper and necessary for me
on that particular."

—

Stuart Papers.
* There is, among the Stuart Paj^ers^ a copy of a

letter from the Chevalier de St. George to Mr. Erskine,

In pursuance of his instructions, Drummond
departed for England about the beginning of

the year 1742, but it does not appear that at

this time he entered upon the subject of his

mission. He came privately to Edinburgh iu

the month of February, and there met some of

the persons who had entered into the associa-

tion, and several others, who, in conjunction

with the original conspirators, had formed

themselves into a society, denominated by

them " the Concert of Gentlemen for manag-

ing the King's aflairs iii Scotland." To these,

among whom was Miu-ray of Broughton,

Drummond represented that, on his retiun

from Eomo, ho had been extremely well re-

ceived by Cardinal Floury, to whom he had

delivered the papers which he had TATied

from Edinburgh,—that the cardinal exprassed

great satisfaction -with the contents of these

papers, had the Pretender's interest so much at

heart, and was so sanguine of his success, that

pro^nded he had sufficient assurances from tho

friends of the exiled family in England, that

they would assist in tho restoration of the

Stuarts, he woidd send over an army of from

13,000 to 15,000 men, the number required.

One division of this force, consisting of 1,500

men, was to be landed on the east coast of

Scotland, at or near Inverness ; another of a

similar amount in the west Higlilands of Scot-

land; and the main body, which was to con-

sist of 10,000 or 12,000 men, was to be landed

as near London as possible. He added, that,

provided assistance could be obtained in Eng-

land, the projected invasion might be put in

execution the following autumn. Before leav-

ing Edinburgh, Drummond had an interview

vnih Cameron of Lochiel, who came to town

at his desu-e, and to whom he communicated

the result of his mission to Eome and Paris. ^

After a short stay at Edinburgh, Drummond
returned to Paris, where, according to his own

account, as communicated in letters to Lord

Traquair and Locliiel, he had an audience of

the cardinal, to whom he represented matters

in such a favourable light that he promised to

carry his design of invasion into effect in a

very short time. The French minister, how-

13th March, 1740, thanking him for the zeal be had
shown in his cause.

" Lord Lovat's Trial, p. 70.
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ever, though he appears to liave seriously con-

templated such a step, was not j-et in a condi-

tion to come to an open ruptm-e with England

;

and to postpone the enterprise, he proposed to

Drummond that an appKcation should he made

to Sweden for a hody of troops to invade Scot-

land, and that a person from Scotland, along

with another person from France whom the

cardinal would appoint, should he sent thither

to \irge the application at the Swedish court.

The cardinal gave as his reason for thus devi-

ating from his original plan, that the Swedes

heing Protestants, would be more agreeable to

the people of Scotland than French or Irish

troops. In accordance 'n'ith this proposal, Lord

Traquair suggested that Mun-ay of Broughton

should he sent to Sweden on the proposed

mission, hut he declined. ^

From the turn which the affair of the inva-

sion had now taken, and the time when it was

expected to take place heing allowed to elapse

without any preparations on the part of France,

a suspicion hegan to he entertained hy the

members of the Concert, that the cardinal

nciver had any intention to invade Scotland,

and that the whole was a scheme of Drum-

mond's to keep alive the spirit of party in

Scotland, and to make himself pass for useful

in the ej'es of his employers. To ascertain the

real state of the case, ilurray of Broughton, at

the suggestion of Lord Traquair, was sent to

Paris in the month of Januarj', 1743. He
took London on his way, but before he reached

the capital, he heard of the death of Cardinal

Fleury. After staying a short time in London,

Murray went privately to Paris, where he

met Drummond and SempU, who managed the

Chevalier's affairs in France. They stated to

him, that in all probability the scheme of in-

vasion would have been carried into effect, had

not the army of Marslial Maillebois been sent

towards Hanover instead of the coast of Flan-

ders, as at first intended ; and that from the

interest taken by the cardinal in the affairs of

the Stuarts, he had put all the papers relating

to them into the hands of Monsieur Amelot,

the secretary for foreign affaire.

'

At an audience which Murray afterwards

had with Monsieur Amelot at Versailles, the

' Lord Lovat's Trial, p. 70. ' Idem.

foreign secretary told him that, on being made

acquainted by SempU (vith the cause of Mur^

raj''s journey, he had informed the King of

France of it, and that his majesty had author-

ised him to assure Mr. Murray that he had the

interest of the Stuart family as much at heart

as any of the gentlemen who had signed the

memorial of association, and that as soon as he

had an opportunity he would put the scheme

into execution.^

Shortly after this interview, Murray left

Paris for London, accompanied by Drummond,
who came over to obtain the assurances required

by the French court from the English Tories

and Jacobites. After remaining a few days in

London, Murray returned to Edinburgh, to

report to his friends the result of his mission.

Drummond stopped at London, where he met

Mr. Erskine of Grange,* hut although overtures

were then, it is believed, made to Lord Barry-

more, Sir John Hynde Cotton, and Sir WatkLu

"Williams Wynne, they declined to give any

assurance or promise of support in writing.

By desire of Drummond, Lord Traquair met

him in London shortly after his arrival to

assist him in his negotiations. *

At first view it may appear singular, and the

circumstances must convey a very sorry idea of

the coimcils of the Chevaher de St. George,

that a person of so little weight and influence

as Drummond, who was utterly unknoivii to

the English Tories and Jacobites, should have

been sent on such an important mission; but

when it is considered that some of the leading

Jacobites were proscribed and in exile, and

that those at home were strictly watched by

the government, and were therefore afraid to

commit themselves by any overt act, it cannot

excite surprise that the Chevalier availed him-

self of the services of one whom he considered

"an honest and sensible man."^ Drummond

' Idem.
* Tlie Chevalier alludes to this meeting in a letter

to Senipil, 9th April, 1743; and in another of 16th
May following, he mentions a long paper which Mr.
Erskine had sent him on the state of affairs.

—

Stuart

Papers.
' Letter from the Chevalier to Sempil, 24th Maj-,

1743.

—

StiMrt Papers.
« Letter to SempU, 16th March, 1740,— Stuart

Papers. Drummond was not the only person employed
by the Chevalier about this time to visit his friends in

England. A Colonel Bret, and afterwards a Colonel

Cecil, with both of whom James corresponded, made

3 s
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was, however, considered, even hj liis original

employers, as a person unfit to execute the

trust reposed in him, and Lord John Drum-

mond, one of the seven who had signed the

association, was quite indignant when he found

him engaged in the mission to EnglandJ Nor

was SempU, hetween whom and Drummond a

close intimacy subsisted, more aceeptahle to

the Scottish Jacobites, some of whom he of-

fended by his forwardness.'

During the earlier part of the year 1743, tlie

French ministry were too much occupied with

the war in Germany to pay much attention to

the affairs of the Stuarts ; but towards the

close of that year they began to meditate an

invasion of Great Britain. The British parlia-

ment met in the beginning of December, when

a motion was made in the house of peers by

the Earl of Sandwich, for an address to the

crown to discontinue the Hanoverian troops in

British pay, in order to remove the national

discontent, which was represented to be so

violent, that nothing but their dismission could

appease it. The motion was negatived, but

renewed in another shape on the army estimates

being brought forward, when it shared the

same fate. The attention of the French min-

istry being dra'^vn to these and similar discus-

sions, and to the general dissatisfaction which

seemed to pervade the people of Great Britain,

by the agents and partizans of the exiled family,

backed by the influence of Cardinal Tencin,

entered upon the project of an invasion in good

earnest. The cardinal, who now had great

influence in the councils of France, had, while

trequent journeys to England. The Duchess of Buck-
ingliam m.ade many unsolicited trips to Paris to hasten

Cardinal Fleury's motions, but James was by no means
satisfied with her officiousness. In writing to her on
20th July, 1741, he cautions her as follows :

— ** I must
seriously recommend to you not to importune the old

gentleman too much. AVlien you have given him
what lights and ioformation have come to your know-
ledge, all the good is done, for in the present situation

one would think he should want no spur to befriend

us, and in all events he will go on in his own way,

while teazing him can serve for nothing but to make
him peevish and out of humour." The duchess must
have been possessed of some important papers, as

James, in a letter to Sempil, {2d May, 1743,) written

shortly after her death, expresses his concern lest her

papers should fall into the hands of the government.

—

Stuart Papers.
' Letter from Lord John to .Secretary Edgar among

the Stuart Papers, Feb. 25th, 174-3.

' Letter from Lord Marischal to Lord John Drum-
mond. —SitMirt Papers, Feb. 12th, 1743.

a resident at Eome, been particularly noticed

by the Chevalier de St. George, by whose ui-

fluence he had been raised to the cardinalate,

and he was moved as much by gratitude to

his patron as by ambition to bring about the

restoration of the Stuarts. The court of Ver-

sailles, indeed, required little inducement to

engage in an enterprise which, whether it suc-

ceeded or not, would at all events operate as a

diversion in favour of France in her contest

with the house of Austria, whose chief sup-

port was Great Britain ; but it is not im-

probable that they at this time contemplated

a more serious attempt. In intimating, how-

ever, liis resolution to undertake the expedition,

the King of France notified to the Chevalier

de St. George that it was to be kept a profound

secret, and that neither the Duke of Ormond

nor Lord Marischal should be told, till the

enterprise was ready to be put into execution.

The command of the troops designed for

this expedition, amounting to 15,000 men, was

given to the celebrated Marshal Saxe; and the

naval part, consisting of thirteen ships of the

line, besides transports, collected at Dunkirk,

Calais, and Boulogne, was intrusted to Mon-

sieur de Eoquefeuille, an officer of considerable

experience and capacity. This force was des-

tined for the coast of Kent, and a smaller force

was to be landed in Scotland tmder the com-

mand of Lord Marischal.

Wliile the preparations for the expedition

were going on. Cardinal Tencin kept up an

active correspondence with the Chevalier de

St. George. As James felt rather disinclined

to accompany the expedition himself, he pro-

posed that his eldest son, Charles, then in his

twenty-third year, shoidd go in his stead ; but

as it was doubtful whether the prince would

arrive in time to join the expedition, the Che-

valier sent an express to the Duke of Ormond

requesting him to accompany the expedition,

and to act as regent, by virtue of a commission

of regency formerly granted him, until the

prince should arrive. On arriving in England,

the duke was directed to advise with the princi-

pal friends of the famOy, among whom he

particularly enumerated the Duke of Beaufort,

the Earls of Barrymore, Westmoreland, and Or-

rery, Lord Cobham, and Sirs Watkin WiUiams

Wynne, John Hynde Cotton, and Eobert Abdy
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Having obtained the consent of the French

court to this arrangement, the cardinal, upon

the completion of the preparations for the ex-

pedition, despatclied a messenger to Rome to

request the attendance of the young prince at

Paris. Accordingly, on the morning of tlie

9th of January, 1744, Prince Charles, accom-

panied by his brother Henry and two or three

attendants, left Rome before break of day, but

they had not proceeded far when they parted,

the prince on his route to France and the duke

to Cisterna. ^ The former was disguised as a

Spanish courier, and took only one servant

along ynth him on his journey. To account

for the departure of the two brothers, it was

given out at Eome that they had gone to a

boar hunt, and so well was the secret of the

prince's real destination kept, that nearly a

fortnight elapsed before it was discovered. ^

Provided with passports fui'nished by Car

dinal Aquaviva, the prince travelled through

Tuscany and arrived at Genoa. From Genoa

he proceeded to Savona, where he embarked

in a felucca, and passing by Monaco arrived at

Autibes. From the latter place he proceeded

to Paris, where he met Marshal Saxe and

other officers belonging to the expedition, and

after a private audience of the French king,

he set out incognito for the coast of Picardy.

Tlie route by Genoa and Antibes was selected

as the safest, and, from the season of the year,

the most expeditious ; but so unfavourable was

the weather, that the prince had to stop some

days at different places, and when he reached

Antibes he was recognised, and information of

his arrival there and of his departure for Paris

was sent to the British government by persons

in its interest. Hitherto the British ministry

do not appear to have had any suspicion that

the armaments at Brest, Boulogne, and other

French ports, were destined for the shores

of Britain, but the appearance of the eldest

son of the Chevalier de St. George in France

• "My children," says James in a letter to Sempil,

9tli January, 1744, "parted both this morning from
hence before day, the duke for Cisterna and the prince

for his long journey. We have been at so much pains

and contrivance to cover it, that I hope the secret will

be kept for some days, perhaps for several. "

—

Stuart
Papers.

' AlludiTiE: to the discovery, James says, (letter to

Sempil, 3od January, 1744,) that it made "a great

noise, a.s you may believe, here," viz. at Home.

—

Htuari Papers.

opened their eyes to the dangers which now
menaced them. At this time the military force

in England did not exceed 6,000 men, so that

if the threatened invasion had taken place, the

result might have been disastrous to the reign-

ing family. ^

Meanwhile, the French fleet, consisting of

15 sliips of the line and 5 frigates, under M.
de Roquefeuille, sailed from Brest, and for

several days displayed itself in the channel.

Knowing the object for which these ships had
put to sea, the government was greatly alarmed,

and not without cause ; for, besides the paucity

of troops in the island, they had only six ships

of the line at home ready for sea, the grand

fleet being then in the Mediterranean. The
activity and preparations of the government

corresponded with the magnitude of the danger

with which it was threatened. Orders wore

instantly sent to tit out and man all the ships

of war in the different ports of the cliannel.

These orders were so promptly obeyed, that in

a few days an English fleet of three ships of

100 gims, four of 90, six of 70, and six of 50,

was collected at Spithead under the command
of Sir John Norris. ^ Several regiments were

immediately marched to the southern coast of

England ; aU governors and commanders were

ordered to repair forthwith to their respective

posts ; the forts at the mouth of the Thames
and Medway were put in a posture of defence

;

and the militia of Kent were directed to assem-

ble to defend tlie coast in case of an invasion.

' About this time, if we may believe the accounts
of the Stuart party, the spirit of Jacobitism was widely
diffused in Scotland. " The violentest Whigs, " saya
Jlr. John Stuart in a letter to Secretary Edgar from
Boulogne, in February, 1744, "are become the most
zealous Jacobites. My friend says that the last night
of the year with us (that is to say, the prince's birth-

night,) was celebrated there (in Scotland) as publicly
as we could do it here,—that he was himself in a

numerous company of people of fashion, amongst
whom were several officers of the army,— that the
health of the day, the merry meeting, and a whole
train of such, were drunk publicly,—that about the
third hour, when the third bottle had banished all

reserve, servants were turned out and the doors loclct,

one of the company made a speech, and filled a

bumper to the TL'Storation, and damnation to every

one that would not help ; the whole stood to their

feet, drunk the (some words are here torn away in the

original,) and their hands to their swords : the officers

pulled the cockades out of their hats, trampled them
under feet, and then tossed them into the fire ; then
called for music, and serenaded the ladies with loyal

tunes, songs," &c.

—

Stuart Papers,
^ Memoirs of Europe, vol. ii. p. 197.
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On the 15th of February, the arrival of

Prince Charles in France, the preparations

along the French coast, and the appearance of

the French fleet in the English channel, were

announced to parliament in a message from tlie

king. Both houses joined in an address, in

wliich they declared their indignation at the

design formed in favour of " a popish preten-

der," and assured his majesty they would take

measures to frustrate so desperate and insolent

an attempt. The city of London, the univer-

sities of Oxford and Camhridge,* the principal

to\vns in Great Britain, almost all the corpora-

tions and communities of the kingdom, the

clergy of the estaljHslunent, the dissenting

ministers, and the Quakers, or Society of

Friends, presented similar addresses. A demand

was made from the States-general of the 6,000

auxiliaries which hy treaty they had engaged

to furnish on such occasions ; and this force

was immediately granted. Forgetful of the

wrongs which he had suffered at the hands of

the govermnent, the Earl of Stair tendered his

services, and was reappointed commander-in-

chief of the forces in Great Britain. Several

noblemen of the first rank followed his exam-

ple, among whom was the Duke of Montague,

who was permitted to raise a regiment of horse.

Orders were sent to bring over the 6,000 British

troops fi-om Flanders ; and both houses of

parliament, in a second address, exhorted the

king to augment liis forces by sea and land, in

such manner as he should think necessary at

tlds dangerous juncture of affairs. The habeas

corpus act was suspended for six months

;

several suspected persons were taken into cus-

tody ; the usual proclamation was issued for

putting the laws in execution against the

unfortunate Catholics and nonjurors, who were

ordered to retire ten miles from London ; and

every other precaution, deemed necessary for

the preservation of the public tranquillity; was

adopted. *

Meanwhile the preparations for invasion

were proceeding rapidly at Boulogne and Dun-

* The Chevalier de St. George drew up an address

to both universities. It bears the same date (23d De-

cember, 1743,) as the two declarations published in

1745. This address was not published.

—

Stuart Pa-
pers.

' Pmollett's History of England, vol. iii. book ii.

chap. 5.

kirk, under the eye of Prince Charles. EoquO'

feuille had in his excursion in the channel

come in siglit of Spithead ; and, as he could

perceive no ships there, he ijuagined that the

English ships had retired within their har-

bours. Judging the opportunity favourable,

he detached M. de Barriel with five ships of

war to hasten the embarkation at Dunkirk,

and to order the transports thereupon to put

to sea. Roquefeuille then sailed up the chan-

nel with the remainder of his fleet as far as

Dungeness, a promontory on the coast of Kent,

off which he anchored to await the arrival of

the transports. Having received intelligence

of EoquefeuiUe's arrival from an English frigate

which came into the Do'ivns, Sir John Norris

left Spithead with the British fleet, and

doubling the South Foreland from the Do^vns,

on the 23d of February discovered the French

fleet at anchor. Though the wind was against

liim. Sir John endeavoured, by availing him-

self of the tide, to come up and engage the

French squadron ; but the tide failing, he was

obliged to anchor when about two leagues from

the enemy. He intended to attack them next

morning, but M. de Eoquefeuille, not judging

it advisable to risk an engagement, weighed

anchor after sunset, and favoured by a hard

gale of wind from the north-east which blew

during the night, ran do\vn the channel and

got into Brest harbour. So violent was the

gale, that aU the English fleet (two ships only

excepted,) parted with their cables and were

driven out to sea, and before they could have

returned to their station, the ti'ansports, under

convoy of the five ships of war despatched by

EoquefeuiUe, might have disembarked the

army under Marshal Saxe had the storm not

reached the French coast ; but the tempest,

which merely forced the English ships to quit

their moorings, was destructive to the expedi-

tion, and utterly disconcerted the design of

invading England.

On the very day on which the two fleets

discovered each other. Marshal Saxe, accom-

panied by Charles Edward, arrived at Dun-

kirk, and proceeded to get his troops emliarked

as fast as possible ; 7,000 men were actually

shipped, and proceeded to sea that day with a

fair wind, but in the evening the wind changed

to the east, and blew a hurricane. The embark-
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Btion ceased, several of the transports which

had put to sea were wrecked, many soldiers

*nd seamen perished, and a considerable quan-

tity of warlike stores was lost. The remainder

of the transports were damaged to such an

extent that they could not be speedily re-

paired

Such was the result of an expedition planned

with great judgment and conducted witli such

secrecy as to have escaped the vigilance of the

government till on the very eve of its being

carried into execution. After the discomfiture

it had met with from the elements, and the

foiToidable attitude which England, aroused to

a sense of the imminent danger she was in,

had now assumed, the Erench court must have

instantly abandoned, as it is believed it did

abandon, any idea of renewing the enterprise

;

hut Charles Edward, sanguine of success, and

in no shape discouraged by the catastrophe

which had happened, daily importuned Marshal

Saxe to re-embark his troops and proceed to

England; but the marshal excused himself,

by urging the necessity of fresh instructions

froia court and the pre-v^ious repair of tlie

'I;im;iged transports.* Tlie French ministry,

however, finally resolved to postpone the expe-

dition.

Although war may be said to have virtually

conmiencod between Great Britain and France

by the battle of Dettingen, which was fought

between the allies and the French in the

month of Jiuio, 1 "43, no formal declaration of

war was issued by eiiher power till the month
of March foUo^nng. after the expedition again-^t

England had been given up.

After the failure and abandonment of the

enterprise. Prince Charles retired to Gravclines,

y'jcre he lived several months in private, under

-he assumed name of the Chevalier Douglas.

Ever since his arrival in Franco he had been

forced by the French court to preserve an in-

cognito, which, though highly approved of by
Diummond and Sempil, his father's agents,

was productive of great uneasiness to the

Chevalier de St. George, who could not undcr-

' The M.irshal, in answer to a querulous note sent
by the prince on 11th of llarch, says in his answer on
thelStli, "Vcus ne poiivez, Jlonseigneur, accuser
quo Ics vents et la fortune des contretemps qui nous
arrivent." But ho promises after the sliips were re-

fitted to proceed with the expedition.—5<«art Pajicrs.

stand the reason for aifectirg to conceal a fact

which was notorious to all the worlii ^

The preparations for invasion had raised,

not without foundation, great hopes of a

restoration in tlie minds of the Scottish

Jacobites; but when they ascertained that the

expedition was relinquished, they felt all that

bitterness of disappointment which the mis-

carriage of any clieiished scheme is svire to

engender. They did not however despair of

effecting their object ultimately, and, in the

meantime, the leading members of the Concert

despatched a messenger to the prince to assure

liim of their attachment to his cause, and in-

form him of the state of the country and the

dispositions of the people. * About the same

' James, however, at first approved of the incognito.
Writing to Sempil, on 10th March, 1744, he observes,

"The prince will have been tired with his conline-

raent; but, as matters stand, the French court was
mncli in the right to keep him private, tho' that will

not, it is true, hinder the Elector of Hanover from
taking the alarm, and his measures against the inva-
sion." His views were different when writing I)rum-
mond on l'2th June. After complaining of the dis-

agreeable way in which the prince had been employed
on his first arrival at Gravelines, (of which no parti-

culars are given,) he continues, " I shall not be easy
till I know the prince is out of his strange and long
confinement and incognito, which must be so uneasy
to him, and, I think, does little honor to the King of

France, while it must carry something very odd with
it in the eye of the public. But there were, to bo
sure, reasons for it which the public never knew, but
I hope I shall at last."

—

Stuart Papers.
^ The arrival of this messenger, whose name was

Blair, was announced by Drummond of Bochaldy U,

the prince's father, in a letter, dated 30th July, 1741:—"Yesterday night there arrived here, (-it Dunkirk.)
a gentleman from Scotland sent by tho Duke of Perth,

Lord Traquair, ami young l.otliitl, to inform the

prince of the state and disposition of that country,

aud th'j h.^zard the claus run by Lord Jolm Drum-
mond attempting to raise a regiment in your majesty's

name, which he gloriously aveiTed to every particular,

was by his majesty's command and order; but the
dangerous effect of this was jirevented by the gentlc-

nien of the Concert, their prudence and influence in

allowing nobody of any distinctiou to give either

countenance or credit to it except his brother, who, it

seems, they could not hinder from going such lengths
as brought troops .about him, and forced him to ab-

scond, till such time as the government came to under-
stand that the view was absolutely private in Lord
John, and that the using your majesty's name was au
imposition for private ends, which the clans had dis-

appointed as much as they could. It would appear
exaggeration to rej^eat to your m.ajesty the accounts

this gentleman brings of the real spirit and forward-

ness every man showed on hearing tliat the prince was
coming to them, and what an univer.sal melancholy
succeeded that flow of spirits on being made certain of

a disappointment. "

—

Stuart Papers.

It appears from the Chevalier's answer (28th August,
17441, to the ab.nx-mtnlioned letter, that Lord John
Drummond was authorised to raise the regiment:

—



510 GENEEAX HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

time Murray of Brougliton went to Paris, by

advice of the Earl of Traquair, to ascertain the

exact situation of aifairs. Here lie was intro-

duced to the prince by Drummond and SenipiL

At a private inter^'iew which he had with

Charles the following day, ISIurray stated, that

from the absurd and contradictory nature of

the communications made by the prince's

agent at Paris, they had, as it appeared to

him, a design to impose upon him with the

intention of serving themselves. Charles

alluded to the association which had been

formed at Edinburgh, said that he did not

doubt that the King of France intended to

invade Britain in the ensuing spring,—that he

was already preparing for it, and intended to

execute it as soon as the campaign in Flanders

was over; but that whether the King of France

undertook the expedition or not, he himseK

was determined to go to Scotland. Murray,

thereupon, endeavoured to show him that such

an attempt wotdd be desperate, as he could

not at the utmost expect to be joined by more

than 4,000 or 5,000 men; but notwithstanding

Murray's representations, Charles repeated his

determination of going to Scotland. Murray

says that he was so much against the under-

taking, that he spoke to Sir Thomas Sheridan

—an Irish gentleman who enjoyed the prince's

confidence— to endeavour to persuade him

against it, and that Sir Thomas told him, on

his arrival in Scotland, that he had done so,

but to no purpose. On returning to Scotland

Murray reported to the members of the asso-

ciation aU that had passed at the conference

with the prince; and iill of them, except the

Duke of Perth, declared themselves opposed

to the prince's resolution of coming to Scot-

land without troops.^ Muri'ay then wrote a

**I remarked what you said last post in relation to

Lord John : he had my approhation for e-ndeavouring

to raise a Scots regiment in the French service; and
as I think that in general the more troops there be of

my subjects in that service, the better. I must re-

commend to you not to take any steps to obstruct the

raising of the said regiment. "

—

Stuart Papers.
' The prince's design was rumoured at Paris, and

communicated by Sempil to the Chevalier, who, in

his answer, dated 23d February, 1745, remarks as fol-

lows:—"I am noways surprised that some French
people should have a notion of the prince's going to

Scotland without troops, tho' nobody surely can enter

into such an idea except out of ignorance, and from
not knowing tho true state of things. But I am
always alarmed at it, because I think it impossible

letter to Charles, stating the opinion of his

friends, and representing the ruinous conse-

quences which might ensue from such a rash

imdertaking. This letter was committed to

the care of a gentleman who went to London

in the month of January, 1745; but he

neglected to forward it, and it was returned to

Murray in the month of April. Murray made

several attempts afterwards to forward the

letter to France, and at last succeeded; but it

never came to the hands of the prince, who

departed for Scotland before the letter reached

its destination.

During the spring of 1745, the agents of

the Chevalier de St. George renewed their soli-

citations at the French court for another expe-

dition; but Louis and his ministers were too

much occupied with preparations for the

campaign in Flanders to pay much attention

to such applications. They however continued

to amuse the Jacobite negotiators with assur-

ances of conditional support; but James began

to perceive that little or no reliance coidd be

placed upon such promises. To relieve him-

self from the ennui occasioned by the failure

of the expedition, and the state of seclusion in

which he was kept by the French government,

and to obtain some knowledge of militaiy tac-

tics, Charles applied for permission to make a

campaign with the French army in Flanders;

but although he was warmlj' backed in hiii

application by his father, Loui^ refused to ac-

cede to his wish. Thoutrh Cnvstrated in his

expectations of any immediate aid from Franco,

and denied the triBing giatilicatiou of making

a campaign, Charles manifested little of the

! restlp?sncsR nnd hauteur wliich ho afterwards

displayed on lus return from Scotland. Though

he had much reason, as ho observed, "to b«

out of humour," ho resolved, notwithstanding,

to boar with patience the disappointrr.eitt<i

which he had experienced.

'

that the King of France should approve of such a pro-

ject, and that it is well known how much I should

myself be averse to it. However, it wUl be always

well that you use your best endeavours to refute so

dangerous a scheme, and that nobody can do more
solidly and effectually than yourself, from the lights

and knowledge you have of the affairs of Britain ;
and

I own, tUl I see the contrary, I shall, as long as the

war lasts, always hope that the French will take at

last some generous resolution in our favour."

—

Stuart

Papers.
1 Stuart Papers, February and March, 1745.
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To ease his mind from the anxieties which

pressed upon it, the Duke of Fitzjames and

other friends of his family, invited the prince

to pass the spring at their country-seats in the

neighbourhood of Paris, where, amid the society

of liis friends and rural recreations, he seemed,

for a time, to forget the object for wliich he

had come to France.

CHAPTEE XXIX.

;—George II., 1727—1760.

Preparations—Departure of the expedition—Incidents

of the Toyage—The Prince lands in Eriska—Has
interviews witli Macdonakl of Boisdale and young
Clanranald— Kinlochmoidart, Dr. Cameron, and
others, visit the Prince—Charles lands at Borodale

— Cameron, younger, of Lochie!— His interview

witli the Prince—Charles arrives at Kinlochmoidart
^Commencement of hostilities—Charles raises his

standard at Glenfinnan—Slanitesto—The Chevalier's

ignorance of the expedition.

From mere auxiliaries in the war of the Aus-

trian succession, Great Britaiu and France at

last entered the field as priucipals ; and in the

spring of 1745, both parties were prepared to

decide their respective differences by force of

arms. The Jacobites, who looked upon war

as the harbinger to a speedy reahsation of their

wishes and their hopes, awaited tlie residt with

anxiety; though, from the policy of France, it

was not difficult to perceive that the issue,

whetlier favourable or unfavourable to France,

would in reality neither advance nor retard the

long looked for restoration. France, if defeated

in the iield, almost on her own frontiers, would

require all her forces to protect herself; and

could not, therefore, be expected to make a

diversion on the shores of Britain. And, on

the other hand, if successful in the campaign

about to open in Flanders, she was likely to ac-

comphsh the objects for which the war had been

undertaken, without continuing an expensive

and dubious struggle in support of the Stuarts.

Charles Edward Stuart, the aspirant to the

British throne, seems to have viewed matters

much in the same light on receiving intelligence

of the victory obtained by the French over the

allies at Fontenoy.^ In writing to one of his

« This battle was fought on the llth May, 1745.

father's agents at Paris, ^ who had sent him in-

formation of the battle, Charles observes that

it was not easy to form an opinion as to whether

the result would " prove good or bad " for his

affairs. He had, however, taken his resolution

to go to Scotland, though unaccompanied even

by a single company of soldiers , and the event

wliich had just occurred made him determine

to put that resolution into immediate execu-

tion. At Fontenoy, the British troops main-

tained by their bravery the national reputation,

but they were obliged to yield to numbers

;

yet, to use the words of a French historian,

" they left the field of battle without tumidt,

without confusion, and were defeated with

honour."* The flower of the British army

was, however, destroyed; and as Great Britain

had been almost drained of troops, Charles

considered the conjuncture as favourable, and

made such preparations for his departure as the

shortness of the time woidd allow.

The French government was apprised of

Charles's intentions, and though the French

ministers were not disposed openly to sanction

an enterprise which they were not at the time

in a condition to support, they secretly favoured

a design, which, whatever might be its result,

woidd operate as a diversion in favour of

France. Accordingly, Lord Clare, (afterwards

Marshal Thomond,) then a lieutenant-general

in the French service, was authorised to open

a negotiation with two merchants of Irish ex-

traction, named Euttledge and Walsh, who had

made some money by trading to the West

Indies. They had, since the war, been con-

cerned in privateering ; and with the view of

extending their operations, had latelj- obtained

from the French government a grant of the

Elizabeth, an old man-of-war of sixty-six guns,

and they had purchased a small frigate of six-

teen guns named the Doutelle, both of which

ships were in the course of being fitted out for

a cruise in the north seas. Lord Clare having

introduced Charles to Euttledge and Walsh,

explained the prince's design, and proposed

tliat they shoidd lend him their ships. This

proposal was at once acceded to by the owners,

3 Letter to Colonel O'Bryan, 16th June, 1745, in

Stuart Papers.
* Lettres et Memoires du Marechal de Saxe, Paris,

1794.



512 GENERAL HISTOET OF THE HIGHLANDS.

who also offered to supply the prince with

money and such arms as they could procure,

in fulfilment of which offer they afterwards

placed in his hands the sum of £3,800.*

While the preparations for the expedition

were going on, Charles resided at Navarre, a

Boat of the Duke of Bouillon, and occupied

himself in himting, fishing, and shooting. A
few persons only in his own confidence were

aware of his intentions; and so desirous was

he of concealing his movements from his

father's agents at Paris, that he gave out,

shortly before his departure, that he intended

to visit the monastery of La Trappe, in the

vicinity of Rouen, and would return to Paris

in a few days.* The prince ordered the few

followers who were to accompany him to as-

semble at Nantes, near the mouth of the

Loire; and the better to conceal their design,

they arrived there singly, took up their resi-

dence in different parts of the town, and when
they met on the streets did not seem to recog-

nise one another.''

When informed that every thing was in

readiness for his departure, Charles went to

Nantes in disguise, and having descended the

Loire in a fishing boat on the 20th of June,

(0. S.) 1745, embarked on the 21st on board

the DouteUe at St. Nazaire, whence he pro-

ceeded on the following day to BeUeisle, where

he was joined on the 4th of Jidy by the Eliza-

beth, which had on board 100 marines raised

by Lord Clare, about 2,000 muskets, and 500

or 600 French broad-swords. The persons

who accompanied Charles were the Marquis of

Tullibardine,^ elder brother of James, Duke of

Athole; Sir Thomas Sheridan, who had been

tutor to Charles; Sir John Macdonald, an

officer in the Spanish service; Francis Strick-

land, an English gentleman; George Kelly, a

clergyman; .ffineas or Angus Macdonald, a

banker in Paris, brother to Kinlochmoidart

;

^ Home's SebelHon, p. 36.
" Letter to Colonel O'Bryan, 20th June, 1745, Ap-

pendix, No. II. See also Sempil's letter to the Cheva-
lier, Appendix, No. III.

' Forbes Papers, or Jacobite Memoirs of the Rebellion
0/1745, edited by Dr. R. Chamhers, p. 2.

' He was styled Duke of Athole by the Jacobites,
from being the eldest son of the preceding duke. The
marquis had been attainted for the share he took in
the insurrection of 1715; and the title and estates
were, in consequence of his attainder, noiy enjoyed by
his immediate younger brother.

and O'Sullivan, an officer in the service of

France. These were afterwards designated

the "Seven Men of Moidart." There were

also some persons of inferior note, among

whom were one Buchanan, who had been

employed as a messenger to Rome by Cardinal

Tencin, and Duncan Cameron, formerly a

servant of old Lochiel at Boulogne, who

was hired for the expedition, for the purpose,

as he informs us, of descrying the " Long

Isle."
'

The expedition sailed from BeUeisle on the

5th of Jidy with a fair wind, which continued

favourable till the 8th, when a dead calm

ensued. On the following day, when in the

latitude of 47° 57' north, and thirty -nine

leagues west from the meridian of the Lizard,

a sail was descried to windward, which proved

to be the Lion, a British man-of-war of sixty

guns, commanded by Captain Brett. When
the Lion hove in sight, tlio prince, for better

accommodation, was preparing to go on board

the Elizabeth; but luckily for him he laid

aside his design on the appearance of the man-

of-war. Wliile the Lion was bearing down on

the French ships, M. D'Oe, or D'Eau, the cap-

tain of the Elizabeth, went on board the

DouteUe, where a council of war was imme-

diately held, at which it was determined, if

possible, to avoid an action ; but if an action

became inevitable, that the Elizabeth should

receive the first broadside, and should there-

upon endeavour to board her adversary. While

this conference lasted, both ships kept running

before the wind; but the Lion being a fast

sailing vessel soon neared the Elizabeth, and,

when within nearly a mUe of her, hove to for

the purpose of reconnoitring the French ships

and preparing for action. Judging an action

now imavoidable, Captain D'Oe proposed to

Walsh, one of the proprietors of the two ves-

sels, and who acted as commander of the

DouteUe, that wliile the Elizabeth and Lion

were engaged, the DouteUe shoidd assist the

Elizabeth by plaj'ing upon the Lion at a dis-

tance; but Walsh decUned to interfere In any

shape. The Captain of the Elizabeth there-

upon drew his sword, and taking leave, went

back to his ship, with his drawn sword in his

hand, to prepare for action. ^

' Forbes Papers, note, p. 1. ' Kirkconnel US.
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Captain D'Oe had scarcely reached the

Elizabeth when the Lion bore down upon her.

Contrary to the plan laid down on board the

Doutelle, the Elizabeth gave the first broad-

side, which was instantly returned by the

Lion; and before the Elizabeth could get her

other side to bear upon her opponent, the lat>-

ter tacked about and poured in another broad-

side into the Elizabeth, which raked her fore

and aft, and killed a great number of her men.

Notwithstanding this untoward beginning, the

Elizabeth maintained the fight for nearly five

hours, when night coming on, and both vessels

being complete wrecks, they parted as if by

mutual consent. The prince, in the Doutelle,

viewed the battle with gi-eat anxiety, and, it is

said, importuned the captain to assist the

Elizabeth, but Walsh positively refused to en-

gage, and intimated to the prince, that if he

continued his solicitations, he would order him

down to the cabin. ^

After the action was over, Captain "Walsh

bore up to the Elizabeth to ascertain the state

of matters, and was informed by a lieutenant

of the severe loss she had sustained in officers

and men, and the crippled state she was in.

He, however, offered to pursue the voyage if

supplied with a main-mast and some rigging,

but Walsh had no spare materials ; and after

intimating that he would endeavour to finish

the voyage himself, and advising the com-

mander of the Elizabeth to return to France,

both ships parted, the Elizabeth on her way

back to France, and the Doutelle on her voj'age

to the "Western Highlands.

'

On the 11th of July a sail was discovered,

which gave chase to the Doutelle; but being a

swift-sailing vessel she outran her pursuer.

She encountered a rough sea and tempestuous

weather on the 15th and 16th, after which the

weather became fine till the midnight of the

20th, when a violent storm arose. She stood

cut the gale, however, and on the 22d came

within sight of land, which was discovered to

be the southern extremity of Long Island, a

name by which, from their appearing at a dis-

tance, and in a particular direction, to form

one island, the islands of Lewis, the Uists,

Barra, and others, are distinguished. On ap-

' Kirkconnel MS. Forbes Papers, p. 7.
'' Forbes Papers, p. 8.

proaching the land, a large ship, which appeared

to be an English man-of-war, was descried

between the Doutelle and the island. On
perceiving this vessel, "Walsh changed the

course of the Doutelle, and stretching along

the east side of Barra, reached the strait be-

tween South Uist and Eriska, the largest of a

cluster of little rocky islands that lie off South

Uist. "When near the land, Duncan Cameron,

before mentioned, was sent on shore in the

long-boat to bring off a proper pilot, and hav-

ing accidentally met the piper of Macneil of

Barra, with whom Cameron was acquainted,

he took him on board. In the strait alluded

to, the Doutelle cast anchor on the 23d of

July, having been eighteen days at sea.*

Accompanied by his attendants, the prince

immediately landed in Eriska, and was con-

ducted to the house of Angus Macdonald, the

tacksman, or principal tenant thereof and of

the small islands adjoining. To anticipate that

prying ciu'iosity and speculation which the

inhabitants of the western isles always display

on the arrival of strangers, the prince's com-

panions represented him as a young Irish priest,

a species of visitor by no means uncommon in

these islands, wliither priests from the opposite

coast of Ireland had been long accustomed to

resort, for the purpose of giving the islanders

that religious instruction and consolation of

which, by the change in the national religion,

they had been almost debarred from receiving

from the hands of native priests. From the

tacksman of Eriska, the party learned, that

Macdonald, chief of Clanranald, and Macdonald

of Boisdale, his brother, were upon the island

of South Uist, and that young Clanranald, the

son of the chief, was at Moidart upon the main-

land. As Boisdale was understood to have

great influence with his brother, a messenger

was immediately despatched to South Uist, re-

questing his attendance on board the Doutelle.

Charles and his companions passed the night

in the house of the tacksman, but the accommo-

dation was very indifferent. They had not a

sufficient supply of beds, but the prince, regard-

less of his own ease, declined to occupy one.*

* Kirkconnel MS. Forbes Papers, p, 9.

° Charles is said to liave taken particular care of Sir

Thomas Sheridan on this occasion. He "went to

examine his bed. and to see that the sheets were well

aired. The landlord observing him to search the bed

3 T
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Next morning they returned to the ship.

Boisdale soon thereafter made his appearance.

As his brotlier, Clanranald, was nnfit, from age

and bad health, to be of any essential service,

Charles was anxious to secure the assistance of

Boisdale, by whose means he expected that

the clan would be induced to rise in his sup-

port. Boisdale had, however, already made

up his mind upon the subject, and the result

of the interview was extremely discouraging to

Charles. At first, the prince proposed that

Boisdale should accompany him to the main-

land, and endeavour to engage his nephew to

take up arms ; but Boisdale decidedly declined

the proposal, and even declared that he would

do every thing in his power to prevent his

brother and nephew from engaging in an enter-

prise which he considered desperate. Baffled

in his first attempt, Charles next proposed to

despatch Boisdale with a message to Sir Alex-

ander Macdonald of Sleat and the Laird of

Macleod, who had extensive possessions in the

island of Skye, requesting their assistance

;

but Boisilale informed the prince that such a

mission would be useless, as he had seen Sir

Alexander Macdonald and Macleod very lately,

—that they had stated to him the probability

that the prince would arrive, but that if he

came without a body of regular troops, they

were determined not to join him, and were of

opinion that no other person would. Boisdale

added, that he was instructed by these gentle-

men to mention their resolution to the prince

in case he should meet him on his arrival, and

to advise him, should he come unprovided

with troops, to return directly to France.

Charles was sadly perplexed at Boisdale's

obduracy, but he endeavoured to soften him

by representing his affairs in the most favoiu--

able light ; but the Highlander was inflexible.

Whilst this prolonged altercation was going

on, two vessels appeared making for the strait

so narrowly, and at the same time hearing him declare

he would sit up all night, called out to him, and said,

that it was so good a l)ed, and the sheets were so good,

that a prince needed not be ashamed to lie on them.

The prince not being accustomed to such iires in the

middle of the room, and there being no other chimney
than a hole in the roof, was almost choked, and was

obliged to go often to the door for fresh air. This at

last made the landlord, Angus Macdonald, call out,

' What a plague is the matter with that fellow, that

he can neither sit nor stand still, and neither keep

«ithin nor without doors ?' "

—

Jacobite Memoirs, p. 1 1.

in which the DouteUe lay, a circumstance

which induced her commander to weigh anchor

and stand in for the mainland. Boisdale, still

pressed by the prince, remained on board till

the ship had advanced several miles in her

course, when he entered his boat, and left

Charles to ruminate over his disappointment.

The Doutelle continued her course during the

night, and next morning cast anchor in the

bay of Lochnanuagh, which partly divides the

countries of Moidart .and Arisaig.^ On ap-

proaching the strait, the Marquis of Tullibar-

dine, when about to retire below to dinner,

observed an eagle hovering over the frigate,

which he looked upon as a happy augury, but

afraid of being taxed by his companions with

superstition, he at first took no notice of the

circumstance. On coming upon deck after

dinner, he saw the eagle still liovering above

the vessel and following her in her course. No
longer able to restrain himself, he directed the

attention of Charles and his suite to the royal

bird, and thereafter turning to the prince, thus

addressed him :
" Sir, I hope this is an excel-

lent omen, and promises good things to us.

The king of birds is come to welcome your

royal highness upon your arrival in Scotland."

Though foiled in his attempt upon Boisdale,

the yoiuig adventurer resolved to repeat the

same experiment upon his nephew, and accord-

ingly ho immediately sent a boat on shore

with a letter to young Clanranald ; jEneas

Macdonald also went on shore to bring off

Kinlochmoidart, his brother. Kinlochmoidart

came on board inmiediately, and after a short

interview with the prince, was despatched with

letters to Lochiel, the Duke of Perth, Murray

of Broughton and others.

Next day yotmg Clanranald, accompanied

by liis kinsmen, Alexander Macdonald of Glen-

aUadale, jEneas Macdonald of DaUly and a

Highland officer (author of a journal and me-

moirs of the expedition),^ came to Forsy, a

small village opposite to the Doutelle's anchor-

age ground. They called for the ship's boat,

and were immediately carried on board. The

feelings of the party on getting upon deck are

thus described by the writer aUuded to. " Our

hearts were overjoyed to find ourselves so neai

« Home's Rehdlion (edition of 1802), p. 29.

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 479.
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nur long-wished-for prince ; we found a large

tent erected with poles on the ship's deck,

covered and well furnished with variety of

wines and spirits. As we entered this pavilion

we were most cheerfully welcoin'd by the Duke

of Athole, to whom some of us liad been known

in the year 1715. Wliile the duke was talk-

ing with us, Clanranald was a-raissing, and

had, as we understood, been called into the

prince's cabin, nor did we look for the honour

of seeing His E. H. at least for that night.""

Of the conversation which took place be-

tween the prince and young Clanranald during

the three hours they were closeted together, no

account was ever given; but it is probable that

if the latter stated any objections against the

enterprise, they had been overcome before he

rejoined his companions, as no allusion is made

by the writer just quoted, to any unwillingness

on the part of the young cliieftain to join the

prince. Maxwell of Kirkconnel, who men-

tions the refusal of Boisdale, says, that young

Clanranald frankly oil'ered his sen^ices to the

prince,' a statement which, from the ardent

and romantic attachment for the Stuarts with

which that yoimg chieftain was inspired, seems

to approximate nearer the truth tlian that of

Home, who classes Kinloclimoidart and young

Clanranald together, as joining in a positive

refusal to take up arms.

According to Home, young Clanranald and

Kiolochmoidart came on board together, and

were addressed, with great emotion, by Charles,

who had been almost reduced to despair by

his interview with Boisdale. After using all

the arguments he could for taking up arms, he

conjured them to assist their countryman, their

prince, in liis utmost need. Though well in-

clined and warmly attached to the cause, the

gentlemen in question are said to have posi-

tively refused, and to have told the prince, one

after another, that to take up arms in their

present unprepared state, without concert or

support, would bring down certain destruction

on their own heads. Charles persisted, argued,

and implored, but without effect. During this

conversation the parties walked backwards and

forwards upon the deck, and were closely eyed

by a Highlander who stood near them armed

" LocJcJuirt Papers, vol. ii. p. 479
' Kirkconnel MS.

at all points, as was then the fashion of the

country. He was a younger brother of Kin-

loclimoidart, and had come off to the ship to

inquire for news, not knowing who was on

board. When he gathered from their discourse

that the stranger was Prince Charles, and heard

his chief and his brother refuse to take up

arms in his behalf, liis colour went and came,

his eyes sparkled, he shifted his place and

grasped his sword. Charles obscirving his

demeanour, stopped short, and turning towards

him, put tills interrogatory, " Will not you

assist me? " " I wiU ! I will !" exclaimed Ean-

ald ; " though no other man in the Highlands

should draw a sword, I am ready to die for

you." Charles, delighted with the j'oung man's

answer, evinced his gratitude by a profusion of

thanks and acknowledgments, extolled his

champion to the skies, and said he only wished

that all the Highlanders were like him. Stung

with the prince's observation, which could be

regarded only as a reproach, and smitten by

the example set by the heroic youth, the two

]\Iacdonalds instantly declared that they would

unsheath their swords in support of the claims

of the house of Stuart, and would use their

utmost endeavours to rouse their countrymen

to arms.'

After the interview with the prince, Clan-

ranald returned to his friends, who had, during

the conference, been regaling themselves in the

pavilion. In about half-an-hour thereafter, the

prince entered the tent and took his seat with-

out appearing to notice any of the company.

His appearance, and the scene which followed,

are thus described by an eyewitness. " There

entered the tent a tall j^outh of a most agree-

able aspect, in a plain black coat ^vith a plain

shirt, not very clean, and a cambrick stock

fixed svith a plain silver buckle, a fair round

wig out of the buckle, a plain hat with a can-

vas string having one end fixed to one of his

coat buttons ; he had black stockings, and brass

buckles in his shoes. At his first appearance

I found my heart swell to my very throat.

We were immediately told by one Obrian, a

churchman, that this youth was also an English

clergjinan, who had long been possessed with

a desire to see and converse \vith Highlanders.

Home's Rebellion, p 29.
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" "When tliis youth entered, Ohrian forbid

any of those who were sitting to rise; he saluted

none of us, and we only made a low bow at

a distance. I chanced to be one of those who

were standing when he came in, and he took

his seat near me, but immediately started up

again and caused me to sit down by him upon

a chest. I at this time taking him only to bo

a passenger or some clergyman, presumed to

speak to him with too much familiarity, yet

still retained some suspicion he might be one

of more note than he was said to be. He
asked me if I was not cold in that habit, (viz.

the Highland garb,) 1 answered I was so habit-

uated to it, that I should rather be so (feel

cold) if I was to change my dress for any other.

At this he laughed heartily, and next inquired

how I lay with it at night, which I explained

to him. He said that by wrapping myself so

close in my plaid I would be unprepared for

any sudden defence in the ease of a surprise.

I answered that in such times of danger, or

during the war, we had a different method of

using the plaid, that with one spring I coidd

start to my feet with drawn sword and cocked

pistol in my hand, without being the least en-

cumbered with my bed-clothes. Several such

questions he put to me; then rising quickly

from his seat he calls for a dram, when the

same person whispered me a second time to

pledge the stranger but not to drink to him,

by which seasonable hint I was confirmed in

my suspicion who he was. Having taken a

glass of wine in his hand, he drank to us all

round, and soon after left us."^

Having thus secured the support of young

Clanranald, Charles selected him to execute

the commission which his uncle, Boisdale, had

refused to undertake. Accordingly, on the

22d of July the young chieftain, attended by

AUan Maedonald, a younger brother of Kin-

lochmoidart, was despatched with letters from

the prince, to Sir Alexander Maedonald and

the laird of Maeleod, to solicit the aid of their

services. Tliese powerful chieftains, who could

raise nearly 2,000 men between them, had

promised to join the prince if he brought a

foreign force along with him, but when they

found that he had come without troops, they

' Journal and Memoirs. Lockhart Papers, vol ii. pp.

480-1.

considered themselves released from their en

gagements, and refused to join in an enterprise

which they considered desperate. ^

During young Clanranald's absence, Donald

Maedonald of Scothouse, Dr. Archibald Cam-

eron on the part of his brother Donald Cam-

eron, younger of Lochiel, and Hugh Maedonald,

brother of the laird of Morar, came on board

the DouteUe. The latter, on his way home

from Edinburgh, had met Kinlochmoidart

crossing the water of Lochy, and had been in-

formed by him of the arrival of the prince.'

In expectation of seeing the prince, he went to

Kinlochmoidart's house, where he found Maeaa

Maedonald, brother of Kinlochmoidart, who

told him that he might see the prince the fol-

lowing day if he pleased, but cautioned him

not to accost him as such, as the prince passed

for a French abbd with the crew of the vessel,

who were ignorant of his rank. Next day the

two Macdonalds went on board; and Charles,

being informed of the name and character of

his visitor, invited htm do^vn to the cabin.

In a conversation which ensued, Hugh Mac

' Maxwell of Kirkconnel.—"There are nf.t wanting

in Scotland many men to follow such examples : but

Lochiel's feeling was that of far the greater number.

The Scots have often been reproached with a spirit of

sordid gain. The truth is merely—and should it not

be matter of praise?—that by their intelligence, their

industry, their superior education, they will always, in

whatever country, be singled out for employment, and

rise high in the social scSe. But when a contest lies

between seliish security or advancement on one side,

and generous impulse or deep-rooted conviction on the

other; when danger and conscience beckon onward,

and prudence alone calls back ; let all history declare

whether in any age or in any cause, as followers of

Knox or of Montrose, as Cameronians or as Jacobites, tlie

men—ay, and the women—of Scotland, have quailed

from any degree of sacrifice or sufiering ! The very

fact that Charles came helpless, obtained him the help

of many. Moreover, Charles was now in the very

centre of those tribes, which, ever since they were

trained by Montrose, had continued firm and devoted

adherents of the House of Stuart. "—Mahou's England,

vol. iii. p. 314.
' The following is part of a dialogue which took place

between them. "Said Kinlochmoidart, ' You'll see tlie

prince this night at my house.' 'What number of men

has he brought along with him?' 'Only seven,' said

Kinlochmoidart. ' What stock of money and arms

has he brought with him then ?' said Mr Hugh. 'A

very small stock of either,' said Kinlochmoidart.
' What generals or officers fit for commanding are

I
with him?' said Mr Hugh. 'None at all,' replied

Kinlochmoidart. Mr Hugh said he did not like

the expedition at all, and was afraid of the conse-

quences. 'I cannot help it,' said Kinlochmoidart,
' if the matter go wrong, then I'll certainly be hanged,

for I am engaged already.' "—Jacobite Memoirs, note,

p. 18.
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donald expressed his fears as to the result of

the expedition if persevered in, and hinted

that, as he had brought no forces along with

him, the most eligible course the prince could

pursue, was to return to France, and wait a

more favourable opportunity. Charles re-

marked that he did not %vish to be indebted

for the restoration of his fiither to foreigners,

but to his own friends; that he had now put

it in their power to have the glory of doing

so, and that as to retxirning to France without

making an attempt, foreigners should never

have to say that he had thrown himself upon

his friends, that they had turned their backs

upon him, and that lie had been forced to

retire for shelter to foreign lands. He con-

cluded by observing, that if he could get only

six stout trusty feUows to join him, he would

choose rather to skulk with them among the

mountains of Scotland than return to France.

Dr. Cameron also urged Charles to return, and

told him that Lcchiel had made up liis mind

not to join; but Charles returned the same

answer he had given to Hugh Macdonald.

On the return from Skye of young Clanranald

and Allan ]\racdonald, who brought back an

absolute refusal from Sir Alexander Macdonald

and the laird of Macleod, the whole party on

board, including even Sir Thomas Sheridan,

by whose advice the prince generally acted,

importuned him to desist, chiefly on the

ground that the refusal of two such influential

and powerful chieftains would prevent others,

who were well disposed to the cause, from

joining; but Charles was immoveable, and

though without a single supporter, persisted in

his resolution. *

Charles remained on board the Doutelle till

the 25th of July, the interval between which

day and that of his arrival in Lochnanuagh,

was spent in despatching letters and receiving

communications from liis friends, and in con-

sultations vnth his companions and the adher-

ents who visited him, as to the means to be

adopted for raising the clans that were favour-

ably disposed. During the same interval, aU

the arms, ammunition, and stores were landed

;

and every thing being in readiness for his re-

ception on shore, Charles, accompanied by his

• Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 481. Note to Jacobite
Memoirs, p. 18.

suite, landed at Borodale, a farm belonging to

Clanranald, and took up his abode in the

liouse of Angus Macdonald, the tenant of the

farm, who received him and his companions

with a hearty welcome. By orders of young

Clanranald, Macdonald of GlenaUadale and an-

other gentleman of the clan, had collected

about 100 of their men to serve as a body-

guard to the prince, all of whom were hospita-

bly entertained at Borodale.

No situation could have been any where

selected more suitable for the circiunstances

and designs of Charles than the abode he had

chosen. Besides being one of the most remote

and inaccessible places in the western High-

lands of Scotland, it was surrounded on all sides

by the territories of the most devoted adherents

of the house of Stuart, by the descendants of

the heroes of Kilsyth and Killiecrankie, in

whose breasts the spirit of revenge had taken

deep root, for the cruelties which had followed

the short^Uved insurrection of 1715, and the

affronts to which they had been subjected

under the disarming act. These mountaineers

had long sighed for an opportunity of retalia-

tion, and they were soon to imagine that the

time for vengeance had arrived.

As soon as the landing of Charles was known,

the whole neighbourliood was in motion, and

repaired, " without distinction of age or sex," *

to the house of Borodale, to see a man with

whose success they considered the glory and

happiness of their country to be inseparably

associated. To gratify his warm-hearted and

generous visitors, and to attain a full view of

the assembled group, Charles seated himself in

a conspicuous part of the room where a repast

had been laid out for him and his friends.

Here, amid the congregated spectators who
feasted their eyes with the sight of the lineal

descendant of a race of kings, endeared to

them by many sorrowful recollections, the

prince partook of the fare provided by his

kind host, with a cheerfulness which banished

aU reflection of the past or care for the future.

At the conclusion of the repast, Charles drank

the graee-di'ink in English, which, of course,

was understood enly by a few of the persons

present. The guest, to whom we are indebted

' I.ocl-harl Papers, vol. ii. p. 482.
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for tliis account, says, that when his turn

came to propose a toast, wishing to distinguish

himself, he gave " the king's health" in Gaelic

in an audible voice,—" Deoch slaint an Eigh."

When the prince was informed that his father's

health had been drunk, he requested the gentle-

man who had proposed it to pronounce the

words again in Gaelic, that he might repeat

them himself. This being done, Charles

repeated the words, and understanding that

the proposer was skilful in Gaelic, the prince

intimated to him that he would henceforth

take instructions from him in that language.

The same individual, afterwards, by desire,

gave also the healths of the prince, and his

brother "the duie," in Gaelic.'' Such con-

descension and familiarity on the part of Charles

were higlily gratifying to the feelings of all

present, and were better calculated to secure

the affections of the unsophisticated people,

into whose arms he had thrown himself, than

all the pomp and circumstance of regal splen-

dour.

Though the extreme rashness of young Clan-

ranald and his friends, in thus exposing them-

selves to almost inevitable destruction, be

quite inexcusable on the score of sober reason,

yet it is impossible not to admire the daring

intrepidity of the men, who, at the call of a

friendless and unprotected youth, could com-

mit themselves in a struggle with the govern-

ment even before they had ascertained that a

single clan, except their own, would join.

Their devotedness to the cause of tlie Stuarts

did not blind them, however, to tlie dangers

to whicli they were about to expose themselves

by declaring for the prince ; but ha\'ing now
thrown away the scabbard, they resolved to

cling to the cause which a feeling of fideUty

prompted them to espouse, reckless of the con-

sequences. "All may judge (says a gentleman

of the clan), how hazardous an enterprise we

were now engaged in, being for some time

quite alone ; but we resolved, notwithstand-

ing, to follow our prince, and risk our fate

with his."*

Charles, before landing, had despatched

messengers to several of the chiefs who were

favourably disposed. From Borodale he again

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii p. 483. Idem.

sent off fresh messengers to all the chiefs from

whom he expected assistance, requiring their

attendance. Some of his friends, aware of his

arrival, had, it is said, already held a meeting

to considt as to the course they should pursue

;

at which Macdonald of Keppoch had given his

opinion, that as the prince had risked his

person, and generously thro-svn himself into the

hands of his friends, they were bound, in duty

at least, to raise men instantly for the protec-

tion of his person, whatever might be the con

sequences f but it does not appear that any

such resolution was at that time adopted.

The person pitched upon to visit Lochiel on

this occasion, was Macdonald, younger of Scoi/

house, who succeeded in inducing that chief to

visit the prince at Borodale, but he went with

a determination not to take up arms. On his

way to Borodale he called at the house of his

brother, Jolin Cameron of Fassefern, who, on

being told the object of his journey, advised

Lochiel not to proceed, as he was afraid that

the prince would prevail upon him to forego

his resolution. * Lochiel, firm in his determina-

tion, as he imagined, told his brother that his

reasons for declining to join the prince were

too strong to be overcome, and pursued his

journey.

Donald Cameron of Lochiel, on whose final

determination the question of a civil war was

now to depend, (for it seems to be universally

admitted, that if Lochiel had declined to take

up arms the other chiefs would have also

refused,) though called young Lochiel by the

Highlanders, from his father being still alive,

was rather advanced in life. His father, for

the share he had taken in the insurrection of

1715, was attainted and in exile. In conse-

quence of the attainder, young Locliiel had

succeeded to the family estates upon the death

of his grandfather, SirEwen Cameron, in 1719.

Sir Ewen, the reader knows, had served with

distinction under Montrose and Dundee, and

his son and grandson had inherited from the

old warrior a devoted attacliment to the house

of Stuart, which no change of circumstances

had been ever able to eradicate. The Chevaher

de St. George, sensible of the inflexible inte-

grity of the young chief, and of the great infla-

• JacohiU Mrmmrs, p. 17.

' Home's RcbeUic I, \i. 42.
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1 which he enjoyed among his countrymen ;
and that he depended much upon the zeal and

on account of the uprightness of his character,

and as being at the head of one of the most

powerful of the clans, had invested hi in with

fuU powers to negotiate with his friends in

Scotland, on the subject of his restoration. "

Knowing the confidence which was so deserv-

edly reposed in him, he was consulted on all

occasions by the Jacobites in the Highlands, and,

as has been elsewhere observed, was one of the

seven who, in the year 1740, signed the bond

of association to restore the Chevalier. Upon

the failure of the expedition of 1743,

young Lochiel had lu-ged the prince

to continue his exertions to get

another fitted out ; but he was averse

to any attempts being made without 4

foreign assistance, and cautioned the

prince accordingly.' i

Among the chiefs who were sum- fi^

moned to Borodale, Lochiel was the i^^.'~ -

first to appear, and he immediately

had a private interview with tlie
j

prince. Charles told him that he |

meant to be quite candid, and to '

conceal nothing ; he reprobated in

severe terms the conduct of the

French ministry, who, he averred,

had long amused him with fair pro-

mises, and had at last deceived him.

He admitted that he had but a small

quantity of arms, and very little

money ; that he had left France mth
out concerting anything, or even

taking leave of the French court,—

-

that he had, however, before leaving,

written to the French ting and his

ministers soliciting succours, which

he was persuaded they would send as soon

as they saw that he really had a party

in Scotland,—that he had appointed Earl

abilities of that nobleman, who would him

self superintend the embarkation of tlie suc-

cours he was solicitifig

.

While Lochiel admitted the engagements

which he and other chiefs had come under to

support the cause, he observed that they were

binding only in the event of the stipulated aid

being fuiiiished ; and as his royal highness

had come over without such support, they were

released fi'om the engagements they had con-

tracted. He therefore r'jiterated his resolution

fmm

Donald Cameron of Lochiel.—From the original painting in

possession of Mrs (Jau\eron-Campbell of Monzie.

not to join in the present hopeless attempt,

and advised his royal highness to return to

France and await a more favourable oppor-

Marischal his agent at the court of France,— I timity. Charles, on the other hand, maiii-

taineJ, that an opportunity more favourable
2 A tribute to the memory of Lochiel, who died

in 1748, appeared in the Scots Magazine of that year,

|«irt of which we quote :

—

Mistaken as he was, the man was just,

Firm to his word, and faithful to his trust

:

He bade not others go, himself to stay.

As is the pretty, prudent, modern way
;

But, like a warrior, bravely drew his sword,
And rear'd his target for his native lord.

Humane he was, protected countries tell

;

So nide an host was never rul*d so well.

Fatal to him, and to the cause be lov'd.

Was the rash tumult which his folly mov'd
;

Compell'd, by hard necessity to bear.

In Gallia's bands, a mercenary spear !

But heav'n in pity to his honest heart,

Resolv'd to snatch him from so poor a part.

The mighty mandate unto death was given,

And good Lochiel is now a Whig in heaven.

3 Letter from Lochiel under the signature of ' * Dan,
'*

Feb. 22d, 1745, in Stuart Papers.
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than the present might never occur again,

—

that, with the exception of a very few newly

raised regiments, all the British troops were

occupied abroad. He represented, that the

regular troops now in the kingdom were insuffi-

cient to vdthstand the hody of Highlanders

liis friends could bring into the field ; and he

stated his belief, that if in the outset he

obtained an advantage over the government

forces, the country in general would declare in

his favour, and his friends abroad would at

once aid him,—that every thing, in fact, now

depended upon the Highlanders,—and that to

accomplish the restoration of his father, it was

only necessary that they should instantly de-

clare themselves and begin the war.

These arguments, which, as the result showed,

were more plausible than solid, had no effect

upon Lochiel, who continued to resist all the

entreaties of Charles to induce him to alter

his resolution. Finding the prince utterly

averse to the proposal made to him to return

to France, Lochiel entreated him to be more

moderate in his views. He then suggested,

that Charles should send his attendants back

to France ; that he himself should remain

concealed in the country ; that a report should

be circiilated that he also had returned to

France, and that the court of France shouLl

be made acquainted with the state of matters,

and informed that his friends would be ready

to take up arms upon the first notice of a land-

ing, but that nothing could be done without

foreign support. Charles, however, rejected

this proposal also, and told Lochiel, that the

court of France would never be convinced that

he had a considerable party in Scotland, till

there was an actual insurrection, \vithout whicli

he was afraid they would not venture their

troops.

As a last shift, Lochiel suggested, that

Charles should remain at Borodale till he and

other friends shoidd hold a meeting, and con-

cert what was best to be done. With an

impatience which spurned delay, Charles would

not even listen to the proposal, and declared

his firm determination to take the field, how-

ever small the number of his attendants might

be. " In a few days," said he, " with the few

friends that I have, I will erect the royal

standard, and proclaim to the people of Britain,

that Charles Stuart is come over to claim the

crown of his ancestors—to win it, or to perish

in the attempt : Lochiel, whom my father has

often told me, was our firmest friend, may stay

at home, and from the newspapers, learn the

fate of his prince." This appeal was irresisti-

ble. "No!" exclaimed Lochiel, "I'll share

the fate of my prince ; and so shall every man

over whom nature or fortune has given me any

power. *

Having extorted an acquiescence from Loch-

iel, who, impelled by a mistaken but chivabous

sense of honour, thus yielded to the prince's

entreaties in spite of his ovm better judgment,

Charles resolved to raise his standard at Glen-

finnan on the 19th of August. Accordingly,

he despatched letters from Borodale on the

6 th, to the various chiefs who were favoiurahly

disposed, informing them of his intention, and

requiring the presence of them and their fol-

lowers at Glenfinnan on the day appointed, or

as soon thereafter as possible. Lochiel, at the

same time, returned to his own house, whence

he despatched messengers to the leading gentle-

men of his clan to raise their men, and to hold

themselves in readiness to march with him to

Glenfinn an

After sending off his messengers, Charles

left Borodale for the house of Kinlochmoidart,

about seven mUes from Borodale, whither he

and his suite had been invited bj' the proprietor

to spend a few days, while the preparations

for the appointed meeting were going on.

Charles and his party went by sea, and their

baggage and some artillery were forwarded by

the same conveyance ; but the body-guard,

which had been provided by Clanranald, pro-

ceeded by land along the heads of two inter-

vening bays. While at the hospitable mansion

of his friend, Charles expressed his sense oi

the services of Ejnlochmoidart in the wannest

terms, ofiered him a colonel's commission in

a regiment of dragoons, and promised him a

peerage. ^

During Charles's stay at Kinlochmoidart,

* Home, p. 43.

* As an inducement to favonr his restoration, the

CheTalier de St. George promised to ennoble a consider-

able number of his friends. Patents of nobility were

accordingly made out and signed in favour of all the

Jacobite chiefs and other leading supporters of tha

cause. See letter from the Chevalier to the prince,

7:li Nov., 17-17, in Stuart Papers.
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the arming of the Higlilanders went on with

extraordinary alacrity ; and several days before

the prince's departure for Glenfinnan, detached

parties of armed Highlanders were to be seen

perambulating the country in different direc-

tions. Though three weeks had elapsed since

the arrival of the prince, and although Kinloch-

moidart was only about thirty miles from Fort

William, yet so effectually had his arrival been

concealed from the officers of the government

in the Highlands, that it was not until they

received inteUigenoe of these movements, that

theybegan even to suspect his arrival. Alarmed

by reports which reached him for the safety of

Fort William, around which Lochiel and Kep-

poch were assembling their men, tlie governor

of Fort Augustus despatched, on the 16th of

August, two companies of tlie second battalion

of the Scots Eoyals, under the command of

Captain (afterwards General) Scott, to reinforce

that garrison ; but they did not reach their

destination, having been taiten prisoners by a

party of Lochiel's and Keppoch's men. As

this occurrence may be regarded as the com-

mencement of hostilities, and as it is strongly

characteristic of the ardour %vith which the

Highlanders took the field at the command of

their chiefs, the details of it may not here be

considered as out of place.

At the period in question, as weU as at the

time of the previous insurrection of 1715,

the country between Fort WiUiam and Inver-

ness was inhabited altogether by disaffected

clans; mainly to overawe whom, the chain of

forts, namely. Fort WiUiam, Fort Augustus, and

Fort George, which reach across the Highlands

from the east to the west sea, was placed. In

the centre of these, or almost equidistant

between Fort William and Fort George, stands

Fort Augustus, the distance between which

and fort William is twenty-eight miles. To

keep up a regiUar commimication between the

garrisons of the two last mentioned forts, a

road, as we have seen, was made by order of

the government along the sides of the moun-

tains which skirt the narrow lakes, which now
form part of the bed of the Caledonian canid.

It was along this road that the detachment in

question marched. That they might reach

Fort William the same day—there being no

place on the road where so many men could

have taken up their quarters during niglit—

•

they left Fort Augustus early in the morning

of the 1 6th of August, and met with no inter-

ruption till they arrived at High Bridge, within

eight miles of Fort William. This bridge,

which consists of one arch of great height, is

buUt across the river Spean,—a mountain

torrent confined between high and steep banks.

On approaching the bridge the ears of the

party were sainted by the sound of a bagpipe,

—a circumstance which could excite little sur-

prise in the Highlands ; but when they observed

a body of Highlanders on the other side of

the bridge with swords and firelocks in their

hands, the party became alarmed.

The Highlanders who had posted themselves

at the bridge, were of Keppoch's clan, and

were imder the command of Macdonald of

Tierndriech ; and though they did not consist

of more than eleven or twelve persons, yet by

leaping and skipping about, moving from place

to place, and extending their plaids between

one another to give themselves a formidable

appearance, they impressed Captain Scott with

an idea that they were a pretty numerous body.

He therefore halted his men, and sent forward

a sergeant with his own servant towards the

bridge to reconnoitre ; but when they came

near the bridge they were seized and carried

across by two nimble Highlanders, who unex-

pectedly darted upon them. Seeing the fate

of his messengers, knowing that he was in a

disaffected district, and ignorant of the strength

of the Highlanders, Captain Scott deemed it

more advisable to retreat than risk an encoun-

ter. He, therefore, ordered his men to face

about, and return by the road they had come.

Tierndriech had for some time observed the

march of these troops, and had sent expresses

to Lochiel and Keppoch, whose houses were

within three or four miles of High Bridge,

announcing their advance, and demanding as-

sistance. Expecting immediate aid, and not

wishing to display his wealmess, which, from

the openness of the ground near the bridge,

would have been easily discernible, he did not

follow Scott immediately, but kept at a distancb

till the troops had passed the west end of Loch

Lochy, and were upon the narrow road between

the lake and the mountain. The Highlanders

thereupon made their appearance, and asceud-

3 u
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ing the craggy eminences which overhang the

road, and, sheltering themselves among the

rocks and trees, began to fire down upon the

retreating party, who, in place of returning the

fire, accelerated their pace.

Before this fire had been opened, bands of

Highlanders were proceeding in the direction

of the bridge to assist in the attack. Upon
hearing the report of the fire-arms, these has-

tened to the place whence the firing proceeded,

and in a short time a considerable body joined

the party under Tierndriech. Captain Scott

contLQued his march rapidly along the loch,

and when he reached the east end, he observed

some Highlanders on a hill at the west end of

Loch Oich, where they had assembled appa-

rently for the purpose of intercepting him on

his retreat. Dislikiug the appearance of this

body, which stood in the direct way of his

retreat, Scott resolved to throw himself for

protection into Invergary castle, the seat of

Macdonell of Glengarry, and accordingly crossed

the isthmus between the two lakes. This

movement, however, only rendered his situation

more embarrassing, as he had not marched far

when he perceived another body of Highland-

ers, the Macdonells of Glengarry, coming down

the opposite hill to attack him. In this dilem-

ma he formed his men into a hollow square,

and proceeded on his march. Meanwhile,

Tierndriech having been reinforced by a party

of Keppoch's men, headed by the chief, has-

tened the pursuit, and soon came up with the

fugitives. To spare the effusion of blood, Kep-

poch advanced alone to Scott's party, required

them to surrender, and offered them quarters;

but assured them, that, in case of resistance,

they would be cut to pieces. Fatigued with a

long march, and surrounded on all sides by in-

creasing bodies of Highlanders, Captain Scott,

who had been wounded, and had had two of

his men killed, accepted the terms offered,

and surrendered. This affair was scarcely

over, when Locliiel arrived on the spot with

a party of Camerons, and took charge of the

prisoners, whom he carried to his own house

at Achnacarie. The result of this singular

rencounter, in which the Highlanders did not

lose a single man, was hailed by them as

the harbmger of certain success, and they

wquired no farther inducement to prosecute

the war thus auspiciously begun, as they ima-

Charles, to whom it may be supposed inteUi

gence of this affair was instantly sent, left

Kinlochmoidart on the 18th of August, on

which day he went by water to the seat of

Alexander Macdonald of GlenaUadale, on tlie

side of Loch Sliiel, where he was joined by

Gordon of Glenbucket, who brought with him

Captain Sweetenham, an English officer of

Guise's regiment, who had been taken prisoner

by a party of Keppoch's men while on his way

to Fort William to inspect that fortress. The

prince passed the night at GlenaUadale, and

with his attendants, who amounted to about

25 persons, proceeded about six. o'clock next

morning, in three boats, to Gleniinnan, and

landed wthin a few houi-s at the east end of

Loch Shiel, where tlie little river Finnan falls

into the lake.

Glenfinnan, the place appointed for the ren-

dezvous, is a narrow vale bounded on both

sides by high and rocky mountains, between

which the river Finnan runs. This glen forma

the inlet from Moidart into Lochaber, and at

its gorge is about fifteen miles west from Fort

William. On lauding, the prince was received

by the laird of Morar at the head of 150 men,

with whom he marched to Glenfinnan, where

he arrived about eleven o'clock. Charles, of

course, expected to find a large " gathering of

the clans " in the vale awaiting his approach

;

but, to his great surprise, not a hmnan being

was to be seen throughout the whole extent of

the lonely glen, except the solitary inhabitants

of the few huts which formed the hamlet.

Chagrined aud disappointed, Charles entered

one of these hovels to ruminate over the sup-

posed causes which might have retarded the

assembling of his friends. After waitmg about

two hours in anxious suspense, he was relieved

from his solicitude by the distant sound of a

bagpipe, which broke upon his ear, and by its

gradual increase, it soon became evident that a

party was coming in the direction of the glen.

While all eyes were turned towards the point

whence the sound proceeded, a dark mass was

seen overtopping the hill and descending its

side. This was the clan Cameron, amounting

« Home, p. 46.— Kirkconnel ilS. — Tour in tbo

Highlands. Lond., 1819.
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to between 700 and 800 men, with Lochiel,

their chief, at their head. They advanced in

two columns, of three men deep each, with the

prisoners who were taken in the late scuffle

between the lines.

If in the state of suspense in which he was

kept after entering Glenfinnan, the spirits of

Charles suffered a temporary depression, they

soon recovered their wonted buoyancy when

he beheld the gallant band which now stood

before him. Without waiting, therefore, for

the other clans who were expected to join, the

prince at once resolved to raise his standard,

and to declare open war against " the Elector

of Hanover," as George II. was called, " and

his adherents." The Marquis of TuUibardine,

to whom, from his rank, was allotted the

honour of unfm-ling the standard, took his

station on a small knoU in the centre of the

vale,^ where, supported by two men, he dis-

played the banner, and proclaimed the Cheva-

lier de St. George as king before the assembled

host, who rent the air \vith their acclamations.

The flag used upon this occasion was of silk,

of a white, blue, and red texture, but without

any motto. After proclamation, a commission

from the Chevalier de St. George, appointing

liis son Prince Charles regent of these king-

doms, was read by the Marquis of TuUibardine.

The reading of tliis commission was suc-

ceeded by the following manifesto:

—

"James VIII. by the Grace of God, King

of Scotland, England, France, and Ire-

land, Defender of the Faith, &c. To

all our lo^'ing subjects, of what degree

or quality soever, greeting.

" Having always borne the most constant

affection to our ancient kingdom of Scotland,

from whence we derive our royal origin, and

where our progenitors have swayed the sceptre

' A monument was erected by the late Alexander
M'Uonald of Glenalladale, on the spot where the stand-
ard was unfurled ; it bears the following inscription in

Latin, Gaelic, and English;— "On this spot, where
Prince Charles Edward first raised his standard, on the
19th day of August, 1745; when he made the daring
and romantic attempt to recover a throne lost by the
imprudence of his ancestors ; this column is erected by
Alexander M 'Donald, Esq. of Glenalladale, to com-
memorate the generous zeal, the undaunted bravery,
and the inviolable fidelity of his forefathers, and the
FMt of those who fought ind bled in that arduous and
unfortunate enterprise."

with glory through a longer succession of kings

than any monarchy upon earth can at this day

boast of; we cannot but behold with the

deepest concern the miseries they suffer under

a foreign usurpation, and the intolerable bur-

dens daily added to their yoke, which become

yet more sensible to us when we consider the

constant zeal and affection the generality of

our subjects of that our ancient kingdom have

expressed for us on all occasions, and particu-

larly when we had the satisfaction of being

ourselves amongst them.

" We see a nation always famous for valour,

and highly esteemed by the greatest of foreign

potentates, reduced to the condition of a pro-

vince, under the specious pretence of an union

with a more powerful neighbour. In conse-

quence of this pretended tinion, grievous and

unprecedented taxes have been laid on, and

levied with severity in spite of all the repre-

sentations that could be made to the contrary;

and these have not failed to produce that

poverty and decay of trade which were easUy

foreseen to be the necessary consequences of

such oppressive measures.

" To prevent the just resentment which

could not but arise from such usage, our faith-

ful Highlanders, a people always trained up

and inured to arms, have been deprived of

them; forts and citadels have been budt and

garrisoned where no foreign invasion could be

apprehended, and a military government has

been effectually introduced, as into a conquered

country. It is easy to foresee what must be

the consequences of such violent and unpre-

cedented proceedings, if a timely remedy be

not put to them; neither is it less manifest

that such a remedy can ever be obtained but

by our restoration to the throne of our ances-

tors, into whose royal heart such destructive

maxims could never find admittance.

" We think it needless to call to mind how

solicitous we have ever been, and how often

we have ventured our royal person, to compass

this great end; which the Divine Providence

seems now to have furnished us with the

means of doing effectually by enabling our

good subjects in England to shake off the yoke,

under which they have likewise felt their share

of the common calamities. Our former expe-

rience leaves us no room to doubt of the cheer-
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ful and hearty concurrence of our Scots sub-

jects on tliis occasion, towards the perfecting

the great and glorious work; but that none

may be deterred by the memory of past mis-

carriages from returning to their duty, and

being restored to the happiness they formerly

enjoyed, we in this pubhc manner think fit to

make known our gracious intentions towards

all our people.

" We do therefore, by this our royal declara-

tion, absolutely and effectually pardon and

remit all treasons, and other crimes hitherto

committed against our royal father, or our-

selves. From the benefit of which pardon we

except none, but such as shall, after the pub-

lication hereof, wUfully and mahciously oppose

us, or those who shall appear or endeavour to

appear in arms for our service.

"We farther declare that we will with all

convenient speed call a free parliament; that

by the advice and assistance of such an assem-

bly, we may be enabled to repair the breaches

caused by so long an usurpation, to redress all

grievances, and to free our people from the

unsupportable burden of the malt-tax, and all

other hardships and impositions wliich have

been the consequences of the pretended union

;

that so the nation may be restored to that

honour, liberty, and independency, which it

formerly enjoyed.

" We likewise promise upon our royal word

to protect, secm'e, and maintain all our Pro-

testant subjects in the free exercise of their

religion, and in the full enjoyment of all their

rights, privileges, and immunities, and in the

secure possession of all churches, universities,

colleges, and schools, conform to the laws of

the land.

" All this we shall be ready to confirm in

our first parHament; Ln which we promise to

pass any act or acts that shall be judged neces-

sary to secure each private person in the full

possession of his liberty and property, to ad-

vance trade, to relieve the poor, and establish

the general welfare and tranquillity of the

nation. In all such matters we are fully re-

solved to act always by the advice of our par-

liaments, and to value none of our titles so

much as that of common father of our people,

which we shall ever show ourselves to be by

our constant endeavours to promote the quiet

and happiness of all our subjects. And we
shall be particularly solicitous to settle, en-

courage, and maintain the fishery and hnen

manufactures of the nation, wliichwe are sensible

may be of such advantage to it, and which we
hope are works reserved for us to accompKsh.

" As for those who shall appear more signally

zealous for the recovery of our just rights and

the prosperity of their country, we shall take

elfectual care to reward them according to their

respective degrees and merits. And we parti-

cularly promise, as aforesaid, our full, free, and

general pardon to all officers, soldiers, and

sailors, now engaged in the service of the

usurper, whether of the sea or land, provided

that upon the publication hereof, and before

they engage in any fight or battle against our

forces, they quit the said unjust and unwar-

rantable service, and return to their duty, in

which case we shall pay them all the arrears

that shall be at that time due to them from

the usurper; we shall grant to the officers the

same commissions they shall then bear, if not

higher; and to all soldiers and sailors a grati-

fication of a whole year's pay for their forward-

ness in promoting our service.

" We farther promise and declare, that the

vassals of such as shall without regard to oui

present declaration, obstinately persist in their

rebellion, and thereby forfeit all pretensions to

our royal clemency, shall be delivered from aU

servitude they were formerly bound to, and

shall have grants and charters of their lands to

be held immediately of the crown, providsd

they, upon the publication of this our royal

declaration, declare openly for us, and join

heartily in the cause of their country.

" And having thus declared our gracious in-

tentions to our loving subjects, we do hereby

require and command them to be assisting to

us in the recovery of our rights, and of then

ovm liberties; and that aU our subjects, from

the age of sixteen to sixty, do, upon the setting

up of our royal standard, immediately repair to it,

or join themselves to such as shall first appear

for us in their respective shires ; and also to seize

the horses and arms of all suspected pereons,

and all ammunition, forage, and whatever else

may be necessary for the use of our forces.

"We also strictly command all receivers,

collectors, or other persons who may be acizod
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of any sum or sums of money levied in the

name or for the use of tlie usurper, to retain

such sum or sums of money in their own

hands, till they can pay them to some person

of distinction appearing publicly for us, and

demanding the same for our use and service;

wliose receipt or receipts shall be a sufficient

discharge for all such collectors, receivers, or

other persons, their heirs, &c.

" Lastly, we do hereby require aU sheriffs of

shires, stewards of stewartries, and their re-

spective deputies, magistrates of royal boroughs,

and bailies of regalities, and all others to whom
it may belong, to publish this our declaration,

at tlie market crosses of their respective towns

and boroughs, and there to proclaim us under

the penalty of being proceeded against accord-

ing to law, for their neglect of so necessary and

important a duty."

After this manifesto had been read, the

Marquis of Tullibariline returned to the prince's

quarters with the standard under an escort of

50 Camerons. In about an hour after the

conclusion of this ceremony, Macdonald of

Keppoch joined the prince with 300 of his

men; and in the evening some gentlemen of

the name of Macleod, displeased with the con-

duct of their chief, arrived at Glenfinnan, prof-

fered their services to the prince, and offered

to return to Skye, and raise all the men they

could in support of his cause. On arriving at

Glenfinnan, Macdonald of Tierndriech pre-

sented the prince ^vith an excellent horse which

he had taken from Captain Scott. The ani-

mated appearance of the glen, which now re-

sounded with the martial strains of the pibroch,

contrasted strongly with the solitary gloom

which prevailed when the prince entered it.

Instead of the small party which joined him

in the morning, Charles found himself within

a few hours at the head of a body of about

1,200 brave and resolute men, warmly attached

to his person and cause, at least those of them

who were chiefs, and ready and willing to

hazard their lives in liis service. Charles was

exceedingly delighted at the appearance of his

little army, and it has been observed that at

no other time did he look more cheerful or

display a greater buoyancy of spirits. ^

' Jacobite Memoire, p. 24,

Of the many singular circxunstances attend-

ing this extraordinary insiirrection, the utter

ignorance in which the personage in whose

name it was undertaken was kept, is not the

least. Charles had indeed written his fathei

on the eve of his departure from France,

acquainting him with the resolution he had

taken, but before his letter reached Rome, the

jirince was actually at the head of his army.

The object of Charles in concealing his design

from the Chevalier is obvious. He was aware

that his fatlier would have opposed sueli a rash

attempt, and might probably have applied to

the court of France to prevent his departure;

and having taken his resolution, he was deter-

mined not to put it in jeopardy by too timelj-

an announcement of his intentions. Wliatever

opinion may 7iow be formed of the prudence of

an undertaking, which, had it succeeded, would

have been considered as one of the boldest

strokes of political wisdom, there can be but

one sentiment as to the conduct of the prince,

in thus withholding from his parent all know-

ledge of the design he had formed for accom-

plishing the object of his daring ambition.

Though under the corrupt influence of a few

interested persons, whom he kept about his

person,' he still retained a sufficient portion

of filial respect to prevent him from violating

the declared injunctions of his father; and as

no opposition short of actual violence could

have induced him to forego his resolution of

going to Scotland, he avoided the disagreeable

alternative of disregarding the commands which

his father would have laid upon him by taking

the course he did.

When the Clievalier de St. George received

the prince's letter, which informed him that

he was to proceed instantly to Scotland, he was

greatly surprised and agitated;^ but as tlie

step had been taken, he became reconciled to

it, and even could not help applauding the

courage of the prince in entering upon the en-

terprise. Writing to the Duke of Ormond, on

the 11th of August, the Chevalier says, "I

have now by me your letters of the 14th July,

' See extract Letter from the Chevalier to O'Bryan,

16 August, 174.'5, in Stuart Papers.
' Writing to O'Bryan, he sayg, (11 August, 17-45,)

".Te vous avoue que ma surpri-se et mon agitation

itoient grandes en apprennant cette nonvelle."

—

Stuart Paverx.
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and of the 27tli, which, last came hy the

courier, wliich brought me an account of the

resolution the prince had taken, and executed

without consulting me, for he was very sure I

would not have approved it, tho' I cannot but

say, that the courage and sentiments he shows

on this occasion, will alwaj's do him honor."'

Again in writing to his agent, Sempd, on tlie

same day, he observes, " What takes me up

wholly at present, is the resolution the prince

has taken and executed, without my know-

ledge. . . . Tlie question now is to look

forward, and not to blame what is past. It is

true, I never should have advised the prince

to have taken such a step, but since it is taken

it must be supported, and whatever be the

event, it will certainly turn much to the prince's

personal honor, nay, even something may be

said to justify what he has done. The usage

he met with in France, and the dread of a

peace, were no doubt strong motives to push

liim on a rash undertaking, than to sit still;

and who knows but what has happened, may,

in some measure, force the court of France out

of shame to support him, while otherwise per-

haps they had continued to neglect him, and

then have abandoned him at last

The prince's example will, I hope, animate our

friends in England ; he has ventured generously

for them, and if they abandon him, they them-

selves, and indeed our country, will be ruined."

It had always been the opinion of the Che-

valier—an opinion which experience has shown

was well founded—that no attempt on Scot-

land could possibly succeed, unless accom-

panied by a simultaneous landing in England

;

and he now saw the necessity of enforcing this

consideration more strongly than ever upon the

court of France. In the letter which Charles

had sent him, he desired his father to write to

the King of France and Cardinal Tencin,

entreating them for support. The Chevalier,

however, did not confine himself to the king

and to the cardinal, but addressed himself also

to the Marechal de Noadles, and the whole of

the French ministers. Alluding to the neces-

sity of supporting the prince by a descent on

England, the Chevalier says in the letter to

Ormond, from which a quotation has already

' Slitart Papm.

been made ;
" Enfin, since the step is taken,

it is certainly inciunbent on aU of us to do oui

best to support it, and I am very sure nothing

wiU be wanting on your side for that effect

My darkness, my anxiety, and the multiphcity

of my reflections on this occasion, are so great

that I shall not pretend to enlarge on this sub-

ject at present. In the mean time, I now

write to Lord Marischal by the way of Paris,

and write also directly to the King of France,

and all the ministers, for without a landing in

England is soon made, humanly speaking, it

^vill be impossible for the prince to succeed."

He repeats almost the same observations in his

letter to Sempil, also referred to : "I know not

particularly the grounds he (the prince) goes

upon, but I am afraid there is little room to

hope he wHL succeed, except he be vigorously

supported by the court of France ; and, there-

fore, we must all of us in our different spheres

leave nothing undone for that effect. I now

write myself to the King of France and all

the ministers, and we must be all of us more

than ever solely and wholly intent on the great

object."

But the Chevalier, in his anxiety to procure

early succours for the prince, did not confine

himself to words. To pay off the debts which

Charles had contracted before his departure, he

immediately remitted a sum of 200,000 francs

to O'Bryan, his chief agent at Paris, and placed

another simi of 50,000 francs in the hands of

Waters, junior, his banker in Paris, at the

disposal of O'Bryan, to meet instant contin-

gencies. ^ He afterwards remitted to Waters,

through Belloni, his banker at Rome, 80,000

Roman crowns, and promised another remit-

tance of 28,000 in a few weeks, which, he

said, would exhaust his treasury.

In his letter to the King of France, the

Chevalier informed him that he had learned

with great astonishment the departure of the

prince for Scotland ; tliat knowing well he

would never have approved of such a step, he

= " J'ai, (says the Chevalier to O'Bryan, 16th Aug.'

1745,) envoye la semaine pass^e 200,000 francs a Paris

pour payer ce que le Prince avait empmnte avant que

de partir, et j'espJre en cas de besoin pouToir lever

quelque argent snr quelques petits fonds qui me restent

icy, et sur les pierreries da Prince meine, mais tout

cela n'ira pas fort loin, et a moins que la France ne la

seconrs largement, je ne s^ai ce que arrivcra. "

—

Stuart

Papers.
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hail taken his resolution and put it into effect

without consulting liim ; but that being done,

he was obliged in sincerity to confess that he

could not hut admire the conduct of the prince

in entering upon the enterprise, wliich, he was

certain, would make a great and favourable

impression upon the miads of his adherents.

He stated, however, his conviction, that with-

out the aid of a foreign force it was utterly

impossible for the prince to succeed, and he

entreated his majesty to furnish the necessary

assistance. He reminded him tliat the prince

had been invited by him into France, and

although a year and a half had since elapsed,

that he certainly had not forgot the object

which brought his son thither ; and that a

crisis had now arrived, when the smallest delay

on the part of his majesty might be attended

with danger to the success of the brave attempt

which the prince had made, and that he might

now, at httle risk and at a small expense,

finish the work which the prince was about to

commence. As to himself personally, the

Chevalier informed Louis that he had formerly

intimated to him that he intended to resign

his rights to the prince ; and that his inten-

tions were stiU the same, with this difference,

however, that whOe he formerly considered

that such a step would be advantageous for

his family, it had now become indispensably

necessary for his own honour, on account of

his infinnities, as he considered that he should

act rashly, and be guilty of bad faith towards

his subjects, if he pretended to take upon him-

self the cares of government, when he was

incapable of any fatigue either of body or of

mind, and consequently unable to discharge

the duties of a sovereign.

CHAPTER XXX.

A. D. 1745.

niTi9H SOVEREIGN :—George II., 17"27—I7C0.

Conduct of the Government—Intelligence of the
Prince's arrival reaches Edinburgh—Contradictory
reports—Preparations of Sir John Cope—Marches
to the North—-Resolves to march to Inverness

—

Prince Charles issues a proclamation—Leaves Glen-
6nnan and crosses Corriearrick—Flight of Cope to

Inverness—The Prince marches South—Arrives at

Perth—Joined by Lord George Murray and others

—

Preparations made by the Prince—Alarm in Edin-

burgh—Association of Volunteers formed—Munici-

pal intrigues.

No event was less expected on the part of the

government than the landing of Charles Ed-

ward. A flying report liad, indeed, been spread

in the Highlands in the beginning of summer,

that the prince was to come over in the course

of tliat season ; but no person, not in the secret

of his design, could have imagined that Charles

had any intention to risk his person without

being accompanied by a sufficient body of

troops, and no disposition appeared on the part

of France to assist Irira.

The report alluded to was first communicated

in a letter from "a gentleman of consideration

in the Highlands " to Lord President Forbe.':,

who, on the 2d of July, showed it to Sir John

Cope, the commander-in-chief in Scotland.

Little credit was, however, attached to the

report, either by the writer of the letter or by

the president. Cope, thougli equally incredu-

lous, considered it his duty to communicate the

report to the Marquis of Tweeddale, the secre-

tary of state for Scotland ; and to provide

against any contingency tliat might occur, he

proposed that the forts of Scotland should

be well provided, and that arms should he

transmitted for the use of the well-affected

clans. In an answer which the marquis wrote

upon the 9th, he ordered Cope to keep a strict

watch upon the north, but informed him, that,

as the measures he proposed were considered

by the lords of the regency acting in behalf of

the king during his majesty's absence in Han
over, as likely to create alarm, they had declined

to enter into them. ^

But the lords of the regency were soon

aroused from their supineness by advices from

abroad that the French court was meditating

an invasion of Great Britain, and that the

eldest son of the Pretender had left Nantes in

a French man-of-war, and, according to some

accounts, was actually landed in Scotland. On

the 30th of July, the Marquis of Tweeddale

wrote to Sir John Cope, communicating to

him the news which had just been received,

and despatched letters of the same date to

Lord Milton, the Justice Clerk,* and to the

' Cope's Trial, p. 105. Home, p. 51.

* Appendix to Home's works, No V.
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Lord Advocate, with similar intelligence, and

enjoining them to keep a strict look out,—to

concert wliat was proper to be done in the

event of a landing,—to give the necessary

orders for making the strictest inquiry into the

truth of the intelligence,—and to transmit to

the marquis, from time to time, such informa-

tion as they were able to collect. The Lords

Justices, however, without waiting for a return

to these letters, issued, on the 6th of August,

a proclamation, commanding all Ms majesty's

officers, civil and military, and all other loving

subjects of his majesty, to use their utmost

endeavours to seize and secure the son of tlie

Pretender, promising at the same time a reward

of X30,000 to any one who should seize Prince

Charles, and " bring him to justice."

The express sent by the Marquis of Tweed-

dale reached Edinburgh on the 3d of August,

but the advices wliich had been received in

London liad preceded it. The Lord President,

in a letter written the day before to Mr. Pel-

ham,' mentions the alarm which, in a state of

profound tranquUlity, these advices had created.

The report, however, of the prince's intended

visit was discredited by the President, who

considered the " young gentleman's game " to

be then " very desperate " in Scotland, the

President believing that there was not "the

least apparatus for his reception, even amongst

the few Highlanders who were expected to be

in Hs interest." As, however, where there

was so much at stake, the President wisely

judged that no report respecting the prince's

movements, however improbable, was to be

disregarded, he resolved to make his accustomed

journey to the north a little earlier than usual,

to the end that, though, as he liimself observes,

his " lighting days " were over, he might give

countenance to the friends of government, and

prevent the seduction of the unwary, should

the report turn out well-founded. On the 8th

of August, Forbes wrote the Marquis of

Tweeddale, stating that the Lord Advocate

and Sir John Cope had informed him of the

advices which had been received from abroad,

but expressing his disbelief of the report,

which he considered " highly improbable."

" I consider the report as improbable," he

» Cullmhn Pavers, p. 203.

observes, " because I am confident that young

man cannot with reason expect to be joined

by any considerable force in the Highlands

Some loose lawless men of desperate fortunes

may indeed resort to him ; but I am persuaded

that none of the Highland gentlemen, who
have ought to lose, will, after the experience

mth which the year 1715 furnished them,

think proper to risque their fortimes on an

attempt which to them must appear desperate

;

especially as so many considerable families
I

amongst themselves have lately uttered their

sentiments ; unless the undertaking is sup- I

ported by an arm'd power from abroad, or

seconded by an invasion on some other part of

his majesty's dominions."'^ To provide against

any emergency which might arise in the north,

his lordsliip proposed first, that a sufficient

number of arms should be lodged in the forts

in the Higlilands, with directions by whom,

and to whom they might be delivered out,—a ,

proposal the same in substance as that made '

by Sir John Cope ; and secondly, that money

or credit should be lodged in the hands of

confidential persons in the north, for the use

of the public service. This last-mentioned

measure he considered the more necessary, aa

it could not be expected, as he observed, that

private individuals would come forward with

money, when they recollected that several

gentlemen, who, in the year 1715, had ad- i

vanced large sums out of their pockets for the

public service, had not even been repaid, far

less rewarded by the government.

The Lord President, though a man of sound

judgment, and gifted with a considerable por-

tion of political foresight, was in this instance

deceived in his speculations ; and Lord Tweed- '

dale, perhaps misled by the President, on ;

whose personal knowledge of the state of the
,

Highlands he placed great reKance, adopted :

the same views. Hi an answer to the Presi- '

dent's letter, which the marquis wrote on the

17th of August, he thus expresses himself: •

" I own I have never been alarmed with the '

reports of the Pretender's son's landing in Scot-

land. I consider it as a rash and desperate

attempt, that can have no other consequence

tlian the ruin of those concerned in it."'

Idem, p. 204. Idem, p. 208.
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On tlie same day, however, on which the

President's letter to Lord Tweeddale was vrvit-

ten, all douhts of the arrival and landing of

the prince were removed at Edinburgh. An
express came from Lord Milton, the Justice

Clerk, then at Roseneath, to Sir John Cope,

with a letter dated the .5th, which he had re-

ceived from Mr. Campbell of Stonefield, sheriff

of Argyle, in which was contained a copy of a

letter received by the latter from Mr. Camp-

hell of Aird, factor to the Duke of Ar-gyle in

Mull and Morvern, announcing the landing of

the prince iii Arisaig, and stating that some of

the Maodonalds were already up in arms, and

that other Highlanders were preparing to follow

their example. This news was confirmed next

day, hy another express from the laird of ]\Iac-

leod to the Lord President, dated the 3d of

August.

'

This intelligence, which at first was with-

held from the public, was shortly followed by

the arrival of the Gazette, containing the pro-

clamation for the apprehension of the prince.

Nothing was now talked of at Edinburgh but

the threatened invasion. In the state of ignor-

ance in which the public was stiU. kept, the

most contradictory reports were circulated.

A rumour of the departure of Charles from

France had indeed been inserted in the Edin-

burgh Courant a few days before, and the same

paper had also, on the back of this report,

stated, upon the alleged information of a

foreign journal, that the prince had actually

landed in the Highlands, and was to be sup-

ported by 30,000 men and 10 ships of war;

hut neither of these statements appears to have

excited any sensation, being generally dis-

credited. * Now, however, every person firmly

believed that the prince had arrived. One

day it was confidently asserted that he had

landed in the western HigUands vnth 10,000

French troops. Next day it was affirmed with

equal confidence thit he had landed without

troops
; but that wherever he came the High-

landers to a ma'j had joined liim. On the

other hand, the Jacobites, who were in the

secret of the a nival, anxious to conceal the

fact till Charh's should be ready to take the

field, industriously circulated a report that

' Cvlloden Papers, p. 203.
* ( ,'liaTnhpTs's Rfl^ll.ijyn.. rt, 46.

Cvlloden Papers, p. 203.
' Chambers's Relcllion, p.

he was still in France, and had not the least

intention of coming over. To divert the public

attention, they had recourse to the weapons of

ridicule. In their conversation they repre-

sented the preparations of the commander-in-

chief in a ludicrous light ; and to make him

contemptible in the eyes of the public, sent

him anonymous letters containing most absurd

articles of intelligence, which they afterwards

circulated with scurrilous comments.'

In the present crisis Sir John Cope acted with

more wisdom than has been usually ascribed

to him, and certainly with more energy than

his superiors. Not wishing, however, to trust

entirely to his own judgment, he consulted

Lord President Forbes, and the Lord Advo-

cate and Solicitor General, the law-officers of

the crown, upon the course to be adopted

under existing circumstances. No man was

better acquainted with every tiring appertain-

ing to the Highlands than Forbes ; and in

fixing upon him as an adviser. Cope showed a

laudable desire to avail himself of the best

advice and information 'H'ithin his reach. At
the period now in question, the insurrection

was in a merely inceptive state ; and, accord-

ing to the opinions of those best qualified to

judge, there was little probability that it would

assume a formidable character. At aU events,

sound policy dictated that the threatened

insurrection should be checked in its bud, and

as its progi'ess could only be stopped by the

presence of a body of troops, Cope proposed,

and his proposal received the approbation ol

the three public functionaries before named,

to march to the Highlands with such troops

as he could collect. The number of regular

troops in Scotland did not, it is true, amount

to 3,000 men, and some of them were newly

raised ; but there can be little doubt that, by

a timely and judicious disposition of about

two-thirds of this force in the disaffected dis-

tricts, the embers of rebellion might have

been extinguished. The unfortunate result of

Cope's expedition detracts in no respect from

the design he thus formed, though the pro-

priety of his subsequent measures may well

indeed be questioned.

Having formed his resolution, the coin

^ Home, D. 5 t.

3x
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raander-in-chief sent expresses to the Secretary

of State for Scotland on the 9th and 10th of

August, announcing his intention of marching

to the Highlands. In pursuance of this reso-

lution he ordered a camp to be formed at Stir-

ling, and required all the officers who were

absent from their regiments, to repair to their

respective posts. About the same time he

directed the Lord President to take the com-

mand of the companies raised in the north for

Lord Loudon's Highland regiment, and notified

the appointment to tlie officers of the regiment

commanding in that quarter. As there was no

bread in the country through which he intended

to march, he bought up all the biscuit which

the bakers of Edinburgh and Leith had on

hand, and set all the bakers there, as well as

those of Perth and Stirling, to work night and

day to prepare a quantity of bread sufficient

to support his army for twenty-one days. ^

On receipt of Cope's letters, the Marquis of

Tweeddale laid them before the Lords of

tlie Treasury, who approved of the conduct of

tlie commander-in-cliief, and particularly of

his resolution to march into the Higlilands

tvifch such troops as he could assemble. The

secretary notified the approbation .of their

lordships in a letter to Cope ; and so satisfied

were they mth his plan, that when they under-

stood that the march had been delayed only

for a day or two, they sent down an express to

him, with positive orders to begin his march

to the north instantly. Their lordships seem

not to have been aware of the causes which

retarded his march, not the least of which was

the want of money, a credit for which did not

arrive till the 17th of August. The order to

march reached Edinburgh on the 19th of

August, on which day Cope, accompanied by

the Earl of Loudon and several officers, set off

for Stirling, where he arrived in the evening.

Thus, by a singular coincidence, Charles and

his opponent placed themselves at the head of

their respective armies on the same day.

Tlie force which Cope found upon his arrival

at Stirling consisted of twenty-five companies

of foot, amounting altogether to 1,400 men,

and some of Gardiner's dragoons. Leaving

the dragoons, which could be of no use in a

' Cope's Trial.

campaign among the mountains, behind him,

Cope began Ixis march towards the north on

the 20th, carrying along with him four small

field-pieces, as many cohorns, and 1,000 stand

of spare arms for the use of such of the weU-

afifected Higlilanders as might join him. He
carried also vnt\i him a considerable number

of black cattle for the use of the army. Only

a part, however, of the bread which had been

ordered had arrived ; but so anxious was Cope

to obey his instructions, that he began his

march with the limited supply he had received,

after giving orders to forward the remaiuder

as soon as it should arrive at Stirling.

Cope halted on the 21st at Crieff. He was

here visited by the Duke of Athole, and his

younger brother. Lord George Murray, the

latter of whom, doubtless, little imagined he

was to act the conspicuous part he afterwards

did, as commander of the prince's army. The

duke attended in consequence of a notice which

Cope liad sent to him and the other leaduig

adlierents of the government, through, or in

the neighbourhood of whose territories he

meant to pass, requiring them to raise their

men; but neither the duke nor the other chiefs

who had been applied to seem to have been

disposed to obey the call. Lord Glenorchy,

who arrived shortly after the duke and his

brother, excused himself on the ground that

he had not had sufficient time. As Cope had

calculated upori the junction of a considerable

body of Highlanders on his route, he was ex-

ceedingly disappointed that his expectations

were not likely to be realized, and would have

instantly retraced his steps had the orders of

government allowed him a discretionary power;

but his instructions were too peremptory to

admit of a return to Stirling. Seeing, there-

fore, no use for the large quantity of spare

arms, he sent 700 of them back to Stirling

castle. This was a judicious step, as from tha

want of carriages he could not have got them

transported to Inverness. ^

On tlie 22d the army advanced to Amulree,

where it stopped for a supply of bread. Next

day it proceeded to Tay bridge, on the 24th to

Trinifuir, reaching Dalnacardoch on the 25tli

of August. Here Cope was met bj Captniin
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Sweetenham,—the officer wlio liad been taken

prisoner when on his way to Fort William

from Euthven, and who had been released on

his parole. This officer informed Sir Jolin

that he was carried to Glenfinnan, where be

saw the rebels erect their standard, and that

when he left them on the 21st they amounted

to 1,400 men,—that on the road to Dalwhinnie

he had met several parties of Highlanders

hastening to join them,—and that on arriving

at Dalwhinnie he had been informed that they

were 3,000 strong, and were in full march

towards Corriearrick, where they intended to

meet him and give him battle. Notwith-

standing this illarm i" ti er intelligence. Cope pro-

ceeded on his march, and an'ived at Dalwhinnie

next day. Here he received a letter from

Lord President Forbes, written at his seat of

Ciilloden near Inverness, corroborating the in-

telligence received from Sweetenham of the

advance of the rebels, and of their intention to

meet him upon Corriearrick.

Corriearrick, of which the royal army hail

now come within sight, and over which it was

Cope's intention to march into Lochaber, is, as

we have already seen, a lofty mountain of im-

mense extent, occiipying no less than nine

miles out of the eighteen that form the last

day's march from Garviemore to Fort Augustus.

It is extremely steep on the south side, and

appears at a distance to rise almost as perpen-

dicularly as a wall. Wade, we have seen,

carried his road up this steep ascent by a series

of many traverses, the descent on the north

side being accomplished in much the same

manner. As there are several gullies and

brooks on the south side, bridges have been

tllI0^vn across, over which the road is carried.

These tortuosities, rendered absolutely neces-

sary from the natm'e of the ground, almost

^::/C^^H^i^y^OrZl>.^

'-^y^^T^^

Autogiapli of Sir .Tolin Cope, from an Origmal Manuscript in the possession of W. F. Watson, Esq.

quadruple the real distance, which, from base

to base, does not exceed five mUes. As the

mountain was peculiarly fitted for the opera-

tions of Highlanders, it is evident that in at-

tempting to cross Corriearrick, Cope, if attacked,

M'ould labour under every disadvantage ; for

while his men could not leave the road in pur-

suit of their assailants, the latter could keep a

running fire from numerous positions, from

which it woidd be impossible to dislodge them.

Cope was warned by the President of the

dangers he would run, and his fears were not

a little increased by a report that, on arriving

at the bridge of Snugborongh, a dangerous

pass on the north side of the mountain, he was

to be opposed by a body of Highlanders ; and

that, while this party kept him employed, he

was to be attacked in his rear Ly another body,

which was to be sent round the west end of

the hill.'

Alarmed at the intelligence he had received,

—distracted by a variety of reports as to the

strength of the enemy, ami disgusted with the

apathy of those on whose support he had relied.

Cope called a counoU of war at Dalwhinnie,

on the morning of the 27th of August, to

which he summoned every field officer, and tlie

commanders of the different corps of his little

army. He would have acted more judiciously

had he convened a council at Dalnacardoch,

when he first received intelligence of the ad-

vance of the Highlanders. At this meeting.

Cope laid before his officers the orders he had

received from the secretary of state to march

to the north, which were too positive to be

departed from without the most urgent neces-

sity. After some deliberation, the cotmcil

were unanimously of opinion, that the gen-

3 Cope's Trial, p. 24. Chambers's Rebellion, p. 50.
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eral's original design of marching to Fort Au-

gustus over Corriearrick, was, under existing

circumstances, quite impracticable. Having

abandoned tlie design of crossing Corriearrick,

the council next considered what other coui'se

should be adopted. The -ivisest course cer-

tainly, if practicable, would have been to march

back to Stirling, and guard the passes of the

Forth ; but against this proposal it was urged,

that the rebels, by marching down the side of

Loch Rannoch, would be able to reach Stirling

before the king's troops, and that, by breaking

down the bridges, they would intercept them

in their retreat. As it was impossible to re-

main at Dalwhinnie, no other course therefore

remained, in the opinion of the council, but to

march to Inverness. This opinion, which was

reduced to writing, and signed by all the mem-

bers of the council, was delivered to Sir John

Cope, who, acquiescing in its propriety, im-

mediately issued an order to maroli. We must

now advert to the proceedings of the prince

and his friends.

Charles remained only one night at Glen-

finnan. On the 20th of August he marched

to the head of Loch Lochy, where he encamped.

At this place, a copy of tlie proclamation for

his apprehension was brought him, which ex-

asperated the Higlilanders to such a degree that

they insisted on a counter one being issued,

offering a reward for the apprehension of " the

Elector of Hanover." Charles remonstrated

against such a step, but lie was forced to

yield, and accordingly put forth the following

' Tlie prince thus relates the circumstances atton !•

ing this affiur in a letter to his father, dated from
I'erth, 10th Septenibei^, 1745. " There is one thing,

and but one, in which I had any difl'erence with my
faithful Highlanders. It was about the price upon my
kinsman's head, which, knowing your Majesty's gen-

erous humanity, I am sure, will shock you, as it did

me, when I was shown the proclamation, setting a

price upon my head. I smiled, and treated it with
the disdain I thought it deserved ; upon which they

flew into a violent rage, and insisted upon my doing

the same by him. As this flowed solely from the poor

men's love and concern for me, 1 did not know how to

be angry with them for it, and tried to bring them to

temper by representing that it was a mean barbarous

principle among princes, and must dishonour them in

the eyes of all men of honour ; that I did not see how
my cousin's having set me the example, would justify

me in imitating that which 1 blame so much in him.

But nothing I could say would pacify them. Some
went even so far as to say,

—
' Shall we venture our

lives for a man who seems so iudifl'ereut of his own?'

" Cliarles, Prince of Wales, &c., Regent of

the Kingdoms of Scotland, England,

France, and Ireland, and the dominions

thereunto belonging:

" Whereas we have seen a certain scandalous

and malicious paper published in the style and

form of a proclanration, bearing date the 6th

instant, wherein, under pretence of bringing to

justice, like our royal ancestor King Charles

the I. of blessed memory, there is a reward of

thirty thousand pounds sterling promised to

those who shall deliver us into the hands of

our enemies, we could not but be moved with

a just indignation at so insolent an attempt.

And though, from our nature and principles,

we abhor and detest a practice so unusual

among Christian princes, we cannot but, out

of a just regard to the dignity of our person,

promise tlie like reward of thirty thousand

pounds sterling to him, or those, who shall

seize and secure till our farther orders, the

person of the Elector of Hanover, whether

landed or attempting to land in any part of his

majesty's dominions. Should any fatal accident

happen from hence, let the blame be entirely

at the door of those who first set the infamous

example." This proclamation, which was dated

from the " camp at Kinlocheil," was counter-

signed by Murray of Broughton, who had lately

joined the prince, and had been appointed his

secretary.

On the 23d, the prmce advanced to Fasse-

fern, the seat of Lochiel's brother, where he

passed the night. While at Fassifern, intelli-

gence was received by the prince of the march

of Sir Jolm Cope from Stirling. Having pre-

viously sent off Ids baggage under an escort of

200 Camerons towards Moy, in Lochaher,

Charles put his army in motion on the 24th,

and arrived at Moy on the following day. On

the 26th, the prince crossed the water of Lochy

\yith his army, and proceeded to the castle of

Invergary, in which he took up his quarters

for the night. During the night, he received

an express from Gordon of Glenbucket, ac-

quainting him, that Sir John Cope was con-

siderably advanced in his march to the north,

and that he Intended to cross Corriearrick.

About the same tune, he was visited by Fraser

Thus have I been drawn in to do a thing for which I

condemn myself."

—

Jacobite Memoirs, p. 32.
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of Gortlecli, who came to ln'm in name of Lord

Lovat, to assure him of liis lordship's services.

Fraser advised him to march north, ami raise

the Frasers of Stratherrick, and assured him

tliat Sir Alexander MacdonaUl, the laird of

Macleod, and many of the Maokenzies, Grants,

and Mackintoshes, woidd join him; but the

proposal was opposed by the Marquis of Tulli-

bardine and secretary Murray, the latter of

whom considered the early possession of Edin-

burgh, where he alleged there were many per-

sons ready to join the ranks of the insurgents,

of more importance than any advantages that

might be derived by remaining in the High-

lands.'

This opinion was adopted by Charles, who
next morning proceeded to Abertarf in Glen-

garry. He was joined at Low Bridge by 260

of the Stewarts of Appm, under the command

of Stewart of Ardsliiel, and at AberchaUader,

near the foot of Corriearrick, by 600 of the

Macdonells of Glengarry, under the command
of Macdonell of Lochgarry; and by a party of

the Grants of Glenmoriston. With these ac-

cessions the force under Charles amomited to

nearly 2,000 men. Charles now held a council

of war to deliberate upon the course he should

pursue,—whether to advance and give battle

to Cope, or postpone an engagement tiU he

should receive additional strength. It was

clearly the interest of Charles to meet his ad-

versary with as little delay as possible, and as

his forces already outnumbered those opposed

to him, he could not doubt but that the result

of an engagement would be favourable to his

arms. The council, every member of which

was animated with an ardent desire to engage

Cope, at once resolved to meet him. This re-

solution corresponded with the inclinations of

_the clans, all of whom, to use the expression

of Fraser of Gortideg on the occasion, were
" in top spirits,"^ and making sxae of victory.

The determination of the council, and the

valorous enthusiasm of the claus, acting upon
the ardent mind of the prince, created an excite-

ment, to which even he, w^th all his dreams

of glory and ambition, had before been a

stranger. The generous and devoted people

into whose hands he had committed the des-

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p]). 442—484.
* Cullodcn PaprJ^s, p. 216.

tinies of his house, struck with admiration by

the condescension, and that easy yet dignified

familiarity which never fails to secure attach-

ment, were ready to encoimter any danger for

his sake. No man knew better than Charles

how to improve the advantages he had thus

obtained over the minds and affections of these

hardy mountaineers. Becoming, as it were,

one of themselves, he entered into their views,

—showed an anxiety to learn their language,

which he daily practised,—and finally resolved

to adopt their dress. This line of policy

endeared him to the Higlilanders, and to it

may be ascribed the veneration in which his

memory is stUl held by their descendants, at

the distance of more than a century. Having

in this way inspired his faithful Highlanders

with a portion of his own natural ardour, they

in their turn, by the enthusiasm they displayed,

raised his expectations of success to the highest

possible pitch. A remarkable instance of this

was exhibited before commencing the march

next morning, when, after putting on his

Highland dress, he solemnly declared, when in

the act of tying the latchets of his shoes, that

he would not unloose them tiU he came up

with Cope's army. ^

Desirous of getting possession of the defiles

of Corriearrick before Cope should ascend that

mountain, Charles began his march from Aber-

chaUader at four o'clock on the morning of the

27th August. His army soon reached the top

of the hUl, and was beginning to descend on

the south side, when inteUigence was brought

the prince, that Cope had given up his inten-

tion of crossing Corriearrick and was in fuU

march for Inverness. Cope had put his army

in motion the same morning towards Garvie-

more ; but when his van reached Blarigg Beg,

about seven mUes and a half from Dalwhinnie,

he ordered his troops to halt, to face about,

and, in conformity with the opinion of his

council, to take the road to Inverness by Euth-

ven. To deceive Charles, Cope had left behind,

on the road to Fort Augustus, part of his bag-

gage, some companies of foot, and his camp

colours. The news of Cope's flight (for it was

nothing else) was received by the Highland

army with a rapturous shout, which was

' Cullodcn Papers, p. 216.
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responded to by the prince, who, taking a glass

of brandy, said, with a jeering smile, " Here's

a health to "Mr. Cope ; he is my friend, and if

all the usurper's generals follow his example, I

shall soon be at St. James's." Every man, by

the prince's orders, drank this toast in a glass

of usquebaugh.* The Highlanders immedi-

ately put themselves in motion, and marched

down the traverses on the south side of the

mountain with great celerity, as if in full pur-

suit of a fljang enemy, on whose destruction

they were wholly bent.

The Highland army continued the same rapid

pace till it reached Gar\'iemore, where it halted.

A council of war was then held, at which

various proposals were made for pursuing and

intercepting the enemy ; but none of them

were agreed to. The council finally resolved

to abandon the pursuit of Cope,—to march to

the south, and endeavour to seize Edinburgh

;

the possession of which was considered, par-

ticularly by secretary I\Iiirray, as of the highest

importance. This determination was by no

means relished by the clans, who were eager

for pursuing Cope, whose army they expected

to have anniliilated ; but their chiefs having

concurred in the resolution, they reluctantly

acquiesced. A party of 600 Highlanders, how-

ever, volunteered to follow Cope under cloud

of night ; and undertook to give a good account

of his army, but the prince dissuaded them

from the enterprise.'

From GarWemore, Charles despatched Mac-

donald of Lochgary with a party of 200 men,

to seize the small fort of Euthven, in which

there was a garrison of regular troops ; but

the \'igilance of the commander rendered the

attempt abortive, and the Highlanders were

repulsed with a trifling loss. A party of

Camerons, commanded by Dr. Cameron, was

sent to the house of Macpherson of Cluny, the

chief of the Macphersons, who commanded a

company in the service of government, to

apprehend him, and succeeded. ^

On the 29th of August, the Highland army

was again put in motion, and advanced towards

Palnacardoch. At Didwhinnie, they were

rejoined by Dr. Cameron and his party, bring-

' Heniierson's History of the Rebellion, p. 34.

^ Jacobite Memmrs, p. 25.
' Lnckhart Papers, vol. ii. pp. 443—JS5.

ing along with them Jlacplierson of Cluny,

who, after a short intcrvaew -with the prince,

promised to raise his clan for his service. On
giving this assurance he was released, anii

went home to collect his men. Next day,

Charles marched to the castle of Blair, which

had been abandoned by the Diike of Athole

on liis approach. The Marqms of Tullibardine

took possession of the castle as his own pro-

perty, and immediately assumed the character

of host, by inviting Charles and the Highland

chiefs to supper. ^ To make his guests as com-

fortable as possible, the marquis had written a

letter from Dalnacardoch, to Mrs. Eobertson of

Lude, a daughter of Lord Nairne, desiring her

to repair to the castle, to get it put in proper

order, and to remain there to do the honours

of the house on the prince's arrival.*

At Blair, Charles was joined by Lord Nairne,

and several other Perthshire gentlemen; but

the greater part of the resident gentry had fled

on hearing of the entrance of the Highland

army into Athole. Charles reviewed liis army

the morning after his arrival at the castle,

when he found that a considerable number of

his men were wanting. Some officers were

immediately sent to bring them up, and the

only reason they assigned for loitering behind,

was that they had been denied the gratification

of pursuing Cope.

From Blair, Charles sent forward Lord

JTairne, and Lochiel, with 400 men, to take

possession of Dunkeld, which they entered on

the morning of the 3d of September. In this

town they proclaimed the Chevalier. After

remaining two days at the castle of Blair,

Charles repaired on the 2d of September to

the house of Lude, where he spent the night,*

and next day went to Dunkeld, whence he

proceeded to Lord Nairne's house, on the road

to Perth. While at dinner, the conversation

turning upon the character of the enterprise,

and the pecidiarity of the prince's situation,

some of the company took occasion to express

their sjonpathy for the prince's father, on ac-

- Henderson's History of (lie Rebellion, p. 36.

^ Jacobite Mevioirs, p. 26.
' At Lude Charles "was very cheerfid, and took his

share in several dances, such as minnets, Highland

reels, &c. The first reel the prince called for was

'This is no mine ain house,' &c., and a strathspey

niimiet."

—

Jaeohite Memoirs, p. 26.
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ount of tlie state of anxiety lie would be in,

from the consideration of those dangers and

difficulties the prince would have to encounter.

But Charles, without meaning to depreciate his

father's cares, observed that he did not pity

him half so much as his brother; "for," said

he, "the king has been inured to disappoint-

ments and distresses, and has learnt to bear

up easily under the misfortunes of life; but

poor Harry ! his young and tender years make

him much to be pitieil, for few brothers love

*8 we do."^

Charles spent the night at Nairne-house,

and proceeded next day to Perth, which had

been taken possession of by a partj' of Camerons

the preceding evening. Attired in a superb

dress of tartan, trimmed with gold, and mounted

on Captain Scott's charger, Charles entered the

' fair city," attended by several gentlemen on

horseback. They immediately repaired to the

cross, and proclaimed the Chevalier; after

which ceremony Charles was conducted, amid

the acclamations of the people, to the house of

Viscount Stormont, which had been provided

for his residence while in Perth. The magis-

trates and some of the principal inhabitants,

following the example set by many of the

landed proprietors of the county, abandoned

the city on the appearance of the Highlanders,

and fled to Edinburgh. An advanced party

under Macdonald of Keppoch, had been sent

forward to seize Dundee; but being informed

by some of the inhabitants, who met him on

the road, that his force was too small for the

purpose, Keppoch applied for a reinforcement,

which was accordingly sent off from Perth,

about midnight, under Clanranald. These de-

tachments entered Dundee at day-break, and

captured two vessels with arms and ammuni-

tion on board, which were sent up the Tay for

the use of the royal army.

At Perth, Charles was joined by the Duke
of Perth, Lord Ogilvie and Strathallan, Eobert-

son of Strowan, Oliphant of Cask, and several

other gentlemen ; but the chief personage who
rallied under Charles's standard at Perth, and

was indeed among the first to appear there,

was Lord George Murray,^ immediate younger

brother to the Duke of Athole. He was con-

' Lockhcirt Papers, vnl. ii. p. 468.
* See portrait at p. 672.

ducted by his eldest brother, the Marquis of

Tullibardine, into the presence of the prince.

Lord George had taken a share in the insurrec-

tion of 1715, and was one of the few persons

who joined the Spanish forces, which were

defeated at Glenshiel in 1719. He afterwards

went abroad, and served several years as an

officer in the King of Sardinia's army; but

having obtained a pardon, he returned from

exile, and was presented to George I. by his

brother the Duke of Athole. Lord George

was tall in person, and tliougli now past the

meridian of life, retained all the qualities of a

robust and vigorous constitution. Besides a

natural genius for military operations, in which

he had had considerable experience. Lord

George was fertile in resources, indefatigable

in application, and brave even to a fault

With sword in hand he was always the first to

rush forward upon the enemy in the day of

battle, often saying to his men, " I do not ask

you, my lads, to go before, but to follow me."

The accession therefore of such a man, at such

a crisis, was of the highest importance to the

Jacobite cause. Charles, when at Glenfinnau,

liad conferred the post of quarter-master-general

of the army on O'Sullivan. Aware of the

brilliant qualifications of Lord George, the

prince, almost immediately on his arrival at

Perth, appointed liim lieutenant-general, to the

great satisfaction of the clans, to whom he was

favourably kno^^^l.

Lord George appointed the Chevalier John-

stone,' who had also joined the prince at

Perth, his aid-de-camp, and immediately en-

tered on his duties with alacrity. Though the

Highlanders acted in complete subordination

to tlieir chiefs when in the field of battle, they

had so little idea of military discipline, that

they would absent themselves without permis-

sion, and roam about the country. This hap-

pened more particularly on marches, when

" The author of the Memoirs of the liehellioii in

174R-6. He was de.scended, it is believed, from an

ancient and powerful family, the Johnstones of

Wamphray. When the news of the prince's landinj;

was confirmed at Edinburgh, where he lived ivith his

father, Johnstone repaired to Duncnib, the seat of

Lord Eollo, whose son was married to Johnstone's

sister; and on the 6th of September, went from Dnn-
crub CO Perth, accompanied by two of Lord Rollo's

daughters, who presented him to their relations the

Duke of Perth and Lord George Murray.

—

Quarterly

Review, No. Ixxi. p. 211. Memoirs, 2d edit. p. 16.
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there was a scarcity of food, on which occasions

they would spread themselves over the whole

country, in stragghng parties, in quest of pro-

visions. The inconveniences and loss of time,

and the great abuses to which such a practice

led, had been strongly felt in the former in-

surrection, and had been witnessed by Lord

George himself. To prevent a recurrence of

such evils during the present contest, the first

thing Lord George did, was to advise the

prince to appoint proper persons to fill the

commissariat department, by whose exertions

an adequate supply of food might be provided

for the use of the army, without wliich, he

said, it would be impossible to keep the Higli-

landers together for any length of time. That

no delay might take place in waiting for pro-

visions, in forced marches, or in detached en-

terprises, which reqiured despatch, he caused a

considerable number of small knapsacks to be

made, sufficient to contain a peck of meal each,

which the men could carry on their backs

without any inconvenience. A thousand of

these knapsacks were sent to Crieff, for the

use of the Athole men, who were to marcli

south in that direction.^

The march of Charles into Athole had been

so rapid and unexpected, that his friends in

that district had had no time to gather any

considerable force to join him on his route to

Perth. He was, therefore, under the necessity

if remaining a few days at Perth, to give his

idherents time to raise their men. In muster-

ing their tenants and vassals, some of them are

said to have met with considerable difficulties

from the unwillingness of their people to take

up arms, and the Duke of Perth has been

charged with the crime of shooting one or two

' Lord George Murray's Narrative. Jacobite Me-
moirs, p. 29. Some idea may be formed of the lieu-

tenant-general's activity, from the following extract
from a letter \vTitten on 7th September, by him to his
'jrother the marqnis, who was then busily employed
raising the men on his brother's estates. " I hope
the meal was with you this day— .35 bolls—for it was
at Inwar last night : It shall be my study to have
more meal with you on Monday night, for you must
distribute a peck a man : and, cost what it will, there
must be pocks, (small sacks,) made to each man, to

contain a peck or two for the men, to have always
with them. Buy linen, ham, or any thing ; for these

pocks are of absolute necessity, nothing can he dune
without tliem You may please tell your
own people, that there is a project to get arms for

them."

—

Jacobite Memoirs, p. 31.

j

of his tenants, who were refractory, but the

charge does not appear sufficiently supported.'

Another reason for Charles's stay in Perth

was the want of money. His treasury had

been completely drained by his liberal advances

for the support of bis army ; and of the few

tliousand pounds which he brought with liim

from France, he had only one guinea remain-

ing when he entered Perth. Taking the soli-

tary coin from his pocket, he showed it to

Kelly, one of the gentlemen who came over

with him, and told him that it was all the

money that now remained ; but he added with

an air of confidence, that the army had received

a fortnight's pay in advance, and that before

the expiration of another fortnight he would

receive a fresh supply.^ In order to meet

pecuniary demands, Charles had despatched a

circular from Kinlochiel on the 22d of August

to his friends in different parts of Scotland,

soliciting an immediate supply ; but up to the

time of his arrival at Perth no money appears

to have reached him. - Shortl)"- thereafter,

however, his expectations began to be realized

by some private pecuniary contributions sent

by persons well affected to his cause, but who

were afraid of openly declaring themselves.'

But Charles did not trust to such uncertain

supplies to recriut his exhausted treasury.

Besides compelhng the city of Perth to con-

tribute £500, he appointed persons in Perth,

' " In the interior of the Highlands absolute sub-

mission seems to have been easily exacted ; but in the

outskirts, where, perhaps, there was a slight mingling
of Lowland population, and where the people were

not too blind to see that their leaders alone had an
interest in the rising, considerable opposition was
offered to the commands of the chief. This was
conspicuously visible in the Athole territory. The
chivalrous TuUibardine was much provoked by the

obstinacy of the retainers of his house in the valleys

round Dunkeld. They had to be repeatedly threat-

ened with coercive measures, and appear to have

been literally forced into the service by press-gangs

from the other clans. He had been absent from the

country during the whole interval between the rebel-

lions, and his brothei-, who adopted the interest of

the government, enjoyed his estate. He could not

see that this affectinl his divine right as chief any

more than it affected that of his royal master ; but

the clan appear to have imperfectly participated in

such a principle, and to have abandoned, as he ex-

pressed it, the virtues of their ancestors."—Burton's

Scotland after Revolution, vol. ii. p. 414.
^ Kirkconnel MS,
' Lord Elcho afterwards lent the prince 1,500

guineas. A curious correspondence on the subject oi

repayment will be found in the Stuart Papers.
^ Kirkconnel MS.
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Dundee, and other towns in tlie counties of

Perth and Angus, to collect the public money,

by means of which, and the contributions of his

friends, his coffers were speechly replenished.

During his stay at Perth, Charles devoted

almost all his time to the disciplining and

traiuing of his men, in writing despatches, and

in a variety of military detaQs to which he had

hitherto been unaccustomed. Though fond of

amusement, he never allowed it to occupy

nnich of his time ; and if he accepted a wm-

vivial invitation, it was more from a wish not

to disoblige than from a desire to join in the

festivities of his friends. Amid the occupa-

tions of the camp he did not, however, neglect

the outward observances of religion. For

the first time, it is believed, of his life, he

attended the Protestant service at Perth, on

Simday the 8th of September, rather, it may
be conjectured, to please his Protestant friends,

than from any predilection for a form of wor-

ship to which he was an entire stranger. The

text appropriately chosen on this occasion by

the preacher, a Mr. Armstrong, was from

Isaiah xiv., verses 1, 2, " For the Lord will

have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose

Israel, and set them in their o^vn land ; and

the strangers shall be joined with them, and

they shall cleave to the house of Jacob. And
.he people shall take them, and bring them to

their place ; and the house of Israel shall pos-

sess them in the land of the Lord for servants

and handmaids : and they shall take them

captives, whose captives they were ; and they

shall rule over their oppressors."* The non-

juring Jacobite discourse delivered on the

occasion in question, would certainly form an

extraordinary contrast with the democratic

harangues to which Cliarles's great-grandfather,

Charles I., and his grand uncle, Charles II,

were accustomed to listen from the mouths of

the stern Covenanters.

While Charles was thus employed at Perth,

Sir John Cope was marching from Inverness

to Aberdeen. After leaving the direct road

to Fort Augustus, Cope had proceeded by

forced marches to Inverness, where he arrived

on the 29th of August. Here he met the

Lord President, who communicated to him a

* Caledonian Mercury, as referred to by Dr. Cham-
bers.

letter he had received on his arrival in the

north, from Sir Alexander Macdonald, inform-

ing him of the names of the chiefs who had

joined Charles, and requesting directions how
to act in the event of the insurgent chiefs

being forced to retire to the islands. After

consulting with the President, Cope resolved

to marcli back his army to Stirling, provided

he could obtain a reinforcement of Higlilanders

from the Whig clans in the neighbourhood of

Inverness. An ajaplication was accordingly

made to the chiefs ; but as it turned out

ineffectual. Cope determined to march to Aber-

deen and embark his troops for the Frith of

Forth. The feelings of alarm and anxiety with

which he was agitated on this occasion, are

thus described by himself in a letter which he

wrote from Inverness, on the 31st of August,

to Lord Milton the Justice Clerk :
—" I, from

the beginning, thought this affair might become

serious ; and sorry I am that I was not mis-

taken : indeed, my lord, it is serious. I know
your activity and ability in business,— the

whole is at stake,— exert your authority,—
lengths must be gone,—and rules and common
course of business must yield to the necessity

of the times, or it may soon be too late. So

much fatigue of body and mind I never knew
of before ; but my health continues good, and

my spirits do not flag. Much depends upon

the next step we take. In this country the

rebels will not let us get at them unless we had

some Highlanders with us ; and, as yet, not one

single man has joined us, though I have lugged

along with us 300 stand of arms. No man
could have believed that not one man would

take arras in our favour, or show countenance

to us; but so it is."^

It is rather singidar, that on the same day

on which the above-mentioned letter was writ-

ten, the adherents of government at Edinburgh,

who had hitherto derided the attempt of the

prince, should have been at last aroused to a

full sense of the danger they were in. Lulled

by a false security, they had never, for a mo-

ment, doubted that Cope would be successful

on his expedition in the north; but certain

intelligence, brought to them by James Drum-

mond or Macgregor, son of the celebrated Bob

» Home, p. 318.

3 Y
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Roy, who arrived at Edinburgh on the 26th,

began to open their eyes. With the object of

throwing the government party in the capital

off their guard, this man was despatched from

the Jacobite camp in Lochaber to Edinburgh,

with the necessary instructions. Enjoying in

some degree the confidence of the whig party,

he was the better fitted to impose upon them

by his misrepresentations. When introduced

to the pubUo functionaries on his arrival, he

stated that the Highland army was not 1,-500

strong,—that it was chiefly composed of old

men and bo}'s, who were badly armed, and that

from what he saw and knew of them he was sure

they woidd fly before Cope's army. Though

unsuccessful, as will be seen, in this branch of

his mission, he succeeded in another which he

had volunteered to perform, by getting one

Drummond, a Jacobite printer, to print the

prince's proclamations and manifestoes, which

he took care to distribute throughout the city

among the friends of the cause. When ap-

prised of the fact of the publication, the magis-

trates, without suspecting Macgregor as the

importer of these treasonable documents, issued

a proclamation, ofi'ering a large reward for the

discovery of the printer.

Edinburgh, at the period in question, and

for many years afterwards, was confined within

narrow limits. It had never been properly

fortified ; and its castle, which majestically

overtops the city, and forms the western bound-

ary of that division now called the " Old town,"

could afford it little security. On the south

and on the east, the ancient city was bounded

by a wall varying from ten to twenty feet high.

On the north side, a lake, easily fordable, called

the North Loch, now drained and converted

into beautifid gardens, was its only defence.

In several places the old wall had been built

upon, so that dwelling houses formed part of

the wall, but these erections were overlooked

by rows of higher houses -Nrithout the city.

There were no cannon mounted upon the wall,

but in some places it was strengthened by bas-

tions and embra-suies. Tlie standing force of

the city consisted of two bodies, called the

To-wn Guard and the Trained Bands, neither

of which now exist. The first, which, at the

time we are now treating of, amounted to 126

men, acted in lieu of a police; and though

pretty well versed in the manual and platoon

exercise, were, from their being generally old

men, unfit for military duty. The Trained

Bands, or Burgher Guard, which was composed

of citizens, and in former times amounted to a

considerable number of men, did not at the

period in question exceed 1,000. Anciently,

the tallest men were armed with pikes, and

those of a lower stature with firelocks, and

both were provided with defensive armour.

The captain of each company, eight in number,

instructed his men one day in every week in

the exercise of arms ;* but the pikes and ar-

mour were afterwards laid aside, and since the

Revolution the Trained Bands had appeared in

arms only once in the year, to celebrate the

king's birth-day, on which occasion they were

furnished with arms for the service of the day

from a magazine belonging to the city.

As it was obvious that, under these circum-

stances, no effectual resistance could be made

to the entrance of an army into the city, the

provost and magistrates held a meeting on the

27th of August, at which some of the principal

citizens attended, to devise means of defence.

At this meeting it was resolved to repair the

walls and to raise a regiment of 1,000 men, to

be paid by a voluntary contribution of the in-

habitants. A standing committee was, at the

same time, appointed to carry this resolution

into effect, and to advise with the Lord-Justice-

Clerk and other judges then in town, and the

crown lawyers, as to such other steps as might

be considered necessary in the present crisis.

To obtain the requisite permission to embody

the proposed regiment, an application was sent

to London by the Lord Advocate ; and leave

to that effect was granted on the 4th of Sep-

tember.'

Up to the 31st of August, no certain intelli

gence had been received at Edinburgh of the

movements of the Highlanders ; but in the

evening of that day the inhabitants were

thrown into a state of great alarm by receiving

intelligence of the march of the Highland army

into Athole, and of the ominous departure of

Cope for Inverness. Instantly the drum beat

to arms, and the town-council having met,

p. G7

M.iitland's History of Edinburgh, p. 285. Homo,

Home, p. 07.
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they ordained that the keys of the city should

be lodged vnth the captain of the city guard,

and ordered sentries to he placed at each of

the gates, and the city guard to be augmented.

As an additional security, Hamilton's dragoons,

then quartered in the vicinity of the city,

were kept under arms that night. The repairs

of the city walls were commenced; orders were

issued to place cannon on them, and to throw

up a ditch on the north side of the castle, and

arms were sent from the city magazine to Leith

to arm its inhabitants. These preparations,

and the hurry and bustle with which it may
be supposed they were attended, may appear

ludicrous when contrasted with the result; but

the puhUc functionaries were bound to put the

city in as defensible a state as their means

would admit of, and wthout the least possible

delay.

It woidd have been perhaps fortunate for

the honour of the city, if on the present occa-

Bion the civic authorities had been allowed, in

conjunction with the committee which had

been named, to follow out such measures as

they might have deemed necessary for defend-

ing the city; but, unluckily, there existed a

party consisting of e.\-magistrates and council-

lors, who, by the course they adopted, brought

dissension among the citizens. This party, at

the head of which was es-provost Drummond,

"a zealous loyalist, and one of the most valu-

able municipal chiefs whom Edinburgh has

possessed,"^ had been succeeded in the town-

council by Stewart, the then provost, and his

friends, who, for five years, had kept possession

of the municipal government, to the entire ex-

clusion of Drummond and his party. Desirous

of regaining their lost power, they availed

themselves of the present opportunity, the

elections being at hand, to instil distrust of the

existing magistracy into the minds of the

electors, by representing the members of the

town-council as Jacohitically inclined, and as

indifferent to the preservation of the city from

the rebels. And indeed it appears that Stewart

showed himself incapable of performing effectu-

ally the responsible duties of his office at this

important juncture.' The opposition party,

partly, no doubt, to ingratiate themselves still

' Burtuii. ' Burton, vol. ii. p. -i.^Jl.

fartlier with the electors, the m.ijnrity of whom
were whigs, and warmly attached to the govern-

ment, reaUy showed greater zeal in organising

measuies for the defence of the city. They

presented, on the 6th of September, a petition

to the provost, signed by about 100 citizens,

prajang that they, the subscribers, might be

authorised to form themselves into an associa-

tion for the defence of the city,—that they might

be allowed to name their own officers,—and

that an application should be made by the

provost to General Guest, for a supply of arms

from the castle for their use. ^

This petition was laid before an extraordinary

meeting of the council next day, and the law

officers of the crown having given their opinion

that the council could legally authorise an

arming of the inhabitants for the contemplatixl

purpose, they acceded to its prayer, with tlie

exception of that part which craved that the

volunteers should have the nomination of their

own officers, a privilege wliich the provost re-

served to himself, in virtue of his office of chief

magistrate. To ascertain the names of the

citizens who were willing to serve as volun-

teers, a paper was lodged, on the 9th of Sep-

tember, in the Old-church aisle, and all loyal

persons were invited hy handbills to subscribe:

418 persons joined this association, and were

supplied with arms from the castle. Simul-

taneously with the formation of the association,

the magistrates exerted themselves to raise tlio

regiment they had petitioned for, the warrant

for which was received by the provost on the

8th of September; hut their efforts were inef-

fectual, not being able, after a week's recruiting,

to raise 200 men. This paltry force, however,

was named the Edinburgh regiment, to dis-

tinguish it from the volunteer association.

Hitherto the repairs of the city waUs had

been steadily progressing, and, to the great

scandal of the more religious part of the in-

habitants, no cessation took place even upon

the Sunday ; but although the persons employed

upon the walls might plead necessity in justifi-

cation of their work on the day of rest, they

seem to have overlooked that necessity on thr,

10th of September, the day when the city elec-

tions commenced. So great was the anxiety

^ Home. p. G9.
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of aU classes to ascertain tlie names of tlie

craftsmen sent up by the different incorpora-

tions to the council to represent them, that a

total suspension of every business took place,

and the magistrates, who felt little difficulty in

procuring men to Tvork upon the Sunday, now

saw the works almost entirely deserted bj' the

artificers employed upon them.

A few days after receipt of the intelligence

of the march of the Highlanders into the low

country, Captain Rogers, an aid-de-camp of Sir

John Cope, arrived at Edinburgh from Inver-

ness, with instructions to General Guest to

send down a number of transports to Aberdeen

to carry his men to the southern shores of the

Frith of Forth. These vessels sailed from

Leith roads on the 10th, under convoy of a

ship of war, and their return was expected

with the greatest anxiety by the inhabitants of

Edinburgh, who were continually looking up

to the weather-cocks to ascertain the direction

of the wind.

The volunteers being officered and organised,

were regularly drilled twice every day. Cannon

were brought up from Leith and mounted on

the walls, and the defensive works were pro-

ceeded with under the superintendence of

Maclaurin, the celebrated mathematician, who

had furnished the designs.

CHAPTER XXXI.

BRITISH sovereign;—George 11., 1727—1760.

Charles leaves Perth and proceeds southwards—Crosses

the Forth— Proceeds towards Edinburgh— Great

confusion in Eiiinburgh—The Edinburgh volun-

teers—Gardiner's and Hamilton's dragoons—Meet-

ing of inhabitants—Message from Prince Charles at

Corstorpbine—Deputations to the Prince—Cope ar-

rives off Dunbar—Capture of Edinburgh by the

Highlanders—Arrival of Charles at Holyrood—The
Chevalier de St. George proclaimed—Cope marches

from Dunbar towards Haddington and Preston

—

The "riuce leaves Edinburgh and marches towards

Preston—Battle of Preston.

As early as the 7th of September, Charles had

received notice of Cope's intention to embark

at Aberdeen ; and, that he might not be anti-

cipated by Cope in his design of seizing the

capital, he began to make arrangements for

leaving Perth for the south. Before the 1 1 th

his force was considerably augmented by tribu-

tary accessions from the uplands of Perthshire,

and, as his coffers had been pretty well replen-

ished, he resolved to take liis departure that

day. With this view. Lord George Mm-ray

sent an express to his brother, the Marquis of

TuUibardine, on the 7th, requesting him to

march with such forces as he had collected, on

the morning of Tuesday the 10th, so as to

reach Crieff next day, that he might be able to

foiTQ a junction with the main anny at Dun-

blane or Doune the following day.^

Charles, accordingly, left Perth on Wednes-

day the 11th of September on his route to the

south. The van of the army, or rather a few

of each of the clans, reached Dunblane that

night, in the neigliboui-hood of which they

encamped. The greater part of the men lagged

beliind, and did not get up till next day, when

they appeared to be greatly fatigued. As this

result was imputed to the good quarters they

had enjoyed for the last eight days at Perth,

and the want of exercise, it was resolved that

henceforth the army should encamp in the

open air, and be kept constantly in motion.

On his march to Dunblane, the prince was

joined by Macdonald of Glencoe,^ with 60

of his men, and by James Drummond or Mao

gregor of Glengyle at the head of 255 Mac-

gregors, the retainers of IMacgregor of Glen

cairnaig.*

Having been obliged to halt a whole day for

the remainder of his army, Charles remained

in his camp tiU the 13th, on wliich day he

crossed the Forth at the fords of Frew, almost

in the face of Gardiner's dragoons, who retired

towards Stuiing on the approach of the High-

land army, without attempting to dispute its

passage. WhUe passing by Doune, Charles

received particular marks of attention from

some of the ladies of Menteith, who had as-

sembled in the house of Mr. Edraondstone

of Cambuswallace, in the neighbourhood of

Doune to see him as he passed. A collation

had been provided for him, in the expectation

that he would have entered the house; but he

' Jacobite Memoirs, p. 31.

3 Sixty of these Macdonalds had previously joined

at Perth.
* The Gartmore MS. qui ted in the appendix to

Piuvts Letters makes the number only forty; but

1 lome gives it as above.
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courteously excused liimself, and stopping be-

fore the house, without alighting from his

horse, drank a glass of ivine to tlie healths of

his fair observers. The daughters of Mr.

Edmondstone, who served the prince on tliis

occasion, respectfully solicited the honour of

kissing his hand—a favour which he readily

granted; but he was asked to grant a higher

favour by Miss Eobina Edmondstone, cousin

to the daughters of the host. The favour

sought was the liberty " to pree his royal higli-

ness's mou." Cliarles not being sufficiently

acquainted with broad Scotch, was at a loss to

comprehend the nature of the request; but on

its being explained to liim, he instantly caught

her in his arms, and instead of allowing her to

perform the operation, he himself kissed her

from ear to ear, to the great amusement of the

spectators, and the envy of the bold recipient's

cousins. *

The passage of the Forth had always been

considered one of the most daring and decisive

steps which a Highland army could take. In

their own country tlie Higlilanders possessed

many natural advantages over an invading foe,

which gave them almost an absolute assurance

of success in any contest even with forces

greatly superior in numbers; and, in the ad-

joimng Lowlands, they could, if worsted, easily

retreat to their fastnesses ; but their situation

was very different on the south of the Forth,

where they were more particularly exposed to

be attacked by cavalry,—a species of force

wliich they greatly dreaded, and from which

they could, if routed, scarcely expect to escape.

It is said, but not upon sufficient authority,

that some of Charles's officers at first demurred

to the propriety of exposing the army to the

dangers of a Lowland campaign in the south,

but that he would listen to no arguments

against the grand design he had formed of

seizing the capital To cheer his men in the

hazardous enterprise, the dangers of which now,

for the fi.Tst time, began to develop themselves,

the prince is reported, on arriving on the bank
of the river, to have brandished his sword in

the air, and pointing to the other side, to have
rushed into the water, and darting across, to

have taken his station on the opposite bank,

" Nimmo's JTistonj of Stirlingshire, edited by the
Rev. Macgregor Stirling, p. 564.

on which he stood till aU the detachments had

crossed, and congratulated each successive de-

tachment as it arrived.® In crossing the

Forth, the prince may be said to have passed

the Rubicon : he had not only committed

himself in a struggle with a powerful govern-

ment, but he had, with intrepid daring, and

with a handful of men, entered a country

whence retreat was almost impossible.

After passing the Forth, Charles, accom-

panied by a ])arty of his officers, proceeded to

Leckie House, tlie seat of Mr. Moir, a Jacobite

gentleman, where he dined; but the proprietor

was absent, having been seized by a party of

dragoons, and carried off to Stirling castle the

preceding night, in consequence of information

having been received at the castle tliat he was

preparing to receive and entertain the prince

at his house. The army passed the night on

the moor of Sauohie, a few miles south from

the ford.' The prince himself slept in Ban-

nockburn House, belonging to Sir Hugh Pater-

son, a zealous Jacobite. During tliis day's

march great abuses were committed by the

men in taking and shooting sheep, which the

Duke of Perth and others did every thing in

their power to prevent. Lochiel was so en-

raged at the conduct of his men, that he is said

to have shot one of them himself, as an exam-

ple to deter the rest.

'

• Dougal Graham's Metrical History, p. 15.

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 487.
* Dougal Graham, in his Metrical Ilistory of the

insurrection, as quoted by Chambers, thus alludes to

the conduct of the Highlanders on the present occa-

sion :

—

" Here for a space they took a rest,

And had refreshment of the best

The country round them could afford.

Though many found but empty board,

As sheep and cattle were drove away.
Yet hunc^y men sought for their prey

;

Took milk and butter, kirn and cheese,

On all kinds of eatables they seize

;

And he who could not get a share,

Sprang to the hills like dogs for hare

;

Tliore shot the sheep and made them fall.

Whirled off the skin, and that was all

;

Struck up 6re and boiled the flesh.

With .salt and pepper did not fa.sh :*

This did enrage the Cameron's chief.

To see his men so play the thief

;

And finding one into the act.

He fired and shot him through the back ;

Then to the rest himself addressed,
' This is your lot I do protest,

—

Whoe'er amongst you wrongs a man

;

Pay what you get. I tell you plain

;

For yet we know not friend or foe.

Nor 'now all things may chance to go."

"

* .,4R??ice,—trouble themselves.
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Next day Charles put his army in motion

towards Falkirk. In paseing hy Stirling, a

few shots were fii'ed at tliem from the castle,

but without damage. Lord George Murray

sent a message to the magistrates of the town,

requiring a supply of provisions ; on receiving

which they immediately opened the gates, and

having given notice of the demand to the in-

habitants, the dealers in provisions went out

and met the Highland army near Bannookburn,

and sold a considerable quantity of commodi-

ties to the men. The army, after receiving

this supply, resumed its march, and finally

halted on a field a little to the eastward of Fal-

kirk. Charles took up his abode in CaUender

House, where he was entertained with the

greatest hospitality by the Earl of Kilmarnock,

who gave him assurances of devoted attach-

ment to his cause. By the earl, Charles was

informed that Gardiner's dragoons, who, on liis

approach to Falkirk, had retired in the direc-

tion of Linhthgow, were resolved to dispute

the passage of Linlithgow bridge with him, and

tliat they had encamped that night in its neigh-

bourhood.^

On receiving this intelligence, Charles im-

mediately held a conned of war, at which it

was resolved to attack the dragoons during the

night. For this purpose a detachment of 1,000

well-armed men was despatched at one o'clock

in the morning under the command of Lord

George Mm-ray. They marched with the ut-

most order, regularity, and quietness; but they

were disappointed in their object, as the dra-

goons had retired during the night to Kirkhs-

ton, eight miles west from Edinburgh. The

detachment entered Linhthgow before break of

day, where they were joined by the pruice and

the rest of the army about ten o'clock that

morning. ^ The day was Sunday ; but tlie

prince does not appear to have gratified tlie

burghers by going to church as he had done

the citizens of Perth the preceding Sunday.

He, however, partook of a repast which some

of the Jacobite inhabitants had prepared for

him. The provost preserved a neutrality by

absenting himself from to'svn; but liis -wife and

daughters are said to have paid then- respects

» Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 445.

—

Forbes Papers,

p. 35.

' Idem

to the prince by waiting upon him at the cross,

attu-ed in tartan gowns, and wearing white

cockades, and doing themselves the honour of

kissing his hand.

Advancing from Linlithgow about four

o'clock in the afternoon, the Highland army

encamped on a rising ground, nearly four miles

east from Linlithgow, near the twelfth mile-

stone from Edinburgh, where they passed the

night. The prince slept in a house in the

neighbourhood. Next morning, Monday the

16th, Charles renewed his march eastwards,

and reached Corstorpliine, the dragoons aU the

while retiring before him as he approached.

Charles was now \vitiun three miles of Edin-

burgh, and could not proceed farther in a direct

line, \vithout exposing his army to the fire of

tlie castle guns. To avoid them, he led it off

in a southerly dii-eotion, towards Slateford,—

a

small village about the distance of a mile from

Corstorpliine. The prince fixed his head quar-

ters at Gray's nulls, between two and three

miles from the city, and his troops bivouacked

during the night of the IGth, in an adjouiing

field called Gray's Park.

Wlien intelligence of tlie prince's departure

from Perth reached Edinburgh, the anxiety for

the arrival of Cope increased every hour. The

Jacobites, of whom there was a respectable

party in the city, on the other hand, longed for

the arrival of Charles. No certain informa-

tion of the movements of the Higldand army

reached Edinburgh tdl the morning of Sunday

the 15th, when a messenger brought inteUi-

geuce that the insurgents were in full march

upon the capital, and that their van had already

reached Kiikliston. The last part of this in

formation was, however, incorrect.

At the time the messenger arrived, all tha

armed volunteers, in terms of an order given

the preceding evening, were assembled in the

college yards. About ten o'clock, Drummond,

the ex-provost, who was captain of a company,

which, from its being partly composed of stu-

dents belonging to the university, was called

the college company, made his appearance.

After consultation with his brother-officers, he

informed the company of the advance of the

Highland army,—that it had been proposed to

General Guest to make a stand with the two

dragoon regiments, and fight the insurgents ou
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tlioir way to the city; but that the general did

not think the measure advisable, as there was

not a body of foot to act with the dragoons to

di-aw off the fire of the enemy,—that he (Drum-

mond), knowing that he coidd answer for 250

volunteers, if Provost Stewart would allow 50

of the town-guard to go along with them, had

isked the general if that number would be

sufficient ; and that Guest had given him an

answer in the affirmative. " Now, gentlemen,"

said the ex-provost, "you have heard the gen-

eral's opmion, judge for yourselves. If you

are willing to risk your lives for the defence of

the capital of Scotland and the honour of your

country, I am ready to lead you to the field."

The volunteers to whom Drummond seemed

particularly to address himself, threw up their

hats in the air, at the conclusion of this ad-

dress, and began a huzza, in which the rest of

the company joined.^

Having obtained. the consent of his own

company to march, he went to the other com-

panies in succession ; but instead of advising

them to follow the example wliich his own

men had set, he told them that though his men

were, all of them, going out to conquer or

die with him, yet that such a resolution was

only proper for young xmmarried men, who

were at liberty to dispose of their own lives.

Accordingly very few of the volunteers in the

other companies would give their consent ; but

Drummond's company becoming clamorous,

the others seemed to yield, and Drummond
despatched a messenger to the castle to inform

General Guest that the volunteers were ready

to march out mth the dragoons and engage the

rebels. At the request of the general. Provost

Stewart ordered a detachment of the town

guard and the Edinburgh regiment to accom-

pany the volunteers. General Guest, on being

informed of this, directed Hamilton's dragoons,

who were encamped on Leith links, to march

' Home, p. 79.—ilr Home says that several of these

folunteers, of which he was one, were not inhabitants

of the city, and were ignorant of the municipal cabals,

—that they had little deference for the opinion either

of Guest or Drummond ; but being satisfied that the

walls were untenable, and dreading the consequences

to the city if taken by storm, they considered the pro-

posal of marching out with the tljagoons preferable to

keeping within the walls, as, with their assistance, the

dragoons might be able to break the force of the High-
land army, and leave to the Highlanders, if victorious,

a tlcody and fatal victory.

through the city, and join Gardiner's regiment

at Corstorpliine. ^

For the first time since they had been em-

bodied, the volunteers now loaded their pieces.

In terms of an order wliich had been issued

the preceding day, the fije-bell was rung as a

signal of approaching danger, and the volun-

teers, who had assembled in the coUege-yards,

instantly repaired in a body to the La^vu-

market, the appointed place of rendezvous.

Most of the city ministers had enrolled them-

selves as volunteers, but they were absent on

the present occasion, being engaged celebrating

divine service in their respective churches.

Semjjer parati being the motto they had

adopted in their new vocation, they had gone

to church equipped a la milifaire, and when

tlie alarm-boll sounded, were preaching witli

their swords by their sides. In an instant

the churclies were deserted by the worship-

pers, and a universal panic seized all classes

on learning the intelligence. The Lawn-

market, where the volunteers had drawn up

waiting for the arrival of Hamilton's dragoons,

was soon crowded with inhabitants : many

of them, the wives, sisters, mothers, fathers,

and friends of the devoted volunteers who

clustered around them, and implored them,

by ties the most sacred, to desist from the

dangerous enterprise they were about to engage

in. The attention of the people was diverted

for a time by tlie appearance of Hamilton's

dragoons who rode up the street. They were

received with huzzas by the volunteers, and

the dragoons in passing huzzaed in return, and

with a gasconading air clashed their sword.s

against each other as they went along. The

alarm among the relatives and friends of the

volunteers was increased, and nothing was to

be heard but the cries and lamentations of

unhappy females. These doughty champions,

who never had any serious intention of expos-

ing their persons to the blows of the Highland

broad-sword, moved in appearance by the tears,

the entreaties, and embraces of their female

friends, seemed rather inclined to allow the

dragoons to shift for themselves ; but neither

the expostidations of the men, (for the male

relations of the volunteers were equally solici

= Home, p. SO.
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tous witli the females in dissuading the vohm-

teers from marching,) nor the tears of the

women, had any effect upon the volunteers of

Drummond's company, who had agreed to

inarch.

An order being given to march, Drummond
placed himself at the head of the volunteers

of his company, and marched them up the

Lawnmarket and down the West Bow to the

Grassmarket : they were followed by an im-

mense crowd of people lamenting their unhappy

fate. Only 42 privates of Drummond's com-

pany followed him, hut he certainly expected

some accessions from the other companies.

Not a single individual, however, belonging to

them, accompanied him. Fmding liimself and

his little party alone, Drummond halted his

men near the West Port, and sent a lieuten-

ant, named Lindsay, back to the Lawnmarket

to ascertain the reason why the volunteers,

who were expected to follow, had not joined

their associates. Lindsay, on his return to the

Lawnmarket, found the volunteers, who still

remained in the street, in great confusion.

Several of the officers told Lindsay that they

themselves were willing to foUow Drummond
and his party, but that very few of their men

would consent to march out. On the other

hand, many of the privates complained that

they could not get one officer to lead them.

After some altercation, Lindsay, with the

assistance of Captain Sir George Preston, and

some other officers, succeeded in collecting

141, who professed a willingness to march

vrith the dragoons, out of about 350 volunteers

who had remained behind ; Lindsay led off

these to the Grassmarket, where they joined

Drummond's party ; but if we are to believe a

pamphleteer of the day, even this small force

was diminished by the way. The descent of

The Bow presenting localities and facilities

equally convenient for desertion, the volun-

teers are said to have availed themselves of

these on their march. The author allud-

ed to facetiously compared this falling off

" to the course of the Rhine, which rolling

pompously its waves through fertOe fields,

instead of augmenting in its course, is con-

tinually drawn off by a thousand canals, and

at last becomes a small rivulet, which loses

itself in the sands before it reaches the

ocean."* The foot now assembled, compre-

hending the town guard and the Edinburgh

regiment, which numbered only 189, amounted,

exclusive of officers, to 363 men.'

Alarmed at the departure of the volunteers.

Dr. Wishart, principal of the university of

Edinburgh, with others of the city clergy, pro-

ceeded to the Grassmarket, and with great

earnestness addressed the volunteers, and con-

jured them by every thing they held most

sacred and dear, to reserve themselves for the

defence of the city by remaining within the

walls. Principal Wishart addressed himself

particularly to the young men of Drummond's

company, some few of whom affected to con-

temn his advice ; but it was perfectly evident

that there was scarcely an individual present,

who did not in his heart desire to foUow the

advice of the ministers. The volunteers, how-

ever, had offered to serve without the walls,

and they could not withdraw \nth honour.

Drummond, on the departure of the clergy,

and after a short consultation with his officers,

sent a lieutenant with a message to the provast,

to the effect, that the volunteers had resolved

not to march out of town without his express

permission, and that they would wait for his

answer. In all this we have no reason to

doubt the sincerity and courage of Drummond,

but to the great satisfaction of his men, who

were at first ignorant of the nature of the

message, an answer was returned by Provost

Stewart, stating that he was much opposed to

the proposal of marching out of town, and was

glad to find that the volunteers had resolved

to remain within the waUs. No sooner was

this answer received, than Drummond returned

\vith liis men to the college-yards, where they

were dismissed for a time. The town guard,

and the men of the Edinburgh regiment, how-

ever, although shamefidly deserted by their

companions in arms, marched out of the city

on receiving an order to that effect from the

provost, and joined the dragoons at Corstor-

phine, about four miles west from Edinburgh,

* "A True Acco<int of the Behaviour and Conduct

of Archibald Stewai-t, Esq., late Lord Provost of Edin-

burgh, in a letter to a friend. London, 1748." This

pamphlet has been ascribed by a writer in the Quar-

terly Hevicw, (No. 71, p. 172,) supposed to be Sir

\^'alter Pcott, to the pen of Hume the Iliitoiian.

' Home, p. 83.
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whore the regiments of Hamilton and Gardiner

formed a junction.'

Seeing no appearance of the enemy, Colonel

Gardiner retired at sunset with the two regi-

ments of dragoons, to a field between Edin-

burgh and Leith, to pass tlie night, leaving a

party of his men behind liim to watch the

motions of the Highlanders ; and the foot

returned at the same time to the city. To

guard the city during the night, 600 or 700

men, consisting of the trained bands, the

volunteers, and some auxiliaries from the towns

of Musselburgh and Dalkeith, were stationed

along the walls and at the different gates ; but

the night passed off quietly. The same night.

Brigadier General Fowkes arrived from Lon-

don. Early next morning, he received an

order from General Guest, to take the com-

mand of the dragoons, and to march to a field

a little to the east of Coltbridge, about two

miles west from the city, where he was joined

in the ooui'se of the forenoon by the to-svn

guard, and tlie Edinburgh regiment.

For the first time during their march, the

Highlanders descried some dragoons as they

approached Corstorplime, on the morning of

the 16th of September. This was the party

which Colonel Gardiner had left at Corstor-

phine the preceding evening. To reconnoitre

the dragoons, a few young well-armed High-

landers were sent forward on horseback, and

ordered to go as near as possible to ascertain

their number. These young men rode close

np to the dragoons, and by way of frolic or

defiance, for they could have no intention of

attacking the dragoons, fired their pistols at

them. To the utter astonisliment of the High-

landers, the dragoons, instead of returning the

fire, became panic-struck, and instantly wheel-

ing about, galloped off towards the main body.

Participating in the fears of his advanced

guard, General Fowkes immediately ordered a

retreat, and between three and four o'clock in

the afternoon, the inhabitants of Edinburgh

beheld the singidar spectacle of two regiments

of dragoons flying along the " Long Dykes,"

now the site of Princes Street, when no one

pursued. The faint-hearted dragoons stopped

a short time at Leith, and afterwards proceeded

<> Home, p. 8-).

to ^Musselburgh. The foot returned to tlie

city.

Several hours before the retreat of the dra-

goons, a gentleman of the city had brought in

a message from the prince, requiring a surren-

der, and threatening, in case of resistance, to

subject the city to all the rigours of military

usage ; but no regard was paid to the message,

and although the messenger had the imprudence

(for which he was sent to prison by the pro-

vost,) to communicate the message to the

inliabitants, they manifested no great symptoms

of alarm, relying, probably, on the resistance

of the dragoons. After these had fled, how-

ever, the people became exceedingly clamorous,

and crowds of the inhabitants ran about the

streets crying, that since the dragoons had fled,

it was madness to tliink of resistance. The

provost, on returning from the West Port,

where he had been giving orders after the

retreat of the dragoons, was met by some of

the inhabitants, who implored liim not to per-

sist in defending the town, for if he did, they

would all be murdered. He reproved them

for their impatience, and proceeded to the

Goldsmitlis' Hall, where he met the magistrates

and town council and a considerable number

of the inhabitants, who had there assembled.

After some consultation, a deputation was sent

to the law-officers of the crown, requiring their

attendance and advice ; but it was ascertained

that these functionaries had left the town.

The captains of the trained bands and volun-

teers were next sent for, and called upon for

their opinion as to defending the city, but they

were at a loss how to advise. The meeting

was divided upon the question whether the

town shotild be defended or not, and in the

course of the debate much acrimony was dis-

played by the speakers on both sides. The

hall being too small to contain the crowd

which collected, the meeting adjourned to the

New church aisle, which was immediately filled

with people, the great majority of whom called

out for a surrender, as they considered it im-

possible to defend the town. Some persons

attempted to support the contrary view, but

they were forced to desist by the noise and

clamour of the majority.

While matters were in this train, a letter

was handed in from tlie door addressed to the

3 z
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lord provost, magistrates, and town council of

Zdinbuigh. The letter was put into the hands

of Orrock, the deacon of the slioemakers, who,

on opening it, informed the meeting that it

was subscribed " Charles, P. E." On hearing

this announcement, the provost stopped Deacon

Orrock, who was about to read the letter, said

he would not be a witness to the reading of

such a communication, and rising from his seat,

left the place, accompanied by the greater part

of the council and a considerable nmuber of

the inhabitants. The provost, however, re-

turned to the council-chamber with his friends,

and sent for the city assessors to give tlieir

opinion as to whether the letter should be read

or not. One of these lawyers appeared, but

afraid to commit himself, stated that the mat-

ter was too grave for him to give an opinion

upon. The provost still demurred, but the as-

sembly getting impatient to know the contents

of the letter, his lordship tacitly consented to

its being read. It was as follows:

"From our Camp, 16th Septcmier, 1745.

" Being now in a condition to make our way

into the capital of his majesty's ancient king-

dom of Scotland, we hereby summon you to

receive us, as you are in duty bound to do ; and

in order to it, we hereby require you, upon re-

ceipt of this, to summon the town-council and

take proper measures for securing the peace and

quiet of the city, which we are very desirous to

protect. But if you suffer any of the usurper's

troops to enter the to\vn, or any of the cannon,

arms, or ammunition in it, (whether belonging

to the public or private persons,) to be carried

ofi, we shall take it as a breach of your duty,

and a heinous offence against the king and us,

and shall resent it accordingly. We promise

to preserve all the rights and liberties of the

city, and the particidar property of every one

of his majesty's subjects. But if any opposi-

tion be made to us, we cannot answer for the

consequences, being firmly resolved at any rate

to enter the city ; and in that case, if any of

the inhabitants are foimd in arms against us,

they must not expect to be treated as prisoners

of war."

After this letter was read, the clamour for

surrender became more loud and general than

ever, and, agreeably to the wish of the meeting,

a deputation, consisting of four members of the

council, was appointed to wait upon the prince

immediately, and to request that he would
grant the citizens time to deUberate on the

contents of his letter.

While the meeting was debating the question

as to the reading of Charles's letter, an incident

occurred, which, it is believed, gave the finish-

ing stroke to the mock heroism of the volun-

teers. After the retreat of the dragoons, the

volunteers had assembled, on the ringing of the

fire-bell, at their respective posts, to he in

readiness to obey any instructions which might

be sent to them. Four companies, out of the

six, were dra'ivn up in the La^vnmarket between

four and five o'clock in the afternoon, but be-

fore they had sufficient time to recover from

the agitation into which they had been thrown

by the call to arms, a well-dressed person, im-

known to those assembled, entered the Lawn-

market from the West-Bow, in great haste,

mounted upon a grey horse, and gaUoping along

the lines of the volunteers, intimated, in a voice

sufficiently high to be heard by the astonished

volunteers, that he had seen the Highland

army, and that it amounted to 16,000 men!

This " lying messenger did not stop to be ques-

tioned, and disappeared in a moment."' Cap-

tain Drummond, soon after this occurrence,

arrived upon the spot, and, after consulting

with his brother officers, marched up the four

companies to the castle, where they delivered

up their arms. In a short time the other com-

panies also went up and surrendered their

arms, and were followed by the other bodies of

militia that had received arms from the cas*l9

magazine.

About eight o'clock at night, the four depu-

ties left the city to wait upon the prince at

Gray's Mill; but they had scarcely cleared the

walls, when intelligence was received by the

lord provost and magistrates, (who stUl re-

mained assembled in the council-chamber,) that

the transports with General Cope's army on

board had arrived off Dunbar, about 27 miles

east from Edinburgh, and that as the wind

was unfavourable for bringing them up the

Frith, Cope intended to land his troops at Dun-

' nome, p. 91.
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bar and marcli to the relief of the city. As

this intelligence altered the aspect of affairs,

messengers were immediately despatched to

bring hack the deputies before they should

reach their destination, but they did not over-

take them. The deputies returned to the city

about ten o'clock, and brought along vnth theni

a letter of the following tenor, signed by Secre-

tary Murray :

—

" His royal highness the prince regent thinks

his manifesto, and the king his father's declara-

tion, already published, a sufficient capitulation

for all his majesty's subjects to accept with

joy. His present demands are, to be received

into the city as the son and representative of

the king his father, and obeyed as such when

there. His royal highness supposes, that since

the receipt of his letter to the provost no

arms or ammunition have been suffered to be

carried off or concealed, and will expect a

particular account of all things of that natiu'e.

Lastly, he expects a positive answer before

two o'clock in the morning, otherwise he will

think himself obliged to take measures con-

form."

This letter gave rise to a lengthened discus-

sion in the town-council, wlrich ended in a re-

solution to send out a second deputation to the

prince, and, under the pretence of consulting

the citizens, to solicit a few hours' delay. The

deputies accordingly set out in a coach to the

prince's head-quarters at two o'clock in the

morning, and had an interview with Lord

George Murray, whom they prevailed upon to

second their appKcation for delay. His lord-

ship went into the prince's apartment, and one

of the deputies overheard him endeavouring to

persuade Charles to agree to the request made
by them, but the prince refused. Lord George

having reported the failure of his attempt to

the deputies, was induced by them to return

and make another trial, but he was again un-

successful Charles then requested that the

deputies should be ordered away, and beiog

offended at Lord George Murray's entreaties,

desired Lord Elcho, the son of the Earl of

Wemyss, who had just joined him, to in-

timate the order to them, which he accord-

ingly did.'

' Pra-.-ost Sicuart's Tria.l, p. 171.

Apprehensive of the speedy arrival of Cope,

Charles resolved not to lose a moment in ob-

taining possession of the capital. He saw that

no effectual resistance could be made by the

inhabitants in case of an assaidt; but .'is oppo-

sition might exasperate the Higlilanders, and

make them regardless of the lives of the citi-

zens, he proposed to liis officers that an attempt

should be made to carry the city by surprise,

which, if successful, would save it from the

horrors which usually befaU a city taken by

storm. The plan of a surprise having been

resolved upon, a select detachment of about

900 men, under Lochiel, Keppoch, Ardshiel,

and O'Sullivan, was sent under cloud of night

towards the city. They marched with great

secrecy across the Borough moor, and reached

the south-eastern extremity of the city, where

they halted. A party of 24 men was thereupon

despatched with directions to post themselves

on each side of the Netherbow Port, the eastern

or lower gate of the city, and another party of

60 men was directed to follow them half-way

up St. Mary's Wynd, to be ready to support

them, while a tliird body, still farther removed,

and finally the remainder of the detachment,

were to come up in succession to the support

of the rest. In the event of these dispositions

succeeding withoiit observation from the senti-

nels on the walls, it had been arranged that a

Highlander in a lowland garb should knock at

the wicket and demand entrance as a servant

of an officer of dragoons, who had been sent

by his master to bring him something he had

forgot in the city; and that if the \vicket was

opened, the party stationed on each side of the

gate should immediately rush in, seize the

guard, and make themselves masters of the

gate. The different parties having taken the

stations assigned them -without being per-

ceived by the guards, the disguised Highlander

knocked at the gate and stated his pretended

errand; but the guard refused to open the gate,

and the sentinels on the walls threatened to

fire upon the applicant if he did not instantly

retire. The commanders were puzzled by this

unexpected refusal, and were at a loss how to

act. It was now near five o'clock, and the

morning was about to da^vn. The alternative

of an assault seemed inevitable, but fortunately

for the city, the Highlanders were destined to
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obtain by accident wLat they could not effect

by stratagem.'

WhUe the party at the gate was about to

retire to the main body in consequence of the

disappointment they had met with, their at-

tention was attracted by tlie ratthng of a

carriage, which, from the increasing sound,

appeared to be coming down the High-street

towards the Netherbow Port. It was, in fact,

the hackney coach which had been hired by

the deputies, which was now on its way back

to the Canongate, where most of the proprietors

of hackney coaches at that time lived. The

Highlanders stationed at the gate stood pre-

pared to enter, and as soon as it was opened to

let out the coach, the whole party, headed by

Captain Evan Macgregor, a younger son of

^Macgregor of Glencairnaig, rushed in, made

themselves masters of the gate, and disarmed

the guard in an instant. In a short time the

whole of the Highlanders followed, with drawn

swords and targets, and setting up one of those

hideous and terrific yells with which they

salute an enemy they are about to encounter,

marched quickly up the street in perfect order,

in expectation of meeting the foe;^ but to the

surprise, no less than the pleasure, of the

Highlanders, not a single armed man was to be

seen in the street. With the exception of a

few half-awakened spectators, who, roused from

their slumbers by the shouts of the High-

landers, had jumped out of bed, and were to

be seen peeping out at the windows in their

sleeping habiliments, aU the rest of the inhabi-

tants were sunk in profound repose.

Having secured the guard-house and dis-

armed the guards who were within, the High-

landers took possession of the different gates of

the city and of the stations upon the walls.

They made the guards prisoners, and replaced

them with some of their own men, with as

much quietness as if they had been merely

changing their own guard.- The Higlilanders

conducted themselves on this occasion with

the greatest order and regularity, no violence

being offered to any of the inhabitants, and the

utmost respect being paid to private property.

Anxious about the result, Charles had slept

only two hours, and that without taking off

' Home. p. 96. ' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 488.

' Home, p. 9o.

his clothes. At an early hour he received in-

telligence of the capture of the city, and imme-

diately prepared to march towards it with the

rest of the army. To avoid the castle guns,

tlie prince took a circuitous direction to the

south of the city, tiU. he reached the Braid

burn, when, turning towards the city, he

marched as far as the Buck Stone,' a mass of

granite on the side of the turnpike road, near

Morningside. On reaching this stone, he drew

off his army by a solitary cross road, leading

to the ground now occupied by Causewayside

and Newington. Arrived near Priesttield, he

entered the king's park by a breach, which had

been made in the wall, and proceeded to the

Hunter's bog, a deep vaUey between Arthiur's

Seat and Salisbury Crags, where his army was

completely sheltered from the guns of the

castle. *

Charles was now within the royal domains,

and little more than a quarter of a mde from

the royal palace of Hol3Tood, where his grand-

father, James II., when Duke of York, had,

about 60 years before, exercised the functions

of royalty, as the representative of his brother

Charles II. Sanguine as he was, he could

scarcely have imagined that within the space

of one short month, from the time he had raised

his standard in the distant vale of the Finnan,

he was to obtain possession of the capital of

Scotland, and take up his residence in the

ancient abode of his royal ancestors. Exulting

as he must have done, at the near prospect

which such fortuitous events seemed to afford

him of realizing his most ardent expectations,

his feelings received a new impulse, when, on

coming within sight of the palace, he beheld i;ie

park crowded with people, wlio had assembled

to welcome his arrival. Attended by the Duke

of Perth and Lord Elcho, and followed by a

train of gentlemen, Charles rode do%vn the

Hunter's bog, on his way to the palace. On

reaching the eminence below St. Anthony's

well, he alighted from his horse for the purpo.se

of descending on foot into the park below.

On dismounting he was surrounded by many

persons who knelt down and kissed his liand.

' Jaraes IV. is said to have planted the lion standard

of Scotland on this stone, as a signal for mustering his

.array, before its fatal march to Flodden.
* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 446.
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He made suitable acknowledgments for these

marks of attachment, and after surveying for a

short time the palace and the assembled multi-

tude which covered the intervening grounds,

he descended into the park below amid the

shouts of the spectators, whose congratulations

he received with the greatest affability. On
reaching the foot-path in the park, whicli,

from its having been much frequented by the

Duke of York, afterwards James II., when he

resided at Holyrood, obtained the name of the

Duke's walk, Charles stopped for a few minutes

to exliibit himself to the people. ^

In person Charles appeared to great advan-

tage. His figure and presence are described

by Mr. Home, an eye-witness, as not ill-suited

to his lofty pretensions. He was in the bloom

of youth, tall'' and handsome, and of a fair

and ruddy complexion. His face, which in its

contour exhibited a perfect oval, was remark-

able for the regularity of its features. His

forehead was full and high, and characteristic

of his family. His eyes, which were large,

and of a light blue colour, were shaded by

beautifully arched eye-brows, and his nose,

which was finely formed, approached nearer to

the Roman than the Grecian model. A pointed

chin, and a mouth rather small, gave him,

however, rather an effeminate appearance ; but

on the whole, his exterior was extremely pre-

possessing, and his deportment was so graceful

and ^vinning, that few persons could resist his

attractions. The dress which he wore on the

preseut occasion was also calculated to set off

the graces of his person to the greatest advan-

tage in the eyes of the vulgar. He wore a

light-coloured peruke, with his hair combed

over the front. This was surmounted by a

blue velvet bonnet, encircled with a band

of gold lace, and ornamented at top with a

Jacobite badge, a wliite satin cockade. He wore

a tartan sliort coat, and on his breast the star

of the order of St. Andrew. Instead of a plaid,

which would have covered the star, he wore a

blue sash \vrought with gold. His small clothes

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 489. Kirkconnel MS.
' Ur. Carlyle, who almost rubbed shoulders with

him twice, describes the prince thus:—"He was a
good-looking mau of about 5 feet 10 inches; his hair
WHS dark -red and his eyes black. His features were
regular, his visage long, much sunburnt and freckled,

and his countenance thoughtful and melancholy. "

—

Autobiography, p. 153.

were of red velvet. To complete his costume,

he wore a pair of military boots, and a silver-

liQted broadsword.
''

Charles remained some time in the park

among the people, but as he could not be suffi-

ciently seen by all, he mounted his horse, a

fine bay gelding which the Duke of Perth had

presented to him, and rode off slowly towards

the palace. Every person was ia admiration

at the splendid appearance he made on horse-

back, and a simultaneous huzza arose from the

vast crowd which followed the prince in tri-

umph to Holyrood House. Overjoyed at the

noble appearance of the prince, the Jacobites

set no bounds to their praises of the royal

youth. They compared him to King Robert

Bruce, whom, they said, he resembled in his

figure as they hoped he would in his fortune.'

The Wliigs, on the other hand, regarded him

differently ; and though they durst not avow

their opinions to the full extent, and were

forced to admit that Charles was a goodly

person, yet they observed that even ia that

triumphant hour when about to enter the palace

of his fathers, the air of his countenance was

languid and melancholy,—that he looked like

a gentleman and a man of fashion, but not

like a hero or a conqueror. Their conclusion

was, that the enterprise he had undertaken

was above the pitch of his mind, and that his

heart was not great enough for the sphere in

which he moved.

'

On arriving in front of the palace Charles

alighted from his horse, and entering the gate

proceeded along the piazza within the quad-

rangle, towards the Duke of Hamilton's apart-

ments. ^ When the prince was about to enter

the porch, the door of which stood open to

' Dr. Chambers's Rebellion, p. 87.
8 Home, p. 100. » Idem.
'It has been stated on the questionable authority

of a local tradition, that when Charles arrived in front
of the palace, a large bullet was fired from the castle,

with such direction and force as to make it descend
upon the palace,—that it struck a part of the front

wall of James the Fifth's tower, near the window
which lights a small turret-chamber connected with
Queen Mary's state apartments; and that it fell into

the court-yard, carrying along with it a quantity of

rubbish wliicb it had knocked out of the wall. If

such a remarkable incident had occurred, it could
scarcely have been overlooked by Mr. Home, who was
near the spot at the time ; and the fact that it is not
alluded to in tlie pages of the Caledonian Mercury,
the organ of the Jacobite party, seems conclusive that
no such occurrence took place.
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receive him, a gentleman stepped out of the

crowd, drew his sword, and raising it aloft,

walked up stairs before Charles. The person

who took this singular mode of joining the

prince, was James Hepburn of Keith, a gentle-

man of East Lothian. When a very young

man he had been engaged in the rebellion of

1715, not from any devoted attachment to the

house of Stuart, (for he disclaimed the heredi-

tary indefeasible right of kings, and condemned

the government of James II.,) but because he

considered the union, which he regarded an

the result of the revolution, as injurious and

humiliating to Scotland, and believed that the

only way to obtain a repeal of that measure,

was to restore the Stuarts. In speaking of

the union, he said that it had made a Scottish

gentleman of small fortune nobody, and that

Holyrood House in 174;

rather than submit to it, he would die a thou-

sand deaths. For thirty years he had kept

liimself in readiness to take up arms to assert,

as he thought, the independence of his country,

wlien an opportunity should occur. Honoured

and beloved by both Jacobites and Wbigs, the

accession to the Jacobite cause of this accom-

plished gentleman, whom Mr. Home describes

as a model of ancient simplicity, manliness, and

honour, was hailed by the former mih delight,

and deeply regretted by the latter,who lamented

that a man whom they so highly revered, should

sacrifice himseK to the visionary idea of a re-

peal of the union between England and Scot-

land. ^

On his way to the palace Charles had been

cheered bj the acclamations of the people; and

on his entering that memorable seat of his an-

' Home, p. 101.

From an old print.

cestors, these acclamations were redoubled by

the crowd which filled the area in front. On

reaching the suite of apartments destined for

his reception, he exliibited himself again to the

people from one of the windows with liis bon-

net in his hand, and was greeted with loud

huzzas by the multitude assembled in the court-

yard below. He replied to these congratula-

tions by repeated bows and smiles.

To complete the business of this eventful

day, the proclamation at the cross of the Che-

valier de St. George as James III., alone re-

mained. The Highlanders who entered the

city in the morning, desirous of obtaining the

services of the heralds and the pursuivants, to

perform what appeared to them an indispen-

sable ceremony, had secured the persons of

these functionaries. Surrounded by a body of

armed men, the heralds and pursuivants, several

of whom had probably been similarly employed
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on the accession of " the Elector of Hanover,"

proceeded to the cross, a little hefore one o'clock

afternoon, clothed in their robes of office, and

proclaimed King James, aniid the general ac-

clamations of tlie people, The windows of the

adjoining houses were filled with ladies, wlio

testified the intensity of tlieir feelings by strain-

ing their voices to the utmost pitch, and with

outstretched arms waving white handkerchiefs

in honour of the handsome yomig adventurer.

Few gentlemen were, however, to be seen in

the streets or at the windows, and even among

the common people, tliere were not a few who
preserved a stubborn sUence.^ The effect of the

ceremony was greatly heightened by the ap-

pearance of Mrs. Murray of Broughton, a lady

of great beauty, who, to show her devoted at-

tachment to the cause of the Stuarts, decorated

vnth. a profusion of white ribbons, sat on horse-

hack near the cross \vith a drawn sword in her

hand, during aU the time the ceremony lasted.^

While the heralds were proclaiming King

James at the market-cross of Edinburgh, Sir

John Cope, who, as has been stated, arrived

in the mouth of the Frith of Forth on the 16th,

was landing his troops at Dunbar. The two

regiments of dragoons had continued their in-

glorious flight duruig the night, and had reached

that town, on the morning of the 17th, "in a

condition," to use the soft expression of 'Mr.

Home, "not very respectable." On arriving

at Musselburgh, they had halted for a short

time, and afterwards went to a field between

Preston Grange and Dolpliinston, where they

dismounted for the purpose of passing the

night; but between ten and eleven o'clock they

were aroused by the cries of a dragoon who had

fallen into an old coal-pit full of water. Con-

ceiving that the Highlanders were at hand,

they instantly mounted their horses and fled

towards Dunbar with such precipitation and

alarm, that they dropped their arms by the

way. Next morning the road to Dunbar was

found strewed with the swords, pistols, and

firelocks, which had fallen from the nervous

hands of these cowards. Colonel Gardiner,

who had slept during the night in his own
house at Preston, near the field where the dra-

goons were to bivouack, was surprised, when

' Home, p. 102.
* Bojse, p. 77, referred to by Chambers.

he rose in the morning, to find that his men

were all gone. AU that he coidd learn was

that they had taken the road to Dunbar. He
followed them with a heavy heart, which cer-

tainly did not lighten when he saw the proofs

they had left behind them of their pusillanim-

ity. These arms were collected and conveyed in

covered carts to Dunbar, where they were again

put into the hands of the craven dragoons. ^

' Home, p. 102. The author of the pamphlet on
the conduct of Provost Stewart, already quoted, gives

a somewhat different account of the flight of the dra-

goons, but with circumstances equally ludicrous :

—

" Before the rebels," he observes, " came within sight

of our king's forces, before they came within three

miles distance of them, orders were issued to the dra-

goons to wheel, which they immediately did with the

greatest order and regularity imaginable. As it is

known that nothing is more beautiful than the evolu-

tions and movements of cavalry, the spectators stood

in expectation of what fine manceuvre they might
terminate in: when new orders were immediately issued

to retreat, they immediately obeyed, and began to

march in the usual pace of cavalry. Orders were re-

peated every furlong to quicken their pace, and both
precept and example concurring, they quickened it so

well, that, before they reached Edinburgh, they quick-

ened to a very smart gallop. They passed in inexpres-

sible hurry and confusion through the narrow lanes at

Barefoot's Parks, in the sigiit of all the north part of

the town (Edinburgh.) to the infinite joy of the dis-

affected, and equal grief and consternation of all the

other inhabitants. They rushed like a torrent down
to Leith, where they endeavoured to draw breath ; but
some unlucky boy, {I suppose a Jacobite in his heart,)

calling to them that the Highlanders were approach-

ing, they immediately took to their heels again, and
galloped to Prestonpans, about six miles farther.

There, in a literal sense, iiynor addidit alas^—their

fear added wings, I mean to the rebels. For otherwise

they could not possibly have imagined that these for-

midable enemies could be within several miles of them.
But at Prestonpans the same alarm was repeated. The
Philistines be upon thee Sampson! They galloped to

North Berwick, and being now about twenty miles to

the other side of Edinburgh, they thought they might
safely dismount from their horses and look out for

victuals. Accordingly, like the ancient Grecian heroes,

each began to kill and dress his provisions : egit amor
dajyi^ atque pugn(e; they were actuated by the desire

of supper and of battle. The sheep and turkies or

North Berwick paid for this warlike disposition. But
behold the uncertainty of human happiness I When
the mutton was just ready to be put upon the table,

they heard, or thought they heard, the same cry of the

Highlanders. Their fear proved stronger than their

hunger ; they again got on horseback, but were in-

formed time enough of the falseness of the alarm, to

prevent the spoiling of their meal. By such rudi-

ments as these, the dragoons were so thoroughly ini-

tiated in the art of nmuing, till at last they became
so perfect at their lesson, that at the battle of Preston

they could practise it of themselves, though even there

the same good example was not wanting. I have seen

an Italian opera called Cesaro in Egitto, or Csesar in

Egypt, where, in the first scene, Cfesar is introduced

in a great hurry, giving orders to his soldiers, fugge,

fuggc, a'elo scampo,— fly, fly, to your heels ! This is

a proof that the commander at the Coltbridge is not

the first hero that gave such orders to his troops."
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The landing of Cope's troops was finislied

on Wednesday, the 17th of September; but

the disembarkation of the artillery and stores

was not completed till the 18th. On the last-

mentioned day, Mr. Home, the author of the

history of this Rebellion, arrived at Dunbar,

and was introduced to Sir John, as a " volun-

teer from Edinbiirgh," desirous of communi-

cating to him such information as he had per-

sonally collected respecting the Highland army.

He told the general, that being curious to see

the Highland army and its leader, and to ascer-

tain the number of the Highlanders, he had

remained in Edinburgh after they had taken

possession thereof,—that for the last-mentioned

purpose, he had visited the different parts they

occupied in the city, and had succeeded in

making a pretty exact enumeration,— that

with the same view he had perambulated the

Hunter's bog, where the main body was en-

camped,—and as he foimd the Highlanders

sitting in ranks upon the ground taking a meal,

that he was enabled to calculate their numbers

with great certainty. He stated, from the

observations he had been thus enabled to

make, that all the Highlanders within and

without the city did not amount to 2,000 men;

but that he had been told that several bodies

of men from the north were on their march,

and were expected very soon to join the main

body at Edinburgh. In answer to a question

put by Cope, as to the appearance and equip-

ment of the Higlilanders, Home stated that

most of them seemed to be strong, active, and

hardy men, though many of them were of a

very ordinary size: and if clothed like Low-

landers, would, in his opinion, appear inferior

to the king's troops; but the Highland garb

favoured them much, as it showed their naked

limbs, which were strong and muscular; and

their stern countenances and bushy uncombed

hair gave them a fierce, barbarous, and impos-

ing aspect. With regard to their arms, Mr.

Home said that they had no artillery of any

sort but one small unmounted iron cannon,

lying upon a cart, drawn by a little Highland

pony,— that about 1,400 or 1,500 of them

were armed with fii-elocks and broadswords,

—

that their firelocks were of all sorts and sizes,

consisting of muskets, fusees, and fowling

pieces,—that some of the rest had firelocks

without swords, while others had swords with-

out firelocks,—that many of their swords were

not Higliland broadswords but French,—that

I one or two companies, amounting to about 100

men, were armed, each of them with the shaft

of a pitch-fork, with the blade of a scythe

fastened to it, resembling in some degree the

Lochaber axe. Mv. Home, however, added,

that all the Higlilanders would soon be pro-

vided with firelocks, as the arms belonging to

the train bands of the city had fallen into their

hands. ^

At Dunbar, General Cope was joined by

some judges and lawyers, who had fled from

Edinburgh on the approach of the Higlilanders.

They did not, bowever, enter the camp as

fighting men, but with the intention of con-

tinuing with the king's army, as anxious and

interested spectators of the approaching con-

flict. Cope found a more efficient supporter

in the person of the Earl of Home, then an

officer in the guards, who considered it his

duty to offer his services on the present occa-

sion. Unlike his ancestors, who could have

raised in their own territories a force almost

equal to that now opposed to Sir John Cope,

this peer was attended by one or two servants

only, a circumstance which gave occasion to

many persons to mark the great change in the

feudal system which had taken place in Scot-

land, in little more than a century.

Desirous of engaging the Highland army

before the arrival of its expected reinforce-

ments. General Cope left Dunbar on the 19th

of September, in the direction of Edinburgh.

The cavalry, infantry, cannon, and baggage-

carts, which extended several miles along the

road, gave a formidable appearance to this little

army, and attracted the notice of the country

people, who, having been long imaccustomed

to war and arms, flocked from all quarters to

see an army on the eve of battle ; and with

infinite concern and anxiety for the result

beheld the uncommon spectacle. The army

halted on a field to the west of the town of

Haddington, sixteen miles east from Edinburgh.

As it was supposed that the Higlilanders might

march in the night time, and by their rapid

movements surprise the army, a proposal was

« Home, p. 103.
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made in the evening, to the general, to employ

some of the young men who followed the camp,

to ride betwixt Haddington and Duddingston,

during the night, so as to prevent surprise.

This proposal was approved of by Cope, and

sixteen young men, most of whom had been

volunteers at Edinburgh, offered their services.

These were divided into two parties of eight

men each; one of which, subdivided into four

parties of two men each, set out at nine o'clock

at night, by four different roads that led to

Duddingston. These parties returned to the

camp at midnight, and made a report to the

officer commanding the piquet, that they had

not met with any appearance of the enemy.

The other party then went oft", subdivided as

before, by the different routes, and rode about

till day-break, when six of them returned and

made a similar report, but the remaining two

wlio had taken the coast road to Musselburgh,

did not make their appearance at tlie camp,

having been made prisoners by an attorney's

apprentice, who conducted them to the rebel

camp at Duddingston ! The extraordinary cap-

ture of these doughty patroles, one of whom
was Francis Garden, afterwards better known

as a lord of session, by the title of Lord Gar-

denstone, and the other Mr. Robert Cunning-

ham, known afterwards as General Cunnmg-

liam, is thus humorously detailed by a \vi-iter

in the Quarterly Review:—
" The general sent two of the volunteers who

chanced to be mounted, and knew the country,

to observe the coast road, especially towards

Musselburgh. They rode on their exploratory

expedition, and coming to that village, which

is about six miles from Edinburgh, avoided

the bridge to escape detection, and crossed the

Esk, it being tlien low water, at a place nigh

its junction -Nvith the sea. Unluckily there

was at the opposite side a snug thatolied

cavern, kept by a cleanly old woman called

Luckie F , who was eminent for the excel-

lence of her oysters and sherry. The patroles

were both hoii-vivants ; one of them whom we

remember in the situation of a senator, as it is

called, of the college of justice, was unusually

80, and a gay witty agreeable companion be-

sides. Luckie's sign and the heap of shells

deposited near her door, proved as great a

temptation to this vigilant forlorn-hope, as the

wine-house to the abbess of AndoniUet's nni-

leteer. They had scarcely got settled at some

right Pandores, with a bottle of sherry as aii

accompaniment, when, as some Jacobite devil

would have it, an milucky north-country lad,

a writer's {i. e. attorney's) apprentice, who had

given Ms indentures the shp, and taken the

wliite- cockade, chanced to pass by on his

errand to join Prince Charlie. He saw the

two volunteers through the window, knew

them, and guessed their business; he saw the

tide would make it impossible for them to re-

turn along the sands as they had come. He
therefore jilaced himself in ambush upon the

steep, narrow, impracticable bridge, which was

then, and for many years afterwards, the only

place of crossing the Esk, ' and how he con-

trived it,' our narrator used to proceed, ' I

never coidd learn, but the courage and assur-

ance of the province from which he came are

proverbial. In short, the Norland whipper-

snapper surrounded and made prisoners of my
two poor friends, before they could draw a

trigger.'"^

Cope resumed his march on the morning of

the 20th of September, following the course of

the post road to Edinburgh, till he came near

Haddington, when he led off his army along

anotlier road, nearer the coast, by St. Germains

and Seaton. His object in leaving the post

road was to avoid some defiles and inclosures

which would have hindered, in case of attack,

the operations of his cavaby. In its march

the army was followed by a number of specta-

tors, all anxious to witness the expected com-

bat; but they were assured by the officers that

as the army was now rendered complete by the

junction of the horse and foot, the Highlanders

would not venture to engage. As some ])er-

sons who ventured to express a different opin-

ion were looked upon with jealousy, it is not

improbable that the officers who thus expressed

themselves did not speak their real sentiments.

On leaving the post road the general sent for-

ward the Earl of Loudon his adjutant-general,

with Lord Home and the quarter-master-general,

to select ground near Musselburgh, on which

to encamp the army during the night; but this

party had not proceeded far when they observed

' Qiiirtcrly Review, vol. xxxvi. p. 177.
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some straggling parties of Higlilanders advanc-

ing. The Earl of Loudon immediately rode

back at a good pace, and gave Sir John the in-

formation just as the van of the royal army

was entering the plain betwixt Seaton and

Preston, known by the name of Gladsmuir.

Judging the ground before him a very eligible

spot for meeting the Highlanders, the general

continued his march along the high road to

Preston, and halted his army on the moor,

where he formed his troops in order of battle,

\vith his front to the west. His right ex-

tended towards the sea in the direction of Port

Seaton, and his left towards the village of

Preston. These dispositions had scarcely been

made when the whole of the Highland army

appeared.

The disembarkation of the royal army, and

the advance of Cope towards Edinburgh, were

known to Charles in the course of Thursday

the 19th. Judging it of importance that no

time shoidd be lost in meeting Cope and bring-

ing liim to action, Charles had left Holyxood

house on the evening of that day, and had pro-

ceeded to Duddingston, near which place his

army was encamped. Having assembled a

council of war, he proposed to march next

morning and give battle to Sir John Cope.

Tlie members of the council having signified

their acquiescence, the prince then asked the

Highland chiefs how they thought their men

would conduct themselves on meeting a com-

mander who had at last mustered courage to

meet them. As Macdonald of Keppoch had

served in the French army, and was considered,

on that account, to be a fit judge of what the

Highlanders could do against regular troops,

he was desired by the other chiefs to give his

opinion. Keppoch observed that as the country

had been long at peace, few or none of the

private men had ever seen a battle, and that it

was not therefore very easy to form an opinion

as to how they would behave; but that he

would venture to assure his royal highness

that the gentlemen of the army would be in

the midst of the enemy, and that as the clans

loved both the cause and their chiefs, they

would certainly share the danger with their

leaders. Charles thereupon declared that he

would lead on the Highlanders himself, and

charge at their head; but the chiefs checked

his impetuosity by pointing out the ruin that

would befall them if he perished in the field,

though his army should be successful They

declared that, should he persist in his resolu-

tion, they would return home and make the

best terms they could for themselves. This

remonstrance had the desired effect upon the

young Chevalier, who agreed to take a post of

less danger.^

According to the calculation of Home, which

has been alluded to, the Highland army, at the

date of the capture of Edinburgh, did not ex-

ceed 2,000 men; but it was increased by about

400 more, by a party of 150 Maclauclilans who
joined it on the 18th, and by an accession of

250 Athole-men on the following day. This

force was further augmented by the Grants of

Glenmoriston, who joined the army at Dudding-

ston on the morning of Friday the 20th. In

pursuance of the resolution of the councU, the

prince put himself at the head of his army on

that morning, and presenting his sword, ex-

claimed, " My friends, I have flung away the

scabbard!"^ This was answered by a loud

huzza, on which the army marched forward in

one column of tliree files or ranks towards

Musselburgh. Passing the Esk by the bridge

of Musselburgh, the army proceeded along the

post road towards Pinkie. On arriving op-

posite the south side of Pinkie gardens, Lord

George Murray, who led the van, received ii.

formation that Sir John Cope was at or near

Preston, and that his intention probably was

to gain the liigh grounds of Fawside near Car-

berry. As there was no time to dehberate or

wait for orders, and as Lord George, who was

very weU acquainted with these grounds, con-

sidered the occupation of them by the High-

landers as of great importance; he struck off to

the right at Edgebuckling Brae, and passing

tlirough the fields by the west side of WaUy-

ford, gained the eminence in less than half an

hour, where he waited for the rear.^

From Fawside liill the prince descried the

army of Cope dra^vn up in the manner before

described, but its position being different from

8 Home, p. 108.
* Account of the battle of Prestonpaus, published in

the Caledonian Mercury of '23d S(']itember, 1745.
' Lord George Munay's iN'sirrative, Jacebi'.' Jlf

moirs, p. 36.—Home, 109.
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that anticipated, Charles drew off his army to-

wards the left, and descending the hill in the

direction of Tranent, entered again upon the

post road at some distance to the west of the

village, along which he continued his march.

On approaching Tranent the Highlanders were

received by the king's troops with a vehement

shout of defiance, which the Higlilanders

answered in a similar strain. About two

o'clock in the afternoon the Highland army

halted on an eminence called Birsley Brae,

about half a mile to the west of Tranent, and

formed in order of battle about a mile from the

royal forces.

In the expectation that the Higlilanders

were advancing by the usual route through

Musselburgh, Cope had taken up the position

we have described with his front to the west;

but as soon as he observed the Highlanders on

the heights upon his left he changed his front

to the south. This change of position, while

it secured Cope better from attack, was not so

well calcidatod for safety as the first position

was in the event of a defeat. On his right

was the east waU of a park, belonging to

Erskine of Grange, which extended a consider-

able way from north to south, and stiU farther

to the right was the village of Preston. The

viUaga of Seaton was on his left, and the village

of Cocken/ie and the sea in his rear. Almost

immediately ia front was a deep ditch filled

with water, and a strong and thick hedge.

Farther removed from the front, and between

the two armies was a morass, the ends of which

had been drained, and were intersected by

numerous cuts. And on the more firm ground

at the ends were several small inclosures, with

hedges, dry stone walls, and wdlow trees.

As the Highlanders were in excellent spirits,

and eager to close immediately with the enemy,

Charles felt very desirous to comply with their

wishes ; but he soon ascertained, by examining

some people of the neighbourhood, that the

passage across the morass, from the nature of

the ground, would be extremely dangerous if

not altogether impracticable. Not wishing,

however, in a matter of such importance to

trust altogether to the opinion of the country

people. Lord George Murray ordered Colonel

Ker of Gradon, an officer of some military ex-

perience, to examine the ground, and to report.

Mounted upon a little white pony he descended

alone into the plain below, and with the greatest

coolness and deliberation surveyed the morass

on all sides. As he went along the morass

several shots were fired at him, by some of

Cope's men, from the sides of the ditches; but

he paid so little regard to these annoyances

that, on coming to a dry stone wall which stood

in his way, he dismounted, and making a gap

in it led his horse through. After finishing

this perilous duty he returned to the army, and

reported to the lieutenant-general that he con-

sidered it impracticable to pass the morass and

attack the enemy in front, without risking the

whole army, and that it was impossible for the

men to pass the ditches in a line.^

Wliile his lieutenant-general was, in con-

sequence of this information, planning a differ-

ent mode of attack, the prince himself was

moving with a great part of liis army towards

Dolphinstone on Cope's right. Halting op-

posite Preston tower he seemed to threaten

that flank of the English general, who, there-

upon, returned to his original position with his

front to Preston, and his right towards the sea.

As Lord George Murray considered that the

only practicable mode of attacking Cope was

by advancing from the east, he led off part of

the army about sunset through the village of

Tranent, and sent notice to the prince to follow

him with the remainder as quickly as possible.

When passing through the village Lord George

was joined by fifty of the Camerons, who had

been posted by O'Sullivan in the churchyard

at the foot of Tranent. This party being within

half cannon shot of Cope's artillery, had been

exposed during the afternoon to a fire from

their cannon, and one or two of the Camerons

had been wounded. To frighten the High-

landers, who, they imagined, had never seen

cannon before. Cope's men huzzaed at every

discharge; but the Camerons remained in their

position, tm, on the representation of Lochiel,

who went and viewed the ground, and found

his men unnecessarily exposed, they were

ordered to retire in the direction of Tranent,

O'Sullivan, who was in the rear when this

order was given, came up on the junction of

the party, and asking Lord George the mean

' Home, 111.—Lord George Murray's Narrative in

Jacobite Memoirs, p. 37.
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ing of the movement lie was making, was told

hj him, that as it was not possible to attack

the enemy with any chance of success on tlie

west side of the village, he had resolved to

assail them from the east, and that he would

satisfy the priace that his plan was quite prac-

ticable,—that for this purpose he had ordered

the army to march to the east side of the village,

where there were good chy fields covered with

stubble, on which the men could bivouack dur-

ing the night,—and that -with regard to the

withdrawal of the party which O'Sullivan liad

posted in the churchyard, they could be of no

service there, and were unnecessarily exposed.

On being informed of the movement made by

Lord George Murray, Charles proceeded to

follow him, but it was dark before the rear had

passed the village. To watch Cope's motions

on the west, Charles left behind the Athole

brigade, consisting of 500 men under Lord

Nairne, which he posted near Preston above

Colonel Gardiner's parks.'

After the Higliland army had halted on the

fields to the east of Tranent, a council of war

was held, at which Lord George Murray pro-

])osed to attack the enemy at break of day.

He assured the members of the comicil that

the plan was not only practicable, but that it

would.in all probability be attended with suc-

cess,—that he knew the ground himself, and

that he had just seen one or two gentlemen

who were also well acquainted with every part

of it. He added, that there was indeed a small

defile at the east end of the ditches, but if once

passed there would be no farther hinderance,

and though, from being obliged to march in a

column, they would necessarily consume a con-

siderable time on their march, )'et when the

whole line had passed the defile they would

have nothing to do but face to the left, form in

a moment, and commence the attack. Charles

was higlily pleased with the proposal of the

lieutenant-general ; which having received the

unanimous approbation of the council, a few

piquets were, by order of Lord George, placed

around the bivouack, and the Highlanders, after

having supped, wrapped themselves up in their

plaids, and lay down upon the ground to repose

for the night. Charles, taking a sheaf of pease

* Jacohitc MeTTicrirs, p. 38.

for a pillow, stretched himself upon the stubble,

surrounded by lus principal officers, all of

whom followed his example. Before the army

went to rest, notice was sent to Lord Nau'no

to leave his post with the Athole brigade at

two o'clock in the morning as quietly as pos-

sible. To conceal their position from the Eng-

lish general, no fixes or lights were allowed,

and orders were issued and scrupulously obeyed,

that strict silence should be kept, and that no

man should stir from his place till directed.^

When Cope observed Charles returning to-

wards Tranent, he resumed his former posi-

* Idem, p. 38.—Lockliart Papers, vol. ii. p. 449.

The accounts given by Home and tlie Chevalier John-
stone differ in some respects from tliat of Lord
George Murray. Home says, that Jlr, Kobcrt Ander-
son (son of Anderson of Whitbrough in East Lothian,

who had been engaged in the rebellion of 1715) had
confirmed Ker of Gradou's account of the ground after

his survey, on being consulted by Lord George Mur-
ray,—that he was present at the council of war, but
did not give any opinion ; but that after Charles aud
his officers liad separated, Anderson told Hepburn of

Keith that he knew the ground jierfectly, and was
certain there was a better way to come at the king's

army than that which the council had resolved to

follow,—that he would undertake to show them a

place where they might easily pass the morass \^'ithout

being seen by the enemy, aud without being exposed
to their fire,—that Hepburn listened attentively to

this information, and expressed his opinion of it in

such terms that Anderson desired he would carry him
to Lord George Murray,—that Hepburn advised him
to go himself to Lord George, who knew him, and
would like better to receive information from him
alone than when introduced by another person,-—that

when Anderson came to Lord George Murray he fonnd

him asleep in a field of cut pease with several of the

chiefs near him,—that on awakening his Lordship, he

repeated what he had said to Mr. Hepburn, and
ofiered to lead the men through the morass,—that

Lord George considering this information important,

awoke Charles, who was lying near him with a sheaf of

pease for his pillow, and who, jileased with Anderson's

information, ordered- Lochiel and the other chiefs to

be called, all of whom approved of the plan of attack.

The Chevalier Johnstone says that the oflScers of the

army were perplexed how to act, from the apparent

impossibility of making a successful attack, but that

Anderson came to the prince in the evening very a

propos, and relieved them from their embarrassment

by informing them that there was a place in the marsh

which conld be crossed with safety, and that upon

examining it Anderson's information was found to be

correct. Lord George's own account appears, how-

ever, to give the real res gcstm. From it he appeal's

to have communicated with Anderson and Hepburn
before the council of war had assembled. As his Lord-

ship says that " at midnight the principal officers

were called again," it is probable he alludes to the

scene described by Home, when the prince himself

and the chiefs were awakened by Anderson ; but as

Anderson was present in the council, and as Lord

George says, that, after this midnight call "all was

ordered as was at first proposed," it is very likely that

Anderson was anxious to afford some additional infor-

mation which he had formerly omitted to give
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tion with his front to the west and his right

to the sea. He now began to perceive tliat

liis situation was not so favourable as he

had imagined, and that while the insurgents

could move about at discretion, select their

ground, and choose their time and mode of

attack, he was cramped in his own move-

ments, and could act only on the defensive.

The spectators, who felt an interest in the fate

of his army, and who had calculated upon

certain success to Cope's arms during the day,

now, that night was at hand, began to fore-

bode the most gloomy results. Instead of a

bold and decide<l movement on the part of

Cope to meet the enemy, they observed that

he had spent the day in doing absolutely

nothing,—that he was in fact hemmed in by

the Highlanders, and forced at pleasure to

change his position at every movement they

were pleased to make. They dreaded that an

army wliich was obliged to act thus upon the

defensive, and which would, therefore, be

obliged to pass the ensuing night under arms,

could not successfully resist an attack next

morning from men, who, sheltered from the

cold by their plaids, could enjoy the sweets of

repose and rise fresh and vigorous for battle. ^

To secure his army from surprise during the

night. Cope placed advanced piquets of horse

and foot along the side of the morass, extend-

ing nearly as far east as the village of Seaton.

He, at the same time, sent his baggage and

military chest down to Cockenzie under a

guard of 40 men of the line and all the High-

landers of the army, consisting of four com-

panies, viz., two of newly raised men belong-

ing to Loudon's regiments, and two additional

companies of Lord John Murray's regiment,

which had been diminished by desertion to

fifteen men each. ^ Although the weather had

been very fine, and the days were still warm,

yet the nights were now getting cold and

occasionally frosty. As the night in question,

that of Friday the 20th of September, was

very cold. Cope ordered fires to be kindled

along the front of his line, to keep his men
warm. During the night he amiised himself by

' Home, p. 112.
' A party of 200 Munroes followed Cope to Aber-

deen, but refused to embark as harvest-time was at
band.

firing off, at random, some cohorns, ^ probably

to alarm the Highlanders or disturb their

slumbers, but these hardy mountaineers, if

perchance they awoke for a time, disregarded

these empty bravadoes, and fell back again

into the arms of sleep.

In point of numbers the army of Cope was

rather inferior to that of Charles ; but many
of the Higlilanders were bacUy armed, and

some of them were without arms. The royal

forces amounted altogether to about 2,300

men ; but the number in the field was dimin-

ished to 2,100 by the separation of the bag-

gage-guard wliich was sent to Cockenzie. The
order of battle formed by Cope along the north

side of the morass was as follows :—He drew

up his foot in one Hne, in the centre of which

were eight companies of Lascelles's regiment,

and two of Guise's. On the right were five

companies of Lee's regiment, and on the left

the regiment of Murray, with a number of

recruits for different regiments at home and

abroad. Two squadrons of Gardiner's dra-

goons formed the right wing, and a similar

number of Hamilton's composed the left. The

remaining squadron of each regiment was

placed in the rear of its companions as a reserve.

On the left of the army, near the waggon-road

from Tranent to Cockenzie, were placed the

artUlery, consisting of six or seven pieces of

cannon and four cohorns, under the orders

of Lieutenant-colonel Whiteford, and guarded

by a company of Lee's regiment, commanded
by Captain Cochrane. Besides the regular

troops there were some volunteers, consisting

principally of small parties of the neighbour-

ing tenantry, headed by their respective land-

lords. Some Seceders, actuated by religious

zeal, had also placed themselves under the royal

standard. ^

Pursuant to the orders he had received.

Lord Nairne left the position he had occupied

during the night at the appointed hour, and

rejoined the main body about three o'clock in

the morning. Instead of continuing the order

of march of the preceding night, it had been

determined by the council of war to reverse it.

The charge of this movement was intrusted to

Colonel Ker, who had signalized himself by

' Lockliart Papers, vo.. ii. p. 489. ' Home, p. 113.
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the calm intrepidity ^vith which he had sur-

veyed the marsh on the preceding day. To

carry this plan into effect, Ker went to the

head of the column, and passing along the line,

desired the men to observe a profound sQence,

and not to stir a step till he should return to

them. On reaching the rear he ordered it to

march from the left, and to pass close in front

of the column, and returning along the line, he

continued to repeat the order till the whole

army was in motion. This evolution was ac-

complished without the least confusion, and

before four o'clock in the morning the whole

army was in full march. ^

The Duke of Perth, who was to command

the right wing, was at the head of the inverted

column. He was attended by Hepburn of

Keith, and Mr. Robert Anderson, son of An-

derson of Whitbrough, who, from his intimate

knowledge of the morass, was sent forward to

lead the way. A little in advance of the van

was a select party of 60 men doubly armed,

under the command of Macdonald of GlenaUa-

dale, major of the regiment of Clanranald,

whose appointed duty it was to seize the

enemy's baggage. The army proceeded in an

easterly direction till near the farm of Eingan-

head, when, turning to the left, they marched

in a northerly direction through a small valley

which intersects the farm. During the march

the utmost silence was observed by the men,

not even a whisper being heard; and lest the

trampling of horses might discover their ad-

vance, the few that were in the army wore left

behind. The ford or path across the morass

was so narrow that the column, which marched

tliree men abreast, had scarcely siifficient

standing room, and the ground along it was

so soft, that many of the men were almost at

every step up to the knees in mud. The path

in question, wliich was about two hundred

paces to the west of the stone-bridge afterwards

built across Seaton mUl-dam, led to a small

wooden bridge which had been thrown over

the large ditch that ran through the morass

from east to west. This bridge, and the con-

tinuation of the path on the north of it, were

a little to the east of Cope's left. From ignor-

ance of the existence of this bridge, from

' Jacobite Memoirs, p. 39.—Lockhart Papers, vol.

ii. p. 449.—Home, p. 89

oversight, or from a supposition that the marsh

was not passable in that quarter. Cope had

placed no guards in that direction, and the

consequence was, that the Highland army,

whose march across could have been effectu-

ally stopped by a handful of men, passed the

bridge and cleared the marsh without inter-

ruption. 1

The army was divided into two cohmms or

lines, with an interval between them. After

the first line had got out of the marsh. Lord

George Murray sent the Chevalier Johnstone,

one of his aides-de-camp, to hasten the march

of the second, wliich was conducted by the

prince in person, and to see that it passed

vsdthout noise or confusion. At the remote

end of the marsh there was a deep ditch, three

or four feet broad, over which the men had to

leap. In jumping across this ditch, Charles

fell upon his knees on the other side, and was

immediately raised by the Chevalier Johnstone,

who says, that Charles looked as if he con-

sidered the accident a bad omen. ^

Hitherto the darkness had concealed the

march of the Highlanders; but the morning

was now about to dawn, and at the time the

order to halt was given, some of Cope's piquets,

stationed on his left, for the first time heard

the tramp of the Higldanders. The High-

landers then heard distinctly these advanced

guards repeatedly call out, " Wlio is there?"

No answer having been returned, the piquets

immediately gave the alarm, and the cry of

"cannons, cannons; get ready the cannons,

cannoneers," resounded on Cope's left mng.

'

Charles proceeded instantly to give direc-

tions for attacking Cope before he should have

time to change his position by opposing his

front to that of the Highland army. It was

not in compliance with any rule in military

science, that the order of march of the High-

land army had been reversed; but in accord-

ance with an established punctUio among the

clans, which, for upwards of seven centuries,

had assigned the right wing, regarded as the

post of honour, to the Macdonalds. As ar-

ranged at the council of war on the preceding

evening, the army was drawn up in two lines.

The first consisted of the regiments of Clan

Idem. ' Memoirs, 3d edition, p. 35.

' Lockhart, vol. ii. p. 491.
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ranald, Keppoch, Glengary, and Glencoe/ un-

der their respective cliiefs. These regiments

fonned the riglit wing, which was commanded

hy the Duke of Perth. The Duke of Perth's

men and the Macgregors composed the centre;

wlule the left wing, commanded by Lord

George Murray, was formed of the Camerons

imder Lochiel, their chief, and the Stewarts of

Appin commanded by Stewart of Aidshiel.

The second line, which was to serve as a reserve,

consisted of the Athole-men, the Robertsons of

Strowan, and the Maclauchlans. This body

was placed under the command of Lord

Nairne.

As soon as Cope received intelligence of the

advance of the Higlilanders, he gave orders to

change his front to the east. Some confusion

took place in carrying these orders into execu-

tion, from the advanced guards belonging to

the foot not being able to find out the regi-

ments to which they belonged, and who, in

consequence, stationed themselves on the right

of Lee's five companies, and thereby prevented

the two squadrons of Gardiner's dragoons,

which had been posted on the right of the line,

from forming properly. For want of room

the squadron under Colonel Gardiner drew up

behind that commanded by Lieutenant-colonel

Whitney. Li aU other respects the disposition

of each regiment was the same; but the

artillery, which before the change had been on

the left, and close to that wing, was now on

the right somewhat farther from the line, and

in front of Whitney's squadron. ^

There was now no longer any impediment

to prevent the armies from coming into colli-

sion; and if Cope had had the choice he could

not have selected ground more favourable for

the operations of cavalry than that which lay

between the two armies. It was a level field

of considerable extent without bush or tree,

and had just been cleared of its crop of grain.

But unfortunately for the English general, the

celerity with which the Highlanders com-

* Home puts the Macdonalds of Glencoe on the left

of the second line ; but the author of the Journal and
Memoirs, {Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 491,) an officer

in the Highland army who was in the battle, says
that the Macdonalds of Glencoe were on the right of
the first line. The official account published in the
Caledonian Afercury by Charles, also places the Glen-
coe men in the same situation.

' Home, p. 117.

menced the attack prevented him from avail-

ing himself of this local advantage.

After both lines of the Higliland array liad

formed, Charles addi'essed his army in tlieso

words:—"Follow me, gentlemen; and by the

assistance of God I will, this day, make you a

free and happy people." * He then went up to

the right wing and spent a little time in earnest

conversation with the Duke of Perth and C'laii-

ranald, and, having given his last instructions

to them, returned to the station which, in com-

phanoe with the wish of his council, he had
taken between the lines, where, surrounded by
his guard, he waited the signal to advance. If,

as alleged by Chevalier Johnstone, Cliarles ex-

hibited symptoms of alarm when he fell on

crossing tlio ditch, he now certainly showed

that fear had no longer a place in his mind.

The coolness and self-possession wliich he dis-

played when giving his orders would have

done honour to the most experienced general;

but these qualities are to be stiU more valued

in a young man playing the important and

dangerous game that Charles had undertaken.

The ofRcer to whose tuition Charles had been

indebted for the little knowledge he had ac-

quired of Gaelic, mentions an occurrence in-

dicative of the prince's firmness on tliis occasion.

In returning from the right wing to his guard

after giving his orders to the Duke of Perth

and Clanranald, he saw the officer alluded to

passing near him, and with a smile, said to

him in Gaelic,—" Gres-ort, gres-ort!" that is,

" Make haste, make haste I"''

By the time the arrangements for commenc-
ing the attack were completed, the morning

had fully dawned, and the beams of the rising

sun were beginning to illuminate the horizon;

but the mist which stLU hovered over the corn

fields prevented the two armies from seeing

each other. Every tiling being now in readi-

ness for advancing, the Highlanders took off

their bonnets, and, placing themselves in an

attitude of devotion, with upraised eyes uttered

a short prayer.* As the Highlanders had ad-

vanced considerably beyond the main ditoli,

Lord George Murray was apprehensive that

Cope might turn the left flank, and to guard

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 490.
' Idem, p. 401.

' Caledonian Mercury of 23d Sept. 1745.
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against such a contingency, lie desired Locliiel,

who was on the extreme left, to order his men

in advancing to incline to the left.^

Lord George Mui-ray now ordered the left

wing to advance, and sent an aid-de-camp to

the Duke of Perth to request him to put the

right in motion. The Highlanders moved with

such, rapidity that their ranks broke ; to re-

cover which, they halted once or twice before

closing with the enemy. Wlien Cope, at day-

break, observed the first line of the Higliland

army formed in order of battle, at tlie distance

of two hundred paces from his position, he

mistook it for bushes; but before it had ad-

vanced half way, the rays of the rising sun

bursting through the retii'ing mist showed the

armies to eacli other. The army of Cope at

tliis time made a formidable appearance; and

some of Charles's officers were heard afterwards

to declare, that when they first saw it, and

compared the gallant appearance of the horse

and foot, with their well-polished arms glitter-

ing in the sunbeams, with their own line broken

into irregular clusters, they e.xpected that the

Highland army would be instantly defeated,

and swept from the field.^

The Highlanders continued to advance in

profound silence. As the right wing marched

straight forward without attending to the

obHque movement of the Camerons to the left,

a gap took place in the centre of the line. An
attempt was made to fill it up with the second

line, which was about fifty paces beliind the

first, but before this could be accomplished,

the left wing, being the first to move, had ad-

vanced beyond the right of the line, and was

now engaged with the enemy. By inclinuig

to the left, the Camerons gained half tlie

ground originally between them and the main

ditch; but this movement brought them up

directly opposite to Cope's cannon. On ap-

proaching the cannon the Highlanders fired a

few shots at the artillery guard, which alarmed

an old gunner, who had charge of the cannon,

and his assistants to such a degree that they

fled, carrying the powder flasks along with

them. To check the advance of the High-

landers, Colonel Whiteford fired off five of the

field pieces with his own hand; but though

' JacoUle Memoirs, p. 40. ' Home, p. 118.

their left seemed to recoil, they instantly re-

sumed the rapid pace they had set out with.

The artillery guard next fired a volley with as

little effect. Observing the squadron of dra-

goons under Lieutenant-Colonel Whitney ad-

vancing to charge them, the Camerons set up

a loud shout, rushed past the cannon, and aftei

discharging a few shots at the dragoons, which

killed several men, and wounded the lieuten-

ant-colonel, flew upon them sword in hand.

"When assailed, the squadron was reeling to

and fro from the fixe; and the Highlanders

following an order they had received, to strike

at the noses of the horses without minding the

riders, completed the disorder. In a moment

the dragoons wheeled about, rode over the

artillery guard, and fled followed by the guard.

The Highlanders contuiuing to push forward

without stopping to take prisoners, Colonel

Gardiner was ordered to advance with his

squadron, and charge the enemy. He accord-

ingly went forward, encouraging his men to

stand firm ; but this squadron, before it had

advanced many paces, experienced such a re-

ception, that it followed the example which

the other had just set.^

After the flight of the dragoons, the High-

landers advanced upon the infantry, who opened

R fire from right to left, which went down the

line as far as Murray's regiment. They received

this volley with a loud huzza, and tlirowing

away their muskets, drew their swords and

rushed upon the foot before the latter had time

to reload their pieces. Confoimded by the flight

of the dragoons, and the furious onset of the

Highlanders, the astonished infantry threw

down their arms and took to their heels. Ham-

ilton's dragoons, who were stationed on Cope's

left, displayed even greater pusillanimity than

their companions ; for no sooner did they ob-

serve the squadrons on the right give way, than

they turned their backs and fled without firing

a single shot, or drawing a sword.^ Murray's

- Home, p. 119. Jacobite Memoirs, p. iO. Lockhart

Papers, vol. ii. p. 490. Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 35.

^ Old General Wightman, who commanded the cen-

tre of the royalist army at the battle of Sheriffmuir,

was present at this battle as a spectator. Mounted on

his " old cropt galloway," he posted himself by break

of day about a musket shot in the rear of Hamilton's

dragoons, and had not taken his gi-ound above three

minutes when " the scuffle " began. He says it lasted

about four minutes. After " all was in route," Wight-
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regimeut being thus left alone on tlie fielJ,

fired upon the Macdonalds Tvho were advancing,

and also fled. Thus, within a very few minutes

a.ftor the action had commenced, the wliolo

anny of Cope was put to flight. With the ex-

ception of their fire, not the slightest resistance

was made by horse or foot, and not a single

bayonet was stained with blood. Such were I

the impetuosity and rapidity with which the i

first line of the Higlilanders broke througli

Cope's ranks, that they left numbers of his

men in their rear who attempted to rally behind

them ; but on seeing the second line coming

up tliey endeavoured to make their escape.'

Though the second line was not more than fifty

paces behind the first, and was always running

as fast as it could to overtake the first line, and

near enough never to lose sight of it, yet such

Plan of the Battle of Pieatonp:

was the rapidity with which the battle was

gained, that, according to the Chevalier John-

stone,^ who stood by the side of the prince in

the second line, he could see no other enemy

man remained in his station, "cahn and fearless," ac-

cording to his own account, till he saw all the dragoons

out of the field, and the foot surrounded on all sides.

Ex-provost Drnmmond, "who (says Wightman) would
needs fight among the dragoons," was also present,

mounted on an old dragoon horse, which one Mathie
had purchased for £4, and had used as a cart horse.

Not being able to reach Gardiner's dragoons before the

battle began, Drummond joined the squadrons under

Hamilton ; but "to his great luck," and to tlie "great

comfort," of his friend Wightman, he was swept away
out of the held by the cowardly dragoons, and accom-

panied Cope to Berwick.

—

Culloden Papers, p. 224.

on tlie field of battle than those who were lying

on the ground killed and wounded.

Unfortimately for the royal infantry, the walls

of the inclosures about the village of Preston,

whicli formed their great security on their right,

now that these were in their rear, operated as a

barrier to their flight. Having disencumbered

themselves of their arms to facilitate their

escape, they had deprived themselves of their

only means of defence, and driven as they were

upon the -walls of the inclosures, they would

have all perished under the swords of the High

JncohiU Mr/n/ii p. 40 ifcnoirs, p. 37.
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lander.?, had not Charles and his officers stren-

uously exerted themselves to preserve the lives

of their discomfited foes. The impetuosity of

the attack, however, and the sudden flight of

tlio royal army, allowed little leisure for the

exercise of humanity, and hefore the carnage

ceased several hundreds had fallen under the

claymores of the Highlanders, and the ruthless

scylhes of the Macgrogors. Armed with these

deadly weapons, which were sharpened and

fixed to poles from seven to eight feet long, to

supply the place of other arms, this party

mowed down the affrighted enemy, cut off the

legs of the horses, and severed, it is said, the

bodies of their riders in twain. Captain James

Drummond, alias !Macgregor, son of the cele-

brated Kob Roy, who commanded this com-

pany, fell at the commencement of the action.

Wlien advancing to the charge he received five

wounds. Two bullets went through his body,

and laid him prostrate on the ground. That

Ills men might not be discouraged by his fall,

this intrepid officer resting his head upon his

hand, called out to them, " My lads, I am not

dead !—^by God, I shall see if any of you does

not do his duty !" This singular address had

the desired effect, and the Macgregors instantly

fell on the flank of the EngHsh infantry, which,

being left uncovered and exposed by the flight

of the cavalry, immediately gave way.^

' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 36.—In the account of the
liattle published by the Highland army, Captain Mac-
gregor is stated to have been mortally wounded ; but
he lived several years thereafter, and retired to France
in 1753. On his arrival he addressed the following

letter to Edgar, secretary to the Chevalier de St.

George. The original is thus quoted in Edgar's hand-
writing, " Rob Roy's son. May 22d, 1753:"

—

Boulogne-sur-Mer,
May 22rf, 1753.

Sir,—I use the freedom to beg of you to lay before

his Majesty my following unhappy case. What I am
his Majesty will see by the inclosed certificate, and
whatever little my venity might make me imagine I

have to his Majesty's protection, all I expect or desire

at present is, that assistance which is absolutely neces-

sary for the support of a man who has always shown
the strongest attachment to his Majesty's person and
cause. As long as I could stay in Scotland I never

thought to have added to his Majesty a trouble or ex-

pense ; but upon Dr. Cameron, Lochiel's brotlicr, being

takeu up, a strict search was made over all, that 1 had
no way of avoiding being takeu but comming to this

countiy, where I am in a situation so uneasy, that I

am forced to applay to the generosity of the best of

kings. I flater myself that it is in my power to ac-

quaint his Majesty with something of the greatest con-

sequence to his cause and our country. But I think

Of the infantry of the royal army, only about

170 escaped. '^ From a report made by their

o^vn sergeants and corporals, by order of Lord

George Murray, between 1,600 and 1,700

prisoners, foot and cavalry, fell into the hands

of the Highlanders, including about 70 officers.

In this number were comprehended the baggage-

guard, stationed at Cockenzie, which amounted

to 300 men, who, on learning the fate of the

main body and the loss of their cannon, sur-

rendered to the Camerons. ^ The cannon and

all the baggage of the royal army, together

with the military chest, containing £4,000,

fell into the hands of the victors. The greater

part of the dragoons escaped by the two roads

at the extremities of the park wall, one of

which passed by Colonel Gardiner's house in

it would be improper, unless I had the honor of being

presented to him. Tlie gener.al character you, Sir,

have for being ready to serve any body in distress,

leaves me no room to doubt of your interesting your-

self in my behalf, which I dare say will be of the

greatest use to me, and I am sure will be conferring

the highest obligation upon. Sir,

Your most obedient and most humble servant,

JAS. DRUMMONU
May I request the honor of an answer

to the care of Lord Strathallan.

The following is the certificate referred to :

—

Boulogne-sur-Mer,
May ye ild, ] 753.

We the underwritten certify that it consists with

our knowledge, that James Drummond, son to the late

Rob Roy, was imploy'd in the Prince Regent's affairs

by James, Duke of Perth, before his Royal Highness's

arrival in Scotland, and that afterwards he behaved
with great bravery in several battles, in which he re-

ceived many dangerous wounds.
STRATHALLAN.
CHARLES BOYD.
WILLm. DRUMMOND.

To relieve his necessities, James ordered his banker

at Paris to pay Macgregor 300 livres, in reference to

which Lord Strathallan thus writes to Edgar, from

Boulogne-sur-iler, on 6th Sept., 1753:—"I had the

honor of yours some time ago, and deferreil writing

you until 1 heard about tlie 300 livres for Mr. Drum-
mond, (Macgregor) ; but I have never heard any more
of it. I immediately acquainted Mr. D. with the con-

tents of your letter. The attestation I signed was only

as to his courage and personal bravery, for as to any
thing else, I would be sorry to answer for him, as he

has but an indifferent character as to real honesty. "

—

Stuart Papers.
' According to the Chevalier Johnstone, {Memoirs,

p. 38,) 1,300 of Cope's men were killed; but Home
states the number as not exceeding 200. He says,

however, in a note, that some accounts of the battle

written by officers in the rebel army, make the num-
ber killed to have been 400 or 500. These last seem

to be nearer the truth.
' Jacobite Memoirs, p. 41.
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Iho rear on their right, and the other on their

left, to the north of Preston-house. In retir-

ing towards these outlets, the dragoons, at the

entreaties of their oflfioers, halted once or twice,

and faced about to meet the enemy; but as

soon as the Highlanders came up and fired at

them, they wheeled about and iied. Cope,

who was by no means deficient in personal

courage, assisted by the Earls of Home and

Loudon, collected about 450 of the panic-struck

dragoons on the west side of the village of

Preston, and attempted to lead them back to

the charge; but no entreaties could induce

these cowards to advance, and the whistHng of

a few bidlets discharged by some Higlilanders

near the village, so alarmed them, that they

instantly scampered off in a southerly direc-

tion, screening their heads behind their horses'

necks to avoid the bidlets of the Higlilanders.

Tlie general had no alternative but to gallop

off with liis men.' He reached Coldstream, a

town about forty miles from the field of battle,

that night; and entered Berwick next day.

Among .six of Cope's officers who were

killed, was Colonel Gardiner, a veteran soldier

who had served under the Duke of Mar
borough, and whose character combined a

strong religious feeling with the most un-

daunted courage. He had been decidedly

opposed to the defensive system of Cope on

the preceding evening, and had counselled the

general not to lose a moment in attacking the

Highlanders; but Ms advice was disregarded.

Anticipating the fate which awaited him, he

spent the greater part of the night in devotion,

and resolved at all hazards to perform his duty.

He was woiuided at the first onset at the liead

of Ms dragoons ; but disdaining to foUow them

in their retreat, he joined a small body of foot,

which attempted to rally near the wall of his

own sarden, and while fighting at their head

' Report of Cope's examination. Tlie story told by
the Clievalier .Tolinstone, of Cope's having effected his

escape through the midst of the Highlanders by
mounting a white cockade, seems improbable, aa Cope

does not appear to have been in a situation to have

rendered such a step necessary. If any officer made
his escape in the way described, it is likely Colonel

Lascclles was the man. He fell into the hands of the

HighLinders ; but in the hurry they were in, contrived
to make his escape eastward, and arrived safe at Ber-

wick. Amid the confusion whicii prevailed, he might
4»5i;_i liave [.natc'tod a cc-ekade from a dead or wounded
Eighlander, or pro.-sred one for a sum of money.

was cut do-wn by the murderous scythe of a

Macgrcgor, within a few yards of his own
house. He was carried by a friend to the

manse of Tranent in an almost lifeless state,

where he expired witliin a few hours, and was

interred in the north-west corner of the church

of Tranent. ^ Captain BrjTuer of Lee's regi-

ment, who appears to have participated in

Gardiner's opinion as to attacking the High-

landers, met a similar fate. Having been at

the battle of Sheriftmuir, he was satisfied of

the capability of the Highlanders to contend

wth regular troops, and dreaded the result of

an encounter if assailed by the Higlilanders

When encamped at Haddington, his brother

Colonel James Gardiner, aged 40. From the painting liy

Van Deest (1727).

oHicers were in high spirits, and making light

of the enemy ; but Brymer viewed matters in

a very different light. While reading one

night in his tent he was accosted by iVIr.

Congalton of Congalton, his brother-in-law,

who, observing him look pensive and grave,

when all the other officers appeared so cheer-

ful, inquired the reason. Brymer answered

that the Highlanders were not to be despised,

' Doddridge's Lift of Colonel Gardiii/>r.
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and that he was afraid his brother officers

would soon find that tliey had mistaken the

character of the Highlanders, who would, to a

certainty, attack the royal army, with a bold-

ness which those only who had witnessed their

prowess could have any idea of. These gloomy

forebodings were not the result of an innate

cowardice—for this officer was, as he showed,

a brave man—but from a well-foimded convic-

tion that Cope's men could not stand the onset

of such a body of Highlanders as Charles had

assembled. Brymer was killed, with his face

to the enemy, disdaining to turn his back when

that part of the line where he was stationed

was broken in upon by the Highlanders. -

The loss on the side of the Higlilanders was

trifling. Four officers/ and between 30 and 40

privates, were killed; and 5 or 6 officers, and

between 70 and 80 privates, wounded.*

After the termination of the fight, the field

of battle presented an appalling spectacle,

rarely exhibited in tlie most bloody conflicts.

As almost all the slain were cut down by the

broadsword and the scythe, the groimd was

strewed with legs, arms, hands, noses, and

mutilated bodies, while, from the deep gashes

inflicted by these dreadful weapons, the field

was literally soaked with gore. An instance

of the almost resistless power of the broadsword

occurred when a Highland gentleman, who led

a division, broke through Mackay's regiment:

a grenadier, having attempted to parry off with

his hand a blow made at him by the gentleman

alluded to, had his hand lopped off and his

skull cut above an inch deep. He expired on

the spot. ^

It was a most fortunate circumstance that

the Highlanders, having no revengeful feeling

to gratify on the present occasion, were easily

induced to listen to the dictates of humanity.

After the fury of their onset was abated, they

not only readily gave, but even offered quarter;

and when the action was over, appear to have

displayed an unwonted sympathy for the

' Home, p. 121.
' These were Captain Robert Stewart of Ardsliiel's

battalion; Captain Archib.ald Macdonald of Kep-
lioch's ; Lieutenant Allan Cameron of Llndevra ; and
Ensign James Cameron of Lochiel's regiment.

* Account published by the Highland army.

—

Kirkconnel MS.
' Caledonian Mercury, 25th September 1745.

woimded. A Higldand officer tlius exidttngly

notices the conduct of his companions in arms.

" Now, whatever notions or sentiments the low

country people may entertain of oirr High-

landers, this day there were many proofs to a

diligent spectator, amidst all the bloodshed,

(which at the first shock was imavoidable,) of

their humanity and mercy; for I can, with the

strictest truth and sincerity, declare, that I

often heard our people call out to the soldiers

if they wanted quarter; and we, the officers,

exerted our utmost pains to protect the soldiers

from their first fury, when either through their

stubbornness or want of language they did not

crj' for quarters, and I observed some of our

private men run to Port Seton for ale and

other Kquors to support the wounded. And
as one proof for all, to my own particular ob-

servation, I saw a Highlander supporting a

poor wounded soldier and carry him on his

back into his house, and left liim a sixpence

at parting."^

In their attentions to the woimded, the

Highlanders had a good example in Charles

himself, who not only issued orders for taking

care of the woimded, but also remaiued on the

field of battle tdl mid-day to see that his orders

were fulfilled. Finding the few surgeons he

had carried along with him inadequate to meet

the demands of the woimded, he despatched

one of his officers to Edinburgh to bring out

all the surgeons, who accordingly instantly re-

paired to the field of battle. As the High-

landers felt an aversion to bury the dead, and

as the country people coidd not be prevailed

upon to assist in the care of the wounded,^

Charles experienced great obstacles in carrying

through his humane intentions. Writing to

Jiis father, on the evening of the battle, he

thus alludes to them :
" 'Tis hard my victory

should put me under new difficulties which I

did not feel before, and yet tliis is the case. I

am charged both with the care of my friends

and enemies. Those who should bury the

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 491.
' Lord George Murray says, that when traversing

the field of battle in the afternoon he observed that

some of Cope's men, " who were the worst wounded,

had not been carried to houses to bo dressed; and

though there were several of the country people of that

neighbourhood looking at them, I could not preTail

with them to carry them to liouses, but got some of

our people to do it."

—

Jacobite Memmrs, p. 42,
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dead are run away, as if it were no business of

theii's. My Highlanders tldiik it beneath them

to do it, and the country people are fled away.

However, I am determined to try if I can get

l)eople for money to undertake it, for I cannot

bear the thought of sufi'ering Enghshmen to

rot above the ground. I am in great difJficulties

how I shall dispose of my wounded prisoners.

K I make a hospital of tlie church, it will be

lookt upon as a great profanation, and of hav-

ing violated my manifesto, in which I promised

to violate no man's property. If tlie magistrates

would act, they would help me out of tliis diffi-

cidty. Come what will, I am resolved not to

let the poor wounded men lye in the streets,

and if I can do no better, I wiU make a hospital

of tlie palace and leave it to them."*

When congratulating themselves on the vic-

tory they had obtained, the Highlanders re-

lated to each other what they had done or seen.

' All tlie wounded privates of both armies were car-

ried to tlie different villages adjoining the field of

battle. Those of Cope's olficers who were dangerously
wounded were lodged in Colonel Gardiner's house,
where surgeons attended them. In the evening, the
remainder, (who had given their parole,) accompanied
by Lord George Murray, went to Musselburgh, where
a house had been provided for their reception. Some
of them walked, but others, who were unable to do so,

had horses provided for them by his lordship. The
house into which they were put was newly finished,

and liad neither table, bed, chair, nor grate in it.

Lord George caused some new thrashed straw to be
purchased for beds, and the officers on their arrival

partook of a tolerable meal of cold provisions and some
liquor, which his lordship had carried along with him.
When about to retire, the otficers entreated him not to

leave them, as being without a guard, they were afraid

that some of the Highlanders, who were in liquor,

might come in and insult or plunder them. Lord
George consented, and lay on a floor by them all night.

Some of the officers, who were valetudinary, slept that

night in the house of the minister. Next day, after

the departure of the prince for Edinburgh, the officers

had quarters provided for them in Pinkie-house. The
other prisoners, privates, were quartered in Mussel-
burgh and the gardens of Pinkie for two nights, and
were afterwards removed, along with the olficers, to

Edinburgh. The latter were confined for a few days
in QueensbeiTy-house, when they were released on
parole, and allowed to reside in the city, on condition
that they should hold no communication with the
castle. The privates were confined in the church and
jail of the Canongate. Such of the wounded as could
be removed were put into the Royal Infirmary, where
great care was taken of them. One of the officers liav-

ing broke his parole by going into the castle, the others
were sent to Perth, 'fhe privates were removed to

Logierait in Athole; and the wounded were dismissed
as they recovered, on taking an oath that they should
not carry arms against the prince before the 1st of

January, 1747.

—

Jacobite Menwirs, p. 42. Lockltart
Papen, vol. ii. p. 451. Caledonian Mercury.

Instances were given of individual prowess

which might appear incredible, were it not

well-lvuown that when fear seizes an army all

confidence in themselves or theu' numbers {."^

completely destroyed. On tliis occasion " the

panic-terror of the Enghsh surpassed all

imagination. They threw down their arms

that they might run with more speed, thus de-

priving themselves by their fears of the only

means of arresting the vengeance of the High-

landers. Of 60 many, in a condition from

their numbers to preserve order in their retreat,

not one thought of defending himself. Terror

had taken entire possession of their minds."'

Of the cases mentioned, one was that of a

yoimg Higlilander about fourteen years of age,

scarcely formed, who was presented to the

prince as a prodigy, having, it was said, killed

fourteen of the enemy. Charles asking him if

this was true, he replied, " I do not know if I

killed them, but I brought fourteen soldiers to

the ground -with, my sword." Another instance

was that of a Highlander, who brought ten

soldiers, whom he had made prisoners, to the

prince, driving them before him like a flock of

sheep. "With unexampled rashness, he had

pm'sued a party of Cope's men to some distance

from the field of battle, along a road between

two inclosures, and striking down the hinder-

most man of the party with a blow of his sword,

called aloud at the same time, " Down with

your arms." The soldiers, terror-struck, com-

plied with the order without looking behind

them; and the Highlander, with a pistol in

one hand and a sword in the other, made them

do as he pleased. Yet, as the Chevalier John-

stone observes, these were " the same English

soldiers who had distinguished themselves at

Dettingen and Fontenoy, and who might justly

be ranked amongst the bravest troops of

Em-ope."^

After doing every thing in his power for the

relief of the wounded of both armies, and giv-

ing directions for the disposal of his prisoners,

Charles partook of a small repast upon the

field of battle, and thereafter proceeded to

Pinkie House, a seat of the Marquis of Tweed-

ilale, where he passed the night.

' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. v's.

1 Idem, p. ill.
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Colonel Gardiner's House, • Prestonpans.

CHAPTER XXXII.

soveheiqn:—George II., 1727—17G0.

Charles returns to Holyrood—State of putlic feeling

—

Charles resolves to remain at Edinburgh—Mea.sures
taken to increase the amiy—Charles's proceedings
at Edinburgh—Blockade of the Castle—Disorder
in the city—Blockade remored— Exertions of Lord
President Forbes—Arrival of reinforcements at
Edinburgh—Charles issues a second manifesto

—

Arrival of supplies from France and detachment
from the north—Charles resolves to invade England—Preparations—Deportment of Charles at Holy-
rood—Declaration of the Highland army—Prepara-
tions of the government—Riot at Perth on the
King's birth-day.

On the evening of Sunday the 22(1 of Septem-

ber, the day after the hattle of Preston or

Gkdsmuir, as that affair is named by the High-

landers, Charles returned to Holyrood House,

and was received hy a large concourse of the

inhabitants, who had assembled round the

palace, with the loudest acclamations. His

return to the capital had been preceded by a

large portion of his army, which, it is said,

made a considerable display as it marched up

the long line of street, leading from the Water-

gate to the castle, amid the din of a number
of bagpipes, and carrying along with it the

enemy's standards, and other trophies of vic-

tory which it had taken upon the field.

Apprehensive that the alarm, which Cope's

iisaater would excite in the city, might obstruct

the public worship on the Sunday, Charles

had sent messengers on the evening of the

battle, to the dweUing-houses of the different

ministers, desiring them to continue their min-

istrations as usual; but although the church

bells were tolled at the customary hour next

morning, and the congregations assembled, one

only of the city clergymen appeared, all the

rest having retired to the country. The minis-

ter who thus distinguished himself among his

brethren on this occasion was a Mr. Hog,

morning lecturer in the Tron churoL The

two clergymen of the neighbouring parish of

St. Cuthbert's, Messrs. Macvicar and Pitcaim,

also continued to preach as usual, and many
inhabitants of the city went to hear them. No
way dismayed by the presence of the Highland

army, they continued to pray as usual for King

George ; and Mr. Macvicar even went so far

in his prayers, as to express a hope that God

would take Charles to himself, and that instead

of an earthly crown, he would " give him a

crown of glory." Charles is said to have

laughed heartily on being informed of Mr.

Macvicar's concern for his spiritual welfare.

To induce the ministers to return to their duty,

the prince issued a proclamation on Monday,

repeating the assurances he had so often given

them, that no interruption shoidd be given to

public worship ; but that, on the contrary, all

concerned should be protected. This intima-

tion, however, had no effect upon the fugitive
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ministers, who, to the great scandal of their

flocks, deserted their charges during the whole

time the Highlanders occupied the city.

In tlie first moments of victory, Charles felt

a gleam of joy, which for a time excluded

reflection ; hut when, after retiring from the

battle-field, he hegan to ruminate over the

events of the day, and to consider that it was

Britisli blood that had been spilt, if we can

trust his own words, his spu-it smik witliin

him. " If I had obtained this victory," says

lie to his father, in the letter already quoted,

"over foreigners, my joy would have been

complete ; but as it is over Englislimen, it has

thrown a damp upon it that I httle imagined.

The men I have defeated were your majesty's

enemies, it is true, but they might have become

your friends and dutiful subjects when they

had got their eyes opened to see the true interest

of their country, which you mean to save, not

to destroy." For these reasons he was un-

\villing that the victory should be celebrated

by any public manifestation, and on being

informed that many of the inhabitants of Edin-

burgh intended to testify their joy on the occa-

sion by some public act, the prince, in the

same proclamation which enjoined the clergy-

men to return to their charges, prohibited

" any outward demonstrations of public joy."

The news of the prince's victory was received

every wliore, by the Jacobites, with the most

unbounded delight. Unable any longer to

conceal their real sentiments, they now publicly

avowed them, and like their predecessors, the

cavaliers, indulged in deep potations to the

health of "the king" and the prince. But

this enthusiasm was not confined to the Jacob-

ites alone. Many persons whose political creed

was formerly doubtful, now declared unequivo-

cally in favour of the cause of the prince

;

whilst others, whose sentiments were formerly

in favour of the government, openly declared

themselves converts to an order of things which

they now considered inevitable. In short,

throughout the whole of Scotland the tide of

pubho opinion was completely changed in

favour of the Stuarts. The fair sex, especially,

displayed an ardent attachnient to the person

and cause of the prince, and contributed not

a little to bring about the change in public

feeling alkided to. Duncan Forbes has well

described this strong revolution in public feel-

ing. " All Jacobites, how prudent soever,

became mad ; all doubtful people became Jacob-

ites ; and all bankrupts became heroes, and

talked of nothing but hereditary rights and

victory ; and what was more grievous to men of

gallantry, and if you will believe me, much

more mischievous to the public, all the fine

ladies, if you will except one or two, became

passionately fond of the young Adventurer,

and used all their arts and industry for liim

in the most intemperate manner." ^

In England the news of the prince's vic-

tory created a panic, causing a run upon

the bank, which would have been fatal to

that establislunent, had not the principal mer-

chants entered into an association to support

pubKc credit by receiving the notes of the

bank in payment.' Scotchmen were every-

where looked upon with distrust by their south-

ern neighbours, and the most severe reflections

were indulged in against the Scottish nation.

Sir Andrew Mitchell, writing to President

Forbes, notices with deep regret this feeling

against his countrymen: "The ruin of my
country, and the disgrace and shame to which

it is, and will continue to be, exposed, have

affected mo to that degree, that I am hardly

master of myself. Already every man of our

couiitry is looked on as a traitor, as one secretly

inclined to the Pretender, and waiting but an

opportunity to declare. The guilty and the

innocent are confounded together, and the

crimes of a few imputed to the whole nation."^

Again, " I need not describe to you the effects

the surrender of Edinburgh, and the progress

the rebels made, had upon tliis country. I

wish I could say that they were confined to

the lower sort of people ; but I must fairly own

that their betters were as much touched as

they. The reflections were national; and it

was too publicly said that all Scotland were

Jacobites; the numbers of the rebels and theii

adherents were magnified for this purpose; and

he that in the least diminished them was called

a secret Jacobite."^

Elated by the news of the victory of Preston,

a party of armed Highlanders entered Aberdeen

on the 25tli of September, seized the provost,

2 Cullodm Papers, p. 250.

* Id., p. 426.

5 IJ.,
i>

227.
» M, p. 253.
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and carrying him to the cross, held their

drawn swords over liis head, till they pro-

claimed the Chevalier de St. George. They

then requested liim to drink the health of " the

king," but having refused to do so, they threw

a glass of wine into his breast. Not \vishing

to have liis loyalty put a second tune to such

a severe test, the provost left the city, not

thinking himself safe, as he observes, " in the

way of those who had used him in so unreason-

able and odd a manner."^

With the exception of the castles of Edin-

burgh and Stirling, and a few insignificant forts,

tlie whole of Scotland may be said to have

been now in possession of the victor. Having

no longer an enemy to combat in North Britain,

Charles turned his eyes to England ; but against

the design whioli lie appears to have contem-

plated, of an immediate march into that king-

dom, several very serious objections occurred.

If the prince could have calculated on a general

rising in England in his favour, his advance

into that kingdom with a victorious army,

before the government recovered from the con-

sternation into which it liad been thrown by

tlie recent victory, would have been a wise

course of poKcy; but it would have been ex-

tremely rash, without an absolute assurance of

extensive support from the friends of the cause

in England, to have entered that kingdom with

the small army which fought at Gladsmuir, and

which, instead of increasing, was daily diminish-

ing, by the return of some of the Highlanders

to their homes, according to custom, with the

spoils they had collected. There were indeed,

among the more enthusiastic of the prince's ad-

visers, some who advocated an immediate in-

cursion into England ; but by far tlie greater part

thought tlie army too small for such an under-

taking. These urged that although the suc-

cess wliich had attended their arms would cer-

tainly engage a number of friends, who eitlier

had not hitherto had an opportunity of joining,

or had delayed doing so, because they saw little

or no appearance of success, yet it was prudent

to wait for sucli aid,—that French succours

might now be depended upon, since the prince

liiiil given convincing proofs of liis having a

party in Scotland,—that, at any rate, it was

' Culloden Papers, p. 420.

better to remain some little time at Edinburgh

tin they saw what prospects there were of suc-

cess, and that in the mean time the army would

be getting stronger by reinforcements which

were expected from the north, and would be

better modelled and accoutred. The latter

opinion prevailed, and Charles resolved to

make some stay in Edinburgh. ^

Alluding to this resolution, ]\fr. Maxwell

observes, " Those who judge of things only by

the event, wUl condemn this measure, and

decide positively that if the prince had marched

on from the field of battle, he would have car-

ried aU before him. As the prince's affairs

were ruined in the end, it is natural to wish he

had done any thing else than what he did.

Things coidd hardly have turned out worse,

and there was a possibihty of succeeding. Bu'

to judge fairly of tlie matter, we must have no

regard to what happened, but consider what

was the most likely to happen. The prince

had but 3,000 men at the battle, where he had

100 at least killed and wounded. He might

reckon upon losing some hundreds more, who

would go home with the booty they liad got,

so that he could not reckon upon more than

"2,500 men to follow him into England, where

he had no intelligence, nor hopes of being

joined, nor resource in case of a misfortuno.

But what would the world have said of such

an attempt had it miscarried!"*

According to the Chevalier Johnstone, ^ the

prince was advised by his friends, that as the

whole of the towns of Scotland had been

obliged to recognise him as regent of the king-

dom, in the absence of his father, his chief

object should be to endeavour by every possible

means to secure himself in the government of

Scotland; and to defend himself against the

English armies, which would be sent against

him, witliout attempting for the present to

extend his views to England. There were

others who strongly advised Charles to annul

the union between Scotland and England, as

an act made during the usurpation of Queen

Anne, by a cabal of a few Scotch peers, and to

summon a Scottish parliament, to meet at

Edinburgh, to impose taxes in a legal manner,

and obtain supplies for his army. This party

iCirkcounel MS. ileinoirs, p. 45.



MEASURES TAKEN TO INCREASE THE AEMY. 569

assured the prince that these steps would give

great pleasure to all Scotland, and that the

tendency of them would he to renew the an-

cient discord between the two countries, and

tliat the war would thereby be made national

:

they informed him, that, so far from being

prepared to run an immense risk, for the sake

of acquu'ing England, they wished for nothing

more tlian to see him seated on the throne of

ScotlancL As the chief object of his ambition,

however, was to obtain the crown of England,

he rejected the proposal made to him, to con-

fine Ms views to Scotland.

As soon as it was determined to remain in

Scotland till the army should be reinforced,

every measure was adopted that could tend to

increase it. Letters were despatched to the

Highlands, and other parts of Scotland, con-

taining the news of the victory, and urging im-

mediate aid; and messengers were sent to

France to represent the state of the prince's

affairs, and to solicit succours from that court.

Officers were appointed to beat up for recruits,

and every inducement was held out to the

prisoners taken at Preston to join the insiu'-

gents. Many of these, accordingly, enlisted in

the prince's army, and were of considerable

service in drilling recruits, but before the

Highland army left Edinburgh, almost the

whole of them had deserted, and joined their

former companions at Berwick.^ The princi-

pal person selected by Charles to go to the

Highlands, on the present occasion, was Mr.

Alexander Macleod, a gentleman of the Scottish

bar, who carried along with him a paper of in-

structions, dated the 24th of September, and

signed by secretary Murray.^ By these in-

structions, Macleod was directed forthwith to

proceed to the Isle of Skye, to assure Sir Alex-

ander Macdonald, and the laird of Macleod,

and other gentlemen of their names, that the

prince did not impute their not having liitherto

joined him, to any failure of loyalty or zeal on

their part, for his father's cause; but to the

private manner in which he had arrived in

Scotland, which was from a desu'e to restore

his royal father without foreign assistance

—

that he was ready stiU to receive them with

the same affection he would have welcomed

' Home, p. 120.
' A]ipendix to Home's Behellion, No. xxviii.

them, had they joined him on. his landing,

—

and that as they well knew the dispositions of

the Higlilanders, and their inclination to return

homo after a battle, they would be sensible

how necessary it was to recruit the army with

a strong body of men from their country. After

giving them these assurances, Macleod was

directed to require of these chiefs to repair with

all possible speed with their men to Edinburgh,

where they should be furnished with arms. In

case they were found refractory, Macleod was

directed to use all proper means with the

gentlemen of their different families, to bring

tliem to the field with as many followers as

possible,—that to encourage them to take up

arms, he was to acquaint them that the prince

had received undoubted assurances of support

from France and Spain,— that the Earl

Marischal was expected to land in Scotland

with a body of troops,—that the Duke of

Ormond was also expected in England, with

the Irish brigade, and a large quantity of arms,

ammunition, and monej-, — and that before

passing the Forth, he had received letters from

the Spanish ministry, and the Duke of Bouillon,

containing positive assurances of aid. In con-

clusion, Macleod was ordered to assure these

gentlemen that the encouragement and favour

which would be shown them, if they joined the

prmce's standard, would be in proportion to their

loyalty and the backwardness of their chiefs.

He was likewise directed to send for the chief

of Mackinnon, and to tell him that the prince

was much surprised that one who had given

such solemn assurances, as Mackimion had

done, to join him, with all the men he couhl

collect, shoiild have failed in his promise. As
Macleod of Swordland, in Glenelg, who had

visited the prince in Glenfinnan, had there en-

gaged to seize the fort of Bernera, and to join

Charles with a hundred men, whether his chief

joined or not, the messenger was instructed to

ask him why he had not fulfilled his engage-

ment. The result of this mission wiU be sub-

sequently noticed.

Seated in the palace of liis ancestors, Charles,

as Prince Eegent, continued to discharge the

functions of royalty, by exercising every act of

sovereignty, with this diflerence only between

him and his rival in St. James's, that while

King George could only raise troops and levy

4c
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money by act of parliament, Charles, by Ms
own authority, not only ordered regiments to

be raised for his service, and troops of horse-

guards to be levied for the defence of his per-

son, but also imposed taxes at pleasure. To

give eclat to his proceedings, and to impress

upon the minds of the people, by external acts,

the appearances of royalty, he held a levee

every morning in Holyrood- house, and ap-

pointed a council which met every morning at

ten o'clock, after the levee was over. This

council comprised the Duke of Perth and

Lord George Murray, the lieutenant-generals

of the army, O'Sullivan, the quarter-master-

general, Lord Pitsligo, Lord Elcho, Sir Thomas

Slieridan, Secretary Murray, and aU the High-

land chiefs.'

As nothing could injure his cause more in

the eyes of the people than acts of oppression

on the part of his troops, one of Charles's first

acts after his return to Edinburgh, was to issue

an edict granting protection to the inhabitants

of the city and the vicinity, in their persons

and properties; but farmers, living within five

miles of Edinburgh, were required, before being

entitled to the protection, to appear at the

secretary's office, in HoljTOod-house, and grant

bond that they should be ready, on twelve

hours' notice, to furnish the prince with horses

for carrying the baggage of his army to Ber^v•ick-

upon-Tweed, or a simOar distance, according to

their plowgates. By another proclamation put

forth the same day, viz. the 23d of September,

he denounced death or such other punisliment

as a court-martial should order to be inflicted

on any soldier or person connected vnth his

army, who should be guilty of forcibly taking

from " the good people of Edinburgh," or of

the country, any of their goods without a fair

equivalent to the satisfaction of the parties.

Tliese orders were in general scrupulously at-

tended to, though, in some instances, irregular-

ities were committed, under the pretence of

searching for arms. The greater part, however,

were the acts of persons who, though they wore

the white cockade, did not belong to the army.

Besides the clergymen of the city, a consid-

erable number of the volunteers had deserted

their homes in dread of punishment for having

taken up arms. To induce these, as well aa

the ministers of the city, to return, Charles

issued a proclamation on the 24th of September,

granting a full pardon to all or such of them,

as shoiild, within twenty days after the publi-

cation thereof, present themselves to Secretary

MuiTay, or to any other member of the council,

at Holyrood-house, or at such other place as

the prince might be at the time. A few vol-

unteers only took advantage of this offer.

When the Highland army first approached

the city, the directors of the two banks then

existing, had removed all then- money and notes

to the castle, under the apprehension that the

prince would appropriate them to his own use.

As great inconvenience was felt in the city by

the removal of the banks, Charles issued a pro-

clamation on the 25th of September, in which,

after disclaiming any intention to seize the

funds belonging to the banks, he invited them

to resume their business in the city, pledging

himself to protect them. He declared that the

money lodged in the banks should be free from

any exactions on his part ; and that he himself

would contribute to the re-estabHshmont of

pubhc credit, by receiving and issuing the

notes of the banks in payment. The banks,

however, declined to avail themselves of the

prince's ofl'er ; but when applied to for money

in exchange for a large quantity of their notes

in possession of the Highland army, the direc-

tors answered the demand.

As the wants of his army were many, the

next object of the prince's solicitude was to

provide against them. Anxious as he was to

conciliate all classes of the people, he had no

alternative on the present occasion, but to as-

sess the burghs of Scotland, in sums propor-

tionate to the duties of excise di'aAvn from them.

He accordingly sent letters, dated the 30th of

September, to all the chief magisti-ates of tlie

burghs, ordering them, under pain of being

considered rebel, to repair, upon receipt, to

Holyrood-house, to get the contributions to be

paid by their respective burghs ascertained, and

for pajTiient of which, he promised to assign

the duties of excise. For immediate use, he

compelled the city of Edinburgh, on pain of

military execution, to furnish Ms army with

1,000 tents, 2,000 targets, 6,000 pair of slices,

and other articles, to the value of upwards of
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£15,000, to Uqmdate which, a lax of 2s. 6d.

per pound was laid on the city, and in tlie

Canougato and Leith. From the city of Glas-

gow he demanded £15,000, a sum which was

compromised by a prompt payment of £5,500.

The prince, at the same time, despatched letters

to the collectors of the land-tax, the collectors

and comptrollers of the customs and excise, and

to the factors upon the estates forfeited in the

former insiuxection, requiring all of them, upon

receipt, to repair to Holyrood-house with their

books, and to pay such balances as might ap-

pear upon examination to be in their hands,

—

the first and last classes, under the pain of re-

bellion and military execution, and the second

class, besides the last-mentioned penalty, under

the pain of high-treason. Charles, at the same

time, seized all the smuggled goods in the cus-

tom-houses of Leith and other sea-ports, which

being sold, yielded liim £7,000. Besides the

exactions from pubKc bodies, he compelled

several of the nobility and gentry in the neigh-

bourhood of Edinburgh to supply him vnih

considerable quantities of hay and oats. Par-

ties of Highlanders were sent to the seats of

the Dukes of Hamilton and Douglas, and the

Earl of Hoptoun, to carry olf arms and horses.

From the last mentioned noblemen they took

nearly 100 horses.*

For some days after the Highlanders resumed

possession of Edinburgh, a sort of tacit under-

standing existed between the garrison and them,

under wliich the commiuiication between the

castle and the city continued open. A guard

of Higlilanders was posted at the Weigh-house,

an old square building, which stood at the head

of West Bow, at the distance of a few hundred

yards from the fortress. This guard allowed

provisions of every description to pass, particu-

larly for tlie use of the officers ; and matters

might have remained for some time in this qui-

escent state, to the great comfort of the inhabi-

tants, had not the garrison one night, most

unaccoimtably fired off some cannon and small

arms in the direction of the West Port. In

consequence, it is believed, of this breach of

the implied armistice, orders were given to the

guards, on the 29th of September, to block up

all the avenues leading to the castle, and allow

* llarchant's History of the Rehellion, p. 113.

—

Boyse, p. 91,

no person to pass. On being made acquainted

with this order. General Guest sent a letter, in

the evening, addressed to tlie Lord Provost,

intimating, that unless the communication be-

tween the castle and the city was renewed, and

the blockade removed, he would be obliged to

dislodge the Highland guards with liis cannon,

and bombard the city. Nothing could be

more unreasonable and absurd tiian this tlireat.

Though ivilling, the citizens had it not in theii

power, either to keep up the communication

with the castle, or to take off the blockade, and

though they were as unable to remove the

Highlanders from the city " as to remove the

city itself out of its seat,"* or prevent them
from acting as they pleased, yet the citizens

would be the only sufferers in the event of a

bombardment; for the Highlanders, if the city

were destroyed, would only be obliged to change

their quarters, and neither the destruction of

the one, nor the removal of the other, could be

of any service to the castle. These views were

represented to the governor by a deputation

from the city; but Guest remained inflexible,

and pleaded in his justification a peremptory

order, which he said he had received from the

king himself, and which left him no discretion.

At the earnest solicitation of the inhabitants,

Guest was prevailed upon to grant a respite for

one night. Next morning, six deputies waited

on the prince, at the palace,with General Guest's

letter, wliich was in reality intended for him.

After perusing the letter, Charles returned an

answer immediately to the deputies in writing,

in wliich he expressed surprise at the barbarity

of the orders from the castle, at a time when
it was admitted, that the garrison had six weeks

provisions on hand,—that, in pleading, as Guest

had done, the directions of " the Elector of

Hanover," as an excuse, it was evident, that

the Elector did not consider the inhabitants of

Edinburgh as his subjects, otherwise he would

not have made a demand upon them wliicli

they could not fulfil,—and that, should he, the

prince, out of compassion to the citizens, com-

ply with the extravagant demand now made,

he might as well quit the city at once, and

abandon all the advantages he had obtained,

—

that, if any mischief should befall the city, ha

' Kirkconuel MS,
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would take particular care to indemnify the

inhabitants for their loss,—and that, in the

meantime, if forced by the threatened bar-

barity, he would make reprisals upon the estates

of tlie officers in the castle, and also upon all

who were " known to be open abettors of the

German government."

This letter was laid before a meeting of the

inhabitants, who sent deputies with it to

General Guest. After some altercation, he

agreed to suspend hostilities tUL the return of

an express from London, on condition that the

Higliland army sliould, in the mean time, make

no attempt upon the castle. This condition

was, however, infringed by the Highlanders,

who, on the following day, discharged some

musket shots with the intention, it is supposed,

of frightening some persons who were carrying

up provisions to the castle. General Guest,

considering that he was no longer restrained

from executing his threat, immediately opened

a fire upon the guard stationed at the Weigh-

house, by which some houses were damaged

and two persons wounded. Charles retaliated

by issuing a proclamation next day, in which

he prohibited all correspondence with the

castle, under pain of death. Tliis proclama-

tion was followed by an order to strengthen

the blockade, by posting additional guards at

several places about the castle. To revenge

this step tlie garrison fired at every Highlander

they could discover from the battlements, and,

by this reckless proceeding, killed and wounded

several of the inhabitants. A daring exploit

was performed at the same time by a soldier,

who shpped down from the castle, set fire to a

house in Livingston's yards, where a guard

was posted, and after shooting one of the

guards dead upon the spot, returned safe to

the fortress. Shortly after this occurrence a

party sallied out from the castle, killed some

of the guards stationed at the same place, took

an officer and a few prisoners, and put the rest

to flight.

Meanwhile General Guest sent a message to

the city, intimating that he meant to demolish

the houses where the guards were posted, but

that care would be taken to do as little damage

as possible to the city. Accordingly, on the

4th of October, about two o'clock in the after-

noon, a cannonade was opened from the half-

moon battery, near the Castle-gate, which, was

kept up tUl the evening. When it grew dark

the garrison made a sally, and set fire to a

foundry and a house on the Castle-hiU which

had been deserted. They then dug a trench

fourteen feet broad, and sixteen feet deep,

across the Castle-hUl, about half-way between

the gate and the houses on the Castle-hill, and

along the parapet made by the earth taken

from the trench on the side next the castle,

they posted 200 men, who discharged some

cartridge shot down the street, killing and

wounding some of the iidiabitants. The bom-

bardment was resumed next day, \vith more

disastrous effect. No person could with safety

appear on the High-street, as the shots from

the Castle-liLU penetrated as far down as the

head of the old Flesh-market close, and shat-

tered several houses. At first, some of the

better informed among the citizens were dis-

posed to regard the threat of bombardment as

a mere device to induce the prince to discon-

tinue the blockade, as they could not bring

themselves to believe that the government

could have been guilty of issuing the barbarous

order alluded to by the governor of the castle

;

but the inhabitants in general entertained

more correct views, and before the cannonade

commenced, the streets were crowded with

women and children running towards the gates,

in great confusion, while many of the citizens

were to be seen carrying their most valuable

effects out of the city. During the two days

that the cannonade lasted, viz., the 4th and

5th of October, the utmost dismay prevailed

among the inhabitants, and multitudes of them

left the city, ivithout knowing whither to flee

or where to look for shelter.

To put an end to this disastrous state of

aflfairs Charles issued a proclamation on the

evening of the 5th of October, removing the

blockade. In this document he stated that it

was with the greatest regi-et that he was hourly

informed of the many murders which were

committed upon the innocent inhabitants of

the city, by the inhuman commanders and

garrison of the castle, a practice contrary, he

observed, to aU the laws of war, to the truce

granted to the city, and even exceeding the

orders which the government, it was alleged, had

given upon the occasion,—that he might have,
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as he had threatened, justly chastised those

who had been instrumental in the ruin of the

capital, by reprisals upon the estates and for-

tunes of the supporters of the government;

but as he thought it noways derogatory to the

glory of a prince, to suspend punishment, or

alter a resolution, if, by such a course, he could

save the lives of innocent men, he had allowed

his humanity to yield to the barbarity of the

cortmion enemy. This proclamation was fol-

lowed by a cessation of the cannonade ; but the

garrison still continued to fire occasionally at

the Highlanders whenever they made their

appearance in the neighbourhood of the castle.

The object of Guest, according to Mr. Home,

in thus annoying the town, and provoking the

Highlanders, was not to secure a supply of

provisions, of which he had already an abun-

dance, but to prevent them from marching

into England, by keepmg them occupied in the

siege of the castle. To deceive Charles, he

wrote in the beginning of the week following

the battle of Preston, several letters to the

Duke of Newcastle, one of the secretaries of

state, acquainting him that there was but a

very small stock of provisions in the castle of

Edinburgh,—that he would be obliged to sur-

render, if not immediately relieved, and recom-

mending that any troops sent to his relief,

should be forwarded by sea, to Berwick or

Newcastle, for the sake of despatch. These

letters, which were intended for the perusal of

Charles, were sent so that they might fall into

his hands; but lest any of them might find

their way to London, Guest sent a letter to the

Duke of Newcastle, by a sure conveyance,

giving liim an account of the real state of the

garrison, and informing him of the deception

he was endeavouring to practise upon the

Highlanders.'

Whilst the adherents of Charles in the High-

lands and the northern Lowlands were exert-

ing all their energies to collect reinforcements.

Lord-president Forbes was using all his influ-

ence to prevent the chiefs of doubtfid loyalty

6om committing themselves with the govern-

ment. To induce them to arm in its support

after the success which had attended the

prince's arms, was what he could scarcely have

' Home, p. 127.

expected; but by persuasion, and by pointing

out in forcible terms the ruin which would be-

fall them and their families, should the prince

fail in his enterprise, he succeeded in making

them at first to waver, and finally to abandon

any design they may have entertained, of join-

ing the prince. Among others who appear to

have vacUlated between two opinions, and in

their perplexity to have alternately changed

their minds, was Macleod of Macleod. This

chief, influenced probably by the solicitations of

his clansman, who had been sent to him on the

mission before alluded to, attended a meeting

of gentlemen of the name of Eraser, convened

by Lord Lovat at Beaufort, or Castle Downie,

as that seat of the chief of the Erasers was

sometimes called, on Friday the 4th of October,

and was despatched the following day to Skj-e,

having engaged to join the Erasers with his

men at Corriearrick on the 15th;^ but on ad-

vising with his friend Sir Alexander Mac-

donald, he resolved to stay at home.''

In neutralizing the efforts of the disaffected

clans, and dissuading others of doubtful loyalty

from joining the ranks of the insurgents. Pre-

sident Forbes had difficulties to contend witli,

which few men could have overcome, but

which he finally surmounted by that firmness,

zeal, and indomitable perseverance, which dis-

tinguished him among all his political contem-

poraries. At its commencement, Forbes treated

the insui-rection very lightly. Before his de-

parture for the north, he considered the pros-

pect of affairs very flattering, and that the

object of his journey had no appearance of

difficulty; but the alteration in public feeling,

consequent on the battle of Preston, changed

the scene. Instead of finding the ready sup-

port he anticipated from the professed adherents

of the government, be saw himself, to use his

own words, " almost alone, without troops,

without arms, without money or credit
;
pro-

vided with no means to prevent extreme folly,

except pen and ink, a tongue and some reputa-

tion; and, if you will except Macleod, whom
I sent for from the Isle of Skye, supported by

nobody of common sense or courage."* The

successes of the insurgents had, he observes,

" blown up the spirit of mutiny to such a pitch,

« Home, p. 327. " LoTafs Trial, p. 1S8.

' Cullodcn Papers, p. 250.
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that notliing was heard of but caballing, and
|

gathering together of men in the neighbour-

hood: every petty head of a tribe, who was in

any degree tinged ivith Jacobitism, or desperate

in his circumstances, assembled his kindred,

and made use of the most mutmous, to drag

the most peaceable out of their beds, and to

force others to list by tlrreatening destruction

to their cattle and other effects ; whilst we

were unable to give them any assistance or pro-

tection." ' Exasperated at the president for

the exertions he made to obstruct the designs

of the disaffected, a plan was formed for seizing

him by some of the Erasers, a party of whom,

amounting to about 200 men, accordingly

made an attack upon the house of Culloden

during the night between the 15th and 16th

of October; but the president being upon his

guard, they were repulsed.* The apprehension

of such an important personage would have

been of greater service to the Jacobite cause

than the gaining of a battle.

Conlidiog in the loyalty and discretion of

President Forbes, the ministry had, at the sug-

gestion of the Earl of Stair, sent down to the

president, early in September, twenty commis-

sions, for raising as many independent com-

panies in the Highlands for the service of the

government. The names of the officers were

left blank in the commissions, that the pre-

sident might distribute them among such of

the well-affected clans as he might think pro

per. The plan which his lordship laid down

for himseK, in disposing of these commissions,

was to distribiite them among the clans who

adliered to the government in the former in-

surrection, without neglectmg such other clans,

who, though then opposed to the government,

had, on the present occasion, shown an unwill-

ingness to join the Jacobite standard. To

raise the companies, which were fixed at 100

men each, as quickly as possible, the president

resolved to leave the nomination of the officers

to the chiefs of the clans, out of whom they

were to be raised.^ He accordingly despatched

letters to the Earls of Sutherland and Cromarty,

Lords Eeay and Fortrose, Sir Alexander Mao-

donald, the lairds of Macleod and Grant, and

other chiefs, requesting each of them to raise a

company out of their respective clans, most of

whom accordingly proceeded to enrol their

men; but from the want of money and arms,

only two companies were completed before the

end of October, and several months expired

before the whole were fully formed and drawn

together. ^

' Cvlloden Papers, p. 246. ' Idem. - Idem, p. 404.
' The following is a list of the officers of eighteen of the independent companies, being the whole number

raised, with the dates of the delivery of their commissions on the completion of their companies, and of their

arrival at Inverness:

—

Captains.

George Monro,
Alexander Gun,
Patrisk Grant,

George Mackay,
Peter Sutherland,
John Macleod,
Normand Macleod of Waterstein,
Normand Macleod of Bernera,

Donald Macdonald,
William Mackintosh,
Hngh Macleod,
Alexander Mackenzie,

Colin Mackenzie of Hilton,

James Macdonald,
John Macdonald,
Hugh Mackay,
William Ross,

Colin Mackenzie,

Adam Gordon,
John Gordon,
William Grant,
John Mackay,
William Mackay,
Alexander Macleod,
Donald Macleod,
John Campbell,
William Macleod,
Kenneth Mathison,
George Monro,
John Mathison,
Alexander Campbell
Allan Macdonald,
Allan Macdonald,
Jolin Mackay,
Charles Ross,

Donald Mackaulay,

Ensigns.

Hugh Monro,
Kenneth Sutherland,

James Grant,

James Mackay,
John Mackay,
John Macaskill,

John Macleod,

John Macleod,
Donald Macleod,
William Baillie,

Roderick Macleod,
Simon Murchison,

, John Macrae,
James Macdonald,
Donald Macdonald,
Angus Mackay,
David Ross,

Kenneth Mackenzie,

1745, Oct. 23d.— — 25th.— Nov. 3d.

— — 4th.

— — 8th.

— — ISth.

— — I8th.

— — 28th.

— Dec. 20th.

— — 31st.

. The Monros.
! and 5. The Earl of Sutherland's men.
1. The Grants.

I and 16. The Mackays.
>, 7, 8, and 9. The Macleods, under the laird of

Macleod.

). A company rai.sed in the town of Inverness.

1746, Jan. 6th.

— — 8th.

— Feb. 2d.

Culloden Papers.

Tlie Macleods of Assint, raised by Captaiu )

leod of Geanies.

and 13. The Mackenzies of Kintail.

and 1 5. The Macdonalds of Skye.
The Rosses.

The Mackenzies of Lewis.
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If the majority of the people of Scotland

hail been favoui-ably disposed to the cause of

the Stuarts, they had now an opportunity of

displaying their attachment to the representa-

tive of their ancient monarclis, by declaring for

the prince; but Charles soon found that, \7ith

the exception of the Highlands, and a few dis-

tricts north of the Tay, where catholicity and

non-jm-ing episcopacy still retained a footing,

the rest of Scotland was not disposed to join

a contest for legitimacy, wliioh they might

imagine would not, if successful, strengthen

the hberties of the nation, and might possibly

impair them. The regular line of hereditary

succession had been departed from, and it did

not seem wise after a trial of fifty-seven years,

during which period the political frame and

texture of society had undergone a complete

revolution, to place the succession on its original

footing, by restoring the son of James II.

The Jacobites, however, imbued with ideas of

Ludefeasible hereditary right, were deaf to every

argument founded on expediency or the will

of the nation, and contended that every de-

parture from the direct line of succession was

a usurpation, and contrary to the divine law.

No sovereign was, therefore, held by them as

legitimate, while there existed a nearer heir to

the crown in the direct line of succession; but

they did not reflect tnat, upon this principle,

there was scarcely a legitimate sovereign in

Europe.

Among the Lowland Jacobites who displayed

the greatest zeal on the present occasion, was

Lord Ogdvy, eldest son of the Earl of Airly,

who joined the prince at Edinburgh on the 3d

of October with a regiment of 600 men, chiefly

from the county of Forfar, where his father's

estates were situated. ]\Iost of the ofiicers of

the regiment were either of the Airly famdy,

or bore the name of Ogilvy. Lord Ogilvy was

followed by old Gordon of Glenbucket, an

equally zealous supporter of the Stuarts, who
arrived at Edinburgh next day ^vith a body of

400 men, which he had collected in Strathdon,

Strathaven, Glenlivet, and Auchindoun. Glen-

bucket had been a major-general in Mar's army,

in 1715; but he now contented himself with

the colonelcy of the regiment he had just raised,

of which he made his eldest son lieutenant-

colonel, and his younger sons captains, while

the other commissions were hold by Ids rela-

tions or personal friends. On the 9th of Octo-

ber, Lord PitsUgo also joined the prince. He
was accompanied by a considerable number of

gentlemen from the counties of Aberdeen and

Banff', with their servants, all well armed and

mounted. These formed an excellent corps of

cavalry. He also brought with him a small

body of infantry. Lord Pitsligo, though pos-

sessed of a moderate fortime, had great influ-

ence with the gentlemen of the counties above

named, by whom he was beloved and greatly

esteemed, and having great reliance on his

judgment and discretion, they did not hesitate,

when he declared himself in favour of the

prince, to put themselves under his command.

Having been informed that there were many
persons, who, from infirmity and other causes,

were unable to join liim, but were disposed to

assist hun with money, horses, and arms, the

Chevalier issued a proclamation on the 8th of

October, calling upon all such persons to send

such supplies to his secretary; and as an order

had been issued, summoning the parliament to

meet on the 17th, he, by another proclamation

dated the 9th, prohibited all peers and com-

moners from paying obedience to any order or

resolution that might be published in the name

of either house, in case they shoidd meet.

On the 10th of October, Charles issued a

second rather spirited manifesto, justifying the

step he had taken, proclaiming his father's

gracious intention to redress every grievance,

including tlie repeal of the union, endeavouring

to show that the government of the Elector of

Hanover was a grievous tyranny supported by

foreign mercenaries. It concluded tluLS :

—

" Let him send off' his foreign hirelings, and

put the whole upon the issue of a battle ; I

wUl trust only to the king my father's subjects,

who were, or shall be, engaged in mine and

their country's cause. But notwithstanding

all the opposition he can make, I still trust in

the justice of my cause, the valour of my
troops, and the assistance of the Almighty, to

bring my enterprise to a glorious issue.

" It is now time to conclude, and I shall do

it with this reflection; civil wars are ever at-

tended with rancour and ill-wiU, which party-

rage never fails to produce in the minds of

those whom diff'erent interests, principles, or
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views, set in opposition to one another: I

therefore earnestly reqviire it of my friends, to

give as little loose as possible to such passions:

this wlU prove tlie most effectual means to

prevent the same in the enemies of our royal

Tause. And tliis my declaration wiU vindicate

to all posterity the nobleness of my undertaking,

and the generosity of my intentions."

During Charles's stay in Edinburgh the

magisterial authority was in complete abeyance,

and thieves and robbers, no longer restrained

by the arm of power, stalked about, in open

day, following their vocation. Under pretence

of searching for arms, predatory bands, wearing

wliite cockades and the Highland dress, per-

ambulated the country, imposing upon and

robbing the people. One of tlie most noted of

these was headed by one James Ratcliffe, the

same individual who figures so conspicuously

in the Heart of Mid-Lothian, and who, having

spent all his Kfe in the commission of acts of

robbery, had twice received sentence of death,

but had contrived to effect his escape from jail.''

To suppress these and other acts of violence,

Charles issued several edicts, and in one or

"wo instances the last penalty of the law was

inflicted by his orders upon the culprits.

Early in October a ship from France arrived

at Montrose with some arms and ammunition

and a small sum of money. On board this

vessel was the Marquis Boyer d'Eguille, who

arrived at HoljTOod house on the 14th of

October. The object of his journey was not

exactly kno^vn, but his arrival was represented

as a matter of great importance, and he was

passed off as an ambassador from the French

court. This vessel was soon followed by two

others in succession, one of which brought, in

addition to a supply of arms and money, some

Irish officers in the service of France. The

otlier had on board six field-pieces and a com-

pany of artillerymen. These succours, though

small, weie opportune, and were considered ;is

an earnest of more substantial ones, of which

d'EguiUe gave the prince the strongest assur-

ances. To facilitate and shorten the convey-

ance of arms and cannon, and of the reinforce-

ments stdl expected fi-om the north, batteries

were raised at Alloa and on the immediately

• Calcdttiiian Mcrcurij, lltli October, 174.'i. I

opposite side of the Frith of Forth, across

wliich these were transported without any an-

noyance, although the Fox, a British man-of-

war, was stationed in the Frith.

The army of the prince continued to increase

by the arrival of several additional detachments

from the north, and before the end of October

he found that his forces amounted to nearly

6,000 men; but this number was far below

what Charles had expected. He had enter-

tained hopes that by the exertions of Lord

Lovat and other cliiefs, whom he expected to

declare in his favour, about triple that number

would have been raised; but a messenger who

arrived at Edinburgh from his lordship, brought

him intelligence which rendered his expecta-

tations less sanguine. Lovat had calculated

that he would be able to raise by liia own ia-

fluence a force of 4,000 or 5,000 men for

the service of Charles; and, the better to con-

ceal his design, he opened a correspondence

with President Forbes, in which, with hia

characteristic duplicity and cunning, he avowed

himself a warm supporter of the government,

and succeeded for a considerable time in throw-

ing the president off his guard. By degrees, how-

ever his real intentions began to develops

themselves, and after the battle of Preston l>e

resolved to assemble his clan for the purpose

of joining the prince. To deceive the govern-

ment he compelled his son, (afterwards known

as General Eraser,) a youth of eighteen who

had been pursuing his studies at the university

of St. Andrews, to put himself at the head of

the clan, and afterwards pretended that his son

had, by this proceeding, acted in direct op-

position to his orders.' The only force raised

south of the Tay was a regiment of 450 men

which Colonel Roy Stewart formed in Edin-

burgh during the stay of the Higliland army;

for, although the prince w;is joined at Edin-

burgh by the Earls of Kilmarnock and KeUie,

Lord Balmeriuo, Maxwell of Kirkconnel, and

other south-country gentlemen, they did not

bring as many men along with them as would

have formed the staff of a company.

Having now spent nearly six weeks in Edin-

burgh, the prince considered that he could no

longer delay his intended march into England

» Cullodcn Papers, pp. 231—254.
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By postponing that measure a few days longer

he might have still farther increased his force

hy the return of the men who had gone home

after the battle, of whom he had received

favourable accounts; by the accession of a

body of Gordons which Lord Lewis, brother

to the Duke of Gordon, was raising among the

followers of the family; and by other small

corps from the north. But it was judged that

this advantage would be more than counter-

balanced by other circumstances attendant upon

delay. The long stay of the Highland army in

Scotland had enabled the government to con-

centrate a considerable force in the north of

England, already far superior, in point of num-

bers, to the prince's troops, and this force was

about to receive large additions from the south

and from the continent. Nothing but a dread

of the Higlilanders and ignorance of their real

strength kept the English army, already con-

centrated in the north, from entering Scotland

;

but terrible as was the impression made upon

the minds of the English troops, by the reports

T^blch had been carried to England of the

prov/eas of the Highlanders, it was not to be

supposed, that, after the arrival of large reiii-

foi-cementfl, their commanders would remain

inactive. Had the government been aware of

tlio 'weakness of the prince's army after the

battle of Gladsmuir, it would probably not

have delayed a single week in sending an army

into Scotland; but the exaggerated reports

which had been every where spread, of the

great strength of the Highland army, were fully

credited. Attempts were made by some friends

of the government, as well as by others, to

ascertain their numbers; but Charles, by per-

jietuaUy sliifting their cantonments, and divid-

ing them into detached bodies, not only con-

trived to conceal his weakness, but to impress

these prying persons with an idea that he was

nuch stronger than lie really was.'^

Ajiother reason for hastening his march

r.outh was the danger that the army might be

diminished by desertion if kept in a state of

inactivity. Desertions were frequent, and it

was thought that nothing but an active life

would put an end to a practice imputed to

idleness and repose, and which allowed the

' Kirkcunnel MS.

men time to think on their families, and con-

template the hardships and dangers they were

hlvely to undergo in a foreign land. But the

chief motive which urged Charles and his

council to put the army in motion was an ap-

prehension that their supplies of money would

be soon exhausted, in which event it would be

quite impossible to keep the army togetlier for

a single day. By adhering to a declaration he

had made, that he would not enforce the ob-

noxious malt tax ; the public money, wliich

had been collected, and was stUl in course of

being raised, was far from being adequate to

support the army which Charles had collected;

and the contributions of his friends, which at

first were considerable, were now beginning to

faiL The supplies which had lately been re-

ceived from France were therefore veiy oppor-

tune; but without additional and early pecuni-

ary succours, which, though promised, might

not speedilj' arrive or might miscarry, it was

considered that imless the exchequer was ro-

plenislied in England, the abandonment of the

enterprise was inevitable. For these reasons,

and as the prince informed his counoU^ that

he had received the strongest assurances of

support from numbers of the English Tories

and Jacobites, a unanimous resolution wad

entered into to march forthwith into England.

'

Upon tills resolution being adopted, the

prince despatched a messenger to France with

^ Maxwell of Kirkconnel had a very sorry opinion
of the cajiahilities of must of the membera of tho
council. After stating, that by degrees all the colonela

of the army were admitted into it, he thus proceeds :

—

'

' I must acknowledge that very few of the members
of this assembly were either able statesmen or experi-

enced officers ; but as those who knew least were
generally led by the opinions of those they thought
mser than themselves, and they in their turn had
private conferences with the ablest of the prince's

secret friends in Edinburgh, things might have been
well enough conducted had there been as much har-

mony and union as the importance of the affair re-

quired ; but an ill-timed emulation soon crept in, and
bred great dissensions and animosities. The council

was insensibly divided into factions, and came to bo
of little use when measures were approved of or con-

demned, not for themselves, but for the sake of their

author. These dissensions, begun at Edinburgh, con-

tinued ever after, and their fatal influence was not

always confined to the council : by degrees it reached

the array ; and though the prince's orders were ever

respected and punctually obeyed by the army, there

were, nevertheless, a certain discontent and diffidence

which appeared on sundiy occasions, especially towards

the end, and was very detrimental to his affairs."

—

Kirkconnel MS.
* Idem.

i D
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intelligenoe of his intentions, and to solicit the

French court to make a desceat on England.

As this court had all along given as its reason

for not seconding the prince's designs, by send-

ing an army into England, the doubt which it

had of his having a considerable party in that

country, the messenger was instructed to repre-

sent the situation of the prince's affairs in the

most favourable point of view. This person,

by name Alexander Gordon, a Jesuit, left

Edinburgh accordingly on the 28th of October.

On arriving in France he drew up a most

flattering report, which he put into the hands

of the prince's brother, Henry, Duke of York,

tlien at Paris, to be laid before the French

king. In tliis report he stated, that while the

jirince had about 12,000 men with him in

Edinburgh and its vicinity, there were 4,000

more expected to arrive—that he had already

upwards of 1,000 cavalry, and that a great

number more were on their march to join him,

—that almost aU these troops were well armed,

"ind were amply provided vrith every necessary,

—and tliat all the inhabitants of the counties

pnd toiTiis where the prince had appeared, and

particularly those of Edinburgh and Glasgow,

had furnished the army with clothing, arms,

find money, and, in short, with every thing in

their power. He stated, that besides the High-

laud chiefs and the noblemen of different coun-

ties, who had declared in favour of the prince

before the battle of Preston, a great number of

persons of distinction had since joined bini

at Edinburgh, among whom he particularly

enumerated Lord Nithsdale and Kenmuie, and

IMaxweU of Kirkconnel,—that besides these

there were many others, who, being unable to

give their personal services, had sent the prince

horses, arms, and money, and that after the

prince's father had been proclaimed in the

capital and the most considerable to^vns in

Scotland, those who had formerly shown them-

selves least disposed to acknowledge him had

displayed the most favourable dispositions to-

wards the prince, being either subdued by the

charms of his manners, or gained over by his

manifestoes and proclamations. In short, that

by the astonishing victory he had achieved,

many persons, who would otherwise have stiU

been in connexion with the court of London,

hail submitted themselves to the prince, who

might be said to be now absolute master of

Scotland. That with regard to England, tlic

people of that kingdom were ready to receive

the prince with ojien arms as soon as he should

appear among them ivith an army supported

by France,—that, independently of the general

discontent of the nation with the government,

the prince was emboldened to enter England

by upwards of a hundred invitations which he

had received from the nobility of England,

and by large sums of money which he had

obtained for the payment of his troops,—that

the English government, alarmed at tliis state

of things, had, as was reported, hesitated

accepting offers, which some counties had made

of raising bodies of militia, for fear that this

force would be employed against itself. In

fine, that such was the disposition of men's

minds throughout the whole of Great Britain,

that the fear of the prince not being supported

by foreign aid, of which the court of London

was in great dread, alone prevented the people

from openly declaring themselves, and that

every person was persuaded, that for every

thousand of foreign troops which the prince

could bring into the field, his army would

receive an accession, four times as large, from

the English people, who only wanted the pre-

sence of a foreign force to encourage them to

take up arms against the goverment. *

The last days of October were occupied in

making the necessary arrangements for the

march of the Highland army
;
preparatory to

which, orders were issued, near the end of that

month, to call in the different parties which

were posted at Newhaven, Leith, and other

places in the vicinity of Edinbiu-gL The

army which, for three weeks after the battle

of Preston had lain in camp at Duddingston,

had, since the middle of October, been quar-

tered in and around the city ; but on the 26th

of that month the main body left Echnburgh,

and encamped on a field a little to the west

of Inveresk church, with a battery of seven

or eight pieces of cannon pointing to the

south-west. 1 Hitherto Charles, to conceal his

weakness, had reviewed his army in detached

' Vide the report in the Stuart Papers, and a letter

of 26th November, 1745, from Gordon to the Chevalief

de St. George, inclosing a cr py of his report.

1 Marchant, p. 130.
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porlions ; but he now ordered a general review

cf his whole force on the 28tli of Octoher.

The place appointed was Leith links ; but

being warned by a few bombs which were

thrown from the castle as the army was ap-

proaching the ground, that he might expect

some annoyance, Charles abandoned his inten-

tion, and reviewed his army on the sands

between Leith and Musselburgh. ^

Of the deportment of Charles, and the mode

in which he spent his time during his abode

at Holyrood house, it may now be necessary

to say a few words. It has been already stated

on the authority of an officer in his army,

whose memoirs are quoted by Jlr. Home, that

before the meeting of his council, Charles held

a levee. The same writer adds, that after the

rising of the councU, which generally sat very

long, he dined in public with his principal

officers, and that while the army lay at Dud-

dingston he rode out there after dinner, accom-

panied by his life-guards.' The object of these

visits was to keep the Highlanders together;

and to show them that the change of circum-

stances had not altered his disposition towards

them, he frequently supped and slept in tlie

camp.*

Another writer, an eye-witness,^ says that
''
the prince's court at Holyrood soon became

very brilliant, and that every day from morning

to night there was avast concourse ofwell-dressed

people. Besides the gentlemen that had joined

tlio prince, there was a great number of ladies

and gentlemen who came either from affection

or curiosity. People flocked from all quarters

to see the novelty of a court which had not

been held in Scotland for sixty years, and from

its splendour, and the air of satisfaction which

appeared in every person's countenance, one

would have thought the king was already re-

stored, and in peaceable possession of all the

dominions of his ancestors, and that the prince

had only made a trip to Scotland to show him-

self to the people, and receive their homage.

The conduct of Charles corresponded in all re-

spects with the attentions shown him. He
professed the warmest attachment to Scotland,

and was often heard to say, that should he

succeed in his attempt, he would make Scot-

' Home, p. 139.

' Maxwell of KirkconnaL

land his Hanover, and Holyrood house his

Herenhausen;* an expression by wliich he not

only marked his devotion to the Scotch nation,

but conveyed a severe rebuke upon King

George, who was justly accused of an undue

predilection for his native soU.

To mark his sense of the respeot sho'wn him,

and to ingratiate himself still more with his

new friends, Charles gave a series of balls and

entertainments in the palace, which were at-

tended by aU the persons of rank and fashion

assembled in the capital. On these occasions,

the young Chevalier appeared sometimes in an

English court-dress vnih. the blue ribbon, star,

and other insignia of the order of the garter,

and at other times in a Highland dress of fine

sdk tartan, with crimson velvet breeches, anu

the cross of St. Andrew.'^ His pohteness,

affability, and condescension, were the theme

of universal conversation. Captivated by the

charms of his conversation, the graces of his

person, and the unwearied attentions which he

bestowed on them, the ladies entered warmly

into the prince's views; and their partizanship

became so available to his cause as to attract,

as we have seen, the especial attention of Pre-

sident Forbes. Indeed, so strong was the hold

which the spirit of Jacobitism had taken of

the hearts of the ladies of Edinburgh, that

when afterwards overawed by the presence of

an English army, they, nevertheless, continued

to wear the Jacobite badge, and treated the

approaches of the Duke of Cumberland's officers

•with supercilious indifference. As Charles was

almost wholly destitute of every household re-

quisite, his female friends sent plate, china,

linen, and other articles of domestic use to the

palace.*

At the present stage of this history, it seems

proper to record a manifesto which emanated

from Charles's army on the eve of its departure

for England, which, as an historical document

of considerable interest, shall be given entire.

It was titled, " The declaration and admonitory

letter of such of the nobility, gentry, and free-

born subjects of his majesty, as, under the

auspicious conduct of his royal highness,

Charles, prince of Wales, steward of Scotland,

&c., have taken up arms in support of the cause

8 Henderson, p. 92. ' Boyse, p. 89. * Idem,
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of their king and country." It was addressed

" unto those who have not as yet declared their

approbation of this enterprise ; and to sucli as

have, or may hereafter, appear in arms against

it."

" Countrymen and fellow-subjects,—It is

mth abundance of regret, and not without in-

dignation, that we daily hear and see this our

undertaking, which in glory and disinterested-

ness may vie with any to be met with, either

in ancient or modern history, traduced, misre-

presented, and reviled in those fulsome ad-

dresses and associations made to and in favours

of the Elector of Hanover, by those very

bishops of the church of England, who, for so

many years, have contributed their utmost en-

deavours to abet and support every measure

the most unpopular, pernicious, and hurtful,

that the worst of ministers, be he of what party

he would, could ever devise for the undoing of

these nations.

" Is it from such patterns of virtue and piety

that the nation now must take the alarm 1 Are

we by these old bugbears of popery, slavery,

and tyranny, for ever to be hindered from

p'jisuing our only true interest? Or, is the

(groundless fear of an imaginary evil to pre-

vent our shaking off the heavy yoke we daily

fool?

" What further security, in the name of God,

can a people desire for the enjoyment of their

ecclesiastical rights t Have not both the king

and prince regent sworn in the most solemn

manner to maintain the protestant religion

throughout his majesty's dominions? Nay,

more, have they not promised to pass any laws

which shall be thought necessary for the further

security of it? Are we not protestants who now

address you ? And is it not by the strengtli

of a protestant army that he must mount the

throne? Can any man, or number of men,

persuade you, that we, who are your brethren,

born in the same island, and who have the

same interest, do not love ourselves, our re-

ligion, laws and liberties, as well as you do ?

" What further security can the nature of

the thing admit of? You have your prince's

promises, and here you have laid before you

the sentiments of his army; who, having

thankfully accepted of them, are determined

and resolved to set their country at liberty, by

establishing that glorious plan which has been

freely offered to us by the only rightful prince

of the British nations ; and tliis must be done

before we sheath our swords.

" Our enemies have represented us as men

of low birth and of desperate fortmies. We,
who are now in arms, are, for the greatest part,

of the most ancient families of this island,

whose forefathers asserted the liberties of their

country, long, long before the names of many
of our declaimers were ever heard of. Our

blood is good, and that our actions shall make

appear. K our fortimes be not great, our vu'tue

has kept them low ; and desperate we may be

truly called, for we are determined to conquer

or die.

" The justice, therefore, of the cause we now

appear for, the interest of the nation which we

support and pursue, and the glorious character

of our royal leader, may each by itself, or all

together, abimdantly convince the nation, that

now at last there appears an happy and unfore-

seen opportunity of acquiring all those blessings

which a distrest nation has been so long wish-

ing for in vain.

" This golden opportunity we have laid hold

of; and injustice to oiu-selves and fellow-sub-

jects, are obliged thus to apprize them of the

uprightness of our intentions in carrying into

execution a scheme calculated and adapted to

those principles of hberty which the true lovers

of their country have been polisliing and refin-

ing for these many years past.

" Perhaps you may find fault that j'ou were

not apprized of this undertaking. No more

were we. God has conducted, the prince of

Wales has executed ; and we are thereby in

possession of Scotland, and victorious over one

of the Elector's armies, which nothing could

have saved from total destruction but the

authority and mercy of a young conqueror,

possest of all the shining virtues which can

adorn a tlirone, and who may challenge the

keenest enemy of his royal family to impute to

him a vice which can blacken the character of

a prince. Compare his clemency towards all

the prisoners and wounded at the battle of

Gladsmuir, with the executions, imprisonments,

and banishments, exercised by the German

family after theii- success at Preston in the year
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ITIS, ami your affections "will tell you who is

the true father of the people.

" We have hitherto only spoke to your inter-

ests: when his royal highness comes himself

amongst you, let his appearance, his modera-

tion, his affability, his tenderness and affection

for those he can truly call his countrymen,

speak to your passions ; then you who, at the

instigation of your enemies, are now arming for

the defence, as j'ou imagine, of your respective

communities, will be able to judge from whom
you will have the best reason to expect protec-

tion. Thus far we can take upon us to promise

in his highness's name, that such as shall make

no resistance to our troops, though before our

arrival they may have been levying war against

us, may nevertheless depend upon the most

ample security for their persons and estates,

provided, by a timely surrender of their arms,

they put in our power to protect them against

the fury of the army: and how foolish will it

be, after this assurance, for any city, corpora-

tion, or county, to attempt to make head against

the combined force of a whole nation, collected

in a numerous army, and flushed with success?

If any misfortune, therefore, ensue from a dis-

regard of this admonition, we of his royal

highness's army declare ourselves free of all

blame therein.

" It is time for you now, countrymen ! to

lay aside all animosities, all distinctions of

families or names, and to confine your thoughts

only to the interest of these kingdoms, connect-

ing ^vith them as j'ou go along the sentiments

you had a few years ago.

" What transport of joy would the bulk of

the British nation have felt upon a certain re-

markable and never-to-be-forgotten period in

our political history, (that great change of min-

istry wliich happened not long ago, when the

cries of a distressed people, supported by the

interest and influence of powerful, though de-

signing men, accomplished the ruin of a mighty

minister,) how great would have been your joy

had you then had from the Elector of Hanover

such a declaration as that emitted the 10th of

this month by his royal higlmess, the heir and

representative of our natural and only rightful

sovereign 1

" Is it possible to conceive the universal satis-

faction wliich such a declaration would have

occasioned, unless we judge of it by our fatal

disappointment?—We leave it to yourselves to

make the application. As it is not our inten-

tion here to set forth the domestic grievances

of the nation, nor the scandalous preference

showed upon all occasions to a pitiful foreign

concern ; for as we address ourselves chiefly to

the friends of liberty and the constitution, we

suppose you all abundantly instructed in them

:

nor would it serve but to lengthen this letter,

to enumerate the many promises in the king's

and prince's declarations and ananifestoes to

his subjects upon this occasion; we have abun-

dantly explained oiu- own motives for now ap-

pearing in arms, and would willingly use a

little serious expostulation with you, gentlemen,

who intend to oppose us.

" Wliat then, in the name of God, do you

propose to yourselves? Is it also the interest

of Great Britain and Ireland? Or, is it the

sujiport of the Elector of Hanover's family in

the succession to the crown of these realms?

If your armaments proceed from the first of

these motives, tell us what a prince can do

more to make you a free and a happy people?

Wliat security can you have more than his

word and lois army's guarantee, until the nation

shall have time abundantly to secure themselves

by parliament?

" K you be satisfied with the promises made

you, and the security of the performance, do

you disapprove of tliis method of bringing

about the execution by force of arms? If you

do, be so good as suggest another equally eflS-

cacious.

" That by parliament, indeed, would have

been universally the most acceptable ; but we

cannot be so infatuated as to remain in eternal

bondage, unless a parliament, composed of Lire-

Kngs, should set us at liberty ; nor have wo

any hopes that the Elector will strip himself

of that pecuniary influence by which alone he

has carried, over the bellies of the nation,

every destructive measure.

" On the other hand, if the dispute is to bo

whether the Stuart or Hanoverian family shall

reign over Great Britain, without reference to

the interest of the nation, we need use no other

argument than the sword with such as shall

oppose ua upon these principles.

" To conclude, we desire to lay this import-
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wit question before you in a new light. Sup-

pose, for it is only a supposition, that this

dreadful and unnatural rebeUion, as you are

taught to call it, should be extinguished and

quashed, and every man concerned in it exe-

cuted on a scaffold; your joy, no doubt, would

be very great upon so glorious an event
;
your

addresses would then be turned into thanks-

givings,—youi parliament would then meet

and oloath your beloved sovereign with new

powers,—your standing army, which has hither-

to been looked upon as the bane of the consti-

tution, would then be consecrated as your de-

liverers; and the reverend bishops of the church

of England would be hailed from the most dis-

tant corners of the island by the glorious ap-

pellation of patriots and protectors of British

liberty. happy, thrice happy nation, who

have such an army and such a bench of bishops

ready upon tliis occasion to rescue them from

popery, and slavery, tyranny, and arbitrary

power

!

" When, indeed, the first transport of your

joy would be over,—for you are not to expect

that these halcyon days are ever to remain,

—

you might perhaps find, to your fatal experi-

ence, that the constitution of your country was

not in the least improved; and upon the return

of the unavoidable consequences of those evils

all along complained of, and which now you

have so fair an opportunity of liaving redressed,

you would at last be sensible that we were

those who, in truth, deserved the appellation

of deliverers, patriots, and protectors of the

British liberty. But this last part of our letter

is addressed oidy to such as we expect to meet

with in a field of battle, and we are hopeful

that those will prove but an inconsiderable

part of the nations of Great Britain and Ire-

land; and that you, our countrymen and

follow-subjects, upon being advised and in-

formed, as you now have been, of the whole

plan of this glorious expedition, will cheerfully

join issue with us, and sliare in the glory of

restoring our king and in setting our country

free, which, by the strength of our arm, the

assistance of our allies, and the blessing of AJ-

miglity God, we shortly expect to see accom-

plished."

\VTiilst the prince and his partizans wore

thus spreading the seeds of insurrection, and

endeavouring to improve the advantages they

had gained, the ministry of Great Britain,

aroused to a just sense of the impending danger,

took every possible measure to retard the pro-

gress of the insurrection. King George had

returned to London on the 31st of August.

He met with a cordial reception from the

nobility and gentry in the capital, and loyal

addresses were voted by all the principal cities,

and to%VTis and corporations in the kingdom.

A demand was made upon the states-general

for the 6,000 men stipidated by treaty, part of

whom were landed at Berwick the day after

Cope's defeat. Three battalions of guards, and

seven regiments of foot, were ordered home from

Flanders, and a cabinet council was held at

Kensington on the 13th of September, which

directed letters to be sent to the lords-lieuten-

ant and custodes rotulorum of the counties of

EnglandandWales to raise the militia. Marshal

Wade was despatched to the north of England

to take the command of the forces in that

quarter, and two regiments, of 1,000 each,

were ordered to be transported from Dublin to

Chester. A number of blank commissions

were, as has been before stated, sent to the

north of Scotland to raise mdependent com-

panies ; the Earl of Loudon was despatched to

Inverness to take the command, and two ships

of war were sent down with arms to the same

place.

As popery had been formerly a serviceable

bugbear to alarm the people for their religion

and liberties, some of the English bishops

issued mandates to their clergy, enjoioing

them to instil into their people " a just ab-

horrence of popery" and of arbitrary power,

both of which they supposed to be inseparably

connected ; a proceeding which formed a

singular contrast with the conduct of their

brethren, the Scottish protestant episcopal

clergy, who to a man were zealously desirous

of restoring the Stua'rts. The clergy attended

to the injunctions they had received, and their

admonitions were not without effect. Associa-

tions were speedily formed in every county,

city, and town in England, of any considera-

tion, in defence of the religion and liberties of

the nation, and all persons, of whatever rank

or degi-ee, seemed equally zealous to protect both.
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The parliament met on the 17th of October,

and was informed by his majesty that he had

been obliged to call them together sooner than

lie intended, in consequence of an unnatural

rebellion which had broken out, and was still

continued in Scotland, to suppress and extin-

guish which rebellion he craved the immediate

advice and assistance of the parliament. Both

houses voted addresses, in which they gave his

majesty the strongest assurances of duty and

affection to his person and government, and

promised to adopt measures commensurate with

the danger. The habeas corptis act was sus-

pended for six months, and several persons

were apprehended on suspicion. The Duke of

Cumberland, the king's second son, arrived

from the Netherlands shortly after the opening

of the session, and on the 25th of October a

large detachment of cavalry and infantry arrived

in the Thames from Elanders. The train-

bands of London were reviewed by his majesty

on tiie 28th; the county regiments were com-

pleted; and the persons who had associated

themselves in different parts of the kingdom

as volunteers, were daUy engaged in the exer-

cise of arms. Apprehensive of an invasion

from France, the government appointed Ad-

miral Vernon to command a squadron in the

Downs, to watch the motions of the enemy

by sea. Cruisers were stationed along the

French coast, particularly off Dunkirk and

Boulogne, which captured several ships des-

tined for Scotland with officers, soldiers, and

ammunition for the use of the insurgents.

The birth-day of George II., which fell on

the 30th of October, was celebrated throughout

the whole of England with extraordinary de-

monstrations of loyalty. Many extravagant

scenes were enacted, which, though they may

now appear ludicrous and absurd, were deemed

by the actors as deeds of the purest and most

exalted patriotism. In Scotland, however,

with one remarkable exception, the supporters

of government did not venture upon any pubHc

display. The exception alluded to was the

town of Perth, some of whose inhabitants took

possession of the church and steeple about

mid-day, and rang the bells. Ohphant of Gask,

who had been made deputy-governor of the

town by the young Chevalier, and had under

him a small party, sent to desire those who

rang the bells to desist ; but they refused to

comply, and continued ringing at intervals

untU midnight, two hours after the ordinary

time. Mr. Oliphant, with his small guard and

three or four gentlemen, posted themselves in

the council-house, in order to secure about

1,400 small arms, some ammunition, &c., be-

longing to the Higliland army, deposited there

and in the adjoining jaiL At night seven

north-country gentlemen, in the Jacobite inter-

est, came to town with their servants, and

immechately joined their friends in the council-

house : when it grew dark the mob made bon-

fires in the streets, and ordered the inhabitants

to illuminate their windows, an order which

was generally obeyed, and the few that refused

had their windows broken. About nine o'clock

at night a party sallied from the council-house,

and marching up the street to disperse the

mob, fired upon and wounded three of them.

The mob, exasperated by this attack, rushed

in upon the party, and disarmed and wounded

some of them. After this rencontre the mob
placed guards at all the gates of the town, took

possession of the main-guard and rung the flre-

beU, by which they drew together about 200

people. They thereupon sent a message to

Mr. Oliphant, requiring him to withdraw im-

mediately from the town and yield up the arms,

ammunition, &c. Mr. Oliphant having refused,

they rang the fire-bell a second time, and

hostilities commenced about two o'clock in the

morning, and continued about three hours.

The people fired at the cotmcil-house from the

heads of lanes, from behind stairs, and from

windows, so that the party within could not

look out without the greatest hazard. About

five o'clock the mob dispersed. An Iri.sh cap-

tain in the French service was killed in tlia

councU-house, and three or four of Mr. Oli-

phant's party were wounded. Of the mob,

which was without a leader, four were wounded.

To preserve order, about 60 of Lord Nairne's

men were brought into the town next day,

and these were soon thereafter joined by about

130 Highlanders.'

' A damson's Muses Threnodu, Perth ed. of 1774.

Appendi.^, No. 2, p. 165.



684 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

CHAPTER XXXIII.

A. D. 1745.

ereion:—George II.. 1727—1760.

Plan of the marcli of the rebels into England—Com-
position of the Highhmd army—Highland mode of

fighting—March of Prince Charles into England

—

Siege and capture of Carlisle—Dissension in the

Prince's council—Resignation of Lord George Mur-
ray—Proceedings of Marshal Wade—Tlie Highland
army marches south—Arrives at Manchester—The
Manchester regiment—Rebels march to Derby

—

Consternation at London—Charles's council resolve

to retreat—Charles desires to proceed to London

—

Overruled—The Clieralier's agents in France

—

French expedition under Lord John Drummond

—

His arrival and proceedings—Retreat of the High-
land army to Scotland—Skirmish at Clifton—Re-
capture of Carlisle.

When Charles's resolution to march into Eng-

land was finally agreed to by his officers, the

next thing to be determined was the route to

be taken. After some deliberation the conncLl

advised the Prince to march straight to Ber-

wick, of which town they thought he could

easUy make liimself master, and thence to

Newcastle and give battle to Marshal "Wade,

who had collected a force in the neighbour-

hood of that town. If victorious, the prince

was to march to London by the east coast, so

as to favour the disembarkation of any troops

that France might send over destined to land

on that coast. But this plan, though unani-

mously approved of, was overturned by Lord

George Murray, who was of a very different

opinion from the rest of the council. In

presence of several of the principal officers

of the army he represented the plan of a

march along the east coast as an affair of great

difficulty, and that its advantages, if it really

had any, would be more than compensated by

the loss of time it would occasion, which at

the present juncture was very precious. He
therefore proposed that the army should march

into England by the western road, and that

to conceal its route it should march in two

columns, one by Kelso and the other column by

Moffat, so that both columns could easily join

near Carlisle, on a day to be appointed. Find-

ing that Lord George's arguments had pre-

vailed with most of the officers, Charles agreed

to his scheme, though he considered the route

by Berwick as the better of the two.

'

' Krrlccminr'l MS. Lord George Jlurray's Narrative,

in Jacobite Memoirs, p. 47.

Preparatory to their march the insurgents

removed their camp to a strong position to the

west of Dalkeith, six miles south of Edinburgh,

having that town on their left, the South Esk

In front, the Nortli Esk in their rear, with an

opening on their right towards Polton. From

this camp a detachment was sent with three

pieces of cannon to secure the pass of the Forth

above Stirling, lest Lord Loudon should marcli

south with the independent companies he was

forming, and attempt to force the passage.^

On the evening of Thursday the 31st of

October, Prince Ch.arles finally left Holyroorl

House accompanied by his life-guards, and

several of the clan-regiments, amid the regrets

of a vast concourse of spectators, most of whom
were never to see him again. He slept that

night at Pinkie House, and went next morning

to Dalkeith, and took up his quarters in Dal-

keith House, the seat of the Duke of Bucoleuch.

On that day he was joined by the clan Pherson,

under the command of their chief, Macpherson

of Cluny, by Menzies of Shien and liis men,

and some small parties of Higlilanders, amount-

ing altogether to between 900 and 1,000 men.

At this period the state of the insurgent

army was as foUows. Of cavalry, the first troop

of horse-guards, which was commanded by

Lord Elcho, consisted of 62 gentlemen mth
their servants, under 5 officers. It amounted

in aU to 120. The second troop, which was

commanded by the honourable Arthur Elphiu-

stone, afterwards Lord Balmerino, was not

complete, and did not exceed 40 horse. A
smaU squadron, called the horse-grenadiers,

was commanded by the Earl of Kilmarnock,

with which were incorporated some Perthshire

gentlemen, in absence of Lord Strathallan their

commander, who had been appointed governor

of Perth and commander of the Jacobite forces

in Scotland during the stay of the Highland

army in England. These last united, amounted

to nearly 100. Lord Pitsligo was at the head

of the Aberdeen and Banffshire gentlemen,

who, with their servants, amounted to about

120; and besides those enumerated, there was

a party of between 70 and 80 hussars, under

the nominal command of Secretary Murray as

colonel, but in reality under the direction of

- Kirkcnnnel -US.
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one Baggot, an Irish officer, who had lately

arrived from France. The infantry, all of

whom wore the Higliland garb, consisted of

thirteen battalions or regiments, six of which

consisted of the clans, properly so called; of

these six regiments, three were of the Macdon-

alds, and the other three were each composed

of the Camerons, the Stewarts of Apptn, ami

the Macphersons. Tliree regiments of Atholo

men, commonly called the Athole brigade, the

regiments of the Duke of Perth, Lord OgUvy,

Glenbucket, and Roy Stewart, made up the

thirteen regiments.' Of the infantry, whicli

amounted to about 5,000 men, about 4,000

were real Highlanders. Thus the total amount

of the army did not exceed 6,000 men.*

The clan-regiments, according to custom,

were commanded by their respective chiefs;

but in some instances, in the absence of the

cliief, the regiment of the clan was commanded

by Ids son, and failing both, by the nearest

kinsman of the cliief. In these regiments

every company had two captains, two lieuten-

ants, and two ensigns, aU of whom were gener-

ally related, by ties of blood, to the chief.

Tlie pay of a captain in the army was half-a-

crown per diem; that of a lieutenant two

shillings; and of an ensign one shilling ami

sixpence. The front rank of each clan-regi-

ment was composed of persons who were con-

sidered gentlemen by birth, though without

' Kirlcconnd MS.
* The Highland army about the middle of Novem-

ber, according to a list then published, was thus com-
posed :—

Colonels, Men.

Cameron, yonngerofLochiel, 740
Stewart of Ardshiel, . 360
Lord George Murray, . 1,000
Macdonald, yr. of Clanranald, 200
"' " "

400

200
500
427

Reginunts.

Lochiel,

Appin,
Athole,

Clanranald,

Keppoch,
Glencoe,

Ogilvy,

Glenbucket,

Perth,

Robertson,

Maclauchlan,

Glencairnook,

Naime,
Edinburgh,
Several small corps,

Horse,

Horse,

Macdonald of Keppoch,
Macdonald of Glencoe,

Lord Ogilvy,

Gordon of Glenbucket,

I Duke of Perth (including ) .^n
i Pitsligo's foot),

(

'''"

Robertson of Strowan, . 200
Maclauchlan of Maclauchlan, 260
Macgregor of Glencairnock, 300
Lord Naime, . . 200
John Roy Stewart, . 450

1,000

Lord Elcbo,

I Lord Kilmarnock,
Lord Pitsligo's,

The numbers, however, are overrated.

fortune or means. The pay of these was one

shilling per diem. The gentlemen in the front

rank were better armed than the men in the

roar rank. AU the former had targets, which

many of the latter had not. When fully

armed, as was generally the case, every gentle-

man of the front rank carried a musket and

broadsword, with a pair of pistols and a du'k

stuck in the belt which surrounded his body.

In some rare instances another dagger was

stuck witliin the garter of the right leg, to be

used in cases of emergency. A target, formed

of wood and leather thickly studded with nails,

covered the left arm, and enabled the wearer

to parry and protect himself from the shots or

blows of an assadant.

Thus armed, the success of a Higliland army

depended more upon individual bravery than

upon combined efforts, and their manner of

fighting was, as the Chevalier Joluistone ob-

serves, adapted for brave but undisciplined

troops. " They advance," says that writer,

" with rapidity, discharge their pieces when

\vithin musket length of the enemy, and then,

tlirowing them down, draw their swords, and

holding a dirk in their left hand with their

target, they dart with fury on the enemy

through the smoke of their fire. When within

reach of the enemy's bayonets, bending their

left knee, they, by their attitude, cover their

bodies with their targets that receive their

thrusts of the bayonets, which they contrive to

parry, while at the same time they raise their

sword-arm, and strike their adversary. Having

once got within the bayonets, and into the

ranks of the enemy, the soldiers have no longer

any means of defending themselves, the fate of

the battle is decided in an instant, and the

carnage follows; the Higlilanders bringing

down two men at a time, one with their dirk

in the left hand, and another with the swortL

The reason assigned by the Highlanders for

their custom of tlirowing their muskets on the

ground is not without its force. They say tlioy

embarrass them in their operations, even when

slung beliind them, and on gaining a battle

they can pick them up along with the arms of

their enemies; but if they should be beaten,

they have no occasion for muskets. The}'

themselves proved that bravery may supply

the place of discipline at times, as discipline

4 E
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supplies the place of bravery. The attack is so

terrible, that the best troops in Europe -would

with difficulty sustain the first shock of it; and

if the swords of the Higlilanders once come in

contact with them, their defeat is inevitable."^

In entering upon such a desperate enterprise

as the invasion of England -with the handfid

of men he had mustered, Charles certainly

must have calculated on being supported by a

large party in that country. Indeed, his chief

reason for urging such a step was the numerous

assurances he alleged he had received from his

friends in that kingdom, that he would be

joined by a very con.siderable body of tlie

people; but there seems reason to believe, that,

in his expectations of support, he was guided

almost solely by the reports of his agents, and

tliat he had very little communication with any

of the parties on whose support he relied.® In

a memoir^ which the prince presented to the

King of France on his return from Scotland,

he states, that, if after the battle of Preston he

had had 3,000 regular troops under his com-

mand, in addition to his other forces, he could

have penetrated into England, and marched to

London, without opposition, as none of the

Enghsh troops which were on the continent

had arrived; but the case was now widely dif-

ferent, and ^vithout a general rising, it was next

to impossible to succeed in the face of a large

regular army, which was assembling at different

points, supported by a numerous mOitia.

Pursuant to the plan of Lord George Murray,

the advanced guard of the first division of the

army left Dalkeith on the evening of Friday

the 1st of November, and took the road to

Peebles. The main body, consisting of the

' Memoirs, p. 113.
^ Letters from Jloor and Smart, two of the agents

of the Chevalier de St. George, will be found among
the Stuart Papers. Smart held an appointment in

the London post-office, and is often aUuded to in the

correspondence between Sempil and Drummond of

Bochaldj', and the Chevalier, as tlieir "post-office cor-

respondent." Sm.irt was furnished with a list of the

addresses, under which the correspondence between

the Chevalier's agents on the continent, and their

friends in England, was carried on, and, as his duty

appears to have been to examine all letters passing

thrnufh the post-office, he passed the letters to such

addresses without examination. When he found any

letters from abroad, giving information to the govern-

ment about the Jacobite party, he always burnt them.

—Letter from Drummond to the Chevalier de St.

George, 19th October, 1745, among the Slmrt Papers.

' SlvMrt Papers.

Duke of Perth.—From original in possession of Sir

William Dmmmond Steuart, Bart, of Grandtully.

Athole brigade, the Duke of Perth's regiment,

the regiments of Lord Ogilvy, Glenbucket, and

Roy Stewart, and the greater part of the horse

followed next day. The artillery and baggage

were sent along with this column. Tliis divi-

sion was under the command of the Marquis

of Tullibardine. The second division, which

consisted of the life-guards and the clan regi-

ments, headed by the prince in person, marched

from Dalkeith on the 3d of November in the

direction of Kelso. The guards formed the

van, and the prince marched on foot at the

head of the clans with his target over his

shoulder. It was supposed that he would have

moimted his horse after proceeding a mile or

two ; but, to the surprise of every person, he

marched on foot the whole day, and continued

the same practice during the whole of the ex-

petUtion, wading through mud and snow, and

it was with difficulty that he could be prevailed

upon to get on horseback, even to cross a river.

The example he thus set to his men, joined to

the condescension and affability he displayed,

endeared him to the army. Charles arrived at

Lauder the same night, and took up his resi-

dence in Thirlstane castle, the seat of the Earl

of Lauderdale.
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After despatching part of liis men by a

middle course towards Selkirk and Hawick,

the prince next day marched to Kelso. As
Marshal Wade was supposed to be on his way

north from Newcastle, Charles sent his life-

guards across the Tweed, not so much for tlie

purpose of reconnoitring, as for amusing tlie

enemy. After advancing several miles on the

road to Newcastle, they halted at a vUlage, and

made some inquiries as to quarters and accom-

modation for the army, which they stated was

on its march to Newcastle. Charles even sent

orders to Wooler, a town on the road to New-

castle, to provide quarters for his army. The

design was to keep Wade in suspense, and

draw off his attention from the movements of

the Highland army upon Carlisle. Wliile at

Kelso, Charles sent a party of between 30 and

40 men across the Tweed, to proclaim his father

upon English ground. Having performed the

ceremony, they returned to Kelso.^ The prince

remained at Kelso till the 6th of November,

on the morning of which day he crossed the

Tweed. The river was scarcely fordable, but

the men were in high spirits, and when up to

the middle in the water, they expressed the

ardour they felt by setting up a loud shout and

discharging their pieces.' After crossing the

river, the prince turned to the left, and marched

towards Jedburgh, where he arrived in a few

hours.

As his next route lay through a dreary waste

of considerable extent, he halted at Jedburgh

for the night, to refresh his men, and departed

early next morning. Marching up Eide water,

Charles led his men into Liddisdale over the

Knot o' the Gate, and after a fatiguing march

of about twenty-five miles, arrived at Haggie-

haugh upon Liddel water, where he slept.

Charles marched down Liddel water on the

follo^ving day, being Friday the 8th of Novem-

ber, and entered England in the evening.

Wlien crossing the border, the Highlanders

drew their swords, and gave a hearty huzza;

but a damp came over their spirits, on learning

tliat Lochiel had cut his hand in the act of un-

sheatliing his sword, an occurrence which the

Highlanders superstitiously regarded as a bad

omen.i Charles lay at Reddings in Cumber-

' itarchant, p. 161. » Kirkronnel MS.
' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 455.

land that night. The division belonging to

the prince's column, consisting of horse, which

liad taken the middle route by Hawick and

Langholm, reached Longtown the same day.

Wliile the eastern division was thus moving

in a circuitous direction to the appointed place

of rendezvous near Carlisle, the western column,

which started on the road to Peebles, was fol-

lowing a more direct route, by Moffat and down
Annandale. This division entered England

near Longtown. On the 9th of November,

Charles marched with his division to Rowcliff,

four miles below Carhsle, where he crossed the

river Eden, and quartered his men in the vil-

lages on the west side of the city. In the

afternoon, Charles was joined by the greater

part of the other division, under the Marquis

of TuUibardine. This march was judiciously

planned, and was executed with such precision,

that scarcely two hours elapsed between the

arrival of the two main divisions at the ap-

pointed place of rendezvous. The march, ac-

cording to the Chevalier Johnstone, resembled

on a small scale that of Marshal Saxe, a few

years before, when he advanced to lay siege to

Maestri cht.

The plan for deceiving Marshal Wade suc-

ceeded so well, that that commander, who had
now an army of 11,000 men under him, had
no idea that the Higldand army was marcliing

on Carlisle, and accordingly directed his whole

attention to the protection of Newcastle. Such
was the secrecy with which the motions of the

army were conducted, that, with the exception

of Charles and his principal officers, no person

knew its real destination.^ On arriving in the

neighboiu-hood of Carlisle, desertion had dimin-

ished the prince's army by some hundreds.

Tlie city of Carlisle, the capital of Cumber-

land, had formerly been a place of great

strength, and had, during the wars between

England and Scotland, been considered one of

the keys of England on the side of the latter

;

but since the union of the crowns, its fortifica-

tions had been allowed to fall into decay. It

was surrounded by walls flanked with towers,

and a fosse or ditch. The city was protected

by a castle on the north-west, supposed to be

as old as the time of William EvJiis, and by a

' Johnstone's Memairs, p. 56.
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citadel on tlie south-east, erected in the reign

of Henry the Eightk The castle, on the pre-

sent occasion, was well furnished with artUlery,

and was gan-isoned by a company of invalids

;

but. like the city, its fortifications were not in

good repair. To aid the inhabitants in defend-

ing the city, the whole mUitia of Cumberland

and Westmoreland had been assembled -svithin

its walls.

AVTien approaching the city on the 9tli, a

party of the prince's horse advanced to Stan-

wix Bank, a small hUl near Carlisle, to recon-

noitre; but they were forced to retire by a few

shots from the castle. The whole of the army

having passed the Eden next day, Charles pro-

ceeded to invest the city on all sides. One of

his parties, in marching round from the Irisli

to the English gate, was fired upon both from

the castle and the town, but did not sustain

any loss. Having completed the investment,

the prince, about noon, sent a letter to the

mayor of the city, requiring him to open its

gates, and allow the army to enter in a peace-

able manner; promising, in case of compliance,

to protect the city from insult, but threatenmg

an assaidt in the event of a refusal The prince

stated, tliat should an assault be made, he

might not have it in his power to prevent the

dreadfid consequences which usually befall a

city captured in that way. An answer was re-

quired within two hours, but none was given,

and a discharge of cannon from the besieged an-

noimced their determination to hold out. In

consequence of this reception, the trendies

were opened at night, under the orders of the

Duke of Perth, at the distance of eighty yards

from the walls. Mr. Grant, an Irish officer,

of Lally's regiment, who had lately arrived

from France, and who was an experienced

engineer, ably avading himself of some ditches,

approached close to the city without suffering

from the fire of the besieged. The artillerj'

consisted of sis Swedish field pieces, which

had been received from France, and of the

pieces which had been taken at Preston.'

Having received intelligence that Marshal

"Wade was advancing from Newcastle to re-

lieve Carlisle, and that he had already arrived at

Hexham, Charles resolved to meet him on some

' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 57.

of the hilly grounds between Newcastle and Car-

lisle. Leaving, therefore, a sufficient force to

blockade Carlisle, he departed Avith the remain-

der of the army on the morning of the 1 Itli, and

reached "Warwick castle about ten o'clock. He
then despatched Colonel Ker -ivith a party of

horse, in the direction of Hexham, to recon-

noitre, and ordered his men to take up their

quarters for the night. Ker having ascertained

that the news of Wade's march was false, re-

turned to Brampton, and made his report.

After waiting two days at Brampton without

hearing any thing of Wade, a council of war was

held, at which several opinions were offered.

One opinion, in which Charles concurred, was

that the army should advance to Newcastle,

and give battle to Wade. Some of the council

thought that this would be a dangerous step;

for even were they to defeat the marshal, his

army might take refuge in Newcastle, wliich it

was vain for them to tliink of taking, as, besides

the strength of the place, the army had lost

many men upon its march. Others were for

returning to Scotland till joined by a greater

body of their friends ; but Lord George Murray

opposed all these views, and proposed, that

while one part of the party should besiege and

blockade Carlisle, the other should remain at

Brampton. The Duke of Perth seconded tLiis

opinion, and offered to undertake the charge

of the battery, if Lord George woidd take tfie

command of the blockade. The council hav-

ing all agreed to Lord George's proposal, six of

the Lowland regiments were sent to blockade

the to^vn, besides the Duke of Perth's, which

was to be employed on the battery.*

Whilst the main body of the army was at

Brampton, the party left before the city occu-

pied themselves in cutting down wood in

Corby and Warwick parks, witli which they

made scaling-ladders, fascines, and carriages.

On the 13th, about noon, the regiments ap-

pointed for the blockade and siege of the city

re-appeared before it. Lord George Muriay

took up his quarters at Harbery, and posted

his men in the villages around the city to stop

all communication with it. The besieging

party broke ground in the evening within

musket-shot of the walls, about half-way be-

* Lord George Murray's Narrative, Jacobite Mt-
mairs. pt>. 47, 48.
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tween the English and Scotch gates. * A con-

Btaat firing was kept up from tlie city; but as

these operations were carried on under cloud

of night, the party in the trenches received no

injury. Having completed their battery, the

besiegers brought up all tlieir cannon, con-

sisting of thirteen pieces, to play upon the to\vn.

Next morning the fire from the garrison was re-

newed, but with little effect, and the besiegers,

instead of returning the fire, held up their bon-

nets on the end of their spades in derision. ^

Alarmed by the preparations of the High-

landers, and the state of affairs ^vithin the city,

a meeting of the inhabitants was held, at which

it was resolved to surrender the town. For

seven days the garrison of the city, kept in

constant alarm by the Highlanders, had scarcely

enjoyed an hour's continued repose; and wliile

many of the men had, from illness, absolutely

refused to assist any longer in the defence

of the city, numbers were hourly leaving it

clandestmely by slipping over the walls; so

that in several cases the officers of some com-

panies had not more than three or four men left.

In tliis state of matters the oidy alternative was

K surrender; and as a crisis appeared to be at

hand, a white flag was e.xliibited from the

walls, and a messenger despatched to the Duke

of Perth to request terms. His Grace sent an

express to Brampton to know tlie prince's

pleasure; but his Royal Highness refused to

grant any terms to the city unless the castle

surrendered at the same time. At the request

of the mayor, a cessation of arms was granted

till next day; but before the time expired.

Colonel Durand, the commander of the castle,

agreed to surrender the fortress along with the

town. The conditions were, that the liberties

and properties of the inhabitants, and all the

privileges of the town, should be preserved

inviolate;—that both garrisons, on taking an

oath not to serve against the house of Stuart

for one year, should be allowed to retire,—and

that all the arms and ammunition in the castle

and the city, and all the horses belonging to

the militia, should be delivered up to the

prince. This capitulation was signed by the

Didve of Perth and Colonel Durand on the

night of the 14tL'

' Locklmrt Pupers, vol. ii. p. 493,
' Kirkconnel MK

Kay, 96.

Next morning at ten o'clock the Duke of

Perth entered the city at the head of his regi-

ment, and was followed by the other regiments

at one o'clock in the afternoon. The castle,

however, was not given up tiU next morning.

The Duke of Perth shook hands with the men
of the garrison, told them they were brave

fellows, and offered them a large bounty to

enlist in the service of the prince. * The mayor

and his attendants went to Brampton, and de-

livered the keys of the city to the prince.^

The duke foimd 1,000 stand of arms in the

castle, besides those of the militia. He also

found 200 good horses in the city, and a large

quantity of valuable effects in the castle, which

had been lodged there by the gentry of the

neighbourhood for safety, i

On the day following the surrender, the

Chevaher de St. George was proclaimed in the

city with the usual formalities; and, to give

greater eclat to the ceremony, the mayor and

aldermen were compelled to attend with the

sword and mace carried before tliem. Along

with the manifestoes formerly noticed, another

declaration for England, dated from Rome, 23d

December, 174.3, was also read, of much the

same tenor as the others.

After the Chevalier had been proclaimed,

and the chfferent manifestoes read, the corpo-

ration went out to meet the prince, who entered

tlie city under a general salute of artdlery."

In many points of view the capture of Car-

lisle would have been of great importance to

the prince, if he had been strong enough to

have availed himself of the state of terror which

that event, and his subsequent advance into

the very heart of England, had thrown the

people of that kingdom; but his means were

soon found quite inadequate to accomplish his

end. Even if his resources had been much
greater than ever they were, it seems doubtful

whether the jealousies and dissensions, which,

at an early period, began to distract his coun-

cils, woidd not have rendered aU his exertions,

for obtaining the great object of his ambition,

unavailable.

The oi-iffo mali, the source of the discord,

and all the misfortunes, as the Jacobites would

say, that flowed from it, are attributed by an

' Marclmnt, p. 169.
' Marchaut, p. 169.

' Boyse, p. 100.

Kay, p. 99. Boyse, p. lo>„
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individual' who had good opportunities of

judging, and whose narrative appears to be

impartial, to " the unbounded ambition of

Secretary Murray, who from the beginning

aimed at nothing less than the whole direction

and management of every thing. To this pas-

sion he sacrificed what chance there was of a

restoration, though that was the foundation on

which all his hopes were built. He had an

opportunity of securing the prince's favour

long enough before he could be rivalled. He
was almost the only personal acquaintance the

prince found iu Scotland. It was he that had

engaged the prince to make this attempt upon

so sKght a foundation, and the wonderful suc-

cess that had hitherto attended it was placed

to bis account. The Duke of Perth, whose

character indeed was well known to the prince,

judging of Murray's heart by his o\\ti, enter-

tained the highest opinion of his integrity,

went readily into all his schemes, and confirmed

the prince in the esteem he had already con-

ceived for Murray. After Mr. Kelly was gone,

there was only Sir Thomas Sheridan and Mr.

Sullivan, of those that had come along with the

prince that had any thing to say with him, and

these Murray had gained entirely. Lord George

Murray was the man the secretary dreaded most

as a rival. Lord George's birth, age, capacity,

and experience, would naturally give liim

great advantage over the secretary; but the

secretary had got the start of him, and was

determined to stick at nothing to maintain his

ground.

" He began by representing Lord George as

a traitor to the prince. He assured him that

he had joined on purpose to have an oppor-

tunity of delivering him up to the government.

It was hardly possible to guard agamst this

imposture. The prince had the highest opin-

ion of his secretary's integrity, and knew Little

of Lord George Murray, so the calumny had

its full effect. Lord George soon came to know

the suspicion the prince had of liim, and was

affected as one may easily enough imagine. To

be sure, nothing could be more shocking to a

man of honour, and one that was now for the

third time venturing his life and fortune for

the royal cause. The prince was partly unde-

' Maxwell of Kiikconnel.

ceived by Lord George's gallant behaviour at

the battle [of Preston], and had Lord George

improved that opportunity he might have per-

haps gained the prince's favour, and got the

better of the secretary ; but his haughty and

overbearing manner prevented a thorough

reconciliation, and seconded the maUce and

malicious insinuations of his rival. Lord

George did not altogether neglect making his

court. Upon some occasions he was very

obsequious and respectful, but had not tem-

per to go through with it. He now and

then broke out into such violent sallies,

as the prince could not digest, though the

situation of his affairs forced him to bear with

them.

" The secretary's station and favour had at-

tached to him such as were confident of success,

and had nothing in view but making their for-

times. Nevertheless, Lord George had greater

weight and influence in the councO, and gener-

ally brought the majority over to his opinion,

which so irritated the ambitious secretary, that

he endeavoured all he could to give the prince

a bad impression of the council itself, and

engaged to lay it entirely aside. He had like

to have prevailed at Carlisle, but the councU

was soon resumed, and continued ever after

to be held upon extraordinary emergencies. It

was not in this particular only that Murray's

ambition was detrimental to the prince's affairs.

Though he was more jealous of Lord George

^lurray than of any body, Lord George was not

the only person he dreaded as a rivaL There

were abundance of gentlemen in the army, in

no respect inferior to Air. Murray, but his early

favour gave him an opportunity of excluding

most of them from the prince's presence and

acquaintance. All those gentlemen that joined

the prince after Murray were made known

under the character he thought fit to give of

them, and all employments about the prince's

person, and many in the army, were of his

nomination. These he filled with such as, he

had reason to tliink, would never thwart his

measures, but be content to be his tools and

creatiires without aspiring higher. Thus some

places of the greatest trust and importance were

given to little insignificant feUows, while there

were abundance of gentlemen of figure and

merit, that had no employment at all, and who
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might have been of great use had they been

properly emplcyed."*

Tin the siege of Carlisle, Secretary Murray

had been able to disguise his jealousy of Lord

Greorge Murray, who, from his high military

attainments, had been able hitherto to rule the

council ; but, on that occasion, the secretary

displayed his hostility openly, and Lord George

thereupon resigned his command as one of the

lieutenant-generals of the army. The circum-

stances which led to the resignation of Lord

George were these. It appears that, before the

blockading party left Brampton, he desired

Charles to give him some idea of the terms his

royal highness would accept of from Carlisle,

not with the view of obtaining powers to con-

clude a eapitidation, but merely to enable him

to adjust the terms according to the prince's

intentions, and thereby save a gi'eat deal of

time. Charles not being able to come to any

resolution before Lord George's departure, his

lordship begged of him to send his instructions

after him, that he might know how to conduct

himself in the event of an offer of surrender

by the city ; but the secretary interposed, and

told Lord George plainly, that he considered

the terms of eapitidation as a matter within

his province, and with which Lord George had

no right to interfere.^ Lord George has not

communicated the answer he gave to Murray on

this occasion. The part of the army destined

for the blockade, though willing to take their

turn along with the rest of the army, was

averse to bear the whole burden of it. Their

commander was aware of this feeling, and, in

a letter written to his brother, the Marquis of

Tidlibardine, from his head-quarters at Har-

bery, on the 14th of November, proposed a

plan which he thought would satisfy both

parties. After alluding to the indefatigable

exertions of the Duke of Perth, who had him-

self wrought in the trenches to encourage his

men to erect tlie battery, and the great diffi-

culties he had to encounter from the nature of

the ground. Lord George requested the marquis

to represent to the prince, that the men engaged

on the blockade would not expose themselves

either in trenches or in the open air within

cannon shot, or even within musket shot of

Kirkcoiinel MS. Jacobite Memoirs, ji. 49.

the town, but by turns T\-ith the rest of the

army; and he proposed that it should be

decided by lot who should mount guard the

first night, second night, and so on. To carry

the views of liis men into effect. Lord Georgo

proposed the following plan, subject to the

approval of a council of war, viz., that 50 men
should be draughted out of each of the bat-

taHons that remained at Brampton, with proper

officers, and at least two majors out of the six

battalions ; and that these should be sent to

Butcherly, within a mile of the battery ; and

that as 150 men might be a sufficient guard

for the battery, the six battalions woidd in

this way furnish two guards, in addition to

which, he proposed that two additional guards

should be draughted, one from the Athole

brigade, and the other from General Gordon's

and Lord Ogilvy's regiments; and, by the time

these four guards had served in rotation, he

reckoned that the city would be taken, or the

blockade removed. A council of war was held

at Brampton upon this proposal, wliich came

to the resolution, that as soon as the whole

body forming the blockade had taken their

turn as guards, the division of the army at

Brampton shoidd occupy its place, and form

the blockade, but that no detachments should

be sent from the different corps; nor did the

council think it fair to order any such, as these

corps had had all the fatigue and danger of the

blockade of Edmburgh. ^

Such were the circumstances which preceded

the resignation of Lord George Murray, who,

in a letter to Prince Charles dated the 15th of

November, threw up his commission, assigning

as his reason the little weight which his advice,

as a general officer, had vnih his royal high-

ness. He, however, stated, that as he had

ever had a firm attacliment to the house of

Stuart, " and in particular to the king," he

would serve as a volunteer, and that it was his

design to be that night in the trenches. In a

letter, which he wrote the same day to the

Marquis of Tullibardine, he stated that he was

constantly at a loss to know what was going

on in the army, and that he was determined

never again to act as an officer; but that as a

volunteer, he would show that no man wished

' Jacobite Memoirs, pp. 49—50.
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Tsetter to tlie cause, and that lie would do all

in his power to advance the service. At the

request of the marquis, who informed Lord

George that Charles wished to see him, Lord

George waited upon the prince, who appears

to have received him dryly. On being informed

by Lord George, that he had attended in con-

sequence of a message from the prince, Charles

denied that he had required his attendance,

and told liim that he had nothing particular to

say to him. His lordship then repeated his

offer to serve as a volunteer. Charles told him

he might do so, and here the conversation

ended. In a conversation which took place

afterwards, between Lord George and Sir

Thomas Sheridan, the former entered into some

details, to show that in his station, as lieuten-

ant-general, he had had no authority, and that

others had usurped the office of general, by

using the name of the prince. He complained

that, while he was employed in the drudgery,

every thing of moment was done without his

knowledge or advice. He concluded by ob-

serving, that he had ventured his all,—life,

fortune, and family,—in short, every thing but

Ids honour,—that, as to the last, he had some

to lose, but none to gain, in the way things

were managed, and that, therefore, he had

resolved upon serving in a humble capacity.
''

There appears to be no foundation for the

statement* that Lord George resigned his com-

mission from a dislike to serve under the Duke

of Perth, whom ho never mentions but with

respect, although he was much inferior to Lord

George in abdity. He has also been accused

of arrogance both to those of his o\vn rank and

even to the prince. But as Burton'' well re-

marks, " men of abUity like Murray, unless

they preserve a rigid restraint, are apt to let

the contempt they feel for the silly people they

are embarked with become unreasonably appa-

rent, especially when they are interrupted in

their plans by those who do not understand

them." The Duke of Perth, who was a Roman
Catholic, on its being represented to him that

it might injure the prince's cause to have at

the head of the army one of his persuasion,

cheerfully resigned his commission. On this.

Lord George, with whose valuable services the

armj' could not dispense, was persuaded to

assume his command. He thus became virtu-

ally general of the army, under the prince; for

his brother, TuUibardine, who was in a bad

state of health, took nothing upon him. ^

Although Marshal Wade must have been

duly apprised of the arrival of the Highland

army in England, yet it was not until he had

received inteUigence of their march to Bramp-

ton, and of their probable advance upon New-

castle, that he began to move. He set out

from Newcastle on the 16th of November, the

day after the surrender of Carlisle; but a deep

snow, which had just fallen, so retarded his

march, that his army did not reach Ovington

tin eight o'clock that night. Nest day he

advanced to Hexham, where the first column

of his army arrived about four o'clock in the

afternoon; but the rear did not get up tiU near

midnight. The army, unable to proceed farther

on account of the snow, encamped on a moor

near the town, and the men were provided

with a sufficient quantity of straw to repose

upon by tha iiihabitants, who kindled large

fires all over the ground to protect the troops

from the cold, which was unusually severe.

At Hexham, Wade \*as informed of the reduc-

tion of Carlisle. He remained there three days

in the expectation of a thaw; but the road to

Carhsle continuing impassable, he returned to

Newcastle, which he reached on the 22d of

November. 2 The conduct of Marshal Wade,

in delaying his march from Newcastle, has

been justly censured, for there can be no doubt

that had he made a movement in advance upon

Carlisle about the time the insurgents marched

to Brampton, that town would have been saved.

The sudden and unexpected success which

had attended Charles's, arms in England, spread

a general alarm through all the northern and

western parts of that kingdom, and extended

even to the capital itself. Such was the alter-

nation of hope and fear in the minds of the

people of all classes, that whilst the most

trilling article of good news led them to in-

dulge in the most extravagant manifestations

of joy, the smallest reverse of fortune plunged

them into the most abject distress. Sir An-

drew Mitchell, alluding to this circumstance in

' Jacobite Me.TJwirs, p. 52.

» Hcutla-iui, (1689—17

' Kirhonnd MS.
7} vol. u. p. 47(3. Kirkc(mncl MS^ Boyse, p. 101.
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a letter to Presideut Forbes, says, that if lie

had not lived long enougli in England to know

the natural bravery of the people, he should

have formed a very false opinion of them from

their demeanour at the period in question. ^

As soon as the news of the surrender of

Carlisle was known in London, the government

resolved to assemble an army of 10,000 men

in Staffordshire, under Sir John Ligonier, an

officer of considerable military experience. For

this purpose, Sir John left London on the 21st

of November, taking along with him nine old

battalions, two regiments of dragoons, and part

of his own regiment of horse. In addition to

this and the other army under AVade, a third

army, to be placed under the immediate com-

mand of his majesty, was ordered to be raised,

and encamped in the vicinity of London for

its protection. The city and castle of Chester

were put in a proper state of defence, and the

to-\vn of Liverpool raised a regiment of 700

men, who were clothed and maintained at the

expense of the inhabitants.

When mustered at Carlisle, the prince's array

amounted only to about 4,500 men.* The idea

of marching to London and overturning the

government with such a force, in the face of

three armies and a numerous militia, amount-

ing in aU to upwards of 60,000 men, could

scarcely have been entertained by any adven-

turer, however sanguine his hopes may have

been ; but Charles was so fidl of liis object, that

he shut his eyes to the great difficulties of the

enterprise, which he imagined would be sur-

mounted by the tried valour of his troops, and

the junction of a considerable party in England

devoted to his cause.

To determine upon the course to be next

pursued, Charles called a council of war a few

days after the capture of Carlisle, in which dif-

ferent opinions were maintained. As there

was no appearance of either an invasion from

I'rance, or an insurrection in Fjigland, some of

the members proposed returning to Scotland,

where a defensive war coidd be carried on tiU

such time as the prince should be in a condi-

tion to resume offensive operations. Others

^ Culloden Papers, p. 255.
* The Chevalier Johnstone says it did not exceed

4,500; and Maxwell of Kirkconnel, that it amounted
to 4,400.

I.

were for remaining at Carlisle, and quartering

the army in the neighbourhood till they saw

whether there shoidd be any indications of a

rismg in England. A third party proposed

that they should march to Newcastle and en-

gage Wade's army. A fourth, that the army

should continue its route to London by the

west or Lancaslure road, in support of which

opinion they urged, that being now in pos-

session of Carlisle, they had, at the worst, a

safe retreat. This last proposal being quite

in accordance with the prince's o\vn senti-

ments, he declared that his opinion of marching

dii-ectly to London, in terms of the resolution

entered into at Edinburgh, was in no respect

altered since he entered England. Lord George

Murray, who had hitherto remained sUent, was

then desired by the prince to give liis opinion.

His lordship entered at some length into the

question; stated the advantages and disadvan-

tages of each of the different opinions ; and

concluded, by observing, that for himself he

could not venture to advise his royal higlmess

to march far into England, without receiving

more encouragement from the country than he

had hitherto got; but he was persuaded, that if

his royal highness was resolved to make a trial

of what could be expected, and would march

south, his army, though small, would follow

him. After Lord George had done speaking,

Charles immediately said he would venture the

trial. In giving his opinion. Lord George says

he spoke with the more caution, in consequence

of the recent circumstances which had led to

his resignation.^

As a considerable number of men had been

collected at Perth since the prince's departure

from Scotland, and more were on their way

thither from the north, Charles, before leaving

Carlisle for the south, sent Maclauchlan of

Maclauchlan to Scotland with an order to Lord

StrathaUan, to march with all the forces under

his command, and join the army in England;

but this order was disregarded.

Wliilst encamped at Duddingston, the High-

landers preferred sleeping in the open air, and

had \vith difficulty been prevailed upon to use

the tents which had been captured at Preston

and those provided at Edinburgh. These tenta

' Lord George Murray's Nan-ative, Jacobite Memoirs,

p. 48. Home's Rebellion, p. 1 43.
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were packed up for the campaign in England:

hut the party, to whose care they were intrusted,

most unaccountably left the whole of them at

Lockerhy along with other baggage. The

whole, cousistLQg of thirty cart-loads, were cap-

tured by a party of country people, who carried

them to Dumfries. After the surrender of

Carlisle, Lochiel went with a party to reclaim

the baggage, failing which, he was ordered to

exact £2,000 from the town ; but before he

reached Dumfries he was recalled. The army,

therefore, being now without tents, and the

season very severe, it was resolved so to arrange

the order of march as to get the men accom-

modated in the towns. For this purpose, it

was determuied that one part of the army

.should precede the other by a day's march, the

second di^^sion always occupjang the quarters

vacated by the first; but that, where the coun-

try would admit of it, there should be only

half-a-day's march betwixt them.^

lu accordance mth this plan, the first divi-

sion, commanded by Lord George Murray, left

Carlisle on the 20th of November. It con-

sisted, with the exception of the Duke of

Perth's regiment, which being appointed to

guard the thii'teen cannon and ammunition,

was not included in either division, of the

whole of the low country regiments," six in

number, with the life-guards imder Lord Elcho,

who marched at the head of the division. Each

of these regiments led the van in its turn.

This division reached Penrith the same day,

having performed a march of eighteen miles.

The second division, consisting of the clan

regiments and the remainder of the cavalry,

headed by the prince in person, left Carlisle

next day, and arrived at Penrith that night,

and entered the quarters occupied by the first

division , which marched the same day to Shap,

where it passed the night.' In the march of

' Kirkeonnel MS.
^ So called, to distinguish them from the clan regi-

ments, though the greater part were Highlanders, and

wore the Highland garb, which was indeed the dress

o'the whole army.

—

Idem.
' Charles, during his stay at Carlisle, lived in the

house of a Mr. Hymer, an attorney, to whom he paid

twenty guineas, being five guineas per diem, for the

use of his house, as noted in the prince's household

hook, published in the Jacobite Memoirs. James Gib,

his master of household, appears to have grudged

Charles's liberality, as he observes that Hymer fur-

nished nothing, not even coal or candle; and, niore-

the prince's division the cavalry always marched

at its head, and each of the clan regiments led

the van by turns, agreeably to the plan observed

by the division under Lord George Murray.

A garrison of about 200 men was left in Car-

lisle under the command of one Hamilton, who
had been made deputy-governor under the

Duke of Perth, on whom the governorship had

been conferred.'

On reaching Penrith, Charles, for the first

time, heard of the march of Wade from New-
castle, and of his arrival at Hexliam. Resolved

to return to CarKsle and give battle to Wade,

should he advance upon that city, Charles

remained aU the next day at Penrith, waiting

for further intelligence of the marshal's move-

ments ; but receiving information from Lord

Kdmaruock, who stiU remained with his horse

at Brampton, that the English general was on

his way back to Newcastle, Charles marched

to Kendal on the 23d. The van of the army,

which had arrived at Kendal on the previous

day, marched on the 23d to Lancaster, where

it halted for the night. The prince resumed

his marcli on the 25th, and reached Lancaster,

on which day the first division went to Gar-

stang. On the 26th the whole army reached

Preston, where it halted tUl the 27tli. Re-

collecting the fate of the Highland army at

Preston in 1715, the Higlilanders had become

possessed of the idea that they would never get

beyond that town ; but Lord George Murray,

on being informed of it, dispelled this supersti-

tious dread by crossing the bridge over the

Ribble, and quartering a considerable number

of his men on the other side of that river. *

During his progress to Preston, Charles

received no marks of attachment from the in-

habitants of the to^vns and comitry through

which he passed ; but at Preston his arrival

was haQed with acclamations and the ringing

of bells. With the exception, however, of Mr.

Townley, a Catholic gentleman who had been

in the French service, and two or three other

over, that he and his wife had every day two dishes of

meat at dinner, and as many at supper, at the cost of

the prince. But Charles's liberality was not confined

to landlords, for Gib states, that whenever he happened
to pass even a night in a gentleman's house, his ordi-

nary custom was to give at least five guineas of ' drink-

money ' to the servants.
' Kirkeonnel MS. Jacobite Memoirs, p. J9.

' Lockharl Papers, vol. ii. p. 457.
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gentlemen, no person of any note joined him.

By dint of entreaty a few recruits were indeed

raised ; but it was not witli such levies that

Charles could expect to strengthen his army.

At Preston Charles held a council of war, at

which he repeated the assurances he alleged

he had received from his English partisans,

and gave fresh hopes of heing joined hy them

on their arrival at Manchester. The High-

land chiefs were prevailed upon to continue

their march. Lord George Murray proposed

to march vnih his column to Liverpool, and

to join the other division at Macclesfield ; but

tliis proposal was overruled. ^

Accordingly, on the 28th, the Higliland army

left Preston and marched to Wigan,' where

they passed the night. Next day the whole

army entered Manchester, amid the acclama-

tions of the inhabitants, who illuminated their

houses, and lighted up bonfires in the evening,

to express their joy. The same evening one

Dickson, a sergeant, enlisted by the Chevalier

Johnstone, from the prisoners taken at Pres-

ton, presented 180 recruits whom he had raised

in the course of the day in Manchester. This

young Scotsman, whom the Chevalier repre-

sents to have been " as brave and intrepid as

a lion," disappointed at liis o'RTa ill success in

raising recruits at Preston, had requested per-

mission from Johnstone, in whose company he

was, to proceed to Manchester—a day's march

liefore the army—to make sure of some recruits

before it shoidd arrive there. The Chevalier

reproved him sharply for entertaining so wild

and extravagant a project, which would expose

liim to the danger of being taken and hanged,

and ordered liim back to liis company ; but

Dickson, reckless of consequences, quitted Pres-

ton on the evening of the 28th, with his mistress

and a drummer, and travelling all night, entered

Manchester next morning, and immediately

began to beat up for recruits for "The Yellow

Haired Laddie." Conceiving that the High-

land army was at hand, the popidace at first

did not interrupt him ; but when they ascer-

tained that the army woidd not arrive tiU the

evening, they suiTounded him in a tumultuous

- Jncohitc Mcmoira, p. 52.

^ At Wigan, Charles gave "a woman " ten guineas
for one night for the use of her house, her husband,
*' a squire, being from home. "

—

Household Book.

manner, ^^^th the intention of taking him

prisoner dead or alive. Dickson presented his

blunderbuss, charged with slugs, threatened to

blow out the brains of those who first dared

to lay 1 ands on himself or the two who
accompanied him ; and by turning round con-

tinually, facing in all directions, and behaving

like a lion, he soon enlarged the circle which

a crowd of people had formed around liim.

Having contrived for some time to manceuvi-e

in this way, those of the inhabitants of Man-

chester, who were attached to the house of

Stuart, took arms, and flew to the assistance of

Dickson, to rescue him from the fury of the

mob ; so that he had soon 500 or 600 men to

aid him, who dispersed the crowd in a very

short time. Dickson now triumphed in his

turn ; and putting himself at the head of his

followers, he proudly paraded midisturbed the

whole day with his drummer, enlisting all who
offered themselves. That evening, on present-

ing his recruits, it was found that the whole

amount of his expenses did not exceed throe

guineas. This adventure gave rise to many a

joke, at the expense of the town of JIanchester,

from the singular circumstance of its having

been taken by a sergeant, a drummer, and a

girl*

Tlie van of the prince's army, consisting of

100 horse, entered Manchester on the evening

of the 28th of November, and, to magnify their

niunbers, ordered quarters to be prepared for

1 0,000 men. Another party of cavalry entered

the tovra at ten o'clock next morning, and

about two o'clock in the afternoon, Charles him-

self, accompanied by the main body, marched

in on foot, surrounded by a select body of the

clans. He wore on tliis occasion a light tartan

plaid belted with a blue sash, a grey wig, and

a blue velvet bonnet with silver lace, having a

white rosi' in the centre of the top, by which

latter badge he was distinguished from his

general officers, who wore their cockades on

one side.^ Here, as in all the other towns

through which the Highlanders had passed,

the Chevalier de St. George was proclaimed.

The bells of the town were rung, and in the

* .Tohnstone's Memoirs, p. 63. This statement c'

the Chevalier Johnstone's is corroborated in the maia
bv a contemporary journal in Marchant, ]>. IS7.

"

' Boyse, p. 103.
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evening an illumination was made and bonfires

liglited, by order of the prince, who also issueil

a proclamation requiring aU persons, who had

public money in their hands, to pay it into liis

treasury. The army halted a day at Man-

chester and beat up for recruits. They were

joined by some young men of the most respect-

able families in the town, by several substantial

tradesmen and farmers, and by upwards of 100

common men. These, witli the recruits raised

by Dickson, were formed into a corps called

the Manchester regiment, the command of

which was given to Mr. Townley, on whom
tlie rank of Colonel was conferred. This regi-

ment never exceeded 300 men, and were all

the English who ever openly declared for the

prince.^

ThoughCharles's reception atManchester had

been rather flattering, yet the countenance lie

received was not such as to encourage him to

proceed, and a retreat now began to be talked of.

One of Lord George Murray's friends ventured

to hint to liini that he thought they had ad-

vanced fai^ enough, as neither of the events

they had anticipated, of an insurrection in

England, or a landing from France, were likely

to take place. Lord George, who, it is under-

stood, had always a retreat in view, if not sup-

ported by a party in England or by sucooui's

from abroad, said that they might make a

farther trial by going as far as Derby, but that

if they did not receive greater encouragement

than they had yet met with, he would propose

a retreat to the prince.

Conceiving that it was the intention of

Charles to march by Chester into "Wales, the

bridges over the Mersey, on the road to Chester,

had been broken down by order of the au-

thorities; but this precaution was quite un-

necessary. After halting a day at Manchester

the army proceeded to Macclesfield on the

morning of the 1st of December, in two divi-

sions. One took the road to Stockport, and

the other that to Kuottesford. The bridge

near Stockport ha-v'ing been broken down,

Charles crossed the river up to his middle

in water. At Knottesford the other division

crossed the river over temporary bridges, made

chiefly out of poplar trees laid length-ways

* Kir/cconnel ilirf. .Tolmstoiie's Memoirs, p. 66.

vnth. planks across. The horse and artillery

crossed at Chedle-ford. In the evening both

divisions joined at Macclesfield, where they

passed the night. '^

At Macclesfield Charles received intelligence

that the army of Ligonier, of which the Duke

of Cumberland had taken the chief command,

was on its march, and was quartered at Lich-

field, Coventry, Stafford, and Newcastle-under-

Lyme. The prince resolved to march for Derby.

To conceal their intentions from the enemy,

Lord George Murray offered to go with a divi-

sion of the army to Congleton, which lay on

the direct road to Lichfield, by which move-

ment he expected that the duke would collect

his army in a body at Lichfield, and thereby

leave the road to Derby open.' This proposal

having been agreed to. Lord George went next

day with his division to Congleton, whence he

despatched Colonel Ker at night with a party

towards Newcastle-under-Lyme, whither the

Duke of Kingston had retired with his horse,

on the approach of the HigUanders, to get in-

teUigence of the enemy. Ker came to a vil-

lage ndthin three mdes of Newcastle, and had

almost surprised a party of dragoons, and suc-

ceeded in seizing one Weir, a noted spy, who

had been at Edinburgh all the time the prince

was there, and who had kept hovering about

the army during its march to give intelligence

of its motions.' The main body of the royal

army, which was posted at Newcastle-under-

LjTne, on liearing of the march of the division

of the Highland army upon Congleton, retreated

towards Lichfield, and other bodies that were

beyond Newcastle advanced for the purpose

of concentrating near that town, by which

' Boyse, p. 104.
^ Lord George Murray's Narrative, in Jacobite Me-

moirs, p. 63.

^ When Weir was taken, Mr. Ms.xwell says, "be
was inmtediately known to Ije the same person that

had been employed in that business in Flanders, the

year before. It was proposed to hang him immediately,

in punishment of what he had done, and to prevent

the mischief he might do in case the prince did not

succeed. But the prince could not be brought to con-

sent. He still insisted that Weir was not, properly

speaking, a spy, since he was not found in the army in

disguise. I cannot tell whether the prince, on this

occasion, was guided by his opinion or by his inclina-

tion. I suspect the latter, because it was his constant

practice to spare his enemies, when they were in hia

power. I don't believe there was one instance to the

contrary to be found in his whole expedition."

—

KirK-

connel MS.
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movements the design of Lord George Murray

was completely answered. Having thus suc-

ceeded in deceiving the duke, Lord George

Jlurray, after passing the night at Congleton,

went off early next morning vrMi his division,

and turning to the left, passed through Leek,

and arrived at Ashbourne in the evening.

Charles, who had halted a day at Macclesfield,

took the road to Derby by Gawsworth, and

entered Leek shortly after the other division

had left it. He would have remained there

till next morning; but as he considered it un-

safe to keep his army divided at such a short

distance from the royal forces, who might fiill

upon either division, he set out from Leek

about midnight, and joined the other column

at Ashbourne early in the morning. ^ The

Duke of Devonshire, who had been posted in

the town of Derby, mth a body of 700 militia,

on hearing of the approach of the Higldand

army had retired from the tovra on the preced-

ing evening. 2

On the 4th of December Charles put the first

division of his army in motion, and at eleven

o'clock in the forenoon his van-guard, consist-

ing of thirty horse, entered Derby and ordered

quarters for 9,000 men. About three o'clock

in the afternoon Lord Elcho arrived with the

life-guards and some of the principal officers

on horseback. These were followed, in the

course of the evening, by the main body, wliich

entered in detached parties to make the army

appear as numerous as represented. Charles

himself did not arrive till the dusk of the even-

ing; he entered the tovm on foot, and took up

his quarters in a house belonging to the Earl

of E,xeter. During the day the bells were

rung, and bonfires were lighted at night. The

magistrates were ordered to attend in the mar-

ketplace, in their gowns, to hear the usual

])roclamations read; but having stated that

they had sent their gowns out of to%vn, their

attendance was dispensed with, and the pro-

clamations were made by the common crier.^

The fate of the empire and his own destiny

may be said to have now depended upon the

next resolution which Charles was to take.

He had, after a most triumphant career, ap-

» Jacobiif Memoirs, p. 51.

—

Eirlcconncl MS.
' Rovse, p. 164.
' Ma'rcliaut, p. 202. Boyse, p. 161.

proached within 127 miles of London, and

there seemed to be only another step necessary

to complete the chivalrous character of his ad-

venture, and to bring his enterprise to a suc-

cessfid termination. This was, to have in-

stantly adopted the bold and decisive measure

of marching upon and endeavouring to seize

the capital. The possession of the metropolis,

where Charles had a considerable party, would

have at once paralysed the government; and

the EngHsh Jacobites, no longer afraid of

openly committing themselves, would have

raUied round his "standard. The consternation

which prevailed in London when the news of

the arrival of the Highland army at Derby

reached that capital, precludes the idea that

any effectual resistance would have been offered

on the part of the citizens; and it was the

general opinion, that if Charles had succeeded

in beating the Duke of Cumberland, the army

wliic-h had assembled on Einchley Common
would have dispersed of its own accord.* Al-

luthng, in a number of the Ti-ue Patriot, to the

dismay which pervaded the minds of the citi-

zens of London, Fielding says, that when the

HigUanders, by "a most incredible march,"

got between the Duke of Cumberland's army

and the metropolis, they struck a terror into it,

" scarce to be credited." The Chevalier John-

stone, who collected information on the spot

shortly after the battle of Culloden, says, that

when the intelligence of the capture of Derby

reached London, many of the inhabitants fled

to the country, carrying along with them their

most valuable effects, and that all the shops

were shut,—that there was a prodigious run

upon the bank, which only escaped bankruptcy

by a stratagem,—that although pajToent was

not refused, the bank, in fact, retained its

specie, by keeping it continually surrounded

by agents of its own with notes, who, to gain

time, were paid in sixpences; and as a regula-

tion had been made, that the persons who

came first shoidd be entitled to priority of pay-

ment; and as the agpnts went out by one door

with the specie they had received, and brought

it back by another, the bona fide holders of

notes could never get near enough to present

them;— that King George had ordered hia

' Johnstone s Memoirs, p. 73.
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yachts—on board of which he had put all his

luost precious effects—to remain at the Tower

stairs in readiness to sail at a moment's warn-

ing,—and that the Duke of Newcastle, secre-

tary of state for the war department, had shut

himself up in his house a whole day,* deliber-

ating with himself upon the part it would be

most prudent for him to take, doubtful even

whether he should not immediately declare for

the prince.*

The only obstacle to Charles's march upon

the capital was the army of the Duke of Cum-

berland, which was mtliin a day's march of

Derby. From the relative position of the two

armies, the Highlanders might, with their

accustomed rapidity, have outstripped the

duke's army, and reached the capital at least

one day before it; but to Charles it seemed

unwise to leave such an army, almost double

his own in point of nimibers, in liis rear, whilst

that of Wade's would advance upon his left

flank. Of the result of an encounter witli

Cumberland, Charles entertained the most

sanguine hopes. His army was small, when

compared to that of his antagonist; but the

paucity of its numbers was fully compensated

by the personal bravery of its component parts,

and the enthusiastic ardour which pervaded

the bosom of every clansman. At no former

stage of the campaign were the Higlilanders in

better spirits than on their arrival at Derby.

They are represented by the Chevalier John-

stone as animated to the highest pitch of en-

thusiasm, breatliing nothing but a desire for

the combat; and were to be seen during the

whole day waiting in crowds before the shops

of the cutlers to get their broadswords sharp-

ened, and even quarrelling with one another

for priority in whetting those fearful weapons."

It was not without reason, therefore, that

Charles calculated upon defeating Cumberland

;

and although there was a possibility that that

bold and daring adventurer or his army, and

perhaps both, might perish in the attempt to

seize the capital, yet the importance of the

juncture, and the probability that such a

favourable opportunity of accomplishing his

° Burton discredits these statements, there being,

he says, no contemporary evidence in their favour.

—

Scntlimd (1689—1747), vol. ii. p. 433.
' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 75. ' Idem, p. S7,

object might never again occur, seem to justify

Charles in his design of advancing immediate! y

upon London. However, whatever might havii

been the result of the advance of the rebel

army, other counsels prevailed, and Charles

reluctantly yielded to the entreaties of his

friends, who advised a retreat.*

On the morning after the arrival of the

Highland army at Derby, Charles held a coun-

cil of war to deliberate upon the course to be

pursued. The prince, who never for a moment

entertained the least idea of a retreat, and who

considered his own personal safety a minor

consideration, urged every argument in his

power for an immediate advance, with all the

vehemence and ardour characteristic of an en-

terprising and fanatic mind. He said that he

did not doubt, that, as his cause was just, it

would prevail,—that he could not think of

retreating after coming so far,—and that he

was hopeful there would be a defection in the

enemy's army, and that some of their troops

would join him. Lord George Mun-ay, how-

ever, proposed a retreat, and used a variety of

arguments, which appeared to him unanswer-

able, in support of that measure. He repre-

sented to his royal highness and the council,

that they had advanced into England depending

upon French succours, or an insurrection in

that kingdom, and that they had been disap-

pointed in both,—that the prince's army, by

itself, was by no means a match for the troops

which the government had assembled,—that

besides the Duke of Cumberland's army, which

was between 7,000 and 8,000 men strong, and

which was expected that night at Stafford,

Marshal Wade was coming up by hard marches

by the east road with an army of 10,000 men,

and that he was already at Ferrybridge, whicli

was within two or three days' march of the

Highland army,—that in addition to these two

armies, there was a third at least equal to

either of them already forming in the neigh-

bourhood of London, consisting of guards and

* Burton appears to think that tliere was little dan-

ger of any serious consequences following the posses-

sion of London by Charles. "The days were long

past," he says, " when the rising of a body of the Eng-
lish gentry brought a certain force into the field; and a

few wealthy yieers and squires, with their lacqueys and

grooms, would have gone little way to help some five

thousand janissaries in keeping down the people of

Y.ug\a.ui."Scotland (1689—1747), vol. li. p. 135.
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horse, with troops whicli the government would

brmg from the coast, wliere they were quartered;

so that there would be thi'ee armies of regular

troops, amounting together to about 30,000

men, which would surround the Higliland

army, which was not above a sixth of that

number. That, admitting that the prince

should beat Cumberland or "Wade, he might,

should he lose 1,000 or 1,500 of the best of

his men, be undone by such a victory, as the

rest would be altogether unfit to engage a fresh

army, which he must expect to encounter,

—

that, on the other hand, should the prince be

defeated, it could not be supposed that he or

any of liis men coxild escape, as the mLhtia,

who had not hitlierto appeared much against

the Highland army, would, upon its defeat,

possess themselves of aU the roads, and the

enemy's horse would surround them on all

sides,— that as Lord John Drunimond had

lately landed in Scotland with his own regi-

ment and some Irish troops from France, the

prmce would have a better chance of success

by returning to Scotland,—that the forces

under Lord Jolin Drummond and the High-

landers assembled at Perth, would, when united,

form an army almost as numerous as that under

the prince,—that since the court of France had

begun to send troops, it was to be hoped it

would send considerable succours, and as the

first had landed in Scotland, it was probable

the rest would follow the same route,—that if

the prince was cut off, all the succours France

could send would avail nothing, and " the

king's " affairs would be ruined for ever,—that

the prince had no chance of beating in succes-

sion the armies opposed to him, unless the

English troops should be seized with a panic,

and run away at the sight of the Highlanders,

a circumstance barely possible, but not to be

depended upon,—that tlie whole world would

blame the prince's counsellors as rash and fool-

ish, for venturing an attempt which could not

succeed,—and that the prince's person, should

he escape being killed in battle, would fall into

the enemy's hands. In fine, that nothing

short of an absolute certainty of success could

justify such a rash undertaking, but that re-

treat, which was stUl practicable, and of which

Lord George offered to imdertake the conduct,

would give the prince a much better chance of

succeeding than a battle under such ciroun-

stances, and woidd do liim as much honour as

a victory.*

Cliarles still persevered in his resolution,

and insisted on giving battle next morning to

the Duke of Cumberland, and advancing to

Loudon ; but the chiefs of the clans luiani-

mously supported the views of Lord George

Miuray, and represented to his royal highness,

that although tliey had no doubt the High-

landers could easily beat the army of the Duke
of Cumberland, though greatly superior in point

of numbers, yet such a victory could not be

obtained without loss ; and that an army of

4,500 men opposed to the whole force of Eng-

land, could not ai-buit of the smallest diminu-

tion, especially as they would soon have to

fight another battle before entering London

with the army on Finchley Common. But

supposing that by some extraordinary occur-

rence they should arrive at the capital without

losing a man, what a figure would such a small

body of men make amidst its immense popula-

tion? They added, that the prince ought now
to perceive clearly how little he had to expect

from his English partisans, since, after travers-

ing all the counties reputed as to have been

most attached to his family, not a single person

of distinction had declared for him. ^ Witli

the exception of the Duke of Perth, who, from

deference to the prince, concurred ia his opin-

ion, all the persons present were for a retreat

;

the duke liimself at last also declaring for that

measure. ^

Finding his council resolved upon a retreat,

Charles proposed marching into Wales instead

of returning to Carlisle; but tliis proposal was

also opposed by aU present. His royal high-

ness at last reluctantly yielded to the opinion

of his coimcU. In conducting the retreat, Lord

George Miu'ray offered to remain always in the

rear himself, and proposed that each regiment

^ Lord George Murray's Narrative. Kirkconnel MS.
1 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 71.

' There seems to be an apparent discrepancy between

Lord George's statement, {.Jacobite Memoirs, p. 55,)

and that of the Chevalier Johnstone, (Memoirs, p. 71,)

relative to the conduct of the Duke of Perth : but the

account in the text agrer's with the account of Charles

himself, (in Appendix, No. 33, to Home's Works,) vha
says, that with the exception of himself, all the mem-
bers of the council "were of opinion tliat the retreat

was absolutely necessary.

"
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should take it by turns till the army reached

Carlisle; and that it should march in such

order, that if Lord George was attacked he

might be supported as occasion required, and

without stopping the army unless assailed by

a great body of the enemy. He also stipulated

that the cannon and carriages, with the am-

munition, should be placed in the van, and

that he sliould not be troubled with the charge

of them.^

To prevent any unpleasant feeling on the

part of the army on account of the retreat, and

to conceal the intelligence of their movements

IS long as possible from the enemy, the council

igreed to keep the resolution to retreat secret;

but it was divulged to Sir John Macdonald,

an Irish gentleman, and an officer in the French

service, who had come over with the prince.

In the course of the afternoon. Lord George

Murray, Keppoch, and Lochiel, wlule walking

together, were accosted by this gentleman, who

had just dined heartily, and made free with his

bottle, and were rallied by him a good deal

about the retreat. " What!" addressing Kep-

poch, " a Macdonald turn his back !" and turn-

ing to Locliiel, he continued, " For shame ! A
Cameron run away from the enemy ! Go for-

ward, and I'll lead you." The two chiefs and

Lord George endeavoured to persuade Sir John

that he was labouring under a mistake ; but lie

insisted that he was right, as he had received

certain information of the retreat.*

Disappointed at the result of the delibera-

tions of the council, Charles was exceedingly

dejected. To raise his spirits, or to ingratiate

themselves with him, some of the council, and

particularly Sir Thomas Sheridan and Secretary

Murray, though they had approved highly of

the motion to retreat in the council, now very

inconsistent!}' blamed it. They were, however,

aware that the retreat would, notwithstan hng

their opposition, be put in execution, and to

excuse themselves for agreeing to it, they

alleged that they did so, because they knew

the army would never fight well when the

officers were opposed to its wishes. The prince

was easily persuaded that he had consented too

readily to a retreat, but he would not retract

the consent he had given unless he could bring

' JacohiU Memoirs, p. 56. * Id. p. 57

over those to whom he had given it to his own

sentiments, wliich he hoped he might be able to

do. With this view he called another meeting

of the council in the evening, and in the mean-

time sent for the Marquis of TuUibardine, who

had been absent from the meeting in the morn-

ing, to ask his opinion. The marquis finding

the prince bent upon advancing, declared him-

self against a retreat; but after hearing the

arguments of the advocates of that measure at

the meeting in the evening, the marquis re-

tracted his opinion, and declared himself fully

satisfied of its necessity. Having been in-

formed of the conduct of those who had

tampered with the prince, the rest of the

officers told liim at meeting, that they valued

their lives as little as brave men ought to do,

and if he was resolved to march forward, they

would do their duty to the last ; but they re-

quested, for their own satisfaction, that those

persons who had advised his royal liighness to

advance, would give their opinion in ^mtLng.

This proposal put an end to farther discussion,

and Charles, finding the members of council

inflexible in their opinion, gave way to the

general sentiments.^

Hitherto the French coiu't had not come

under any ^vritten engagement to support the

enterprise of Charles ; but after the news of

the capture of Edinburgh reached France, a

treaty was entered into with the Frencli

crown. By this treaty, which was signed at

Fontatnebleau, on the 2-tth of October, by the

Marquis D'Argenson, on the part of the French

king, and by Colonel O'Bryen, on the part of

Prince Charles, as regent of Scotland, the

French king among other things agreed to

furnish the prince with a body of troops to be

taken from the Irish regiments in the service

of France, along with other troops, to serve

under his royal highness, to defend the pro-

vinces.

Lord John Drummond, who commanded a

regiment in the French service, known by the

name of Eoyal Scots, was appointed to the

command of the troops destined for Scotland.

Preparations were immediately made to fit out

the expedition, and Lord John received -imtten

instructions, dated from Fontainebleau, October

* Idom. Kirkconncl MS.
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28th, and signed by the French king, requiring

him to repair immediately to Ostend, to super-

intend the embarkation of the troops. By
these instructions, Lord John was directed to

disembark the troops if possible upon the coast

between Edinburgh and Berwick, and as soon

as he had landed to give notice of his arrival

to Prince Charles, and that the succours which

he had brought were entirely at the disposal of

the orders of the prince, to which Lord John

himself was directed to conform, either by join-

ing his army, or acting separately, according to

the views of Charles. Lord John was also in-

structed to notify his arrival to the commander

of the Dutch troops lately arrived in England,

and to intimate to him to abstain from hostili-

ties, agreeably to the capitulations of Tournay

and Dendermonde. He was required to ask a

prompt and categorical answer as to how he

meant to act without sending to the Hague, as

the states-general had declared to the Abbe de

la Ville, that they had given positive orders to

the commanders of these troops not to infringe

the said capitulations; and if, notwithstanding

Buch notification, the Dutch troops should com-

mit acts of hostility against those of tlie King

of France, his lordship was ordered to confine

closely such Dutch prisoners he might make,

and to listen to no terms which would recognise

a violation of the capitulations, or dispense

the King of France from enforcing the en-

gagement that had been entered into with

the Dutch, as to the exchange of prisoners of

war.^

Lord John Drummond accordingly proceeded

to the coast, and having completed the em-

barkation of the troops, he set sail from Dun-

kirk about the middle of November, carrying

along with him his own regiment, a select de-

tachment from each of the sis Irish regiments

in the service of France, and Fiz-James's regi-

ment of horse, so called from the Duke of Ber-

wick, natural son of James the Second, who
had been their colonel. Along -vvith these troops

were embarked a train of artillery and a con-

siderable quantity of arms and ammunition.

The forces embarked amounted to about 1,000

men, but they did not all reach their destina-

tion, as some of the transports were taken by

" See these instructions in tlie StiMTt Papers.

English cruisers, and others were obliged to

retiu'n to Dunkirk.

From Montrose, where he arrived about the

end of November, Lord Jolm despatched part

of his forces to Aberdeen to aid Lord Lewis

Gordon, and proceeded with the rest to Perth,

where he established his head-quarters. In

terms of his instructions, he sent a messenger

to England with a letter to Count Nassau, the

commander-in-chief of the Dutch auxiliaries,

notifying his arrival, and requiring htm to ob-

serve a neutrality. He also carried letters to

the commanders of the royal forces. The

bearer of these despatclies, having obtained an

escort of eight dragoons at Stirling, proceeded

to Edinburgh, and having delivered a letter to

General Guest, the commander of the castle,

went on to Newcastle, and delivered letters to

the Count and Marshal Wade. The Marshal,

however, refused to receive any message " from

a person who was a subject of the king, and in

rebellion against his majesty." At the same

time his lordship sent another messenger with

a letter to Lord Fortrose, announcing Ida

arrival, and urging him to declare for tlie

prince as the only mode he had of retrieving

liis character. To induce him to join. Lord

John informed his lordship that the prince had

entered Wales, where he had about 10,000

friends, and that "his royal highness, the

Duke of York," accompanied byLord Marischal,

would immediately join him at the head of

10,000 men.'

Apprehensive that Lord John would cross

the Forth above Stirling, two regiments of foot,

and Hamilton's and Gardiner's dragoons, which

had arrived at Edinburgh from Berwick, on

the 14th of November, began their march to

Stirling, on the 7th of December, to guard the

passages of the Forth, and were joined at Stir-

ling by the Glasgow regiment of 600 men,

commanded by the Earl of Home. Lord John

Drummond, however, it appears, had no in-

tention of crossing the Forth at this time.

Almost simultaneously with Lord John

Drummond's expedition, the French ministers

appear to have contemplated a descent upon

England under Lord Marischal, preparatory to

which, Prince Henry repaired, by invitation,

' Home, Appenilix, No. 35.

4g
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to Paris. Twelve thousand men were to have

been employed upon this expedition ; but the

retreat of Charles from Derby, and the diffi-

culty of transporting such a large force to Eng-

land, seem to have prevented its execution.

On arriving at Derby, Charles had sent for-

ward a party on the road to London to take

possession of Swarkstone bridge, about six

miles from Derby. Orders had been given to

break down this bridge, but before these orders

could be put in execution, the Highlanders

had possessed themselves of it. The Duke of

Cumberland, who, before this movement, had

left Stafford with the main body of his army

for Stone, returned to the former place, on the

4th of December, on learning that the High-

land army was at Derby. Apprehending that

it was the intention of Charles to march to

London, he resolved to retire towartls North-

ampton, in order to intercept him ; but finding

that the young Chevalier remained at Derby,

his royal highness halted, and encamped on

Meriden Common in the neighbourhood of

Coventry.

'

Agreeably to a resolution wliich had been

entered into the previous evening, the High-

land army began its retreat early on the morn-

ing of the Gth of December, before daybreak.

Scarcely any of the officers, vnih the exception

of those of the council, were aware of the reso-

lution, and all the common men were entirely

ignorant of the step they were about to take.

To have communicated suc*i a resolution to the

army all at once, would, in its present dispo-

sition, have produced a mutiny. To keep the

army in suspense as to its destination, a quantity

of powder and ball was distributed among the

men, as if they were going into action, and by

some it was insinuated that TVade was at hand,

and that they were going to fight him ; whilst

by others it was said that the Duke of Cum-

berland's army was the object of their attack.'

At the idea of meeting the enemy, the High-

landers displayed the greatest cheerfulness

;

but as soon as they could discriminate by day-

light the objects around them, and could dis-

cover by an examination of the road, that they

were retracing their steps, notliing was to be

heard tliroughout the whole army, but expres-

" Boyse, p. 106.
' Kirkconnel MS Johnstone's Memoirs, p, 7S.

sions of rage and lamentation. Had it sustained

a defeat, the grief of the army could not have

been more acute. Even some of those who
were in the secret of the retreat, and thought

it the only reasonable scheme that could be

adopted, could scarcely be reconciled to it

when about to be carried into eflFect.1

Charles himself partook deeply of the dis-

tress of his men. Overcome by the intensity

of his feelings, he was unable for a time to

proceed mth the army, and it was not until

his men had been several hours on their march

that he left Derby. Forced in spite of himself

to give a reluctant assent to a measure, which,

whilst it rendered useless all the advantages

he had obtained, rendered his chance of gaining

the great stake he was contending for extremely

problematical ; his spirits sunk -within him,

and an air of melancholy marked his exterior.

In marching forwards, he had always been

first up in tlie morning, put his men in motion

before break of day, and had generally walked

on foot ; but in the retreat, his conduct was

totally changed. Instead of taking the lead,

he allowed the army to start long before he

left his quarters, kept the rear always behind

waiting for him, and when he came out, mounted

his horse, and rode straight forward to his next

quarters with the van. ^

After the first burst of indignation had in

some degree subsided, and when the men began

to speculate upon the reasons which could have

induced the retreat, a statement was given out

that the reinforcements expected from Scot-

land were on the road, and had already entered

England,—that Wade was endeavouring to

intercept them,—that the object of the retro-

grade movement was to effect a junction with

them,—and that as soon as these reinforce-

ments had joined the army, the march to Lon-

don would be resumed. It was hinted that

they would probably meet these reinforcements

about Preston or Lancaster. The prospect thus

held out to them of a speedy advance upon

London, tended to aUay the passions of the

men, but they continued sullen and silent dur-

ing the whole of the day. ^

> Firhcmnd MS.
' Lord George Murray's Narrative in JamUte Me-

loim. p. 59.

' Kirkconnel MS.
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The army lay the first night at Ashbourne.

It reached Leek next day ; but that town being

too small to accommodate the army, Elcho's

and Pitsligo's horse, and Ogilvj''s and Roy

Stuart's regiments of foot, went on to Maecles-

tield, where they passed the night. The re-

mainder of the army came next day to Maccles-

field, and the other di^dsion, which had passed

the night there, went to Stockport. On the

9th both divisions met on the road to Man-

chester, and entered that town in a body.

There had been considerable rioting and con-

fusion in Manchester on the preceding day.

Imagining from the retreat that the Highland

army had sustained a reverse, a mob had col-

lected, and, being reinforced by great numbers

of country people with arms, had insulted the

Jacobite inhabitants, and seemed disposed to

dispute the entrance of the Highland army

into the town ; but upon the first appearance

of the van, the mob quietly dispersed, and

order was restored. * In the retreat some abuses

were committed by stragglers, who coidd not

be prevented from going into houses. As Lord

George Murray found great difficulty in bring-

ing these up, he found it necessary to appoiut

an expert officer out of every regiment to assist

in collecting the men belonging to their different

corps who had kept behind, a plan which he

fovmd very useful^

It was Charles's intention to have halted a

day at Manchester, and he issued orders to that

effect ; but on Lord George Murray represent-

ing to him that delay might be dangerous, the

army left that toAvn on the forenoon of the

10th, and reached Wigan that night. Next

day the army came to Preston, where it halted

the whole of the 12th. From Preston the

Duke of Perth was despatched north with

100 horse, to bring up the reinforcements from

Perth. 6

The prince arrived at Lancaster late in the

evening of the 1 3th. On reaching his quarters,

Lord George Murray found that orders had

been given out, that the army was to halt there

all the next day. On visiting Charles's quar-

ters next morning, Lord George was told by

the prince that he had resolved to fight the

enemy, and desired him to go along with

* Kirkconnel .)fS. ' Jacobite Memoirs, p. .''.S.

' Kirkconnel MS.

O'Sullivan, and reconnoitre the ground Ln the

neighbourhood for the purpose of choosing a

field of battle. His lordship, contrary to the

expectations of those who had advised Charles

to fight, and who supposed that Lord George

would have opposed that measure, offered no

advice on the subject. He merely proposed

that as the ground suitable for regular troops

might not answer tlie Highlanders, some High-

land officers should also inspect the ground, •

and as Lochiel was present, he requested that

he would go along with him,—a request with

which he at once complied. With an escort

of horse and foot, and accompanied by Lochiel

and O'Sullivan, Lord George returned back

about two miles, where he found a very fine

field upon a rising ground sufficiently' large for

the whole army, and which was so situated,

that from whatever quarter the enemy could

come, the army would be completely covered

tiU the enemy were close upon them. After

sm-vejing these grounds very narrowly, and

taking three of the enemy's rangers prisoners,

the reconnoitring party returned to Lancaster.

From the prisoners Lord George received infor-

mation that the corps called the rangers ^^as

at Garstang, and that a great body of Wade's

dragoons had entered Preston a few houi-s after

he had left it. His lordship reported to the

prince the result of the survey, and told him

that if the number of his men was sufficient to

meet the enemy, he could not wish a better

field of battle for the Highlanders ; but Charles

informed him that he had altered his muid,

and that he meant to proceed on his march

next day.

"

It is now necessary to notice the movements

of the Duke of Cumberland and Marshal

Wade. By retaining possession of Swark-

stone bridge for some time after his main body

left Derby, Charles deceived Cumberland as to

his motions, and the Highland army was two

days' march distant from the duke's army

before he was aware of its departure from

Derby. As soon, however, as he was apprised

of the retreat, the duke put himself at the

head of his horse and dragoons, and 1,000

mounted volunteers, furnished by some of the

gentlemen of Warwickshire, for tlie purpose of

Jacobile Memoirs, p. Kirkconnel MS.
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stopping the HLiglilanders till the royal army

should come iip, or, failing in that design, of

harassing them in their retreat. He marched

by Uttuxeter and Cheadle; but the roads

being excessively bad, he did not arrive at

Macclesfield till the night of the 10th, on

which day the Highland army had reached

Wigan. At Macclesfield the duke received

intelligence that the Highlanders had left

Manchester that day. His royal highness

thereupon sent orders to the magistrates of

^Manchester to seize all stragglers belonging to

the Highland army; he directed Bhgh's regi-

ment, then at Chester, to march to Maccles-

field, and, at the same time, ordered the Liver-

pool Blues to return to Waniiuf i:i. -'liiv

they had been formerly posted. E-irly on

the 11th, he detached Major Wheatley with

the dragoons in pursuit of the Highlanders.

Meanwhile Marshal "Wade having held a coun-

cil of war on the 8th, at Ferrj-bridge, in York-

shire, had resolved to march by Wakefield and

Hahfax into Lancashire, in order to intercept

the insurgents in their retreat northwards.

He accordingly came to Wakefield on the 1 0th

at night, where, learning that the van-guard of

the Highland army had reached Wigan, he

concluded that he would not be able to over-

take it, and therefore resolved to return to his

old post at Newcastle hy easy marches. He,

however, detached General Oglethorpe vnth

till- lior.=i' to join the duke. This officer

crossed Blackstone Edge with such expedition,

that he reached Preston on the same day that

the Highlanders left it, having marched about

100 miles in tliree days, over roads at any

time unfavourable, but now rendered almost

impassable by frost and snow. At Preston,

Oglethorpe found the Georgia rangers, and was

joined by a detachment of Kingston's horse,

commanded by Lieutenant-colonel Mordaunt.

Here these united forces halted nearly a whole

day, in consequence of an express which the

Duke of Cumberland had received from Lon-

to hold himself in readiness to return to the

capitaL This information was afterwards

found to be erroneous ; but it was of service to

the Highlanders, wlio, in consequence of the

halt of the roj-al forces, gained a whole day's

march a-head of their pursuers.

Ln his retreat, the chief danger the prince

had to apprehend was from the army of Wade,
who, by marching straight across the country

into Cumberland, might have reached Penrith

a day at least before the prince ; but by the

information he received of the route taken bv

don, announcing that a French expedition from Wade's cavalry, he saw that the danger now
Dunkirk had put to sea, and requiring him

^

v,-as that the united cavalry of both armies
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migbl fall upon liis rear before he coiild reach

Carlisle. He therefore left Lancaster on the

15th; but the rear of liis anny -was scarcely

out of the toA\Ti when some of the enemy's

horse entered it. The tow-n bells were then

rung, and the word being given from the rear

to the front, that the enemy was approaching,

the Highlanders formed in order of battle; but

the alarm turning out to be false, the army

continued its march to Kendal. The enemy's

horse, however, followed for two or three

miles, and appeared frequently in small parties,

but attempted nothing. The army entered

Kendal that night, where they were met by

the Duke of Perth and his party. In his way

north, the duke had been attacked in this town

by a mob, which he soon dispersed by firing

on them ; but in the neighbourhood of Penrith

he met with a more serious obstruction, having

been attacked by a considerable body of militia,

both horse and foot, and being vastly outnum-

bered, was obliged to retreat to Kendal.

'

As Lord George Murray considered it im-

possible to transport the four-wheeled waggons

belonging to the army to Shap, he proposed to

the prince to substitute two-wheeled carts for

Dhem, 1 and as he was afraid that no provisions

could be obtained at Shap, he suggested that

the men should be desired to provide them-

selves with a day's provision of bread and

cheese. Orders were accordingly issued agree-

ably to these suggestions, but that regarding

the waggons seems not to have been attended

to ; and by some oversight, the order about the

provisions was not communicated to many of

them tUl they were on their march next morn-

ing. The consequence was, that the men who

were unprovided returned to the town, and

' Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 460. Kirkamncl MS.
' Maxwell of Kirkconnel gives a different version of

this matter from that of Lord Geoi-ge Murray. After

stating that his lordship represented to Charles the

dangerous situation he might be in if the united armies

of Wade and Cumberland overtook him before reaching

Carlisle, he says that Lord George "proposed to avoid

them by sacrificing the cannon and all the heavy

baggage to the .safety of the men, which was now at

stake. He observed that the country is mountainous

betwixt Kendal and Penrith, and the roads, in many
places, very difficult for such carriages ; but the prince

was positive not to leave a single piece of his cannon.

He would rather fight both their armies than give

.such an argument of fear and weakness. He gave

peremptory orders that the march should be continued

in tlie same order as hitherto, and not a single carriago

tobeleftat Eendal."

much confusion woidd have ensued, had not

Lord George Murray sent some detacliments of

the rear with officers into the town to preserve

order, and to see the men return to the arm)-.

This omission retarded considerably the march

of the army. The difficulties which Lord

George Murray had anticipated in transporting

the waggons across the hills were realised, and

by the time he had marched four miles and got

among the hill s, he was obliged to halt all

night, and take up his quarters at a farm

house about a gun-shot off the road. The

Glengarry men were in the rear that day, and

though reckoned by his lordship not the most

patient of mortals, he says he " never was

better pleased with men in his life," having

done all that was possible for men to do. ^

With the exception of the Glengarry regi-

ment, the army passed the night between the

16th and 17th at Shap.' On the morning of

the 17th, Lord George received two messages

from Charles, ordering him upon no account

to leave the least tiling, not so much as a

cannon ball behind, as he would rather return

himself than that any thing should be left.

Though his lordship had undertaken to con-

duct the retreat on the condition that he

should not be troubled with the charge of the

baggage, ammunition, &o., he promised to do

all in his power to carry every tiling along

with him. To lighten the ammunition wag-

gons, some of which had broken down, his

lordship prevailed upon the men to carry about

200 cannon balls, for which service he gave

the bearers sixpence each. With difficulty the

rear-guard reached Shap that night at a late

hour. Here he found most of the cannon, and

some of the ammimition with Colonel Roy

Stuart and his battalion.' The same night,

the prince with the main body arrived at Poji-

ritli. Some parties of mUitia appeared at inter-

vals; but they kept at a considerable distance,

without attempting hostilities.^

^ Jacobite Memoirs, p. 63.

' In the prince's Household Book, printed among
the Jacobite Memoirs, the following entries occur :

—

Dec. 17th, at Shape, Tuesday.

To ale, wine, and other provisions, £4 17

The landlady for the use of her hou.se, 2 '2

N. B. The landhady a sad wife for imposing.
> Jacobite Memoirs, p. 65.
•"' Kirkconnel MS.
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Early in tlie morning of the 18th, the rear-

guard left Shap; but as some of the small car-

riages were continually breaking, its march was

much retarded. It had not proceeded far when

some parties of English light-horse were ob-

served hovering at some distance on the emi-

nences behind the rear-guard. Lord George

Murray notified the circumstance to the prince

at Penrith ; but as it was supposed that these

were mihtia, the information was treated lightly.

No attempt was made to attack the rear-guard,

or obstruct its progress, till about mid-day,

when a body of between 200 and 300 horse,

cliiefly Cumberland people, formed in front of

the rear-guard, beliind an eminence near Clifton

Hall, and seemed resolved to make a stand.

Lord George Murray was about to ascend this

eminence, when the party was observed march-

ing two and two abreast on the top of the hiU.

They suddenly disappeared to form themselves

in order of battle behind the eminence, and

made a great noise with trumpets and kettle-

drums. At this time two of the companies of

Roy Stuart's regiment, which the Duke of

Perth had attached to the artillery, were at the

head of the column. The guns and ammuni-

tion waggons followed, behind the two other

companies of the same regiment. The Glen-

garry regiment, whiohmarched with Lord George

Murray at its head, was in the rear of the

column. Believing, from the great number of

trumpets and kettle-drums, that the English

army was at hand, the rear-guard remained for

a short time at the bottom of the hUl, as if at

a loss how to act in a conjuncture wliich ap-

peared so desperate. It was the opinion of

Colonel Bro^vn, an officer of Lally's regiment,

who was at the head of the column, that they

should rush upon the enemy sword in hand,

and either open a passage to the army at Pen-

rith, or perish in the attempt. The men of

the fom' companies adopting tliis opinion, im-

mediately ran up the hiU, ^^'ithout informing

Lord George Murray of their resolution; and

liis lordship, on observing this movement, im-

mediately ordered the Glengarry men to proceed

across the iiiclosure, and ascend the liiU from

another quarter, as they could not conveniently

pass the waggons which had ahnost blocked

up the roads. The Glengarry men, throwing

ofi' thoir plaids, reached the summit of the hUi

almost as soon as the head of the column, on

gaining which, both parties were agreeably

surprised to find, that the only enemy in view

was the light horse they had observed a few

minutes before, and who, alarmed at the ap-

pearance of the Highlanders, galloped off in

disorder. (Jne of the fugitives fell from his

horse, and was cut to pieces in an instant by

the Highlanders.^

The rear-guard resumed its march, and on

reaching the village of Clifton, Lord George

Murray sent the artillery and heavy baggage

forward to Penrith under a small escort. Being

well acquainted 'vvith all the inclosures and

parks about Lowther Hall, the seat of Lord

Lonsdale, about the distance of a mile from

Clifton, Lord George Murray, at the head of

the Glengary regiment and some horse, ex-

amined these parks and inclosures in the hope

of falling in with the light horse ; but, although

he saw several of them, he only succeeded in

making two prisoners. By these prisoners

Lord George was informed that the duke him-

self, with a body of 4,000 horse, was about a

mile behind him. As Clifton was a very good

post. Lord George Murray resolved to remain

there; and on his return to the village he sent

Colonel Roy Stuart with the two prisoners to

Penrith, to inform Charles of the near approach

of the duke, and that he woidd remain at Clif-

ton till fiu'ther orders. In the event of the

prince approving of his intention of making a

stand at Preston, his lordship requested that

1,000 men might be sent liim from Penrith.

On returning to Clifton from Lowther parks.

Lord George found the Duke of Perth there;

and, besides Colonel Roy Stuart's men, who

amounted to about 200, he also found the

Maephersons with their chief, Cluny Macpher-

son, and the Stewarts of Appin, headed by

Stewart of Ardshiel.^

Before the return of Colonel Roy Stuart

from Penrith, the enemy appeared in sight,

and proceeded to form themselves into two

lines upon Clifton moor, about half a mile from

the village. The Duke of Perth thereupon

rode back to Penrith to bring up the rest of

the army to support Lord George, who he sup-

posed would, from the strength of lus position,

' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 87.

' Jacobite Memoirs, p. 66.
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be able to maintam himself till joined by the

main body. The duke was accompanied by

an English gentleman who had attended Lord

George during the retreat, and, knowing the

country perfectly well, had offered to lead witli-

out discovery the main body a near way by the

left, by which movement they would be enabled

to fall upon the enemy's flank. Had Lord

George received the reinforcement he required,

his design was to have sent half of his men

through the inclosures on his right, so as to

have flanked the duke's army on that side,

whilst it was attacked on the other by the

other half. He expected that if he' succeeded

in killing but a small number of Cumberland's

horse that the rest would be thrown into dis-

order, end tliat as they would be obliged to

retreat through a lane nearly a mUe long, be-

tween Lord Lonsdale's inclosures, that they

would choke up the road, and that many of

them would be unable to escape. In absence

of this reinforcement, however, the Lieutenant-

general was obliged to make the best disposi-

tions he could with the force he had with him,

which amounted to about 1,000 men in all,

exclusive of Lord Pitsligo's horse and hussars,

who, on the appearance of the enemy, shame-

fuUy fled to Penrith.

«

Tlie dispositions of Lord George were these.

Within the inclosures to the right of the high-

way he posted the Glengarry men, and witlvin

those to their loft he placed the Stewarts of

Appin and the Macphersons. On the side of

the highway, and close to the village of Clifton,

he placed Colonel Eoy Stuart's regiment. As

some ditches at the foot stretched farther to-

wards the moor on the right than on the left,

and as that part was also covered by Lord

Lonsdale's other inclosures, the party on the

right could not easily be attacked ; and they

had tliis advantage, that they could with their

fire flank the enemy when they attacked the

left. To induce the enemy to believe that his

numbers were much greater than they were.

Lord George, after exhibiting the colours he

had at different places, caused them to be

rolled up, carried to other places, and again

unfurled.^

About an hour after tlie Duke of Cumber-

' JoxobUe Memoirs, \i. 6S. ' Idem, p. 67.

land had formed his men, about 500 of his

dragoons dismounted and advanced forward to

the foot of the moor, in front of a ditch at

the bottom of one of three small inclosures

between the moor and the places wliere Roy

Stuart's men were posted at the village. At

this time Colonel Stuart returned from Penrith,

and, after informing Lord George that the

prince had resolved to march immediately to.

Carlisle, and that he had sent forward hi?

cannon, he stated that it was his royal high-

ness's desire that he should immediately retreat

to Penrith. From the situation in which the

Lieutenant-general was now placed, it was

impossible to obey this order without great

danger. The dismounted horse were already

firing upon the Highlanders, who were within

musket-shot ; and, if retreat was once begun,

the men might get into confusion in the dark,

and become discouraged. Lord George pro-

posed to attack the dismounted party, and

stated his confidence that he woidd be able

by attacking them briskly to dislodge them

;

Cluny Macpherson and Colonel Stuart con-

curring in Lord George's opinion, that the

course he proposed was the only prudent one

that could be adopted, they agreed not to

mention the message from the prince.

Li pursuance of this determination, Lord

George Murray went to the right where the

Glengarry men were posted, and ordered them,

as soon as they should observe him advance

on the other side, to move also forward and

keep up a smart fire tUl they came to the

lowest ditch. He observed that if they suc-

ceeded in dislodging the enemy from the hedges

and ditches, they could give them a flank fire

within pistol-shot ; but he gave them particular

injunctions not to fire across the highway, nor

to follow the enemy up the moor. After

speaking with every officer of the Glengarry

regiment, his lordship returned to the left, and

placed himself at the head of the Macphersons,

with Cluny by his side. It was now about an

hour after sunset, and the night was Somewhat

cloudy ; but at short intervals the moon, which

was in its second quarter, broke tlirough and

afforded considerable light. The Highlanders

had this advantage, that whilst they could see

the disposition of the enemy, their own move-

ments could not be observed. In takinfr theij'
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ground the dismounted dragoons liad not only

lined the bottom inclos\ires which ran from

east to west, directly opposite the other iu-

closures in which the Highlanders were posted,

but some of them had advanced up along two

hedges that lay south and north.

The Higlilanders being ready to advance,

the Stewarts and Macphersons marched for-

ward at the word of command, as did the

Maodonalds on the right. The Higldanders

on the right kept firing as they advanced ; but

the Macphersons, who were on the left, came

sooner in contact with the dragoons, and re-

ceived the whole of their fire. "When the

balls were whizzing about them, Cluny ex-

claimed, "What the devil is this?" Lord

George told him that they had no remedy but

to attack the dragoons, sword in hand, before

they had time to charge again. Then draw-

ing his sword, he cried out, " Claymore," and

Cluny doing the same, the Macphersons rushed

do^vn to the bottom ditch of the inclosure,

and clearmg the diagonal hedges as they went,

fell sword in hand upon the enemy, of whom

a considerable number were killed at the lower

ditch. The rest fled across the moor, but

received in. their flight the fire of the Glen-

garry regiment. In this skirmish only twelve

Highlanders were Hlled ; but the royal forces

sustained a loss of about one hundred in killed

and wounded, including some officers. The

only officer wounded on the side of the High-

landers was Macdonald of Lochgarry, who

commanded the Glengarry men. Lord George

Murray made several narrow escapes. Old

Glenbucket, who, from infirmity, remained at

the end of the village on horseback, had lent

him his target, and it was fortunate for Lord

George that he had done so. By means of

this shield, which was convex, and covered

with a plate of metal painted, his lordship pro-

tected himself from the bullets of the dragoons,

which cleared away the paint off the target in

several places. ^ The only prisoner taken on

this occasion was a footman of the Duke of

Cumberland, who stated that his master would

have been killed, if a pistol, with which a

Higlilander took aim at his nead, had not

» Jacobite Memoirs, p. 72. —Lockliart Papcr.i, vol.

ii. p. 463.

missed fire. This man was sent back to his

roj-al highness by the prince. ^

After remaining a short time at CHfton after

the skirmish, Lord George went to Penrith,

where lie foimd the prince ready to mount for

CarHsle. His royal highness was very well

pleased with the result of the action. The

men who had been engaged halted at Penrith

a short time to refresh themselves ; and the

prince, after sending Clanranald's and Kep-

pooh's regiments as far back as Clifton bridge,

to induce the inliabitants to believe that he

meant to fight the Duke of Cumberland, left

Penrith for Carlisle with the main body.

Next morning the whole army reached Carlisle,

where the prince found letters, though rather

of an old date, from Lord John Drummond
and Lord StrathaUan. Lord John gave him

great encouragement from the court of France,

and informed his royal highness that it was

the desire of the King of France that the prince

should proceed with great caution, and if

possible avoid a decisive action till he received

the succours the king intended to send him,

which would be such as to put his success

beyond all doubt, and that, in the mean time,

he (Lord John) had brought over some troops

and a train of artillery, sufficient to reduce all

the fortresses in Scotland. Lord StrathaUan

gave a very favourable account of the state of

the army assembled at Perth, which he repre-

sented as better than that which tlie prince

had mth him. As nothing positive, however,

was known at Carlisle of the operation of the

Jacobite forces in the north, Charles resolved

to contiaue the retreat into Scotland. Con-

trary to the opinion of Lord George Miuray,

who ad\ased him to evacuate Carlisle, Charles

resolved to leave a garrison there to facilitate

his return into England, of which at the time

he had strong hopes when joined by the forces

under Lords StrathaUan and Drummond ' As

Carlisle was not tenable, and as the Highland

army could easily have re-entered England

independent of any obstniction from any garri-

son which could be put into it, the conduct

nf Charles in leaving a portion of his army

behind has been justly reprehended ; but there

is certainly no room for the accusation which

' Johnstone's Memoirs, x>- 92. ' Kirkconnel MS.
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ba3 been made against liim, of having wilfully

sacrificed tlie unfortunate garrison.* It was

not -without difficulty that Charles could make

up a garrison. The Duke of Perth was un-

willing to allow any of his men to remain

;

and appearing to complain iu the presence of

the prince that a certain number of the Athole

men had not been draughted for that service,

Lord George Murray told him, also in the

prince's presence, that if his royal highness

would order him, he would stay with the

Athole brigade, though he knew what liis fate

would be. * The number of men left in gar-

rison amounted to about 400. Mr. Hamilton

was continued in the command of the castle,

and Mr. Townley was made commandant of

the town.

The Highland army halted the whole of the

19th in Carlisle, and departed next day for

Scotland. The Esk, which fornrs part of the

boundary between England and Scotland on

the west, was, from an incessant rain of several

days, rendered impassable by the nearest road

from Carlisle ; but at the distance of about

eight miles from Carlisle it was still fordable.

The army reached the place, where they in-

tended to cross, about two o'clock in the after-

noon. Before crossing the water, the following

route was fixed upon by the advice of Lord

George jNIurray, whose opinion had been asked

by Charles in presence of some of Ixis officers,

viz., that Lord George, with sis battalions,

should march that night to Ecclefechan, next

day to Moffat, and there halt a day ; and

after making a feint towards the Edinburgh

* Alluding to the retention of Carlisle, Mr. Maxwell
observes, "This was perhaps the worst resolution tlie

prince had taken hitherto. I cannot help condemn-
ing it, though there were specious pretexts for it. It

was, to be sure, much for the prince's reputation upon
leaving England, to keep one of the keys of it, and

he was in hopes of returning before it could be taken
;

but he could not be absolutely sure of that, and the

place was not tenable against a few pieces of artillery,

of battering cannon, or a few mortars. It's tme he

had a good many prisoners in Scotland, and might
look upon them as pledges for the lives of those he

loft in garrison ; but that was not enough. He did

not know what kind of people he had to deal with,

and he ought to be prepared against the worst that

could happen. The lives of so many of his friends

ought not to have been exposed without an indispen-

sable necessity, which was not the case ; for blowing

up the castle, and the gates of the town, would have
equally given him an entry into England."

* Jacobite Memoirs, p. 73.

road, as if he intended to march upon the

capital, to turn off to Douglas, then to Hamil-

ton and Glasgow,—that the prince should go

with the clans and most of the horse that

night to Annan, next day to Dumfries, where

they should rest a day ; then to Drumlanrig,

Leadhills, Douglas, and Hamilton, so as to be

at Glasgow the day after the arrival in that

city of Lord George's division.

"

Though the river was usually shallow at the

place fixed upon for passing, it was now swol-

len, by continued rains, to the depth of four

feet. The passage was not without its dangers

;

but as the river might be rendered impassable

by a continuation of the rain during the night,

and as it was possible that the Duke of Cum-

berland might reach the Esk next morning, it

was resolved to cross it immediately. After

trying the water to ascertain that the ford was

good, a body of cavalry formed in the river, a

few paces above the ford, to break the force of

the stream, and another body was likewise

stationed in the river below the ford to pick

up such of the inf^intry as might be carried

away by the violence of the current. This

arrangement being completeil, the infantry

entered the river a hundred men abreast, each

holding one another by the neck of the coat,

by which plan they supported one another

against the rapidity of the river, leaving suffi-

cient intervals between their ranks for the

passage of the water. Lord George Murray,

who was among the first to enter the water in

his philibeg, says, that when nearly across,

there were about 2,000 men in the water at

once. The appearance of the river, in the

interval between the cavalry, presented an ex-

traordinary spectacle. As the heads of tlie

Highlanders were generally all that was seen

above the water, the space of water occupied

in the passage looked like a paved street. Not

one man was lost in the transit ; but a few

girls who had followed their lovers in their

adventirrous campaign, were swept away by

the current. After the army had passed, the

pipes began to play ; and the Higlilanders,

happy on setting their feet again on Scottish

ground, forgot for a time the disappointment

they had suffered at Derby, and testified their

^ Jacobite Mfjnoirs, p. 73.
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joy by dancing reels upon the northern bank

of the Esk. ^

The expedition into England, though not

signalised by any great military achievement,

will always hold a distinguished place in the

annals of bold and adventurous enterprise.

It was planned and carried through in aU its

details vfith. great judgment; and if circum-

stances had not delayed its execution, it might

have terminated in success. From the con-

sternation into wliich the English people were

thrown by the invasion of the Higliland army,^

' Jacobite Memoirs, p. 74.—Johnstone's Memoirs.

p. 99.

' "The terror of the English," says the Chevalier

.Tohnstone, Memoirs, p. 101, "was tnily inconceiv-

able, and in many ca.ses they seemed quite bereft of

their senses. One evening as Mr. Cameron of Lochiel

entered the lodgings assigned to him, his landlady, an

old woman, threw herself at his feet, and with uplifted

hands and tears in her eyes, supplicated him to take

her life, but to spare her two little children. He asked

her if she was in her senses, and told her to explain

iierself ; when she answered, that every body said the

Highlanders ate children, and made them their com-
mon food. Mr. Cameron having assured her that they

would not injure either her or her little children, or

any person whatever, she looked at him for some
moments with an air of surprise, and then opened a

press, calling out with a loud voice. ' Come out chil-

dren ; the gentleman will not eat you. ' The children

immediately left the press where she had concealed

them, and threw themselves at his feet. They affirmed

in the newspapers of London that we had dogs in our

army trained to fight, and that we were indebted for

our victory at Gladsmuir to these dogs, who darted

with fury on the English army. They represented

the Highlanders as monsters, with claws instead of

hands. In a word, they never ceased to circulate,

every day, the most extravagant and ridiculous stories

with respect to the Highlanders. The English soldiers

had indeed reason to look upon us as extraordinary

men, from the manner in which we had beaten them
with such inferior numbers, and they probably told

these idle stories to the country peo]de by way of palli-

ating their own disgrace." The able editor of John-

stone's Memoirs relates in a note to the above, that

Mr. Halkston of Rathillet, who was in the expedition,

stated that the belief was general among the people

of England, that the Highlanders ate children:

—

" While the army lay at Carlisle he was taken ill, and
went with a few of his companions to a farmer's house

in the neighbourhood, where he remained several days.

Perceiving his landlady to be a young woman, he asked

her if she had any children, and where they were.

When she found that he was no cannibal, she told him
the truth was, that all the children were sent out of

the way for fear the Highlanders should devour them."

A Derby gentleman, wlio had a party of forty men
quartered in his house, in a letter which appeared in

all the newspapers of the period, describes most of

them as looking " like so many fiends turned out of

hell to ravage the kingdom and cut throats ; and under

their plaids nothing but various sorts of butchering

weapons were to be seen." He complains that they

liad eaten up "near a side of beef, eight joints of

mutton, four cheeses, with abundance of white and

hrowu bread, (particularly white,) three couples of

fowls, and would have drams continually, as well as

it seems certain, that without the aid of a

regular army then- mihtia would scarcely have

ventured to oppose the march of the High-

landers to the metropolis ; but after the re-

turn of the British forces from Flanders, the

arrival of the Dutch auxiliaries, and the

assembling of the armies under Wade and

Ligonier, the attempt appeared to be hopeless.

It was not, however, untU the retreat from

Derby that the government was relieved from

its anxiety for the safety of the monarchy.

The Duke of Cumberland halted at Penrith

on the 20th of December, and marched next

day to Carlisle, which he invested the same

day. As he was under the necessity of sending

to Whitehaven for heavy cannon, the fire from

his batteries did not commence tiU the morning

of the 28th. Dui'ing the blockade the garri-

son tired repeatedly upon the besiegers, but

with little effect. A fire was kept up by the

besiegers from a battery of six eighteen-pound-

ers, during the 28th and 29th. Another bat-

tery of three thirteen-pounders was completed

on the 30th; but on the first fire from the old

battery that day, the besieged hung out a

white flag, and offered hostages for a capitula-

tion. The Duke of Cumberland, on observing

this signal, sent one of his aides-de-camp with

a note, deshing to know its meaning ; to which

Governor HamQton answered, that the object

was to obtain a cessation for a capitulation,

and desiring to know what terms his royal

higliness would grant to the garrison. The

only condition the duke would grant was, that

the garrison should not be put to the sword,

but be reserved for the king's pleasure; and

Hamilton, seeing the impossibility of hold-

ing out, surrendered the same day. The gar-

rison, including officers, consisted of 114 men

of the Manchester regiment; of 274 men, also

including officers, chiefly of the Scotch low

country regiments, and a few Frenchmen and

Irishmen. The number of cannon in the

strong-ale, beer, tea, &c." In the midst of this general

devastation our host was convulsed with "unavoidable

laughter to see these desperadoes, from officers to the

common men, at their several meals, first pull off their

bonnets, and then lift up their eyes in a most solemn

manner, and mutter something to themselves, by way

of saying grace, as if they had been so many pure

primitive Christians ! ! !
" This is merely a specimen

of the many ridiculo\is stories \vith which the English

journals of the period were crammed.
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cavils was sixtsen, ten of whicli had Loeu left

)yy the Highland army on its return to Scot-

Jaad. Among the prisoners were found twelve

duserters from the royal forces, who were im-

mediately hanged. The officers were kejit

prisoners in the castle, but the privates were

confined in the cathedral and town-jail. The

whole were afterwards dispersed in several

jails through England. The Duke of Cumber-

land, after putting Bligh's regiment in garrison

at Carlisle, returned to London, in consequence

of an order from court.*

CHAPTER XXXIV.

A. T>. 1745—46.

EREIGN :—George II., 1727—1760.

The Highland army returns to Scotland—Arrives at

Glasigow —Proceedings of the Jacohites in the Nortli

—Arrest and escape of Lord Lovat—Skirmisli at

Inverury— Alarm at Edinburgh— Arrival of an
English army—The Prince at Glasgow—Marches
towards Stirling—Investment and surrender of the
town—Skirmishing on the Forth—Highland army
reinforced—Hawley's army arrives at Falkirk—Pre-
]iarations for battle—Battle of Falkirk.,

PoRSUANT to the plan of march fixed upon at

crossing the Esk, the Highland army separated,

and Lord George Murray, at the head of the low

country regiments, proceeded to Ecclefechan,

where he arrived on the night of the 20th, and

marched next day to Moffat. The prince, at

the head of the clans, marched to Annan,

where he passed the night of the 20th. The

horse of the prince's division under Lord Elcho

were, after a short halt, sent to take possession

of Dumfries, which they accomplished early

next morning, and the prince, with the clans,

cime up in the evening. Li no town in Scot-

land had there been greater opposition dis-

played to the restoration of the house of Stuart

than in Dumfries, from the danger to which

the inhabitants supposed their religious liber-

ties, as presbj-terians, would be exposed tmder

a catholic sovereign. This feeling, which was

strongly manifested by them in the insurrection

of 1715, had now assumed even a more hostile

appearance from the existence of the new bodv

of dissenters called " Seceders," which had

' Boyse, p. 129.

lately left the bosom of the established church

of Scotland, and which professed principles

thought to be more in accordance vrith tiie

gospel than those of their parent church. A
l.iody of tliese dissenters had volunteered for

the defence of Edinburgh shortly after Charles

had landed, and, on liis march for England, a

party of them had taken up arms, and had

captured and carried to Dumfries thirty wag-

gons belonging to the Highland army, which

had been left at Lockerby by the escort ap-

pointed to protect them. To punish the in-

habitants for their hostihty, Charles ordered

them to pay £2,000 in money, and to contri-

bute 1,000 pairs of shoes. About £1,100 only

were raised ; and, in security for the remainder,

Mr. Crosbie, the provo.st, and a Mr. Walter

Riddel, were carried off as hostages. The

prince also levied the excise at Dumfries, and

carried off some arms, horses, &c. Some out-

rages were committed in the to'ivn by the

Highlanders, who told the inhabitants that

they ought to tliink themselves gently used,

and be thankful that tlieir to\\Ti was not

burned to ashes.

After halting a day at Dumfries, the jiriiice

proceeded with his division up Nithsdale on

the evening of the 23d, and passed the night

at Drumlam-ig, the seat of the Duke of Queens-

berry. Next day he entered Clj'desdale, and

halted at Douglas. The prince slept that

night in Douglas castle. He reached Hamil-

ton on the 2.5th, and took up his residence in

the palace of the Duke of Hamilton. Next

day the Chevalier occupied liimself in hunting,

an amusement of which he was uncommonlj-

fond, and to which he had been accustomed

from his youth. The division under Lord

George Murray, after halting a day at Moffat,

where, bemg Sunday, his men heard sermon in

different parts of the town from the episcopal

ministers who accompanied them, proceeded

by Douglas and Hamilton, and entered Glas-

gow on Cliristmas day. On the evening of

the 26th the prince also marched into Glasgow

on foot at the head of the clans. Here he re-

solved to halt and refresh his men for a few

days after their arduous march, and to provide

them with clothing, of which they stood greatly

in need. In passing through Douglas and

Lesmahago, the Highlanders pillaged and
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burnt some houses, in revenge for the captui'c

of Macdoiiald of Kinlochmoidart, who, in his

way south from the Highlands, had been seized

on Brokenoross moor, near Lesmahago, by the

country people, headed by a student of divinity

named Liniiing, and carried to Edinburgh

castle.i

Before noticing Charles's proceedings at

Glasgow, it is necessary to give a short sum-

mary of those of his friends in the north, up

to the period of his arrival in that city.

When intelligence of the Chevalier's march

into England, and his unexpected success at

Carlisle was received in the north, the zeal of

the Jacobites was more and more inflamed.

Whilst the Erasers, headed by the Master of

Lovat, blockaded Fort Augustus, Lord Lewis

Gordon was busily employed in raising men,

and levying money by force and threats of

luUitary execution, in the sliires of Banff and

Aberdeen. Of two battalions which his lord-

shop raised, one was placed under the com-

mand of Gordon of Abbachie, and the other

under Moir of Stonywood. To relieve Fort

Augustus, the Earl of Loudon left Inverness

on the 3d of December ^vith GOO men of the

independent companies, and passing tlu'ough

Stratherrick dmiug a very severe frost, reached

Fort Augustus witliout opposition, and having

supplied the garrison with every tiling neces-

sary for its defence, returned to Inverness on

the 8th, after notifying to the inhabitants of

Stratherrick the risk they would incur shoidd

they leave theu' houses and join the in-

surgents.'

As the future progi'ess of the insurrection in

the Higlilands depended much upon the

Erasers, Lord Loudon, in conjunction with

Lord President Forbes, resolved to march to

Castle Downie, the seat of Lord Lovat, and to

obtain the best satisfaction that could be got

for the peaceable behaviour of that powerful

clan. For this jsurpose, two companies of the

Mackenzies, which had been posted near Bra-

han, were called into Inverness on the 9th of

December, and after allo^ving the detachment,

wliich had been at Fort Augustus, one day's

rest, his lordslup left Inverness on the 10th,

taking along with bim that detachment and

' Cullodcn Papers, p. 263. ' Idem, p. 461.

the two companies, amounting together in SCO
men, and proceeded to Castle Downie. The

earl prevailed upon Lord Lovat to go with him
to Inverness, and to live there under his own
eye, nntU all the arms of which the clan were

possessed, (and of which he promised to obtain

the delivery,) were brought in. But instead

of delivering the arms on the day fixed, being

the 14th of December, he made excuses and

fresh promises from day to day tiU the 21st,

when Lord Loudon, thinking that he was de-

ceived, placed sentries at the door of the house

where Lord Lovat resided, intending to com-

mit him to the castle of Inverness next morn-

ing; but his lordship contrived to escape dur-

ing the night through a back passage, and,

being very infirm, was supposed to have been

carried off on men's shoulders.'

Next in importance to the keeping down of

the Erasers, was the relief of the shires of Banff

and Aberdeen from the sway of Lord Lewis

Gordon. To put an end to the recruiting and

exactions of this nobleman, the laird of Jlac-

leod was sent the same day that Lord Loudon

proceeded to the seat of Lord Lovat ivith a

body of 500 men, composed of 400 of his own
kindred, and 100 of the Macleods of Assint, to-

wards Elgin, and these were to be followed by

as many men as could be spared fi-om Inver-

ness, after adjusting matters with Lord Lovat.

Accordingly, on the 13th, 200 men were de-

tached tmder Captain Munro of Culcairn, to

follow Macleoil to Elgin and Aberdeen, and

tliese were agam to be followed by other small

bodies, and by Lord Loudon himself, as soon

as matters were finally settled with Lovat. The

escape of that wily old chief, however, put an

end to this part of the plan, as it was con-

sidered dangerous to reduce the force near In-

verness any farther, while Lord Lovat was at

large.

In the meantime Macleod reached Elgin,

where he received intelligence that a party of

200 of the insurgents had taken possession of

the boats on the Spey at Fochabers, and that

they intended to dispute the passage with him.

Macleod advanced to the banks of the Spey on

the 15th; but the insurgents, instead of wait-

ing for him. retired on his approach, and he

' Cullodcn Papers, p. 4fil.



PEOCEEDINGS OF THE JACOBITES IN THE NOKTH. C13

passed the river without molestation. On the

16th and 17th he marched to Cullen and Banff'.

Jleanwlide Munro of Culcairn arrived with liis

detacliment at Keith, where he was joined by

Grant of Grant at the head of 500 of his clan,

and on the 18th they proceeded, in conjunc-

tion, to Strathbogie. Next day it was agreed

upon between Macleod and Culcairn, that

wliilst the former should march next morning

from Banff to Old Meldrum, which is twelve

miles from Aberdeen, the latter, with Grant

and liis men, should at the same time proceed

to Inverury, which is about the same distance

from Aberdeen; but Grant, apprehensive that

his own country would be harassed in his ab-

sence, returned home.*

When Lord Lewis Gordon heard of the

arrival of Macleod at Inverury, he resolved to

attack him. With his own regiment, the men

\\hom Lord Jolm Drummond had sent, and

a battalion of 300 Earquharsons, commanded

by Farquliarson of Monaltry, he left Aber-

deen on the 23d, and arrived near Inverury

with such expedition and secrecy, that he

almost surprised Macleod in his quarters. It

WHS late before Lord Lems reached the place,

and Macleod had barely time to put his men

under arms, and to seize some advantageous

posts in the town. Day-light had disappeared

before the action commenced ; but the light of

the moon enabled the combatants to see one

another. Both sides continued to fire for some

time ; but Lord John Drummond's soldiers and

the Earquharsons having advanced close upon

the Macleods, the latter fled, and never halted

till they had recrossed the Spey. Very few

men were kLUed on either side ; but the victors

took forty-one prisoners, among whom were

Mr. Gordon, younger of Ardoch; Forbes of

Echt; Maitland of Petrichie; and John Chal-

mers, one of the regents of the university of

Aberdeen.^

Shortly after this skirmish. Lord Lewis Gor-

don marched his men to the general rendezvous

at Perth, where, about the time of Prince

Charles's return from England, about 4,000

men were coUeoted. These consisted of the

M:ickintoshes, the Erasers, the part of the

Mackenzies attached to Charles, and tlie Far-

* Oulloden Papers, p. 462.
^ Kirkconnel MS. Home, 159.

qidiarsons; of recruits sent from the Highlands

to the clan regiments that had gone to Eng-

land; of the forces raised by Lord Lewis Gor-

don, Sir James Kiidoch, and other gentlemen

in the low country of the north ; and of the

troops brought over from France by Lord John

Drummond.

While this mixed body lay at Perth, a dis-

agreement occurred between the Higlilanders

and the other troops, which might have led to

serious consequences if the arrival of an order

sent by the prince from Dumfries, requiring

them to hold themselves in readiness to join

him, had not put an end to the dispute. This

disagreement was occasioned by the conduct of

Lord Strathallan and his councQ of officers, on

receiving the order which Charles had sent

from Carhsle by Maclaucldan of Maclauchlan,

to march \vith all their forces, and to follow

the army into England. This order, contrary

to the opinion of Maclauchlan and all the

Highland officers, they had considered it inex-

pedient to obey. The result was, that the

Highland officers caballed together, and re-

solved to march; but as the Highlanders had

no money, as many of those who had come last

from the Highlands wanted arms, and as Lord

Strathallan was in possession of the money,

arms, ammmiition, and stores, they coidd not

proceed. In this dilemma they entered into a

combination to seize the money and arms, and,

persisting in their resolution to march, matters

were proceeding to extremities when Eollo of

Powhouse arrived at Perth with the order

alluded to, which at once put an end to the

dispute.^

The inhabitants of Edinburgh, relieved hora.

the presence of the Highland army, had lived

for five weeks in a state of comparative security.

Public worship had been resumed in several of

the city churches on the 3d of November, and

in aU of them on the 10th. The state officers

who had retired to Berwick, did not, however,

return tUl the 13th, when they entered the

city with an air of triumph, which accorded ill

with their recent conduct as fugitives. On ths

foUowuig day. Lieutenant-general Handasyde

arrived, as before stated, at Edinburgh -vvith

Price's and Ligonier's regiments of foot, and

« Home, p. !."0.
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Hamilton's and Ligonier's (lately Gardiner's,)

dragoons; and, on the 7th of December, these

troops were sent west to Stirling, where, in

conjunction with the Glasgow and Paisley

militia, amounting to nearly 700 men, com-

manded by the Earl of Home, they guarded

the passes of the Forth. In the mean time,

exertions were made to re-embody the Edin-

burgh regiment; but these do not appear to

have been attended with success. With the

exception of some young men who formed

themselves into a volunteer company, few of

the inhabitants were disposed to take up arms,

as they were fully sensible, that without a

sufficient force of regular troops, no effectual

resistance covld be opposed to the Highlanders,

should they return to the city.

In this situation of matters, the news of the

Highlanders having crossed the Esk in their

retreat from England, reached Edinburgh, and

threw the civil and military authorities into a

state of consternation. Ignorant of the route

the Highlanders meant to follow, they were

extremely perplexed how to act. They natur-

ally apprehended another visit, and their fears

seemed to be confirmed by the return to Edin-

burgh of the regular troops from the west, on

the 23d of December, and by the arrival of the

Glasgow regiment the next day, all of whom
had retreated to Edinburgh on the approach of

the Highlanders. A resolution was adopted

by the public authorities to put the city in a

proper state of defence, and, on the 29th, a

paper was read in the city churches, acquaint-

ing the inhabitants, that it had been resolved

in a council of war to defend the city. Next

day a considerable number of men from the

parishes in the neighbourhood, who had been

provided with arms from the castle, entered

tlie city, and were drawn up in the High Street.

The men of each parish marched by themselves,

and were attended in most instances by their

respective ministers. '^ These were joined by

other small corps, one of the most remarkable

of wliich was a body of Seceders, belonging to

the associated congregations of Edinburgh an^l

Dalkeith, carrjang a standard with the inscrip-

tion, " For KeUgion, Covenants, King, and

Kingdoms."

' Home, p. 162.

Had the Highlanders chosen to march upon

Edinburgh, the resolution to defend it would

not have been carried into effect, as it was the

intention of the regular troops to have retired

to Berwick on their approach ; but, fortunately

for the reputation of the new defenders of the

capital, an army under Lieutenant-general

Hawley was now on its march into Scotland.

This gentleman, who had just been appointed

commander-in-chief in Scotland, though de-

scribed by the Duke of Newcastle as " an

officer of great ability and experience,"^ was in

fact a man of very ordinary military attain-

ments, and in no way fitted for the important

duty which had been assigned him. His

whole genius lay, as Mr. John Forbes of Cul-

loden observed to his father, the president, in

the management of a squadron, or in prosecut-

ing with vigour any mortal to the gallows.

He had a very sorry opinion of the prowess of

the Higlilanders, whom he was confident of

beating, if his troops were in good condition,

without regard to the numbers of their oppo-

nents;^ but he was destined soon to find out

his mistake.

To expedite the march of tne English army,

the gentlemen and farmers of Teviotdale, the

Merse, and the Lothians furnished horses, 1-v

means of which the first division of the royal

army, consisting of a battalion of the Scots

Eoyals and Battereau's foot, reached Edinburgh

as early as the 2d of January, where they were

shortly joined by Fleming's and Blakeney'a

regiments, that of Major-general Huske, by

Hawley himself, by the regiments of Wolfe

(not, as has been supposed, the immortal

general of that name) and Cholmoadeley,

Howard's (the old Buffs) and Mom-o's, and b)'

Barrel's and Pulteney's. At Dunbar, Aber-

lady, and ether places, these troops were en-

tertained by the proprietors in East Lothian,

who allowed each soldier a pound of beef, a

pound of bread, a glass of spirits, and a bottle

of ale. 1 They were also feasted at Edinbm'gh

at the expense of the city, where they were

courteously received by the terrified inhab-

itants, who fm-nished them with blankets, and

evinced great anxiety to make them oomfort-

' CuUoden Papers, p. 264. » Idem, p. 265.
* ScuU Mayaziiie^ vol. viii. p. 32.
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able. ' The citizens also illuminated their houses

;

and such as declined had their windows broken

by the mob, who also demolislied with an un-

sparing hand all the windows of sucli liouses as

were uninliabited. On liis arrival in the city,

the commander-in-chief justified Mr. Forbes's

opinion by causing one gallows to be erected

in the Grassmarket, and another between Leith

and Edinburgh, on which it is supposed he

meant to hang such unfortunate vicluns as

miglit fall into his hands. *

To retiurn to Charles. On his arrival at

Glasgow, his first care was to provide for the

necessities of his men, who were in a most

pitiable plight from the want of clothing. He
ordered the magistrates to furnish the army

with 12,000 shirts, 6,000 clotli coats, 6,000

pairs of stockings, and 6,000 waistcoats. En-

raged at the conduct of the citizens for having

subscribed to the fund for raising troops against

him, the prince sent for Buchanan the provost,

and demanded the names of the subscribers,

and threatened to hang him in case of refusal

;

but tlie provost, undismayed, replied that he

would name nobody except himself, that he

had subscribed largely, as he thought he was

discharging a duty, and that he was not afraid

to die in such a cause. The provost had to

pay a fine of £500 as the penalty of his refusal.^

The mansion which Charles occupied during

his residence in Glasgow belonged to a rich

merchant named Glassford. It was the best

house in the city, and stood at the western ex-

tremity of the Trongate, but has long since

disappeared. While in Glasgow he ate twice

a-day in public. The table was spread in a

small dining-room, at wliich he sat do-svn with-

out ceremony with a few of his officers in the

Highland dress. He was waited upon on these

occasions by a few Jacobite ladies. Charles

courted popularity, and, to attract attention,

dressed more elegantly in Glasgow than at any

other place ;^ but the citizens of Glasgow kept

' "Tlie zeal (says General Wightman^ which the

inhahitants have shown in accommodating the troops,

will help to ridd us of the suspicion of Jacobitism ; hut
we have a pack of vermin {Qu. Jacohites?) within our

walls, who take unaccountable libertys, of whom I

hope we shall be for ever ridd ere long."

—

CuUodcn
Papers, p. 470.

* CuUoden Papers, p. 270.
' Boyse, p. 131.
' Household Book in Jacobite Memoirs, p. 155.

up a reserve, which made Charles remark, with

a feeling of mortified disappointment, that he

had never been in a place where he found fewer

friends. Though dissatisfied with the people,

he seemed, however, greatly to admire the regu-

larity and beauty of the buUdings. ^

Having refitted his army, Charles, within a

few days after his an-ival, reviewed it on Glas-

gow Green, in presence of a large concourse of

spectators, and had the satisfaction to find that,

with the exception of those he had left at Car-

lisle, he had not lost more than 40 men during

his expedition into England. Hitherto he had

carefully concealed his weakness, but now,

thinking himself sure of doubling his army in

a few days, he was not unwilling to let the

world see the handful of men with which he

had penetrated into the very heart of England,

and returned in the face of two powerfid armies

almost without loss.^

Abandoning, in the mean time, his project

of returning to England, Charles resolved to

lay siege to the castles of Stirling and Edin-

burgh. He depended much for success upon

the artillery and engineers brought over by

Lord John Dnmimond, and looked confidently

forward for additional succours from France in

terms of tlie repeated assurances he had received.

Having determined on beginning with Stirling,

he sent orders to Lord Strathallan, Lord John

Drummond, Lord Lewis Gordon, and other

commanders in the north, to join him forthwith

with all their forces. To accelerate a junction

with the forces at Perth, the prince marched

his army from Glasgow on the 4th of January,

1766, in two divisions; one of which, com-

manded by the prince, took the road to KUsytli,

where it passed the night. Cliarles liimself

took up his quarters in Kilsyth house, then

belonging to Mr. Campbell of Shawfield. Mr.

Campbell's steward, it is said, was ordered to

provide every thing necessary for the comfort

of the prince, under a promise of payment, but

was told next morning that the bill should be

allowed to his master at accounting for the

rents of Kilsyth, which was a forfeited estate.

Next day Charles marched towards Stirling,

and encamped his division at Denny, Bannock-

bum, and St. Ninians. He passed the night

Boyse, p. 132 ' Kirkconnel MS.
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at Bannockbum-liouse, the seat of Sir Hugli

Patersou, wliero lie was received with Jacobite

hospitality. The other division, consisting of

six battalions of the clans, under Lord George

Murray, spent the first night at Cumbernauld,

and the next at Falkirk, where they fixed their

quarters.

Preparatory to the siege of the castle, Charles

resolved to reduce the town of Stirling. The

inhabitants, encouraged by General Blakeney,

the governor of the castle, determined to defend

the town ; and a bod}' of about 600 volunteerK,

aU inhabitants of the town, was supplied by

the governor with arms and ammunition fi'om

the castle, and promised every assistance he

coidd afford them. He told them, at the same

tune, that if they shoidd be overpowered they

could make a good retreat, as he would keep

an open door for them. Animated by the

activity of the magistrates and the clergymen

Stirling, aoout the bei

of the town—among whom the Rev. Ebenezer 1

Erskine, the father of the Secession,- who I

commanded two companies of Secedei-s, was
i

parcicularly distinguished—the inhabitants pro-
|

eeeded to j^ut the town in a posture of defence.

On the afternoon of Saturday the 4th of

January, the Highlanders had nearly sur-

rounded the town; but they did not complete

the investment till next day, wliich was partly

occupied in cutting do\vn some trees intended

for fascines, on which they meant to construct

a battery. About eight o'clock in the evening

tiiey sent a drumnxer to the east gate with a

message; but, being fired upon by the sentinels,

he tlu'ew away his drum and fled. The insur-

Slezer ^ Ttajii un 3cotia.

gents fired several shots into the town during

the night, whicli were responded to by the

volunteers, who were all under anns, and posted

in different parties at the different by-ways and

paths into the town, and at such parts of the

waU as were deemed insufficient. During the

night the utmost alarm prevailed among the

inhabitants, and few of them went to bed.

Some fled from the town, and others retired

into the castle; but the magistrates and the

other principal inhabitants remained all night

in tlie coimcil chamber in which llioy had as-

sembled, to give such direction and assistance

as might be necessary, in case an assault should

be attempted during the night.

-

» Now embodied in the United Pieshyteriau Chiircli. Htstory of Stirling, p. 146.
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!Next morrjng the insurgents were Jiscovered

erecting a Lattery ^ritlLin musketrshot of the

town, almost opposite to the east gate, in a

situation where the cannon of the castle could

not bo brought to bear upon them. The volun-

teers kept up a constant fire of miiskatr}' upon

them; but, in spite of this annoyance, the

Higlilandcrs completed the battery hefore noon.

Charles, thereupon, sent a verbal message to

the magistrates, requiring them instantly to

surrender the town; but, at their solicitation,

they obtained till ton o'clock next day to make

up their minds. The message was taken into

consideration at a public meeting of the in-

habitants, and the question of surrender was

long and anxiously debated. The majority

having come to the resolution that it was im-

possible to defend the town with the hanilful

of men within, two deputies were sent to Ban-

nockburn, the head-quarters of the Highland

army, who offered to surrender on terms;

stating that, rather than surrender at dis-

cretion, as required, they would defend the

town to the last extremity. After a negotia-

tion, wliicli occupied the greater part of Tues-

day, the following terms of capitulation were

agreed upon: viz., that no demand should be

made upon the town revenues,—that the in-

habitants should not be molested in their per-

sons or effects,—and that the arms in the town

sliould be returned to the castle. Pending

this negotiation, the Highlanders, to terrify the

inhabitants into a speedy submission, as is

supposed, discharged twenty-seven shots from

the batter}' into the town, wliich, however, did

no other damage than beating down a few

chimney tops. After the arms were carried

into the castle, tlie gates were thrown open on

Wednesday the 8th, and the Highlanders en-

tered the town about tliree o'clock in the after-

noon. *

Being in want of battering cannon for a

siege, Charles had, hefore his departure from

Glasgow, sent orders to Lord John Drmnmond,

to bring up the pieces which he had brought

over from France. As General Blakeney had

broken down part of Stirling bridge, to prevent

the insurgents at Perth from crossing the Forth

at Stirling, some of the battering cannon were

' [Ustortj of Stirling, p. 150.

sent to the Frews, and were transported acros.s

that ford by means of floats, while tlie tost

were brought to Alloa as a nearer road for the

purpose of being transported across the Erilh

of Fortli. Great difficulty was experienced in

getting over tliese pieces, and as tfiero was but

a small guard along with them, tlioy might

have fallen into the hands of a p.arty of troops

sent up the Frith by Hawley, had not Lord

George Murray, on hearing of their embarka-

tion, sent over Lochiel with liis regiment,

w'hich liad lately been augmented by recruits,

and was now 700 strong.

'

As there were no ships at Alloa, Lord George

seized a vessel lying olf Airth to transport his

cannon across the Frith. This was a fortunate

circumstance, as two sloops of war, the Pearl

and Vulture, sailed up tlie Frith next tide

from Leith roads to seize aU the vessels and

boats in the neighbourhood, and otlierwise to

obstruct the conveyance of the cannon. Gen-

eral Hawley, about the same time, viz., on tlie

8th of January, sent up some armed boats, and

a small vessel with cannon from Leitli, manned
with 300 men under the command of Lieuten-

ant-colonel Leighton, to destroy all the works

the Higlilanders had made to cover the passage

of theii' cannon. The sloops of war anchored

in Kincardine roads, whence, on the morning

of the 8tli, two long boats well maimed were

sent up towards Airth, in conjunction with the

other boats and small armed vessel, to burn

two vessels lying in the neighbourhood which

could not be launched till the spring tides.

This service they effected without the loss of a

single man, tliough the boats were fired upon

by the Highlanders who were posted in tlie

village. Having been prevented from retiu'ning

to the station off Kincardine, by the lowness

of the tide, the Highlanders opened a battery

of three pieces of cannon next morning upon

the flotiUa, but without doing it any damage.

The Higlilanders are said to have had two of

their cannon dismounted on this occasion by

the fire fi-om the sloop, and to have sustained

a loss of several men, including their principal

ensineer. *

^ Jacobite Memoirs, p. 77.

* Gefieial Hawley, alluding to this alTair, in a letter

to the lord-president, 12th Jan. 1745-6, says, "We
hare had a small brush with them (the Highlanders)

4 1
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Apprehoiisive that the flotilla would next

altompt to set fire to the other vessel, Lord

George IViun-ay erected a battery of four gims

at Eljihinstone Pans to command the river,

and to keep otf the sloops of war, should they

attempt to come up. In addition to the troops

stationed at Airth, liis lordslup sent a rein-

forcement of between 300 and 400 men from

Falkirk, which arrived at Elphinstone and

Airth on the lOth. At this time the vessel

which had been seized at Airth was lying at

Alloa, and had taken two out of seven pieces

of cannon, with some ammunition on board.

To capture this vessel, a large boat, having 50

soldiers on board, along with the boats belong-

ing to the sloops of war, well manned and

armed, were sent up the river during the night

of the 10th, with instructions to he aU night a

mile above Alloa, in order to intercept the

vessel should an attempt be made to carry her

up the river during the night. Unfortunately,

however, for this design, the boats grounded

after passing the town, and the Higlilanders

who were posted in the town, having, by this

accident, come to the knowledge that the enemy

was at hand, immediately beat to arms, and

commenced a random fire from right to left,

which forced the boats to retreat down the

river. Next morning, however, the two sloops

of war, accompanied by some smaller vessels,

went up the river with the tide, and casting

anchor opposite to, and \vithin musket-shot of

the battery, opened a brisk fire. Three of the

smaller vessels anchored in a convenient place

to play upon the village of Elphinstone, and

two more hovered along as if inclined to land

some soldiers, with which they were crowded.

The firing was kept up on both sides, for up-

wards of three ho\irs, without much damage

on either side. The cable of one of the sloops

of war having been cut asmider by a cannon

shot, an accident which forced her from her

station, and the two pilots in the other having

each lost a leg, the assailants abandoned the

enterprise, and fell down the river with the

ebb-tide. Being now relieved from the pre-

yesterday at Airth, up tlie Forth %vith 300 men in

boats; killed and wounded about fifty, with their

chief French engineer; crippled two of their guns,

burnt all their boats, and hindered their transportmg

their great cannon from AUoway for some days. "

—

Oulloden Papers, p. 266.

sence of the enemy. Lord George brought over

the cannon and stores without further oppo-

sition. *

On the 12th of January, two daj-s after he

had taken possession of the town, Charles

broke ground before Stirhng castle, between

the church and a large house at the head of

the town, called Mart's work. Here he raised

a battery against the castle, upon which ho

mounted two sixteen-pounders, two pieces of

eight, and three of three. The prince there-

upon summoned General Blakeney to surrender,

but his answer was, that he wotdd defend the

place to the last extremity ; that as honour

had hitherto been his rule through life, ho

would rather die than stain it by abandoning

his post, and that his royal highness would

assuredly have a very bad opinion of him,

were he to surrender the castle in such a

cowardly manner." To prevent any intelli-

gence of their operations being carried to the

enemy, the Highlanders shut the gates of the

town, and placed guards at all the outlets.

The siege went on very slowly, and Charles

soon perceived that he had chosen a bad situa-

tion for liis battery, which was so exposed to the

fire of the castle, that its works were speedily

demolished, and the cannon dismounted.

While the siege was going on, the forces in

the north umier Lord Strathallan and Lord

John Driunmond began to arrive at Stirling.

By these reinforcements the prince's army was

increased to 9,000 men, all in the highest

spirits. The Macdonalds, the Camerons, and

the Strarts, were now twice as numerous as

they were when the Highland army entered

England, and Lord Ogdvy had got a second

battahon, under the command of Sir James

Eonloch, as lieutenant-colonel, much stronger

than the first. The Erasers, the Mackintoshes,

and Earquharsons, were reckoned 300 men

each, and in addition to these, the Earl of

Cromarty, and his son. Lord Macleod, had

also brought up their men. ^

Conceiving liimself in a sufficiently strong

condition to give battle to the Highlanders,

General Hawley began to put the troops he

^ JacoiiU Memoirs, p. 73. Kirlcconnel MS. Scott

Magazine, vol. viii.

^ Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 116.
^ Kirkc&tiiiel MS,
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I

Lad assembled at Edinburgh in motion towards

the west. Ilis force amounted to upwards of

9,000 men, of whom 1,300 were cavahy, and

he might in a few days have increased it con-

siderably by the addition of some regiments

wliich were on their march to join him. He
had also reason to expect the immediate arrival

in the Frith of Forth of a body of 6,000

Hessians who had embarked at WiUiamstadt

on the 1st of January, by which accession his

army would have been almost doubled. Im-

patient, however, to acquire a renown which

had been denied to Cope, his predecessor, of

whose capacity he had been heard to speak

very contemptuously, Hawley resolved not to

A'ait for his expected reinforcements, but to

seize the laurels which were in imagination

already within his grasp.

Accordingly, on the morning of the 1 3th

of January, the first division of the royal army,

c(Uisisting of five regiments of foot, together

with the Glasgow regiment of militia, and

Hamilton's and Ligonier's dragoons, all under

the command of Major-general Huske, left

Edinburgh and marched westward to Linlith-

gow. Hearing that preparations had been

made at Linlithgow for tlie reception of these

troops, and that provisions and forage had been

collected in that town for the use of Hawley's

army. Lord George Murray left Falkirk at four

o'clock the same morning for Linlithgow, with

five battalions of the clans for the purpose of

capturing these stores. He was joined on the

road by Lord Elcho's and Lord Pitsligo's troops

of Kfe-guards, whom he had ordered to meet

him. Before sunrise he had completely sur-

rounded the town, and as Lord George had

been informed that Huske's division was to

enter the to'wn at night, he called his officers

together before marching into town, and hav-

ing told them the object for which they had

come, he desii'ed that they woidd continue

ready to assemble in the street on a moment's

warning, in order to march wherever they might

be directed. After taking possession of the

town, and apprehending a few mUitia, Lord

George sent forward some patrols on the road

to Edinburgh, to reconnoitre while the High-

landers were engaged in seizing the articles

prepared for the royal forces ; but tliey had

scarcely been an hour in town when these

advanced parties discovered a body of dragoons

advancing in their direction. Two of the

patrols came back at full speed, and having

given Lord George notice of their approach, he

marched with his men out of the to'wn. The

dragoons retired as the Highlanders advanced.

Their horse, with 200 of the best foot, followed

them about two mUes ; but the main body re-

turned to Linlithgow, where they dined. With

the exception of a few small reconnoitring

parties, the advanced body also returned to thQ

town ; but in less than an hour one of these

parties came in with information that the dra-

goons were again returning with a large body

of horse and foot. Lord George resolved to

attack them when the half of them should

pass the bridge, half a mUe west from the

town, and after waiting with his men on the

streets till Huske had reached the east end of

the town, he retired in the expectation that the

royalist general woidd foUow him; but Huske,

who marched above the town, though he fol-

lowed the Higlilanders to the bridge, did not

pass it. Lord George returned to Falkirk, and

by orders of the prince marched next day to

Bannockburn.8

On the 14th other three regiments marched

from Edinburgh towards Borrowstownness, to

support the division under Huske, and these

were followed next day by three additional

regiments. With these forces Huske marched

on the 16th to Falkirk, and encamped to the

north-west of the tovm with his front towards

Stirling. In the evening he was joined by the

remainder of the army, and the artillery, con-

sisting of ten pieces of cannon. General Haw-

ley himself arrived at CaUander House the

same evening. Next morning the army was

joined by Cobham's dragoons, who had just

arrived from England, and by about 1,000

Argyleshire men, chiefly Campbells, under the

command of Lieutenant - colonel Campbell,

afterwards Duke of Argyle. Besides this

corps, this whig clan furnished another of

1,000 men, which was posted about Inverary,

under Major-general Campbell, the colonel's

father, to guard the passes. Along with the

army was a company called the Yorkshire

Blues, raised, maintained, and commanded, by

* Jacobite Memoirs, p. 79. Kirkcmnel MS
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a gentleman of tlie name of Thornloiu Sovural

volunteers, among whom were sevoral clergy-

men, also acoompaiiied the army on this oc-

casion.

Having received intelligence of the advance

of the royalists to Falkirk, Charles, on the

evening of the 16th, ordered the diiferent de-

tachments of his army to concentrate upon

Plean moor, about seven miles from that town,

and two miles to the east of Baunockbui-n,

where his head-quarters were. He, however,

loft several battalions, amounting to about 1 ,000

men, in Stiiiing, under the Duke of Perth, to

])ush on the siege of tlie castle. Nobody sup-

posed that the prince, in issuing tliis order,

had any other object in contemplation tlian to

review his army, and of so little importance

was it considered, that althougli the order was

immediately made known on all sides, it was

near twelve o'clock next day before the differ-

ent parts of the army arrived from their quar-

ters.' After the army had been drawn up in

line of battle, Charles called a council of war,

and for the first time stated his intention of

giving immediate battle to Hawley. Tliat

general had, it is believed, been informed of

tlio probability of an attack, but he treated the

information lightly, and instead of attending

to the aifairs of his camp, spent the morning

at Callander House with the Countess of KU-

marnock, with whom he breakfasted. ^ Tlie

Torwood, once a forest of great extent, cele-

brated as the chief retreat of the heroic Wallace,

but now greatly decayed, lay between the two

armies; and through what was once the middle

of tlie forest, the high road from Stirling to

Falkirk, by Banuockburn, passes.

From information which Charles had re-

ceived, he supposed that Hawley would have

advanced and offered him battle ; but seeing

no appearance of him, he put his army in mo-

tion about mid-day, towards Falkirk. Wlide

the main body of the army marched in two

columns along the moor, on the west side of

the Torwood, where they could not be seen

from Hawley's camp, a third body of horse

and foot, under Lord John Drummond, ap-

peared upon the high road which runs through

the centre of the Torwood, and moved about,

• Kirkconncl MS. Jolinstone's Mciiioirs, p. 1'20

displaying then- colours in view of the enemy,

as if they intended to attack Hawley's camp.

The object of this parade was to di-aw off tlie

attention of the enemy from t!ie main bodv,

which was advancing unperceived towards Fal-

kirk, by a different route. After the two

columns had advanced about half a mile. Lord

George INIurray received an order from the

prince to delay passing the water of Carron tiU

night, as he did not think it ad\'i3able to cross

in the face of the enemy, but liis lonlsliip hav-

ing satisfied his royal highness of the impro-

priety of the order, he was allowed to proceed.

Ignorant of the approach of the main body of

the Highlanders, Hawley's officers thought the

demonstration made by the body on the high

road unworthy of attention; but they were

aroused from their apathy by a countryman,

who arrived in the camp with intelligence that

the Highlanders were close upon them. Two
of the oifi.cers immediately ascended a tree,

and, by means of a telescope, descried the

HigUand army marching towards Falkhk, by

the south side of the Torwood. Tliis was a

little before one o'clock, and the officers having

communicated the circumstance to Lieutenant-

colonel Howard, their commanding officer, he

went to Callander House and informed the

general of it. Instead, however, of ordering

his men to get under arms, Hawley directed

that they should merely put on their accoutre-

ments. This order was obeyed, and the troops

sat down to dinner, but before they had finished

their repast, they were summoned to arms.

Wlien the Highlanders came in sight of the

water of Carron, the town of Falkirk, and tlie

enemy's camp, also opened upon their view.

It was now between one and two o'clock, and

some well-mounted scouts, who were on the

opposite side of the water, on observing the

Highlanders, immediately rode off at fuU gallop,

and reported that the Higliland army was

about to cross the Carron at Dunnipace. The

alarm which this intelligence produced in the

royalist camp was very great. Hawley was

instantly sent for, and the commanding oSicers,

who were exceedingly perplexed, formed their

regiments as quickly as possible upon the

groimd in front of the camp. Tlie general,

instantly mounting his horse, galloped to the

camp, and in his haste left his hat behind him.
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In taldng tho circuitous route by tlie south

siile of tlie TovwooJ, Cluirles bad a double ob-

ject in view—to conceal his approach from tlie

enemy as long as he could, and to obtain pos-

session of Falldrk moor, about two miles soutli-

vvest of Hawley's camp, and wliich, from tlie

nature of the ground, was considered well fitted

for the operations of a Highland army. Sus-

pecting that it was the prince's design to secure

the heights of the moor, Hawley at once deter-

mined to prevent him, if possible, and accord-

ingly on his arrival at the camp he ordered the

tliree regiments of dragoons to march towards the

moor, and take possession of the high ground

between them and the insurgents. He also

directed the infantry to foUow them with fixed

bayonets. Tlds was a rash and inconsiderate

step, as Hawley had never examined the ground,

wliich he found, when too late, was by no

means a suitable field of battle for his troops.

In ordering his army to march up the moor,

the English commander is said to have been

impressed with the idea that the Highlanders

did not mean to attack him, but to give him

the slip, and march back to England, and that

his object was to intercept them and bring

them to action.2 This explanation, however,

is by no means satisfactory.

After crossing the Carron at Dunnipace

Steps, the main body of the Higlilanders

stretched along the moor in two parallel hues,

about two hundred paces asunder. The column

next the royal army consisted of the clan regi-

ments which had been in England, and of the

recruits which had lately arrived from the

Highlands, with the Erasers, and a battaUon

of the Earquliarsons. The other column, which

was to the right of the last mentioned, con-

sisted of the Athole brigade, the Maclauclilans,

the battalions of OgUvy and Gordon, and Lord

Jolin Drummond's regiment. After reaching

the bottom of the hill, the columns faced to

the left, and began to ascend the eminence.

Almost simultaneously with this movement,

Hawley's dragoons, proceeding along the eastern

wall of Bantaskin inclosures, rapidly ascended

the hQl also, followed by the foot with fixed

bayonets. At this instant, the sky, which tiU

then had been mmsuaUy serene, became sud-

^ Hume, p. 176.

dcnly overcast, and Lrr-foro tI;o foot, ba.i ad-

vanced far, a violent storm of wind av.i! rrin

burst from the south-west, which ^•'s.t diroctly

in the faces of the soldier?, and rer;'idi'(l their

march up the hiU. A riuming ooiile.rt .soomed

now to take place between the ilragooits and

the advanced divisions of the Highland columns,

consisting of the Macdonalds and the Atholo

men, to gain the summit of the ridge of tho

moor. Both parties reached the top of the hill

about the same time, and possessed themselves

of two eminences, within musket-shot of each,

other. To prevent the dragoons gaining the

advantage of the ground and the wind, the

ilaodonalds and Athole men had advanced

with such rapidity, that they had left the rear

of the columns considerably behind, and on

reaching the height of the moor, they halted to

give time to the rear to come up.

Meanwhile Lord George Murray, who com-

manded the right wing, proceeded to make the

necessary arrangements for battle. In form-

ing, the two columns merely faced to the left,

by which simple movement the eastern column

at once became, as originally designed, the

front line. Wlien completed, the order of

battle of the Highland army was as follows.

On the extreme right of the first line, stood

the Macdonalds of Keppoch, next to these the

Macdonalds of Clanranald, and in succession

the regiment of Glengary, a battalion of Far-

quharsons under Farquliarson of Bumarrel,'

the Maokenzies, the Mackintoshes, the Mao-

phersons under Clirny their chief, the Erasers

under the Master of Lovat, the Stuarts of

Appin, and the Camerons, who formed the

extreme left of this line. The second line,

which chiefly consisted of the low country

regiments, was composed of the Athole brigade,

which formed the right wing, of Lord Ogilvy's

regiment of two battalions in the centre, and

of the regiment of Lord Lewis Gordon, also of

two battalions, which formed the left of the

line. At the distance of about twenty yards

in the rear of the centre of the second line, the

prince was stationed with some horse and foot,

and was joined before the commencement of

' There was another battalion of tlie Farquharsons

under Farquharson of Monaltry, which, having the

charge of the cannon belonging to the insurgent army,
was not in the battle.
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tiio action Ly I<oril Joliii Drumiuuiid, \vitii a

Isrge body of liorse, the Irish piquets and the

other troops, \rith which he had made the feint,

as a ecT2''S dii ra-erve. Some of the horse

guards uudor Lords Elcho and Babnerino, and

also some of the hussars, who were on the

right of the prince, were sent farther to the

right to protect the flank, but they were pre-

vented fi-om extending farther, by a morass,

which covered the riglit wing, and were obliged

to draw up behind the Athole men. At the

opposite extremity on the left of the prince,

IjOrd Pitsligo's and Elilmarnock's horse were

stationed.*

The infantry of the royal army was also

formed in two lines, with a body of reserve in

the rear; but the disposition of the cavalry, as

will be seen, was altogether different from that

of the insurgent army. The first line consisted

of the regiments of Ligonier, Price, Royal

Scots, Pulteney, Cholmondeley, and "Wolfe,

and the second of those of Battereau, Barrel,

Eleming, Munro, and Blakeney. The names

of the regiments are here given according to

the order they held, beginning with the right.

Behind the right of the second line, Howard's

regiment was stationed as a reserve. The

Glasgow regiment, and other Lowland militia,

were posted as another body of reserve, near

some cottages behind the left of the dragoons;

and the Argyleshire men were placed at some

distance from the right of the royal army, to

watch the motions of the forces under Lord

John Drummond, who seemed, before they

joined the two columns on the moor, to threaten

an attack upon the camp. The left of the

dragoons was directly opposite to Keppoch's

regiment, but by keeping large intervals be-

tween their squadrons, their right extended as

far down as the centre of Lord Lovat's regi-

ment, wliich stood the third from the left of

the insurgent army. In consequence of this

extension of the front line of the royal army,

Lochiel's regiment, which was upon the left

extremity of the opposite line, was outflanked

by three of the royal regiments. With the ex-

ception of one or two regiments in each line,

which, by their proximity to the top of the

moor, had reached ground somewhat level, the

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 501. Kirkcormel MS.
Home, p. 168. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 85.

re&l of the king's infantry .stoud on the declivity

of the hiU, and so great was the inequahty of

the groimd, that the opjiosite wings alone of

either army were visible to each other. Between

the right of the royal army and the left of that

of the insurgents, there was a ravine, which,

beginning on the declivity of the hUl, directly

opposite the centre of the Eraser battalion, ran

in a northerly direction, and gradually widened

and deepened till it reached the plain. The
right of the royal army was commanded by

Major-general Huske, the centre by Hawley
liimself, and the left by Brigadier Cholmon-

deley, but the three regiments of dragoons on

the left were under the immediate command of

Lieutenant-colonel Ligonier. The colonel's

own dragoon regiment, formerly Gardiner's,

was stationed on the extreme left. HamUtou's

dragoons were posted on the right, and Cob-

ham's in the centre.

In the action about to commence, the com-

batants on both sides were deprived of the use

of their artQlery. The Higlilanders, from the

rapidity of their march, left their cannon beliind

them, and those belonging to Hawley's army,

consisting of ten pieces, stuck fast in a swamp

at the bottom of the hill. The royal forces

were greatly superior to the Highlanders in

numbers, but the latter had the advantage of

the ground, and having the wind and the rain

in their backs, were not annoyed to the same

extent as their adversaries, who received the

wind and rain directly in their faces. ^

The right wing of the Higldand army and

Hawley's cavah-y had remained upwards of a

quarter of an hour within musket-shot of each

other, waiting the coming up of the other forces,

when General Hawley sent an order to Colonel

Ligonier, to attack the Highlanders. At the

time this order was despatched, some of his

troops destined for the centre of his second line

had not reached their posts, but Hawley, impa-

tient of delay, and led astray by a mistaken

though prevalent idea, that the Higlilanders

could not stand the shock of cavalry, resolved

to commence the action with the dragoons only.

* Some accounts make Hawle3''s forces of all descrip-

tions at 15,000, being nearly double the number of

the Highlanders, who amounted to 8,000; but these

statements are exaggerated. Hawley's army, including

the Argyleshire men, did not probably exceed 10,000

men.
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I ;gouioj, Avho appears to have entertained more

correct notions on this subject than the general-

issicio, waa surprised at the order ; but he pro-

ceeded to put it in execution.^

Before advancing, Colonel Ligonier made

several motions, with the design of drawing off

the fire of the Highlanders, and riding in among

them, and brealdng their ranks ; but they did

not fire a shot. Conjecturing that the di'agoons

were to be supported by a body of infantry in

their rear, Lord George Murray, to whom no

such description of force was discernible at the

time, sent Colonel Roy Stuart and Anderson,

the gmde at the battle of Preston, forward on

horseback to reconnoitre. On receiving their

report that they had not observed any foot.

Lord George resolved to anticipate his opponent

Ligonier, by attacking the dragoons. Accord-

ingly he gave orders to the right wing to advance

slowly, and, passing along the line, desired the

men to keep their ranks, and not to fire till he

gave them orders. Lord George, with his sword

in liis hand, and his target on his arm, then

took his station at the head of the first line,

wliich, with the second, continued to advance

in good order. The dragoons, on observing the

approach of the Highlanders, also began to

move forward, and were instantly at the full

trot. They came up in very good order, tUl

within pistol-shot of the first line of the High-

landers, when Lord George Mui-ray presented

his piece as the signal to fire. The Higlilanders,

thereupon, discharged a voUey with such pre-

cision and effect, that the dragoons were entirely

broken, and many of them were killed and

wounded. Hamilton's and Ligonier's regiments

instantly wheeled about, and galloped down

the hill, riding over and trampling upon some

of their party, and carrying along with them a

company of the Glasgow regiment. Cohham's

regiment, which had just retiu'ned from foreign

service, however, stood its ground for some

time, and breaking through the first Line of the

Highlanders, trampled many of them under

foot. A singular combat then ensued. De-

prived of the use of their broadswords, some of

the Higlilanders, who lay stretched on the

ground, had recourse to their dirks, wliich they

plunged into the bellies of the horses. Others

seized the riders by their clothes, and dragging

them from their horses, stabbed them vnth the

same weapon. In this melee the chief ol

Clanranald made a narrow escape, having been

trodden do\vn, and before he was able to rise a

horse fell dead upon him, the weight of which

prevented him from extricating himself ^rithout

assistance. While in this perilous situation,

he saw a dismounted cbagoon and a Higlilander

struggling near liim, and for a time the issue

seemed doubtful. The anxiety of the chief,

whose own preservation seemed to depend on

the success of his clansman, was soon relieved,

when he saw the Highlander throw his antag-

onist, and instantly despatch him with his dirk.

The Highlander thereupon came up to the pros-

trate chief, and drew him from under the horse.

The dragoons, unable any longer to contend

ivith the Macdonalds, galloped off to the right

between the two armies, and received the fire

of the remainder of the front line of the High-

landers, as they went along, as far down as

Lord Lovat's regiment.

Afraid that, after the flight of the dragoons,

the Higlilanders would commence a disorderly

pursuit. Lord George Murray ordered the Mac-

donalds of Keppoch to keep their ranks, and

sent a similar order to the two other Maodonald

regiments. But notwithstanding this command

of the lieutenant-general, and the efforts of the

officers, who, with drawn swords and cocked

pistols, endeavoured to restrain them from an

immediate pursuit, a considerable number ol

the men of these two regiments, along with all

tlie regiments on their left, as far down as the

head of the ravine, rushed down the hill in

pm'suit of the enemy. They were received

with a volley from some of the regiments on

the left of the first line of the royal army, and

having returned the fire, the Highlanders threw

away their muskets, and drawing their swords,

rushed in upon the enemy. Unable to resist

the impetuosity of the attack, the whole of the

royal army, with the exception of Barrel's regi-

meut, and part of the regiments of Price and

Ligonier, gave way. At first the Higlilanders

supposed that the rout was complete, and

General Hawley himself, who was huddled off

the field among a confused mass of horse and

foot, was of the same opinion ; but the High-

landers were undeceived, when coming near the

' Iloinc, p. 175,
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bottom of tlio lull, they received a fire in flank

from these regiments, whioli threw them into

great disorder, and obliged them to retire up

the hUL The Camerons and the Stuarts, who
were on the opposite side of the ravine, suffered

also from the fire of this bod}', and were like-

wise obliged to fall back^

Meanwhile Lord George Murray, who ob-

ierved the confusion in Hawley's army, was

I
moving down the hill ;7ilh tho AiiioSe tr.<i:i is

I
good order, for the pui'poso cf altu-kir.j' S: -,.!

I

its retreat. He had sent ordoi-s by 'J^lv/n-r'.

j

Ker, to the reserve to advance on the Icf^, A'^tl

I having met scattered parties of the Slaodonalda

returning up the hUl, he endeavoured to rally

I

them as he marched do'ivn, but ^vithout eflfcct.

I Before reaching the bottom of the hill. Lord

j

George obtained a complete view of the disorder

r!:iL M I— b;.r,;le of Fiilkirk.

wliich prevailed in the enemy's ranks. With

the exception of the three regiments of foot,

and Cobham's dragoons, which were marching

rapidly towards Falkirk, and covering the rear

of the other fugitives, the remainder of the

royal army was running off to the right and

left, by forties and fifties; but as Lord George

had not more than COO or 700 men with him,

and as the rest of the Higliland army was scat-

tered over the face of the hill, he resolved to

halt at its foot. Here he was joined by the

Irish piquets, and by Lord John Drimimond,

' Lord George Mun-ay's N.Trrative in Jacobite Me-
moirs, p. 85. Kirkconnel MS. Home, p. 171. Cut-

lodcn Papers, p. 272. Johnstone's Mevwirs, p. 122.

j

and other officers. Some of the officers advised

! a retreat towards Dunipace, that the men

I

might obtain shelter during the night from

I the rain, which was excessive; but his lord-

I

ship strongly advised that they should en-

' deavour to obtain possession of Falkirk imme-

diately, while the confusion lasted, declaring

that he would either lie in the town cr in

paradise. While this discussion was going on,

the prince arrived, and approved highly of the

views of his lieutenant-general. Charles was

advised, in the meantime, to retire to some

house on the face of the hill, till the result of

the attempt should be lcno\\'n.

It was now almost dark, and as the fires of
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Hawley's camp indicated an apparent intention

on his part to retain possession of the town,

the officers assembled at the bottom of the liill,

considered it unsafe to advance farther, till

they had ascertained the state of matters. To

procure intelligence, Mr. Drummond, eldest

son of Lord Strathallan, and Oliphant, younger

of Gask, entered Falkirk, disguised as peasants,

and having ascertained that General Hawley,

after issuing orders to set fire to his tents, had

abandoned the town, and was retreating on

Linlithgow, they immediately returned to their

friends with the information. The body col-

lected at the foot of the hill now advanced

upon Falkirk, in three detachments; one of

which, under Lochiel, entered the town at the

west end, another under Lord George Murray,

at the centre, and the other, under Lord John

Drummond, by a lane called the Cow wjTid, at

the east end. Some stragglers, who had re-

mained behind, were taken prisoners, one of

whom fired at Lord John Drummond, when

about to .seize him, and wounded him slightly

in the arm. Information of the occupation of

the town, by the Highlanders, was sent to the

prince, who immediately repaired thither, and

took up Ills residence in a house which fronts

the steeple.

So great was the disorder that existed in the

Highland army, occasioned by the rash and

impetuous conduct of the Macdonalds, in leav-

ing their ranks, and by the check received from

the three regiments, that it was about four hoiu-s

after the close of the battle, which lasted

scarcely twenty minutes, before the greater

part of the army had any information of the

result. The Highlanders were dispersed in

every direction over the hill, and the different

clans were mingled together pell-mell. The

confusion was greatly increased by the ob-

scurity of the night, and for several hours they

wandered over the moor, uncertain whether

they were to meet friends or foes. Early in

the evening, many of the Highlanders had re-

tired from the field of battle, either thinking it

lost, or intending to seek shelter from the

weather. During this disorder, the fate of

the prince himself was equally unknown.

Early in the action, he had sent one of his

aides-de-camp ^vith an order; but, on returning

with an answer, the prince was no more to be

seen. The of&cer, in searching for him, fell in

with the prince's own life-guards, drawn up in

order of battle, near a cottage on the edge of

the hill, with their commander. Lord Elcho, at

their head; but his lordship could give him

no information respecting the prince. Lord

Lewis Gordon, and several chiefs of the clans,

ignorant even of the fate of their own regi-

ments, met together at the seat of Mr. Prim-

rose, at Dunipace, where they were joined

by other officers all equally ignorant of the

result of the battle. At length, about eight

o'clock in the evening, all doubt was re-

moved from the n)inds of this party, by the

arrival of Macdonald of Lochgarry, who an-

nounced that the Highland army had obtained

a complete victory,—that the English were

flying in disorder towards Edinburgh,—and

that the prince was in possession of Falkirk,

and in the quarters which had been occupied

by General Hawley. He added, that he had

been sent to Dunipace, by the prince, with

orders to the rest of the army to repair to Fal-

kirk next morning by break of day.

'

Partly from the darkness of the evening, and

partly from the impossibility of collecting a

sufficiently numerous body of the Higlilanders

together, the prince was unable to continue

the pursuit. About 1,.500 of them had en-

tered the to\vn, but so intent were they upon

securing the spoils of the English camp, that it

was with difficulty that sufficient guards could

be got for the town, and the prince's person,

during the night. Besides, the Higlilanders

had been upon their legs for twelve hours,

\vithout receiving any refreshment, and were

completely cbenched to the skin, so that even

had pursuit been otherwise practicable, they

must have speedily desisted from excessive

fatigue, and might probably have suffered from

the dragoons which covered the rear of Haw-
ley's foot.

In addition to seven pieces of cannon which

had been abandoned by the captain of the

train at the commencement of the action,

Hawley left behind him all liis baggage, and a

large quantity of military stores. 0^ving to

the rain, very few of his tents, to which he

had set fire, were consumed. Besides the

Johnstone's j)f(;moi>-s, p. 127.

4 K
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materiel of the royal army, several standards

and stands of colours fell into the Lands of the

victors. According to the official returns, the

loss of the English, in killed, wounded, and

missing, was 280, including a considerable

number of officers; but these returns are sup-

posed to be greatly underrated. ^ There were

si.Kteen officers killed on the government side,

viz. , Colonel Sir Robert Munro of Eoulis

;

Lieutenant-colonel Whitney of Ligonier's regi-

ment of dragoons ; Lieutenant-colonel Biggar of

Munro's regiment; Lieutenant-colonel Powell

of Cholmondeley's regiment ; five captains and

one lieutenant of Wolfe's; and four captains

and two lieutenants of Blakeney's regiment.

Sir Robert's regiment, which consisted chiefly

of liis own clan, had particularly distinguished

itself at the battle of Fontenoy ; but on the

present occasion it partook of the panic which

had seized the other regiments on the left, and

fled, leaving its colonel alone and unprotected.

In this situation Sir Robert was attacked by

six men of Lochiel's regiment, and, for some

time gallantly defended himseK with his half-

pike. He killed two of his assailants, and

would probably have despatched more, had not

a seventh come up and .shot liim in the groin

with a pistol. On falling, the Highlander

struck him two blows across the face with his

broadsword, which killed him on the spot.

Dr. Munro of Obsdale, his brotlier, who, from

fraternal affection, had attended Sir Robert to

the field to afford him any medical assistance

he might require, was standing close by his

brother when he fell, and shared his fate at

tlie hands of the same Higldander, who, after

firing a pistol into his breast, cut him down

with his claymore. The bodies of the two

brotliers having been recognised the next day,

were honourably interred in one grave in tlie

churchyard of Falkirk in presence of aU the

chiefs. -

The loss on the side of the Highlanders

amounted only to about -10 men, among whom

' Mr. Home, who was in the engagement, states,

that Hawley liad about -300 or 400 private men killed.

Maxwell of Kirkconnel, who was also present, reckons
his loss at between 400 and 500 killed, and some
hundreds of prisoners. The Chevalier Johnstone
makes, men 600 killed, and 700 prisoners. Such also

is the estimate of the author of the Journal and Me-
moirs printed among the Lockhart Papers,

• Culludeii Papers, p. 268.

were two or three captains, and some subaltern

officers. They had, however, nearly double

that number wounded. Besides Lord John

Drummond, young Lochiel and liis brother, and

Dr. Arcliibald Cameron, were slightly wounded.

Hawley's army could boast of only one prisoner,

who fell into their hands by mere accident.

This was Major Macdonald of Keppoch's regi-

ment, cousin to the chief. Having pursued

the flying English farther than any other per-

son, he was in the act of returning to his

corps, when in his way he observed, in tlie

dusk of the evening, a body of men at some

distance standing in a hollow near the bottom

of the hni. Imagining tliis body to be Lord

John Drummond's regiment and the French

piquets, he ran forward towards the party with

liis sword stiU drawn, and when near them,

cried out with a feeling of strong emotion,

" Gentlemen, wliat are you doing here ? Why
don't ye follow after the dogs, and pursue

them?" Scarcely, however, had he uttered

these words, when he discovered that the body

he accosted was an English regiment, (Barrel's,)

and the cry, " Here is a rebel ! here is a rebel !

'

at once met his ears. Escape being impossible,

the major, thinking that he would not be dis-

covered by the colour of his white cockade,

which was quite dirty with the rain and the

smoke of the firing, pretended that he was one

of their own Campbells ; but General Huske

observed that it was easy to discover what the

prisoner was by his sword, the blade of which

was covered over with blood and hair. Huske

gave orders " to shoot the dog instantly," and

a party of musketeers immediately presented

their pieces at tlie major's breast ; but Lord

Robert Ker generously interposed, and, beat-

ing down the muskets, saved the major's life.

The general having refused to receive the

major's arms, they were accepted by Lord

Robert. When pulling his pistol from his

belt, previously to surrendering his arms, Huske

was alarmed, and exclaimed with an oath, tliat

" the dog " was going to shoot him ; but Mar-

donald indignantly observed, that he was morn

of a gentleman than to do any such thing, and

that he was only pulling off his pistol to deliver

it up. * The major was carried to Edinburgh,

' Note in the prince's household book in Jacobite

Memoirs, p. I.tS.
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and committed to the castle next day, and,

after a few months' confinemeut, tried, con-

vdcted, and executed.

The victory would have been complete by

the utter annihilation of the English army,

bad the prince taken the usual precautions to

preserve unity of action among the difl'erent

sections of his undisciplined host. Early in

the morning. Lord George Murray had sub-

mitted a plan of the battle to his royal high-

ness, and requested that he would name the

olficers that were to command, and assign them

their different stations ; but with the exception

of Lord George himself, who was appointed to

march at the head of the army, and who con-

sequently had the command of the right wing,

no other appointment appears to have been

made. It seems to have been understood by

Charles himself, that Lord John Drunimond

was to have commanded the left wing ; but if

such was the case, Lord Jolui could have

obtained no distinct notification thereof, as he

never appeared in his place. It is maintained

by Lord George Murray, that had there been

an officer in command on the left, to have

brought up two or tln-ee battalions from the

second line, or from the corps de reserve so as

to have extended the first line stdl farther to

tlie left, and thus to have faced the English

regiments wliich outflanked them, the whole

of Hawley's foot must have been taken or

destroyed, and that few even of the horse

would have escaped, as the Highlanders would

not have given over the chase tdl they had

reached Linlithgow,—and that, in short, had

the three regiments which outlined the High-

landers been faced, the battle would not have

lasted ten minutes, as these regiments, instead

of keeping their ground, pouring in part of

their fire on the left flank of the Highlanders,

and compelling those who attacked the right

and centre of Hawley's foot sword in hand to

retire to their former groimd, would have given

way with the rest of tlie main body, in the

absence of Lord Jolin Drummond, it was the

duty of O'Suliivan, who, as adjutant-general,

was chiefly intrusted by the prince vnih. the

formation of the left wing, to have brought up

men for the purpose of extending the line; but

instead of riding along the line as he should

have done before the action, none of the officers

of the first line of the Highland army saw him

till the battle was over. * While Lord John

Drummond could not but be sensible of the

error which had been committed on the left,

he retaliated upon the lieutenant-general, by

ascribing the escape of Hawley's army to the

conduct of Lord George himself, who prevented

part of the right wing from joining in the

charge upon the foot, after the flight of the

dragoons.

The English imputed their defeat chiefly to

the violence of the storm, wliioh was full in

their faces during the action ; but this, though

certainly a formidable difficulty, was not the

only one they had to encounter. To a com-

bination of unfortunate circumstances, and not

to any partioidar incident, is to be ascribed the

result which ensued; but mainly to Hawley's ig-

norance of the resistance which the Highlanders

coidd oppose to cavalry. He had been major

of Evans's di-agoons at the battle of Sheriffmuir,

where that regiment and the Scots Greys, led

by the Duke of Argyle, after getting over a

morass, which the intense frost of the precediiig

night had rendered passable, attacked the flank

of the insurgent army, which conceived itself

secure from that quarter, and rode down, and

drove off the field several regiments of High-

landers. Imagining from tliis precedent, that

the Highlanders coidd not withstand tlie

charge of cavalry, he observed one day in a

company of officers in Flanders, who were

talking of the battle of Preston, that " he knew

the Higldanders; they were good mditia; but

he was certain that they coidd not stand against

a charge of dragoons, who attacked them well."^

Under this impression he began the battle with

his dragoons, before his infantry had been fully

formed into line; but he soon saw the conse-

quences of his indiscretion.

Though the field of battle is about twenty-

six miles distant from Edinburgh, the intelli-

gence of Hawley's defeat was kno^vn there be-

fore nine o'clock at night, by the arrival of

some spectators who had witnessed the action,

and by some of the dragoons who, impelled by

fear, did not halt tiU they reached the capital

The English general passed the evening of the

battle at Linlithgow, and marched next morn-

Jacobite Memoirs, pp. 91, 92, I Home, p. 177.
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ing with the mass of his army to Edmhiirgh,

where he arrived about four o'clock in the

afternoon. A prey to disappointment and

vexation, the appearance of Hawley on the

morning after the battle is said by an observer

to have been most wretched, and even worse

than that of Cope a few hours after his

" scuffle," when the same person saw him at

Fala on his retreat to Berwick.'

Before the return of Hawley's army, the

greatest consternation prevailed among the

friends of the government at Edinburgh from

the reports of the fugitives, who brought

accounts of the total rout and chspersion

of the army, exaggerated by the relation

of circumstances which had no existence,

save in their own terrified imaginations; but

the arrival of the greater part of the army

served to dissipate their fears in some measure.

Since the commencement of the rebellion,

however, to its final close, never were the ap-

prehensions of the supporters of the existing

government more alarmingly excited than on

the present occasion, when they saw the veteran

troops, who had fought the battles of Dettingen

and Fontenoy, return from Falkirk discomfited

by a body of undisciplined mountaineers whom
they had been taught to despise. The Jacob-

ites, on the other hand, exulted at the victory,

and gave expression to their feelings by openly

deriding the vanquished.''

The prince spent the 18th, the day after the

battle, at Falkirk; but, as the rain fell in tor-

rents during the greater part of that day, few

of the officers quitted their lodgings. Not-

withstanding the unfavourable state of the

weather, the slain were interred by order of

the prince, and a considerable body of High-

landers marched to Linlithgow, of which they

took possession. Charles now took the ad\'ice

of his friends as to the use he should make of

his victory. Some were for following up the

blow which had been struck, and driving

Hawley out of Scotland. Others were for

marching directly to London before the enemy

had time to recover from their consternation.

They argued that it was not to be supposed

that Hawley would again face the prince and

his victorious army till he should receive

' Culloden Papers, p. 267. M, p. 272.

new reinforcements; that even then the troops

which had been beaten would communicate

terror to the rest; and that the prince's army,

flushed with victory, could never fight with

greater advantages on their side. There were

others, however, who thought differently, and

maintained that the capture of Stirling castle

was the chief object at present; that it had

never been before heard of that an army em-

ployed in a siege, having beaten those that

came to raise it, had made any other use of

their victory than to take the fortress in the

first place ; that any other conduct would argue

a great deal of levity; and that it was of the

utmost importance to obtain possession of the

castle, as it opened an easy and safe commimi-

cation between the prince, (wherever he might

happen to be,) and his friends in the north.

This last view was supported by M. Mirabelle

de Gordon, a French engineer of Scotch extrac-

tion, who gave the prince the strongest assur-

ances that the castle would be forced to sur-

render in a few days, and added, moreover,

that if the prince went immediately upon

another expedition he would be obliged to

sacrifice all liis heavy artillery which he could

not carry with him into England.^ The opin-

ion of an individual, decorated with an order,

and who was consequently considered a person

of experience and talents, had great weight

with the prince, who, accordingly, resolved to

reduce the castle of Stirling before commencing

any other operations; but Charles discovered,

when too late, that Mirabelle's knowledge as

an engineer was extremely limited, and that he

had neither judgment to plan nor knowledge

to direct the operations of a siege. This per-

son, whose figure was as eccentric as his mind,

was called, in derision, Mr. Admirable by the

Highlanders.

'

During the prince's short stay at Falkirk, a

misunderstanding took place between a party

of the Camerons and Lord Kilmarnock, which

had nearly proved fatal to that nobleman. As

this incident affords a remarkable illustration

of clanship, the particulars cannot fail to be

interesting. Lord Kilmarnock, having passed

the evening of the battle in his house at Cal-

lander, came next morning to Falkirk with a

' tiirUunncl MS. ' Joha.stone's Memoirs, p. U7,
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party of his men, having in their custody some

Ei-linburgh volunteers, who, having fallen be-

hind Hawley's army in its march to Linhthgow,

had been taken and carried to Callander House.

Leaving the prisoners and their guard standing

in the street, opposite to the house where the

prince lodged, his lordship went up stall's and

presented to him a list of the prisoners, among

whom was Mr. Home, the author of the Tragedy

of Douglas and the History of the Rebellion.

Charles opened the window to survey the pri-

soners, and while engaged in conversation vrith

Lord Kilmarnock about them, as is supposed,

with the paper in his hand, a soldier in the

uniform of the Scots Royals, carrying a musket

and wearing a black cockade, appeared in the

street, and approached in the direction of the

prince. The volunteers who observed this

man coming up the street were extremely sur-

prised, and, thinting that his intention in

coming forward was to shoot the prince, ex-

pected every moment to see him raise his piece

and fire. Observing the volunteers, who were

within a few yards of the prince, all looking

in one direction, Charles also looked the same

way, and seeiug the soldier approach appeared

amazed, and, calling Lord Kilmarnock, pomted

towards the soldier. His lordship instantly

descended into the street, and finding the

soldier immediately opposite to the window

where Charles stood, the earl went up to him,

and striking the hat off the soldier's head,

trampled the black cockade under his feet.

At that instant a Highlander rushed from the

opposite side of the street, and, laj'ing hands

on Lord Kilmarnock, pushed him violently

back. Kilmarnock immediately pulled out a

pistol, and presented it at the HigHander's

head; the Highlander in his turn drew his

dii'k, and held it close to the earl's breast.

They stood in this position about half a minute,

when a crowd of Highlanders rushed in and

drove Lord Kilmarnock away. The man with

the dirk in his hand then took up the hat, put

it on the soldier's head, and the Highlanders

marched oif with him in triumph.

This extraordinary scene surprised the pri-

soners, and they solicited an explanation from

a Highland ofiicer who stood near them. The

officer told them that the soldier in the royal

uniform was a Cameron: "Yesterday," con-

tinued he, " when your army was defeated he

joined his clan; the Camerons received him
with joy, and told him that he should wear his

arms, his clothes, and every thing else, till he

was proWded with other clothes and other

arms. The Highlander who first interposed

and di-ew his dirk on Lord Kilmarnock is the

soldier's brother; the crowd who rushed in are

the Camerons, many of them his near relations;

and, in my opinion," continued the officer,

" no colonel nor general in the prince's army
can take that cockade out of his hat, except

Lochiel himself."^

An accident occurred about the same time,

which had a most prejudicial effect in thinning

the ranks of the Highland army. The High-

landers, pleased with the fire-arms they had

picked up upon the field of battle, were fre-

quently handling and discharging them. Afraid

of accidents, the officers had issued orders pro-

hibiting this abuse, but to no purpose. One
of Keppoch's men had secured a musket which

had been twice loaded. Not aware of this cir-

cumstance, he fired off the piece, after extract-

ing one of the balls, in the direction of some

officers who were standing together on the

street of Falkirk. The other ball unfortunately

entered the body of jEneas Macdonell, second

son of Glengary, who commanded the Glengary

regiment. He survived only a short time, and,

satisfied of the innocence of the man that shot

him, begged with his last breath that he might

not suffer. To soothe the Glengary men
under their loss, the prince evinced by ex-

ternal acts that he participated in their feel-

ings, and, to show his respect for the memory
of this brave and estimable youth, attended

his funeral as chief mom-ner; but nothing the

prince was able to do coidd prevent some of

the men, who felt more acutely than others the

loss of the representative of their chief, from

returning to their homes.

On Sunday the 19th, the prince returned to

Bannockburn, leaving Lord George Murray

with the clans at Falkirk. At Bannockburn

he issued, by means of a printing-press which

he had carried vnth. him from Glasgow, an ac-

count of the battle of Fallcirk, a modest docu-

ment when compared with that of Hawley,

1 Home, V. ISO.
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who gravely asserted that had it not been for

the rain his army would have continued in his

camp, " being masters of the field of battle !"

After the battle of Falkirk, the Duke of

Perth again summoned the castle of Stirling

to surrender, but the governor returned the

same answer he had sent to the first message.

The prince therefore resumed the siege on liis

return to his former head quarters, and fixed

his troops in their previous cantonments. An
able mathematician, named Grant, who had

been employed many years with the celebrated

Cassini, in the observatory at Paris, and who
had conducted the siege of Carlisle, had at the

commencement of the siege communicated to

the prince a plan of attack, by opening trenches

and establishing batteries in the church-yard.

He had assured the prince that this was the

only place where they could find a parallel

almost on a level Tvith the batteries of the

castle; and that if a breach were eflfected in

the half-moon, which defended the entry to

the castle, from a battery in the church-yard,

the rubbish of the work would fill the ditch,

and render an assault practicable through the

breach. In consequence, however, of a re-

monstrance from the inliabitants, who stated

that the fire from the castle in the du-ection of

the church-yard would reduce the greater part

of the to^wn to ashes, the prince abandoned this

plan, and consulted M. MirabeUe, ivith the

view of ascertaining whether there was any

other practicable mode of making an attack on

the castle with effect. To borrow an expres-

sion of the Chevalier Johnstone, in reference

to the conduct of Mirabelle on this occasion,

that it is always the distinctive mark of ignor-

ance to find nothing difficult, not even the

things that are impossible, this eccentric per-

son, -without the least hesitation, immediately

undertook to open the trenches on the Gowling

or Gowan hill, a small eminence to the north

of the castle, about forty feet below its level. ^

As there were not above fifteen inches depth

of earth above the rock, it became necessary to

supply the want of earth with bags of wool

and earth, an operation which occupied several

days. On breaking ground a fire was opened

on the trenches from the castle, which was

- Johnstoue's Memoirs, p. 113.

renewed from time to time during the progress

of the works, and was answered from the

trenches ; but the fire from the castle was not

sufficiently strong to hinder the operations,

wliich, from the commanding position of the

castle guns, could have been easily prevented.

The design of General Blakeney in thus allow-

ing the besiegers to raise their works, was, it

is understood, to create a behef among them,

that the castle would not he tenable against

their batteries, and by this impression to in-

duce the Highland army to remain before the

fortress till Hawley should be again in suffi-

ciently strong condition to advance from Edin-

burgh Ha^ving, on the evening of the 28th,

completed the battery on the Gowan hUl, which

consisted of tbree pieces of cannon, the rebels

quickly raised another on a small rocky emi-

nence called the Ladies' hQl, on the south-east

of the to^wn. They were both unmasked on

the morning of the 29th, and immediately

opened with a brisk fire, which shattered two

of the embrasures of the castle. As the guns

of the batteries were pointed upwards, the balls

generally went over the castle, and the few

that struck the walls produced little effect

;

but the case was totally different with the be-

sieged, who, from their elevated situation, from

which they could see even the shoe-buckles of

the French artillerymen behind the batteries,

poured do^wn a destructive hre upon the be-

siegers from two batteries mounting together

thirteen pieces, which dismounted the besiegers'

guns, broke their carriages, and forced them

to retire with considerable loss. Thus defeated

in their attack, the rebels abandoned the siege

after wasting three weeks in a fruitless attempt

to obtain possession of a post, which could

have been of no essential ser^vice to them,

and before which they lost some of their best

men, chiefly among the French piquets, whom
least of all they could spare.

CHAPTER XXXV.

i. D. 17-16.

—George II., 1T27—1760.

I
Duke of Cumberland sent down to Scotland—Marches

1
westward—Siege of Stirling castle raised—iligli-





WILLIAM" Dina; or cnirBERLAiTD







DUKE OF CUMBERLAND SENT DOWN TO SCOTLAND. 631

Und army retreats to the north^Council held at

Crieff—Duke of Cumberland pursues and arrives at

Perth—Arrival of Hessians—Rout of Moy—Capture

of the town and castle of Inverness by Charles

—

Duke of Cumberland arrives at Aberdeen—High-
landers capture Fort Augustus—Expedition against

Lord Loudon—Expedition of Lord George Murray
into Athole—Duke of Cumberland's movements

—

Takes possession of Old Meldnim and Strathbogie

—

Insurgents retreat across the Spey—Re-capture of

the Hazard sloop-of-war— Siege of Fort William by
the insurgents—Siege abandoned.

Unwilling any longer to intrust tlie manage-

ment of the war to a general who had given

such a signal proof of incapacity as Hawley

had done, the government, immediately on

receipt of his despatches, sent do^vn the Duke

of Cumberland to Scotland, to take the com-

mand of the army, and to retrieve if possible

the lost reputation of the heroes of Dettingen

and Fontenoy. The duke was beloved by

the army, and enjoyed its confidence, circum-

stances which rendered him peculiarly fitted

to supersede Hawley, who, after his return

to Edinburgh, had by his severities become

unpopular with the soldiers. Another rea-

son for putting the duke at the head of the

army opposed to Prince Charles, was the

favourable effect which, it was supposed, the

appearance of a prince of the blood would have

upon the minds of the people of Scotland, and

which, it was expected, would neutralise the

influence of his kinsman. But apart from his

rank as the son of the king, Prince William

had Kttle to recommend him to the especial

notice of a nation, rather fastidious in its

respect for princes. His conduct while in

Scotland showed that humanity, the brightest

ornament which can adorn the soldier hero,

had no place in the catalogue of his virtues.

With a cruelty, partly the result, perhaps, of

the military school in which he was trained, ^

' " But the Duke was no common man. He be-

longed to an age when high command was in a great

measure a royal science, which men of inferior rank
had scanty opportunities of studying. He was con-

nected with the cluster of German princes, among
whom, after the enticing example of the house of

Brandenburg, a knowledge of the art of war was
deemed a good speculation as a means of enlarging

their dominions in the tangled contests created among
the German states by every European war. After

Frederick himself, perhaps none of these princes

would have been so capable of successful appropria-

tions of territory as the young man whose warlike

pursuits were thrown into a different channel by his

connection with the British throne. Though the sub-

ject of a constitutional government, however, he re-

gained the spirit of the German soldier-prince. Mili-

and which fortunately has few parallels among

civilised nations, he pursued his unfortunate

victims, the misguided but chivali-ous ad-

herents of the fallen dynasty, with a relentless

perseverance which disgusted even his own

partisans.

Having received liis instructions, the duke

lost no time in preparing for his journey. He
left London on the 2.5th of January, attended

by Lord Cathcart, Lord Bury, Colonels Con-

way and York his aides-de-camp, and arrived

at Holyrood House on the 30th. He was

waited upon by the state-officers, the magis-

trates of the city, the professors of the uni-

versity, and the clergy, aU of whom were

graciously received. His royal highness was

presented with the freedom of the city in a

gold box. In the afternoon he held a sort of

drawing-room, which was attended by a con-

siderable number of ladies very richly dressed.

The most conspicuous among them was a Miss

Ker, who wore a busk, at the top of which

was a cro'^^Ti done in bugles, surrounded witn

this inscription, " Britain's Hero, WOliafra.

Duke of Cumberland." To celebrate his arrival

the city was illuminated in the evening, but

although the Jacobites, from prudential mo-

tives, concurred yd. this demonstration, their

windows were broken by the mob. *

In the course of the day the duke inspected

the army. His appearance revived the spirits

tary law was the first of all laws ; and to military

necessity everything must jdeld. He followed the

course which, perhaps, most men brought up in his

school would have followed, if in possession of the

same power ; but in a constitutional country it had
the character of brutal severity, and after ha^ang, as

he deemed it, done his stern duty, he left behind him
an execrating country to find tliat his little nephews

ran away and hid themselves, in terror of his notorious

cruelty.'"*—Burton's Scotland, (1689-1748), vol. ii.

p. 507.

• " The bravery of the Duke of Cumberland," says the first

historian of our day, "was such as dibtinguished him even

among il.c nrinccs of his brave house. The indifference with
wliich he roOb ibout amidst musket-balls and cannon-balls,

was not the highe.^t proof of his fortitude. Hopeless maladies

—horrible sm-gicai operations—far from unmanning him, did

not even discompoi e him. With courage, he had the \'irtue3

wliich are akin to cov'xa^e. He spoke the truth, was open in

enmity and friendship, and upriglit in all his dealings. But
his nature was hard : and what seemed to him Justice, was
rarely tempered with mercy. He was therefore, during many
years, one of the most unpopular men in England. The
severity with which he treated the rebels after the battle of

Cullnden, had gained him the name of "the butcher." His
attempts to introduce into the army of England, then in a most
disorderly state, the rigorous discipline of Potsdam, had excited

still stronger disgust. Nothing was too bad to be believed of

him. Many honest people were su absurd as to fancy that if

he were left regent during the minority of his nephews, there

would he another smothering in the toveT."—Macaula>/a Essayi
—Chatham.

* Marohant, p. -328.
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of the soldiers, who, it is said, desired notliing

so much as an opportunity of wiping away tlie

disgrace of their late defeat. Such heiug the

favourahle disposition of the troops, it was

resolved in a coimcU of war held in the even-

ing to march next morning to the relief of

Stirling castle. Accordingly, early in the

morning the army, which, by recent reinforce-

ments, had been increased to fourteen battal-

ions of foot, and four regiments of dragoons,

besides the Argyleshire men, left Edinburgh

in two divisions, preceded by Hamilton's and

Ligonier's dragoons. One of these divisions,

comprising eight battalions, at the head of

which the duke was to place himself, proceeded

towards Linlithgow, and the other, consisting

of six battalions under the command of Briga-

dier Mordaunt, marched in the direction of

Borrowstownness. The duke himself left Holy-

rood House at nine o'clock in the morning,

in presence of a large assemblage of citizens,

who, from curiosity, had collected before the

palace at an early hour to witness his departure.

He entered a splendid coach, which, mth
twelve beautiful horses, had been presented to

him by the Earl of Hopetoun, and was accom-

panied in his progress through the city by

many persons of distinction, and by a crowd

of citizens. On reaching Castlebarns, a place

about a quarter of a mUe from the West-port,

by which he left the city, the duke mounted

his horse, and taking off his hat thanked the

people for their attentions. He told them

that he was in great haste to fulfil the object

of liis mission, and concluded by wishing

them farewell. Tliis short address was received

with a loud huzza. The duke then took leave

of the nobOity and gentry who surrounded

him, and at parting said, " Shall we not have

one songi" He then began to sing an old

Scottish song :

—

"Will ye play me fail'?

Highlajid laddie. Highland laddie."

But before he had finished the first stanza he

stretched forth his hand, and, putting spurs to

his horse, went otf at full gallop to join the

army.^

The duke took up his quarters for the night

at Linlithgow with the eight battalions, and

' .Marchant, p. 329.

Mordaunt stopped at Borrowstowness with the

other division. The dragoons were quartered

in the adjacent villages, and the Argyleshire

men were posted in front towards the river

Avon. Early next morning, the duke received

intelligence that the main body of the Highland

army, quartered at Falkirk, had retired to the

Torwood, where, they gave out, they intended

to make a stand. Determined that no time

should be lost in following the insurgents, the

duke, after reviewing his army in the morning,

advanced towards Falkirk. Several parties of

the Highlanders, who were seen hovering on

the hills between Falkirk and Linlithgow, re-

tu-ed with precipitation on his approach; but

some stragglers were brought in by his advanced

scouts, who reported that the Highlanders,

afraid to risk another battle, on accomit of the

increase of the royal army, and the diminution

of their own by desertion, were repassing the

Forth in great confusion. Two great explo-

sions, like the blowing up of magazines, which

were heard from a distance, seemed to confirm

tliis intelligence. On reaching Falkirk, the

duke found that all the wounded soldiers who
had been made prisoners in the late action, had

been left behind by the insurgents in their re-

treat. His royal highness halted at Falkirk

with the main body of his army, and immedi-

ately detached Brigadier Mordaunt with the

Argyleshire men and all the dragoons, in pur-

suit of the Highlanders. The duke passed the

night in the house which Charles had occupied

on the evening of the late battle, and slept in

the same bed on which the prince had reposed.

Next morning Prince William marched to Stir-

ling, of which Brigadier Mordaunt had taken

possession the previous evening. He compli-

mented General Blakeney on his defence of the

castle, and was informed by the latter that, had

the siege continued much longer, he (Blakeney)

must have surrendered for want of ammmiition

and provisions.

In his march the duke was accompanied by

several officers of the EngUsh army, who had

been taken prisoners at Preston, and who,

under the pretence of being forcibly released

by armed parties of country people in Angus

and Fife, had broken their parole, and returned

to Edinburgh. The Duke of Cumberland, who

appears to have thought it by no meam? chs-
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honourable to break faith with rebels, not only

absolved these officers from their parole, but

sent circulars to all the other officers, who con-

tinued prisoners of war, releasing them from

the solemn obligation they had undertaken not

to serve against Prince Charles for a certain

time, requiring them to join their respective

regiments, and threatening with the loss of

their commissions such of them as should refuse

to return immediately to the service. Only a

few officers had the virtuous courage to refuse

compliance, declaring their sense of the insult

offered to men of an honourable profession, by

remarking that the duke was master of their

commissions, but not of their probity and

honour.^

It was not without considerable reluctance

that Charles had been induced to consent to a

retreat. So late as the 28th of January, on

wliich day he received information at Bannock-

burn that the Duke of Cumberland was expected

at Edinburgh in a day or two, he had sent

Secretary Murray to Falkirk to acquaint Lord

George Murray, that it was his intention to

advance and attack the Duke of Cumberland,

when he should reach Falkirk, and to request

his lordship to remain there tiU the duke came

to Linlithgow. Lord George did not express

any disapprobation of Charles's design, but

immediately dievr up a plan of the battle in

contemplation, which he carried to Bannock-

burn, and showed to Charles. The prince,

who was in high spirits, expressed himself

much pleased ^vith the plan, which differed in

some respects from that he had sketched pre-

vious to the late battle ; but, to his utter aston-

ishment, he received a packet from Lord George

Murray by an aid-de-camp, containing a repre-

sentation by his lordsliip and all the chiefs,"

who were with him at Falkirk, advising a re-

treat to the north.

In this paper, after stating that they con-

sidered it their duty, " in this critical juncture,"

to lay their opitiions in the most respectful

' Kirkconncl MS. Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 167.

Among the honourable few were Sir Peter Halket,

lieutenant-colonel of Lee's regiment ; Mr. Eoss, son of

Lord Ross ; Captain Lucy Scott ; Lieutenants Farquhar-

son and Gumming ; and Mr. Home has been justly

censured for suppressing in his history this fact, and
others equally well known to him.

' These were Lochiel, Keppoch, Clanranald, Ard-

shiel, Lochgary, Scothouse, and the Master of Lovat.

manner before his royal highness, they pro-

ceeded to say, that they were certain that a

vast number of his troops had gone home since

the battle of Falkirk, and that, notwithstanding

all the endeavours of the commanders of the

different corps, they found that the evil was

hourly increasing, and that they had it not in

their power to prevent it,—that as they were

afraid Stirling castle could not be taken so soon

as was expected, they could, from the inequality

of their numbers to that of the enemy, antici-

pate nothing but utter destruction to the few

troops that might remain behind, should the

enemy advance before the castle fell into Prince

Charles's hands. For these reasons, they gave

it as their opinion, that the only way to extri-

cate his royal highness, and those who remained

with him, out of the imminent danger which

threatened them, was to retire immediately to

the Higlilands, where the army could be use-

fidly employed the remainder of the winter in

taking the forts in the north,—that they were

moraUy certain they could keep as many men
together as would answer that end, and would

hinder the enemy from following them to the

mountains at that season of the year,—and

that, in spring, they had no doubt that an army

of 10,000 effective Highlanders could be

brought together, who would follow his royal

highness wherever he might think proper.

Such a plan, they maintained, would certainly

disconcert his enemies, and could not but be

approved of by his royal highness's friends

both at home and abroad, and that if a land-

ing shoidd happen in the meantime, the High-

landers would immediately rise either to join

the invaders, or to make a powerful diversion

elsewhere. On considering the hard marches

wliich the army had undergone, the season of

the year, and the inclemency of the weather,

his royal highness, they said, as well as his

aUies abroad and his adherents at home, could

not fail to approve of the proposal,—that the

greatest objection to the retreat was the diffi-

culty of saving the artUlery, particidarly the

heavy cannon; but that it would be better

that some of these were thrown into the Forth,

than that his royal highness and the flower of

his army should be exposed to the risk they

inevitably would, should the proposed retreat

not be agreed to, and put in execution without

4 L
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loss of time; and that they thought that it

would be the greatest imprudence to risk the

whole on so unequal a chance, when there were

such hopes of succour from abroad , besides the

resources his royal highness would have from

his adherents at home. In conclusion, they

informed the prince that they had just been

apprised, that numbers of their people had

gone off, and that many were sick, and not in

a condition to iight. They added, that nobody

was privy to the address but the subscribers;

and they assured him that it was with great

concern and reluctance they found themselves

obliged to declare their sentiments in so dan-

gerous a situation,—a declaration which no-

thing could have prevailed upon them to make

but the unfortunate diminution of the army by

desertion.^

According to a statement made by John

Hay, who occasionally acted as secretary to the

prince, Charles was so transported \vith rage,

after reading this paper, that he struck his

liead against the wall of the room tiU he

staggered, and exclaimed most violently against

Lord George Murray. To dissuade the sub-

scribers from their resolution, Charles sent Sir

Thomas Sheridan to Falkirk, who, not succeed-

ing in his mission, returned to Bannockburn,

accompanied by Keppoch and several other

chiefs. These argued the matter with Charles

himself, and ultimately prevailed upon him to

consent to a retreat.^ This retreat was con-

demned by some of the prince's flatterers ; but

the simple fact, stated by Patullo the muster-

master of the prince's army, that, before the

retreat, the army had been diminished by de-

sertion to 5,000 men, fully justifies the advice

given by Lord George ^Murray and the chiefs

at Falldrk.i Even Sir Thomas Sheridan, the

especial favourite of the prince, admitted the

necessity of the retreat, for reasons apart from

the reduction of the army.^

In order to make the retreat with as little

loss as possible, horses and carriages were

ordered in from all quarters, under the pretext

of carrying the field artillery and ammunition

towards Edinburgh, whither it was given out

that the army was to march immediately. The

' No. 39 of Appendix to Home.
No. 40 of Idem. ' No. 30 of Idem.

' Vide Letter from Sir Thomas in Stuart Papers,

dated from the Castle of Blair, 8th December, 1746.

army, however, began to suspect the design,

and every person, not in the secret, looked de-

jected. During the 30th, a great deal of bustle

took place in the country in collecting horses

and carriages, but with little elTect, as the

country people, who also began to conjecture

that a retreat was intended, were not disposed

to attend to the order.' At length the design

of these preparations became apparent when,

in consequence of a previous arrangement,

Lord George Murray left Falkirk with the

clans on the evening of the 31st for Bannock-

burn, leaving behind him Elcho's, Pitsligo's,

and Kilmarnock's horse, who were directed to

patrol betwixt Falkirk and Liidithgow till ten

o'clock that night. Lord George continued

at the prince's quarters till after twelve o'clock

at night, when it was agreed that the army

shoidd rendezvous at nine o'clock next morn-

ing near St. Ninians; and a message was

directed to be sent to the Duke of Perth and

Lord John Dnimmond, both of whom were at

Stirling, to be ready to march between nine

and ten o'clock, but not to evacuate the to\vn

without further orders. However, after Lord

George had left the prince's quarters for his

own, these orders were countermanded without

his knowledge, and orders were sent to Stirling

to evacuate it by break of day.''

The appointed rendezvous at St. Ninians

never took place, for the private men, ima-

gining when they first heard of the retreat

that the danger was much greater and nearer

than it really was, had begun at day-break

to take the road to the Frews. Before the

hour appointed for assembling, many of them

had arrived at that ford, so that when Charles

left his quarters for St. Ninians, scarcely a

vestige of his army was to be seen. Officers

were sent after some parties, who were stUl

visible, for the purpose of stopping them, but

without effect. The troops in Stirhng, in

terms of the orders they had received, after

spiking their cannon, also marched to the

Frews, so that the prince and Lord George

Murray found themselves almost deserted.

Charles finding it impossible to recall his

troops, marched off with some of the chiefs

and the few troops that remained ^vith him.*

^ KirkconnclMH. * Jacobuc Minvjirs,\i. Ui). ' IdeDi
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On the morning of the retreat the church of

St Ninians, in which the insurgents had fifty

barrels of gunpowder, blew up with a terrible

explosion, which was heard by the Duke of

Cumberland's army at Linlithgow. Wliether

it happened from accident or design, is a point

which cannot be ascertained. If from design,

it must have been the act of some unknown

individual, as there was no warning given to

any person to keep out of the way. That it

could not have been perpetrated by any person

in the prince's interest, seems very evident

from the fact, that Charles himself was near

enough to have suffered injury, and that some

of the Higlilanders, as well as several of the

inhabitants of the village, were killed. ^ Yet,

such was the spirit of misrepresentation which

prevailed at the time, that, without the least

assignable motive, the odium of the act was

thro^vn upon Charles.

Wlien this explosion took place, Lord George

Murray was still at his head quarters. He

thought the castle-guns had fired a volley ; and

on repairing to the iovni about an hour after the

explosion, he was utterly amazed to find that

the besiegers had disappeared. He, therefore,

sent au aid-de-camp to call off some horse he

had posted near Falkirk, and proceeded im-

mediately, with the few troops that remained

with him, to the Frews.

The Highland army was quartered that night

at Donne, Dunblane, and adjacent villages,

and continued to retire next day, the 2d of

February, in a very disorderly manner. The

prince halted at Crieff, where he reviewed his

army, and, according to the statement of one

of his officers,^ his army was found not to have

lost above 1,000 men by desertion. Charles,

who had consented to a retreat on the supposi-

tion that his army had lost a third of its num-

bers from this cause, is said to have been deeply

affected on this occasion. Lord George Mur-

ray's enemies did not let slip the opportunity of

reproacliing him, and, indeed, all the chiefs who

had signed the representation, with deception;

but the author above referred to observes, that

their mistake, if there really was a mistake,

can be easily accounted for, if people wiU

divest themselves of prejudice, and examine

' Kirkconncl MS. ' Maxwell of Kirkconncl.

the circimistances impartially. He observes,

that, from the battle of Falkirk up to the time

of the Duke of Cumberland's march from Edin-

burgh, the coiintry being absolutely secure, the

Highlanders had indidged their restless dis-

position hy roaming about all the villages in

the neighboiirhood of their quarters, and that

numbers of them were absent several days from

their colours— that their principal officers

knowing for certain that some had gone home,

imagined that such was also the case with all

who were not to be found in their respective

quarters, but that all the stragglers had got to

Crieff and appeared at the review. Without

questioning such a respectable authority as Mr.

Maxwell, who may be right in the main fact,

as to the number of the army at Crieff, it seems

more likely that the army had recruited its

ranks on the retreat to Crieff, by overtaking

the deserters on their homeward route, tlian

that 2,000 or 3,000 men should have been

absent on a sojourn in the neighbourhood of

their camp.

After the review, the prince held a counoU

of war, to deliberate upon the course to be

pursued. At no former meeting did heats and

party animosities break out to such an extent

as at this oouncU. Lord George Murray com-

plained greatly of the flight, and requested

to know the names of the persons who had

advised it; but the prince took the whole

blame on himself. After a great deal of

wrangHng and altercation, it w.as determined

that the army should march north to Inverness

in two divisions,—that the hor.se and low-

country regiments should proceed along the

coast road, and that the prince, at the head of

the clans, shorild take the Higliland road.^

Lord George, after other officers had refused,

agreed to take the command of the coast divi-

sion, which arrived at Perth late that night.

The prince remained at Crieff, and passed the

night at Fairnton, a seat of Lord John Drum-

mond, in the neighbourhood. Next day, being

the 4th, Charles marched from Crieff to Dun-

keld, and thence to Blair Athole, where he re-

mained several days, tiU he heard of the arrival

of the other division at Aberdeen.

It would have been quite impr ssible, under

' Eirkcmind MS.
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almost any circumstances, for the Duke of

Cumberland's army to have overtaken the

Highlanders; hut slow as the movements of

sucli an army necessarily were, it met with an

obstruction which retarded its progress nearly

three days. Tiiis was the impassable state of

Stu-ling bridge, one arch of which had, as

formerly mentioned, been broken down by

General Blakeney to embarrass the intercourse

between the Highland army when in the south,

and its auxiliaries in the north. It was not

till the morning of the 4th of February that

the bridge was repaired, on which day the

English army passed over. The advanced

guard, consisting of the Argyleshire Highland-

ers and the dragoons, went on to Criefl', and

tlio foot were quartered in and about Dun-

blane, wliere the duke passed the night. Next

day ho proceeded to Crieff, and on the 6th ar-

rived at Perth, of which liis advanced guard

had taken possession the previous day.

Lord George Murray marched from Perth

for Aberdeen with his division on the 4th. He
left beliind thirteen pieces of cannon, which

were spiked and thrown into the Tay, a great

quantity of cannon baUs, and fourteen swivel

guns, that formerly belonged to the Hazard

sloop-of-war, which had been surprised and

taken at I^Iontrose by the Higlilanders. These

pieces were taken out of the river next day by

the royal troops.

Having learned at Perth the different routes

taken by the Highland army, and that it had

gained two or three days' march in advance,

the Duke of Cumberland resolved to halt a

few days to refresh his men. From Perth

parties wore sent out to perambidate the neigh-

bouring country, who pliuidered the lands and

carried off the effects of the prince's adherents.

The Duchess Dowager of Perth and the Vis-

countess of Strathallan were apprehended,

carried to Eilinbiu'gh, and committed to the

castle.

Shortly after his arrival at Perth, the Duke
of Cumberland received an e.xpress announcing

the arrival in the Frith of Forth of a force of

about 5,000 Hessians, under the command of

the Prince of Hesse, son-in-law of George II.

These auxiliaries had been brought over from

the continent to supply the place of the Dutch

troops, who had been recalled by the states-

general in consequence of the interference of

the French government, which considered the

treaty entered into between the "King of Great

Britain and Holland, by which the latter

agreed to furnish these troops to suppress the

rebeUion, as a violation of the capitulations of

Tournay and Dendermonde.

The fleet which conveyed the Hessian troops

anchored in Leith roads on the 8th of February,

having been only four days from WUliamstadt.

The troops were disembarked at Leith on the

9th and the following day, and were cantoned

in and about Edinburgh. On the 15th of

February the Duke of Cumberland paid a visit

to the Prince of Hesse, his brother-in-law, at

Edinbm-gh. On that evening they held a

council of war in Milton-house, the residence

of the lord-justice-clerk. In consequence of

the sudden and disorderly retreat of the High-

landers, an opinion had begun to prevail among

the friends of the government at Edinburgh,

that it was the intention of the insurgents to

disperse themselves, and that Charles would

follow the example set by his father in 1716,

by leaving the kingdom. Imrjressed with this

idea, the generals who attended the co'iincil

gave it as their imanimous opinion that the

war was at an end, and that the duke had no-

thing now to do but to give orders to his

officers to march into the Hig]ilo,nds, as soon

as the season would j-iermit, and ferret the in-

surgents out of their strongholds, as it upjioared

e'vident to them that they would never risk a

battle with an army commanded by the Duko
of Cumberland. After the officers had do-

livered their sentiments, the duke requested

Lord MUton to give his opinion, as he knew

the Highlands and Highlanders better than

any person present. His lordship at first de-

clined doing so, as he was not a military man,

but being pressed by the duke, he began by

expressing a hope that he might be mistaken

in the opinion lie was about to give, but he

felt himself bound to declare, from all he Imew

of the Highlands and Highlanders, that the

war was not at an end, and that as the king's

troops could not foUow the Highlanders among

their fastnesses in the winter season, they

would, though now di^vided and scattered, unite

again, and venture another battle before giving

up the war. Acquiescing in the views of Lord
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Milton, whose opinion turned out correct, the

duke returned to Perth next day to put his

army in motion towards the north.'

Meanwliile, the Highland army was proceed-

ing in its march to Inverness. After remaining

a few days at Blair-Athole, Charles marched

to Euthven in Badenoch, the banuck of which

was taken and blown up" by a party under

Gordon of Glenbucket, who made the small

garrison prisoners. He reached Moy castle, a

seat of the laird of Mackintosh, about ten

miles from Inverness, on the 16th of February,

with an advanced guard of about 50 men. As

Charles's forces were widely scattered, he re-

solved to halt at Moy tiU he should concen-

trate a force sufficient to attack the Earl of

Loudon, who was posted at Inverness -(vit])

2,000 men.

Hearing of Charles's arrival at Moy castle,

and that he had not above 500 or 600 men

with him, Lord Loudon formed a design to

seize him during the night while off his guard,

The better to conceal his project, liis lordship,

at three o'clock in the afternoon, completely

invested Inverness on all sides, posting guards

and a chain of sentinels round the town, with

positive orders not to suffer any person to

leave it on any pretext wliatever. He ordered,

at the same time, 1,500 men to hold them-

selves in readiness to march at a moment's

warning; and, having assembled them wthout

noise, he put himself at their head, and in-

stantly set off, planning his march so as he

might arrive at the castle of Moy about eleven

o'clock at night.'

Notwithstanding the secrecy, however, with

which Lord Loudon concocted his scheme, the

plan was divulged by the imprudence or per-

fidy of some persons intrusted with the secret.

According to one account (for there are

several), the design was communicated to Lady

Mackintosh, a zealous Jacobite, by Eraser of

Gorthleck, in a letter which he sent to her,

and in another letter which she received at the

same time from her mother, who, though a

whig, felt a repugnance to allow Charles to be

made a prisoner in her daughter's house, in

which he had taken up his residence as a

guest.* Another account is, that while some

• Home, p. 194. ' Jolinstoiie's Memoirs, p. 115.

- Home, p. 197.

English officers were drinking in a tavern in

Inverness, waiting the hour of their departure,

a girl of thirteen or fourteen years of age, who
happened to wait on them, paid great attention

to their conversation, and, from certain ex-

pressions dropped by them, discovered their

design,—that she immediately left the house,

escaped fi-om the town, notwithstanding the

Lady Anne Mackintoso, 1745. — From original painting in

possession of The ]Vlackinto.sh.

vigilance of the sentinels, and immediately

took the road to Moy, running as fast as she

was able, without shoes or stockings, wliich, to

accelerate her progress, she had taken off,—and

that on arriving she informed Lady Mackin-

tosh of the design against the prince.* The

Jacobite Memoirs, however, have furnished a

third version of this affair, wliich appears to

be more correct in the details. It is thoro

stated that Lady Mackintosh's mother, who

lived in Inverness, having received notice of

Lord Loudon's design, despatched a boy, about

fifteen years of age, named Lauchlan Mackin-

tosh, to Moy, to apprise the prince thereof,

—

* .lohnstone's Memoirs, p. 145.
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that the boy, finding he could not pass by

Lord Loudon's men without running the risk

of being discovered, concealed himself behind

a wall till they had passed, when, taking a

different road, he reached Moy and gave the

alarm. The prince, who was in bed, was

instantly awakened, and, jumping out, put on

his clothes, left the house with a guard of

about thirty men, and disappeared in a neigh-

bouring wood.*

As soon as Lady Mackintosh was informed

of Lord Loudon's design, she sent five or six

of her people, headed by a country blacksmith,

named Eraser, to watch the advance of Loudon's

troops. This man, with a boldness almost in-

credible, formed the extraordinary design of

surprising the advancing party, in the expec-

tation that they would fall a prey to a panic.

With this view, he posted his men on both

sides of the road to Inverness, about three

miles from Moy, and enjoined them not to fire

till he should give directions, and then not to

fire together, but one after the other, in the order

he pointed out. After waiting for some time,

the party was apprised of the advance of Lord

Loudon's troops by the noise they made in

marching. When the head of the detachment,

which consisted of 70 men under the laird of

Macleod, was within hearing, the blacksmith

called out with a loud voice, " Here come the

villains who intend to carry ofi" our prince

;

fire, my lads ; do not spare them
;
give them

' Stewart's Statement in Jacobite Mev\oirs. The
statement given by Sir Hume,—that Lady Mackintosh

concealed Lord Loudon's design from the prince, and

that he knew nothing of his lordship's march tUl

next morning, is certainly eiToneous. He says that

" without saying a word to Charles or any of his com-

pany, she (Lady Mackintosh) ordered five or six of her

people, well armed, under the conduct of a country

smith, to watch the road from Inverness, and give

notice if they should perceive any number of men
coming towards Moy;" and that " Charles, for whose

safety the lady had" provided so effectually, knew no-

ihin" of Lord Loudon's march till next morning ; for

ue was up and dressed when the smith and his party

came to Moy, and gave an account of their victory. It

is clear, however, that the blacksmith and his party

were sent out by Lady Mackintosh before the arrival

of the boy, as Gib, the prince's master of the house-

hold, who was sleeping in his clothes in the Castle of

Mov when the boy arrived, says expressly that the

blacksmith's adventure "happened much about the

the time when the boy {Lauchlan Mackintosh) arrived

at Moy to give the alarm. It is probable, however,

that the blacksmith and his i)arty were sent out by

Lady Mackintosh without the prince's knowledge."

no quarter." He thereupon discharged hia

piece in the direction of the detachment, and
his party, after following his example, ran in

different directions, calling upon the Mac-

donalds and Camerons to advance on the right

and left, and repeating aloud the names of

Lochiel and Keppoch. Impressed with the

behef that the whole Highland army was at

hand, the advanced guard instantly turned its

hack, and communicating its fears to the rear,

a scene of indescribable confusion ensued.

The sauve-qiii-peut which burst forth from the

discomfited legions of Napoleon on the plains

of Waterloo, was not more appalling to the

flying French than were the names of the

Camerons and Macdonalds to the ears of Lord

Loudon's troops on the present occasion. In

the hurry of their flight many were thrown

do^vn and trodden upon, and so great was the

panic with which the fugitives were seized,

that the flight continued till they got near In-

verness. The Master of Ross, who accom-

panied the party, and was one of those who
were overwhelmed, observed to Mr. Home,
that he had been in many perils, but had

never found himself in such a grievous condi-

tion as that in which he was at the rout of

Moy.* In this affair the laird of Macleod's

piper, reputed the best in Scotland, was shot

dead on the spot. On the dispersion of Lord

Loudon's party, Charles returned to the castle.

Having assembled his men next morning,

Charles advanced upon Inverness with the in-

tention of attacking Lord Loudon, and taking

revenge for the attempt of the preceding night;

but his lordship, not feeling inclined to wait

for the prince, retired into Ross-shire, by cross-

ing the Moray Frith at the ferry of Kessock.

Charles took immediate possession of Inverness,

and laid siege to the castle then named Fort

George. Tliis structure, which was situated

on a hill to the south-west of Cromwell's fort,

had been raised at the Revolution; and had

cost the government, since its erection, above

£50,000. The castle was fortified in the

modern manner, being a regular square with

four bastions, and it commanded the town and

the bridge over the river Ness.

This fortress had a garrison of eighty regular

' Home, p. 198.
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troops; but, on Ms departure from Inverness,

Lord Loudon threw into it two of the inde-

pendent companies, one of Grants, and the

other of Macleods. The castle on the present

occasion mounted sixteen pieces of cannon, and

was well provided ^vith ammunition and pro-

visions. The prince summoned the fortress to

surrender, but Grant of Rothiemurchus, the

governor, refused to comply. Though Charles

had left his heavy artUlery behind, he found

no difficulty in reducing this fort, as the little

hill on which it was built was so contiguous to

the town that it could be easily approached on

that side, without exposure to its fire. It was

resolved to undermine the castle and blow it

up; but, after a siege of two days, and when

the mine had been completed, the garrison siu-

rendered. This event took place on the 20th

of February. The prince, however, did not

spare the fortress, which he blew up immedi-

ately after the surrender; a sergeant in the

French artillery, who was charged with the

operation, losing his life on the occasion.^

On the same day that Charles arrived at

Moy, the division under Lord George Murray

had reached Spey side; and the day before

Fort George surrendered he had arrived with

his men in the neighbourhood of Inverness. In

consequence of a great fall of snow, which took

place on the day Lord George marched from

Aberdeen, his march had been most fatiguing;

and the French piquets and Lord John Drum-

mond's regiment were obliged to halt a day at

Kintore and Inverury. After giving the prince

an account of his march. Lord George, con-

templating the possibUity of a retreat to the

Highlands, mentioned a plan, devised by him

and Lord Pitsligo, to assess the shires of Banff,

Moray, and Nairn in 5,000 bolls of meal,

for the use of the army; and he proposed

that the greater part of it should be sent to the

Higlilands for subsistence, in case of retreat

thither. The prince approved of the plan;

but directed that the whole of the meal, when

collected, should be brought to Inverness.^

With the exception of two detachments,

which took possession of Blair and Castle

Menzies, the army of the Duke of Cumberland

lay inactive at Perth till the 20th of February,

' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 1 49.
' Jacobile Memoirs, p. 10-t.

on which day he put his army in motion for

the north, in four divisions. He sent notice

to the Prince of Hesse to march to Perth, and

in his way to leave two battalions at Stirling.

At the same time he directed the remains of

Ligonier's and Hamilton's dragoons to be can-

toned at Bannockburn, and St. George's dra-

goons to be posted at Bridge of Earn. With
the assistance of these cavalry regiments, which

were placed under the command of the Earl of

Crawford, it was thought that the Prince of

Hesse would be able to check the insurgents,

and prevent their progress south, should they

give the duke the slip. In marching north,

the duke's army took the road along the coast,

as Lord George Murray had done. On the

27th of February the army arrived at Aberdeen,

where the duke took up his quarters, till the

advance of spring should enable him to take

the field. A few days before his arrival, a ves-

sel from France had landed at Aberdeen thre«

troops of Fitz-James's horse, with five officers,

and a piquet of Berwick's regiment. These

troops, with a party of men under Moir of Stony-

wood, left Aberdeen on the duke's approach.

Compelled by circumstances to abandon,

within the short space of three weeks, the

whole tract of low country from the Avon to

the Don, on which he chiefly relied for the

subsistence of his army, followed by a large

army -with powerful resources in its rear, which

it could render speedily available, and narrowly

watched by the forces under Lord Loudon, the

situation of Charles now became very critical.

The fertile province of Moray and part of the

adjacent territory had, by the expulsion of

Lord Loudon from Inverness, no doubt come

into his possession; but he could not expect to

maintain his ground in this district for any

length of time without a precarious struggle.

He had it in his power, whenever he pleased,

to retire into the neighbouring Higlilands,

where his pursuers would scarcely venture to

follow him; but, without previously securing

a supply of provisions from the Low country,

he could not keep his army together in a dis-

trict where the means of subsistence were ex-

tremely scanty. The possibility of such a re-

treat was contemplated by Lord George Murray

;

but, from aversion to such a design, or from

want of foresight, Charles, as just stated, over-
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ruled his lordsliip's proposal to send a supply

of provisions to the Highlands.

Judging from the slowness of the Duke of

Cumberland's motions, that a considerable time

would elapse before he would venture to cross

the Spey, Charles resolved to employ the inter-

val in carrying through a series of operations

which he and his friends projected. The

principal of these were the reduction of Fort

Augustus and Fort WLUiam, and the dispersion

of Lord Loudon's army. To secure subsistence

for his army, he cantoned the greater part of

the division which had marched by Aberdeen

between that town and Inverness; and, as after

the retreat from Stirling he had directed any

supplies that might be sent him from France

to be landed to the north of Aberdeen, he

occupied aU the little towns along that coast.

As this district was generally disafl'ected to the

government, it was an easy matter to guard it

with the few troops that were dispersed over

it; and no danger was to be apprehended till

the English army came up, when the various

parties were directed to fall back from post to

post as the duke advanced.

'

llie first enterprise that Charles undertook,

after capturing Fort George, was the siege of

Fort Augustus. To reduce this fortress, and

with the rdterior view of laying siege to Fort

William, Brigadier Stapleton was sent into

Stratherrick with the French piquets and a

detachment of Lord John Drummond's regi-

ment, and appeared before Fort Augustus about

the end of February. Without waiting for liis

artillery, which consisted of a few pieces found

at Fort George, he attacked the old barrack

and carried it immediately, the garrison retiring

to the fort. Mr. Grant, who had succeeded

M. Mirabelle as chief engineer, since the siege

of StirKng, opened a trench upon the 3d of

March. The gaixison held out two days, when,

in consequence of the explosion of the powder

magazine by the falling of a shell, the fortress

sun'endered, and the garrison, which consisted

of three companies of Guise's regiment, were

made prisoners of war. Leaving Lord Lewis

Gordon with a few troops in command of the

place, tho brigadier marched to Fort William,

which ho invested on the land side.

'

9 Kirk-cmnel lf&
' Home, p. 199. Kirkconncl MS.

Pursuant to his plan of operations, the prince,

in the beginning of March, sent Lord Cromarty

with a detachment, consisting of his o\vn regi-

ment, the ^Mackintoshes, ]\Iacgregors, and Bar-

risdale's men, to drive the forces under Lord

Loudon out of Ross-shire. Finding that his

lordship was unable to accomplish the task

which had been assigned him, Charles de-

spatched Lord George Murray to his assistance

ivith the Macdonalds of Clanranald and a

battalion of Lochiel's regiment. He reached

Dingwall the first night, where he found Lord

Cromarty's detachment ; but his lordship had

been absent two days at his own house with a

strong guard of Mackenzies. Lord George

marched next day for Tain, where he under-

stood Lord Loudon was posted ; but on the

road he learned that his lordship had crossed

the Dornoch Frith to Sutherland, and had

quartered his troops in the town of Dornoch

and the neighbourhood. Not having any boats

to carry his men across the frith, his lordship,

after consulting his officers, returned to Ding-

wall, where he quartered his men. The reason

of retiring a day's march farther back was to

throw Lord Loudon off his guard, as it was

contemplated to bring boats along the coast

and attempt the passage. There was nothing

to prevent the detachment marching round the

head of the frith ; but Lord Loudon having a

sufficiency of boats, might have eluded his

piu:suers by recrossing to Tain ; and, as Lord

George would, by such a course, have been

several days' march from Inverness, the main

body of the Highland army would have been

in a critical situation, if the Duke of Cumber-

land's arm)' had reached the neighbourhood of

Inverness, while the corps under Lord George

jSIurray was on the north side cf the Frith

of Dornoch." After sending notice to Lord

Cromarty of the disposition of his forces, and

tliat the Duke of Perth would take the com-

mand, Lord George returned to Inverness the

following day, to execute a design he and Mac-

pherson of Cluny had concerted, to surprise

the castle of Blair, and to beat up the quarters

of the government troops in Athole, who, from

information he had received, had committed

great excesses in that district.

^ Jacobite Mcvwirs, p. 105.
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To carry the enterprise against Lord Loudon

into execution, all the fishing boats that could

be collected on the coast of Moray were brought

to Findhorn. A few gentlemen, to whom the

charge of collecting tliis small flotilla had been

intrusted, had conducted the matter with such

secrecy and expedition, that no person in the

government interest was awsire of it ; but after

the boats were all in readiness, a difficulty pre-

sented itself in getting them across the Moray

frith without being perceived by the Englisli

cruisers that were continually passing along the

coast. Moir of Ston3rwood, however, under-

took to convey the boats to Tain, and he ac-

cordingly set out one night \vith this little

fleet, and arrived at his destination next morn-

ing mthout being observed by the enemy.^ On
the flotilla reaching Tain, the Duke of Perth

divided his force into two parts ; and whUe,

with one of them, he marched about by the

head of the frith, he directed the other to cross

in the boats. Under cover of a thick fog this

division landed without being discovered, and

the duke, having united his forces on the north

side of the frith, advanced upon Dornoch.

When near that town, he came up.with a party

of 200 men, who were on their march to join

Lord Loudon. This party instantly fled; but

Major Mackenzie, who commanded it, with

four or five officers, and sixty privates, were

made prisoners. Among the officers was a son

of Mr. Macdonald of Scothouse, who was taken

prisoner by his own father. • The main body,

under Lord Loudon, abandoned Dornoch in

great consternation, and fled north towards

Glenmore, pursued by the Jacobite forces.

Both parties marched all night ; but the fugi-

tives kept, ahead of tlieir pursuers. After a

chase of about thirty miles, the Duke of Perth

discontinued the pursuit, and halted at the

head of Loch Shin. While following the

enemy during the night, great anxiety prevailed

among the Macdonalds in the Duke of Perth's

detachment, lest, in the event of an engage-

^ Kirkconnel MS.
* Johnstone's Memoirs^ p. 164. Johnstone gives an

affecting account of the paternal anxiety of Scothouse

when ordered to set out as one of the detachment to

attack Lord Loudon. Not anticipating the landing of

the prince in Scotland, he had applied for and obtained

a commission for his son in Lord Loudon's regiment,

and his alarm now was lest his son should fall by his

own hands.

ment, they might not be able, notwithstanding

their white cockades, to distinguish themselves

from the Macdonalds of Skye, who, like the

other Macdonalds, wore heather in their bon-

nets. ^ Upon reaching the head of Sutherland-

shire, Lord Loudon separated his army. Ac-

companied by the lord-president and the laird

of !Macleod, he marched to the sea-coast with

800 of the Macdonalds and Macleods, and

embarked for tlie Isle of Skye. Part of his

o^vn regiment, with several officers, took refuge

in Lord Eeay's country. Finding that Lord

Loudon's troops had dispersed, the Duke of

Perth returned to Inverness, leaving Lord

Cromarty iu Sutherland with a sufficient force

to keep Lord Sutherland and Lord Eeay's

people in check. The dispersion of Lord

Loudon's army was considered of such im-

portance by Charles, that he immediately de-

spatched an officer to France with tlie intelli-

gence. ^ In this expedition, several vessels in

the Frith of Dornoch, having some valuable

effects on board, fell into the hands of the

insurgents.

Before Lord George Murray set out on his

expedition into Athole, Macpherson of Cluny

had secured the passes between that country

and Badenoch, to prevent aU commtuiieation

between these districts. About the middle of

March Lord George left Inverness with 400

men of the Athole brigade; and, on entering

Badenoch, lie was joined by Cluny with 300

Maephersons. On the 16th of March the

whole detachment set out from Dalwhinnie in

the dusk of the evening, and did not halt till

they reached Dalnaspidal, about the middle of

Drummochter, where the body was divided

into a number of small parties, in each of

which the Athole men and the Maephersons

were proportionally mixed.

Hitherto, with the exception of Macpherson

of Cluny and Lord George, no person in the

expedition knew either its destination or object.

The time was now come for Lord George to

explain his design, wliich he said was to sur-

prise and attack before day-light, and as nearly

as possible at tlie same time, all the posts in

Athole occupied by the royal forces. As an

° Lockhari Pajiers, vol. ii. p. 305.

' Vide Letter from Colonel Warren to the Chcvaliei

de St. George, of 9th May, 1746, iu the Stuart Papers.

4u



642 GENERAL HTSTOEY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

encouragement, he offei-ed a reward of a guinea

to every man who should surprise a sentinel at

his post. There were ahout thirty posts in all,

including the different houses at which the

royal troops were quartered; but the principal

posts, more especially selected for attack, were

Bun-Rannoch, the house of Keynnachin, the

house of Blairfettie, the house of Lude, the

house of Faskally, and the inn at Blair, where,

as Lord George Murray was informed, several

officers of the twenty-first regiment were quar-

tered. After the different parties had dis-

charged their duty by attacking the posts

assigned them, they were ordered to meet at

the bridge of Bruar, about two miles north

from Blair, as the general rendezvous for the

detachment.

Having received their instructions, the dif-

ferent parties set out immediatelj' : and so well

was the sclieme of attack laid, that betwixt

three and five o'clock in the morning, all

the posts, though many miles distant from

one another, were carried. At Bun-Rannoch,

where there was a late-wake held that night,

the sentinel was surprised, and tlie whole of

the party, (Argyleshire men,) while engaged in

that festivity, were taken prisoners, without a

shot being fired on either side. The sentinel

at Keynnachin being more upon his guard, dis-

charged liis piece and alarmed his friends, who
defended themselves for a short time by firing

from the windows, till the party broke into

the house, and killing one man, made prisoners

of the rest. At Blairfettie, where there were

fifty Argyleshire men stationed, the sentinel

was surprised, and the party, with the proprie-

tor of the mansion at their head, entered the

house before the soldiers within knew that

they were attacked. They endeavoured to de-

fend themselves, but were obliged to surrender.

Lady Blairfettie was in bed at the time, and

knew nothing of the affair, till informed by

a servant that her husband was below, and

wished to see her immediately. On coming

down stairs she found the garrison disarmed,

the prisoners in the dining-room, and about a

dozen of her husband's tenants and servants

standing over them with draivn swords. Blair-

fettie, thinking that his wife had been harshly

treated, desired her to point out any of the

prisoners who had used her iU; but she an-

swered that she had no other complaint to make

than this, that the prisoners had eaten all her

provisions, and that she and her children were

starving.^ The parties at Faskally, at Ludo,

and the bridge of Tilt, were also taken; but

that in the inn of Blair, after some resistance,

escaped to the castle. Three hundred prisoners

were taken by Lord George's parties, without

the loss of a single man. While beating up

the different posts, a party, by order of Lord

George, secured the pass of Killiecrankie.^

Having been apprised, by the arrival of the

party from the inn of Blair, of the presence of

the enemy. Sir Anibew Agnew, who held the

castle of Blair, instantly got his men under

arms, and left the castle to ascertain who they

were that had attacked his posts. Information

of this circumstance was brought about day-

break by an inhabitant of the village to Lord

George Murray, who was then at the bridge of

Bruar vriih a party of twenty-five men only

and a few elderly gentlemen, waiting for the

different parties he had despatched the previous

night. This intelligence was of the utmost

importance to Lord George and his party, all

of whom would otherwise have probably fallen

into the hands of the garrison. Lord George

immediately consulted the gentlemen aroimd

him as to the course they should pursue.

Some advised an immediate retreat in the direc-

tion of Dalwhinnie, but others were for crossing

the nearest hUls, and retiring by roads along

which it would be difficult for the garrison to

foUow them. His lordship, however, was op-

posed to both opinions, as by quitting his post

he was afraid that liis different parties, as they

came to the appointed place of rendezvous,

would be surprised, and made prisoners. While

pondering how to extricate himself from the

dilemma in which he was placed, he espied a

long unfinished turf-waU which ran across a

field near the bridge. An idea at once occurred

to him, that by disposing the few men that

were with him behind this wall at a consider

able distance from one another, and by dis-

playing the colours of both regiments in fi-ont,

he might deceive Sir Andrew Agnew's detach-

ment, by inducing them to believe that they

were to be opposed by a large body of men,

' Note by the Editor of Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 155.

* Jacobite Monoirs, p. 107.
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Having disposed Ms small party in tho way

described, Lord George directed the pipers,

(for luckily he had with him all the pipers

of his detachment,) to keep their eyes fixed

upon the road to Clair, and the moment they

saw any military appear in that direction, to

strike up at once with all their bagpipes. Just

as the sun was rising above the horizon. Sir

Andrew Agnew's men appeared, and their ears

were instantly saluted by the noise of the bag-

pipes, when the pipers commenced playing one

of their most noisy pibrochs. The party be-

hind the wall then drew their swords, and, as

they had been previously ordered by Lord

George, kept brandishing them above their

heads. This ruse succeeded completely, and

Sir Andrew, alarmed by the noise and the

spectacle before him, at which he took only a

short glance, ordered his men to the right

about, and retired into the castle.'

Being now relieved from all apprehension of

attack. Lord George remained at his post till

joined by about 300 of his men, when he

marched to Blair, and invested the 'astJe

lu pob&evsiuu uf His (ji tLL the Duke ut Athule

Having no battering-cannon, and only two

small field-pieces, which could make no im-

pression on waUs that were seven feet thick,

ho resolved to blockade the castle, which he

expected would be forced to surrender in two

or three weeks for want of provisions. To cut

off the communication between the castle and

the neighbouring country, Lord George placed

a guard of 300 men at the village of Blair,

where he was himself stationed, and another

near the Mains, at some stables which had

been recently erected. Being joined by 400

or 500 men belonging to the district, who had

been formerly in the HigMand army. Lord

George detached a party to Dunkeld, where

they remained till the approach of the Hessians

from Perth. This party then retreated to Pit-

lochrie, two miles below the pass of KiUie-

crankie, where they remained several days,

' Homr, p. 205.

during which time repeated skirmishes took

place between them and the hussars, and some

of St. George's dragoons. During the time

the Athole men kept possession of Pitlochrie,

Lord George Murray went there generally twice

every day to ascertain the state of matters.

The Hessians showed no disposition to leave

Dunkeld, where they had taken up their quar-

ters, till the 31st of March, on which day a

large body of them came up as far as the

Haugh of Dalskean, about two mUes from Pit-

lochrie. The dragoons and hussars continuing

to advance, the Athole men retired to the foot

of the pass of Killiecrankie, where they halted

to dispute the passage; but after remaining

six hours waiting for the Hessians, they were

informed tliat a great part of them had re-

turned to Dunkeld.'

At tills time the garrison of Blair castle was

' JmoHU lU'enimrf, p 109,
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reduced to great distress from the want of pro-

visions, and if the blockade had been continued

a few days longer they must have surrendered;

but, fortunately for the besieged. Lord George

Murray was ordered to return immediately to

Inverness, in consequence of the expected

advance of the Duke of Cumberland. Accord-

ingly, on the 31st of March, Lord George sent

oft' his two pieces of cannon, that he might

not be impeded in liis march, and about ten

o'clock at night he drew off the party from the

pass to Blair, taking liis departure for Inver-

ness, at two o'clock next morning. Finding

the pass clear. Lord Crawford went through it

the same morning, but the Hessians, alarmed

at the dreadful aspect which it presented,

positively refused to enter the pass. As, from

the expresses which Lord George Murray re-

ceived, he was led to infer that the Duke of

Cumberland was about to leave Aberdeen, his

lordship made a most rapid march, having per-

formed the journey in seventy hours, four only

of which he devoted to sleep. Cluny's men

were left at Ruthven, to guard Badenoch from

the incursions of the royal troops in Atliole."

To facilitate his march to the north, and to

clear as much of the low country as possible

from the presence of the insurgents, the Duke

of Cumberland sent several detachments from

Aberdeen, to scour the country, and possess

themselves of certain posts between the Don
and the Spey. One of these detachments, con-

sisting of four battalions of infantry, the Duke

of Kingston's horse, and Cobham's dragoons,

under the command of General Bland, left

Aberdeen on the l'2th of March, and took

possession of Old Meldrum, Inverury, and Old

Rayne. Bland was preceded on his march by

the Argyleshire men, and 100 of the laird of

Grant's followers under the eldest son of that

chief. At this time the insurgent forces on

the east of the river Spey, which had been

placed under the command of Lord John

Drummond, were stationed as follows. Lord

StrathaUan's horse, which had been lately

separated from Lord Kilmarnock's, and the

hussars, occupied Cullen
;
part of the battalions

of Roy Stewart and Gordon of Avochy, con-

eisting of about 400 men, with 50 horse, were

" Jacobite Memoirs, p. HO.

quartered at Stratlibogie, ai d the remaindei

were cantoned in Fochabers, and the villages

along the Spey.^

Having received intelligence of the occupa-

tion of Strathbogie by the Highlanders, the

Duke of Cumberland sent orders on the 16th,

to General Bland to march thither with all the

troops under his command, and endeavour to

surprise the forces there assembled, and failing

in that design, to attack them and drive them

across the river. To sustain General Bland,

should occasion require, Brigadier Mordaunt

marched by break of day next morning to Old

Meldrum, with four battalions and four pieces

of cannon. About the same time General

Bland left Old Meldrum for Strathbogie, and

almost succeeded in surprising the insurgents,

who were ignorant of his approach till he came

near the place. At the time the news of

General Bland's march reached Strathbogie

some of the Highlanders were absent, having

been sent the preceding night for the purpose

of intercepting the young laird of Grant, who
was returning to his own country with a com-

mission to raise a regiment out of his clan, and

who was to pass within a few miles of Strath-

bogie. The party, however, did not succeed,

as Mr. Grant got the start of them, and took

up his quarters for the night in a strong castle

belonging to Lord Forbes, wliich they found

it impossible to force -without artillery. This

party returned to Strathbogie about one o'clock

in the afternoon, greatly fatigued from want of

rest, and found that intelligence had been re-

ceived of Bland's advance. This news was

fully confirmed by the arrival of some scouts,

who came back at full speed with information

that a large body of horse and foot was at

hand.^

Alarmed at the unexpected approach" of the

enemy, the officers at Strathbogie were at first

at a loss how to act. There was danger in re-

treat as well as in attempting to remain. It

was impossible that the men, who were in

want of sleep and refreshment, could march

far without halting; and as they had left

several stragglers behind, it appeared certain

that, in the event of a retreat, these would be

picked up by Bland's cavalry. On the other

» Kirkcmnel US. ' Idem.
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hand, from the vast numerical superiority of

the English forces, it was dreaded that the

email party would not be able to make an

eifectual resistance, and that iu the event of a

defeat the whole would easily fall into the

enemy's hands. In this dilemma it was re-

Bolved to remain an hour at Strathbogie, to

give time to the stragglers to come up, and

then to retreat. At this time the van of

lUand's detachment had begun to appear, and

before the liour had elapsed the whole was in

sight, and the van within a quarter of a mile

of the village. The small party of guards then

marched out towards the enemy, and while

they formed between the village and the bridge

of Bogie, as if intending to dispute the passage

of the bridge, the foot left the village. After

they had cleared the vLUage, and the enemy's

i-.avalry had begun to file along the bridge, the

small body of horse retired after the foot, to-

wards the river Deveron, which they crossed.

They thereupon formed again on the other side

of th.e river to stop the enemy's horse, who

had pursued them at full speed from Strath-

bogie to the river side, but tltey did not at

first attempt the i>asgage, a circumstance which

enabled the foot to gain the adjoining hiU

without molestation, where, from the nar-

rowness of the road and the rockiness of the

ground on each side of it, they were perfectly

safe from the attacks of cavalry. With the

exception of some volunteers among the cavalry,

who followed half-way up the hill, and skir-

mished with a few of the guards who were left

behind to oliserve their motions, the rust of

the cavalry gave over the pursuit. The High-

landers, however, did not halt till they reached

Fochabers. Next day tliej' crossed the Spey,

along with the other troops which had been

cantoned on the east side, and took up their

quarters in the villages on the opposite side.^

From Strathbogie, General Bland sent for-

ward a detachment of 70 Campbells, and 30

of Kingston's horse, to occupy Keith, but they

were not allowed to hold this post long. Major

Glasgow, an Irish officer in the service of

France, having offered to the prince to carry it

with a detachment of 200 men, he was allowed

to attempt the tnterprise, and succeeded, the

° Kirkconnd MS.

village having been invested on all sides be-

fore the enemy was aware of the attempt. On
tlus occasion they became the victims of a

little stratagem. After recrossing the Spey,

Lord John Drummond sent a body of horse

and foot across every morning. The foot re-

mained generally all day at Fochabers, and

the horse patrolled on the road between that

village and Keith. On the 20th of March, a

small party of Bland's light horse having ap-

peared on the top of the lull that overlooks

Fochabers, the party occupying tlie village,

apparently alarmed, left it in a hurry, much
earlier than usual, and repassed the river. The

design in thus repau'ing across the river before

the usual time, was to throw the party at Keith

off their guard, who, fancying themselves secure,

took no precautions against surprise. After it

had grown quite dark, Glasgow crossed the

Spey wth his detachment, consisting of 200

foot and 40 horse, and marching direct to

Keith, arrived there miperceived about one

o'clock in the morning. The Campbells, who
were quartered in the church, formed in the

church-yard, and a smart fire was kept up for

some time between them and their assailants

;

but upon being promised quarter, if they sub

mitted, they laid down their arms. Of tlie

whole party, including the horse, not above five

or six escaped. Captain Campbell who com-

manded the detachment, a non-commissioned

officer, and five privates were killed. Glasgow

had twelve of his men killed or wounded.

The advantages obtained by the insurgents

in tlieir expeditions into Athole and Suther-

land, and by the reduction of Fort Augustus,

were in some degree balanced by the loss of

the Priuce Charles, formerly the Hazard sloop

of war, and the capture of some treasure and

warlike stores which she had brought from

France for the use of Charles's anny; and by

the abandonment of the siege of Fort William.

Early in November the Hazard, a vessel

mounting sixteen guns and some swivels, with

a crew of 80 men, had anchored at Ferriden,

opposite Montrose. The object of her com-

mander, in taking this station, was to prevent

the insm'gents from taking possession of the

town. At this time a party of Lord Ogilvy's

men, under tlie command of Captain David

Ferrier, held Brechin, of which Ferrier had
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been appointed deputy-governor by tbe prince

before bis marcb into England; and to binder

tbe approacb of tbis party towards Montrose,

a fire was kept up at intervals for tbree days

and nigbts from tbe Hazard, tbe only effect of

wbicb was to annoy tbe inbabitants exceed-

ingly. To put an end to suob a state of matters,

Ferrier formed tbe design of capturing tbe

vessel by raising a battery at tbe entrance of

tbe river, and tbereby to prevent ber gettmg

out to sea. In pursuance of tbis plan be en-

tered Montrose one nigbt, and possessed bim-

seK of tbe island on tbe soutb side of tbe town,

opposite to wbere tbe Hazard lay. Next day

tbe Hazard attempted to dislodge tbe party

from tbe isle by ber fire, but ^vitbout success.

In tbe afternoon of the following day a vessel

carrying French colours was observed at sea,

standing in towards the river; tbis turned out

to be a transport from France, with a party

of Lord John Drummond's regiment, some

Irish piquets, and six pieces of artillery. On
observing tbis vessel, tbe Hazard fired a gun

to leeward as a decoy ; but, upon a signal from

the party on tbe island, tbe commander of tbe

French vessel ran ber on shore out of reach of

the Hazard's guns. Tbe crew then landed the

six guns, and a fire was opened from them

upon tbe Hazard next morning from both sides

of tbe river, on each of which three of the

pieces bad been planted. With tbe exception,

however, of having some of her rigging cut,

she sustained no damage. Before tbe arrival

of Ferrier's party. Captain HiU, tbe commander

of tbe Hazard, had taken four six-pounders,

and two four-pounders, belonging to tbe town,

which be bad put on board a vessel in tbe

harbour; but, by oversight, be left this vessel

at tbe quay, and the consequence was, that she

fell into the bands of the insurgents. Tliis

circumstance was fatal to the Hazard; for,

finding that the guns lately landed were not

sufficient to force tbe Hazard to surrender.

Captain Ferrier carried tbe four six-pounders

to the Dial bill , from which he iired upon her

;

and her commander, seeing escape hopeless,

after hoisting a fiag of truce, and making an

ineffectual attempt for permission to leave the

river, surrendered.'

' Jacobite Motioirs, p. 112.

Tbis vessel, being a first-rate saUer, was a

great acquisition to the insurgents, and had

made several trips to France. On the present

occasion the Prince Charles, as the Hazard was

now named by tbe Highlanders, was returning

from France, having on board several officers

and some privates, a supply of arms and am-

munition, and a quantity of gold coin, amoimt-

ing to between £12,000 and XI 3,000 sterUng.

She was observed, on tbe 24tb of Marcb, off

the Banft'sbire coast, by tbe Sbeerness man-of-

war, which immediately gave chase. Tbe

Prince Charles taking a north-west course,

endeavoured to escape by entering the Pent-

land frith ; but tbe Sbeerness followed her into

that dangerous gulf; and after a running fight,

in which the Prince Charles is said to have

lost 36 men, tbe latter ran ashore on the sands

of Melness, on the west side of Tongue bay,

near tbe bouse of Lord Reay, on tbe 25th of

Marcb. The officers, soldiers, and crew, im-

mediately landed with tbe treasure, wbicb was

contained in small boxes, and carried it to tbe

house of "Wmiam Mackay of Melness, where it

remained during tbe nigbt. Tbe dispersion of

Lord Loudon's forces, an event which was con-

sidered at tbe time highly favourable to the

interests of Charles in the north, turned out,

in the present instance, to be very prejudicial.

Part of them, as has been stated, had, upon

their dispersion, retired into that wild and

barren region called Lord Reay's country ; and

when tbe Prince Charles arrived in Tongue

bay, there was a party of these troops quartered

in the neighbourhood. On receiving notice of

the landing. Lord Reay sent some persons in a

boat across the bay, to ascertain tbe strength

of the party that had disembarked ; and, on

being informed that it was not numerous, it

was concerted between him and some of Lord

Loudon's officers, to attack the party next

morning vrith such forces as they coidd collect.

Early next morning the French, conducted by

George Mackay, younger of Melness, who had

undertaken to lead them to Inverness, left Mel-

ness; but they had not proceeded far, when

they were attacked, two boxirs after day-break,

by a body of men, consisting of fifty of Lord

Reay's people beaded by his lordship's steward

and a similar number of Lord Loudon's troops.

After a short resistance, during which four or
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six of their men were kiUed and as many

wounded, the whole party, consisting of 20

officers and 120 soldiers and sailors, surren-

dered.

As Charles's coffers were almost exhausted

at this time, the loss of such a large sum of

money pressed with peculiar severity upon the

army, which he had, in consequence, great

difficulty in keeping together. Though spar-

ing in his troops, the King of France had not

been remiss in sending Charles pecimiary sup-

phes, nor had the King of Spain been unmind-

ful of him ; but the remittances sent by these

sovereigns did not all reach their destination,

some of them having been intercepted by

British cruisers on their way. Reckoning,

however, the sums drawn and received from

various sources, Charles must have got no

inconsiderable sum ; but he appears to have

paid httle attention to his pecuniary concerns,

and a system of peculation is said to have been

practised by the persons intrusted with the

management, which told heavily upon his

means. His principal steward in particular,

to whom the administration of the finances

was committed, is alleged not to have been

scrupulously honest, and he is said to have

contrived matters so as to prevent open detec-

tion. His underlings did not omit the oppor-

tunity which occasion offered, of filling their

pockets : a system of imposition was also prac-

tised by means of false musters. * Under such

circumstances the early exhaustion of Charles's

mihtary chest is not to be wondered at. In this

situation, seeing the impossibility of recruiting

his finances at Inverness, he had resolved to

return to the south country ; but other circum-

stances induced him to forego his intention.

Judging from the unfortunate result of the

siege of Stirling castle, neither Lord George

Miuxay nor Brigadier Stapleton had any hopes

of reducing Fort William, which, besides being

a strong place, was regularly fortified ; but, as

Lochiel, Keppoch, and other chiefs, whose

properties lay in its neighbourhood, were very

desirous to obtain possesion of a fortress which

perpetually annoyed them, and the garrison of

which had, during the prince's expedition into

England, made frequent saUies, and burnt the

' Kirkconncl MS,

houses of the country people, and carried oil

their cattle, they did not object to the siege.

'

To assist the troops under Stapleton, the

Camerons and the Macdonalds of Keppoch

were ordered to Fort William. Mr. Grant the

engineer proposed to begin the siege by erect-

ing a battery on a small hill, called the Sugar-

loaf, which overlooked the fortress about 800

yards off ; and as he observed that one of the

bastions projected so far that it could not be

defended by the fire of the first, he proposed

to arrive at it by a trench and blow it up
;

but, while in the act of reconnoitring, he

received a violent contusion from a cannon-

ball, which completely disabled him. Briga-

dier Stapleton, having no other engineer, was

obliged to send to Inverness for M. Mirabelle,

the singular personage formerly alluded to.

Meanwhile, the besieged heightened the para-

pets of the walls on the side where they dreaded

an attack, and raised the two faces of the bas-

tions seven feet high.

'

For several days a skirmishing was kept up

between the garrison and two sloops of war

stationed in the river, on the one side, and the

besiegers on the other, with varied success ; but

the insurgents having completed a battery on

the Sugar-loaf on March 20th, opened the sieg8

that evening. On account of its distance from

the fortress, and the smallness of the cannon,

which consisted of six and four-pounders only,

little execution was done. Next day the be-

siegers erected a new battery at the foot of the

Cowlull, within half the distance of the other,

which was also opened, but with little better

effect. On the 2 2d, Brigadier Stapleton sent

a drummer to Captain Scott, the commanding

officer, with a letter, requiring him to surrender,

but his answer was, that he woidd defend the

place to the last extremity. The bombardment

was thereupon renewed on both sides for some

hours, but at last the garrison silenced the be

siegers by beating down their principal battery.

The besiegers then erected a third battery, and

the bombardment continued, mth little inter-

mission, tUl the 31st, when the garrison made

a sally, forced one of the batteries erected upon

a place called the Craigs, about a hundred

yards from the walls, and captured several

' Jacobite Memoirs, p. 106. Kirkcomul MS,
^ Idem.
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pieces of cannon and two mortars. Notwith-

standing this disaster, they continued to annoy

the besieged from five cannon wliich they had

still mounted, but with no other damage to

the garrison than the destruction of the roofs

of most of the houses. At length, on the 3d

of April, Brigadier Stapleton, in consequence

of instructions he had received from the prince

to join him immediately, raised the siege, and,

after spiking his heavy cannon, marched for

Inverness ivith the piquets, taking his field

pieces along with him. He left the Higliland-

ers behind, on the understanding that they

were to follow him with as little delay as pos-

sible. The loss sustained on either side was

trifling. ^

Abounding as the prince's enterprise did, in

many brilliant points, there is, unquestionably,

no part of it more deserving of admiration than

that which now presents itself, near the end of

liis short, but very eventful career. At Glads-

muir and at Falkirk, almost the whole of the

prince's energies were directed to a single pnint,

but at Inverness he projected a number of ex-

peditions, attacks, and sieges, and conducted

them with an energy and promptitude which

astonished the government. The whole force

he was able to collect, after his retreat to the

north, did not exceed 8,000 men; and, although

there was no certainty that the Duke of Cum-
berland might not advance immediately from

Aberdeen, which is only a hundred miles from

Inverness, yet he separated his forces, and,

wlvQe with one detachment he kept General

Bland in check, he, almost at the same time,

carried on a series of operations with the isolated

parts of his army in the distant territories of

Athole, Lochaber, and Sutherland.

CHAPTER XXXVI.

A. D. 17-43.

BEiTLSH SOVEREIGN :—George II., 1727—1760.

Duke of Cumberland marches north—Crosses the .Spey— Proceedings of Charles—Duke of Cumberland
arrives at Nairn— Prince Charles leaves Inverne.^s

and forms his army on Drummossie Jloor—Night-
march to Nairn—Its failure—Highland army returns

to CuUoden—Advance of the Duke of Cumberland

* '!mts Magazine. Home, p. 212 Kirlceoniiel MS.

—Preparations for battle—Battle of CuUoden—Pro-
ceedings of Cumberland—Tumult in royal army-
Barbarities committed by the troops—Skirmish at

Golspie—Charles arrives at Glenboisdale—The Chiefs

retire to Ruthven—Lord George Murray resigns his

command—Letter from Charles—He lands in Ben-
becula—Proceedings of the Duke—Association of

Chiefs—Devastations committed by the royal troops

—Apprehension of Lord Lovat and others—Mac-
donald of Barisdale and Glengarry—Escape of the

Duke of Perth and others—Suppression of the re-

bellion.

Having spent upwards of five weeks at Aber-

deen, the Duke of Cumberland began to prepare

for his march to the north. As it was his in-

tention to proceed by the coast road, he had

ordered a number of victualling ships to ren-

dezvous at Aberdeen; and early in April, these

vessels, escorted by several ships of war pro-

vided with artUlery, ammunition, and other

warlike stores, had arrived at their destination,

for the purpose of foUomng the army along

the coast and afibrding the necessary supplies.

About this tiine the weather had become favour-

able, and though still cold, the snow had dis-

appeared, and a rlry wind which had prevailed

for some days had rendered the river Spey, the

passage of which was considered the most

formidable obstacle to his march, fordable. ^

' The publication of the Forbes Papers has brought
to light the meanness and rapacity of the Duke of

Cumberland and General Hawley. The duke lived,

all the time he was at Aberdeen, in the house of Mr.
Alexander Thomson, advocate, and, although he made
use of every kind of provisions he found in the house,

and of the coals and candles, he did not pay Mr.
Thomson a single farthing, nor did he even thank
him. He left, however, six guineas for the servants,

a boy and two women, one of whom had washed and
dressed his linen, ilrs. Gordon of Hallhead was in-

duced to yield possession of her house in the town to

General Hawley, under a promise that the greatest

care would be taken of every thing in the house.

Having represented that she was unable to foniish

linen and other necessaries for Hawley and his suite,

Mrs. G. was informed, that as the general would bring

every thing with him, she might lock up all she had,

and that all that was wanted was the use of two of her

maid-servants to do the work of the house. Mrs. G.

accordingly secured her effects under lock and key;

but Hawley had not been above a day in the house

when he sent a messenger to Mrs. G. demanding de-

livery of all her keys, and threatening, in case of

delay, to break open all the locks. Having received

the keys, the general sent Major Wolfe, one of his

aides-de-camp, to Mrs. G. in the evening, who inti-

mated to her that she was deprived of every thing

except the clothes on her back. The poor lady then
desired to have her tea, but the major told her that it

was very good, and that tea was scarce in the army.
She next asked for her chocolate, and the same answer
was returned. She expressed a wish to get other

things, particularly her china, but the gallant major
told her that she had a great deal of it, that it waj
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Accordingly, on tlio 8tli of April the duke

left Aberdeen with the last division of his

army, consisting of six battalions of foot and a

regiment of dragoons. The whole regular force

under his command amounted to about 7,200

men, comprehending fifteen regiments of foot,

two of dragoons, and Kingston's horse. Be-

sides these, there were the Argyleshire men

and other militia, whoso united numbers may

be stated at 2,000. At the time of the duke's

departure, six battalions, with Kingston's horse

and Cobham's dragoons, under Major-general

Bland, were stationed at Strathbogie, and three

battalions at Old Meldrum, under Brigadier

Mordaunt. The duke quartered the first night

at Old Mehbum and the next at Banff, where

t^vo spies were seized and hanged. One of

them was caught while in the act of notcliing

upon a stick the number of the duke's forces. ''

On the II th the duke marched to Cullen, and

at Portsoy ho was joined by the remainder of

his army, which had been stationed at Old

Meldrum and Strathbogie. The army being

too numerous to obtain quarters in the to^vn,

the foot encamped for the night on some

ploughed fields in tlie neighbourhood, and the

very pretty, and that the general and his friends were
very fond of china themselves ; but perhaps she might
get back some of it. Mrs. G. petitioned the Duke of

Ciiiuberland to order her property to be restored to

her. The duke, it is said, promised to grant the prayer
of the petition, but no prohibitory order was issued,

and General Hawley proceeded to pack up every thing
in the least portable, and shipped the best things off

to Edinburgh a fortnight before he left Aberdeen.
Mrs. Gordon gives a very minute catalogue of the effects

carried off, which she values at £600. Among those
abstracted were the whole of her husband's body-
clothes, three wigs, "with several shirts and night-
gowns of Bob's," (Mr. Gordon's son). He carried off

all the china and other crockery ware, and did not
leave a single teacup or plate,—all the wine glasses

and decanters,—the linens and table napery, and even
the kitchen towels. He stript the beds of every thing,

and left the bare posts standing. In short, he cleared

the house of almost every thing, —of empty bottles,

larding pens, iron skewers, flutes, music books, two
canes with china heads, wash-balls, &c. &c. Mrs.
Gordon insinuates that the Duke of Cumberlaud par-
ticipated in the spoil. In a letter written by Thomas
Bowdler, Esq. of Ashley, near Bath, orother of ilrs.

Gordon, to the Rev. Robert Lyon, who lived in Lady
Cotton's family in London, he observes, that a Mrs.
Jackson, who knew Mrs. Gordon's china well, recog-
nised part of it one day in the window of a china shop
in London, and having the curiosity to inquire of the
shopkeeper from whom he had bought it, was informed
that he had purchased it from a woman of the town,
who told him that the Duke of Cumberland had given
it to her.

Ray, p. 313.

horse were quartered in Cullen and the adjacent

villages. The Eai'l of Findlater, who, with his

countess, had accompanied tiro army on its

m.arch from Aberdeen, on arriving at his seat

at Cullen, made a present of two hundred

guineas to the troops.

Next day, being Saturday, the 12th of

April, the duke put his army again in motion,

and, after a short march, halted on the moor

of Arrondel, about five or six miles from the

river Spey. He then formed his army into

three divisions, each about half a mile distant

from the other, and in tliis order they advanced

towards the Spey. The left division, wliich

was the largest, crossed the river by a ford

near Gormach, the centre by another close by

Gordon castle, and the division on the right

by a ford near the chiu'ch of Bell}'. In their

passage, the men were up to their waists in the

water, but, with the exception of the loss of

one dragoon and four women, who were carried

away by the stream, no accident occurred.

The Duke of Perth, who happened at this

time to be with the Highland forces appointed

to defend the passage of the Spey, not thinking

it advisable to dispute the position against

such an overwhelming force as that to which

he was opposed, retired towards Elgin on the

approach of the Duke of Cumberland. The

conduct of the Duke of Perth, and of his

brother, Lord John Drummond, has been cen-

sured for not disputing the passage of the

Spey, but ^vithout reason. The whole of the

Highland forces along the Spey did not exceed

2,.500 men, being little more than a fourth of

those under the Duke of Cumberland. Not-

withstanding this great disparity, the High-

landers, aided by the swollen state of the river,

might have effectually opposed the passage of

the royal army had it been attempted during

the month of March, but a recent drought had

greatly reduced the quantity of water in the

river, and had rendered it fordable in several

places to such an extent, that at two of them

a whole battalion might have marched abreast.

As some of the fords run in a zig-zag dii-ection,

some damage might have boon done to the

royal army in crcssing; but as the Duke of

Cumberland had a good train of artillery, he

could have easily covered his passage at these

places.
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Tho departure of the Duke of Cumberland

from Aberdeen was not known at Inverness

till the 12 th, on the morning of which day in-

telligence was brought to Charles that he was

in fuU march to the north with his whole

army. Shortly after his arrival at Inverness,

Charles had formed the design, wliile the Duke

of Cumberland lay at Aberdeen, of giving him

the slip, by marching to Perth by the Highland

road, so as to induce the duke to return south,

and thus leave the northern coast clear for the

landing of supplies from France. With this

view, he had directed the siege of Fort WiUiam

to be pushed, and, calculating upon a speedy

reduction of that fortress, had sent orders to

the Macdonalds, the Camerons, and the Stew-

arts, who were engaged in the siege, imme-

diately on the capture of the fort to march into

Argyleshire, and, after chastising the whigs in

that district, and giving an opportunity to their

friends there to join them, to proceed to Perth.^

Charles, however, for the present, laid aside

the intention of marching south, and knowing

that the Duke of Cumberland would advance

from Aberdeen early in AprU, he gave orders

for concentrating his forces at Inverness, and,

as soon as he was informed of the duke's march,

he renewed these orders, by sending expresses

every where to bring up his men. Tliose who

had been at the siege of Fort WLUiam were

already on their march, but Lord Cromarty

was at a considerable distance mth a large

body of men, and could scarcely be expected

to arrive in time if the duke was resolved on

an immediate action.*

Besides tho men who were absent on the

expeditions in Lochaber and Sutherland, there

were many others who had returned to their

homes, either discontented with the situation

in which they found themselves after they

came to Inverness, or to see their families or

friends. Up to the period of their arrival

there, they had received their pay punctually,

but at Inverness the face of affairs was com-

pletely changed in this respect, and instead of

money the troops were reduced to a weekly

aUowanoe of oatmeal. The men murmured at

Cist at the stoppage of their pay, but their

clamours were quieted by their officers, who

• Home, App. No. 41. ' Jacobite Memoirs, p. 120,

gave them assurances that a supply of money
would soon be received from France. This

expectation would have been realised, but for

the misfortune which befell the Prince Charles,

and in consequence of that event, the soldiers

began to murmur afresh, and some of them
seeing no pressing occasion for their attendance,

and choosing rather to enjoy a frugal repast

with their friends at home than serve without

pay, left the army. These absentees, how-

ever, had no intention of abandoning the ser-

vice, and were resolved to rejoin their colours

as soon as they saw a probability of coming to

action. Accordingly, many of those who had

returned to their homes set out of their own
accord to rejoin the army, on hearing of the

Duke of Cumberland's advance, though few cf

them arrived in time for the battle.
''

Reduced in numbers as the prince's army

was from the causes alluded to, they still

burned with impatience to meet the enemy;

and when inteihgence of the Duke of Cumber-

land's march from Aberdeen reached Inverness,

it was hailed with joy by the portion there

assembled. From the fatigues and labours

they had experienced during the campaign,

and the numerous inconveniences to .which

they had been subjected from the want of pay,

there was nothing the Higlilanders dreaded

more than artother march to the south ; but the

near prospect they now had of meeting the

English army upon their own soil, and of

putting an end to the war by one bold and

decisive blow, absorbed for a while all recollec-

tion of their past sufl'erings. By drawing the

Duke of Cumberland north to Inverness, it was

generally supposed that the prince could meet

him on more equal terms than at Aberdeen, as

he would have a better and more numerous

army at Inverness, than he could have carried

south. This unquestionably would have been

the case had Charles avoided a battle till he

had assembled aU his troops, but his confidence

on the present occasion got the better of his

prudence.

After crossing the Spey, the Duke of Cum-

berland halted his army on the western bank,

and encamped opposite to Fochabers, but the

horse afterwards repassed the river and took

" Kirkcimnel MS,
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up their quarters in the town. Here, as at

Cullen, every precaution was taken to prevent

surprise. Early next morning he raised his

camp, and passing through Elgin, encamped

on the moor of Alves, nearly midway between

Elgin and Forres. The Duke of Perth, who

had passed the previous night at Forres, re-

tired to Nairn upon his approach. The Duke

of Cumberland renewed his march on the 1 4tli

and came to Nairn, where the Duke of Perth

remained till he was within a mile of the town,

and began his retreat in sight of the English

nrrny. In this retreat, Clanranald's regiment,

with the French piquets and Fitz-James's

horse, formed the rear. To harass the rear,

and retard the march of the main body till

some of liis foot should come up, the Duke of

Cumberland sent forward his cavalry. Several

shots were exchanged between the duke's

cavalry and the French horse, and in expecta-

tion of an engagement with the duke's ad-

vanced guard, consisting of 200 cavalry and

the Argylesliire men, the Macdonalds of Clan-

ranald, and the Stewarts of Appin, were ordered

back to support the French. These regiments

accordingly returned and took ground, and

Fitz-Jaraes's horse formed on their right and

left. The duke's advanced guard thereupon

halted, and formed in order of battle, but as

the main body of "the English army was in full

march the rear recommenced their retreat.

The advanced guard continued to pursue the

Highlanders several miles beyond Nairn, but

finding the chase useless, returned to the main

body which was preparing to encamp on a plain

to the west of Nairn. ^

Neither at the time when Charles received

intelligence of the Duke of Cumberland's march

to Aberdeen, nor till the following day (Sun-

day), when news was brought to him that the

English army had actually crossed the Spe}%

does Charles appear to have had any intention

of speedily risking a battle. He probably

expected that with the aid of the reinforce-

ments he had sent to support the Duke of

Perth, his grace would have been able, for some

time at least, to maintain a position on the

western bank of the river, and that time would

be thus afforded bim to collect the scattered

' Kifkconnel MS. Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 507.

portions of his army, before being compelled,

by the advance of the Duke of Cumberland, to

come to a general engagement. But whatever

his intentions were anterior to the receipt of

the intelligence of the English army having

crossed the Spey, that circumstance alone made

him determine to attack the Duke of Cumber-

land without waiting for the return of his

absent detachments.

Accordingly, on the morning of the 14th,

Charles ordered the drums to beat, and the

pipes to play, as the signal for summoning his

men to arms. After those who were in the

tovra had assembled in the streets, the prince

mounted his horse, and putting himself at their

head, led them out to CuUoden, about four

miles from Inverness.'' Leaving part of his

men in the parks around Culloden house,

Charles went onward with his first troop of

guards and the Mackintosh regiment, and ad-

vanced within six miles of Nairn to support

the Duke of Perth, but finding him out of

danger, he returned to Culloden, where he was

joined by the whole of the duke's forces in the

evening. Lochiel also arrived at the same

time with his regiment. That night the High-

landers bivouacked among the furze of Cul-

loden wood, and Charles and his principal

officers lodged in Culloden house.

Having selected Drummossie moor for a

field of battle. Prince Charles marched his

army thither early on tlie morning of the 15th,

and drew his men up in order of battle across

the moor, wliich is about half a mile broad.

His front looked towards Nairn, and he had

the river of that name on his right, and the

inclosures of Culloden on his left. This moor,

which is a heathy flat of considerable extent

about five miles from Inverness and about a

mile and a half to the south-east of Culloden

house, forms the top of a hiU which, rising at

Culloden, dies gradually away in the direction

of Nairn. The ascent to the moor is steep on

both sides, particularly from the shore. In

pitching upon this ground, Charles acted

on the supposition that the Duke of Cumber-

land would march along the moor, which

was better fitted for the free passage of his

army than th-B common road between Nairn

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. Jijj.
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and Inverness, wHch. was narrow and incon-

venient.

In expectation that the Duke of Cumber-

land would advance, Charles sent forward on

the road to Nairn some parties of horse to

reconnoitre, but they could observe no appear-

ance of any movement among the royal troops.

The ground on which the army was now formed

had been chosen -without consulting Lord

George Murray, who, on arriving on the spot,

objected to it, on the footing that though in-

terspersed with moss and some hollows, the

ground was generally too level, and conse-

quently not well suited for the operation of

Highlanders. He therefore proposed to look

out for more eligible ground, and at his sug-

gestion Brigadier Stapleton and Colonel Ker

were sent about ten o'clock to survey some

hilly ground on the south side of the water of

Nairn, which appeared to liim to be steep and

uneven, and of course more advantageous for

Highlanders. After an absence of two or three

hours, these officers returned and reported

that the ground they had been appointed to

examine was rugged and boggy, that no cavalry

could act upon it, that the ascent on the side

next the river was steep, and that there were

only two or three places, about three or four

miles above, where cavalry could pass ; the

banks of the river below being inaccessible.

On receiving this information. Lord George

Mun-ay proposed, in the event of Cumberland's

forces not appearing that day, that the army

should cross the water of Nairn, and draw up

in line of battle next day, upon the ground

which had been surveyed ; and that, should

the Duke of Cumberland not venture to cross

after them and engage them upon the ground

in question, they might watch a favourable

opportunity of attacking him with advantage.

In the event of no such opportunity offering,

his lordship said he would recommend that

the army shoidd, with the view of draw-

ing the duke after them, retire to the neigh-

bouring mountains, where they might attack

him at some pass or strong ground. This pro-

posal met with the general approbation of the

commanding officers ; but Charles who, two

days before (when a suggestion was made to

him to retire to a strong position till all his

army should assemble), had declared his reso-

lution to attack the Duke of Cumberland even

with a thousand men only, declined to accede

to it. His grounds were that such a retrograde

movement might discourage the men, by im-

pressing them with a belief that there existed

a desire on the part of their commanders to

shun the English army ; that Inverness, which

was now in their rear, would be exposed, and

that the Duke of Cumberland might march

upon that to^vn, and possess hunself of the

greater part of their baggage and ammunition.'

Concluding from the inactivity of the Duke

of Cumberland that he had no intention of

marching that day, Charles held a council of

war in the afternoon, to deliberate upon the

course it might be considered most advisable

to pursue in consequence of the duke's stay at

Nairn, According to Charles's own statement,

he had formed the bold and desperate design of

surprising the English army in tlieir camp dur-

ing the night ; but, desirous of knowing the

vdews of his officers before divulging his plan, he

allowed aU the members of the council to speak

before him. After hearing the sentiments of

tlie chiefs, and the other commanders who were

present. Lord George Murray proposed to at-

tack the Duke of Cumberland diu-ing the night,

provided it was the general opinion that the

attack could be made before one or two o'clock

in the morning. Charles, overjoyed at the

suggestion of liis lieutenant-general, imme-

diately embraced him, said that he approved

of it, that in fact he had contemplated the

measure himself, but that he did not intend to

have disclosed it till all the members of the

council had delivered their sentiments.

Had the army been in a condition to sustain

the fatigue of a night-march of ten or twelve

mUes, the plan of a night attack was un-

questionably the best that could have been

devised under existing circumstances. U sur-

prised in the dark, even supposing the duke to

have been on his guard, a night attack appeared

to afford the only chance of getting the better

of his superiority in numbers and discipline,

and of rendering his cavalry and cannon, in

which his chief strength lay, utterly useless.

' A Particular Account of the Battle of Ciilhdm.

In a. letter from an officer (Lord George Hurray) of

the Highland army to his friend in Loudon. Lomion,

1749, p. 4. No. 42 of Appendix to Home. Jtioobitt

Meiiwirs, p. 121.
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But the Highland army, from some unaocount-

ahlo oversight on the part of the persons who

had the charge of the commissariat department,

was in a state bordering upon starvation, and

consequently not able to perform sucii a fatigu-

ing marcli. Although there was a quantity of

meal in Inverness and the neighbourhood suffi-

cient for a fortnight's consumption, no care

had been taken to supply the men with an

allowance on leaving Inverness, and the con-

sequence was, that during this and the preced-

ing day very few of them had tasted a particle

of food. To appease their hunger a single

biscuit was distributed to each man, but this

pittance only increased the desire for more ; and

hunger getting the better of patience, some of

the men began to leave the ranks in quest of

provisions. In spite, however, of the depriva-

tion under which they laboured, the army was

never in higher spirits, or more desirous to meet

the enemy ; and it was not until all hopes of an

immediate engagement were abandoned that

the men thought of looking out for the mean.=>

of subsistence.^

The expediency of a night attack was ad-

mitted by aU the members of the council,

but there were a few who thought that it

should not be ventured upon until the ar-

rival of the rest of the army, which might

be expected in two or three days at farthest.

Koppoch with his Highlanders had just come

up and joined the army; but the Mackenzies

under Lord Cromarty, a body of the Erasers

whom the Master of Lovat had collected to

complete his second battalion, the Maophersons

under Cluny, their chief, the Macgregors under

Glengjde, a party headed by Mackinnon, and

a body of Glengarry's men under Barisdale,

were stiU at a distance, though supposed to be

all on their march to Inverness. The minority

objected that, should they fail in the attempt,

and be repulsed, it would be difficult to rally

the Highlanders,—that even supposing no spy

should give the Duke of Cumberland notice of

their approach, he might, if alarmed by any of

his patrols, have time to put his army in order

ia his camp, place his cannon, charged with

cartouch-shot, as he pleased, and get all his

horse in readiness to pursue the Highlanders if

' Kirkcomul MS. LocTchaH Papers, vol. ii. p. 518.

beat oif. Besides these objections, they urged

the difficulty of making a retreat if many of

their men were wounded, from the aversion of

the Highlanders to leave their wounded be-

hind them. They, moreover, observed that

they had no intelligence of the situation of the

duke's camp; and that even could a safe re-

treat be made, the fatigue of marching forwards

and backwards twenty miles would be too

much for men to endure, who would probably

have to fight next day.'

All these arguments were however thro'wn

away upon Charles, who, supported by the

Duke of Perth, Lord George Murray, Lord
John Drummond, Lochiel, and others, showed

the utmost impatience for an immediate at-

tack. Tliose who supported this view were not

insensible to the danger which might ensue

should the attack miscarry; but, strange to

say, they were urged to it from the very cause

to which the failure was chiefly owing, the

want of provisions. Apprehensive that if the

array was kept on the moor aU night, many of

the men would go away to a considerable dis-

tance in search of food, and that it would be

very difficult to assemble them speedily in the

event of a sudden alarm, they considered an

immediate attack, particularly as Charles had

resolved to fight without waiting for reinforce-

ments, as a less desperate course than remain-

ing where they were.^

To prevent tlie Duke of Cumberland from

obtaining any knowledge of the advance of the

Highlanders from the spies who might be

within view of his army, Charles fixed upon
eight o'clock for his departure, by which time

his motions would be concealed from observa-

tion by the obscurity of the evening. Mean-
while the commanding officers repaired to their

respective regiments to put their men in readi-

ness ; but between six and seven o'clock an

incident occurred which almost put an end to

the enterprise. This was the departure of a

large number of the men, who, ignorant of the

intended march, went off towards Inverness

and adjacent places to procure provisions and

quarters for the night. Officers from the dif-

ferent regiments were immediately despatched

on horseback to bring them back, but no per-

' Particular A ccount of the Battle of Culloden, p. 9.
* Idem, p. 9.
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suasion cDuId indues the men to return, who

gave as their reason for refusing that they were

starving. They told the of&cers that they

might shoot them if they pleased, hut that they

•would not go hack tOI they got some provi-

sions.^ By this defection Charles lost ahout

2,000 men, being ahout a third of his army.

This occurrence completely changed the as-

pect of affairs, and every member of the council

who had formerly advocated a night attack

now warmly opposed it. Charles, bent upon

his purpose, resolutely insisted upon the mea-

sure, and said that when the march was begun

the men who had gone off would return and

follow the rest. The confidence wliich he had

in the bravery of Ids army blinded liim to every

danger, and he was prompted in his determina-

tion to persist in the attempt from an idea that

Cumberland's army having been that day en-

gaged in celebrating the birth-day of their

commander, would after their debauch fall an

easy prey to the Highlanders.

Finding the prince fully resolved to make

the attempt at all hazards, the commanding

officers took their stations, waiting the order

to march. The watchword was, " King James

the VIII.," and special instructions were issued

to the army, that in making the attack the

troops should not make use of their fire-arms,

but confine themselves to their swords, dirks,

and bayonets ; and that on entering the Duke

of Cumberland's camp they should cut the

tent strings and pull down the poles, and that

wherever they observed a swelling or bulge

in the fallen covering, they shoidd strike and

push vigorously with their swords and dirks.^

Before marching, directions were given to sev-

eral small parties to possess all tlie roads, in

order to prevent any intelligence of their march

being carried to tlie Duke of Cumberland.

In giving his orders to march, Charles era-

braced Lord George Murray, who immediately

went off at the head of the line, about eight

o'clock, preceded by two officers, and about

thirty men of the Mackintosh regiment, who

from their knowledge of the country were to

act as guides. Though the whole army marclied

in one line, theie was an interval in the middle

as if it consisted of two columns. The Athole

° Particular Account, p. 10.

« Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 508.

men led the van, and next to them were tha

Camerons, who were followed by the other

clans. The low country regiments, the French

piquets, and the horse, formed the rear. Lord

John Drummond was in the centre, or at the

head of the second column ; and the Duke of

Perth and Charles, who had Fitz-James's and

other horse with him, were towards the rear.

Besides the party of Mackintoshes, who served

as guides in front, there were others of that

clan stationed in the centre and rear, and

generally along the line, to prevent any of the

men from losing their way in tlie dark.^ The

plan of attack, as laid do^^^l by Lord George

Murray, was as follows :
—

• The army was to

have marched in a body tUl they passed the

house of Kilraick or KUravock, wliich is ahout

ten miles from Culloden, on the direct road

to Nairn. The army was then to have been

divided, and while Lord George Murray

crossed the river Nairn with the van, mak-

ing about one-third of the whole, and marched

do\vn by the south side of the river, the re-

mainder was to have continued its march

along the north side tUl both divisions came

near the duke's camp. The van w^as then to

have re-crossed the river, and attacked the

royal army from the south, while the other

part was to have attacked it at the same time

from the west.^ With the exception of Charles,

who promised upon his honour not to divulge

it to any person, and Anderson, who acted as

guide at the battle of Preston, no person was

made privy to the plan, as its success depended

upon its secrecy.

In the outset of the march the van pro-

ceeded with considerable expetlition, but it

had gone scarcely half a mde when Lord

George Murray received an express ordering

him to halt till joined by the rear column,

which was a considerable way behind. As a

halt in the van always occasions a much longer

one in the rear when the march is resumed,

Lord George did not halt but slackened his

pace to enable the rear to join. This, how-

ever, was to no purpose, as the rear stiU kept

behind, and although, in consequence of

numerous expresses enjoining him to wait,

Lord George marched slower and slower, the

" Particular Account, p. 10.

^ Appendix to Home, No. 42.
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rear fell still farther beliind, and before he had

marched six miles he had received at least fifty

expresses ordering him either to halt or to

slacken his pace. Tlie chief cause of the stop-

page was the badness of the roads.

About one o'clock in the morning, wlien

the van was opposite to the house of Kil-

ravock, Lord John Drummond came up and

stated to Lord George Murray that unless

he halted or marched much slower the rear

would not be able to join. The Duke of

Perth having shortly thereafter also come up

to the front and given a similar assurance, his

lordship halted near a small farm-house called

Yellow Kjiowe, belonging to Eose of Kilravock,

nearly four miles from Nairn, and about a mile

from the place where it was intended the van

should cross the river. In the wood of Kil-

ravock the march of the rear was greatly re-

tarded by a long narrow defile occasioned partly

by a stone wall ; and so fatigued and faint had

the men become, by the badness of the road,

and want of food, that many of them, unable

to proceed, lay down in the wood. This cir-

cumstance was announced to Lord George

Murray by several officers who came up from

the rear shortly after the van had halted.

Nearly all the principal officers, including the

Duke of Perth, Lord George Murray, Lord

John Drummond, Lochiel, and General O'Sul-

livan, were now in the van, and having ascer-

tained by their watches, which they looked at

in a little house close by, that it was two o'clock

in the morning, they at once perceived the

impossibility of surprising the English army.

The van was stLU upwards of three, and the

rear about four miles from Nairn, and as they

had only been able to advance hitherto at a

rate little more than a mile in the hour, it was

not to be expected that the army in its ex-

hausted state would be able to accomplish the

remainder of the distance, within the time

prescribed, even at a more accelerated pace.

By a quick march the army coiild not have

advanced two mUos before day-break; so that

the Duke of Cumberland would have had

sufficient time to put his army in fighting

order before an attack could have been made.

These were sufficient reasons of themselves for

abandoning the enterprise, but when it is con-

BJdered that the army had been greatly dimin-

ished during the march, and that scarcely

one-half of the men that were drawn up tho

day before on Drummossie moor remained, the

propriety of a retreat becomes midoubted, °

Lord George Murray,—who had never con-

templated any thing but a surprise, and whose

calcidation of reaching Nairn by two o'clock in

the mornmg would have been realised had the

whole Hne marched with the same celerity aa

the first four or five regiments,—would have

been perfectly justified in the unexpected situ-

ation in which he was placed, in at once order-

ing a retreat;^ but desirous of ascertaining

' Home, Appendix, No. 42. True Account, &c. p. 11.
^ In the letter which Lord George, under the signa-

ture of De Valignie, addressed to his friend Hamilton
of Baugour, dated from Emerick, 5th August, 1749,
he thus justifies himself for having ordered a retreat

without the prince's orders:—"They say, why return
from Kilraick without the Prince's positive orders? he
was general, and without his immediate orders no
person should have taken so much upon him. My
answer to this is, (waiving what Mr. O'SuUivan said
from the Prince, *) that all the officers were unan-
imous;—that as it could not be done by surprise, and
before day-break, as had been proposed and under-
taken with no other view, it was impossible to have
success; for it was never imagined by any one that it

was to be attempted but by a surprise. Whatever
may be the rules in a regular army, (and it is not to
be supposed I was ignorant of them,) our practice had
all along been, at critical junctures, that the com-
manding officers did every thing to their knowledge
for the best. At Gladsmuir (the plan of which attack
I had formed, ) I was the last that passed the defile of

the first line, and the first that attacked; and gained
in going on a good part of the ground we had left be-
twixt us and the main ditch, by the front having, on
account of the darkness, marched a little too far.

When I came up with the enemy's cannon, I did not
stay to take them, but went on against both foot and
dragoons, being very quickly followed by our right. I

received no orders (nor did I wait for any, otherwise
tlie opportunity would have been lost,) from the time
I passed the defile till the battle was over. At Clif-

ton, where I expected to have been supported by all

our army, John Roy Stuart brought me orders from
the Prince to retreat, for he had ordered the march for

Carlisle, which was begun. The officers who were
with me agreed in my opinion, that to retreat when
the enemy were within less than musket-shot would
be very dangerous, and we would probalily be destroyed
before we came up with the rest of our army. We
had nothing for it but a brisk attack; and therefore,

after receiving the enemy's fire, we went sword in

hand and dislodged them ; after which we made our
retreat in good order. I own I disobeyed orders; but
what I did was tho only safe and honourable measure
I could take, and it succeeded. At the battle of

Falkirk I never received an order or message from his

Royal Highness after I passed the water at Dunipace
till the battle was over. I could say much more on

• " Mr. O'SuUivan said, (he had just come up to the front,)
he had just then come from the Prince, who was very desirous
the attack should be made : but as Lord George Murray led
the v.an, and could judge of the time, he left it to him whetUei
to do it or not."

—

Particular Account, p. 12.
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the sentiments of the officers about liim, he re-

quested them to state their views of the course

they thought it most advisable to adopt. There

were several gentlemen present, who, having

joined the Athole brigade as volunteers, had

marched all night in the front: and as the

Duke of Perth, Lord John Drummond, and

the other officers, seemed at a loss what to

resolve upon, Lord George Murray requested

the volunteers to give their free opinion, as

they were all equally interested in the con-

sequences. Without hesitation all these gentle-

men, eager to come to an engagement, were for

marching, but most of the officers, particularly

Lochiel and liis brother. Dr. Cameron, were of

a different opinion, in which they were backed

by Lord George Murray, wlio observed that if

they could have made the attack within the

time prescribed they would certainly have suc-

ceeded, especially if they could have surprised

the enemy; but to attack in daylight an army

that was nearly double their number, and which

would be prepared to receive them, would be

considered an act of madness.^

Among the volimteers the most conspicuous

was Mr. Hepburn of Keith. While arguing

for an attack ^vith Lord George Murray, the

beating of a drum was heard in the Duke of

Cumberland's camp. " Don't you hear," said

Lord George ;
" the enemy are alarmed ; we

can't surprise them." " I never expected," said

Hepburn, " to find the red coats asleep ; but

they win be drunk after solemnising the Duke

of Cumberland's birth-day. It is much better

to march on and attack them than to retreat,

for they will most certainly follow, and oblige

us to fight when we shall be in a much worse

condition to fight them than we are now."

While this altercation was going on, Mr. Jolm

Hay, then acting as interim-secretary to the

prince instead of Secretary Murray, who was

unwell, came up and informed Lord George

that the line had joined. Gathering from the

conversation he overheard that a retreat was

this subject; all I shall now add is, that at the time

we returned from Kilravock there was no officer of any

distinction with the prince, (except Sir Thomas Sheri-

dan be reckoned one,) they being all in the van.

Brigadier Stapleton was indeed in the rear, but he

knew nothing of the ground there, and his people were

only to have been a corps dc reserve, and not in the

attack."
" Particular Accoimt, iL-c. p. 12.

resolved upon, he began to argue against it,

but being unsuccessful he immediately rode

back to Charles, who was in the rear of the

first column, and told him that unless he came

to the front and ordered Lord George to go on

nothing would be done. Charles, who was on

horseback, rode forward immediately towards

the front, to ascertain the cause of the halt,

and on his way met the van in fuU retreat.

He was no doubt surprised at this step, and in

a temporary fit of irritation, is said to have re-

marked that Lord George Murray had betrayed

him; 5 but Lord George immediately convinced

liim " of the unavoidable necessity ofretreating."*

The army marched back in two columns, by

a different but more direct route than that by

which it had advanced. In returning they

had a view of the fires in the Duke of Cumber-

land's camp. The greater part of the army

amved at Culloden, whither it had been agreed

upon to proceed, about five o'clock in the

morning, and the remainder did not remain

long behind. The quick return of the army

suggests an idea that had it marched in double

columns towards Nairn by the shortest route,

it might have reached its destination at least

an hour sooner than the time contemplated by

Lord George Murray, but there was great

danger, that, by adopting such a course, the

Duke of Cumberland would have obtained

notice of the advance of the Highlanders.

' Mr. John Hay's account of the Retreat, No. 43 of

Appendix to Home's RebeUian. This statement has

been hitherto supposed to rest upon the single authority

of Hay ; and llr. Home has been blamed for making
it, as it was not confirmed by others. The same state-

ment, however, is also made by Mr. Maxwell of Kirk-

connel, a much more respectable authority than Hay.

Mr. Home had the Kirkconnel MS. in his possession

when writing his history, but seldom refers to it. Mr.

Maxwell's words are: '* The prince was incensed beyond

expression at a retreat, begun in direct contradiction

to his inclination and express orders. In the first

moments he was convinced he was betrayed, and ex-

pressed himself to that purpose. He was confirmed

in this opinion by those who never missed an oppor-

tunity of loading Lord George Murray, but when he

knew that this step had been taken in concert with

Lochiel and others, whom he had never distrusted, he

did not know what to think or what to do; thus per-

plexed he arrived with the army at Culloden. " See

also narrative by the Eev. George Innes in Jacobite

Memoirs, who says, (p. 289,) that some persons posi-

tively said, that when the prince met the Duke of

Perth's regiment returning, he cried out, "I am be-

trayed ; what need I give orders, when my orders are

disobeyed."

Answer by the Prince to Mr. Home's cjuory, Home'i

Rebellion, No. 44 of the Appendix.
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On aniving at Culloden, the prince gave

oidere to bring provisions to the fiehl ; hut the

calls cf hunger could not brook delay, and

many of the common men as well as officers

shppod off to Inverness and the neighbourhood

in quest of refreshment. Others, from absolute

exhaustion, lay down on the ground, and sought

a momentary respite in the arms of sleep.

Charles himself, with his principal officers,

went to Culloden house, where, sidlen, dejected,

and silent, they for a tune stared at one another

with amazement, instead of deliberating upon

the course they ought to pursue at this critical

juncture. A search was made for food, but

with the exception of a little bread and a small

quantity of whisky, which was procured for

the prince inth great difficulty, do refreshment

of any kind could be obtained. ^

After a short repose the men were aroused

from their slumbers by their officers, who in-

formed them that the Duke of Cumberland'a

army was approaching. There were others

Old Calloden Eouse. From Original Sketch in poasessiun of Duncan Forbes, Esq., of Culloden.

whom hunger had kept awake, and who havmg

seized and killed some cattle and sheep which

they found at Culloden, were preparing a re-

past, but few of them had time to make any

thing ready before the alarm was given.^ The

intelligence of Cumberland's advance was first

brought to Culloden house about eight o'clock

by one Cameron, a lieutenant in Lochiel's regi-

ment, who, having fallen asleep at the place

where the halt was made, had been left behind.

As Fitz-James's horse and others had gone to

Inverness to refresh, and as those who remained

' Kirkcomiel MS. Lockhart Papers, vol, ii. p. ."519.

Particular Account, 'p. 14.

® Kirkcmmel MS.

were, from the hard duty they had performed

for several days and nights, unfit for patrolling,

Charles had no means of ascertaining whether

the troops that were approaching were merely

an advanced party, or the whole of the English

army. That nothing might be left to conjecture

at such an important crisis, some officers were

instantly despatched to Inverness, to bring

back the men whom hunger had driven thither,

and the Highlanders at Culloden were got

ready as quickly as possible, and marched

through the parks of Culloden in battalions,

as they happened to be Ij'ing, to Drummossie

moor, on a part of which, about half a mile to

the west of the place where they had been
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drawn up the day before, the army halted.

Lord George Murray now renewed his proposal

to pass the water of Nairn, and take up a posi-

tion on the ground which had been surveyed

the previous morning, as being much better

fitted for Highlanders than the level on which

they stood. An additional reason for passing

the Nairn was, that Macpherson of Cluny, who
was expected every moment with his clan, was

to come on the south side. Charles, however,

again rejected this judicious advice, for the

reasons he had formerly given. '' By retiring

beyond Inverness, or among the fastnesses to

the south of tlie water of Nairn, an action

might have been easily avoided for several

days ; and, as the projected night attack had

miscarried, it woidd certaiidy have been a wise

course to have shunned an engagement tUl the

men had recovered their strength and spirits
;

but Charles, over-sanguine in all his calcula-

tions, and swayed by his creatures and syco-

phants, was deaf to the suggestions of wisdom.

It seems strange tliat a retreat to Inverness

was not proposed. By retii'ing mto the town,

and occupying the grounds in the neighboiu--

hood, a delay of twenty-four hours miglit have

been obtained, as it is not likely that the Duke
of Cumberland woidd have attempted to force

the tovm, or a strong camp, the same day he

marched from Nairn. By postponing the en-

gagement tdl next day, a very different result

might have happened, as the Highlanders, wlio

were in a starving condition, would have had

time to procure provisions and recruit from

their fatigue ; and numbers, who were not able

to come up in time to Culloden, woidd have

rejoined the ranks at Inverness.

The Duke of Cumberland had been informed

of the night march towards Nairn by some

Higldand spies whom he had in his pay, and

who had mixed with the insurgents as they

marched ; but the spies were ignorant of the

intended surprise, which was kept a profound

secret from the Highland army. Judging from

the intelligence brought by the last person that

arrived in his camp, that the Highlanders were

coming directly in his front, tlie duke con-

sidered himself free from surprise, as the

Argyleshire men lay on the plain to the west

' Particular Account, p. 14.

of his camp, while a party of dragoons j atroUeJ

all night between Nairn and the sea. He
therefore ordered his men to take some rest,

but to keep their arms in readiness. He ap-

pears not to have anticipated an attack during

the night, but to have imagined that Charles

merely meant to take ground during the night,

and to attack him early next morning. In

expectation of a battle, the duke had formed

his army by break of day, and, having ascer-

tained that the Highland army had retreated,

he began his march towards Inverness about

five o'clock.' The Enghsh army had, as anti-

cipated, celebrated the birth-day of their com-

mander ; but although they were amply sup-

plied with bread, cheese, and brandy, at the

duke's expense, the men had not exceeded the

bounds of moderation.'

Before commencing the march, written in-

structions, which had been communicated to

the commanders of the different regiments,

were read at the head of every company

in the line. These instnictions were, that if

the persons to whom the charge of the train

or baggage horses was entrusted should ab-

scond or leave them, they should be pun-

ished with immediate death ; and that if any

ofBcer or soldier misconducted himself during

the engagement, he shoidd be sentenced. The

infantry marched in tliree parallel divisions or

columns, of five regiments each, headed by

General Huske on the left. Lord SempUl on

the right, and General Mordaunt in the centre.

The artillery and baggage followed the first

column on the right, and the dragoons and

horse, led by Generals Hawley and Bland,

were on the left, forming a fourth coliimn.

Forty of Kingston's horse and Aj'gyleshire men

formed the van.^

The charge of foi-ming the Highland army

in line of battle on this important occasion was

intrusted to O'Sullivan, who acted in the

double capacity of adjutant and quarter-master

general. This officer, in the opinion of Lord

George Murray, a high autliority certaiidy, was

exceedingly unfit for such a task, and com-

mitted gross bliuidei-s on every occasion of

» Home, p. 226.
^ Ftoyse, p. 155.

' Boyse, p. 150. English offici^U account of the

battle.
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moment. In the present instance, he did not

even visit the ground where the army was to

be drawn up, and he committed a " fatal error"

by omitting to throw down some park walls

upon the left of the English army, which were

afterwards taken possession of by the Duke of

Cumberland, it being found afterwards impos-

sible to break the English lines, from the de-

structive flank-fire which was opened from

these walls upon the right of the Highland

army, as it advanced to the attack.^ WhUe
tlie Duke of Cumberland was forming his

line of battle, Lord George Murray was very

desirous to advance and throw down these

walLs ; but as such a movement would have

broken the line, the officers about him con-

sidered that the attempt would be dangerous,

and he therefore did not make it.^

The Highland army was cba'vvn up in tliree

lines. The first, or front line, consisted of the

Athole brigade, which had the right, the Cam-

erons, Stewarts of Appin, Erasers. Macintoshes,

Maclachlans, Macleans, John Eoy Stewart's

regiment, and Farqxdiatsons, united into one

regiment ; the Macleods, Chishohns, Macdon-

alds of Clanranald, Keppoch, and Glengarry.

The tliree Macdonald regiments formed the

left. Lord George Murray commanded on the

right. Lord John Driimmond in the centre, and

the Duke of Perth on the left, of the first line.

There had been, a day or two before, a violent

contention among the chiefs about precedency

of rank. The Macdonalds claimed the right

as their due, in support of which claim they

stated, that as a reward for the fidelity of

Angus Macdonald, Lord of the Isles, tu pro-

tecting Robert the Bruce for upwards of nine

months in his dominions, that pririce, at the

battle of Bannockburn, conferred the post of

honour, the right, upon the Macdonalds,—that

this post had ever since been enjoyed by them,

unless when yielded from courtesy upon parti-

cular occasions, as was done to the chief of the

Macleans at the battle of Harlaw.* Lord

George Murray, however, maintained that, un-

der the Marquis of Montrose, the right had

' See a carious and interesting letter in the Sttuirt

Papers, from Lord George Murray to the prince, writ-
ten from Euthven the day after the battle.

' Particular Account, p. 15.

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 510.

been assigned to the Athole men, and he in-

sisted that that post should be now conferred

upon them, in the contest ivith the Duke of

Cumberland's army. In this unseasonable de-

mand, Lord George is said to have been sup-

ported by Lochiel and his friends. Charles

refused to decide a question with the merits

of which he was imperfectly acquainted ; but,

as it was necessary to adjust the difference

immediately, he prevaUed upon the command-
ers of the Macdonald regiments to waive their

pretensions in the present instance. The Mac-

donalds in general were far from being satisfied

mth the complaisance of their commanders,

and, as they had occupied the post of honour

at Gladsmuir and Falkirk, they considered

their deprivation of it on the present occasion

as ominous.^ Tlie Duke of Perth, while he

stood at the head of the Glengarry regiment,

hearing the murmurs of the Macdonalds, said,

that if they behaved with their usual valour

they woidd make a right of the left, and ths.t

he would change his name to Macdonald ; but

these proud clansmen leant a deaf ear to him.

The socond line of the Highland army con-

sisted of the Gordons under Lord Lewis Gor-

don, formed in column on the right, the French

Royal Scots, the Irish piquets or brigade.

Lord Kilmarnock's foot guards," Lord John

Drummond's regiment, and Glenbucket's regi-

ment in cohmin on the left, flanked on the

right by Fitz- James's dragoons, and Lord

Elcho's horse-guards, and on the left by the

Perth squadron, under Lords Strathallan and

Pitsligo, and the prince's body-guards under

Lord Balmerino. General Stapleton had the

command of this Kne. The tliird line, or ro-

serve, consisted of the Duke of Perth's and

Lord Ogdvy's regiments, under the last-men-

tioned nobleman. The prince himself, sur-

rounded by a troop of Fitz-James's horse, took

his station on a very small eminence beliind

the centre of the first line, from which he had

a complete view of the whole field of battle.

The extremities of the front line and the centre

were each protected by four pieces of cannon

° Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 510.

—

Kirkconnel MS.
* These guards were originally a hody of cavalry,

called the liorse-grenadiers, but they were dismounted,

and their liorses were given to the men of Fitz-James's

regiment, who had landed in Scotland without horses.
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The English army continued steadily to ad-

vance in the order already described , and,

tfter a march of eight miles, formed in order

of battle, in consequence of the advanced

guard reporting that they perceived the High-

land army at some distance making a motion

towards them on the left. Finding, however,

that the Higlilanders were still at a consider-

able distance, and that the whole body did

not move forward, the Duke of Cumberland

resumed liis march as before, and continued to

advance till within a mile of the position oc-

cupied by the Highland army, when he ordered

a halt, and, after reconnoitring the position of

the Higlilanders, again formed his army for

battle in three lines, and in the following order.

The first line consisted of six legiments,

viz. the Royals, (the 1st,) Cholmondeley's, (the

34th,) Price's, (the 14th,) the Scots FusUeers,

(the 21st,) Monro's, (the 37th,) and Barrel's,

(the 4th). The Earl of Albemarle had the

command of this line. In the intermediate

spaces between each of these regiments were

placed two pieces of cannon, making ten in

all. The second line consisted of five regi-

ments, viz. those of Pulteney, (the 13th,)

Bligh, (the 20th,) SempU, (the 25th,) Li-

gonier, (the 48th,) and Wolfe's, (the 8th,)

and was under the command of General

Huske. Tliree pieces of cannon were placed

between the exterior regiments of this line and

tlioso next them. The third line or corps de

reserve, under Brigadier Mordaunt, consisted

of four regiments, viz. Battereau's, (the 62d,)

Howard's, (the 3d,) Fleming's, (the 36th,) and

Blakeney's, (the 27th,) flanked by Kingston's

dragoons, (the 3d). The order in which the

regiments of the different lines are enimierated,

is that in whicli they stood fi'om right to left.

The flanks of the front line were protected on

the left by Kerr's dragoons, (the 11th,) con-

sisting of three squadrons, commanded by

Lord Ancnim, and on the right by Cobham's

dragoons, (the 10th,) consisting also of three

squadrons, under General Bland, with the

additional security of a morass, extending to-

wards the sea ; but thinking himself quite

safe on the right, the duke afterwards ordered

these last to the left, to aid in an intended

attack upon tlie riSfht flank of the Higlilanders.

The Argyle men, with the exception of 140,

who were upon the left of the reserve, were

left in charge of the baggage.

The dispositions of both armies are consid-

ered to have been well arranged; but both

were better calculated for defence than for at-

tack. The arrangement of the English army

is generally considered to have been superior

to that of the Higlilanders; as, from the regi-

ments in the second and third lines being placed

directly behind the vacant spaces between the

regiments in the lines respectively before them,

the Duke of Cumberland, in the event of one

regiment in the front line being broken, could

immediately bring up two to supply its place.

But this opinion is questionable, as the High-

landers had a column on the flanks of the

second line, which might have been used either

for extension or echelon movement towards

any point to the centre, to support either the

first or second Kne.

In the dispositions described, and about tlie

distance of a mile from each other, flid the two

armies stand for some time gazing at one an-

other, each expecting that the other would

advance and give battle. Whatever may have

been the feelings of Prince Charles on tins

occasion, those of the Duke of Cumberland

appear to have been far from enviable. The

thoughts of Preston and Falkirk could not fail

to excite in him the most direful apprehen-

sions for the result of a combat affecting the

very existence of his father's crown ; and that

he placed but a doubtful reliance upon his

troops, is evident from a speech which lie now

made to his army. He said tli;it tliey were

about to tight in defence of tlieiv king, their

rehgion, their liberties, and property, and that

if they only stood firm he had no doubt he

would lead them on to certam victory; but as

he would much rather, he said, bo at the head

of one thousand brave and resolute men tlian of

ten thousand if mixed with cowards, if there

were any amongst them, who, through timid-

ity, were diffident of their courage, or others,

who, from conscience or inclination, felt a re-

pugnance to perform their duty, he requested

them to retire immediately, and he promised

them his free pardon for doing so, as by ro-

miiuing they might dispirit or disorder the

other troops, and briiig dishonour and disgracfl

on the army under his conuuand.

:J
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As the Highlanders remamed in their posi-

tion, the Duke of Cumberland again put his

army in marching order, and, after it liad ad-

vanced, with fixed bayonets, within half a

mile of the front line of the Highlanders, it

again formed as before. In this last move-

ment the English army had to pass a piece of

hollow ground, which was so soft and swampy,

that the horses which drew the camion sank;

and some of the soldiers, after slinging their

firelocks and unyoking the horses, had to drag

the cannon across the bog. As by this last

movement the army advanced beyond the

morass which protected the right flank, the

duke immediately ordered up Kingston's horse

from the reserve, and a small squadron of Cob-

ham's dragoons, which had been patrolling, to

cover it; and to extend his line, and prevent

his being outflanked on the right, he also .it

same time ordered up Pulteney's regiment, (the

13th,) from the second line to the right of the

royals- and Fleming's, (the 36th,) Howard's,

Battle of CuUoden.

(the 3d,) and Battereau's, (the 62d,) to the right

of Bligh's, (the 20th,) in the second line, leaving

Blakeney's, (the 27th,) as a reserve.

During an interval of about half an hour

which elapsed before the action commenced,

Bome manoeuvring took place in attempts by

both armies to outflank one another. WMLe
these manoeuvres were making, a heavy shower

of sleet came on, which, though disoom-aging

to the duke's army, from the recollection of the

untoward occurrence at Falkirk, was not con-

sidered very dangerous, as they had now the

wind in their backs. To encourage his men,

the Duke of Cumberland rode along the lines

addressing himself hurriedly to every regiment

as he passed. He exhorted his men to rely

chiefly upon their bayonets,' and to allow the

Highlanders to mingle mth them that they

' "The great object of the duke, before recommencing
his march, had been to prepare his men for a firm re-

cejition of the Highland charge. He knew that on

this all depended, and that the two previous disasters

had been caused by the men not being rightly disci-

plined to receive the novel mode of attack. Some
writers on military tactics had, in the meantime, pro-

posed alterations on the complex infantry movements
of the day, for the purpose of evading the Highlander's

target, by directing the bayonet against his right

breast. The men were trained during the winter, in

some measure, to such a change of motion, but it

appears to have rather been for the purpose of giving

them a confidence that might make them steady, than

from any belief in the absolute efficacy of the change.

"

—Burton's Scotland from Revolution, voh ii. p. 519.
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might make them " know the men they had to

deal with." After the changes mentioned had

been executed, his royal highness took his sta-

tion behind the royals, between the first and

second line, and almost in front of the left of

Howard's regiment, waiting for the expected

attack. Meanwhile, a singular occurrence took

place, characteristic of the self-devotion wliich

the Highlanders were ready on all occasions to

manifest towards the prince and his cause.

Conceiving that by assassinating the Duke of

Cumberland he would confer an essential service

on the prince, a Higlilander resolved, at the

certain sacrifice of his own life^ to make the

attempt. With this intention, he entered the

English lines as a deserter, and being granted

quarter, was allowed to go through the ranks.

He wandered about with apparent indifference,

eyeing the different officers as he passed along,

and it was not long tiU an opportunity occurred,

as ho conceived, for executing his fell purpose.

The duke having ordered Lord Bury, one of

his aides-de-camp, to reconnoitre, his lordship

crossed the path of the Highlander, who, mis-

taking him, from his dress, for the duke, (the

regimentals of both being similar,) instantly

seized a musket which lay on the ground, and

discharged it at his lordsliip. He missed his

aim, and a soldier, wlio was standing by, imme-

diately shot him dead upon the spot. '

In expectation of a battle the previous day,

Charles had animated liis troops by an appeal

to their feelings, and on the present occasion

he rode from rank to rank encouraging his men,

and exhorting them to act as they had done at

Prestonpans and at Falkirk.

The advance of Lord Bury, who went forward

witliin a hundred yards of the insurgents to

reconnoitre, appears to have been considered

by the Higlilanders as the proper occasion for

beginning the battle. Taking off their bonnets,

the Higlilanders set up a loud shout, which

being answered by the royal troops with a

huzza, the Highlanders about one o'clock com-

menced a cannonade on the right, which was

followed by the cannon on the left; but the

fire from the latter, OTOng to the want of can-

noneers, was after the first round discontinued.

The first volley from the right seemed to create

' Boyse, p. 159.

some confusion on the left of the royal army,

but so badly were the cannon served and

pointed, that though the cannonade was con-

tinued upwards of half an hour, only one man
in Bligh's regiment, who had a leg carried off

by a cannon-ball, received any injury. After

the Highlanders had continued firing for a

short time. Colonel Belford, who directed the

cannon of the duke's army, opened a fire from

the cannon in the front line, which was at

first chiefly aimed at the horse, probably either

because they, from their conspicuous situation,

were a better mark than the infantry, or because

it was supposed that Charles was among them.

Such was the accuracy of the aim taken by the

royal artillery, that several balls entered the

ground among the horses' legs, and bespattered

the prince with the mud which they raised;

and one of them struck the horse on which he

rode two inches above the knee. The animal

became so unmanageable, that Charles was

obhged to change him for another.' One of

Ms servants, who stood behind with a led

horse in his hand, was killed on the spot.

Observing that the wall on the right flank of

the Highland army prevented him from attack-

ing it on that point, the duke ordered Colonel

Belford to continue the cannonade, with the

view of provoking the Highlanders and induc-

ing them to advance to the attack. These, on

the other hand, endeavoured to draw the royal

army forward by sending down several parties

by way of defiance. Some of these approached

three several times within a hundred yards of

the right of the royal army, firing their pistols

and brandishing their swords; but witli the

exception of the small squadron of horse on

the right, which advanced a httle, the line re-

mained immoveable.

Meanwhile, Lord George Murray, observing

that a squadron of the English dragoons and a

party of foot, consisting of two companies of

the Argyleshiremen, and one of Lord Loudon's

Higlilanders, had detached themselves from the

left of the royal army, and were marching do^vn

towards the river Nairn, and conceiving that

it was their intention to flank the Highlanders,

or to come upon their rear when engaged in

front, he directed Gordon of Avochy to advance

' Boswell's Tour to the Hebrides, p. 228.
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with his battalion, and prevent the foot from

entering the inclosure ; but before tliis battalion

could reach them, they broke into the inclosure,

and throwing down part of the east wall, and

afterwards a piece of the west wall in tlie rear

of the second line, made a free passage for the

dragoons, who formed in the rear of the prince's

army. Upon this. Lord George ordered the

guards and Fitz-James's horse to form opposite

to the dragoons to keep them Ln check. Each

party stood upon the opposite sides of a ravine,

the ascent to which was so steep, that neither

could venture across in presence of the other

with safety. The foot remained within the

inclosure, and Avochy's battalion was ordered

to watch their motions. * This movement took

place about the time the Higlilanders were

moving forward to the attack. -

It was now high time for the Highlanders to

come to a close engagement. Lord George had

sent Colonel Kerr to the prince, to know if lie

should begin the attack ; the prince ordered

him to do so,' but his lordship, for some reason

or other, delayed advancing. It is probable

he expected that the duke would come forward,

and that by remaining where he was, and re-

taining the wall and a small farm house on

hi.s right, he would not run the risk of being

flanked. Perhaps he waited for the advance

of the left wing, which, being not so far for-

ward as the right, was directed to begin the

attack, and orders had been sent to the Duke

of Perth to that effect; but the left remained

motionless. Anxious for the attack, Charles

sent an order by an aid-de-camp to Lord

George Murray to advance, but his lordship

• KirTcconnel MS.
' Mr. Home says tLat about a hundred men were

stationed in the inclosure, who were put to the .sword

b}' the dr-tgoons when they entered ; but he is certainly

mistaken. Mr. Maxwell of Kirkconnel, from whom
Mr. Home took his description of the battle, does not

mention such an occurrence. In the memoir by a

Highland officer, (Colonel Ker,) printed among tho

Lock-hart Papers, it is stated, (p. 520,) that to gii.ard

against any attempts that might be made to break

down the walls of the inclosure, there were two bat-

t.ilions placed facing outward, covering the right of

the two lines, to observe the motions of the English;

and that " when the attack began, the Campbells threw

down a great part of the wall of the inclosure for the

dragoons on the duke's left, to pass to the rear of tho

prince's army, which they did without receiving one

shot from the two battalions that were placed to observe

tlieir motions."—P. 521.
' Lockhart Papers, vol. it p. 521.

never received it, as the bearer was killed by

a cannon-ball while on his way to the riglit.

He sent a message about the same time to

Locliiel. desiring him to urge upon Lord George

the necessity of an immediate attack.

Galled beyond endurance by the fire of the

English, which carried destruction among the

clans, the Highlanders became quite clamor-

ous, and called aloud to be led forward without

further delay. Unable any longer to restrain

their impatience, Lord George had just resolveil

upon an immediate advance, but before he had

time to issue the order along the lino, the Mack-

intoshes, with a heroism wortliy of that brave

clan, rushed forward enveloped in the smoke

of the enemy's cannon. The fire of the centre

field-pieces, and a discharge of musketry from

the Scotch Fusileers, forced them to incline a

little to the right ; but all the regiments to

their right, led on by Lord George Murray in

person, and the united regiment of the Mac-

lauchlans and Macleans on their left, coming

down close after them, the whole moved for-

ward together at a pretty quick pace. When
within pistol-shot of the Englisli line, they

received a murderous fire, not only in front

from some field-pieces, which for the first time

were now loaded with grape-shot, but in flank

from a side battery supported by the Camp-

bells, and Lord Loudon's Highlanders. Wliole

ranks were literally swept away by the terrible

fire of the English. Yet, notwithstanding tho

dreadful carnage in their ranks, the Highlanders

continued to advance, and, after giving their

fire close to the English line, which, from the

density of the smoke, was scarcely perceptible

even within pistol-shot, the right wing, con-

sisting of the Athole Highlanders and the

Camerons, rushed in sword in hand, and broke

through Barrel's and Monroe's regiments, which

stood on the left of the first line. These regi-

ments bravel}' defended themselves witli their

spontoons and bayonets ; but such was the

impetuosity of the onset, that they would

have been entirely cut to pieces had they not

been immediately supported by two regiments

from the second line, on the approach of which

they retired behind the regiments on their

right, after sustaining a loss in killed and

wounded of upwards of 200 men. After break-

ing through these two regiments, the Highland-
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ers, passing by the two field-pieces 'wliicli had

annoyed them in front, hiuried forward to

attack the left of the second line. They were

met by a tremendous fire of grape-shot from

the three field-pieces on the left of the second

line, and by a discharge of musketry from

Bligh's and Sempill's regiments, which carried

havoc through their ranks, and made them at

first recoil ; but, maddened by despair, and

utterly regardless of their lives, they rushed

upon an enemy whom they felt but could not

see, amid the cloud of smoke in which the

assailants were buried. The same kind of

charge was made by the Stewarts of AppLn, the

Erasers, Mackintoshes, and the other centre

regiments, upon the regiments in their front,

driving them back upon the second line, which

they also attempted to break ; but finding them-

selves unable, they gave up the contest, not,

however, until numbers had been cut down

at the mouths of the cannon. While advanc-

ing towards the second line, Lord George Mur-

ray, in attempting to dismount fi'om his horse,

which had become unmanageable, was thrcsva;

but, recovering himself, he ran to the rear and

brought up two or three regiments from the

second line to support the first ; but, although

they gave their fire, nothing could be done,

—

all was lost. Unable to break the second line,

and being greatly cut up by the fire of Wolfe's

regiment, and by Cobham's and Kerr's dra-

goons, who had formed en potence on their

right flank, the right wing also gave up the

contest, and turning about, out their way back,

sword in liand, through those who had advanced

and formed on the ground they had passed

over in charging to their front.

In consequence of the unwillingness of the

left to advance first as directed. Lord George

Murray had sent the order to attack from right

to left ; but, hurried by the impetuosity of the

Mackintoshes, the right and centre did not

wait tUl the order, which required some min-

utes in the dehvery, had been communicated

along the line. Thus the right and centre had

the start considerably, and quickening their

pace as they went along, had closed ^vith the

front line of the English army before the left

had got half way over the ground that sepa-

rated the two armies. The difference between

the right and centre and the left was rendered

still more considerable from the circumstance,

as noted by an eye-witness,* that the two armies

were not exactly parallel to one another, the

right of the priace's army being nearer the

duke's army than the left. Nothing could he

more unfortunate for the prince than this iso-

lated attack, as it was only by a general shock

of the whole of the English line that he had

any chance of a victory.

The clan regiments on the left of the line,

apprehensive that they would be flanked by

Pulteney's regiment and the horse which had

been brought up from the corps de reserve, did

not advance sword in hand. After receiving

the fire of the regiments opposite to them, they

answered it by a general discharge, and drew

their swords for the attack ; but observing that

the right and centre had given way, they turned

their backs and fled without striking a blow.

Stung to the quick by the misconduct of the

Macdonalds, the brave Keppooh, seeing him-

self abandoned by his clan, advanced with his

drawn sword in one hand and his pistol in the

other ; but he had not proceeded far, when he

was brought down to the ground by a mus-

ketrshot. He was followed by Donald Eoy

Macdonald, formerly a lieutenant in his own

regiment, and now a captain in Clanranald's,

who, on Keppoch's falling, entreated him not

to throw away his life, assuring him that his

wound was not mortal, and that he might

easily join his regiment in the retreat ; but

Keppoch refused to listen to the sohcitations of

his clansman, and, after recommending him to

take care of himself, the wounded chief received

another shot, and fell to rise no more.'

Fortunately for the Highlanders, the Eng-

lish army did not follow up the advantages it

had gained by an immediate pursuit. King-

ston's horse at first followed the Macdonalds,

some of whom were almost surrounded by

them, but the horse were kept in check by the

French piquets, who brought them off. The

dragoons on the left of the English line were

* Maxwell of Kirkconnel.
^ In retiring from the field, Captain Roy Macdonala

received a musket bullet, which passed in at the sole

of the left foot and came out at the buckle. With dif-

ficulty he reached Bun Chraobg, two miles beyon-'

Inverness, where he procured a horse and set off for

the Isle of Skye, but his foot had swelled so much
that he could not put it in the stirrup. — JacobiU

Memoirs, p. 425.
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in like manner kept at bay by Ogilvy's regi-

ment, which, faced about upon them several

times. After these ineffectual attempts, the

English cavalry on the right and left met in

the centre, and the front line having dressed

its ranks, orders were issued for the whole to

advance in pursuit of the Highlanders.

Charles, who, from the small eminence on

which he stood, had observed with the deepest

concern the defeat and flight of tlie clan regi-

ments, was about proceeding forward to rally

them, contrary to the earnest entreaties of Sir

Thomas Sheridan and others, who assured him

that he would not succeed. All their expos-

tulations would, it is said, have been in vain,

had not General O'Sullivan laid hold of the

bridle of Charles's horse, and led him off the

field. It was, indeed, full time to retire, as the

whole army was now in full retreat, and was

followed by the whole of Cumberland's forces.

To protect the prince and secure his retreat, most

of his horse assembled about his person ; but

there was little danger, as the victors advanced

very leisurely, and confined themselves to cut-

ting down some defenceless stragglers who fell

in their way. After leaving the field, Charles

put himself at the head of the right wing, which

retired in such order that the cavalry sent to

pursue could make no impression upon it.

At a short distance from the field of battle,

Charles separated his army into two parts.

One of these divisions, consisting, with the ex-

ception of the Erasers, of the whole of the

Highlanders and the low country regiments,

crossed the water of Nairn, and proceeded

towards Ladenoch ; and the other, comprising

the Erasers, Lord John Drummond's regiment,

and the French piquets, took the road to

Inverness. The first division passed within

pistol-shot of the body of English cavalry,

which, before the action, had formed in the

rear of the Higliland army, without the least

interruption. An English officer, who had the

temerity to advance a few paces to seize a

Highlander, was instantly cut down by him
and killed on the spot. The Highlander, in-

stead of running away, deliberately stooped

down, and pulling out a watch from the pocket

of his victim, rejoined his companions.^ From

* Jolinstoues Slemoin, p. 198.

tlie plainness of the ground over wliich it had

to pass, the smaller body of the prince's army

was less fortunate, as it suffered considerably

from the attacks of the duke's light horse lie-

fore it reached Inverness. Numerous small

parties, which had detached themselves from

the main body, fell under the sabres of tlie

cavalry ; and many of the inhabitants of the

town and neighbourhood, who, from motives

of curiosity, had come out to witness the battle,

were slaughtered without mercy by the fero-

cious soldiery, who, from the similarity of their

dress, were perhaps unable to discriminate them

from Charles's troops. This indiscriminate

massacre continued aU the way from the field

of battle to a place called Mill-burn, within a

nide of Inverness. Not content with the pro-

fusion of bloodshed in the heat of action and

during the pursuit, the infuriated soldiery, pro-

voked by their disgraces at Preston and Fal-

kirk, traversed the field of battle, and mas-

sacred in cold blood the miserable wretches

who lay maimed and expiring. Even some

officers, whose station in society, apart alto-

gether from the feelings of humanity, to wliich

they were utter strangers, should have made

them superior to this vulgar triumph of base

and illiberal minds, joined in the work of

assassination. To extenuate the atrocities com-

mitted in the battle, and the subsequent slaugh-

ters, a forged regimental order, bearing to be

signed by Lord George Murray, by which the

Higlilanders were enjoined to refuse quarters

to the royal troojis, was afterwards published,

it is said, under the auspices of the Duke of

Cumberland ; but the deception was easily seen

through. As no such order was alluded to in

the official accounts of the battle, and as, at the

interview wliich took place between the Earl

of KUmarnook and Lord Balmerino, on the

morning of their execution, both these noble-

men stated their entire ignorance of it, no

doubt whatever can exist of the forgery. The

conduct of Charles and his followers, who never

indulged in any triumph over their vanquished

foes, but always treated them with humanity

and kindness, high as it is, stands stiU higher

when contrasted with that of the royal troops

and their commander.^

' Oue of the Juke's sycophants Fays, that after the
'4p
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From the characteristic bravery of the High-

landers, and their contempt of death, it is not

improbable that some of those who perished,

as well on the field after the battle as in the

flight, did not yield their lives without a des-

perate struggle ; but history has preserved one

case of individual prowess in the person of

Golice Macbane, which deserves to be recorded

in every history relating to the Higlilanders.

This man, who is represented to have been of

the gigantic stature of six feet four inches and

a quarter, was beset by a party of dragoons.

When assailed, he placed his back against a

wall, and though covered with wounds, he de-

fended himself with his target and claymore

against the onset of the dragoons, who crowded

upon him. Some officers, who observed the

unequal conflict, were so struck with the despe-

rate bravery of Macbane, that they gave orders

to save him ; but the dragoons, exasperated by

his resistance, and the dreadful havoc he had

made among their companions, thirteen of

whom lay dead at his feet, woidd not desist

till they had succeeded in cutting him down.'

According to the official accounts published

by the government, the royal army had only

50 men killed, and 259 wounded, including

18 officers, of whom 4 were killed. Lord

Robert Kerr, second son of the Marquis of

Lothian, and a captain of grenadiers in Barrel's

regiment, was the only person of distinction

killed ; he fell covered with wounds, at the

head of his company, when the Higlilanders

attacked Barrel's regiment. The loss on the

side of the Highlanders was never ascertained

with any degree of precision. The number of

the slain is stated, in some publications of the

period, to have amounted to upwards of 2,000

men, but these accounts are exaggerated. The

loss could not, however, be much short of 1,200

fatigue of the battle was over, his royal highness retired

to a place near the field to refresh himself; and that,

after sitting a short time, he rose and took " a serious

walk to view the multitudes that lay dc.vd on the

ground. He was followed by some of his attendants,

who observed him in deep meditation. He laid his

hand upon his breast, and with his eyes lifted up to

heaven, was heard to say, Lord, what am I ! that I
should he spared? when so many brave men lie dead
upon the spot !—an expression of such deep humility
towards God, and compassion towards his fellow crea-

tures, as is truly worthy a Christian hero ! ! I
"

—

Mar-
cluint, p. 396.

' Cromek's Remairis of Nithsdale and Oalloway
Song, p. 200.—Henderson's History, p. 60.

men. The Athole brigade alone lost more

than the half of its officers and men, and

some of the centre battalions came off with

scarcely a third of their men.' The Mackin-

toshes, who were the first to attack, suffered

most. With the exception of three only, all

the officers of this brave regiment, including

Macgillivray of Drumnaglass, its colonel, the

lieutenant- colonel, and major, were killed in

the attack. All the other centre regiments also

lost several officers. Maclauchlan, colonel of

the united regiment of Maclauchlan and Mao-

lean, was killed by a cannon baU in the begin-

ning of the action, and ^Maclean of Drimmin,

who, as lieutenant-colonel, succeeded to the

command, met a similar fate from a random

shot. He had tlrree sons in the regiment, one

of whom fell in the attack, and, when leading

off the shattered remains of his forces, he missed

the other two, and, in returning to look after

them, received the fatal bullet. Charles Eraser,

younger of Inverallacliie, the lieutenant-colonel

of the Eraser regiment, and who, in the absence

of the Master of Lovat, commanded it on tb's

occasion, was also killed. When riding over

the field after the battle, the Duke of Cumber,

land observed this brave youth lying wounded,

Raising himself upon his elbow, he looked at

the duke, who, ofl^ended at him, thus addressed

one of his officers :
" Wolfe, shoot me that

Highland sconndrel who thus dares to look on

us with so insolent a stare." Wolfe, horrffied

at the inhuman order, replied that his commis-

sion was at his royal highness's disposal, but

that he would never consent to become an

executioner. Other officers refusing to conunit

this act of butchery, a private soldier, at the

command of the duke, shot the hapless youth

before his eyes.^ The Appin regiment had 17

officers and gentlemen slain, and 10 wounded;

and the Athole brigade, which lost fully half

its men, had 19 officers killed, and 4 wounded.

The fate of the heroic Keppoch has been

already mentioned. Among the wounded, the

principal was Lochiel, who was shot in both

ancles with some grape-shot, at the head of his

regiment, after discharging his pistol, and while

in the act of drawing his sword. On falling,

° Jacobite Memoirs, p. 124.
> Chambers's Rebellion, and authorities refeited to

there.
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his two brothers, between whom he was ad-

vancing, raised him up, and carried him oflf the

field in their arms. To add to his misfortunes,

Charles also lost a considerable number of

gentlemen, his most devoted adherents, who

had charged on foot in the first rank.

Lord Strathallan was the only person of dis-

tinction that fell among the low country regi-

ments. Lord Kilmarnock and Sir John Wed-

derburn were taken prisoners. The former, in

the confusion of the battle, mistook, amidst the

smoke, a party of English dragoons for Fitz-

James's horse, and was taken. Having lost

his hat, ho was led bare-headed to the front

line of the English infantry. His son. Lord

Boyd, who held a commission in the English

army, unable to restrain his feelings, left the

ranks, and, going up to his unfortunate parent,

took oflf his own hat, placed it on his father's

head, and returned to his place without utter-

ing a word.

At other times, and under different circum-

stances, a battle like that of Culloden would

have been regarded as an ordinary occurrence,

of which, when all matters were dnlj con-

sidered, the victors could have little to boast.

The Higliland army did not exceed 5,000 fight-

ing men ; and when it is considered that the

men had been two days without sleep, were

exhausted by the march of the preceding night,

and had scarcely tasted food for forty-eight

hours, the wonder is that they fought so well

as they did, against an army almost double in

point of numbers, and which laboured under

none of the disadvantages to which, in a more

especial manner, the overthrow of the High-

landers is to be ascribed.^ Nevertheless, as

the spirits of the great majority of the nation

had been sunk to the lowest state of despond-

ency by the reverses of the royal arms at

Preston and Falkirk, this unlooked-for event

- The ground was totally unsnited to Highland tac-

tics. "It is impossible to look on this waste, with

the few green patches still marking the graves where

the slain were covered up in heaps, without a feeling

of compassion for the helplessness of a Highland army
in such a place. It is a wide flat muir, with scarcely

a curve, where the mountaineers had nothing to aiil

their peculiar warfare, in high or rugged ground. A
hetter field for steady disciplined troops could not

exist- They could see everywhere around, and it was
impossible either to surprise them, or subject them, as

at Killiecrankie or Falkirk, to a rush from the higher

ground."—Burton after Revolution, vol. ii. p. 518.

was hailed as one of the greatest military

achievements of ancient or modern times
;

and the Duke of Ciunberland, who had, in

consequence, an addition of £25,000 per an-

num made to liis income by parliament, was

regarded as the greatest hero of ancient or

modern times. In its consequences, as entirely

and for ever destructive of the claims of the

unfortunate house of Stuart, the battle was

perhaps one of the most important ever fought.

Though vanquished, the Highlanders retired

from the field with honour, and free from that

foul reproach which has fixed an indelible stain

upon the memories of the victors.

After the carnage of the day had ceased, the

brutal soldiery, who, from the fiendish delight

which they took in sprinkling one another with

the blood of the slain, " looked," as stated by

one of themselves, " like so many butchers

rather than an army of Cliristian soldiers,"^

dined upon the field of battle. After his men
had finished their repast, the Duke of Cumber-

land marched forward to take possession of

Inverness, and on his way received a letter,

which had been addressed to General Bland,

signed by six of the French officers in the in-

surgent army, offering in behalf of themselves

and their men to surrender unconditionally to

his royal highness. As he was about to enter

the town he was met by a drummer, who

brought him a message from General Stapleton,

offering to surrender and asking quarter. On
receiving this communication, the duke ordered

Sir Joseph Yorke, one of his officers, to alight

from his horse, who with his pencil wrote a

note to General Stapleton, assuring him of

fair quarter and honourable treatment. The

town was then taken possession of by Captain

Campbell, of Sempill's regiment, with his com-

pany of grenadiers.

After securing liis prisoners in the town, the

Duke of Cumberland released the soldiers who

had been confined in the church of Inverness

by the insurgents, and who, if the government

accounts be correct, had suffered great hard-

ships. They had indeed, about a week before

the battle of Cidloden, been almost stripped of

their clothes by an officer of the Highland

army, to clothe a new corps he had raised; but

' Scots Mag. vol. viii. p, 192.
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a complaint having been brought to Lord

George Murray on the subject, he obtained an

order from the prince, in consequence of which

the clothes were restored. * The duke on the

present occasion presented each of these men
with a guinea, and gave orders that they should

bo taken care of.

Besides the military prisoners, several gentle-

men supposed to be disaffected to the govern-

ment were apprehended by the duke's orders,

shut up with the common prisoners, and were

for some time denied the use of bedding. Nor
did the softer sex, whose Jacobite predilections

had pointed them out as objects of displea-

sure, escape his resentment. Several ladies,

among whom were Ladies OgUvy, Kinloch,

and Gordon, were seized and kept in durance

in the common guard, and were limited along

with the other prisoners to the miserable pit-

tance of half-a-pound of meal per day, \vith

scarcely as much water as was necessary to

jirepare it for use. As the wounded prisoners

were utterly neglected, many who would have

recovered, if properly treated, died of their

wounds ; and so much were the rites of Christian

sepulture disregarded by the royal officers, that

the bodies of these unfortunate victims were

carried naked through the streets by beggars,

who were employed to inter them in the church-

yaid. 5

Knowing that there were several deserters

from the royal army among the insurgents, the

duke ordered a strict inspection to be made of

the prisoners in order to find them out. No
less than thirty-sis were recognised, and being

brought to a summary trial, were convicted,

and suffered the death of traitors. Among
these was one Dunbar, who had been a sergeant

in Sowle's regiment. He had taken a suit of

laced clothes from Ifajor Lockhart at the battle

of Falkirk, which being found in his possession,

he was dressed in them, and hanged, and his

body exposed for forty-eight hours on the

gibbet.* A young gentleman of the name of

Forbes, a relative of Lord Forbes, is also said

to have perished on this occasion. He had

served as a cadet in an English regiment, but,

being from principle attached to the Jacobite

interest, had joined the standard of the prince.

• Jacobite Memoirs, p. 129. • Idem, p. 236.
• Boyse, p. 164.

An incident occurred after the execution of

this unfortunate gentleman, which assumed an
alarming appearance, and might have led to

serious consequences had the war been con-

tinued. Before Forbes was cut down from tho

gibbet, an English officer, with a morbidness

of feeling which seems to have seized the officers

as well as the common soldiers of the army,

plunged his sword into the body of Forbes,

exclaiming, at the same time, that "all his

countrymen were traitors and rebels like him-

self" This exclamation being heard by a

Scottish officer who was standing hard by, the

offended Scotchman immediately drew his

sword, and demanded satisfaction for the in-

sult offered to his country. The Englishman

instantly accepted the challenge, and in a short

time the combat became general among the

officers who happened to be on the spot. The

soldiers, seeing their officers engaged, beat to

arms of their own accord, and di'ew up along

the streets, the Scotch on one side and tho

English on the other, and commenced a >vann

combat with fixed bayonets. Infonuation of

this affray having been brought lo tho Duko
of Cumberland, he hastened to tho scene of

action, and by his persuasions put an end to

the combat. He found the Scotch greatly ex-

cited by the affront offered them ; but he soothed

their wounded feelings by complimenting them

for their fidelity, their courage, and exemplary

conduct. ^

Notwithstanding the massacres which wore

committed immediately after the battle, a con-

siderable number of wounded Higlilanders still

survived, some of whom had taken refuge in a

few cottages adjoining the field of battle, while

others lay scattered among the neighbouring

inclosures. Many of these men might have

recovered if ordinary attention had been paid

to them ; but the stem duke, considering that

those who had risen in rebellion against his

father were not entitled to the rights of hu-

manity, entirely neglected them.' But, bar-

barous as such conduct was, it was only the

' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 203.
'" It is not necessary to believe all the Jacobite sto-

ries tending to show a wanton and fiendish indul-

fience, by the duke and his most distinguished fol-

lowers, in cruelty and any kind of bloody work for its

own sake; nor to admit that he ridiculed President

Forbes as the old woman who spoke abont humanity



BARBARITIES COM]\IITTED BY THE ROYAL TROOPS 669

prelude to enormities of a still more revolting

description. At first the victors conceived

that they had completed the work of death by

killing all the wounded they could discover;

but when they were informed that some stLU

survived, they resolved to despatch them. A
Mr. Hossack, who had filled the situation of

provost of Inverness, and who had, under the

direction of President Forbes, performed im-

portant serrices to the government, having

gone to pay his respects to the Duke of Cum-

berland, found Generals Hawley and Huske

deliberating on this inhuman design. Ob-

serving them intent upon their object, and

actually proceeding to make out orders for

killing the wounded Highlanders, he ventured

to remonstrate against such a barbarous step.

" As his majesty's troops have been happily

successfid. against the rebels, I hope (observed

Hossack) your excellencies will be so good as

to mingle mercy with judgment." Hawley,

in a rage, cried out, " D—n the puppy ! does

he protend to dictate here 1 Carry him away !"

Another officer ordered Hossack to be kicked

out, and the order was obeyed with such in-

stantaneous precision, that the ex - provost

foimd himself at the bottom of two flights of

steps almost in a twinkling.'

In terms of the cruel instructions alluded

to, a party was despatched from Inverness the

day after the battle to put to death all the

wounded they might find in the inclosure ad-

joining the field of Culloden. These orders

fere fulfilled ^vith a punctuality and delibera-

tion that is sickening to read of. Instead of

and the laws. What he did was, we may be assured

from liis character, not done in a spirit of wantonness,

but after a sense of duty. But that duty led him to

severity. He was a soldier according to the Genuan
notions of a sohiier, and a rebel province was a com-
munity to be subjected to martial law. Many of the

insurgents, attempting to escape or hide themselves
when detected by well-known peculiarities, were put
to death by the soldiery, who, even when they made
a mistake and slew the wroug man, could not easily

be punished. The duke, brought up in the German
military school, seems to have been unable to distin-

guish between a rebellion suppressed in constitutional

Britain, where all men are supposed to be innocent

but those proved to be guilty,—and a revolted Ger-

man province, where every accorded grace to the un-
fortunate people proceeds from the will of the con-

queror. Thus there was a propensity to subject all

the northern districts to something too closely re-

sembling military law or license."—Burton's Scotland

after Revolution, v. ii. pp. 522, 523.
® Letter from a gentleman in Loudon to his friend

in Bath. Bath, 1751, reprinted in Jacobite Memoirs.

despatching their unfortunate victims on the

spot where they found them, the soldiers drag-

ged them from the places where they lay wel-

tering in their gore, and, having ranged them on

some spots of rising ground, poured in volleys

of musketry upon them. Next day parties

were sent to search all the houses in the neigh-

bourhood of the field of battle, with instruc-

tions to carry all the wounded Highlanders

they could find thither and despatch them.

Many were in consequence murdered ; and the

yoimg laird of Macleod was heard frankly to

declare, that on this occasion he himself saw

seventy-two persons killed in cold blood. Tho

feelmgs of humanity were not, however, alto-

gether obliterated in the hearts of some of the

officers, who spared a few of the wounded. In

one instance the almost incredible cruelty of

the soldiery was strikingly exemplified. At a

short distance from the field of battle there

stood a small hut, used for sheltering sheep

and goats in cold and stormy weather, into

which some of the wounded had crawled. On
discovering them the soldiers immediately se-

cured the door, to prevent egress, and there-

upon set fire to the hut in several places, and

all the persons within, to the number of be-

tween thirty and forty, perished in the flames.

'

Another instance of fiendish cruelty oc-

curred the same day. Almost immediately

after the battle, nineteen woimded officers of

the Highland army, unable to follow their

retiring companions, secreted themselves in a

small plantation near Culloden house, whence

they were afterwards carried to the court-yard

of that mansion, where they remained two

days in great torture weltering in their blood,

and mthout the least medical aid or attention

but such as they received from the president's

steward, who, at the hazard of his own life,

alleviated the sufferings of his imhappy coun-

trymen by several acts of kindness. These

wretched sufferers were now tied with ropes

by the brutal soldiery, thrown into carts, and

carried out to a park wall at a short chstance

from Culloden house. Being dragged out of

the carts, they were ranged in order along tho

wall, and were told by the officer in command

of the party to prepare for death. Such of
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them as retained the use of their limbs fell

down upon their knees iu prayer; but they

had little time allowed them to invoke mercy,

for in a minute the soldiers received orders to

fire, and, being posted at the distance of only

two or three yards from the prisoners, the un-

fortunate gentlemen were almost all instantly

shot dead. That the butchery might be com-

plete, the soldiers were ordered to club their

muskets and dash out the brains of such of

their miserable victims as exhibited any symp-

toms of life, an order which, horrible to tell,

was actually fulfilled. A gentleman named

John Eraser, who had been an officer in the

Master of Lovat's regiment, alone survived.

He had received a ball, and being observed to be

still in life, was struck on the face by a soldier

with the butt end of his musket. Though one

of his cheek bones and the upper part of liis

nose were broken, and one of his eyes dashed

out by the blow, he still lived, and the party,

thinking they had killed him, left him for

dead. He would probably have expired on

the spot, had not the attention of Lord Boyd,

son of the Earl of Kilmarnock, when riding

past, been fortunately attracted by the number

of dead bodies he observed lying together.

Espying, at a httle distance from the heap, a

body in motion, his lordship went up, and hav-

ing ascertained from the mouth of the sufferer

who he was, he ordered his servant to carry

Mt. Eraser to a cottage, near at hand, which

he named, where he lay concealed for three

months. He lived several years afterwards,

but was a cripple during life.
-

By the captiue of Inverness, a considerable

quantity of ordnance and military stores fell

into the hands of the royal army. Including

those taken on the iield of battle, there were

30 pieces of cannon, 2,320 firelocks, 190 broad-

swords, a large quantity of musket cartridges,

1,019 cannon balls, a quantity of musket shot,

37 barrels of gunpowder, and 22 ammunition

carts, besides tents, cantines, pistols, saddles,

&c. To encourage the soldiers to coUect the

arms which the Highlanders had left on the

field, they were allowed half-a-croivn for every

musket, and a shilling for every broadsword

which they brought into the camp at Inver-

' Letter from a gentleman in London, &c.

ness. Eor every stand of colours the sum of

sixteen guineas was aUowe.d, and no less than

fourteen of these were captured or picked up

upon the field, all of which were burnt on the

4th of June at the market cross of Edinburgh,

by the hands of the common hangman, after

being carried in mock procession from the

castle by a party of chimney-sweeps.

Two days after the battle the Earl of Cro-

marty, his son. Lord Macleod, several ofiicers,

and 153 private men, were landed at Inverness

from the Hound sloop of war, which had con-

veyed them from Sutherland, where they had

been taken prisoners by a party of Lord Suth-

erland's people on the preceding day, viz., the

15th of April, under the following circum-

stances. Having received instructions to rejoin

the main body of the Highland army at Inver-

ness, the earl was atiout proceeding to fulfil

them, when a plan was formed by the Mackays

and the Earl of Sutherland's people to cut him

off. UnitLng their forces, consisting of three

independent companies, near Golspie, they re-

solved to attack the Earl of Cromarty, early in

the morning of the 1 5th of April, in flank and

in rear. In pursuance of this resolution. Cap-

tain Macallister, who commanded the Earl of

Sutherland's militia, marched with his com-

pany towards the water of Golspie, and having

in liLs march received intelligence that Cro-

marty's regiment had marched towards the

ferry, but that the earl himself with the greater

part of his ofiicers was at Dunrobin castle, he

sent Ensign John Mackay, with a party of 26

men, to intercept him. The earl left the castle

with 14 of&cers on horseback, and a small

party of well-armed foot, to join his men, and

would have fallen into an ambuscade which

Ensign Mackay had laid for him, had not some

of the Mackays begun to fire too soon. Lord

Cromarty immediately retraced his steps and

took refuge Ln the castle, from the top of the

tower of which he displayed a wliite flag and

rang a beU, as a signal that he was attacked.

The earl's men began immediately to march

back to his relief, upon which IMackay and Iris

party retired to the adjacent liigh grounds.

Meanwhile, the two independent companies,

wliich were to attack Cromarty's men In flank,

arrived at the hiU of Culmaly, to the north-

west of Golspie, and observing the insurgents
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rBHiriu)i<,' from the ferry, and drawing uji in

order of battle on a rising ground about a mile

west from Golspie, they concealed themselves

on the top of the hill : Captains Gray and

Sutherland, the commanders of the two com-

panies, then descended the hill to reconnoitre.

'i'hey computed Cromarty's force to be between

•too and 500 men ; and, having resolved to

attack them, they returned to their men and

gave orders to that effect. To deceive the iu-

sm'gents as to the extent of their numbers, they

marched do^vn the hill in open column, keep-

ing a distance of about twenty paces between

each rank ; and so well did this ruse succeed,

that the insurgents, struck with a panic, fled

towards the ferry, and were pursued by the

two companies, who, attacking them in flank,

killed a considerable niunber, and took 178 pri-

soners. The two companies thereupon marched

to Dunrobin castle, which they invested. The

earl held out the castle till the evening, when,

despairing of relief, he requested the com-

manders of the companies to hold a conference

with him in the castle on the subject of a sur-

render. While engaged in conversation, En-

sign Mackay, who had entered the castle along

with the two captains, went down stairs, and

having informed the earl's men below that he

had surrendered, induced them to deliver up

their arms. Having secured their arms, he took

the keys from the porter, and, opening the gates,

admitted his party. He then went up stairs

with them, and, entering the dining-room,

seized the earl, Lord Macleod, and the whole

officers.'

^V^lilst the Duke of Cumberland was deli-

berating upon the course he should adopt for

finally suppressing the rebellion, his unfortu-

nate kinsman, disheartened by his recent dis-

aster, was entirely occupied with thoughts of

his ovnx personal safety. After leaving the

field, Charles, escorted by a large body of

horse, crossed the river Nairn at the ford of

Falie, about four miles from the field of battle.

Having halted a short time on the south side

of the Nairn, during which he held a consulta-

tion with his friends, Charles dismissed the

horse and most of his attendants, with instruc-

tions to assemble at Euthven in Badenoch,

' Life of George, Earl of Cromarty : Londou, 1746.

Boyse, p. 155.

where they were directed to wait for furtlier

orders. Taking along with him Sir Thomas

Sheridan, O'Sullivan, Captain O'NeU, John

Hay, and a few other persons, Charles set out

for Gortuleg, the residence of Lord Lovat's

steward, where he arrived about sunset. Tliere,

for the first and only time, the prince met

Lord Lovat, who, on learning the cause of the

Prince's unexpected visit, became, it is said,

almost frantic, and, anticipatiug the fate whicli

awaited liim, called out to those aroimd him to

chop off hia head. In a little time the aged

chief regained his self-possession, and entered

into conversation with Charles and bis follow-

ers in relation to their future prospects. As it

was not considered .safe to pass the night so

near the royal troops, Charles and his party,

after partaking of some supper, left Gortuleg

about ten o'clock for Invergarry, the seat of

Macdonell of Glengarry. Before leaving Gor-

tuleg, the prince took the precaution to change

his dress.

The prince and his party arrived at the

mansion of Invergarry about four o'clock in the

morning, where Charles began to experience a

foretaste of the hardships he was destined to

endure. This ancient castle, ever since its first

erection, had never been in such a cheerles.s

condition as that in which Charles now found

it. Unprovided with furniture or provisions,

and inhabited by a solitary domestic, it seemed

to warn the unfortunate fugitives that they

were unwelcome within its walls, and that they

must speedily look out for a more hospitable

place of retreat. Overcome by fatigue, the

whole party lay down upon the floor, in their

clothes, and fell asleep. After reposing several

hoiirs, they rose, but had nothing to eat till

Edward Burke, servant to Alexander Macleod,

one of the party, observing a net in the water

of Garry, pulled it out and caught two salmon,

on which they dined.

With the exception of O'Sullivan, O'Neil,

and Edward Burke, who, from his knowledge

of the country, was selected as the prince's

guide, all the party took leave of Charles at

Invergarry. Before leaving the castle, Charles,

in order the more effectually to disguise him-

self, put on Burke's coat; and at three o'clock

in the afternoon, he set out for Loch Aikaig

in Lochaber, accompanied by his three atten-
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(lauts, and took up Ms quarters for the night
|

in the house of Donald Cameron of Glenpean.

Charles slept the following night, that of Friday

the 18th, at MewboU, where he and his small

party were well entertained. FromMewboU they

set out nest raorning for Glenboisdale. At

Loch Morar they waited several hours for a boat

to carry them across ; but, not finding one, they

were obliged, from the road being impractica-

ble for horses, to abandon them and to walk on

foot to Glenboisdale, whirli tli.nriMchc-d on Sun-

day the 20tli, after great fatigue, having crossed

tw > lofty r.'.nges of mountains in their route.

Presuming that Charles stUl meant to make
a stfud. Lord George Murray and the other

chiefs who remamed with the army retired to

Euthven, where, including Cluny's men whom
they met on their retreat, thej' assembled a force

of between 2,000 and 3,000 men. From the

want of provisions it was impossible to keep

such a body together for any length of time

;

and a message from Charles, two or three days

after the battle, desiring them to disperse, has1>

ened an event which seemed to be inevitable.

In thus resigning tbo contest which by his in-

considerate rashness he had provoked, Charles

showed that he was not possessed of that mag-

nanimity which many of his followers ascribed

to bun. Notwithstanding their recent reverse,

there existed no unwdlmgness on the pait of

the brave men who had risked their all for him

to continue the war. They might not have, it

is true, succeeded in vindicating the claim of

an ungrateful prince in the field; but, under

his leadership, they might have made a gallant

stand, and forced the government to grant them

favourable terms. In extenuation of

the prince's conduct, on the present

occasion, it is but fair to add, that he

was imder the influence of a set of

contemptible advisers, who prejudiced

him against his best friends, and in-

stilled into his mind a conviction that

he had been betrayed at Culloden.

How far the conduct of Lord George

Murray, after that event,may have ds-

termiued Charles to take the course he

did, cannot now be ascertained ; hut i!

Charles, in the midst of his perplexity

immediately after the battle, hesitated

as to the course he should pm-sue, hia

reception of the following document,

under the hand of Lord George Mur-

ray, was certainly not calculated to

induce him to continue the conte.?t.

"May it please YorK Koyal Highm!S3.

" As no person inthese kingdoms

ventured more frunkly in the causo

than myself, and as I had more at

stake than almost all the others put

togetlier, so, tu be sure, I cannot but he

very deeply affected with our late loss and pre-

sent situation ; but I declare, thatwere yourroyal

luglmess's person in safety, the loss of the cause,

and the misfortunate and unhappy situation of

my countrymen, is the only tiling that grieves

me, for I thank God I have resolution to bear

my own family's ruin without a grudge. Sir,

you will, I hope, upon this occasion, pardon

me, if I mention a few truths, which all the

gentlemen of our army seem convinced of.

" It was highly wrong to have set up the

royal standard without having positive assur-

ances from his Most Christian ilajesty, that

he would assist you with all his force ; and aa
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your royal family lost the crown of these realms

upon the account of France, the world did and

had reason to expect that France would seize

the first favourable opportunity to restore your

august family.

" I must also acquaint your royal highness,

that we were all fully convinced that Mr.

O'Sullivan, whom your royal liigluiess trusted

with the most essential tilings with regard to

your operations, was exceedingly unfit for it,

and committed gross hlimders on every occasion

of moment. He whose business it was, did

not so much as visit the ground where we were

to he dra\vn up in line of battle, and it was a

fatal error to allow the enemy these walls upon

their left, which made it impossible for us to

break them, and they, with their front fire,

and flanking us when we went upon the attack,

destroyed us without any possibility of our

breaking them, and our Athole men have lost

a fuU half of their officers and men. I wish

Mr. O'Sullivan had never got any other charge

in the army than the care of the baggage,

which, I am told, he had been brought up to

and understood. I never saw him in time of

action, neither at Gladsmuir, Falkirk, nor in

the last, and liis orders wore vastly confused.

" The want of provisions was another mis-

fortune which had the most fatal consequence.

Mr. Hay, whom your royal higlmess trusted

with the principal direction of ordering pro-

visions of late, and without whose orders a boll

of meal or farthing of money was not to be

delivered, has served your royal highness cgre-

giously Ul. Wlien I spoke to him, he told me

the thing is ordered, it wUl be got, &c.; but he

neglected his duty to such a degree, that our

ruin might probably have been prevented had

ho done his duty. In short, the tliree last

days whicli were so critical, our army was

starved. This was the reason our night march

was rendered abortive, when we possibly might

have surprised and defeated the enemy at

Nairn ; but for want of provisions a third of

the army scattered to Inverness, &c., and the

other who marched had not s{;irits to make it

so quick as was necessary, being really faint for

want of pTo^^sions.

" The next day, which was the fat.il day, if

we had got plenty of provisions we might liave

crossed the water of Nairn, and drawn up so

advantageously, that we would have obliged

the enemj' to come to us, for they were resolved

to fight at all hazards at prodigious disadvan-

tage, and probably we would in that case have

done by them as they unhappily have done by

us. In short, Mr. O'Sullivan and Mr. Hay
had rendered themselves odious to all our army,

and had disgusted them to such a degree, that

they had bred a mutiny in all ranks, that had

not the battle come on, they were to li.ive

represented their grievances to your royal high-

ness for a remedy. For my own part, I never

had any particular discussion with either of

them-; but I ever thought them uncap.aWe

and unfit to serve in the stations they were

placed in.

" Tour royal highness knows I always told

I had no design to continue in the army. I

would of late, when I came last from Atholo,

have resigned my commission ; but all my
friends told me it might be of prejudice to the

cause at such a critical time. I hope your royal

highness ^vill now accept of my demission.

What commands you have for me in any other

situation, please honour me with them.—I am,

with great zeal. Sir, your royal highness's most

dutiful ami humblB servant,

' George Murray.

"RuTHVEN, mil April, 1746.

" I have taken the liberty to keep 500 pieces,

which shajit be disposed upon except you give

leave."*

It would appear from the preceding docu-

ment that Lord George Murray, who, of all

men, was the best judge of the propriety of

trying another campaign, did not in the least

contemplate that Charles would abandon the

enterprise. His own opinion was, that the war

should be continued ; and when he heard that

Charles had resolved to depart for France, ho

sent Secretary Hay to Glenboisdale with a

message to Charles, to dissuade him against

such a step ; but Charles informed Hay that

his resolution was fixed. Lord George main-

tained that the Highlanders " could have made

a summer's campaign without the risk of any

misfortune : they could have marched through

From the Stuart Papers.

4q
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the hills to places in Banffshire, Aberdeen-

shire, the Mearns, Pertlishhe, Lochaher, and

Argyleshire, by waj's that regular troops could

not have followed ; and if they (the regular

troops) had ventured among the mountains, it

must have been attended "with great danger

and difficulty : their convoys might have been

cut off, and opportunities "would have offered

to attack them with almost a certainty of suc-

cess. Arid though the Highlanders had neither

money nor magazines, they would not have

stanxd in that season of the year so long as

there were sheep and cattle : they could also

liave separated themselves in two or three dif-

ferent bodies, got meal for some days' provi-

sion,—met again at a place appouited, and

might have fallen upon the enemy when they

least expected : they could have marched in

three days what would have taken regular

troops five : nay, had those taken the high

roads as often as they woidd have been obliged

upon accoimt of their carriages, it would have

taken them ten or twelve days. In short, they

might have been so harassed and fatigued that

they must have been in the greatest distress

and difficulties, and at length probably been

destroyed, at least much might have been ex-

pected by gaining of time : perhaps the High-

landers might have been enabled to have made

an offensive instead of a defensive war."^

After receiving Charles's orders to disperse,

the officers at Ruthven, to use an expression of

one of themselves,^ " took a melancholy leave of

each other," and went off in different directions

to secure their personal safety, and the com-

mon men proceeded straight to their respective

homes.

WlnUe Secretary Hay was at Boisdale,

Charles drew up a letter to the chiefs, stating

the reasons of his departure, which he inclosed

in one to Sir Thomas Sheridan,'' with instruc-

tions to show it to them, but to keep it as long

back as he conveniently could. He stated that

it was " of the last consequence " to conceal

his departure on some pretext or other, which

he enjoined him to contrive, and to recommend,

particularly to every person to whom he showed

the paper, to follow the same course. In using

^ Accmint of the Battle of Culloden, tic. : Loud. 1719.
° Ufaxwell of Kirkconnel.
^ Stuart Papers.

this precaution Charles probably wished to keep

the government in ignorance of his design to

leave the kingdom. The letter to the chiefs,

which, though written on or before the 23d of

April, the date of the letter to Sir Thomas
Sheridan, is post-dated the 28th, with the view,

perhaps, of allowing Sir Tliomas to withhold

it for a few days, by which time Charles ex-

pected that he would be on his way to the

Long island, where he expected to find a vessel

to carry him to France, The letter to the chiefs

runs thus:

—

" For the Chiefs,

" "When I came into this country, it was

my only view to do all in my power for your

good and safety. This I will always do as

long as Ufe is in me. But alas ! I see with

grief I can at present do little for you on this

side the water, for the only thing that can :jOV/

be done is to defend yourselves tiU the I rench

assist you, if not to be able to make better

terms. To effectuate this, the only way is to

assemble in a body as soon as possible, and

then to take meaisuTes for the best, which you

that know the country are only judges of. This

makes me be of little use here ; whereas, by

my going into France instantly, however dan-

gerous it be, I will certainly engage the French

court either to assist us effectually and power-

fully, or at least to procure you such terms as

you would not obtain otherways. My pre-

sence there, I flatter myself, will have more

effect to bring tliis sooner to a determination

than any body else, for several reasons; one of

which I will mention here; viz. it is thought

to be a politick, (pohcy,) though a false one,

of the French court, not to restore our master,

but to keep a continual civil war in this coun-

try, which renders the English government

less powerfid, and of consequence themselves

more. This is absolutely destroyed by my leav-

ing the country, which nothing else but this

will persuade them that this play cannot last,

and if not remedied, the Elector will soon be as

despotick as the French king, which, I shoidd

think
, will obhge them to strike the great

stroke, which is always in their power, how-

ever averse they may have been to it for the

time past. Before leaving off, I must recom-

mend to you, that all things should be decided
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by a couucil of all yoiu- chiefs, or, in any of

your absence, the next commander of your

several corps with the assistance of the Duke

of Perth and Lord George Murray, who, I am
persuaded, v/ill stick by you to the very last.

My departure should be kept as long private

and concealed as possible on one pretext or

other which you will fall upon. May the

Almighty bless and direct you."^

At Glenboisdale Cljarles was joined by

Clanranald, Lockhart, younger of Carnwath,

iEneas Macdouald, the banker, and several

other adherents, who endeavoured to dissuade

him from embarking for the isles, where, from

the number of cruisers which hovered among

the Hebrides, they considered he would ruii

greater risk than if he remained on the main-

land. Charles seemed disposed to adopt this

advice ; but O'Sullivan being averse to it, and

having represented the great probability of

speedily finding a ship among the isles to con-

vey him to Erance, and the great danger of

staying where he was, the prince adhered to

his determination of seeking a temporary re-

fuge in the Long island. With the intention

of soHciting the protection of Sir Alexander

Macdonald and the laird of Macleod, Charles

sent to Kinlochmoidart for one Donald Mac-

leod, a trustworthy person whom he wished

to intrust with his despatches. Macleod had

been at Inverness shipping a cargo of meal for

Skye when Charles entered that town, and

had been employed to accompany ^"Eneas Mac-

donald to the island of Barra, for the purpose

of bringing over a sum of about ^380, which

was lying there. They had reached Kinloch-

moidart, on their way back, and were about

setting out for Inverness, when Macdonald re-

ceived a letter from the prince announcing his

defeat, and requesting him to repair to Boro-

dale. On receiving this message Macleod im-

mediately set out, and in passing through a

forest in the vicinity of Glenboisdale, he ob-

served a solitary wanderer among the trees,

who immediately came forward and asked him

if he was Donald Macleod of GualtergiU in

Skj'e. Macleod answered that he was, and

having recognised the prince in the person of

' From a copy among the Stitart Papers thus quote'l

on the back in Charles's own hand:—" The Prince's
Ii«tter to ye Chiefs in parting from Scotland, 17i6."

his interrogator, he stated that he was at his

service. " Then," said the prince, " you see,

Donald, I am in distress. I therefore throw

myself into your bosom ; do with me what you

like. I hear you are an honest man, and fit

to be trusted." The aged Highlander doubt-

ing his capacity to serve him, Charles stated

to liim the natiu-e of the mission on which he

intended to send him. Macleod, startled at

the proposal, positively refused to imdertake the

task; and having remonstrated with Charles

upon the impropriety of asking the protection

of men who had, contrary to their promise,

taken part against him, he abandoned his de-

sign.'

During the few days that Charles spent at

Glenboisdale, he is said to have wavered in

his plans. Though informed of the dispersion

of his troops, he had hopes that a good many

might stiU. be collected as occasion offered.

He is said even to have entertained thoughts

of again assembling his scattered forces, and

acting on the defensive. He sent a few men,

with whom Clanranald had supplied him, on

all sides to obtain inteUigence, but they

learned nothing favourable ; and accounts

which he received from the Isle of Skye, that

Lord Loudon was about to come over immedi-

ately to the coast of Arisaig, joined to a report,

which, however, turned out to be false, that a

detachment of the Duke of Cumberland's army

had already reached Fort Augustus, hastened

his departure from the mainland. *

Accordingly, on the evening of the 2Gth of

April, Charles, accompanied by O'Sullivan,

O'Xeil, Allan Macdonald, a catholic priest of

Clanranald's family, and Edward Burke, em-

barked in an eightoared boat at Borodale, in

the bay of Lochnanuagh, where a few months

before he had landed full of hope and enthu-

siasm. Besides the persons enumerated, and

Donald Macleod who acted as pilot, there were

seven boatmen. Charles sat down in the bot-

tom of the boat at the feet of the pUot. Mac-

leod, who observed indications of an approach-

ing storm, had advised Charles to postpone his

voyage till next day; but the prince was so

intent upon proceeding, that he would not put

off his departure. Four pecks of oatmeal

' M.acleod's Narrative in JcuioldU Me^noirs,
' Kirkconnel MS.
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were all the pTovision tlie whole party carried

along with them, and the only cooking utensil

was a pot which Maoleod had taken care to

provide.

Charles soon had occasion to repent of his

obstinacy in not listening to the advice of the

aged mariner; for hefore the boat had pro-

ceeded far, a storm arose, which is described

by Macleod as the most violent he had ever

witnessed, though he had been all his life a

seafaring man. The danger was greatly in-

creased by the darkness of the night, and to

add to the distress of the party, the rain

poured down in torrents. Vivid flashes of

Ughtning which threw a momentary gleam over

the face of the troubled deep, and the crash

of the thunder wliich rolled over the heads of

the affrighted party, increased the horrors of

the scene. Unprovided ^vith a compass, they

were entirely ignorant of the course they were

steering ; but they had, from the violence of

the tempest, no alternative but to go before

the wind, and in the event of escaping the

fury of the waves, running the risk of being

driven upon Skye, where the prince might fall

into the hands of the militia who were in that

island But all their apprehensions of danger

on this score were removed, by discovering at

day-break that they were on the coast of the

Long island At seven o'clock in the morn-

ing they landed with great difficulty at Rossi-

nish, a point of land on the north-east of

Benbecula, one of the islands wliich form the

group called the Long island. Having secured

their boat, Charles and his party entered an

iminhabited hut, in which they kindled a fire

to warm themselves and dry their clothes,

which were saturated with rain and salt-water.

Charles purchased a cow, which was immedi-

ately slaughtered ; and which, with tlie small

quantity of meal provided by Donald Macleod,

served to support the party during the time

they remained on the island.^

Meanwhile the Duke of Cumberland was

usin" every effort to capture the persons of the

young Chevalier and his principal adherents.

For this purpose, several detachments were

sent out by the duke from his camp at Inver-

2 Genuine and Tme Journal of the most miraculous

Escape of tlie young Chevalier, by an Englisliman.

London, 1749. Macleod's Narrative.

ness in different directions, and as he was dd-

sirous that Charles should not fall alive into

his hands, his instructions to the commanders

of the detachments were to make no prisoners.

One of these detacliments, under Colonel Cock-

ajTie, proceeded to Moy castle, and after shoot-

ing some fugitives who had taken refuge in

that mansion, and massacring some old men,

women and children, returned to Inverness,

carrying along with them Lady Mackintosh,

who, on her arrival there, was committed to

custody by the duke. Another party went to

castle Downie, the seat of Lord Lovat, which

they burnt to the ground, having previously

secured a large quantity of booty, which they

carried to Inverness. A body of 600 Grants

was sent into the Erasers' country to reduce

and disarm that powerful clan ; and the Mon-

roes, Mackays, and Sutherlands, were scattered

over the shires of Ross, Cromarty, Sutherland,

and Caithness, to keep the disaffected in these

counties in check. To secure the passages to

the isles, Lord Fortrose, son of the Earl of

Soaforth, proceeded to raise the Mackenzies,

and orders were given along the coast to pre-

vent any suspicious persons from making their

escape by sea. Cobham's and Lord Mack

Ker's dragoons were posted along the east

coast, and bodies of mOitia were stationed at

the passes leading into the Highlands to inter-

cept all persons who might attempt to escape

to the lowlands. The pass of Stirling was also

guarded by a detachment posted at the Fords

of the Frew, and the Echnburgh regiment was

spread along the south side of the Frith of

Forth, to apprehend such of the insurgents as

might attempt to cross that arm of the sea.

Besides these different detachments, a body of

1,700 mOitia, under the Earl of Loudon, the

laird of Macleod, and Sir Alexander Mao-

donald, the last of whom had raised his men

before the battle of CuUoden, and another

body of 800 Argyleshire men under General

Campbell, afterwards Duke of Argyle, spread

themselves over Lochaber, all eager to secure

the person of the prince. In short, no means

were neglected to attain this object ; and the

eager pursuers required no other stimulus to

urge them on than the splendid reward of

£30,000, which had been offered for the cap-

ture of the royal fugitive.
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The departure of Cliarles from Lochna-

nuagh was not known at Inverness till some

days after he had sailed, and the place of Ms

destination become a matter of interesting spe-

culation. No doubt could exist that he de-

signed to seek refuge among the western is-

lands, and as St. Kilda is the most distant and

the least frequented of the whole, it was sup-

posed that Charles had repaired thither. Act-

ing on this supposition. General Campbell col-

lected some sloops of war and transports, and

having embarked a considerable body of troops,

set sail for St. Kilda. After touching at Barra

and some other islands, and searching for the

prince, he approached St. Kilda, the Lnliab-

itants of wliich, alarmed at the sight of the

fleet, fled and concealed themselves in the

clift's of the rocks. Landing with some of

his forces, the general inquired at some of

the inhabitants, whom he discovered in their

recesses, what had become of the " Pretend-

er ;" but these jieople answered, «'ith great

simplicity, that they hail never heard of such

a person,—-that they had indeed been informed

that their laird (Macleod) had lately been at

war with a woman a great way abroad, and

that he had overcome her. Tliis, they added,

was all they knew of the affairs of the world.

General Campbell, however, not satisfied with

this statement, made a search over the island,

but not finding any strangers, returned to the

main land after visiting South Uist.

Anticipating the utter ruin which awaited

them and their followers, if no attempt was

made to resist the meditated designs of the

Duke of Cumberland, several chiefs and others*

held a meeting at Mortlaig on the 8th of May,

at which they entered into a bond for their

mutual defence, and agreed never to lay down
their arms, or make a general peace, without

the consent of the whole. They may be sup-

posed to have come to this resolution the more

readily, as a sum of 35,000 louis d'ors had been

received a few days before by two French

frigates which had arrived on the west coast.

By the bond of association, the chiefs agreed,

^ Genuine and True Journal, p. 7. Home, p. 245.
* Tbere were twelve or thirteen gentlemen present

;

among wlioni were Lochiel, young UlanranaM, Baris-
dale, Dr. Cameron, John Roy .Stewart, old Gleiibnck-
et, Secretary Murray, and Cameron of Dungallon.
Lord Lovat was also present, but bv accident

and solemnly promised, with the utmost expe-

dition, to raise in behalf of the prince and in

defence of their country, as many able-bodied

armed men as they could on their respective

properties, and they further promised and

agreed, that the following clans, vii., Lochiel,

Glengarry, Clanranald, Stewarts of Appin,

Keppoch, Barisdale, Mackinnons and Mac-

leods, should assemble on Thursday, the 15 th

of May, at Auchnacarry, in the braes of Loeh-

aber. To facUitate the junction of the differ-

ent corps \vith all possible speed, it was agreed

that the Frasers of Aird and the other Jacobite

clans on the north side of the river Ness, should

joiu the people of Glenmoriston and Glengarry,

and that the Frasers of Stratherrick, the Mack-

intoshes and Macphersons, should assemble

and meet at the most convenient place in Bade-

noch on the same day ;—that the Macgregors,

and Menzies' and Glenlyon's people should

march to Eannoch and join the Eanuoch and

Athole men, and be kept in readiness to receive

intelligence and orders to meet the main body

in the braes of Mar, or at any other place that

might be considered convenient,—that Gordon

of Glenbucket and Colonel Eoy Stewart sliould

intimate the resolutions of the meeting to Lord

Le\vis Gordon, Lords Ogilvy and Pitsligo, tlie

Farquharsons, and the other principal gentle-

men in the north, who were to be directed to

tix a place of rendezvous among themselves,

and that Macplierson of Cluny and Colonel

Eoy Stewart should advertise the principal

gentlemen of the Mackintoshes of the resolu-

tions adopted by the meetmg. The better to

conceal their designs from the Duke of Ctmi-

berland, the assembled chiefs agreed not to dis-

cover or reveal to any of their men or inferior

ofiicers, the agreement they had entered into,

nor the day and place of rendezvous, till they

had assembled their respective corps. It was

finally agreed, that should any one engaged in

the association make separate terms for him-

self, he should be looked upon as a traitor to

the prince, and be treated by his associates as

an enemy. ^

The associated chiefs had been too sanguine

in their expectations, not one of them being

able, for various reasons, to meet on the day

' Appendix to Home, No. ilvii.
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appointed. Clauranald's people refused to

leave their own couuiiy, and many of Glen-

garry's had delivered up their arms. Loch-

garry came with a small party to Invermely on

the 20th of May; but, after staying one night,

he crossed Loch Arkaig and did not return.

Lochiel and Barisdale met at Auchnacarry, the

place of rendezvous, on the 21st or 2 2d of May,

but -with very few men, and they were almost

surprised by a large party of the government

forces on the morning of the 23'1, who took an

officer and two of Lochiel's men prisoners.

The Highlanders immediately dispersed, and

Lochiel, seeing no chance of making an effec-

tual stand under existing ciiounistancca. va'oto

a circular to his brother chiijfs, advising them

to disperse their people ; but, as great expec-

tations were entertained that the French king

would send assistance, he requested them to

preserve their arms as long as possible.

Conceiving that the only effectual mode of

suppressing the rebellion was to march into

the Highlands witli the whole of his army, the

Duke of Cumberland began, about the middle of

May, to make preparations for his journey. He
had in the beginning of that month issued a

proclamation, ordering the insurgent clans to de-

liver n]i their arms ; but little attention was

jiaid to this mandate, and tlie continuance of

considerable armed parties convinced him that

the Highlands could never be reduced without

the presence of a considerable army stationed

in a central district. Having pitched upon

Fort Augustus for his new liead-quarters, the

duke left Inverness, on the 23d of May, with

eleven battalions of foot and Kingston's horse,

and reached Fort Augustus next day. Charles

had intended to make this place a rall3dng

point in case of a defeat ; but his plan was

rejected by the chiefs, and, that it might not

be serviceable to the royal troops, the buildings

had been blown up. No accommodation being

therefore found for the duke's army, a camp

was formed in the neighbourhood, and a turf

hut with doors and windows, and covered with

green sods and boughs, was erected by Lord

Loudon's Highlanders for the use of his royal

highness.*

Eesolving to inflict a signal chastisement

• Boyse, p 169.

upon the rebels, the duke sent, from his camp

at Fort Augustus, detachments of his troops in

all directions, which devastated the country

with fire and sword, and committed excesses

scarcely paralleled in history, resembhng,

though perhaps on a minor scale, those com-

mitted by the hosts of Hyder Ali, when that

mercQess destroyer burst into the Carnatic. The
seats of Lochiel, Glengarry, Kinloclunoidart,

Keppoch, Cluny, Glougyle, and others, were

plundered and burnt to tlie gi'ound, and great

numbers of the houses of the common people

shared the same fate.'' Major Lockliart, whoso

name, by his cnielties on this occasion, has

obtained an infamous notoriety, marched with

a detachment into the country of the Macdon-

alds of Barisdale, and laid waste and destroyed

their dweUings. Some of these poor people

had obtained protections from Lord Loudon;

but the major disregarded them, and told the

people who had thom, that not even a waiTant

from heaven should j)revent liim from execut-

ing his orders. Anotln'r corps, under I^ord

George Sackville, r.ivagod the country about

the glens of !Moidart, while others carried lire

and desolation through oihcr distiicts. Not

contented with destro\nng the countiy, those

bloodhoimds either shot the men upon tho

mountains, or murdered them in cold blood.

The women, after witnessing their husbaniJa,

fathers, and brothers murdered before their

eyes, were subjected to brutal violence, and

then turned out naked, 'with their chiWren, to

starve on the barren heaths. A nhrJo family

was inclosed in a barn, and consumed to ashes.

So alert were these ministers of vengeance, that

in a few days, according to the testimony of a

volunteer who served in the expedition, neither

house, cottage, man, nor beast, was to be .seen

within the compass of lifty miles : all was ruin,

silence, and desolation. Deprived of their

cattle and their small stock of provisions by

the rapacious soldiery, the hoary-headed matron

and sire, the widowed mother and her helpless

offspring, were to be seen dying of hunger.

' The booty taken must have been considerable, as

in one instance, that of Glengarry House, the party

who plundered it, consisting of 200 men, had the fol-

lowing allowances made as their shares, viz., every

captain, £11 5s.; each subaltern, £5 ISs. ; a sergeant,

£1 10s.; a corporal, £1; and every common soldier,

15s., clear of all deductions.—Boyse, p. 169.
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strotclied upon the bjiro ground, and withiu

view of tlie smoking ruins of their dweUings.

It may seem surprising that the Highlanders

did not avungo themselves upon their oppres-

sore, by assassinating such stragglers as fell in

IheU' way. It cannot be supposed that men
in whose bosoms tlie spirit of revenge must

have taken deep root, would have spared their

relentless adversaries from any seruple as to

the mode of despatcliing tliem; nor can it be

imagined that the Higlilanders could not have

selected fit occasions when they might liave

inflicted vengeance upon individuals. The
reason of their forbearance probably was, that

such a system of warfare, if adopted, woidd

lead to acts of retaliation on the part of the

mihtary, and thus increase their calamities.

Only one instance is known where an injured

person attempted to avenge himself. This was

tlie case of a Highlander who had liis house

bm-ned, his cattle plundered, and his son killed,

while defending Jus family, who were turned

out in the snow. Vowing revenge, he watched

tlie officer who was the author of this inhuman

outrage, and who, he was informed, was to be

distinguished by a cloak of a particular kind.

This officer riding one day with Captain George

Munro of Culcairn in a shower of rain, lent

him his cloak ; and while marching in it with

a party of men along the side of Loch Arkaig,

the captain was shot by the enraged Highlander,

who perceived the cloak, but could not dLstin-

giush the difference of person. The man
escaped, and although he was well known, and

might have been afterwards apprehended, he

was allowed to pass unpunished.

^

Of the immense quantity of cattle carried

off by Cumberland's troops, some idea may be

formed from the fact mentioned in a journal of

the period,' that there were sometimes 2,000

in one drove. Intelligence of such a vast

8 " Colonel Grant of Moy, who died in April, 1822,

in his 90th year, was walking aiong the road with a

gun on his shoulder when Culcairn was shot. A turn

of the road concealed him from the soldiers at the

moment, but when he came in sight with his gun, they

immediately seized him upon suspicion, and carried

him to Fort William. After a short confinement he

wajB released. Colonel Grant entered the 42d as a

volunteer or soldier of fortune, and afterwards got a

cadetship in ludia, from which he retnrned with a

handsome fortune ne.arly fifty years ago."

—

Stewart's

SkeicheSy vol. L note p. 280.

9 Scots Magazine, vol. viii. p. 287.

accumulation of live stock reaching the ears ol

the gi-aziers of the south, numbers of them
went to Fort Augustus well provided %vith

money, which they laid out to great advantage.

Some of the people, impelled by starvation,

repaired to the camp to .sohuit from the spoilers

some of their flocks, to preserve an existence
j

but their supplications were imlieeded, and they

were doomed to beliold their cattle sold and
driven away, while famiue stared them in the

face.

The atrocities committed by the English

Duncan Forlies of CuUodcn, Lord President.

From Original Painting at CuUoden House.

must have been revolting to the humane mmd
of Lord President Forbes. On paying hia

respects to the duke at Inverness, he hinted

to his highness that the laws of the country

should be observed even by his army; but

the duke, who entertained very different

ideas, not relishing such an intrusion upon his

authority, cut the worthy president short with

this exclamation, " The laws of the country,

my Lord ! I'll make a brigade give laws, by

God ! " Judging farther remonstrance to be
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vain, Forbes dropped the subject, and was

compelled to deplore in silence the cruelties

which be could not prevent. He might have

represented the matter to the government; but

he was perhaps unwilling to run the risk of

incurring its displeasure, and thereby deprive

himself of the chance of being afterwards use-

ful in saving many families from ruin. ^

The enormities of the lawless soldiery were

not confined to the Higlilands, but extended

to all the adjoining lowland districts where the

spirit of disaffection was known to exist. The

houses of the low country Jacobite gentry were

plundered and destroyed, and the chapels of

the nonjurant episcopal clergy, as well as the

more humble and secluded places of worsliip

belonging to the Catholics, were either razed or

burnt to the ground " Rebel-hunting " was

the term adopted by the ruffians of the British

army to designate theu' bloody occupation.

To complete the work of extermination, the

duke issued a proclamation, denounciug the

punishment of death, by hanging, against every

Ijorson who should harbour the insurgents, and

a similar fate was declared to await such as

should conceal arms, ammunition, or any other

thing belonging to them, or should not imme-

diately deliver up to persons authorized by the

duke to receive the same, any property or effects

in their possession belonging to the rebels. In

compliance mth a requisition made by the

duke, the General Assembly of the Church of

Scotland, about the end of May, enjoined the

ministers of the different parishes to read a

proclamation from the pidpits, in which they

themselves, and every well affected person,

1 How far any remonstrance on the part of the presi-

dent would have been attended to may be judged from
the foUowinc^ statement:—-"When he visited London
in the end of the year, (1746,) for the purpose of settling

the accounts he had run with the loyal Highland
militia, he, as usual, went to court. The king, whose
ear had been offended with repeated accounts of the

conduct of the military, thus addressed him :
—

' My
lord-president, you are the person I most wished to

see. Shocking reports have been circulated of the

barbarities committed by my army in the north
;
your

lordship is, of all men, the best able to satisfy me.'

' I wish to God, ' replied the president, 'that I could,

consistently with truth, assure your majesty that such

reports are destitute of foundation.' The king, as was

his custom, turned abruptly away from the president

;

whose accounts, ne.'it day, were passed with difficulty;

and, as report says, the balance, which was immense,

never fully paid up."

—

Anlijacobin Review, vol. xiii.

Review of Home's Ilistory of th-j Rchcllion,

were ordered by his royal highness to use every

e.x.ertion to discover and seize the unfortunate

fugitives; and to facilitate their discovery and

apprehension, the clergy were required to fur-

nish lists of the names of all persons in their

respective parishes who had had any sliare ia

the insurrection. Many clergymen, including

those of Edinburgh, with feelings of humanity

and independence which did them honour, re-

fused to read this proclamation, or to comply

^vith the order requiring them to give in the

names of such of their parishioners as had been

engaged in the rebellion. The government,

equally intent with its sanguinary general upon

the destruction of the unfortunate adherents of

the house of Stuart, offered rewards for appre-

henib'ng such of the fugitives as might land

in Ireland, and instructions were sent to tlie

British ministers at foreign courts iu alliance

with George II., to seize all who might seek

refuge in the territories of such powers.

The guilt of aU these acts of bloodshed and

rapine has been laid to the charge of the Duke

of Cumberland, and the single fact that he

issued no orders to put an end to the enormi-

ties which were daily committed, almost under

his own eyes, and ^vith his perfect knowledge,

seems of itself sufficient to justify the charge.

But when taken in cormexion with his san-

guinary order not to make prisoners, the

proofs of his criminality, or rather unconsti-

tutional severity, are evident. Though the

foul stain of wanton cruelty must ever attach

to the British army on the present occasion,

from the commander down to the private,

there were some redeeming exceptions among

the officers, who alleviated the sufferings, and,

in some instances, saved the lives of the de-

voted Highlanders. " I think myself," says

Mr. Maxwell, " bound in justice to let the

reader know that there were in the duke of

Cumberland's army officers of all ranks, whom

neither the prospect of ingratiating themselves

and making their fortunes, nor the contagion of

bad example were able to corrupt. Some of

tliose that had done the government the most

essential services were as conspicuous now for

their humanity as formerly for their courage

and conduct. It might be indiscreet to be parti-

cular at present ; but their names, which are

written with indelible characters in the hearts
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of those poor people that owe to them the pre-

servation of their being, will be carefully

handed down to posterity. They are abeady

known, and even, in the worst of times, meet

with the applause they deserve from all those

tliat have a feUow-feeUng for their species."

With the honourable exceptions here alluded

to, neither the duke nor the submissive slaves

of liis tyrannical will ever appear to have felt

the least compunction for the miseries they in-

flicted upon the unfortunate Highlanders. On
the contrary, they seem to have revelled amidst

the ruin and desolation which they spread

ai'ound ; and when their occupation of " rebel-

hunting " was gone, by the destruction of their

victims, they endeavoured to relieve the ennui

of repose by ludicrous and indecent diversions.

Ilotso and foot races were instituted by the

roval duke, who did not think it beneath his

dignity to induce the women of the camp to

enter the lists, and to expose themselves in a

way at wliich decency revolts. ^ This species

of amusement produced great insubordination

in the army, for the soldiers got very fond of

it, and, according to a volunteer, most of them

had horses, which they bought and sold with

one another at a low price, and on which

they rode about, neglecting their duty, and

con.sequently it became necessary to publish

an order to part with them, otherwise they

wi;re all to be shot. "I saw," continues tlie

same writer, " a soldier riding on one of these

horses, when, being met by a comi'ade, he asked

him, ' Tom, what hast thou given for the Gal-

loway ?' Tom answered, 'Haifa-crown.' To

wliioh the other replied, with an oath, ' He is

too dear ; T saw a better bought for eighteen-

pence.' Notwithstanding the low price, the

' A letter from Fort Augustus, dated .Tune 27, 1746,

which made the round of the public .journals at the

time, thus describes these pastimes ;
— *' Last Wednes-

day the duke gave two prizes to the soldiers to nin

jieats for on bare-backed Galloways taken from the

rebels, when eight started for the first, and ten for the

second prize. These Galloways are little larger than

a good tup, and there was excellent sport. Yesterday

his royal highness gave a fine Holland smock to the

soldiers' wives, to be run for on these Galloways, also

bare-backed, and riding with their limbs on each side

of the horse like men. Eight started, and there were
three of the finest heats ever seen. The prize was won,
with great difficulty, by one of the Old Buff's ladies.

In the evening, General Hawley and Colonel Howard
run a match for twenty guineas on two of the above
shelties; which General Hawley won by about four

incheii."

vast quantities of cattle, such as oxen, horses,

sheep, and goats, taken from the rebels, and

bought up by the lump by the jockies and

farmers from Yorkshire and the south of Scot-

land, came to a great deal of money, all which

was divided amongst the men that brought

them in, who were sent out in parties in search

of the Pretender; and they frequently came to

rebels' houses, which they had left, as their

owners would not be reduced to obedience.

These our soldiers commonly plundered and

burnt, so tliat many of them grew rich by their

share of spoU."

When the zeal and activity of the military in

pursuing the leading fugitives on the one hand,

and the great care of the government to prevent

their escape to the continent on the other, are

considered, it is surprising that so many suc-

ceeded in their attempts to leave the kingdom.

Besides the Earls of Cromarty and Kilmarnock,

and Lord Macleod, the only other Jacobito

chiefs who fell into the hands of the govern-

ment were the Marquis of Txillibardine, Lords

Balmerino and Lovat, and Secretary Mun-ay.

The Marquis being unable, from the bad state of

his health, to bear the fatigue of running from

covert to covert, surrendered himself, on the

27th of April, to a Dumbartonshire gentlem.an,

who committed liim to the castle of Dumb.ir-

ton; and Lord Balmerino, by the advice of Mr.

Grant, younger of Rothiemurchus, most un-

wisely delivered himself np at Inverness, two

days after the battle of CuUoden. After liaV'

ing the mortification of witnessing, from the

summit of a mountain, the conflagration of liis

seat of Castle Downie by the king's troops,

Lord Lovat took refuge in the western parts of

Inverness-shire, and linaUy concealed himself

in the hollow of a tree which grew on a small

island in Loch Morar, where he was appre-

hended early in June by a party from the

Furnace sloop of war. When discovered, he

was wrapt up in a blanket; and, though he had

between five and six hundred guineas in Ida

pocket, had been obliged to live twelve days

in his miserable retreat on oatmeal and water.

Being unable, from his great age and infirmity,

to ride, he was carried in a litter to the royal

camp at Fort Augiistus. Secretary Murray con-

trived to escape from the Highlands, and sought

for safety in the house of his brother-in-law,

4 B
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Mr. Hunter of Pohnood, in Peebles-sLire ; but

information Laving been given of liis retreat,

he was apprehended on tlio mornuig of Satur-

day, the 28th of June, by a party of St. George's

dragoons, carried to Edinburgh; and couiiuitted

the same evening a prisoner to the castle.

Macdonald of Barisdale and his son were

also taken jsrisoners, but were almost imme-

diately set at libertj'. That a man who had

taken such an active part in the insurrection

as Barisdale did should have been liberated

unconditionally is very improbable ; and it was

generally understood that he liad entered into

an engagement to apprehend the prince, and

deliver hi in up to the Duke of Cumberland.

So strong were the suspicions of Charles and

his friends of Barisdale's treachery, that when

Colonel Warren arrived in the West Highlands

for the purpose of transporting Charles to

France, he actually seized Barisdale and his

son, and carried them along with him to that

countrj' as prisoners. A list of charges, in the

shape of interrogatories, was afterwards drawn

up by Charles at Paris, to each of which Baris-

dale was required to make a direct and parti-

cidar answer in \rating ; but the nature of Ms
answers, if he made any, is not known. There

may have been no foundation for these grave

charges ; but well or ill founded, an opinion

long prevailed in the Highlands that Barisdale

had been unfaitliful.

K Glengarry's apprehension proceeded upon

the information of the gentlemen of his own

clan, they must have had better grounds for

taking the extraordinary step they are alleged

to have done than the mere assertion of Baris-

dale ; but the charge against Glengarry seems

highly improbable, as it is scarcely credible,

if, as stated, they had letters from him in their

possession, advising them to take up arms in

support of Charles, while he himself kept back,

that he would, by such a perfidious act, have

put liimself in their power. Glengarry, after

liis apprehension, was sent to London, and,

along with the other chief prisoners, was com-

mitted to the Tower, where he suffered a long

and tedious confinement. Young Glengarry

had been taken up some montlis jireviously

and sent to the Tower, in which he was kept a

close prisoner for twenty months.

Not-svithstanding the sanguinary ferocity

with which Cumberland's soldiers hunted

dowTi the unfortiuiate fugitives, the lives of a

considerable number of those who were taken

or surrendered themselves were saved from

immediate destruction by the interference of a

few humane persons, who did everything in

their power to put a stop to the exterminating

system of these bloodhounds. Though they

thus escaped the merciless sword of the de-

stroyer, they were nevertheless doomed to suffer

the most extraordinary privations. After hav-

ing been coojied up in the loathsome jirisons of

the north, without any attention to their wants,

many of them were afterwards huddled to-

gether in the holds of ships, where they were

condemned unheeded to pine awaj', and, amidst

a mass of filth and corruption, to inhale the

seeds of pestilence and death. Of 157 persons

who were immured for eight months in the

hold of one transport, only 49 sui-vived the

cruel treatment they received.^

Meanwhile several of the chiefs of the insui-

rection succeeded in effecting their escape to

the Continent. The Duke of Perth, Lord

John Drummond, Lords Elcho and Naime,

Maxwell of Kukconnel, and others, embarked

at Lochnanuagh, on board one of the French

ships which arrived on the western coast about

the end of April. The Duke of Perth, who had

been long in bad health, died on the voyage.

Another party of twelve or thu'teen persons,

including Lords Pitshgo and Ogilv}', and Huu-

' JacoUte Memoirs, p. 300. 'Williani Jack, one of

the prisouers, in a letter to his friends in Elgin {Me-
moirs, p. 299), says that the sailors nsed to amuse
themselves by hoisting the prisoners up to the yard-

ann and dropping them into the sea, and that they
would tie them to the mast and flog them; that for

several months they had no lied-clothes, and that they
used to dig holes among the ship's ballast, consisting of

black earth and small stones, to keep themselves warm.
John Farquharson of Aldlerg, himself a prisoner, in a

letter to the Rev. Mr. Forbes, published among the

Forbes papers, gives an appalling description of the

miseries of his fellow jtrisoners on their voyage from
Inverness to London. He says that from hunger, had
usage, and exposure ** to all weathers, they were seized

with a kind of plague which carried them off by doz-

ens;" and that "a good many of those who would
have outlived their sickness, were wantonly murdered
by the sailors, by dipi)iug them in the sea in the crisis

of their fevere. " After arriving in the Thames, the

common prisoners were put into Tilbury Fort, and
would have perished for want had not some humane
people supported them. The oiiicers were marched
rank and file to Southwark jail, amid the hootings of

a tumultuous mob, who loaded them with scornful

epithets, and assailed them with brickbats, stones, and
other missUes.
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tor of Burnside, after skulking some time in

Bucli;in, got a vessel which conveyed them to

BergfU in Norway. The British consul ap-

phed to the governor to have them secured,

but ho disregarded the appheation, and the

party proceeded to Sweden. Stewart of Ard-

shiel, and General 0' Sullivan also succeeded in

reaching France. Old Glenbucket, after being

hunted from place to place, eluded his pursuers

by assuming the garb of a beggar, and alioAving

his beard to grow. In the month of Novem-

ber he escaped to Norway in a Swedish vessel.

Lord George Murray remained in concealment

in Scotland till the mouth of December, when,

after pajang a private visit to his friends at

Edinburgh, he took shipping at Anstruther in

the Frith of Forth, and reached Holland in

Bafety.

CHAPTER XXXVII.

BRITISH sovereign:—George II., 1727—1760.

Charles leaves Benbeciila and lands in the island of

Glass—Proceeds to Harris—Itfurt—Glass—Benhe-
cula—Removes to South Uist—Meets Miss Flora
Macdonald— Charles proceeds to Skye—Goes to

Kingsburgh House—Portree—Proceeds to Raasay

—

Returns to Skye—Goes to Ellagol—Interview with
the Laird of Mackinnon, with whom he proceeds to

the Mainland—Arrives in Loch Nevis in Moidart

—

Arrest of Malcolm Macleod, Macdonald of Kings-
burgh, and Flora Macdonald—Pursuit of Charles^
Proceeds to Morar—Borodale—Glen Morar—Narrow
Escapes—Reaches Gleiishiel—Entertained by rob-

bere in a cave—Death of Roderick Mackenzie, who
is mistaken for the Prince— Charles arrives in

Strathglass—Braes of Glengarry—Cameron of Chines
—Auchnacarry—Narrow Escape of Charles— Ben-
alder— Cage fitted for Charles's reception— The
Prince embarks at Borodale, and arrives safely in

Franco.

Thk storm which drove Charles with such

ni])idity upon the distant shores of Benheoula

continued for fourteen hours after he had

landed. Accommodating himself to the new

situation in which he was placed, he manifested

no symptoms of dejection at his reverse of for-

tune, partook cheerfully along with his com-

panions of the homely fare before him, and

mth an old saU. for a bed, reposed upon the

floor of his lowly dwelling. In Benbecula the

prince was visited by old Clanranald, to whom
the island belonged ; and having afterwards

had an interview in South Uist with Boisdale,

Clanranald's brother, Charles was advised by

him to proceed to Stornoway, the prLucipal

seaport in the island of Lewis, and there give

out that lie and liis company were the crew of

a meroliant ship belonging to the Orkneys,

which had been wrecked on tlie isle of Tiree,

and under the pretence of returning home, liu'e

a vessel for tliat purpose, and escape to France.^

Accordingly, after passing two days in Ben-

becula, Charles and his party set sail for Stor-

noway on the 29th of April ; but in consequence

of a strong gale of wind from the south-west,

tliey were obliged to put in next morning at

the .small isle of Scalpa or Glass, near Harris,

about half way between Benbecula and Storno-

way. They landed about two hours before

daybreak, and were conducted by Donald Mac-

leod to the house of Donald Campbell, a farmer,

kno-^vn to Macleod, to whom they were intro-

duced as merchants ship^vrecked on their voyage

to the Orkneys. The prince and O'Sullivan

took the name of Sinclair, and the latter passed

off as Charles' father. The whole party was

hospitably entertained by Campbell, wlio lent

Macleod a boat with which he proceeded next

day, the 1st of May, to Stornoway to hire a

vessel, leaving Charles and his friends behind.

Having succeeded in hiring a small vessel of

forty tons, Macleod sent an express to Charles

announcing his success, and requesting him to

proceed to Stornoway. This message was re-

ceived on the 3d of May, and the prince left

the isle of Glass next day; but the wind prov-

ing contrary, he was obliged to land in Loch

Seaforth, in the island of Lewis, a considerable

distance from Stornoway. Here Allan Mac-

donald took his leave. Accompanied by O'Sul-

livan, O'Neil, and his guide, Charles set out on

foot for Stornoway, over a wild and trackless

waste, in a very dark and rainy night. The

guide lost his way, and the party did not reach

the neighbourhood of Stornoway till next day

at noon. This mistake, on the jsart of the

conductor, was a fortunate circumstance, as the

advanced hour of the day prevented Charles

from entering the town, where he might have

been seized by the inhabitants, who having re-

ceived information from the Presbyterian mini-

ster of South Uist, that the prince had landed

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii, p. 54L
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in Lewis with 500 men, with a design of burn-

ing their town, carrying off their cattle, and

forcing a vessel to carry him to France, after-

wards rose in arms to oppose him. Charles

stopped at the Point of Arynish, about half a

mile from Stornoway, and sent in the guide to

acquaint Macleod of his arrival, and to bring

out some refreshment, as he and his fellow-

travellers had been eighteen hours without

food. Donald immediately repaired to the

spot with some brandy, bread, and cheese, and

found Charles and his two companions standing

on a moor extremely fatigued and all wet to

the skin. Donald then took them to the house

of Mrs. Mackenzie of Kildim, at Arynish, where

the prince went to bed. Eeturning to Storno-

way, Macleod was quite amazed to find the

town in commotion, and above 200 men imder

arms. Uuablo to comprehend the meaning of

this sudden rising, Donald went directly into

the room where the gentlemen who had taken

upon them the rank of officers had assembled,

and inquu-ed the cause of such a strange pro-

ceeding. He was instantly assailed with abuse

by every person present: they informed him of

the intelligence they had received from Uist of

Charles's landing, and of his alleged intentions,

and they accused Macleod as the cause of the

calamity wth which they were threatened.

Unable to deny the fact of Charles's arrival in

Lews, Macleod at once admitted it, and to

allay their fears he informed them, that so far

from having a body of 500 men along with

him, as represented, he was attended by two

companions only; "and yet," said Donald, \\rith

an air of defiance, " let me tell you farther,

gentlemen, if Seaforth himself were here, by

G— he durst not put a hand to the prince's

breast !" ^ The gentlemen present then declared

that they had no intention to do the prince

the least harm, and the only tiling they required

of him was to leave the island. Donald offered

instantly to comply, and requested them to

give him a pilot, but they refused ; and although

he oifered the most liberal payment he could

not obtain one. Alarmed for the consequences

of being privy to the prince's escape, the master

of the vessel which had been hired, either sus-

pecting the object, or let, as is supposed, into

' Macleod's Narrative in JacobiU Afemoirs.

the secret by Macleod, refused to implement

his bargain. ^

Returning to the prince, Macleod informed

him of these disagreeable occurrences. A pro-

posal was made to fly to the moors; but Charles,

thinking that such a step would encourage his

enemies to pursue, he resolved to pass the

night at Kildun. Here the party killed a cow,

for which the lady refused payment, but being

pressed by Macleod she at last took the money.

Edward Burke performed the duties of cook;

but the prince, on the present occasion, super-

intended the culinary department, and with

liis own hands prepai'ed a cake of oatmeal,

mixed with the brains of the cow, and baked

it upon a stone before the fire. At daybreak

next morning the party left the island, carrying

along wdth them a small stock of beef, two

pecks of meal, and abundance of brandy and

sugar. At this time the prince, O'SuUivan,

and O'NeU had only sis shirts amongst them,

and being often drenched with rain, they were

frequently obliged to take off the wet ones

before the others were half dry. Conceiving

that he would be more secure on the mainland

than among the islands, Charles resolved to

return thither, and ordered the boatmen to

carry him to Bollein in Kintad; but they re-

fused on account of the length of the voyage,

wliich they considered dangerous in an open

boat. They, therefore, proceeded southwards

along the coast; but they had not proceeded

far when they observed two large vessels at a

distance sailing northwards, and making to-

wards them. To avoid these ships they put

into the small isle called Euirn or Ilfurt, near

Harris, a little to the northward of the island

of Glass. On landing, the prince and his at-

tendants went to the summit of a little hiU

to observe the ships. Charles thought they

were French, but his companions considered

them English. He was desirous to ascer-

tain the fact, but the boatmen could not be

prevailed upon to go out and reconnoitre

them. It is probable that these were the two

frigates from Nantz, which arrived in Loch-

nanuagh the day after Charles's departure

from that place, and having landed the

money, arms, and ammunition they had

' Lockhari Papers, vol. ii. p. 541. Kirkamnel ifS.
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brought over for Lis service, were returning to

pranceJ

The little island on wliich Charles now was,

was inhabited by a few fishermen, who, ima-

gining the prince's boat to be a press-boat be-

longing to one of the sliips of war, ran away

to conceal themselves, leaving their fish be-

hind. Charles and his party fared upon some

of the fish wliicli they found drying upon the

beacL Unwilling to deprive the poor fisher-

men of any part of their hard-earned spoils

without an equivalent, the prince was about

laying down some money on the place from

wliich the fish were taken ; but on one of his

followers representing to liim that by doing so

the fishermen might suppose that some person

of note had visited the island, and that such

an idea might lead to bad consequences, he

desisted. Charles remained in this desolate

island four days, during all which time he and

his party lay in a i\'Tetched hut, resembling a

hog-sty, and so wretchedly roofed that they

were obliged to spread the boat's sail over the

top of it. They lay upon the bare floor, %vitli-

out any covering, and to prevent surprise, kept

watch by turns.

Resolving to return to Glass to pay Donald

Campbell a visit, Charles left the little island

of Iffurt on the 10th of May, and coursed along

the shores of the Long Island till he arrived

at the isle of Glass. Understanding that

Campbell had absconded, from an apprehen-

sion that he would be seized for having en-

tertained the prince,—a rumour to that eifect

having got abroad,—the prince left Glass the

same day. There being no wind, the boatmen

were obliged to row all night ; but about day-

break, the wind began to rise, and hoisting

sail, they scudded along the coast of Harris.

Having no fresh water on board, they were

forced, from lack of other provisions, to use

oatmeal made up with salt water, of which

Charles partook heartily. This salt water

draminach, as this extraordinary preparation

was called, was qualified with a dram of

brandy, which the prince distributed from a

bottle he held in his hand.

In coursing along Harris, Charles, while

crossing the mouth of Finsbay, espied a ship

' Kirkconnel MS.

of war, commanded by Captain Ferguson, Ijdng

in the bay, at the distance of about two

musket shots, which immediately gave them

chase. The sliip followed them three leagues

;

but they escaped among the rocks at the point

of Eoudil in the Harris. They then kept close

to the shore, and in passing along the coast of

North Uist were observed by another war ves-

sel lying in Locliniaddy, wliicli also gave them

chase. Charles reached Benbecula after a very

close pursuit, and had scarcely landed when a

storm arose, which drove the vessels that

pursued him off the coast. After this escape,

Charles could not help remarking, that Provi-

dence woidd not permit him to be taken at

this time.

It being low water when Charles landed in

Benbecida, one of the boatmen went among
the rocks in quest of shell-fish, and found a

crab, which ho held up to the prince with an

expression of joy. Taking up a pail which lay

in the boat, Charles immediately proceeded to

the spot where the boatman stood, and, in

conjunction with him, soon filled the paU with

crabs. The party then proceeded to a small

hut which lay at the distance of two miles.

Charles carried the pad, which Macleod in-

sisted on relieving him of; but Charles refused

to part with it, observing that he and the

rest of the company might carry the baggage.

The door of the hovel was so low, that the

party could only enter by creeping in on their

hands and knees ; but to make the entry easier

for the prince, Burke dug away part of the

ground, and put heather below the prince's

knees. From this homely residence, Charles

sent a message to old Clanranald, acquainting

him of liis return to Benbecula, and of the

difficidties with which he was beset. Clan-

ranald repaired without delay to the hut, and

promised Charles all the assistance in his power

to enable him to leave the kingdom. Lady

Clanranald, at the same time, sent Charles

half-a-dozen of shirts, some shoes and stock-

ings, a supply of wine and brandy, and other

articles, to make liis situation as comfortable

as circumstances would admit of. After pass-

ing several days in this miserable habitation,

Charles, by the advice of Clanranald, removed

to South Uist, and took up his abode near the

hill of Coradale, in the centre of the island,
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which Mas considered a more secure place of

retreat.

When on the eve of leaving Benbeciila,

Charles despatched Donald Macleod in Camp-

bell's boat, which he still retained, to the

mainland, with letters to Lochiel and Secre-

tary Mirrray, desiring to laiow how affairs stood,

and requesting that a supply of cash and

brandy might be sent to him. Donald met

Lochiel and Murray at the head of Loch Ar-

kaig ; but Murray, from whom he was desired

to obtain the money, informed him tliat he

had none to spare, having only sixty louis-

d'ors, which he meant to keep for his own

necessities. Donald received letters from

Lochiel and Murray to the prince, and, having

found the means, he purchased two ankers of

brandy, at a guinea each, for the use of the

prince, with which he returned after an ab-

sence of eighteen days.'

On his return he found the prince in a more

comfortable dwelling than that in which he

had left him. He had removed to South Uist

on the 16th of May, and lived in the house of

one of Clanranald's tenants, situated upon

Coradale. The house not being water-tight,

two cow-hides were placed upon four sticks

to prevent the rain from falling upon him

when asleep. The house in which the prince

lodged was called the Forest house of Glen-

coradale, and though the situation was re-

mote, it was the best that could be devised

for securing a retreat either to the liills or to

the sea, according to circumstances. Tliere

being abundance of game in the island, the

prince occupied himself almost daily in his

favourite amusements of hunting and shoot-

ing. His dexterity in shooting birds upon

the wing was particularly remarked. To

vary his recreation, he frequently went down

to the sea-shore, and going on board a small

boat, caught, with hand -lines, some small

fishes, called lyths by the inhabitants. Clan-

ranald and his lady did every thing in their

power to render his situation agreeable ; and

Clanranald placed twelve able men at his dis-

posal to serve as guides through the island,

and to execute any orders Charles might give

tli"ra.

AVliile Charles was thus passing his time in

' JIacleod's Narrative.

South Uist, his situation every day was becom-

ing more and more critical. The Long island,

as the principal gi'oup of the Hebrides is called,

was sim-ounded on every side by cutters, sloops

of war, and frigates. Upwards of fd"teen hun-

dred militia and some regular troops were

landed in different parts of the island, and a

guard was posted at every ferry in the archi-

pelago to prevent any person from getting out

of it without a passport. Charles was made

aware of his danger ; but he declined to leave

the Long island till he should receive some

farther intelligence, wliich Clanranald endea-

voured to obtain by crossing over to the main-

land. At length the peril of Charles became so

imminent, that there appeared no possibility of

an escape. He had already spent three weeks

in South Uist ; and though his residence was

known to upwards of a hundred persons, all of

whom were probably aware of the splendid

reward which had been offered for his appre-

hension, yet such was the fidehty of these pool

people, that not one of them betrayed theij

trust, by giving notice to the emissaries oi

the government of the place of his concealment

He lived in comparative security in South Uist

till about the middle of June, when, in con-

sequence of the presence of a body of militia

in the island of Eriska, which lies between

Barra and South Uist, he found it absolutely

necessary to sliift his quarters. He accordinglj

left South Uist in Campbell's boat with liis

four companions, on the 14th of June, and

landed in the small isle of Wia or Fovaya, be

tween South Uist and Benbecula, in which ht

remained four nights ; and on the 18th, the

prince, O'Neil, and Bm-ke, went to Eossin

ish, leaving O'SuUivan and Macleod in Wia.

Charles passed two nights at Kossinish ; but

receiving information that some militia wcra

approaching Benbecula, he rt solved to return

to Coradale. O'SuUivan and Macleod antici-

pated Charles's design by bringing the boat to

Rossinish during the night, and having set saO,

the}' encountered a violent storm, accompanied

with a heavy rain, which forced them to land

upon the rock called Achkirside-aUich at Uish-

inish Point, in a cleft of which they took up

their quarters. At night, finding their enemies

within two miles of them, they sailed again, and

arrived safely at a place called CehestieUa,
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whence they steered towards Locli Boisdale;

but, observing a boat in their way, they re-

turned to their former place, where they passed

tlie night. They proceeded to Loch Boisdale

next day, where they were informed that Bois-

dale had been made a prisoner, a circumstance

which perplexed Charles exceedingly, as Bois-

dale, from his perfect knowledge of the differ-

ent places of concealment in the Long island,

was the chief person on whom he reKed for

directions in his various movements. Charles

skulked some days about Loch Boisdale, where

he and his attendants received occasional sup-

plies of food from Lady Boisdale. ^

During the time the prince remained in

Loch Boisdale, he was kept in a perpetual state

of alarm by the vessels of war which hovered

off the coast of South Uist. At one time no

les<^ than fifteen sail were in sight ; and two of

their having entered the Loch, Charles and

his companions abandoned the boat, and fled

to the mountains. The vessels having gone

out to sea, Charles and his party returned to

the boat, in. which they had left a small stock

of provisions ; and having taken out the saQs

for the purpose of covering them, they lay in

the fields two nights on the south side of the

Loch. Eomoving the third night farther up
the inlet, they passed two other nights in the

same way, suffering all the time the greatest

privations. Hitherto the military had not

visited South Uist ; but information was
brought on the last of these days to Charles,

that a party, under Captain Caroline Scott, an
officer celebrated, along -svith General Hawley,
Major Lockhart, and others, for his cruelties,

had just landed at the head of a body of 500
regulars and militia, within a mile and a half

of the place where Charles then was. On
receiving this alarming intelligence, Charles

instantly resolved to separate his party ; and
leaving O'SuUivan, Macleod, and Burke, with

the boatmen, to shift for themselves, he and
O'Neil went off to the mountains, carrying only

two shirts along with them. The faithful

Macleod was so affected at parting that he shed

cears. ^

' Oenuine and Tnie Journal, p. 16.
' O'Neil's, Burke's, and Macleod'a Narratives, in

Jacobite Memoirs. Macleod was taken prisoner a few
days afterwards in Benbecula, by Lieutenant Allan

Beset with dangers on every hand, Charles

and his companion directed their steps towards

Benbecula, and, about midnight, came to a

Macdonald, of Knock, in Sleat, in the island of Skye.
He was put on board the Furnace, and brought down
to the cabin before General Campbell, who examined
him most minutely. The general asked him if he had
been along with the Pretender? " Yes," said Donald,
" I was along with that young gentleman, and I winna
deny it." " Do you know, " said the general, " what
money was upon that gentleman's head 1—No less a
sum than thirty thousand pounds sterling, which
would have made you and your family happy for ever."
"What then?" replied Donald, " what though I had
gotten it ? I could not have enjoyed it for two days.
Conscience would have gotten the better of me ; and
although I could have gotten all England and Scotland
for my pains, I would not have allowed a hair of his
body to be touched if I could hinder it, since he threw
himself upon my care. " Campbell observed that he
could not much blame him. Donald was sent to Lon-
don, but released on the 10th of June, 1747. When
he arrived in Leith from London, on his return to
Skye, he had no money to carry him thither ; but his
wants were supplied by the Hev. Robert (afterwards
bishop) Forbes, an episcopal clergyman in Leith,
who set a subscription on foot in that town, and in
Edinburgh, "to make out," as the bishop says, "for
honest Palinurus, if possible, a pound sterling, for
every week he had served the prince in distress ; and,"
continues the worthy bishop, "I thank God I was so
happy as to accomplish my design directly." In ac-
knowledgment of his fidelity, Donald was presented
by Mr. John Walkinshaw of London, with a large
silver snuff-box, handsomely chased, and doubly gilt
in the inside. Upon the lid of this box there was the
representation of an eight-oared boat, with Donald at
the helm, and the eight rowers making their way
through a very rough and tempestuous sea. The Long
island is seen in the distance upon one of the extremi-
ties of the lid, and the boat appears to be just steer-
ing into Rossinish, the point of Benbecula where
Charles landed after leaving Lochnanuagh. On the
other end of the lid there was a landscape of the end
of the isle of Skye, as it appears opposite to the Long
island, on which the sites of Dunvegan and Gualtergill
are marked. The clouds were represented as heavy
and lowering, and the rain descending ; and above
the clouds, i. c, near the hinge, the following motto
was engraved :

—" Olim hsec meniinisse juvabit. Aprilis
26to, 17-16." Upon the bottom, and near the edge of
the lid, was this inscription,—"Quid Neptune, p.iras?
Fatis agitamur iniquis." The following words were
engraved on the bottom of the box :—"Donald Mac-
leod of Gualtergill, in the isle of Skye, the failhfal
Palinurus, ait. 6S, 1746." Below which there was a
representation of a dove with an olive branch in its

bill. Donald never put any snuff into this box, and
when asked the cause by Mr. Forbes, he exclaimed,
" Sneeshin in that box ! Na, the diel a pickle sneeshin
shall ever go into it till the King be restored ; and
then, I trust in God, I'll go to Loudon, and then I ^vill

put sneeshin in the box, and go to the Prince, and
say, 'Sir, will you take a sneeshin out o' my box?'—Jacobite Memoirs.

Burke, the other trust-worthy individual, who was a
native of North Ui.st, skulked about the hill of Eval,
in his native island, for seven weeks, living part of the
time on sea-weed and limpets. He afterwards took
refuge in a cave, and, when the troubles had subsided,
went to Edinburgh, where, unheeded, he spent th«
remainder of his days as a sedan-carrier or chairman.
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hut into whicli O'Keil entered. Providen-

tially for Charles, O'Neil here found Miss

Flora Macdonald, with whom he had got lately

acquainted at Ormaclade, the seat of Clanra-

nald, in Benhecula, when on a visit to the

chief, whose kinswoman she was. This lady,

whose memory will ever be held in esteem by

posterity, for her generous and noble disinter-

estedness in rescuing the prince from the im-

minent perils which surrounded him, was the

daughter of Macdonald of Milton, in the island

of South Uist. Her father left her an orphan

when only a year old, and her mother had

married Macdonald of Armadale, in the isle of

Skye, who commanded one of the militia com-

panies raised in that island by Sir Alexander

Macdonald, and was now in South Uist at the

head of his corps. Miss Macdonald was about

twenty-four years of age, of the middle size,

and to the attractions of a handsome figure

and great vivacity, she added the more esti-

mable mental qualities of good sense, bland-

ness of temper, and humanity. The hut in

which O'NeQ now met Miss Macdonald be-

longed to her only brother, Angus Macdonald

of Milton, in whose family she then resided.

As O'NeU recollected that Miss Macdonald

had expressed, in his presence, an earnest

desire to see the prince, and had offered to do

any thing in her power to protect him, it oc-

curred to O'NeU that, on the present occasion,

she might render an essential service to the

prince if, after dressing him in female attire,

she would pass liim off as her maid-servant,

and carry him to Skye. O'NeU at once pro-

posed his plan to the young lady; but she

thought it fantastical and dangerous, and at

first positively refused to engage in it. As

parties of the Macdonald, Macleod, and Camp-

bell militia were roaming over the island of

South Uist in quest of Charles, as no person

could leave the island without a passport, and

as there was a guard posted at every ferry, and

the channel between Uist and Skye covered

with ships of war, the utter hopelessness of

such an attempt appeared evident. Bent, how-

ever, upon liis plan, CNeU was resolved to

try what effect Charles's own presence would

have upon the young lady in inducing her to

yield, and he accordingly introduced her to

the prince. Miss Macdonald was so strongly

impressed with his critical and forlorn state,

that, on seeing Charles, she almost instantly

consented to conduct him to Skye. She de-

scribes the prince at this time as in a bad stata

of health; and though of a thin and weak

habit of body, and greatly worn out by fatigue,

yet exhibiting a cheerfulness, magnanimity,

and fortitude, which those only who saw him

could have credited.

-

Having thus given her consent to O'Neil'

proposal. Miss Macdonald instantly proceeded

to Clanranald's house to procure the necessary

requisites for the intended voyage to Skye. In

crossing one of the fords on her way to Orma

clade, she and her man-servant, Neil j\[ac

Eachan,' not having passports, were taken pri-

soners by a party of militia, and, being de-

tained tin next morning, were brought before

the commanding officer, who luckily turned

out to be her own step-father, Captain Hugh

Macdonald, Having stated to him hor inten-

tion of proceeding to Skye to her mother, she,

without difficulty or suspicion, procured a ]ias9-

port from her stepfather, for herself, a man-

servant, and her maid, who, in the passport,

was called Betty Burke, (the name the prince

was to assume,) and who was reconmouJed

by Captain Macdonald to his wife as an excel-

lent spinner of flax, and a faithful servant.*

Next day at four o'clock in the afternoon,

Charles received a message from Miss Llac-

donald, who had reached Ormaclade, inform-

ing him that " all was well
;
" on receiving

which, he and O'NeU resolved to join her im-

mediately; but, to their great consternation,

the messenger informed them that they could

not pass either of the fords that separated

South Uist from Benbecula as they were both

" Flora Macdonald's Narrative. Home's Works,

vol. ill. App. No. 45.

" Father of the well-known Marshal Macdonald,

Duke of Tarentura.
* The letter by Armadale to his wife, was as fol-

lows :

—" I have sent your daughter from this country

lest she should be any way frightened with the troops

lying here. She has got one Betty Burke, an Irish

girl, who, as she tells me, is a good spinster. If her

spinning pleases you, you may keep her till she spin

all your lint; or, if you have any wool to spin, you

may employ her. I have sent Neil Mackecliaii along

with your daughter, and Betty Burke to take care of

them.—I am your dutiful husband,
"HUGH MACDONALD."

" June 22, 1746."

It has been suspected that Armadale was privy to

his step-daughter's design.



CHAELES DISGUISED IN FEMALE ATriKE. C89

guarded ty the military. In their perplexity,

an inhabitant oflfered to convey them in his

boat to Benbeeula ; and they were accordingly

landed on a promontory of that island. They

dismissed the boat, after having given orders

to the boatmen to meet them on the opposite

Bide of the island, and proceeded on their jour-

ney; but they had not gone far when they

observed that the land on which they stood

was surrounded by water. Thinking that the

pilot had made a mistake, they hallooed after

the boat, but in vain, as it was already far

from the shore. As it was liigh water, Charles

and his companion imagined that they could

obtain a dry passage on the subsiding of the

tide; but they were disappointed. The situa-

tion of the prince now appeared dismal. After

escaping so many dangers, he had at present

no prospect but to starve upon a desert island.

Nevertheless, he kept up his spirit; and, after

a laborious search, he succeeded in finding a

ford, by which he and his companion crossed.^

Charles and his companion arrived at Eossi-

nish, the place of rendezvous, about midnight,

wet to the skin, and exliausted vnih hunger

and fatigue. Finding that a party of militaiy

was stationed at a short distance, they retired

to another place, about four miles from Eossi-

nish, whence O'Neil went to Ormaclade to as-

certain the reason why Miss Macdonald had

not kept her appointment. In explanation,

she informed him, that conceiving the prince

would be safer in North Uist than in Skye,

she had engaged a cousin of her own in North

Uist to receive him into his house. This gen-

tleman, however, having afterwards declined

to run the risk of harbouring the prince, Miss

JIacdonald made the necessary preparations

for her voyage. Having hired a six-oared

boat to carry her to Skye, which she ordered

to be in readiness at an appointed place the

follo-sving day. Miss Macdonald left Ormaclade

on the 27th of June, along with Lady Clan-

ranald, a Mrs. Macdonald and Mac Eachan, all

of whom were conducted by O'Neil to the

place where Charles lay concealed, about eight

miles from Ormaclade. On entering the hovel,

they found Charles employed in roasting, for

dinner, the heart. Liver, and kidneys of a sheep

' Kirkconnel MS.

upon a wooden spit. The ladies began to

compassionate the prince upon his unfortmiate

situation ; but he diverted their attention from

this melancholy subject by some facetious ob-

servations. He remarked that the wretched

to-day may be happy to-morrow, and that all

great men would be better by suffering as he

was doing. The party dined in the hut, Mis3

Macdonald sitting on the right, and Lady Clau-

ranald on the left hand of the prince.

After dinner, Charles put on the female

attire, wliioli had been provided for him by the

laches. It was coarse and homely, and con-

sisted of a flowered linen gown, a light-colouied

quilted petticoat, a wliite apron, and a mantle

of dun camlet made after the Irish fixshion, with

a hood. Whilst Charles was putting on this

extraordinary dress, several jokes were passed

on the singularity of the prince's appearance.

The ladies and NeU Mac Eachan returned to

Ormaclade, and in the evening again met

Charles and his companion on the sea-shore,

at a mile's distance from that house. They sat

down to supper on the sea-side ; but before

they had finished, a messenger arrived with

infonnation that General Campbell and Cap-

tain Ferguson had arrived at Ormaclade with

a large party of soldiers and marines, in quest

of Charles. Lady Clanranald went imme-

diately home, and, on reaching her house, was

interrogated very strictly by these officers as to

tlie cause of her absence ; but she excused her-

self by saying that she had been visiting a sick

child.fi

After the departure of Lady Clanranald,

Charles and his protectress went down to the

beach, where their boat lay afloat, so as to be

in readiness to embark in case the military

should appear. They kindled a fire upon a

rook ; but they had scarcely warmed them-

selves, when they were thrown into a state of

alarm by the appearance of four boats full of

armed men, apparently making towards the

shore. They instantly extinguished their fii'e,

and concealed themselves beliind some rocks.

Fortunately they were not observed by the

boats, wliich, instead of coming to land, sailed

' Soon after this occurrence, Lady Clanranald was
taken prisoner, and sent to London. On 1st Novem-
ber, Clanranald, and Boisdale his brother were alsii

apprehended, and shipped for London. They were

discharged iu the month of June following.

4 a
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along the shore, mtliin a gun-sliot of the spot

where Charles lay concealed. Judging it un-

wise to put to sea during the day, Charles de-

ferred his voyage till the evening, and accord-

ingly embarked, at eight o'clock on the 28th

of June, for Skye, accompanied by Miss Mao-

donald and Ned Mao Eachan. The prince

was extremely sorry to part with O'NeQ, his

only remaining companion, and entreated Miss

Macdonald to allow him to accompany them
;

but, as she had only three passports, she abso-

lutely refused to accede to the request.^

WHrcn Charles left the shores of Benbecula

the evoniug was clear and serene, and a gentle

and favourable breeze rippled over the bosom

of the deep; but as they proceeded to sea tlie

sky begau to lower, and they had not rowed

above a league when the wind rose, the sea

became rough, and a tempest ensued which

seemed to threaten them with destruction.

Miss Macdonald and the boatmen grew alarmed,

but Charles showed the greatest composure,

and, to revive their drooping spirits, alternately

related some amusing stories and sang several

songs, among which was an old spirited air

composed on the occasion of the restoration of

Charles II. In the passage Miss Macdonald

fell asleep, and Charles took every precaution

to prevent her being disturbed.

The -wind having shifted several times diu'iug

the night, the boatmen had not been able to

keep a regular course, and when day-light

appeared next morning, they fomid tliemsolves

out of sight of land without knowmg where

' A few days after parting with Charles, this trusty

officer bein<; betrayed by a person in whom he had con-

fided, was taken prisoner. Being brought before Cap-

tain Ferguson, and refusing to give any information

about the prince, he was stripped, ordered to be put

into a rack, and to be whipt. When the last part of

tliis order was about to be executed, he was saved from

tlie intended ignominy by a lieutenant of the Scotch

Fusileers, who, drawing his sword, threatened Fer-

inison with his vengeance if he used an officer in such

an infamous manner. O'Neil says that, four days

after he was taken, General Campbell sent him word,

upon his parole of honour, that if he had any money

or effects in the country, and would send them to him,

they thould be safe ; and that as he had alw.ays ima-

gined that the word of honour was as sacredly kept

in the English army as in others, he went with a de-

tachment fcr his money and gold watch, which he had

hid among the rock^; that ho sent to General Camp-

bell by Cantain Canipbell of Skipness, 450 guineas,

Ills f,old watcii, broadsword and pistols; but that

although ho repeatedly applied tohira to^retum him

his property, he never obtaijied it!—O'Ncil's Narra-

tive in ^icnl '.'.e .Vcir.oirs.

they were. Having no compass, they proceeded

at random; but they had not saQed far when
they perceived some of the headlands of Skye.

Favoured by the wind, they soon gained the

point of Waternish, on the west of the island.

In passing along this point they were fired

upon by a party of ]Macleod militia, who called

upon them to land; but they continued their

course, and, to prevent suspicion, plied their- oars

very slowly, ("liarlca tn],] the boatmen "not

From Original Painting by I. ILackluin, 1747.

to fear the villains;" but they assm-ed him that

they did not care for themselves: their only

fear was for Mm. "No fear of me!" was

Charles's reply. Encouraged by the undaimted

bravery of the prince, the boat's crew applied

themselves with energy to their oars ; on ob-

serving which the Macleods continued to fire

at the boat till it got out of reach of their

shot, but did no harm. AVliUst the buUets

were falling about the boat, Charles, it is said,

requested Miss Macdonald to lie down in the

bottom of the boat in order to avoid them ;
but

she heroically declined the proposed and de-

clared that, aa she \vf-.s endeavouriii;? to preserve
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the life of her prince, she would never degrade

herself by attending to the safety of her own
person wliile that of her master was in jeopardy.

She even solicited Charles to occupy the place

he had assigned for her. The prince, as the

danger increased, became more urgent; but no

entreaties could prevail upon Miss Macdonald

to abandon her intrepid resolution, till Charles

offered to lie do^vn also. Both accordingly

lay down in the bottom of the boat, till out of

reach of the bullets of the militia.

After escaping this danger they entered a

small creek, and the party, after taking a short

rest, proceeded to Kilbride, and landed near

Mugstot or Moydhstat, the seat of Sir Alex-

ander Macdouald, near the northern extremity

of Skye. Sir Alexander was at this time with

the Duke of Cumberland at Fort Augustus;

and, as liis lady was known to be a warm friend

of the prince. Flora resolved to proceed to

Moydlistat and acquaint her of Charles's arrival.

Lady Margaret Macdonald had inherited the

spirit of Jacobitism from her father Alexander,

Earl of Eglintoim ; and, as she knew that her

husband was a Jacobite at heart, she was less

scrupulous to assist the prince in his necessities.

Knowing her good intentions, Charles had,

about a week before his arrival in Skye, svritten

her a letter, which was sent inclosed in one

from Hugh Macdonald of Balishair, in North

Uist, to his brother Donald Roy Slacdonald,

who was requested to deliver the letter into

her ladyship's own hand. Balishair announced

in the letter to his brother, that, as a very

strict search was making in the Long island

for Charles, he intended to seek refuge upon a

small grass island, called Fladdachuan, belong-

ing to Sir Alexander Macdonald, lying to the

north of Trotternish, with only one tenant

upon it, and requesting him to keep a sharp

look-out for the prince, to meet him upon

Fladdachuan and provide him mth necessaries.

He was desired to show the letter to Lady

Margaret, and after she had perused it to throw

it into the fire ; and he also requested that her

ladyship shoidd do the same mth the letter

sent her. The letter was accordingly delivered

to Lady Margaret by Donald Roy, who burnt

his own, as directed ; but, on begging Lady

Margaret to put hers into the fire, she rose up,

and, kissing the letter, exclaimed, " No ! I

will not burn it. I wUl preserve it for the

sake of bim who wrote it to me. Although

King George's forces should come to the

house, I hope I shall find a way to secure the

letter." ^

Leaving Charles in the boat, Miss Flora, ac-

companied by NeU Mac Eachan, set out for

Mugstot, to apprise Lady Jlargaret of her arri-

val. It 'was a fortunate circumstance that

Charles was left behind, as there was a militia

officer of the name of Macleod in the house,

who, on ]\Iiss Macdouald's entering the room

where he was sitting, questioned her very closely

as to her journey; but she answered his inter-

rogatories so readily, and with such apparent

candour and simphcity, that he had not the

least suspicion that she was any way concerned

about the prince. Charles's arrival was not

altogether unexpected, as she had been informed

the day before by Mrs. Macdonald, wife of

John Macdonald of Kii'kebost, in North Uist,

who had come from the Long island, of the

probability of his appearmg speedily in Skye.

Lady Margaret, on being informed of the

prince's arrival in her neighbourhood, was

greatly alarmed for his safety. Her active

benevolence was ever seconded by superior

talents; and, on the present occasion, she dis-

pla3'ed a presence of mind and readiness of

invention, which corresponded with these high

qualifications. Mr. Macdonald of Kingsburgh,

Sir Alexander's factor, being then in the house,

she resolved to consult him in this emergency.

Desirous also to avail herself of the services

of Captam Roy Macdonald, who had visited

Fladdachuan in quest of the prince, she sent

an express to Trotternish, whore he then re-

sided, requesting liis immediate attendance at

Mugstot. Mounting his horse, he repaired to

the spot, and found Lady Margaret and Kings-

burgh walking together, in serious conversa-

tion. On dismounting, Lady Margaret came

up to him and exclaimed, " O Donald Roy, we

are ruined for ever ! " After a long consulta-

tion, Lady Margaret proposed that, as the

prince could not remain long in Skye \vithout

being discovered, he should be conducted to

old Raasay, who was himself concealed with

some select friends, and that, in the mean time,

° Roy MacJonaU's Narrative among the Porbet

Papers.
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he should take up his residence Lu Kingsbuigh

hous-j.

During the time this consultation lasted,

Cliarles remained upon the shore, at a short

distance from the foot of the garden. Kings-

burgh proposed to go and acquaint him with

aieir determination ; but, lest he might be

observed by some of the mihtary about the

house, NeU Mac Eachan was sent to inform him

that Kiugsbui-gh meant to visit liim, and to

request that he would retire behind a neigh-

bouring hill to escape observation. Taking

with him some wine and provisions, Kings-

burgh repaired to the spot where Mac Eachan

had left Charles. To liis great surprise, how-

ever, Charles was not to be seen, and he in

vain searched for him in the noiglibourhood of

the place where he expected to meet liim.

Despairing of finding the prince, Kingsburgh

would have returned to Itlngstot ; but the

bounding of a ilock of sheep at a distance, in-

dicating that some person was at hand, Kiugs-

bui'gh went forward to tlie place whence the

sheep had fled, where he found the prince

sitting on the ground. Charles started up

when he saw Kingsburgh approaching. He
advanced cautiously towards liim, holding a

large knotted stick in his hand, as if intending

to knock down the stranger. " I am Mac-

donald of Kingsburgh, come to serve your

liiglinoes," said the good Higldander, as he ap-

proached. " It is well," answered Charles,

who went forward to receive his friend. They

tlieu saluted each other, and the prince took

some refreshment. Kingsburgh then mentioned

Lady Macdonald's plan, with which Charles

having expressed himself satisfied, they both

proceeded to Kingsburgh house.

Tin the departure of Kingsburgh to meet

Charles, the uneasiness of Lady Macdonald

was extreme. Flora too, who had remarked

her anxiety, had her misgivings lost the prince

should bo discovered ; but -ivith her wonted

firmness she kept up the conversation with the

commander of the detachment, till dinner was

announced, by which time Charles was on his

way to Kingsburgh. After dinner, Miss Mac-

donald rose to depart ; but Lady Macdonald,

in order to deceive the ofiicer, pressed her to

remain, and put her in mind that she had

promised on a former occasion to make some

stay the first time she should visit Moydhstat

Flora, however, excused herself, on the ground

that she was anxious to be with her mother,

who, in the absence of her husband, could not

but feel uneasy in such troublesome times.

With apparent reluctance Lady Margaret at

lengtli accepted her apology, under the con-

dition that she shoidd make amends for her

sudden departure by making a longer stay at

Moydlistat on her next visit

Miss Macdonald accordingly proceeded ou

her journey, accompanied by NeU Mac Eachan,

and by Mi'S. Macdonald, the lady formerly

mentioned, who was attended by a male and

female servant. The whole party, who were

on horseback, soon overtook the prince and

Kingsburgh, who had gone so far by the com-

mon road. Mrs. Macdonald, who had never

seen the prince before, was desirous of obtain-

ing a view of his countenance, and made several

attempts to look him in tlie face, but Charles

always turned his head aside to avoid her gaze.

Mrs. Macdonald's maid observing this, and

being struck with the luicouth appearance of

the prince, remarked to Miss Flora, that she had

never before seen such an impudent looking

woman as the one with whom Kingsburgh was

walking, and stated her unpression, that the

singular looking stranger was either an Irish-

woman, or a man in woman's clothes. Miss

Macdonald informed the girl that she was qiiite

right in her conjecture that the extraordinary

looking female was an Irisliwoman, for slie

knew lior, having seen her before. The maid

then exclaimed, " Bless me, what long strides

the jade takes, and how awkwardly she manages

her petticoats ! " To put an end to the prying

curiosity of Mrs. Macdonald's maid, and to

prevent the servants of that lady from observ-

ing the route wliich the prince and Kingsburgh

were about to take across the hiUs, Miss Mac-

donald called upon the party to ride faster, as

they had a long way to travel. They accord-

ingly set off at the trot, and, when the party

were out of siglit, the two pedestrians, to avoid

the militia, who were on all the public roads,

went off by an unfrequented path, and arrived

at Kingsburgh house about eleven o'clock at

night, where they were almost immediately

joined by Miss Macdonald and NeU Mao

Eachan.
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Not expecting her husband home at such a

late hour, Mrs. Macdonald had undressed, and

was just going into hed, when one of lier

maid servants entered her bed-room, and in-

formed her that Kingsburgh had arrived, and

had brought company with liim, and that Jliss

Flora Macdonald was among the guests. Mrs.

Macdonald sent down word to Flora, that be-

ing sleepy and undressed she hoped she would

excuse her for not coming down stairs, but

begged that she wotdd use her freedom, and

help herself to anything she might require.

Immediately upon the departure of the servant

down stairs, a young girl, a daughter of Kings-

burgh, entered her mother's apartment in a

great hurry, and, with looks of surprise, in-

formed her, that her father had brought to

the house the most " odd muclde ill-shaken-

up wife she had ever seen, and taken her into

the hall too ! " Before Mrs. Macdonald had

time to form any conjecture on the subject,

Kingsburgh himself entered his wife's bed-

chamber, and desired her to dress herself as

fast as she could, and got some supper ready

for his guests. Mrs. Macdonald asked the

names of her visitors, but Kingsburgh said ho

had no time for explanation ; and after teUing

her that she would know the whole matter in

time, and urging her to make haste, he returned

to his friends in the hall.

In compliance Avith her husband's desire,

Mrs. Macdonald proceeded to dress herself,

and sent her daughter down for her keys, which

she had left in the lialL The girl went, but

she returned almost instantly in a state of

alarm, and told her mother that she was afraid

to venture into the hall, as the tall woman was

walking up and down in it. Mrs. Macdonald

then went down herself; but on observing the

prince striding through the hall she hesitated

to enter, and calling to her husband requested

him to go in and bring her the keys. Kings-

burgh, however, refused to humour the pusil-

lanimity of his wife, and she was at length

obliged to enter.

Wlien Mrs. Macdonald entered the hall,

Charles, who, during the altercation between

her and her husband, had taken a seat, rose

up, and advancing, immediately saluted her

agreeably to the Highland practice. Mrs. Mac-

donald, little expecting the rouglmess of a male

chin under a female attire, began to tremble,

and, without sajdng a word to the sUent and

mysterious being who stood before her, slin

hastened out of the hall, and going to her

husband importuned him to inform her who
the stranger was. She had not the least idea

that the person who saluted her was the prince;

and, imagining that the stranger was some

nobleman or gentleman in disguise, she inquired

if he knew what had become of the prince.

SmUing at her simplicity, Kingsburgh said to

her, " !My dear, the person in the hall is the

prince himself." Alarmed at tliis unexpected

announcement, she exclaimed, " The prince !

then we are all ruined : we will all be hanged

now!" "Hout," replied Kingsburgh, "we can

die but once ; and if we are hanged for this we
shall die in a good cause, doing only an act of

humanity and charity. But go," continued he,

" make haste with supper ; bring us eggs,

butter, cheese, and whatever else can be got

quickly ready." " Eggs, butter, and cheese !

"

rejoined Mrs. Macdonald, " what a supper is

that for a prince !" " Oh ! wife," replied

Kingsburgh, " you know little how this good

prince has hved of late ; this will be a feast tc

him. Besides, to make a formal supper would

make the servants suspect something ; the less

ceremony, therefore, the better ; make haste,

and come to supper yourself." Mrs. Mac-

donald, doubtful of her own capabilities to

conduct herself properly before royalty, ex-

claimed, " / come to supper ! I know not how
to behave before Majesty !

" "You must come,"

replied Kingsburgh, " the prince wUl not eat

one bit without you ; and you wiU find it no

difficult matter to behave before him, so obUg-

mg and easy is he in his conversation."''

At supper Charles placed Miss Flora on his

right hand, and Mrs. Macdonald on his left.

He always conferred the above mark of distinc-

tion on his young protectress, and whenever

she came into any room where he was sitting,

he always rose up on her entry. Charles made

a hearty supper, and drank a bumper of brandy

to the health and prosperity of ^Kingsburgh and

his wife. After supper ho smoked a pipe, a

practice which he was obliged to adopt in liis

wanderings, to mitigate a toothache mth which

^ Genuine and True Journal^ p. 29,
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he was troubled. ' Having drunk a few glasses

of wine, and fini.shed his pipe, Charles went

to bed.

After Charles went to bed, Miss Flora, at

the desire of Mrs. Macdonald, gave her a rela-

tion of the prince's adventures, in as far as

she had been personally concerned. AVTien

she finished her recital, Mrs. Macdonald asked

her what had become of the boatmen who

brought the prince and her to Skye. Miss

Macdonald answered, that they had been sent

directly back to South Ui.st. Mrs. Macdonald

observed that it was wrong to have sent the

boat back immediately, as in case of capture on

their return, the boatmen might disclose the

business which brought them to Skye, and the

prince's pursuers might in consequence over-

take him before he could leave that Lsland.

Mrs. Macdonald was right in her conjecture;

for the boatmen were seized on their return to

South Uist, and being threatened with torture,

and ultimately with death, revealed all they

knew, giving even a minute description of the

prince's dress. To lessen the dangers of a

discovery of the prince's route. Flora advised

the prince to change his clothes next day, a

proposal which met with his cordial approba-

tion, as he found the female attire very cum-

brous.

The litxury of a good bed had not been en-

joyed by Charles for many weeks. Three, or

at most four, hours' sleep was all he had gen-

erally been accustomed to during his wander-

ings; but, on the present occasion he slept ten

hours without interruption, and might have

ailded a few more to the number, had he not

been wakened by Kingsburgh, who was pre-

vailed upon by Miss Macdonald, contrary to his

own inclination, to rouse the prince. In talking

of Charles's intended departure, Kingsburgh,

acting upon Flora's suggestion, urged upon the

prince the propriety of changing his dress, lest

' " Donald Macleod said the prince used to smoke a

great deal of tobacco ; and as in his wanderings from
]ilace to place the pipes behoved to break and turn
into short cutties, he used to take quilts, and putting
one into .mother, *and all,* said Donalcl, * into the end
of the ciUty, this served to make it long enough, and
the tobacco to smoke cool. ' Donald added, that he
never knew, in all his life, any one better at finding

out a shift than the prince was, when he happened to

be at a pinch, and that the prince would sometimes

sing them a song to keep up their hearts."

—

Jacobite

MenioirSj p. 401.

the circumstance of his being in female attire

might transpire, and Kingsburgh offered him
a Highland dress of his own. Charles at once

assented to the proposal ; but, to prevent sus-

picion among the servants, and to keep them

in ignorance of the nature and description of

the new dress in which Charles was to travel,

it was arranged that he should leave the house

in the same dress he entered it, and, when out

of reach of observation, assume that offered to

him by his kind entertainer.

Having dressed himself, the ladies went into

his chamber to pin his cap, put on his apron,

and adjust the other parts of his dress. Before

Miss Macdonald put on the cap, Mrs. Macdon-

ald requested her, in Gaelic, to ask Charles for

a lock of his hair. Flora declined, desiring

her, at the same time, to make the application

herself to his Royal Highness. The prince,

though unable to comprehend what they were

saying, clearly perceived that they were disput-

ing about something, and, desiring to know

the subject of altercation, was informed thereof

by Mrs. Macdonald. Charles then told her

that her request was granted, and laying down

his head upon Flora's lap, he desired her to

out off a lock. She complied, and divided the

destined relic between them. Before leaving

the house Kingsburgh thought there was an

article of dress that Charles might instantly

change without much risk. This was his shoes,

wliich were so much worn that his toes pro-

truded through them. He, therefore, presented

a new pair of his own to his Royal Highness,

and, taking up the out-worn brogues, said to

Charles, " I will faithfully keep them till you

are safely in St. James's ; I will introduce my-

self by shaking them at you, to put you in

mind of your night's entertainment and protec-

tion tinder my roof." The prince, amused

with the quaintness of the idea, could not re-

frain from smiling, and, to humour the joke,

enjoined his host to keep his promise. Kings-

burgh kept the shoes as long as he lived, and

after his death they were purchased by a zealous

Jacobite gentleman, who gave twenty guineas

for them.^

On being dressed, the prince partook of

breakfast, and having taken a kind leave of

» Bo-jwell's TmiT.
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Mi's. Alacdonald, left Kingsburgli house for

Portree, where it had been concerted he should

embark for the island of Eaasay. He was ac-

companied by Miss Flora ami Kingsburgli, who

carried under his arm the suit of clothes de-

signed for the prince. When Charles left the

house, Mrs. Macdonald went up stairs to the

room in which he had slept, and, folding the

sheets in which he had lain, put them carefully

aside, declaring that henceforth they should

never again be washed or used till her death,

when they should servo her as a winiling sheet;

to which use they were accordingly applied, in

fulldment of injunctions she delivered before

her death. ^ After walking a short distance

from the house, Charles and Kingsburgh entered

a wood, where the prince threw off his female

attire, and put on the clotlies which his good

friend had provided. These consisted of a

tartan short coat and waistcoat, with phUibeg

and short hose, a plaid, and a wig and bonnet.

When Charles had sliifted, ho embraced Kings-

burgh, and thanked him for his valuable ser-

vices, wliich he assured him he would never

forget. Charles, conducted by a guide, then

set out on foot across the liUls, and Miss Mac-

donald took another and a shorter way on

horseback, to obtain intelligence, and prevent

a discovery.

In consequence of the resolution to proceed

to Raasay, Donald Roy had been despatched

from Mugstot by Kingsburgli the preceding

day, in quest of John Macleod, the young laird

of Raasay, to ascertain from him the place of his

fatlior's concealment, in order to communicate

to the latter Charles's design of placing himself

under his protection. When it is considered,

that Macleod, the laird of Raasay, was himself

a fugitive for the part he had taken in the in-

smTCction, such a design may appear singidar;

but the prince had only a choice of difficulties

before him, and the little island of Raasay,

which was then clear of troops, appeared to

^ When Dr. Johnson visited Kingsburgh, in com-
pany with Mr. Boswell, in 1774, lie slept in the same
bed that Charles had occupied twenty-eight years be-

fore. "To see (says Boswell) Dr. Samuel Johnson in

that bed, in the isle of Skye, in the house of Miss
Flora Macdonald, struck me with such a group of ideas,

as it is not easy for words to describe, as they passed
through the mind. Ho smUed and said, ' 1 have had
no ambitious thoughts in it.

' "

—

Tour to tin Hebrides.

oifer the securest retreat. Donald Roy met

young Eaasay at Portree, who informed him

that his father was skulking in Knoydart; but

offered to send an express for him, being certain

his father would run any risk to serve the

prince in his distress. Donald Roy then pro-

posed that ho shoidd conduct Charles to the

mainland, to the place where old Eaasay was

;

but young Raasay said that such a step would

be too dangerous at that time, and that it would

be better to conceal the prince in the isle of

Raasay till his fatlier should be informed of

Charles's intention to put himself under liis

protection. As they could not trust a Portree

crew, the difficulty of transporting the prince

to Raasay, without observation, occurred. Dr.

Murdoch Macleod, a brother of young Raasay,

who had been womided at the battle of Cullo-

den, being informed of this dilemma, said ha

woidd risk his life once more for the prince,

and it having occurred to him that there was a

little boat upon a fresh water lake in the

neighbourhood, the two brothers, with the aid

of some women, by extraordinary exertions,

brought the boat to. sea, over a Higldand mile

of land, one half of which was bog, and the

other a steep precipice. The two brothers,

with the assistance of a little boy, rowed the

boat, which was very old and leaky, to Raasay.

Malcolm Macleod, young Raasay's cousin,

who will be frequently mentioned in the sequel,

was then in the island. He had been a captain

in the prince's service, and was considered by

liis cousin a proper person to accompany them

on their expedition. They accortlingly waited

on Malcolm, who offered to provide a boat; but

he proposed, that as his cousin, young Raasay,

had not been engaged in the insurrection, he

should not run any risk by holding com-

munication with the prince, more particularly

as Charles could be brought over without his

assistance. Young Raasay declared his resolu-

tion to see the prince, if the result should be

the loss both of his estate and his head;

and Malcolm, seeing that any further attempt

to dissuade him would be fruitless, exclaimed,

" In God's name then let us proceed." Malcolm

Macleod pitched upon two strong men, named

John Mackenzie and Donald Macfriar, to row

the boat; but, when they came to the beach,

they declined to leave the shore till informed
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of their destination. They were then sworn

to secrecy, and being told the object of their

voyage, professed tlie utmost alacrity to go to

sea. The whole party accordingly set off from

Kaasay on Monday evening, the 30th of June,

and landed about half a mile from Portree.

By this time Miss Macdonald had arrived at

Iho inn, where Donald Roy was in waiting to

receive her and the prince. Leaving young

Raa.say and his brother in the boat, Malcolm

jraclcod, accompanied by Macfriar, went to-

wards the inn, and in walking from the shore

ho observed three persons proceeding in the

direction of the inn, who happened to be the

prince, Neil Mac Eachan, and a little boy who

had served as Charles's guide from Kingsburgh.

Donald Roy Macdonald had left the inn

shortly after Miss Macdonald's arrival, for the

purpose of meeting Charles ; but, after remain-

ing out about twenty minutes without seeing

liim, he returned to the house, afraid lest the

rain, wliich fell in torrents, might fester a

wound in his foot which he had received at

the battle of Culloden, and which was stiU

open. He had scarcely entered the inn, when

Macnab, the landlord, informed him that a

boy wanted to see him. The boj^, whose name

was Macqueen, having informed Donald Roy

that a gentleman who was waiting a little above

tlie house wished to speak with him, he went

out and met the prince, who caught him in his

arras. Donald then conducted him into the

inn. Charles was wet to the skin, and the

water poured down from his clothes. The

first thing he asked for was a dram, on taking

which he proceeded to shift hhnself. He put

on a dry shirt; but before he had replaced the

otlior habiliments which he had throAvn off, a

supply of roasted fish, bread, cheese, and butter

was brought into the room, which the prince

attacked with such avidity that Donald Roy
could not help smiling; and being observed by

tlie prince, he remarked that he beheved the

prince was following the English fashion.

" Wliat fashion do you mean?" said the prince.

" AVTiy," repKed Donald Roy, " they say the

English, when they are to eat heartily, throw

off their clothes." The prince smiling, said,

" They are in the right, lest anything should

incommode their hands when they are at work."

Asking for some drink, Charles was told that

there were no liquids of any sort in the house

but whisky and water, not even milk, of which

he had desired a little. The only substitute

in the room for a tumbler or jug was a dirty,

looking bucket, which the landlord used for

throwing the water out of his boat, and the

mouth of which was broken and rough from

the frequent use to which it had been thus

applied. Donald Roy, who had previously

quaffed out of the bucket, handed it to Charles,

who took it out of his hand, and after looking

at it, stared Donald in the face. As the land-

lord was in the room, Donald was afraid that,

from the shyness of Charles to drmk out of a

dish to which no objection perhaps had ever

before been stated, he might think he had a

visitor of distinction in his house, and he there-

fore went up to Charles, and in a gentle whisper

desired him to drink out of the obnoxious

vessel without ceremony. Charles taking the

hint, put the pail to his head, and took a

hearty draught of water. ^

Malcolm Macleod, on being informed of the

prince's an-ival at the inn, had returned to the

boat, and with his cousins waited anxiously for

the prince. On the landlord of the inn leaving

the room, Donald Roy, who had grown impa-

tient to get away, urged the prince to depart;

but Charles showed no inclination to leave the

inn, and even proposed to remain there all

night, as the rain was stiU heavy. Donald

told him that as the house he was in was fre-

quented by all kinds of people, he would incur

danger by remaining; for the very appearance

of a stranger would excite speculation among

the country people, who were always desirous

to know who the persons were that came

among them. Charles assented to the correct-

ness of Donald's observations, but called for

some tobacco that he might smoke a pipe before

his departure. There being no tobacco in the

house but roll or pigtail, Charles said it would

answer very weU; and the landlord, at the re-

quest of Donald Roy, brought in a quarter of

a pound in the scales in which it had been

weighed. The price was fourpence halfpenny,

and Charles gave the landlord a sixpence.

Donald Roy desired him to bring in the differ-

ence. The prince smiled, and on the change

' Donald Koy's Narrative among the Forles Papeta.
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being brouglit he refused to receive it. Donald,

however, insisted that he should take the three

halfpence, because ho considered that in his

present situation he might find " bawbees

"

very usefid. ^

Wlien about to leave the inn, Charles soli-

cited Donald Eoy to accompany him to Raasay,

observing that he had always found himself

safe in the hands of the Maodonalds, and that

as long as he had a Macdonald with him he

woidd still think himself safe. This faithful

attendant, whilst he stated his inclination to

sei-ve the prince in his distress, represented to

him the impossibility of following him from

place to place, in consequence of the wound in

his left foot, which rendered him incapable of

endm-ing fatigue ; and that as he would bo

obliged from his lameness to travel occasionally

on horseback, his presence would only endanger

the safety of the prince. He agreed, however,

to meet Charles in Raasay in a few days, and

stated that, in the mean time, he would remain

in Skye, and collect for the future giudance of

the prince such information as he could, in

relation to the movements and plans of liis

pursuers.

Before leaving Portree Charles had a most

painful task to perform, that of parting with

the amiable and high-minded yoimg woman,

who, during three eventfid days, had with

generous sympathy, and at the imminent hazard

of her own life, watched over him with the

tenderest solicitude and affection, and rescued

him from the many perils with which he had

been environed. He repaid Miss Flora a small

sum of money he had borrowed from lier, and,

presenting her with liis own portrait in minia-

ture, saluted her. He then returned her his

sincere thanks for the great assistance she had

afforded him, and taking leave, expressed a

hope that, notwithstanding the present unfa-

vourable aspect of his affairs, he should yet meet

her in St. James's. He also took farewell of

Ned Mac Eaohan, who certainly at that time

had no expectation that he was to be one of

those who were afterwards to accompany the

prince to France.

Charles had brought along with him from

Rlngsburgh, four shirts, a cold fowl, some

* Donald Roy's Narrative.

sugar, and a bottle of brandy. To this small

stock he added at Portree a bottle of usque-

baugh. He tied this bottle to liis belt at one

side, and at the other the bottle of brandy, and

the sliirts and cold fowl which were put up in

a handkercliief. Thus provided, Charles left

the inn, accompanied by Donald Eoy, on tho

morning of the 1st of July, while it was yet

dark. The landlord, surprised perhaps at tho

early departure of liis guests, cast a look after

them as they went out at the door, which

being observed by Charles's conductor, he

led tho prince off in a direction opposite to

that they had to go, tiU out of view of the

landlord, and then making a circle they went

down towards the shore, and in their way met

Malcolm Macleod, who conducted the prince

to the boat. He then took leave of Donald

Eoy, whom he enjoined not to mention tho

place of his destination to any person, not

even to his fair protectress. Donald returned

to the inn, and was immediately accosted by

his host, who expressed a strong desire to

know the name of the gentleman who had left

his house. Donald told him, with apparent

unconcern, that the stranger who had gone

away was Sir John Macdonald, an Irish gentle-

man, and a brother rebel, who, having got free

of his enemies, had been skidking among his

friends, the Macdonalds of Skye ; and that,

tired of remaining in one place, and afraid of

being discovered in the island, he had set out

for the mainland to seek an asylum among the

other Macdonalds. The landlord, whom he

enjoined to secrecy, apparently satisfied with

tliis explanation, said that he was strongly

impressed with an idea that the gentleman was

the prince in disguise, as he observed some-

thing about him that looked very noble.*

Portree, a small bay opposite the island of

Eaasay, from which Charles was about to de-

part, had derived its name, which signifies the

King's Port, from the circumstance of King

James the Fifth having landed there during his

excursion amongst the western islands. Charles

left this creek after midnight, under the protec-

tion of the enthusiastic young laird of Eaasay,

to whom Malcolm ]\Iacleod introduced bin.

wlien he entered the boat. As the two boat-

* Macleod's Narrative,

4 T
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meu had served in the prince's army, the whole

party, with the exception of young Eaasay him-

self, were under the ban of the government,

and the young laird, whose only motive in

not joining the insurrection was probably a

desire to save the estate, now fearlessly put his

life and fortune in jeopardy, when the risk

was even greater.

Charles slept a little upon the passage, and

reached Eaasay about day-break, a few hours

after his departure from Portree. The party

landed at a place called Glam, about the dis-

tance of ten miles from that haven. Charles,

Malcolm, and Murdoch Macleod took up their

abode in a ^vretched hut wliich some shepherds

had lately erected. They had no bedding of

any sort, and were obliged to repose upon some

heath. On entering the hut they kindled a

fire and partook of some provisions. On this,

as on other occasions, Charles, to please the

Highlanders, never tastedwheat-bread or brandy

while oat-bread and whisky lasted, for, he

observed, that these last were his "own country

bread and drink." Young Eaasay had nothing

to dread from Ms own people ; and, lest the

military might revisit the island, he placed

the two boatmen upon different eminences to

watch their approach. He visited Charles and

his friends occasionally, and always carried

provisions along with him. Though compara-

tively secure, Charles was very uneasy in his

new retreat ; and frequent starts and exclama-

tions in his slumbers indicated the agitated

workings of his mind. Malcolm Macleod

often overheard him in liis sleep muttering

imperfect sentences, in Italian, French, and

English. One of his expressions in EngKsh

was, " God ! poor Scotland !"^

During Charles's stay in Eaasay, no person

visited the island, but he and liis friends were

kept in a state of uneasiness by a person who
prowled about without any apparent business,

and who had come into the island to sell a roll

of tobacco. He had arrived about twelve or

fourteen days before Charles. Having disposed

of his merchandise very speedily, it was ex-

pected that he would have departed, but con-

tinuing to stroll up and down the island in an

idlo w.ay, lio was suspected to be a spy. Mal-

' Boswell's Tour.

colm Macleod happening to see him approach-

ing the hut one day, a council of war was lield

by Charles and his friends. The three Mac-

leods were for putting the poor tobacco vender

to death, and Malcolm Macleod offered to go

out immediately and shoot him through the

head ; but Charles indignantly reprobated the

inhuman proposal " God forbid (said he)

that we should take away a man's life who
may be innocent, while we can preserve our

own." John Mackenzie, who sat as sentinel

at the door, overhearing the debate, said to

himself in Gaelic, "Well, well: he must be

shot : you are the king, but we are the parlia-

ment, and will do what we choose." Observ-

ing liis friends smile, Charles asked what John
had said ; and being told the man's observation

in English, the prince observed that he was a

clever fellow; and, notwithstanding his perilous

situation, laughed loud and heartily. ^ Not-

withstanding Charles's remonstrances, the

stranger would have been despatched had he

entered the hut, but luckily he walked past

without looking into it. It was after^vards

ascertained that the stranger himself was a

fugitive from the Highland army.' While

Charles resided in this hut, he and his com-

panions indulged in a great deal of conversa-

tion. Alluding to passing events and his pre-

sent situation, the prince observed that his

life was to be sure a very hard one ; but that

he would rather live in the way he then did

for ten years, than fall into the hands of his

enemies, not because he believed they would

dare to take away his life pubhcly, biit because

he dreaded being poisoned or assassinated.

He was very particular in liis inquiries at Dr.

Macleod about the wound he had received at

' "John Mackenzie is alive (in 1774); I saw him
at Raasay's house. About eighteen years ago he hurt
one of his legs when dancing, and being obliged to

have it cut off, he now was going about with a wooden
leg. The story of his being a Member of Parliament
is not yet forgotten. I took him out a little way from
the house, gave him a shilling to drink Raasay's health,

and led him into a detail of the particulars which I

have just related. With less foundation, some writers

have traced the idea of a Parliament, and of the British

Constitution in rude and early times. I was curious

to know if he had really heard or understood any
thing of that subject, which, had he been a greater

man, would probably have been eagerly maintained.

'Why, John,' said I, 'did you think he should be con-

trolled by a Parliament ?
' He .answered, ' I thought,

Sir, there were many voices against one. '
"•

—

Boswell.
' Idem, p. 227. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 270.
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Culloden, from a ball which entered at one

shoulder and went across to the other. He
threw out some reflections upon the eonduct of

some of his officers at Culloden, but confessed

that perhaps it was rash in him to do so.

Talking of the dilferent Highland corps, the

Macleods asked Charles which, in his opinion,

were the best soldiers ; but he evaded a direct

inswer, said he did not like comparisons among

uch corps ; and that they were all bestu ^

Charles resided two days in Eaasay, when

becoming uneasy, and thinking the island too

narrow and confined for the purpose of con-

cealment, he resolved to depart. Understanding

that he expected a Frencli ship at Lochbroom,

Malcobtt j\Iaoleod offered to carry him thither,

but Charles declined the proposal on account of

the danger of the voj'age in a small boat He
expressed a wish to go to Trotternish in Skye,

but his friends attempted to dissuade him, as

they considered him safer in Eaasay. Persist-

ing however in going, the whole party, includ-

ing the two boatmen, left Eaasay on the evening

of the 2d of July, in the same boat which

they had used to carry them into the island.

After they had gone a little off the shore the

wiud began to blow hard, and soon increased

to a gale. The sea became so very rough,

that the waves broke over the boat and almost

filled it with water. All on board begged the

prince to return, but he declined, observing,

that as Providence had carried him tlirough so

many dangers, he did not doubt of the same

care now as before. About eleven o'clock at

niglit they landed at a place in Skye, called

Nicolson's rock, near Scorobreck in Trotter-

nish, after a very boisterous voyage of about

fifteen miles. There was a large sui-f on the

shore, and there being no convenient landing

place, they had to jump out among the water.

Charles was the third man who leapt into the

sea. Standing in the surf, the whole party,

including Charles, laid hold of tlie boat and

drew it up on dry ground.

On this desolate coast, the royal wanderer

could find no other resting-place than a cow-

house, belonging to Mr. Nicolson of Scoro-

breck, about two miles from that gentleman's

seat. The party entered this wretched hovel

8 Doswcll's To\i,r.

and took a little refreshment of oat cakes,

which had mouldered down into very small

crumbs, and some cheese. Charles being wet

to the skin, Malcolm Macleod advised him to

put on a dry shirt. This he declined, and

continued to sit in his wet clothes. Overcome

with fatigue he fell asleep; but he enjoyed

little sound repose. He would frequently

start in his sleep, look briskly up, and stare

boldly around him, as if about to fight the

persons around him, " Oh poor England

!

poor England !" were the exclamations he

would sometimes utter, with a deep sigh,

during these disturbed moments.

In all his wanderings it was the constant

practice of Charles to conceal his future move-

ments from every person with whose services

he was about to dispense, so as to prevent any

clue to his discovery. "Wishing to get quit of

young Eaasay and his brother, he despatched

the former to look out for Donald Eoy, and he

desired the latter to go to a place called Cam-

mistinawag, where he would meet him. Mur-

doch Macleod and the two boatmen then took

leave. At parting he presented Murdoch

with a case, contauiing a silver spoon, knife,

and fork, which he requested him to keep till

they met.

The prince and IMaloolm Macleod remained

in the hut till seven o'clock in the morning,

when Charles, taking the little baggage in his

hand, walked out, and desired JIalcolm to fol-

low him. Macleod took the bundle out of

Charles's hand, and followed him in silence

till out of sight of the cow-house, when Charles

taking a direction Malcolm did not like, this

faithful adherent went up to him and asked

him where he was going, as he was afraid that

he might fall into the hands of one of the

numerous military parties, who were dispersed

over the island. " Why, Macleod, (replied

Charles,) I now throw myself entirely into

your hands, and leave you to do with me
what you please ; only I want to go to Strath,

Mackinnon's coimtry. I hope 3'ou will ac-

company me, if you think you can lead me safe

enough into Strath." Malcolm declared that

he woidd go with his royal highness wherover

he pleased, and offered to bring him safe into

that part of Skye which belonged to the cliief

of Mackinnon, provided ho would consent to



700 GENERAL HISTOET OF TITE HIGHLANDS.

go by sea ; but Macleod objected to a journey

over land wliich he considered would be at-

tended with dangers from the soldiers. Charles,

however, insisted on going by land, and ob-

served that they could now do nothing with-

out danger. The better to prevent a discovery,

Charles proposed that he should act the part

of Macleod's servant, and that he should as-

sume the name of Le^vis Caw, there being at

the time a young surgeon of that name, who

had been in the prince's service, skulking in

Skye, where he had some relations. Observ-

ing that his scarlet tartan waistcoat with gold

twist buttons, was finer than that worn by

Macleod, which was of plain ordinary tartan,

Charles exchanged it for Macleod's. Then

taking the bag which contained his linen out

of Malcolm's hands, Charles threw it over his

shoulder, and set out on his perilous journey,

preceded by the faithful Malcolm, who, to

complete the deception, had proposed that

Charles should keep up his new character of a

gilly, or footman, by walking in the rear.

Strath, the country of the Maokinnons, was

at a considerable distance, and the route to it

which these two travellers took lay through

one of the wildest and most mountainous dis-

tricts of the island. Though a good pedes-

trian, Malcolm could scarcely keep his dis-

tance ahead of Charles, whose locomotive

powers were surprising, there being few persons

who could match him at walking. Alluding

to his celerity of foot, he told Malcolm that

provided he got out of musket-shot, he had no

dread of a pursuit by English soldiers, but he

had not the same confidence if chased by a

party of Highland militia. He asked Mal-

colm what they would do in the event of

meeting any person among the mountains,

who might attempt to kill or take them.

"That depends upon their numbers," replied

Malcolm ; " if there should be no more than

four of them, I'll engage to manage two."

" And I," rejoined Charles, " wiU engage to

manage the other two." Malcolm, in his

turn, asked Charles what they should do if

attacked by a party of English soldiers, " Fight,

to be sure," was the reply.

As Malc()lm expected that they would fall

in with some of the country people before they

came to the end of their journey, by whom,

from liis being well known in the island, he

might be recognised, he desired Charles not to

evince any anxiety when he (Malcolm) should

speak to them, but remove to a short distance

and sit down till the conversation ended. They
met a few of these people from time to time,

on wliich occasion Charles not only observed

the injunction of Malcolm, but superadded

the customary menial duty, of touching Ms
bonnet when addressed by his supposed mas-

ter. With the exception of a bottle of brandy,

the two travellers appear to have had no other

sustenance during their long and fatiguing

journey. When reduced to a single glass,

Charles urged Malcolm to take it, lest he

should faint with the excessive fatigue. Mal-

colm refused, and insisted that the prince him-

self should drink it, but Charles resolutely

refused, and compelled Malcolm to drain the

bottle. Malcolm then hid the bottle in a

thick bush of heath, where he found it about

three years thereafter. Honest Macleod long

preserved it " as a curious piece," which he

expected would one day make a figure in

Westminster.^

When opportunity offered, the prince and

Malcolm reheved the tediousness of the jour-

ney, by conversing on a variety of topics.

The conversation happening to turn upon Lord

George Murray, Charles observed that his

lordsliip, whether from ignorance or with a

view to betray him, he would not say, miscon-

ducted himself in not obeying orders, and that

in particular, for two or three days before the

battle of Culloden, Lord George scarcely did

anjdihing he desired him to do. When Mal-

colm told him of the many atrocities committed

after that battle, he appeared amazed, and

said, " Surely that man who calls himself tlie

duke, and pretends to be so great a general,

cannot be guilty of such cruelties. I cannot

believe it." Talking of the fatigues he was

obliged to undergo, the prince said, " Do you

not think, Macleod, that God Almighty has

made this person of mine for doing some good

yet? When I was in Italy, and dining at the

king's (his father's) table, very often the sweat

would have been coming through my coat

with the heat of the climate, and now that I

' Jacohile Memoirs, p. 478.
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am in a cold country, where the climate is

more trying, aud exposed to diifereut kinds of

fatigues, I really find I agree equally ivith

botL I have had (pointing to his kilt) this

philibeg on now for some days, and I find I

do as well with it as any of the best breeches

I ever put on. I hope in God, Macleod, to

walk the streets of London with it yet.''^ A
man holding such sentiments as these was not

hkely to be easily discouraged.

When approaching Mackinnon's bounds,

Malcohn stated to the prince his apprelien-

sions, that, disguised as he was, he was afraid

he would still be recognised by some of Mac-

Idnnon's people, who had been out in his ser-

vice. He, therefore, suggested that Charles

should disguise himself still further. The

prince then proposed to blacken his face with

powder; but Macleod objected to this plan,

which, he said, would tend rather to discover

tlian to conceal him. " Then," observed

Charles, " I must be put into the greatest dis-

habille possible ;" and pulling off his wig, aud

putting it into his pocket, took out a dirty

^vhite napkin, which Malcolm, at liis desire,

tied about his head close to his eyebrows. He
then put off his bonnet, tore the ruffles from

his shirt, and took the buckles out of his

shoes, and made Macleod fasten them ivith

strings. Charles now asked his friend if he

thought he would stiU be recognised, and on

Malcolm answering that he thought he would,

Charles said, " I have so odd a face, that no

man that ever saw me once but would know
mo again." In Malcolm's opinion, Charles,

though almost a Proteus, could never disguise

Ids majestic mien and carriage ; and he declared

tliat there was not a person who knew what

the air of a noble or great man was, that would

not, upon seeing the prince, however disguised

ho might bo, at once perceive something about

him that was not ordinary,—something of the

Btately and grand.

'

They had not gone far after this conversa-

tion, when Malcolm Macleod's opinion was
verified, for no sooner had the travellers entered

Strath, than Charles was recognised by two
men of Mackinnon's clan, who had been out

in the insurrection. They stared at the prince

' JacobiU Memoirs pp. 477-8.
* Idem, p. 480.

for a httle, and on discovering him, lifted up
their hands and wept bitterly. Malcolm begged

that they woidd compose themselves, lest by
showing so much concern they might discover

the prince. After cautioning them not to men-

tion the meeting to any one, ho swore them to

secrecy upon his naked dirk, and then dis-

missed them. They kept their word.

Beiug within two miles of the laird of Mac-
kinnon's house, Malcolm asked lum if he

wished to see the old chief ;
" No," said Charles,

" by no means. I know Mackinnon to be as

good and as honest a man as any in the world

;

but he is not fit for my purpose at present.

You must conduct me to some other house,

but let it be a gentleman's house." They then

proceeded, at Malcolm's suggestion, to a place

called EUagol, or rather Elligliiul, near Kil-

vory or Kilmaree, where they arrived in the

morning after a journey of twenty-four High-
land miles, being upwards of thirty English

mQes. At Ellagol there lived one John Mac-
Idnnon, who had served as captain under llio

bird of Mackinnon, and had married a sister

of Malcolm. Being desirous to ascertain the

state of matters in the neighbourhood before

conducting Charles into the house of his brother-

in-law, Malcolm left the priuce at a little dis-

tance from the house, and went forward to

make the necessary inquiries. He found that

Mackinnon was from home ; and on informing

his sister that he had come to stay a short time

at Ellagol, if he could do so with safety, she

assured him that he would be perfectly sjrfe,

as there were no military people about the

place, and that he was very welcome. Mal-
colm then told her that he had nobody along

with him but one Lewis Caw, son of Mr. Caw,
a sui-geon in Crieff, whom, beiug a fugitive like

himself, he had engaged as his servant, but

tliat he had fallen sick. Mrs. Mackinnon felt

interested in the stranger, and requested her

brother to brmg him in.

Charles accordingly entered with the baggage

on his back, and, taking off his bonnet, made
a low bow, and sat do^v^l at a distance from

Malcolm. Mis. Mackinnon looked at the

prince, and instantly her sympathy was excited,

" Poor man !" she exclaimed, " I pity him.

At the same time, my heart warms to a man
of his appeai-ance." Malcohn liaviug told liia
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sister that lie was almost famishing with hun-

ger, she set before him a plentiful Highland

breakfast. Charles still sitting at a respectful

distance, Malcolm invited him, as there were no

strangers in the house, to draw near and share

with him, there being abundance for both.

Charles appeared very backward to obey the

simimons to eat, and said that though in an

humble station, he knew better how to conduct

himself than by sitting at the same table with

his master ; but Malcolm pretended to insist

upon compliance, Charles rose from his seat,

made a profound bow, and advancing towards

the table, sat doivai, and attacked the viands

without farther ceremony.

In the course of their journey, Charles and

his companion had fallen into a bog duriug

the night, and as their feet and legs were stdl

dirty, Malcolm desired the servant-maid in

GaeKc, as she could not speak Enghsh, to

bring some water into the room, and as he was

much fatigued, to wash them. ^\^liLst in the

act of washing Macleod's feet, he said to the

girl, " You see that poor sick man there. I

hope you'll wash his feet too : it will be a great

cliarity ; for he has as much need as I have."

" No such thing," said she, " although I wash

the master's feet, I am not obliged to wash the

servant's. What ! he's but a low country

woman's son. I will not wash his feet indeed."

Malcolm, however, with much entreaty, pre-

vailed upon the girl to wash Charles's feet and

legs ; but being rather rough in her treatment,

he implored Malcolm to desire her not to rub

so hard. ^

After tliis operation the wearied travellers

went to bed ; and at the desire of Malcolm,

Mrs. Mackinnon went out of the house, and

sat down upon a neighbouring knoU, where

she kept watch, whilst her guests remained in

bed. Charles, who had thrown himself upon
the bed iu his clothes, slept two hours only

;

* Jacobite Memoirs, p. 482. Boswcll, in his Tour,
gives a diiTerent versiou of this story. "After this

(brcatfast) there came iu an old woman, who, after
the mode of ancient hospitality, brought warm water,
and washed Malcolm's feet. He desired her to w.osh
the feet of the poor man who attended him. She
at first seemed averse to this from pride, as tliiuking

Hm beneath her, and in the periphrastic language of

th.5 Highlanders and the Irish, said warmly, 'Though
1 v^ash ycur f;ither's son's feet, why should I wash
his father's .sou's feet ?' She was, however, persuaded
to do it."

but Malcolm slept much longer. When Mal-

colm awoke, he was surprised to find Charles

out of bed dandling l^Irs. Mackinnon's child,

singing to it, and appearing as alert as if he

had been in bed all night. He expressed a

hope that the little boy—Neil Mackinnon

—

whom he carried in his arms, would be one day

a captain in his service.

Informed that liis brother-in-law was seen

approaching the house, Malcolm went out to

meet him. After the usual salutations, Mal-

colm, pointing to some ships of war that were

hovering about the coast, said to Mackumon,

"What if the prince be on beard one of them?"

"God forbid," replied Mackinnon, "I would

not wish that for anything." " What," said

Malcolm, " if he were here, John t Do you

think he would be safe enough 1" "I wish

we had him here," rejoined Mackinnon, " for

he would be safe enough." Macleod, now fully

assured that his brother-in-law might be con-

fided in, said, " Well, then, he is now in your

house." Mackinnon, transported with joy,

was for running directly in and paying hia

obeisance to the prince ; but Malcolm stopped

him for a little, till he should recover from hia

surprise. " When you go in," continued Mal-

colm, " you must not take any notice of him,

lest the servants or others observe you. He
passes for one Le-wis Caw, my servant." Mac-

kimion promised to observe faitMully the in-

junction given him, which he thought he

would be able to fulfil; but, as soon as he

entered the house, he could not avoid fixing

his eyes upon Charles; and unable to repress

his feelings at the spectacle he beheld, this

generous and faithful Highlander, turning Ms
face aside, burst into tears. To prevent sus-

picion, Mackinnon, at Alalcolm's desii'e, left

the room to compose himself.

Before being introduced to the prince, Mac-

kinnon sent away all his servants from tho

house on different messages, and, during their

absence, a consultation was held as to Charles's

future destination. It was then resolved that

he should proceed to the mainland immedi-

ately ; and John Mackinnon was directed to

go and hire a boat, as if for the sole use of his

brother-in-law. As the laird of Mackinnon

was old and infirm, and could bo of little ser-

vice to Charles in liis present situation, Mac-
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kianoa was enjoined not to say anything

about Charles to liis chief, should ho fall in

with him. Meeting the old chieftain, how-

ever, on liis way, Mackinnou, unable or un-

willing to conceal the fact of the prince's ar-

rival at Ellagol, disclosed the secret, and

meutioned that he was going to hire a boat to

carry Charles to the mainland. Gratified with

the intelligence, the chief desired his clansman

not to give himself any further trouble about

a boat, as he would provide a good one him-

self, and woidd wait upon the prince imme-

diately. John returned to Ellagol, and having

informed Charles of the interview with the

laird, the latter said that he was sorry that

Mackinnon had divulged the secret; but as

there was now no help for it, he woid'i com-

port himself according to circumstances. In a

short time the aged chief appeared, and after

doing homage to the royal wanderer, conducted

the prince to a neighbouring cave, where he

found Lady Mackinnon, who had laid out a

refreshment of cold meat and wine, of which

the whole party partook.

Before the arrival of the chief, Malcolm

Macleod had represented to the prince, that,

being within the laird's bounds, it would be

necessary to allow him to direct everytliiug in

relation to the voyage, and, to prevent a dif-

ference of opinion arising between him and the

chief, he suggested the propriety of remaining

behind. Charles, extremely unwilling to part

with one who had rendered him such impor-

tant services, insisted upon his going along

with him to the mainland ; but Malcolm in-

sisting on the other haud that the measure

was proper, Charles, with much reluctance,

consented to part with the faithful Macleod.

About eight o'clock at night the party left

irhe cave, and jjroceeded towards the place

where the boat lay. In their way they ob-

served two English men-of-war standing in for

the island, before the wind, under a press of

sail. Malcolm thereupon entreated the jirince

to defer his voyage till such time, at least, as

these vessels shoidd take another course, more

particidarly as the wind was against him ; but

Charles disregarded the admonition, and ob-

served, that after so many escapes, he had no

apprehensions of being caught at that time ; that

Providence would still take care of him; and

that he had no doubt of obtaining a favourable

wind immediately. Eecollecting his sham ap-

pointment with Murdoch Macleod, for not

keeping which Malcolm promised to make hia

apology, Charles thought the least thing he

could do was to notify his departure, which he

accordingly did, by writmg him a short note,

delivering it to Malcolm.' He then desii-ed

Malcolm to light his pipe, as he wished to en-

joy a smoke with him before parting. Snap-

ping his gun, Malcolm, by means of the flash

in the pan, lighted some tow which he held at

the mouth of the pipe whilst Charles blew it.

As the pipe was extremely short, Charles's

cheek was scorched with the blaze of the tow.

At parting, Charles presented him with a sil-

ver stock-buckle, and then embracing Malcolm

in his arms, saluted him twice, and begging

God to bless him, put ten guineas into his

hand. Malcolm at fiirst positively refused to

accept the money, as he perceived that the

prince's purse was much exhausted ; but

Charles insisted upon his taking it, and assur-

ing him that he would get enough for all Ids

wants upon the mainland, Malcolm yielded.

Having procured a better pipe, Charles pre-

sented the one witli which he had been smok-

ing to Malcolm, who preserved it with great

care.^

Between eight and nine o'clock in the even-

ing of Friday, the 4th of July, the prince de-

* The following is a copy of the note :

—

" Sir,—I thank God I am in good health, and
have got off as desigjied. Remember me to all friends,

and thank them for the trouble they have been at.

—

I am, Sir, your liumble servant,
" James Thomson."

" Klliohiul, July ith, 1746."

5 This 'cutty,' as a small tobacco-pipe, almost wora
to the stump, is called in Scotland, was presented by
Malcolm, when at London, to Dr. Burton of York, a

fellow-prisoner, who got a fine shagreen case made
for it.

—

Jacobite Mevwirs, p. 487. Mr. Boswell gives

the following sketch of this worthy Highlander in liw

Tour to the Hebrides: "He was now (1774) sixty-

two years of age, hale and well proportioned, with a

manly countenance, tanned by the weather, yet hav-

ing a mddiness in his cheeks, over a great part of

which his rough beard extended. His eye was quick

and lively, yet his look was not fierce ; but he ap-

peared at once firm and good-humoured. He wore a

pair of brogues, tartan hose which came up nearly to

his knees, a purple camblet kilt, a black waistcoat, a

short gi-een cloth coat bound with gold cord, a yellow

bushy wig, a large blue bonnet with a gold thread

button. I never saw a figure which gave a more per-

fect representation of a Highland gentlem.an. I wished

much to have a picture of him just as he was. I found

him frauk and polite in the true sense of the word."
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parted for tho mainlanJ, accompanied by tho

cliief and John Mackinuon. The observation

of Cliarlos, that he would obtain a fair vnnd

after putting to sea, had made a deep impres-

sion upon tho superstitious mind of the gen-

erous Malcolm, who accordingly sat do\vn

upon the side of a lull to watch the expected

change, which, according to him, took place

very soon, for the crew had not rowed the boat

half a mile from the shore in the direction of

the ships, before the wind chopped about, and

whilst it favoured the prince, drove the men-

of-war out of sight.i

After a rough voyage, the party reached a

place called Little MaUag or MaUeck, on the

south side of Loch Nevis between Morar and

Kuoydart, distant about thirty miles from the

place where they had embarked. At sea they

met a boat, containing some armed militia. No

attempt was made to board, and a few words

were exchanged in passing. Charles's visit to

Skye soon became public, and the fact of his

having been harboured and protected by certain

persons in that island could not be disguised.

Malcolm Macleod's connexion with the prince

being reported, he was apprehended a few days

after Charles's departiu'e for the mainland, put

on board a ship, and conveyed to London,

where he remained a prisoner till the 1st of

July, 1747, when he was discharged without

being asked a single question. Kingsburgh

also was taken up and conveyed to Fort Au-

gustus, where, after bemg plundered of liis

shoe-buckles, garters, watch, and money, he

was thrown into a dungeon, and loaded mth
irons. He was discharged by mistake for an-

other person of the same name, but was brought

back, and afterwards conveyed to Edinburgh,

and committed to the castle, in which ho re-

mained tin the 4th of July, in the same year.

Flora Macdonald was also apprehended

about the same time by a party of militia,

while on her way to the house of Donald

Macdonald of Castleton in Skye, who had sent

her notice that Macleod of Talisker, an officer

of an independent company, had requested him

to send for her. She was put on board the

Furnace Bomb, and afterwards removed to

Commodore Smith's sloop, and ti'cated vidth

' True Journal, p. 47.

great kindness and attention by him and Gen-

eral Campbell She was confined a short time

in Dunstatfnage castle. After being conveyed

from place to place, she was put on board the

Koyal Sovereign, lying at the Nore, on the

28th of November, and carried up to London

on the 6th of December following, where she

remained in confinement tiU July in the fol-

lowing year, when she was discharged, at the

especial request—according to the tradition of

her family—of Frederick, Prince of Wales,

father of George III., without a single question

having been put to her. After her Uberation,

Miss Macdonald was invited to the house of

Lady Primrose, a zealous Jacobite lady, where

she was visited by a number of distinguished

persons, who loaded her with presents. She

and Malcolm Macleod returned to Scotland

together in a post-chaise provided by Lady

Pruurose, and, on their way, paid a visit to

Dr. Burton at York, who had been previously

liberated from jaiL This gentleman having

asked Malcolm his opinion of the prince, the

trusty Highlander replied, that " he was the

most cautious man he ever saw, not to be a

coward, and the bravest, not to be rash." Few

persons, now-a-days, vnR be disposed to concur

in this eulogiuni, for though personally brave,

Charles was extremely rash and inconsiderate.'

' The subsequent history of the estimable Flora

Macdonald may be stated in a few words. After her

return to Skye, she married, in 1750, young Mac-
donald of Kingsburgh, whom she accompanied to

North Carolina, America, probably in 1774. Young
Kingsburgh joined the Koyal Highland Emigrant
Regiment, embodied in 1775, but was taken prisoner

in 1776 and committed to Halifax gaol. He after-

wards served with the regiment in Canada, holding

the rank of captain, and, at the close of the war, re-

turned to Scotland on half-pay. Tlie vessel in which
Flora and her husband sailed was attacked by a French

privateer, and while Flora, with characteristic spirit,

stood on deck, animating the seamen, she was thrown

down and had her aim broken. The wanderers, how-
ever, arrived in Skye, and neverafterwardsleft it. Flora

died on the 4th of March 1790, .aged 68, and was interred

in the churchyard of Kilmuir, in a spot set apart for

the graves of the Kingsburgh family. Kingsburgh

died on the 20th September 1795. Flora had seven

children—five sons and two daugjiters ; the sons all

became officers in the army, and the daughters officers'

wives. Dr Johnson and Boswell visited Skye in the

autumn of 1773, and were entertained at Kings-

burgh house by Flora and her husband. Flora,

then aged about 51, is described by Johnson as a

woman of middle stature, soft features, gentle mannere,

and elegant presence; and by Boswell as "a little

woman, of a genteel appearance, and uncommonly
mild and well-bred."—See Carruthers' Edition of Bos-

well's Tour to tht Hebrides, p. 143.
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As parties of the military were known to be

stationed at a short distance from the place

where Charles and his party landed, they were

afraid to leave it, and slept three nights in the

open air on the banks of Loch Nevis. On the

fourth day tlie old laird and one of the boat-

men ventured a little way into the country in

quest of a place of concealment; and the

prince, along with John Mackinnon and the

other three boatmen, proceeded up the loch

close to the shore. In turning a point, they

unexpectedly came upon a boat tied to a rock,

and so near as to touch her with their oars.

This boat belonged to a militia party who were

seen standing on the shore, and were at once

recognised by their badge, which was a red

cross on their bonnets. This party immedi-

ately hailed the boat, and demanded to know
whence they came. The boatmen answered

that they were from Sleat. The militiamen

then ordered the boat to come ashore; but the

boatmen continuing to row, the military jumped

into their boat and gave chase. Charles, who
lay in the bottom of the boat with John Mac-

kinnon's plaid spread over him, wished to get

np and attempt to escape by jumping ashore,

but Mackinnon would not allow him, as he

considered the experiment very dangerous.

During the pursuit, Charles, who was anxious

to know the relative progress of the two boats,

kept up a conversation \vith the trusty High-

lander, who assured him from time to time

that the pursuers did not gain upon them.

Both parties were equal in point of numbers

;

and as Mackinnon contemplated the possibility

of the mihtiamen overtaking them, he directed

tlie boatmen to keep their muskets close by

them, but not to tire till he should give the

word of command by firing first. " Be sure,

(said John,) to take an aim. Mark well, and
tliere is no fear. We wiU be able to manage
these rogues, if we come to engage them."

Charles, begging that no lives might be sacri-

ficed without an absolute necessity, Mackin-

non said he would not fire if it could be avoid-

ed; but if compelled to do so in self-defence,

tlieir own preservation required that none of

the assailants should escape to tell the news of

their disaster. Observing a wood at some dis-

tance which reached down to the water, Mac-
kinnon directed the boatmen to pidl in that

ilirection; and on reaching the shore, the

prince, followed by Mackinnon and one of the

boatmen, sprang out of the boat, and plunging

into the wood, nimbly ascended the hill. The

alarm into which they had been thrown gave

place to feelings of a very different description,

when, on reaching the summit of the hill, they

perceived their pm'suers returning from their

fruitless chase.'

Finding himself much fetigued, Charles

slept three hours on this eminence, and return-

ing down the liill, crossed the loch to a small

island near the seat of Macdonald of Scot-

house. Understanding that old Clanranald

was there on a visit, Charles sent Mackinnon

to solicit his protection, but the old chief

positively refused to receive him. Upon Mac-

kinnon's return the party repassed the loch,

and returned to MaUag, where they rejoined

the old laird. After refresliing themselves,

they set out for the seat of Macdonald of Mo-

rar, about eiglit miles distant. In crossing the

promontory between Loch Nevis and Loch Mo-

rar they passed a shieling, or cottage, where they

observed some people coming down towards

the road. Afraid that he would be known,

the prince made John Mackinnon fold hia

plaid for him, and threw it over his shoulder

^vith his knapsack upon it. To disguise

himself stiU further, he tied a handkerchief

about his head. In this attire Charles passed

for Mackinnon's servant. A grandson of Mac-

donald of Scothouse, who was at the shieUng,

gave the party a draught of mUk. At another

shieliog they procured another draught; and,

as the night was dark and the road bad, they

took a guide along with them to conduct thenj

across the ford to Morar's house. When they

came to this ford, an amusing occurrence took

place. Mackinnon, desirous to keep Charles

dry in crossing, desired the guide to be so good

as carry " this poor sick fellow," (pointing to

the prince,) upon his back across the ford, as

it was then pretty deep ; but the guide indig-

nantly answered, " The deU be on the back he

comes, or any fellow of a servant like him; but

I'U take you on my back. Sir, if you please,

and carry you safely through the ford." " No,

by no means," said Mackinnon, " if the lad

Jacobite Memoirs, pp. 488-90, 492.

4n
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must wade, I'll wade along with liim, and help

him, lest any harm should happen to him;"

on saying which, lie laid hold of Charles's arm,

and they crossed the ford together. Both

Charles and Mackinnon were pleased to hnd

that tlie guide had no suspicion that the pre-

tended sick person was the prince.

A little before day-break the party arrived

at the end of their journey, but were disap-

pouited to find that the mansion, where they

expected to meet with a hospitable reception,

liad been burnt to the ground, and tliat its

proprietor had been obliged to take up his

abode in a bothy or hut in the neighbourhood.

Mor.ar, who had acted as lieutenant-colonel of

Clanranald's regiment, gave the prince a hearty

welcome. Having entertained Charles and his

party, he conducted them to a cave for secu-

rity, and went off in quest of young Clan-

ranald, whom the prince was most anxious to

see. After some hoiu's' absence Morar returned,

and, reporting that he could not find Clan-

ranald, Charles told liim that as he had failed

in meeting with that young chief, he would

put himself under Morar's charge. According

to Mackinnon's statement, Morar declined to

take such a responsibility upon him, and even

declared that he did not know any person to

whose care he could commit Charles's person.

The prince, stung by the altered demeanour of

Morar, thus accosted him: " This is very hard.

You were very kind yesternight, Morar! and

said you could find out a hiding-place, proof

against all the search of the enemy's forces;

and now you say you can do nothing at all for

mo ! You can travel to no place but what I

will travel to; no eatables or drinkables can

you take but what I can take a share along

with you, and be well content viith. them, and

even pay handsomely for them. When fortune

smiled >ipon mo and I had pay to give, I then

foimd some people ready enough to serve me;

but now that fortune frowns on me, and I

have no pay to give, they forsake me in my
necessity." The chief of Mackinnon and his

clansman were highly indignant at Morar, and

insisted that he must have seen young Clan-

ranald, and that he liad been advised to his

present course, but Morar resolutely denied

the chai'ge. Charles in great distress ex-

claimed, "0 God Almighty! look down upon

my circumstances, and pity me ; for I am in

a most melancholy situation. Some of those

who joined me at first, and appeared to be fast

friends, now turn their backs upon me in my
greatest need : and some of those again who
refused to join me, and stood at a distance, are

now among my best friends ; for it is remark-

able that those of Sir Ale.xander Macdonald's

following have been most faitliful to me in my
distress, and contributed greatly to my preser-

vation." Then turning round to Mackinnon,

he said, " I hope, Mr. Mackinnon, you will

not desert me too, and leave me in the lurch

;

but that you will do all for my preservation you

can." The old laird, thinking that these words

were meant for him, said, witli tears in his

eyes, " I never wiU leave your royal highness

in the day of danger ; but will, under God, do

all I can for you, and go with you wherever

you order me."—"Oh no!" rejoined Charles,

" that is too much for one of your advanced

years, Sir ; I heartily thank you for your readi-

ness to take care of me, as I am well satisfied

of your zeal for me and my cause ; but one of

your age cannot weU hold out with the

fatigues and dangers I must undergo. It was

to your friend John here, a stout young man,

I was addressing myself"—" Well then," said

John, " with the help of God, I will go

through the wide world with your royal high-

ness, if you desire me."''

Disappointed in his inquiries after Clan-

ranald, and unsuccessful, if John Mackinnon's

statement be correct, in liis apphcation to Mo-

rar, Charles resolved to go to Borodale, and

solicit the assistance of " honest old .tineas

Macdonald." Accordingly, after taking leave

of the laird of Mackinnon, Charles set off for

Borodale, accompanied by John Mackinnon,

under the direction of a boy, a son of Morar,

as guide. The party reached Borodale, on the

morning of the 10th of July, before day-break.

As was the case at Morar, the house of the pro-

prietor had been burnt by a body of troops,under

Captain Ferguson, and Borodale was residuig in

a hut hard by the ruins of his mansion. Boro-

dale was in bed when Charles arrived, and the

door was shut. Mackinnon calleduponBorodale

to rise, who, knowing his voice, got up, and

• Jacobite Memoirs, p. 494.
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thi'owing some blankets about him, went to

the door. Mackinnon asked him if he had

heard any thing of the prince. " No," replied

the old gentleman. " What woidd you give,"

rejoined Jolm, " for a sight of Iiim ?" " Time

was," said the warm-hearted Higlilander, " that

I would have given a hearty bottle to see him

safe ; but since I see you I expect to hear some

news of Iiim." "Well, then," replied Mac-

kinnon, " I have brought him here, and wUl

commit him to your charge. I have done my
duty, do you yours." " I am glad of it," said

Borodale, " and shall not fail to take care of

him : I shall lodge him so secure that all the

forces in Britain shall not find him out." John

Mackinnon then took his leave, and returned

to EUagol ; but he had scarcely reached his

house when he was apprehended by a party of

militia, and along with his chief, who was also

captured by another party at Morar, the morn-

ing after Charles's departui-e, conveyed to Lon-

don, and kept in confinement till July, 1747.

Borodale conducted his guest to a hut in a

neighbouring wood, where he entertained bim

in the best manner he could for three days,

and in the meantime, Charles despatched John

Macdonald, junior, one of Borodale's sons,

with a letter to Alexander Macdonald of

Glenaladale, who had been in his service as

Major of the Clanranald regiment.^ Eeceiv-

ing, shortly after this express had been sent,

information of the laird of Mackiimon's cap-

ture, and judging that his residence in the

wood was not safe, Borodale, accompanied by

his son Eonald, who had been a lieutenant in

Clanranald's own company, conducted Charles

to an almost inaccessible cave four miles east-

ward, in which he directed him to remain tUl

Glenaladale should arrive.

Charles's letter was punctually delivered to

Glenaladale, who, two days after it was written,

viz. on the 15th of Jidy, met Borodale at an

appointed place, and paid a visit to Charles.

Xext day Borodale received a letter from his

son-in-law, Angus Mac Eachan, residing in the

glen of Morar, who had served as sui-geon to

Glengarry's regioaent, informing him that a

rumour was beginning to prevail in the country,

that the prince was in concealment about Boro-

' Author of the Journal and Memoirs, printed
among the Lockliart papers, Ijeginning at p. 579.

dale ; and representing the danger Charles

would be in, by remaining on Borodale's laiid.<J

any longer, he offered liim a more secure

asylum, in a place he had prepared for him

Before accepting this offer, Eonald Macdonald

was sent to reconnoitre the place. Next day,

John Macdonald was despatched to view the

coast, and ascertain the motions of the mili

tary ; and ha\'ing brought intelligence that he

saw a boat approaching that part of the coast

where the grotto was situated, Charles, wthout
waiting for the return of Eonald Macdonald.

immediately left the cave, and set off for tht

glen of Jlorar, to the place prepared for him
,

He was accompanied by Glenaladale, Borodale.

and John Macdonald junior, son of the latter.

They were met, at a place called Corrybeine

Cabir, by Borodale's son-in-law, who informed

Charles that Clanranald was waiting a few

miles off, to conduct him to a safe place of

concealment he had prepared for liim. Charles

would have proceeded to meet Clam-anald, but

as the evening was far advanced, and as he

was much nearer his intended quarters in Glen

Morar than the place where Clanranald was,

he proceeded onward, intending to communi-

cate with liim next day.

Borodale, who had proceeded to Glen Morar

in advance of the party to procure some neces-

saries, received information, on his arrival there,

that some men-of-war with troops on board,

under General Campbell, had anchored in Loch

Nevis. He thereupon despatched two men to

Loch Nevis, by way of Loch Morar, to observe

General Campbell's movements, and having re-

ceived farther intelligence, that Captain Scott

had arrived with a party in the lower part of

Arisaig, he returned to Charles, and communi-

cated to him the information he had received.

Being assured that Charles was upon one of

the promontories bet'ivixt Loch Hourn and

Loch Shiel, the English commanders had

formed a chain of posts across the heads of

these and the intermediate arms of the sea, so

as to intercept him should he attempt to escape

by land into the interior ; and to catch him,

should he venture to return to the islands,

cruisers and boats were stationed at the mouths

of the lochs. The sentinels along this line,

which extended to the length of thirty miles,

were placed so near one another in the day
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time, that no person could pass without being

seen by them, and at night fires were lighted

at every post, and the opposite sentinels passed,

and repassed one anotlier, from fire to fire. To

cross such a chain during the day was quite

impossible, nor did a passage by night appear

more practicable.

Finding thus, that Clanranald's country

was whoUy surrounded by the government

troops, and that he would not be able to

join that cliief, Charles resolved to leave it

immediately. To lessen the risk of discovery,

by reducing the number of liis companions, he

took leave of Borodale and his son-in-law, and

attended by Glenaladale, liis brother Lieuten-

ant John Macdonald, who had been an officer

iu the French service, and Jolui Macdonald

junior, Borodale's son, set out in the morning

of the 18th of July, and by mid-day reached

the summit of a hill called Scoorvuj', at the

eastern extremity of Arisaig. Here they rested

and look some refreshment, and Glenaladale's

brother was then despatched to Glentinnan,

to obtain intelligence, and to direct two men
v.-Iiom Glenaladale had stationed there, to join

th<^ prince about ten o'clock at night, on

Iho top of a hill called Swernink Corrichan,

above Loch Ai-kaig in Lochiel's country.

After Lieutenant John Macdonald's depar-

ture, Charles set out with his two remaining

companions, and at two o'clock came to the

top of a neighbouring hUl, called Fruigh-vein.

Ubser\'ing some cattle in motion, Glenaladale

went forward to ascertain the cause, and

found that these cattle belonged to some of

his own tenants, who were driving them away

out of the reach of a body of 600 or 700

troops, who had come to the head of Loch
Arlvaig, to hem in the ])rince. As Charles and

his friends meant to pass in that direction,

they were gi-eatly di.sconcerted at tliis intelli-

gence, and resolved to alter their course.

Glenaladale sent one of his tenants to Glentin-

nan, which was only about a mile ofi', to recall

his brother and the two men; and at tlie same

time he sent another messenger for Donald

Cameron of Glenpean, who had removed with

his effects to a neighbouring hiU, on the ap-

proach of the troops, that he might ascertain

from him the situation of the troops about

Fort Augustus, and to obtain his assistance in

conducting the prince through the chain of

posts. As they waited the return of the mes-

sengers, one of the tenants' wives, regretting

the condition of Glenaladale her lordlord, and

desirous of giving him some refreshment,

milked some of her cows, and brought the

milk to him. Observing the woman approach-

ing, Charles covered his head with a handker-

chief, and passed for one of Glenaladale's ser-

vants, who had got a headach. Though this

refreshment, from the excessive heat of tho

day, was very seasonable, yet they would have

gladly dispensed with the obtrusive kindness

of the warm-hearted female. That Cliarloa

might participate in the present, without ob-

servation from the donor, Glenaladale prevailed

upon her, though with some difficulty, to re-

tire, and leave her dish behind.

After a short absence the messenger who
had been despatched to Glenfinnan returned

without finding Glenaladale's brother, or the

two men who had, before his arrival there,

departed for the appointed place of rendezvous.

He brought the alarming intelligence, that a

hundred of the Argyleshire militia had arrived

at the foot of the hill on wliich the prince

now stood. Without waiting for the return

of the other messenger, the party set out about

sunset on their hazardous attempt. They tra-

velled at a pretty quick pace till about eleven

o'clock at night ; when passing through a hol-

low way between two hill s, they observed a

man coming down one of them in their direc-

tion. Charles and young Macdonald kept

behind, and Glenaladale went forward to as-

certain whether tliis person was friend or foe.

Strange to tell, the suspected individual was

Donald Cameron of Glenpean, the very person

whom, of all others, Glenaladale -n-islied to see.

He was immediately conducted to Charles, to

whom he communicated such information as

he liad obtained about the government troops.

Undertaking to guide the prince and his

companions past the guards, Cameron con-

ducted them over roads almost impassable in

day-light ; and after traveUing all night, they

arrived about four o'clock in the morning of

the 19th of July, on the top of a hiU in the

braes of Loch Arkaig, called Mamnyn-CaUum,
from which they could perceive the enemy's

camp about a mile distant. Being informed
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by their guide, tliat tlie hill ou wliiuh they now
j

stood had been searched the previous day,
I

ihey supposed there would not be a second I

search for some time, and they therefore re-
j

jolved to remain on the hill all the day. They I

lay down to rest, and after sleeping two hours,
|

the whole party, with the exception of Charles,
|

rodj to keep watch. About ten o'clock they I

olxserved a man at a Kttle distance coming up
|

f.he lull. As there was a probability that I

Cameron, being generally acquainted with tlie
|

inhabitants of that part of the country, might '

know this person, he was sent forw;u'd to speak i

with him, and was agreeably surprised to find

that he was no other than Glenaladale's bro-

tlier, who not meeting the prince at the place

appointed, had become alarmed for his safety,

and was in search of him.

The whole party remained on the top of the

hiU all the day, and about nine o'clock at

night set out in a southern direction. About

one o'clock in the morning they came to a place

called Corriuangaull, on the confine."? of Knoj
dart and Loch Arkaig, where Cameron expected

to have met some of the Loch Arkaig people,

who liad fled with their cattle on the ajjproacV

m i

Loch Arkaig.—Achnii I'j, seat uf i

of the soldiery. Cameron had calculated ou

getting a su]jply of provisions from tliese peo-

ple, as the prince and his party had only a

jniall quantity of butter and oatmeal, which

they could not prepare for want of fire. Per-

ueiviiig some liuts down the face of the hUl,

Glenaladale's brother and the guide, at the risk

of being observed by some of the sentinels who
were going their rounds, ventured down to

them, in expectation of meeting some of the

country people, and obtaining a supply of pro-

visions ; but they found these shielings unin-

habited. Judging themselves no longer safe

iiuoK uf Lochiel, in middle distance.

on the top of the hiD, the whole party shifted

their quarters, and went to a f.stness iii the brovf

of a hill at the head of LochuaigL, about a

mile distant from the troops. They lay Hoviri

in this retreat to take some iei.-i. '\\'ith the

exception of Charles, they aU awoke after a

short repose ; and it was resolved that, dan-

gerous as the experiment might be, Glenala-

dale's brother and the guide should again go in

quest of provisions, of which they now stood

in very great need. Leaving, therefore, Gleu-

aladale, and Borodale's son to stand sentry over

Charles, they set oflf, while it was yet dark, on
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their errand. The place wliich the weary wan-

derers had chosen for their nocturnal abod-e

commanded a view of the l-ake, and when the

sun rose, Charles and his friends observed

the enemy's camp at the head of Lochnaigh.

They would have gladly removed to a greater

distance, but they resolved to wait for the re-

turn of the foraging party, who arrived about

three o'clock in the afternoon, with two small

cheeses, which were all the provisions they

coidd procure. They also brought the alarm-

ing intelligence, that about a hundred soldiers

were marching up the opposite eide of the hill

to search for some of the country people, who

were supposed to have fled thither for shelter.

As it was not improbable that this party

would in the course of their examination

find out the place where Charles and his

friends lay concealed, the most direful appre-

hensions must have seized the minds of the

unhappy fugitives. Seeing no possibility of

lea\dng their retreat without observation,

whilst the soldiers were on the hill, they re-

solved to remain and abide the result. The

soldiers made a general and narrow search all

around, but fortunately did not come to the

place wh-ere the wanderers lay. AftCT the

search was over the soldiers returned to their

camp ; and about eight o^clock in the evening

Charles and his friends left their place of con-

cealment, and, traveling at a very quick pace

till it became dark, ascended a steep hUl

called Drimachosi, on arriving at the top of

wliich, they observed the fires of a camp directly

in their front, which in passing onward they

imagined they could scarcely avoid. Deter-

mined, however, to make the attempt, what-

ever might be the consequences, they proceeded

forward, and came so near the posts as to hear

the soldiers talking together.

In passing over the top of this mountain

Charles made a very narrow escape. Down a

steep and pathless descent a small stream glided,

the waters of whicJi spreading among a mixture

of grass and heath, with which the descent was

covered, rendered it slippery, and of course

very dangerous. "SATien about to descend,

Charles's foot slipped, and he would have im-

doubtedly faUen headlong down the precipice,

and been dashed to pieces, had not Cameron,

who preceded him, seized him by one of his

arms, and held liim fast with one hand, whilst,

with the other, he laid hold of the heath to

prevent both from tumbling down together.

In this situation, Cameron held Charles till

Glenaladale came down, who, laying hold of

the prince's other arm, rescued him from his

danger. Arriving at the bottom, they crept

up the next liUl, and, on reaching its summit,

perceived the fires of another camp at the foot

of the hill, directly in the way they intended

to go down.

To pass this post seemed to be an undertak-

ing utterly hopeless, and certain destruction

appeared inevitable in the attempt
;
yet ex-

tremely dangerous as it was, the party resolved

to make it. Unwilling, however, to expose

the prince to such great risk, before putting

the practicability of the measure to the test,

Cameron, entirely regardless of his own safety,

proposed to make the experiment himself be-

fore Charles ventured to pass. " If I succeed,"

said the generous Highlamder, " and retiun

safe, then your royal highness may venture,

and I shall conduct you." At this time

Cameron's nose began to itch,^a circumstance

which was regarded by Donald as a dangerous

omen. Whilst rubbing his nose, he coidd not

avoid stating his apprehensions to Charles ; but

these superstitious fears did not divert him

from his purpose. Cameron accordingly went

forward, and, in a short time, returned to his

companions with the agreeable information

that he had entirely succeeded. No doubt

now existing of the practicability and even the

safety of the attempt, the whole party set off

about two o'clock in the morning. Turning a

httle westward, Cameron conducted them to

the channel of a small brook, through which

they crept on their hands and feet to escape

observation ; and watching their opportunity

when the backs of the sentinels were turned

towards one another, quietly passed between

them. After they were out of danger from

the guards, Charles came up to Glenpean, and

jocularly said to him, "Well, Donald, hoTf

does your nose do now 1 " " It is better now,''

answered Cameron, " but it still yucks (itches'

a little." " Aye, Donald," rejoined the prince,

as if taking the hint, " have we stLU more

guards to go through V
Having thus fortunatelj' cleared the line ot
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pi'sts, tlie party proceeded in their course, and,

at about the distance of two miles, came to a

place called Corriscorridill, on the Glenelg side

of the head of Loca Hourn, where they stopped,

and, having chosen a secure place, sat down

and took some refreshment. They had no

bread ; but Charles supplied the deficiency by

covering a slice of the dry cheese \nih oatmeal.

He partook of tliis coarse fare cheerfully, and

washed it down with some water from a neigh-

bouring spring. They remained in thia^ retreat

tiU eight o'clock in the evening.

It being now evident that Charles could not

remain ^rith any chance of safety in the West

Highlands, Glenaladale proposed, that instead

of going eastward, as Charles intended, he

should proceed north into Eoss-shire, and seek

an asylum among that part of the Mackenzies

who had not joined in the insurrection, and

whose territory had not, on that account, been

visited by the military. Charles resolved to

adopt the advice of his kind friend ; and as

Cameron was unacquainted with the route, he

and Glenaladale left the covert to look out for

a guide. Before they had gone far, however,

they were astonished to find that they had

passed all the day within cannon-shot of two

little camps, and they perceived, at the same

time, a company of soldiers clri\'ing some sheep

into a hut, for the purpose, as they supposed,

of being slaughtered. Eeturning to their place

of concealment, tliej' apprised Charles of their

discovery ; and as no time was to be lost in

pruviding for their safety, the whole party

immediately set off, and about three o'clock

next morning, July the 27th, reached Glensliiel,

in the Earl of Seaforth's country. As their

sm:dl stock of provisions was exhausted, Glen-

aladale and Borodale's son went forward in

quest of a supply, and to find out a guide to

conduct them to Pollew, where it was reported

some French vessels had been. Whilst Glen-

aladale was conversing with some country peo-

ple about a guide, a Glengarrj' man, who had

been chased that morning by a part}- of soldiers

from Glengarry, after they had killed his father,

came running up. This man, who had served

in the pjrince's army, was recognised at once

by Glenaladale, and as he knew him to be

trustworthy, he resolved to keep him in reserve

as a guide, in case they should be obliged to

change tlieir plan, and to remain about Glen-

garry. Having procured some provisions, Glen-

aladale and his companion returned to Charles,

and after the whole party had partaken of the

food, they retired' to the face of an adjacent

hiU, and lay down to rest in a cave. They

slept till between four and five o'clock in the

afternoon, when Cameron, who had acted so

laithfull}-, took his leave, as he was unac-

quainted with that part of the coimtry. After

Cameron's departure, Glenaladale, observing

the Glengarry man retirming to his own coun-

try, stepped out of the cave and prevailed upon

him to remain in a by-place for a short time,

as he said he had something to communicate

to liim. Glenaladale, on his return, stated his

plan to Charles, which was to keep the Glen-

garry man OTthout explaining to him any thing,

till such time as he could ascertain whether

he could depend upon getting a guide to Pol-

lew, failing which he would retain the Glen-

garry man. Charles approved of wliat Glenala-

dale had done. About seven o'clock, Glenala-

dale repaired to a place where he liad appointed

a man, who had promised to procure a guide,

to meet him, and having found this person,

was informed by him that he could not get one,

and that the only French vessel that had

touched at Pollew had gone away. Glenala-

dale, therefore, dismissed this person, and re-

turning to Charles, informed him of what had

passed. They then gave up the idea of proceed-

ing farther into Eoss-shire, and the Glengarry

man, having been introduced to the prince,

cheerfully undertook to conduct him to Strath-

glass or Glenmoriston, to either of which dis-

tricts he intended, according to circumstances,

to shape his course.^

* Mr. Home mentions an inter?»ew with one Macraw
in the Braes of Kintail, which is not even alluded to
in the narrative of the prince's escape, drawn up hy
Glenaladale and others, and jirinted among the Lock-
hart Papers. If such an interview took place, ita

omission can only be fairly accounted for by supposing
that the writer of that part of the narrative (Captain
Alexander Macdonald, a younger brother of the Laird
of Dallely,) was not aware of it. The following is Mr.
Home's account of this affair :

—

'

' After having crossed the line of posts, Glenaladale,

thinking the West Highlands a very unsafe place for

Charles, resolved to conduct him to the Eoss-shire

Highlands, amongst those Mackenzies who remained
loyal, and therefore were not visited with troops.

These Mackenzies, Glenaladale thought, would not
betray Charles ; and the person whom he had pitched
upon to confide in was Sir Alexander Mackenzie of
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A.ccordmgly the whole party, accompanied

by their new guide, set out through Glenshiel

at a late hour ; but they had not proceeded

more than half-a-mile, when Glenaladale

stopped short, and, clapping his hand upon

his side, declared that his purse, containing 40

guineas, which the prince had given him for

defraying expenses,was gone. Thinking that he

had left it at their last resting place, Glenala-

dale proposed to go back in quest of it, and de-

sired the prince to remainbehind an adjacent hill

till he returned ; but Charles was averse to the

proposal, though the purse contained his whole

stock of monej'. Glenaladale, however, went

back along with Borodale's son, and, on arriving

at their last resting place, found the purse, but

its contents were gone. iiecoUeoting that a

little boy had been at the place with a present

of milk from a person whom Glenaladale had

visited, he supposed that the boy might have

taken away the purse, and he and his com-

j)anion proceeded to the house of Gilchrist

JM'Eath, the person alluded to, and found the

boy, who, as he had conjectured, had stolen

the purse of gold. By means of Gilchrist, the

money was restored to Glenaladale, with the

exception of a trifle.

The temporary loss of the purse was a very

Coul. Cliarles and his atteinliuits, setting out for

lioss-shire on foot, siitlered greatly in their jouruey
from wjiDt of provisions ; and when they came to the
Braes of Kintail, inhahited by the Macraws, a barbar-

ous people, among whom there are but few gentlemen,
necessity obhgetl them to call at tlie house of one
Christopher Macraw. GlenaUilale, leaving Charles
and the French officer at some distance, went to Mac-
raw's house, and tohl him that he and two of his

friends were like to perish for want of food, and desired
him to furnish them with some victuals, for which
they would pay. Macraw insisted upon knowing who
his two friends were, which Glenaladale seemed unwill-
ing to tell. Macraw still insisted, and Glenaladale
told him at last that it was young Clan Ronald and a
relation of his. Notwithstanding the consequence of

the persons, Macraw, though rich for an ordinary
flighlander, made Glenaladale i>ay veTy dear for some
provisions he gave him. Having received the money,
he grew better humoured, and desired Glenaladale and
the other two to pass the night in his house, which
they did. In the course of the conversation they
tallied of the times, and Macraw e.'cclaimed against the
Highlanders who had taken arms with Charles, and
said that they and those who still protected him were
fools and madmen; that they ought to deliver them-
selves and tlieir country from distress by giving him
up, and taking the reward which government had
ottered. That night a Macdonald who had been in the
rebel army came to Macraw's house. At first sight he
knew Charles, and took an opportunity of warning
Glenaladale to take care that Christopher should not
discover the quality of his guest."

fortunate occurrence for Charles and Ids friends,

as, during Glenaladale's absence, an officer and

two privates passed close by the place where

Charles stood, having come by the very road

lie and his party had intended to proceed. As
they went in the direction taken by Glenaladale

and his companion, Charles grew very uneasv

about his friends, lest they should, on their

return, meet with this party ; but returning by

a different way, tiiey rejoined the prince with-

out interruption. Charles was overjoyed at the

return of his friend ; and, -svitli reference to his

late providential escape, observed, " Glenala-

dale, my hour, I see, is not come ; for I beheve

I should not be taken though I had a mind to

it" The party now continued their journey.

In passing over the field of Glensliiel, the Glen-

garry man entertained Charles with an accoimt

of the action which happened there in 1711).

Charles, it is said, could not help atbniring the

sagacity of his guide, who, though he had not

been in the battle, gave as circumstantial and

accurate an account of it as if he had bcou

present.''

Travelling all night, Charles and his friends

arrived on the side of a hill above Strath-

chluaine, where, fixing upon a secure place of

retreat, they reposed till near three o'clock in

the afternoon of the following day, viz., 28th

of Jul}'. They then continued their journey

along the hill-side ; but they had not travelled

above a mile when they heard the firing of

small arms on the hiU above them, which they

judged to proceed from some of the troops who

were engaged in their usual occupation of

shooting the people who had fled to the moun-

tains with their cattle and effects. To avoid

these bloodhounds the party took a northern

route, and ascended a high hill between the

Braes of Glenmoriston and Strathglass. They

reached the summit of this mountain at a late

hour, and sought repose for the night in an open

cave, in which they could neither lie nor sleep.

They had no fuel, and as they were wet to the

skin with a heavy rain which fell during the

whole of the day, they passed a most uncom-

fortable night. Charles felt himself very cold,

and he endeavom-ed to warm himself by smok-

ing a pipe.
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Resolving again to go to Pollew, Glenala-

dale's brother and the Glengarry man were

despatched, about three o'clock in the morning

of the 29th, in quest of some trusty persons to

conduct the prince thither, and were appointed

to meet Charles and the rest of the party on

the top of a neighbouring liill. Charles and

his friends set off about five o'clock, and, after

a walk of two hours, reached the top of the

appointed hill, where they met the guide, who

stated that he was directed by some proper

persons he had fouud out, to desire Glenaladale

to repair to a hill in the Braes of Glenmoriston,

called Corambian, where they promised to come

at an appointed hour with some victuals. The

persons alluded to were a party of seven men,

who, having been engaged in the insurrection,

had formed themselves into a sort of predatory

fraternity ; intending, perhaps, to resume theu'

former habits of industry when the persecutions

of the government ceased. These had taken

up their abode in a romantic cave on the side

of Corambian, and seldom removed to any con-

siderable distance from their rocky den, unless

compelled by the necessity of providing for

their immediate wants.

As du'ected, Charles and his friends pro-

ceeded to Corambian, and when they came

near the cave, Glenaladale and the guide went

forward, leaving Charles and the other two

Macdonalds at a little distance. AH the in-

mates of the den were present except one, and

having killed a sheep that day, had just sat

down to dinner. Glenaladale said he was glad

to see them so well provided, and they invited

him to sit down and share with them. He
then said he had a friend with him, outside,

for whom he must beg the same favour. Be-

ing asked by them who the friend was, he an-

swered that it was young Clanranald, his cliief

Nobody could be laore welcome, they said,

than the young chief; and they added, that

tliey were willing to purchase food for him at

the point of their swords. Glenaladale then

left the cave and brought in Charles, who,

being immediately recognised by its residents,

had every respect shown him by these men,

who fell on their knees before him. It is al-

most unnecessary to add, that Charles, who
had scarcely tasted food for forty-eiglit hours,

made ample amends for his long fast. After

dinner, Charles's entertainers made up a bed

for him of ferns and tops of heath, on which

he was soon lulled asleep by the gentle mur-

murs of a purling stream that ran through the

grotto close to liis bedside.

The dress which Charles wore at this time

is thus described by IVIr. Home, who obtained

his information from Hugh Chisholm, one of

the seven persons who were iu the cave at the

time Charles resided in it.^ Upon his heail

he had a wretched yellow wig and a bonnet,

and about his neck a clouted handkerchief.

He wore a coat of coarse, dark-coloured cloth,

a Stirling tartan vest, much worn, a pretty

good belted plaid, tartan hose, and Highland

brogues tied with thongs, so much worn that

they would scarcely stick upon his feet. His

shirt, the only one he had, was of the colour

of saffron. The inhabitants of the cave had

no change of dress to offer their guest ; but an

incident occurred which enabled them to sup-

pi}' his wants. Hearing that a detachment of

government troops, under Lord George Saok-

ville, was marching from Fort-Augustus to

Strathglass, and knowing that they must pass

at no great distance from their abode, the rob-

bers resolved to make an attempt upon their

baggage. For this purpose they placed them-

selves between two hiUs, near the road to Strath-

glass, where, free from observation, they awaited

the detachment. It soon appeared, and after

it had passed, the Higlilanders fired at some

officers' servants, who were a considerable dis-

tance behind, and, rushing down upon them,

seized and carried off some portmanteaus, in

which they found every thing that Charles

stood in need of

The search for Charles, which had hitherto

been pursued with the most persevering assi-

duity, now began to slacken, in consequence

of an occurrence, which, it was supposed, ren-

dered further search mmecessary. Among
other persons who had joined Charles at Edin-

burgh, there was a young man of respectable

family, named Eoderick Mackenzie. He had

* Chisholm was at Edinburgh many years after the
rebellion, and was visited by several persons out of

curiosity, some of whom gave him money. In shak-

ing hands with his benefactors he always gave the left

hand, and e,\cused liimself for offering that hand by
stating that as he had shaken hands at parting with
the prince, he was resolved never to give his right

hand to any man till ht saw the prince again.

4x
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Bowed as ono of the prince's life-guards. Be-

ing about tlie same age as Charles, tall and

somewhat slender, like the prince, and with

features resembling, in some degree, those of

Charles, he might, with ordinary observers,

who had not been accustomed to see them

together, have passed for the prince. As he

could not venture with safety to Edinburgh,

where he had two maiden sisters living, he

fled to the Highlands after the battle of Cul-

loden, and, while skulking among the hills of

Glenmoriston, was sui-prised by a party of

soldiers, about the middle of July. Mackenzie

endeavoured to escape ; but being overtaken,

he turned round upon his pursuers, and, draw-

ing his sword, bravely defended himself. He
was shot by one of the soldiers, and as he fell,

he exclaimed, "You have killed your prince!

you have kiUed your prince !" and immediately

expired. Overjoyed at their supposed good

fortune, the soldiers cut off the young man's

liead, and hurried to Fort>Augustus with their

prize. The Duke of Cumberland, convinced

that he had got the head of his relative, had

it, it is said, packed up, and ordering a post-

chaise, went off to London, carr3ring the head

along with him. Shortly after his arrival,

however, the deception, which had been of

essential service to Charles, was discovered.^

Being pretty secure in Coiraglioth, as the

cave was called, Charles remained three days

in this retreat, during which he recruited so

well that he considered himself able to en-

counter any hardships. The whole party then

shifted their quarters to another hiU, about

two miles off, and took up their abode in an-

other cave, on the 2d of August. After stay-

ing four days in their new dwelling they were

again obliged to shift, in consequence of infor-

mation they received, that one Campbell, a

steward of Lord Seaforth and captain of mili-

tia, had pitched his camp at a little distance,

to gi-aze a large herd of cattle. Leaving one

of their party behind to watch Campbell's

motions, they set off in a nortlierly direction,

and travelled to the heights of Strathglass.

Charles was conducted to a sheep-cot, in which

a bed was made up for him, consisting of turf,

with the grass-side uppermost, and a pillow of

• Chambers's Kehdlion. Stewart's Sketches, i. 59.

the same. He remained in tliis hovel thie«^

days, during wliich an express was sent to Pol-

lew, to ascertain whether a report which had

reached him of some French vessels having

been seen off the coast, was correct. On the

supposition that the report would turn out to be

well founded, the party followed the express,

and crossing along the moor, put up at another

shieling for the night, and about twelve o'clock,

next day, August the 10th, arrived at a place

called Glencanna, and passing the day in a

neighbouring wood, repaired at night to a

village hard by. About two o'clock next morn-

ing they scrambled up a hUl on the north side

of Glencanna, and sending off two of their

number to forage for provisions, thej' waited

two days in a neighbouring shieling for the

return of their messenger from PoUew. The

express arrived, and brought notice that a

French ship had been upon the coast, and

had landed two gentlemen, who had gone to

Lochiel's country in quest of the prince. In

expectation of meeting these gentlemen, Charlef

resolved tn retrace liis steps.

Upon the 13th of August they crossed the

water of Casina, and passing near the house of

young Chisholm, arrived at a place called Eas-

sanacoU in Strathglass, about two o'clock in

the morning. They concealed themselves in

a tliick wood, and some of the party were

despatched as scouts to the Braes of Glengarry

and Lochaber, to ascertain whether the search

for the prince was over, and if the troops had

returned to their camp at Fort-Augustus. Hav-

ing ascertained on the return of their spies th.-vt

the government troops had returned to their

head-quarters, the whole part}' left tfie wood,

where they had remained three days, and, on the

morning of the 17th of August, set out through

an unfrequented road, and again reached the

Braes of Glenmoriston. Passing the day on

the top of a hiU, they continued their journey

at night ; but they had gone scarcely a mile,

when they received information that a strong

party of military were among the heights of

Glengarry in quest of the prince. They, there-

fore, stopped short in their journey till they

should ascertain the motions of the enemy,

and passed the remainder of the night in a

shieling.

Charles being now extremely desirous of
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opening a communication with his friends in

Locliaber, wliioh was by this time ahnost frfe

from troops, despatched two messengers on the

morning of the 18th of August to Loch Arkaig

in quest of Cameron of Clunes, to inform him

that Glenaladale wished to meet him at a con-

venient place. Another of the party was, at

the same time, sent to the Braes of Glengarry

to ascertain if the troops were still in that

quarter. Having ascertained, by the return of

tlus messenger, who came back next day, that

the roads were clear, Charles and liis party, con-

sisting altogether of ten persons, set out in the

afternoon of the 19th, and passing under the

favour of a fog through Glenmoriston and Glen-

lyne, arrived late at night in the Braes of Glen-

garry. The river Garry was swollen to a great

height by the heavy rains which had fallen for

some days ; but some of the party having ascer-

tained that it was fordable, Charles and his

friends waded across with the water up to tlieir

middle. After passing the river, they pro-

ceeded onward about a mile in a very dark

night, and finding no covert, remained on tlie

side of tlie hill during the night, without shelter,

amid a torrent of rain. Next morning they con-

tinued their course over hills and moors till they

reached a height near a place called Achna-

salt, or Achnasual, where the messengers sent

to I^och Arkaig had been appointed to meet

them. The rain having poured down without

intermission all night and during the daj', the

situation of these forlorn wanderers had become

very uncomfortable ; and, to add to their

distress, their whole stock of provision was

exhausted. As none of the messengers had

arrived, they were exceedingly perplexed what

to do ; but they were soon relieved from their

anxiety by the appearance of Peter Grant, one

of the most active of the seven men, who
brought notice from Cameron of Clunes that

lie could not meet Glenaladale that night, but

that he would visit him at the appointed place

of rendezvous next morning, and in the mean-

time directed him to pass the night in a wood

about two miles distant. Before setting out

fur their new quarters, of which they received

a favourable report from two of the party, who
were sent to examine the place, Glenaladale,

v-ith the consent of the prince, sent a messenger

to Lochgarry, who lay concealed a few miles

off, acquainting Jura with their arrival at Ach-

nasual, and requesting him to meet them in

the wood. After entering the wood, fortune

tlirew a buck in their w'ay, which one of the

party immediately shot. Having kindled a

fire, they roasted the flesh, and made a hearty

meal, but without bread or salt. Lochgarry

joined tliem tlie same night.

At ten o'clock next morning, August the

15tli, Cameron of Clunes came to the wood,

and conducted Charles to another forest at the

foot of Locli Arkaig, in which he lay all uiglit.

With the exception of Hugh Chisholm and

Peter Grant, all the Glenmoriston men took

their leave. Charles expressed a wish to go

to Eannoch, or Badenoch, where Lochiel and

Cluny were ; but upon Clunes informing him

that he could not pass without great danger,

as all the ferries were strictly guarded, he gave

up his design, and, early next morning, sent a

messenger to Lochiel. desiring his attendance.

Concluding that Charles was to the north of

the lakes, these chiefs had, about this period,

sent Dr. Cameron and the Eev. Jolin Cameron

by different routes, to obtain information

respecting the prince. On arriving within a

few miles of the place where Lochiel was,

Charles's messenger met the Doctor and the

two French officers who had lately landed.

As the messenger was desired to communicate

no information about Charles to any person

but Lochiel liimself, he declined to answer any

questions respecting the prince ; but having

stated that he had business of the utmost im-

portance with Lochiel, the Doctor conducted

liim to his brother. Lochiel being unable,

from the state of his wounds, to travel to a

distance, then sent his brother to wait upon

the prince, and to make his apology.

Dr Cameron, accompanied by two servants,

arrived at the foot of Loch Arkaig on the 1 9th

of August, and when near the place of Charles's

concealment, he met Cameron of Clunes. At

this time Charles and one of Clunes's sons were

sleeping on the mountain, and Peter Grant was

keeping watch ; but, nodding upon his post,

Grant did not observe the approach of the

part}' till they were pretty near. He instantly

awaked Cliarles and his companion. Cameron

and Grant proposed that the}' should flee to the

top of the mountain, but Charles thought dif-
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ferently. He said he considered there was more

danger in attempting to escape than in remain-

ing whore they were ; and he proposed tliat

they should take up a position behind some

stones, take aim, and fire upon the party when

the}' came nearer. He said that, as Grant and

he were good marksmen, they would certainly

do some execution, and that he had in reserve

a brace of pocket pistols, which, for the first

time, he produced. Fortunately, however,

before a single shot was fired, the person of

dunes was recognised among the party. The

joy of Charles and of young Cameron, at the

narrow escape wliich the friends of the one and

the father of the other had made, may be

casilj' conceived. AV^hen informed by Dr.

Cameron that Lochiel was well, and almost

recovered of his wounds, the prince expressed

the unbounded satisfaction he felt by ferventlj'

returning thanks to God three times. The

appearance of Charles at tliis time was singular,

and even terrific. He was bare-footed, and his

beard had grown to a great length. He wore

a dirty shirt, an old black tartan coat, a plaid,

and a philibeg, carried a musket in his hand,

and wore a pistol and dirk by liis side. Had he

not had one of the best and soundest constitii-

tions ever enjoyed by a prince, he must ere this

have fallen a victim to the numerous privations

he liad suffered ; but his health remained unim-

paired, and his flow of spirits continued. His

compaiuons had killed a cow on the present

occasion, and when Dr. Cameron arrived a part

of it was preparing for dinner. Charles partook

heartily of the beef, which was seasoned by a

supply of bread from Fort-Augustus, a com-

modity to which he had been for some time

unaccustomed.

Next day the party went to a wood called

Tomult, opposite to Achnacarry, where they

held a council Charles now proposed to go

south, and join Lochiel ; but one of the party

mentioning that he had seen a paragraph

in some newspapers, that had been brought

from Fort-Augustus, which stated that he and

Lochiel had passed Corryarrick with 30 men,

he judged it advisable to defer his journey for

a few days, as a search might be made for him

about that mountain. In the meantime it was

agreed that Dr. Cameron should visit Lochaber

to procure intelligence, and that Lochgarry

should go to the east end of Loch Lochy, and

remain upon the isthmus between the lakes, to

watch the motions of the troops. They accord-

ingly left Charles the same day, and Cameron

and Clunes, after conducting the prince and his

party to another hut in the neighbourhood, also

took leave.

Charles remained eight days in the neigh-

bourhood of Achnacarry. Ha\'ing expressed a

strong desire to see the French officers who had

landed at Pollew, they were brought to him.

These gentlemen had come from Dunkirk in a

small vessel, with 60 others, who had formed

themselves into a company of volunteers under

these two officers. Two of the volunteers

lauded along with the officers, and were taken

prisoners. One of them, named Fitzgerald, a

Spanish officer, was hanged at Fort William,

on the ground of ha^-ing been a spy in Flan-

ders, and the other, a M. de Berard, a French

officer, was afterwards exchanged upon the

cartel. The officers fell in with Mr. Alexander

Macleod, one of Charles's aides-de-camp, to

whom they delivered some despatches they had

brought over to the French ambassador, and

they continued to wander in Seaforth's coun-

try till Lochgarry, hearing that they had letters

to the prince, sent a Captain Maeraw and his

own servant to find them out and bring them

to Lochiel, as the prince could not be found.

When brought to Lochiel, he suspected them

to be government spies. On Charles express-

ing his wish to see these officers, the Rev. John

Cameron, who had lately joined, told him what

his brother Lochiel thought of them, and ad-

vised him to act ivith gi-eat caution. The prince

confessed that it appeared a very suspicious

circumstance, that two men, without knoiving

a word of Gaelic, and being perfect strangers

in the country, should have escaped so long if

they were not really spies ; but as they had told

Lochiel that they had never seen the prince,

he thought that he might see them safely by a

stratagem, without being known to them. He
therefore wrote them a letter to this effect:

—

that, in order to avoid falling into his enemies'

hands, he had been under the necessity of re-

tiring to a distant part of the country, where

he had no person with liim except one Captain

Drummond and a servant, and, as he could not

remove from the place of his concealment with-
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3ut dangtji-, he had sent Captain Drummond
ivith the letter ; and as he could repose entire

confidence in him, ho desired them to deliver

any message they had to Drummond. This

letter the prince proposed to deliver himself, as

Captain Drummond, and the officers being sent

for, were introduced to liim under his assumed

name. He delivered them the letter, which

they perused, and he then obtained from them

all the information they had to communicate,

wliich, as his affairs then stood, was of little

importance. They remained with him two

days, and put many questions about the prince's

health, liis manner of living, &c. Thinking

the packet they had delivered to Mr. Macleod

might be of use, Charles sent for it ; but as the

letters were in ciplier ho could make notliing

of them, not having the key.

About this time Charles made a very narrow

escape, under the following circumstances.

Information ha\nng been sent to the camp at

Fort-Augustus tliat Charles or some of his

principal adherents were in tlie neighbourhood

of Loch Arkaig, a party was despatched in

quest of them. One of Clunes's sons and

Cameron the minister had gone to the strath

of Clunes to obtain intelligence, and had en-

tered a hut which Climes had built for his

famil}' after his house had been burnt. They

had not, however, been half-an-hour within,

when a little girl came running into the house,

in great haste, and said that she saw some

soldiers approaching. At first they thought

tliat the child was mistaken, as Lochgarry had

[)romised to place a guard between Fort-Au-

gustus and Clunes, to give intelligence of tlie

;ipproach of troops ; but going out of the house,

they found that the girl was correct in her in-

formation. It was then about eight o'clock in

the morning, and the prince, with one of

Clunes's sons and Peter Grant, was sleeping in

a hut on the face of the hiU on the other side

of the water of Kaig, about a mile from

Clunes's hut. Whilst old Cameron, therefore,

remained to watch the motions of this party,

one of his sons and the minister went off to

arouse Charles. Crossing the water irnder

cover of the wood, they came witliin pistol-

shot of the soldiers, who proceeded down into

the strath. When awaked and informed of

hia danger, Charles, 'ivith great composure,

called for his gun, and, looking down the vale,

saw a number of soldiers demolishing Clunes'e

hut and searching the adjacent woods. *

Charles and his attendants immediately resolved

to remove to a distance, and to conceal their

flight, ascended the hall along the channel of

a torrent which the winter rains had worn in

Uie face of the mountain. Clearing this hiU

without being seen, they proceeded to another

mountain, called MuUentagart, of a prodigious

lieight, and very steep and craggy. They re-

mained all day on this hill without a morsel

of food. One of Clunes's sons came to them

about twelve o'clock at night with some

whisky, bread, and cheese, and told them that

his father would meet them at a certain place

in the hills, at a considerable distance, with

provisions, and the young man returned to let

his father know that he might expect them.

Charles and his attendants set out for the ap-

pointed place at night, and travelled through

most dreadfid ways, amongst rocks and

stumps of trees, which tore their clothes and

limlis. Such were the difficulties they en-

countered, that the guides proposed to halt and

rest till the morning, but Charles, though ex-

ceedingly exhausted, insisted on going on, that

they might not break their appointment with

Clunes. Worn out at last with fatigue and

want of food, the prince was not able to pro-

ceed farther without assistance. Thougli al-

most in the same situation themselves, the

Higlilanders offered him their aid, and two of

them laying liold each of an arm, supported

him till he arrived at the end of this very la-

borious journey. They met Clunes and his

son, who had abeady killed a cow and dressed

a part of it for their use.

Charles remained in this remote place with

liis companions tUl the arrival of Locligarry and

Dr. Cameron. They informed him tliat they

had been with Lochiel and Cluny, and that it

had been concerted among them that the prince

should come to their asylum for some time

;

and they added, that Cluny would meet his

Koyal Highness at Auchnacarry, on a certain

day, in order to conduct him to Badenoch.

Being also informed by them that the passes

1 The party in question consisted of about two hun-
dred of Lord Loudon's Highianders, under Captain
Grant of Knocfiando, Strathspey.
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were not so strictly tjOiarded as formerly,

Charles crossed Loch jVrkaig, and took up his

abode in a fir wood belonging to Lochiel, on

the west side of the lake, to wait the arrival

of Cluny. Impatient to see two such tried

friends as Locliiel and Cluny, Charles would

not wait for Cluny's comiag to Auchnacarry,

but set out for Badenoch with such guides as

he had. Next day Charles arrived at a place

called Corinauii-, in Badenoch, where he passed

the night. Cluny had passed on to Auchna-

carry the same day by another way. Lochiel,

in a small miserable hovel on the side of the

hdl, at a place called Melleuauir, or MiUanuir,

attended by Macpherson of Breakachie, Allan

Cameron, his principal servant, and two ser

vants of Cluny.

On the morning of the 30tli of August,

Charles, accompanied by Lochgan-y, Dr. Ca-

meron and two servants, set out for MeUe-

nauir. They were all aimed, and on approach-

ing the hut they were mistaken by Lochiel

for a party of mOitia, who, he supposed,

had been sent out in search of him from a

camp a few miles of. From the lame-

ness in his feet, Lochiel was not in

a condition to attempt an escape, but

there seemed to be little danger, as

both parties were equal in point of

numbers, and the party in the hut

had this advantage, ihat they could

tire their first volley without being

obs: rved, and as they had a consider-

able quantity of fire arms, they could

^^^^^p\ discharge another volley or two before

the advancing party could reload their

pieces. The danger to which Charles

and his friends were now exposed

was greater than that which Dr Ca-

meron and Clunes had run, as, on

the present occasion, the party in

the hut, resolving to receive their

supposed enemies with a general dis-

charge of all the firearms, had actually

planted and levelled their pieces; but

happily for Charles and his friends,

they were recognised just as Lochiel

and his attendants were about giving

their fii'e. Upon making this for-

Dr Archibald Cameron, trom rare print in ttie Buraey Collection tunate discovery Lochiel left the hut,
in British Museum. ^^^ ^j^^^gj^ ^,g,.y y^^^^ ^.^^^ toiwaid

who had skulked in liis own country about two I to meet the prince. On coining up to Charles,

months, had sought an asjdum among the Lochiel was about to kneel, but Charles pre-

Braes of Rannoch, where he was attended by I
vented him, and clapping him on the shoulder,

Sir Stewart Thriepland, an Edinburgh physi- I said, " Oh no, my dear Lochiel, we do not know
cian, for the cure of the wounds he had received I

who may be looking from the top of yonder

in his ancles. On the 20th of June they fell hills, and if they see any such motions they

in mth Macpherson of Cluny, who conducted will immediately conclude that I am here."

them to a more secure retreat on Benalder, Charles always considered Lochiel as one of his

a hill of immense circumference, on his own I best friends, and placed the greatest confidence

property, on the borders of Rannoch. Lochiel, I in lum; and the generous chief showed, by

who had since tliat time lived on this moun-
|
his unbounded attachment to the prince, that

t'.iin with his friend Cluny, was now residing i tliis confidence was not misplaced. The meet-
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in", therefore, of two such friends, after so

mauy perils aud escapes, was extremely joyous.

After they had recovered from the first trans-

ports of thoir joy, Loohiel conducted Charles

into the liut, where the latter heheld a sight to

which his eyes had not heen accustomed for

many months. Besides abundance of mutton,

the hut contained an anchor of whisky, of

twenty Scotch pints, some good di'ied beef

sausages, a large well-cured bacon ham, and

pleuty of butter and cheese. On entering the

prince took a hearty dram, and drank to the

health of his friends. Some minced coUops

were then prepared for him with butter in a

large saucepan, which Lochiel and Cluny always

carried about with them, being the only fire-

vessel they had. The pan was set before Charles

with a silver spoon. He took this repast with

gi-eat gusto, and was so dehghted with this

little change in his cu'cumstances, that he could

not help exclaiming, with a cheerful counte-

nance, " Now, gentlemen, I live like a prince."

After dinner he asked Lochiel if he had always

fared so well during his retreat. " Yes, Sir,"

answi?rod Lochiel ;
" for near tlireo months past

I liavc been hereabout with my cousin Cluny

;

he has provided for me so well that I have

had plenty of such as you see, and I thank

Heaven your Eoyal Highness has got through

so many dangers to take a part." Finding, on

his arrival at Auchnacarry, that Charles had

departed with his friends for Badenoch, Cluny

had retraced his steps, and he reached Mellen-

auir two days after Charles's arrival there. On
entering the hut Cluny would have kneeled

before Charles, hut the prince prevented him,

and giving him a kiss, said, " I am sorry,

C'luu}^, you and your regiment were not at

Culloden : I did not hear tUl very lately that

you were so near us that day."

The day after his return to Mellenauir, Cluny,

tldnldng it time to remove to another retreat,

conducted the prince and his attendants to a

little shieling called Uiskchibra, about two

miles farther into Benalder. This hut was

eery bad and extremely smoky ; but Charles

accommodated himself, as he had always done,

to circumstances. After passing two nights in

this miserable abode, he was conducted to a

very extraordinary aud romantic habitation,

caUod the Cage, which Cluny had fitted up

for Charles's reception. From the description

given by Climy of this remarkable retreat, it

will be seen how well adapted it was for the

purpose of concealment.

" It was," says Donald Macpherson. " situ-

ated in the face of a very rough, high, and

rocky mountain, called LetternUichk, still a

part of Benalder, full of great stones 'and

crevices, and some scattered wood interspersed.

The habitation called the Cage, in the face of

tliat moimtain, was within a small thick bush of

wood. There were first some rows of trees laid

down, in order to level a floor for the habitation

;

and as the place was steep, this raised tlie lower

side to an equal height with the other ; and

these trees, in the way of joists or planks,

were levelled with earth and gravel. There

were betwixt the trees, growing naturally on

their own roots, some stakes fixed in the earth,

which, with the trees, were interwoven with

ropes, made of heath and birch twigs, up to

the top of the Cage, it being of a round or

rather oval shape ; and the whole thatched

and covered over with fog. This whole fabric

himg, as it were, by a large tree, which reclined

from the one end all along the roof to the other,

and which gave it the name of the Cage ; and

by chance there happened to be two stones

at a small distance from one another, in the

side next the precipice, resembling the pillars

of a chimney, where the fire was placed. The

smoke had its vent out here, all along the face

of the rock, which was so much of the same

colour, that one could discover no difference in

the clearest day. The Cage was no larger

than to contain six or seven persons ; four of

whom were frequently employed playing at

cards, one idle looking out, one baking, and

another firing bread and cooking."

-

' Appendix to Home's Work«, vol, iii. No. 46.

Cluny himself had several places of concealment on

his estate. "He lived for nine years chiefly in a

cave, at a short distance from his house, which was
burnt to the ground by the king's troops. This cave

was in the front of a woody precipice, the trees and

shelving rocks completely concealing the entrance.

It was dug out by his own people, who worked by
night, and conveyed the stones and rubbish into a.

lake in the neighbourhood, in order that no vestige of

their labour might betray the retreat of their master.

In this sanctuary he lived secure, occasionally visit-

ing his friends by night, or when time had slackened

the rigour of the search. Upwards of one hundred

persons knew where he was concealed, and a reward

of £1,000 was offered to any one who should givs
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Charles's deliverance was now nearer at hand

than he or his friends probably expected.

Several small vessels had arrived on the west

coast, from time to time, to carry him off to

France ; but the persons in charge of these not

being able to iind him had returned home.

Charles knew this, and now that he was able

to keep up a communication witli his friends,

he took care to provide against a similar reciir-

rence. He was at a considerable distance from

the coast, but matters were so concerted that,

if a French vessel appeared, he could easUy get

the intelligence. There were some of his parti-

zans skulking near the west coast, who, though

they did not know where he himself was, had

instructions to convey the news to others who

information against him ; and as it was known that

he was concealed on his estate, eighty men were con-

stantly stationed there, hesides the parties occasionally

marching into the country to intimidate his tenantry,

ami induce them to disclose the place of his conceal-

ment. But though the soldiers were animated with
the hope of the reward, and though a step of promo-
tion to the officer who should apprehend him was
superadded, yet so true were his people, so strict to

their promise of secrecy, and so dexterous in convey-

ing to him the necessaries he required, in his long
confinement, that nut a trace of him could be dis-

covered, nor an individual found base enough to give

a liint to his detriment. At length, wearied out with

this dreary and hopeless state of existence, and taught

to despair of pardon, he escaped to France in 1755,

and died there the following year. "

—

Stewart's Sketclies,

3d Edition, vol. i. p- 62.
" The late Sir Hector Munro, then a lieutenant in

the 3-tth regiment, and from his zeal and knowledge
of the country and the people, intrusted with the

command of a large party, continued two whole years

in Hadenoch, for the purjiose of discovering the chiefs

retreat. The unwearied vigilance of the clan could

aloue have saved him from the diligence of this party.

At night Cluny came from his retreat to vary the

monotony of his existence, by spending a few of the

dark hours convivially with his friends. On one oc-

casion he had been suspected, and got out by a back
window just as the military were breaking open the

door. At another time, seeing the windows of a house

kept close, and several persons going to visit the

family after dark, the commander broke in at the

window of the suspected chamber, with two loaded

pistols, and thus endangered the life of a lady newly
delivered of a child, on account of whose coniinement

these .suspicious circumstances had taken place. This
shows that there was no want of diligence on the part

of the pursuers. Cluny himself became so cautious,

while living the life of an outlaw, that on parting

with his wife, or his most attached friends, he never

told them to which of his concealments he was going,

or sutiVred any one to accompany him,—thus ena-

bling them, when questioned, to answer, that they

knew not where he was."

—

Idem.
It may he here stated en jjossant that Cluny did not

leave Scotland from his "dreary and hopeless state of

existence," but in compliance with a special request

made to him by Priuce Charles. See a letter from

the prince to Cluny, of 4th Sept., 1754, among the

Stuart Papers.

were concealed in the interior, who would again

communicate it to persons in the knowledge of

the prince's place of retreat. For some time

Colonel Warren, of Dillon's regiment, had been

exerting liimself to induce the French govern-

ment to fit out an expedition to rescue Charles

from his toils. He at last succeeded in pro-

curing two vessels of war, L'Heureux and La

Princesse de Conti, with which he departed

from St. Malo about the end of August. In

the event of his bringing the prince safe away,

the Chevalier de St. George had promised to

make him a Knight Baronet, a dignity wliich

he afterwards conferred upon him.^

These vessels arrived in Loclmanuagh early

in September, and Captain Sheridan, a son of

Sir Thomas Sheridan, and a Mr. O'Beirne, a

lieutenant in the French ser\'ice, immediately

landed and waited upon Glenaladale, who, thej

were informed, knew where Charles was. This

faithful friend, happy at the prospect of escape

which now offered, set off the same night for

the place where he expected to find Charles,

to communicate to him the agreeable intelli-

gence ; but to his great sorrow he found the

prince gone, and he could fall in with no per-

son who could give him the least informatior

of his route. Clunes, from whom Glenaladale

expected to get tidings of Charles, had, in con-

sequence of the destruction of his hut, gone to

another quarter, and was not to be found.

Whilst ruminating over his disappointment, a

poor woman accidentally came to the place

where he was, and he had the good fortune to

ascertain from her the place of Clunes's retreat

Having found him out, he and Climes instantly

despatched a messenger to Charles with the

joyful intelligence; and Glenaladale then re-

turned to Lochnanuagh, to notify to Colonel

Warren that Charles might be speedily ex-

pected in that quarter.

The messenger arrived at Benalder on the

loth of September, on wliich day Charles left

his romantic abode, and, after taking leave of

Cluny, set off on his journey for the coast,

accompanied by Lochiel and others. He at

the same time sent off confidential messengers

in different directions, to acquaint such of his

' Vide several letters from Colonel WaiTen to the

Chevalier de St. George and others, among Stitart

Papers.
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friends as he could reach, announcing the ar-

rival of the ships, that they might liave an

opportunity of joining him if inclined. As

Charles and his friends travelled only by night,

they did not reach Borodale, the place of em-

Larkation, till the 19th. On the road Charles

was joined by Lochgarry, John Roy Stewart,

Dr. Cameron, and other gentlemen who in-

tended to accompany him to France. Besides

these, many others had left their different

hiding places on hearing of the arrival of the

French vessels, and had repaired to the coast

of Moidart, also waiting for the anival of him

for whose sake they had forfeited their lives,

intending to adopt the bitter alternative of

bidding an eternal adieu to their native land.

The number of persons assembled was about a

hundred.

The career of Charles in the hereditary do-

minions of his ancestors was now ended. At-

tended by seven persons only, he had, with

daring hardihood, landed about fourteen months

before on the spot where he was destined to

depart as a fugitive, and, with a handful of

men, had raised the standard of insurrection

and set the whole power of the government at

open defiance. The early part of his progress

Lad been brilliant. With a few thousand

undisciplined mountaineers, he had overrun

land, in the face of three hostile armies, had

carried dismay to the capital. The retreat

from Derby, the merit of which belongs to

Lord George Murray exclusively, quieted for a

time the apprehensions of the government

;

but the defeat at Falkirk again convinced it

that the succession settlement was stLU in

danger ; and that, perhaps, at no distant day,

the young and darmg adventurer might place

the aon of James II. upon the throne from

which his father had been expelled. Even
after his retreat to Inverness, the supporters of

the house of Hanover could have no assurance

that the Duke of Cumberland's army might

not share the fate of its predecessors, in which

event the new dynasty would probably have

ceased to reign ; but the triimiphs of Charles

were at an end, and the fatal field of CuUoden,

after witnessing the bravery of his troops, be-

came the grave of his hopes. Tlien commenced

that series of extraordinary adventures and won-

derful escapes, of which some account has been

given, and which could scarcely have been

credited had they not been authenticated be-

yond the possibility of dispute. During the

brUliant part of his career Charles had dis-

played great moderation and forbearance ; and

though his spirits sank when compelled to re-

treat, yet in the hour of adversity, when beset

with perils and exposed to privations which

few princes could have endured, he exhibited

imcommon fortitude, strength of mind, and

cheerfulness.

In liis wanderings Charles laid down a rule

to himseK, to which he scrupulously adhered,

never to intrust any person from whom lie

was about to depart with the secret of his

route, so that, with the exception of the few

friends who were about him for the time being,

none of those to whom he had been formerly

indebted for his preservation knew the place

of his retreat. This was a wise precaution, but

was attended with this disadvantage, that it

prevented him from acquiring early information

of the arrival of the French vessels upon the

coast. But no means he was able to take for

his own security could have saved him, had he

not had a guarantee in the incorruptible fidelity

of the persons into whose hands he committed

himself. At the risk of their owti destruction

they extended to him the aid of their protec-

tion, and relieved his necessities. Many of

these persons were of desperate fortunes, and

there were others in the lowest ranks of life

;

yet, among nearly 200 persons to whom Charles

must have been known during the five months

he wandered as a fugitive, not one ever offered

to betray him, though they knew that a price

of £30,000 was set upon his head. History no-

where presents such a splendid instance of dis-

interested attachment to an imfortunate family.

Accompanied by Lochiel, Lochgarry, John

Roy Stewart, Dr. Cameron, and a considerable

number of other adherents, Charles departed

from Lochnanuagh on the 20th of September,

and had a favourable passage to the coast of

France, where he landed on Monday the 29th

of September. He immediately proceeded to

Morlaix, whence he despatched Colonel Warren

the same day to Paris, to announce his arrival

to the French court. He also sent at the same

time a letter to his brother Henry, to the same

effect, and enclosed a similar one to his father.

4 Y
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CHAPTEK XXXVIII.

British Sovereign ;—George II., 1727—1760.

A. D. 1746—1747.

Coiijiiiission of Oyer and Terminer—Trial of prisonei-s

—Francis Townley—Jemmy Dawson—Lords Kil-

marnock, Cromarty, and Ualmerino—Execution of

these noblemen—Other executions
—

'J'rials at Car-

lisle and York—Trial and execution of Mr. Eatcliffe

—Trial and execution of Lord Lovat—Act of Indem-
nity passed.

Whilst the issue of the contest remained

douhtful, the government took no steps to pun-

isli the prisoners who had fallen into their

hsuids at Carlisle ; but after the decisive affair

of Culloden, when there appeared no chance of

the Jacobite party ever having it in their power

to retaliate, the government resolved to vindi-

cate the authority of the law by making ex-

amples of some of the prisoners.

As it was intended to try the prisoners at

different places for the sake of convenience, an

p.ct was passed empoweiing his majesty to try

them in any county he might select.

On the 24th and 25th of June bills of indict-

ment were found against 36 of the prisoners

taken at Carlisle, and against one David Mor-

gan, a barrister, who had been apprehended in

Staffordshire. The court then adjourned tUJ

the 3d of July, on which day the prisoners were

aiTaigned. Three only pleaded guilty. The

rest applied for a postponement of their trials on

the ground that material witnesses for their

defence were at a considerable distance. The

court in consequence ruled that in cases where

witnesses were in England the trial should be

put off to the 15th of July, and where they

were in Scotland, to the 25th of the same month.

The coui't accordingly met on the 15th of

Jidy, and proceeded with the trial of Francis

Townley, Esquii-e, before a grand jury, at the

court-house, Southwark. Tliis unfortunate

gentleman had been colonel of the Manchester

regiment. He was of a respectable family in

Lancashire. Obliged to retire to France in 1 7 28,

he had obtained a commission from the King

of France, and had served at the siege of

Pliilipsburgh under the Duke of Bermck, who

lost his life before the walls of that place. He
continued sixteen years in the French service

;

and after his return to England had received a

commission to raise a regiment. A plea was

set up by his council, that holding a com-

mi.«ion in the French service he was entitlod

to the benefit of the cartel as well as any other

French officer, but this was overruled, and he

was found guilty. On the next and two fol-

lowing days eighteen other persons, chiefly offi-

cers in the said regiment, were brought to trial.

Five were attainted by their own confession

of high treason, twelve on a verdict of high

treason of levying war against the king, and

one was acquitted. These seventeen persons,

along with Townley, were all condemned to

death, and nine of them, including Townley,

were selected for execution on the 30th. The

rest were reprieved for tliree weeks.

Kennington common was the place destined

for the execution of these unfortunate men,

most of whom met their fate with fortitude and

resignation. The execution was accompanied

with the disgusting and barbarous details usual

at that time in cases of treason.

Two singular and interesting cii-cumstances

occurred at this execution. The one was the

attendance of a younger brother of Lieutenant

Thomas Deacon's, of the Manchester Regiment,

and one of those who had obtained a reprieve.

At his own request he was allowed to witness

the execution of his brother in a coach under

the charge of a guard. The other was one of

a very affecting description. Hurried away by

the impetuosity of youth, James Dawson, one

of the sufferers, the son of a Lancashire gentle-

man, had abandoned his studies at St. John's

college, Cambridge, and had joined the Jacob-

ite standard. He and a young lady of good

family and handsome fortune were warmly

attached to each other, and had Dawson been

acquitted, or, after condemnation, found mercy,

the day of his enlargement was to have been

that of their marriage. When all hopes of

mercy were extinguished, the young lady re-

solved to witness the execution of her lover,

and so firm was her resolution, that no persua-

sions of her friends could induce her to aban-

don her determination. On the morning of

the execution she accordingly followed the

sledges to the place of execution in a hackney

coach, accompanied by a gentleman nearly re-

lated to her, and one female friend. She got

near enough to see the fire kindled which was
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to consiune that heart she knew was so much
devoted to her, and to observe the other ap-

palling preparations without committing any

of those extravagances her friends had appre-

hended. She had even the fortitude to re-

strain her feelings wliile the executioner was

pulling the cap over the eyes of her lover; but

when he was tlirown off she in an agony of

grief drew back her head into the coach, and,

crying out, " My dear, I follow thee, I follow

thee;—sweet Jesus, receive both our souls to-

gether !" fell upon the neck of her female com-

panion, and instantly expired. ^

The principal witness against Townley,

Deacon, Dawson, and others, was Samuel

Maddock, an ensign in the same regiment, who,

to save his own life, turned king's evidence

against his former comrades.*

The individuals next proceeded against were

persons of a higher grade. The ]\Iarquis of

Tidlibardine escaped the fate which awaited

him, having died of a lingering indisposition

in the Tower on the 9th of Jidy; but on the

23d of that month the grand jury of the county

of Surrey found biUs for high treason against

the Earls of Kilmarnock, and Cromarty, and

Lord Balmerino. Lord-chancellor Hardwicke

was appointed Lord High Steward for the trial

of these peers. The indictments being certified,

the house of lords fi_xed the 28th of July for

the day of trial. Accordingly, on the day ap-

pointed the three lords proceeded from the

Tower towards Westminster-hall, where the

trial was conducted with great pomp and cere-

mony.

After the indictments had been read, the

Earls of KUmarnock and Cromarty pleaded

" guilty," and threw themselves entirely upon

the king's mercy. Before pleading to his indict-

ment, Lord Balmerino stated that he was not

at Carlisle at the time specified in the indict-

ment, being eleven miles off when that city

was taken, and he requested to know from his

grace if it would avail him any thing to prove

that fact. Lord Hardwicke said that such a

circumstance might, or might not, be of use to

him; but he informed him that it was con-

"* Shenstone has commemorated this melancholy
event iu his yilaiutive ballad of * Jemmy Dawson.*

' Carlisle in '45, p. 2i4.

trary to form to permit him to put any luea-

tions before pleading to the indictment, by

saying whether he was guilty or not guilty.

His grace desiring his lordship to plead, the

intrepid* Balmerino apparently not understand-

ing the meaning of that legal term, exclaimed,

with great animation, " Plead ! Why, I am
pleading as fast as I can." The lord-high-

steward having explained the import of the

phrase, the noble baron answered, " Not guilty."

The trial then proceeded. Four witnesses

were examined. One of them proved that he

saw Lord Balmerino ride into Carlisle on a bay

horse the day after it was taken by the High-

landers;—tliat he saw him afterwards ride up

to the market-place with his sword drawn at

the head of his troop of horse, which was the

second troop of Charles's body guards, and

was called Elphinstone's horse. Another wit-

ness deponed that he saw his lordship ride into

Manchester at the head of his troop, and that

he was there when the young Chevalier was

proclaimed regent. Two other witnesses proved

that his lordship was called colonel of his

troop, that he always acted in that station,

gave orders on all occasions to his officers, and

that he was in great favour with Prince

Charles. The evidence on the part of the

cro'ivn having been finished, the lord-higli-

steward aisked the prisoner if he had any thing

to offer in his defence, or meant to call any

witnesses. His lordship replied that he had

nothing to say, but to make an exception to

the indictment which was incorrect in charg-

ing him with being at CarUsle at the time it

was taken by the Highlanders. The peers

then resolved to take the opinion of the judges

upon the point, and these were unanimously of

opinion, that, as an overt act of treason and

other acts of treason had been proved beyond

contradiction, there was no occasion to prove

explicitly every tiling that was laid in the iu-

* " He is, " says Walpole, " the most natural, brave

old fellow I ever saw : the highest intrepidity, even to

indifference. At the bar he behaved like a soldier

and a man ; in the intervals of form, with carelessness

and humour. ... At the bar he plays with his fingers

upon the axe, wliile he talks to the gentleman gaoler
;

and one day, somebody coming up to listen, he took

the blade and held it like a fan between their faces.

During the trial a little hoy was near him, but not
taU enough to see ; he made room for the child, and
placed him near himself."
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clictmeut; and that, of course, the prisoner's

objection ^'as not material. The peers then

unanimously found Lord Balmerino guilty of

high treason, after which, the other two lords

were brought to the bar, and were infonned

by the lord-high-steward, that if either of

them had any thing to move in arrest of judg-

ment, they must come prepared on the Wed-

nesday following at eleven o'clock, and state

their objections, otherwse sentence of death

would be awarded against them. The three

lords were then carried back to the Tower in

coaches, and the axe, which was in the coach

with Lord Balmerino, had its edge pointed to-

wards him.

The court accordingly met again on Wed-

nesday the 30th of July, when the lord-high-

steward addressed the prisoners ; and begin-

ning with Lord Kilmarnock, asked him if he

had any thing to offer why judgment of death

should not be passed against him. His lord-

ship stated, that having, from a due sense of

Lis folly, and the heinousness of his crimes,

acknowledged his guilt, he meant to offer no-

thing in extenuation, but to tlirow himself

entirely on the compassion of the court, that

it might intercede with his majesty for his

royal clemency. He then, in a somewhat

humble speech, urged several reasons why he

should be treated with clemency, expressing

great contrition for having, somewhat against

his own inclination, joined in the "unnatural

scheme." He concluded by stating, that if

after what he had stated their lordships did

not feel themselves called upon to employ theii'

interest with his majesty for his royal cle-

mency, that he would lay down his life with

the utmost resignation, and that his last mo-

ments shovdd " be employed in fervent pra3'er

fur the preservation of the illustrious house of

Hanover, and the peace and prosperity of

Gi'eat Britain."

The Earl of Cromarty began a most humil-

iating but pathetic appeal, by declaring that

he had been guilty of an offence wluch merited

the highest indignation of liis majesty, their

lordships, and the public ; and that it was

from a conviction of his guilt that he had not

])vesumed to trouble their lordships with any

defence. " Nothing remains, my lords," he con-

tinued, "but to throw myself, my life, and

fortune, upon jova lordships' compassion ; but

of these, my lords, as to myself is the least

part of my sufferings. I have involved an

affectionate wife, with an unborn infant, as

parties of my gmlt, to share its penalties ; I

have involved my eldest son, whose infancy

and regard for his parents hurried him down

the stream of rebellion. I have involved also

eight innocent children, who must feel their

parent's punishment before they know his

guilt. Let them, my lords, be pledges to his

majesty; let them be pledges to your lord-

ships ; let them be pledges to my country for

mercy ; let the silent eloquence of their grief

and tears ; let the powerful language of inno-

cent nature supply my want of eloquence and

persuasion ; let me enjoy mercy, but no longer

than I deserve it ; and let me no longer enjoy

life than I shall use it to deface the crime I

have been guilty of. Whilst I thus intercede

to his majesty tlirough the mediation of your

lordships for mercy, let my remorse for my
guilt as a subject ; let the sorrow of my heart

as a husband ; let the anguish of my mind as

a father, speak the rest of my misery. As

yoiir lordships are men, feel as men ; but may

none of you ever suffer the smallest part of

my anguish. But if after all, my lords, my
safety shall be found inconsistent ^vith that of

the public, and notliing but my blood can atone

for my unhappy crime ; if the sacrifice of my
life, my fortune and family, is judged indis-

pensably necessary for stopping the loud de-

mands for public justice ; and if the bitter cup

is not to pass from me, not mine, but thy will,

God, be done."

When the lord-liigh-steward addressed Lord

Balmerino, he produced a paper, and desired

it might be read. His grace told his lordship

that he was at liberty to read it if he pleased

;

but his lordship repKed that his voice was too

low, and that he could not read it so distinctly

as he could wish. One of the clerks of parha-

ment, by order of the lord-high-steward, then

read the paper, which was to this effect :

—

That although his majesty had been empowered

by an act of parliament, made the last session,

to appoint the trials for high treason to take

place in any county he should appoint ;
yet, as

the alleged act of treason was stated to have

been committed at Carlisle, and prior to the
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passing of the said act, he ought to have been

indicted at Carlisle, and not in the county of

Suney, as the act could not have a retrospec-

tive effect. His lordship prayed the court to

assign him counsel to argue the point. The

peers, after consideration, agreed to his petition

for counsel, and at his request assigned him

Messrs. Wilbraham and Forrester, and ad-

joui'ned the com-t to the 1st of August.

The tliree prisoners were again brought back

from the Tower. On that day the lord-high-

steward asked Lord Balmerino if he was then

ready by his counsel to argue the point, which

he proposed to the court on the previous day.

His lordship answered, that as his counsel had

advised him that there was nothing in the

objection sufficient to found an arrest of judg-

ment upon, he begged to withdraw the objec-

tion, and craved their lordships' pardon for

giving them so much trouble. The prisoners

then all declaring that they submitted them-

selves to the court. Lord Hardwicke addressed

them in a suitable speech, and concluded by

pronouncing the following sentence :
^—" The

judgment of the law is, and this high court

doth award, that you, William, Earl of KU-

marnock ; George, Earl of Cromarty ; and Ar-

thur Lord Balmerino, and every of you, return

to the prison of the Tower from whence you

came : from thence you must be drawn to the

place of execution : when you come there, you

must be hanged by the neck, but not tiU you

are dead ; for you must be cut down ahve

;

then your bowels must be taken out and burnt

before your faces j then your heads must be

severed from your bodies ; and your bodies

must be divided each into four quarters ; and

these must be at the king's disposal. And God

Almighty be mercLfid to your souls." Then

the prisoners were removed from the bar, and

after taking a cold collation wliich had been

prepared for them, were carried back to the

Tower in the same order and form as before.

The Earl of Kilmarnock immediately pre-

sented a petition to the king for mercy, and

also another, a copy of the first, to the Prince

of Wales, praying liis royal higlmess's inter-

' As will be seen, the more barbarous and ignomi-

nious part of tlie sentence was not carried into effect

;

Kilmarnock and Balmerino were put to death by
simple denapitation.

cession with his majesty in his behalf; and a

third to the Duke of Cumberland for a similar

purpose. In this last mentioned petition ho

asserted his innocence of charges which had

been made against him, of having advised tho

putting to death of the prisoners taken by tho

Highland army before the battle of Culloden,

and of advising or approving of an alleged

order for giving no quarter to his majesty's

troops in that battle. In the petitions to the

king and the Prince of Wales, the earl declared

that he had surrendered himself at the battio

of Culloden, at a time when he coidd have

easily escaped ; but he afterwards admitted

that the statement was untrue, and that he was

induced to make it from a strong desire for

life ; that he had no intention of surrendering

;

and that, with the view of facilitating his

escape, he had gone towards the body of horse

wliich made him prisoner, thinking that it was

Fitz-James's horse, with the design of mount-

ing beliind a dragoon. These petitions were

entirely disregarded.

The Earl of Cromarty, with better claims to

mercy, also petitioned the king. In support

of this application the countess waited upon

the lords of the cabinet council, and presented

a petition to each of them ; and, on the Sunday

foUomng the sentence, she went to Kensington-

palace in deep mourning, accompanied by Lady

Stair, to intercede with his majesty in behalf

of her husband. She was a woman of great

strength of mind, and though far advanced in

pregnancy, had hitherto displayed surprising

fortitude ; but on the present trying occasion

she gave way to grief. She took her station

in the entrance through which the king was to

pass to chapel, and when he approached she

fell upon )ier knees, seized him by the coat,

and presented her supplication, fainted away

at his feet. The king immediately raised her

up, and taking the petition, gave it in charge

of the Duke of Grafton, one of his attendants.

He then desired Lady Stair to conduct her to

one of the apartments. The Dukes of Hamil-

ton and Montrose, the Earl of Stair and other

courtiers, backed these petitions for the royal

mercy by a personal application to the king,

who granted a pardon to the earl on the 9th

of August.

The high-minded Balmerino disdained to
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compromiso his prmciples by suing for pardon,

and when he heard that his fellow-prisoners had

appKed for mercy, he sarcastically remarked,

that as they must have great interest at court,

tliey might have squeezed his name in with

their own. From the time of his sentence

down to his execution, he showed no symptoms

of fear. He never entertained any hopes of

pardon, for he said he considered his case

desperate, as he had been once pardoned before.

When Lady Bahnerino expressed her great con-

cern for the approaching fate of her Lord, he

said, " Grieve not, my dear Peggy, we must all

die once, and this is but a few years very likely

before my death must have happened some

other way : therefore, wipe away your tears

;

you may marry again, and get a better hus-

band." About a week after his sentence a

gentleman went to see him, and apologising

for intruding upon him when he had such a

short time to live, his lordship repUed, " Oh !

Su', no intrusion at all : I have done notliing

to make my conscience uneasy. I shall die

with a true heart, and undaunted ; for I think

no man fit to live who is not fit to die ; nor

am I any ways concerned at what I have done."

Being asked a few days before his execution in

what manner he would go to the scalfold, he

answered, " I will go in the regimentals which

I wore when I Avas first taken, with a woollen

shirt next my skin, which will serve me instead

of a shroud to be bmied in." Being again

asked why he would not have a new suit of

black, he replied, " It would be thought very

imprudent in a man to repair an old house

when the lease of it was near expiring ; and

the lease of my life expires next Monday."

The king could not but admire the high bear-

ing and manly demeanour of this unfortunate

nobleman ; and when the friends of the other

prisoners were making unceasing applications

to him for mercy, he said, " Does nobody inter-

cede for poor Balmerino 1 He, though a rebel,

is at least an honest man." Accordmg to Wal-

pole, Balmerino was " joUy with his pretty

Peggy " almost to the very last.

On the 11th of August an order was signed

in council for the execution of the Earl of Kil-

marnock and Lord Balmeriuo, and on the 12th

two writs passed the great seal, empowering

the constable of the To\>er to deliver their

bodies to the sheriffs of London, for execution

on Monday the 18th. The order for their exe-

cution on the 18th of August having been

announced to the unfortunate noblemen by Sir.

Foster, a dissenting clergj'man. Lord Kilmar-

nock received the intelligence with all the com-

posure of a man resigned to his fate, but at the

same time with a deep feeling of concern for

his future state. Balmerino, who perhaps had

as strong a sense of religion as Kilmarnock,

received the news with the utmost unconcern.

He and his lady were sitting at dinner when

the warrant amved, and, being informed of it,

her ladysliip started up from the table and

fainted away. His lordship raised her up, and,

after she had recovered, he requested her to

resume her seat at table and finish her dinner.

On the Saturday preceding the executiou.

General WiUiamson, at Kilmarnock's desire, as

is supposed, gave liim a minute detaU of all tlie

circumstances of solemnity and outward terror

which would accompany it.

Balmerino was not actuated with the same

feelmg of curiosity as Kilmarnock was to know

the circiimstances which would attend his exe-

cution, but awaited his fate with the indiffer-

ence of a martyr desirous of sealing his faith

with his blood. The following letter, writtea

by him on the eve of his execution, to the

Chevalier de St. George, strikingly exemplifies

the cool intrepidity of the man, and the ster-

ling honesty with which he adhered to his

principles :

—

" Sm,—You may remember that, in the year

1716, when your Majesty was in Scotland, I

left a company of foot, purely with a design to

serve your Majesty, and, had I not made my
escape then, I should certainly have been shot

for a deserter.

" When I was abroad I lived many years at

my own charges before I ask'd any thing from

you, being unwilling to trouble your Majesty

while I had any thing of my own to live upon,

and when my father wrote me that he had a

remission for me, which was got without my
asking or knowledge, I did not accept of it till

I first had your Majesty's permission. Sir,

when His Eoyal Higlmess the Prince, your

son, came to Edinburgh, as it was my boimden

and indispensable duty, I joyu'd him, for which
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I am to-morrow to lose my head on a scaffold,

whereat I am so far from being dismayed, that

it gives me great satisfaction and peace of mind

that I die in so righteous a cause. I hope, Sii',

on these considerations, your Majesty will pro-

vide for my wife so as she may not want bread,

which otherwise she must do, my brother hav-

ing left more debt on the estate than it was

worth, and having nothing in the world to give

lier. I am, with the most profound respect.

Sir, your Majesty's most faithful and devoted

subject and servant,

" Balmerixo."''
" Tower of London, 1

nth August, 1746."/

On Monday, the 1 8th of August, great pre-

parations were made on Tower-hill for the

execution. At ten o'clock the block was fixed

OTi the stage, covered with black cloth, and

several sacks of sawdust were provided to be

strewed upon the scaffold. Soon after the two

coffins were brought and placed upon the scaf-

fold. Upon Kilmarnock's coffin was a plate

with this inscription, " Gulielmus Comes de

Kilmarnock, decoUatus 18° Augusti, 1746, setat.

suae 42," with an earl's coronet over it, and

six coronets over the six handles. The plate

on Balmerino's coffin bore this inscription,

® The original of the above letter, from which this

copy was taken, is among the Stuart Papers, and is

written in a remarkably tiold and steady hand. The
Chevalier sent a copy of tliis letter to Cfiarles on 20tli

.Tanuary, 1747. *' 1 send you," says he, ** a copy of

poor Lord Balmerino's letter. I shall inquire about
his widow, and send her some relief if she stands in

need of it. "

—

Stuart Papers. James was as good as liis

word. See Mr. Theodore Hay's letter to Secretary

Edgar, of 10th June, 1747, and Lady Balmerino's
receipt, 18th May following, for £60, in the Stuart

Papers. The letter of Lord Balmerino, and the cir-

cumstances of his death, are feelingly alluded to in a

letter written by Lady Balmerino to the Chevalier,

from Edinburgh, on 15th June, 1751:—"Before my
dear lord's execution, he leaving this world, ajid hav-

ing no other concern in time but me, wrote a letter to

your Majesty, dated 17th August, 1746, recommending
me and my destitute condition to your ilajesty's com-
miseration and bounty. You are well inlormed of his

undaunted courage and behaviour at his death, so that

even your Majesty's enemies and his do unanimously
confess that he died like a hero, and asserted and added
a lustre which never will be forgot to the undoubted
right your Majesty has to your three realms. He had
the honour to have been in your Majesty's domestick
service in Italy, and ever preserved, before his last

appearance, an inviolable, constant attachment to your
royal house and interest, which at last he not only

confirmed by his dying words, but sealed it with his

blood, than which a greater token and proof it is not of

» subject to give of his love and fidelity to his sov-

ereign.

" Arthurus Dominus de Balmerino, decoUatus

18° Augusti, 1746, retat. suse 58," surmounted

by a baron's coronet, and with six others over

the handles.

These preparations were completed about

half-past ten, when the sheriffs, accompanied

by their officers, went to the Tower, and, knock-

ing at the door, demanded " The bodies of

William, Earl of Kilmarnock, and Arthur,

Lord Balmerino." General Williamson there-

upon went to inform the prisoners that the

sheriffs were in attendance. Wlten told that

he was wanted, Lord Kilmarnock, who had

just been engaged in prayer with Mr. Foster,

betrayed no fear, but said, with great com-

posure, " General, I am ready; I'll follow you."

On leaving the Tower, Kilmarnock and Bal-

merino met at the foot of the stair. They em-

braced each other, and Balmerino said, " I am
heartily sorry to have your company in this

expedition." The ill-fated noblemen were then

brought to the Tower-gate, and delivered over

to the sheriffs. When the prisoners were leav-

ing the Tower, the deputy-lieutenant, according

to an ancient usage, cried, " God bless King

George !" to which Kilmarnock assented by a

bow, but Balmerino emphatically exclaimed,

" God bless Kmg James !" The prisoners

were then conducted to the house fitted up for

their reception, and, being put into separate

apartments, their friends were admitted to see

them. When the prisoners arrived at the door

of the house, some persons among the crowd

were heard asking others, " Which is Lord

Balmerino V His lordship, overhearing the

question, turned a little about, and, with a

smile, said, " I am Balmerino, gentlemen, at

your service."

About eleven o'clock Lord Balmerino sent a

message to Lord Kilmarnock requesting an

interview, which being consented to, Balmerino

was brought into Kilmarnock's apai-tmeiit..

The foUowing dialogue, as reported by jVlr.

Foster, then ensued. Balmerino—" My lord,

I beg leave to ask your lordship one question."

Kilmarnock—" To any question, my lord,

that you shall think proper to ask, I believe I

shall see no reason to decline giving an an-

swer." B. " Why then, my lord, did you ever

see or know of any order signed by the prince,

to give no quarter at Culloden?" K. " No. my
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lord." B. " Nor I neither; and therefore it

seems to Vie an invention to justify their o^vn

murders." K. " No, my lord, I do not think

that inference can he drawn from it; hecause,

while 1 was at Inverness, I was informed hy

several officers that there was such an order,

signed ' George Murray;' and that it was in

the duke's custody. B. " Lord George Mur-

ray! Why, then, they should not charge it

upon the prince." After this conversation the

prisoners tenderly saluted each other, and Bal-

merino, after bidding his friend in affliction

an eternal and happy adieu, added, with a

countenance beaming with benignity, " My
dear lord, I wish I could alone pay the reckon-

ing and sufl'er for us both."

Lord Kilmarnock appeared to be most anx-

ious to impress upon the minds of those who
were with him the sincerity of his repentance

for the crime for which he was about to sutler.

He declared himseK fidly satisfied with the

legality of King George's title to the crown,

and stated that his attachment to the reigning

family, which had sullered a slight interrup-

tion, was then as strong as ever. He spent a

considerable time in devotion with Mr. Eoster,

till he got a hint from the sheritfs that the

time was far advanced, his rank as an earl giv-

ing hun a melancholy priority on the scatJbld.

After iVIr. Foster had said a short prayer, his

lordship took a tender farewell of the persons

who attended him, and, preceded by the sher-

iffs, left the room followed by his friends.

Notwithstanding the great trouble he had

taken, in accordance with the wish of Mr.

Foster, to familiarise Ms mind with the out-

ward apparatus of death, he was appalled when
he stepped upon the scaffold at beholding the

dreadful scene around him, and, turning round

about to one of the clergymen, said, " Home,
this is terrible!" He was attired in a suit of

black clothes, and, though his countenance was

composed, he had a melancholy air about him,

which indicated great mental suffering. ]\lany

of the spectators near the scaffold were so much
affected by his appearance that they could not

refrain from tears, and even the executioner

was so overcome that he was obliged to drink

several glasses of spiiits to enable him to per-

form his dreadful duty.

Mr. Foster, who had accompanied his lord-

ship to the scaffold, remained on it a short

time in earnest conversation, and having quit-

ted it, the executioner came forward and asked

his lordship's forgiveness in executing the very

pauiful task he had to perform. The unhappy

nobleman informed the executioner that he

readily forgave him, and presenting him a purse

containing five guineas, desired him to have

courage. His lordship then took off' his upper

clothes, turned down the neck of his shirt

under his vest, and undoing liis long dressed

hair from the bag which contained it, tied it

round his head in a damask cloth in the form

of a cap. He then informed the executioner

that he would drop a handkerchief as a signal

for the stroke about two minutes after he had

laid his head down upon the block. Either

to support liimself, or as a more convenient

posture for devotion, he laid his hands upon

the block. On observing this the executioner

begged his lordship to let his hands fall down,

lest they should be mangled or break the blow.

Being told that the neck of his waistcoat was

in the way, he rose up, and with the help of

Colonel Craufurd, one of his friends, had it

taken off. The neck being now made com-

pletely bare to the shoulders, the earl again

knelt do^vn as before. This occurrence did

not in the least discompose him, and Mr.

Home's servant, who held the cloth to receive

his head, heard him, after laying down hia

head the second time, put tlie executioner in

mind that in two minutes he woidd give the

signal. He spent this short time in fervent

devotion. Then, fixing his neck upon the

block, he gave the fatal signal ; his body re-

mained without the least motion till the stroke

of the axe, which at the first blow almost se-

vered the head from the body. A small piece

of skin which still united them was cut through

by another stroke. The head, which was re-

ceived into a scarlet cloth, was not exposed, in

consequence, it is said, of the earl's own re-

quest, but along with the body, was deposited

in the coflin, which was delivered to his friends,

and placed by them in the hearse. The scaf-

fold was then strewed over with fresh saw-

dust, and the executioner, who was dressed in

white, changed such of his clothes as were

stained with blood.

The first act of this bloody tragedy betug
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now over, the vmder-sheriif went to Balmerino's

apartments to give liim notice that his time

was come. " I suppose," said his lordship on

seeing this functionary enter, " my Lord Kil-

marnock is no more." Being answered in the

affirmative, he asked the under-sheriff how the

executioner had performed his duty, and upon

receiving the account, he said, " then it was

well done, and now, gentlemen, (continued the

inflexible Babnerino, turning to his friends,) I

will detain you no longer, for I desire not to

protract my life." During the time spent in

Kilmarnock's execution Balmerino had con-

versed cheerfully with liis friends, and twice

refreshed himself with a bit of bread and a

glass of wine, desiring the company to drink

him " a degree to heaven." Saluting each of

his friends in the most affectionate manner, he

bade them all adieu, and leaving them bathed

in tears, he hastened to the scaffold, which he

momited with a fam step.

The strong feeling of pity with which the

spectators h.ad beheld the handsome thougn

emaciated figure of the gentle KUmamock gave

place to sensations of another kind, when they

beheld the bold and strongly-built personage

who now stood on the stage before them.

Attired in the same regimentals of blue turned

up with red which he had worn at the battle of

Culloden, and treading the scaffold with a firm

step and an undaunted air, he gloried in the

cause for which he suffered, and forced the assem-

bled multitude to pay an unwilling tribute of

admiration to his greatness of soul. His friends,

on beholding the apparatus of death, expressed

great concern ; but his lordsliip reproved their

anxiety. His lordsliip walked round the scaf-

fold, and bowed to the people. He then went

to the coffin, and reading the inscription, said

it was correct. With great composure Jie exa-

mined the block, wliich he called liis " pillow

•)f rest." He then put on his spectacles, and,

pulling a paper from his pocket, read it to the

few persons about him, in which he declared

his firm attachment to the house of Stuart, and

stated that the only fault he had ever com-

mitted deserving liis present fate, and for which

he expressed his sincere regret, was in having

served in the armies of the enemies of that

house. Queen Anne and George I. He com-

plained that he had not been well used by the

lieutenant of the Tower, but that having re-

ceived the sacrament the day befoie, and read

several of the Psalms of David, lie had for-

given him, and said that he now died in charity

with all men.

Calling at last for the executioner, that func-

tionary stepped forward to ask his forgiveness,

but Balmerino interrupted him, and said,

" Friend, you need not ask my forgiveness
;

the execution of your duty is commendable."

Then, presenting him with three guineas, his

lordsliip added, " Friend, I never had much
money ; this is all I have, I wish it was more

for your sake, and I am sorry I can add nothing

else to it but my coat and waistcoat." These

he instantly took ofi', and laid them down on

the coifin. He then put on the flannel waist-

coat wliich he had provided, and a tartan

cap on his head, to signify, as he said, that

he died a Scotchman ; and going to the block,

placed his head upon it in. order to show the

executioner the signal for the blow, which

was by dropping his arms. Keturning then

to his friends, he took an affectionate fare-

well of them, and, surveying the vast num-

ber of spectators, said, " I am afraid there are

some who may think my behaviour bold ; but,"

addressing a gentleman near him, he added,

" remember, Sir, what I tell you ; it arises from

a confidence in God, and a clear conscience."

Observing at this moment the executioner

with the axe in his hand, he went up, and,

taking it from liim, felt the edge. On return-

ing the fatal instrument, Babnerino showed

him where to strike the blow, and encour-

aged him to do it with resolution, " for in that,

friend," said he, " will consist your mercy."

His lordsliip, then, with a countenance beam-

ing with joy, knelt down at the block, and ex-

tending his arms, said the following prayer :

—

" O Lor<l, reward my friends, forgive my
enemies, bless the prince and the duke, and

receive my soul." He then instantly drojjt

liis arms. The executioner, taken unawares by

the suddenness of the signal, hurriedly raised

the axe, and missing his aim, struck the ill-fated

lord between the shoulders, a blow wliich, it lias

been said, deprived the unfortunate nobleman

of sensation ; but it has been averred by some

of the spectators, that Balmerino turned hi«

head a little round upon the block, crcaslied

4 z
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his teeth, and gave the executioner a ghastly

stare. Taking immediately a better aim, the

executioner gave a second blow, which almost

severed the head from the body, and deprived

the noble victim of life. The body having

fallen from the block, it was instantly replaced,

and the executioner, once more raising the

fatal weapon, finished his task. The head was

received in a piece of red cloth, and deposited

along with the body in the coffin, and being

put into a hearse, was carried to the chapel of

tlie Tower, and buried with that of Lord Kil-

marnock, near the remains of Lord Tullibardine.

Mr. Humplireys, curate of the chapel, read the

funeral service, and when he came to the words,

" Dust to dust, ashes to ashes," two gentlemen,

friends of the deceased, took up the spades and

performed the office of the grave-diggers.

For a time the unhappy fate of the two lords

almost exclusively engaged the attention of the

public; and in private circles, as well as in the

periodicals of the day, tlie conduct and bear-

ing of the unfortunate noblemen were viewed

and commented upon according to the parti-

alities and feelings of the parties. By the

whigs, and generally by all persons of a real or

afl'ected seriousness of mind, Kilmarnock was

regarded as a perfect model of the dying Chris-

tian, who, though he had been guilty of base

ingratitude to tlie government, and had told a

falsehood at his trial, had fully atoned for his

ofl'ences by his contrition ; whilst his com-

panion in sufi'erLng was looked upon as an

incorrigible rebel, who had braved death with

an unbecoming levity. The Jacobites, how-

ever, and even some of the friends of the revo-

lution settlement, whilst they could not but

admire the calm resignation of Kilmarnock,

heartily despised the cringing pusillanimity

wliich he displayed to soften the resentment of

the government. Babnerino was viewed by

them in a very difl'erent light. '\Aniilst the

Jacobites looked upon him as an illustrious

martyr, who had added a lustre to their cause

by liis inflexible intrepitlity and the open

avowal of his sentiments, the other section of

his admirers applauded liis courage, and paid a

just tribiite to his honesty. The more dispas-

sionate judgment of posterity has done ample

ju.stice to the rectitude and magnanimity of this

unfortunate nobleman.

The next victims to the offended laws were

Donald Macdonald, of the Keppoch family,

who had served as a captain in the regiment

of that cliief, Walter Ogilvy, a young man ot

good family in Banffshire, a lieutenant in Lord

Lewis Gordon's regiment, and James Nicolson,

who had kept a coflee-house in Leith. These

tliree, with one Alexander Macgrowther, who
also held a commission in the Highland army,

were taken at Carlisle. When brought to the

bar of the coirrt at St. Margaret's-hill, the three

first pleaded guilty, and begged for mercy; but

j\Iacgrowther attempted to defend himself on

the ground that he was forced into the insur-

rection by the Duke of Perth against his wiU,

having as a vassal no power to withstand the

commands of his superior.^ This defence, cor-

responding in very many cases with reality, and

which was also made by many of the Scotch pri-

sonei-s, was overruled. On the 2d of August

these four persons were condemned, and Mac-

gro-\vther having been afterwards reprieved, the

remainder suffered on Kennington-common, on

the 22d of the same month. Macdonald and

Nicolson were executed in their Highland dress.

The same revolting process of disembowelling,

&c., practised upon the bodies of Townley and

his companions, was gone through; but the

spectators were spared the revolting spectacle,

which was witnessed on that occasion, of cut-

ting down the prisoners wlxilst alive.

At Perth, on the 19 th of September, Captain

Crosby, who had deserted from the British

army in Flanders, and come to Scotland with

the French troops, was hanged, and two de-

serters were shot. A singular incident hap-

pened on this occasion. To carry the sentence

against Crosby into execution on the day ap-

pointed, the hangman of Perth was secured in

the town prison; but having apparently no

certainty that he would perform his painful

duty, the hangman of Stirling was sent for by

the magistrates, who, upon his appearance,

liberated the timorous functionary. The hang-

man immediately fled the place. Captain

Crosby was brought to the place of execution

on the appointed day, but before the time for

* "The general plea auJ defence of the prisoners at

Cailisle was that they were forced into the rebellion

—

;'.€., they were put under influences by clanship and

such like, morally equivalent to force."

—

Carlisle in

'45, p. 257.
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tlirowing him oil' arrived, the executioner dropt

dD'\vn dead. After remaining a considerable

time at the place of execution the guard was

returning with Crosby to the prison, when an

infamous criminal, who was a prisoner in the

iail, offered to hang the captain for a reward

of ten guineas and a free pardon. The autho-

rities having acceded to the demand of this

ruffian, Crosby was immediately careied back

to the place of execution, and suffered witli

great fortitude."

The sittings at St. Margaret's-hill were re-

sumed on the 23d of August, and were con-

tinued from time to time for about two months.

Bills were found against thirty-two persons,

besides Lord Macleod and Secretary Murray;

but these last were not brought to trial. Of

the thirty-two tried no less than twenty-two

vvere con\'icted at different times, all of whom
received sentence of death on the 15th of No-

vember. Of these, eight of the principal were

ordered for execution on the 28th of that month.

Among these were Sir John AVedderburn, John

Hamilton, Andrew Wood, Alexander Leith,

and James Bradshaw. Sir John Wedderbui-n

had acted as receiver in the counties of Perth

and Angus of the ale and malt arrears raised

by the Higliland army; Hamilton had been

governor of Carlisle; "Wood, a youth of two-

and-twenty, had distinguished himself as a

volunteer in Eoy Stewart's regiment; Leith

had served as a captain in the Duke of Perth's

regiment, and though old and infirm, had been

remarkable for zeal and activity; and Brad-

shaw had shown his devotion to the cause of

the Stuarts by giving up a lucrative business

as a merchant in Manchester, and expending

all liis wealth to promote it. He entered the

Manchester regiment; but thinking that he

could be of more use by marching with the

Highland army into Scotland than by remain-

ing at Carlisle, he joined Lord Elcho's corps, and

was taken prisoner after the battle of Culloden.

On the morning of the execution two of the

prisoners of the name of Farquharson and

Watson obtained a reprieve, as also did

one Lindsay, just as he was about to step

into the sledge. The effect upon this man's

feelings, when his pardon was announced,

' True Copies of the Papers wrote by Arthur Lord
Halnierino and others, published in the year 1746.

was such, that his life appeared for a time in

danger. The five prisoners were then drawn

to the place of execution in two sledges, where

their doom was sealed. Bradshaw read a

paper, in which he declared that he had joined

" the king's forces" from a principle of duty

only, and that he never had reason since to be

convinced that he had been mistaken ; but

that, on the contrary, every day's experience

had strengthened his opinion that what he had

done was right and necessary. He stated that

he had had the misfortune to fall into the

hands of the most ungenerous enemy he be-

lieved ever assumed the name of a soldier,

—

" the pretended duke of Cumberland, and

those under his command," whose inhumanity,

he observed, had exceeded every thing he could

have imagined, " in a country where the name

of a God is allowed of" He expressed his

firm conviction, that the order attributed to

Charles to give no quarter was " a malicious,

wicked report, raised by the fi'iends of the

usurper" to excuse the cruelties committed by

his troops in Scotland. After a high eulogium

upon the qualifications of the prince, the paper

concluded with a prayer for the preservation

of " King James the Third, the Prince of Wales,

and the Duke of York."

Besides the trials at Southwark, other trials

took place at Carlisle and York, chiefly of

prisoners taken at Culloden. No less than 382

of these unfortunate beings had been brought

to Carlisle ; but as the trial of such a great

number of persons, \vith a view to capital

punishment, might appear extremely harsh,

and would be inconvenient, a proposal was

made to the common prisoners, who formed

the great mass, that, with certain exceptions,

only one in every twenty, chosen by lot, shoidd

be tried, and that the remainder should be

transported. Tliis proposal was acceded to by

a considerable number. By this means the num-

ber for trial was reduced to 127, who were imme-

diately separated from the others, and with the

exception of two—Sir Archibald Primrose and

Captain Hay—thrust into one room in the

keep of the castle, where their miseries in-

duced many to hatch futile plots for escape.^

The judges adjourned to the 9th of Septem-

ber; and, in the mean time, they repaired to

' Carlisle in 'ii, p. 2^-50.
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York, where the grand jury found bills against

75 persons confined there. The judges resumed

their sittings at Carlisle for the trial of the pri-

soners there, on the 9th of September, on

which, and the two folIo^ving days, the pri-

soners, against whom bUls had been found,

were arraigned. BUls were found against 1.5

more on the 12th, making a total of 134. Of

these, 1 1 pled guUty when arraigned ; 32 en-

tered the same plea when brought to trial ; 48

were found guilty, of whom 11 were recom-

mended to mercy, 36 acquitted, 5 remanded

to prison till further evidence should be pro-

cured, and 1 obtained delay on azi allegation

of his being a peer. The judges resumed their

sittings at York on the 2d of October, and sat

tiU the 7th. Of the 75 persons indicted, 2

pled guilty when arraigned, 52 when brought

to trial, and 16 were found guilty, 4 of whom
were recommended to mercy. All these re-

ceived sentence of death. Five only were ac-

quitted.

Of the 91 prisoners under sentence at Car-

lisle, 30 were ordered for execution ; 9 of whom
were accordingly executed at Carlisle on the

18th of October.' Six were executed at

Brampton on the 21st of the same month,

and 7 suffered at Penrith. Seven out of the

30 were reprieved, and 1 died in prison. AH
those who were executed underwent the usual

process of imbowelltng.

Among those who suffered at Carlisle on

October 18th, were Major Donald !Macdonal<l of

Tynedrish—he who, short-sighted, unwittingly

allowed himself to be made prisoner after the

battle of Falkii-k. He was one of the first to

join Prince Charles after his landing, and it is

supposed that Sir Walter Scott had him in his

mind, when he drew the character of Fergus

M'lvor, in iVaverley. Another was the brave

and chivalrous laird of Kinloch-Moidart, de-

scribed as a plain honest man, exceedingly

' One of them, Cappock, (created Bishop of Carlisle

by Charles,) made a long speech ia support of the

claims of the house of Stuart. He prayed for " King
James," Prince Charles, and the rest of the Stuart

family, called King George an usurper, and when
found guilty, he thus addressed his fellow-prisoners

at the bar:—"Never mind it, my boys; for if

our Saviour was here, these fellows would condemn
him." Observing Brand extremely dejected, he said

to him, "What the devil are you afraid of? We
shan't lie tried by a Cumberland jury in the other

world."

—

Scots Mag. vol. viii. p. 498.

cool-headed, and fitted for either the cabinet

or the field, but unable to resist the persuasions

of his brother .Silneas Macdonald, the Paris

banker, who accompanied Charles to Scotlana

—and the fascination which the prince seems

to have exercised on those whom he personally

addressed. An acquaintance of !Macdonald's

visited him when he was confined a prisoner

in Edinburgh Castle, and asked him how he

came to engage in so desperate an undertaking,

which never had a probability of success ? "I

myself was against it," he replied ; " but, Lord

man, what could I do when the young lad

came to my house 1
" ^

On the 1st of November 10 of the prisoners

condemned at York suffered in that city, and

on the 8th of the same month, 11 others

suffered the same fate. Another prisoner

suffered on the 15th November. The work

of death closed at Carlisle on the 15th of De-

cember by the immolation of 1 1 more victuns.

Out of the 77 persons who thus suffered, it

is remarkable that, with the sohtary exception

of Lord Kilmarnock, they all maintained, to

the very last, the justice of the cause for which

they sufl'ered. The more enthusiastic among

them even openly declared that they would

continue to support the claim of the exiled

family to the crown if set at liberty.

Notwithstanding this useless waste of hiunau

blood, the government did not consider the

work of destruction complete till the lives of

two individuals, who lay more especially under

its ban, were sacrificed, as the last atonement

to public justice. These were Charles Ratcliife

and Lord Lovat. The former was a younger

brother of the Earl of Derwentwater, who

suftered in 1716, and whose title Mr. Eatcliffe

had assumed. He had been engaged in the

former insurrection, taken at Preston, and con-

demned, but made his escape out of Newgate
;

and after passing some years in France and

Italy, married the Countess of Newburgh at

Paris. He had visited England privately in

1733, and returned again two years thereafter,

when he appeared openly in public. Solicit.-

ing liis pardon mthout success, he returned to

France, where he remained till November,

1745, when he was made prisoner on board

a French vessel, on her way to Scotland

• Carlisle in '45, pp. 254 and 266.
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•vvith suppues for Prince Charles. He was

arraigned at the bar of the court of king's

bench on the 21st of November, 1746, upon

his former sentence ; but he refused either to

plead or to acknowledge the authority of the

c.iurt, on the groimd that he was a subject of

France, where he had resided thirty years, and

honoured with a commission in the service of

his most cliristian majesty. Being brought to

the bar next day, his former sentence being

read over to him, he pleaded that he was not

the person therein mentioned ; but his identity

being clearly established, he was ordered to be

executed on the 8th of December. His aunt.

Lady Petre, did every thing in her power to

save him, or at least to procure a respite tUl

his lady should arrive from Paris, but without

success. Some demur seems, however, to have

existed, as the preparations for his execution

were so long delayed, that the carpenters were

obliged to work on the scaffold on Sunday the

day before the execution, and all the following

night.

The preparations for his execution were

somewhat the same as those in the cases of

Kilmarnock and Balmerino. He was dressed

in a suit of scarlet, faced with black velvet

trimmed with gold, a gold-laced waistcoat, and

wore a white feather in his hat. When he

came upon the scaffold he took a tender farewell

of his friends, and after spending about seven

minutes in prayer on his knees, he rose, and

pulling off his clothes, went forward to the

block, on which he placed his head to try how

it fitted. He then spoke to the executioner as

if giving him directions, and kneeling down

again, and fixing his head upon the block, in

about two minutes he gave the signal to the

executioner, who, as in the case of Balmerino,

did not complete his work till he had given

the third blow. The head was received in a

scarlet cloth. Without the levity of Balmerino,

Jlr. Eatcliffe displayed the same manly forti-

tude and contempt of death exhibited by that

unfortunate nobleman. He died, as he had

lived, a Catholic ; and so warmly was he at-

tached to the faith of his ancestors, that when

some zealous Protestant objected to him that

some of the tenets of his religion were contrary

to reason, he is said to have mshed, that for

every such tenet, the belief of wliich was re-

quired by the church, tliere were twenty, that

he miglit have a larger field for exercising his

faith.i His body was delivered over to his

friends, and interred by them, on the 11th of

November, at St. Giles's-in-the-fields, near the

remains of his brother.

Tlie last scene of tliis bloody tragedy ended

witli the trial and execution of the aged Lord

Lovat, who had been confined in the Tower

since the 15th of August. He was impeached

by the House of Commons on the 11th of

December, and was brought to the bar of the

House of Peers on the 18th, when the articles

of impeachment were read to him.^ At liis

own desire, four gentlemen were assigned him

for counsel, and he was appointed to put in

answers to the articles of impeachment on or

before the 13th of January. The trial, which

was appointed to take place on the 23d of Feb-

ruary, was postponed to the 5th, and after-

wards to the 9th of March, on which day it

commenced. The articles of impeachment

were in substance, that he had compassed and

imagined the death of the king,—that he had

corresponded with the Pretender, accepted a

commission from him to be a lieutenant-general

of his forces, and another to be general of the

Highlanders, and that he had accepted a patent

from the Pretender creating him Duke of

1 Boyse, p. 176.
^ The Laird of Macleod, in a letter to Lord-president

Forbes, dated 18th December, 174t), says, " 1 saw un-

happy Lovat to-day. Except for the feebleness of his

limbs, his looks are good. He asked me several general

questions, and particularly about you;—said he was
resigned, and ready to meet his fate, since it was God's

will;—asked after his children, &c." In another letter

to the president, written two days thereafter, he again

alludes to his lordship;—" Lovat behaved well at the

bar of the house of peers, and they say with spirit.

Granville and Bath spoke very strongly with regard to

the seizure of his estate and effects; and that matter is

ordered to be rectified, except in so far as private cre-

ditors come in the way." Sn- Andrew Mitchell, how-
ever, who was more of a courtier than Macleod, viewed
matters in a ditl'erent light. In a letter to the presi-

dent, 26th December, 1746, he remarks, "Your lord-

ship will have heard an account of Lord Lovat's be-

haviour; and, therefore, I shall not trouble you with

the particulars; only, I must observe, there was neither

dignity nor gravity in it: he appeared quite uncon-

cerned; and what he said was ludicrous and bufl'oon-

ish; but his petition for the restoration of his effects,

&c., was bold and well worded; which, however, would
have been passed over without notice, had not Lord
Granville bounced, and Lord Bath vapoured, and pro-

cured an order to be entered in the Journals, and have

by that acquired to themselves a sort of popularity,

which you know they very much wanted. No Scots

nobleman spoke on this occasion; tliey are prudent

and cautious. God bless them ! "—CuUodcn Papers.
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Eraser,—that he had met mth armed traitors,

and had raised great numbers of armed men

for the service of the Pretender and his son,

and had traitorous!}' levied a cruel and un-

natural -^var against his majesty,—tliat he liad

/

Simon, Loril Lovat.- (Frum Hogarth's Picture.)

sent a treasonahle letter to the son of the Pre-

tender when in arms within the kingdom,

—

that ho had also sent treasonable letters to

utlier persons, then openly in arms against the

lihig,—that he had assisted the rebels in their

traitorous designs, and had sent his eldest son,

and many of his name, family, and dependents,

to the assistance of the Pretender's eldest son,

and had given them instructions in the pro-

secution of the rebelhon,—and finally, that he

liad traitorously, both in person and by letters,

lield correspondence with the eldest son of

the Pretender, and with divers persons em-

ployed b}' him, and particularly with Murray

of Broughton, the two Lochiels, John Eoy

Stewart, Dr. Cameron, and others. To all these

chaj'ges Lord Lovat gave a pointed denial.

They were, however, fully established by the

strongest proofs. Tlio viritton evidence con-

sisted of papers found Lii liis lordship's strong

box, liCKidos some letters which ho had written

to Prince Charles, the last of which having

come into the hands of Murray of Broughton,

in his capacity of secretary to the prince, were

basely delivered up by him to save his own

worthless life. Lord Lovat exerted all liis

ingenuity to evade the force of the evidence

;

but the proofs of his criminality were too clear

to admit of any doubt. His lordship objected

to the admissibility of Murray as a witness, on

the ground that he was attainted by act of par-

liament made in the previous session, and that

he had not surrendered himself in terms of the

act. Having stated that he had several objec-

tions against the mtness, one or two of which

he considered essential, a discussion ensued as

to whether all these objections shoidd not at

once be stated. As giving a fair sample of the

manner in which the trial was conducted, the

argument on both sides, on the point alluded

to, is here given :—

•

" Mr. Attorney-General.—My lords, I ob-

serve that the noble lord at the bar said that

he had several objections to the examining this

witness, and that one or two of them were essen-

tial ; but the noble lord has not mentioned more

than one. I presume, my lords, it would bo

proper that he should name all his objections

at once, that the managers may have an oppor-

tunity of answering them all, and receiving your

lordsliips' judgment upon the whole ; there-

fore, if he has any other objections to offer, it

would be proper he should mention them now

to your lordships. Lord Lovat.—My lords,

I submit it to your lordships that that is a

very odd proposition. I give your lordships

an essential one now, and when that is an-

swered I have another. I am not to be di-

rected by those who are my 2}ersecutor3. Lord-

High-Steward.—My Lord Lovat, you are not

to be directed by your accusers, but by the

lords who are your judges ; and the cotirse of

proceeding in this and all other com'ts is, that

a person, who objects to any witness, should

name all his objections at the same time ; and

it is the more material in this court, as it tendi

to prevent the trouble of making several un-

necessary adjournments. Lord L.—My lords,

as this objection is very essential, I pray that

it may bo answered before I make another.

LoiiD Tai-BOT.—K this is a material objec-

tion to the witness, then there will be no
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occasioa tor any other; but if it is an imma-

terial one, tliea your lordships may go into any

other; but the way proposed by the managers

may be very detrimental to the unhappy per-

son at the bar. Lord H. S.—Your lordships

hear what is proposed; and the question is,

whether the noble lord at the bar shaU name

all his objections now, or take them up one by

one. Sir "William Yonqe, (one of the mana-

gers from the commons.)—My lords, I should

hope that, in any course of proceeding, where

objections of this kind are made, they should be

made all together; for if they are made separate,

we must consequently make distinct answers to

them all, which may oblige your lordships to

adjoiuu often to the chamber of parliament,

wliich ^vill create a great and unnecessary de-

lay of time : and my lords, there can be no ob-

jection to liis naming the whole at once, since

they wLU all be distinctly considered by your

lordsliips, and undoubtedly receive distinct

answers. I therefore humbly insist, that he

may be obliged to name all Lis objections at

once. Mr. Noel, (anotlier manager.)—My
lords, what we are now upon is no point of

law at all : it is simply, whether the noble lord

at the bar as is usual should not name aU his

objections at oncel Wlien he does name

them, then to such as are clear points of law

he must be heard by his counsel; but at pre-

sent, my lords, we are upon a question con-

cerning the course of proceeding, whether he

shall name them aU at once, that they may be

taken into consideration at the same time? My
lords, one thing struck me in a very extraordi-

nary manner:—It was said by the noble lord at

the bar, that he was not to be directed by his

persecutors. My lords, we are no persecutors;

we persecute no man; we are intrusted by the

commons, who carry on this prosecution against

the noble lord at the bar for treason, and we

jirosecute for the preservation of the king's

government and the laws of the land. Lord

I..—My lords, I said I was not to be directed

by those who accused me. Your lordships

caimot expect I can say what I have to offer

ir.- an eloquent manner. My lords, should the

saving of a little time be a reason for taking

away a person's life? I hope these will not

act like the parricides who took off the head

of both kingdoms in a day by tlieir prosecu-

tiom I am a peer of this laud, and I think

no excuse of saving time should be allowed as

a reason to destroy me. Lord H. S.—My
Lord Lovat, the lords will use aU the delibera-

tion, and give you all the time that is requisite

for your defence ; but I must beg your lordsliip

wiU have so much consideration as to keep your

temper, and not suffer yourself to be hurried

into passion, for that may greatly prejudice

you in making your defence. Your lordship

will find the advantage in your defence by

keeping your temper. Lord L.—I give your

lordship my humble thanks: and since your

lordships will not allow me counsel, I have

spoke the little nonsense I had to say; but

now your lordships shall hear me say nothing

out of temper. Lord H. S.—My Lord Lovat,

the question now is, whether you shall name

all your objections at once? I must acquaint

your lordship that that is the rule in the courts

below, that if several objections are made to

a witness, they are all named at once, in order

to prevent unnecessary delaj's. Lord L.—My
lords, to show how much I desire to save

time, though, according to the course of na-

ture, my time can be but short, I am so far

from desu'ing to give your lordships trouble,

or to prolong time, that I do insist upon this

objection to the witness, and rely upon it as

the only material objection." ^

The managers having offered to prove, by

the record of the court of King's bench, that

Mr. Murray had siurendered himself within

the time prescribed, the question whether the

record shoidd be received in evidence, was ar-

gued at great length by the counsel for Lord

Lovat, and the managers on the part of the

prosecution. Having decided that the record

might be read and given in evidence. Lord

Lovat offered to falsify the record, by proving,

in opposition to the averment therein con-

tained, that Mr. Murray had not surrendered

himself as required by the act of parliament.

The court, however, decided that the record of

the court of King's bench, which was, never-

theless, literally untrue, could not be falsified

by oral e\'idence.

Being called upon to make his defence on

the sixth day of the trial, Lovat gave in a long

' Trial jiulilisheil by order of the House of Teers.

London, 1747.
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paper, in which he commented with great se-

verity upon the ^\^tnesses, whose testimony he

maintained was not to be credited. He de-

signated Secretary Murray as " the most aban-

doned of mankind, who, forgetting his allegi-

ance to his king and country, had, according

to lus own confession, endeavoured lo destroy

both, like another Catiline, to patch up a

broken fortune upon the ruin and distress of

his native country. To-day stealing into

France to enter into engagements upon the

most sacred oath of fidelity ; soon after, like a

sanguinary monster, putting his hand and seal

to a bloody proclamation, full of rewards for

the apprehending of the sacred person of his

majesty, and lest the cup of his iniquity had not

been filled, to sum up all in one, impudently

appearing at their lordships' bar to betray those

very secrets which he confessed he liad drawn

from the person he called his lord, his prince

and master, under the strongest confidence."

" Thus far," he concluded, " I thought it my
duty, in vindication of mj-self, to trouble your

lordships, and without further trespassing upon

your patience, freely submit my life, my for-

tmie, my honour, and what is dearest of all,

my posterity, to your lordsliips."*

After the managers for the prosecution had

addressed the court, Lord Lovat was withdrawn

from the bar. All the peers present—117

ji number—unanimously found his lordship

guilty. Lord Lovat was then called back to

the bar, and informed by the lord-high-steward

* He made several appeals calculated to move com-
miseration for his grey hairs. " lly lords," he said,

at the commencement, '

' I have not had the use of

my limbs these three years ; I cannot see, I cannot
hear ; and I beg, if yonr lordships have a mind I

should have any chance of my life, that you will allow
either my counsel or solicitors to examine my witnesses,

and to cross-examine those produced on behalf of the
crown, and to take notes." If he had been tried, on
the charges brought against him, in Scotland forty-

six years earlier, he would have been allowed this

privilege ; but the rules of English law confined the
assistance of counsel, in cases of treason, to jmrely
legal questions. At the conclusion of the second day
he complained of the hardships of the early daily at-

tendance to one of his infirm constitution, and said,

"I must therefore beg that your lordships will indulge
me with a later hour and some respite ; otherwise I

shall die at your bar," hut the request seems to have
been unheeded. Another appeal of the same descrip-

tion, in which he said, "I fainted away thrice this

morning before I came up to your lordships' bar ; but
yet was determined to show my respect to your lord-

ships, or die upon the spot, " produced a respite of a

day.—Burton's Life of Laval, p. 2.)7

of the judgment of the court. Being brought

up next day to receive his sentence, he ad-

dressed the coui-t in a long speech, in which he

gave a rambling recital of his services to the

house of Hanover ; and after recei\'ing sentence,

he implored their lordships and the managers of

the commons to recommend him to the mercy

of his majesty. Before leaving the bar, he

said, "God bless you all, and I bid you an ever-

lasting farewell. We shall not meet all in the

same place again. I am sure of that."

" The public were ravenous ^vith curiosity

about the great Leviathan that had been at

last so effectually hooked, and it was necessary

to fill the ear of London with details of his

previous history, as well as anecdotes of liis

conduct since his capture. Many of them are

fabulous, and many not worth preserving, but

a few are too characteristic to be passed over.

They may be announced by an incident not

mentioned in the contemporary accotmts, but

preserved by tradition. On his retiu'n from

the House of Lords to the Tower, an old woman
not very well favoured, had pressed through

the crowd and screamed in at the window of

the coach, " You'll get that nasty head of yours

chopped off, you ugly old Scotch dog," to which

he answered, " I believe I shall, you ugly old

English b ," paying her back with the

feminine of the mascidine epithet she had

applied to him. The major of the Tower com-

ing to visit him and ask how he did, he an-

swered, " Why, I am about doing pretty well,

for I am preparing myself, sh-, for a place

where hardly any majors, and very few lieu-

tenant-generals go ;" this was a more distinct

hint than that given to the House of Lords."'

On the 2d of April the sheriffs of London

and Middlesex received a warrant for liis execu-

tion, which was appointed to take place on the

9th. His lordship, it is said, petitioned the

king that he might be despatched by the maiden,

the Scottish instrument of decaj)itation ; but

his application was not attended to. His ap-

proaching fate did not in the least discompose

him, and though in the eightieth year of his

age, his spirits never flagged, nor was his natural

vivacity in any degree diminished. He said,

the day before his execution, that he was never

at any time in better spirits ; and he told Dr.

* Burton's Loml, pji. 262, 263.
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Ciark, Lis physician, that the Tower was a

better recipe for upholding them than the

emetics he used to give him. ^ Tliough regard-

less of death, and even occasionally facetious

on the circumstances of his coming exit, he

was not indifferent to the consolations of reli-

gion, and cheerfully availed himself of the

sjiiritual assistance of a Catholic priest. Early
|

on the uiorniiig of the execution, 1,200 troops I

drew up on Tower-hiU, and all the preparations

were gone tlirough as in the former instances,
j

About an hoiu- before the execution, a serious •

accident occmred, in consequence of the faU of
1

a large scaffolding with 400 persons, by wliicli

eighteen were killed on the spot, and many
bruised and crippled. When Lovat heard of

it his cool remark was," " The more mischief

the better sport." "When he arrived at the

scaffold, Lovat was obliged, from infirmity, to

obtain the assistance of two persons in mount-

ing. He displayed, to the very last, his charac-

teristic fortitude, or rather bravado, and, with

great coolness, felt the edge of the axe, with

the sharpness of which he declared himself

satisfied. On looking round and observing the

great crowd, lie said, " God save us,—wliy

A Representation af th^ JSxecubon oflordzoyAT.

3 iordJ^ff2/atf /tedct e7lipSL-zi

CJ'i/i tonr. ir-tlieJi'zd I E T/uCh^n . a>Sa/fiLi

Phototype /itt-«?/«7e from a rare contemporaiy print in tlie possession of James Drummond, Esq., K.S.A.

should there be such a bustle about taking off

an old gray head that cannot get up three steps

without two men to support it."^ He gave

the executioner ten guineas, advised him to

perform his duty firmly, and take a good aim,

and told him that if he mangled his shoulders,

he would be displeased with him. In conver-

sation he used frequently to cite passages from

the classics ; and, on the present occasion, he

repeated the celebrated saying of Horace,

—

" Diilce et decorum est pro patria mori," as

peculiarly applicable to the cause for which he

was about to suffer. After spending some time

in devotion, this remarkable man laid Ids head

« Cviloden Papers, p. S02. ' Burton's Lovat, p. 265.

down upon the block with the utmost com-

posure, and the executioner struck it off at a

single blow. His lordship had given directions

that his body shoidd be carried to Scotland,

and his friends had removed it to an under

taker's in the Strand preparatory to its being

sent down ; but, by order of government, it was

interred at St. Peter's in the Tower, in the same

grave with Lords Kilmarnock and Balmeiino.

Whilst these executions could not fa'J to

impress the disaffected with a strong idea oi

the power and inclination of government to

uphold and maintain the authority of the law,

they were calculated by their number and

' Burton'? Lnrat, p. 265.



738 GENERAL HISTuEY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

ssverity rather to excite a thirst for vengeance,

than to inspire that sahitary fear which it is

the ohject of punishment to promote. During

these executions, a scheme was concocted to

arrest the arm of the law hy seizing and carry-

ing off the person of the Duke of Cumberland,

aud retaining liim as a hostage for the lives

of the prisoners. The originators of this bold

design went from London to Paris, and laid

their plan before Charles shortly after his

arrival from Scotland, and offered to make the

attempt- but Charles refused to sanction it,

and the scheme was dropped. ^

By way of conciliating the oil'ended feelings

of the nation, the government got an act of

indemnity passed in June, 1747, granting a

pardon, with certain exceptions, to all persons

wlio had been engaged in the rebellion; but

tliese exceptions were so numerous as to divest

the act of all pretensions to the character of

grace or favour. Besides all persons attainted

of liigh treason by act of parliament or judg-

ment, or conviction of high treason by verdict,

confession, or otherwise, upwards of eighty

persons were specially excepted by name. ^

' Vide Letter in the Stuart Papers from the Rev.

Myles Macdonell to the Chevalier de St. George,

dated St. Amiens, 4th May, 1747.
^ Among these were the Earls of Traquair and

Kellie, Robert Maccarty, styling himself Lord Clan-

carty, Sir James Stewart of Good Trees; Sirs John
Douglas, James Harrington, James Campbell, 'WiUiam
Dunbar, and Alexander Bannermau; Archibald Stew-

art, late provost of Edinburgh, Chisholm of Comar,

Cameron of Dungallon, Drummond of Bochaldy,

Fraser of Foyers, Farnuharsou of Bulmarrell, Fraser

of Avochnacloy, Dow Fraser of Little Garth, Fraser

of Browich, Fraser of Gortuleg, Gordon of Abochie,

Grant of Glenmoriston, Hunter of Burnside, Hay
younger of Rannus, Irvine of Drum, Macdonald of

Barisdale, M 'Gregor of Glengy le, Macleod of Raasay,

Gilbert llenzies, younger of Pitfodels, Moir of Stony-

wood, .Sneas Macdonald, James Macdonald, brother

to ICinlochmoidart, Macdonell of Glengarry, Macdon-
ald of Glenco, Robertson of Strowan, Roliertson of

Faskally, Robertson of Blairfetty, Stuart of Kyn-
nachin, Tui'ner, younger of Turner-hall, &c., &c.

Among those formerly attainted and excepted in

the above-mentioned act, were the following, vi2.,

Lords Pitsligo, Elcho, Nairne, and Ogilvy, Lord
George Murray, Lord Lewis Gordon, Lord John
Drummond, Drummond, eldest son of Lord
Strathallan, the Master of Lovat, Graham of Dun-
troon, Sir William Gordon of Park, Gordon of Glen-

bucket, young Lochiel, Dr. Cameron, Cameron of

Tor Castle, young Clanranald, Lochgarry, young Bar-

isdale, Macdonald of Glencoe, Macpherson of Cluny,

Maclachlan of Castle Lachlan, Mackinnou of Mac-
kinnon, Stewart of Ardshiel, Lockhart, younger of

Carnwath, Oliphant of Gask and his eldest son,

Graham of Airth, Roy Stewart, Farquharson of Mon-
alterye. Hay of Restalrig, &c.

CHAPTEK XXXIX.

A. D. 1747—1748.

British Sovereign :—George II., 1727—1760.

Arrival of Prince Charles at Paris—Meeting with his

brother—Reception at Fontainebleau—He returns

to Paris—Memorialises Louis—Admonished by his

father as to his conduct in France—Charles retires

to Avignon—Treatment of Lord G. Murray—His

journey to Spain—Return to Paris—Prince Henry
made Cardinal—Charles's pecuniary and other diffi-

culties—His advisers—Congress and peace of Aix-

la-Chapelle—Charles and his father protest against

the treaty—Charles refuses to quit the French ter-

ritories—His arrest—Conducted out of the French
dominions—Arrival at Avignon.

As soon as the French court received inteUi-

gence of the return of Charles to France, they

gave orders to prepare the castle of St. Antoine

for his reception. He was met near Paris on

the loth of October, (N. S.,^) by his brother

and a considerable number of the nobility, who

conducted him t<3 lus appointed residence.

The meeting between the two brothers, who

had not seen each other for nearly three years,

was of a most affecting description, and the

persons who were present declared that they

had never before witnessed such a moving

scene. Charles at first sight did not know

Henry, but the latter at once knew the prince,

who is described by his brother as not in the

least altered in his appearance since he last

saw him, only that he had "grown somewhat

broader and fatter."*

Louis with his court was at this time residing

at Fontainebleau, and as Charles was Impatient

to see him, he sent Colonel Warren thither

with instructions to Colonel O'Brien, the ac-

credited minister of the Chevalier de St.

George at the court of France, to request an

audience. Some difficulties were started at

first by the French ministers on the subject of

this demand, but the king at last consented to

see Charles and his brother, but stipulated that

they should preserve a sort of incognito.^

Louis in fact had become tii-ed of the war, and

that he might not widen the breach between

him and the court of London by appearing to

5 It is to be attended to, that in alluding to Charles's

proceedings on the continent the New Style is fol-

lowed.
* Letter among the Stuart Papers.
^ Letter from O'Bryen to the Chevalier, 17th Octo

ber, 1746, in the Stuart Papers.
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recoguiso the pretensions of tlio exiled family,

lie had resolved not to receive the sons of the

Chevalier at his court as princes of England.

James, who was fully aware of this policy of

the French court, thus argues the matter with

Charles, wlio naturally felt indignant at the

mode of his reception; " I am far fi'om saying

but tliat the king of France might have done

a great deal more for you; but after all, we
must consider the vast expenses he is at during

tlie war, and the system he has certainly laid

down to himself of not treating you and your

brother as princes of England, which system I

own shocked me at first, and seems preposter-

ous in the present situation of aflau's; but

when one considers the uncertainty of the

events of war, and that if we are not restored

before a peace, the king of France cannot but

continue to acknowledge the elector of Hanover

as king of England, and by consequence treat

us no more as princes of England; we cannot

but own that it is wise in him, and in a certain

sense even kind to us, not to expose himself

and us to a possibility and necessity of ceasing

to treat us according to our hirth, after having

once done it." ''

If Louis had been actuated by the motive

thus charitably imputed to liim, the reasoning

of James would have been plausible enough;

but Charles, who had both before and during

liis expedition experienced the hollowness of

the French policy, could not fail to perceive

that his father had formed an erroneous idea

of Louis's intentions. As by the treaty of

Fontainebleau he had heen recognised by that

monarch aa prmce regent of Scotland, Charles

had good reason to complain of the mode in

which he was to be received by his most

Christian majesty; hut he repressed his feelings

of disappointment on the occasion, and yielded

to a necessity which it was not in his power to

control. He resolved, however, to neutrahze

the effect which his appearance at court as a

private person might have upon the people by

getting up a splendid equipage, and proceeding

to Fontainebleau in great stata

Accordingly, on the day fixed for his recep-

tion at court, Charles left the castle of St.

' I.i-tter from the Chevaher to Cliarles, Gth Janu-
ary, i7i7.— Stuart Papers.

Antoine, accompanied by a number of hia

friends in coaches and on horseback. The

cortege was on the whole very grand; but

Cliarles himself attracted particidar attention

by the superbness of his dress. His coat was

of rose-coloured velvet, embroidered with silver,

and lined with silver tissue. His waistcoat

was of rich gold brocade, with a spangled fringe

set out in scoUoids. The cockade in his hat

and the huckles of his shoes were studded with

diamonds. The George at his bosom, and the

order of St. Andrew, which he wore at one of the

button-holes of his waistcoat, were dlustrated

with large diamonds. " In fine," observes an

enthusiastic eye-witness, "he glittered all over

like the star which they tell you appeared at his

nativity." Louis received Charles with great

kindness, and, embracing him, said, " My dear-

est Prince, I thank Heaven for the very great

pleasure it gives me to see you returned in

good health after so many fatigues and dangers.

You have proved that all the great qualities of

the heroes and phdosopliers are united in you,

and I hope that you will one day receive

the reward of such extraordinary merit." The

queen, likewise, welcomed him with every de-

monstration of good-win and affection. He
had never heen at the court of France before,

and every person was extremely desirous of see-

ing a prince of whom they had heard so much.

As Charles retired from the palace, the whole

court crowded about him, and complimented

him so liighly upon the fame of his exploits,

that they could scarcely have testified greater

joy, or expressed themselves in warmer terms,

had the dauphin himself been engaged in the

same dangerous expedition, and returned from

it in safety.^ Charles, it is said, afterwards

returned to the palace, and supped with the

king, queen, and royal family ; and all his

8 Authentic Account. The writer of this account,
who states that he obtained his information from an
eye-witness, says that when Charles arrived at Paris
he could not be prevailed upon to take any re''resh-

ment, but instantly proceeded to Versailles, to see the
king, and that though Louis was at that time engaged
in council on some affairs of importance, he imme-
diately quitted it to receive him. He then relates the
interview as above stated, and says that Charles was
afterwards publicly received at Fontainebleau in the
character of the Prince Regent of England, Scotland,
and Ireland. It is certain, however, that the first

time that Charles met Louis after his return to Franco
was at Fontainebleau, and it is equally certain that h-i

was never recognised at court as a British prince.
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attendants were magnLflcently entertained at

several tables, which had heen appointed for

them according to their rank.

Though the conduct of the French court to-

wards Charles had been deceptive, yet it is

understood that Louis was not so had as his

ministers in this respect ; and besides, he ap-

jjoars to have entertained a warm regard for

Charles personally. It is believed that Louis

would have given proofs of his esteem by em-

barking with spirit in the cause of the exiled

family ; but he was controlled by his ministers,

who certainly never were serious in their profes-

sions. Of the sincerity of the queen, however,

there cannot be the least doubt. She and

Charles's mother had passed many of their

juvenile years together, and had contracted a

warm attachment to each other, which had re-

mained unaltered dui'ing the life of the latter.

In Charles she now beheld the favom-ite son

of her late friend, whom he strongly resembled,

and she looked upon him with a maternal

tenderness, which was enhanced by the reputa-

tion of liis exploits, and the knowledge of the

sufferings he had endured. Whenever he came

to court, she is said to have conversed with liim

for whole hours together, during which she

would make him relate his adventures to her-

self and her ladies, all of whom were frequently

bathed in tears with the affecting recital.

Within a day or two after his arrival at

Fontainebleau, Charles wrote to Louis request-

ing the honour of a private audience on the

subject of his affairs, which appears to have

been granted, as three days thereafter, namely,

on the 25th of October, the prince requested

another interview, for the purpose of delivering

into the king's own hands a short memoir in

relation to his affairs.' Unable to obtain a

satisfactory answer, Charles left Fontainebleau,

and took up his residence with his brother at

Clichy, in the neighbourhood of Paris. His

company was much sought after by the fashion-

able circles of that gay metropolis, but he kept

himself comparatively retired. He appeared

at the opera for the first time on the 30tli of

Ottobor, and was received by the audience

with clapping of hands, which continued tiU

* Both these letters will be found among the Stuart

Papers.

the commencement of the opera, and was re-

newed at the conclusion.!

Tliough surrounded by men of integrity, who
had suffered proscription for his sake, Charles

does not appear to have consulted any of them

in his difficulties, nor to have honoured them

with the least share of his confidence. Shortly

after his return to France he wrote to his tutor,

Sir Thomas Sheridan, who, after escaping to

France, had repaired to Rome, requesting him
to join him at Paris ; and in the meantime he

availed himself of the equivocal services of

George KeUy. Sir Thomas, however, saw

Charles no more, having died soon after the

receipt of his pupil's letter. Charles then

adopted Kelly as his confidant, but he appears

to have been in every way unworthy of such a

mark of distinction. ^

' I^etter from O'Brien to the Chevalier de St. George,
31 st October, 1746, among the .Steari Papers.

^ Of the unlimited confidence which these two fa-

vourites enjoyed with Charles the Stuart Papers afford

abundant proofs. Sheridan in fact directed every

thing when Charles was in Scotland, and it was solely

owing to his aversion to a liill campaign,—the fatigue

of which he saidhecould not endure,—that Lord George
Murray could not prevail upon Charles to desist from
engaging tlie Duke of Cumbei'land at CuUoden; yet

so great was the ascendency which Sir Thomas bad
acquired over the mind of Charles, that the ruinous

result which ensued did not in the least weaken it.

Edgar announced Sheridan's death to Charles in a

letter dated 2d December, 1746, and sent along with
it all the papers found in Sir Thomas's repositories

having relation to the Prince or his affairs, among
which was a sketch of a dying speech which Sir Thomas
had prepared in case he had been taken and executed.

Dr. King insinuates, from the ignorance of Charles, that

Sheridan was in the pay of the English government

;

Init it would be doing injustice to the memory of the

favourite to believe him guilty of such baseness without
direct proofs of his criminality. The Doctor's words
are :

" His (Charles's) governor was a protestant, and
I am apt to believe purposely neglected his education,

of which, it is surmised, he made a merit to the Eng-
lish ministry ; for he was always supposed to be their

pensioner. The Chevalier Ramsay, the author of

Cyrus, was Prince Charles's preceptor for about a

year; but a court faction removed him." The iUi-

terateness of Charles is very perceptible in his ignor-

ance of the orthography of French and English. Both
in style and orthography they contrast most unfavour-

ably with those of his father, whose epistolary corre-

spondence cannot fail to give the reader a favourable

idea of his literary acquirements. Though James ap-

pears to have had a good opinion of Sir Thomas, yet

after his death he complained bitterly to Charles, in

a long and very interesting letter, (that of 3d Feb-

ruary, 1747, in the Stuart Papers,) of the conduct of

the favourite, and in general of the other persons

who obtained the Prince's confidence. It was
James's deliberate conviction that their object was

to corrupt Charles, by withdrawing him from his

"duty to God in the first place, and to him in the

second ! " The sequel of Charles's unfortunate hi»-
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Some time after Charles's return to Paris,

Louis removed his coui't from Fontiiinebleau

to Versailles, where the prince and his brother

met with a cordial reception from the royal

family and the persons about the court, but

Charles could not obtain any distinct pledge

of support. This result was anticipated by

his father, who had a just perception of the

policy of France in his regard. " I am afraid,"

says .James to the prince, " that you will have

little reason to be satisfied with the court of

France, and that you will not have less need

of courage and fortitude in bearing and suffer-

ing in that country than you had in acting in

Britain." Apprehensive of the impetuosity of

Charles's temper, he most earnestly recom-

mended him to conduct himself with patience

and prudence, and warned him of the conse-

ijuences which might ensue by adopting a dif-

ferent course. This admonition, however, was

tlirown away upon Charles.

Eesolved to put the sincerity of the French

court to the test, Charles presented a memorial

to Louis on the state of his affairs. In tliis

paper he drew the attention of the French

king to Scotland, which he represented as on

the eve of destruction; and he stated, that as

the government appeared resolved to confound

the innocent with the guilty, it was reasonable

to conclude that the discontent of the nation

would be general, and that if he was enabled

to enter upon another enterprise the number

of his adherents would be tripled. He also

stated that he would be deceiving his most

Christian majesty were he to say that he could

again subdue Scotland after his friends had

been destroyed, and that if the opportunity

was then lost the king of France might for

ever renounce any expected aid to his arms by

a revolution in that country,—that he had

always had numerous partisans in Scotland,

though he had never had a sufficient supply

either of money, provisions, or regular troops,

and that if he had been well provided with

only one of these three helps, he would still

have been master of Scotland, and probaljly

tory seems to confirm this oiiinion. A most unfa-

vourable sketch of the character of Kelly, the new fa-

vourite, is given by Father Jlylcs Macdonell, his own
relative, for wliich see the Father's letter to the Che-

va'.ier de St. George, 4th May, 1747, in the Stuart

Papers.

also of England,—that if he had had three

thousand regular troops he would have pene-

trated into England immediately after the bat

tie of Preston, and as George II. was thea

absent from the kingdom, and the Englisli

troops in Flanders, he could have marched to

London without opposition,—-that had he been

supplied wth provisions he could have pur-

sued General Hawley after the battle of Fal-

kirk, and destroyed all his army, wliich was

the flower of the British troops. Finally, that

if he had received two months earlier only the

half of the money which his majesty had sent

him, he would have fought the Dulce of Cum-

berland on equal terms, and he would certainly

have beaten him, since with four thousand

men only he had kept victory in suspense,

though opposed by an army of twelve thou-

sand. Having thus stated the causes to which

the failure of his e.x;pedition was owing, Charles

proposed that Lotus should furnish an army of

eighteen or twenty thousand men, which he

stated he would employ usefully for their mu-

tual interests, which he considered insepar-

able. ^

Charles appears to have conducted himself,

hitherto, with great moderation ; but as no

notice was taken of his demand for troops, he

grew violent and imperious. The French min

istry had, by order of Louis, granted a sum of

sixty-two thousand nine hundred livres for the

relief of such of Charles's adherents as had ar-

rived in France,'' and Louis himself now offered

him a pension suitable to his rank ; but he

refused to accept it. James, who was fidly

informed of the circumstances of Charles's

behaviour, thus expostulates with him:—" The

truth is, I dread your feeling severely one

day the consequence of your present conduct

towards the court of France ; for although,

on accoimt of the obligations they owe you,

they may, out of a certain prudence and policy

dissemble for a time, yet by gaining the ill-

will of those ministers, and by carrying things

' There are two copies of this memoir among the

Stuart Papers. One of them written in the first per-

son, and holograph of the prince, is titled, " Memoir
to ye F. K. from me of 10th Nov. 1746.' The other ia

titled, 'Ancien Project de Memoire,' and is writtet.

in the third person.
* Statements showing the division of this money,

will be found in the Stuart Papers,
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too liigh, you will sooner or later certainly feel

the bad effects of it; whereas, had you re-

ceived what the king of Erance lately offered

you, it was stOl putting yourself in the posses-

sion of feeling the effects of his generosity, and

you would have probably got much more in

time in some shape or another."^ Count

D'Argenson also was very complaisant to

Charles; but James cautioned liira not to in-

fer therefrom, that his conduct was approved

of by that minister.

Waiting upwards of two months, and re-

ceiving no answer to his memorial, Charles ad-

dressed a letter to Louis on the 1 2th of Janu-

ary, in wliich, after alluding to the favours his

majesty had granted to his companions in mis-

fortune, wliich he regarded as a new proof of

his majesty's generosity towards his famUj', he

stated that his object in coming to the court of

Eranco was to propose a plan of an expedition,

which woidd be much more advantageous for

both parties than the former;—that this object

alone occupied all his thoughts, and that every

other step which had been proposed to the

king of Erance to promote his personal inter-

ests, had been done without his sanction. He
concluded a longisli letter, written in his usual

loud style, by telling Louis that as he could

not appear in the way in which he was per-

Buaded his majesty wished in his own heart

to see him, he would retire to some place wliere

his present condition would be of less conse-

quence, and where he woidd be always ready

to concur with the king of Erance in such steps

as might contribute to liis glory, and the re-

storation of his family to their just rights, and

he trusted his majesty would approve of his

resolution. He added, that if, during his ab-

sence, the king of France should find it cop-

venient to think seriously of another expedi-

tion, he would immediately return to the court

on being informed of his majesty's wish, and

that, in the meantime, he would appoint a per-

son at Paris who had his entire confidence to

negotiate in liis behalf with the king of Erance

and his ministers. ^

^ Letter from the Chevalier to Charles, 6th January,

1747.

—

Stuart Papers.
' Letter from Charles to Louis, 12th January, 1747,

in the Stuart Papers. Sir James Stewart appears to

have been the person Charles intended to appoint, as

As neither Louis nor his ministers had any

intention of entering into Charles's views, they

must have been well pleased with his determi-

nation to retire from Paris, where his presence

had become exceedingly annoying; but some

of his adherents regarded such a step with dif-

ferent feelings, as they thought it would be

higlily injurious to his interests. Among those

who took an active part in opposing this reso-

lution, was young Lochiel. No man was more

firmly bent upon another attempt than this

high-minded chief, and instead of thinking

mth Charles, that no expedition should be

undertaken without a large force, he was for

accepting any succours that could be obtained.

Some time after his arrival at Paris, he had

opened a correspondence ^vith the Chevalier

de St. George, in which he represented to him

that the misfortunes which had befallen his

cause, though great, were not irretrievable,

provided timely measures were adopted for

checking the depopulating system which the

English government seemed to have adopted.

He stated that the ruin of the Scottish adhe-

rents of the exiled family would dispirit their

friends in England so much, that a restoration

would become extremely dif&cidt, if not im-

practicable, and that, at best, it could only be

effected by an army superior to all the forces

of the government; whereas, if ten regiments

oidy were landed in Scotland before the High-

lands were depopulated, not the Highlanders

merely, but all other Scotchmen of spirit would

unite in their support, and give so much em-

ployment to the troops of the government, that

the English Jacobites might, with little assist-

ance, be in a condition to shake off the yoke.

He, therefore, advised the Chevalier to accept

of whatever sucoom's might be offered. Acting

upon principles of the purest disinterestedness,

Lochiel was opposed to every proposal which

might seem to imply an abandonment of the

cause which he had espoused, and when in-

formed by Charles that an appKcation had

been made to the Erench court for a regiment

to Lord OgUyy, he told him that he disap-

proved of it, as such an application might

make the court of Erance regard the affau's of

there is a draught of a commission in his hand-writing

among these papers, bearing the date of 29th Decem-

ber, 1746.
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the exiled family to be more desperate than

they reaUy were, and might prevent them from

granting a body of troops for a new expedition.

Charles seemed to concur in this view; but

Lord Ogilvy ha\'ing obtained a regiment,

Charles proposed to ask one for Lochiel also.

He objected, however, to the application being

made, and told his royal highness that Lord

OgUvy, or others, might incline to make a

figure in France, but that his ambition was to

serve his country, or perish with it. Charles

remarked that he was doing every thing in his

power to forward his cause, and persisting in

his resolution to procure a regiment for his

faithful friend, Lochiel consented to accept of

it if obtained, from respect to the prince,

though he declared his determination to share

the fate of the people he had undone, and if

they were to be sacrificed to the vengeance of

the government, to fall along with them.''

Lochiel now endeavoured to persuade Charles

to remain at Paris, and represented to him the

bad consequences that might ensue to his affairs

by retiring; but>his resolution was fixed.

Charles had in fact resolved to pay a visit

to the king of Spain, and his retirement to

Avignon, whither he announced his intention

to proceed, was a mere blind to conceal his

design from the court of France. The Cheva-

lier, desirous in the present posture of his

affairs of paying liis court to his Catholic ma-

jesty, had been, for some time, applying for

permission to send his youngest son to Spain.

He announced liis intention to Charles, and

stated that he considered it would be for his

interest, that while one of his sons was in

France, the other should be in Spain. ^

Wlien James felt so uneasy in reference to

Charles's deportment towards the French minis-

try, as to wiite him repeated remonstrances on

the subject, it may be supposed that he would

have been gratified at his resolution to retire

to AAagnon, more particularly as the Chevalier's

agents at Paris, who had been discarded by

Charles, would have probably regained the

little influence they had mth the French court;

" Letter from Lochiel to the Chevalier de St.

George, of 16th January, 17-47, among the Stuart

Papers.
" Letter from the Chevalier to Prince Charles, 13th

.Tanuary, 1747.

but James was equally disappointed with the

prince's friends at Paris at Charles's determina-

tion. In a letter which he wrote to the prince

in answer to one from the latter, dated the 21st

of January, stating his intention to retire to

Avignon, James stated the great concern whicli

he felt, at a step of which he could not com-

prehend the meaning, and that nothing, in his

opinion, could justify it but a resolution on

the part of the king of France not to allow

him to remain in that kingdom.

Charles left Paris for Avignon about the end

of January, 1747. During his stay at Paris,

he had evinced a laudable anxiety to mitigate

the sufferings of his companions in misfortune

by acts of kindness ; but there was one among

them who met with neither sympathy nor

gratitude at his hands. This was Lord George

Murray, who had sacrificed more for him than

any other individual then living. Aware of

tliis feeling of Charles towards him. Lord

George did not visit Paris on his arrival in

HoUand in December; but, after some stay,

proceeded to Rome to pay his respects to the

Chevalier de St. George. Charles, however,

appears to have expected liim at Paris ; and in

the event of his arrival there during his absence,

lie left written instructions with his brother

Henry, to do every thing in his power to get

him an'ested and committed to prison. ^

^ This circumstance, so disgraceful to the memory
of Charles, is mentioned in a letter from Prince Henry
to his father, dated Paris, 30th Januaiy, 1747, under

the signature of John Paterson, a name sometimes

assumed by Henry, when corresponding in cipher.

The original letter is among the Stuart Papers.

Lord George's arrival at Rome was announced to

Charles liy the Chevalier, in a letter dated 21st March,

1747. The following extract places James's character

in a very favourable point of view : "I must tell you

that I was much surprised t'other day at the arrival

of Lord George Murray in this place. After having

absconded many months in Scotland, he found means
to come to Holland, and from thence by Venice here.

F,y wliat Bramston, (the corresponding name of

O'SulUvan,) says, 1 am sorry to find that you have

not been pleased with him, but tbo' I questioned

Bramston much about him, yet I own I don't see any
motive to suspect his fidelity and loyalty. People

may have an odd, and even a wrong way of thinking,

and may even fail in something towards ourselves,

but may be men of honour and honesty with all that ;

so that considering his birth, and the figure he made'

in your service, and that you had never writ to me
about him yourself, I thought it would be very wrong
in me not to receive him with all kindness, and even

distinction. I don't know how long he will stay here,

or how he proposes to dispose of himself, hut 1 under-

stand lie has a mind to bring over his lady, and to
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Shortly after Charles's departure his brother,

Henry, received a notification from his father,

of his intention to send him to Spain. He
immediately sent a copy of the Chevalier's

lettei- to Charles, and stated his regret at the

prospect of heing removed to such a distance

from his brother ; but instead of thanking him

for this kind expression of his feelings, Charles

returned him a very petulant answer. He in-

formed him that, while in Scotland, he had

formed a design of going to the court of Spain

himself, and that he had left Paris with that

intention,—that having resolved to make the

journey, he had not asked leave from his father

for fear of being refused,—and that he intended

to go and return with all imaginable privacy.

He entreated Henry, by all the ties of brotherly

affection, and by the regard which he had for

his success of the cause, not to start from Paris

though he should get leave, vmtU the result

of Charles's journey was known. He re-

quested him to confide the secret of his journey

to the king of France upon receipt of his next

letter, and to represent to Louis that he had

suddenly taken the resolution of making a

journey to Spain after his arrival at Avignon.

Henry, whose character was extremely mild

and conciliating, stated, in reply, that he had

communicated " the king's letter " to him as

soon as he had received it, and that his pro-

vince in that, as in every thing else, was blind

obedience ; but he observed, that his father

could not foresee Charles's resolution, and that

if his going to Spain woidd change the system

Charles seemed to have proposed to liimseK,

he would not make use of any leave he might

obtain without receiving farther orders, which,

he was convinced, woidd be to remain at Paris,

whenever his father knew of Charles's deter-

mination to proceed to Spain.

Accompanied by Kelly, Dr. Cameron, and

two or three domestics, Charles left Avignon

early in 1747, and repaired to Madrid; but

live privately with her in some retired place. He is

publicly here, for he has no measures to keep ; and I

must do him the justice to say that he never speaks
of you but with great respect, and even eloge. See

also the letters among the Stuart Papers from the

Chevalier to Cliarlns of 25th April, and 2d and 9th

Mav, 1747, copied also from the original copies in

the same collection. All of them, as far as they relate

tc Lord George, will be read with pleasure, but parti-

cularly the first.

his reception appears to have been cold and

formal, and he did not even see the queen-

dowager, whom he was particularly anxious

to meet. Alluding to this visit, the ChevaKer

observes to Charles, " I am much more con-

cerned than surprised you had not a better

reception in Spain; but I am in hopes your

going thither will be of no iU consequence,

provided you manage your matters in a pro-

per manner on your return to Paris." '-^

In a memoir which Charles presented to

Caravajal on the 6th of March, to sound the

intentions of the Spanish court, he requested

to be informed, in the event of the king of

France agreeing to fit out an expedition in

his favour, what aid his Catholic majesty

would contribute in its support. He required

that 30,000 fusils and 10,000 sabres should

be set apart for his use in a convenient

place, in order that when occasion required lie

might obtain them at once in a quiet manner.

That two or three small ships should be got

ready as soon as possible, and loaded with

grain, to be sent to Scotland under the charge

of a gentleman he would send along ^Yith

them. That the king of Spain should give

him commissions for three Scotch regiments,

which, when completed, should be formed into

a brigade.^ In answer to these demands, Cara-

vajal stated, that his master could spare no ships

of war to assist in the expedition, as he had only

seventeen in Europe, that some of these were

disabled, and that the rest were emploj'ed in

the Italian war ; that as to arms, orders would

be given to manufacture tlie requu'ed number

;

and that arrangements would be made for car

rying his demand for a supply of grain into

effect. Finally, that as to the proposal about

the regiments, he believed his majesty would

give his consent to it.

After remaining four or five days at Madrid,

Charles retired to Guadalaxara till he should

obtain a definitive answer on the subject of

raising the regiments. His Catholic majesty

at last consented, but stipulated that none but

Scotchmen shoidd be admitted into these re-

giments, a condition which, under existing cir-

cumstances, rendered their formation imprac-

Letters among Stuart Papers.

Vide Memoir, among the Stuart Papers.
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ticabie.* finding his journey thus in a man-

ner unavailing, Charles returned to Paris,

vhere he arrived on the 24th of IMarch.

It is probable that Charles's return to Paris

was hastened by a remonstrance sent to him

by Lochiel on the subject of his retirement to

Angnon. This zealous chief represented to

ihe prince that peace was the topic of general

conversation, and as there existed a universal

desire for it in France, there was reason to be-

lieve that George II. and his allies would ob-

tain aiiv terms they might ask in relation to

Henry, Cardinal Dulte of York.

1 Original Painting in possession of James Dnxmmond, Esq., R.S..\.)

Charles. He proposed,^ that if Charles could

not ohtain from Prance such an embarkation of

troops as woidd enable him to land in England

and overturn the government at one blow, he

should endeavour to get an embarkation for

Scotland, where the disposition of the people

was stUl so favourable, that if he could return

'0 the Highlands with artUlery, arms, and

* Stuart Papers.
' Letter from Locbiel to Charles, 23d Fel)rr..ary,

1747, among the Stuart Papers.

ammunition, and only four or iivo battalions of

foot, he believed he would not only relieve liia

distressed friends, and save the remainder of

the country from ruin, but deliver all Scotland

from the slavery to which he supposed it would

soon be reduced.

Charles accordingly renewed his applica-

tion to Louis and his ministers, but did

not succeed in bringing " these people to

reason," as he himself expresses it, or in

other words, prevailing on them to accede

to his demand. Baffled again in his at-

tempt to induce the French govern-

ment to engage actively in Ids cau.'-e,

Charles contemplated a matrimu-

uial alliance with the czarina, with

the view of engaging her in liis

^ interest; but liis father, to whom
"^ he communicated his design, con-

—=^ sidered it impracticable, and Charles

_- -^^ appears to have immeiliately dri>pt

=^ Notwithstanding the untoward

iippearance of his affairs, Charles

was by no means discoiu'aged ; but

the promotion of his brother to the

cardinalate, which took place aboi\t

three months after his return from

Spain, damped his spirits. Henry

had every reason to bo dissatisfied

with Charles's conduct towards hiui-

self personally ; but he made no

complaints, and it was only owing

to the peevish way in which Charles

alluded to him in his letters to

his father that James became ap-

prised of his dislike to his brother.*'

Being of a pious disposition, Henry

became desirous of embracing tlie

ecclesiastical state, and resolved to

repair to Italj to considt his father upon the

subject. As he knew that Charles would

object to his departure from Paris, and

might possibly take measures to prevent it,

he went off without informing liim. Charles

complaLued to his father of Henry's leaviiig

Paris without acquainting him ; but wliiht

James admitted that it was certainly not ac-

cording to rule that Henry should havo gote

« Seo the Chevalier's repeated remonstrances uD

this subject in his letters to Charles

5 B



740 GENEEAL HISTOKY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

away -mtliout taking leave of Charles in per-

son, he sflid ho could not blame him for it

under existing circumstances.

The lli'st notice which Charles received of

the intended promotion of his brother was by

a letter from his father, dated from Albano on

tlie 13th of June, 1747.' Charles was both

grieved and enraged when he received tliis in-

teUigenoe, and sliut liimself up for several hours

to give vent to his sorrow or vexation. Hither-

to Charles had drunk the health of his father

and brother every day at dinner, but he now

discontinued that of Henry, and forbade every

person about him over to mention liis name in

liis presence.'' The friends of the family re-

gi'etted exceedingly this step on the part of

Henry, which tliey considered a very imprudent

one, so far as the expected restoration of the

Stuarts was concerned, as it narrowed their

prospects of success; but neither Henry nor

James had any ambition for a cro\\Ti, and the

latter intended, if the succession opened, never

to assume the diadem.^ Both the pope and

James notified to the king of France the de-

sign of presenting Henry with a cardinal's hat,

and Louis in return signified hia approbation

of the step.

Among other subjects of uneasiness which

pressed heavily upon Charles at this time, was

tlie state of his pecuniary concerns. He still

resolutely refused to receive any pension from

the French court, and it was perhaps owing to

this refusal that the French ministry sliowed

no disposition to pay the allowances which

had been granted to liis adherents. To relieve

the prince's immediate necessities, his father

had sent him an order on Waters, his banker

at Paris, for fifteen thousand livres, signifi-

cantly observmg, however, that as Charles had

refused the pension which Louis had offered,

the Chevalier presumed that he had some other

resource to supply his wants. James, how-

ever, had taken care that the obstinacy of his

son should not stand in the way of Louis's

' Sbuirt Papers.
' Father Mactlonell's letter to the Chevalier of 1 5th

July, 1747, among the Stuart Papers.
' Letter from James to Charles, 13th January, 1747.

See also two e-xtremely interesting letters of 3d April,

1747, and 28th January, 1748, which also throw con-

siderable light on the domestic differences which ex-

'sted between Charles and his father.

—

Stuart Papers.

bounty, and he accordingly directed O'Brien

his agent to draw the pension which Charles

had refused, to apply the third part thereof for

the use of his son, Henry, whilst in Franco,

and to lay out the other two-thirds in the way

he shoxild be afterwards directed.^ Mr. John

Grahame,^ in a letter to the Chevalier de St.

George, represents the prince as having no

visible means of subsistence, and that he could

compare his " situation to nothing better than

an immense labyrinth, out of which he had

not a bit of thread to conduct him." Charles

was too proud to ask his father for aid; but

the latter, on hearing of his difiiculties, ordered

O'Brien to pay forty thousand livres into

O'Sullivan's hands on his account, out of the

simi he had drawn on account of Charles's

pension. The prince, however, consistently

declined the money, knowing the source

whence it came.

In the circumstances in which he was thus

placed by his own obstinacy, Charles, who
never displayed much generosity towards those

who had offended him, was not in the best

possible mood to exercise the virtue of for-

giveness. His father had repeatedly written

him in relation to his threatened seizm'e of

Lord George Murray, and had strongly incul-

cated the propriety of forgiving a man who had

suffered so much in his cause ; but Charles

disregarded these paternal admonitions. Lonl

George was very desirous to effect a reconcilia-

tion, by making every reasonable submission

that could be required of him, and for this

pirrpose left Eome for Paris, where he arrived

on the 10th of July. Charles was then liviii,i.'

at St. Ouen, in the neighboirrhood of Paris,

and Lord George having, the day after Iiis

arrival, ascertained the place of his residence,

intended to proceed thither early on the 12tlt,

to pay -his respects to the prince. His lord-

ship was, however, prevented from carrying his

" Letter from James to Charles, 17th February,
1747, among Sluart Papers.

^ This gentleman had been long in the service of

the Chevalier de St. George. His father acted as so-

licitor in Scotland to James U. He was knighted by
the Chevalier, and acted for a considerable time as

his secretary of state. He was with Prince Henry at

Paris, and on his departure for Rome entered Charles's

household. He afterwards became a Koraan Catho-
lic. He went to Rome in 1759, at the desire of tho

Chevalier to act as his Secretary.
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intention into effect, by a message from Charles,

vvho, liearing of his arrival in Paris, sent Mr.

Stafford, one of his household, to Lord George,

to inform him that it was the prince's wish

that he should not appear at St. Ouen, hut that

lie woidd do well to leave Paris as soon as

he could. Lord George requested Stafford to

acquaint the prince that he had come to Prance

with no other design but to pay his respects

to him, and that he would punctually obey his

orders by leaving France.

Notwithstanding frequent disputes with the

French ministers, Charles always endeavoured

to keep on good terms with their master ; and

when he defeated the confederates at Laffeldt,

he wrote a letter expressive of the great joy he

felt on the occasion. As every victory gained

over the allies appeared favourable to his

cause, he cannot be well blamed for entertaining

such a feeling ; but the existence of this docu-

ment subverts the idea generally entertained,

that Charles never expressed any satisfaction

at the conquests of the French in Flanders.

He was no doubt solicitous that Great Britain

should maintain her honour in the field and on

tlie ocean ; but his patriotism was not so dis-

interested as to make him prefer that honour

to the crown for which he was contending. It

was not until he saw that he could no longer

depend upon France for aid that his patriotism

was roused.

Much as Charles trusted to his personal

jiuwers for negotiation, he soon found that it

was no easy matter to bring the ministers of

Louis " to reason ;" and that, to be successful,

it was necessary to obtain the aid of some ex-

])erienced politician. He accordingly looked

about him for one in whom he could repose his

confidence, and fixed upon Lord Marischal as

the person most likely to answer his wishes.

1"o this nobleman, who was then living at

Treviso, Charles despatched a letter in the

montli of August, in which he stated that his

father had left liim entire master, to employ

such persons as were most agreeable to him,

and that he might easily believe his first choice

woidd light upon him. He informed him that

his desire was that his lordship should join

him with all convenient speed, and that he

had too good an opinion of his loyalty and

regard for liis bleeding country to make him

have the least doubt of his compliance, especi-

ally since all the causes of discontent which

liis lordship might heretofore have had, were

now quite removed. Higldy complimentary

as this letter was, Lord Marischal declined tlio

honour intended him. He stated that he had

not retired from public life till he saw how

useless his services were, and must have been

had they been continued ; and that the broken

state of Ids health required that ho shoidd pass

the rest of his days in quiet. *

Disappointed in his advances to Lord Maris-

clial, Charles gave himself up entirely to the

direction of George Kellj', his secretary, who,

it is alleged, was personally obnoxious to tlie

French court. To counteract tlie rising power

of tliis new favourite, the pernicious influence

of whose counsels some of the adherents of the

exiled family were already beginning to feel,

Sempil, one of the ChevaUer's agents at Paris,

by desire of Lochiel and Drummond of Boch-

aldy, drew up and forwarded a representation

to James in the month of June 1747. Tlie

Chevalier, who was not a bad judge of man-

kind, foreseeing the bad consequences that

would foUow if Kelly was allowed to guide

the councils of tlie prmce, had cautioned Charles

against his interference shortly after his return

from Scotland ; but the prince attributed his

father's dislike to' Kelly to the misrepresenta-

tions of liis enemies. In a letter, alluding to

some complaints made by Charles against his

brother, James observes, " What you now write

to me is manifestly the product of Kelly's

niaUco ... as long as you are directed or in-

fluenced by liim, depend upon it nothing will

go well with you, and you will never have a

moment's qiuet yourself." '

These admonitions, which were repeated

after Drummond's communication, were, how-

ever, tlu'own away upon Charles, who chmg to

his secretary with as great pertinacity as ever.

This predilection for Kelly, if the statement of

Sempil is to be credited, ruined the prince's

negotiations with the French ministry, who,

according to him, would have entertained a

proposal made by the Marquis de Puyzieux, of

embarking a force for Scotland on the dissolu-

* Vide Charles's letter, aud tlie answer, among the

Stuart Papers.
^ Letter of 10th February. 1747.
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tion of tlie British parliament ; but the design

was given up, because the persons in whom
Charles seemed to repose his confidence were

obnoxious to the French court, and were con-

sidered unworthy of trust.
^

Whilst the French government evaded

Charles's demand for a supply of troops, it

acceded in other respects to his wishes. A
regiment was given to Loohiel,' the arrears of

the gratuities granted to the Scotch esUes were

paid up, and a fixed allowance of tliirty-six

thousand livres per annum was granted to them,

the appropriation of which was left entirely to

the prince. Having thus provided for his

friends, the French ministry thought that

Charles's repugnance to a pension might be

overcome ; and accordingly M. de Lally, who
was directed to communicate to him the largess

granted to his adherents, was also appointed

to soimd him on the subject of an allowance to

himself. Charles, writing to M. de Puyzieux,

observed, that he would accept with pleasure

even the smallest favour his majesty was dis-

posed to grant ; but he begged that nothing

should be given him in name of a pension,

and tliat he should be permitted to deny to

his English frieuds, even face to face, that he

was in the receipt of it.' It thus appears that

Charles's objection to a pension did not pro-

ceed from any disinclination to receive the

money, but from an apprehension that the

circumstance of his becoming a pensioner of

France would injure him vrith his English

friends. It is not known whether the

French government acted upon Charles's sug-

gestion.

It was the policy of the French court, whilst

tho war lasted, to keep up appearances with

the exiled family, so as to encourage the belief

° Vide the two papers presented tiy Sempil to the
Chevalier de St. George in February 1748, among the
Stuart Papers.

' Charles wished his father, on Lochiel's appoint-
ment, to present the chief with a patent of peerage,
which, with other patents, had been made out but
kept latent. This James declined, as he thought that,

by declaiing Lochiel's patent, he would disgust many
deserving people, and particulaily the other Highland
chiefs. He very properly observed that Lochiel's
interest and reputation in his own country, and his
being at the head of a regiment in France, would
give him more consideration there than any empty
title he could bestow.

—

Ldlcr from James to Cluirks,
llh November, 17-17, among Stuart Papers.

' Letter to JL de Puyziexs, among the Stuart
Pf-fir-i.

that it really intended to aid in its restoiution.

This notion was strengthened by the appoint-

ment of Lord Ogdvy and Lochiel to the com-

mand of regiments ; and the fears of an invasion

after Charles's return to France are said to

have delayed for a time the embarkation of tho

British troops for Flanders. This system of

intimidation would in all probability have

been persevered in had not France become

tired of a war which had exhaiisted her trea-

sury, destroyed her commerce, and almost

annihilated her navy. The confederates were

equally weary of a war in which they had

reaped neither honour nor advantage, and they

therefore gladly availed themselves of an offer

of pacification made by France. The belli-

gerent powers accordingly agreed to hold a

congress, which was opened at Aix-la-Chapelle

in March 1748.

Charles now saw that all hope of an imme-

diate restoration was at an end, and must have

perceived, from the strong desire which existed

in France for peace, and the low state to which

that kingdom was reduced by the war, that

his interests would form no bar in the way of

a general pacification.

The first public step which Charles took to

mark his displeasure with the conduct of the

French government, in suing for a peace, was ol

a very decided character. When the congress

of Aix-la-Chapelle was about to assemble, he

gave instructions to the Sieur Eoettier to strike

a medal with his head, and the inscription,

" Carolus WalliiB Princeps " (Charles Prince

of Wales) ; and on the reverse the figure Bri

tannia and a fleet of war-vessels, with the sig-

nificant motto, " Amor et Spes Eritannije

"

(The Love and Hope of Britain).

Wben the medal appeared it created a great

sensation in France, and many of the French

nobility were deeplj- offended at the device and

motto, which they regarded as an insult offered

to the nation. The prince of Conti, in par-

ticular, who was accoimted one of the proudest

men in all France, showed his chagrin on the

occasion. Meeting Charles one day in the

Luxembourg Gardens, Conti observed to

Charles, with an air of pleasantry, under

which a sneer was observed to lurk, that the

device of his medal was not just so applicable

as some persons might at first suppose, as tho
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Ilritisli navy IiaJ not shown any particular

friendship for him. Charles, who at once pur-

coived the censure, immediately replied, " That

is true, Prince ! but I am, nevertheless, the

friend of the navy against all its enemies ; as

I shall always look upon the glory of England

as ray own, and her glory is in her navy."

About the time the medal was struck Charles

sat for his portrait to Tocqu^ the eminent

I'ainter, which was immediately engraved by

AVille, the celebrated engraver, with the title

" Carolus WalKaj Princeps."

On tlie 30th of April, the preliminaries of a

general peaco were signed by the ministers of

Great Britain, France, and the United Pro-

vinces, the basis of which was a general resti-

tution of tlie conquests which had been made

during tlie war. A suspension of arms almost

immediately followed the signing of the pre-

liminaries. Charles was not aware that the

preliminaries had been signed till some time

after the suspension of arms, and he con-

soled himself with the vain hope that peace

was not so near at hand as was generally

supjiosed.'

During the negotiations Charles still went

to court, though not so frequently as before,

and always endeavoured to avoid any personal

interviews with the king ; but when informed

of the signing of the preliminaries, he gave up

liis visits entirely. His father, and the adhe-

itjuts of Ills family, expected that he would no

longer remain in a kingdom which was now
again to sacrifice the interests of his house

;

but instead of evincing any disposition to de-

part, he gave a decided indication of fixing

himself in Paris, by hiring a splendid hotel

uiion the Qaai de Theatin for liimself and his

principal friends, in order, as he said, to be

near the opera, play-house, and the other places

of public diversion in Paris. To show how
little he regarded the proceedings at Aix-la-

Chapelle, lie appeared much gayer than usual,

and when any person alluded, in his presence,

to the congress, he seemed not to regard the

matter, and waived the subject by singing or in-

troducing some different topic of conversation.

To show, however, that he was not indiffer-

ent to his rights, Charles drew up a protest

' Letter, Charles to his father, 13th May, 1748,
Stvart Papers

against any stipulation which might bo entered

into by the contracting parties, conti'ary to

these rights, of which he sent a copy to the

king of France, enclosed in a letter from him-

self. The Chevalier de St George, in ignorance

of Charles's protest, also published one in his

own name, agreeably to a practice which he

and his father, king James II., had followed,

whenever any treaty with Great Britain was

entered into.

After the preliminaries were signed, Louis

took an early opportunity of intimating to

Charles that he had renewed the engagements

which he and his grandfather had formerly

come under to the British government, in

relation to the House of Stuart ; but Charles,

in his protest, entirely overlooked the stipula-

tion which regarded his intended expulsion

from the French territories. Louis probably

expected that this hint would have been

sufficient to induce Charles to quit France,

but, as he indicated no intention to remove,

the Marquis de Puyzieux, by desire of the king,

sent a requisition in writing, to which he

demanded an answer, Charles returned an

evasive answer to M. de Puyzieux's note the

same day.

After this answer, matters appear to have

remained in statu quo till October, on the 7th

of which month the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle

was finally concluded and signed. By tliis

treaty the contracting parties agreed, without

any limitation, to a literal insertion of the fiftli

article of the quadruple alliance, by which it

was stipulated that neither the " Pretender,"

nor any of his descendants, should be allowed

to reside within the territories belonging to any

of the parties to the treaty. Meanwhile Louis

was looking out for a suitable asylum for

Charles Edward. Knowing that the prince

had declared that he would never return to

Italy, he directed M. de Courteille, his envoy

to the Cantons of Switzerland, to ask a resi-

dence for Charles in the city of Fribourg.

The regency complied with the request, but

Mr Barnaby, the British minister to the

Helvetic body, violently opposed the plan, and

presented a remonstrance to the magistracy of

Fribourg, couched in such terms as to draw

upon him tlie censure of the regency.

The ne.xt person selected by Louis to act as
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negotiator with Charles was the Cardinal de

Tenciii, who was supposed to have some influ-

ence with him. The cardinal delivered the

message with which he had been intrusted in

the most delicate manner, and endeavoured to

convince Charles, by a variety of arguments,

of the regret the king felt at having been

obliged to accede to the objectionable articles

of the treaty. To reconcile Charles to the

measure, the cardinal, it is said, hinted that

the treaty might possibly be of short dura-

tion, and that the prince might afterwards

return to France with brighter prospects, but

the cardinal left Charles -srithout obtaining

any satisfaction. Desirous of avoiding extre-

mities, the long waited about two weeks in

expectation that Charles would depart ; but

being informed that he made no preparations

for liis departure, he sent the Duke de Gesvres,

the governor of Paris, witli a message simOar

to that delivered by the cardinal. The duke,

however, got as little satisfaction as the car-

dinal, and on a second interview, the prince

absolutely refused to quit the country, and

told the duke tliat there was a treaty prior to

that of Aix-la-Chapelle between him and the

king, from which he could not depart with

honour.

The British ministry had for some time

been lU'ging the French court to fulfil that

part of the treaty which related to the expul-

sion of the prince from the French territories
;

and the hostages' complained that his being

permitted to appear at aU. public places of

amusement was as an insult to their sovereign,

and an infringement of the treaty. Louis,

therefore, sent the Duke de Gesvres a thii-d

time to expostulate with Charles on the 6th of

November; but Charles again evaded a direct

answer to the duke's demand to quit France.

Charles afterwards sent him an explicit answer

in writing, in which he stated that it was with

much regret he found himself compelled in

defence of liis own interests to oppose the in-

tentions of the king on this occasion, and that

he had already apprised his majesty of his de-

sign by a letter which he had written to M.

de Puyzieux as far back as the 20th of August.

^ The Earl of Essex and Lord Cathcart, hostages

sent to France until the restitution by Great Britain

of Cape Bi eton.

He requested the diike to assure his majesty in

the strongest terms that he would retain to-

wards him dui'ing his life aK the sentiments of

respect and attachment which he had formerly

expressed.^

Louis was much annoyed at Charles's obsti-

nacy, as he felt great repugnance to push

matters to extremities mth a prince who
could plead in his own justification a violation

of a solemn contract which the king of Franco

had entered into with him three years before.

As he had, however, contracted with Charles

merely in his character of prince regent, it

appears to have occurred to Louis that he

would save his honour if he obtained an order

from the ChevaHer de St George, requiring

Charles to leave his dominions before having

recourse to physical force. He therefore

despatched a courier to Eome with a letter to

the Chevalier, giving an account of the prince's

conduct, and requesting James to interpose his

parental authority to induce Charles to leave

liis dominions. That James might be fully

assured of the prince's determination to remain

in France contrary to his wishes, Louis also

sent him Charles's letter to the Duke de

Gesvres.

The messenger returned to Paris early in

December with a letter from James to the

king of France, inclosing another to Charles,

which, after perusing, he was requested to

despatch to the prince. After complaining

of Charles's conduct towards himself, James

told liim that he saw him on the brink of a

precipice, and that he would act the part of

an unnatural parent if he did not do every-

thing that depended upon him to save him

from falling, and that he therefore found him-

self obliged to order him as his father and

king to conform himseK without delay to the

wishes of the French king, by leaving his

dominions with a good grace.

This letter Louis sent by the Duke de Gesvres

to Charles, the duke at the same time carrying

a letter from Louis, which is said to have con-

tained a blank order to be filled up by the

prince himself for a yearly allowance. Charles

told the duke that he wanted no pecuniary

favours from his majesty, and that it was not

^ Letter,—Charles to the Duke de Gesvres, amen;;
the Stuart Papers.
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cousistent with honour to comply with his

demand to leave the French territories. The

duke m-ging Charles to reconsider his resolu-

oion, tlie latter grew impatient, and told him
that he would in future decline receiving any

comHiunications from any person but the king

himself. The duke told him the tiling was

impossible, unless indeed he expected, what he

eoidd scarcely suppose he did, that his majesty

was to come to the Quui de Tlieatre in person.

" lu short, then, sii'," said Charles, " I have

nothing farther to say than what I have said

already,—pardon me, I have some business."

^\'ith these words Charles left the room, leav-

ing the duke in amazement.

Long before th-e French public were aware

of the intentions of theu" government in relation

to the prince, the fame of liis exploits, in con-

nection with the fact of his being a descendant

of Henri Quatre, had endeared him to the

French nation ; but when they found that he

was to be sacrificed by their sovereign to state

necessity, their admiration for his person was

heightened into enthusiasm, and they looked

upon the approaching struggle between Louis

and his kinsman with feelings of the deepest

interest. Every person was desirous to see a

prince who had the courage to brave the grand

monarch in his o'Nvn capital, and whenever

Charles appeared upon the public walks, he

was followed by the assembled multitudes.

When he entered the theatre, all eyes were

directed towards him, and the performance was

allowed to pass off unheeded by the audience.

Charles alone seemed to make light of his

misfortunes, and evinced the gaiety of his

spirits by talking in an easy, cheerfid, and

affable manner to the young noblemen, by

whom, on these occasions, he was always sur-

rounded.3

After trying every possible means to induce

Charles to quit the French territory without

eii'eot, the ministry pressed the king to arrest

him, and send him by force out of the kingdom.

Ixjuis was naturally averse to such a strong

proceeding ; but as he saw he could not fulfil

the stipulation of the treaty regarding the

exiled family in any other way, he reluctantly

bigiied an order for his arrest. When putting

• Authentic Account, p. jl.

his name to the warrant, he felt the extreme

delicacy of the act, and pathetically exclaimed,

" Poor prince ! how cUlfioult it is for a king to

be a true friend ! " This order, wliich was

signed at three o'clock in the afternoon, was

blazed all over Paris before evening. One of

the prince's retinue, who heard the intelligence,

brought it to him; but Charles woidd not

believe it. " Pish ! pish !" he exclaimed, " an

idle romance ; they know I will obey my
father." Though no official notice was sent to

Charles of the order, j'et it is understood that

means were taken to apprise liim of his situa-

tion; and on the morning of the 10th of

December, wliile walking in the Tuileries, ha

was informed by a person of distinction tliat

he would certainly be seized that very day if

he did not prevent it by an immediate depar-

tiu'e ; but, instead of taking the hint thus

kindly given liim, he seemed to treat the in-

telligence as chimerical, and turning to one of

his followers, gave directions that a box should

be hired for him that night at the opera-house.

To carry the warrant into effect, no less than

1200 of the guards were in the course of the

day drawn out, and posted in the coiu-t of the

Palais Royal ; a great number of sergeants and

grenadiers, in cuu'asses and helmets, filled the

passages of the opera-house ; and the police

were placed in all the streets leading to it, to

stop any carriages that might attempt to pass.

Sis intrepid sergeants of the grenadiers were

ordered to seize the prince. Two companies of

grenadiers took post in the court-yard of the

kitchens, where the Due de Biron, colonel of

the French guards, disguised, waited in a coach

to see the issue of the enterprise. The Mous-

quetaires, a body of French horse-guards, had

orders to be ready to mount on horseback;

troops were posted upon the road from the

Palais Eoyal to Vincennes ; hatchets and scal-

ing ladders were prepared, and locksmiths

directed to attend, in order to take the prince

by escalade, in case he should throw himself

into some house, and there attempt to stand

out a siege. A physician named Vernage, and

three surgeons, were also ordered to be ia

readiness to dress such of the troops as might

be wounded. These extensive preparations

can only be accounted for on the supposition

that the government was apprehensive that an
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attempt would be made by tlie Parisians to

rescue tlie prince.

Charles received several notes during the day,

giving him notice of the measures taken for

securing him ; but he resolved to brave the

danger. He accordingly left his hotel in his

carriage, accompanied by three gentlemen of

his household, at a quarter after five o'clock,

for the opera-house, and, in passing tluough

the street St Honore, was warned by a friendly

voice not to proceed, as the opera-house was

beset. He proceeded onwards, however, and

on entering the cul-de-sac, leading to the opera-

house, the barriers were drawn, and the doors

of the opera-house shut. On alighting from

his coach, he was instantly surrounded by the

six sergeants, disguised as tradesmen, who

seized liis person, and, lifting him off the

ground, carried him through the jMrte cochere,

at the end of the passage which led into the

court -yard of the Palais Eoyal. M. de

Vaudreuil, major of the blue guards, who, with

some officers, had remained behind the gate,

then approached liis Royal Highness, and said,

"Monseigneur, I arrest you in the name of the

king, my master." Charles, without betraying

any emotion, answered that the manner was a

little too violent. The sergeants, thereupon,

carried him into a room on the ground floor of

the palace, possessed by a surgeon of the Duke

of Orleans' household. The major demanding

his arms, Charles presented liis sword, but

suspecting that he had other weapons about

him, the sergeants, by De Vaudreuil's order,

searched his person, and found a pair of pocket

pistols and a penknife, of which they took

possession. Charles remarked that he had

carried a pair of pistols about with him ever

since he returned from Scotland. The major

had provided liimseK with thirty-six ells of

black silk ribbon'' with which to tie the prince,

and on hearing him give directions to that

effect, Charles offered his parole that he would

hurt neither himself nor any other person, and

* Another account (G. Charles's Transactions in Scot-

land) says that the material for binding was ten elk

of crimson silk cord. This looks far more probable
;

if the major wished to make the binding of the prince

eM'ectual, "silk ribbon " would have been ridiculous.

S:iU the anonymous letter referred to below is so ctr-

cnmstantial as to call it "a black ribbon, three fingers

brnad, and thirty-3i.x ells long."

added that he thought so many persons were

quite sufficient to guard one unarmed man
without resorting to such a step. The major

considted the Duke de Biron, who ordered that

the prince should be bound. Charles was

accordingly tied in five different places. In

this situation he was put into a hired coach,

attended by the major and two captains of

the blue guards, and was driven, under a

strong guard, to the castle of Vincennes, into

which he was received by his friend M. de

Chatelet, the governor, who placed him in

a small upper apartment in the Tower, and

treated him as weU as his duty permitted him.

The only person who remained with him in

his confinement was Neil Mac Eachan, wlio

had attended him in his perilous journey from

XJist to Skye. Charles had borne the indignity

offered him with great composure, the disgrace

attending which, he told !NL de Vaudi-euil,

could only affect his master ; but after he

found himse.K shut up in the castle, his feel-

ings were overcome, and he is said to have

clasped his hands together and to have burst

into tears. "Ah ! my faithful mountaineers,'

he pathetically exclaimed, " from you I never

would have received such treatment. Would

to God I were still among you!" Meanwhile

the three gentlemen who had attended Charles

to the opera were also seized, and five others,

who were by chance at his house, and all his

servants were sent to the BastUe ; his hotel was

taken possession of by the lieutenant of police."

Next day aU the prince's French servants were

released.

The arrest of the prince created an extra-

ordinary sensation in Paris ; and next morning

all the public places of the city were covered

with pasquinades, which had been put up

during the night, reflecting, in very severe

terms, upon the conduct of the king and his

ministers for their treatment of the prince.

One of these was in the form of an order from

King George, directed to Louis of Bourbon, as

his viceroy, commanding and requiring him to

seize, and, if necessary, to tie the person of

Charles Edward Stuart, and to conduct him

out of the kingdom of France ; and that, if

Louis should continue to please his master as

° Authentic Account, p. 63. Anonj-moiis letter to

Dr Meigban, among Stuart Papers.
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he had hitherto doue, he should be coutinued,

by the king of England, in the -viceroyalty of

his kingdom of France. These placards were

exceedingly annoying to the French court, and

wore torn down by the police with as great

expedition as possible.

Charles was kept in coufLnement till the 14th

December, on which day, in consequence of a

correspondence which had passed between him

and the king on that and the previous day, he

was allowed to walk a few hours in the gar-

dens. Having tendered his parole to leave the

French territories without guards, Charles was

released at seven o'clock, in the morning of

Sunday the 15th, and departed for Fontaine-

bleau, in a coach, under the charge of a com-

mandant of musketeers. Messrs. Stafford and

Sheridan, two gentlemen of liis household, who
liad been set at liberty, followed him in two

pest- chaises. The remainder of Charles's
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The city of Avignon, in Provence, which

Charles selected for his place of abode, did not

at this time form a part of the French domi-

nions, but belonged to the pope. On the

death of George I. the Chevalier de St. George

had taken up his residence in this

city, that he might tlie better be en-

abled to correspond with his friends in

England ; but he was soon obliged to

retire across the Alps, in consequence,

it is understood, of an application from

the British government to the court

of Eome. To expel the Stuarts from

the French territories, wliilst, by a sort

of geographical subtlety, they were

allowed to reside almost in the heart

of France, was certainly an absurdity
;

lomestics were released a few days afterwards. ' and had Charles remained for any length of

Bronze Medal, Prince Charles ; reverse, Louisa, his Wife.

(From Original in Antiquarian Mnaeum, Edinburgli. -

On reaching Fontainebleau, Charles despatched

a facetious note to a M. de Bode at Paris, re-

questing him to inform his fiiends that he

carried himself well, that his head had never

been off his shoulders, and that it was stiU

upon them. From Fontainebleau Charles pro-

ceeded, by easy stages, to Avignon, where he

arrived on the morning of the 27th of Decem-

ber, disguised in the uniform of a French officer

of musketeers. He had received a letter from

his father on the road, and four days after liis

arrival he despatched an answer acquainting

lim that ho was " in perfect good health, not-

withstanding the unheard-of barbarous and in-

human treatment " he had met with.*

" Stnart Papers.

time at Avignon, it is probable that, as in the

case of his father, he would soon have been

forced to look out for another asylum; but,

to the astonisliment of all Europe, he left

Avignon incognito, after a residence of about

two months, and went whither nobody could

tell.

Attended only by Colonel Goring, and one

or two unliveried servants, Charles loft Avig-

non in a travelling cliaise, and proceeded on

the road to Lyons. The prince and Goring

passed for French ofTicers, who, on the con-

clusion of the peace, had obtained leave to

visit thoir friends—Charles taking the name
of the Comte D'Espoir.^ What his motives

' '

' Letter from H G , Esquire, one of the
gentlemen of the bed-chamber to the yuuug ClievaJier,

5 C
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«Tevc for taking this step have not been ascer-

tained ; but it is probable that one of his ob-

jects was an interview with the Landgrave of

Ilesse-Darnistadt, with whose daughter, tlie

Princess Charlotte Lomsa, he contemplated a

matrimonial alliance.

After passing through Lyons, Charles hired

another chaise, and proceeded to Strasbourg.

From Strasbourg it is supposed that Charles

went to Paris, as it is quite certain that, in the

month of May, he visited that capital.

Of Charles's wanderings, during the several

years that he continued to roam on the conti-

nent, no satisfactory account has yet appeared

;

but recent researches have thrown some Hght

on this obscure part of his history. It has

been long known that during this period he

visited Germany, spent some time privately in

Paris, but resided chiefly in the dominions of

his friend the Due de Bouillon, where, sur-

rounded by the wide and solitary forest of

Ardennes, his active spirit sought, in the dan-

gerous chase of wolves and bears, some com-

pensation for the military enterprise from which

he was excluded.' Secretary Edgar, who cor-

responded frequently with " the dear wild

man," as he jocularly styled Charles, considered

the prince's incognito as one of the most ex-

traordinary circiunstances that had ever oc-

curred, so great was tlie secrecy with wliich it

was for several years preserved.

After his departure from Paris, the first

trace that can be discovered of him is in Sep-

tember 1750, when he visited London.* His

object in coming over appears to have been to

establish a regular correspondence with his

friends in England, to ascertain the probabi-

lity of a rising in his favour, and to fix with

them upon a proper place for landing arms,

&c. Before his departure he applied to his

father for a renewal of his powers as regent,

which James reluctantly granted.^ U he fomid

matters in a favourable train, he intended to

issue a declaration in wliich he was to offer to

and the only person of bis own retinue that attended

him from Avignon, in his late journey througli Ger-

many and elsewhere, kc, to a particular friend. Lon-
don, 1750."

' Klose's Memoirs of Prince Charles, vol. ii. p. 199.
' Charles alludes to this visit in a note dated 1st

July, 1754, in his own hand-writing, among the

Stuart Papers.
' Stuart Paj)ers.

refer the funds to a free parliament; and tc

encourage the army to join him, ho was to

show the nxiUity of the oaths they had taken

to the " Elector." ^ Charles arrived in London

in the month of September, and went imme-

diately to the house of Lady Primrose. Her

ladysliip sent a note to Dr King, a zealous

Jacobite, desiring to see liim inunediatelj'. On
the doctor's enteiing the house. Lady Primrose

led him into her dressing-room, and presented

him to the prince. Dr. Kmg was surprised

at seeing liim, and still more astonished when

informed of the motives wliich had induced

him to hazard a journey to England at such a

juncture. According to Dr. King, whose state-

ment is fully supported by documents among

the Stuart Papers, the impatience of the

prince's friends who were in exQe had formed

a scheme which was impracticable ; but al-

though it had been as feasible as they had

represented it to him, yet no preparation

had been made to carry it into execution.

Charles was soon convinced that he had been

deceived, and after a stay in London of only

five days, returned to the continent.^

As Charles studiously concealed from his

father all his designs and movements, the latter

' See a curious memorandum, dated 3d May, 1750,
among the Stuart Papers, From this document it is

evident that Charles thought that tlie French minis-
try were bribed by the Britisli government to with-
hold assistance from him.

^ King's Political and Literary Anecdotes, p. 197:—"He came," says Dr. King, *'one evening to my
lodgings and drank tea with me. My servant, after

he was gone, said to me, ' that he thought my new
visitor very like Prince Charles.' ' Why,' said I,

' have you ever seen Prince Charles ?
'

' No, sir, ' re-

plied the fellow, ' but this guntleman, whoever he
may be, exactly resembles the busts which are sold in

Red Lion Street, and are said t o be the busts of Prince
Charles.' The truth is, these busts were taken in

plaster of Paris from his face. I never heard him,"
adds the doctor—who, however, cannot be received

as an altogether unbiassed reporter
— "express any

noble or benevolent sentiment, the certain indications

of a great soul and a good heart ; or discover any
sorrow or compassion for the misfortunes of so many
worthy men who had suffered in his cause. But the

most odious part of his character was his love of

money. . . I have known this gentleman %vith 2000

Louis d'ors in his strong-box pretend he was in great

distress, and borrow money from a lady in Paris who
was not in aiSuent circumstances. His most faithful

servants, who had closely attended him in all his

difficulties, were ill rewarded. To this spirit of ava-

rice may be added his insolent manner of treating

his immediate dependants, very unbecoming a great

prince, a)id a sure prognostic of what might be ex-

pected from, liim if ever he acquired the sovereign
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was entirely ignorant of his contemplated mar-

riage with the daughter of the Landgi-ave cf

IIcssc-Darmstadt. The Chevalier had sug-

gested, in 1747, a marriage with one of the

Duke of Modena's daughters, from which family

his mother had sprung ; but Charles appears

not to have relished the proposed match. He
now urged upon him the necessity of marry-

ing, so as to secure the succession of the family
;

for he could not think the prince so selfish as

to consider himself only in all he did and suf-

fered.

Though he could not but feel disappointed

at the result of his journey to England, Charles

did not despond, and he now resolved to sound

the dispositions of the courts of Berlin and

Stockholm. As Lord JMarischal had resided

about three years in Berlin, and was, through

the interest of Field-marshal Keith, his brother,

on the best footing with his Prussian majesty,

it occurred to Charles that, by avaiHng him-

self of the services of that nobleman, whom he

iooked upon as "an honest man," Frederick

might be induced to espouse his cause. Ac-

cordingly he despatched Colonel Goring to

Berlin, in June 1751, with a letter to Lord

^larischal. After consulting with liis lord-

ship, Gormgwas directed to proceed to Sweden.^

Of this mission nothing farther is known.

An interview which took place between Lord

Marischal and Goring, and another probably

with the prince himself at Paris, in September

following, are involved in the same obscurity.

About this time Charles received notice that

one Grosert, collector of the customs at AUoa,

had left Scotland with an intention to assassi-

nate him. This information was brought to

France by Eobertson of Blairfetty, who had

been in Scotland. Grosert is said to have

been married to a German woman, the daugh-

ter of the milliner of George I.^

No trace can be discovered of Charles's wan-

derings, after his return from London, till the

5th of April 1752, when he was seen by a

gentleman of the name of Mackintosh at Camp-

vere, in the island of Middelburg, where he

* See the letter to Earl Marischal and the instruc-

tions to Goring, both dated 21st June, 1751, among
the Stuart PapcTS.

'" Letter from Sir James Harrington, dated 6tli

ilujjust, 1751, among the Stuart Papers.

remained four days.*' He is said to have re-

visited London in the course of the following

year, and to have formally renounced the

Catholic religion in a chapel in Gray's L^n

Lane imder his own name of Charles Edward

Stuart ; but for this statement there appears

to be no sufficient authority.^ Dr. King, who
corresponded with Charles for several years,

makes no allusion to tliis visit, nor is there the

least trace of it to be found among the Stuart

Papers. The story of a third visit, on occa-

sion of the coronation of George III., at wliich

Charles is said to have attended, rests on the

authority of a letter of David Hume, written

in 1773. As to his reported change of reli-

gion, a rumour was generally prevalent in 1752

—a year before the date of his alleged apos-

tacy at London—that Charles had become a

Protestant ; but its accuracy was doubted by

some of his friends.' It is certain, however,

that Charles was not disposed to imitate the

self-denial of his father and grandfather, who
preferred their faith to a crown.'*

' Letter, Mr. Donald Mackintosh to Secretary
Edgar, dated from Civita Vecchia, 6th February,
1754.

—

Stuart Papers.
' He is said on tliis occasion to have called without

previous notice ou Lady Primrose, and to liave w.alked

into the room, where she and others were playing
cards, being announced by the servant under another
name. After he left it was remarked how like he was
to the prince's portrait which hung in the very room
into which he entered. He is said on this occasion
to have used so little precaution that ho went abroad
undisguised in daylight, walking once through St.

James's, and taking a turn in Pall Mall. This story

looks very like another version of his visit in 1750.
See George Charles's Transactions in Scotland, vol. ii.

p. 470.
* See among the Stuart Papers a letter from Secre-

tary Edgar to Mr. William Hay, 26th September,
1752, and that from Jlr. Hay's letter to Edgar, Octo-
ber 1752. Charles seems to have been desirous after

this to have none birt Protestants about him. He
sent an order to Avignon, in November 1763, to dis-

miss all his " Papist servants. " He kept at this time
a French mistress, and having (piarrelled with her,

he discarded her because she was "a Papist too."

The following note, also, in the prince's hand, ap-

pears on the back of a letter of Waters the banker, ot

26th June, 1754:— "My being a Protestant I can

prove to be an advantage to the Papist, and my terrible

situation not to be incapable to attempt any plan

either against my honour or interest, seeing them that

are so far from my country." At this time (June

1754) Charles was living in Paris incognito.
* See his answer to the deputation that waited ou

him in the year 1755 :—
" As to his religion," says Dr. King, " he is cer-

tainly free from all bigotry and superstition, and
would readily conform to the religion of the country.

With the Catholics he is a Catholic, with the Pro-

testants he is a Protestant ; and to convince the latter
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In consequence of the state of comparative

security whicli the British government enjoyed

after the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle, it became

less -vigilant than before in watching the mo-

tions of the exiled adherents of the house of

Stuart. Some of them accordingly ventured,

from time to time, to revisit their native

coiuitry and friends. Amongst others. Dr.

Cameron came over in 1749 to recover part of

a large sum of money which had been left by

Charles in charge of ]\Iacpherson of Climy

when he quitted Scotland. He made a second

journey to Britain in 1753, for what particular

purpose is not certainly known, although it is

supposed his visit had some connection with

a scheme for another rising, then under the con-

sideration of the Jacobites, but which luckily

was nipped in the bud. Having been appre-

hended in Scotland, he was carried to London,

confined to the Tower, and his identity being

proved in the court of king's bench by several

witnesses, he received sentence of death, and

was barbarously executed at Tyburn. He con-

ducted himself with manly fortitude and de-

coi-um, and his fate was generally pitied.^

Some of the best wishers to the Government

thought the sacrifice of this unfortunate gentle-

man a most unnecessary and wanton act at

such a juncture, and at such a distance of time

from the period of his attainder.^ It is said

that King George himself, as he reluctantly

signed the warrant for Cameron's execution,

exclaimed, " Surely there has been too much
blood spilt upon this account already !

"

Down to 1754 Charles kept up a regular

communication vnth his friends in England,

several of whom visited him personally, and

though they saw many reprehensible things in

his conduct, yet they were ivilling to make
every allowance for the peculiarities of his

situation. There was one circumstance, how-

ever, which they could not overlook. When
in Scotland, Charles had a mistress named

of his sincerity, he often carried an English Common
Prayer-book in his pocket, and sent to Gordon (whom
I have mentioned before), a non-juring clergyman, to

christen the first child he had by his mistress, Mrs.
Walkinshaw.

^ Klose's Memoirs of Prinze Charles, vol. ii. p. 208.
' The French government settled a pension of 1200

livres per annum upon his widow, and granted an
annual allowance of lOO livres to each of his two sons
who were in its service, in addition to their pay.

Clementina Walkinshaw, who, by all accounts,

possessed no great attractions, bodily or mental

Some years after he was sent out of France he

sent for this woman, who managed to become

acquainted with all his plans, and was trusted

with his most secret correspondence. As Miss

Walkinshaw had a sister who acted as house-

keeper to Frederick, Prince of Wales, at

Leicester house, all the persons of distinction

in England attached to Charles grew alarmed,

being apprehensive that this paramour had

been placed in his family by the English

ministers. They, therefore, despatched a gentle-

man, named M'JSTamara, to Paris, where Charles

then was, with instructions to insist upon Miss

Walkinshaw's removal for a certain time from

his presence. Mr M'Namara, who was a man
of excellent understanding, urged the most

powerful reasons, and used aU the arts of per-

suasion to induce him to comply, but to no

purpose. M'Namara then informed him that

an immediate interruption of all correspondence

with his most powerful friends in England,

and the ruin of his interest, woidd be the

certain consequence of his refusal ; but Charles

was inflexible. M'Namara staid some days ui

Paris beyond the time prescribed, in hopes of

ultimately prevaOing ; but aU his entreaties

and remonstrances were ineffectual. At part-

ing, M'Namara could not help exclaiming, with

great indignation, " What has your family

done. Sir, thus to draw down the vengeance of

Heaven on every branch of it, through so many

ages t
" During his conferences with M'Namara,

the prince declared that he had no violent pas-

sion, or, indeed, any particular regard for Miss

Walkinshaw, and that he could see her re-

moved from hi in -without any concern ; but

that he would not receive directions for the

regulation of his private conduct from any man
ahve. When M'Namara returned to London

and reported Charles's answer to the gentlemen

who had sent him to Paris, many of whom
were persons of the first rank, and all of them

men of fortune and distinction, they were

amazed and confounded, and resolved at once

to break with him.^

Lord Marischal was then residing at Paris

' King's Political and Literary Anecdotes, p. 26i.

et, seq.
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as ambassador from the king of Prussia to

the court of VersaLlles, and was apprised by

!M'Kamara of everything that passed between

him and tiie prince. Had M'Namara's mission

been successful, liis lordship, whose services

Charles was anxious to obtain, meant, on the

expiration of his embassy, to have entered

Charles's household; but disgusted with the

conduct of the prince, who even had the in-

gratitude to threaten to publish the names of

his English friends, he declined to take any

farther interest in his affairs, and embracing

tlie mediation of the king of Prussia, reconciled

liimself to the British government.*

'Wlien, in the follomng year, a war with

France seemed inevitable, some of his French

friends petitioned the French coiut to take

advantage of this favourable opportunity to

make one more attempt to restore the Stuarts.

Charles himself came to France, and appears

to have made exertions in liis own behalf, but

the time was consumed in fruitless negotiations,

and Charles returned to Italy and the retire-

ment of private Ufa It seems to be ^vith this

attempt that a document contained among the

Stuart Fajyers is connected. Tliis document

purports to be notes of a statement made by a

deputation, sent over to Prince Charles, at a

conference with him, drawn up at his own
desire; it is dated August 1.5, 1755. If this

document is authentic, and there seems to be

no reason to believe otherwise, the deputies

must have lectured the prince on liis conduct

most fearlessly and outspokenly, and in a

inanner to wliich princes are mostly strangers.

It is not known what reception the deputa-

tion met with, or how this message was received

by bim; but, at his desire, the address was

committed to writing, and sent to him. Charles

returned an indignant answer, informing his

" friends " that reason might, and he hoped

should, always prevail with liim, but his own
heart deceived him if threats or promises ever

^vould. He despised, he said, the malice of

those who aspersed his character, and con-

sidered it below his dignity to treat them

' Several letters between Charles and Lord Marisohal
will he found among the Stuart Papers. The most in-

teresting are one from his lordship, without signature,

loth April 1764, another also without signature, 18th
Hay 1754, and Charles's answer of the latter date.

in the terms they deserved. He told them

he had long desired a churchman from his

friends to attend him, but that his expecta-

tions had been hitherto disappointed.^

Though Charles at first affected not to feel

the indignity offered to him by the French

government, yet it is certain that it left upon

him an indelible impression, soured his dis-

position, and tended to confirm into a habit

the propensity to tippling which he contracted

during liis long and exhausting wanderings in

the Higlilands. Indeed, his mind, which never

was of the strongest or noblest type, appears to

have been quite unhinged. Dui'ing his long

incognito he scarcely ever corresponded \vith

his afflicted father,—a silence which he said

was not owing either to neglect or want of

duty, but because his situation was such that

he could do notliing but vent " imprecations

against the fatality of being born in such a

detestable age."^ Led away by his passions,

and reckless of the feelings or wishes of others,

he would suffer no control ; and so infatuated

did he become, that in resisting the admonitions

of his friends, he thought he was pursuing a

cotu'se honourable to himself, and dutiful

towards the "honest man,"—his father;^ but

James was not to be misled by such false

notions, and hinted, that though he was happy

to find Charles in such sentiments, yet it was

possible that what he might think for the best

might be other^vise. " Do you," he asks the

prince, " rightly understand the extensive sense

of honour and duty from which you say you

will never go astray? If you can," he continues,

" keep up to that rule, you will then be really

an honest man, which is the new name you

give me, and with which I am much pleased,

since it is a title I value more than all those

which vanity can desire, or flattery invent. It

is a title we are all obliged to pretend to, and

wliioh we may all, without vanity, think we

deserve, and unless we deserve it, we, in

reality, can neither be happy in the next world,

nor even in tliis, because peace and tranquillity

of min d is only the share of honest men. The

best -ivdsh I can therefore make you, is that you

may yourself long deserve and enjoy that title

^ Stuart Papers.
" Letter to Edgar, 24th March 1754.
' Letter,—Charles to Edgar, 12th March, 1755.
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it. would be the most effectual means of draw-

ing dowu God's blessing upon you." *

After tlie estrangement of his friends, Charles

appears to have given up all thoughts of restora-

tion, and resided cliiefly at Avignon till shorth'

before the death of his father, on December

31, 176G, wlien lie returned to Italy, fixing his

abode at Elorence. The Chevalier had, for

several years, been in a declining state of

liealth, and, for two years before liis death, had

been confined to his bed-cliamber. His remams

were carried to the church of tho iinri?;)! wliere

^
/ #^

Prince Charles Edward Stuart.

,'inji rirawing by Ozias Humplirey, R. A.

hu had resided, and were decorated witli all

the msignia of royalty. Over the bed was this

inscription:—"Jacobus Magnte Britannia; Eex,

Anno MDCCLXVi." The body lay in state

three days, during which none but the ItaKan

firinces and British subjects were admitted

into the church. The corpse was then removed

in procession to St Peter's church to be in-

terred. By his will, the Chevalier left his real

estate, which yielded about forty thousand

' Lc-tler to Cliarles, 14lli April, 1755, among Stuari
Papers.

crowns per annum, exclusive of pensions, tc

Prince Charles. He also left him a box of

jewels belonging to the crown of Poland, for-

merly pledged to the Sobieski family, if not

redeemed. The jewels belonging to his own

family he directed to be di\'ided between

Charles and Henry.

From the state of comparative seclusion in

which the Chevaher passed the most part of

his h'fe, his personal history is less kno'ivn than

either that of his father, or his son, Charles

Edward. His character, to judge from liis

correspondence and the many acts of

individual kindness he showed to-

wards his exiled adherents, was bene-

volent and estimable. He seems to

k have been better acquainted with the

^^^ principles of the English constitution

' -i than any of his race, and would, had

lie been called to empire, have very

possibly eschewed the dangerous rock

of the prerogative on which his grand-

lather and father split. His boast was

not merely that he was an English-

man, but that, to use an Italian phrase,

there was not " a greater Englishman

than himself."''

After his father's death. Prince

Charles retired to Albano, near Rome,

M'here he appears to have lived in great

seclusion till the year 1772, when the

1 ourt of Versailles, desirous for its

own selfish purposes to prevent the

male line of the house of Stuart from

becoming extinct, negotiated a mar

riage between him and the young prin-

cess Louisa Maximiliana Carolina ol

"" "' Stolberg-Gedern ; and the three Boui-

bon courts all concuning in the match,

a suitable allowance was settled by them on the

prince and his wife. Charles, who, in conse-

quence of the refusal of the court of Rome to re-

cognise the titles which his father had assumed,

had taken that of the Count of Alban}', which

when a youth he had used on his travels

through Italy, took up his residence upon his

marriage in the neighbourhood of Florence,

whither he was invited by the grand duke of

Tuscany. The marriage was unfortunaiw,

Charles had lived too long single to enjoy

" Letter to Charles of 3d Feliruiry, ]7J7.
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connubial happiness ; and liis mind, soiired

by misfortune and degraded by dissipation,

unfitted liim for the discbarge of the do-

mestic virtues. 1 An English lady who saw
Prince Charles at Eome in 1770, describes

him thus :
—" The Pretender is naturally

above the middle size, but stoops exces-

sively; he appears bloated and red in the

face, his countenance heavy and sleepy, which

is attributed to his having given in to excess

of drinking, but when a young man he must

have been esteemed handsome. His com-

plexion is of the fair tint, his eyes blue, his

hair light brown, and the contour of his face

a long oval ; he is by no means tliin, has a

noble person and a graceful manner. His

dress was scarlet, laced with broad gold lace
;

he wears the blue riband outside of his coat,

from which depends a cameo, antique, as

large as the palm of my hand, and he wears

the same garter and motto as those of the

noble St George in England. Upon the whole,

he has a melancholy, mortified appearance."

-

Charles and the princess lived together

uncomfortably tUI 1780, Charles, it is said,

often freatiug his youthful, beautiful, accom-

plished, and gentle wife with the greatest

brutality. In 1777 she became acquainted

with the great Italian di'amatist vilfieri, and

tlie two immediately conceived for each other

a passionate, lasting, and comjaaratively pure

love; for while her husband lived there is every

reason to believe that she remained faitlifid to

him. The princess left Charles in 1780, and

took up her residence with his brother the

cardinal at Eome, but shortly after removed

from that to Baden and ultimately to Paris,

where Aliieri joined her, and they separated

no more. On her husband's death, it is

understood that she was privately married to

' Lord Malion thinks that Charles had contracted a

disparaging opinion of the tender sex in general.

Among the Stiiart Papers is tlie following written by
Charles about the time of his marriage :

—"As for men,
I have studied them myself, and were I to live till

fourscore, I could scarcely know them better than
now, but as for women, I have thought it useless,

they being so much more wicked and impenetrable."
" IJngeneroas and ungrateful words," justly exclaims
Lord Mahon ;

" surely as he wrote them, the image of
Flora Jlacdonald should have risen in his heart and
restrained his band."—Mahon's England, v. iii., p.

527.

* Letters from Italy by an Englishwoman, London,
1776. Quoted by Lord Mahon.

Aliieri, who died in 1803, she surviving him
upwards of twenty-one years. AVlien Tuscany

fell under the dominion of Bonaparte, he

ordered the princess, then living in Florence,

(she having incurred his displeasm-o), to repaii-

to Paris. She was afterwards allowed to return

to Florence, where it is said she made a left>

handed marriage with a French historical

painter, named Francis Xavier Fabre, the

friend of Alfieri, whom upon her death she

appointed her universal executor.

About 1785, Charles, who must have felt

himself at this time a lonely, homeless, disap-

pointed old man, took to live witli him his

daughter, Charlotte, by Miss Walkinshaw,

who was born about 1760. Little is known
of this lady; she, however, appears to have

been of a gentle disposition, and we would
fain hope that her presence and companionship

helped much to soften the misanthropy and

soothe the bitter spirit of the disappointed

aspirant to the British throne. Shortly after

his daughter came to live with him, Charles

removed to Eome, where in January 1788 he

was prostrated by paralysis, and after an ill-

ness of three weeks died on the 31st. He was

buried royally in the church of his brother at

Frascati, the body, however, being afterwards

removed to St Peter's at Eome. Some time

before his death, he legitimatized his daughter,

and as the last act of his shado^vy sovereignty,

created her Duchess of Albany, leaving her

the greater part of his private property. * Even

down to the time of his death, it would seem

he had not entirely relinquished the hope of

one day sitting on the throne of his ancestors,

for, according to Lord Mahon, he used to keep

under his bed a strong box with 12,000

sequins, ready for the expenses of his journey

to England whenever he might suddeidy be

called thither.* His daughter, so far as ia

known his sole descendant, siu'vived him only

one year.

Whilst Charles's partisans have painted him

in the most glowing colours of admiration,

as the paragon of all that is noble and high-

minded, others have represented him as a

man devoid of any good and generous feel-

ing,—as despotic, revengeful, ungrateful, and

' Klose's Memoirs, v. ii., p. 241.
* M.ihon's England, v. ii., p. 528.
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avaricious,—^having, in. short, all the vices

without one of the redeeming virtues of his

race. Paradoxical as the assertion may he,

there is some truth in both delineations ; hut

considerable abatements must bo made from.

the exaggerated eulogies of the one party, as

well as from the sweeping condemnation of

the other. There wore, in fact, as has been

well observed, two Charles Edwards. The

hero of 1745 was a generous and high-minded

youth, who, notwithstanding some constitu-

tional defects, merited a better destiny ; but

the Charles Edward of a subsequent period

was a degraded man, who, dispirited by mis-

fortune and soured by disappointment, lost all

command over himself, and became the sport

of his passions. He retained, however, to the

close of his existence, a vivid recollection of

his early exploits, and frequently betrayed

genuine emotion on hearing any allusion to

Scotland and the Highlanders.

When Charles was ill in 1784, his brother

the cardinal, supposing Mm to be on his

death-bed, drew up a paper maintaining liis

pretensions to the British ciown, which, lie

declared, were in no way prejudiced or re-

nounced by his retention of the incognitiD title,

Cardinal Duke of York. A copy of this docu-

ment he sent to the pope, cardinals, and

various foreign ministers. When his brother

the prince did die, and Henry was left the

last and sole representative of the royal Stuart

race, he caused a medal to be struck bearing

the inscription, " Henry IX., King of England,

Medal of Honry, Cardinal Duke of York.

From Original in Antiquarian Museum, Edinburgh.

by the grace of God, but not by the will of

men," This, however, was all the cardinal

ever did to maintain his right divine to the

tlirone from which his grandfather fled. He
appears to have been perfectly contented with

his life as a J'eman cardinal, to have been

generous and gentle in disposition, and to

Iiavo performed ids duties faithfully as a

minister of the Catholic Church, although in

his own house ho is said to have insisted upon

a strict observance ci ill the etiquette usual in

tlie residence of a reigning sovereign. He had

many rich livings both in Italy and France,

but of most of those and of all his wealth

and treasm'es, literarj-, antiquarian, and curious,

he was despoiled by Uie 6mi<jsaries of the French

revolution in 1798, when ho took refuge in

Venice infirm and destitute. His case was

represented to his successful relative George

III., who immediately, and in as delicate a

manner as possible, generously settled on tho

cardinal a pension for life of L.4000 a year.

The cardinal returned to Komo in 1801, and

resided there till his death in 1807, aged 82

years. He was buried in St Peter's, besido

his father and brother, " and a stately monu-

ment, from the chisel of Canova, but at charge,

as I believe, of the House of Hanover, haj

since arisen to the memory of jAjres thk

Third, Charles the Third, and Henky thi-;

Ninth, Kings of ENGLAND^names which an

Englishman can scarcely read without a smile

or a sigh ! Often at the present day does the

British traveller turn from the sunny height of
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the Piucian or the carnival tlirongs of the

Corse, to gaze in thoughtful silence on that

sail mockery of human greatness, and that last

record of ruined hopes ! " ^

Henry of York, as we have said, was tlie

last scion of the direct line of the royal house

of Stuart, although he was by no means the

last of the Stuarts, as the genealogy of nearly

every royal and princely house of Europe can

testify. Much valuable information on this

point is contained in Mr Townsend's Descend-

ants of the Stuarts, where the reader vnl\ meet

with many interesting and a few strange and

startling facts. The Stuart blood, it would

seem, enriches the veins of every Christian

sovereign of Europe, and among tlie European

noble families will be found many princes

who, by the now ignored and we hope never

to be revived, principle of divine hereditary

right, are nearer heirs to the British throne

than the Prince of Wales. The heir-of-line of

the Stuarts is, we believe, Francis, ex-Duke of

Modena, the heiress presumptive being his

niece, Maria Theresa, wife of Prince Louis of

Bavaria. Great Britain, however, is as likely

to assert her right to the aUegianoe of the

United States as is any of the many descend-

ants of the Stuarts to endeavour to establish

a claim to the throne of England, to the preju-

dice of the reigning family. The Lady who at

present occupies the tlirone of Britain, and in

whose veins runs a large share of the ancient

Stuart blood, has won her way to the hearts of

all classes of her subjects, Highland and Low-

land, by her true nobility of character, genuine

womaulmess, and anxious interest in the wel-

fare of her people, as effectually as did the

young Chevalier by his youthful thoughtless

daring, fascinating manners, and feigned en-

thusiasm for all that was Highland. Still the

ancient spirit is not dead, and probably never

win die, so long as Gaelic and Lowland Scotch

is understood in the land, and so long as there

exists such a superabundance of Jacobite songs

unmatched for pathos and humour, and set to

music which cannot fail to touch the heart of

the "canniest Scot" that ever tried to over-

reach his neighbour. This sentimental Jaco-

bitism, initiated by Scott, appears to be get-

ting stronger and stronger every year, and

• Mahon's England, v. iii. p. 529.

pervades all classes of society from the " queen

on the throne to the meanest of her subjects ;"

it has, indeed, become now to a certain extent

fashionable, no doubt owing largely to the

example set by the greatest lady in the land,

in her love and admiration of the Highlands

and Highlanders. Tartans, not very many
years ago proscribed and forbidden to be worn

under severe penalties, and regarded as bar-

barous and vulgar, have now become the rage,

and are as indispensable to every Scottish

family. Highland or Lowland, as its crest or its

family ghost.

Before dismissing entirely the Stuart family,

which latterly was so intimately associated

\vith the Highlands, it may not be out of place

to mention that only a few years ago, two

young men made their appearance in Scotland,

holding themselves forth as legitimate grand-

sons of Prince Charles. Their story, set forth

in an inflated, misty style, after the man-

ner of romantic novelists, 'ndll be found in a

work published by them in 1847, entitled.

Tales of the Century, or SJcetches of the

Romance of History betioeen the years 1746

and 1846. There can be no doubt that Jolm

Sobieski and Charles Edward Stuart, the

names by which these gentlemen made them-

selves known to the public, have no connec-

tion whatever with the royal Stuarts : it is

certain that Prince Charles Edward Stuart left

behind him no legitimate offspring. The story

told by them in the above publication, how-

ever, was to the effect that their father, instead

of being a son of Admiral Allen, as was com-

monly supposed, was a son of Prince Charles

and the Princess Louisa, whose birth was kept

secret through fear of the Hanoverian famUy,

and who was intrusted to Admiral Allen, and

passed off by him as his own son.^ It is not

at aU improbable that they themselves believed

their own story, and were, strictly spealdng,

no impostors ; at aU events, they appear to

have met with considerable s3Tnpathy in the

form of hospitality and subscriptions to their

publications, for besides the book above men-

tioned and a volume of poems, they published

a large and expensive work, splendidly illus-

trated, entitled, The Costume of tJie Clans,

' See the whole story set forth and conclusively

refuted in the Quarterly Heview for June 1847.

5 D
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a copy of which was ordered at the time for

lier Majestj-'s library. To judge from the in-

troduction to this last hook, occupying about

the half of the work, written in a most pain-

fully lofty style, and having an amusing look

of learning by being crammed full of small

t^-pe notes and enigmatical references, one

would be almost inclined to think that they

were weak-minded enough to believe that it

was possible, even in the middle of the 19th

century, in the reign of Queen Victoria, to in-

cite the loyal Highlanders to enact a second

John Sobieski Stuart generally resides in

London, where he is to be met with in good

society under the title of " Count D'Albanie."

CHAPTEE XLL

Proceedings which followed Culloden, their cause

and consequences—Influence of clan-feeling—Lord
Lovat and the Frasers—Parlidmentary measures

—

Disarming Act—Act against the Highland dress

—

Abolition of Hereditary Jurisdictions—The Scottish

Episcopalians—Effect of these measures—The Old
Jacobites—The Jacobite Songs—Whig Songs—Sir

Walter Scott—Jacobitism at the present day

—

Queen Victoria—Innovations, and their probable
consequences.

The harsh military proceedings which followed

the battle of Culloden, of which we have

' A gentleman of Jacobite sympathies, to whom this

part of the work has been submitted, appends the fol-

lowing note :

—

" It is but justice, however, to these gentlemen to

say, that they have never made any loud or noisy
assertion of their claims, leaving, what they believe

to be, the fact of their descent to be indicated, rather
tlian asserted in the work above mentioned. It is

understood, also, that they do not encourage much
reference being made to those claims, which they
consider to amount only to the fact of their being de-

scended from Prince Charles, not to any 'Divine
Kight ' to the throne in virtue of that descent ; that
light having been forfeited, they believe, by the fact

of themselves and their ancestors having been Eoman
Catholics—the nation having declared for a Protestant
succession. It looks also as if they depended on the
strength of truth, or what they believe to be truth,

that they have never answered the criticisms of the
Quarterly reviewer, whilst at the same time it is

understood that they maintain tliat they could answer
Iiira, if they were so minded. They bore a high clia-

ractcr during their residence in the Highlands of

Scotland, which character they still retain. It is some
time since the writer of this note has seen them, but
the resemblance which their features bore to the fea-

tui"es of the ancient Stuart i-ace used to be remarked
by all who knew them. This, however, would not
prove much. Even the Quarterly reviewer does not
allege that they were conscious or kuowingly im-
postors."

already endeavoured to give the reader an idea,

seem to have completely crushed the spirit out

of the poor, and, in many cases, innocent High-

landers. The Duke of Cumberland and his

subordinates exercised, as we have seen, no

discrimination in the selection of their vic-

tims, lajing their bloody clutches on chiefs

and people, liini who had been " out" and

him who had not ; it was sufficient to bring

slaughter, slavery, or ruin on a man and his

family, if he bore upon or about him any

mark of Highland origin or connection,—wore

a kilt, or could not justify himself in English.

The end which it was intended to accomplish

by these cruel and saddening measures, was no

doubt in the main liighly desirable ; it was

well to let it be distinctly known once for aU,

that the divine hereditary right of ruling could

be conferred only by the people, and that these

would bestow the post of king on him who
could fill it best, and who would by no

caprices of his own obstruct the progress of the

nation. It was assuredly right and absolutely

necessary that the Highlanders should be made

clearly to understand that they lived in the

middle of the 18th century, and were only a very

small part of a great nation which was leading

the march of the world's progress, and that, in-

stead of doing their best to pull their country

back a centirr}', they shotild lend the aid ot

the many valuable and noble qualities with

which they were endowed, but which were

running comparatively waste, to enable Britain

to keep her proud position in the van of the

nations, and help the world on in its glorious

course of progress, to try to stop which would

certainly lead to their own destruction. It

was, we sajr, high time that such a splendid

race of men should be roused out of self-

satisfied slumber and brought to their senses,

but surely there was some gentler method of

effecting this than by thrusting a sword into

their hearts or blowing out their bewildered

brains ; their tendeno}' to rebeUion was no

disease which required to be " stamped out,"

but merely the result of much tuioccupied

energy, which only required proper direction

in order to become a blessing instead of a

curse to their fellow-countrymen. Ko one,

possessing ordinary human foeKng, can regard

the proceedings which followed Culloden, and
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uliicli were continued for many months, with

any feelings but those of pity, sadness, and

horror, combined with loathing at those who

were so inliuman as to carry out the bloody

work of wholesale butchery and ruin. We
of the present day regard the Highlanders

of '45 as a chivalrous, impulsive, simple-

minded race, who really wished to do no

one any harm, and perhaps we are to a

certain extent right But, as at the time of

the massacre of Glencoe, their southern fellow-

countrymen looked upon them as a pestiferous

race of semi-barbarians, enemies to progress,

" thieves and lawless limmers," who, Kke

vermin, should be annihilated, or at least for

ever incapacitated from doing harm to any but

themselves. This seems especially to have

been the case with the Duke of Cumberland,

who was utterly incapable of regarding the

Highlanders in any other light than as a set

of barbarous villains, to wliom no mercy ought

to be shown. Writmg, April 4, 1746, to tlie

Duke of Newcastle, he says, "All in this

country are almost to a man Jacobites, and

mild measures will not do. You will find

that all the laws of this ancient kingdom must

be new modelled. Were I to enumerate the

villains and villanies this country abounds

iu, I should never have done." And again,

July 17, "I am sorry to leave this coimtry in

the condition it is in ; for all the good that we

have done is a little blood-letting, which has

only weakened the madness, but not at all

cured it ; and / tremble for fear that this vile

spot may still be the ruin of this island aiid of

our family.'" From a man of Cumberland's

character, cherishing such feelings as the above

towards an enemy in his power, what other

course of conduct was to be expected than that

which he followed, more especially when it is

remembered that these feehngs must have been

considerably aggravated by the defeats which

the royal army had already sustained. On this

last account the royal soldiers themselves must

have cherished more than usually bitter feel-

ings towards their opponents ; for what can be

more chagrining to regularly disciplined troops

than to be routed by a wretchedly armed rab-

ble of half naked, untrained men, in which

liglit the royal army must have regarded the

Highlanders. These special causes, added to

the insatiable thirst for blood which seems to

take possession of a victorious army, suffi-

ciently account for the inhuman, heartless, and

uncalled for treatment of the Higlilanders

after the battle of Culloden. Good as the end

was, the means was utterly unjustifiable and

abhorrent.

The end, however, was accomplished. The

spirit of the Hig'nlanders was totally broken
;

they were left completely prostrate, broken

hearted, and bleeding, with no power left of

further disturbing the peace of the kingdom,

and with little inclination, at least among the

great majority of the clansmen, to lend tlieir

aid towards another rising. Indeed, it is well

known that, so far as the mass of the clansmen,

as distinguished from the chiefs and tacksmen,

were concerned, they were entirely the tools

of their superiors, and were ready, according

as their chiefs ordered, either to espouse the

cause of Prince Charles, or to be loyal to the

existing government. There is not a better

instance of the indifference of the common

Highlanders as to whom they fouglit for,

than the conduct of the clan Eraser iu the

rebellion of 1715. At the time this rebel-

lion broke out, Lovat was in France, the

headship of the clan being assumed by Mac-

kenzie of Eraserdale, who favoured the cause

of the Stuarts, and who had joined the

Earl of Mar at Perth with 400 of the

Frasers, many other members of the clan

remaining neutral till the pleasure of Si-

mon, their real chief, should be known.

Lovat returned from France, espoused the

side of King George, in which he was im-

mediately followed by the neutral Frasers,

while those who were in the camp of Marr

left it to a man, and joined themselves to him

whom they regarded as their rightful chief.

Such was the strength of the clannish prin-

ciple, and such the indifference of the major-

ity of the Higlilanders as to which side they

espoused, so long as they pleased their chief,

to please whom, they had been taught from

their infancy, was the first and great com-

mandment, to offend him being little better

than banishment or death. To say the least,

then, how utterly indiscriminating and shame-

ful was the cruel conduct of " Butcher" Cum-

berland and his assistants.
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The cruel and unconstitutional method of

punishing the Higliland rebels, and crushing

the sting out of them, adopted by Cumberland,

was at length put a stop to about the month

of August, the Civil Courts successfully as-

sertmg their supremacy over military licence

and coercion. Parliament set itself to devise

and adopt such measures as it thought would

be calculated to assimilate the Highlands witli

the rest of the kingdom, and deprive the

Highlanders of the power to combine success-

fully in future against the established govern-

ment. To effect these ends, ParKament, in

1746 and 1747, passed various Acts, by which

it was ordained that the Highlanders should

be disarmed, their peculiar dress laid aside,

and the heritable jurisdictions and wardhold-

ing abolished.

Marshal Wade, in 1725, seems really to

have succeeded in confiscating a very con-

siderable number of good, useful arms, al-

though the pawky Highlanders managed to

throw a glamour over even liis watchful eyes,

and secrete many weapons for use when occa-

eion should offer. Still, that arms were scarce

in the Highlands after this, is shown by the

rude and uumilitary character of the wea-

pons possessed b}' the majority of the rebel

army previous to the battle of Prestonpans
;

there, many of the Highlanders were able to

exchange their irregular and ugly, but some-

what formidable weapons for government fire-

locks and bayonets. Still Culloden, and the

merciless oppression which followed, more than

annulled all that the Higlilauders had gained

in this and other respects by their previous

success; so that those who had the enforcing

of the disarming Act would have compara-

tively little work to d*^. and were not likely

to meet with much opposition in performing

it. Severe penalties were tlireatened upon

any who dared to keep possession of weapons

after the Act came in force ; for the first of-

fence the dehnquent 'was liable to a heavy

fine, to be sent to serve as a soldier in

America, or, if unfit for service, to be im-

prisoned for six months. Seven years' trans-

portation followed the second oflence.

There can, we think, be no doubt as to the

wisdom and prudence of this Act if judici-

ously and thoroughly carried out, although the

penalties certainly do seem too severe. It seems

to have accomplished its purpose :
" the last

law," says Dr. Johnson,^ "by which the High-

landers are deprived of their arms, has operated

with efficacy beyond expectation .... the

arms were collected with such rigour, that

every house was despoiled of its defence."

Not only was this disarming of the High-

landers effectual in preventing future rebel-

lion, but also helped considerably to soften

and render less dangerous their daily inter-

course with each other. Formerly it was quite

a common occurrence for the least difference

of opinion between two Higlrlanders—whose

bristling pride is always on the rise—to be

followed by liigh words and an ultimate ap-

peal to weapons, in which the original com-

batants were often joined by their respective

friends, the result being a small battle ending

in one or more deaths and many wounds.

The Disarming Act tended to make such

occurrences extremely rare.

There is certainly great room for doubting

the wisdom which prompted the enactment

that followed the above, enforcing the discon

tinuance of the peculiar dress of the High

landers. By this Act, " Any person within

Scotland, whether man or boy (excepting

officers and soldiers in his majesty's service),

who should wear the plaid, phQibeg, trews,

shoulder belts, or any part of the Highland

garb, or should use for great coats, tartans,

or parti-coloured plaid, or stuffs, should, with-

out the alternative of a fine, be imprisoned for

the first conviction for six months, without

bail, and on the second conviction be trans-

ported for seven years."' Of all the medicines

administered by the government ph^'sicians to

the Highlanders at this time, this was certainly

the most difficult for them to swaUow, and the

one least calculated to serve the purpose for

which it was intended. As to the other enact-

ments made by government to keep down
rebellion, the Higlilanders could not but feel

that those in power were only doing what

common prudence dictated. But this inter-

ference in a matter so personal and apparently

so harmless as that of dress, this proliibition

of a costmne so national, ancient (at least in

" Johnson's Jotumey, ed. 1792, p. 120.
° Stewart's Sketches, b. 1. p. 116.
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fa.ilxion), aud characteristic as that of tlio

Uiglilanders, seemed to them an act of mere

wanton and insulting oppression, intended to

degrade them, and without purpose, to outrage

their most cherished and harmless prejudices.

They seem to have felt it as keenly as any

officer would feel the breaking of his sword or

the tearing off of his epaulets, or as the native

troops, previous to the Indian mutiny, felt the

imposition of greased cartridges. It humbled

and irritated them far more than did any of

the other acts, or even than the outrages

and barbarities which followed Culloden ; in-

stead of eradicating their national spirit, and

assimilating them in all respects with the

Lowland population, it rather intensified that

spirit, and their determination to preserve

tliemselves a separate and peculiar people, be-

sides throwing in th«ir way an additional and

unnecessary temptation to break the laws. A
multitude of prohibitory statutes is always

irritating to a people, and serves only to mul-

tiply oifences and demoralize a nation ; it is

generally a sign of weakness and great lack of

wisdom in a government. This enactment as

to the Highland dress was as unwise as religi-

ous intolerance, which is invariably a nurse of

discord, a promoter of sectarianism. This Act

suiTounded the Highland dress with a sort of

sacred halo, raised it into a badge of nationality,

and was probably the means of perpetuating

and rendering popular the use of a habit,

which, had it been left alone, might long ere

now have died a natural death, and been found

only in our museums, side by side with the

Lochaber axe, the two-handed sword, and the

naU-studded shield.

The sagacious President Forbes—to whom,
had the government perceived clearly the

country's true interest, they would have en-

tirely intrusted the legislation for the High-

lands—had but a poor opinion of the dress

bUl, as will appear from the following letter of

his to the Lord Lyon, dated July 8, 1746 :

—

" The garb is certainly very loose, and fits

men inured to it to go through great fatigues,

to make very quick marches, to bear out

against the inclemency of the weather, to wade

through rivers, and shelter in huts, woods, and
rocks upon occasion ; which men dressed in

the low country garb could not possibly en-

dure. But then it is to be considered, that,

as the Highlands are circiunstanced at present,

it is, at least it seems to me to be, an litter

impossibility, without the advantage of this

dress, for the inhabitants to tend their cattle,

and to go through the other parts of their

business, without which they could not sub-

sist ; not to speak of paying rents to their

landlords. Now, because too many of the

Highlanders have offended, to punish all the

rest who have not, and who, I will venture to

say, are the greatest number, in so severe a

manner, seems to be unreasonable ; especially

as, in my poor apprehension, it is unnecessary,

on the supposal the disarming project bo pro-

perly secured ; and I must confess, that the

salvo which you speak of, of not suffering the

regidation to extend to the well-affected Clans,

is not to my taste ; because, though it would

save them from hardsliips, yet the making so

remarkable a distinction would be, as I take

it, to list all those on whom the biU should

operate for the Pretender, which ought to be

avoided if possible."^ General Stewart per-

haps speaks too strongly when he remarks,

that had the whole Highland race been deci-

mated, more violent grief, indignation, and

shame, could not have been excited among
them, than by being deprived of this long in-

herited costume. However, it should be re-

membered that aU this was the legislation of

upwards of 120 years ago, that the difficulties

which the government had to face were seri-

ous and trying, that those who had the mak-

ing of these laws were totally ignorant of the

real character of the Highlanders, and of the

real motives which urged them to rebellion,

and that even at the present day legislative

blunders do occasionally occur.

The means by which the Higlilanders en-

deavoured to elude this law without incur-

ring a penalty, were ingenious aud amusing.

Stewart teUs us that, " instead of the pro-

hibited tartan kilt, some wore pieces of a

blue, green, or red thin cloth, or coarse

camblet, wrapped round the waist, and hang-

ing down to the knees like the fealdag.'

The tight breeches were particularly obuox-

^ Culloden Papers, p. 289.
^ The difference between the fealdag and the phili-

beg is, that the former is not plaited.
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lo". ». Some, who Avere fearful of offending,

or wished to render obedience to tho law,

which had not specified on what part of the

body the breeches were to be worn, satisfied

themselves with having in their possession

tlris article of legal and loyal dress, which,

either as the signal of their submission, or

more probably to suit their own convenience

when on journeys, they often suspended over

their shoulders upon their sticks ; others, who
were either more wary, or less submissive,

sewed up the centre of the kilt with a few

stitches between the thighs, wlrioh gave it

something of the form of the trousers worn

by Dutch skippers." The Act at first appears

to have been carried out with rigid strictness,

these ingenious attempts at evading it being

punished somewhat severely ; but, if we may

judge from a trial which took place in 1757,

tho administrators of the law had by that time

come to regard such breaches with a lenient

eye. Although no doubt the law in course

of time became practically obsolete, it was

not till 1782 that it was erased from the

statute book. Since then " tartans and kilts

an' a', an' a'," have gradually increased in

popularity, until now they have become " the

rage" with all classes of society, from John

o'Groats to Land's End; tartan plaids, of

patterns which do great credit to the ingenuity

of the manufacturers, are seen everywhere

adorning the graceful forms of ladies, and the

not so long since proscribed kilt being found

not unfrequently displaying itself in the most

fashionable London Assemblies. Ttmpora

midantur.

By far the most important measure adopted

by government for the improvement of the

Highlands was the aboKtion of the Hereditary

Jui'isdictions, which lay at the root of many

of the evils that afflicted that country, and to

which, in a great degree, the rebellion owed the

measure of success that attended it. Before

these jm-isdictions were abolished, a Highland

chief was as absolute a potentate over the

members of his clan as any eastern pasha or

African chief is over his abject subjects. The

power of " pit and gallows," as it was called,

which belonged to each of these petty sove-

reignties—for such they were practically

—

gave the chief absolute command of the lives

and liberty of his followers. Tlie only thing

he lawfully could not do was to banish ; but

even this prohibition he managed to evade by

giving his victims the alternative of " emigra-

tion"—as it was mildly called—or death.

This is not the place to enter into a minuto

account of the origin and working of this

curious system, so utterly inconsistent with

the spirit of a constitutional government like

that of Britain ; but any one can perceive that

such a power as this in the hands of a discon-

tented chief, especially when complemented by

the high notions which a Highlander had of

the obedience due to the head of the clan,

must have been dangeroiis in the highest de-

gree to the peace and progress of the country.

There is no doubt that this coercive power

was frequently brought into play in the late

rebellion ; indeed, the only plea urged by a

great majority of the common Highlanders,

when tried at Carlisle and elsewhere, was that

they were forced into rebellion against their

wills. Of course a prudent chief would bo

careful not to carry his power bej'ond due

bounds, at least so far aa the members of his

own clan were concerned, for there was a point

in the scale of oppression which even the

strong spirit of clanship could not stand. No
doubt the power thus entrusted to the chiefs

may at one time have served a good purpose.

When the country was in a turbulent and

unsettled state, when communication between

the different parts of the country was tediou.s,

expensive, and hazardous, when it was diffi-

cult for the strong arm of the law to reach to

a remote, rugged, and inaccessible district like

the Highlands, where life and the rights of

property were as little regarded as they are at

the present day in Ireland,—perhaps this put-

ting of the power of a judge in the hands of

the chief men of the various districts, was

the only practicable substitute for the direct

administration of justice by those to whom
this duty properly belonged. In reality, the

justice meted out was of the roughest kind,

and continually liable to be modified by the

interests of the administrator, or any of liis

many friends. " That such a system should

have been tolerated into the middle of tho

18th century, after Somers, Hard-vvicke, and

Forbes had occupied the bench, may seem in-



ABOLITION OF HEEEDITAEY JUEISDICTIONS. 757

credible, but it is true."^ It was assuredly

high time that such an anomalous state of

matters should be done away \vith.*

An Act for the abolition of the Hereditary

Jurisdictions was passed in Marcb 1747, and

came in force a year after. Of course some

other plan for the administration of the laws

had to be devised. " At the head of the

arrangements for carrying justice throughout

the land, the system begun in England in the

reign of Heniy II., for sending the royal courts

at fixed intervals through the provinces, was

adopted. Nominally there had been circuits

orjustice-ayres, but theywere not systematically

held, either at stated intervals of time, or so as

to bring up before them the revisal of the

' Burton's Scotland after Hcwhdion, v. ii. p. 405.
* To give the reader a notion of the evils which

flowed from these irregular jurisdictions, we quote the
following from the old Statistical Account of the Parish
of Abernethy, in Inverness-shire :

—"A few instances

will be enough to mention, in case the reader should
imagine that these things were lately done in Tippoo
Sultan's dominions. One of them lived in this parish,

named Robert Grant, commonly called Bailie More.
It is said he used to hang people for disobliging him.
He seldom called juries. He hanged two brothers oii

a tree within a thousand yards of this town, and buried
both in one grave, on the road side. The grave and
jtones above it are still visible. Another, named
James Grant, commonly called Bailie Roy, who lived

long in this parish, hanged a man of the name of

Stuart, and after hanging him, set a jury on him, and
foimd him guilty. The particulars are too long to be
inserted here. The bailie had many reasons for being
in such a huny. The man was, unluckily for him,
wealthy, and abounded in cattle, horses, sheep, and
goats, all of which were instantly driven to the bailie's

home ; Stuart's children set a-begging, and his wife
became deranged in her mind, and was afterward
drowned in a river. It is not very long since. This
same Bailie Roy, on another occasion, hanged two
notorious thieves, parboiled their heads, and set them
up on spikes afterward. At another time he drowned
two men in sacks, at the bridge of Billimon, within a
few hundred yards of this manse, and endeavoured to
compel a man from Glenmore, in the barony of Kin-
cardine, to assist him and the executioners he had
with him in the business, which the man refusing to
do, the bailie said to him, ' If you was within my
regality, I would teach you better manners than to
disobey my commands.' This bailie bought a good
estate. There was another of them, called Bailie Bain,
in this country, who became so odious that the country
people drowned him in Spey, near the church of Inver-
allan, about two miles from hence. They took off his
boots and gloves, left them on the bank, and drove his
horse through a rugged place full of large stones. The
tract in the s,and, boots, &c., discovered what had
become of him ; and when a search was made for him
down the river, a man met the party near the church
of Cromdale, who asked them what they were search-
ing for, they answered, for the bailie's body, upon
which he said, ' Turn back, turn back, perhaps he is

gone up against the river, for he was always acting
against nature.'

"

administration of justice in all the districts.

This, indeed, was impossible while the heredi

tary jurisdictions remained, but now regular

circuits were to take place biennially, and the

country was so partitioned into districts, that

the higher offences were systematically brought

up from the most remote provinces for adjudi-

cation. The exceptional hereditary jurisdic-

tions, such as the regalities, were abolished,

and the smaller authority exercised in baronial

courts was restricted to trifling matters. The

sheriff courts, locally commensurate in their

authority -with the boimdaries of the counties,

were taken as the foundation of a system of

local tribunals, presided over by responsible

judges. These, which were hereditary, were

to be yielded to the crown; and ever since

the passing of the act, the sheriff of each

county has been appointed like the other

judges, for life, removeable only for miscon-

duct." *

Of course, as these jurisdictions, besides con-

ferring influence and power, were sources of

emoliunent^ to the holders of them, and as they

had been sanctioned in the treaty of Union, it

was considered only fair that some compensa-

tion should be allowed by the country to those

who profited by them ; in fact, they had to be

bought up. The holders of the j urisdictions ap-

pear to have been asked to send in the amount

of their claims to the Court of Session, which

was authorised to fix the price to be paid. Of

course, those who were convicted or attainted

for having taken part in the late rebellion, had

no claim, as their estates were forfeited to the

C^o^vn, and they themselves deprived of all

° Burton's ScollaTid after Rmolution, vol. ii. p. 535.
' " As their power was great, and generally abused,

so many of them enriched themselves. They had
many ways of making money for themselves, such as

1. The Bailie's Darak, as it was called, or a day's

labour in the year from every tenant on the estate.

2. Confiscations, as they generally seized on all the
goods and eifects of such as suffered capitally. 3. All
fines for killing game, black-fish, or cutting green
wood, were laid on by themselves, and went into their

own pockets. These fines amounted to what they
pleased almost. 4. Another very lucrative perquisite

they had was what was called the Herial Horse, which
was, the best horse, cow, ox, or other article, which
any tenant on the estate possessed at the time of his

death. This was taken from the widow and children

for the bailie at the time they had most need of assist-

ance. This amounted to a great deal on a large

estate."

—

Old Statistical Account of Scotlaiid, vo). xiii.

pp. 151-152.
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their privileges. Those who were ahout to part

with their ancient powers were determined to

make the most of them now that they were no

longer to be a perpetual source of emolument

and influence. The aggregate sum asked by

the proprietors from government as the price of

their jmisdictious was more than three times

greater than that which the Court of Session

deemed a fair price. There may be some truth

in what Mr Fraser-Mackintosh says in his Anti-

quarian Notei ^ .•
—" Of course, the amoimts ulti-

mately paid bore not the slightest proportion

to the claims, but they did bear some propor-

tion to the politics of the holders, just as these

happened to be friendly to government or the

reverse." Argyll, for the Justice-Generalship

of Argyll, asked £15,000, for the Sheriffdom

£5000, and for various small regalities other

£5000, making £25,000 in all ; from this the

Court of Session deducted only £4000, allow-

ing him for his various offices and jurisdictions

what would then be considered the munificent

sum of £21,000. Besides receiving this sum,

the duke was appointed, in exchange for Iris

office of Hereditary Justiciar of Scotland, Lord

Justice-General, head of the Justiciary Court.

The Duke of Montrose, for liis various regaKties,

and the Sheriffdom of Dumbarton, demanded

£15,000, but did not get above one third of

that sum ; nor did the Dukes of Buccleuch and

.4thole, who each modestly valued his various

offices at £17,000. The Duke of Gordon's

claim amounted to £22,300, the Eari of Suther-

land's to £10,800, Breadalbane's to £7000,

Moray's to £14,000, Findlater's to £5,500.

The smallest sum claimed for a Highland

jurisdiction was by Evan BaiUie, of Abriachan,

for the Bailliary of Lovat, which he modestly

valued at £166; Munro, Sheriff- Clerk of

Inverness, clahnLng the same sum for that

office combined vpith the Clerkship of the

regality of Lovat. The total amount claimed

for the whole of the jurisdictions was upwai'ds

of £490,000, which the Court of Session cut

down to a little over £150,000.^ The sum

was well spent in doing away with so many

sources of petty tyranny and injustice, in the

abolition of a system inconsistent with the

' P. 243.
' See Frascr-Mackiutosh's Antiquarian Notes, p.

212.

spirit of the British constitution in the middle

of the 18th century, calculated materially to

hinder progress and to aid rebellion.

The abolition of these jurisdictions in the

Highlands, and along with them the power

and paternal authority of the Highland chiefs,

effected a complete change in the social life of

that part of the country, led at first to con-

siderable discontent and confusion, and was the

indirect means of bringing much suffering and

hardship on the subordinate dignitaries and

commonalty of the clans. Some such conse-

quences were to be expected from the breaking

up of a system which had held sway for many

generations, and the substitution of a state of

matters to which the people were altogether

unused, and which ran counter to all their pre-

judices and traditions; stLU, as in the case of

every reformation, individual suffering was to

be looked for, and in the course of time, as will

be seen, matters gradually righted themselves,

and the Highlands became as progressive and

prosperous as any other part of the country.

Another much needed measure adopted by

government was the abolition of a remnant ot

feudality, the kind of tenure known as " ward

holding." "By this relic of ancient feudality,

military service had remained down to that

juncture the condition under which lands were

held by one subject from another. Efforts

were of course made to bring land into com-

merce, by substituting pecuniary arrangements

for such services, but the ' wardholding ' was

so essentially the proper feudal usage, that the

lawyers held it to be always understood, if

some other arrangements were not very speci-

fically settled. It had become the means of

very oppressive exactions or ' casualties,'

arising out of those conditions—such as

minority—where the military service coidd

not be performed. But by the act of 1746,

arrangementswere devised for converting all the

superior's privileges into reasonable pecuniary

claims." '

Another means taken by government to

extinguish the seeds of rebellion and prevent

its future occurrence, was the enactment of

more stringent laws in reference to the Scottish

EpiscopaKans, among whom Jacobite sympa-

» Burtcn's Scotland after Revolution, vol. ii p. 5S7.
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thies were almost as strong and as universal as

among their Eoman CathoUc brethren. Their

partiality to the house of Stuart was no douht

in a great measure owing to their strong belief

as a class in divine right of government, both

in Church and State, and to a conviction that

seems to have prevailed among them that the

restoration of the Stuarts meant the restoration

of the supremacy, or at least establishment of

episcopacy in Scotland. Th« Stuarts had not

more devoted adherents than the Ejjiscopalians

in the kingdom, nor any who, amidst many

pettj', irritating, and even severe enactments,

continued longer to adhere to their first love.

Indeed, there is good reason for believing that

at the present day, among many Scottish Epis-

copalians, especially in the Highla,nds, there

are still many Jacobites in sentiment and

sympathy, although, as a principle of action,

Jacobitism is imdoubtedly dead and gone,

never to be resuscitated.

As this party, though not numerous, was not

less formidable from its rank and wealth than

from the esprit de corps with which it was

animated, the attention of the legislature was

directed towards it, and a strong measure was

resorted to, which nothing could justify but

necessity. This was an act by which it was

ordained that any episcopal clergyman oflSciat-

ing after the 1st of September 1746, mthout

having previously taken the oaths of allegiance,

abjuration, and assurance, or without prayiiig

once during the performance of worship for

the king, his heirs, and successors, and for aU

the royal family, should for the first offence sufler

six months imprisonment, for the second be

transported to the American plantations for

life, and, in case of returning from banishment,

be subjected to perpetual imprisonment. By
another enactment it was declared that no peer

of Scotland should be capable of being elected

one of the representative peers, or of voting at

such election, and that no person should be

capable of being elected a member of parlia-

ment for any shire or burgh, who should

within the compass of any future year be

twice present at divine service in an illegal

episcopal meeting-house in Scotland. Several

other severe Acts were passed against Episco-

palians, and these were not allowed to remain

a dead letter, but were acted upon in several

instances.^ The devoted Episcopalians bore

their privations mth becoming fortitude, by

jielding to a necessity which they could not

control, but they submitted only because they

were unable to resist.

StUl there is no doubt that even at the

present day there are not a few hereditary

adlierents of the Scottish episcopal church,

whose sympathies are all Jacobite, and who
have never taken kindly even to the present

dynasty.

After the death, in January 1788, of Prince

Charles Edward, whose brother the cardinal

could leave no lawful descendant, the Scottish

bishops felt they could conscientiously recog-

nise the Hanoverian government, and therefore

issued an intimation to the clergy and laity of

their church, announcing that they had " unani-

mously agreed to comply with and submit to

the present government of this kingdom, as

vested in the person of his Majesty King
George the Third." They also resolved " to

testify this compliance by uniformly praying

for him by name in their pubKc worsliip, in

hopes of removing all suspicion of disaffection,

and of obtaining relief from those penal laws

under which this church has so long suffered."'

The forfeited estates were annexed to the

Crown, and placed in the hands of the court of

exchequer, who appointed commissioners to

apply their produce to the improvement of the

Higlilands. In course of time, as will be seen

in the history of the clans, government wisely

restored to most of the unfortunate families

the estates fooKshly thrown away by their

representatives in 1745.

The effect of all the measures above referred

to was, of course, immediately to annul all

possibility of further active resistance, although,

no doubt, they tended to intensify and per-

petuate Jacobitism as a sentiment, and change

into a sort of living reverence or worship the

feeling of loyalty towards Prince Charles

which had animated most of the Highland

chiefs and incited them to rebellion. The idea

of endeavouring to repeat the experiment of

'45 seems not to have been entirely abandoned

' Among others, the Eev. John Skinner, well known
as the authoi of the song of " Tullochgorum," was a
sufferer : he was imprisoned for six mouths.

- Dunbar's Social Life in Former Days, 1st series

p. 390.
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by some of the more obstinate Jacobites even

up to the time of Charles's death, although

after the accession of George III.,—in whose

reign the stringent measures adopted after 1745

were gradually relaxed, and efforts made for

the improvement of the Higlilanders,—the em-

bodiment of many Higliland regiments, the

gradual dissolution practically of the old rela-

tion between the chief and his clan consequent

on the abolition of the heritable jurisdictions,

and the general progress of the country, Jaco*

bitism became, as we have said above, a

matter of mere sentiment, a feeling of tender-

ness almost akin to love, often finding expres-

sion in song in the melting language of the

tender passion. Prince Charles was known to

most of the Jacobites both in the Highlands

and elsewhere only from the brief episode of

1745-6, in which he played the cliief part,

and in wliich he appeared to them as the

handsome, brave, chivalrous, youtliful, fair-

haired, warm-hearted heir, come to recover

that inheritance from which he was most un-

justly excluded by a cruel usurper. His latter

degraded life most of them knew nothing of,

and oven if they had been told of it, they most

probably would have regai'ded the tale as a

vile calumny ; their love for " Bonnie Prince

Charlie " was blind as the love of an impetuous

youth for his first mistress, and they would

allow no flaw to mar the beauty of that image

wliich they tenderly cherished in their heart

of hearts. This sentimental Jacobitism, as we

have said already, prevailed extensively among

all classes of society for very many years after

all idea of actively asserting it had died out of

the land.3 These Jacobites, who were geue-

' "^Vhen the Princess of Wales, mother of George

III., mentioned, with some appearance of censure, the

conduct of Lady Margaret M 'Donald, who harboured

and concealed Prince Charles, when in the extremity

of peril, he threw himself on her protection ;
*' And

would not you, madanii," answered Prince Frederick,
" have done the same, in the same circumstances 1 I

am sure— I hope in God you would." Captain Stuart

of Invernahoyle's singular remark was not, it seems,

quite without foundation. A gentleman, in a large

company, gibed him for holding the king's commis-

sion, while, at the same time, he was a professed

Jacobite. " So I well may," answered he, " in imi-

tation of my master : the king himself is a Jacobite.

"

Ths gentleman shods his head, and remarked, that

the thing was impossible. " By G—," said Stuart,

"but I teU you he is, and every son that he has.

'I'here is not one of them who (if he had lived in my

rally of a somewhat social turn, in their private

meetings, gave expression to their feelings in

various ways, known only to themselves ; in-

deed, there appears to have been a sort of free-

masonry tacitly established among them, having

signs, and words, and customs unknown to tlie

great outside Whig world. One of their

favourite methods, for example, of toasting

Prince Charles at their feasts, was to drink to

the health of " the king," at the same time

passing the glass in their hands over the

water-bottle, to signify that they meant not

King George, but him " over the water."

"What more than anytliing else, perhaps,

tended to nourish and keep this feeling aUve

was the great body of song which was born of

Jacobitism, and which dates from the time of

Charles I. down almost to the present day.

These songs are of all kinds, tender, humorous,

pathetic, sarcastic, indignant, heroic, and many

of them cannot be matched as expressions of

the pai-ticular feelings to which tliey are meant

to give utterance. The strength and character

of the Jacobitic feeling can be well ascertained

by a study of these songs, of which we believe

there are some hundreds, many of them of

high merit, and some, as we have said, not

to be matched by the songs of any country.

Indeed, altogether, this outbitrst of song is one

of the most remarkable phenomena connected

with Scottish Jacobitism, for most of them are

Scotch both in language and authorship, and

most of the tunes borrowed or adapted from

the Gaelic, which has furnished to Scotland

some of its richest song music. These songs

not only show the intensity of the loyalty of

the Jacobites towards the Stuart family, and

their hatred of the reigning dynasty and of all

Wliigs, but also show that all along they had

felt themselves to be the weaker party, unable

to show their loyalty by their deeds, and com-

pelled to let their energy escape in taunt and

sarcasm. The Whigs have, indeed, a few,

very few songs, which are artificial and cold,

altogether devoid of the fire, the point, the

perfect abandon, the touching tenderness, the

thorough naturalness, which characterise those

of their opponents. No one ever thinks ot

singing those WTiig songs now-a-days ; few

brave father's days) would not to a certainty have

been hanged. "—Hogg's JacolAU Jielics.
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Icnow anglit of them save industrious collectors.''

The Jacobite songs, on the other hand, both

tlioso which were written when Jacobitism was

at its height, and those which are merely the

outcome of modern sentiment, are, wherever

Scotch songs are sought after and appreci-

ated, scarcely less popular tlaan the matchless

love-songs in which the language must ever live.

Wlio, when he hears some of these Jacobite

gems sung, Protestant and Wliig though he be

to the core, is not for the nonce a Jacobite,

ready to draw liis sword if ha had one, to

" Wha wadna fight for Charlie ;" feel delighted

at the defeat of the Whig gudeman in " Hame
cam' our gudeman at e'en ;" or shed a tear to

the mournful verse of " Wae's me for Prince

Charlie ? " With such a powerful instrument

in their liands as this body of song, not only

evidencing the intensity of the sentiment, but

so well calculated to touch the feelings, ex^

cite the tenderness, and rouse the indignation

of all who were capable of being influenced by

music, it seems surprising that Jacobitism, as

a prinidple of action, was not more prevalent

even than it was, and did not, inspired by

these songs, accomplish greater things. But

the very fact that there were so many songs,

may account for this lack of important deeds.

Tlie muses, Burns has said, are all Jacobites,

and it would seem at any rate that all the

best song -writers of the country had enlisted

on the unfortunate side ; and it will be found,

on the other hand, in scanning the account of

the last rebellion, that those who joined in it

were little given to forethought or to weighing

the consequences of their actions, little able to

regulate or lead any great enterprise, but

influenced chiefly by imagination and impulse.

There were, indeed, one or two superior to all

the others in calibre, foresight, and aptitude to

command, but these had little chance of being

attended to when their power was not abso-

lute among so many harebrained, thoughtless

* " We find that the whole of national song during
tliat period inclined towards the ancient dynasty, and
the whole force of the ludicrous, the popular, and the

pathetic, volunteered in the Jacobite service. It is

beyond question that the merit of these Jacobite songs
eclipsed, and still eclipses, every attempt at poetry on
the other side, which has produced little beyond a few
scraps of verses in ridicule of the bare knees, the kilts,

and bad English of tlie Highlanders." — Stewart's

Sketcha, voL L p. 100.

adventurers. In 1745, had there been at the

head of the rebels one thorougUy able, ex-

perienced, iron-willed, thoughtfid general, who
liad absolute command of tlie whole expedi-

tion, matters might have turned out very

diti'erently, especially when in these songs he

had instruments far more powerful to incite

than any threats or promises of reward. It is

far from us to say that the bravery of the

Jiicobites evaporated in a song ; their whole

history would give such a statement the lie
;

but we think had there been less singing and

song-making and more attention to stratagem

and dry military business and diplomacy gene-

rally, they would have been more likely ulti-

mately to have placed their idol on tlie throne.

However, as General Stewart well remarks,

'* when it is considered how many feel and how
few reason," the power of this popular poetry

to stir up sympathy in behalf of the cause for

which it was written will be easily understood.'

The great majority of these songs are in the

Scottish language, a few of them being trans-

lations from the Gaelic, but niost of them

original ; the authors of very few of them are

known, a feature which they have in common

with many of the oldest and richest of our

Scotch songs. Any one who may wish to

form an idea of their nierit and multitude will

find the best of them collected in Hogg's two

voliuues of Jacobite Relics.

Some of the finest of these songs are per-

haps better known than any others in the

language ; many of them, however, are known

^ " These songs are a species of composition entirely

by themselves. They have no affinity with our
ancient ballads of heroism and romance, and one
part of them far less with the mellow strains of our
pastoral and lyric muses. Their general character is

that of a rude energetic humour, that bids defiance to

all opposition in arms, sentiments, or rules of song-

writing. They are the unmasked efl'usions of a bold

and primitive race, who hated and despised the over-

turning innovations that prevailed in church and
state, and held the abettors of these as dogs, or some-
thing worse—drudges in the lowest and foulest paths

of perdition—beings too base to be spoken of with any
degree of patience or forbearance. Such is their pre-

vailing feature ; but there are amongst them speci-

mens of sly and beautiful allegory. These last seem
to have been sung openly and avowedly in mixed
parties, as some of them are more generally known,
while the others had been confined to the select soci^
meetings of confirmed Jacobites, or hoarded up in the

cabinets of old Catholic families, where to this day
they have been preserved as their most precious lor«."

—Hogg's Jacobite Relics.
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only by name, and many of tliem kno'wn

at all but to a very few. Among those

generally known and now commonly adapted

to non-Jacobite sentiments, we may mention

" My ain country," the song of tlie home-sick

exile, " Here's a health to them that's awa',"

" Over the seas and far awa'," " "Will he no

come back again," "Charlie is my darling,"—of

which there are an ancient and a modern set,

the latter by James Hogg,—" Farewell to Glen

Shalloch " (from the Gaelic), " Hey Johnnie

Cope," perhaps one of the most popular

humorous songs in the language, " The wee

wee German laixdie," full of genuine Scotch

humour and irritating sarcasm, " This is no my
ain house," " O'er the water to Charlie,"

" Welcome royal CharKe," and " The bonnie

house o' Airly," as old as the days of Montrose

nnd Argyll. One of the most touchingly

pathetic and most popular of these old songs

is the well-known "Will he no come back

again," and equally popular is that, perhaps,

most heroic and stin'ing of them all, " Wha
wadna fecht for Charlie."

!Not a few of the Jacobite songs, as we

have said, are from the Gaelic, and, as might

be expected, they display little of the humour,

pawkiness, and rollicking sarcasm which cha-

racterise many of the Scotch songs ; they

mostly evince a spuit of sadness and pensive-

ness, some show a heroic determination to do

or die in the cause of Charlie, while others

are couched in the language of adoration

and love. One of the most characteristic

and most poetical of these Gaelic songs is

Maclean's Welcome, wliich we take the liberty

of quoting here :—
" Come o'er the stream, Charlie, dear Charlie, brave

Charlie,

Come o'er the stream, Charlie, and dine with Mac-
Ipan;

And though you be weary, we'll make your hcai-t

cheery,

And welcome our Charlie and his loyal tr,\in.

We'll bring down the track deer, we'll bring down
the black steer,

The lamb from the breckan, and doe from the glen

;

The salt sea we'll harry, and bring to our Charlie,

The cream from the bothy, and curd from the pen.

Come e'er the stream, Charlie, &c.

And you shall drink freely the dews of Glen-Sheerly,
That stream in the star-light when kings do not
ken

;

And deep be your meed of the wine that is red.

To drink to your sire, and his friend the Maclean.

Come o'er the stream, Charlie, &c.

Our heath-bells shall trace you the maids to embrace
you.

And deck your blue bonnet with flowers of the brae

;

And the loveliest Mari in all Glen-M'Quarry
Shall lie in your bosom tiU break of the day.

Come o'er the stream, Charlie, &c.
If aught will invite you, or more will delight you,

'Tis ready, a troop of our bold Highlandmen
Shall range on the heather with bonnet and feather.

Strong arms and broad claymores three hundred
and ten."

One of the best known and most admired of

this class of Jacobite songs is " The Lament of

Flora Macdonald," begLuning, " Far over yon

bills of the heather so green," of which we
here quote the last verse :—

-

" The target is torn from the arms of the just.

The helmet is cleft on the brow of the brave.

The claj-more for ever in darkness must rust.

But red is the sword of the stranger and slave
;

The hoof of the horse, and the foot of the proud
Have trod o'er the plumes on the bonnet of blue.

Why slept the red bolt in the breast of the cloud,

When tyranny revell'd in blood of the true ?

Fareweel, my young hero, the gallant and good !

The cKiwn of thy fathers is torn from thy brow
'"

Some of those whose titles are well enough

known are " The -"^Tiite Cockade," of which

we give a ver.se or two :

—

" My love was born in Aberdeen,

'I'he bonniest lad that e'er was seen
;

But now he makes our hearts fu' sad.

He's ta'en the field wi' his white cockade.

O he 's a ranting roving blade !

he's a brisk and a bonny lad

!

Betide what may, my heart is glad

To see my lad wi' his white cockade.

I '11 sell my rock, I '11 sell my reel.

My rippling-kame, and spLuning-wheel,

To buy my lad a tartan jdaid,

A braid sword, durk, and white cockade.

he 's a ranting roving blade," &c.'

Another great favourite with the old Jacobites

over their cups was, "The King shall enjoy

his own again."

' The gentleman referred to in a former note ap-

pends the following :

—

"There is also an Irish version of the 'White
Cockade. ' It has been translated from the Irish by
J. J. Callanan. The following is the last verse:

—

' ISTo more the cuckoo hails the spring.

The woods no more with the stanch-hounds ring

;

The song from the glen, so sweet before.

Is hushed since Charlie left our sliore.

The prince is gone, but he soon will come.
With trampet sound, and with beat of drum :

Then up with shout, and out with blade^
We'll stand or fall with the white cockade.'

Lover, commenting on this song in his Lyrics of Ire-

land, tells the following anecdote in connection witli

Ireland, and its devotion to the White Rose :
—

' Tha
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Did space permit we could quote many

more, remarkable for patlios, humour, wit,

sarcasm, and heroic sentiment, but we must

content ourselves with the following. What
can be more touching than " Carlisle Yetts :

—

" White was the rose in his gay bonnet,

As he faulded me in his broached plaidie
;

His hand, whilk clasped the truth o' luve,

it was aye in battle readie !

His lang lang hair, in yellow hanks,
Wav'd o'er his cheeks sae sweet and ruddie

;

But now they wave o'er Carlisle yetts,

In dripping ringlets clotting bloodie.

My father's blood 's in that flower tap.

My brother 's in that harebell's blossom
;

This white rose wa-s steeped in my Iuto's blood.

And I 'U aye wear it in my bosom.

When I came first by merrie Carlisle,

Was ne'er a town sae sweetly seeming
;

The white rose flaunted owre the wall.

The thristled banners far were streaming,

rt'hen I came next by merrie Carlisle,

sad sad seem'd the town, and eerie .'

The auld auld men came out and wept

:

* O maiden, come ye to seek your dearie ?

'

There 's ae drop o' blood .itween my breasts.

And twa in my links o' hair sae yellow
;

The tane I 'U ne'er wash, and the tither ne'er

kame.
But I '11 sit and pray aneath the willow.

Wae, wae, upon that cruel heart,

Wae, wae, upon that hand sae bloodie.

Which feasts on our richest Scottish blood.

And makes sae mony a dolefu' widow !

"

llogg, however, is of opinion that this may be

indebted for much of its beauty to the genius

of Allan Cunningham.

Of " Cumberland and IMurray's descent into

Hell," which appears to be but little known,

Hogg justly says, that " of aU the songs that

ever were written since the world began tliis is

the first ; it is both so horrible and so irresist-

ibly ludicrous." It is a pity that the author of

a poem so full of fire, and hate, and lurid wit

celebrated Lord Chesterfield, who governed Ireland

with rare ability and liberality in 1744, when told by

an alarmist that "the Papists were dangerous," re-

plied that he had never seen but one dangerous

Papist, and that was Miss , a particul.arly lovely

woman. This lady, sharing in the gratitude and
admiration of the Roman Catholics, wished to show
the Earl how thoroughly she could overcome political

prejudices, and on a public occasion at Dublin Castle

wore a breast knot of Orange ribbon. The earl, pleased

at the incident, requested Lord Doneraile, celebrated

for his wit, to say something handsome to her on the

occasion. The request occasioned the following im-

prmnplu

:

—
' Say, little Tory, why this jest

Of wearing Orange on thy breast.

Since the same breast, uncover'd, shows
The whiteness of the rebel rose.

'

"

is totally unknown ; the heartiness of the hate

displayed in it, as well as the wealth of un-

earthly fancy, ought to have recommended it

to the approval of Dr. Johnson, had he known

of it. Of course Cumberland is the hero of

Culloden ; Murray is Secretary Mun-ay, who
turned king's evidence against his comrades in

the trials after the rebellion, and thus earned

for himself the bitterest hate of all Jacobites.

'* Ken ye whare Cleekie Murray's gane ?

He 's gane to dwall in his lang hanie.

The beddle clapt him on the doup,
' hard I 've earned my gray groat.

Lie thou there, and sleep thou souu' ;

God winna wauken sic a loon.'

He 's in a' Satan's frything-pans,

Scouth'ring the blude frae aif his han's
;

He 's washing them in brunstane lowe

;

His kintra's blude it winna thow :

The hettest soap-suds o' perdition

Canna out thae stains be washing.

Ae devil roar'd, till hearse and roopit,

' He 's pyking the gowd frae Satan's pu'pit

!

Anither roar'd, wi' eldritch yell,

' He 's howking the keystane out o' hell,

To damn us mair wi' God's day-light
!

'

And he doukit i' the caudrons out o' sight.

He stole auld Satan's brunstane leister,

Till his waukit loofs were in a blister
;

He stole his Whig spunks, tipt wi' brunstane,

And stole his scalping-whittle's whunstane
;

And out o' its red-hot kist he stole

The very charter-rights o' hell.

Sat.an, tent weel the pilfering villain
;

He '11 scrimp your revenue by stealing.

Th' infernal boots in which you stand in.

With which your worship tramps the damn'd in,

He '11 wile them alT your cloven cloots.

And wade through hell fire in your boots.

Auld Satan cleekit him by the spaul,

And stappit him i' the dub o' hell.

The foulest fiend there donghtna bide him,
The damn'd they wadna fry beside him.

Till the bluidy duke came trysting hither,

And the ae fat butcher tried the tither.

Ae decTil sat splitting brnmstane matches ;

Ane roasting the Whigs like bakers' batches ;

Ane wi' fat a Whig was basting.

Spent wi' frequent prayer and fasting.

A' ceas'd when thae twin butchers roar'd,

And hell's grim hangman stopt and glowr'd.

' Fy, gar bake a pie in haste.

Knead it of infernal paste,'

Quo' Satan ; and in his mitten'd h.and

He hynt up bluidy Cumberland,

And whittled him down like bow-kail castocV,

And in his hettest furnace roasted.

Now hell's black tableolaith was spread,

Th' infernal srace was reverend said ;

Yap stood the hungij fiends a' owro it,

Their grim jaws gaping to devour it,

"Wlien Satan cried out, fit to scunner,
' Owre rank a judgment's sic a dinner !'

"

Not a few of these old Jacobite songs, with
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little or no alteration in the words, are sung

at the present Jay as pure love-songs, few ever

dreaming that they were meant for anything

else when first composed : nothing more than

this shows the intensity and tenderness of the

feeling entertained by the Scotch Jacobites to

their hero and idol, Bonnie Prince Charlie.

The well-known and apparently perfectly

harmless song, " Weel may the keel row,"

belongs to this class ; and who would ever

smell treason in the touching strain " For the

sake o' somebody."

One of the sweetest and tenderest of all the

Jacobite songs is undoubtedly " Wae's me for

Prince Charlie," beginning " A wee' bird cam'

to our ha' door," and well kno^vn to all who
have the least knowledge of Scottish song.

Yet this song was written only about thirty

or forty years ago by Mr William Glen, a Glas-

gow merchant ; and it is well known that many

of the finest of Aytoun's Lays are animated by

this spirit of Jacobitism, showing how much

calculated to touch the feelings and rouse the

imagination of any one of an impulsive, poetic

temperament, is the story of " Bonnie Prince

Charlie," as it is popularly told in song and story.

Perhaps it may be onty fair, as a set oft' to

the above, to give one or two of the best

Wbig songs :

—

Haud awa frae me, Donald.

" Haud awa, bide awa,

Haud awa frae me, Donald,
Your princi|iles I do abhor

;

No Jacobites for me, Donald.
Passive obedience I do hate.

And tyranny I flee, Donakl
;

Nor can I think to be a slave,

When now I can be free, Donald.

Even Highland Maggie, though she 's bred
Up under tyranny, Donald,

No sooner you her rights invade,

Than she '11 a rebel be, Donald.
For all that you can say or do,

I '11 never change my mind, Donald
;

your king takes so much of your heart,

To me you '11 ne'er be kind, Donald."

A Litany.

" From the lawless dominion of mitre and cro^vn,

Whose tyrannies now are absolute gi-own,

So that men become slaves to the altar and throne.

And can call neither bodies nor souls their own.
Libera nos, Domine.

From a reverend bawling theological professor,

From a Protestant zealous for a Popish successor.

Who for a great benefice still leaves a lesser,

-Ind ne'er will die martyr, nor make good confessor,

Libera nos. Doviine.

From deans and from chapters who live at theil

eases.

Whose lechery lies in renewing church-leases.

Who live in cathedrals like maggots in cheeses,

And lie like abbey-lubbers stew'd in theii- own

Libera nos, Domine.

From an altar-piece-monger who rails at Dissenters

And damns Nonconfonnists in the pulpit he enters.

Yet all the week long his own soul he ventures.

By being so drunk that he cutteth indentures,

Libera nos, Domiiu.

From fools, knaves, and villains, prerogative Tories,

From church, that for the Babylon whore is,

From a pretended prince, like peai rotten at core is,

From a court that has millions, yet as old Job
poor is.

Libera nos, Domine,"

That the Jacobite songs tended largely to

nourish and perpetuate Jacobite sympathies

long after all idea of endeavouring to restore

the Stuart dynasty had been abandoned, all

must admit who know anything of Scotch

social life during the latter part of the 18th

and beginning of the 19th centuries. In the

early part of the latter century, an additional

and most powerful instrument in the cause of

sentimental Jacobitism came into play, in the

shape of the poems, and especially the novels

of Sir Walter Scott, on whose bold imagination

and strong sympathy with cliivahy and the

days of old, the story of the young prince and

the misfortunes of the Stuarts and their ad-

herents generally, appear to have taken a strong

hold. The very first of the Waverley Novels

presented the history of the '45 in its most

fascinating aspect, and painted its hero in the

most attractive colours, as the handsome, chiv-

alrous, high-minded, but unfortunate prince.

In one or two of Scott's other novels the same

episode is made use of, and with such be'^vitch-

iiig power as only the Wizard of tlie North could

exercise. The influence of these matchless

fictions continues unabated, and as it is from

them that most people derive their knowledge

of the last rebellion, and of the Stuarts and

their cause, it is no wonder that even at

the present day there exists a wide-spread,

tender sympathy for the unfortunate race, a

sort of sentimental Charlie-worship, adoring

as its object the ideal presented by Scott,

filled in with some of the most attractive and

touchmg features from the sweetest and most

popular of the songs. With perhaps no ex-

ception, this admiration of Prince Charlie and
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the other heroes of '45 is of the same nature

as the imtliinkiiig admiration of the " good

old days " generally, of King Arthur and his

knights, of the days of chivalry, of Eobin

Hood and his merry men, and of the bold Eob
Eoy ; he would be looked upon as a harmless

imbecile, who should ever talk of doing aught

to restore any of the institutions of these old

times, which are as likely to find active par-

tizans as is the restoration of the Stuart dy-

nasty.

However, that Jacobitism still runs in a few

old famdies as something more than a senti-

ment, as something like an ideal politico-reli-

gious creed, cherished as the remnant of the

Cameronians cherish the ancient covenant, we

liavc good reason to believe. These families are,

practically, perfectly loyal to the present govern-

ment and the present sovereign, and would as

soon dream of taking to cattle-lifting as to re-

bellion ; but still they seem to regard the Stuart

dynasty as their first love, the love of their

impulsive j'outh, with whoan a closer relation

was impossible. The creed of these modern

Jacobites we may be permitted to state, in the

words of one who has ample opportunities of

mixing with them and knowing their senti-

ments. " As a principle of action," he vvrites,

quoting the words of a noble lord, "it is dead

and gone, but in sentiment and sympathy there

are still lots of us." He himself proceeds :

—

" I quite agree \vith liim. We claim, with the

late Professor Aytoun, to be White-Rose Scots,

Tories in some things but not in others—some

of us Tories—some I daresay Radicals—none of

us Wliigs; all of us animated by an abhorrence

of Macaulaj''s History as an audacious libel on

our forefathers and their principles." In an-

other letter he says :
—" The question you ask,

as to whether we would now stand up for any

of the descendants of Prince Charles, is one I

have no difficulty in answering. We should

not. I cannot say we have any great love for

the present royal family ; they cross our feel-

ings and prejudices va. many ways, by mar-

riages in Lent, and alliances with Campbells ! !

But were the time of trial to come (and a con-

test between monarchy and republicanism may
come in this country sooner than many ex-

pect). Queen Victoria would find none more

loyal—I could almost veutui'e to say, none so

loyal—as those whose sympathies go with the

former enemies of her race. To us she repre-

sents ' the powers that be, as ordaiued of God,'

and we must bear a good deal at their hands.

Queen Victoria herself certainly does appreciate

the Higlilands and Highlanders. Our loyalty

is a matter of principle, not of preference, and

might be found to wax the warmer, as that of

others—when sulijected to a strain by the royal

family running counter to their ideas and pre-

judices—waxed cold." Indeed Jacobitism, as

an active principle, is as much a thing of the

past as clan-feuds, cattle-lifting, and active re-

hgious intolerance.

Her present Majesty has done more to win

the hearts and command the loyalty of the

Highlanders than ever did any of her pre-

decessors, by taking up her residence yearly

in their midst, and in many other ways show-

ing her trust in and love for them, and her

unbounded admiration for all that is High-

land. As is well known, before her widow-

hood, her favourite plaid was oae of Stuart

tartan of a special pattern. If any section of

her Majesty's subjects is at all inclined to

use occasionally expressions savouring of dis-

loyalty, it is that of which one or two Cockney

newspapers are the mouthpieces, the grievance

being that the Queen spends so much of her

time in the Highlands. The loyalty and love

of the Highlanders, and of all Scotchmen,

have been for ever intensified by the recent

marriage of one of the Queen's daughters to

the son and heir of one of the oldest and

greatest Highland chiefs.^

' In coTinectiou with the above subject, our Jacobita

correspondent has communicated to us th« following

anecdote. He Joes not vouch for its truth, but he
states that he had it on very good authority. On
one occasion, when her Majesty's guests had been en-

joying themselves, in scattered groups, in the pleasure-

grounds around Balmoral, the conversation chanced
to turn, amongst one of those groups, on Jacobite

songs and Jacobite music. One of the ladies, known
for her knowledge of Jacobite melodies, and for her
skill in the execution of them, was asked to favour

her companions with a specimen. The party having
retired to a distance from the rest of the company,
the lady sung her song. The echoes of the music
reached, it is said, the quick ears of the Queen, who
went at once to the spot whence it proceeded. And
no one, it is added, enjoyed the melody more. One
of the company having ventured to express surprise

that the Queen could so enter into the spirit of a

song which seemed to reflect so much on the present

dynast)', her Majesty is said to have stated, as the

representative of the family of Bonnie Prince Charlie,

no one could be a greater Jacobite than herself; and
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So far as the record of external strife or in-

ward feud constitutes history, that of the High-

lands may be said to end with the hattle of

Culloden in 1746. By many, however, the

period from that date onwards will be con-

sidered as of far more interest and importance

than all the previous centuries put together

;

for in the j^ears succeeding the last rebellion

are witnessed the struggle of lawlessness with

law, of semi-barbarism with civilization, the

gradual but rapid breaking-up of the old patri-

archo-feudal way of ruling men and regulating

property, on which the whole social life of the

Highlands was based, and the assimilation of

that district in all respects to the rest of the

kingdom of which it forms a part.

That innovations such as were of necessity

forced upon the Highlands should be adopted

without a struggle, without resistance, without

hardship to many, was not to be expected.

No thoughtful person could expect that there

could be accomplished mtliout many diffi-

culties and mistakes the abolition of a system

which had maintained its sway for many cen-

tm-ies, and the introduction of a new one so

little adapted to the character stamped on the

Highlander under the former, and in every re-

spect so contrary to the ideas and prejudices

which had been transmitted from father to son

for many generations. Any sudden change of

an old-established system, by which the every-

day life of thousands of people is regulated,

would in any case almost inevitably lead at first

to disorder and a certain amount of hardship.

It was to be looked for that, in the case of the

Highlands, wliich in many respects were cen-

turies behind the rest of the country, there

would be much trouble and confusion before

they could be brought up to the stand-point

of their Lowland fellow-countrymen. Such

tliat she considered all the songs in praise of " the
Aiild Stuarts" as songs in praise of her own an-

was the case. It took very many years—in-

deed, the process is still going on—before the

various elements got settled into their places

according to the new adjustment of matters.

There were, of course, many interests to be

attended to, and necessarily many collisions

and misunderstandings between the various

classes ; often no doubt unnecessary hard-

ness, selfishness, and want of consideration-

for inferiors on one side, as frequently met

on the other by unreasonable demands, and a

stubborn and uninformed determination to re-

sist the current of change, and not to accom-

modate themselves to inevitable innovations.

The old clan-system, with the idea which it

nourished of the close relation between the

various grades of the clan, of the duty of the

chief to support his people, and of the people

to do the wiU of the chief, must be abolished,

and the Higlilander must be taught, each man
to depend entirely upon himself and liis own

exertions, and to expect nothing from any man
but what he could pay for in labour or money.

Of course it would be hard for a Celt to put

himself on the same footing in this respect

with the low-minded, greedy, over-reaching

Saxon ; but it had to be done, and, like many
other things which seemed hard to face, has

been done, and the process is still going on,

and probably wiU go on, till there be not only

an assimilation in habits and ways of living and

tliinking, but tUl the two races be so fused or

blended together by intermarriage and other-

wise, that there shall be neither Celt nor

Saxon, but a mixed race superior to either,

combining the best qualities of each, the fire,

the imagmation, the dash, the reverence, the

heart of the Celt, with the perseverance,

clear-headedness, patience, fairness, capacity

for business, head of the Saxon. Ere long,

no doubt, the two wUl become one flesh, and

their separation and strife a tale of bygone

days.
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